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PREFACE. 

Is presenting tl1is work to the numerous subscribers, it is deemed un· 
necessary to expatiate on the 'Value and utility of works of this nature. To 
all classes a well digested and faithfully compiled History and Topography 
of their own District must be an useful and interesting acquisition. " For a 
pooplc to be ignorant of their own history, and the scenes and circumstances 
amid which they have sprung, is degrading in the extreme," says a recent 
writer," and is not uofrequently productive of evil. It is only a necessary 
wisdom to be able to relate the early history of the locality in which Provi· 
denco has placed us; to know its peculiarities; and to have marked its 
progress." "The study of History, and particularly that which is Local," 
writes an eminent authority, "may be numbered among the most important 
pursuits of man." 

The arrangement of the first volume of the present work embraces a 
General Review of the Early History of Great Britain, and the ancient 
kingdom of Northumbria, \Vith much useful information of a miscellaneous 
character; a General History and Description of the County of York, which, 
from its extent, opulence, and commercial importance, holds a distinguished 
rank among the great divisions of this kingdom; and which, in fact, is more 
extensive and populous than many independent states, and may be considered 
an epitome of all that is interesting in England : also, a History of the vener­
able City of York, with its glorious Minster, and numerous antiquities; and 
of that ancient appendage to the city, the Ainsty Wapentake, including the 
town and interesting neighbourhood of Tadcaster. 

The second volume contains concise Histories, and a Topographical Sur­
vey, of the important Town and Port of Kingston-upon-Hull; and of all tho 
Towns, Parishes, &c., in the East Riding of Yorkshire, including Beverley, 
Bridlington, Howden, &c., and the border towns of Malton and Selby. 
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iv PREFACE. 

In preparing the work for the press, all possible care has been taken to 
avoid the errors, and profit by the experience, of former writers; the best 
topographical authorities only have been consulted, and all irrelevant matter, 
which would have augmented the size of the work, without adding to its 
usefulness, excluded-whilst nothing was rejected which was really impor­
tant. And, to secure authenticity, the most unremitting endeavours have 
been used; every parish and township in the district has been visited for 
the purpose of collecting or revising the local information on the spot; and 
the discharge of this duty has been attended with much more labour and 
expense than was at first anticipated. It is, therefore, presumed that the 
work will be found as accurate as is compatible with the vast body of matter, 
and the diversity of subjects compressed within its pages. 

The Statistical matter is chiefly extracted from the Parliamentary Reports 
of Population, &c. ; and the acreage of each place is mostly taken from the 
Parliamentary Return of the Census of 1851, which, though it frequently 
differs from the local estimated extent, is the surest source. 

An expressiQn of gratitude is here most justly due to the several Clergy­
men and Gentlemen, who have kindly aided the work by their corrections 
and valuable literary contributions; and to the general body of the Subscri­
bers the volumes are very respectfully dedicated. 

Bet•erley, November, 1855. 
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~nbtl ta 19'al. I. 

(Topographical Accounu are given of the Namu of Place• in Italic•.) 

Abbess Hilda, 89 
Abbeys-See Monasteries 
Aborigines of Great Britain, 37; character 

and description of, :J8 ; religion of, 39 
.Actuur Malbu Parilh, 64~ 
Aca~ttr SellJy T0te111hip, 648 
.Acomb Parilh, 649 
Agricultural Statistics of England, 6; So· 

cieties and Farmers' Clubs, I! 
Albion, derivation of, :J8 
Alcuin, 2111, 463, 634 
~dborough, the ancient Irurium, 306 
Aldby, near Stamford Bridge, 84 
Ainsty Wapentake, 643 
Aire, River, 32 
Alectus proclaimed Emperor, 69 
Alfred the Great divides the kingdom, 98 
Ancient Britons submit to the Romans, 

and adopt their customs, 63 
Anglo· Danish Period, 96 
Anglo-Saxon Period, 73 
Anglo-Saxon Kings-Alfred the Great, 98; 

Athelstan, 98; Edmund, 100; Edgar, 
101 ; Ethelred, 101 ; Edward the Con­
fessor, 102; Harold,108 

Angram To~m~hip, 667 
Anlafl's fleet enters the Humber, 09 
Antiquities of Yorkshire, 34 
Appleton Roebuck Towruhip, 661 
Arbor-lDw (Peak of Derby), 49 
Archdiocese of York, 370 
Area of the Wold district, 4 
Arlea, Council of, 63 
Armies, mode of assembling, 136 
Atlcham-Bryan Parilla, 661 
.Atlchmlt-Riclaarcl Parilla, 662 
Askerne Springs, 8~ 
AthelstaD, King, establishes the kingdom; 

his death, 99 
Atmospherieal phenomena, 274. 

Augustine, St., created Archbishop of Can. 
terbury, 80 

Aurelius Ambrosius, 7~ 
A woman crucified by her daughter, 267 

Barbarous customs of the English, 160 
Barony, description of, 116 
Bathing places, principal, 10 
Battle Abbey, Roll of, Ill 

-Battles-Near York, 7~. 07, 1()'~, :U3 ; at 
Coningsborough, 7~; Mount Badon, 76; 
Hatfield, 86; Winmoor, 89; Bromford, 
00; Chester, 100; Fulford, 104; Stam. 
ford Bridge, 10~; Senlac, commonly 
called Hastings, 108; York, 120 ; near 
York, 121 ; on Cuton Moor(" Battle of 
the Standard"), 124; at Falkirk, 132; 
Bannockburn, 13~ ; Myton·on-Swale, 
137; Borough bridge, 137; Byland Ab­
bey, 140 ; Nevill's Cross, 143; Bramham 
Moor, 149; St. Albans, 162; Barnet 
Heath, 164; Towton Field, 1~6; Barnet, 
168; Tewkesbury, 168; Bosworth Field, 
171 ; Stoke, 17 4; Flodden Field, 181 ; 
Kineton, or Edge Hill, 234; Tadcaster, 
236; Wetherby, 286; Selby, 240; and 
Marston Moor, 244 

Bedem, derivation of, 4 71 
Bells, invention and use of, 4.18 
Bemicia, kingdom of, 76 
Beverley and Barmston Drainage, 6 
Beverley, King Charles I. at, 232 
Bible, first complete version published in 

England, 180 ; indiscriminate use of, 
106 

Bickerton T0te1111aip, 6M 
Bilbrovgh Parilh, 668 
Bilton Parilla, 664. 
Bishops committed to the Tower, 229 
Bi1hoptlwrpf Pari1h, 667 
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vi INDEX. 

Black Hamilton, 10; derivation of the 
name, 12 

Boadiceo, Queen of the Iceni, 46 
Bolton-Percy Pariah, 6MI 
Borough bridge burnt by the Scots, 136 
Bo1ton Spa, 688 
Bramham Pariah, 682 
Bridges of stone first built in England, 364 
Bridlington Chalybeate Spring, 35 
Brigantes, the metropolis of, 42; Cartis-

mandua their Queen, 41>; Venusius be­
comes their chief, 46; subjugation of the 
tribe, ll3 

British Kings--Ambrosius, 64; Arthur, 64, 
76, 312; Vortigern, 73; Ochta and Abi­
sa, 76; Ebruucus, the supposed founder 
of York, 2811 

British Rt>mains-tumuli, barrows, croru· 
lechs, &c., 46 and 47; corslet of gold 
found in a barrow, 52; urns, 52; canoes, 
war chariots, &c., 53 

Bruce, David, taken prisoner, 144 
Durgundy, Duchess of, instigates rebellion, 

170 

Colder, Rh·er, 33 
Caledonians, 38 
Canol~ of Yorkshire, 33 
Canute's reproof to his courtiers, 313 
Capitation tax, 144 
Caracalla murders Geta, 50 
Caractacus, Chief of the Silure1, 45 
Carausius, Emperor, 59 
Cassiterides, or the Tin Islands, 37 
Castles or Fortresses, ancient, 34; at Bam· 

borough, 87; Aldby, 84; York, 99, 337; 
Tadcaster, 671 ; number of existing re. 
mains of Castles, 343 

Cathedrals burnt, 123 
Cattle, Tees\\·ater and Holderness, breed 

of, 16 
Catterton T0111111hip, 6i :i 
Caves of Yorkshire, 36 
Caxton introduces Printing, 180 
Celtic sepulchres and monuments, 47 
Centenarians in England, 18 
Chantries, how founded, 187 
Christian Festivals, origin of, 407 
Christianity introduoed into Britain, 61 ; 

re-introduced by St. Angustine, 80, 82 
Civil government, titles, &c., 282 
ClAsses, distinction of, preserl"ed by Wil-

liam the Conqueror, 114 
Cleveland hills and vole, 18 
Clijforcl·cum-Borton Towmhip, 686 
Cliltord's Tower at York, 338 
Cock, River, 160 
Coffee introduced into England, 361 

Colton Toi.Nuhip, 662 
Commerce of Yorkshire, 20 
Constantine the Great born, 60, 292; as· 

sumes the imperial purple at York, and 
embraces Christianity, 00 

Constantius, Emperor, 60 
CCI]YI'IIQ.ntlwrpe Chapelry, 663 
Copper l\lines, 17 
Coronation stone and chair, 132, 146 
Corpus Christi Plays, 574 
Courts of Exchequer, &c., remol"ed from 

York, 13!l; reinstated in York for six 
months, 13tl; again transferred to York, 
14tl 

Cowthorpe Oak, 657 
Cranmer, Archbishop, 184; his death, 204 
Cromwell, Oliver, at the siege of York, 

241 ; his death, 259 ; his effigies burnt 
at York, 262 

Danes inmde England, 95; their massacre 
on St. Brice's Day, 100 

Dance ~laine, 52 
Danish Kings--Ringsidge, 98; Erie, 101 ; 

Sweyne, 102, 313; Canute, 102, 318; 
Harold and Hardicanute, 102 

Derwent, ru,·er, :12 
Devil•s Arrows, 34, 62 
Devil's ·Den (Cromlech), 62 
Dialects north and south of Humber, 80 • 
Diefyr, or Deira, kingdom of, 76 
Dissolution of Monasteries, 181 
Disputes about the Festival of Easter, 90 
Domesday Dook, its origin, &:c., 112 
Don, River, 33 
Drainage-Beverley and Darmston, 5 ; 

Holderness, 5 ; Keyingham, 6 ; Hertford 
and Derwent, 6; Spalding Moor and 
Wolling Fen, 6 

Drake, the historian, 639 
Dreadful executions of the nobility, 139 
Dringhotuer Towmhip, 650 
Dropping Well at Knaresborough, 35 
Druids, 39; their sacrifices, 40; their civil 

government, 41 ; they oppose the Ro­
man invaders, 42 

Druidical Circles, :10 
Ducking or Cucking Stool, 388 
Dwarf Rose in the Field of Towton, 161 

Eastern Moorlands, 11 
East Riding of Yorkshire-situation of, 2; 

climate of, 6; principal towns of, 3 ; is 
famous for breeding horses, 7 ; its min­
eral productions, 8 ; marshes and warp­
land, 9 

Edward the Confessor names his succesaor, 
107 
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INDEX. vii 

Egbert nDites the kingdoms of the Hep. 
tarehy,8ol 

.Egfrid, King. buried at Driffield, 92 
Ely, Bishop of, heads an army, 187 
England, the Island of Saints, 80 
England submits to the Conqueror, 122 
Ermine Street (RoDWI road), 70 
Esk, River, 33 
Ethelred Jlies the kingdom, 102 

Fairs. ADcient, 3~2 
Fair Rosamond, 3D~ 
Five Whispering KDighta, '9 
Flamborongh promontory, 3 
F1eming, Nicholas, Mayor of York, 187 
F1ood, great, at Ripponden, 2tl7 
Foss, River, 33 
Fosse1r11y (Roman road), 69, 70 
Franchise of Yorkshire, 86 
Freebargb Hill, 12 
Free Chapels, bow fonDded, 187 
Fridstol, or freed stool, ancient, 876, 877 

o.liloo Porches in charchee, 376 
Galtres, ancient Forest of, 83, 361 
Gucoigne, Chief J astice, refuse& to pass 

sentence of desth on Archbillhop Scrope, 
1-lfl 

GaTeston, Piers de, 134, 18~ 
General History of Yorkshire, 37 
Gent. Thomas, the historian, 640 
Geo:4rey Plantagenet, Archbishop of York, 

129 
Geoffrey of ~fonmoath, the historian, 289 
Geology of Yorkshire, 20 
Giggleswkk Scar, 3:1 
Glass windows first introduced, 407, «0 
G1o'ster, Duke of; his conduct at the death 

of Edward V .• 169; is made Protector, 
and croWDed King, 1 ;o 

Goodmanham, Pagan Temple at, 84 
Graham's Dyke, M 
Gregory the Great, Pope-his character, 

79; be resolTes on the conversion of 
England, 80 

Gri-um TcneNhip, 678 
Guilds or .Fraternities, 198 
Gay Fawkes, a Yorkshireman, 637 

Hadrian, Emperor, arrives in Britain, M; 
resides at York, 21Jl 

Hadrian's Great Wall, 66 
Bainauh soldiery m88!J4Cred, 142 
Harold II. croWDed, 108; his death and 

burial, Hl9 
Hamid H111lrada invades England, 104 
Harrogate Springs, 36 
Hazlewood Hall or Cutle, 676 

Healaugh Pamh, 664. 
Hengist and Horse invited to Britain, 73 
Hengjst defeats the Picts and Scots, 76 
Hermit of Knaresborougb, 636 
Hertford and Derwent Drainage, 6 
Hu.ay TOIOfllhip, 668 
Hide of land, description of, 116 
Hingaar and Hubba, 90; they destroy the 

Holderness coast, 97 
Holderness Drainage, 6; cattle, 7 
Holdgau, or Holgau, TowMhip, 063 
Holy Island, 87 
Horrible brutalities of the Danes, 97 
Horse Racing, 632 
Hull, River, 31; change of its coarse, 32 
Hull, a maritime town, 133 
Hulpit and Hanpit holes, 36 
Humber, Rive~ 28 
Hartlepot, Ginglepot, and Donk, Caves, 36 
Hutton.Wanduley Totli'Mhip, 667 

Icknild Street (Roman road), 70 
Independents, the, rob the charches, 2:16 
Indulgences, definition of, 408 
Inhabitants of Yorkshire, their character, 

36 
Instance of filial affection, 236 
Insurrection of the northern Clltholics, 

207 
Insurrection in the East Riding, 200 
Insurrection of the old Parliamentary fac-

tion, 262 
Ireland peopled, 38 
Isurium (Aldborough), 42 

Jack Straw and Wat Tyler's rebellion, 144. 
Jenkins,lleory, 18,260 
Jews, the number of, in England, 366 
Jones, Paul, the Anglo-American bucca. 

neer, 2il 
Julius Agricola, :12 
Julius Cwsar, invasion of, 43 

Keyingbam Drainage, 0 
Kingston·upon·Hull, port of, 20 
King, origin of the name, 83, 3:13 
King Arthur defeats the Saxons; his mar. 

der, and the discovery of his remains, 
70,77 

King Ed"in's daughter baptized by St. 
Paulinus, 83 

King Edwin baptized by St. Paulinus, and 
his ~lorioos reign, 86; his death, 86 

King Richard I.-his coronation, 127; his 
imprisonment in Austria, 129 

King John visits York, 130 
King Alexander I. of Scotland married at 

York, 180 
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\'iii INDEX. 

King Alexander ll. of Scotland married at 
York, 131 

King Edward I. at York, 131; his death, 
133 

King Edward II., 134; his murder, 141 
King Edward 111.-his glorious reign and 

marriage, 142 
King Richard II.-his accession, 1U; de­

position and murder, 146 
King Henry IV.-his aceession,l47; death, 

11}0 
King Henry V. visits York and Be'l'crlcy, 

1{10; his death, 101 
King Henry VI.-his eharacU>r, Uil; falls 

into the hands of tho Yorkists, 164; 
a,"'lin made King, 167; confined in the 
Tower, and murdered, 100 

King Edw. IV. proclaimed, 155; crowned, 
162; again crowned, 164; hi~ imprison· 
ment and escape, 167; is agnin pro­
claimed King, 167; his death, 160; his 
family, 109 

King Edward Y. murdered in the Tower, 
170 

King Richard III., 170 ; slain at the battle 
of Bosworth Field, 172 

King Henry YII.-his coronation, mar· 
riage, &c., 172 

King Henry VIII. receives the title of De­
fender of the Faith, HH; visits York­
shire, HJ2; lois death, 107 

King Edward H.-his death, 201 
King James \'I:~ accession, 211; his death, 

217 
King Charles 1.-hi~tory of hi~ di~trous 

reign, 217; i~ refused admittanct> into 
Hnll, 230; his person delivered up by 
the Scots, 2[)7; is tried and executed, 
2{10 

King Charles II. proclnimcd, 201; his 
death, 211-l 

King James JT.-his acce~~ion, !16-l 
Kirkby- Wharfe Parish, 6i7 
Kirk-llammaton Pari8h, 665 
Kits-Coty House, 48 
Knq.pton Township, 6:H 

Lnncaster, Duke of, lands at Rm·cnspum, 
1411 

Levellers, the, their fanaticism, 2tl7, 2li8 
Library of York Cnthedral, :112 
Lindisti1me, Isle of, 67; church destroyed 

by the Danes, 113 
Lollius Urhicus, M 
Londesborough, King Edwin's residence, 

8-l 
Long Mar~ton Pari.lh, 666 
Long Meg and her Daughten, 49 

Long Parliament, the, 227 
Lothbric, a Danish Genero.l, legend of, 9G 

l'tlalhom CoYe, 36 
l'tlalo Cross, 71 
Mansions, ancient, 35 
Mark, value of, 120 
Mary, Queen of Scots, 210 
Massacre of the Jews, 126 
:Maxima Cresariensis, ~4 
Mechanics' Institute, Yorkshire Union or, 

017 
Middlethorpe Town1hip, 06-l 
l\Iile, derivation of, ~~ 
Mineral Springs in Yorkshire, 35, 688 
Minster, derivation of the name, 410 
l\Iistletoe, a sacred plant with the Druida, 

40 
l\Iooastic Institutions in Yorkshire, :16 
lllonasteries, suppression of, HH ; annual 

revenues, 185 
Fo-iari~s-York, 401 , 402, 405 
Nunn<'l'i~•-York, 490, a<:l6; Tadcaster, 072 
Priori~•-York, 400, 407 ; Sinningthwaite, 

liM; Nun-Appleton, till I; Heaulaugh 
Park, 6()4 

Ho~pitals-York, 471, 407,408, 400, 600 
Moor Mm~kton Pari&lt, Glli 
Mountains in Y orkshire-Roseberry Top­

ping, 10; Black Hamilton, &:c .. 10, 12; 
Stow Brow, 11; Howardian Hills, 13; 
Pennygant, W arnside,and Ingle borough, 
l!J 

Multangular Tower at York, 203, 33-l 

Nab~&rn Chnpelry, 007 
Nennin~. th~ historian, 2811 
NPwcnstlP, Enrl of. created a i\Jnrquis, 23U 
Nice and Sardica, Council~ of, 64 
Nidd, Ri,·er, 33 
:KormM Period, I 07 
Nor: hem Af'sizc Cir1·nit. 36 
North of England dh·itled into Shires, &:c., 

101 
Northnllerton burnt bv the Scots, 136 
~orth J(itling-Situation and extent, 10, 

11 : principal towns. 10; climate, 13; 
Roil. U; a!,'l'icultnral and woodlands, 15; 
cattle. sheep, anrl hors<·s, lti; minenols 
nnd lt'ad mines, 17; longevity of its io­
hnhitant.q, 18 

Northumbria, Earls of, 102 
Northumherlnml, Earl of. murdered. 175 
Northumbrion d_,·nasty, extinction of, 94 
Northumboion kingdom cooquer~d by the 
Dane~. 97; reduced to an Earldom, 101; 
divided into Shires, 119 

Nunnerie~. first instances of, 496 
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IN:OII:X. ix 

Oc:tavins croWDed at York, 61 
Ouse, RiTer, 28; etymology of, 290 
Oztott Tote7Uhip, 67:) 

Pagan Temple profaned by Coifi, 84 
Pall, or Pallium, of the Archbishops, 383 
Parisi, tribe of, 42 
Parliament, first, held in York, 126; deri­

nlion of the name, 126; other early 
Par~ents, 131,133,139,143 

Paulinus and Coifi discuss religion, 84 
Pauperism lloods the country, 18:) 
Pend&, Killg of Mercia, 8:), 89 
Pestilence, called the "Black Death," 144 
Petu.aria and Portus Felix (British Towns), 

42 
Pha!niciao Merchants visit the Tin Is-

lands, 37 
Pickering Beek, J 3 
Picts and Scots, 68 
Pilgrimege of Grace, insurrection, 189 
P~e. the, 1!6, 262 
Pope • .\drian sends Legates to England, in 

J..D. 786,03 
POfi'Pleton--Upptr and Netlur, 669 
l'opulation of Englaud armed, 126, 130 
l'opnlation of several toWDs in the reign of 

Ed1rard III., 144 
Ports of Yorkshire, 20 
Pri~ of provisions in 1533, 181 
Prince Charles Stuart, the Pretender, 267 
Prince Rupert, 242 
Printing Press, the fint at York, 180 
Promontories, 3 
Protestauts and Catholics executed for 

heresy, 195 
Purii&Ds, the, 207 

Quakers, origin of the name, MO 
Quarter Sessions, where held, 36 
Queen Anne's Bounty, 374 
Quf"en of Scotland visits York, 178 
Queen Elizabeth's accession, 20a; her 

death, 211 
Queen Hmrietta's letter to Charles I., 237; 

her death, 259 
Queen Margaret's adherence to her party, 

162; her captivity and death, 169 
Queen Mary's accession, 201; her mar­

riage. 203; her dt'ath, 20(; 
Queen Victoria's ,·isit to York, 280; to 

Killgston-upon-Hull, 282 

Bailways, 34 
.BaTenspurne, Bolingbroke lands at, 

Edward IV. debarks at, 167 
:Rebellion, the, of 1746, 267 
Bebelliou in Yorkshire, 175 

• 
146; 

Reformation in Religion, 182; new liturgy 
compiled, 199 

Reform Bill, effects of, in Yorkshire, 36 
Relics found on Towton Field, 161 
Religious edifices profaned during the 

Commonwealth, 4:)8 
Religious Houses, 35; suppression of, t81 
Richmond, Earl of, lands at Milford-He· 

ven, 171 
Riding, origin of the term, 114 
Rivers of Yorkshire, 27 to :J!J 
Rollricb Stones, 49, 62 
Roman Invasion, 43 
Roman Period, 63 
Roman Colonies, Stipendiary Towns, Latin 

Cities, 66 
Roman government of Britain, 66 
Romaus, the, relinquish Britain, 68 
Roman modes of o;epulture, as, 298 
Roman sepulchral and other remains, :U; 

at York, 203 
Roman roads, 60, 72 
Roman Stations-Eboncum, 64; Delgo· 

vicia, Dun us Sinus, Danum, &c., 72; 
Derventio, 72, 83; Calcaria, 670 

Roman Encampments, 73 
Roman Villa at Coll.ingbam, 600 
Roseberry Topping, 10, J 1 
Rosedale Iron works, 17 
Ru.ffQf'th Parnh, 670 

Sanctuaries abolished, 200 
Sanctuary, the privilege of, 37 5 
Saxons, the-their origin, manners, &:c., 

73; invited to Britain by Vortigern, 7 4; 
their conquest of the Britons, 77 ; their 
religion, 78; titles of honour, 1 HI; 
names of di\;gions oflnnd, 110 

Saxon Heptarchy, 77; bow composed, 81; 
extinction of, 94 

Saxon Kings-Ida, Ella or Alia, Ethelfrid, 
nnd Edwin, 82; Ccadwnlla, Oswald, 
Adelwald, Oswy, Oswin, and Oswio, 80; 
Alchfrid,OO: Egfrid, 01; Osred, Ceoured, 
Crelwulf, 02; Mol·Edilwold, Alcbred, 
Alfwold, and Ethclbred, oa; Osbnld, 
Eardulf, nnd Egbert, 04; Osbet·t and 
Ella, 06 ; Egbert, 08 

Saxon Remains nt Yol'k, 311 
Sazwn Parnh, 680 
Scarborough besieged by the nobles, 134; 

burnt by the Scots, 136 
Scarborough burnt by the Danes, 1M 
Scarborough Castle, attempt to seize it, 203 
Scarborough Springs, 36 
ScarthingwtU, 681 
Scots pass from Ireland to Scotland, 118 
Scotland, ancient inhabitants of, 68 
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X INDitX. 

Scots, their barbarous invasions, 123 
Scottish Regalia removed to England, 132 
Scottish ~e and CoTenant, 224 
Scotch, the, m arms against Chas. I ., 224 
Scrope'e, Archbishop, rebellion, 147; his 

execution, 148 
Sea coast, extent of, 10 
Sepulchral (called Druids') Circles, 48 
Severns, Emperor, arrives in Britain, 116 ; 

his conquests and death, 67 ; funeral 
obsequies at York, 118 

Severns Hill, near York, li8 
Ship-money, tax imposed, 223 
Sieg-Portsmouth, 232 ; York com· 

mencea, 2.U ; ends, 2111; I..eeds, 236; 
Pontefrsct, 2113 ; Sheffield, 211-l,; Scar. 
borough and Skipton, 211:1 ; Carlisle, 268 

Si.mnel, Lambert, an impostor, 173 ; is pro. 
claimed King in Dublin, 17 4 

Sistuutii, tribe of, 42 
Siward, Earl of Northumbria, 102 
Sixth Conquering Legion, M, 69 
Skipton burnt by the Scots, 187 
Skipbridge Hamld. 669 
Skirlaw, Bishop of Durham, 411 
Spalding Moor and Walling Fen Drainage, 

6 
Spencer, Hugh de, favourite of Edward 

III., 138 
Spurne Promontory, 3 
St. Ceadda, or Chad, Archbishop of York, 

3~4 
St. Edward the Confessor, 102, 108 
St. Edwin (King) , St. Ethelburge (Queen), 

384 
St. John of Beverley, 388 
St. Oswald (King) , 87 
St. Oswald, Archbishop of York, 802 
St. Paulinus, Archbishop of York, 80, 882, 

384 
St. Thoma.' of Canterbury-ridiculous 

trial of, 103 
St. Wilfrid, Archbishop of York, 00,3811 
St. William, Archbishop of York, 303 
St.aith, origin of the name, 366 
Stuton To!C118hip , 062 
Stonehenge on Salisbury Plain, 49, :10 
Stoupe Brow, or Stow Brow, 11 
Stuarts, the last of the, 40a 
Sunk Island reco,·ered from the Humber, 

3, 9 
Sutton-cum·Hazleroood Towmhip, 6711 
Swale, River, 27 ; St. Paulin us baptizes 

immense numbers in it, 28, and 80 
Sweating Sickness, 200 
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Page 10, line 3 from the foot of the page, add Withemsea to the Principal Dathing 
places. 

, 137, line 20 .from the top, read and the Bishop of Ely. 
, 230, first line of the note at foot, tor subsequent poges of this volume, read ill the 

1econd volt.RM of thil hiltory. 
, 230, last line of the note at foot, for subsequent pages of this volume, read aec the 

hiltory of that toum itt tlu •econd volume of thil hiltory. 
, 2:17, line 10, read, and they ccntended, &c. 

333, , 3, of the note, for emerged, read immerged. 
, 8611, , 1, for measilres, read meamred. 
, 408, fourth line of the note from the bottom, for fast one meal, read fast on one 

meal. 
, 670. Since the acccunt of Tadcaster was printed, General Wyndham has sold to 

Lord Londesborough that portion of his Yorkshire property which is 
situated in and around that town. 

, 687, line 24, for shaJ:'('l, read c1l«ffel. 
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YORKSHIRE. 

ToPOGRAPHY.-This great and noble maritime county, which derives its 
name from its chief town, and which is by Car the largest, and in the number 
Uld wealth of its inhabitants, as well as in its natural and artificial produc­
tions, the moet considerable and important shire in the kingdom, is situated 
nearly in the centre of Great Britain. It is bounded on the N .E. and E. by 
the German Ocean; on the S. by the rivers Humber and Trent, which 
separate it from Lincolnshire, and by the counties of Nottingham, Derby, 
and Chester; on theW. by Lancashire; on the N.W. by Westmorland; and 
OD the N. by Durham. The general form or the county is that or an irre­
gular quadrangle, with two projecting points at its N.W. and S.E. angles; 
and its extreme points lie between the parallels or 58 deg. 18 min. and 54 
deg. 40 min. N.latitude, and between 2 deg. 40 min. W., and 0 deg.10 min. 
E. longitude of the meridian of Greenwich. 'I'he circuit of Yorkshire is 
about 460 miles; its length from east to west is 110 miles; and its breadth 
from north to south is 90 miles. It extends in its longest part about 180 
miles, from Spurn Head, at the mouth of the Humber, to Lune Forest, 
where it joins Durham and Westmorland, these being its south-eastern and 
north-western extremities. 

From its great extent this fine English province was, at an early period 
of the Saxon dominion, divided into three grand districts called Ridinga, 
which, in reference to their relative positions with respect to each other, and 
to the city of York, are termed East, West, and North Ridings. The East 
Riding, the smallest of the three divisions, is subdivided into seven wapen­
takee ; the West Riding, the largest of the three divisions, is in nine sub­
divisions; and the North Riding bas twelve wapentakes, including the 
Liberty of Whitby Strand. There is also a small district called the Ainsty 
of the city of York, which, until 1886, was separate from either of the 

B 
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DESCR~ON OF YORKSHIRE. 

Ridings, but which in that year was annexed to the West Riding. York· 
shire contains about 620 parishes, comprising about 6000 villages and 
hamlets; 1 archiepiscopal city (York); 1 episcopal city (Ripon); 13 corpo­
rate tovms; 17 parliamentary boroughs ; and 59 market towns. It returns 
37 members to parliament, and is divided into 50 Poor Law Unions. It is 
in the Nortkem Circuit; in the archiepiscopal province of York; and in the 
dioceses of York and Ripon. 

Each of the three Ridings has a separate lieutenancy, magistracy, clerk of 
the peace, treasurer, and other public officers and courts; but all of them 
are amenable to the superior courts held for the whole county at York Castle, 
which stands within the bounds of the city of York. Though the latter 
place is a county of itself, holding separate courts of gaol delivery, &c., the 
electors of the city unite with the North Riding in the election of Knights of 
the Shire. The whole of the East and North Ridings, and a great part of 
the West Riding, is chiefly dependent on agriculture; a large portion of the 
latter diYision is distinguished for extensive manufactures of woollen cloth, 
worsted stuff, linen, cutlery, and other hardware. 

The area of Yorkshire, according to the latest Parliamentary Report, is 
5,983 square miles, or 3,829,286 statute acres.* The population of the 
county in 1851 was 1, 797,995 souls; of which number 892,7 49 were males, 
and 005,246 females.t 

The Ean Riding, which comprises the south-east part of the county, is 
situated between the parallels of 53 deg. 35 min. and 54 deg. 15 min. N. 

• The area of each divilion of Yorbhire, and deft.Bity, in 1851. 

Area Area P..-u Acree ! IDhaltited Penou 
DIVWOMS. 

iD ~- iDStatata to a to a I Ho-toa to a 
llhH Acrea. Square Mile Penon Sqoarelllile Houee. 

Yon& CITY •••••••• 4 2,720 8,5<12 0·7 

I 
1,66:1 1)·1 

EAST RmiNO ••••• • 1,':!01 768,419 182 ::1·:1 37 4·9 
NORTH ll.IDINO •• • • 2,100 1,3:>0,121 102 6·a 21 4·8 
'VEST RlDINO •••••• 2.661) 1,i08,026 496 1·3 99 6·0 

t Population of tach divuion of Yorbhire, tU enumerated at tach umtU from 1801 to 
18M inclusive; alao, incretUe of pop11lation per cent. in the half century. 

YEARS. I nne-
of Popolatioa 

DIVISIO!'IS. !'!' oeot. 
11!01. 1Sil. 1821. 1831. 1841. 1831. iD $0 , ...... 

-~ You Crrv..... . 10,840 11),000 21,711 211,260 28,842 36,303 116 
E.LST RlDINO • • • • 111,102 13!l,07~ 1~4,643 108,891 194,0!!0 220,08:i 97 
NonTn RlDtNo •• 16tl,!J27 170,12i 188,1i8 102,200 204,701 21~,214 3~ 
WEST RlDINO , • ~72.168 662,87~ 800.363 084,000 1,163,680.1,326,406 13~ 
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l>£SCRIPTION OF YORKBHIRE.· s 

latitude, and 1 deg. 10 min. W. and 0 deg. 10 min. E. longitude from the 
meridian of Greenwich. Its boundaries on theN. and N.W. are formed by 
the little river Hertford, and the Derwent, which divides it from the North 
Riding as far down as Stamford Bridge; and from a mile above that place, 
by an irregular boundary line which joins the Ouse, about a mile below 
York; from this point it is bounded on the W. and S.W. by the river Ouse, 
-..bich separates it from the West Riding ; on the S. by the Humber; and 
on the E. by the North Sea or German Ocean. It is an irregular figure, 
resembling the outline of a shoulder of mutton, of which Holderness may be 
called the shank, terminating in a narrow point at the confluence of the 
Humber with the ocean, whence the Riding extends from. 50 to 60 miles 
northward, varying in its widest parts from 30 to- 40 miles in breadth from 
east to west. It contains '1 wapentakes, about 197 parishes, and about 400 
townships, and it forms a rich agricultural district. Its principal towns are 
Hull, Beverley, Bridlington, Driffield, Hedon, Homsea, Howden, Market 
W eighton, Pocklington, and Patrington. Hull, or Kingston-upon-Hull, is 
an ancient town and county of itself,. but attached to the East Riding in the 
election of t-..o knights of the shire to serve in parliament. Beverley, the 
capital of the Ridingr is now the only parliamentary borough in it-Hedon, 
an ancient borough, having been disfranchised in 1832. The coast of this 
Riding bas two remarkable promontories-Flamborough Head and Spurn 
Point-and has been much wasted by the incursions of the sea. during the 
present century; but on its southern border, several thousands of acres of 
fertile land, called Sunk Ialand, have been recovered from the estuary of the 
Humber, by a system of warping and embanking, which was commenced in 
the reign of Charles I . 

The East Riding is far less conspicuously marked with the bolder features 
of nature than the other parts of the county. It may be distinguished into 
three distriets, the Wold&, and the two kvel tracu, one of which lies to the 
east, and the other to the west and north of that elevated region. The 
Wolds are lofty ranges of chalk hills, extending from th~ banks of the 
Humber, in the vicinity of Hessle, in a northerly direction, to the neigh­
bourhood of Malton on the Derwent, where they range eastward within a 
few miles of the course of that river, to the coast, where they form the lofty 
proiDOntory of Flam borough Head ; and in the vicinities of the villages of 
Flamborough, Bempton, and Speeton, they rise in cliffs of from 100 to 150 
feet. The ascent to theW olds is somewhat steep, except on the eastern side, 
where they rise in gentle and successive swells, presenting a beautiful aspect 
towards the flat country. Though their height in the most elevated parts is 

Digitized by Goog le 



4 DESCRIPTION OF YORKSHIRE. 

supposed not tD exceed 600 feet, yet many parts afford magnificent and de­
lightful prospects. From several of the elevated points between the Humber 
and the high road from Kirk Ella, by Riplingham, tD Cave, York Minster, 
Howden Church, Flamborough Head, Bridlingron Priory, Beverley Minster, 
and the churches of Hull and Hedon, may be distinctly seen; and from 
some of these heights the Cathedrals of York and Lincoln are at once visible. 
The eastern part of this elevated district, skirting the Humber, commands a 
splendid view of that vast estuary extending tD the south-east till it is lost in 
the horizon ; and the farther distances are filled up with a view of the shores 
of Holderness and Lincolnshire.* The western hills rowards Cave afford a 
very extensive prospect over an immense level, terminating in the high lands 
of the West Riding; and also of the rivers Ouse and Trent, which, at their 
junction, are overlooked by the fine promonrory of Aukborough. From the 
western hills a good view is obtained of the southern part of the Vale of York, 
reaching far beyond that city inro the West Riding; and from the northern 
edge of these hills the Vale of Derwent is seen extended below, and beyond 
it the black moors rowards Whitby rise in sublime grandeur. The surface 
of the Wolds is, for the most part, divided intD numerous extensive swells, 
by deep, narrow, winding valleys; and the whole extent of the Wold district 
is computed at about 400,000 acres. 

The level tract along the coast, on the east of the Wolds, begins near 

• At the Meeting of the British Association for the Advancement of Science, held at 
Hull, in the month of September, 18113, Professor Stevelly read communications from 
the Rev. Thomas Rankin, on "The continuation across the country of the thunder and 
rain storm, which commenced in Herefordshire, on September 4th, and terminated on 
the Yorkshire Wolds, on September lith, 18112;" and a "Notice of a terrific thunder. 
cloud on the Wolds, September 26th, 18112." This latter commenced about five o'clock 
in the afternoon, in the N.W., with a dark nimbus cloud. Its first appearance was 
wedge-shaped, with its point towards the wind, and gradually increased in size. In a 
short time a quantity of gaseous matter issued from the base of the wedge, and its 
colour and evolutions resembled the smoke arising from the discharge of a park of 
artillery. The 8istant thunder occasionally growled, but no lightning was seen for a 
considerable time. By-and-bye the cloud assumed the shape of a fan, lying in a slanting 
position, with the upper part reaching about 20 degrees towards the zenith. The colour 
changed to that of a dingy brown, and the edges fringed and gilded on the broad part or 
top of the fan. After some tlashes of sheet-lightning, the thunder roared tremendously. 
The fan shape was changed to that of a shapeless cloud. The distance seemed at first 
about six miles, but in the course of twenty minutes the rain fell in torrents; still the 
lightning was moderate. The fall of rain was but of short duration, though very heavy. 
The frightful cloud must have travelled some fifteen or sixteen miles an hour. The 
day was calm, except a very gentle motion in the atmosphere, about two o'clock, which 
veered to the N.W. in a short time. 

Digitized by Goog le 



DESCRIPTION OF YORXSlii.RP!, 

Filey, the northern limit of the East Riding. As far as Bridlington the 
face of the country is beautifully diversified with lofty swells, but at that 
pla.ce the country sinks into a flat, which continues for eight or nine miles 
to the southward with scarcely any variation. About seven miles south of 
Bridlington the Holderness district begins, the eastern part of which, towards 
the sea coast, is a finely varied country, in which is situated Hornsea Mere, 
the largest lake in the county ; but the western edge is a fenny tract of 
about four miles in breadth, extending nearly twenty miles in length south· 
ward to the banks of the Humber. These fenny lands are provincially called 
Carrs. The southern part of this district, bordering on the Humber, also 
falls into marshes ; and in most parts of Holderness, the views are enlivened 
by a prospect of the Yorkshire and in some places of the Lincolnshire Wolds. 
The third natural division of the East Riding extends from the western foot 
of the Wolds to the boundary of the North and West Ridings. This tract 
of land, which is commonly called The Levels, is flat and uninteresting, 
though generally fertile and well interspersed with villages and hamlets ; in­
deed it is a continuation of the level tract about and around Selby, Thome, 
and Goole, on the opposite side of the Ouse. 

The Soil on the Wolds is commonly a free and rather light loam, with 
a mixture of chalky gravel, and some parts are very shallow. The flat 
country extending between the Wolds, the Ouse, and the Humber, towards 
the Spurn Head, along the Bide of the Humber, presents a soil of a strong 
nature; and the soil of the Levels is in most parts clayey, with an extensive 
sa.ndy, and, in some places, moorish tract running through the Iniddle. 
Near the banks of the Ouse and Derwent it is entirely a clayey loam. 

One of the most important agricultural improvements in the county is 
the drainage of the carrs and marshes in this division of it, together with 
those of the North Riding bordering on the course of the Derwent. The 
Bt'rnley and Barm~t<m Drainage, executed under the provisions of an Act of 
Parliament passed about the year 1792, extends from Barmston on the sea 
shore. a few miles south of Bridlington, along the course of the river Hull, 
on the western Bide of that river, nearly to Kingston-upon-Hull, a distance of 
about 24 miles. Its northern part contains more than 2000 acres, and has 
an outfall into the sea at Barmston ; and the southern division, extending 
southward from Foston, contains upwards of 10,000 acres, and has its outlet 
into the river Hull at Wincolmlee. The Holderne86 Drainage lies on the 
eastern side of the river Hull, and extends from north to south about 11 
miles, and contains ll,!U1 acres. In 1762 an Act was obtained for draining 
this level, much of which before that period was of small value, being usually 
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covered with water for above half the year. The Keyingham Drainage,lying 
between Sunk Island and the mainland, was originally completed under an 
Act passed in the year 1722; but a new Act was obtained in 1802, under 
which the course of the drainage was partly altered, and an additional tract 
of land included, making a total of 5,600 acres. The Hertford and Deru;Bnt 
Drainag1, contains upwards of 10,000 acres, of which, 4,500 are in the 
East, and the remainder in the North Riding. This drainage was com­
pleted under the powers granted to three directors, and three commissioners, 
by an Act passed in the year 1800. Spalding Moor and Walling Fen, a dis­
trict lying westward of the southern part of the Wolds, were drained, allotted. 
and enclosed, under the provisions of the same Act of Parliament. 

The Climau of the East Riding varies; it being colder on the eastern 
than on the western side of the Wolds, as they break the force of the winds 
from the German Ocean. The Levels in the western part of tho Riding 
enjoy a mild climate. Near the coast the country is exposed to fogs from 
the sea and from the Humber. On the Wolds the air is sharp. 

Every kind of agricultural crop is cultivated in Yorkshire; and the systems 
of tillage, on account of the great diversity of soils and situations, are 
extremely various; but greater improvements have been made in agriculture, 
and it has been brought to a higher degree of perfection, and conducted on a 
more extensive scale in the East Riding, than in any other portion of the 
county. Even in the low grounds called the Carre, adjoining to the river 
Hull, such improvements have been made by drainage, as less than a century 
ago would have been deemed impossible. Extensive tracts of land, formerly 
flooded o. great part of the year, and producing scarcely anything but rushes 
and o. little coarse. grass, are now covered with abundant crops of grain; and 
the Yalue of the soil has been increased in a tenfold proportion. The farms, 
especially on the Wolds and in the southern parts of Holderness, are gene· 
rally very large, and small farmers are rarely to be found, except in the 
Levels on the western side of the Wolds towards York.* Wheat is grown 

• Agricultural Statutiu of England.-Tho area of England, in statute acree, is 
325,1)().l,29. Me. Queen's StatuticB of the BritUh Empire, gives the quantity of culti. 
vated land in England at 25,632,000 acres; of these he computes that 15,379,200 acres 
were pasture and meadow land, and 10,252,800 were garden and arable. He calculates 
the a\·erage valuo to be 2:>s. per acre. It is calculated that at least 1,200,000 acres of 
land in England are taken up with hedges; half of which without inconvenience might 
be dispensed with. From the last Cemw Report we learn what follows :-Farms occupy 
two. thirds of the land in England. The number of the farms is 225,318, the average 
size is 111 acres. Two. thirds of the farms are under that size, but there are 771 above 
1,000 acres. The large holdings abound in the south-eastern and eastern counties, the 
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to a great extent on all the lower and more fertile lands; and on the Wolds, 
where about a century ago it was almost unknown, the valleys and declivities 
of the hills now wave with plentiful crops of wheat ; and the farm servants 
and labo'UJ'ers, who formerly lived on barley bread, now use good wheaten 
ftour. The quantity of land annually sown with barley is nowhere remark­
ably great, except on the Wolds, the soil of which is peculiarly adapted to its 
culture. The rabbit warrens, which, in the more uncultivated state of the 
Wolds, formed a prominent feature, have nearly all disappeared; and in 
proportion to the extirpation of rabbits, the breed of sheep has been im­
proved, especially by crosses from the Leicestershire. The sheep walks are 
generally on the more elevated parts of the Wolds. The extensive level, 
extending from the foot of the Wolds to the western limits of the Riding, 
has received many great improvements by drainage, enclosure, and the 
newest modes of agriculture. The vast commons of Walling Fen and Bishop­
soil, containing upwards of ll,OOO acres, which, fifty or sixty years ago, was 
a dreary waste, full of swamps and broken grounds, and which in foggy or 
stormy weather could not be crossed without danger, are now covered with 
weD-built farm houses, and intersected in various directions with good roads. 
In the rich and strong lands about Howden, large quantities of ftax, and 
also of beans, are produced ; and the whole of the level land in the East 
Riding yields fine crops of com of all kinds. 

There is little grass land in this district, except on the banks of the Der· 
went above 1\falton, and again at Cottingham, where there are low tracts of 
marshy meadows, which produce abundant crops of coarse flaggy bay, of 
which that obtained from the last-mentioned district is of a peculiarly 
nutritive quality. 

The East Riding is famous for the breeding and " making up " of horses, 
for which there is one of the most noted fairs in the world, at Howden. 
Holderness, and some other districts, are distinguished for superior breeds of 
homed cattle, as well as sheep. Holderness cows are remarkable for their 
large size, abundant supply of milk, and short horns. They are well 
formed, and distinctly marked, being variously blotched with large patches 
of deep red or black, or with a dun or mouse colour on a clear white ground. 
They are rarely of one uniform colour, and are never brindled or mixed. 

liiiiAI1 Ianna in the north. There are 2,000 English farmers holding nearly 2,000,000 
Knll!; and &here are 97,000 English farmers not holding more. There are jQ,MO 
fArmers who employ five labourers each; 16,001 have ten or more, and employ together 
3ll, i07 labourers; 170 farmers have above 60 labourers each, and together employ 
17,000. 
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There are several Agricultural Societies and Farmers' Clubs in Yorkshire, 
liberally supported by the landowners and farmers. The Yorkshire Agricul­
tural Society, formed October lOth, 1887, and constituted on the model of 
the Highland Society of Scotland, may be considered the chief of them. It 
need scarcely be added that the object of these associations is the encourage­
ment and improvement of agriculture in all its branches. There are no 
extensive woods in the East Riding. The only woods east of the Wolds are 
those at Rise and at Burton Constable; but there are abundance of planta­
tions, and trees in the hedge rows of old enclosures. Since the beginning 
of the present century, the fine elevation of the Wolds have been greatly 
improved by enclosures and plantations. Nearly all the fields are now en­
compassed with quickset hedges, and different parts of the heights are 
ornamented by extensive plantations of Scotch and spruce firs, larch, beech, 
ash, &c. Several tracts have also been planted in the low country to the 
west of the Wolds. 

Chalk and limestone are the principal mineral productions of the East 
Riding ;-chalk chiefly on the Wolds, and limestone in the Vale of Derwent. 
Near the coast the chalk extends from Hassle, on the banks of the Humber, 
to Reighton, near Hunmanby. The chalk is occasionally used in building, 
and frequently for burning into lime; and the limestone, being coarse and 
hard, is of little value either for building or burning. The springs in the 
chalk are very powerful, and many of them, breaking out through the 
gravel at the eastern foot of the Wolds, combine to form the river Hull. In 
the gravel beds resting on the chalk, very perfect remains of large animals 
have been found; and vertebrm, 18 feet in length, and from 8 to 10 inches 
in diameter, have been exhumed; as are frequently teeth, measuring from 8 
to 10 inches in circumference. "At Hull the gravel depository of animal 
remains is about 90 feet from the surface, and the workmen employed in 
boring for water near the North Bridge, described their tools to have smelt 
as if they had been cutting fish, so that it is probable that not only the bones, 
but also the fleshy part of the animal remains. The coast from Spurn to 
Bridlington forms a section of all the beds above the chalk ; and as it is not 
in the line of dip, two beds are generally seen at the same time. A bed of 
clark red clay commences at Kilnsea, containing rounded boulders, mixed 
with pebbles, both of which are composed of granite, gMiu, mica ~late, por­
phyry, grauwacke, quam, mountain limuton6 containing organic remains, all 
the ~andlton88 and coal 1halu, coal, juJUn' earth, chalk, and flint. In this 
bed the chalk pebbles are in the greatest quantity. On the south-western 
side of Holderness, along the edge of the chalk hills, a very extensive tract 
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of rich land has been formed in the course of ages, called Wary Land, which 
consists of the clay and sand deposits of the Humber. The greatest breadth 
of this tract is from Hull to Hedon, a distance of six miles, and its length 
from Hull to Lowthorpe, a distance of twenty miles. A narrow piece of 
newly-formed warp extends from Hedon to Spurn, including Sunk Island, 
and is called the Marsha. How long this operation of land making has 
been proceeding in this quarter, ht&an penetration and local records are 
alike incapable of determining; but that its date is many centuries is obvious, 
as Drypool, which stands upon the present bank of the Humber, is mentioned 
in the Domesday survey, and a causeway, extending from Beverley to the 
newly built town of Hull, at nearly its present level, existed in the time of 
Edward I. The depth of the warp at Hull is 48 feet; beneath it is a bed 
of moorland, consisting prihcipally of peat earth, two feet in thickness. The 
warp land e1tends beyond Driffield, but it is there much shallower than at 
Hull, and its width does not e..ceed four miles. That this moor, now 
covered with warp, was formerly upon the surface, is shown by the nature of 
its composition being evidently peat, which could not be formed in any other 
situation; and that it extended across the Humber into Lincolnshire, is 
proved by pieces of wood, exactly the same as those found in the moor, 
having been washed up at Hessle after a high wind.* All along the eastern 
side oUhe Wolds, from Bridlington to Beverley, and from thence to Hessle 
by the Humber side, the sandstone, and the chalk which rests upon it, dip 
and vanish under an extensive bed of alluvial soil, which forms the whole 
district of Holderness. The extensive plain on the north, the west, and the 
south of the Wolds is covered with an alluvial deposit. "It may be observed, 
as a peculiarity, that the whole of the extreme edge or margin of the Wolds, 
to the north and to the west, with one exception, continues in a regular and 
entire state along the surface, without any of those depressions which take 
place at a very little distance within. It is very probable that the Wolds 
ha"e been the last deposit of all the great masses of simple and homogeneous 
matter in this part of the world. There are scattered all over this elevated 
tract nod.Ja of pyritu, of a round form, composed of iron and sulphur, which 
the country people call bulleu; there are also great quantities of loose frag­
ments of sandstones, which are perfectly foreign to the calcareous matter of 
which the Wolds are formed, and they have, doubtless, been brought here 
by the action of the sea, after the chalky stratum had been deposited and 
hardened, or they would have sunk into the pulp. "t 

• Wbit.e'a Oueueer of the Eut and North BidiDga of Yorbhire. t Ibid. 
0 
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. The North Riding comprehends the whole north side of the county, and is 
much larger and more hilly than the East Riding. It is of an irregular 
oblong figure, from 70 to 88 miles in length from E. to W., and varying 
from 25 to 4 7 miles in breadth from N. to S. It lies between the para.llels 
of 53 deg. 57 min., and 54 deg. 88 min. N. latitude, and between 0 deg. 19 
min. and 2 deg. 22 min. W. longitude from Greenwich. It extends westward 
from the ocean to the confines of W estutorland, and is bounded on the N. by 
the river Tees, which separates it from the county of Durham; on the N.E. 
and E. by the North Sea; on the S.E. by the East Riding; on the S. by 
the river Ouse and the West Riding; and on the W. by the county of 
Westmorland. 

The Riding is divided into 12 wapentakes, and contains about 220 
parishes, and 580 townships. The principal towns are Scarborough, Whitby, 
Pickering, Malton, Yarm, -Stokesley, Guisborough, Middlesborough, Redcar, 
Kirbymoorside, Helmsley, Thirsk, N orthallerton, Richmond, Bedale, Masham, 
Middleham, Ley bourn, Askrigg, and Hawes. The city of York is attached 
to the North Riding in the election of two knights of the shire. The gaol, 
house of correction, and the principal courts and offices of the Riding, are 
situated at its capital-Northallerton; and its six parliamentary boroughs 
are Malton, Richmond, Scarborough, Thirsk, Northallerton, and Whitby. 
More than 400,000 acres of this Riding are uncultivated hills, fells, and 
moors, some of which rise to the height of from 1,000 feet to more than 2,000 
feet above the level of the sea. Tho highest of the mountains are Roseberry 
Topping, 1,022, or according to some, 1,488 feet; Black Hamilton, 1,246 
feet; Botton Head, near Stokesley, 1,485 feet; Nine Standards, on the 
borders of Westmorland, 2,186 feet; Water Crag, 2,186 feet; and Shunner 
Fell, 2,829 feet above the sea.* The three latter are at the west end of the 
Riding. 

The sea coast of the East and North Ridings is about 100 miles in extent 
from the mouth of the Humber to the mouth of the Tees. The principal 
harbours on the coast are Hull, Bridlington, Scarborough, and Whitby; to 
which may be added, Filey Bay, Robin Hood's Bay, and several other creeks­
and fishing stations. The principal Bathing Place& on the coast are 8c81'­
borough, Whitby, and Redcar, in the North Riding; and Bridlington, Filey, 
Homsea, and Aldborough, in the East Riding. 

Mr. Tuke, who surveyed this Riding in the early part of the present 
century, estimated its contents at 1,311,187 acres; of which about 442,565 

• Colonel Mudge's Trigonometrical Survey. 

Digitized by Goog le 



DESCRIPTION OF YORKSHIRE. 11 

were then, and, arc still, mostly uncultivated moors. He divided the Riding 
into six districts, as follows :-

"""'"' The Coast " " " " " " " " " " " " " " " " " 64,920 
Cleveland ....... , .. , . .. .. .. . . • . . . . . • .. • .. .. .. 70,444. 
Yale of York, Howardian Hills, &c. • ••••••••••• 441,386 
Ryedale, with the East and West Marishes •.•••• 100,(37 
Eastern Moorlands ....• •• ••.............••.. 102,000 
West.ern Moorlands •.••••••••• , ·,............. 90,000 

ToTAL • . • • . . 869,187 

....... 

111,000 
3,(35 

196,6211 
226,9(() 

442,000 

Of the uncultivated lands, about 186,625 acres in the Eastern Moorlands, 
and 76,94.0 acres in the Western Moorlands, are incapable of improvement 
except by planting; but a great part of the remainder might be converted 
into arable or pasture land. 

Along the coast from Scarborough nearly to the mouth of the Tees, the 
face of the country is hilly and bold, the cliffs overhanging the beach being 
generally from 60 to 150 feet high, and in some places still higher, as at 
Stoape Brow, or Srow BrmD, which rises 190 feet above Robin Hood's Bay. 
The moors in the back ground rise to an altitude of about 1,000 feet, and 
the gradual slope from the moors to the sea renders the climate cold and 
stormy. 

TAts EtwUrK Moor'laruU, which bound the narrow strip of coast land 
between Scarborough and Whitby, is a wild and mountainous district, about 
30 miles in length from east to west, and 20 in breadth from north to south, 
and ia intenected by several beautiful and fertile dale!!, some of which are 
ext.ensiTe. The most remarkable object in the topography of these wilds is 
t.be singular peaked mountain called RosebernJ Toppi11g, which is situated at 
the north-west angle of the Eastern Moorlands, near the village of Newton, 
about one mile to the east of the road from Guisborough to Stokesley. This 
conical mount, from its detached position and superior elevation, commands 
in all directions a land and sea prospect, at once extensive and interesting, 
and eerves as a landmark to mariners. Its pinnacled summit, too, furnishes 
the inhabitants with the means of prognosticating the weather; for when its 
wp begins to be darkened with clouds, rain generally follows, sometimes ac­
companied with thunder, as indicated in the following ancient proverb,-

" When Rouberry Topping wears a cap, 
Lot Cleveland then beware of a clap." 

The height of this mountain has been already stated, but, as has been 
shown, some of the hills in other parts of these moorlands are much higher. 
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Roseberry Topping is covered with Yerdure from its base nearly to its sum­
mit, which tenninates in a peak of ba.re gritstone rock, only a few yards in 
circuit. Its base " is composed of immense strata of alum rock, above which 
is iron ore, and about half way up the hill is a large laminated rock consisting 
of a friable and indurate<l ferruginous or ochrey clay, of a gritty texture, 
containing an innumerable quantity of petrified shells, and other ma.rine sub­
stances, most of which are bivalres, chiefly of the cockle and oyster kinds, 
and ,·ery brittle, though filled with substances as hard as the rock in which 
they are imbedded. Petrifod BCallop shells, and the ammoniu, or snake 
stone<~, a.re found in the substrata of the rock, but they are seldom perfect. 
Jet, and pieces of petrified wood, haYe sometimes been found, as also have 
trochitq, or thunderbolts, as they are vulgarly called. The latter are conical 
stones from two to six inches long, and less than an inch in diameter at the 
base. A little below the summit is a spring of clear water, concerning the 
origin of which the country people have a ridiculous traditional tale of a child 
being drowned there in the lap of its nurse, who bad fallen asleep in the 
hollow where the water issues from the ea.rth. Roseberry Topping is sup­
posed to have been the Mars of the Saxons, as Freeburgb Hill, within three 
miles of it, is said to have been their Venus. The labour of ascending Rose­
berry Topping is amply remunerated by tlre enchanting views from the rocky 
summit, in which a.re seen,-the beautiful Vale of CleYeland, a great part of 
the COWlty of Durham, the river Tees and its broad estuary, with a large 
expanse of the German Ocean, all stretched out like a map round the 
observer ;-the land beautifully studded witlr villages, farm houses, handsome 
villas, plantations, &c., and the sea enlivened witlr vessels of all grades, 
whose glittering sails full bosomed to the wind, or eddying to the breeze, 
form various shades in the sunbeams, as they stand in different directions, 
and present a pleasing variety to the enraptured sight."* 

At the west end of the East Moorlands, about three miles west of 
Helmsley, is a lofty range of bills called Black or Bleak Hamblekm or 
HamiUoll.f This range, which has, at a distance, the appearance of but one 
eleYation, rises between the open and hL'turiant Vale of De Mowbray, and 
the romantic Ryedale, and commands from its summits varied and extensive 

• 'White's Gazetteer of the East and North Ridings of Yorkshire. 

t The term Hamilton, or Hamildun, is of remote antiquity, being derived from Jtim. 
md. or ~l, which in the Teutonic languages signifies a co,·ering, a semi.globe, or the 
heavens; and thus, from their hemUJiherical form, or appearance, theSI', as well as hills 
near Kirkby.MaJzeard, Tadcaster, and Kendal, had their name. The bills called 
Hamilton, near Helmsley, ue the largest that bev that name. 
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prospects, in which are seen the towns of Northallert.on, Thirsk, Kirby· 
moorside, Helmsley, the Catholic College of Ampleforth, the ancient Castle 
of Gilling, and the picturesque remains of the Abbeys of Byland and 
Rin.uh. 

The nortbern heights of the East Moorlands are known as the CUnlelarul 
Huu ; and the fine fertile tract which lies between them and the river Tees, 
is called the V ak of CUn1elarul. From the tenacity of its clays, or from ita 
araggy cliffs, CUnlelmul is supposed to derive its name. The old local dis· 
tieh, "Cleveland in the clay bring us two soles and carries one away," 
alludes to the cleaving of the clays to the shoes of the traveller. The ex· 
tensire V ak of York, which, according to Mr. Tuke, reached from the border 
of the Tees to the southern confines of the county, by Selby, Thome, and 
Doncaster, has its nortbem portion in this Riding. It is bounded on each 
side by the Eastern and Western Moorlands, and has a gentle slope from 
the Tees southward as far as York, where it sinks into a perfect flat ; not 
however before its ordinarily level surface is broken by several bold swells. 
A range of Highlands, called the HQWardian Hilh, separates this vale from 
RyedaU. The latter dale, and the East and W eat Marnha, form an exten· 
sive level between the Eastern Moorlands and the river Derwent. This 
level, which consists of the Vales of Rye and Derwent, extends under the 
southern margin of the Eastern Moorlands from Helmsley to Scarborough 
and Filey. The Marishes are separated from Ryedale by the Pickering 
Beck. 

TM W t.aUm Moorland1 lie to the west of the Vale of York, and extend 
west,.-ard from Richmond, Bedalt', and Masham, to the borders of West­
morland and the county of Durham. These, which are of far greater 
elevation than the East Moorlands, form part of the mountainous range 
which tenninates the West Riding, near the lofty mountains of Whernside, 
Ingleborough, and Pennigant, each rising to nearly 2,500 feet above the 
level of the sea. Though these moorlands are much higher than those at 
the east end of the Riding, they are generally more fertile than the latter; 
and among them are some of _ the richest valleys in England. There are 
seTeral extensive Dale& in the North Riding. Wmukydak, which is one of 
them, is watered by the serpentine stream of the U re ; Swaledale ranks next to 
it in extent, and both of these dales are very beautiful and romantic. Tees­
dole is of a similar character, and like the two former ones, has several steep 
acclinties and beautiful cascades. The smaller dales are very numerous, 
and are generally very fertile. 

The Climate of the Nortb Riding is various. On the coast it is cold; in 
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the Vale of York the air is mild and temperate, except near the moors. The 
Howardian Hills are cold; the great altitude of the East Moorlands render 
their climate very cold, but the air of the West Moorlands is much colder, 
though the latter are more favourable to vegetation than the former, owing 
to their calcareous composition. Cleveland being exposed to the cold winds 
from the moorlands and the sea, has a climate somewhat severe. 

The Soil along the coast consists of a strong brownish clay and loam. 
The district of Cleveland has mostly a strong clayey soil; but in some 
places a clayey loam prevails, and in others a fine red sandy soil. This is 
generally a fertile and well cultivated vale. On the East Moorlands, near 
the old enclosures, are some considerable tracts of loamy and sandy soils, 
producing furze, fern, thistles, and coarse grass. The subsoil is various, and 
the basis of the whole district is freestone. The surface of some of the 
higher bills is entirely covered with large masses of freestone ; in other 
places are extensive morasses and peat bogs, very deep, frequently not pas­
sable, and highly dangerous. These morasses produce ling, and occasionally 
bent and rushes. The Hamilton Hills, which form the western end of these 
wastes, are, however, very different, having generally a fine loamy soil on a 
limestone rock, which produces great quantities of coarse grass and bent, in 
some places intermixed with ling. Some of the moWltains on the western 
side of the country are covered with fine sweet grass, and others with exten­
sive tracts of bent. In the Vale of York, the level land near the Tees 
consists chiefly of a rich gravelly loam ; upon the high grounds on the west 
side of the road from Catterick to Pierce Bridge, the soil is mostly strong, 
and generally fertile, but in some places cold and springy. Fine hazel loam 
is also occasionally met with. On the east side of the road from Greta 
Bridge to Catterick is much fine gravelly soil, with a considerable quantity of 
clay, and some peat; and to the north of Richmond is a mixed loamy soil, 
resting on lime or freestone; the latter excellent for building. On the east 
side of the Catterick and Pierce Bridge road is some cold thin clayey soil, 
of a ferruginous ochreous appearance, probably containing iron. About 
Barton, Melson by, and Middleton Tyas, the soil is loamy, upon limestone; 
but about Hanlaby, and from thence eastward to the edge of Cleveland, and 
between the Wiske and the Eastern Moorlands, as far as Burrowby and 
Thornton-le-moor, is mostly a cold clay ; though, in some places, less tena­
cious soils, mixed with various kinds of pebbles, are met with. On the west 
side of the road between Richmond and Leeming, a good gravelly soil pre­
vails; towards Hornby, a fine gravelly clay; and at Langtbom, a fertile 
aandy loam, and some peat. The land on both sides of the brook which runs 
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lrom Bnrton Constable to Bedale, &o., is mostly a rich loam ; but in some 
places intmmixed with cobble stones and coarse gravel. The soil between 
Catterick and Boroughbridge, on both sides of Leeming·lane, is generally 
fertile both in tillage and pasturage, being mostly a rich loam, and having in 
eome places a mixture of gravel, and in others sand."* The soil of the 
Howardian Hills is mostly a good strong loam upon clay, mixed with cobble 
stones, and in some places it is light and fertile, upon a limestone rock. The 
western end of these highlands, and from thence to Thlrsk, is chiefly a dairy 
country. Ryedale and the Vale of Derwent are eJttremely fertile, having 
generally a hazel loam upon clay ; or a deep warp or silt soil on gravel or 
clay. The Marishes, East and West, are a low swampy tract of marsh land8. 
The soil in these marshes is chiefly clay, with some sandy loam, gravel, and 
peat. The soil of Wensleydale, near the river, is generally a rich loamy 
gravel, and on the sides of the hills, a good loam, in some places a little stiff, 
upon a substratum of limestone. The soil of Swaledale and Teesdale is 
mostly a rich loam, though clay and peat moss appear in some places in 
ascending the hills. 
~e, throughout the greater part of the North Riding, bas within 

the last half century advanced as rapidly as in most parts of the kingdom, 
considering the circumstances of climate and soil. In the Vale of York more 
than one third is in tillage, and the rest in grass. Ryedale, the Marishes, 
and the northern part of the coast have about one third in tillage; the 
southern part of the coast about one-half. About one-half of Cleveland is in 
tillage. In the dales of the Eastern Moors only about one-fifth is in tillage, 
and much lees in those of the Western Moors. The lower and better part of 
the moors are mostly stinted pastures, on which cattle are kept in summer; 
but the high moors are generally unlimited pastures. Cleveland is as re­
markable for the culture of wheat as Ryedale is for that of oats. Barley is 
not much cultivated in the North Riding, nor rye, except on poor and sandy 
soils ; but malin, or a mixture of wheat and rye, was, till a few years ago, 
very common ; and from it was made nearly all the household bread used in 
the district. Great quantities of rape are grown in Ryedale and other dis­
tricts; and mustard is· grown near York, and prepared for use in that city. 
The latter is equal in quality to the Durham mustard. The enclosed lands 
in DWlY parts of the dales are chiefly appropriated to meadow. 

TM WooclUmda of the North Riding are only estimated at about 30,000 
8CJ'e8, dispersed in all directions, the moorland and Cleveland having the 

• White's GazeUeer of the East and North Bidinp of Yorkshire. 
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smallest proportion. Oak, ash, and broad-leaved or wycb elm, are the spon· 
taneous produce of the woodlands. " The oak timber, though not large, is 
of excellent quality," writes White, in his Gazetteer, "being produced on 
sound and often rocky ground, its growth is slow, which renders it extremely 
bard and durable, and to the use of it the ship-builders of Whitby owe their 
wealth, and the ships their celebrity." There is a great quantity of large 
timber trees in the hedge rows in various parts of the Riding. 

This district is said to produce some of the finest and largest Cattl8 in 
England, the breed having of late years been greatly improved. The Teu­
water or Holdernus Breed of cattle are considered the largest in the kingdom, 
and they fetch very high prices in the market. " They are handsome 
animals, distinctly marked with red or black blotches on a white ground; 
their backs level ; throats clean ; necks fine ; carcase full and round ; quarters 
long ; hips and rumps even and wide ; stand rather high on their legs ; 
handle very lightly; are light in the bone; and have a very fine coat and 
thin hide." We may add to this graphic description, that this breed is 
short-horned, and is bred chiefly in the northern part of the Vale of York. 
In the southern part of the same vale the breeding of cattle is not so much 
attended to as in the north ; the chief object of the graziers there, being the 
dairy. Towards the western extremity of the Riding some long-horned 
cattle are met with, and also a mixed breed between the two. Ryedale, the 
Marishes, and the Howardian Hills are also celebrated for fine short-horned 
cattle ; and a great number of good cattle are bred on the East Moorlands 
and along the coast. 

The Teu-water breed of sheep, the old stock of Cleveland and the northern 
parts of the Vale of York, are largo, coarse boned, and slow feeders, and 
their wool is harsh and dry, But most of this stock has been improved by 
a mixture of the Leicestershire and Northumberland breeds; as also have 
those in Ryedale, the Marishes, and the Howardian Hills, where a cross has 
likewise been obtained from the Lincolnshire long-woolled breed. The na­
tiYe moorland sheep are small and hardy. 

Yorkshire has long been famed for its Horsu, and the North Riding is 
particularly distinguished for its breed. The fame of the Yorkshire horses 
is deservedly spread, not only in this country, but also in France, Germany, 
Russia, America, &c., and dealers from those countries generally attend the 
great annual fair at Howden, and are frequently commissioned by Emperors 
and Kings to purchase horses there. The horses of the Vale of York, by the 
introduction of the racing blood, are rendered the most valuable breed for the 
saddle ; and the Cleveland horses are well adapted to the coach or the 
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plough. Other parts of the Riding produce excellent horses likewise, for 
the saddle and coach, and in the moorland dales is bred a hardy and useful 
description of horse, forming a medium between the Scotch galloway and the 
strong coach horse. 

The Minerah of this district of the county consist chiefly of alum, lead, 
freestone or grit, a very inferior kind of coal, limestone, and ironstone. 
Cleveland and the coast abound in all their bills with beds of aluminous 
strata ; and extensive works for the manufacture of alum have been estab­
lished near Whitby, where the art is stated to have been introduced from 
Italy in 1595. 

There are Lead Mina in Swaledale, Arkengarthdale, and the neigh­
bouring valleys; and great quantities of ir0118ton8 are found in Bilsdale, 
Bransdale, and Rosedale, in the Eastern Moorlands, where iron seems to 
have been extensively manufactured in ancient times.* The huge heaps of 
slag, and the remains of ancient works, with the appearance of the hearths 
where charcoal bas been burned, show that iron was anciently wrought in 
se\"'eral of the dales in this district, on an extensive scale. Some ironstone 
is got on the coast near Whitby. A mine of very fine copper, near Middleton 
Tyas, was wrought for some years, about the middle of the last century, and 
veins of the same metal are supposed to lie concealed in various parts of the 
Western Moorlands. Near the bridge at Richmond, in 1798, copper of an 
excellent quality was discovered. 

Frentone and grit, of an excellent quality for building, is found in many 
parts o( this Riding, especially on Gatherley Moor, near Richmond; at 
Renton, near Boroughbridge ; and in the quarries near Whitby and Scar­
borough ; from whence are drawn the massive blocks used in the construction 
of the piers at these ports. Limestone is very abundant on the Western 
Moorlands and on the Hamilton and Howardian Hills. Seams of coal, which 
is heavy, solphureous, and bums entirely away to a white ashes, are wrought 
in different parts of both the Eastern and Western Moorlands, at Gilling 
Moor on the Howardian Hills, and in the Vale of York, between Easingwold 
and Tbirsk. Marbk of various kinds, together with a kind of flag atone used 

• An inspeximus, dated at York the 26th of February, 1328, the 2nd of Edward m ., 
recites a grant made on the 16th of August, 1209, by Robert de Stuteville, of a meadow 
in Boeedale, to the nuns of that plaee, excepting only his forge, affords proof that iron 
wu worked there euly in the 13th eentury.-.Dvgdale'• MOfUUticcm, 11ol. i, p. 607. 

I..rge quantities of ironstone hav& been recently conveyed from Rosedale, and it ap. 
pears that there is a determination on the part of the owners of property there, that the 
rich minerals, contained in their fertile vale, shall not any longer lay hid to the world, 
bat be made to coutribote to ita wealth and prospezitr. 

D 
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for covering roofs, and a sort of purple slate, are also dug up in this district. 
On the surface of some of the north-western hills large blocks of light red 
granite are seen. 

Though the climate of the Korth Hiding is various, it is as favourable to 
kmget•ity as most parts of the kingdom. The n10st remarkable in the list of 
departed venerables are Jloii'!J Jeukins, of Ellerton-on-Swale, who died in 
1670, aged 160 years; Mary Wilkinson, of Romaldkirk, who died in 1783, 
aged 100 ; Tltoma8 Martiu, of Helmsley, who died in 180-l, at the age of 
130 years; and John Davidson (late a sergeant of the 5th regiment of foot), 
who died at Rawcliffe, November 11, 1854, aged 101 years.* The latter 
was discharged from the army in 1805, and worked at his trade of basket 
making until the last three years before his death. 

Tlte JV est Ridi11g, which for its extent, population, trade, and manufactures, 
is the most important division of the county, is bounded on the :t\. by the 
Korth Riding; on the E. by the river Ousc to its ,junction with the Trent; 
on the W. by the county of Lancaster; and on the S. by the counties of 
Chester, Derby, and Nottingham. Its greatest length from E . to W. is 
about 95 miles, and its extreme breadth from N. to S. is 48 mile8. It is 
situated between the parallels of 53 deg. 18 min. and 04 deg. 23 min. N. 
latitude, and 0 deg. 43 min. and 2 deg. 40 min. W. longitude from 
Greenwich. 

The most import11nt towns in the West Riding are Bradford, LeeJs, 
Sheffield, Halifax, Huddersfield, Dewsbury, Barnsley, Wakefield, Rotherham, 
Doncaster, Pontefract, Goole, Bawtry, Selby, Tadcaster, Tickhill, Wetherby, 
Kuaresborough, Otley, Keightley, and the city of Hi}JOn. 

The surface of this part of the county is diversified, and gradually varies 
from a level and marshy, to a rocky and motmtainous region. The Vale of 
York, which lies oloug the borders of the Ouse, is a flat and marshy district, 
intersected by the rivers Ouse, Aire, and Don. The middle parts of the 
Riding contain a variety of beautiful scenery, but the cow1try westward of 

• CENTENARIANs.-At the last census I 11 men and 208 women have been returned of 
ages ranging from 100 to 119 yelll'S; and to the sci('ntific inquirer in the districts 
where these old people reside, an opportunity is afforded of investigating and setting at 
rest a problem of much greater interest than some of the curious questions that engage 
the attention of learned societies. Two-thirds of the centenarians are women. Several 
of them in England are nat.iYes of parishes of Ireland or Scotland, where no efficient 
system of registration exists; few of them reside in the parishes where they were born, 
and have been known from youth; many of the old people are paupers, and probably 
illiterate: so that it would no doubt be difficult to obtain the documentary eridence 
which can alone be accepted as conclusive proof of such e:r.tl'80rdinary ages. 
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Sheffield, Bradford, and Otley, is rugged aml mountainous. The western 
part of the district of Cra~en presents a confused heap of rocks and moun­
tains ; among which Pennygaut, Wharnside, and Ingleborough, are paiticu­
larly conspicuous. The latter, which is one of the most majestic mountains 
in the county, rises from a base of nearly ten miles in diameter, to an 
e)e\·ation of Q,360 feet. The scenery in the picturesque vales of the Wharfe, 
tbe Aire, and the Ribble, is beautifully diversified. In the middle district 
of this Riding the air is sharp, clear, and healthful ; in the western the 
climate is cold, tempestuous, and rainy; and in the eastern parts, towards 
the banks of the Ouse, damps and fogs are somewhat prevalent. 

The !'Oils of the West Riding vary from a deep strong clay or loam to the 
worst peat earth. Almost all the arable land is enclosed with hedges or 
!>tAme walls; the former in the eastern, the latter in the western parts. A 
great part of tlte Riding is exclusively kept in grass. In the arable land, a 
greater quantity of wheat is raised than of any other grain. The quantity 
of oak and ash wood is very considerable, and both meet with a ready market 
at the shipping and manufacturing towns. 

The mineral productions of the West Riding are of peculiar Yalue, as they 
create and supply the manufactures of the district. They consist of coal, 
iron, stone, and lend. "The West Riding," writes tl1e editor of the Parlia­
mentary Gazetteer (18·13), "yield~ in geological interest to no equal space in 
the kingdom. In this portion of the island, four clearly marked divisions 
present themseh·es. The J"evels on the east rest on the stratum of red sand 
and day, with gypsum or alabaster in varying quantity. The mugnesiau 
lime."tone range is one great plain rising from beneath the Lewis, and ter­
minating toward the west in a regular well-defined edge, forming the partial 
summit of drainage. In the south is the great Yorkshire and Derbyshire coal 
field, which rivals, or e,·en supasscs in importance, that of Northumberland. 
The mining district is, in some parts of the north, exceedingly variable in 
features, occupying eitller high or low ground, producing or not producing 
metallic ores." 

The Manrifnctures of the West Riding are most valuable and extensive; 
they consist chiefly of woollen and stuff goods and cutlery. The seat of the 
former is the district including the towns of Leeds, Halifax, Huddersfield, 
Bradford, aml Wakefield; and that of the latter, Sheffield and its vicinity. 
Besides broad and nan-ow cloth of various qualitie~, quantities of la~ies' 
cloths and shawls are also manufactured in this district, as well as camblets, 
shalloons, duroys, everlastings, shags, serges, baize, carpet..,, canvas, linen, 
sa<·king thread, &e. The Leeds pottery enjoys a very considerable re-putation 
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both at home and abroad. Besides the manufacture of cutlery, there are, 
besides at Sheffield, foundries for iron, brass, and Britannia metal, and ex­
tensive works for the refining of steel; and at the neighbouring town of 
Rotherham are celebrated iron works, at which all kinds of articles in cast 
iron are produced. 

The Waste1 of Yorkshire are very extensiYe, and about the end of the last 
century were calculated in the whole at 849,272 acres; but they ha>e, since 
that period, been considerably lessened by numerous Inclosure Acts; obtained 
both for the detached wastes, and· for parts of the moorlands. 

The geographical features of the county are strongly marked, and render 
the whole province one of the most interesting in the kingdom ; parts of the 
moors in the North Riding rise 1,444 feet above the level of the sea, and 
there are many other highlands ~d\eaks in various parts of the district. 

The chief Port of the county is Hull, which may be deemed the third in 
England ; and the ports of the smaller class are those of York, Selby, Goole, 
Thome, Bridlington, Scarborough, Middleshorough, and Whitby. 

The Commerce is of a Yery extensiYe and diYersified charo.cter. The 
foreign and coasting trade is wholly centred in the above-mentioned ports, 
but more particularly in that of Hull, through which is poured an immense 
quantity of manufactured goods, coal, stone, &c., from the West Riding. 
Com is exported from Hull, Bridlington, and Scarborough, to London and 
the collieries of the north ; and from the principal markets of the East and 
North Ridings, great quantities of grain are sent into the western di ... ision 
of the county. 

Geology, tlc.-The county of York affords interesting fields of study to the 
student in geology. All its strata, with slight variations, dip eastward, those 
which appear at its western extremities being of the oldest formation. The 
mineral productions of the county consist chiefly of coal, iron, lead, alum, 
and stone of various qualities. The West Riding comprises, as has just 
been observed, one of the most valuable and extensive coal fields in the 
kingdom. 

That distinguished Professor of Geology, John Phillips, Esq., F.R.S., de­
livered a lecture in Hull, in 1853, on the occasion of the visit to that town of 
the British Association for the Advancement of Science. The subject of the 
Professor was " Some Peculiar Phenomena in the Geology and Physical Geo­
graphy of YorksJtire ;" and from that lecture, as we found it reported in the 
local newspapers, we have selected the following interesting extracts. After 
referring to the large portion of the residents in the county to whom York­
shire was unknown; and to the small number of York.shiremen who could be 
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said to have climbed our lofty mountains-which, in his judgment, made 
this county famous among the counties of England-or who were supposed 
to know much of the mountains, and caverns, and stratified rocks ; and 
ha'ring alluded to the geographical appearance of the county ; to the distri­
bution of masses of land, and of the relative elevation of different parts of 
the district, as well as to the elevations, depressions, and stratifications of 
portions of the county, he drew the attentio~ of his audience to waterfulls, 
and remarked that they did not find a watetfall of the slightest importance 
in the S.W. part of the county, or in the Wold country. But as soon as thty 
arrived at the district of the oolites from Whitby to Thirsk they had water­
falls, and going further north they became abundant and most beautiful in 
character. There was Hardrow Force, with a fall of one hundred feet over 
a magnificent precipice, and they might walk underneath the edge of it, and 
only get wetted by the spray, such a distance was the water thrown over in 
a curved line. But on finding their way to a fall where the rock was of a 
basaltic nature, and of a quite different texture to the first one he had men­
tioned, there was instantly visible a very mru·ked difference. Such a rock 
was the precipice over which the High Force Falls rolled their waters. It 
was of limestone, and was one of tl1e most beautiful in the country. He only 
mentioned these facts to show that to geologists this was a most important 
subject, and deserving of their serious consideration. He would labour to 
show, in the second place, that these results were dependent on the peculiar 
geological structure of the country. He had the pleasure of coming to that 
part of the country where it could not be necessary to say thnt water had a 
tendency to deposit sediment on level surfaces. On the banks of the Hum­
ber they found that sediment thro·wn dowu by water, formed smooth surface!'! 
and had a tendency to create what were called 'varps-which were in very 
many instances of the most fertile desctiption. They should look at the 
strnctnre of the country. He was not going to tell them how many 
thousands of these various deposits there were, composed of sru1d, covered 
with a subsequent deposit of lime, then a subsequent deposit of sand again, 
then of iron stone, and so on, for many thousands of feet, for he would tell 
them that to count them would be of very little service except to show that 
the structure of the earth was composed of regular coatings of various 
mbstances, and was materially different to what many people imagined. Ho 
belieTed that the earth showed in its distlibution as much arrangement as 
was to be found among other works of nature. He should endeavour to 
abow that the various strata, which were elevated and depressed, were 
rauaed by a great convuffiive movement in the earth. He shoultl be able to 
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show this by various illustrations, and he was certain he should not leave 
any one present in doubt on the subject. He intended to show the character, 
in general terms, of the old bed of the sea at a certain period, very far back 
since, that a set of rocks were placed in them-that a movement then took 
place in the bed of the sea; and he should describe the results of that 
general movement. If they transported themselves into the western parts 
of Yorkshire, and stood between 1\lickle-Fell and Ingleborough-a truly 
magnificent country-they would find that the geological features of the 
cow1try were clearly to be traced from the natural movemc!lt of the earth, 
of a most decisive character. Having gone to Ingleborough, the country 
showed that the basis of the whole formation began with a mass of slate 
rocks, thrown up in an angular elevation, and into grand curvatm-es. By 
observing the direction of the large arches of the rocks, by means of the dips 
and strikes, it was very easy to determine the precise direction in which that 
rock ran. In the instance to which he alluded, they ran fmm E. to S.W.; 
the whole country had, in fact, been bent in a series of curved elevations and 
depressions, like a waved substance, just as we might bend a piece of paper. 
That was undoubtedly caused by the Led of the sea, at some ancient period, 
having undergone a movement of some kind or other, for they found in 
examination these rocks contained the organic remains of zoophites, corals, 
shells, and traces of the lower orders of animal life. Up to the present time, 
however, neither Professor Sedgwick nor the friends who had assisted him 
had been able to trace any remains of fishes. The surface of the country 
having become elevated in places by this struggle of nature, a phenomena o( 

a more recent petiod-one of great interest to geologists-had occurred, 
which had ground down the surface of the elevation and brought it to its 
original level. The question then arose as to how so extraordinary an effect 
could have been produced by nature. The president of the British Association 
had successfully investigated the employment of mechanical force to reduce 
rocks, and would probably agree with him in doubting if there were any force 
in nature likely to produce effects of the kind to which he alluded, except it 
were by the action of the ngitnted wnters on the coasts. Over the deposit of 
the Cambrian rocks, worn und wasted, there was a deposit of a calcareous 
character, which wa~ no doubt at first calcareous mud, several hundred feet 
in thickness. On examining a piece of that rock with the naked eye, it 
appeared to contain fossil remains of a large character; but when a slice of 
it was cut off and placed under the microscope, it then turned out that the 
<leposit was composed of notlting else but the remains of life, accumulated 
during a former period; and, therefore, they had the most unquestionable 

Digitized by Goog le 



DESCRIPTIOX OF YOtlKSIDRt;!. ~3 

endeore that the sea has been concerned in the formation. But now let us 
pause at this point, and inquire what this remarkable formation must haYe. 
been. The whole sea-bed must have been widely and for a long time depressed. 
We find a series of deposits to a considerable elevation, consisting of lime­
stone-, shale, and many other sorts ; and you must still go on and add to 
them the whole thickness of the coal measures of Y orhhire, and you must 
belien' that after the land which bas thus been elevated and then torn away1 

as just described, :was again depressed "1\-ith these subsequent deposits upon 
it, &o that several thousand feet of earth now laid upon the top of the Cambrian 
beds. Well, now, that is the second part of the history belonging to that 
line of country. And now comes on another change. The whole of this 
formation is broken up again by a fracture not limited to Yorkshire, but 
which can be traced northward from thence to Newcastle, and by which the 
then existing strata of the surface of the earth have been carried upwards by 
pressure; and thus we arrive at the causes of those cases of elevation and 
depression in the present arrangement, varying from an elevation of 3,000 
fe-et on the north, and 1,200 and 900 feet on the south side of Ingleborough, 
and in many places to even considerably greater elevations than that, but 
not exce<'ding 4,000 feet. To explain this still further, suppose this is a 
mass of mountain limestone taken from half-way up the Ingleborough 
mountain, from which it has been thrown down to the south, and placed on 
that side: it is not limestone only, but millstone grit, the coal measures, and 
other portions of the former land have all been displaced, and depressed, so 
much so, that instead of being found where they are had they remained in 
their relath·e position to the rest of that strata, they would now have been 
found f&r abo,·e the summit of Ingleborough. It must once have been 1,500 
feE-t ~bove where it now exists. Well, now, this is the average of the depression 
of the real mountain limestone. The most remarkable feature of the deposits 
of t.h.i.\1 era -was that they showed that the period of their deposit was the 
first in which this country became dry land. At the preceding deposits 
were those of the water; but here we bad dry land, and land plants which 
had grown upon rocks in conoexioo with beds of coal. This was the only 
eridencc upon which we could satisfactorily rest of the appearance of dry 
land. You could see the strata exhibiting it at Lord Fitzwilliam's colliery 
at Wentworth. The period at which this formation took place was now so 
distant that it could not be measured by revolutions round the sun. And, 
now, let them look again at what happened after this event. This was 
another great system of dislocation which affected all the north of England. 
After the deposit of the coal measures, and again, as in the previous case, 
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we had the effects of the sea in sweeping away the land ; subsequently a 
.depression takt?s place, and, then a marine deposit takes place upon that; 
after that you have a set of deposits, including the peroxide of iron, and it is 
for that reason wo look for a deficiency of animal life. Mter that a totally 
new series began ; the first of this series was the lias. He trusted many 
would with him visit the coast and see this formation for themselves. 
If they did, they would find vast numbers of curious shells, and great 
numbers of curious animals ; this was the range of the ammonites. He 
supposed that nobody could be found amongst us who would now believe the 
tales of the Whitby people, who supposed that these were serpents without 
heuds, and that they could successfully put them on. There were 120 
species of these most beautiful creatures, not a single li\ing specimen of 
which was now in existence. The learned lecturer next referred to a work 
which he published in lf:12(}, in which he recorded a remark that this coast 
abounded in iron stone, and to the fact, that two years ago some gentlemen 
from Middlesborough·upon-Tecs went to a place called Eston Nabb, and not 
knowing what had been recorded for twenty years respecting the iron stone, but 
looking at the country, thought it contained iron; they examined and found. 
it ; they commenced operations, and now several blast furnaces are at work ; 
and those rocks in all the mining books of the day are spoken of as a dis­
covery of iron stone ; they refer to it as if it had never been known before ; 
it was, in truth, a discovery after all; although it had been published by 
me, for the publicity had become totally forgotton by all practical men. He 
mentioned this, not for the childish claim of honour for the discovery, for it 
was known before he wrote it, but, continued the Professor, there was no 
British Association then. This iron stone is found in beds of 16 feet thick 
in some !)laces, and in many cases 12 feet thick, and it is obtained with such 
ease, that it can be and is placed on the railway waggon at half a crown a ton, 
leaving a very large profit for the lord of the manor; this was a price at 
which iron stone could not be produced in any other county of England. He 
next alluded to the series of oolite deposits, This extends from Gloucester 
and Bath to the sea coast of Yorkshire, near Whitby. Near to Bath and. 
Gloucester there are several mines of this rich and beautiful freestone, of 
which so many churches and other public cd.ificcs are built. In Yorkshire, 
this stone was found mixed with a groat variety of marine shells ; but he 
most particularly wished to draw attention to certain remarkable plants, some 
of which were found in a perpendicular position, and many in an oblique 
one; there were many of them frequently ten feet in length, and they pos­
sessed the joints of marsh plants. It was only in one place that they were 
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found erecL The plants were not found in the oolite near Bath and 
Gloncester; they appear tD be the produce of a marshy soil. Foesil plants 
mat in the north-east of Yorkshire, and are not very unlike the cycas and 
zamiaa which eome of us now cultivate with so much care in hothouses ; they 
are fuund along with many other ferns and corresponding plants, and also 
fresh water aheUs, if they were fresh water shells ; he dare not go so far as 
&o eay eo, although some persons did, but he did believe that they had lived 
in an estuary. This chain of the oolite series were remarkable for having 
ita abundance of plants, for its ironstDne, and fossil shells, and for two 
deecriptions of building stDne, shale, &c., all dift'erent from the oolite of Bath ; 
and it was worthy of consideration, that there were some series of rocks of the 
eame formation, in which there was an entire absence of certain fossils found 
in other rocks of the same formation ; this indicated that a portion of the 
eune chain or rock had been subjected ~ dift'erent circumstances at one 
extremity from tboee which existed at the other ; and yet there were some 
aeries of rocks, apparently of the same formation, in which both the fossils 
ami the rocks were of a totally dift'erent order ; there were also marks in the 
oolite rocks of Yorkshire, which showed one curious circumstance, and that 
was that there must have been land tD the northward where land plants have 
been growing, and which have been drifted possibly by the action of the sea 
to the oolite rocks where they were now found. This was a curious corrobo­
ratioo of Profesaor Forbes' theory, which, for explanation of the modem 
distribution of plants, required that there should at some period have been 
land somewhere between the Highlands and Scandinavia. He would now 
call their atten1ion tD the fact that the stratified crust of Yorkshire had been 
again broken up after the deposition of the oolites, and had been formed intD 
great depressiODS and arches like those before described-the surface had 
been 1r0m down, and there had been another marine deposit, the chalk of 
tbe Wolds. It was a most pleasing geological walk tD start from Brough, 
~ trace along the edge of the Wold Hills this deposit of chalk. He must 
now p&BB to the illustntion of the movements which had taken place on the 
audace. In Holderness, were it not for a geological deposit, the country 
would be as ftat as it was thought tD be by some people ; but he had some 
cJesree of pleasure in pointing out a place where the hill arose no less than 
160 feet above tbe sea. The place was called DimlingtDn Heights, and was 
compoeed of clay, inclosing a great variety of stDne in large masses. There 
were also various bands of gravel which marked its gradual formation. Now 
theee etonee, which were there tD be seen, were of a most characteristic 
deecription, and could be traced, beyond all doubt, as part of that found at 

B 
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Shapfcll, in Westmorland. Similar blocks of granite were found d~pped 
in other places, all of which, it was clear, had come from the same place. 
These blocks, it was eYident, had been by some agency removed from Shap­
fell., and carried eastward over a deep valley in which the river Eden runs, 
bad climbed next a great range . of hills which they had crossed, dropping 
eome at eertain places, and, being over the hills, had then began to diverge, 
and take irregular course.~ going to Darlington, over the Vale of York to 
Nortballerton, and to various places along the coast down into Holderness. 
The course of the stones was distinctly marked, and could be traced clearly. 
The point of elevation over which they bad .been carried was now 1,440 feet 
above the sea--a height as high as that from which they had been taken­
to reach which they had to C1"088 a valley which was the most ancient 
geological valley in Yorkshire. This showed that the block must have been 
transported by some power different from what was ordinarily met with. A 
very great number of these stones were found in the neighbourhood of Ingle­
borough, and, indeed, he had taken the pains to mark many of them on a 
part of the six-inch ordnance map. The part where they were here found 
was even higher than the place from which they came. How, then, was their 
transit to these places to be accounted for? He was scarcely able to furnish 
a solution that appeared to him entirely satisfactory ; but he was disposed to 
think that the continual movement of the level of the ground, without any 
great disturbance of the crust of the earth, might be an element in the 
explanation. of considerable importance, for this might have taken place, and 
the rocks now standing have been undisturbed by any violent convulsion, 
whilst the general form of them might have been altered. Then. supposing 
this to be the case, it was suggested that the blocks of stone had been taken 
from their original position by icebergs, which, floating about, were melted, 
and the blocks dropped. Subsequent alterations in the form of the earth's 
surface brought the blocks up, and they were again picked up by the ice 
and dropped again somewhere else. These were some of the methods of 
accounting for these removals, and were probably the best explanations that 
could be given of them-though he did not give them as being altogether satis­
factory or complete. That all those districts had once been covered by a 
glacial ocean was clearly proved by shells of that particular character which 
Mr. James Smith, Professor Forbes, and other gentlemen, who had made 
researches into the matter, considered stamped as shells of an Arctic Sea. 
Having described the influence of the weather on the earth, in the wasting 
and wearing away of its surface ; and alluded to the action of the water 
after it sunk into the earth, as exhibited in springs and caves in Yorkshire, 
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the learned Professor proceeded to speak of the waterfalls. That of Hardrow 
Force, if seen, he continued, would enable every one to understand the des-' 
eription which Lyell had given of the action going on at Niagara. There 
(at Hardrow Force) a small mountain stream fell over the rock, the base of 
which was composed of clay and shale. This was acted upon by the 
moisture, and fell away gradually, and the result was, the cliff was under­
mined, and the rocks above being jointed at pretty regular intervals, fell over, 
and thus the waterfall was removed a certain step further up the mountain. 
On examination, this course of action might be clearly traced as having 
occurred from the River Ure, a distance of full a quarter of a mile, and they 
would see that the waterfall was certainly going back slowly but yet sensibly. 
The consideration of this and of all matters connected with the study of 
geology would tend to show them that a regular process was going on in 
oature-producing changes highly curious and interesting. These changes, 
though they might not be so violent as those which were shown to have 
taken place under older geological forms, would yet prove, under considera­
tion, that nature was consistent in her methods of producing phenomena, 
and that the effects which were produced by nature were under the control 
of a law; that that law is guided by an intelligence which is of a kind not 
to be supposed mutable as our vain fancies might be ; but an intelligence 
that had presided through times which it was vain for us to think of 
measuring; and which, as it had known no limit in the past, neither had it 
any limit in the future. 

RlvEBs.-The principal rivers in Yorkshire are the Ouse, the Swale, the 
Ure, the Wharf'e, the Derwent, the Aire, the Calder, the Don, the Hull, the 
Tees, and the Esk, all of which, except the two last, pour their waters through 
the great estuary of the Humber. 

The Tea rises in the mountains of Cumberland and Westmorland, and 
pursues a serpentine course along the south margin of the County of Dur· 
bam, which it divides from the North Riding of Yorkshire throughout the 
whole extent. It flows through the fine Vale of Teasdale, where it receives 
eevers1 tributary streams, and after passing Barnard Castle, Y arm, and 
Stookton, falls into the German Ocean, below the latter town. The 'fees is 
nangable for vessels of 60 tons burtben up to Stockton, but the channel is 
serpentine and intricate, and the current rapid. Below Stockton the river 
expends into a large bay about three miles broad. The estuary of the Tees 
is a place of great safety for vessels in stormy weather. 

The &£4U is the next in geographical position, and it has its source in the 
western extremity of the North Riding cf Yorkshire, and after watering the 
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romantic dale to which it gives name (Swaledale) and passing Richmond and 
Catterick, it enters the Vale of York, where it receives the small riTer Wiske, 
and continues its course till it joins the Ure at Myton, a few miles below 
Boroughbridge. The Swale is navigable only for a very few miles. Lam­
bard, Bede, and other early writers tell us; that Pe.ulinus, the first Archbishop 
of York, baptised 10,000 persons in this river in one day,-" by cause at 
that tyme thea.re weare no churches or oratories yet buylt." The river is 
supposed to have been called Suol8 from the Saxon word Sv:a/N, " by reason 
of the swift course of the same." 

The u,., or Y or1, which is one and the same riTer with the Ouse, directs 
its course eastward from its source on the elevated moorland between York· 
shire and Westmorland, and below Askrigg it forms a remarkably fine 
waterfall called AY19arth Forc1. The whole waters fall over a rugged lime­
stone rock into a narrow channel, and form a succession of picturesque 
waterfalls. After passing through Middlebam, Masham, Ripon, Borough­
bridge, and Aldborough, it joins the Swale at Myton, and the united waters 
then continue their course to about six miles below Boroughbridge, where 
they take the name of the Ouse, from an insignificant rivulet with which 
they there form a junction. 

The Ouu, or the Nortlum Ouu as it is sometimes called, to dis&inguish 
it from the river of the same name in Buckingbamsbire, is· formed, as we 
have just shown, by the union of the Swale and Ure, and it runs southward 
receiving the waters of the Nidd, at Nun-Monkton; thence it flows gently to 
York, where it is joiued by the Foss, and afterwards bounds the East and 
West Ridings. At Nun-Appleton it is increased by the waters of the 
Wharfe; and after passing Selby to its successive junctions with the Derwent, 
the Aire, and the Don, it falls into the Humber, at its confluence also with 
the Trent. This fine river is navigable throughout its whole course, and is 
the great drain of all Yorkshire. 

The Humblr. This noble river-the Thames of the midland and northern 
counties of England-divides the East Riding of Yorkshire from Lincoln­
shire during the whole of its course. It is formed, as we have just observed, 
by the junction of the Ouse and Trent. At Broinfleet it receives the little 
river Foulness, and rolling its vast collection of waters eastward, in a stream 
enlarged to between two and three miles in breadth, washes the town of 
Hull, where it receives the river of the same name. Opposite to Hedon and 
Paull, which are a few miles below Hull, the Humber widens into a vast 
estuary, six or seven miles iu breadth, and then directs its course past 
Great Grimsby, to the German Ocean, which it enters at Spurn Head. No 

Digitized by Goog le 



DESCIUPTION OF YOBXSHIBE. 

other river system collects waters from so many points, and connects so 
many important towns, as this noble stream. "The Humber," says a 
recent writer, "resembling the trunk of a vast tree spreadplg its branches 
in every direction, commands, by the numerous rivers which it receives, 
the naTigation and trade of a very extensive and commercial part of 
F.ngland." 

The Humber is navigable up to Hull for ships of the largest burthen; the 
Humber and the Ouse, up to the port of Goole, for vessels drawing not more 
than 16 feet of water; and to York for those of 140 tons burthen. The 
distance from Hull to York by water is about 80 miles. Above the city of 
York the Ouse is navigable as far as Boroughbridge, a distance of 20 miles, 
m barges of 80 tons. The whole course of the Ure, Ouse, and Humber, is 
about 160 miles. 

The tpring hdea rise at Hull more than twenty feet, and at York from two 
to two and a half feet, but they formerly rose at that place four feet. In 
1643, it is recorded that a spring tide at Ouse bridge rose to the height of 
fh·e feet. Some of the "land floods " have risen here to a very great height. 
In 1782, the Ouse at York rose in on~ night nearly nine feet, and filled the 
streets in the lower parts of the city; and in December, 1768, the water rose 
at the same plaoe twenty inches higher, and was seventy-five feet above the 
low water mark of dry seasons. 

Of the river Humber-the ..4.btu of Ptolemy-that quaint old author, 
Lambard, writes thus:-" Humber is not the name of any one water within 
Inglande, but is a name that is gyven to the metinge of many waters, and 
therfore Lelande contendeth reasonablye that it should be called Aber, which 
in the Bryttishe is the same that the Saxons and we nowe calle the mouthe 
of a ryver; for it bathe not the name of Humber till it approche neare 
KingstoD-OD-Hull, before which tyme it bathe receyved Ouse, Ure, Done, 
Trent, Hull water, and some other smal brokes, and so openeth into the sea; 
mel therf'ore Humber bathe not as a ryver of itselfe anye begginninge, (as 
Polydor and others describe) but may wel inoughe be said to begynne withe 
the head of any of those ryvers which it receyveth. It should seme that 
Pwlemy ment this ryver when he speaketh of Abus, so callinge the same 
that the Bryt&ona called Aber. Geffrey of Monmouthe, the leader of our 
lnglishe Chroniclers, eayeth that it was called Humber by occasion that 
Locrine. the eldest son of Brutus, chased Humber, the Kinge of the Hunnes 
(&bU arrped iD his country) into this water, wheare he was drowned. 

Dum tugit obetat ei ftumen, wbmergitur illic, 
Deque 8110 tribuit nomine nomen aqwe. 
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After that the Saxons weare come in great nomber into this ile, they fel at 
variance among themselves, in so much that Ethelbert, Kinge of Kent, (which 
receyved Augustine) warringe upon the rest, enlarged his dominion to this 
water; herof began the people beyonde the same to be called North umbers. 
and their Kingdome Northumberland. This ryver, and the Thamis, (as 
Polydor observeth) do not so comonly overflowe their banks, 88 other waters 
within the realme, which he imputeth probablye to the qualitie of the ground 
undemeathe, which being gravel soketh muche ; but the cause of the groweth 
no lesse, by reason that theise twoe waters be not neighboured with so many 
hilles, 88 Sevem and others be, from which every sodeine rayne descendinge 
into the ryvers, causeth theim to swell sodenlye also." 

And here we make a slight digression for the purpose of glancing at a 
subject which may not be considered altogether irrelevant, viz:-" The Dia­
lects North and South of the Humber compared." At the meeting of the 
British Association held in Hull in 1853, Charles Beckett, Esq., M.R..C.S .• 
read an interesting paper on this subject. He commenced by observing that 
the boundaries of English counties were various, and often arbitrary-the 
most natural being nwn. The river Humber, from its width and length, 
ho.d always formed a most distinct boundary, not only between two different 
counties, but also between two classes of peasantry, differing much in many 
respects-in origin, physiognomy, manners, conformation, and also in dialect. 
Large evidences exist of Danish origin in the names of towns and villages in 
both counties; no less than 212 places terminating in by in Lincolnshire; 
whilst in the North and East Riding of Yorkshire 135 of the same were found. 
This termination always pointed out a Danish origin. Several other Danish 
names of places, persons, and other things, were also found to exist. The 
distinction between the peasantry north and south of the Humber could not 
escape the attentive observer. The Lincolnshire peasant was somewhat 
more phlegmatic, his physiognomy less marked and acute, and the face more 
oval in form than tho Yorkshire one. His manner is more amicable and 
polite, but less decisive and acute. This harmonizes not only with his own 
appearance, but, singularly, also with the general mildness of the aspect of 
the landscape around him. These inquiries were the more interesting, 
because the progress of civilization increased travelling facilities, and the 
lapse of time tends rapidly to efface these ethnological distinctions. The 
successive irruptions of the Roman, Saxon, Danish, and Norman people into 
this country were analogous to the warping of low land by successive tides ; 
the existing language being a rich alluvium left by them all. Yorkshire had 
probably several dialects; Lincolnshire two, according to Halliwell-the 
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north and the south. Both agreed in the broad pronunciations of many 
syllables, as, for instance, changing one into two ; as sea, se-ah ; seat, se-at; 
beast, ~ast. Both use many archaic words-each county, however, having 
its own. The intonations and inflexions of the voice vary also in the two 
counties. But the chief difference lay in the relative value of the two vowels 
i and o being rendered ei in Yorkshire, and double or long i in Lincolnshire, 
as·wife, weife, wiife; life, leife, liife, respectively. These apparently trivial 
dift'ereneea were in fact sufficient to change the whole character of the 
vernacular speech. The o, also, had similar varieties ; thus in Yorkshire we 
have now, noo; and thou, thoo. In Lincolnshire these would be tluwu, JUWtt. 

Some other characteristics were also mentioned. On the whole, the Lincoln­
shire dialect was more soft and agreeable, contained fewer obsolete words 
and accents, and epproached more nearly to pure speech. The paper closed 
by enquiring how far climate and the social history and progress of the 
two counties might have operated along with some differences of origin, in 
leading to these interesting and probably transient ethnological distinctions. 

At the same meeting, Sir Charles Anderson, Bart., read a paper on " The 
infiuence of the invasion of the Danes and Scandinavians, in early times, on 
certain localiti_es in England." The talented lecturer said, that having lately 
visited Denmark and the northern parts of Europe, he had been much struck 
with the similarity pervading the Danish and English languages. This 
similarity he ascribed to the influence which the Danes possessed when they 
made a conquest of this island, and planted themselves as settlers in it, and 
he gave several examples in support of his assertion, which fully identified 
the two languages. 

'The riur Hull rises in the Eastern Wolds, near Driffield, and purSues a 
sou them course to the eastward of the town of Beverley, with which it is 
uoited by a canal; and it falls into the Humber at Kingston-upon-Hull, 
where it forms a secure but contracted haven. This river serves to drain 
the whole country between the Wolds and the sea; and historians tell us 
that the portion of this river between the Humber and " Sculcotes gote " was 
originally cut by Sayer de Sutton, to drain the marshes within hislordsl.ip 
of Sutton. In a charter of Richard II, this part of the river is said to have 
previously been named Sayer Creek. Mr. Frost thinks that the drain called 
Sayer Creek was cut by Sayer de Sutton so early as the reign of King John. 
The river Hull is navigable to Frodingham Bridge, several miles above 
Beverley ; and thence to Great Driftield by means of a canal. .Another 
canal extends eastward from the river Hull to Leven, a length of about 
three miles. 
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All the local historians, except Mr. Frost, assert that the river Hull in 
former times discharged itself into the Humber to the eastward of the present 
river ; but that gentleman found abundant evidence in the registers and 
histories of the Abbey of Meaux, to show that its ancient course lay to the 
westward of the pre!ent channel ; and he thinks that the frequent notice of 
Old Hull as one of the boundaries of lands without the walls to the westward 
of the town, would of itself be amply sufficient to establish the fact, without 
the corroborative proof afforded by the registries of Meaux, which are con­
clusive on the subject.* That very diligent author informs us, that in the 
Book of Meux, the ancient river is described as having divided the wapen­
takes of Holderness and Harthill, and that New Hull, which had formerly 
been called Sayer Creek, and had become a great river, in consequence of 
the channel of Old Hull having warped up, was afterwards the dividing 
boundary of the districts of Holderness and Harthill; and that a part of the 
village of Wyke or Hull, which had previously been within the limits of 
Holderness, being then separated by the river, became a member of the 
wapentake of Harthill. 

The WlulfjtJ rises at the foot of the Craven Hills, winds its course through 
the district of Wharfdale, and passing Tadcaster, joins the Ouse at Nun­
Appleton. It is navigable as far as Tadcaster. 

The Derwent has its head in the Eastern Moorlands, in the North Riding, 
within about four miles of the sea. After running in a line almost parallel 
with the coast to the foot of the Wolds, it takes a westerly direction till it 
receives the Rye, from Helmsley; thence by Malton, Gate-Helmsley, and 
Stamford Bridge, to the Ouse, near Barmby, from which it is navigable for 
vessels of twenty-five tons burthen, to Malton, and above which town the 
navigation has been continued to Yedingham Bridge, a further distance of 
about nine miles. From its junction with the small river Hertford, near 
its source, the Derwent divides the North and East Ridings till it approaches 
near Stamford Bridge, where it enters the East Riding. 

The .A.ire, one of the most considerable rivers in Yorkshire, takes its rise 
in some wild moors near Malham, in the north west quarter of the West 
Riding, and runs past Skipton and Bingley to Leeds. Twelve miles below 
the latter town, near Castleford, it ~ves the Calder, and passing Bnaitb, 
it joins the Ouse three miles south west of Howden, a little below Armin. 
The Aire becomes navigable at Leeds, where it forms a junction with the 
Leeds and Liverpool canal. Camden says, the course of the Aire is eo 

• Frost's Bistorio Notices ot Kmpton-upon-Bull, p. 28, 82. 
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extremely crooked, that he crossed it seven times in travelling half an hour 
in a straight line. 

The Colthr rises on the eastern border of Lancashire, not Car from 
Burnley, and pursues an eastward course through Todmorden nlley, to 
Wakefield; it then turns to the north till it joins the Aire, at Castleford. 
In 1768, an Act was passed for extending the navigation of the Calder to 
Sowerby bridge, in the parish of Halifax, and for making the Hebble 
navigable from Brooksmouth to Salterhebble bridge. In 1825, an Act was 
passed for making a cut from this canal at Salterhebble, to Bailey Hall near 
Halifax. This river is connected with various canals, which form a water 
eommUDication across the kingdom from Hull to Liverpool, as well as a 
junction between the eastern and western seas. 

The Don has its source in the western moors beyond Penniston, and flows 
by Sheffield, Rotherham, Doncaster, and Rawcliffe bridge, to Goole, where 
it falls into the Ouse. In its course it is joined by the Hodbeck, the Wente, 
the Rother, and other tributaries, and by several canals. The lower part of 
the channel of the Don, from the vicinity of Snaith, is artificial, and is 
usually called the Dutch river. In 1751 this river was made navigable to 
Tinsley, three Iniles below Sheffield; and by an Act of Parliament passed in 
1815, this navigation has been continued by a cut, called the Tinsley canal, 
to Sheffield. 

The Eak has many sources in the centre of the Eastern Moorland dales, 
and flowing eastward, receives various streams, until it falls into the North 
Sea at Whitby, dividing that town into two nearly equal parts, which are 
connected by a draw-bridge. On the 17th July, 1761, the spring tides rose 
and fell here four times in less than half an hour. 

The Fou rises near Craike Castle, and joins the Ouse at York. The 
channel of this river is believed to have been originally formed by the Ro­
IDIUlS, to effect the drainage of an extensive level tract lying between the 
Onse and the Howardian Hills, near the western extremity of which it has 
ita source. Leland, in enumerating the rivers which water the forest of 
Galtres, says "The Foue, a slow stream, yet able to bear a good vessel, 
ryeeth in nemore CaU:dericJ, or amongst the woody hills now called Galtres 
Forest, Uld in its descent from the highest ground, leaveth Crayke on the 
weet side, thence it goeth by Marton Abbey, Marton, Stillington; Farlington, 
Towthorpe, Erswick, Huntingdon, &c., at York into the Ouse." 

The Nidd rises in Netherdale, and passing by Knaresborough, enters the 
Ouse at N un-Mon.kton. 

The CanaZ. of Yorkshire are numerous, but are chiefly in the West 
F 

Digitized by Goog le 



84 DESCRIPTION OP YOBKSIIIBE. 

Riding ; and the county is so intersected by Railu:ays, that there are few 
towns or good villages "ithout a railway station. There are 420 miles of 
railway in the West Riding, and the land occupied by railways is 5,392 acres. 
It appears from a return recently issued by the railway companies in England 
and Wales, that the total acreage of the parishes through which the various 
railways pass, is !1,177,11}0; and the acreage of the land occupied by the 
railways is 65,04 7, or O·il per cent. The aggregate length of railway in tl1e 
various parishes is 5,637 miles; and the average quantity of land occupied 
per mile of railway, is 11·58 acres. There is one mile of railway to every 
162,802 acres of land.* 

Antiquities.-Besides the Roman remains which arc noticed at subsequent 
pages, the most remarkable antiquities exist in the relics of ancient castles 
and religious edifices. The only remains of Roman structures now to be 
seen at York are the polygonal tower, and the south wall of the MintY ard. 
Romat. urns have been discovered in several situations near the stations and 
roads of that people; and a vast variety of Roman antiquities have, at dif. 
ferent times, been found in York and its viciuity, such as altars, sepulchral 
and oilier urns, sarcophagi, coins, signets, &c. Many ancient tumuli are 
discernable in various parts of the county, particularly on the Wolds; and 
besides the Roman encampments, others of the Sa.~ons and the Danes may 
be traced in several places in the North and West Ridings. Near Borough· 
bridge are three gigantic obelisks of single stones, commonly called the 
Devii's Arrou:s, by some thought to be Druidical, and by others supposed to 
be of Roman origin. About nine miles N.W. of Ripon is a remarkable 
assemblage of rocks called Bramham Crags, which are conjectured to have 
been a Druidical temple. 

The chief remains of ancient Castles or Fortresses are Clifford's Tower at 
York ; and in the West Riding, the castles of Conisbrough, Harewood, 
Knaresborough, Pontcfract, Great Sandall, Skipton, and Tickhill; in the 
North Hiding, ilie castles of Helmsley, Malton, Middlehan1, Mulgrave, 
Pickering, Richmond, Scarborough, Sheriff Hutton, and Skelton; and 

• From the so.me return we learn that the railway companies in England and Wales 
contributed towards the poor mtes £187,61!. in 1851, and £186,539. in 185~; while the 
total amount collected in the parishes through which tht>y pass, amounted to £3,189,135. 
in the year ending Lady-day, 1851, and £3,113,926. ending at the same period in 1862. 
So that the railway companies paid in the year ending Lady-day, 1852, 6·99 per cent. of 
the whole, or nearly 6 per cent. of the rates for occupying 0·71 per cent. of the land, 
being 8·43 tinles the amount of the sum paid per acre by the parishes. The aYemge 
amount paid by the parishes for the poor rates is 6·78s. per acre, while that paid by the 
railway companies for the land they occupy, is £287. por acre. 
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Wressell in the East Riding. The most remarkable ancient mansions are, 
Temple Newsom, near Leeds; and Gilling Castle, near Helmsley. The 
latter was formerly the seat of the ancient family of Fairfax. There are 
likewise several ancient mansions in.different parts of the county, but now 
converted into farm houses. 

The number of ancient Religious Houses, or Monastic llllltitutions, in the 
county was, according to Benton,* 14 Abbeys, 44 Priories, 7 Alien Priories, 
IS Cells and 23 Friaries of various orders. 'l'he beautiful and picturesq11e 
ruins of many of them denote their former splendour. The principal ruins 
of abbeys are those of St. Mary's at York; Fountains, Roche, Kirkstall, and 
Selby, in the West Riding; and Byland, Rivaulx, Easby, Eggleston, and 
Whitby, in the North Riding. The chief ruins of priories are those of 
Bolton and Knaresborough, in the West Riding; Guisborough, Mountgrace, 
and Wykeham, in the North Riding ; and Bridliugton, Kirkham, and 
Watton, in the East Riding. 

Mineral Springs, cfc.-The chalybeate and sulphurcous springs of Harro­
gate are of great celebrity. They were discovered in 15il, and have rendered 
that once obscure hamlet one of the principal watering places in England. 
The springs of Askerne, about eight miles north of Doncaster, much resemble 
those of Harrogate, both in smell and taste, but differ from them in their 
operation. The chalybeate and saline springs of Scarborough, discovered 
early in the 17th century, have long been celebrated; and there is also a 
Camous chalybeate spring at Bridlington Quay. There are, besides, mineral 
springs of various qualities at Aldfield, Boston, Gilthwaite, Horley Green, 
Dkley, and Knaresborough, in the West Riding; and at Malton, in the 
North Riding. A mineral spring was discovered near Guisborough, in May, 
18~2, which is much resorted to ;-the waters are diuretic. At Knares­
borough is the celebrated Dropping and Petrifying WeU; and at the bottom 
of Giggleswick Scar, near the village of Gigglcswick, is a spring which ebbs 
and flows at irregular periods. On the Wolds, and near Cottingham, on 
tht'ir eastern side, are periodical springs, which sometimes emit very powerful 
streams of water for a few months successively, and then become dry for 
years. 

Amongst the most remarkable W aterjalh in the county are Thornton Force, 
near the village of Ingleton, in the West Riding, and in the vicinity of 
Thornton Scar, a tremendous cliff of about 300 feet in height. The Force 
is formed by a small stream, which is driven down a precipice of about 90 

• MODUiicon Eboracense. 
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feet in height. The cataract of Malham Cove, which is 300 feet high; and 
Aysgarth Force; Hardrow Fall; High Force, in the Tees; Mallin Spout; 
Egton; and Mossdale Fall; all in the North Riding. 

There are several curious Caves, which may be classed among the natural 
curiosities of the county; of which, that near Ingleton, among the Craven 
mountains; Yorda.s Cave o.nd Weathercote Cave, in the latter of which is a 
stupendous cataract of 60 feet fall ; Hurtlepot and Ginglepot, near the head of 
the subterranean river Wease, or Greta; and Donk Cave, nea.r the foot of 
Ingleborough, are the principal. In the same neighbourhood, at the foot of 
the mountain Pennigaut, are two frightful orifices called Hulpit and Huntpit 
Holes, through each of which runs a subterra.neous brook, about a mile in 
length, and emerging, one at Dowgill Scar, and the other at Bransil Head. 

Franchi8e, &c.-Previous to the year 1832, when the Reform Bill became 
the law of the land, Yorkshire returned to Parliament two members for the 
county, and two each for the boroughs of Aldborough, Beverley, Borough­
bridge, Hedon, Kingston-upon-Hull, Knaresborough, New Malton, North­
allerton, Pontefract, Richmond; Ripon, Scarborough, Thirsk, and York. 
Under that Act two members are returned for each of the three Ridings; 
the boroughs of Aldborough, Borough bridge, and Hedon, were disfranchised; 
those of Northallerton and Thirsk were deprived of one member each; 
Bradford, Halifax, Leeds, and Sheffield, were granted two members each ; 
and Huddersfield, Whitby, and Wakefield, one member each; so that there 
are now in Yorkshire seven neu,, and ele1'en old, Parliamentary boroughs, 
which, with two members each for the three Riilings, returns no less than 
37 Members to Parliament. 

Yorkshire is included in the Northern Circuit, Th(;: ABBi.:::ts are held in 
York, where is the county gaol; the Qull.rttr Sessions for the North Riding, 
at Northallerton; and for the Ea.st Riding, at Beverley; the Ea.ster Quarter 
Ses~ions for the West Riding, at Pontefract; the Midsummer, at Skipton, 
adjourned to Bradford and Rotherham ; the Michaelma.s, at Knaresborough, 
adjourned to Leeds and Sheffield; and the Christmas Sessions, at Wetherby, 
a(ljourued to W il.kefield and Donca.ster. 

The InJUlbitants of Yorkshire are social, humane, industrious, frugal, and 
enlightened ; and the familiarity that prevails amongst the different grades 
of society is an admirable trait in their character. The Yorkshire temple of 
fame records a numerous list of worthies, eminent in charity, literature, the 
arts and sciences, and in arms; most of whom are noticed in the histories of 
the towns and parishes where they were respectively born or flourished. 
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Fao11 the concurrent testimony of the earliest historians, it is certain that 
the aborigines of Great Britain were several tribes of Gallic Celts, who emi­
grated from the continent, and settled here at least a thousand years before 
the Christian era, The whole of the southern c088t of the island appears to 
have been peopled before either its more northern or the midland districts 
had been penetrated. As the descendants of the original settlers increased 
in number, and new bands of emigrants, or, as they have been technically 
named, waves of population, successively arrived from the mother country, 
the backwoods were gradually cleared, till at length the whole island became 
inhabited. Besides the testimony of ancient authorities, the position of the 
two countries (Gaul and Britain), and the re8emblance of manners and cus­
toms, we have the clear and strong testimony of language, to prove the one 
people tA> have sprung from the other. The Celtic language, though in 
divided portions, is still known amongst us. One branch of it, called the 
Gaelic, is spokm by the native Irish, by the Scottish Highlanders, and in 
the Isle of Man; the other was formerly current in the county of Cornwall, 
and is still spoken in Wales and Lower Brittany. The Gaelic or Celtic race 
not only took possession of this kingdom, but actually oveJTUO the continent 
of Europe, from the farthest shores of Ireland to the banks of the Danube. 
The early Greek writers knew little of Western Europe, and Herodotus, who 
wrote in the middle of the fifth century before the coming of Christ, had but 
an indistinct notion of the British Isles, under the general term of Cassi­
terides, or the Tin Islands, as the grand source from which the Phoonicians 
deriTed their supply of that metal. The earliest mention of our islands by 
their names, is made by the philosopher Aristotle, who lived a century later 
than Herodotus. In alluding to the ocean without the Pillars of Hercules, 
(the straits of Gibraltar) he tells us there were " two islands, which are very 
large, Albion and Jerne, called the Britannic, which lie beyond the Celtae." 
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Polybius, another Greek historian, who wrote about 150 years before the 
Christian era, speaks of the " Britannic Isles," but adds nothing to our 
knowledge of them. He tells us that from a very early period of the history 
of the world, the Phrenician merchants obtained their supply of tin (an 
article in use as far back as the time of Homer) from Britain. As this metal 
is found chiefly in Cornwall and the Scilly Islands, the parts of Britain which 
would first present themselves to the navigators from the Phrenician port on 
the coast of Spain, Gadeira, or Gades (the modem Cadiz) would be these 
places and the south of Ireland. Another Greek writer, Diodorus Siculus, 
informs us that the tin was carried from the district in which it was found, 
to an island "in front of Britain," named Ictis, apparently the Isle of Wight, 
where it was purchased by native merchants, who transported it to Gaul, 
and it was then carried overland on pack horses, a journey of thirty days, to 
the mouth of the Rhone. If we except the allusions made to the trade in 
tin, by the early Greek writers, everything relating to this distant region, 
almost unconnected with the world as then known, was ~pped in 
mystery, and continued so until the veil was at length drawn aside by the 
ambition of Julius Cresar. 

Ireland is supposed to have been peopled (at least in part) from the coasts 
of the west of Britain, at the same time that the aboriginal Celts emigrated 
to England. The former island, known to the Romans by the names of 
Hibernia and J uvema, appears to have been tolerably well known in the age 
of Ptolemy, who gives us a description of its coasts, and enumerates the 
tribes and towns both in the maritime districts and in the interior. Three 
at least of the tribes who held the eastern coast of Ireland, the Brigantes, 
the Menapii, and the Voluntii, were, no doubt, colonies from the opposite 
shores of Britain. 

It was to one of the Celtic bands of foreign invaders, who inhabited 
Ireland, that the epithet Scots was first applied. Different interpretations of 
this word have been given, but the most probable is the same with the modem 
Gaelic term Scuit or Scooit, signifying a " wandering horde." From Ireland 
a branch of the Scots passed over into Scotland, and eventually gave their 
name to tltat country; though a part of it had long before been peopled by the 
Caledonians or Oavilldaoin, that is," men of the woods." The Gauls who first 
inhabited Britain* were distinguished, not only for their good natural capa-

• The original name of this island, Albion, is that by which it still continues to be 
designated in the language of our Scottish Gael. They call it .dlbinn. Inn is the· Oallio 
\erm for a "large island;" .dlb, though not now used by the Scottish Gael, anciently aig. 
niJled whitt: Albinn therefore mean• the "White Uland," a Dame probably given to 
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eity, but for their valour, and their pledged fidelity to aid each other against 
the attacks and incursions of all foreign powers. Their persons were tall, 
their clothing was untanned skins, and they painted the naked parts of their 
body with a blue dye extracted from woad, decorating the skin with figures 
of various objects, particularly the heavenly bodies; and they shaved all 
their beanl except on the upper lip, which they suffered to grow to a great 
length. The barbarous practice of tatooing was long in use among the more 
northern Britons; it was a custom amongst the Picts as late as the fifth cen· 
tory. Their towns were a confused assemblage of huts, covered with turf 
or skins, little superior to the kraals of the Hottentots, and for the sake of 
security, generally planted in the midst of woods and morasses, and sur· 
rounded with palisadoes of trees piled upon each other, like the fortification 
observed at this day among the New Zealanders. They seem to have been 
able to fabricate warlike weapons from metals. Their arms were small tar· 
gets, and swords, and spears; and in battle they used a very formidable kind 
of chariot, which was armed with iron scythes, projecting from the axle. 

They were governed by chiefs, and the great mass of the people, as we 
learn from Cresar, were in a state of servile dependance, the mere slaves or 
eerfs of a peering nobility. The general food of the tribes, inhabiting the 
southern districts of England, was milk, and the flesh of their herds, super· 
stition having forbid the use of fish, and several kinds of animal food; but 
the poor savages of the north subsisted principally by hunting and the spon­
taneous fruits of the earth. These Ancient Britons had made some progress 
towards oivilization in the southern parts of the island, prior to the period 
of the Roman invasion, but all the northern tribes were as wild and uncul­
tivated as their native hills. 

Their religion, which formed part of their monarchial government, was 
Druidical. Its origin is not known with any degree of certainty, though 
some affirm that it was first introduced into England by the Phrenicians ; 
whilst others contend that the Druids accompanied the Celts in early ages 
from the east. They adored under different appellations the same Gods as 

Great Britain Crom the chalk cliffil which it presented to the ~iew of the people on the 
opposite cout. Numerous interpretations have been given of the word Britain; the most 
probable perhaps, of which, is that advanced by Whitaker, the historian of l'llanchester. 
Brit, he maintains, signifies "the divided" or "separated;" and the termination in, is 
DO&bing more than the sign of the plural according to the usual mode of declension in 
the Gaelic tongue. Britin therefore were the separated people or the emigrants, as we 
chould aay,-those who had removed Crom the rest of their countrymen in Gaul, and 
eeu.led in Albin11; and thus it would appear that the name Britain, which is now given 
to the island, was originally applied to its inhabitants. 
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the Greeks and Romans. Pluto they considered as their progenitor; Apollo, 
Mars, Jupiter, Minerva, and Mercury were severally worshipped. To these, 
the superior Gods, they added a multitude of local deities, the genii of the 
woods, rivers, and mountains. They worshipped in high places, and in deep 
groves, and adored the God of Nature, and rendered him pmise on the yearly 
succession of the seasons, which they kept as solemn festivals. They did 
not worship idols in the human or any other shape, but one of their tenets 
inculcated the invisibility of the deity, and that consequently he ought to be 
adored without being seen. They dwelt largely in allegory, and symbolical 
representations, and clearly explained their superstitious rites and mytholo­
gical observances to the initiated, but to none else: initiation therefore became 
a point of primary importance with every individual who was ambitious of 
exalting himself to eminence in any station of life, whether civil, military, 
or religious. 

On the oak they looked with peculiar reverence. This monarch of the 
forest, from its strength and durability, was considered as the most appro­
priate emblem of the divinity. The tree and its productions were deemed 
holy; and if it chanced to produce the mistletoe, the whole tribe was sum· 
moned to gather it; two white heifers were immolated under its branches; 
the chief Druid cut the sacred plant with a golden knife, with much pomp 
and ceremony; and a religious feast tehninated the ceremonies of the day.* 

Their sacrifices in times of peace were the fruits of the earth; in war they 

• One of the greatest festivals of the Druids was the WV.ter'• Solltict, which they 
held about the same period of the year at which we celebrate the festival of Christmas; 
and hence the practice of adorning our houses with Mutlttot (a sacred plant with the 
Druids) has been deri,·ed from the use of that plant in the religious observances of that 
people. The mistletoe was dedicated to Friga, the Venus of the Scandinavians; and as 
she was the goddess of love, hence arose the custom of kissing under the miatletoe. 
The festival of the SaJ:v.mali4 was introduced by the Romans, and was united with the 
winter festival of the Druids. The HoUv was dedicated to Saturn; and as the fetes of 
that deity were celebrated at the same time, the Romans were accustomed to decorate 
their houses with holly. The Roman laurel was entwined with the Druidical mistletoe, 
and the Saxon evergreens with the holly and ivy, to form a garland wherewith to deco. 
rate the houses and temples of the people; and so has this custom of decorating our 
houses with evergreens relnained with us to this day: the early Christians having used 
the same observances as their Pagan neighbours, while they were celebrating their fes­
tival at Christmas, in order that they might escape observation. The festival of the 
Winter's Solstice was meant to testify men's joy nt the return of the sun, and it obtained 
the Anglo-Saxon name of Juul or Yule, a word for which several etymologies have been 
assigned. On the eve of the Winter's Solstice, the Anglo-Saxons burnt a large block of 
wood as an emblem of returning light and beat, and hence may be traced the still ob­
~erved cu1tom in England, of burning the yule log. 
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devoted to the God of battles the spoils of the enemy; but in the hour of 
danger human sacrifices were deemed the most efficacious. To their belief 
in the immortality of the soul, they added the absurd fiction of metempsy­
chosis, that man is placed in the circle of courses-good and evil being placed 
before him for selection. If he prefer the former, his soul, when it leaves 
the body, enters the circle of felicity; but if he chooses the latter, death 
returns him to the circle of courses, and he is made to do penance for a time 
in the body of a beast or reptile, and then permitted to re-assume the form of 
man. According to the predominance of vice or virtue in his disposition, a 
repetition of his probation may be necessary; but after a certain number of 
tra.usmigrations, his offences will be expiated, and the circle of felicity will 
receive him among its inhabitants. 

"The worship of the Druids," writes the Rev. George Oliver, "was of a 
nature that required silence, secrecy, and space for contemplation. This end 
could be obtained by no means so effectually as by placing their sacred tem­
ples in the bosom of an impervious grove of trees, intersected by a labyrinth 
of devious and inextricable pa.ths and 'rindings. The veneration for oaks 
was patriarchial; it is not, therefore, wonderful that the early Druids esteemed 
that tree holy, and solemnly consecrated it to one of their most powerful 
deities. The solitude of a grove of branching oaks gave an air of mystery 
to their proceedings, and the people were easily persuaded that it was the 
peculiar residence of the great and terrible God, who would not fail to inflict 
summary punishment on the profane intruder, whose unhallowed feet should 
violate the sanctuary, and unauthorized, attempt to penetrate the hidden re­
cesses of the sacred enclosure, where the most holy temple was constructed.''* 

The sons of chief personages were disciples in the ethic schools of the 
Druids, where the rules of moral life were inculcated a.s the foundation of 
human wisdom; and in order to guard the people against any possibility of 
sophistry and innovation, their maxims of justice were taught orally. Their 
dispensation of justice was not under any written code of laws, but on what 
they professed to be equitable principles, all their verdicts being determined 
by such a sense of impartial justice as the assembled delegates entertained, 
and in a discordance of opinion in the congress, appeal was made to the 
Arch-Druid, whose sentence was decisive. 

In their civil government, capital offenders were sentenced to death, and 
publicly sacrificed in the most awful and solemn manner, whilst those con­
ncted of smaller crimes were excluded from public worship, and deprived of 
all civil and religious benefits until they sincerely repented. 

• Hiltory of Beverley, p. 10. 
G 
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The British Dntids exercised their utmost authority in opposing the uBUr­
pation of the Roman invaders, who, inflamed with resentment. determined 
on the utter extermination of the Druidic order, consequently its priests were 
&acrificed to this inhuman policy; and those who fled to the Isle of Anglesea 
perished in the flames by the orders of Suetonius, and subsequently great 
numbers of them were massacred in the unsuccessful effort of the Britona 
under Queen Boadicea. After this period the power and splendour of the 
Druids rapidly disappeared. 

The original inhabitants of the eastern side of the island, extending from 
the Humber to the Tyne, at the period of the Roman invasion, were the 
Brigantu,* the most numerous and powerful of all the tribes that then s~ 
the possession of Britain. They were the last of the British tribes that bent 
the neck to the Roman yoke. Ptolemy, who wrote about A.D. 120, asserts 

that they reached from sea to sea, the Mersey being their southern, and the 
Frith of Solway their northern boundary on the western coast. 

"Under this general term, however, appear to have been included the 
Voluntii, to whom belonged the west of Lancashire, and the SiBtuntii, who 
possessed Westmorland and Cumberland; as well as the Parili, who occu­
pied the southern district of Yorkshire, and who are supposed by Horsley to 
have been separated from the proper Brigantes by a line drawn from the Ouse 
or Humber to one of the bays on the sea coast north of that river. According 
to Richard of Cirencester, the Parisi lived on the eastern point of Briganti&, 
where the promontories of Ocellum (Spurn Head) and of the Brigantes (Flam­
borough Head) stretch into the sea, and their cities were Petuaria and PortiUI 
Feliz. Probably as the capital of the proper Brigantes was on the banks of 
the U rc, the river Derwent formed the boundary between the two kindred 
tribes, and the present East Riding may safely be assumed to include some­
what more than the extent of territory occupied by the Parisi. "t 

The capital or metropolis of the Brigantes is termed by many writers, Iseur; 
by Antoninus, Isu-brigantium, afterwards Isurium, now the small town or 
village of Aldborough, near Boroughbridge, in this county. 

Richard of Cirencester tells us that Isurium was the chief city of the 
province of the Brigantes, although he calls Eboracum (York) their capital. 
In a. recently-published local work-Gill's VaUiB EboractJmiB, 8vo., 1862, p. 

• The Brigantes appear to have descended from the Helvetii, whose emigration ia 
mentioned by Cresar. De BeU. Gall. lib. i. The word Briganti& is derived by some 
writers from bri, a hill; gan, a lake; and tia, country. · 

t Beverlao, ,·ol. i., p. 2. Portus Felix is placed in Richard's Map ot Britain on Bur­
liagton Bay. 
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484, the histDry of laurium is given tbus:-"Aldburgh was the Iseur of the 
Druids and BritDDB, the laurium of the Romans, the Burgh and afterwards 
the Aldburgh of the SaxoD8. It is supposed tD have taken its original name 
from Isis, a deity worshipped here, and Eurus or U re, the river near which 
the city stood. Previous tD the Roman conquest it was the seat of the Brig­
antian kings, and the chief city of this part of Britain. Here reigned, before 
the year 50, Venusius and his Queen, Cartismundua, who were afterwards 
subdued by the Roman power, and by whom, after having defended his 
country against the Romans for nine successive years, was the brave Carac­
tacus, King of the Silures, treacherously delivered intD the hands of his 
en~ The conquest of Britain was completed about the year 79, after 
which laurium Brigantium became the northern metropolis of the Romans, 
previous tD their removal tD Eboracum, or York.'' Mr. Thomas Wright, M.A., 
F. 8. A., in his W andering• of an ..4.ntiquaty, published in 1864, quotes the 
above passage, and then remarks that " all this pretended histDry is entirely 
without foundation." * * * 

"We have no reason for stating," he continues, " that laurium was known 
to the • Druids and BritDns' by the name of Iseur; the derivation has not even 
remote probability in its favour, and there is not the least ground for sup­
posing that Isis was ever worshipped here; we have not the slightest ground 
for stating that it was the seat of the Brigantian Kings, and its connection 
with V enusius and his Queen is a mere creation of fancy; neither have we 
any reason for believing that it was ever 'the northern metropolis of the 
Romans,' or that they removed from hence tD Eboracum. All that we really 
know is aimply that laurium must have been one of the earlier Roman tDwoe 
in Britain, since it is mentioned by PtDlemy, and that it existed at the time 
when the Antonine Itinerary was compiled.'' Mr. Wright adds that his 
object for mentioning this is chiefly tD warn his readers, and especially the 
yoq antiquary "against the speculative antiquarianism which thus builds 
deceptive edifices without foundations." 

Caius Julius Cresar, a favourite Roman General, having in the short space 
of three years conducted his victDrious legions from the foot of the Alps tD 
the mouth of the Rhine, descried from the coast of Morini the white cliffs of 
the neighbouring island; and the conqueror of Gaul aspired tD the glory of 
adding Britain tD the dominions of Rome. The BritDns, by lending aid to 
his enemies, the V eneti of Gaul, supplied him with a decent pretext for 
hostilities; and in the latter part of the summer of the 65th year before the 
Christian era, (the exact day, according to Halley, the astronomer, was the 26th 
of August), being the 699th year after the foundation of the Roman empire, 
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Ctestu sailed from Witsa.nd, on the French coast, between Calais and Bou­
lognc, with the infantry of two legions, {12,000 men in about 80 ships,) and 
in a few hours he cast anchor before the spot now occupied by the town of 
Deal. The cavalry was directed to follow in 18 vessels, which were stationed 
in o. port about eight miles from that in which Crosar embarked. The Roman 
fleet left the coast of France at daybreak, and about ten o'clock in the fore· 
noon it arrived on the coast of Britain, here formed of low cliffs, which were 
covered with British warriors, prepared for battle. After 'vaiting in Yain for 
the arrival of his cavalry until three o'clock in tho afternoon, Cresar took ad­
Yantage of a favourable wind and tide, and running up about eeven miles 
further, brought his ships upon au open and lev~:~l strand, which was more 
fa vow-able for the landing of his troops. The natives appeared in multitudes 
to oppose their lauding, and the Roman troops were seized with alarm at the 
novel and formidable appearance of the British warriors, and, 1macquainted 
with the drpth of the water, they were unwilling to leave their ship!<. At 
length, after mueh lwsitation, the standard bearer of the tenth legion, calling 
on his fellow soldiers to follow, jumped into the sea. It was some time 
before they could reach firm ground; for the deptl1 of their ships had obliged 
them to anchor at a considerable distance from the shore, and they had to 
struggle through deep water, while their enemies rode into the water with 
their horses and attack<'d th('m, or overwhelmed them with missiles from the 
beach. As soon, however, as the soldiers obtained a firm footing, they gained 
the beach after a short struggle, and the untaught valour of the " naked bar­
barians " was soon made to yield to the superior discipline of their enemies. 
The Britons fled, and the invaders ooing destitute of cavalry were unable to 
pursue them. 

Thus did the Romans, for tho first time, place their feet on the soil of Britain. 
Cresar had been four days in Britain before his cavalry could put to sea from 
the coast of Gaul, and then, although 11. favourable wind brought them within 
sight of the camp, the weatller became so stormy that tlley were driven back 
to the port they had left. The storm increased during the night, and Cresar's 
ships, which rode at anchor, were destroyed or much damaged. 'l'his acci­
dent caused the British chiefs to form a new conspiracy, witll the design of 
R.ttacking the Roman camp. A general assault was soon mru:lr, IUld although 
it proved unsuccessful, it taught Cresar to reflect on the cYident danger of 
his situation, should the inclemency of the winter in~rrnpt his communication 
with Gaul. He therefore gladly accepted an illusory promise of submission 
from a few of the native chiefs, and rctun1e1l with his army to Gaul, rutcr n 
short absence of three weeks. The ensuing winter was spent by each party 
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in the most active preparations; and in the following spring, Cresar, with an 
anny consisting of five legions and 2,000 cavalry (30,000 men) sailed from 
the coast of Gaul, in a fleet of more than 800 ships. At the sight of this 
immense armament, the Britons retired with precipitation into the woods; 
and the invaders landed without opposition on the very same spot which they 
bad occupied the preceding year. 

The British chiefs having composed their differences, soon united against 
the invaders ; and the latter were exposed to constant attacks, in the course 
of which they lost a considerable number of men ; for the woods which 
covered or skirted the country through which Cresar marched, gave a secure 
shelter to the Britons, and they were thus enabled to harass the Romans, by 
sudden and unexpected attacks. At length, after conquering and receiving 
the submission of a very large tract of country, extending from sea to sea on 
the southern side of the island ; Cresar having agreed upon a tribute which 
the Britons were to pay annually to the Roman people, returned to Gaul, 
carrying with him the hostages which he had taken from the British chiefs, 
as pledges for tho fulfilment of a treaty into which they had entered with 
him. Cresar's expedition to Britain was considered one of the most re· 
markab)e events of the time ; and the victorious commander was looked upon 
as one who had carried the Roman arms into 'a new world. 

During the period of about a century, from the time of Cresar to that of 
Claudius, we have scarcely any information relating to the island of Britain. 
But in the reign of the latter Emperor, Britain seems to have been disturbed 
with civil strife. One of the chiefs, called by Dion Cassius, Bericus, was 
compelled to fly from the island, and took refuge at the court of Claudius, to 
whom he explained the state of Britain, and the facility with which, at that 
moment, it might be conquered. It appears too, that at that time, the 
islanders had been very irregular in the payment of their tribute, so that 
Claudius was thus supplied with an excuse for hostilities. Accordingly, in 
the year 43, that Emperor sent over an army, under the command of a 
senator of distinction, named Aulus Plautius, who perfected the conquest of 
a great part of Britain. 

The first mention of the great tribe of the Brigantes occurs about A.D. 50, 
after Plautius was recalled to Rome, and when Ostorius Scapula was Governor 
or Proprretor of Britain. At that period Co.ractacus, the brave chief of tho 
Silures tWelshmen), was defeated in battle by the Romans, and he fled for 
protection to Cartismandua, his stepmother, Queen of the Brigantes. But 
instead of assisting or protecting that great warrior against the common 
enemy, this unnatural woman delivered him up to the Roman power, from 
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fear of drawing a victorious army into her country. The dignified appearance 
of Caractacus and his family at the court of Rome, is the theme of every 
schoolboy. From Tacitus we learn some particulars of the abandoned Queen 
Cartismandua.* She had married one of her chiefs, named Venusius, who 
quarrelled with her because she would not surrender to him the supreme 
power over her people. She then not only deserted her husband, but con­
signed her person to the embraces of her menial servant V ellocatus. A vitus 
Didius Gallus succeeded Ostorius as Propl.'llltor, in the year 52, and about 
the time of his arrival in Britain, a civil war broke out among the Brigantes. 
Many of the tribe, disgusted with the conduct of their Queen with regard to 
Caractacus, placed themselves under the leadership of Venusius, and cried 
out against the indignity of being ruled by a woman. Cartismandua's party 
appear to have been the strongest, and Venusius was driven from among the 
Brigante&. He now placed himself at the head of the party that was in 
arms against the invaders, and for some short time was pretty successful. 
In the meantime, Cartismandua captured and put to death a brother and 
other relatives of her husband; and he, in revenge, collected his allies, and 
being joined by a party of the Brigante&, proceeded to make war on the 
Queen, his wife; she now claimed the protection of the Romans, who imme­
diately sent an army to assist her, and in a well-contested battle the enemies 
of the Queen were defeated. In A.D. 60 there was a general revolt of the 
Britons, under Boadicea, Queen of the Iceni, joined by Venusius with his 
Brigantian forces. This valiant princess led the British armies in person 
against the legions of Rome; and, in a dreadful fight at Battle Bridge, 
80,000 Britons are said to have been left dead on the field. The reader of 
English history is aware that this noble lady died by her own hands to save 
herself from infamy or bonds. In the following year the combined army was 
routed by Suetonius Paulinua ; and in the same year the Brigante& revolted 
against the authority of Cartismandua, who, after some severe conflicts, was 
only rescued with great difficulty by a body cf Roman troops. 

In the year 70 Venusius was sole monarch of the Brigante&; but after 
several hard-fought battles, in which the Romans were frequently defeated, a 
great part of the Brigantian territory was subdued by Petiliua Cerealis, in 
the reign of the Emperor V espasian. 

BamsH REMAINs.-There is hardly a comer of England in which the 
spade or the plough does not from time to time turn up relics of ita · earlier 
inhabitants ; but the British antiquities consist chiefly in the placee of eepul-

TIGi.t. Hilt. lib iii, c. ~. 
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chre of that peopl~the barrows, cromlechs, stone circles, together with the 
instruments of stone and bronze, which are sometimes discovered in the 
eepukhral chambers, and frequently found in ploughed fields in most parts 
of the country. 

From the remotest ages it was customary to mark to future generations 
&he last resting place of the honoured dead, by raising mounds, more or leBS 
elevated, according to circumstances connected with the locality, or according 
to the power or influence of the deceased. T!) these sepulchral mounds our 
Anglo-Saxon forefathers gave the names of low, (h.law ), and barrow, (b«wk, 
bMrw); of which the former is chiefly preserved in names of places, such as 
Bartlow, Houndslow, Lowesby, &c. ; while the latter has been generally used 
u the technical term for all ancient sepulchral mounds : both are equivalent 
to the Latin tumulm. The British barrows are generally large mounds of 
earth coYering a rude chamber of rough stones, often of coloBSal dimensions. 
Groupe of large atones arranged in this manner have been found scattered 
over various pe.rts of the British Islands, as well as in other countries. Oul' 
antiquaries haYe applied to them the name of C'I'OfTikclu, and have in many 
cases called them Druid's altars; but recent researches have left no room for 
doubt that they are all sepulchral chambers denuded of their-mounds. The 
word crl»>lleck is said to be Celtic, and to have a meaning not differing much 
from that of the name dolmm, given to them in France, which signifies a 
atone table; and the peasantry of that country often call them Fairies' Tables, 
and De'rils' Tables. Some of our Celtic antiquaries not satisfied with the 
name of Cromlech, had named them Kist-vaens, or, as they interpret it, 
~toM chau. The cromlech, in its simplest form, consists of four large 
st.oues, three of which raised on their ends form the sides of a square, while 
the fourth serves as the covering, so that the chamber thus formed is usually 
closed in only on three sides. In some instances, as they now stand, the 
back atone has been carried away, and the cromlech consists only of three 
stones, two standing like the portals of a door, to support the transverse eap­
atooe or lintel; in others, where the cromlech has fallen, only two atonea are 
Jet't, one upright, and the other leaning upon it with one edge on the ground ; 
aud, in many instances, all that remains of the original cromlech is a siugle 
atone standing upright or lying flat. We owe these forms doubtleBS to the 
dilapidations of time, and several examples are known of the dest.ructiou of 
whole ttrO'Iftl«/u to break up the atones for roads or other purpoeea. 

But the cromlech, or British sepulchral chamber, was sometimes made 
more complicated in its structure than that juat described. In some instance. 
it preeeuts the form ef a pouderoua cap-stoue, suppo.rt.ed at its comers by four 
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stones, and leaving the sides of the chamber more or less open. In other 
instances the chamber is made more complete, its sides being formed by a 
number of stones joined side by side with one or more very large cap-stones 
above. Sometimes more than one cromlech is found under the same mound; 
and in other cases these Celtic sepulchres contain galleries or a series of 
chambers under large mounds. Vast works of this kind are found in Brittany 
as well as in Ireland. The celebrated Celtic monument in New Grange, in 
the county of Meath, contains a. chamber 20 feet high, by 30 feet in circum­
ference, and is approached by a narrow passage from the side of the mound, 
the entrance to which was closed by a long slab of stone. The monument 
at Ash bury, in Berkshire, to which the Saxons attached the name of Welandu 
Smitkthan (Weiand's Smithy-Weland was the Saxon Vulcan), a name which 
has been corrupted to that of Wayland Smith's Cave, appears to have been 
originally a gallery, with chambers of this description. 

In the year 1816 a very curious monument of the same kind, at Stoney 
Littleton, near Wellow, in Somersetshire, was opened, and an account of it 
published in the 19th vol. of the Archmlogia. The barrow, which was com­
posed of stones instead of earth, was of a very irregular form, measuring in 
length 107 feet, its extreme breadth being 54 feet, and its height 18 feet in 
its most elevated part. When opened it was found to contain a long gallery, 
with chambers on each side. The reason of the use of stones instead of 
earth, in the formation of the mounds or barrows, may be generally traced to 
to the natural character of the locality, as such barrows are found most 
frequently on spots where stone was much more easily obtained than earth. 
In Scotland, where barrows formed of stone are numerous, they are called 
cairns. TheW elsh call them camydd; and in France the sepulchral mounds 
of stone are called galgals. The cap-stones of some of the cromlechs in 
England are of immense size; that of the cromlech in the parish of Morvan, 
in Cornwall, called ChUn-Quoit, is calculated to weigh about 20 tons; the 
covering stone of one at Lanyon, in the parish of Madron, in the same county, 
weighs about Hi tons; and that of the very remarkable cromlech on the hill 
between Maidstone and Rochester, in Kent, known by the name of Kits-Coty 
House, has been estimated at lOt tons. Others are much smaller. The 
base of the larger sepulchral mounds, and very often of the smaller ones, was 
usually defined either by a shallow foss, or by a circle of stones, and some­
times the two were combined. In some instances, especially in Cornwall, 
instead of the circle of stones the base of the barrow was supported by a sort 
of low wall. The circles of stones are frequently found with the cromlechs 
in varioua parta of England; and they are also often fotmd without any 
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cromlech in the centre. There are several good examples of the latter in 
Cornwall, which measure from 60 to 80 feet in diameter; and there are 
remains of these sepulchral circles on the summit of the lofty Pen-maen­
mawr, in North Wales ; at Little Salkeld, in Cumberland; at Rollrich, near 
Banbury; and in several other parts of England. The circle at Salkeld, 
called in that locality, Long Meg and her Daughtera, consists of 67 unllftlm 
upright stones, forming a circle of 350 feet in diameter ; some of the stones 
are 10 feet high, and 15 feet in circumference; and one, which stands about 
twelve yards from the others, is 15 feet in circumference, 18 feet high, and 
weighs 16! tons, is called "Long Meg," and the others" her daughters." 
Near the principal stone, four others form a square, which is doubt.lesa 
part of the ancient cromlech. This, like all these sepulchral circles, is 
situated on elevated ground ; and indeed, in a great number of cases, the 
British cromlechs, like the barrows of other periods, are placed on lofty bills, 
commanding extensive views of the sea, if on the coast; or, when inland, of 
the surrounding country. It seems always to have been the desire of the 
British chieftains to be buried in such commanding positions; and our as­
tonishment is heightened on viewing the stones of many of the cromlechs 
and circles, by the consideration that there are no quarries in their immediate 
neighbourhood, from which the stones could have been obtained. A fine 
cromlech, with a circular base of stonework, at Molfra, in Cornwall, is situated 
on a bare bill, which commands a wide range of view over Mount's Bay. 
The aboYe-mentioned circle on the top of Pen-maen-mawr, is another extra­
ordinary instance of this kind ; and a third is situated on a lofty hill com· 
manding a view of the Scilly Isles. But the Britons must have possessed a 
mechanical art of which we are ignorant, by which these stones could. be 
removed. 

Dr. Stukely asserts that all the great stones forming Stonehenge, on 
Salisbury Plain, were brought from Marlborough Downs, a distance of 15 
miles, and that one of them weighed 40 tons, and would require 140 oxen to 
draw it. The &Urich St~mu are perhaps the most interesting remains of 
the ancient Britons, in the central district of the kingdom : they form a 
circle, the diameter of which is 107 feet. Within the circle are the remains 
of the cromlech now called the Five Whilpering Knighta, in consequence of 
their leaning position towards each other; and which cromlech, Stukely 
believed to have formed a Kistawn. The tallest of the five large Knights 
is now very nearly 11 feet in height. A stone circle, called Arbor-U>w, in 
the peak of Derby, is nearly 150 feet in diameter, and is surrounded by a 
deep intrenchment. Sometimes the stones forming the sepulchral circle 

H 
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are nearly equal in size, while in other cases they are very irregular. 
It does not necessarily follow that the mounds raised in all these circles 
contained each a cromlech-the interments, may, in some cases, have been 
made without a chamber, as it has been found to be the case in some large 
barrows. 

Antiquaria.Bs observed these circles before they noticed how often they ac­
companied cromlechs, or were aware that cromlechs are sepulchral monu­
ments; and they generally gave them the name of Druida' Circles, imagining 
that they were the temples, or courts of justice, or places of assembly of that 
order; but it is now quite certain that the maJority of them were originally 
made to support or inclose sepulchral mounds. The cromlechs, too, which 
it is now certain were sepulchral chambers, were until lately supposed to be 
Druidical altars. In the greater number of instances, the superincumbent 
mound or bB4TOw has been removed, chiefly for the sake of the earth, or 
soil; but sometimes, perhaps, in the belief, prevalent during the middle ages, 
that treasure was contained under it, and the massive chamber of rough 
stones alone has been left standing. Hence the number of cromlechs without 
mounds. 

With eur scanty knowledge of the subject, it would be rash to assert that 
the whole of the stone circles still remaining on our own soil, have been 
erected around sepulchral mounds. The greater number of these circles are 
not larger than the basis of ordinary large barrows, and there are sepulchral 
mounds known, whose basis are equal to the largest ; yet some few of the 
circles may have been erected for other purposes. The gigantic monuments 
of Stonehenge and Abury, or Avebury, are amongst those to which it would 
be difficult to assign a cause for their erection. Stonehenge, an Anglo-Saxon 
term, meaning the hanging stones, is the most remarkable monument of 
antiquity in our island. It, "the great wonder of Salisbury Plain," con­
sisted originally of an outer circle of SO upright stones, 14 feet high above 
the ground, and 7 feet broad by 3 feet . in thickness, sustaining as many 
others, placed horizontally, so as to form a continuous impost. 

This differs from other Celtic stone monuments, inasmuch as the stones 
have been hewn and squared with tools, and each of the upright stones 
had two tenons or projections on the top, which fitted into mortices or hollows 
in the superincumbent slabs. Within this circle, which was about 100 feet 
in diameter, was another circle, 83 feet in diameter. This again enclosed two 
elliptical arrangements of large and small stones. This structure of stones 
occupies the centre of an area, inclosed by a circular entrenchment, consisting 
of a ditch and bank, 300 feet in diameter; and it was approached by a wide 
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entrenched avenue from the north-east, which, at the-distance of a few hun­
dred feet, branched off in two ways, running north and east. Stonehenge,­
the Chorea Gigantum--Choir of Giants, is a mysterious monument, con­
cerning which no one knows who built it, or how, or why it was built; and 
the tradition that Merlin, the magician, brought the stones from Ireland, is 
felt to be a poetical homage to the greatness of the work. The ground around 
Stonehenge is covered with barrows, and was evidently the cemetery of a very 
extensive tribe. 

At the village of Avebury, about 20 miles distant from Stonehenge, is a 
series of remarkable circles, which consisted originally of an area of about 
1,400 feet in diameter, inclosed by a deep ditch and bank. The space inclosed 
by the earthen embankment contains a village, with_ various fields and 
buildings, over which the stones that remain are scattered in apparent con· 
fusion. At no great distance from the outer circle is a fine cromlech with its 
attendant circle of stones. 

In the British barrows the body is sometimes found to have been buried 
entire, while in many cases it had been burnt, and the ashes deposited in 
rode urns. When the body was interred without cremation or burning, it 
was sometimes stretched at full length, and at others doubled up and laid on 
one side, or sometimes placed in a sitting position. The urns, containing the 
burnt bones, are sometimes found in their natural position, and sometimes 
inverted, with the mouth downwards. When upwards, the urn is often 
covered with a Bat stone. The different modes of burial seems to have been 
fashions adopted by different families, or by subdivisions of tribes or septa ; 
though all the different modes of interment are often found in the same 
barrow, for some of the barrows seem to have been family graves, and it is 
rare to find only one interment, while the large barrows contain usually a 
considerable number of urns and bodies. Throughout these early barrows 
there appears much irregularity, and evidently a good deal of caprice in the 
mode ol buriaL 

Most of the cromlechs, stone circles, and large stones, in Yarious parts of 
this and other countries, and which, as we have said have been classed erro­
neously among Druidic remains. have attached to them many popular names 
and legends; for when their meaning, or the object for which they were 
erected, were alike forgotten, the monuments continued to be regarded by 
the peasantry with reverence, which, combined with a certain degree of 
mysterious fear, degenerated into a sort of superstitious worship. 

As we have seen the peasantry of France denominate the simple cromlechs 
. fairies' tables awl devils' tables, and the more complicated cromlechs are 
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similarly named fairies' grottoes, or fairy rocks. The single stones are some­
times called fairies' or devils' seats. The people of Brittany declare that the 
multitude of stones arranged upright in lines at Carnac, was an army of 
pagans changed into stones by St. Cornilly. It is the popular belie{ in Anjou, 
that the fairies, as they deiCellded the mountains, spinning by the way, 
brought down the great stones in their aprons, and placed them as they are 
now found. We have also 80011 that the Saxons believed that a cromlech in 
Berkshire was the workshop of their mythic smith, W eland. A sepulchral 
circle in Cornwall is called Dance Maine, or the Dance of Stones, and is said 
to be the representation of a party of young damsels, who were turned into 
stones because they danced on the Sunday. A cromlech on Marlborough 
Downs is called the Devil's Den; and the three gigantic stones near Borough­
bridge are called the Devil's Arrows. According to legend, a party of soldiers 
who came to destroy Long Compton were changed into the Rollrich Stones, 
in Oxfordshire. These, and similar legends, are found in every part of our 
island, and they are generally good evidence of the great antiquity of the 
monuments to which they relate. 

It does not appear to have been the custom with the Britons to inter with 
their dead many articles of value. By much the greater number of barrows 
are found to contain nothing but urns and burnt bones. In some cases a few 
instruments of stone or bronze are found; and in much rarer instances beads 
and fragments of other personal ornaments occur. Traces of a metal covering 
for the breast, very thin, and therefore more for ornament than protection, 
have also been found with skeletons apparently of this early date. The most 
remarkable discovery of this kind was made in the month of October, 1888, 
at Mold, in Flintshire. A barrow, which was called by the Welsh peasantry, 
bryn-yr~llg-l«m, or the hill of fairies or goblins, and which was believed to be 
haunted, was cleared away for agricultural purposes. It was found to contain 
interments of urns, &c., and in another part of the mound was discovered a 
skeleton, round the breast of which was a corset of thin gold. This inter­
esting relic is now in the British Museum. There is a curious circumstance 
connected with this barrow: before it was opened, a woman of the neighbour­
hood declared, that as she was going home late one night, and had to pass by 

· it, she saw over the barrow a spectre "clothed ill a coat of gold, which shone 
like the sun." 

The implements made of stone, which are found in the barrows, are usually 
heads of axes or hammers, chisels, and arrow heads ; and these, as well as 
stone knives, saws, &c., are also found abundantly in all parts of the British 
Islands, and indeed all over the world. The British urns are in general, 
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though not always very rudely made-not baked, but merely dried in the 
stm, and having none of the elegance of the Roman urns. 

There are many ancient barrows in various parts of Yorkshire, especially 
in the south-eastern part of the county, or the wold district; several of which 
ha,.e been opened, and found to eontain ums, burnt bones, skeletons, stone 
and bronze implements, &c.; and numerous relics of our British ancestors 
have been turned up by the plough and spade in various parts of the county. 

There are several collections of British coins in the hands of private indi­
'fiduals, as well as in the museums, but our knowledge of them is as yet in 
its infancy; and comparatively little has been done towards classifying them 
in a satisfactory manner. 

Of the domestic buildings of the early Britons there are no remains, nor 
are there any relics of those terrible war-chariots which Cmsar describes as 
striking terror into his legions; but a few British canoes (one of which is in 
the museum at York), a few circular shields, some spears, daggers, multi­
tud«:s of axe heads, arrow heads, &c. ; some coarse pottery, together with the 
eepulcbral mounds, circles, and cromlechs, already noticed; and the mighty 
earthworks, which they erected for the defence of the country, are the only 
memorials we have of the original inhabitants of our island. And in 
speaking of those earthen ramparts, it is difficult to define the precise share 
of the ancient Britons in their construction, as compared with the labours 
of the succesaive occupants of the country; for the Romans, being too wise 
a people to be destroyers, naturally improved the old defences of the island, 
and adapted them to their own notions of military science ; and the same 
remark will apply to the Danish and Saxon invaders.* 

Julius Agricola effected by policy what the Roman legions were unable to 
accomplish by coercion, namely, the entire subjugation of the Brigantes. 
His admirable prudence led him to introduce amongst the natives of 
Britain, the arts and manners of his own nation, and by instilling into 
their minds a taste for the elegancies and luxuries of ci\ilized life, he accom­
plished more in a few years than his predecessors had done by arms for 
upwards of a century. The Britons were charmed with the mildness and 
justice of his government, and publicly pronounced him their benefactor. 

• For a fuller aeeount of the Aborigines of Britain, see a recent work, called " Tbe 
Cel&, the BomiD, ad the Suon," by Tb01DM Wrisht, E.q., K.A., F .B.A., a . 
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He received the submission of the whole of the Brigantes in the year 79 ; 
and from that period the Romans fixed their principal station at Eboracum 
(York), and it became the capital of the fourth Roman province called Ma:e­
ima CfZiarimr.m. 

Before the close of the first century, the ancient British habits began to 
be disesteemed by the chiefs, and regarded as a badge of barbarism. Tacitus, 
describing the change which the manners of the Britons nnderwent, says, 
"They, who a little while before disdained the language, now affected the 
eloquence of Rome ; this produced an esteem for our dress, and the Toga came 
into general-use, by degrees they adopted our vicious indulgences, porticoes, 
baths, and splendid tables; this among these nninformed people was called 
cultivation, whereas, in fact, it was only an appendage to slavery." 

That politic commander (Julius Agricola), after he had reduced the north 
of England, and what is now termed the lowlands of Scotland, in order to 
secure his conquests, and to keep the latter district in subjection, erected 
a line of forts across what has been termed the upper isthmus, from the Forth 
to the Clyde; and in the reign of Antoninus, Lollius Urbicus raised on the 
same site a new chain of fortresses, and joined them together by an immense 
continuous rampart of earth and turf, which, from the name of the Emperor 
nnder which it was built, is usually called the Wall of Antoninus. It is now 
called popularly Graham's Dike, and along its course are frequently found 
inscribed tablets commemorating the portion built by the different troops and 
cohorts of the Roman army. Some writers assert that Agricola, in A.D. 84, 
also extended from Solway Frith to Tynemouth a chain of stations, which in 
A.D. 124, were connected by a deep ditch, an earthen rampart, and a great 
wall raised by the Emperor Hadrian, or Adrian, as an obstruction to the 
sallies of the Caledonians, who obstinately refusing to yield to the imperial 
eagle, frequently descended in rage from their mountains, notwithstanding 
the barrier raised by Agricola, and penetrating into the Roman territory, 
committed dreadful ravages. 

After the departure of Agricola, in A.D. 85, this unbending people overrun 
a great part of the country to the north of the Humber; and being joined by 
numbers of the discontented Britons, who were anxious to throw off their 
subjection to a foreign yoke, carried on a predatory war against the Romans. 
To quell the revolt, Julius Severus was appointed Governor of Britain, but 
was shortly afterwards recalled, and Priscus Licinius was sent to succeed 
him. But the Caledonians continuing their incursions, the Emperor Hadrian 
himself arrived in Britain, in A.D. 120, to oppose them in person, and fixed 
his residence at Eboracum. He brought with him the Sixth Roman Legion, 
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styled Legio Sezta Victriz,* which consisted of about 6,000 foot and 600 
horse; but on his approach the invaders retreated. From what he had seen, 
Hadrian was convinced that the chain of forts erected by Agricola, was not 
sufficient to resist the assaults of these active and ~rsevering barbarians; 
and he determined to confine their incursions by raising that formidable 
barrier across the island, from the Solway to the Tyne, of which we still 
trace the stupendous remains. A massive wall, nearly 70 milest in length, 
extending over plain and mountain, from Bowness, on the Solway Frith, to 
the now celebrated locality of Walls-End, near the mouth of the Tyne, ac­
companied on its southern side by an earthen vallum and a deep ditch. 
This celebrated wall was a massive work of masonry, varying from 6 to nearly 
10 feet in thickness, and from 18 to HI feet high. On the north side it was 
accompanied by a foss 36 feet wide, and liS feet deep. To the south was 
another lesser foss, with a triple entrenchment of earth and stones. The 
wall was fortified with a formidable series of 23 stationary towns, with inter­
mediate mile castles and watch towers. These towns or stations were a short 
distance apart along the line of the wall, and each consisted of a citadel, 
strongly walled, with streets and habitations within, and often extensive 
suburbs without. The smaller fortresses, as we have just observed, stood 
between these towns, at the distance of one Roman mile from each other ; 
and between each of these again were four small subsidiary buildii.gs, which 
for distinction have been termed watch towers. And for its defence were 
assigned 4 squadrons and 14 cohorts, composing an army of 10,000 men. 
The remains of this great rampart at the present day rises in some parts six 
feet above the surface. 

Until lately it was the custom of historians to consider the wall only as 
the structure raised by Hadrian, while the earthen Yallum or rampart was 
ascribed to Severns ; but the Rev. J . Collingwood Bruce, of Newcastle-upon 
Tyne, clearly proves, in his interesting volume on "The Roman Wall," 
recently published, that both are parts of one work, erected by the former 
Emperor. This immense erection seems to have been part of a system of 
cirewnvallation adopted by the Emperor Hadrian, for it appears that remains 
of similar walls are found on the distant frontiers in Germany. Having 
thus made provision for the future security of the province~ and having also 

• The title Victriz, or Conquering, was bestowed on those legions distinguished for 
IIOIIle feat of extraordinary bravery. The first officer of the legion was called ugatW 
ugicnu, and he acted under the superior order of the General of the army of which his 
legion formed a part, or the Governor ?f the province where it happened to be stationed. 

t The word Mile is derived from Milliare, a thousand paces. 
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restored order, and driven back the Caledonians into their fastnesses, Hadrian 
returned to Rome, leaving the Sixth Legion at York, where its head quarters 
continued for 300 years. 

The expedition of Hadrian to Britain, which was commemorated by several 
coins in large and middle brass, seems to have been followed by a period of 
profound tranquillity. In A.D. 138, Hadrian was succeeded by the Emperor 
Antonio us Pius, whose Propnetor in Britain was Lollius U rbicus, a man of 
energy and talent, which he was soon called to exercise in suppressing a new 
irruption of the northern tribes. 

The Caledonians appeared in a state of insurrection on the south of 
Hadrian's wall, aided by a remnant of the Brigantes, who seem to have pre­
served a precarious independence, perhaps in the rugged country extending 
from the wilds of Lancashire over the lake district, and who had frequently 
made predatory outbreaks. The latter were quickly overwhelmed, and the 
greater part of the tribe destroyed. The northern insurgents were driven 
into their mountains, and Lollius Urbicus caused the new barrier to be raised 
for their restraint, which we ::.!ready noticed under the name of the wall of 
Antoninus. The energetic measures of U rbicus restored tranquillity for a 
time. 

The Romans had now begun to treat the natives with more respect, and 
to consider them as component parts of the empire; the Britons were allowed 
to become participators of the laws, privileges, and immunities of the Romans; 
they became eligible to every situation and office for which they were qualified, 
and they no longer endured a disgraceful exclusion from intermarrying with 
their conquerors. By this wise act the Romans gained some of her best 
commanders and Emperors. In the reign of Commodus, about the year 188, 
the Caledonians again took up arms, routed the Roman army, and ravaged 
the country as far as York. To repel these invaders, the Emperor immedi­
ately sent over as Propnetor, Ulpius Marcellus, a soldier of approved valour, 
with a great body of troops, who quickly restored peace. But it was of short 
duration, owing to the revolts of the natives, the incursions of the Caledo­
nians, and the insubor~ation of the Roman army. In the reign of Severus, 
Virius Lupus, then Propnetor in Britain, wrote to that Emperor " informing 
him of the insurrections and inroads of the barbarians (as the native inhabi­
tants were called), to beg that he might have either a greater force, or that 
the Emperor would come over in person." Severns chose the latter, and in 
208 (the 14th year of his reign), attended by his two sons, Caracalla and 
Geta, and a numerous army, he arrived in Britain, and immediately advanced 
to York, which was besieged by the Britons, under Fulgenius, a Scythian 
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General, whom the natives had drawn over to their assistance. The 
Emperor, now 60 years old, and sorely affiicted with gout, resolved to con­
duct the war against them in person. He rejected all overtures for peace, 
except on their entire submission to his mercy, which hard condition they 
rejected. They accordingly raised the siege, and retired north of Hadrian's 
wall, whither the Emperor, with his son Caracalla, and a great force pro­
ceeded, leaving his other son, Geta, in company with Papinius, an eminent 
Roman lawyer in York, to administer justice until his return. Severns 
having at length, in 209, subdued or concluded a treaty with these hitherto 
unconquered people o.t a loss, according to Dion and others, of no less than 
50,000 men, took hostages of them, and returned to York. It has been 
popularly supposed, as we have already observed, that the following year was 
employed in the construction of that immense line of fortification from the 
Solway to the Tyne, which recent examinations, and the careful consideration 
of ancient testimonies, · have left little doubt was the sole work of the Em· 
peror Hadrian. Indeed, the historian of Severns has not hesitated to pro­
nounce that stupendous erection, the principal glory of his reign. Severns 
earned his conquests as far as the Highlands of Scotland, and it is not 
probable, that, after having added so much to the Roman territory towards 
the north, he would raise a barrier on the limits to which the Roman power 
had been confined when almost at its lowest ebb. 

It is possible, however, that Severns may have repaired the wall, and it 
seems that during his stay at York he often visited its towns and garrisons. 

Historians have related several "fatal omens" which accompanied the 
Emperor's progress, one of which occurred at York, when on his return from 
Caledonia, he went to offer sacrifice at the temple of Bellona. While he was 
there, con1iding in the solemn promises of the Caledonians to preserve the 
peace, news suddenly arrived that the Mmatm and the Caledonii (the two 
great tribes into which all the other tribes of Britain ho.d in a manner 
merged) had again united, and they had recommenced their predatory in­
roads. Furious at the faithlessness of the barbarians, and incensed at the 
renewal of a war, by an enemy whom he had eonsidered as completely sub­
dued, Severns resolved on their entire extermination ; but his own death, 
which occurred on the 4th of February, 211, averted the accomplishment of 
his sanguinary design. A short time previous to his death, he addressed his 
sons, Caracalla and Geta, thus:-" I leave you, Antonines (a term of affec­
tion) a firm and steady government, if you follow my steps, and prove what 
you ought to be; but weak and tottering, if you reject my council. Let 
every part of your conduct tend to each other's good; cherish the soldiery, 

:r 
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and then you may despise the rest of mankind. I found the republic dis­
turbed, and everywhere distracted, but to you I leave it firm and quiet-even 
the Britons. I have been all, and yet I am now no better for it." Then 
calling for the urn, in which his ashes were to be deposited, he exclaimed, 
" Thou shalt hold what the whole world could scarcely contain." The 
Roman historian, Eutropius, tells us that this Emperor died at York-be 
expressly says, "decessit Eboraci ;" and Spartian also says, "periit Eboraei 
in Brittania." The Saxon Chronicle confirms this testimony, by stating that 
"he reigned 17 years, and then ended his days at York." (Efer-wick.) 

After his death, according to the custom among the Romans, his remains 
were reduced to ashes. Dion Cassius and Herodian tell us that his body 
was borne by the soldiers to the funeral pile, about which the army and the 
.two sons of the deceased Emperor made several processions in honour of his 
memory. Abundance of presents were cast upon it, and at last the fire was 
.put to it by Ca.racalla and Geta; and that the ashes were collected and re­
ceived into an urn of porphyry, carried to Rome, and deposited in the tomb 
of the Antonines. 

All the writers who haYe described York haYe dwelt with much exultation 
on the magnificence of the funeral obsequies of Severns. The funeral pile is 
stated to have been erected beyond the village of Holgate, about lt mile west 
of the city, and the eminence now called Sercrua Hill is doubtless indebted for 
its present appellation to its connection, in some way, with that funeral cere­
mony.* Drake is of opinion that this mount or tumuli, where the funeral 
rites were performed, was raised by the soldiers that the memory of their 

• When a Roman died, his body was laid out and washed, and a small coin was placed 
in his mouth, which it was supposed he would require to pay his passage in Charon·a 
boat. If the corpse was to be bnmt, it was carried on the day of the funeral in solemn 
procession to the funeral pile, which was raised in the plaoo set apart for the purpose, 
called the mtrinum. The pile, called rogm, or pyra, was built of the most inftammable 
wood; and when the body had been placed upon it, the whole was ignited by the rela­
tions of the deceased. Perfumes and spirituous liquids were ot\en poured over it; and 
objects of di1ferent kinds, which had belonged to the individual when alive, were thrown 
int.o the Hames. When the whole was consumed, and the fire extinguished, wine was 
scattered over the ashes, after which the nearest relatives gathered what remained of 
the bones and the cinders of the dead, and placed them in an om, in which they were 
committed to the grave. The site of the nstrinnm has been supposed to have been 
traced in the neighbourhood of &e\·eral towns in Roman Britain. Persons of rank were 
burnt with greater ceremonies than were observed on ordinary occasions, and on a spot 
chosen for the purpose instead of the ordinary tutrinum. The Romans had other modes 
of sepulture besides that of cremation. The bodies were sometimes buried entire, bnt 
in severl\l di1fercnt manners.- I'M CeU, the Ro!IIGn, and the Sazon, by Thomas Wright, 
Esq., M.A., F.S.A., &-c. 
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great captain might survive in Britain; but other historians maintain that 
dle hill is a natural elevation on the face of the country; and recent excava­
tions, for the purpose of forming the large reservoir for the new waterworks, 
baYe confirmed that opinion. 

After the death of Severns, his two sons, in compliance with the will of 
their father, jointly assumed the imperial purple; but the elder brother, 
Caracalla, a mao of vile disposition, perceiving that his half-brother, Geta, 
was in much Cavour with the army, on a slight pretence of mutiny, ordered 
no less than 20,000 soldiers and persons of both sexes, whom be considered 
as Geta's friends, to be put to death; and with his own hands be murdered 
Geta in the arms of his mother.t This monster then returned to Rome, 
from whence he went to Syria, where he was assassinated at the instigation 
of Opillius Macrinus, by Martialis, a desperate soldier, who bad been refused 
the rank of centurion. 

For a considerable time no occurrence of importance took place in Britain, 
though the Sixth Legion continued at York. But the country north of the 
Humber, where the Romans had settled in great numbers, began to assume 
a beautiful aspect. They cleared the woods, drained the marshes, built or 
improved all the principal towns ; the cheerless cabin of the British chief was 
exchanged for the Roman Villa, with its decorated porticoes and tesselated 
p&Temeots ; and some of the most important Roman stations were scattered 
OTer the once wild haunts of the fierce Brigantes. 

In the year 287, during the reign of the Emperor Dioclesian, Carausius, 
a Briton, who bad the command of a fleet on the Belgic coast, passed over 
into Britain ; assumed the imperial purple, and set at defiance the whole 
power of Rome. He is said to have been proclaimed Emperor at York. 
This 1lSl1l'pElf overcame, with the assistance of the Picts and Scots, with 
whom he leagued, Quintus Bassianus, a Roman Lieutenant, who was sent 
over by tho Emperor, to dispossess and destroy him. After reigning for 
&eTeO years, an independent Emperor of Britain, be was treacherously mur­
dered at York, by his friend Alectus, who appears to have caused himself to 
be proclaimed Emperor in that city. Both of these usurpers were of plebeian 

t Although it has been generally agreed by local historians, that the murder of Geta 
and PapinillS by Caracalla took place at York, Gibbon, in his Dtcline and Fall of the 
Ro_,. E-zrire (chap. vi. pp. 62, 63), seems to be quite unconscious that QDY difference 
of opinion prevailed as to whether it happened at York or at Rome. The silence of such 
1111 a.uthority, on a question incidentally so important to the accuracy of his history, is 
Tery ominous of the invalidity of the claim of York to have witnesse4 the assassination, 
u well as the death and deification of some of the masters of the world.-York GuiM. 
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origin. Some authors assert that Alectus was murdered by Asclepiodotus, 
who also seized on the government of Britain, whilst others contend that 
Alectus reigned until Constantius, surnamed Chlorus, was elected Emperor 
at Rome, in A.D. 304, when the latter came over immediately to Britain, and 
slew him with a sword of his own making-be (Alectus) having been, as it 
is asserted, in early life a whitesmith. Constantius, though but a senator of 
Rome in the reign of Aurelian, was of imperial descent; and having some 
years before visited this island in the character of Proprretor, is said to have 
married Hele11a, or Helen, a British princess-but that Helen was of British 
origin, appears to be a mere fable. Constantius and Helena were, however, 
the parents of Constantine the Grea,t, the first Christian Emperor of Rome, 
who was generally supposed to have been born at York, in the year 272, 
until Niebuhr published his" Lectures on the History of Rome," wherein he 
shows that in all probability, Naissus, in 1\fresia, was the place of his birth. 

Drake, and other local historians, seem very desirous to prove that Con­
stantine the Great was born in York during one of the expeditions of his 
father to Britain, but little reliance is to be placed upon many circumstances 
of this nature, connected with history so many centuries ago-especially when 
historians are found vieing with each other in giving, as they think, an im­
portance to the city to which, in many instances, it has no claim. In the 
instance before us, Gibbon, in a. note to the 14th chapter of his Decline ana 
Fall, destroys any lingering inclination, which a partial citizen might retain, 
to believe that such was the case. 

Constantius resided at the Imperial Palo.ce at York for two years, and died 
there on the 25th of July, 306, "fifteen months after he had received the 
title of Augustus, and almost fourteen years and a half after he had been 
promoted to the rank of Cresar."* The ceremony of the deification of the 
remains of Constantius was perfonned with the usual splendour at York;­
Drake has collected, with great diligence, an account of the costly character 
of the solemnities.+ Several medals in memory of Constantius were struck 
on this occasion, which have the head of the Emperor t:elatum et laureatttm; 
and this inscription, "D1vo CoNSTANTIO P10." On the reverse is an altar 
with an eagle on each side of it, holding a label in their beaks between them, 
inscribed" MEMORIA FELIX." 

There was a local tradition that the urn containing the ashes of Constan­
tius, was deposited in a vault beneath the church of St. Helen-on-the-Walls, 

• Gibbon's Decliru ana FaU of the Roman Empire, x.h·. p. 169. 

t Eboracum, p. 4.lJ. 
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York ; that it was discovered about the time of the Reformation ; and that 
the urn was preserved for some time in that church. 

Constantine the Great, the son and successor of Constantius, is said to 
ha.ve taken great pains to be present at his father's death, the better to secure 
the favour of the British legions. Gibbon relates the arts by which he 
induced the imperial authorities in Eboracum to proclaim him Emperor of 
the West. HoweYer, it is certain that he assumed the imperial purple at 
York, with the titles of Cresar and Augustus, and that there he was pre­
sented with a Tufa, or golden globe, as a symbol of his sove~ignty over the 
island of Britain. He prized this emblem highly, and upon his conversion 
to Christianity, had a cross placed upon it, and had it carried before him in 
all his processions. The Tufa has been the usual sign of royalty, in England, 
since that period, and is considered part of the regalia. 

Soon after the inauguration of the Emperor Constantine, he not only left 
Britain, but Europe also ; and remoYed the seat of empire from Rome to 
Byzantium, called afterwards from him, Constantinople. 

In 312, Constantine renounced paganism, and embraced Christianity, and 
in the following year, after the conquest of Italy, he made a solemn declara­
tion of his sentiments in the celebrated edict of Milan, restored peace to the 
Christian church, and promulgated the principle of religious liberty. 

Eusebius ascribes the conversion of Constantine to the miraculous sign of 
a cross, which was displayed in the heavens, with the legend, "In hoc Signo 
Vinci& " (By this sign thou shalt conquer), while he meditated and prepared 
the Italian expedition. 

The Britons remained quiet till the year 826, when they revolted, and the 
Scots having come to their assistance, the Romans, under the command of 
Trahems, their Lieutenant, were defeated, and Octavius, the British chief, 
was crowned King of all Britain, in York. 

After this, Octavius ungratefully sought to dispossess his b~nefactors, the 
Picts and Scots, of that part of the country allotted to them by Casarius; 
but the King of Scotland being informed of his intention, came suddenly 
upon him, and compelled him to flee to Norway. 

The exact date of the introduction of Christianity into Britain is involved 
in obscurity, and has been the subject of much dispute. Some writers place 
the date of its introduction at a very early period after the death of our Lord. 
A manuscript in the British Museum says, "ln the 31st year after the 
Crucifixion, twelve disciples of St. Philip the Apostle, of whom Joseph of 
Arimathea was the head, came into this land, and preached the doctrines of 
ChrisUaoity to King Arviragus, who denied . them. But they obtained from 
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him this spot (Glastonbury), with twelve hides of land, whereon they erected 
the first church in the kingdom." Gent, Speed, Camden, and others, assert 
that the gospel was preached here by Joseph of Arimatheo. in the time of 
Suetonius, and by Simon Zelotes in the time of Agricola; whilst some 
authors pronounce that Christianity was planted in this island by St. Paul, 
and some of the other Apostles. The chronicler of Dover Castle says, "In 
the year of grace 180, reigned in Britain, Lucius. He became a Christian 
under Pope Eleutherius, and served God, and advanced Holy Church as 
much as he could. Amongst other benefits he made a church in the said 
castle, where the people of the town might receive the sacraments."* The 
same chronicler then goes on to tell of the dreary period of the Saxon inva­
sion under Hengist, when " the Pagan people destroyed the churches 
throughout the land, and thrust out the Christians." 

William of Malmsbury records as a remarkable piece of ecclesiastical an­
tiquity, that when St. Philip the Apostle was in Gaul, promulgating the 
doctrines of Christianity, he received information that all those horrid super­
stitions which he had observed in the inhabitants of that country, and had 
vainly endeavoured, with the utmost labour and difficulty, to overcome, 
originated from a little island at no great distance from the continent, named 
Britain. Thither he immediately resolved to extend the influence of his 
precepts, and despatched twelve of his companions and followers, appointing 
Joseph of Arimathea, who, not long before, had taken his Saviour from the 
cross, to superintend the sacred embassy. On their arrival, the Roman 
General, V espasian, who was tarrying at the court of Arviragus and Givenissa, 
interested himself very warmly in their behalf with both the King and Queen; 
and at his request the royal protection was granted to the strangers, and 
they were hospitably entertained by Arviragus; who, to compensate them for 
their hard and toilsome journey, bestowed on them, for a place of habitation, 
a small island, which then lay waste and untilled, surrounded by bogs and 
morasses. To each of the twelve followers of St. Joseph, he appointed there 
a certain portion of land called a hide, sufficient for one family to live upon, 
and composing altogether a territory to this day, denominated "the Twelve 
Hides of Glaston." 

Mrs. M. Hall. in her recently-published Liv~ of ths Anglc·Sa:ron Qt~ens, 
says, " The account of the first introduction of Christianity into Britain, sin­
gular and romantic o.s it may seem, is not undeserving of attention, as it is 
well known that St. Paul preached to the utmost bounds of the west; and 

• See Appendix, No. I., to DufJdale's Account or the Nunnery or St. Martin. 
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we have excellent authority for believing that some of the Apostles actually 
preached to the Britons. Theodoret, who assem this, declares the Britons 
were convem to St. Paul; and states that Aristobulus, a Bishop ordained by 
St. Paul, and sent to Britain as a missionary, was martyred A.D. 56. There 
is, indeed. every reason to believe that the Christian faith was early promul­
gated in Britain, and many convem made prior to the defeat of Queen 
Boadicea. If V espasian was at all instrumental in establishing it here, it is 
singular enough, as his son Titus was the destroyer of Jerusalem, and dis­
perser of the Jews throughout the world." 

The Fabyan Chronicle says, "Lucius, or Lucy, the sone of Coilus, was 
made King of Brytons in the yere of our Lord, C. lxxx. The whiche in all 
act.es and dedyes of goodness followed his forefaders in suche wyse, that he 
of all men was beloued and drad. Of this is lytell or none acte notable put 
in memory, except that all wryters agree that this Lucius sent to Eleuthe­
rius, then Pope of Rome, certayne pistles or letters, prayinge hym that be 
and his Brytons myghte be receyved to the faythe of Crist's Churche; 
whereof the Pope beynge very joyous and gladde, sent into Brytayne .ii. noble 
clerkes, named Faganus and Damianus, or after some Fugacius and Dimia­
nus; these .ii. good and vertuous clerkes were honourably receyued by 
Lucius, the whiche, by ther good Doctryne and vertuous ensamples gyuynge, 
conuertyd the Kinge, and a great parte of the Brytons."* 

The Venerable Bede, who wrote his Ecclesiastical History in the 8th cen­
tury, "and whose learning," says the author of BEVERLAc, "would make his 
authority respectable in any age," tells us that the Christian faith was 
preached in Britain, and the first hierarchy established by the missionaries 
sent in A.D. 170, by Pope Eleutherius, at the request of Lucius, a British 
King. t This statement is confirmed by St. Gildas the Wise, who flourished 
A.D. 405; and who observes, like Bede, that the Britons preserved the faith 
in tranquillity from that time until the persecution of the Roman Emperor 
Diocletian in 303, when St. Alban and so many others suffered martyrdom.: 

Three British Bishops,-Eborius of York, Restitutus of London, and 
Adelphius of Richborough-attended the first ecclesiastical council at Arles, 
which was called by Constantine the Great, to condemn the heresy of the 
Donatists in A.D. 814. According to the accounts of that Council, published 
by Simon of Paris, the Bishop of York signed himself" Eborius Epi8copels d8 

• Fabyan Chronicle, p. 38. 
t Eccles. Hiat., Book i, chap. iv. Bede tells us that in the 'th century the monastery 

or Bangor, near Chester, contained more than 2,000 monks. 
: Bellarm. de Scrip Ecclea. ; also Usher Eccles. Brit. .Antiq., cap. v. 
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Civitate EboraceMi. "* British Bishops, we are likewise told, attended the 
Council of Nice in the year 825; and at that of Sardica in 84 7. The first 
direct evidence of the existence of structures, dedicated to the Christian wor­
ship in York, is to be found in the records of the events which occUlTed in 
that city during the struggles between the Britons and the Saxons. York 
was then frequently taken and re-taken, and suffered severely in various 
sieges, for the different conquerors took but little pains to keep in repair the 
various buildings erected by the Romans. 

Ambrosius, the British King, held a council of his princes and nobles at 
York, and ordered, we are told, the churches, destroyed or injured by the 
Pagans, to be re-built. King Arthur, who is said to have celebrated the first 
Christmas ever kept in this country, at York in A.D. 524, gave similar 
directions. 

Now, on the other hand, some writers deny the whole of the above evidence 
altogether. Mr. Thomas Wright, a most zealous and skilful antiquary, in 
his excellent work on the early inhabitants of Britain,+ tells us, that amongst 
the immense number of altars and inscriptions of temples, and with so many 
hundreds of Homan sepulchres and graves as have been opened in this 
country, not a single trace is to be found of the religion of the Gospel. "We 
seem driven by these circumstances to the unavoidable conclusion," he writes, 
" that Christianity was not established in Roman Britain, although it is a 
conclusion toto.lly at variance with the preconceived notions into which we 
have been led by the ecclesiastical historians." The same learned writer, after 
examining the subject, is of opinion that the few allusions to Britain in the 
earlier Christian writers, ought to be considered as little better than flourishes 
of rhetoric. "Britain," be says, "was the western extremity of the known 
world, and when the zealous preacher wished to impress on his hearers or 
readers, the widely extended success of the Gospel, he would tell them that 
it extended from Indio. to Britain, without considering much whether he was 
literally correct in saying that there were Christians in either of these two 
e~tremes. We must probably consider in this light certain passages in 
T.ertullian, Origin, Jerome, and others." With respect to the alleged pre­
sence of British Bishops at the Council of Arles, he thinks that the lists 
printed in the Collections of Councils is extremely suspicious, and looks very 
like the invention of a later period. "In the year 860, under the Emperor 
Constantius, a council was called at Arminum (Rimini), in Italy, on account 

• Camden's Britannia, Gough's edition. 
t Tlu CeU, tlu Baron, and tlu Roman, by Thomas Wright, Esq., M.A., F.S.A., .tr., 

pp. 206, &c. 
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of the Arian controversy, and it is said to have been attended by four hun­
dred Bishops. The prelates assembled on this occasion were to be supported 
at tl1e public expense, but we are told by the ecclesiastical historian, Sulpicius · 
Severns, who wrote about forty years afterwards, that • this seemed unbe­
coming to the Bishops of Aquitaine, Gaul, and Britain ; and they choose 
ratller to live at their own charge, than at the public expense. Three only 
from Britain, on account of their poverty, made use of the public provision; 
for, though the other Bishops offered to make a subscription for them, they 
thought it more becoming to be indebted to the public purse, than to be a 
burden upon individuals.' If this account be true, and three Bishops really 
went from Britain, they were perhaps only missionaries, whose converts were 
too few and too poor to be able to support them." Mr. Wright thinks it not 
unlikely that the three names of British Bishops " pretended to have been 
at the Council of Aries, had been made to answer to the three Bishops men­
tioned by Sulpicius Severns;" and he treats the above accounts, in which 
occur the Danle!J of Joseph of Arimathea, St. Paul, King Lucius, and Pope 
Eleutherius, as legendary stories resting upon no authority, and which will 
not bear criticism. He also refuses to believe in the " pretended persecution 
in Britain onder Diocletian;" but we think his reasons for denying it are not 
very strong. "A persecution of the Christians," he argues, "is not likely to 
have taken place under the orders of the tolerant Constantius, who was 
Governor of Britain when the persecution of Diocletian commenced, and who 
became Emperor two years later, and in another year left his title to his son 
Constantine." Constantius may have been tolerant, but he was a Pagan, 
and the representative and servant of the persecuting tyrant Diocletian; and 
tllat be (Constantius) became Emperor two years afterwards, and that after 
his death his son became a Christian, seems but a poor cause for supposing 
that he refused to carry out the rule of his master in persecuting the 
Christians. 

Our antiquary entertains strong doubts of the authenticity of the work 
attributed to Gildas, on which chiefly our notions of the establishment of 
Christianity into Roman Britain are fonnded. "If the authority of such 
writers be worth anything," he adds, "we must take it for granted that at 
least after the age of Constantine, Roman Britain was a Christian country; 
that it was filled with churches, clergy, and bishops, and, in fact, that Pa· 
ganism had been abolished throughout the land. We should imagine that 
the invaders, under whom the Roman power fell, found nothing but Christian 
altan to overthrow, and temples of Christ to demolish. It is hardly neces­
sary to point out how utterly at variance such a statement is with the result 

J[ 
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of antiquarian researches ; not a trace of Christianity being to be found 
among the innumerable religious and sepulchral monuments of the &man 
period, fotmd in Britain." 

But at whatever period the truths of the Christian religion were first 
preached in this kingdom, it seems certain that it had been quite extirpated, 
and that idolatry had spread itself entirely over the land, when Pope Gregory 
the Great sent hither Augustine and his fellow·labourers to spread the faith 
of the Gospel, in the year 596. 

The &man government in Britain was vested in a Prefect, or Propnetor, 
who posse11sed the whole administrative power, judicial and military ; a 
QWBstor or Procurator, appointed by the Emperor, to arrange the affairs of 
the revenue; and a numerous army of legionaries and auxiliaries secured 
the obedience of the people, and protected the country from foreign invasion. 
In the reign of Constantine, both the form of government and the territorial 
divisions were altered. That monarch divided his vast dominions into four 
prefectures-Italy, Gaul, the East, and Illyria. Britain was ·included in the 
prefecture of Gaul, and the deputy of that prefect resided at York, and was 
called the Vicar of Britain. His subordinates were the consulars of V almt.ia 
and Jfa:eima Casarien~is; and the presidents of the sub-divisions called 
Flavia, Britannia Prima, and Britannia Secunda. The superintendence of 
the army was committed to three Dukes; the first commanded from the 
north frontier to the Htrmber; the second, with the title of Count of the 
Saxon Shore, the troops on the coast from the Humber to the Land's End in 
Cornwall; and the third, the Count of Britain, commanded the garrison in 
the interior. 

Throughout the pro\inces were scattered a great number of inhabited 
to\vns, and military posts, the names of which are still preserved in the 
Itineraries of Richard and .Ailtoninus. They were partly of British and 
partly of &man origin; and were divided into four classes, gradually descen· 
ding in the scale of privilege and importance. The Colonia claimed the first 
rank, and were inhabited by veterans rewarded by the lands of the conquered 
nations. Each colony was a miniature representation of the parent city. 
It adopted the same customs, and was governed by the same laws. In 
Britain there were nine of these establishments, two of civil and seven of a 
military description, namely, Richborough, London, Colchester, Bath, Glou· 
caster, Caerleon, Chester, Lincoln, and Chesterfield. The towns of the 
second class were called Municipia, and were occupied by &man citizen&. 
Tho advantages enjoyed by the Colonies were nearly equalled, and in some 
respects surpassed by the privileges of these municipal cities, the inhabitants 
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of which were exempted from the operation of the imperial statutes, and 
possessed the right of choosing their own magistrates, and of enacting their 
own laws. Privileges so valuable were reserved for the reward of extraordi· 
na.ry merit, and Britain could only boast of two Municipia-Verulam (near 
the present town of St. Albans) and York. The Latin Cities were the next 
in rank, and their inhabitants had the right of electing their own magis· 
trates annually; and the Stipendiary Town~ were charged with the imperial 
tribute from which the other towns were exempt. These distinctions were 
however gradually abolished. Antoninus granted to every provincial of rank 
and opulence the freedom of the city; and Caracalla extended the indulgence 
to the whole body of the natives. 

The science of agriculture seems to have made great progress about this 
time, for Tacitus observes, that, except the olive, the vine, and some other 
fruits peculiar to the hotter climates, this country produces all things else in 
great plenty; and that the fruits of the earth, in coining up, are forward, but 
very slow in ripening; the cause of which is the excessive moisture of the 
earth and air; and Strabo observes, that our air is more subject to rain 
than snow. 

Camden says, that so happy is Britain in a most plentiful product of all 
sorts of grain, that Orpheus (or more truly Onamacritm) hath called it the 
very seat of Ceres; and, continues the same writer, "former times this was 
as it were the granary and magazine of the W estero Empire, for from hence 
the Romans were wont every year, in 800 vessels larger than barks, to trans­
port vast quantities of com, for the supply of their armies in garrison upon 
the frontiers of Germany." He also quotes an enconium on Britain, from an 
old orator, in a panegyric to Constantine, thus, " 0 fortunate Britain, the 
most happy country in the world, in that thou didst first behold Constantine 
our Emperor. Thee hath Nature deservedly enriched with the choicest 
blessings of heaven and earth. Thou neither feelest the excessive colds of 
winter, nor the scorching heats of summer. Thy harvests reward thy labours 
with so vast an increase, as to supply thy tables with bread, and thy cellars 
with liquor. Thy woods have no savage beasts; no serpents harbour there 
to hurt the traveller. Innumerable are thy herds of cattle, and the flocks of 
sheep, which feed thee plentifully, and clothe thee richly. And as to the 
comforts of life, the days are long, and no night passes without some glimpse 
of light. For whilst those utmost plains of the sea shore are so flat and low 
as not to cast a shadow to create night, they never lose the sight of the 
heavens and stars; but the sun, which to us appears to set, seems there only 
to pass by." 
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Isaciu& Tzetes, a famous Greek writer, affirms that the fertility and 
pleasantness of Britain gave occasion for some to imagine, that these were 
the Fortunate Isla11ds, and those the Seats of th6 Blessed, where the poets 
tell us the face of nature smiled with one perpetual spring. 

The Romans continued to hold their sway in Britain for nearly a century 
after the death of Constantine the Great, but their writings afford but scanty 
materials for illustrating the history of Yorkshire. 

The Emperor Constantine having taken the flower of the British youth to 
his wars in Gaul, Britain was left open to the devastating incursions of the 
Caledonians, or Picts and Scots,* who in 364 renewed their attacks; and 
the country was at the same time harrassed by the Saxons, whose predatory 
descents on the coast indicated their intention of seizing on a dominion, 
which imperial Rome now held with a feeble hand. 

Internal dissension~. and external assaults, were now hasting fast the 
downfall of the empire of Rome, and in A.D. 426, the Romans finally relin­
quished all possession, power, and authority, in Britain, in the 48lst year 
after Crosar's coming over. "'l'he tyrants had left none but half foreigners 
in our fields," writes William of Malmsbury, "None but gluttons and de­
bauchees in our cities; Britain robbed of the support of her vigorous youth, 
and the benefit of the liberal arts, became a prey to her neighbours, who had 
long marked her out for destruction. For immediately after, multitudes lost 
their lives by the incursions of the Picts and Scots, Yillages were burnt, cities 
demolished, and all things laid waste by fire and sword. The inhabitants of 
the island were greatly perplexed, and thought it better to trust to anything 
than a battle : some of them fled to the mountains, others having buried 
their treasures, many of which have been dug up in our age, betook them­
selves to Rome for assistance." 

• Scotland, the anciomt name of which was Caledonia, was first inhabi~ by a peoplo 
who came from Scythia or Scandinavia, which now includes Norway, Sweden, and part 
of Denmark, and took the name of PikB or Pehts, from a country so styled in the north 
of Norway. In the time of the Saxons they were called Peohu, and their country 
Peohtland. They were called Caledonians from Ctlyddon, which in the ancient British 
language meant the Coverts. Some say they weN descendants of Scythinc, or Gothic 
colonists, who conquered North Britain some n.geH before the Christian era. The Scots 
were originally Gallic Celts, who in early nges migrated from the western shores of 
Britain into Ireland. They made many marauding incursions inro tl1e Roman tenitories 
on the south.west coast of Scotland. At length they settled in Kintyre, and had coloni­
zed Argyle, 50 years after the Snxon conquest, when a bloody struggle ensued between 
them and the natives, which nt the end of !340 years, terminated in the extinction of tho 
Pictish go,·emment, nnd the union of the Picts nnd Scots, under Keneth 1\lnc Alpin, in 
A.D. 843. 
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Many striking evidences of the stupendous public works accomplished by 
the Romans during their residence in this country still remain. "Like a 
conqueror of modem times, they bestowed extraordinary attention on their 
public roads and walls, and at a distance of 1,400 years, we can trace in 
legible characters around us, the labours of the mistress of the world." The 
Roman veterans were no less famed for their valour in the field than for their 
knowledge and assiduity in architecture and sculpture, for they fought and 
laboured with equal skill and vigour, and it is much to be regretted that this 
wise policy of keeping the soldiery usefully employed in time of peace, should 
have been abandoned by the modem European nations. 

The Sixth Legion, called Legia Se:z:ta Victrix, remained at York, until the 
final desertion of the island by the Romans. This legion was brought out 
of Gennany by the Emperor Hadrian, and its station at York may easily be 
traced for a period of more than 300 years. The ninth legion was also 
stationed at York, but is generally supposed to have been early dissolved, 
and incorporated with the sixth. This legion consisted of six to seven 
thousand troops, of which about one· tenth part was horse, and the remainder 
foot soldiers. 

The Roman soldiers employed much of their leisure hours in perpetuating 
their names, or complimenting their victorious leaders by monumental 
inscriptions; and also by inscriptions commemorative of the completion of 
buildings and public works; and in erecting and inscribing statues in honour 
of their principal deities; but after the introduction of the Christian religion 
these statues were destroyed. Many Roman coins have been found in the 
neighbourhood of the great stations, where they had been secreted either by 
the Roman soldiers, or by the affrighted Britons, when the northern tribes 
or the Saxon invaders burst in upon their country, and razed their towns to 
the ground. 

RoYA:s Ro.ms.-The Romans bestowed very great attention, labour, and 
expense on their public highways, which generally consisted of a regular 
pavement, fonned by large boulder stones or fragments of rock, embedded in 
gravel, and varied in width from four to fourteen yards, and were carried 
over rivers, not by bridges, but by fords. 

The four principal Roman military roads which traverse Britain were the 
Watling, or W atMling Street; the Ermine, or Hermin Street; the Fo~Seway; 
and the lcknild Street. The Roman roads are generally very direct. They 
seem seldom to have turned out of their course to avoid o. hill; and in some 
instances we find the Roman road proceeding direct up an acclivity which 
we should not encounter at the present day. A Roman road runs over the 
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top of one of the mountains of Westmorland, almost 2,000 feet above the level 
of the sea, which is named from its elevation, High Street. 

The Watli71!J Street,~' which divided England in length, commenced at the 
port of Rutupia, now Richborough, in Kent, and extended to the limits of 
the wall of Severus on the Tyne, intersecting Yorkshire from the edge of 
N ottinghamshire, to the bishopric of Durham. It is probable that this great 
highway entered the county somewhere in the neighbourhood of Bawtry, but 
the exact point is not ascertainable. It is certain, however, from traces, that 
it passed through Danum, or Doncaster, over Scawsby and Pigbum Leas to 
Bamsdale, through Pontefract Park to Castleford, the ancient Legwlium.t 
From this station it continued to Calcaria, now Tadcaster, and from thence 
to Eboracum (York), the chief seat of the Rnman power in Britain. From 
this city it was carried on to laurium (Aldborough), where it crossed the 
river, and thence by Leeming Lane to Catlaracton, now Catterick Bridge. 
Crossing over the Swale, it turned more to the northward, and passing over 
the Tees at Ad Tisam (Piersebridge), it entered the county of Durham, and 
thence continued to the Roman wall. 

The Ermine Street extended from London to Lincoln and Warrington, 
crossing Northamptonshire at Castor, and passing through Yorkshire. The 
Fosseway led from Bath to Lincoln and Newark; and the Ickneld, or Iclmild 
Street, extended from Caistor, in Norfolk, through Colchester to Lincoln. 

Besides the Watling Street and Ermine Street, several other Roman roads 
ran through the Ager Eboracenm, or province of York, in various directions, 
and for the discovery of some of them, as also many other Roman works, we 

• The etymology of this, the greatest of the Roman roads, has caused much discussion 
amongst antiquarians. Hoveden thinks that it was called the Watling Street, from 
Watha or Wathla, a British King. Whittaker, the Manchester historian, u.nd Stukeley 
are of opinion that it was the Guetheling rond-Sarn Guethelin, or the rond of the Irish, 
the G being pronounced as a W. Camden thinks that it derives its name from an un. 
known Vitellianus, but that its etymology is from the Saxon Wadla, a beggar, because 
this road we..~ the resort of such people for the charity of travellers. Spelman fancies it 
was called Werlam.Streot, from its passing through Verulam. Somner derives the name 
from the Belgic Wentelin, while Baxter contends that it was made by the original 
Britons. Dr. Wilkes says, that it was more indented and crooked than other Roman 
roads usually are, and supposes that it was formed of wattlu, which was the idea also of 
Pointer. A learned writer in the Mirror for 1829, contends that it is a Roman road 
made from station to station, and hence its deviation from a straight line, which in 
many parts is so apparent. He is also of opinion that it was planned and formed by 
Vespasian, the celebrated Roman general in Britain, after the various stations through 
the kingdom were finished, and that he named it, in compliment to the Emperor 
Vitellius, ViUUii Strata Via, Watling.Street Way. 

t Boothroyd's Hist. Pontefract, p. 12. 
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are mainly indebted to the industry of Francis Drake, Esq., the learned 
antiquary of the city of York, and the late Rev. Thomas Leman. A military 
road led from Mancunium, or Manchester, to York, passing through the 
township of Stainland, near Halifax, by the way of Cambodunum, supposed 
to be Almondbury, near Huddersfield. It kept the Calder on its left· till it 
crossed that river about a mile below Dewsbury, where it fell in with the 
turnpike road to Wakefield. From this place it kept the direction of the 
present highway, half the way to Pontefract, and then inclining to the left, 
joined the great military road from Doncaster to York. 

Another of these Roman ways ran from Chesterfield, by way of Sheffield, 
Bamsley, Hemworth, and Acworth, and joined the Watling Street at Ponte· 
fract; and a vicinal way appears to have passed through Pontefract, in .a 
eoutherly direction, to the villages of Darrington, W entbridge, Smeaton, 
Campsall, and Hatfield. There was also a road from Manchester, by Cam­
bodunum, Wakefield, and the Street-houses. A Roman military way ran 
from York to Derventio, near Stamford Bridge, where it divided into two 
branches, the one leading to Dnnsley Bay, the Duntu Sinw of Ptolemy; and 
the other to Scarborough and Filey. The branch leading from Stamford 
Bridge to Dunsley Bay is now called Wade's Causeway, and is supposed to 
have derived its name from the Saxon Duke, Wada, who is said to have re­
sided at a castle near the coast. Drake, in his History of York, tells us that 
he "had his first intelligence of this road, and the camp upon it, from T. 
Robinson, Esq., of Pickering, a gentleman well versed in this kind of 
learning." Mr. Hinderwell, on the authority of Mr. Robert King (who dis­
covered the vestiges of the Dunm Sinu& road, in the fields near the village 
of Broughton, where eleven Roman urns were dug up in making fences for 
the enclosure, and the stones of the road have been frequently ploughed up), 
gives a clearer idea of this highway, in the following passage:-" There was 
also another Roman road which passed westward, through the range of towns 
called Street towns, viz :-Appleton-le-Street, Barton-le-Street, &c. The 
great Roman road, or Ermine Street, continues by the town of Barugh, and 
not far from Thornton and Risborough, to the barrows near the little village of 
Cawthorn, or Coldthom, where there is a small spring; and a house in the 
village still retains the name of Bibo, supposed to be derived from having 
been a drinking house of the soldiers from the barrow camps. Hence the 
~ proceeds to Stopebeck, which it crosses in the line of the Egton road, 
and then continues, at a small distance from that road, to a stone cross, called 
Malo Cross, which it passes at about the distance of forty yards on the west 
of tbe crou. It tben runs northward to Keys-bee, which it crosses about 

• 
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sixty yards east of the Egton road, and pursues the northern direction, until 
it crosses Wheeldale-bec, at the point of junction of that bee and Keys-bee, 
whence it proceeds by the Hunt-house to July or Julius Park, to the ancient 
castle of Mulgrave, situattl near Dunus Sinus, or Dunsley Bay, in the neigh­
bourhood of Whitby, where several Roman urns have been found."* 

Another Roman road ran from York to Bridlingt.on Bay or Filey. This 
celebrated bay is called by Ptolemy Gabrandtovicorum Sinus PortuoiU$, or 
Salutam. From it a Roman ridge, commonly called the Dykes, is apparent 
for many miles over the Wolds, directing in a straight line for York. The 
late Sir Christopher Sykes discovered a vestige of this road at Sledmere, in 
levelling a high bank, forming one side of the Slade near the 'Mere. " The 
workmen came upon a very distinct layer of small gravelly stones, at almost 
two feet six inches from the surface, laid in a convex form, nine feet wide, 
and six or seven inches thick, in the direction of a line between York and 
Hunmanby; but after it ascends the hill from Sledmere, it is more in the 
form of an intrenchment than a road, and has probably been used at different 
periods for both purposes. "t Drake traces this road from Sledmere, by 
Wharram-en-le-Street and Settrington, to Malton and York. 

There was a Roman way from York to the Prretorium of Antoninus, which 
Camden places at Patrington. Drake fixes the first military station from 
York, on this road, at Derventio, or Stainsfordburgh, now called Stamford 
Bridge, and the next station at Delgoflicia, now Londesborough. From the 
latter station, part of the Ermine Street, called Humber Street, ran south to 
the village of Brough (ad Petuarium ), on the Humber; and from the station 
ad Abum on the opposite side (Wintringham), was continued to Lindum, 
now Lincoln. 

The great military road from York to Lincoln, as marked out in the fifth 
and eighth iter of Antoninus, was by Danum, (Doncaster), and crossed the 
Trent at Littleborough, the ancient Argolicum. Thus did the military roads 
converge in every direction from the extreinities of the province to Eboracum, 
or York, their common centre. 

Roman Stations.-Besides the great Roman station of Eboracum, or Ebu­
racum, at York, this county contained also in the West Riding, the stations 
of !Burium, at Aldborough ; Legiolum, near the junction of the rivers Aire 
and Calder; Danum, at Doncaster; Olicana, at llkley ; and Cambodunum, 
at Almondbury, near Huddersfield. The stations in the North Riding were 
those of Cataractonium, at Catterick; and Derventio, at Stamford Bridge, or 

• Hinderwell's Bist. Soarb. pp. 19, 20. t Allen's Hist. Yorks. p. U. 
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at Alby, or A.ldby, a mile farther northward; and in the East Riding, Petu­
aria, at Beverley, or Brough; Delgovitia, at Londesborough; and Pratorium, 
at Patrington. 

'fraces of Roman Encampments are found in several places, and will be 
noticed under their proper heads in this work. (For a further account of 
Roman Remains, see tile Hi8tory of York, at subsequent pages.) 

anglo:::~axon ~etiolJ. 

After the Romans had vacated Britain, the country sunk into a state of 
anarchy, barbarous nations invading it frequently, and civil wars prevailing 
more and more among the Brioons themselves, so that it lay for some time, 
&c; it were, without blood or spirit, and without any face or appearance of 
government. While under the dominion of the Romans, England and Wales 
contained thirty Civitates, or Seigniories, governed by their own magis· 
trates; and it is supposed that the Brioons, when left to themselves, 
established the same number of republics. But civil discord very soon 
established military tyrannies; and oo aggravate these el-ils, the Picts and 
Scots were continually renewing their attacks on the divided Britons. In a 
few years every trace of popular government had vanished, and the ambition, 
the wars, and the vices of the petty chieftains, or Kings of Britain, together 
with the frequent incursions of the above-named depredators, inflicted on 
the country more permanent and extensive injuries than had ever been suf· 
fered from the incursions of foreign enemies. In the north, district after 
district became the scene of devastation at the hands of the northern tribes ; 
and the approach of danger admonished the more southern Britons to pro­
vide for their own safety. Vortigem, the most powerful of the British Kings, 
learning that a Saxon squadron of three chitdu, or long ships, was cruising in 
the channel in quest of adventures, under the command of the brothers 
Hengist and Horsa, hastened to solicit their assistance in banishing the 
northern invaders. The Saxon chiefs eagerly accepted the invitation of the 
Brit.lsh Prince to aid in fighting his battles, and depend for their reward on 
his gratitude. 

The Saxons were confederated tribes, consisting of the Angles, the Jutes, 
and the genuine Saxons, who had long been settled on the shores of the 
German Ocean, and extended from the Eyder to the Rhine. They were a 
bold and warlike people, trained to arms from their boyhood, and whose only 
profession was pillage by land and piracy by sea. Their whole time was 
devoted to indolence and to rapine. Every warrior attached himself to the 
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fortunes of some favourite chieftain, whom he followed in his piratical expe­
dition ; whilst the culture of their lands, and the care of their flocks, were 
consigned to the women and slaves. 

Zosimus tell us, that they were in general a warlike nation; and were 
looked upon to be the most valiant of all the Germans, both for greatness of 
mind, strength of body, and a hardy constitution. Marcellinus observes, that 
the Romans dreaded them above all others, because their motions were always 
sudden ; and Orosius says, that "for their courage and activity they were 
tenible." They were eminent for their tallness, symmetry of parts, and 
exactness of features. Wittichindus, a monk, has let\ us this deBCription of 
them, "the Franks were amazed to see men of such vast bodies, and so great 
souls. They wondered at their strange habit and armour, at their hair 
hanging down upon their shoulders, and above all, at their courage and 
resolution." 

Sidonius, the eloquent Bishop of Clermont, in deBCribing these bari>arians, 
says, "We have not a more cruel and more dangerous enemy than the 
Saxons. They overcome all who have courage to oppose them. They sur· 
prise all who are so imprudent as not to be prepared for their attack. When 
they pursue they infallibly overtake; when they are pursued, their escape is 
certain. They despise danger ; they are inured to shipwreck; they are eager 
to purchase booty with the peril of their lives. Tempests, which to others 
nre so dreadful, to them are subjects of joy. The storm is their protection 
when they are pressed by the enemy, and a cover for their operations when 
they meditate an attack. Before they quit their own shores, they devote to 
the altars of their Gods the tenth part of the principal captives; and when 
they are on the point of returning, the lots are cast with an affectation of 
equity, and the impious vow is fulfilled." 

The Saxons, according to Lingard, were invited to Britain by Vortigern in 
the year 449. Ancient writers, however, are at variance respecting the exact 
year; "but," writes Camden, "at what time soever they came over, it is 
certain they showed wonderful courage, and this tempered with great pru· 
dance; for in a short time they became eo considerable, both for numbers, 
diBCipline, and conquests, that they were in a most prosperous and powerful 
condition, and their victory in a manner entire and absolute." All they 
conquered, except some lew who took refuge in the uncultivated western 
parts, yielded, and became one nation, and embraced their laws, name, and 
language. 

Such is the character of the auxiliaries invited by Vo~m to resist the 
invaders. For six years they served him with fidelity, but the Picts and 

Digitized by Goog le 



OENBBAL EnSTOBY OF YOBKSBIRB. 71S 

Sco&a were no sooner driven back to their native hills, than the Saxons, in 
their greedy desire to possess the fertile country for which they had been 
fighting, obtained large reinforcements from their own country, and turned 
their swords upon the Britons, who made an obstinate resistance, in which 
they foGght many great battles under Vortigem and the renowned King 
Anbor. 

The Picts and Scots having succeeded in subduing all the country north of 
the Humber, and in rendering York little short of a heap of ruins; Hengist, 
&be Saxon general, attacked and defeated them with great slaughter near the 
city. After reecuing York, and all the country south of the river Tees, and, 
u baa just been observed, banishing the invaders to their native moun­
tains. the Saxons received large reinforcements, and attacked the Britons. 
8evenl bloody battles were fought, and Kent was conquered by Hengist. 
Such is the account given by the Saxon Chronicle; but the British writers 
WI a ditferent tale. They attribute the loss of Kent to the infatuation of 
V ortigem and the treacherous policy of Hengist. They tell us that the 
British King having become enamoured of the beautiful Rowena, daughter 
of Hengist, divorced his Queen, took the former to his bed, and bestowed on 
his father-in-Jaw the kingdom of Kent. The Britons being satisfied that the 
Saxous in&eoded to settle in this country, sent for Aurelius Ambrosius, Prince 
of Armorica. who is described as of Roman origin, the son of parents who 
h.d worn the purple, and a brave and unassuming warrior, to assist in de­
koding them. "Hengist hearing of their embassy," says Allen," privately 
aent. hia llOil8 Ochta and Abisa to secure all the northern fortresses; who, 
strictly obeening their father's instructions, feigned accusations against many 
of the leading characters at York and its vicinity, charging them with a 
design of betraying their countrymen into the hands of those enemies whom 
the 8UODs bad defeated; and under this pretence put many of them to 
death, 110111e aecretly, others openly, as actually convicted of the treasons laid 
to their charge."* 

Vortimer, the son.of Vortigem, now placed himself at the head of the 
BriWDII, attacked the Saxons before the arrival of Ambrosius, and defeated 
them in {~successive battles. Shortly afterwards Ambrosius arrived, and 
slew Hengist in an obstinate and bloody battle at the village of Conings­
boroogb, abont five miles from Doncaster. His two sons, Ochta and Abisa, 
6ed with the shattered remains of their army; the former to York, and the 
Jatt.er to Aldborough, but they were quickly pursued by Ambrosius, to whom 

• AlleD's Wit. Yorks., p. 21. 
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they surrendered, and by whom they were pardoned. According to Gildas, 
Ambrosius perished in a domestic quarrel with Guitolin. Uter, surnamed 
Pendragon, succeeded his brother Ambrosius as sovereign, in 490. Ochta 
and Abisa soon after revolted, and wRSted all the country from the borders of 
Scotland to York, which city they infested. The British King defeated them 
in battle, and took them prisoners. At the early age of eighteen, Arthur 
ascended the throne of Britain; and the Saxons taking advantage of his 
youth, made an attempt upon his kingdom. Ochta and Abisa, having 
escaped from their captivity, fled home, and returning with a powerful army, 
again conquered the northern parts of the kingdom, which tl1ey divided into 
two sections, or kingdoms; the nortl1ern portion, which was situated north 
of the Roman wall, was called Banicia, and its capital was Bamburgb; and 
the more southern, Diejyr, or Deira,* of which York was the capital. Arthur, 
notwithstanding his youth, attacked the two brothers, and defeated them in 
several battles; and the follo\ving summer l1e gained a decisive victory over 
the Saxons, slaying 90,000 of them on Mount Badon,t including all the 
Saxon generals, and the flower of their army. The city of York was de­
livered up to him immediately on his approach. 

After all his conquests this renowned monarch was slain in a rebellion of 
his own subjects, and by the hands of his own nephew, in 542. Though 
some writers assign dates to the exploits of this great chieftain, who is said 
to have fought and to have gained twelve battles; yet Dr. Lingard says res­
pecting him, "if we divest his memory of that fictitious glory, which has 
been thrown round it by the imagination of the bards and minstrels, be will 
sink into equal obscurity with his fellows. We know neither the period 
when he lived, nor the district over which be reigned. * * * Perhaps 
when the reader has been told," continues the same author, "that Arthur 
was a British chieftain, that he fought many battles, that he was murdered 
by his nephew, and was buried at Glastonbury, where his remains were dis­
covered in the reign of Henry II., he will have learned all that can be 
ascertained at the present day, respecting that celebrated warrior."! The 
manner of the discovery of his remains is said to be as follows :-King Henry 
II., whilst in '\Vales, heard an ancient song of the martial deeds of Arthur, 
accompanied with the music of the harp, in which it was declared that 
Glastonbury was the place of his buri~. Henry repaired to the spot, and 

• The kingdom of Dcirn comprehended Yorkshire, Durham, Lancnshire, Westmor­
land, portions of Northumberland, nnd Cumberland. 

t Badon has been gcnernlly supposed to have b«>en the city of Bath. 
: Lingard's Hist. Eng. vol. i, pp. 71, 72, fcap. 8vo. 
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having ordered the ground in the church yard, between two pyramids, to be 
excavated, at the depth of seven feet a broad stone was discovered, to which 
was fastened a leaden cross, with this inscription in rude characters :-Hie 
Jo.ut upuli1u Rsz .Arturim in ln8ul(JJ .Avalonia. Nine feet deeper, we are 
told, his body was found, enclosed in the trunk of a tree hollowed for that 
pupose. Arthur must have been a powerful man, for the chroniclers of the 
discovery of his remains assert that his shin bone being set on the ground 
reached up to the middle of the thigh of a tall man ; and that the space of 
his forehead between his eyes was a span broad. His Queen, Guenhera, 
whom he had married at York, had been buried near him; and both their 
bonE'S were, by order of the Abbot Stephen, translated into the great church, 
and there royally interred under a marble tomb. The time of King Arthur 
is generally supposed to be from the year 506 to 542. 

Dissensions ha\ing arisen and become multiplied among the British 
Princes, the Saxons gained an entire conquest over all the Britons, save a 
miserable remnant that would not submit to their yoke, and who sought 
shelter in the Cambrian mountains, where their posterity, according to Welsh 
history, have ever since remained. 

The conquest of the northern part of the country by the Saxon chieftains 
was not achieved until the year 547, that is 08 years after the arrival of 
Hengist and Horsa in Britain. 

Besides England, the Saxons possessed themselves of the greater part of 
Scotland, and the Highlanders, who are the true Scots, call them SlUlsons to 
this day. The name of England was established in A.D. 800, when Egbert 
assumed the sovereign authority. Several of the counties are mentioned 
before the extinction of the Saxon Heptarchy, the smaller provinces or king­
doms of which became counties, as Kent, Sussex, Surrey, and Essex. 
Hampshire, Somersetshire, Wiltshire, and Berkshire (portions or shires of 
the kingdom of Wessex) are mentioned before the accession of King Alfred, 
A.D. 871; Devon and Cornwall about the same time; Gloucestershire soon 
after, and most of the other counties from north to south are named in 
history pre,ious to the Norman conquest, where they use the same language 
with us, only varying a little in the dialect. And this language we and they 
kept in a manner uncorrupted, together with the kingdom, for 1,150 years. 

"Notwithstanding the primitive barbarism of the Saxons," writes Oliver, 
"they are the people of whom we have the greatest reason to be proud. The 
Romans introduced into this island the arts of civilization, and the comforts 
of domestic life, but the Saxons did more. They not only gave to this 
kingdom salutary laws, by which the rights and liberties of its inhabitants 
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were defined and made secure, but they laid the foundation on which the 
fabric of our glorious constitution is built; and by the union of wisdom and 
piety, they succeeded in gradually forming the minds and manners of society 
to an intercourse of superior polish, and conducive to the best interests of 
morality and virtue."* 

The Religion of the Sazom, which was a more barbarous superstition than 
that of Druidism, which it superseded, prevailed till nearly the close of the 
sixth century. It was chiefly founded on traditional tales received from their 
fathers, not reduced to any system. The votive sacrifices of the Britons 
were addressed to Hu, the god of peace, but those of the Saxons were 
chiefly offered up to Mercury, whom they called Woden, and upon whom they 
looked as the deity of war, and the ancestor of their princes. His sacrifices 
were men, and the day consecrated to him was the fourth of the week, which 
we therefore at this day call W ednaday. They believed that if they could 
only propitiate this deity by their valour, they should be admitted after 
death into his hall, and there repose on couches, and satiate themselves with 
strong drink from the sculls of their enemies whom they had killed in 
battle. The sixth day they consecrated to V enw, whom they called Frt~a 
and FrU:o, from whence we call that day Friday: as Tuesday is derived from 
Tuisco, the founder of the German nation; and Sunday, Monday, and 
Saturday, from the gods Sunnan, Monan, and Ssater, to whom those days 
were dedicated. Thor, whom they looked upon as another powerful god, they 
took to be the ruler of the air, and to him they dedicated the fifth day of the 
week, or Thursday, and they had also a goddess called Ecnter, to whom they 
sacrificed in the month of April; which, observes Bade, they call E01tM" 

Monarth, and we at this day call the paschal feast Ea&ter. Besides being 
idolatrous, they were likewise strangely superstitous. Camden tells us that 
they much used the casting of lots. After cutting a branch from some fruit 
tree, they divided it into little slips; each of which they distinguished by 
certain marks, and then cast them promiscuously upon a white cloth. If 
the consultation was upon public affairs, the priest, but if upon private, the 
head of the family, after worshipping the gods, took each of the pieces up 
three several times, and then gave an interpretation according to the mark 
set upon them. To foretell the events of war, they used to take a captive of 
the nation against which their design was, and compel him to fight a duel 
with one of their own country, and by the issue of this, they concluded which 
side would conquer. 

• History of Beverley, p. 29. 
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The Saxon religion remained in the ascendant throughout the greater part 
of Britain for more than a century, and the first blow which it sustained, 
was inBictro by Pope Gregory the Great, about the year 597. "This excellent 
personage sustained a character of much estimation, both as an ecclesiastic 
and a politician ; and ample justice has been done to his merits, as well by 
his cotemporaries, as by succeeding generations. To his extraordinary zea} 
and perseverance, the Anglo-Saxons were most essentially indebted for their 
conversion from the horrible system of idol worship ; and the whole tenor of 
his conduct, with few exceptions, was exemplary as a Christian Bishop. He 
1nL8 a gentleman by birth, education, and manners; being nobly descended, 
aod the great grandson of a Pope.* His distinguished talents had been im­
proved in the best manner of the times ; and he devoted his earlier services 
to the public, in a civil station, as Governor of Rome. Early in the prime 
of his days he formed an irresistible bias towards monastic retirement. How 
well calculated soever he might have been for civil employments, to which 
his inducements were more numerous and weighty, he voluntarily relinquished 
the splendid offers of ambition, and attached himeelf solely to the.calm pur­
suits of learning and religion. Hie paternal fortune, which was very con­
siderable, he distributed with a h'beral hand amongst his kindred, and, with 
the I!JID&ll remains of his property, he built and endowed churches and 
monasteries. His gradations, from monkish seclusion to the papal throne, 
were few, but honourable to himself, and beneficial to those who employed 
him."t 

Before his pontificate he had desired to come over to Britain, and obtained 
permission from the reigning Pope, but was prevented by the people with 
whom he was very popular, and who would not suffer him to leave Rome. 
This tmdertakiDg he had always at heart, and it rose from the following in­
cident :-Pa.ssing through the market-place at Rome, sometime before his 
elevation to the papal throne, he saw some Saxon youths from Britain ex­
poeed for sale, whom their mercenary parents had sold to the Roman 
merehants, according to the custom of all the Teutonic peoples.t We are 
told, that atzack with their fine features and lair complexion, he enquired the 
name of the country which could produce such perfect specimens of the 
bllDWl frame, and was answered that they came from Britain. Finding 
that they were still heathens, he sighed deeply, and said, "it is a lamentable 
consideration that the Prince of Darknees should be master of so much 

• Felix II., who died A.D. 4112, the 47th :Bishop of Rome. 

t Hia&orJ of :Benrle7, by Bev. G. Oliver, p. 32. ! 'Malmabury historian, i, c. 8. 

Digitized by Goog le 



80 GENERAL BlSTORY OF YORXSBIRE. 

beauty, and have so many comely persons in his possession; and that so 
fine an outside should have nothing of God's grace to furnish it within." 
Bede adds, that he again asked, what was the name of that nation, and 
being told that they were called Angli or Angles, " Right," said he, "for 
they have angelical faces, and it becomes such to be companions with the 
angels in heaven." " What is the name of the province from which they 
are brought," continued he, and upon being told it was Deira, a district of 
Northumbria, "Truly, Deira, because they are withdrawn from wrath, and 
called to the mercy of Christ," said he, alluding to the Latin De ira Dei 
erttti. " What is the name of the King of that province ?" Ella or Alla, 
was the reply. "Alleluia," cried he, "the praise of God, the creator, must 
be sung in those parts." 

Soon after his elevation to the pontifical chair, in 500, he turned his 
thoughts to this abandoned part of the vineyard, and dispatched his friend 
Austin, or Augustine, the superior of his own monastery, with forty other 
zealous monks, to spread the truths of the gospel in Britain ; and by their 
preaching, the Christian religion made such rapid progress that it soon 
became the prevailing faith of the country, and Augustine was created Arch­
bishop of Canterbury, in the year 600, and Paulinus, another Roman mis­
sionary, Archbishop of York, in 628. So great was the crowd of converts 
to Christianity, that Paulinus is said to have baptized 10,000 persons in one 
day in the river Swale, in Yorkshire.* 

The English no sooner received the truths of Christianity, than with a 
most fervent zeal they gave up themselves to it, and employed their best en­
deavours to promote it, by discharging all the duties of Christian piety, and 
by erecting churches and monasteries, so that no part of the Christian world 
could either show more or richer religious establishments, So many persons, 
eminent for sanctity, did it produce, that England was justly styled tlwJ 
Island of Saints. 

The Saxon conquerors divided Britain into seven portions or kingdoms, 
since called the Heptarchy, over each of which a monarch presided. They 
lived for a long time in a flourished condition under their Heptarcby, till at 

• Speed Brit., p. 313. Camden says, that the Bishop, after having consecrated the 
Swale, commanded that they should go in two by two and baptise each other in the 
name of the Holy Trinity. This feat was performed at Delperby. The river Swale waa 
held aacred by the Saxons, and termed the Jordan of England on account of this won­
derful baptism by St. Paulinus. The same exploit is related of St. Augustine, and both 
the rivers are called Swale, though the one runs into the Thames, and the other into 
the Ure. 
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length, as we shall see, all the other kingdoms, shattered with civil wars, 
were ~ubdued to that of the West Sa.xons ; and_ Egbert, the ambitious 
monarch of that kingdom, united them, and published an edict, ordering 
the whole Heptarchy to be called Englelond, i.e., The Land of the Angles. 

Camden gives the following Chorographical table of the SAXON HEP• 
TABCHY:-

1.-~~..!:iom of Kent } The County of 

2.-The Kingdom ot the } The Counties of 
&Nth SazUJU contained 

3.-The Kingdom of the l The Counties of 
EGit .4Rglu contained 

4.-The Kingdom of the} Th C 11• f 
Wt1t SQZ{JfU contained e oun 68 0 

6.-The Kingdom of NfW. 
thumba'land contained The Counties of 

{ Kent. 

{ Sussex. 
Surrey. 

{ 
Norfolk. 
Suffolk. 
Cambridge, tcith the 

Iak of Ely. 

{ 
t~~;~· 
Dorset. 
Somerset. 
Wilts. 
Hants. 
Berks. 
Lancaster. 
York. 
Durham. 
Cumberland. 
Westmorland. 
Northumberland,and 

Scotland tn the 
Frith of Edin· 
burgh. 

6.-The Kingdom of the } 
EGit BazOftl contained The Counties of Middlesex, and part { 

Essex. 

i.-The Kingdom of Mercia 
contained The Counties of 

Hertfordshire. 
Gloucester. 
Hereford. 
Worcester. 
Warwick. 
Leicester. 
Rutland. 
Northampton. 
Lincoln. 
Huntingdon. 
Bedford. 
Buckingham. 
Oxford. 
St.aft'ord. 
Derby. 
Sulop. 
Nottingham. 
Chester, and the 

other parts ojHert· 
fordshire. 

)( 
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Under the Heptarchy York was the capital of the kingdom of Northum· 
brin, or Northumberland,•' and its first Saxon King was Ida, of whom 
William of ::'1-lalmsbury writes thus, "The most noble Ida, in the full vigour 
of life and strength, reigned in Northumbria. But whether he himself seized 
the chief authority, or received it by consent of others, I by no means 
yenture to determine, because the truth is unrevealed." 

Ida died in A.D. 550, and on his death-bed he divided his dominions 
between his two sons; giving the part called Deira to Ella, or Alla; and 
Bernicia to Adda. It was during this reign that some youths, carried from 
this country for sale to Rome, attracted the attention of Gregory, a monk, 
afterwards Pope, and which circumstance was in some measure connected 
with the re-introduction of the truths of Christianity into Britain, as already 
related. Ella, the first Anglo-Saxon King of Deira, left at his death his son 
named Edwin, an infant of three years old, for his successor. Ethelfrith, or 
Ethelfrid, a grandson of Ida., soon after succeeded to the throne of Bernicia, 
and after rendering himself formidable to all his neighbours, particularly the 
Picts, Scots, and Welsh, he imaded Deira, from whence he expelled the 
infant King, and united that kingdom to his own dominions. Edwin was 
carried to North Wales, and educated by Cadvan, a Prince of that country. 
For the space of 27 years Edwin wandered, a fugitive Prince, through the 
different kingdoms of the Heptarchy without being able to recover his pater­
nal dominions, or even to find a secure asylum, as the power of Ethelfritb 
deterred the Saxon Princes from pro,·oking his resentment _by protecting a 
forlorn orphan. At length, at the age of 30 years, his many excellent 
qualities, and majestic deportment, gained him the favour of Roowald, King 
of East Anglia, and his royal consort; and for a short period be enjoyed, at 
the East Anglian court, the sweets of tranquility and repose. 

The consequence of this generous act of hospitality on the part of Redwald, 
were two hard-fought battles with the tyrant Ethelfrith, in the latter of which 
victory was declared in favour of the East Anglians, the Northumbrians 
having thrown down their arms, and betaken themselves to flight. Redwald 
advanced into Northumbria without opposition; the three sons of the usurper, 
Eanfrid, Oswald, and Oswy, having fled into Scotland, and the Northum­
brians submitted to Redwald, who not only restored Edwin to the throne of 
Deira, his patrimonial inheritance, but also gave him the kingdom of 
Bernicia. 

"Edwin obtained the kingdoms of Deira and Dernicia in 617 ," writes 

• The kingdom of Northumberland wns so called from ita situation north of the 
river Humber-the land north of the Humber. 
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Allen, "and in 624 he acquired, though not without much opposition, a de­
cided pre-eminence over the other Princes of the Heptarchy, and assumed the 
title of monarch of the Anglo-Saxons, which Redwald had enjoyed during his 
life. He claimed an absolute authority O\'er the other Kings; and by an 
ensign carried before in the form of a globe, as a symbol of the union of the 
Heptarchial government in his person, he gave them to understand that he 
was not only their head but their master.''* 

Edwin now demanded in marriage Ethelburgha, daughter of the late 
Ethelbert, the first Christian Kingt of the English, and sister of Ebald, 
Eadbald, or Ethelbald, King of Kent, a Princess of great beauty and virtue ; 
but his proposal met with a refusal which he, then in the acme of his power, 
had not expected. She was a Christian, and he yet an idolater. She would 
not renounce her faith for the splendour of a throne; nor would she become 
the consort of Edwin, unless she might be allowed the free exercise of her 
own religion. Edwin submitted to this, and Ethelburgha brought with her 
Paulinus, a Roman Missionary and Christian Bishop, as well as Christian 
attendants. On Easter eve, in 626, the Queen was delivered of a daughter; 
and on Easter day an assassin, named Eumer, sent by Quichelm, King of 
the West Saxons, being admitted into the presence of King Edwin, attempted 
to stab him with a poisoned dagger. He would have certainly killed him, if 
Lilla, his favourite and faithful minister, had not, for want of a buckler, inter­
posed his own body, and so saved the King's life with the loss of his own. 
The dagger wounded the King through the body of his officer. The ruffian 
was cut to pieces upon the spot, bnt not before he bad killed another of the 
courtiers. The King returned thanks to the Gods for his preservation; but 
Paulinus told him it was the effect of the prayers of his Queen, ancl exhorted 
him to thank the true God, for his merciful protection of his person, and for 
her safe delivery. The King was pleased with this discourse, and soon after 
he began to examine the subject of religion. He consented that his infant 
daughter should be consecrated to God, and she was baptized on Whit-Sunday, 
and called Eanfleda, being the first fruits of the kingdom of Northumbria. 
These things happened in the royal residence upon the Derwent, says Bede; 
that is, near the Roman station Derventius, or Derventio, mentioned by 

• Allen's Hist. Yorks., p. 28. 

+ Aeeording to Camden, the word "King" is derived from the Saxon Cyning, or 
Ctn~yfiQ, which signifies the same; and that from can, "power," or ken, "knowledge," 
wherewith every monarch is supposed to be invested. The Lotin rez, the Scythian rtiz, 
t.h<> Punic ~h. tho Spanish rey, Rlld the French rmJ, came all, according to Postel, 
from lhe Hebrew rMCh, " chief head." 
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Antonius, iu his Itinerary of Britain. The place is near to Stamford Bridge, 
and is now called Aldby, that is, Old Dwelling; and near to it Camden 
noticed the ruins of an old castle. 

The King moreover promised Paulin•1s, that if God restored him his 
healtl1, and made him victorious oYer those who had conspired so basely to 
take away his life, be would become himself a Christian. When his wound 
was healed, be assembled his army, marched against the King of the West 
Saxons, vanquished him in the field, and eitl1er slew or took prisoners all 
the autlwrs of the 'vicked plot of his assassination. From this time he no 
more worshipped idols; yet he deferred to accomplish his promise of re· 
ceiving baptism. Paulinus continued to exhort him, and to pray earnestly 
for his conversion; and Edwin was willingly instructed in the faith, often 
meditated on it by himself, nnd consulted with the wisest among his great 
officers. Pope Boniface sent him an exhortatory letter, with presents; and a 
silver looking-glass and nn ivory comb to his Queen. At length a day was 
appointed when the subject of religion was to be discussed in the presence of 
the court; Paulin us was to point out the evidences of Christianity, whilst 
Cmfi, or, as it is written by Bede in the No1thumbrian dialect, Coifi, Edwin's 
high priest, was to defend the idolatry of his fathers. The result of this 
discussion was that Coifi, the high priest of the idols, declared that by expe· 
rienco it was manifest that their Gods had no power, and he advised the 
King to command fire to be set to tho pagan temples and altars. The King 
asked him who should first profane them. Coifi answered that he, himself, 
who bad been the foremost in their worship, ought to do it for an example to 
others. Then he desired to be furnished with arms and a horse; for, 
according to their superstition, it was not lawful for the high priest to bear 
any anus, or to ride on a horse, but only a mare. Being thereupon mounted 
on the King's own horse, witl1 a sword by his side, and a spear in his band, 
he rode to the temple, which he profaned by casting his spear into it. He 
then commamled those that accompanied him to pull it down, and bum it. 
The parish church of Godmanham now occupies ilie site of this temple. 
This place, says Bedc, the Yenerablc patriarch of Saxon history, writing in 
731, is to the east of York, bcyoml the Derwent, and is called Godmwlding· 
ham. It retains to this day the name of Godmanham. Mr. Wright, in 
his Wanderings of an Antiquary, recently published, thinks it possible 
that Londcsborough, in the East Hiding, may have been the site of King 
Edwin's residence, that place being but one mile distant from the Pagan 
temple. 

On Easter Day (April 12th, 627), King Edwin nnc.l several of his nobles 
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were baptized by Paulinus at York, in a small wooden church or oratory, 
hastily erected, and dedicated to St. Peter. Edwin aftenvards began a largo 
church of stone, in which this was enclosed, and which was finished by St. 
Oswald, one of his successors. Paulinus fixed his episcopal See at York, with 
the approbation of King Edwin, and continued to preach freely during tho 
remaining six years of this Prince's reign. The people flocked in crowds to 
receive the sacrament of baptism, and, as we have seen at pages 28 and 80, 
the good Bishop baptized them in multitudes in the rivers. When the King 
and Queen were at their country palace of Yeverin, in Glendale, among the 
Bernieians in Northumberland, the Bishop was occupied 30 days together, 
from morning till night, in instructing persons, and baptizing them in the 
little river Glen. When Paulinus was with the court in the country of the 
Deiri he baptized in the river Swale, near Catterick. Edwin built a church 
near this place in honour of St. Alban, from which a new town arose, which 
was called Albansbury, and since Almondbury. The royal palace at that 
place was burnt by the pagans after the death of King Edwin. His succes­
sors had their country palace in the territory of Loidis, or Leeds, where a 
town of that name was afterwards built. 

Edwin's reign, of 17 years, is the brightest in the annals of the Heptarchy. 
He reclaimed his subjects from the licentious life to which they had been 
accustomed, and was distinguished for his strict and impartial administration 
of justice. It was proverbial in his reign that a woman or child might 
openly carry from sea to sea a purse of gold without any danger of violence 
or robbery. As no inns or houses of public entertainment existed in those 
days, and as travelling was difficult and tedious, he caused stakes to be fixed 
in the highways near unto clear springs, and brazen dishes to be chained to 
them, to refresh the weary sojourner, whose fatigues Edwin had himself 
experienced. The English enjoyed so perfect tranquillity and security 
throughout the dominions of King Edwin, that his peace was proverbial. 
And his Christian virtues were very remarkable. He was equally zealous to 
practice himself, and to propagate on all sides the maxims and truths of 
Christianity. Indeed the English nation generally received the faith with a 
fervour equal to that of the primitive Christians; and Kings, who frequently 
find the greatest obstacles to virtue, often set tl1eir subjects the strongest 
examples of the most heroic virtues. Several monarchs exchanged their 
purple and sceptres for hair cloth, their palaces for poor mean cells, and 
their power and command for the humility of obedience. After having spent 
six years in the practice of the Christian virtues, God was pleased to visit 
him with aftlictions to rai.lle him to the glory of martyrdom. 
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Penda, the pagan King of Mercia, united with Ceadwalla, King of Gwynez 
or North Wales, to destroy all the English Christians. Edwin met them at 
a place afterwards called Hevenfield* (now Heathfield or Hatfield), a village 
seven miles from Doncaster, and in a most bloody battle, fought October 
12th, 633, lost his crown and life, in the 48th year of his age.t His head 
was buried in the porch of the church he had built at York, and the re­
mainder of his body was deposited in tl1e Abbey of Whitby. 

The victors now at the head of a vast army, ravaged the kingdom of the 
Northumbers, and York, its capital, in a most barbarous manner. His only 
son, Osfrid, being slain with his father, Osric and Eanfrid, the two nearest 
relatives of Edwin, were chosen Kings of Deira and Berni cia; but the former 
was defeated and slain in battle by the Welsh King, and his brother Eanfrid 
was cruelly and treacherously put to death by Ceadwalla at York, in 634, 
though he came to that city with only twelve attendants, for the purpose of 
treating for peace. Osric and Eanfrid had formerly received baptism, the 
former from Paulinus, and the latter from the monks of St. Columba, at 
Icolmkill; but each relapsed into the errors of paganism. The indignant 
piety of the Northumbrians expunged the names of these apostate Princes 
from the catalogue of their Kings, and the time in which they reigned was 
distinguished in their annals by the expressive term, "The unhappy year." 

Oswald, the younger of the sons of Ethelfrid, and nephew of Edwin, whose 
sister Acca was his mother, was called to the united throne of the Northum· 
bers in 685. This Prince, who had in ilie preceding reign fled to Scotland, 
and embraced Christianity whilst in exile, assembled a small but valiant 
army, and marched into Northumberland against Ceadwalla, who had laid 
waste the country with fire and sword as far as the Picts' wall. Oswald gave 
the tyrant battle at a place called by Bede, Denisburn, that is the brook 
Denis, adjoining the Picts' wall on tllC north side, and gained a complete 
victory; Ceadwalla (who used to boast that he had been born for the exter­
mination of the Angles), with the greater part of his army being slain on the 
field. 

Having thus firmly established himself on the Northumbrian throne, 
Oswald set himself to restore good order throughout his d01ninions, and to 
plant in them the faith of Christ. He entreated the King and Bishops of 
Ireland, then called Scotia, to send him a Bishop and assistants, by whose 

• This name was given to it on account of the great number of ChrisU&ns there slain 
in this engagement. 

t On St. Edwin see Bede Hist. i. ii., c. 0, 10, 12, 16, 20. 
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preaching the people whom he governed might be grounded in the Christian 
religion, and receive baptism. Aidan, a monk of the celebrated monastery of 
Hij,-a man no less venerable for his virtues, than eminent for his learning, 
-was chosen for this great and arduous undertaking. The King bestowed 
on Aidan the Isle of Lindisfarue, siuce called Holy Island, for his episcopal 
seat, and thus was founded that ancient See which was afterwards removed 
to Durham, By the great labours of Aidan, aided by the piety and munifi. 
cence of Oswald, Christianity was firmly established, and maintained its 
influence amid all the wara and revolutions which succeeded. Oswald filled 
his dominions with churches and monasteries; and his own virtues were so 
great and numerous, that many years after his death they procured for him 
the honour of canonization. 

During eight years Oswald reigned in such prosperity, that the Welsh, the 
Picts, and the Scots are said to have paid him tribute. But the fate of 
Edwin awaited Oswald. During a progress which be made in Shropshire, 
attended but by a few friends besides his domestic servants; Penda, the 
be.rbaroll8 King of the Mercians, who envied the greatness of Oswald, and 
detested his religion-and who nine yeara before had slain the pious King 
Edwin-secretely raised an army, and endeavoured to accomplish by strata· 
gem and surprise, what he dare not attempt in open battle. The treacherous 
and cowardly wretch fiercely assaul~ and killed Oswald at Masserfield, siuce 
called Oswestry, or Oswaltre, that is Oswald's Cross, about seven miles from 
Shrewsbury; and he had the ferocity to cause the head and limbs to be 
severed from the trunk, and fixed on high poles driven in the ground as 
trophies of his victory.* This treacherous act was performed on the lith of 
August, 642. Penda afterwards ravaged Northumbria, but the royal castle 
of Bebbaborough (Bamborougb, in Northumberland) was the first place that 
Ten&ured to stop his destructive progress. Situated on a rock, and protected 

• Camden, Capgrave, and others think this is the place where St. Oswald was slain; 
but Alban Butler imagines the scene of his death to be Winwich, in Lancashire, which 
wu anciently ealled Maserfield, or Muerlelth, and where is a well still ea11ed St. 
Oswald's, whioh was formerly visited out of devotion. Thero lll'e many churches in 
England dedicated to God in honour of St. Oswald. The year after his martyrdom, his 
brother Oswy took his body oft' the poles upon which the tyrant had affixed them; he 
!\ell~ the head to Lindislame, and it was afterwards pu~ in the same shrine with the 
body ol St. Cuthbert, and was with it translated to Durham, as the Malmebury historian 
and othen 888nre us. The res~ of St. OBW11ld's body was then translated to the monas. 
tery of Budney in Lincolnshire. Part of the relics were afterwards translated to the 
Abbey of St. Winoc's Berg, in Flanders, in 1221, and deposited there with great solem. 
nity by Adam, Bishop of Terouanne. St. Aidan, the flrst Bishop of Lindiat'anle, was 
abo eanoni.zed. 

Digitized by Goog le 



88 GENERAL HISTORY OF YORKSHIRE, 

on one side by a steep ascent, and on the other side by the German Ocean, 
it bade defiance to the tyrant. But here be displayed the ferocity of his dis­
position. By his order the neighbouring villages were demolished, every 
combustible material was collected from the ruins and reared up in an im· 
mense pile against the walls, and as soon as the wind blew fiercely towards 
the city, fire was set to the pile. But as the fire and smoke was being wafted 
over the heads of the trembling inhabitants, the wind suddenly changed, and 
the fire spent its fury in the opposite direction. Chagrined and confounded, 
Penda raised the siege, evacuated the kingdom, and turned his arms against 
the King of East Anglia. Soon after his retreat in 648, the Northumbrian 
Thanes placed Oswy or Oswio, the brother of Oswald, on the united throne, 
but in the second year of his reign appeared a dangerous competitor of the 
house of Ella, in the person of Oswin, the son of Osric; and prudence or 
necessity induced him to consent to a compromise, and Oswin was crowned 
King of Deira, whilst he reserved to himself Bernicia and the northern 
conquests. 

Oswy, who was never pleased at this division of the kingdom, afterwards 
asserted his claim to the throne of Deira, and obliged Oswin to arm in his 
own defence. According to Bede, Oswin was of a. religious rather than & 

martial disposition; and regarding it criminal to shed the blood of his sub­
jects for the support of his throne, privately withdrew from his army, with 
the intention of taking refuge in a monastery; but before he could execute 
his design, he was betrayed to Oswy, who inhumanly murdered him in the 
hopes of more easily seizing his kingdom. The people of Deira, however, 
dreading the dominion of so cruel a Prince, immediately elected his nephew, 
Adelwald, or Odilwald, son of his brother Oswald, as their King, and thus 
was Oswy foiled in his ambition. 

Adelward commenced his reign in 652, and for three years the kingdom of 
Deira experienced an interval of peace. Oswy still persevered in his claim 
to this kingdom, and Adelwald, fearing that his uncle would seize the first 
opportunity to execute his designs, listened to a proposal of a league with the 
Kings of Mercia and East Anglia against the King of Bernicia. The Mer­
ciao King, seeing himself supported by the armies of East A nglia and Deira, 
refused every overture for peace, and Oswy was obliged to try the fortune of 
war with three powerful enemies. The nigb,t before the eventful contest he 
fervently implored the assistance of heaven, and vowed if be was victorious to 
devote his infant daughter Elfleda. to the service of God in monastic seclusion. 
But while the two armies were advancing to the scene of action, Adelwald 
was forming new projects; he wisely considered that to whicheve1· side the 
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Tictory inclined, it would be equally dangerous to hin;t, and that the ambition 
of Penda, as well as of Oswy, might hurl him from his throne. He therefore 
resolved to stand neuter during the battle, and save his own troops, in order 
to defend his dominions against the conqueror. Penda attacked the Ber­
nicians with great impetuosity; but as soon as the Mercians saw Adelwald 
draw off his division they suspected some treachery, and began to give way, 
and no possible effort could rally them. The Kings of Mercia and East 
Anglia were slain, and their armies routed with terrible slaughter. Thus fell 
the cruel and treacherous Penda, after he bad stained his sword with the 
blood of two Northumbrian Kings-Edwin and Oswald; and three Kings of 
East Anglia-Sigebert, Egric, and Annas. With this hoary veteran, who 
was 80 years old, and who had reigned 30 years, fell 28 vassal chieftains, or 
commanders of royal blood. This decisive battle was Sought at Winwidfield 
(Winmoor), or Field of Victory, situated on the northern bank of the river 
Winwald, now Aire, near Loyd«:n, now Leeds, on the 15tll of November, 655. 
After the battle Oswy overran the kingdoms of the fallen monarchs, and sub­
dued the astonished inhabitants. Mercia he divided into two portions ; the 
proTince on the north of the Trent he annexed to his own dominions ; those 
oo the south he allowed to be governed by Peada, the son of Penda, who bad 
married his daughter. But Peada soon after perished by the treachery, it is 
said, of his wife, and his territory was immediately occupied by the North­
umbrians. 

In fulfilment of his vow, Oswy placed his child Elfleda, who was not yet 
one year old, under the care of the Abbess Hilda at Hartlepool; and her 
dower WB.I! fixed at 120 hides of land in Bernicia, and at an equal number in 
Deira. This munificent donation enabled the sisterhood to remove their 
establishment to a more convenient situatiQn at Whitby, where the royal nun 
lived the space of 59 years in the practice of the monastic duties, during one 
half of which she exercised the office of Abbess. The King soon afterwards, 
stung with remorse for the murder of Oswin, founded and endowed another 
monastery at Gilling, on the very spot in which that Prince had been slain ; 
and the community of monks were bound to pray daily for the soul of the 
murdered '4iog, and for that of the royal murderer.* Oswy had now under 
his control a greater extent of territory than had belonged to any of his pre­
decessors ; but long before his death the tyrannical conduct of his officers 
caused the Mercians to revolt, and expel the Northumbrians; and the sceptre 
was conferred on Wulphere, the youngest son of Penda, who had been 
anxiously concealed from the researches of Oswy. 

• Bede iii., 2-i. Nennius, c. 64. 
N 
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A few years afterwards Adelwald died without issue, and N orthumbria was 
again united in one kingdom under Oswy. But this re-union was of short 
duration, for Alchfrid, his eldest son, demanded a portion of the Northum­
brian territory, with the title of King. It is not clear what means he used to 
oblige his father to give up to him the kingdom of Deira, but this is certain 
that Oswy was induced to divide with him his dominions ; and thus did he 
resign that crown which he so long and so anxiously desired to unite with 
his own. 

Christianity had now been preached in all the Saxon kingdoms except 
Sussex, but as the missionaries had come from different countries, though 
they taught the same doctrine, they disagreed in several points of ecclesias· 
tical discipline. Of these the most important regarded the canonical time 
for the celebration of Easter, a subject which had for several centuries dis· 
turbed the peace of the church. It was universally admitted that it depended 
on the commencement of the equinoctiallunation; but the Roman astrono­
mers differed from the Alexaudrinian, the former contending that the 
lunation might begin as early as the 5th, whilst the latter maintained that it 
could not begin before tl1e 8th of March. The consequence of this diversity 
of opinion was, that when the new moon fell on the 5th, 6th, or 7th of that 
month, the Latin celebrated the feast of Easter a full lunation before the 
Greek Christians. Weary of the disputes occasioned by these computations, 
the Roman church, in the middle of the sixth century, had adopted a new 
cycle, which agreed in every important point with the Alexandrinian calcula­
tion. But this arrangement was unknown to the British Christians, who at 
that period were wholly employed in opposing the invaders of their country; 
and they continued to observe the ancient cycle, which was now become 
peculiar to themselves. 

Hence it occasionally happened that Easter, and the other festivals 
depending on that solemnity, were celebrated at different times by the Saxon 
Christians, according as they had been instructed by the Scottish, or by the 
Roman and Gallic missionaries; and thus did Oswy see his own family 
divided into factions, and the same festivals solemnized on different days ia 
his own palace. Wilfrid, afterwards Archbishop of York, having been in· 
structed at Rome in the discipline of the church, was requested by Alchfrid, 
the son of Oswy, to instruct him and his people in ecclesias~cal discipline; 
and 011wy, desirous to end the dispute, and to procure uniformity, summoned 
the champions of the two parties to meet at the monastery at Streaneshalch, 
now Whitby, in 664. The Kings, Oswy and Alchfrid, were present at this 
conference. Wilfrid rest~ the cause of the Romans on the authority of St. 
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Peter, and the practice of the universal church; and after a long debate it 
appeared clear to the great majority of the monks and ecclesiastics present, 
that those were in error who differed in this and other matters from the 
practice of the Roman church. Rapin and some others pretend that the 
Scots or Irish and the Britons were for some time schismatics in consequence 
of these matters ; but these writers are mistaken, for the Saxon Christians 
did not coincide with the Quartodecimans, who bad been condemned by the 
church, nor had this difference between them and the universal church then 
proceeded to a breach of communion.* 

Soon after this conference the See of Canterbury became vacant by the 
death of Deusdedit; Oswy consulted with Egbert, the King of Kent, and by 
their concurrence the presbyter Wighard, who had been chosen to succeed 
to the Archiepiscopal dignity, was sent to Rome to ask the advice of the 
Apostolic See on the subject of discipline. But the new prelate died at Rome 
of a dreadful and fatal pestilence, which was then ravaging Britain and 
Ireland, and which he had escaped in his own country. In a letter from 
Pope Vitalian to Oswy, announcing his death, the Pontiff assures the King, 
that he would select for the See of Canterbury a person equal to so exalted a 
station; and after some delay the learned and virtuous Theodorus, a monk of 
Tarsus, was landed in Kent with the title of Archbishop of Britain. His 
authority was immediately acknowledged by all the Saxon prelates, synods 
were held, and uniformity of discipline was everywhere observed. 

Oswy died in 670, in the 29th year of his reign, and the sceptre of North· 
umbria was transferred to the hands of Egfrid, or Ecgfrid, his son by Anfleda, 
the daughter of EdWin. Some writers say that Alchfrid, his eldest son, was 
still alive, but rejected on account of illegitimacy, and that he ascended the 
throne after the death of Egfrid; others assert that he ruled in Deira up to 
about the time of his father's de.ath, when his subjects revolted against him, 
and he retired to Ireland, where he devoted himself to learning and piety 
until the death of Egfrid. But Dr. Lingard tells us, that after a diligent 
examination of Bede, it appeared to him that these writers have confounded 
Alchfrid and Aldfrid, and made the two but one person. Aldfrid, who was 
illegitimate, and thought to be the son of Oswy, lived in spontaneous exile in 
Ireland through his desire of knowledge, and was called to the throne after 
the decease oC the legitimate offspring of Oswy. 

Though the royal families of Northnmbria and Mercia were allied by 
marriage, the ambition of Egfrid led him to invade that kingdom in 679. A 

• Bede iii., 26, u . 
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conflict took place on the bllllks of the Trent, but peace was restored by the 
interposition of Archbishop Theodorus.* 

In 685, this restless monarch, who laboured incessantly to preserve and 
enlarge his dominions, invaded the territories of the :Picts, for the purpose of 
depredation or conquest, and was killed by them in battle in the 40th year 
of his age, and the 15th of his reign. Egfrid dying without issue, the Nortb­
umbrian Thanes offered the crown to Alfred, or Aldfrid, the reputed but 
illegitimate son of Egfrid. During the last reign he had retired to the 
western isles, and had devoted tlie time of his exile to study, under the 
instruction of the Itish monks. His proficiency obtained for him frc:m his 
contemporaries the title of the learned King. He displayed great moderation 
lllld virtue in governing his kingdom, and after reigning happily for 19 years, 
he died in 705, and is said to have been bwied at Little Driffield, in the 
East Riding of Yorkshire. Osred, the eldest son of Alfred, a child eight 
years of age, succeeded his father. Dwing the minority of this Prince, a 
nobleman, named Eadulph, usurped the sceptr~, and besieged the royal infant 
and his guardian in the strong fot'trcss of Bam borough; but the nobles and 
people rising in defence of their Sovereign, the usurper was taken prisoner, 
and put to death, after a tumultuous reign of two months. Osred, however, 
as he advanced towards manhood, lost, by his licentious conduct, the affections 
of the people, which Ceonrcd and Osric (two brothers, descendants of a natural 
son of Ida, the first Anglo-Saxon King of N orthumbria), perceiving, formed 
a party against him, and were supported by the whole body of the clergy. 
At length they raised the standard of revolt, and Osred was defeated and 
slain on the banks of Winandermere, in 716, being the 1\lth year of his age, 
and 11th of his reign. Ceonred, who then mounted the throne, died in 718, 
and was succeeded by his brotlter Osric, who reigned peaceably 11 years, 
but was slain in 780. The next King of Northumbria was Ccolwulf, the 
brother of his predecessor, who, in the 8th year of his reign, voluntarily 
retired to the monastery of Lindisfame, where he passed the remainder of 
his life. Ceolwulf was the patron of the Venerable Bcde, the ecclesiastical 
historian. In the year 787, Eadbet't, the cousin of Ceolwulf, was cro\\'1100, 
and, after enlarging his kingdom, and reigning 21 years, he followed the 
example of his predecessor, by seeking the peaceful tranquillity of the 
cloister. This monarch's brother was Archbishop of York. Oswulf, the son 
and successor of Eadbcrt, was assassinated in 758, in the first year of his 
reign; his Thanes having conspired against him. The next Northumbrian 

• &de iv., c. 21. 
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monarch was Mol Edilwold, who, though not of royal blood, was :raised to 
the throne by the sufft-age of the peopte. He too was conspired against, and 
put to death by Alchred, a descendant of Ida, who usurped the throne in 
765. This monarch reigned 9 years; but in 774 he was expelled, and 
Etbelred, the son of Edilwold, was chosen in his stead. This Prince was 
obliged by his subjects to abdicate, and seek refuge in a neighbouring king­
dom in 779. 

Alfwold, the son of Oswulf, and grandson of Eadbert, was now placed on 
the throne ; and though he reigned 11 years, honoured and beloved, yet he 
yielded up his life at the bands of the Ealdorman Sigan. The murderer put 
a period to his own existence five years later. 

In 785 Pope Adrian sent two papal legates, the Bishops of Ostia and 
Tudertum, to England. Soon after their arrival they convoked two synods, 
the one in Northumbria, the other in Mercia. At the latter synod, which 
was attended by all the Princes and prelates in the country, the legates read 
a code of ecclesiastical laws, composed by the Sovereign Pontiff, for the 
government of the Anglo-Saxon church. It was heard with respect, and 
subscribed by all the members.* 

In 789 Osred II., son of Alchred, was advanced to the throne of Northum­
bria, and the following year he was deposed by the Thanes, and he retired 
to the Isle of Man. Ethelred was then recalled, and returned with a thirst 
for revenge, and was replaced on the throne. Soon after his restoration he 
ordered Eardulf, one of his most powerful opponents, to be slain at the door 
of the church of Ripon. The monks carried the body into the choir, and 
during the funeral service it was observed to breathe; proper remedies were 
applied to the wounds, and the future . King of Northumbria recovered, and 
was carefully concealed in the monastery. This act of cruelty was followed 
by the murder of Elf and Elwin, the two sons of King Alfwold. · Osred now 
returned from the Isle of Man, and braved his rival to battle; but he was 
deserted by his followers, and added another to the victims of Ethelred's 
ambition. This monster repudiated his own wife, and married the daughter 
of Offa, the powerful King of Met·cia. In the third year of his reign a total 
failure of the harvest reduced the inhabitants to famine, to which were soon 
added the ravages of pestilence ; and to complete their misfortunes, an army 
of Danes landed on the coast, pillaged the country, and destroyed the venerable 
church of Lindisfarne. All these calamities were attributed to the impru­
dence of Ethelred ; and in the fourth year of his restoration he fell in a 

• Saxon Chronicle, M. Wilk. Con. p. U2, 16-i. 
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fruitless attempt to quell the rising discontent of his subjects.* The ad­
herents of Oshald now placed -him on the throne; but after a short reign of 
27 days, the opposite faction gained the ascendancy, and Osbald was deposed, 
nnd found safety in a monastery. 

Eardulf, whose life had been saYed by the monks of Ripon, then grasped 
the sceptre, stained by the blood of so many Princes; but civil dissensions 
had now prevailed to an alarming extent, and in 808 he was obliged to fly 
from the fury of his rebellious subjects, and take refuge in the court of 
Charlemagne. Alfwald, the head of the faction by which Eardulf wns 
driven from his kingdom, undertook to sway this dangerous sceptre; but he 
rl:'igned only two years, and his death left the crown to Eanred, in whose 
reign the Anglo-Saxon kingdom of 'Xorthumbria ceased to be independent. 

During the last century Northurnbria had exhibited sucet:ssivc instances 
of treachery and murder, to which no other country perhaps can furnish a 
parallel. The monarchs, with few exceptions, were restless and ambitious, 
and the inconstancy of the Thanes was fatal to the ambition of the monarchs. 
Out of the fourteen kings who had assumed the sceptre during that century, 
only one, if one, died in the pcnceable possession of royalty; seven were 
slain, and six were banished from the throne by their rebellious subjects. 
And the same anarchy and perfidy prevailed till the Danes totally extin­
guished the ~orthumbrian dynasty, by the slaughter of Ella and Osbert, in 
the year 86 7. • 

Egbert, the only remaining Prince of the house of Cerdic-deri\ing his 
deseent from that conqueror, through Inigils, the brother of Ina-having 
been c-ompelled to quit this country, was well received at the coutt of Char­
lemagne. For three years he had enjoyed considerable command in the 
armies of that Emperor; and having improved the period of his exile in 
acquiring a proficiency in the arts of war and government, he returned to 
J3ritain, and was called to the throne of Northumbria; and by his eminent 
abiliticA, and great experience, he was enabled to unite the seyeu kingdoms 
of the Heptarchy into one monarchy, about 3\lO years after the first arrival 
of the Saxons in this cow1try. 

The authority acquired by Egbert over the tributary kingdoms was very 
soon weakened by the incursions of the Danes. Their invasions gradually 
become more frequent and formidable; and while the Kings of Wessex, suc­
cessors of Egbert, were fully employed in defending their own dominions, they 
could only maintain a precarious sovereignty over the other kingdoms. 

Saxon Chron. (14, 06. 
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Rnglo::mants~ 1'ntolJ. 
Those rapacious, restless, and cruel spoilers, the Danes, in whom we do 

not find a single redeeming virtue, made their first appearance on our shores 
about the year 787 ,t.: but they did not succeed in forming a permanent 
establishment until A.D. 867, in which year they fitted up a mighty fleet, and 
taking ndvantage.ofthe party divisions of the inhabitants, during the inaus­
picious reign of Ethelred, invaded the kingdom, penetrated with complete 
success into the northern districts, and secured to themselves the sceptre of 
Northumbria. In proceeding through the country they burnt cities, de­
stroyed churches, wasted the land, o,·erturned everything in their way, and 
with the most barbarous cruelty murdered the Kings of the East Angles and 
Mercinns. "Language cannot describe their de\·astntions. It can only 
repeat the terms, plunder, murder, mpe, famine, and distress. It can only 
enumerate towns, village~, churches, and monasteries, harvests, and libraries 
ransacked and burnt. But by the incessant repetition, the horrors are 
diminished; and we read, without emotion, the narrative of deeds which rent 
the hearts of thousands with anguish, and inflicted wounds on human happi­
ness, and human improvement, which ages with difficulty healed.''t "Ex­
punge the name of one King from their records," says a learned writer, in 
speaking of the Danes, "and their political existence in England exhibits 
nothing but a deformed mass of perfidy and slaughter, profligacy and crime." 

The Nortbumbrians being the most remote from Wessex, at length 
recoYered their independence, and Osbert, or Orbrightus, was raised to the 
throne. Discord and party spirit, which for such a length of time disturbed 
the kingdom, and which for a while seemed to be extinguished, was revived 
by the licentious tyrnnny of tlte new King, and the flames of civil war were 
soon enkindled in Northumbria. Returning one day from hunting, Osbert 
called at the mansion of one of his nobles, named Bruern Brocard, guardian 
of the sea coasts, and not finding him at home, violated by force the chastity 
of his wife. To revenge this insult, Bruern excited a revolt of the Bernicians; 
Osbert was declared unworthy to goven1, and another King, named Ella, was 
elected to the throne of Bernicia. Thus was Northumbria once more divided 
between two Kings, and two factions, who were continually aiming at each 
other's destruction. No sooner wa:~ the Bernician monarch seated on the 

• Hovedeu, p. 40. t Turn. Ang. Salt., vol. ii, p. 180. 
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throne, than he, stimulated by Earl Bruern, endeavoured to dispossess Osbert 
of the crown of Deira, and a sanguinary civil war ensued, in which the 
equality of the forces of the two Kings prevented the scale turning on either 
side. At length Bruern rashly and inconsiderately resoh·ed to ·sail to Den­
mark, and to solicit assistance, which was but too readily granted. 

Urged by ambition and revenge, the King of Denmark eagerly entered into 
the enterprise. His revenge is said to have been excited by the alleged cruel 
treatment of a Danish General, named Lothbroe, the father of Hinguar and 
Rubbo., who being alone in a small boat was driven by accident to the coast 
of Norfolk. Histotians tell us, that he was well received and hospitably 
treated at the court of Edmund, King of the East Angles; that he was au 
accomplished sportsman, and became so conspicuous for his dexterity, as to 
obtain a distinguished place in the royal favour. That Bern, the King's 
huntsman, growing jealous of him, took an oppottunity of drawing him to a 
thicket, where he murdered him, and concealed the body. That the corpse 
was discovered by means of Lothbroc's dog; that Bern was tried and found 
guilty of the murder, and the sentence passed upon him was, that he should 
be put into the murdered man's boat, and without tackling or proYision, com­
mitted to the mercy of the waves. That the boat, by a singular fatality, was 
cast upon the coast of Denmark, and that being kno,m, Bern was appre­
hended, and examined concerning the fate of Lothbroc. That in order to 
exculpate himself, Bern told the Danish authorities, that Lothbroc had, by 
the King's command, been thrown into a pit, and stung to death by serpents. 
They add that Bruern arrived in Denmark shortly after this circumstance, 
and that measures were speedily concerted for the invasion of Deira. But 
Dr. Lingard gives a different version of the cause of this tlescent of the Danes, 
on the authority of Asser, Ingulphus, the Saxon Chronicle, Leland, and 
Turner. lie tells us, that during the reign of Ethelbert, King of Wessex, 
the predecessor of Ethelred, one of the most adventurous and successful of 
the Sea-Kings, or pirate chieftains, named ~<Yilar Lodbrog, constructed a 
number of large ships for the purpose of invading England ; that owing to 
the unskilfulness of the mariners, or the violence of the weather, the vessels 
were wrecked on the coast of Northumbrio.. That Ragnar, with several of 
his followers reached the shore, and heedless of the consequences, commenced 
their usual career of depredation. That Ella flew to the coast, fought with 
the plunderers, made Ragnar prisoner, and put him to death; and that his 
sons, Inguar and Ubbo, who swore to avenge the murder, collected to their 
standard the combined forces of 8 Sea-Kings, with 20 Jarls, consisting of 
several_ thousand warriors, and in the reign of Ethelred landed on the coast 
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of East _\nglia without opposition.>~ It seems ce1tain, however, that soon 
after the dt>ath of Hagnar, that a mighty fleet, commanded by the two 
brothers, Hiuguar and IIubba, entered the Humbcr, and spread terror and 
dismay nil over the country. The Xorthumbrians being wholly ignorant of 
their design, were not in readiness to dispute their landing, consequently they 
soon became masters of the northern shore, and having bun1t and destroyed 
the to'lnls on the Holderness coast, they marched directly towards York, 
where Osbert was preparing an anny to oppose them. 

In this great extremity Osbert was constrained to apply to his mortal foet 
Ella, for a.ssistane~. and to the great credit of the latter, he willingly agreed 
w suspend their private quarrel, and join forces against the common enemy. 
Without waiting the arrival of Ella's reinforcement, Osbert sallied out of 
York, and attacked the Danes so vigorously, that they could hardly stand the 
shock. But pressing in their turn, the Danes compelled the British anny to 
retire without any order, into the city. Osbert, in endeavouring to rally his 
scattered troops, was slain in the retreat with a great number of his men. 
The ,;ctA:lrs now entered York in triumph, whilst Ella was advancing in hopes 
of repairing the loss Osbert had sustained by his impatience. Hinguar 
having conquered one of the Kings, went out to meet the other, and n battle 
no less bloody, and fatal to the English, ensued. Ella was killed, and his 
army entirely routed. Some historians state that Ella was not slain in the 
battle, but taken prisoner, and that Hingua1· ordered him to be flayed alive 
in revenge for his father's murder. 

Hovcdon thus describes the horrible sufferings of the inhabitants of York 
on this occasion:-" By the General's cruel orders they knocked down nil the 
boys; young and old men they met in the city, and cut their throats; matrons 
and l-irgins were ravished at pleasure; the husband and wife, either dead or 
dying, were tossed together; the infant, snatched from its mother's breast, 
was carried to the threshold, and there left butchered at its parent's door, to 
make the general outcry more hideous." According to the same authority, 
as well a.~ that of the Sa.'ton Chronicle, this battle was fought on the 21st of 
March, 867. 

The kingdom of Northumbrio. was thus conquered by the Danes, after it 
had been in the possession of the Saxons for 820 years. Hinguar now ap­
pointOO his brother Hubba, Governor of York, and gave him also the command 
of the newly-won kingdom. A deputy Governor, named Godram, with a 
garrison under his command, was left in the city, whilst the two brothers 

• LingnrJ•s Rilst. of England, vol. i. p. 155. Frp. 8vo. 
0 
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pushed their conquests southwards. In 870, Hingua.r and Hubba returned 
to York, and constituted Egbert, a Saxon, devoted to their cause, King of 
Northumbria. He was, however, soon deposed, and Ringsidge, a Dane, was 
proclaimed King. The populace of York, being much enraged at this, mur­
dered the Dane, and restored Egbert. His second reign was of short duration, 
for the Danes, increasing in power, divided the kingdom of Northumbria 
amongst three of their own officers. Sithric, a Dane, and Nigel his brother, 
reigned beyond the Tyne in the year 877; and Reginald, also a Dane, 
governed the city of York, and all the country between the rivers Tyne and 
Humber, at the same period. The success of the Danes in Northumbria, as 
well as in the south, compelled the Anglo-Saxon Kings and Princes to con­
federate for mutual defence, and by the skill and wisdom of Alfred the Great, 
King of Wessex, the invaders were subdued in 880, after that renowned 
monarch had emerged from his retreat in a swineherd's cottage. To prevent 
the rapine and disorders which formerly prevailed in the realm, Alfred divi­
ded part of the kingdom into Counties, Hundreds, and Tithings, caused the 
inhabitants of each district to be made responsible for the damage committed 
by lawless mobs, established trial by jury, and composed a body of laws on 
which the glorious superstructure of English liberty was finally erected. He 
was not less generous than brave, and by acts of kindness, sought to convert 
the Danes from deadly enemies to faithful subjects. Alfred may be con· 
sidered as the first King of the Anglo-Saxons; but to Athelstan, as we shall 
see, belongs the credit of being the founder of the English monarchy, for 
after the battle of Brunanburh he had no competitor. 

The restless spirit of the Danes not brooking restraint, they re-commenced 
hostilities, but after plundering Mercia, in 910, they were again defeated, in 
a desperate battle in the north, by Edward the Elder, son and successor of the 
Great Alfred, when two of their Kings, Halfdan and Eowils, brothers of 
Hinguar, and several thousands of their soldiers were slain. At this period, 
Edward, with the Mercians and West Saxons, ravaged the principal part of 
Northumbria for nearly five weeks. 

This decisive victory established the superiority of the Anglo-Saxon 
monarch over the ruthless Dane. Athelstan, the successor of Edward, com· 
pelled Sithric and Nigel to submit to his victorious arms; but upon doing 
homage, they were allowed to keep their possessions. In 926, Sithric ob· 
tained the daughter of Athelstan in marriage, on condition that he would 
turn Christian; but dying the · first year of his marriage, his sons, Godfrid 
and Anlaff, whom he had by a former wife, stirred up a rebellion among the 
Northumbrian Danes. This drew upon them the indignation of Athelstan, 

I 
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who attacked and reduced the whole of Northumbria, except the castle of 
York, which was very strong and well garrisoned. One of the Danish 
Princes now fled to Scotland, and the other to Ireland, whence they returned 
in three years afterwards (in 937) with a great body of Norwegians, Danes, 
Irish, Scotch, and Welsh soldiers. Anlaff entered the Humber with a fleet 
of 615 sail, landed his forces, and marched to York before the King had any 
intelligence of it, and were soon joined by the confederated Scotch and 
British Princes. Athelstan, who not content with his own forces, had pur­
chased the aid of several Sea.-Kings, was soon approaching the north. As he 
passed through Beverley, he visited the church, offered his dagger on the 
altar, and vowed to redeem it, if he returned victorious, at a price worthy of 
a King. In a few days afterwards the famous battle of Bromford, or Bru­
nanburh, in Northumbria, was fought, in which Athelstan gained a completf> 
rictory, the army of the Princes being entir~ly destroyed. 

This engagement, which is celebrated in the relics of Saxon and Scandina­
nan poetry, lasted from morning till sunset. A contemporary writer tells-us 
that in the English army waved a hundred banners, and round each banner 
were ranged a thousand warriors. "Never," says the native poet, "since 
the arrival of the Saxons and Angles, those artists in war, was such a carnage 
known in England." Constantine, the King of Scotland, saved himself by a 
precipitate Bight, after his son and most of his men had been slaughtered ; 
and amongst the slain were 6 petty Kings of Ireland and Wales, and 12 
general officers. To prevent future rebellion, Athelstan proceeded to York, 
and rased the castle, which was the principal bulwark of the Danish power, 
to the ground. The conqueror, in his return from the battle, redeemed his 
dagger from the church of Beverley, with a grant of ample and valuable 
privileges. This decisive victory confirmed the ascendency of Athelstan; the 
British Princes no longer disputed his authority, and his power became pre­
dominant in Britain. To him, therefore, belongs the glory of having 
established what has ever since been called the kingdom of England; and 
he, himself, undoubtedly, was the first monarch of England. His prede­
cesaors, till the reign of Alfred the Great, had been styled the Kings of 
Weseex. Alfred and his son Edward assumed the title of Kings of the 
Ang~Saxons; and Athelstan sometimes called himself King of the English, 
but at other times he claimed the more pompous designation of King of All 
Britain. But in the course of a century the latter title fell into disuse, and 
the former has been retained to the present age. 

Athelstan died, much regretted by his subjects and the surrounding nations, 
on the 27th of October, 941, aud was buried in the Abbey of Malmsbury, 
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where he had deposited the remains of Elf,vin and Etbelwin, who fell at 
Bromford. This monarch, dying without heirs, was succeede<l on the throne 
of England by Edmund, eldest son of Edward, the predecessor of Athelstnn, 
then about 17 years of age. The turbulent spirit of the Northumbrians, 
which Athelstnn had kept under some restraint, soon broke out after his 
death. Anlaff, who had fled to Ireland, was imited to hazard a third time 
the fortune of war; and having, by the promise of a large sum of money, 
obtained a considerable force from Olaus, King of Norway, the Humber, in a 
few weeks, was covered by a numerous fleet of foreign adventurers. The 
operations of the campaign are involved in much obscurity, but in .a short 
time the whole of Nort.humb1ia submitted to his anns. 

In 942 Anlaff attacked the kingdom of Mercia, but Edmund gave him 
battle near Chester, and neither side being able to claim the victory, a peac~ 
was concluded through the mediation of Odo and Wulstnn, tl1e Archbishops 
of Canterbury and York. By this treaty Edmund gave up all the country 
north of the Roman highway, Watling Street, which divides England into 
two parts. The kingdom of N orthumbria is once more about to be divided. 
The people, during the absence of Anlaff, sent for his nephew Reginald, and 
crowned him King at York. Anlaff prepared for resistance; but tluough the 
intcncntion of Edmund, who was backed by a powerful anny, it was agreed 
that Auluff should retain the crown of Deira, whilst Reginald swayed the 
sceptre of Bernicia.~' It was also stipulated that the two Kings should swear 
fealty to Edmund, and embrace the Christian religion; and the ceremony of 
their b:tJ~tism was performed in the Cathedral by Archbishop Wulstan. 

In 944 hostilities recommenced-Edmund again successfully opposed them, 
and obliged the two kings to qnit the island. Edmund died sole monarch of 
England in !l-16, and Lis sons being in infancy, he was succeeded by his 
brother Edred, whose reign was princilutlly distinguished by the final subju­
gation of Korthumbria. He proceeded to that country, and received from 
the natives tlw usual oaths of fidelity; but the obedience of the N ortbum­
brians lasted only as long as they were ovcmwed by his presence. He was 
no sooner departed, than they expelled his officers, and set his authority at 
defiance. Aulaff wns again invited to retum to York, he obeyed tl1e invita­
tion, and obtuiued possession of the whole of Northumb1ia, which he retained 

• Dr. Lingard snys, t.hnt Anlnff died the next year after he concln<letl the trenty '1\ith 
Edmund, and th11t it was nft<'r hi;; •lt>nlh that North umbria was again didded. He states 
that after the kingdoms were dhi•lt'd, the two kings wen' Anlnll' and R<':;i.naJ.l, but he 
does not tell us who t!Hy were, but he distinctly states that Anlnff was the second of 
I hilt name in Northumbria. Lingard's Eng., vol. i., p. 200. 1-'<'J>. Rvo. 
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fOr four years. In 050 another revolt took place, in rwhich Anlaff was 
deposed; and Eric, who had been driYen from Norway by his brother Haco, 
the king of that country, and who had wandered for years a pirate on the 
ocean, and landed on the northern coast, was saluted King, and called to the 
throne in his stead. 

Now followed a civil war between the factions of Eric and Aulaff; and 
when all was in confusion, Edred, at the head of an army, marched to the 
north, subdued the contending parties, severely punished the perfidy of the 
rebels, obliged Eric to flee into Scotland, threatened to destroy the whole 
country with fire and sword, and even commenced the execution of his threat 
by burning the monastery of Ripon. He, however, soon relented, pardoned 
the offending people, and replaced Eric on the throne of Northumbria. 

Wben Edred left York, the Danes pursued him, and furiously attacked his 
forces on the banks of the river Aire (at Castleford), but were repulsed. 
Edred returned to York to chastise the people for rebellion, upon which the 
inhabitants, to save themselves from his just indignation, renounced Eric, 
and put him to death, and they also slew Amac, the son of Anlaff; these 
Princes having been the chief instigators of their treachery. Edred spared 
the cit.v, but dissolved their monarchial government, and reduced the kingdom 
of Xorthumbria to an Earldom, of which York was constituted the capital, 
and Osulf, or Osluff, an Anglo-Saxon, or Englishman, became the first Earl. 
This final subjugation of the great northern kingdom took place in 051. The 
chief residence of the Earls or Viceroys, like the ancient Kings of Northum­
bria, was at York. In this reign the north of England, like the rest of the 
kingdom, was divided into shires, tidings, and wapentakes, and a number of 
officers appointed for their superintendence. Edgar, who succeeded Edred 
on the throne of England, appointed Oslac to join Osulf in the government 
of the north, but the authority of these two officers was subsequently united 
in the person of W altheof, the second Earl. 

During the reign of Ethelrcd, the Danes became so turbulent, that he 
attempted to destroy their power by secretly ordeting them to be massacred 
on St. Brice's day, the 13th of .No,·ember, 1012. The slaughter on tltat fatal 
day was great in the southern part of England, but in the north they were 
too numerously intermingled with the Saxons to be sentenced to assassination. 
Among the thousands who fell was the Lady Gunhilda, sister to the King of 
Denmark, who had been sent as hostagc, on condition of peace, together with 
her husband, Palig. This detestaLle act, which will cover the name of 
Ethclred with eternal infamy, so inflamed the Danes with indignation, that 
in a short time the Saxons became the sport of a revengeful enemy. To 
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revenge the wrongs of his countrymen, Swayne, King of Denmark, undertook 
the conquest of England. In 1013 he entered the Humber with a large 
fleet, and having destroyed the country on both sides of the river, he pro­
ceeded to York, and encamped on the banks of the Ouse. Ethelred, with 
an army augmented by a number of Scots, gave him battle, but the English 
monarch was defeated, and seizing a boat, fled to the Isle of Wight, and 
thence to Normandy, leaving his crown and kingdom to the conqueror. 

Sweyne died at Gainsborough in 1014, and his son Canute was proclaimed 
King, but being obliged to return to Denmark, the English in his absence 
recalled their exiled monarch, who ruled by force of arms over the southern 
parts of the island till his death in 1016. Canute died in this country, King 
of England, Denmark, a.ild Norway, in. 1035, and was succeeded in his 
British dominions by Harold, his second son, surnamed Harefoot. This 
monarch was succeeded by Hardicanute, a licentious tyrant, who died two 
years after his accession, at the nuptials of a Danish lord, at Lambeth. The 
next Danish claimant to the British crown was named Sweyne, but Edward 
the Confessor, though not the hereditary descendant, was raised to the throne 
by the voice of the people.* 

History is almost silent concerning the first seven Earls of Northumbria­
Osulf, Waltheof, Uthred, Hircus, Eadulf, Aldred, and Eadulf II.; but the 
last three--Siward, Tosti, Tosto, or Tostig, brother to Harold, and Morcar, 
make a conspicuous figure in the annals of the country. Siward, the 8th 
Earl, was a man of extraordinary strength and valour. He was appointed 
by Edward the Confessor to lead an army of 10,000 men into Scotland, to 
aid Malcolm against the usurper Macbeth, whom he slew, and set the former 
on the throne of Scotland.t 

When this brave old warrior was on his death-bed at York, in 1055, and 
reduced to the last extremity by disease, he exclaimed, "Oh! what a shame 
it is for me, who have escaped death in so many dangerous battles, to die like 
n beast at last. Put me on my impenetrable coat of mail," added be, "gird 
on my sword, place on my helmet, give me my shield in my right hand, and 
my golden battle-axe in my left; thus as a valiant soldier I have lived, even 
so will I die." It is recorded that his friends obeyed this injunction, which 
was no sooner done than he expired. He died in 1055, and his body was 

• The surname of "the Confessor" was given to this monarch from the bull of his 
canonization, iaaued by Pope Alexander III, about a century after his decease. 

t "Gracioua England bath lent ua good Siward, and ten thousand men. 
An older _&Dd a better aoldier, none that Chriatendom givea out." 

Shakspeare's Macbeth, Act iv. Sc. II. 
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buried in the church of St. Olave, at York. Tosti, second son of Earl God. 
win, minister of state, succeeded Siward in the Earldom of Northumbria, but 
his rule was so cruel and tyrannical, that, in 1065, as we read in the Saxon 
Chronicle, the Thanes and people revolted, and furiously attacking his house, 
he very narrowly escaped, with his family, and fled into Flanders. The 
Sorthumbrians seized his treasures, and appointed Morcar to be their EarL 
Harold, brother of Tosti, being appointed by the King to vindicate the royal 
authority, and quell the insurrection, began his march, while Morcar, at the 
head of the N ortbumbrians, advanced southward. The two armies met at 
Xorthampton, but happily an arrangement was effected without bloodshed. 
Harold on being convinced of his brother's misconduct, abandoned his cause, 
and interceded with the King in favour of the insurgents. The Confessor 
confirmed Morcar in his Earldom; and Harold afterwards married Morcar"s 
sister, and obtained from the King the government of Mercia for Morcar's 
brother, Edwin. 

King Edward died on the 5th of January, 1066, and was buried on the 
following day in the abbey church of Westminster, which he had founded. 
During his reign the most approved Danish laws were incorporated with the 
customs, maxims, and rules of the Britons, the West Saxons, and the 
Mercians. This code became common throughout England, and were the 
laws so fondly cherished by our ancestors in succeeding ages, and so often 
promised to be adhered to by princes, as the surest means of securing their 
po]lularity, 

The Malmsbury historian, speaking of the English at this remarkable 
period, says, " They wore clothes that did not reach beyond the middle of 
the knee, their heads were shorn, and their beards were shaven, only the 
upper lip was always let grow to its full length. Their arms were loaded 
with golden bracelets, and their skins dyed with painted marks." 

The abov~mentioned Harold was proclaimed King by an assembly of the 
Thanes and citizens of London, on the death of Edward, and the day of the 
Confessor's funeral witnessed the coronation of the new monarch. The 
ceremony of the coronation was performed by Aldred, Archbishop of York, 
Stigand, the Archbishop of Canterbury, being then suspended. The southern 
counties cheerfully acquiesced in the succeBSion of Harold, but the Nortbum­
brians in their pride refused to be bound by the act of those, whose military 
qualities they deemed inferior to their own. Harold, accompanied by Wul· 
stan, Bishop of Worcester, hastened to the north, and soon won the affection 
of the Northumbrians. The news of Edward's death, and Harold's acces­
sion, no sooner reached William, Duke of Normandy, nephew to the deceased 
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monarch, than he assembled his council, and expressed to them his deter-
. ruination to pursue by arms his pretensions to the crown of England. Tosti 
(Harold's brother), the outlawed and exiled Earl of :Northumberland, en· 
couraged by the Duke of l\ormandy,* and his father-in-law, Baldwin, Earl of 
Flanders, now attempted to dethrone him. \Vith 40 ships, well manne.d, 
supplied by the latter nobleman, he made a descent upon Yorkshire, entered 
the Humber, and committed the most horrible ravages on its banks . 

. Morcar, Earl of Nmthumbria, with his brother Edwin, Earl of Chester, 
marched expeditiously against the invader, and pursued him into Lincoln· 
shire, where they defeated him, and compelled him to flee to his ships. He 
then sailed to Scotland, and after vainly endeavouring to excite the King of 
that country to join him in the invasion of England, his vindictive spirit 
impelled him to apply for assistance to Harrald (surnamed IIardrada, or the 
Stern), King of Norway, with whom he was more successful. That great 
warrior immediately equipped, for the invasion of England, the most mighty 
armament thllt ever left the coast of Norway. It consisted of 200 sail, be· 
sides store ships and vessels of smaller size, to the number of 500 in ull. 
Harrald touched at the Orkneys, where he was joined by Tosti and a large 
reinforcement of adventurers. Ha,;ng burnt and plw1dered the town of 
Scarborough, and received the submission of the people of the coast of York· 
shire, from the Tees to the Humber, the Konvegians entered the latter river 
for the purpose of obtaining possession of York. They landed at the village 
of Riccnll, ten miles from York, and after ravaging the country in the most 
cruel manner, they commenced their march to the latter place. A desperate 
attempt to save the city was made near the village of Fulford, by the Earls 
Edwin and l\Iorcar. The Norwegians were drawn up v.;th their right flank 
to the river, and their left to a morass. The impetuosity of the English 
burst through the line; but they, in their turn, were overwhelnled by a. 
fresh· body of forces from the ships ; and more of the fugitives perished in 
the water than bad fallen by the sword. Edwin and Morcar escaped to 
York, whither Tosti and his forces followed, and the city was taken by 
storm. Harold, the English King, who had been preparing to meet the 
threatened attack of Willilllll the Norman, having heard of the unexpected 
invasion of Hardrada, lost not a moment in marching against the aggressor, 
and within four days after the late battle, he, at the bead of a powerful army, 
was in the neighbourhood of York. 

On the ll3rd of September, 1066, he arrived v.;th his forces at Tadcaster, 

• Daniel, Hist. de Frnnc!', \"Ol. iii. p. 00. 
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and the following day he marched towards York. At the King's approach 
Ute invaders withdrew from York, taking with them 500 of the principal 
inhabitants as hostages, and leaving 150 of their men to prevent the English 
from taking peaceable possession of the city; they moved about eight miles 
from York, to Stamford Bridge (long afterwards known as" the Bridge of 
Battle'), where they secured a very strong position with the main body of 
their army, on ground gently rising from the river Derwent-the river 
Bowing in front, and a narrow wooden bridge forming the means of commu­
nication between the opposite sides. The river here runs nearly south, and 
is about eight Iniles distant from its junction with the Ouse. The position 
of the invaders had several advantages ; it was easily defended, commanded 
a view of the country for some distance around, and it afforded a communi­
cation with the fleet, then lying in the Ouse. 

" The order of the battle displayed considerable knowledge of the military 
art; with both wings bent backward until they met, the army formed a close 
rather irregular circle, everywhere of equal depth, with shield touching shield, 
so as to form a rampart of bucklers. The royal standard, called very appro· 
priately, • The Land Ravager,' was planted in the centre, and by it the King 
and his chosen companions had generally their station. This arrangement 
was adopted as the best means of defence against the superior strength of 
the English in cavalry. The first, or outer line, presented to the enemy a 
complete circle of spears, which were held obliquely, at a considerable eleva­
tion, their ends resting on the ground ; this position required the soldiers to 
bend one knee ; the second line stood erect, holding their lances in readiness 
to pierce the breasts of the horses, should they attempt to break through. 
The archers were placed so as to assist them in repelling these attacks. 
The Norwegian King, mounted on a black charger, with a white star in its 
forehead, rode round the circle, encouraging his men, and was rendered con­
spicuous by his dazzling helmet, and the sky blue mantle he wore above his 
coat of mail."* The English King having pursued the invaders, resolv~ 
to attack them, notwithstanding all the advantages of their position. 

On the 25th of September, at day-break, be commenced hostilities, and the 
battle raged with increasing fury until three o'clock in the afternoon. The 
armies were nearly equal in numbers, each consisting of about 60,000 men, 
most of them chosen warriors, full of the most savage bravery, and distin· 
guiahed for their strength and courage. Harold, in his first attempt to force 
the passage of the river, appears to have routed a detatchment on the western 

• Battle Fields of Yorkshire. 
p 
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side, which was placed there to guard the bridge. Whilst the English were 
pursuing the fugitives, and attempting to cross the river, historians tell us, 
that a single ~orwegian, of gigantic strength and power, placed himself upon 
the bridge, and there by his extraordinary valour opposed the whole English 
army for three hours, killing with his own hand forty of Harold's soldiers. 
Mter having scornfully refused an invitation to surrender, with an assurance 
of the amplest clemency from the English, we are told that a Saxon boatman 
rowed himself under the bridge, and thrusting his spear up through the 
woodwork, pierced the Norwegian terribly inwards, under his coat of mail.* 
The English then rushed on with resistless impetuosity, and the conflict that 
ensued was dreadful. No quarter on either side was allowed by this im· 
mense multitude in arms, so that it is with good reason said that this action 
is one of the most bloody that is recorded in the annals of England; and it 
is stated that after tl1e lapse of fifty years the spot was still whitened with 
the bones of the slain. For a long time the issue of the contest appeared 
doubtful. The attack of the English was furious, and it was met with equal 
spirit by the Norwegians. At length the generalship of Harold proved 
superior in the field to the Norwegian chief. "He ordered his horsemen to 
retreat, in order to draw the enemy from their position and break their 
ranks ; the stratagem had the desired effect ; the Norwegians quitted their 
position ; the English horsemen returned to the charge, and obtained a 
speedy victory over their now disordered and half armed enemies ; for they 
had thrown aside their shields and breastplates to join in the pursuit. The 
King of Norway was pierced in the neck with an arrow, and instantly 
expired. Tosti was also slain, and the greater part of the army, with all 
tl1e chiefs, perished, fighting like madmen. "t The English pursued the 
remains of the routed army in their disordered flight towards their ships, 
"and from behind hotly smote them." Many were pushed into the rivers 
and drowned; and others reached their vessels, some o( which were boarded 
and burned, and tl1e whole fleet was seized by the victors. Olaf, son of 
Hardrnda, and Paul, Earl of Orkney, who had been left in command of the 
fleet, were taken prisoners ; and here the magnanimity of the English King 

• It must confessed, that the exploits of this hugt~ and ,·aliant warrior has more the 
appearance of romance than of sober history, thongh it is recorded by n1l who have 
written an account of this battle. Drake tells us, that the inhabitants of Stamford 
Bridge "ha\·e a custom, at an annuol feast, to make pies in the form of a swill, or swine 
tub, which tradition says WIL~ made usc of by the man, who struck the Norwegian on the 
bridge instead of a boat;" and Profes~or Phillips, speaking of this champion of the bridge, 
says, "an nnnuol boat-like cake ill the village monument to his fortunate enemy." 

t Battle Fieh111 of Yorkshire. 
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shines conspicuously, for after receiving back the citizens of York, who had 
been detained as hostages on board the Norwegian ships, be permitted all 
who had survived the slaughter, to depart to their own country, in a part of 
their shattered fleet, having first obliged them to swear never to disturb the 
British dominions again. But 20 ships were sufficient to carry back the 
miserable remains of an army, which it took more than 500 to convey hither. 
Camden tells us, that the spoil taken by the victors was immense ; and that 
the gold alone, which the Norwegians left behind them, was as much as 
twelve men could carry on their shoulders. It is stated that Harold disgusted 
his army, by refusing to distribute among them any portion of this spoil. 
But Harold's triumph was of short duration; for after his return to York, 
&nd whilst he was seated at a royal· banquet, surrounded by his nobles, cele­
brating his great victory, a messenger entered the hall, and announced 
the arrival and descent of the Duke of Normandy and an immense army, at 
Pevensey, in Sussex, He immediately commenced his march southward, 
and encountered the enemy at Hastings, where, in bloody strife, he lost 
his crown and life, in that, his last and most desperate battle. 

Notmaa •ntolJ. 
Some historians assert that Edward, surnamed the Confessor, named, with 

his dying breath, William, Duke of Normandy, his nephew, as his successor. 
At the time of that King's death, a report had been circulated, that on 
his death bed he had appointed Harold to succeed him ; and the latter 
was called to the throne by the voice of the people. However this point 
may be settled, we have the fact that William of Normandy claimed the 
English crown, fought for, and obtained it. He employed eight months 
in the most active preparations for the invasion, and by the beginning of 
August he found himself at the head of 50,000 cavalry, besides a smaller 
body of infantry. To furnish transports for this numerous army, every vessel 
in Normandy had been put in requisition. But the supply was still inade­
quate, and many individuals sought the favour of their Prince, by "building 
ships at their own expense, in the different harbours and creeks. The 
Normans landed 'vithout opposition, at Pevensey, on the 29th of September, 
1066 ; marched immediately to Hastings, and threw up fortifications at both 
places, to protect their ships, and secure a retreat in case of disaster. In the 
beginning of October Harold was feasting and rejoicing at York; and on the 
13th of the same month he had reached the camp of the Normans. The 
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spot which he selected for this important and sanguinary contest was called 
Senlac, now Battle, eight miles north-west of Hastings, an eminence opening 
to the south, and covered on the back by an extensive wood. He posted his 
troops on the declivity, in one compact and immense mass. In the centre 
waved the royal standard ; by its side stood Harold, and his two brothers 
Gurth and Leofwin; and around them the whole army, every man on foot. 
On the opposite hill William marshalled his host. In the front he placed 
the archers and bowmen ; the second line was composed of heavy infantry 
in coats of mail ; and behind these, arranged in five divisions, the pride of 
the Norman force, the knights and men-at-arms. Both men and horses were 
completely cased in armour, which gave to their charge an irresistible weight, 
and rendered them almost invulnerable to ordinary weapons. William, we 
are told by an old writer, "out of a pious care for the interests of Christen­
dom, and to prevent the effusion of Christian blood, sent out a monk, as 
mediator between both, who proposed these terms to Harold,~ther to 
resign the government, or to own it a tenure in fee from the Norman, or to 
decide the matter in single combat with William; but he," continues our 
authority, "like one who bad lost the government over himself, rejected all 
propositions, and foolishly flattering himself with success, because it was his 
birthday, promised to give them battle." Camden observes that the night 
before the battle was spent by the English in revels, feasting, and shouting; 
but by the Normans in prayers for the safety of their army, and for 
victory. 

Next morning at break of day, the Normans, after a regular shout, sounded 
to battle, and both armies drew up. When they were ready to engage, the 
Normans raised the national war cry of "God is our help," which was as 
loudly answered by the adverse cry of "Christ's rood, the holy rood." The 
Normans charged first with a volley of arrows from all parts, and that being 
a sort of attack to which the English were strangers, proved exceedingly 
terrible. William then ordered the cavalry to charge, but the English, who 
resolved to die rather than attempt a retreat, kept their ranks, and repulsed 
them with great loss. The English in every point opposed a solid and 
impenetrable mass, and neither the buckler nor corslet of the Normans could 
withstand the stroke of the battle axe, wielded by a powerful arm and with 
unerring aim. After a pause the left wing of the Norman army betook them­
selves to flight, closely pursued by their opponents, and a report having now 
spread that William himself had fallen, the whole army began to waver. 
The Duke, with his helmet in his hand, rode along the line exclaiming, 1' I 
am still alive, and with the help of God I still shall conquer." The presence 
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and confidence of their commander revived the hopes of the Normans. 
William led his troops again to the attack; but the English column resisted 
every assault, aud maintained their ground with so much bravery, that the 
Normans were most miserably harassed, and were upon the point of re­
Ueating, bad not their leader used the most extraordinary means to inspire 
them with courage and confidence. Harold, on his part, used every possible 
exertion, and was distinguished as the most active and brave amongst the 
eoldiers in the host. His brothers had already perished, but as long as he 
sunived, no man entertained the apprehension of defeat, or admitted the idea 
of Oight. The battle continued for several hours with great fury, the English 
resisting the almost overwelming charges of the Norman cavalry. At length, 
William, disappointed and perplexed, bad recourse to stratagem. He or· 
dered him men to retreat and to give ground; but still to keep their ranks. 
The English taking this for Bight, thought the day was certainly their own, 
whereupon they broke their ranks, and, not doubting their victory, pursued 
the enemy in great disorder. But the Normans rallying their troops on a 
BOdden, renewed the battle, and enclosing the English in that disorder, killed 
great numbers, while they stood doubtful whether they should run or fight. 
At last, Harold was shot through the head with an arrow, and fell from his 
steed in agony, and was bome to the foot of the standard, where he breathed 
his .lasL The knowledge of his fall relaxed the efforts of the English. 
Twenty Normans undertook to seize the royal banner, and effected their 
purpose, but with the loBS of half their number. One of them, who maimed 
-with his sword the dead body of the King, was afterwards disgraced by 
William for his brutality. 

It was now dusk in the evening, the English became dispirited, and having 
lost their King, fled to save their lives, after having fought without inter· 
mission from seven o'clock in the morning. During the engagement William 
exhibited many proofs of the most determined courage ; he had three horses 
killed under h~, and he had been compelled to grapple on foot with his 
adversaries. Harold's mother begged as a boon the dead body of her son, 
and offered as a ransom its weight in gold, but William's resentment having 
rendered him callous to pity, he refused, and ordered the corpse of the fallen 
monarch to be buried on the beach; adding, with a sneer, "he guarded the 
eo&st while he was alive; let him continue to guard it after death." 

There is an old English tradition that Harold did not fall in this battle, 
but had retired to a hermitage, where he spent the remainder of his days ; 
but the historical account is, that by stealth, or by purchaRe, his remains 

• were removed from the beach, and interred at Waltham Abbey, which he, 
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himself, had founded before he ascended the throne. It is said that a plain 
stone was laid on his tomb in the Abbey, with the expressive epitaph, 
" Harold Infelix." It is said that on the eveu.ing of the battle William 
caused his pavilion to be pitched among the heaps of slain, and there, with 
his barons, he supped and feasted among the dead. 

Thus ended the memorable and fatal battle, which is commonly called the 
Battle of Hastings; and this day (14th October, 10li6) ended the Anglo-Saxon 
monarchy, which had continued more than 600 years; and gave our island 
to the dominion of the Norman race. On the field of victory the conqueror 
erected and endowed a splendid monastery, the remains of which still re­
tain the name of Batd8 Abbey. It is said that the high altar stood on the 
very spot where the standard of Harold had been planted. The exterior walls 
embmced the whole of the hill which had been the centre of the battle, and 
all the surrounding country became the property of the Abbey. The com­
munity of this monastery were bound by its rule to offer prayer perpetually 
for the eternal rest of the iouls who had fallen in the conflict; and the Abbey 
itself was at once the monument of the Norman Duke's triumph, and the 
token of his piety. Palgrave very happily concludes his description of this 
noble and richly-endowed Abbey thus: "But all this pomp and solemnity has 
passed away like a dream. The 'perpetual prayer' has ceased for ever,-the 
roll of Battle is rent,-the shields of the Norman lieges are trodden in the 
dust,-the Abbey is levelled to the ground,-and a dark and reedy pool fills 
the spot where the foundations of the quire have been uncovered, merely for 
the gaze of the idle visitor, or the instruction of the moping antiquary." 
The foundation of this Abbey was soon followed by that of the town, which 
was afterwards called Battle or Battel. 

"\Vhethcr we consider the Norman Conquest in its success, or in its con­
sequences," \\Tites 1\Ir. Oliver, "it is still an event equally stupendous and 
unprecedented. It was effected almost without a struggle. Never were such 
important results accomplished with so little sacrifice on the part of the 
conquerors. The rash attempt made by a provincial Duke to reduce this 
powerful island, would in any other age have been deemed preposterous, and 
its success contrary to all the chancos of political calculation. William, 
himself, could scarcely anticipate, or even hope for that perfect good fortune 
with which it was accompanied. The native inhabitants appear to bal"e been 
completely paralysed by the unexpected result of the battle of Hastings; which 
feeling, the superior genius of William well knew how to convert to his own 
advantage, that even the sacrifice of their liberties, their prope1ty, and innu­
merable lives was insufficient to rouse them to any effective resistance against. 
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the tyranny which trampled them underfoot, and reduced their ancient 
nobility to a state of servile thraldom."* 

William, who had hitherto been called "the Bastard," and was now sur­
named " the Conqueror," was crowned in Westminster Abbey, on the 25th of 
December next following the battle of Hastings, by Aldred, Archbishop of 
York; Stigand, of Canterbury, being suspended from the Archiepiscopal office. 
Having thus established himself on the throne of England, William on his 
part, to confirm his authority, adopted the most bold and active measures. 
He expelled the English from their estates, and reserving to himself about 
1,400 manors, he distributed the fair territory of Britain amongst his rapacious 
followers.t This numerous train of military adventurers, who had accom­
panied him from Normandy under the promise of reward, held their new 
possessions of the King on the tenure of homage, and fealty, and military 
service; by which they were bound to attend him in the field with a certain 
number of retainers, armed, mounted, and provided for a specified number 
of days in every year. The &11 of Battle Abbey given by Hollinshed, con­
tains ~e names of 629 Normans, who became claimants upon the soil of 
England, whilst the ancient nobility were stripped of their titles and property, 
and the humble classes of the inhabitants were reduced to the condition of 
miserable slaves.t 

Thus all the principal manors in the kingdom, except those which the 
King had reserved to himself, were held of him by tenants in capiUI, or in 
other words, by his Barons; and these, consisting of about 700 persons, were 
the legitimate Parliament, or Council of the realm. The lands thus acquired 
aod maintained, the Barons again subdivided into Knight's fees, and let them 

• History of Beverley, p. 69. t West's Enquiry, p. 24. 

f The grants of the landed property in England, made by the Conqueror to some of 
his nobles, were excessive. To Geoffrey, Dishop of Constance, he gave 260 manors; to 
William Warrenne, 298; to Richard de Clare, 171; to Rannlph de Dsynard, 8:>; and to 
~ de Bresli, l'D manon. His uterine brother, Odo, Bishop of Bayenx, and Earl of 
Kent, poSSil88ed in that oounty, and in several othen, 430 manors. Robert, Earl of 
lJODLague. on whom he bestowed the Earldom of Cornwall, had in that and other coun. 
ties, 9i!J manors; and Alan Fergant, Earl of Dretagne, had 442 manors. The manor of 
Richmond, in Yorkshire, had 1:>6 lordships; besides which, the Earl possessed, by the 
gift of the King, 276 manors in other parts of the kingdom. The King himself pos. 
-.1 no fewer than 1432 manon in different parts of the kingdom. A MaMr was 
IOJ'DonimOus in the Janiuage of the Normans with Villa in Latin. It denoted an ex. 
ten.si\·o parcel of land, witli a house on it for the accomodation of the lord, and cottages 
for his \'11leins and slaves. He generally kept a part in his own 'hands, and bestowed 
the remainder on two or more tenant&, who held of him by military service, or rent, or 
'Aller preetatioos. 
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to tenants on a similar tenure. The Conqueror laid aside the greater part 
of the English laws, and introduced the Norman customs, and even ordered 
all causes to be pleaded in French; and we are told by Ingulphus, who lived 
at that time, that he " obliged all the inhabitants of England to do homage, 
and swear fealty to him and his succeesors. ·• 

He made a seal also, on the side of which was engraven, Hoc Normanto· 
rum Gulielmum 110sce patronum, by this the Normans own great William 
DuM; and on the other side Hoc Anglil ligno &gem fatearil rundum, by this 
too, England owns the same their King. He erected numerous fortresses to 
overawe the insulted and oppreesed inhabitants, and conscious of the detesta­
tion in which he was cleservedly held, he entertained a perpetual jealousy of 
the English, and in the resistless apprehensions of his guilty mind, he com· 
pelled them to rake out their fires, and extinguish their lights at eight o'clock 
every night, and they were reminded of this duty by the toll of the Ouif6UJ. 

The northern counties were slow to submit to the Norman yoke, which, 
however, at last fell on them with terrible weight. A violent struggle was 
made for some years to expel the invaders, and York was the rallying point 
for the patriot army. "By the splendour of God," (his usual oath) said 
William, when the men of York rose and massacred his Norman garrison, "I 
will utterly root out these Northumbrian people, nor will I lay lance in rest 
for other cause, until I have done the deed." The gage was redeemed. St. 
Cuthbert, whose awe had caused meaner invaders to stand aloof, himself 
quailed before the withering glance of the Conqueror. The power of dark· 
ness for a time prevailed. William, as we shall see, marched from the Ouse 
to the Tyne, leaving behind him villages destroyed and without inhabitants, 
and scattering the mangled members of the people upon every highway. 
Slaughter gave place to famine, and famine to pestilence, under the stern 
severity of the Norman tyrant. 

Having silenced the disaffected, and constrained the country to a state of 
sullen quietude, he caused a survey to be taken of all the lands in England, 
the four northern counties excepted, on the model of the Book of Winchester, 
compiled by order of Alfred the Great. This survey was registered in a 
national record called Dom Boc, Doomlday or Domuday Book, or judgment, 
alluding by metaphor to those books out of which the world shall be judged 
at the last day. It was to serve as a register of the possessions of every 
English freeman, to ascertain what quality of military service was owed by 
the king's chief tenants ; to affix the homage due to him, and to record by 
what tenure the various esstates in Britain were held. This survey was 
undertaken by the advice and consent of a great council of the kingdom, 
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which met immediately after the false rumour of the Danes' intended attack 
upon England, in the year 1085, as it is stated in the Saxon Chronicle, and 
it did not occupy long in the execution, since all the historians who speak of 
it vary but from the year 1083 until 1087. 'fhere is a memorandum lit the 
end of the second volume, stating that it was finished in 1086. The manner 
of performing the sun-ey was expeditious: certain commissioners, called the 
King"s Justices, were appointed to travel throughout England, and to register 
upou the oath of the Sheriffs, the Lords of -each manor, the priests of every 
chllJ'Ch, the stewards of every hundred, the bailiffs and six villeins or hus­
bandmen of every vi.llage, the names of the various places, the holders of 
them in the time of King Edward the Confessor, 40 years previous ; the 
names of the possessors, the quantity of land, the nature of the tenures, and 
the several kinds of property contained in them. All the estates were to be 
then triply rated; namely, as they stood in the reign of the Confessor ; as 
they were first bestowed by King William I.; and as they were at the time 
of the survey. The manuscript itself consists of two volumes, a greater and 
a lees. The first of these is a large folio, containing the description of 31 
counties, upon 382 double pages of Yellum, numbered on one side only, and 
written in a small but plain character, each page having a double column. 
Some of the capital letters and principal passages are touched with red ink, 
and others have red lines run through them, as if they were intended to be 
obliterated. The smaller Yolume is of a 4to size, and is written upon 450 
double pages of vellum, but in a single column, and in a very large aml fair 
character: it contains three counties, and a part of two others.* Through 
all ages this " Book of Judicial verdict " will be held in estimation, not only 
for ita antiquity, but also for its intrinsic value. To the present day it sen-es 
to show what manor is, and what is not ancient demesne. 

The Normans were remarkable for their courage and yaJour: though 
seated in the midst of warlike nations, they never made submission without 
an appeal to arms. Their valiant behaviour in the wars of the Holy Land 
exeeedingly increased their honour; and Roger Hoveden, extolling their 

• The Domesday Book, the most ancient of its kind of which any European nation 
ean boast, was, until 169:1, kept under three locks, the keys of which were in the custody 
of the treasurer and two churchwardens of the Exchequer, but it is now deposited in the 
Chapt.er Bouse at Westminster, where the fee for consulting it is 6s. 8d., and for tran. 
ecripta 6vm it, 4d. per line. Though it is now nearly 800 years old, it is in as fine a 
state ol preservation as if it were the work of yesterday. In the 40th of George ill. 
( 1801 ), his M~esty, by the recommendation of Parliament, directed that it should be 
priDted for the use or the members of the Houses of Lords and Commons, and the 
pGhlic libraries ol the kingdom, wiWlh orders were duly obered. 

Q 
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deeds of a.rms, tells us," that bold France, after she had experienced the Nor­
man valour, drew back; fierce England submitted; rich Apulia was restored 
to her flourishing condition; famous Jerusalem, and renowned Antioch, were 
both subdued." 

The Normans preserved most of the Anglo-Saxon laws and customs, but 
preferred their own trial by battle, as more worthy of warriors and freemen, to 
the fiery ordeals of the English. They separated the spiritual from the 
secular courts; and the old distinction of classes, viz., Eakkrmnr, Thana, 
Ceorl&, and Theowa3, were· preserved under the names of Count or Earl, 
Baron, Knight, Esquire, Freetendnt, Villein or Villain, and Neij. 

In the Domesday Survey we find Yorkshire, as at present, divided into 
three Ridings, called the east, west, and north, and subdivided into Wapen­
takes, a division peculiar to Yorkshire. And here we shall make a digression, 
for the purpose of explaining some of the ancient titles, tenures, and term!!, 
used in the admeasurement of land, beginning with the names of the divisions 
and subdivisions of this county. 

Riding is a term derived from the Saxon Trithing, which implies a third 
part; a mode of division in England, as has just been observed, now only 
peculiar to Yorkshire, but common in Lincolnshire and some other counties 
in the Anglo-Saxon era. The Trithing man, or Lathgrieve (the chief magis· 
trate of a Riding~ presided over three or four or more Hundreds, formed into 
what was called a Trithing, or Lath, or a Rape ; hence the lAths of Kent, 
the Rapu of Sussex, the Pam of Lincoln, and the Trithing1 or Riding1 
of Yorkshire. 
Wa~ke, or Wapontake, is equivalent to Hundred, and this division is 

likewise of Sa.'ton origin, and was probably made in imitation of the Centena 
of Germany. The true origin of the application of the word Hundred to the 
division of a county is uncertain. Some authors have con!Jidered the Hun· 
dred as relating to the number of the beads of families, or the number of 
dwellings situated in the division; others to the number of hides of land 
therein contained. Other writers are of opinion that the Hund~ wa.~ 
formed by the union of ten tithings, and was presided over by a Hmzdredary, 
who was commonly a Tlwne, or nobleman, residing within the Hundred. 
The word Wapentake is evidently of warlike origin. In the northern counties 
the frequent occasion for military array, predominating over the peaceful pur­
poses of civil jurisdiction, before the union of England and Scotland, the 
subdhision of these counties received warlike titles, as Wards and Wapm· 
takes. The court of the chief officer, or Hundredary, commonly met once a 
month, and all the members came to it in their arms, from which it obtained 
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lhe name of Wapentac, or Wa]>entake, which literally signifies "To Arms," 
from Wapm, weapons, and tac, touch. When any one came to take upon 
him the government of a Wapentake, upon a day appointed, all that owed 
suit and service to that Hundred came to meet their new governor at the 
nsoal place of meeting. " He, upon his arrival, alighting from his horse, set 
np the lance on end (a custom used amongst the Romans by the Prretor, at 

. the meetings of the Centumtliri), and according to custom, took fealty of them ; 
the ceremony of which was, that all who were present touched the governor's 
lance with their lances, in token of confirmation, whereupon the whole meeting 
was called a Wapentake, inasmuch as by a mutual touch of each other's arms, 
lhey had entered into a confederacy or agreement to stand by one another."* 

TW.ing• were so called because ten freemen householders, with their fami­
lies. composed one; and a number of these tithings (probably ten, or perho.pl 
one hundred) originally composed a superior division, called a hundred, 
wapentake, ward, &c., in each of which a court was held yearly for the trial 
of causes. An indefinite number of these divisions form a County or Shire, 
the civil jurisdiction of which is confined to the Shire-reve, or Sheriff, who is 
appointed annually. Anciently the Shire-genot, or Folk-mote, as the highest 
court in the county was then called, was held twice a year, and presided over 
by the Bishop or his deputy, and the Alderman or his vicegerent, the 
Sheriff. 

Judge Blackstone says that King Alfred the Great divided England into 
counties, hundreds, and tithings, to prevent the rapine and disorders which 
formerly prevailed in the realm ; the inhabitants of each district being then 
made responsible for the lawless acts of each other. But shires and counties 
are mentioned before the accession of that monarch. Soon after the intro­
duction of Christianity in the seventh century, the kingdom was divided into 
Parilhe• and Bil/wpric8. 

The principal titla of honour amongst the Saxons were Etheling, Prince of 
the blood ; ChancelJm, assistant to the King in giving judgments; Aldernaan, 
or Ealderman, Governor or Viceroy. This word is derived from ald or old, 
like senator in Latin. Provinces, cities, and sometimes wapentakes, had 
their aldermen to govern them, determine law suits, &c. This office gave 
place to the title of Earl, which is Danish, and was introduced by Canute. 
Sheriffe, or Shir-rine, the Alderman's deputy, and chosen by him, sat as 
judge in some courts, and saw sentence executed. Heartoghan signified 
Generals of armies or Dukes. Hengist, in the Saxon Chronicle, is Hear-

• Bawdwen'a Domesda7 Glosa., p. 22. 
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togh. Reeve, among the English Saxons, was a steward. Witan or Witn 
(i.e. wise-men) were the magistrates or lawyers. Tha11u (i.e. servants) were 
officers of the crown, whom the King·recompensed with lands, to be held of 
him, with some obligation of service or homage. There were other lords of 
lands and vassals, who enjoyed the title of Thanes, but were distinguished 
from the King's Thanes. The Aldermen and Dukes were all King's Thanes. 
These were the great Thanes, and were succeeded by the Barons, which title 
was brought in by the ~onnans. .Mass Thanes were those who held lands 
in fee of the church. .Middle Thanes were such as held very small estates 
of the King, or parcels of land of the King's greater Thanes. They were 
called by the :Xormans, vavassors or vavassories. Ceorl (whence our word 
churl) was a countryman o1· artizan, who was a freeman. Ceorls, who had 
~cquire<l possession of five hides of land with a large house court, and bell to 
call together their servant.'!, were raised to the rank of Thanes of the lowest 
clo.ss. The Villeins-" Ascripti vi.l.lal seu glebre "-were labourers bound to 
the soil, and transferred with it from one owner to another; in this and 
other respects they were little better than slaves. According to the enume­
ration in the Domesday Book, these Ceo-rlB, under the names of villeins, 
cottars, and bordars, amounted in England to 183,024 ; whilst the freemen 
were only 30,005 ; nn<l the slaves, 26,552. The burghers, many of whom 
were ceorls of the same description, were numbered at 17,105. 

A Hide, or a Carucat6 of laud, is generally estimated at 120 acres, and 
was considered to employ one plough for a year-hence it is sometimes called 
a Plough-la11d. It is, by some, derived from the Saxon hydm-tectum, the 
roof of a house ; this quantity of land being considered as a proper annexa­
tion to a farm house. Under the feudal system most lands were held under 
a military tenure. All the lands in the kingdom, soon after the Conquest, 
were said to be " held of the King;" and the great vassals of the crown, 
botll lay and clerical, were forced to have a certain number of horsemen 
completely armed, nnd to maintain them in the fiel<l for tile space of forty 
days. England was so distributed by theso means, that William the Con­
queror had always at his command an army of 00,000 Knights. By the 
term K1lights must be understood thoso who held K"ittht's fees, not persons 
who had obtained the order of knighthood. A Knight's fee consisted of two 
hides of land, or two hides o.ud a half; and a meme tenant, who had more 
than a single Knight's fee, was called a bavtUor, a term applied to any vassal 
who held a military fief of a tenant in chief to the crown. He who held of 
a bar,tUor, was cn.Ucd a balv(Uiui, and each of these might enfeeoff anotller to 
hold of him by Knight's service. A. Barony was Kni9M's service embaro11ed, 
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or enlarged. Thus every nobleman was by tenure a soldier; his military 
duty was not confined within the kingdom, but extended abroad at the com­
mand of the King; and not singly, but with such a number of Knights as 
his barony, by its several fees, maintained. All the great landowners were 
soldiers, paid and maintained by the lands they possessed, as they likewise 
paid and maintained those freeholders of an inferior rank, who held Knight's 
fees under them. The military tenure, or that by Knight service, consisted 
of wha~ were deemed the most free and honourable services, but in their 
~ they were unavoidably uncertain, as to the time of performance ; the 
aeeond species of tenure, or fru socage, consisted also of free and honourable 
..nces, but were reduced to an absolute certainty. This tenure subsists to 
this day, and in it, since the statute of Charles IT., almost every other species 
of tenure has been merged. 

The chief tenants of lords generally divided their property into two portions, 
one of which, the principal farm or manor, on which the rest depended, and 
to which they owed suit and service, was called the DemmuJ. 

A nrgate or Yard of land differed in extent at various times, and in various 
pert& of the kingdom, from being measured with a rood (virga) of the length 
of a yanl. An Ozgtmg or Bouvate was as much land as an ox could till, or 
about fl8 acres. A Perch was 5! yards; an Acre, 160 square perches; a 
Canlcate, Carve, or Plough-land, was generally 8 oxgangs. BeretCickB are 
manors within manors. Heriot is a fine paid to the lord at the death of a. 
land holder or change of tenant. 

The other terms, most common in connection with the tenure of land, 
were Sac, Soc, Thol, Theam, Injangtheof, and View of Frank Pledge. All 
these tAmns are in ancient law, and originated from the old Saxon. Sac and 
Soc means the jurisdiction of holding pleas, and imposing fines, and the right 
which a lord possessed of exercising justice on his Yassals, and compelling 
them to be suitors at his 'court. Sockmen were those who held land on 
lease, and their land was called sockland. They were comparatively free 
tenants, and held their land generally by the service of ploughing their lord's 
own demesne land, a certain number of days in the year. According to 
801Jle, Soc in Saxon means the handle of a plough ; but others tell us that it 
IDfJILilS liberty or privilege. Socage then, or free socage, denotes a tenure by 
any certain and determinate service. 

Britton, describing lands in socage tenure, under the name of fraunke 
fonne, says that they are lands and tenements, whereof the nature of the fee 
is charged by feoffment out of chivalry for certain yearly services, and in 
respect whereof neither homage, ward, marriage, or relief can be demanded. 
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Those who preserved their lands from the innovations of the Norman con­
queror were said to hold them injree and common socage. 

Thol was the liberty to take, as well as to be free from, toll; and Twm, 
or Theim, was the prerogative of having, restraining, and judging bondmen, 
and villeins with their children, goods and chattels, in the court of the person 
possessing the privilege of Theam. lnfangtheof is a criminal jurisdiction, 
by which thieves, found in the territories of the possessor of this privilege, 
might be punished without appeal. By virtue of these powers offenders were 
tried for thefts and other misdemeanors, and sentenced in the lord's court, 
and even executed on the gallows belonging to the manor. 

View of Frank PWge meant that twice in the year, upon such days as 
the possessor of the privilege shall think fit, he shall have a view of all the 
frank pledges of his tenants. 

Waifs were goods which had been stolen, and thrown away by the thief in 
his flight, for fear of being apprehended. These were given by law to the 
King, as a punishment upon the owner for not himself pursuing the felon, 
and taking away his goods from him. 

From the Domesday Book we learn that at the Conquest the county of 
York was divided among some of the most powerful and leading men of the 
Conqueror's government. Their names are entered in the following order:-

"I. Land of the King in Yorkshire. II. The Archbishop of York,* and 
of the canons, and of his men. ill. The Bishop of Durham t and his men. 
IV. The Abbot of York. V. Earl Hugh," Robert de Eue, Earl of Eue, in 
Normandy. · "VI. Robert, Earl of Morton," half brother to the Conqueror, 
by whom he was created Earl of Cornwall, 1068. "VII. Earl Alan," son of 
Flathald, obtained the castle of Oswaldestre from the Conqueror. " Vll. 
Robert de Todeni," Lord of Belvoir, county Lincoln, ob. 1088 "IX. Ber· 
enger de Todeni. X. Ilbert de Laci, ·• Lord of Pontefract. "XI. Roger de 
Busli" held the manor of Hallam (Sheffield) under the countess Judith, anno 
1080, ob. 10UU. "XII. Robert ?tfalet," great chamberlain of England, but 
subsequently disinherited and banished. "XIII. William de Warren," Earl 
Warren, in Nonnandy, created Earl of Surrey by William II., died 1089. 
"XIIII. William de Percy," surnamed Algernon, obtained divers lands from 
William I., ob. circa 1096. "XV. Drago de Holdernesse," also called Drue 
Debeverer, came into England with the Conqueror, and retired into Flanders 
some years afterwards. "XVI. Ralph de Mortimer," came into England 

• Thomas, canon ofBaion, in Normandy, succeeded in 1070. 

t Walcher consecrated circtJ 1072. 
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with the Conqueror, and obtained the castle of Wigmore. "XVII. Ralph 
Paganel," held divers lordships at the general survey, living 1089. "XVIII. 
Walter de Aincourt. XIX. Gilbert de Gnnt," son of Baldwin, Earl of Flan­
ders, obtained divers lordships from the Conqueror. "XX. Gilbert Tison. 
XXI. Hugh, son of Baldric. XXll. Erneis de Burum," held thirty-two 
lordships in the county ; he was the ancestor of the present family of Byron. 
"XXIIT. Osbert de Arcis. XXIITI. Odo Balistarius. XXV. Richard, son 
of Erfast. XXVI. Goisfrid Alselin. XXVII. Alberic de Coci. XXVill. 
Gospe.tric. XXIX. The King's Thanes." 

An old writer informs us, that the Conqueror rewarded his followers with 
these estates in this county :-To Hugh de Abrincis, 7 lordships; Alan 
Rufus, 166; Robert Earl of Morton and Cornwall, 106; William Mallet, 32; 
Robert Todenai, 2; Ralph de Mortimer, 18; William de Percy, 80; Walter 
Deincourt, 4 ; Goisfrid Alselin, or Hanselin, 3 ; Ralph Paganel, 15 ; Roger 
de Buisti, 49; Robert de Brns, in tho West Riding, 43, and in the North 
Riding, 51 ; Drago de Beverer, all Holdernus, being 60 lordships; and to 
Evnisius Burun, 32 lordships. 

AJ\er the Conquest much of the land passed into the possession of the 
church, and the religious fraternities, but at the Reformation most of it re­
verted to the Crown, and was subsequently granted for services to persons in 
royal favour, or sold for the use of the King. 

Though it is a generally received opinion that England was divided into 
Counties and Shires, or S~evalties, towards the 9th century, yet it does not 
appear that this change took place in the ancient kingdom of N orthumbria 
earlier than the middle of the 11th century. At the time of the Norman 
survey it contained six Shires, under the designation of Eurewickuire, 
Rklamtmdaeire, Lorwaatreuire, Capl4nd8 (afterwards called the Bishopric of 
Durham), We3tmerilonde, and Cumbrelonde. 

In 1068, Earl Morcar, who was still Governor of York, with his brother, · 
the . Earl of Chester, and their nephew, Blethevin, King of Wales, finding 
that Duke William's policy was to root out the ancient nobility, and to de­
grade the native inhabitants to the condition of slaves, resolved to oppose him. 
On hearing of their designs, he created one of his cruel satellites, named 
Copsi, Earl of Northumbria, and despatched him down to Durham with a 
guard of 1,200 men. But the Northumbrians, headed by Earl Cospatrick, 
and Edgar, the Etheling (the latter being the lawful heir to the crown of 
England), marched to Durham by night, and attacked and slew Copsi and 
all his men. The insurgents then proceeded to York, where they were re­
ceived with joy and gladness by Earls Morcar and Edwin, as well .as by the 
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citizens. William once more drew his conquering sword, and advanced 
rapidly towards York, at the head of a powerful army. The Northumbrian 
chiefs, finding themselves unable to withstand him, sent Edgar back to 
Scotland, and submitted themselves to the Conqueror, by whom they were 
readily pardoned. The citizens, too, bearing of his lenity, went out to meet 
him, and delivered to him the keys of the city. They also were apparently 
received into favour, but a heavy fine was levied upon them, and two castles 
in the city were shortly after fortified by the Conqueror, and strongly gar­
risoned with Norman soldiers. On the arrival of William, the Saxon nobles, 
who had manifested a disposition to shake off the Norman yoke, Bed into 
Scotland for protection. Among these were Morcar, Edwin, and Cospatriek. 
Elated by his success, William sent a herald into Scotland to demand the 
Etheling, and the English lords ; but Malcolm refusing to comply with the 
mandate, and knowing that the Conqueror would revenge the denial, invited 
the King of Denmark to unite with the English and Scotch in an attempt to 
expel the Norman. The Danish monarch soon united in the confederacy, and 
sent a Beet of 250 ships, well laden with troops, commanded by his brother 
Esbom, or Osbem, with the two sons of the King, Harold and Canute, as 
well as other distinguished personages. This Beet entered the Humber in 
1060, and the forces being joined by the English and Scotch, they marched 
direct to York, where they were met by the Atheling and a large number 
of the English exiles, who had arrived from Scotland for the purpose. The 
Norman garrison in the castles prepared for a si~e, and on the 1\Jth of Sep­
tember, 1060, they set fire to some houses in the suburbs, to prevent them 
being made useful to the besiegers. But the wind being high, the flames 
spread farther than was designed, and burnt down a great part of the city, 
including the Cathedral, and the invaluable library placed there by King 
Egbert, in A.D. 800. During the great confusion, into which the unexpected 
ravages of the fire threw the ganisons, the Danes and English valiantly 
attacked the fortresses, entered the city sword in hand, and cut the Normans 
(about 8,000 in number) to pieces. All who escaped this dreadful slaughter 
were the Sheriff of the county, hie wife, and two children, with a few othel'8 
who were found in the castle. 

Waltheof, lith Earl of Northumberland, and son of Siward, was now ap­
pointed Governor of the City, with a strong garrison of English and Scotch 
soldiers under his command ; and the Danes retired to a good situation, 
between the Humber and Trent, to wait the Normans. William, who was 
hunting in the forest of Dean when he received the first news of this disaster, 
swore his favourite oath (see page 112) that be would destroy all the people of 
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the north. Hearing that the garrison of York had been taken by his enemielf, 
he was much exasperatA3d, and hastened at the head of a powerful army into 
the north. He spread his camps over the country for the spaoe of 100 miles, 
and then the execution of his vow began.* Alured, a monk of Beverley, who 
wrote in the 1~th century, states," that the Conqueror destroyed men, women, 
and children, from York, even to the western sea;" and the historian of 
Malmsbury tells us, that no less than 100,000 persons perished at that time 
in a district 60 miles in length. The whole country between York and Dur­
ham was laid waste eo effectually, that for nine years afterwards the ground 
remained untilled ; and many of the wretched inhabitants, who had escaped 
&be slaughter, were reduced to the necessity of eating dogs, cats, and even their 
own species, to prolong a miserable existence. This account is confirmed 
by Roger de Hoveden, and Simon of Durham, as well as by the concur­
rent testimony of all the historians of &bose times. When the Conqueror 
arrived before &be city, he summoned the Governor to surrender, but W altheof 
s&emly refused, and set his threats at defiance. The wily Norman now had 
recoune to bribery : for a large sum of money, and permission to plunder the 
sea 0088&, the faithless and corrupt Danish General, Osbert, agreed to quit 
the country as soon as the spring would permit. William lost no time in 
pushing forward the siege. He attempted to take the city by storm, after 
making a large breach in the wall with engines, but was repulted with great 
Joas; Wal~f, himself, according to William of Malmsbury, having stood 
BiDgly in the breach, and cut down several of the Normans who attempted to 
mount it. From the same historian we lee.m that about this time a severe 
b&tt.le was fought near York between the Normans and a powerful army, 
probably of Caledonians, who came to the relief of the besieged ; in which 
the Noi'ID8IUI, however, were victorious. 

After a gallant defence of six months, York was obliged through famine to 
capitalat.e; and though the oonditions of the surrender were favourable to the 
besieged, yet the Conqueror attributing the first suooees of the Danes to the 
are.chery of the citizeos, took signal vengeance upon them, put the soldiers 
to the sword, and burnt the city to the ground. York never entirely over­
came this shock, nor recovered its ancient splendour. The Conqueror pro­
leeeed great friendship for Waltheof. the Governor, who had eo nobly resisted 
him; ucl the more firmly to attach him to his interest, he being a man of 
pre-emhumt DOW, he gave him in marriage Judith, his Diece, daughter of 
.llaaiJ. Colmte.(a of Albermarle. his uterine sister, and at the aame time 

• BoMubed. Set IIIIo 'l"vDWW Hilt. -., YOL L, p. re. 
B 
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restored to him the Earldoms of Northampton and Huntingdon, which be­
longed to Siward, his father. Waltheof having become involved in the revolt 
of the Ba,rons, for the expulsion of the King, in the lOth year of this 
reign (1076), he was arraigned for conspiracy, and was condemned and 
executed at Winchester, in the same year, and his decapitated trunk was 
tree.ted with every possible indignity. The body having lain for some time 
in the cross-way, where it was buried, was afterwards removed to Croyland 
or Crowland Abbey, in Lincoln11hire, where it was honourably sepulchred. 
And thus perished the brave Waltheof, the last of the Saxon Earls. The 
execution of this nobleman is observed to be the first instance of beheading 
in this kingdom. His widow, the Countess Judith, not being a participant 
in her husband's treason, was allowed to retain his lands, manors, and Earl­
doms. Historians, however, have accused her of treachery to11"ards her lord; 
for though his innocence was attested by Archbishop Lanfranc, yet at her 
instigation, who is said to have effected a second marriage, he was con­
demned. Ingulphus, a monk of Croyland, and her contemporary, has not 
scrupled to describe her by the execrable appellation, impii$Bima Jezebel. 

York, before it was burnt by the Norman, was considered by Hardinge, 
superior f4 London ; and was, according to the author of the Polichronicon, 
" as fair as the city of Rome, from the beauty and magnificence of its 
buildings." Harrison very justly styled it Altera Roma: and Leland tells us 
that it was so large, that its suburbs extended to the 'illages a mile distant. 

In 1071, the embers of civil war being rekindled by the jealousy of 
William, the influence of Edwin and Morcar was judged dangerous; and the 
King thought it expedient to secure their persons. Edwin, whilst en­
deavouring to escape towards the borders of Scotland, was betrayed by three of 
his vassals, and he fell with twenty of his faithful adherents, fighting against 
his pursuers. The traitors presented his head to William, who rewarded 
their services with a sentence of perpetual banishment. His brother Morcar 
fled to the standard of Hereward, erected in the " Camp of Refuge," in the 
Isle of Ely, Cambridgeshire ; and with the Bishop of Durham, and many 
Saxon nobles, was afterwards condemned by William to perpetual imprison­
ment. In 1072, the Conqueror being at Durham, summoned before his 
tribunal, Cospatrick, the Earl of Northumberland, and charged him with old 
offences, which it was supposed had been long ago forgiven-the massacres 
of the Normans at Durham and York. He was banished by the sentence of 
the court; and having retired to Scotland, Malcolm gave hiltl the castle and 
demesne of Dunbar. 

The people of England finding further resistance to the Norman useless, 
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submitted to his yoke in sullen despair. Even Edgar the Etheling consented 
to solicit a livelihood of the man whose ambition had robbed him of a crown. 
'\Villiam granted him the first place at court, an apartment in the palace, o.nd 
a yearly pension of 865 pounds of silver. 

Nothing of importance is recorded of Yorkshire from this period until the 
year 1187, when, on the 4th of June in that year, the city, which had par­
tially risen from its ashes, was destroyed by an accidental fire, which burnt 
down the Cathedral, the Abbey of St. Mary, St. Leonard's Hospital, thirty· 
nine parish churches in the city, and Trinity church in the suburbs, besides 
many streets and public buildings.* 

'Whilst the civil war between King Stephen and the Empress Maud, or 
Matilda, raged with destructive fury, David, King of Scotland, uncle to tho 
Empreas, espoused her cause, and with a powerful army of Normans, Ger­
mans, Saxons, Cumbrian Britons, Northumbrians, Picts, and Scots, three 
times invaded the northern provinces of England, and laid w~te the country 
as far as the city of York. In these expeditions the army of the Scottish 
King conducted the war with the ferocity of savages. They profaned the 
churches, burnt the monasteries and villages, promiscuously slaughtered 
children, aged people, and the defenceless ; and exercised the most unheard 
of barbarities upon the natives in general. Pregnant women were ripped up, 
and the infants cut to pieces. The fair females, which they spared in their 
route, and which were generally distinguished by their birtl1 or beauty, were 
stripped of their clothes, tied to each other with thongs, and driven at the 
point of the spear to Scotland; where, after suffering every kind of indignity, 
they were retained as slaves to their captors, or bartered by them for cattle 
to the neighbouring chieftains. 

Their conduct so incensed the powerful Norman Barons, tho.t they re­
solved, unanimously, at the suggestion of Thurston, Archbishop of York, who 
was then Lieutenant-Governor of the North, to repel the invaders; o.nd even 
the Saxon-English were so exasperated against the Scots, that they forgot 
their hatred of the N oml&ns, in the pleasing hope of taking vengeance upon 
such cruel enemies. The aged Archbishop succeeded in uniting all to fight 
for their country, their families, and their God. David, hearing of their 
intentions, drew his army from before York, and retired northwards. The 
chief of the Barons who joined in this struggle, were William le Gros, or do 
Albermarle, Walter de Gaunt, Robert and Adam de Brus, Roger de Mowbray, 

• On the previous day, the Cathedral of Rochester had been bumt; and on lhc 27th 
of the same dieutrous month, the cii)' of Bath was nearly destroyed by fire. 
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Walter L'Espeo, Gilbert and William de Lacy, and William de Percy. At 
the appointed time, the nobles, with their vasaals, repaired to York, and 
were met by the parochial clergy, with the bravest of their parishioners; 
and after spending three days in Casting and devotion, and swearing before 
the Archbishop that they would never desert each other, they marched 
against the enemy, under the command of that prelate, aa far aa Think 
Castle, then a stronghold of the Mowbrays. There Thurston resigned his 
authority to Ralph, Bishop of the Orkney Iales, William le Groe, and Walter 
L'Espec. 

On the ~~nd of August, 1188, the two armies met on Cuton Moor, near 
Northallerton, and a terrible battle ensued. This engagement is called the 
BattU of 1M Standard, from a high standard round which the English a. 
sembled, and which was a tall mast of a veesel, strongly fastened into the 
framework of a carriage upon wheels, having at the top a crucifix, a silver 
pix containing a consecrated host ; and from which were suspended the con­
secrated banners of the three patron saints-St. Peter of York, St. John of 
Beverley, and St. Wilfred of Ripon. The standard was guarded by a chosen 
band of knights, who had sworn rather to die than yield it to the hands of 
the enemy. After the Bishop had made an oration to the army, from the 
carriage, and had given them the blessing, which they received on their 
knees, they all shouted "Amen," and rose to receive the shook of the enemy. 

But the spirit of discord and disunion reigned in the Scottish oamp, and 
this is not surprising, considering the many dift'erent races of which it waa 
composed. David had intended that the battle should be commenced by the 
men-at-arms and archers, in whom his chief strength consisted ; but the men 
of Galloway, who fought with long slender spears, and who displayed great 
bravery during the campaign, insisted upon taking that post of honour. 
After an angry discussion, the King was obliged to yield the van to the Gal· 
wegians. The English drew up in a compact body, the spearmen and 
archers in front, and the heavy armed chivalry in the rear, the sacred baoner 
towering bright above them all. The Scots were formed in four lines, the 
men of Galloway (or Picts) in front, who began the battle, wildly rushing on 
their opponents, and throwing themselves, like a tempest, upon the English 
spearmen. For a moment the English were staggered, but whilst thus held 
at bay, the matchless archery of the native English was brought to bear 
with tremendous effect upon the enemy. The naked Galwegians were on 
the point of turning before these terrible discharges of barbed death, when 
the Scottish men-at-arms, commanded by Prince Henry, coming to their 
reec:ue, dashed with such impetuosity upon the Englith rub, &bat they were 
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torn unnder, and victory appeared to emile upon the Bcotti.eh monarch. 
The contliet now grew hotter ; it was " Lance to lance, and horse to horse " 
-when lo! the Scotti.eh forces waver-they are seized by a panic-a. rumour 
had spread through the ranks that the King was slain ; and though he him­
eelf', helmet in hand, hastens from rank to rank, to reassure them that he is 
yet alive-he fails in rallying them-they fly, and are ruthlessly slaughtered 
by their pursuers; and the battle is lost. In vain the King and his brave 
eon Henry, and a few faithful nobles, maintained the combat; notwith­
standing the astonishing proofs ofvalour and intrepidity which they displayed, 
they were nobly defeated by the newly-raised army of the "chariot-mounted 
banners." The Scottish army consisted of 27,000 men, and nearly one half 
ue said to have perished in the battle and flight on that fatal day ; and, as 
we have no account ol prisoners, it is probable that no quarter was given. 
The loas on the English side is not stated ; that of the Scots is most probably 
guess work. 

There are no indications of hillocks or mounj)s to be seen in the neighbour­
hood, to mark the graves of the slain ; and the only name of a place bearing 
a reference to such an event, is " Scot Pit Lane," applied to a green lane, a 
little to the north of the spot where stood the consecrated banner of the 
English army, and which is still known as "Standard Hill." Some writers 
suppose that the dead, excepting a select few, were never buried. The field 
ol thi&--one of the most bloody battles recorded in the history of this king­
clom-was an open level common, upon which little advantage could be gained 
over an enemy by selection of ground, as it afforded no strong posts, or easily 
defended positions. 

This signal defeat so overawed the Scots, that the people of the north of 
Enpd appear to have been secure from their incursions for a long period. 
For eeven centuries York bad exhibited a series of sanguinary wars, and re­
peated desolations ; but from the date of this battle, it enjoyed for some 
88"8 the blessings of peace, and again rose to wealth and importance. 

In A.D. 1160, just 22 years after the terrible conflagration in the reign of 
Stephen, Henry ll. held in York the first meeting said to be distinguished 
iD history by the name of Parliament.* Malcolm, King of Scotland, aecom-

• The word Parliament is demed 6-om P•kr la fiNftt-to speak one .. mind. Some 
•1 t.bal this word Pllriiamml does not oceur until the above year, and that before thot 
time it was usually denominated the King's Court, or Great Council. Drake's Ebor., p. 
83. Camden, however, thinks that this word was used in the 16th of Helll'1 I. Cur. 
Dille., ftL i., p. 110'- Blaobtone eaya it was Ant applied to general 8818mblies or the 
a.., aDder Lo1lia vn., iD FraDoe, about the middle of the 1~ oe~~turi; IDCl that the 
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panied by all his Barons, Abbots, and Prelates, attended and did homage to 
Henry, in the Cathedral, for his kingdom of Scotland, and acknowledged him 
and his successors his superior lords. In 1171 Henry called another con·. 
vention of Bishops and Barons at York, to which be summoned William, the 
successor of Malcolm, to do homage for his kingdom ; and in memorial of his 
subjection, the Scotch King deposited his breast plate, spear, and saddle, on 
the altar of St. Peter, in the Cathedral church. About this period York 
appears to have been eminent for trade, for a few years later, the King, under 
pretence of raising money for the Holy Wars, imposed upon his subjects a 
contribution of one·tenth of their moveables, and demanded from the city of 
York, one-half of the sum that he required from London. 

In the beginning of the reign of Richard I. (surnamed Creur de Lion­
the lion-hearted) a general massacre of the resident Jews took place, under 
circumstances of peculiar atrocity. The crusades to the Holr Land, to rescue 
Jerusalem from the hands of the Saracens, tended to inflame the zeal of the 
nation against all men not bearing the name of Christian ; besides, the pre­
judices of the age had stigmatized money lenders at interest, with the odious 
name of usurers. Another cause of the implacable hatred, and public hos-

first mention of it in our statute law, is in the preamble to the statute of Westminster, 
i., 3, Edw. I., A.D. 1272. Com., vol. i, p. 146. Ingulpbus, who died in 1100, use<i the 
word Parliament for a meeting of the Chapter of a Convent. When the Norman Con. 
qneror of Britain distributed the landed property of the kingdom amongst his numerous 
followers, the Barons, who hel<i their land in capite, or directly under the King, formed 
the Council of the Realm, or the rarlian1ent of that period. (See page lll.) But in 
process of time, when the lands became sub<livided, and the number of Barons increased 
to a prodigious multitude, the great Barons only were Rnmmoned by the King, and the 
others assembled at the writ of the Sheriff, and were placed in a separate house. This 
was the origin of the two Houses of Parliament. (Blackst. Com. Arch b., vol. i., p. 898.) 
When the to\Vlls of England hrui spnmg into importance as marts of industry, the 
Crown, in order to neutralisc the power of the nobility, called upon them to Sl'nd members 
to Parlianlent-but at long intervals: and that may be considered the real origin of the 
third estate in the Realm. The Crown recognised a body, which it called the Commons, 
because it feared the nobility, and, wishing to hold the balance of authority, it pitted the 
two extremes of society against each other. But these Parliaments, as regarded the true 
interests of the country at large, were mere mockeries-for they were only summoned 
when the Crown required the consent of the Commons to laws passed to strengthen 
itself, to levy taxes, to curb the power of the church by the statute de mortmain; or of 
the nobles, by the statute de d<mu. This, until the revolution of 1688, was all .the share , 
the Commons had in the government-for the tradition of an hereditary monarchy in 
alliance with an hereditary nobility was faithfully observcd; and no commoner, except 
through the doors of the church or the law, was ever raised to a high office in the state. 
A dozen of such elevations in six centuries will cover all these promotions from the ranks 
of the people. 
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tility of the English people, to the Children of Israel, was, that they hnd 
been introduced by the Norman Conqueror, and a number of them settled in 
York soon after the Conquest, whose immense increase of wealth, eventually 
proved to them a source of terrible evil. The King, who was crowned with 
great pomp at Westminster, on the 3rd of September, 1189, with a view to 
obtain popular favour, strictly forbid the presence of any Jew whatever at 
his coronation. Notwithstanding this prohibition, two of the most wealthy 
Jews of York, named Benedict and Jocenus, repaired to London, with a 
pompous retinue, in order to meet their brethren, and to offer some valuable 
presents to the King, as a peace-offering at his coronation. On the day of 
the ceremonial, many of the Jews mixed in the crowd, and the populace, 
with a savage ferocity, commenced a geueral massacre of them in London, 
plundered their property, burnt down their houses, and destroyed numbers 

· of their wives and children. Benedict and J ocenus were attacked ; and the 
former being grievously wounded, was dragged into a church, wl!ere he was 
forced to renounce Judaism, and submit to the ceremony of baptism. But 
the next day, when the heroic Israelite was brought into the presence of the 
King, and asked whether he was a Christian or no, he boldly answered, 
that he was a Jew, and should die in the faith of his fathers. The King 
ordered him to be restored to his friends, but he soon afterwards died from 
.the effect of his bruises. Joeenus returnoo unhurt to York, where a still 
more awful fate awaited him. During a very boisterous night, the city of York, 
either by accident or design, took fire, and the flames rapidly spread in all 
directions. This calamity was seized upon to renew the persecutions against 
the Jews ; and while the citizens were engaged in extinguishing the flames, 
the bouse of Benedict was violently entered by the lawless rabble, who mur­
dered the widow and children of the deecased Jew, and seized all the propertY 
upon which they could lay their rapacious hands. Alarmed at this outrage, 
Jocenus aought refuge in the castle, to which he removed his family, and the 
whole of his wealth; and his example was followed by nearly all the Jews in 
the city. In a few days the house of Jocenus shared the fate of that of 
Benedict. The Governor of the castle having . some business without its 
walls, left it for a short time in the possession of the Jews, who, fearing that 
he might have joined in the conspiracy with their enemies, refused to re-admit 
him on his return. The Sheriff, enraged at this indignity, issued his writ of 
po.u comitatw, to raise the country to besiege and take the castle. Though 
an innumerable company of armed men, as well from the city as from the 
surrounding country, rose simultaneously, and begirt the castle, yet the wiser 
aod the better sort of citizens stood aloof from a flood that might soon over-
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whelm themselves. Roger de Hoveden informs us that the Jews, now driven 
to extremities, held a council, and offered a very large sum of money to be 
allowed to escape with their lives, but this offer was rejected. We are told 
by Matthew Paris, that the council was then addressed by a certain foreign 
rabbi, or doctor of their laws, who had visited England for the instruction of 
the Jews, as follows:-" Men of Israel, our God, whose laws I have pres­
cribed to you, has commanded that we should at any time be ready to die 
for those laws; and now, when death looks us in the face, we have only to 
choose whether we should prolong a base and infamous life, or embrace a 
gallant and glorious death. If we fall into the banda of our enemies, at their 
will and pleasure we must die; but our Creator, who gave us life, did also 
enJoin that with our own hands, and of our own accord, we should devoutly 
restore it to him again, rather than await the cruelty of an enemy." This 
invitation to imitate the example of the followers of J oeepbus, in the cave of 

. Jotapata, was embraced by many of the Jews, but others choose rather to try 
the clemency of the Christians, upon which the rabbi further said, " Let those 
whom this good and pious discourse displeases, separate themselves, and be 
cut off from the congregation! We, for the sake of our paternal law, despise 
this transitory life." Before the self-devoted victims began to ex.ecute the 
sentence upon each other, they set fire to the castle, and committed all their 
property to the flames, to prevent it falling into the hands of their enemies. 
The rabbi then directed that the husbands should cut the throats of their 
own wives and children; and Jocenus began the execution, by applying the 
knife to the throats of his wife and five children. The example was speedily 
followed by the other masters of familiea ; and afterwards, as a mark of pecu­
liar honour, the rabbi cut the throat of J ocenus himsel£1 The last of the 
victims was the self-devoted adviser of the deed, who was probably the only 
actual suicide. 

The surviwrs then announced the bonid catastrophe which had befallen 
their brethren, to the besiegers, casting the dead bodies of the victims over 
the wall to convince them of the reality of their story. At the same time 
they supplicated for mercy, promising to become Christiana. Pretending to 
compassionate their sufferings, and promising pardon on the condition named, 
the mercilees ba.rbarians obtained admisaion into the castle, and slew every 
one of the poor Jews, though to the last they cried out for baptism. The 
diabolical murderers then hastened to tbe Cathedral, where the bonds (Cor 
loans), which the Chriatia.na had given to the Jews, were deposited, and 
breaking open the chests, burnt in the midst of the nave of the cburoh, all 
the documents they contained, thus freeiDs themselves aDd others from tbeir 
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obligations.* This massacre, in which it is supposed that not less than from 
1,500 to 2,000 Jews in York fell victims, occurred on the lith of .!\larch, 
1190. And in spite of a proclamation in their favour by the King, the 
same spirit of persecution manifested itself in many of the large towns of the 
kingdom about that period. These horrors arc uniformly reprobated by 
the historians of the time. When the King, who had embarked for the 
Holy Land, heard of these enormities, he sent orders to his Chancellor aud 
Regent, William Longchamp, Bishop of Ely, to go down into Yorkshire, and 
execute strict justice upon the offenders, but many of the miscrrants had fled 
from the city, and the remaining citizens declared that the inhabitants of the 
neighbouring towns were the principal offenders. However he deposed, aud 
committed the Sheriff and Governor to prison ; took away one hundrcll hos· 
tages; repaired the castle; inflicted fines upon a few of the citizens ;l ancl 
gave the government of the county to his brother, Osbert de Longehn.mp. 
Notwithstanding this sanguinary persecution, a new colony of Jews soon 
settled in York, where they remained till the time of Edward I. 

The reader of English history knows that Richard I., so glorious to military 
fame, and so oppressive to his subjects, after performing prodigies of personal 
Talour in Palestine, and becoming a hero of romance, had the misfortune to 
be trepanned in his way home, by Leopold, Duke of Austria, who sold him 
t.o the Emperor of Germany ; and that ho was transported by his IJrW pro­
prietor from Vienna to Mentz, and other places, where he was generally kept 
in rigorous confinement, till a tr('aty ''as concluded, by which the Emp('I"Ol" 
extorted from him, or rather from the people of England, 100,000 marks of 
silver, of the weight of Cologne. To mise this immense sum, as well as to 
replenish the exhausted treasury, recourse was had to the sale of offices of 
tnJst and honour; the situations of Sheriff and Justiciary were disposed of 
to the highest bidder: and Richard declared that he would sell the city of 
London if he could find a. purchaser. The Corporation charters too, of tho 
various boroughs, were renewed or confirmed, on payment of heavy fines. 
In 1195, Geoffrey Plantagenet, Archbishop of York, possessed himself of the 
shrievalty of the county of York, on payment of a fine to the King, of 3000 

• Hoveden, 370. Dicets, 6111. Brompton, 1172. 
+ Richard Malebisse pe.id coo marks for his pardon, &c., on account of being concerned 

ill the slaughter of the Jews at York. Again, xx marks to hllve his land restored, whil'h 
na seized on that occasion. Maddoz'1 Ezcluqver, 300. 

The mark was an indeterminate sum, which varied in dift"erent ages. Some have 
stated it at 6 o:r.., others at 8 oz. Maddox says a mark of gold was equal to six pounds, or 
liix !!COre shillings; the mark of siher, 13s. 4-d. 

s 
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marks.* H11.ving by this means united the temporal and spiritual authori· 
ties, this prelate, who was the n·atural son of King Henry IT., flourished 
with all the power and dignity of a sovereign Prince, 'in the north of 
England. The office of High Sheriff was, in these times, one of great 
trust and responsibility ; as the keeper of the King's peace, he was the 
first man in the county, and superior in rank to any nobleman. He was the 
King's farmer or bailiff; the collector of all the royal rents and revenues 
within his district; to his custody were entrusted all the royal castles and 
manors lying within the bailiwick; and he provided the castles and fortified 
towns with ammunition and other necessaries. He was dignified with the 
title of Viscount, and all the freeholders of the county, whatever might be 
their rank, were obliged to give their personal attendance, to swell out the 
magnificence of his train. From this service, even the richest and most 
powerful barons were not exempt. Hence the retinue of a provincial sheriff 
must have equalled that of a powerful monarch. 

The reign of King John began in turbulence, and ended in disgrnce. Ac· 
cording to the custom of these times, when the monarch had no settled 
revenue, it was usual for him to renew the borough charters at his acoession, 
for the purpose of recruiting his treasury; and John followed this example. 
In the beginning of his reign, his Mf\jesty, accompanied by the Queen and 
many of his principal Barons, made a progress into the north. The royal 
party crossed the Humber from Grimsby, and proceeded to Cottingham and 
Beverley, and thence to York, where a convention was held, which was at­
wnded by the King of Scotland and his nobles. It appears that, on this 
occasion, the citizens were not well affected towards John, for they refused 
to show him any marks of honourable greeting, or to display the usual tokens 
of joy and congratulation at the presence of their sovereign amongst them. 
The irritable monarch was so highly incensed at this instance of neglect, 
that he amerced the city in the sum of £100.t In the last year of this 
troublous reign (1216), the northern Barons laid siege to York, but granted 
a truce, and retired on receiving 1000 marks from the citizens. 

In 1220, Henry ill. attended a convocation at York, in which Alex· 
ander, King of Scotland, swore to marry the Lady Joanna, or Jane, Henry's 
eldest sister; and in the following year, the marriage was solemnized in 
the Cathedral church of this city, in the presence of the King, amidst very 
splendid festivities. This was the lady whom the Scots in derision called 
Joan Makepeace. "A name not in vain," says Buchanan, "for, from that 

• Lel. Coll. vol. ii. p. 210. Stowe"s Chroo. p. 167. t Mag. Bo&. 8 Job. 
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time, there was a strict alliance between the two Kings." On the same 
occasion, was solemnized the marriage of Hubert de Burgh, the Justiciary, 
and Margaret, sister of King Alexander. In 1230, Henry and the King of 
Scotland, with the principal nobility, kept Christmas at York, in a most 
magnificent manner; and in 1237, Cardinal Otto, the Pope's Legate, ne­
gociated a peace between the Kings of England and Scotland, who met at 
York for that purpose. 

In 1261, the marriage of Alexander ll. of Scotland, and Margaret, the 
beautiful daughter of Henry m., was celebrated at York, with all the mag- . 
niticence and grandeur suitable to the QUptials of such exalted persons. All 
the peers of the realm accompanied Henry and his Queen ; and the Scottish 
King was attended by his mother, and a large retinue of his nobility. On 
Christmas Day, Henry conferred the honour of Knighthood on Alexander, 
and twenty of his nobles; and on the following day the royal pair were 
married in the Cathedral, by the Archbishop, Walter de Grey. As we have 
just stated, an immense number of military commanders, and other persons 
of rank, attended Henry ; and Alexander was attended by more than sixty 
Knights, clad in a most superb manner. During the stay of these monarchs 
in York, the Archbishop several times entertained them with princely mag­
nificence and grandeur; expending during the visit of the royal party more 
than 4,000 marks, or nearly £2,700. For one feast alone he had sixty fat 
oxen roasted and cooked in various ways. 

In this chivalrous age mock contests formed the principal amusements of 
the nobility. On all great occasions a tournament was formally proclaimed; 
and here the aspiring warrior had an opportunity of recommending himself 
at once to the notice of his Sovereign, and the recommendation of his supe­
riors, which led the way to honourable distinction ; and of exciting at the 
same time the admiration and esteem of the softer sex, by the display of 
superior strength, activity, or military skill. On the present occasion, a 
grand tournament took place at York, in the presence of the two Kings, and 
all the principal nobility of England and Scotland, In 121H, Edward I . 
-risited York on his way to Scotland; when the famous Welshman, the repre­
sentative of the ancient Princes of South Wales, Rees-o.p-Meredith, was tried 
and condemned here for high treason, and drawn through the city to the 
gallows, where he was hanged and quartered.* In 1296, the Scots having 
made an inroad into England, this valiant monarch marched against them 

• Stowe'aAnnale. The word" Ap" is a Welsh prefix, equivalent tA> .• "Mao" in Scotland, 
lllld the "0" in Ireland. 
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with o. well appointed army, o.nd joining in battle, he slew ~8,000 of the 
enemy in the field, o.nd put the rest to flight. Berwick, Dunbar, o.nd Edin­
burgh, o.nd other places, opened their gates to the conq11eror; o.nd John 
Bo.liol, the Scottish King, was forced to resign his kingdom by a charter, 
dated lOth of July, at Brechin. Tho sceptre, coronation stone,* &c., were 
sent to London. 

In 1298, the same monarch summoned a special Parliament to meet at 
York, when the English Barons attended in great numbers; those who diso­
beyed the order to be present, being accounted rebels. At this assembly, the 
King's confirmation of Magna ClUJrta (or the Great Charter), with the 
Charta de Forresta (Charter of the Forests), was read, o.nd the Bishop of 
Carlisle pronounced a curse upon all who should attempt to violate them. 
The Scottish lords, who were summoned to attend this Parliament, not 
making their appearance, the English lords decreed, that o.n army should be 
sent, under the commo.nd of the Earl of Surrey, to relieve Roxborough, which 
the Scots were at tho.t time besieging. At this Parliament, the Commons of 
of the Realm granted the King the ninth part of their goods ; the Archbishop 
of Canterbury, with the clergy of his province, the tenth penny; and the 
Archbishop of York, with his clergy, a fifth. 

Edward afterwards summoned o.nother Parliament to York, o.nd renewed 
his former order for the o.ttcndo.nce of the Scottish nobility; but they again 
refused complio.nce with the King's command, which induced him to issue a 
cominission of array, ordering his subjects to meet him at Roxborough on St. 
John's day. The famous battle of .Falkirk then ensued, in which the cele-

• This famous stone, on which the inauguration of the Scottish Kings was performed, 
was removed from the monastery of Scone, in Pcrthsbire, and is now inserted in the 
seat of the Coronation chair of the Sovereigns of England. It is a flat stone, nearl7 
square, and is said to be the identical stone which formed Jacob's pillow, when he had 
those celestial and mystical visions mentioned in holy writ. Tradition says it was 
brought out of Palestine into Ireland, nnd was there used as the inauguration stone of 
the Kings of that country; that it was brought from Ireland by Fergus, the son of Eric, 
who led the Dabriads to the shores of Argyleshire; and was deposited in the city of 
Scone. An old antiquarian has described this stone, "the ancientest respected monu. 
ment in the world; for, although some others may be more ancient as to duration, yet 
thus superstiously regarded they nre not." The nntiquity of this "Stone of Destiny" 
is undoubted, however it may be questioned whether it be the same stone on which 
the nncient Kings of Ireland were crowned on the hill of Tars. The history of ita 
being used for the coronation of the Scotlil;h Kings, and of its removal from Scone 
by Edward I., admits of no doubt. A record exists of the expenses attending its re. 
moval. The curious visitor to London, may inspect it, together with the ancient chair 
made for its reception, in the reib'n of Edward I., in the chap€'1 of St. Edward the Con. 
fessor, Westminster .ibbry. 
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brated chieftain, Sir William Wallace, was defeated; after which the King 
returned to York, and in 1299, held another Parliament there. In 1804, 
Edward completed the reduction of Scotland, though not its subjugation; 
and after disbanding his army, he ordered the Courts of Exchequer and 
King's Bench, which had continued during seven years at York, to resume 
their former station at Westminster.* 

York then ranked amongst the English ports, and furnished one vessel to 
Edward's fteet; but Hull had already begun to rise its fame as a maritime 
town, and when vessels were built on a larger scale, it absorbed a great share 
of the commerce which was formerly confined to this city. 

Edward, having conquered and united the principality of Wales to the 
crown of England, and having constrained the Scots to swear fealty to him, 
spent the winter before his death at Carlisle, where he summoned his last 
Parliament. The Scots, taking advantage of the King's absence, and of his 
having dismissed his army, assembled their dispersed forces, attacked and 
obtained a signal victory over the English troops, and took prisoner the Earl 
of Pembroke, who commanded in Scotland. Exasperated at this unexpected 
revolution, Edward resolved to march into the heart of Scotland, and destroy 

. the kingdom from sea to sea ; and to that end he summoned all the vassals 
of the crown to meet him at Carlisle, about the middle of summer, on pain of 
fOrfeiting their fees. But, whilst "man proposes, God disposes;" no sooner 
bad Edward assembled the finest army England had ever seen, than he was 
seized with a distemper, which put an end to his days, and all his projects. 
On his death-bed he earnestly recommended Prince Edward, his eldest son and 
suceessor, to prosecute the war with Scotland with the utmost vigour. He 
also advised the Prince to carry along with him his remains at the head of the 
army, not doubting but that the sight of his bones would daunt the courage 
of the enemies he had thrice conquered. After these last orders to his son, 
he caused himself to be carried by easy journeys to meet the enemy ; but he 
had not advanced above five miles, to a village in Cumberland, called Burgh­
upon-Sands, when his sickness was increased by an attack of dysentery, which 
carried him off on the 7th of July, 1807, in the 68th year of his age, and 
35th of his reign. And thus ended the career of the warlike, politic, but 
unjust King Edward 1., who has been deservedly called "the hammer of 
Scotland." His body was conveyed to Westminster Abbey, and laid by the 
remains of Henry, his father; and the memory of his death is preserved on 

• Lingard's Hist. England, vol. iii., p. 240. Fep. 8vo. 
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the spot where he died, by a square pillar bearing an appropriate Latin 
inscription.* 

One of the greatest evils of the feudal system was, that when a feeble 
monarch filled the throne, the kingdom was tom to pieces by domestic faction 
and civil war. The vast domains of some of the nobles, over which their 
authority was almost unlimited, gave them a power nearly equal to that of the 
King; and the reader of English history is well aware that these factious 
chieftains often raised the standard of rebellion, even against their monarchs. 
Edward n. was one of the most weak and unfortunate of the English Kings; 
and his idleness, incapacity, and passion, for favourites, proved his ruin. 
His inordinate attachment to Piers de Gaveston, tA>gether with the haughty, 
arrogant, and insolent disposition of the favourite, led to a combination of the 
nobility against them. Gaveston, and some of his followers, had been 
banished from the kingdom by Edward 1., but in the year 1812, Edward IT., 
in an evil hour, invited him to meet him at York, and "received him as a gift 
from heaven.f' ' 

On this occasion the King kept his Christmas at York. The return of the 
favourite excited the resentment of the Barons, and, as we have stated, a 
powerful conspiracy was formed against him. Thomas, Earl of Lancaster,. 
cousin-german to the King, first Prince of the blood, and one of the most 
opulent. and powerful subjects in the kingdom, was the chief of the party who 
had bound themselves, by an oath, to expel Gav~n; and he suddenly 
n.ised an army, and marched to York, the walls of which city Edward had 
caused to be strongly fortified, and put in a posture of defence, in anticipation 
of this outbreak. 

The King, hearing of the approach of Lancaster, fted with his favourite to 
Newcastle, whither the Earl followed in pursuit of them; but before the 
arrival of the pursuers, Edward had just time to escape to Tynemouth, where 
he embarked, and sailed with Gaveston to Scarborough. The castle of the 
latter place being deemed impregnable, the King left his favourite in it (some 
say that he made him govemor of that fortress), and returned to York, either 
to n.ise an army to oppose his enemies, or, by his presence, to allay their 
animosity. In the meantime the confederated nobles sent the Earl of 
of Pembroke, with a strong force, to besiege Scarborough, which, after a 
gallant defence, capitulated upon merciful terms (afterwards flagrantly violated 

• The original monument '11'88 erected by Hemy, Duke of Norfolk, in 1686; but it 
having gone to decay, the preaent pillar W1IS raised by the late Bal'l of Lonsdale, in 1803. 

t Stowe's Annals. 
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by the victor) which extended even to Gave&Wn himself, who was, however, 
taken prisoner. Pembroke, now master of the pereon of this public enemy, 
conducted him to the castle of Deddington, near Banbury, where, on pretence 
of other business, he left him protected by a feeble guard. Warwick, pro­
bably in concert with Pembroke, attacked the castle; the garriaon refused 
to make any resistance, and the unfortunate Gaveston was yielded up to 
him, and conducted to Warwick Castle. The Earls of Lancaster, Hereford, 
and Arundel, immediately repaired thither, and without any regard, either to 
the laws or the military capitulation, they ordered the obnoxious · favourite 
to be beheaded, and the execution took place on Blacklow Hill (now Gavers­
ley Heath), on the 20th of June, 1812.* Such was the miserable end of 
Edward's first favourite. 

After the disastrous battle of Bannockburn, in 1814, in which Edward 
lost about 50,000 men, he narrowly escaped to York, where he held a great 
council. At this time the prices of the following articles were fixed by the 
King's writs :-for a stall or com fed ox, not more than £1. 4s.; for a grass 
fed ox, not more than 16s.; for a fat stalled cow, 12s.; for a com fed mutton 
with wool grown, Is. 8d. ; a fat hog, two years old, not to exceed Ss. 4d.; a 
fat goose, i!d.; a fat capon, 2d.; a fat hen, or two chickens, ltd.; and~' 
eggs, not more than ld. 

In the year 1815 there was a great famine and mortality; the ftesh of 
beasts was corrupted; men were forced to ~ on dogs and horses; many, 
it is said, eat not only their own children, but stole others to devour them 
also ; whilst the old prisoners in some of the prisons fell upon those newly 
brought in amongst them, and greedily devoured them whilst half alive. In 
the year following, Sir Josseline Danville, and his brother Robert, who, with 
200 men in the habit of friars, attacked the episcopal palace at Durham, and 
committed many notable robberies, were executed at York. In the same 
year the King issued orders from Beverley, for arming the whole population of 
Yorkshire and Northumberland, between the ages of 16 and 60, both horse 
and foot; with directions that the-y should be prepared to march with him 
against the Soots ; and he appointed officers to see that his commands were 
carried into execution.+ On the 16th of September he ordered the levy in 

• Hinderwell's B.ist. Scarborough, p. 61. 
t The regular and established modes of assembling armies in fonner times, when 

die ooustitutioual military fbrce of England consisted of feudal troops, and the posse 
comitatus. were as follows:-The tenant who held in capiu, that is one who held imme. 
diately from the King, the quantity of land amounting to a Knight's fee, was to hold him. 
&elf in readiness, with horse and anne, to aene tbe King in war, either at home or abroad, 
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the county of York to be inspected. The northern parts of the kingdom 
were so exhausted that the King was compelled to recruit his forces from the 
southern and western parts; and on the 12th of August, 1318, he issued 
orders from Nottingham, to every city and borough throughout England, to 
raise the number of men appointed in Ute respective summonses; and to have 
them well armed and accoutred, to resist the threatened invasion of the 
Scots.* The campaign not having commenced till the following spring, the 
King issued orders early in the year for arming the population of the whole 
kingdom, between the ages of 20 and 60. 

By the King's order, according to Stowe, the Clerks of the Exchequer set 
out for York, on the 16th of October, 1319, with the Dom~sday Book and 
other records, which, with provision, laded twenty-one carts. The Judges of 
the King's Bench came at the same time, and continued to transact the 
business of the court in the city of York for six months.t 

In 1318, the whole of the north of England, to the middle of Yorkshire, 
was ravaged with fire and sword, by an army of Scottish marauders, under 
the command of Bruce's famous Generals,-Thomas Randolph, Earl of 
Murray, and Sir James Douglas; and having burned the towns of North· 
allerton, Boroughbridge, Knaresborough, Skipton, and Scarborough, and 

at his own expense, for a stated time; generally 40 days in the year; and this service 
being accomplished, the tenant could either return home, or if he or his followers after. 
wards continued to serve with the army, they were paid by the King. The quantity of 
land, or sum of money, which constituted a Knight's foo, appears to have varied at 
dift'erent periods. In the reigns of Henry IT., and Edward II., a Knight's fee wns stated 
at .£20 per annum ; and the number of Knight's fees in the kingdom was estimated at 
60,000. Grou'• Mil. 4fltiq., t~ol. i., p. 4.. A tenant who had several Knight's fees, might 
discharge them by able substitutes. The posse comitatus included every free man 
between the ages of 15 and 60. The chief duty of this body being to preserve peace, 
under the command of the Sheri1F, they dift'ered from the feudal troops, inasmuch as 
they were not liable to be called out, except in ease of internal commotion, or actual 
invasion : on such ooeaaions they could legally be marched out of their respective 
counties, but in no case could they be sent to do military duty out of the kingdom. 
Besides these means of raising armies, under the authority of the royal prerogative, on 
extraordinary occasions, districts, cities, burghs, and even particular persons, were 
obliged to find men, horses, and arms, at the will and pleasure of his sovereign. After 
the 16th of Edward m. (1348), new forms and modes of raising men were adopted. 
The monarchs contracted with their nobility and gentry to find them soldiers, at certain 
wages, and their parliaments supplied them with the means. 

• The comparative proportion of men raised in dift'erent towns in the neighbourhood 
may be seen in the following list:-York, 100 foot; BeYerley, 80; Scarborough, 30; 
Hull, 20; Grimsby, 20; Doncaster, 10; Stamford,15; and Derby,10. 

t Ryley, p. 664. 
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imposed a contribution of 1,000 marks upon the inhabitants of Ripon, they 
returned to Scotland, laden with much plunder, and carrying with them a 
great number of prisoners. This calamity was followed next year by a 
famine and pestilent disease, which carried off great numbers of the inhabi­
tants left' in the plunde~ districts. · In 1820, the army raised by Edward 
being at length organised, that monarch marched into the north at the head 
of it, and laid siege to the town of Berwick-upon-Tweed; hut he had scarcely 
l&t down before that place, when Randolph, the Scottish General, instead of 
attaeking the King at Berwick, led his forces across the Solway, aDd laid the 
country waste with fire and sword, even to the gates of York ; and after 
burning the suburbs of the city, returned northwards with their booty. 
William de Melton, at that time Archbishop, indignant at the insult thus 
offered to the city, took up arms, and hastily raised an army, composed of 
priests, canons, monks, husbandmen, artificers, and others, to the number 
of 10,000 men; and with this undisciplined band, he pursued the Scots, 
and unfortunately overtook them at Myton-upon-Swale, three miles east of 
Boroughbridge; where, with more zeal than skill, he attacked them on the 
12th of October {1320). 

" These able soldiers," says Holinshed, "had, as experienced commanders, 
the Archbishop, and Bishop of Ely, being the leaders of these warlike troops; 
much fitter to pray for the success of a battle, than to fight it." Aware of 
the pursuit, the Scots laid an ambuscade, and waited for the Archbishop's 
army, in the order of battle. According to the old chronicler, the scene of 
the battle was the "Myton meadow, near the Swale watel'." This would then 
be a large open field, now enclosed, and known by the name of " The logs," 
and extends about a mile along the east bank of the Swale, before its junction 
with the Ure, and an equal distance down the north bank of the Ouse. 
"Our idea of the battle," writes the editor of the Battl.d Fi6lds of YorkiAire, 
" is, that the English were advancing, over the open field, towards the Swale, 
enclosed on two sides by rivers, when the Scots, 'among the hay kookes 
bushed,' on the higher ground to the north, above, and about the village of 
Myton, setting fire to the hay, rushed suddenly, under cover of the smoke, 
upon their unprepared antagonists, cooped up in a bad situation, and routed 
them with little loss on their own side ; while that of the English amounted 
to between 8,000 and 4,000, of which 2,000 were drowned, most probably in 
the waters of the Ouse, opposite the village of Dunsforth, where the river is 
bodt wide and deep." It is however certain, that after a feeble resistance, 
the English were defeated, with the loss just stated, including Nicholas 
Flem.ing, who was then for the seventh time Mayor of York. 

T 
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In this battle such a number of ecclesiastics, in full canonicals, fell (800, 
according to Dr. Lingard), that it was, says Buchanan, for a long time called 
the Whiu Bauu; and it is sportively recorded by the Scottish writers, under 
the title of the Chapter of Mykm (or Mitton, as they erroneously call it). 
The Archbishop himself had a very narrow escape, and had business enough 
to fill up the vacancies in the church, on his return. The body of the Mayor 
of York was honourably interred in the parish church of St. Wilfrid, at York, 

• and the Archbishop granted an indulgence of forty days to all the citizens, 
who, being truly penitent, should approach the sacraments, and say a Pater· 
noster and Ave-Maria for the repose of his soul. A chantry was also founded 
for him in the same church. The Scots returned home without further 
molestation, but with a large increase of spoil; and Edward, as soon as he 
heard of the event, raised the siege of Berwick, and hastily retired to York. 

The King had now another great favourite, in the person of Hugh de 
Spencer, a man of considerable exterior accomplishments, but destitute of all 
prudence and moderation. His rapacity led to a combination of the nobles 
against him, in 1821, and Edward was compelled to banish both him and 
his father beyond the sea. In a short time, the King found himself in a 
situation to bid defiance to his enemies, and the Spencers were recalled. 
Again the factious, turbulent, but powerful Earl of Lancaster headed a con­
federacy of the nobles, and raised an army to oppose the King ; but having 
entered into an alliance with Bruce, King of Scotland, many of the English 
deserted him, and joined the standard of Edward. Lancaster, with the Earl 
of Hereford and a few other noblemen, having failed in an attempt to secure 
a position at Burton-upon-Trent, hastily retreated northward, to join the 
succours which were expected from Scotland. On the 16th of March, 1821, 
he arrived at Boroughbridge, where be found Sir Andrew Harcla, Governor 
of Carlisle, and Warden of the Western Marches, and Sir Simon Ward, 
Sheriff of Yorkshire, with a strong force, ready to bar his further progress. 
Harela, who had received the honour of Knighthood at the hand of Lancaster, 
was now tempted to prove his gratitude to him, at the expense of his duty 
to his Sovereign. Lancaster promised to confer upon him one of the five 
Earldoms then in his possession, if he (Barela) would help him with the forces 
under his command, to remove the Spencers; but theW arden of the Marches 
was incorruptible; and the Earl had nothing left but to tum back, and fight 
the King's army, which was in pursuit of him, or force the passage of the 
river before it came up; and he chose the latter of these alternatives. The 
river, which is here about sixty yards wide, was at that time traversed by a 
wooden bridge, the small town of Boroughbridge staDding on the south side. 
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The Earl's archers ftrst begin the fight, but were repelled by the more potent 
diacbarge of their adversaries. The men-at-arms next attempted to force the 
peaaage of the river, and the Earl of Hereford was slain by the thrust of a 
lance below his armour, through a chink in the bridge, by a Welsh soldier, 
who had hid himself beneath. Sir William Sulley and Sir Roger Bemefield 
were slain, and Sir Roger Clliford was wounded on the head. During this 
attack, Lancaster had led a part of his army to a ford, a little lower down : 
bat here again he was repelled by a shower of arrows from the opposite bank. 
Seeing all his attempts to pass the river by force baftled, his courage entirely 
6Wed him. and he retired into a chapel, where he was seized, stripped of his 
armour, and treated with great indignity. The rest of his party were dis­
pened. and a great many of them taken. Lancaster was conveyed to York, 
when he was insulted, pelted with dirt, and called in derision "King Arthur." 
Be was then imprisoned in the castle of Pontefract, in a dungeon, in a 
uew tower, which be himself had recently made, and ·the only entrance to 
which was by a traJMioor in the ftoor of the turret. Shortly afterwards the 
King being at Pontefract, the Earl was arraigned, in the hall of the castle, 
before a amall number of peers, among whom were the Spencers, his mortal 
enemies. As might have been expected, he was condemned, and sentenced 
to be hanged, drawn, and quartered; but through respect for his royal blood, 
the punishment was changed to decapitation ; and the sentence was immedi· 
ately put into execution. The fate of Lancaster involved that of many others. 
NeYer since the Conquest had such havoc been made among the ancient 
mobility ; never since then had the scaffold been drenched with so much 
moble blood as on this occasion. No less than ninety-five Barons and Knights 
were taken prisoners, and afterwards tried for high treason. The Lords 
W amm de Lisle, William Touchet, Thomas Mandute, Fitz William the 
younger, William Cheney, and Henry de Bradbum, were executed at Ponte­
lraet; and the Lords Clliford, Mowbray, and Deynville, were executed at 
York, and their bodies hung in chains. 

The wooden bridge, upon which the fate of the Lancaster faction was de· 
eided, has since been succeeded by a handsome one of stone. The ground 
occupied by the forces of Barela and Ward, is now covered with houses, 
timber, and coal yards; and partly by a short canal, belonging to the river 
Ure nangation. At a place called TM Old Bankl, below the bridge, many 
fragments of arms and armour were found in 1792, when the embankments 
of the ri•er were formed. These were probably relics of this battle. 

In 1322, the King, after having conciliated the Barons, held another Par­
liament in York, in which the decree, made in the preceding year in London, 
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for alienating their estates, was reversed, and the elder Spencer created Earl 
of Winchester. At this Parliament the several ordinances of the Barons, 
made at different times, were examined, and such of them as were confirmed, 
were, by the King's order, directed to be called statutes ; the clergy of the 
province of York granted the King a subsidy of fourpence in each mark; 
Robert Baldock was made Lord Chancellor; and Edward, the King's eldest 
son, was created Prince of Wales, and Duke of Aquitain. After the dissolu­
tion of this Parliament, Edward raised an immense army to oppose Robert 
Bruce, who was then desolating the English border; and in the month of 
August, in the same year, at the head of this army, he marched into Scot­
land ; and though the enemy had destroyed all the forage, he penetrated as 
far as Edinburgh, into this region of total famine. Being obliged to retire 
for want of provisions, this mighty host retreated to England, and so ravenous 
were the soldiers, after their late abstinence, that no less than 16,000 of them 
died of repletion. Bruce, aware of the retreat of the English, closely followed 
them, and then he became the aggressor. In order to end the war, he con­
ceived the bold design of capturing the person of the King; and with that 
intention, he came up v.-ith the English army, encamped upon an advanta­
geous piece of ground, near Byland Abbey, about fourteen miles from York, 
which Edward had made his head quarters, while he refreshed and recruited 
.his men. The English were posted on the Abbey bank-e high ridge of 
land, extending from Cambe Hill, by Oldstead, to the village of Wass--a 
roost favourable position. Bruce, who well knew how to encounter great 
obstacles in the field, sent his two associates in arms, Randolph and Douglas, 
to storm the narrow pass, which led to the top of the hill ; whilst he turned 
the English position, by sending a body of Highlanders to scale the steep 
cliff, and thus surprised the enemy, by attacking them at once in flank 
and rear. 

After a short fight the English were routed, and fled, leaving their strong 
position, o.nd much spoil in the hands of the victors. Edward, who was at 
dinner in the Abbey when the battle began, made his escape to York witli 
difficulty, but he was indebted for his safety to the swiftness of his horse. 
He left his privy seal, plate, money, and other treasures, behind him. The 
fugitives were chased towards York by Walter Stewart, before which city, it 
is said, he halted until the evening, with only 500 men-at-arms, to see if the 
enemy would come out to tl1e encounter. There is no record of tlie number 
slain in this fight, but several of the nobility were taken prisoners, among 
whom were John de Bretagne and Henry de Sully. The Scottish army re· 
turned unmolested, and laden with spoil. Byland Abbey, so close to the 
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scene of conflict, was no doubt plundered of all that was worth carrying 
away ; but it was not destroyed, nor its inmates slaughtered, as were those 
of Dryburgh and Melrose by the English in their late incursion. 

According to the expression of the old chronicle, the battle of Byland 
Abbey took place "fifteen days after Michaelmas, 1822." Sir Andrew 
Barela, now Earl of Carlisle, was accused of having entered into a traitorous 
correspondence with the Scottish King, and of supineness and wilful inaction; 
in not interrupting the march of the Scots, and thus preventing them pursuing 
the retreat of Edward ; and with all the savage barbarity of the times, he 
was tried, condemned, and executed. Bu~ even the guilt of that unfortunate 
nobleman (and that is doubtful) could not shift the blame of the shameful 
defeat and infamous Bight of the English, their army being much more 
numerous than that of the Scots. Mter this battle a truce was agreed upon 
between the two nations, to continue for the space of thirteen years. 

Edward was shortly after deposed and imprisoned by the direction of Mor­
timer, the paramour of his Queen, Isabella; and he was finally murdered 
with unparalleled cruelty. His son, then but fourteen years old, was crowned 
in 1327, under the title of Edward ill.; and his reign, which lasted for 
fifty years and a few months, shines with much lustre in the annals of 
England, and constitutes a splendid period in the history of York. In the 
first year of his reign, the youthful King ordered his whole army to rendez­
vous in York. in order to oppose the Scots, who, with two powerful armies, 
including 20,000 light cavalry, under the conduct of the distinguished Gene­
rals, Randolph and Douglas, were ravaging the northern part of the kingdom. 
While the King lay at York, preparing for the expedition, he was joined by 
John, Lord Beaumont, of Haioault, and several other knights and gentlemen, 
who, with his retinue, composed a band of 500, or, according to Knightson, 
of 2000 men. Most of these foreigners were lodged in the suburbs, but to 
Lord John himself, the King assigned the monastery of White Monks in the 
city. The King, with the Queen-mother, made their abode at the monastery 
of the Friars Minors. For six weeks Edward held his court at York, whilst 
an army of 60,000 men was being raised. On Trinity Sunday the King gave 
a spleodid entertainment at the monastery. To his usual retinue of 500 
Knights, he added 60 more ; and the Queen-mother had in her suite 60 
ladies of the highest rank and greatest beauty in England. 

During the festivities a contest arose between the Hainaulters and a body 
of Lincolnshire archers, who lodged with them in the suburbs; and hostilities 
once begun, abettors successively came in on both sides, till nearly 8000 of the 
archers were collec~. Many of the foreigners were slain, and the rest were 
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obliged to retire. During the fray part of the city took fire, and it was with 
difficulty that the flames were subdued. On the following night the foreigners, 
determined on revenge, headed by their officers, fell upon the Linoolnshire 
and Northamptonshire archers, and slew about 800 of them. This rash act 
induced the English to combine, to the number of 6000, in the horrible reso­
lution of sacrificing the whole of the Hainaulters ; but this catastrophe was 
arrested, and the tranquillity of the city restored by the firmneas and wise 
precautions of the King.* The Scots being intormed of the warlike prepa­
rations of Edward, sent ambassadors to York to negociate a treaty of peace; 
upon the failure of which, Edward advanced against them with his army, in 
all the martial pomp of those chivalrous times. After a close pursuit the 
enemy was at last overtaken and surrounded at Stanhope Park, and would 
have surrendered but for the treachery of Lord Mortimer, who opened a road 
for their escape. 'Fbe Scots then withdrew their forces, but Douglas aa­
saulted the English camp at night, and nearly succeeded ·in killing the King. 
On the failure of this attempt the Scots, after doing what mischief they 
could, retreated within their own territories. Edward, excessively chagrined 
at the escape of an enemy whom he had so thoroughly in his power, returned 
to York, and afterwards to London. Lord John Beaumont, upon receiving 
£14,000.-the sum Cor which he and his foreign soldiers had been engaged, 
returned to the continent ; and shortly afterwards a marriage was negociated 
between his niece, Philippa, the most celebrated beauty of the age, and the 
young King of England. This marriage was solemnizt,d in the Cathedral 
of York, by the Archbishop of that province, and the Bishop of Ely, on the 
l;l4th of January, 1828, it being the Sunday before the eve of the festival of 
the Conversion of St. Paul. 

The court was then at York, and for three weeks the Ceastings, jousts, 
tournaments, maakings, revels, interludes, &c., were continued without inter· 
mission. " Upon these happy nuptials," says Froissart, " the whole kingdom 
teemed with joy." But jealousies again arose between the Hainault soldiery, 
which formed part of the retinue of Beaumont, and the English ; and the 
former took advantage of this carnival to treat the latter with outrage and 
violence. The foreigners not only set fire to the suburbs of the city, by 
which a whole parish was nearly destroyed, but they violently aaaaulted 
several of the wives, daughters, and maid servants of the inhabitants. The 
citizens, enraged by these proceedings, armed themselves, and challenged 
the Hainaulters to battle. In this desperate contest, which took place in the 

• Leluld'a Co1l voL i, p. 307. BJDler, voL iv., p. 292. 
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lb'eet, called Watlingate \DOW Lawrence Street), no less than IS27 of the 
foreigners, and ~(la Englishmen, were slain, or drowned in the Ouse. 

In 188~, Edward summoned another Parliazaent to tlris city; and two 
years afterwards, the King, on his march to Scotland, stayed, and kept his 
Christmas here. On his return from that country, he held another Parlia­
ment in this city, to which Baliol, whose cause he bad embraced, in 
opposition to David Bruce, was summoned to attend him; but Baliol, not 
daring to trust himself, for fear of being seized by his Barons on his journey, 
sent the Lords Beaumont and Montecute to excuse him, and afterwards met 
&he King at Newcastle. In 1881S, Edward took up his residence at the 
monastery of the Holy Trinity, in tlris city, and held a council, in which the 
Bishop of Durham, then Chancellor, resigned the great seal into his hands, 
mel he immediately gave it up to the Archbishop of Canterbury, who took 
the 11B118l oaths of office in the presence of the council, and on the same day 
proceeded to the" church of the Blessed Mary," where he affixed it to several 
deeds. It appears in Cotton's Collections, that in tlris, and in the preceding 
reign, there were no leu than twelve Parliaments assembled in York. During 
the wars in France, in which Edward and his renowned son, the Black 
Prince (so called from the colour of his armour), gained the memorable 
1ictoriee of Crecy and Poictiers, the Scots formed a resolution, suggested, 
most probably, by the French monarch, to invade and ravage the northem 
counties of England during Edward's absence. Accordingly, in 18(6, David 
Bruce, with an army of 86,000 men, well armed and trained, entered by the 
eas&ern marches, and destroyed the country with fire and sword as far as 
York; and actually set fire to the suburbs, and then retired to a short 
distance from that city. Philippa, the heroic consort of King Edward, who 
then kept her court at York, iSBUed peremptory orders to arm the population, 
whether laity or clergy ; which was soon accomplished under the active 
superintendence of Archbishop William de la Zouch, Lord Percy, and others. 
A gallant army was soon assembled before the gates of York, and the Queen 
headed it in person. The second division was commanded by the Archbishop, 
in which were found all the clergy of the diocese, who were able to bear 
anna. The two armies met at a place called Nevil's Cross, in the county 
of Durham, on the 17th of October, in the same year; and though the Scots 
were unprepared for immediate action, yet they thought it an easy matter to 
oonquer an army of clerks and citizens, commanded by a woman and a priest. 
Bot they were miserably deceived. The English, fighting for their altars 
and &heir homes, entered the battle with a full resolution not to survive the 
loes of their lreedom. The camage of that day was dreadful. The English 
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gained a signal victory; David Bruce was taken prisoner; about 100 of the 
choicest Knights in Scotland lost their lives ; and 20,000 men perished in 
the contest.* The English lost 4,000 private men, and five Esquires. After 
the battle, the victorious Queen returned to York in triumph ; and having 
seen the city strongly fortified, and then leaving the Lords Percy and Neville 
to the government of the north, she returned to London, carrying her royal 
prisoner in her train. William de HatfieW, the second son of Edward and 
Philippa, died in his infancy in York, and was buried in the Cathedral. 

This reign was unhappily distinguished by a pestilence, called the " black 
death," which was uncommonly fatal and extensive. It broke out in l349,t 
and raged at York for nine weeks, and considerably diminished the popula­
tion. It took a wider range, and proved more destructive than any calamity 
of that nature known in the annals of mankind. Its effects continued, in 
some degree, even to the time that W alsingham wrote, which was about 
seventy years afterwards. In the last year of this long and eventful reign, 
the Parliament granted the King a capitation tax of 4d. from every lay 
person of either sex, in the kingdom, above fourteen years of age; and 12d. 
from each beneficed clergyman. The only persons exempted from it, were 
the four mendicant orders of religious, and real known beggars. From the 
accounts of the produce of this tax, the entire population has been estimated. 
The city of London was rated at 35,000 souls ; York, at 11,000; Bristol, 
9,000; Coventry and Plymouth, each 7,000; Norwich, 6,000; Lincoln, 
5,000; Lynn, 5,000; Colchester, 4,500; Beverky, Oxford, and Newcastle­
upon·Tyne, each 4,000 ; Ely, Canterbury, and Bury, in Suffolk, each 3,500; 
Gloucester, Leicester, and Shrewsbury, each 3,000; and Ki7lflltlm-up<m-Hull, 
2,000.: Thus England had but t\VO towns containing a population of more 
than 10,000 souls; six only with a population exceeding 5,000; and but 
eighteen above 3,000. 

Richard TI., grandson to Henry III., was but eleven years old when he 
came to the tlnone. The late King had left the kingdom involved in many 
dangerous and expensive wars, which demanded large and constant supplies. 
The capitation, or poll tax, levied at the close of the last reign, led the way 
to others in rapid succession. The ultimate consequence was an insurrection 
of the lower classes of the people ; occasioned, perhaps, not eo much from the 
nature of the tax itself, as from the brutal insults attending its collection. It 
began in Essex, and the rebels were headed by a profligate priest. who had 

• Knighton's Coil. 2590. + Walsingbam, p. 118. 
l M.S. penes me, calculat.ed from t41l Sub!!idy Roll of C,lat Edward m. 
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assumed the name of Jack Straw. The men of Kent, who were not long 
behind their neighbours iu Essex, placed themselves under the leadership of 
a blacksmith, named Wat Tyler, or, according to some, a Kcntish tyler, 
named Walter. The number of the rebels soon amounted to 100,000 men, 
and the discontent became general in the southern and midland counties. 
The flame of rebellion soon spread from the southern coast of Kent, to the 
right bank of the Humber; on the southern coast it reached as far as Win­
chester; and on the eastern, to Beverley and Scarborough. 

Tyler, at the head of a large body of men, marched into Loudon, and at 
Smithfield he was met by the King, who invited hini to a conference, under 
a pretence of hearing and redressing his grievances. Tyler, ordering his 
companions to retire, presented himself before the King, and accordingly 
began the conference. Whilst stating his complaints, and making his 
demands, he now and then lifted up his sword in a menacing manner ; and 
at length he laid his hand on the bridle of his Sovereign, which insolence so 
raised the indignation of William Walworth, Mayor of London, who was 
attending on the King, that he stunned Tyler with a blow of the mace, nnd 
Robert Standish, one of the King's Esquires, riding up, dispatched him with 
his sword. The rebels seeing their leader fall, bent their bows to talw 
revenge, when Richard, though not yet quite si.'t.teen years of age, appealing 
to them, told them that be would be their leader, and that they should have 
whatever they desired. The mob followed the King into the fields at Isling­
ton, and there he granted to them a charter, which he soon after revoked in 
Parliament. 

The Scots having entered Northumberland, and taken three castles in 
the Marches, Richard, in 1885, set out from the south to oppose them, at 
the head of 80,000 men. The progress of the King was arrested at York, by 
an unfortunate circumstance, which cast a gloom over the seq•el of the expe­
dition. In the neighbourhood of the city (near Bishopthorpe), Lord Ralph 
Stafford, eldest son of the Earl of Stafford, one of the royal favourites, was 
buely assassinated by the band of Sir John Holland. The father and 
relatives of the slain loudly demanded justice ; and Richard confiscated the 
property of the 8888Bsin, and threatened hini with the gallows, if be ever left 
the Sanctuary of St. John of Beverley, where he had taken refuge. 

In 1889, King Richard visited York, for the purpose of adjusting a disa­
greement between the ecclesiastical and civil authorities; and during this 
visit be took his sword from his side, and gave it to be borne before William 
de Selby, the mayor, and his successors, whom be dignified with the title of 
Lord Mayor, which honour has ever since been retained, and is possessed by 

u 
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no other city except those of London and Dublin. Richard afterwards visited 
York several times, and granted the citizens some valuable charters, immu· 
nities, and privileges. 

In tho year 1390-1, a contagious disease, of the nature of a plague, raged 
with great violence throughout England; of which malady there fell a sacrifice 
to it, in the city of York alone, about 12,000 souls. In 1892, Richard, being 
displeased with the citizens of London, the courts of Kings's Bench and 
Chancery were again removed to York, but they remained here only from 
Midsummer to Christmas. Thomas Arundel, Archbishop of tho diocese, was 
then Lord Chancellor. In the same year the King presented the first mace 
to the city, to be carried before the Lord Mayor, and a cap of maintenance 
to the sword bearer;* and in 1396, the same monarch erected the city of 
York into a distinct county of itself, and appointed two Sheriffs, in lieu of 
the three Bailiffs that previously formed a part of the corporation. In this 
reign, Edmund Plantageaet, surnamed De Langley, the fifth son of Edward 
ill. and Queen Philippa, was created the first Duke of York. 

In the year 1898, a quarrel arose between Henry Bolingbroke, Earl of 
Hereford (afterwards D•.lke of Lancaster, and King Henry IV.), and Thomas 
Mowbray, Duke of Norfolk, who had accused each other of treason. Richard, 
by the advice of his council, sent these two noblemen into exile, the first 
for six years, and the other for life. This arbitrary procedure rendered the 
King odious to his subjeets in general, and especially to the discontented 
Barons. In 1399, Bolingbroke, then Duke of Lancaster, finding that the 
rebellious nobles were ready to dispossess Richard of the crown, sailed from 
France with only three ships, attended by about sixty gentlemen and their 
servants, and landed at Ravenspur, or Ravenspume, in Holderness, on the 
4th of July, where be was joined by Lords Willoughby, Ross, Darcy, and 
Beaumont, with a great number of the gentry and commonalty. At Doncaster, 
the Duke was joined by the Earls of Northumberland and Westmorland, 
two of the most powerful Barons in England, and a great number of people 
from all parts of the country. The King himself during these commotions 
was in Ireland, and soon after he landed in England, his army deserted him, 
and he himself was betrayed, apprehended, and sent to the tower, and Boling­
broke proclaimed King. Richard was soon after deposed by the two Houses of 

• The Cap of Maiftlnlaftct, which is atill worn by the sword bearer on all state oooa­
sions in the city of York, is traditionally the identical hat of King Bichard II., who, 
npon some festive occasion, placed it upon the head of the nearest person, who happened 
to be the Lord Mayor's Esquire. It was originally crimson velvet, edged with sold; but 
it is now very much taded, aD4 hu oDlf been held qether by repeated re-linings. 
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Parliament, and sent to Pontelract Castle, where he died or was murdered. 
Some historians assert that he was there inhumanly starved to death ; whilst 
others inform us that Sir Piers Exton, with eight ruffians, entered his 
chamber, disarmed and attempted to lay hold of him, but that he, perceiving 
their deadly enoand, so furiously attacked them, that he slew four of them 
with a weapon which he had seized from the first who entered ; and that 
whilst combating with the rest of the murderers, Sir Piers mounted a chair 
behind him, and cut him down with a pole-axe.* Scrope, Archbishop of York 
at that time, mentions his death by hunger, but adds ut wlgariter dicitur. 
When preparing for his expedition to Ireland, Richard made his will, in 
which he was very particular in ordering the ceremonials of his funeral, and 
for which purpose he allotted £4,000.t Within ten months the unhappy 
monarch was deposed, murdered, and buried without pomp. Such is the 
mutability of human greatness. 

Soon after Henry Bolingbroke ascended the throne of England, under the 
title of Henry IV., Henry Percy, Earl of Northumberland, who had lost a 
brother and son in the battle of Shrewsbury ; Richard Scrope, Archbishop 
of York, whose brother Henry, the King had beheaded; and Thomas, Lord 
Mowbray, Earl Marshal of England, whose father died in exile, united with 
Lords Falconberge, Bardolf, Hastings, and others, in a conspiracy to depose 
him. Through the impatience of the Archbishop the plot was disclosed. 
Scrope framed several impeachments against the King, which he caused to 
be fixed against the doors of the churches of his own diocese, and sent them 
in the form of a circular into other counties, inviting the people to take up 
arms to reform abuses. Henry was charged by the conspiratorS with perjury, 
rebellion, usurpation, the murder of his sovereign (Richard II.), irreligion, 
extortion, and the illegal execution of many clergymen and gentlemen.: 
The Archbishop preached a sermon to three congregations in his own Cathe­
dral, and raised 20,000 men suddenly to arms, who joined his standard (on 
which was painted the five wounds of our Saviour) at Shipton-on-the-moor, 
a few miles from York. To put down this rebellion, the King sent an army 
of 80,000 men into Yorkshire, under the command of the Earl of Westmor­
land and the Prince John. The Archbishop's forces were advantageously 
encamped on the forest of Galtres, without the gates of the city, when the 
King's army arrived at York. Westmorland being weaker than the insurgents, 
did not consider it prudent to attack them ; and having affected to favour 

• Boothroyd's Hist. Pontefract, p. 114. t Rymer's Feeders, tom. viii, p. 71S. 
: ADg. Su., 862. 
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their views, he, by means of flattery and intrigue, obtained an interview 
with the Prelate. The meeting took place in sight of both armies, the 
Archbishop being attended by the Earl Marshal, and the Generals shook 
hands, and reciprocated other tokens of reconciliation and friendship. The 
Archbishop declared that he had come not to make war but peace, and 
particularized the different grievances which he thought it necessary to 
redress for the prosperity of the kingdom. The wily Earl, by some specious 
pretences and promises, induced the Archbishop to dismiss his forcea to their 
respective homes, which was no sooner done, then the Prelate and the Earl 
Marshal were arrested for high treason, and their lives paid the forfeit of 
their precipitancy and misplaced confidence. They were carried prisoners to 
Pontefract, where the King was, who ordered them to follow the court to the 
primatical Palace of Bishopthorpe. There the King commanded Chief 
Justice Gascoigne to pronounce on them sentence of death ; but that upright 
and inflexible Judge refused, on the plea that the laws gave him no jurisdic­
tion over the life of a Prelate, and that both he and the Earl had a right to 
be tried by their Peers.* The King, however, found a more obsequious 
agent in a Knight named Fulthorpe, who, at the King's command, without 
indictment or trial, condemned them, with Sir John Lamplugh, Sir Robert 
Plumpton, and several others, to be beheaded. Scrope immediately ex­
claimed, " The just and true God knows that I never intended evil against 
the power of King Henry; and I beg you to pray that my death may not be 
revenged upon him or his friends." On the 8th of June, 1405, the Arch­
bishop suffered with great firmness in a field between York and Bisho~ 
thorpe; his body was interred in the Cathedral, and his head was fixed on 
a pole and placed on the city walls, where it long remained a spectacle for 
vulgar eyes, and a standing jest for the enemies of religion.t Being 
regarded in the light of a martyr, his tomb was visited by so many devotees 
as to attract the attention and interference of the King. The Earl Marshal's 
body was buried also in the Cathedral, and his head was fixed on a spike, 

• It is related of this upright Judge, that on another occasion, one of the aasociates of 
the King's eldest son (Henry, tho eccentric "Prince Hal" of Shakespeare's" King Henry 
the Fourth"), had been arraigned before him for felony. Tho Prince imperiously re­
quired the release of the prisoner, and when that was refused, drew his sword on the 
Judge. But Gascoigne coolly ordered him into confinement in the prison of the King's 
Bench ; and the young Henry ha(l the good sense to submit to the punishment. When 
the incident was related to his father, he is said to have exclaimed, "Happy the 
monarch who possesses a Judge so rcsoluw in the discharge of his duty, and a son so 
willing to yield to the authority of the law." 

t Walsingham. 
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and exhibited on the walls of the city, Henry then issued orders from 
Pontefract for the seizure of all the liberties and privileges of the city of 
York ; many of the adherents of the Archbishop were tried and executed, 
bot a general pardon, dated at Ripon, was soon after published, and York 
was reinstated in the enjoyment of its former privileges. Thus did the 
citizens testify their affection and gratitude for their ro:tal benefactor, 
Richard II., even after his death. In the second year of this reign (1401) 
Henry visited York, on his return from Scotland, and in that city witnessed 
a tournament between two English and two foreign Knights ; the foreigners 
proved the victors, and the King was 80 pleased with the combat, that he 
gave Sir John Cornwall, one of the combatants, his sister in marriage. 

In 1408, the Earl of Northumberland and Lord Bardolph, who, after the 
defeat of the insurrection in 1405, had retired into Scotland, raised a powerful 
force, and again appeared in arms against the King. Sir Thomas Rokeby, 
Sheriff of Yorkshire, assembled the IJ08U comitattu to oppose the Earl, who 
was desolating the country as he passed along. The Sheriff took his post at 
Grimbald Bridge, near Knaresborough, but the Earl seeing the advantage of 
his position, made no attempt to force the passage, but turned aside, and 
directed his course towards Wetherby, closely pursued by the Sheriff. From 
Wetherby the rebels turned to Tadcaster, and finally both parties drew up 
their forces for battle, on Bramham Moor, near Haslewood. The Sheriff 
fought under the standard of St. George, and the Earl under the standard of 
his own arms. The fight was contested with great fury for the time it con­
tinued, and "victory fell to the Sheriff." Northumberland was slain on the 
field, and Bardolph was taken prisoner, but 80 severely wounded that he died 
shortly afterwards. The King soon after went to York, and finding several 
of the Earl's adherents in the city, he completed his revenge by the execution 
of many of them, and the confiscation of their estates.* The brave Rokeby 
was then granted the manor of Spofforth (formerly belonging to the Earl), 
with all it.' appurtenances, during his life. 

The people of England generally were as yet only half civilized, and could 
bear unmoved the recurrence of sights, as well as commit actions, which 
ought to be esteemed most shocking to humanity. Who could bear, in our 
more refined times, to behold the mangled limbs of a dismembered human 
being publicly exposed to the gaze and insult of the multitude. Yet in the 
14th and 15th centuries, such scenes were of common occurrence. The 
body of the unfortunate Earl of Northumberland, after being slain in this 

• Rymer, vol. viii., pp. 620, 630. 
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battle, was quartered, and one part placed on a gate in London, another at 
Lincoln, a third at Berwick-upon-Tweed, and the fourth at Newca.stle-upon­
Tyne. The head, "full of silver hoary hairs," was also sent to London, and 
placed upon the bridge at the summit of a pole. We have just seen the head 
of an Archbishop treated with a similar indignity at York. But a still more 
horrible display took place during the same reign. The Earl of Huntingdon, 
Sir Thomas Blount, and Sir Benedict Seley, were executed for treason, and 
their quarters were carried to London, to -be publicly exhibited. The pro­
cession through the city was headed by the Earl of Rutland C8.J'J'fing on a 
pole the head of Lord Spencer, his brother-in-law, which he presented in 
triumph to Henry, as a testimony of his loyalty.* The people that were 
capable of enduring such scenes as these with satisfaction and delight, could 
have made but small progress towards civilization. Barbarism too might be 
ashamed of the extremes to which the indulgence of private hatred and re­
venge was carried. To pounce on an enemy in the dark, and to cut out his 
tongue, or deprive him of sight, was of such common occurrence, that an Act 
of Parliament was passed for its suppression. Henry IV., whose usurpation 
was the source of innumerable woes to England ; and who preserved his 
crown by shedding torrents of noble blood, died on the lOth of March, 1418, 
in the 46th year of his age, after a reign of 18 years. This monarch used 
to say that so long as Englishmen have wealth, they are obedient; but when 
poor, they were liable to rebellion. 

Henry V., the hero of Agincourt, being engaged during the chief part of 
his reign in his wars with France, made only one visit to York, during 
a progress to the north, in 1421. The Queen accompanied the King, and 
after a short stay at York, the royal pair proceeded to visit, and perform 
their devotions at the venerable shrine of St. John of Beverley, which had 
been reported to have exuded blood all the day on which the battle of Agio­
court was fought, in 1415. During the stay of the King and Queen at York, 
news arrived of the death of the King's brother, the Duke of Clarence, who 
was slain in France.t 

In the course of this reign, commands from the King were received by the 
Lord Mayor, to seize and confiscate the estates and effects of divers persons, 
who bad been tried and executed for high treason; amongst whom was 
Henry, Lord Scrope, of Masham, beheaded .at Southampton in 1418. His 
head was ordered to be placed on the top of Micklegate Bar, York. The Earl 
of Cambridge, who had married the heiress of the house of York, and Sir 

• Hume's England, vol. ill., p. M. t Walsingham. 
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Thomas Gray, were executed with Lord Scrope. The latter was Lord 
Treasurer of England, and had married Joan, Duchess Dowager of York. 
The execution of these noblemen, we are told by Rapin, "was the first spark 
of that fire which almost consumed, in process of time, the two houses of 
Lancaster and York." Henry died in France on the last day in August, 
14~~. and was buried near the shrine of Edward the Confessor, in West­
minster Abbey. 

During the sanguinary dispute .between these two houses, commonly desig­
nated the Wan of tM Roau,* this city was occasionally connected with the 
contending parties, and though not actually the seat of war, several of the 
battles took place in the neighbourhood. All the foreign invasions this king­
dom had suffered, were never so destructive as this most unnatural intestine 
war, between two fierce factions, filled with such implacable hatred towards 
each other, that nothing but the utter extirpation of one of the parties could 
satiate this extraordinary thirst of power. During the space of thirty years, 
wltich this cruel conflict lasted, twelve regular battles were fought within this 
kingdom by Englishmen only; above eighty royal Princes fell by each other's 
swords ;t and the ancient nobility and gentry of the kingdom was almost 
annihilated. No less than 100,000 of the commons sacrificed their lives in 
these unnatural struggles. 

Henry VI., a man better fitted for a monastic life than a regal one, was by 
no means competent to guide the helm of government at the turbulent period 
in which he reigned. The house of York seized this opportunity to assert its 
title to the throne, and after wading through an ocean of blood, at length 
obtained it. · The incapacity of the King incited Richard Plantagenet, Duke 
of York, to urge his claim to the crown of England, in right of his mother, 
through whom he descended from Philippa, only daughter of Lionel, Duke of 
Clarence, second son of Edward Ill. ; whereas Henry VI. descended from 
John of Ghent, or Gaunt, Duke of Lancaster, third son of the same monarch. 
The Duke's illustrious descent, immense possessions, and superior attain­
ments, gave him influence with the nobility, and procured him formidable 
connections ; added to which, he stood plainly in succession before Henry. 

• So ealled from the dift'erent symbols of party which the people took. Lord Camp. 
bell, in his Lit~u of the Lord Choncellon, t~ol. i., p. 3:12, says, " The claims of the rival 
houses being debated in the Temple Gardens, London, the red and white roses there 
plucked became the opposing emblems." The partisans of the house of York chose 
the W1aiU rose aa their mark of distinction ; and those of the house of Lancaster the 
lU4 rose. 

t Daniel Kennet's Bist. of England. 
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In presenting his claim to the crown, be levied war against the King, and 
without material loss, slew about 5,000 of the royal forces at St. Albans, on 
the 22nd of May, 1454; amongst whom were the Duke of Somerset, the 
Earl of Northumberland, the Earl of Stafford, eldest son of the Duke of 
Buckingham, Lord Clifford, and many other persons of distinction. After 
this battle, the Duke's irresolution, and the heroism of Margaret of A.njou, 
Queen of Henry VI., caused a suspension of hostilities. The leaders on both 
aides assented to meet in London, and be ~nciled. The Duke of York led 
the Queen in solemn procession to St. Paul's, and the chiefs of one party 
marched hand' in band with the chiefs of the other. It was a public demon­
stration of peace, with secret mutual distrust ; and an accident aroused the 
slumbering strife. One of the King's retinue having insulted a retainer of 
the Earl of Warwick's, a partisan of the bouse of York, their companions 
fought, and both parties in every county in the kingdom flew to arms. The 
battle of Blorel,leath, in Staffordshire, on the 23rd of September, 1459, was 
won by the Lancastrians, the Duke of York being in Ireland, and the Earls 
of Warwick, Marche (afterwards King Edward IV.), and Salisbury, with 
many other noble adherents to the house of York, escaped to Calais.• Par­
liament soon after declared the Duke of York, and all his partisans, guilty of 
high treason, their estates confiscated, and they and their posterity incapable 
of inheriting to the fourth generation. The Lancastrian party being now 
triumphant, determined to extirpate the Yorkists; and with this view, the 
Earl of Wiltshire and Lord Scales were empowered to search out &Dd punish 
those who had home arms for the Duke of York. But these severities had a 
different effect from what was expected ; the discontents of the nation in­
creased; the fugitive Lords returned from Calais, and erected the standard 
of rebellion; and the .Arehbishop of Canterbury, the Bishops of London, 
Lincoln, Ely, and Exeter, and a large number of the Barons, declared in 
their favour. 

In the meanwhile, the King and Queen assembled their forces at Coventry. 
The Earls of Marche and Warwick, with a numerous army, hastened from 
London into the midls.nd counties. The King's forces, commanded by the 
Dukes of Somerset and Buckingham, advanced to meet them, and on the 
lOth of July, 1460, a decisive battle was fought on the banks of the Neue, in 
the vicinity of Northampton. Mter an obstinate contest for five hours, the 
King's army was completely routed, the King himself taken prisoner, and 
upwards of 10,000 soldiers slain, or drowned in attempting to cross the river. 

• Hall's Chron., p. 174. Holliashed, p. 1297. 
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The slaughter fell chiefly on the nobility and gentry, the common people 
being spared by order of the Earls of Warwick and Marche ;* and the Duke 
of Buckingham, the Earl of Shrewsbury, the Lords Beaumont and Egremont, 
with Sir William Lney, and several other nobles and officers of distinction, 
were left dead on the field. - Henry was brought a prisoner into N orthamp­
t.ou, and conveyed to London in a few days. The Queen, the young Prince 
of Wales, and the Duke of Somerset, fled into the county of Durham, and 
from thence to Wales, and afterwards into Scotland. After this success, the 
Duke of York returned from Ireland, and arrived in London. soon after the 
meeting of the Parliament, which assembled on the 9th of October, and in 
which the claims of the two houses of York and Lancaster were fully investi­
gated. The Duke's title being indefeasible, it was decreed that Henry should 
enjoy the crown during his life; and that Richard, Duke of York, should be 
his successor, as the true and lawful heir of the monarchy ; and in this 
arrangement Richard acquiesced.+ Though the King appeared satisfied 
with this decision, yet the Queen, a woman of masculine understanding, 
seeing her son, the Prince of Wales, deprived, by this settlement, of his sue­
cession to the throne, was not so passive. She soon returned to England, 
appealed to the Barons, and before the end of the year, drew together at 
York, an army of ~0,000 men,: among whom were the Dukes of Exeter and 
Somerset, the Earl of Northumberland, and the Lords Clifford, Dacre, and 
Neville. The Duke of York, hearing of the Queen's designs, but not knowing 
that she had made such progress in raising an army, set out from London 
on the ~nd of December, with only about 6,000 men, giving orders to his 
eon, the Earl of Marohe, to levy forces in Wales, and then to join him ; and 
leaving the King to the care of the Duke of Norfolk and the Earl of War· 
wick. As the Duke of York advanced northward, he received the mortifying 
intelligence of the Queen's success hi levying troops; and at length being 
arrived in the neighbourhood of Wakefield, he was informed that she' was 
approaching to give him battle. · The Duke, resolving not to engage with 
numbers eo greatly disproportionate, retired to his castle at Sandal, to await 
the arrival of the Earl of Marche. The Queen soon appeared before the walls 
of Sandal Castle with the main body of her army, led by the Dukes of 
Somerset and Exeter, provoking her enemy to battle, sometimes by menaces, 
and at other times by insults and defiances, observing that it was disgraceful 
to a man who aspired to a crown, to suffer himself to be shut up by a woman. 

• Stowe, 409. + Cotton 'a Abridg. pp. 666, 667, Stowe, pp. ~0, ~1. 
t Hall, p. 182, HoWDshed, p. 1303. 

X 
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Up to this fatal moment the Duke had always displayed great prudence in 
his conduct, but this last taunt of the Queen was more than he could endure. 
He quitted the castle, descended into the plain, and drew up his forces on the 
common between the fortress and Wakefield bridge, called Wakefield Green, 
on the 24th of December, 1460. The inequality of numbers was of itself 
sufficient to deCide the victory, but the Queen having placed a body of troops 
in ambush, under Lord Clifford and the Earl of Wiltshire, they fell upon the 
rear of the Duke's army, while they were attacked by the main body in 
front, and in less than half an hour the Duke himself was slain, and his 
little army wa.S almost annihilated. The Duke's body was soon recognized 
amongst the slain, and his head was cut off by Margaret's orders, and placed 
over Micklegate Bar, at York, with a paper crown upon it, in derision of his 
pretended title.t.• His second sou, the Earl of Rutland, who had only reached 
his 18th ycar,t flying from the Woody scene, was overtaken on the bridge of 
Wakefield, by Lord Clifford, who, in revenge for his father, who had perished 
at the battle of St. Albans, plunged his dagger into his breast, notwithstanding 
his earnest entreaties to spare his life. The Duke of York, who was greatly 
and justly lamented by his own party, perished in the 60th year of his age, 
and lt:ft three sons, Edward, George, and Richard; and three daughters, 
Anne, Elizabeth, and Margaret. About 8000 Yotkists fell in this battle ; 
and the Earl of Salisbury, Sir Richard Limbrick, Sir Ralph Stanley, and 
several other persons of distinction were taken prisoners, IUld immediately 
decapitated by martial law at Pontefract, and their heads placed on Mickle­
gate Bar, at York.! 

Rapin says, the only oversight of the Duke was in shutting himself up in 
a castle, instead of re~ea.ting to join his son. Edward, Earl of Marche, and 
heir to the late Duke of York, was at Gloucester when he reeeived the 
melancholy intelligence of the fate of his father and brother; and having 
completed his levies, hastened to interpose an army between the royalists 
and the capital. Queen Margaret, aftel' the success at W aketleld, advanced 
towards London, with design to secure that city. The Ea.rl of Warwick, 
having bad bis army rein.fureed by a body of Londoners, and lnupg King 
Henry with him, set out from London, and gave ll&ttle to the Queen's troops, 
on the ).7th of }february, 1461, on Barnards, or Batnet, Heatb., Dear· St. 
AlhiLiliJ. Victory we.s again declared for this valiant Quean, aad the Yorkista 
l.ost abQut 2~300 men.§ Night saved. the Yorkists from utter destwotioa. 

• ~eauties of Jl:Jl8lan4 and Wa\es. t He was. bo111 17th ~. 1663. 

: HolliDshed. t Hall. 
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By this victory Margaret bQd the satisfaction· to procure the liberty of the 
captive King. Though the Queen had gained two battles, ami released the 
King, yet it was not in her power to enter London, for her soldiers were 
principally borderers, from both sides of the Tweed, accustomed to live by 
rapine, and bad been allured to the royal standard by the promise of the 
plunder of the country south of the Trent, and no entreaties or prohibition 
could prevail on them to desist from plundering the town of St. Albans, and 
the surrounding country. The Londoners therefore shut their gates against 
an azmy which they imagined came on purpose to plunder the country. The 
King and Queen then proceeded to York, and in the city or its vicinity, 
aoon had 60,000 infantry and cavalry, commanded by the Duke of Somerset, 
the Earl of Northumberland, Lord Clifford, and Sir Andrew Trollop. 

But this success of the Lancastrian party lasted not long ; for soon after 
the death of the Duke of York, at the battle of Wakefield, Edward, Earl of 
Marche, his eldest son, now in his 20th year, waived the title of Duke of 
York, on the 5th of March, 1461, and got himself proclaimed King, by the 
title of Edward IV., at London, and in several other places. On that day 
expired the reign of Henry VI., a Prince whose personal character commanded 
the respect of his very enemies, and whose misfortunes still claim the sym­
pathy of the reader. Edward departed from London a few days after he 
had been proclaimed; and having collected a force of nearly 50,000 men, he 
encamped at Pontefract. 

Edward ha'ring resolved to meet his competitors, and to decide the contest 
by the law of arms, sent Lord Fitzwalter, with a detachment, to secure the 
pass at Ferrybridge, on the river Aire. The Duke of Somerset began his 
operations by sending Lord Clifford, with a body of his own retainers, " the 
Bower of Craven," to dislodge the Yorkists from this post; and the attack, 
which took place at break of day, was so sudden and furious-the guards 
being all asleep, and not dreaming of an enemy so near them-that the 
bridge was easily won, and the Yorkists lost their position. Lord Fitzwalter,* 
awakened by the noise, supposing it to arise from some quarrel amongst his 
own soldiers, rushed out amongst them unarmed, and was slain ; and the Earl 
of Salisbury at the same time shared a similar fate. Thus Clifford secured 
the important pass of the river. Consternation now appeared to be becomin .. 
general, when an act of heroism of the great Earl of Warwick, who was the 
80ul of Edward's army, restored order and confidence to his soldiers. "For 

• Bapin calls the commander of this detachment, Lord Fitzwalter; but it appears 
from Dugdale, that there was not at that time any person of the name and title.­
Baron~ge, i., p. 223, and ii., p. 2811. 
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when the Earle of Warwike was informed hereof, like a man desperat on his 
hacknie, and hasted puffing and blowing to King Edward, saieng, • Sir, I 
praie God have mercie of their soules, which in the beginning of your enter· 
prise have lost their lives. And bicause I see no succors of the world, but 
in God, I retnit the vengeance to him our Creator and Redeemer.' With 
that he alighted downe, and slue his horse with his sword, saieng, • Let him 
flee that will; for surelie I will tarry with him that will tarry with me:' 
and kissed the crosse of his sword, as it were for a vow to the protnise. "* 
This determination of the Earl to share the fate of the meanest soldier, in· 
spired great confidence in the troops; and to show the greater security, a 
proclamation was issued, giving to every one not well affected to the cause, 
full liberty to retire; but menacing the severest punishment to those who, 
having remained, were discovered exhibiting any symptoms of cowardice in 
the ensuing battle. Rewards and honours were offered to the comrade who 
should slay him who was caught turning his back on the foe. 

Edward lost no time in sending William Neville, Lord Falconberg, with 
a detachment to cross the Aire at Castleford, about four tniles above Ferry· 
bridge, with orders to attack those who guarded the lost position. Falcon berg 
executed his orders with such secrecy and promptitude, that he suddenly 
attacked Lord Clifford, who was at the head of a body of horse, which 
was completely routed, and obliged to retreat in confusion towards the 
main body of the army. In his retreat, Clifford, unawares, fell in with 
another party of Yorkists, and having his helmet off, either from the effects 
(lf heat or pain, a random arrrow pierced his throat, and he fell dead to the 
ground. The brother of the Earl of Westmorland also was slain in this 
skirmish. Lord Clifford, who from his bloody deeds at Wakefield, was called 
" the Butcher, ·• was a fierce soldier ;-indeed, it tnight with truth be said of 
him, "that a braver warrior never drew a sword, or one whose heart was 
more tempered like the steel he wore." The post of Ferrybridge being thus 
recovered, Edward passed with his whole army over the Aire, and marched, 
by way of Sherburn, towards Tadcaster, in quest of the enemy. The two 
artnies confronted each other on the following day, Palm Sunday, the ~9th 
of March, 1461, on Towton Field, since called Palm Sunday Field, and im· 
mediately prepared for that bloody and memorable battle, the iBSUe of which 
was to decide-what? " Something surely of the highest importance to the 
well-being of the nation !'' writes the editor of the Battle Fields of Yorkshire, 
" No! only whether Henry or Edwal'd was to be the ruler of England. And 

• Hollinshed. 
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l»r a mere change of masters, the strength of the whole kingdom, its best and 
bravest sons were mustered in arms, the worst passions of human nature 
inflamed, and let loose in actions too horrible for recital. What madness of 
mankind I what folly! what reckless waste of God's great gifts!" 

The site of this great battle is a long brow, or ridge of high ground, 
atending between the villages of Towton and Saxton, the former village being 
situated about two miles nearly south of Tadeaster, and Saxton nearly two 
miles south of Towton. From this elevated ridge, now a well cultivated and 
pleasant region, the prospect of the surrounding country is both extensive 
and beautiful. Henry's army, according to Hall,* consisted of 60,000 men, 
commanded by the Duke of Somerset; and that of Edward amounted to 
48,660, and was led by himself in person. The two wings of the Laneas­
trian army is supposed to have utended from Grimston, beyond Towton, to 
a slight hollow in the high ground in the field, called North Acres, being 
nearly two miles in length. The Yorkista occupied equally elevated ground 
in their front; a level space lying between the armies, and the land gradually 
declining in the rear of both. The great Earl of Warwick, one of the bravest 
warriors in England, commanded the right wing of Edward's army, Lord 
Falconberg the left, whilst the main body was led by Edward himself. Sir 
John Venloe and Sir John Denman, "two valiant commanders," had charge 
of the rear guard. The contest was most obstinate. Edward issued orders 
to his soldiers to give no quarter; and it will suffice to obsene, that these 
mighty hosts-both strong, both valiant, both commanded by leaders ani· 
mated against each other by all the hatred that faction and deadly thirst for 
revenge oould supply, maintained the deadly struggle from seven in the 
morning till dusk in the evening-ten mortal hours of carnage and slaughter. 
"It is morning, yet the sun rises not! the air is gloomy and dark, thick 
clouds obscure the sky. A tempest is gathering-a storm is impending in 
the heavens as well as upon earth. Yet the wrath of man sleeps not. In 
the armies all is active preparation for the work of death. The trumpets 
have blown their loud notes of defiance. The impatient neigh and tramp of 
the war horse is heard, mingled with the loud and haughty voices of the 
eomm.anders, exhorting their men to daring deeds, and vengeance for their 
kindred already fallen. The red rose and the white, the fatal colours of the 
st.riviug houses, are about to be bathed in blood. All are eager for the 
combat, no alackness is found on either side. Falconberg confronts the 
army of Henry with young Edward's vanguard. They are nearly within an 

• Folio, 186. 
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arrow's flight of each other; and the archers are measuring the distance 
with their eyes, knowing how far their feathered shafts can carry death. 
Suddenly the south wind in a roru;ing gust, rushes down with a storm of 
snow; the flaky tempest drives full in the faces of the Lancastrians ; blinds 
them, so that they cannot see their enemies. Not unobserved by the wily 
Falconberg; who instantly gives the command to his bold yeomanry, 'Each 
archer from his bow send a Bight arrow to the enemies' ranks, then back 
retire three strides and stand.' Quick as hand can follow thought the order 
is obeyed, for every mind sees advantage from the act. The bow strings 
twang, the whistling shafts, long and light, swifter than the tempest, rush 
against the distant foe ; who, ignorant of the stratagem, bend their bows and 
ply the strings, until the quivers are exhausted. While the Y orkists in grim 
quiet stand idle; not one of their enemies' shafts has reached them. The 
English Archer's boast, that he carried twelve enemies below his belt, is but 
idle breath for the red rose faction. Not so for their foes, who seeing all 
their enemies' efforts vain to reach them, advance, and with loud derisive 
shouts, send their thick volley like lightning on their foes. Struck down 
helplessly by hundreds with impunity; volley after volley is sent into their 
crowded ranks. Not only do the Yorkists empty their own quil'ers on the 
unresisting foe, but gather their enemies' arrows from the field, and send 
them winged with death unto their former owners. Impatient of the &el'ere 
and deadly shower, Northumberland, Somerset, and Trollop, urge on their 
men to close combat, now their only hope of victory. The bow is laid aside, 
and spears, swords, and battle axes, decide tlle contest. A fearful scene of 
close and deadly fight ensued-no military skill is employed, no manreuvering 
of forces; nothing but brute force and physical endurance are required. As 
no prisoners are to be taken on either side, each man fights as though the 
battle depended upon himself alone-the determination of all seems to be to 
conquer or die upon the field."* 

There are so many confused and conflicting accounts of this battle, that.it 
is impossible to give a full and particular description of it. But all agree 
that the air was darkened by the snow, which fell very thick, and was blown 
by the wind full in the faces of the Lancastrians, and that this more than 
balanced the advantage they derived from the superiority of their numbers. 
At lengtll the furces of Henry began to give ground, at first in good order, 
not flying, but retreating as they fought, and making a stand now and then, 
so that their enemies could not be sure of the victory. The troops of Edward, 

• Battle Fields ofYorbhire. 
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encouraged by his own personal bravery, now made fresh efforts, and at last 
they so pressed the Lancastrians, as to oblige them to fly in disorder. Then 
it was that the dreadful slaughter ensued-that the flying troops were cut 
down without mercy. The retreating soldiers shaped their course for Tad­
caster bridge in order to cross the Wbarfe, hut despairing of reaching it, be­
cause they were so hotly pressed, they turned aside, in order to pass the small 
ri,-er Cock, which runs through one of the most crooked of channels, along 
the west side of the battle field, and enters the Wharfe about a mile south-east 
of Tadcaster. But this movement was made with such confusion and hurry, 
that the Cock was quickly filled with their dead bodies, which served as a 
bridge for the pursued and pursuers to pass OVJ!r, and the waters of the 
rivulet rolled a bloody current to the Wharfe. The slaughter at this point 
was so tremendous, that even the waters of the Wharfe were crimsoned with 
the blood of the victims. ~8,000 of the Lancastrians were slaughtered in the 
b&ttle and pursuit, and the total number that perished on that dreadful day 
is 87,776. A contemporary historian assures us, that besides those who 
perished in the waters, 88,000 men remained dead on the field.* The whole 
distance between the battle field and the city of York (ten miles) was covered 
with the bodies of the slain. Edward himself, in a confidential letter to his 
mother, while he conceals his own loss, informs her that the heralds, em­
ployed to number the dead bodies, returned the Lancastrians alone at 28,000.t 

Among the Rlain were the Earls of N ortbumberland, Westmorland, and 
Shrewsbury; John, Lord Clifford, already mentioned, Lords Dacre, Beau­
mont, Neville, Willoughby, Roos, Scales, Grey, Fitzhugh, Molineau~, Welles, 
ud Henry Buckingham; Sir Andrew Trollop, Sir John Neville, Sir Richard 
Percy, Sir JohD Heyton, Sir Gervace Clifton, Sir Edward Hamis, Sir John 
Burton, Sir David Trollop, Sir Thomas Crakenthorpe, Sir John Ormond, and 
many other Knights. The Dukes of Somerset and Exeter were fortunate 
enough to escape the carnage; but Thomas Courtney, Earl of Devonshire, 
and t~everal others were taken prisoner& This battle fixed the crown on the 
brow of Edward. The snow storm of the battle day was succeeded by a 
Crost, which congealed the blood upon the snow; and as the wounds were all 
made with arrows, swords, spears, and battle-axes, the effusion of blood would 
be greatm than in a modern battle. And when a thaw came, and dissolved 
the mass, the field presented a most horrible spectacle, the furrows and water 
courses literally running with blood.: 

• Cont. Hist. Croyland, p. 663. + Fenn's Letters, vol. i, p. 217. 
t Some writers dispute the fact, that. Ule waters of the Wharfe could be dyed with 

blood by the carnage of the battle, but as Ule edi~ of the Battle Fuldl of Yorklhire, 
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Thus did the folly of the nation exhibit itself; and thus did close upon 
40,000 Englishmen sacrifice their lives in deciding the question whether an 
amiable and imbecile Sovereign, or a juvenile, but able, voluptuous, and 
sanguinary tyrant (as he afterwards proved to be), should be their master. 
No other object was involved in the struggle-no wrongs were redressed, 
no rights were obtained-it was not a combat for juatice or freedom, for they 
were names and things unknown and forgotten amid the disaonant clash 
of arms, and the bloody vengeance of furious party spirit. The Earl of 
Northumberland reached York before he died; Lord Clift'ord was tumbled 
into a pit along with a heap of dead bodies ; the Earl of Westmorland was 
buried in Saxton church ; and Lord Dacre was interred in Saxton church 
yard, where is a "meane tomb" to hie memory. 

Lord Dacre is supposed to have been killed in the field called North Acree 
while drinking, having removed his gorget for that purpoae.t The tradition 
of the neighbourhood is, that he was struck in the throat by a bolt, or head· 
less arrow, shot from a cross-bow by a boy, hid in a "burtree," or elder bush. 
The spot where the event took place is yet pointed out by the inhabitants. 
It is a rising ground a short distance from the cross roads at the north west 
comer of Searthingwell Park ; and many " burtrees " are yet growing in the 
&(ijacent hedgerows. An old dwarf thom yet stands near the place, which 
may have been a tree at the time of the battle. The bodies of the common 
men were thrown into large pits, numbers together. According to Stowe, 
the slain were buried in five great pits, yet appearing, to the north of Saxton 
church; but Mr. Hungate caused them to be removed from thence, and 
buried in the church yard of Saxton. In preparing a vault near Lord 
Dacre's tomb, on the north of the church, a few years ago, to receive the 

very justly remarks,-Thia is very probable. The Cook is a small river, not more than 
ten feet wide, and which a man of ordinarr agility might easily overleap. We are told 
that the greatest slaughter began when the Lancastrians fted in oonlusion acrose the 
brook; and the water oouree being ftlled with the bodiea of thoee who fell, lacilitated 
the Jl88ll886 of their oomrades, 88 well 88 of their purauere. The Lancaatriana ft:Jing 
trom the battle fteld, from about North Acres, would rush down Towton dale without 
eeeking for a bridge, when so narrow a river would soon be ftlled with the drowned and 
slain. And it must be ooneidered, that 88 the Cook doee not run above two milee fur. 
ther, it may easily carl')' ita ensanguined watere into the Wlwfe. Beeidea, u the chue 
was oontinued for some distance, it is not unlikely that many might be slain on the 
banks of the Wharfe itself near Tadcaster. There is even yet a tradition current in the 
neishbourhood, that the Cook ran blood for forty-eight houre at that time. 

• The following rhyme is well known to the people of Saxton :­
.. TIM Lotd D-, 

Wu .a.la Ill Nor' -'-•" 
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body of a gentleman of the name of Prest, of Scarthingwell Hall, an immense 
mass of bones was cut through, near five feet in thickness, and of consider· 
able extent. This proves the correctness of the statement that the bones 
were removed to the church yard. Drake, the historian of York, saw a 
grave opened in 1784, where, among vast quantities of bones, were found 
some arrow piles, pieces of broken swords, and five groat pieces of Henry 
IV., V., and VI. In the fields around the village of Saxton are several 
artificial mounds, probably depositories of the dead slain in this terrible 
battle ; and near the hamlet of Lead, close to the Cock rivulet, are three 
more mounds of a similar kind, nearly close together, about six feet in height, 
and forty-two feet in diameter, which, in all probability, cover multitudes of 
the slain. All writers agree that the bodies of the soldiers were buried be­
neath large mounds on the field of battle ; but the lapse of four centuries, 
and the continued action of the plough and harrow, have worn many of them 
nearly down to the level surface of the soil. Circles may yet be seen in the 
field above a stone quarry, which mark the spots as repositories of the slain. 
In this field, which formed part of the battle ground, flourishes profusely a 
dwarf rose, which it is reported the Yorkists, either in affection, or in triumph, 
planted on the graves of their fallen countrymen.* 

The author of the Battle Freuu of Yorkshire tells us, that another beautiful 
and fanciful notion· is, that this rose will not grow elsewhere; "and that 
Providence has caused it to spring from the blended blood of the victims of 
the red and white rose factions, which are typified in its white petals slightly 
tinged with red, and in the dull bloody hue of the leaves of the older wood. 
This pleasing piece of superstition," he adds "has caused many of those di- . 
minutive shmbs to be removed from their native soil, and carried far away to 
other places." Patches and clusters of these rose trees in full blow may be 
seen every year; and it appears very difficult to eradicate the plant, for 
whilst the least portion of the root remains in the soil, it will, in due time, 
shoot forth a plant, and bear its delicate white flower, upon which the rustic, 
happy in his legendary lore, traces in its slight tinges of pink, the blood of 
Lancaster. 

Among the few relics of the battle found, was a gold ring weighing more 
tbao an ounce, which was turned up on the field about the year 1786. It 

• In Ule foregoing description of the battle of Towton Field, we have been led into a 
alight error, by following the accounts of RapiD and most of the historians, who state 
that the flying Lanca.~trians being unable to reach Tadcaster bridge, turned aside, in 
order to pass the small river Cock. This is evidently a mistake; for to pass the Cock 
from the field of battle, was the only way by which they could gain l'adcaster bridge. 

y 
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bore the crest of the noble family of Percy, and it is supposed the ring was 
wom by the Earl of Northumberland on the day of the battle. A silver gilt 
ring, with two bands coojoinecl, and an antique spur, with some other trifling 
articles, have also been found on the battle field. 

On a part of the field north of Saxton, Richard m. began to build a 
chapel, in which prayers might be said for the souls of the slain; but ita 
completion was prevented by his death at the battle of Bosworth Field. No 
remains of this chapel are now to be seen : but the site is yet oallecl " Chapel 
Garth." The battle of Towton Field is called among the country people, 
• • the Towton Dale Fight ; •• and they also say that it took place on a Sunday, 
whilst the people were attending mass at Saxton church. 

King Henry, his Queen, and their young son Edward, who had remained at 
York during the battle, retired into Scotland with the Dukes of Somerset and 
Exeter, and afterwards quitted the kingdom. Edward entered the city of 
York soon after their departure, and immediately took down from the Bar, the 
head of his father, and those of his friends, which had been upon the walls of 
the city since the battle of Wakefield, and in return onlered Thomas Courtney, 
Earl of Devon, the Earl of Kyme, Sir William Hill, and Sir Thomas Fulford, 
adherents to Henry, to be executed, and their heads to be placed on the 
vacant poles over Micklegate Bar. Edward soon after repaired to London, 
where he was crowned on the 29th of July next following. When the Par­
liament assembled, both houses were eager to display their attachment to 
their new Sovereign. They first pronounced the reigns of the three last 
Kings a tyrannical usurpation, and then followed a aw~ping bill of a~der, 
which extended itaelf to almost every man who bad distinguished himself in 
the cause of the house of Lancaster. The unfortUD8.te Henry VI., his Queen, 
and son, together with the Dukes of Somerset and Exeter, the Earls of North­
umberland, Devon, Wiltshire, and Pembroke, and a large number of Viscounts, 
Knights, Priests, and Esquires, were a<ijudged to suffer all the penalties of 
treason. In defence of such unexampled severity, it was alleged the ad van· 
tage of 8J!Dihilating at once the power of the party; and to this motive was 
probably added another, the necessity of providing funds from which Edward 
might satisfy the expectations of those to whose services he owed the present 
possession of the crown. 

The cause of the red rose now appeared desperate; but it was still supported 
by the courage and industry of Margaret. To aid her cause, abe visited the 
continent, and invited all true Knights to avenge the wrongs of an injured 
monarch. The Duke of Bretagne made her a present of 1~,000 crowns; and 
the King of France tLouis XI.) lent her ~o.ooo crowns, and permitted BIUe, 
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the Seneschal of Normandy, to tbllow her fortunes with 2,000 mell. A.ner 
an absence of five months, she returned, and summoned to her standard the 
mends of her family on the borders; and with this army, composed of Scotch, 
French, and Northumbrians, she seized the three fortresses of Bamborough, 
.Ahnrick, and Dunstanburgh. But when the Earl of Warwick arrived with 
10,000 men, and intelligence was received of the advance of Edward with an 
equal number, the Lancastrians separated to garrison their conquests, and 
&he Queen, with her French auxiliaries, repaired to their ships. The winds 
and the waves now seemed to have conspired against her ; part of her fleet, 
with all her treasures, were dashed against the rocks ; 81Jd Margaret 8lld 
Braze arrived in a fishing boat at Berwick. Warwick, dividing the royal 
army into three bodies, besieged at the B81De time the three fortresses, which 
surrendered after a brave and obstinate resistance. 

The spirit and activity of Margaret exposed her during this winter cam· 
paign to numerous privations and dangers. After the loss of the above-named 
castlee, abe, accompanied by the Duke of Exeter, Breze, and 200 exiles, 
sailed to Slays, in Flanders. The Duke of Burgundy received her with every 
mark of outward distinction, but refused to listen to her solicitations in favour 
of her husband. He gave her a supply of money for her present expenses, 
and forwarded her in safety as far as the Duchy of Bar, in Lorraine, 
belonging to her father. There she fixed her residence, watching, with 
amiety, the course of events, and consoling her sorrows with the hope of yet 
placing her husband or her eon on .the English throne. 

In the beginning of the above campaign, Edward, with a numerous army, 
and most of his nobility, on their march to the north against the unfor­
tunate Henry, visited York. Edward proceeded no further than Newcastle, 
ha'ring been taken ill at that place ; and the command of the entire army 
was undertaken by Warwick. Henry, who for security had been conveyed 
to the castle of Hardlough, in Merionethshire, commanded by David ap 
Jevan ap Eynion, who, in defiance of repeated acts of attainder, refused to 
submit to Edward; was, in the same year, summoned to put himself at the 
head of a body of exiles and Scots. He was soon joined by the Duke of 
Somerset, Sir Ralph Percy, and their adherents. The Lancastrians en­
camped on the banks of the Dilswater, near Hexham; where they were soon 
attacked by a powerful army, commanded by Neville, Lord Montague, the 
Warden of the East Marches. Somerset, who was endeavouring to save 
himself by flight, was taken, beheaded the B81De day, and buried in the 
neighbouring Abbey. Two days later, the Lords Roos and Hungerford met 
with the same fate on the Sandhill, at Newcastle; and many of their fol-
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lowers were successively executed in that town, and at York. Henry saved 
himself by flight. Hollinshed tells us that here he shewed himself an excel­
lent horseman, for he rode so fast, that none could overtake him. His 
servants and equipage fell into the enemy's hands, and among the latter was 
found the royal cap, called Bycoket, or Abacot,* with which Edward was 
again crowned on the 4th of May, in the same year, with great solemnity at 
York. 

Lord Montague was now created Earl of Korthumberland; and another 
list of attainders contributed to exhaust the resources of King Henry, and to 
add to those of Edward. The citizens of York, as well as the people of the 
north in general, had hitherto firmly attached themselves to the house of 
Lancaster; but they now seem to have espoused the cause of Edward, or he 
endeavoured to gain them to his favour, for before he left that city on this 
occasion, be, by patent dated York, June lOth, 1464, not only relinquishes 
his usual demands, or fee farm rent of the city, but assigned it for the twelve 
succeeding years, an annual rent of £40., to be paid out of his customs in 
the port of Hull. In this extrn.ordinary document (which is now deposited 
in the Tower of London) the King expresses his great concen1 for the suf· 
ferings and hardships the city had undergone during these wars, and for the 
poverty they had occasioned. 

After the. flight from Hexham, Henry sought an asylum among the natives 
of Lancashire and Westmorland, a people sincerely devoted to his interests, 
and was during this time frequently concealed in the house of John Machell, 
at Crakenthorp, in Westmorland.* For more than a year he eluded the 
vigilance and researches of the government; but he was at last betrayed by 
the perfidy of Cantlow, a monk of Abingdon, and taken by the servants of 
Sir James Hanington, of Brierley, in or near to Waddington Hall, in York­
shire. At Islington the unfortunate monarch was met by the Earl of 
Wanvick, who ordered by proclamation that no one should show him any 
respect, tied his feet to the stirrups as a prisoner, led him thrice round the 
pillory, and conducted him to the Tower. 

The Lancastrians having abandoned the contest after the battle noor 
Hexham, Edward for some years kept quiet possession of the crown. But 
at length he, who had driven Henry into exile, was in his turn obliged to 
share the same fortune himself, owing to the defection of " that setter up and 

• Spelman says that this word signified a royal eap ensigned with two crowns of gold, 
which doubtless were those of England and France. 

• Rymer, xi., p. 648. 
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puller down of Kings," the Earl of Warwick. Whilst that Earl was in 
France, negociating a treaty of marriage between Edward and the French 
King's sister, it happened that the former visited Wydeville, Lord Rivers, 1\t 
GraftA>n (Northamptonshire), where he saw his daughter Elizabeth, relict of 
Sir John Grey, of Groby (a Lancastrian), a woman of superior beauty and 
accomplishments. The Lady Grey, whose husband bad fallen at the second ' 
battle of St. Albans, seized the opportunity to throw herself at the feet of her 
sovereign, and solicit him to reverse the attainder of her late husband, in 
favour of her destitute children. The King pitied-nay, soon loved the 
beautiful suppliant, and in the end married her, after having vainly en· 
deavoured to debauch her. But the connection proved calamitous, for the 
Earl of Warwick, disgusted with Edward's conduct in consequence of this 
alliance, espoused the cause of Henry, in which he united his two brothers, 
the Marquis Montecute and Lord George, one of whom was Lord President 
of the North, and the other Archbishop of York. Warwick was Governor of 
Calais; and it was agreed that whilst he at that place endeavoured to excite 
the inhabitants, the two brothers should stir up a commotion in the north. 
They soon entered into a correspondence with the eldest sons of the Lord 
Fitzhugh, and Neville, Lord Latimer, Sir John Conyers, and others, to de· 
throne Edward, and restore Henry. Their attention was directed to the city 
of York, where was an Hospital, dedicated to St. Leonard, to the Warden of 
which, certain Thrave1 of com from every plough land, had been paid since 
the time of King Athelstan.* It was supposed that these tbraves had ori­
ginally been a voluntary contribution, but which, by custom, were at length 
considered a debt. In the beginning of the last reign, in consequence of 
some of the farmers having withheld the thraves, it was deemed necessary to 
have them confirmed to the hospital by Act of Parliament. 

The government officers appointed to collect these thraves having at this 
time (A.D. 1469) attempted to levy their value by distress, the farmers and 
the peasants flew to arms, chose for their leader Robert Hilyard, or Hul· 
deme, commonly called Robin of Redesdale, and threatened to march to the 
south and reform the abuses of government. The two brothers of the Earl 
of W anrick are said to have improved the opportunity to increase the spirit 

• A TMat~e was sometimes twelve, and at other times twenty.four sheaves. The 
King's thraves were called Horsta1fa, Herstraffa, or Herst Com, and were payments in 
lieu of the King's right to pasturage and forage for his horses; and it appears that King 
Athelstan endowed St. Leonard's Hospital with some of his thra\'es in this county. 
The same monarch endowed the Collegiate establishment at Beverley with four thraves 
of com annually trom every plough land in the East Riding. 
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of revolt. By misrepresenting the affair, they are said to have exaspetUed 
the people to such an extent, that liS,OOO men aroae in arms, and 1118l'Ched 
towards York. The citizens of York were alarmed by the approach of the 
insurgents; but the Earl of Northumberland, Warwick's brother, to prevent 
the destruction of the city, attacked and defeated them with considerable 
slaughter ; and executed their leader on the field of battle. This circum· 
stance would seem to acquit one of the N evilles from all share in the insul-­
reetion ; but it must be home in mind that he could, il he pleased, have 
instantly extinguished the flame before it grew into a general conflagration ; 
and hia inactivity subsequent to their attack upon York, together with the 
conduct of his two brothers, prove that, whatever were its original cause, 
they were willing at least to oonvert it to their own purposes. 

The rebels had lost their leader, but they found two others of more illus­
trious name in the before-mentioned sons of Lords Fitzhugh and Latimer­
the one the nephew, and the other the cousin-german of Warwick; and these 
young men, though nominally at the head of the rebels, in reality obeyed the 
commands of Sir John Conyers, an old and experienoed oftieer. The claim of 
the hospital was now forgotten, and their avowed object was to remove from 
the King's councils the Wydevilles (the Queen's family, of whose influence 
with the King the Nevilles were jealous), the authors of the taxes that 
impoverished, and of the calamities that oppressed the nation. At the name 
of Warwick, his tenants crowded from every quarter ; and in a few days the 
insurgents reached a very large number. On the first intelligence of the 
rising in Yorkshire, Edward summoned hia retainers, and fixed his head 
quarters at the castle of Fotheringhay. The King's forces and the rebels met 
in the neighbourhood of Banbury ; the former under the joint command of 
the Earls of Pembroke and Devon. The two Earls entered Banbury together, 
but quarrelled in an evil hour about their quarters, " The Earl of Pem­
broke," says Hall, " putte the Erle of Devon out of an Inne, wherein he 
delighted muche to be, for the love of a damosell that dwelled in the house ; 
contrary to their mutuall agrement by them taken, whiche was, that whoeo­
euer obteined first a lodgyng, should not be deeeiued nor remoued." 

The Earl of Devon, after a hearty quarrel with his brother general, retired 
with his division; and the rebels, profiting by this opportunity, attacked the 
remaining forces. The day was for some time doubtful, but the insurgents 
at length prevailed, and beheaded the Earl of Pembroke, either in the town, 
or its immediate neighbourhood, together with his brother, Sir Richard 
Herbert, and ten other gentlemen. This conJlict is said to have taken place 
at Danesmoor, or Dunsmoor, as it ia now called. Hall, Grafton, and Hollin· 
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abed atat.e that above 600 Welahmen, of which the Earl of Pembroke's forces 
were prinoip&lly oomposed, were slain in this battle ; and William of W or· 
cester states, that at-least 168 of the nobility and gentry of Wales fell in this 
battle. About 1,600 of the insurgents were slain on the eame field, among 
whom were Sir Henry Latimer, Sir Roger Pigot, knt., &c. The Nevilles 
then proceeded in search of Edward, whom they found at Olney, in Buck· 
inghamabire, plunged in the deepest distress at the defeat of Pembroke. 
Here he was taken prisoner, and plaoed in the custody of the Archbishop of 
York, who sent him to Middleham castle. And then did England emibit 
dJe enraordinary apectacle of two rival Kings, each confined in prison­
Henry in the Tower, and Edward in Yorkabire. At the command of War­
wick, the insurgents returned to their homes, laden with plunder. Edward 
aoon afterwards escaped from .Middleham, and fled into France.* 

The poor, passive King Henry was now brought out of the Tower, where 
he had been a prisoner for nearly nine yee:tS, and amidst great rejoicings, 
once more reinstated in his kingly dignity. A Parliament was called, which 
confirmed Henry's title to the crown with great solemnity; Edward was 
pronounced an usurper, and all acts passed by his authority repealed; 
and Warwick was received among the people under the title of the King 
Jlt~Mr. But Henry's evil fate suft'ered him not to eJ\ioy his honours long, 
for Edward having prevailed with the Duke of Burgundy, his brother-in-law, 
to lend him an aid of men and money, set sail, and after an absence of nine 
months, landed at Ravenspurne, on the 14th of March, 1471, on the spot 
where Bolingbroke had previously landed to dethrone Richard n. 

Edward, who was attended by ~.ooo men, sent some of his followers to 
sound the aft'ectiona of the people ; but finding all the parts of the country 
from where he had landed to York, very much averse to his title, and perfectly 
aatMdied wUh Henry's rule, he artfully pretended that he came but to claim 
lUa patrimonial estate of York only, and not the crown. This dissimulation 
had the desired effect upon the people, who admired his moderatiOD., and 
thought it the highest inju.etice to keep him from his dukedom. This politic 
artifice was disbelieved by Warwick, who sent strict orders to the city of 
York and the town of Hull that he should not be admitted. On his way 
towards York, he everywhere proola.imed Beary King, and styled himself 
only Duke of York ; and he wore in his bonnet an ostrich feather the device 
of Edwazd, the Laneastrian Prince of Wales. On his near approach to the 

• There are aeveral aooouta of \he eecape of Edward, but that which ia geueral17 
P,.. il, thM the Archbishop allowed him to hm" ud that one da,y while he wu em­
plofed iA tiiM euniae, be Wll oarried oft bJ hie friend.s. Bill, ~ 
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city he was met by two Aldermen, who informed him that he could not be 
received there, but that the citizens would oppose him to the utmost. 

Notwithstanding this message, however, on his coming to the gates, and 
repeating his former professions of loyalty to King Henry, and swearing to 
be true and faithful to him, he was admitted. He rode immediately to the 
Cathedral, and there in a most solemn manner confirmed his oath on the 
high altar.* This, however, was an act of base hypocrisy; for no sooner had 
he performed this ceremony, than he seized the guards, assumed the regal 
title, raised a considerable loan in the city, and leaving it well garrisoned, 
marched to London, where, on his arrival, the gates were thrown open to 
him, and the like acclamations heard as Henry had enjoyed but six months 
before. 

The sequel is known to every reader of English history-the decisive battle 
of Barnet soon followed, in which Edward defeated Henry's forces; the great 
Earl of Warwick was slain, together witl1 his brother and 10,000 of their 
adherents.t This battle took place on Easter Sunday, 1471; and on that 
very day Queen Margaret landed at Weymouth with a body of French 
auxiliaries. When she heard the fatal news of the death of the brave 
Warwick, and the total destruction of her party, she gave way to her grief, 
for the first time it is said, in a torrent of tears. She sank to the ground in 
despair, and as soon as she recovered her composure, hastened with her son 
for safety to the Abbey of Ceme. But the Lancastrian· Lords, who still 
remained faithful to the cause, induced her to quit her asylum, conducted her 
to Bath, and raised a considerable body of troops to fight under her banner. 
A few days after the battle of Barnet, Edward was summoned to the field of 
Tewkesbury, where his good fortune again prevailed. Margaret's forces were 
routed, though the Lancastrians fought to the last with undaunted bravery. 
Immediately after the battle, Prince Edward, the son of Henry, was murdered 
in cold blood by the Dukes of Clarence and Gloucester, aided by Lord 
Hastings and Sir Thomas Grey, in the presence of Edward, who, it is said, 
struck the brave youth the first blow with his gauntlet. Henry was thrown 

• Historians remark that though the due punishment of this wilful perjury was with· 
held from Edward himself, yet it fell in full measure upon his children. 

t The Earl of Warwick was one of the most extraordinary characters of his time, 
and one of the brsvest warriors, and most rich and powerful nobles in England, He 
owed his popularity as much to his hospitality as to his personal qualities. It was of 
the most unbounded and profuse kind; It is said that 80,000 persons were regularly 
maintained in his numerous castles, and any man might walk into his kitchen at 
pleasure, and take away as muoh beef or mutton as be could carry on his cJaaer. 
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into the Tower, where he expired in a few days, or, according to some, was 
put to a violent death by Richard, Duke of Gloucester. Margaret was im­
prisoned, first in the Tower, afterwards at Windsor, and lastly at Wallingford, 
with a weekly allowance of five marks for the support of herself and her 
servants. After a captivity of five years, she was ransomed by Louis, King 
of France, for 60,000 crowns, and retired to Anjou, where she closed her 
eventful life in the year 1482. This extraordinary woman, who sustained 
the cause of her amiable but truly unfortunate husband, in twelve battles, 
died very miserable indeed; but with few other claims to our pity, except her 
courage and her distresses. 

Some years subsequent to the battle in Tewkesbury Park, Edward IV. 
visited York for the last time. He was met at a village called W entbridge, 
some distance from the city, by John Ferriby, then Lord Mayor, the Alder· 
men, and commonalty on horseback, and many of the principal citizens, who 
conducted him with loud acclamations to the city. He departed in a few 
days, having first made the city a present of a large sum of money. 

This King is said to have been the most accomplished, and till he grew too 

unwieldy, the most handsome man of the age. The love of pleasure was his 
ruling passion ; and few Princes were more magnificent in their dress, or 
more licentious in their amours. His excesses at last incapacitated him for 
active exertion, and he entirely abandoned the charge of military affairs to 
his brother Richard, the Duke of Gloucester. A slight ailment, induced by 
the debaucheries in which he indulged, suddenly exhibited the most danger· 
ous symptoms, and in a few days put a period to his existence, iu the 41st 
year of his age, and 23rd of his reign. Edward might have promised 
himself a long and prosperous reign, bad not continued indulgence enervated 
his constitution, and sown the seeds of that malady which consigned him to 
the grave. He left two sons, Edward, in his 12th year, who succeeded him, 
and Richard, Duke of York and Earl Marshal, in his 11th year. Of his 
five daughters, who had been in their youths affianced to foreign monarchs, 
Elizabeth was afterwards married to King Henry VII. ; Cecily, to the Vis· 
count Welles; Anne, to Thomas Howard, Duke of Norfolk; Catherine, to 
William Courtenay, Earl of Devon; and Bridget became a nun in the con­
vent of Dartford. 

Having the command of the army against the Scots, Richard, Duke of 
Gloucester, was employed in the marches at the time of his brother's death; 
but the moment he beard of that event, he repaired to York, with a train of 
800 Knights and Esquires, dressed in deep mourning, and ordered a solemn 
requiem mass to be celebrated in the Cathedral of that city, for the repose of 

z 
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the late King·s soul. Gloucester was a Prince of insatiable ambition, who 
could conceal the most bloody projects under the mask of affection and loyalty. 
After the funeral obsequies had been performed with royal magnificence, he 
summoned the nobles and gentlemen of the county to swear allegiance to 
Edward V. ; and to give them an example, was himself the first who took the 
oath. Having been appointed protector of the realm, he assumed the lofty 
style of "brother and uncle of Kings, protectour and defensour, great cham­
berlayue, constable, and Lord High Admiral of England.··* About this time 
the Corporation of York begged of Gloucester to move the King for a dimi­
nution of their yearly payments to the crown, in consideration of the expenses 
they had incurred in the public service. It is well known to the reader of 
English history that Gloucester's ambition soon afterwards led him to usurp 
the sovereignty, and to cause his nephews (the youthful King and his brother 
Clarence) to be secretly murdered in the Tower, and that he was crowned at 
Westminster, under the title of Richard ill., together with his consort Anne, 
the daughter of tho late Earl of Warwick, in the year 1483. In the latter 
end of August in the same year, the King, accompanied by his Queen, and 
the youthful Prince Edward, made a journey to the north, and visited York. 
It appears that Richard was most anxious to appear in an imposing manner 
before his northern subjects on this occasion, as we find his secretary writing 
from Nottingham to York, urging" the gude masters, the mair, recorder, and 
aldermen, and sheriffs," to make splendid preparations for their Majesties' 
reception, "for there," says he, "be comen many southern lords, and men of 
worship, which will mark greatly your resayving thar graces;" and in the 
same letter he assures them of the singular love which the King bore to the 
city of York "afore all others." And in a letter written by Richard himself 
(preserved in the Harleian MSS.) from York to Piers Courties, keeper of his 
wardrobe, he orders him to send hither an almost incredible supply of gor­
geous state apparel. 

Most historians assert that on this occasion Richard was crowned at York 
by Archbishop Rotherham ; bat in this they are in error, as Mr. Davies, late 
town-clerk of York, has shown conclusively--there being no reooro of such 
coronation, either in the archives of the Corporation ef York, or in the official 
acts of Archbishop Rotherham.t Nor is there any account of a coronation 
given by any contemporary chronicler. But what has led writers of a later 

• Bist. Croyl. eontd. 

t Ex~ from the MUDicipal RecorcJe of the City of York, by Robert Davies, F.S.A., 
pp. 280, 288. 
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date into error is, no doubt, the extraordinary splendour with which the cere· 
mony of knighting the young Prince Edward was conducted here during the 
royal visit. On the 8th of September, the Prince was not only knighted, 
bot he was invested with his full title and dignity as Prince of Wales. On 
this occasion, says Hall, "the whole clergy assembled in copes, richly revested, 
and so with a reverent ceremony went into the city in procession, after whom 
followed the King, with his crown and sceptre, apparelled in his circot robe 
royal, accompanied with no small number of the nobility of his realm ; after 
whom marched in order Queen Anne, his wife, likewise crowned, leading on 
her left hand, Prince Edward, her son, having on his bead a demy crown 
appointed for the degree of a Prince. The King was had in that triumph in 
such honour, and the common people of the north so rejoiced, that they 
extolled and praised him far above the stars."* 

Tournaments, masques, plays, and other diversions, in which all the peers 
in the kingdom joined, took place on this occasion, and so luxurious was the 
feasting, and so prodigious were the sums of money expended, that the royal 
treasury was nearly exhausted, though about that period wheat sold for 2s. 
a quarter, barley for ls. lOd., and oats for ls. 2d. This monarch dis­
tinguished the city of York by various marks of royal munificence, and the 
citizens showed their gratitude by a steady adherence to his interests. Soon 
after the accession of Richard, the Duke of Buckingham took up arms against 
him, and a proclamation from the King, declaring the Duke a traitor, was 
publicly read at York. There were named with him in the proclamation the 
Marquis of Dorset, Sir William Noreys, Sir William Knevet, and some 
others of the Duke's adherents; and a reward of £1000 in money was offered 
in the proclamation, or £100 a year in land to any person who should bring 
the Duke to justice; and 1000 marks, or 100 marks a year, for the Marquis. 
In 1486, Richard and Anne, his Queen, visited Scarborough, and resided 
for some time in the castle. The King was very liberal to that town, not 
only adding to its security by a wall and bulwark, but also granting a charter, 
with more extensive privileges than those of his predecessors. 

The crown which he had so iniquitously obtained, was not preserved to 
him long. On the 7th of August, 1486, Henry, Earl of Richmond (the 
representative, in right of his mother, of the bouse of Lancaster), landed from 
Harfleur, in Normandy, with an army, at Milford-Haven, in South Wales, 
and proceeded to Liehfield, his army being augmented on the way. The 
!Drees of the King met those of the Earl near Bosworth, in Leicestershire, 

• Hall's Chrooicle, p. 380. 
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ou the 22nd of the same month, where the battle, which determined the quarrel 
of the two contending hou8C8 of York and Lancaster, was fought. Richard 
was slain, and his army totally routed. His crown, which was found in the 
field, was immediately placed by Lord Stanley on the head of the Earl of 
Richmond, and the army saluted him King. Richard's body was stripped, 
thrown across a horse behind a pursuivant-at-arms, and in that manner con­
veyed to Leicester, where it was exposed for two days to public view, and 
then interred with little ceremony in the church of the Grey Friars. 

The accession of Henry VII. to the throne, and his subsequent marriage 
with the Princess Elizabeth, daughter of Edward IV., and heiress of the 
house of York, united the interests of the hou~s of York and Lancaster, and 
blended the " two roses." 

"The houses now of York and Lanea~~ter, 
Like bloody brothers fighting for a birthright, 
No more shall wound the parent that would part 'em . 

• • • • 
We'll twine the roses, red and white, together, 
And both from one kind stalk shall ever flourish."• 

The Princess Elizabeth had been sent by Richard, as a captive to Sheriff 
11 utton Castle, near York; and it is said that the tyrannic Prince intended 
to marry her himself (though she was his niece) as a matter of policy. Sbt< 
was conducted publicly to London, by a numerous body of nobility, and her 
marriage with the King was soon after solemnized. After his marriage, the 
new monarch resolved to make a progress through the kingdom. The na­
tives of the nortltem counties had boon much devoted to Richard; and Henry 
hoped, by spending some time amongst them, to attach them to his interests. 
Accordingly he set out with a numerous and splendid retinue, and visited 
Lincoln, Nottingham, and many other places. At Pontefract he received 
intelligence that Lord Love], formerly Chamberlain to Richard, had raised a 
force in the neighbourhood of Hipon and .Middleham, and was preparing to 
surprise him at his entry into York. The Duke of Bedford, at the head of 
a pretty numerous body of forces, pn>pared to meet the insurgents ; but upon 
the publication of an offer of pardon to all who should return to their duty, 
the rebel army immediately dispersed. Lovt>l himself escaped from the king­
dom, and a few of his followers were executed by the Earl of Northumberland. 
The King made his entry into York with royal magnificence. Three miles 
from the city he was met by the Lord Mayor and Aldermen on horseback: 

• Shakespeare. 
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at the gate he was received with a procession of the clergy, the acclamations 
of the populace, and the exhibition of pageants. He spent three weeks in 
the city, dispensing favours, conferring honours, and redressing grievances; 
a conduct, the policy of which was proved by the loyalty of the country 
during the invasion of the following year. Amongst other favours granted 
to the citizens of York, he diminished the yearly rent of £160., which they 
paid to the crown, to the small sum of £18. os.* 

The perpetuation of the crown in the family of its present possessor was 
now threatened by the birth of a Prince; and this event urged the enemies 
of the King to one of the most extraordinary attempts recorded in history. 
Alter the death of the Duke of Clarence, brother to Edward IV., his only 
child, Edward Plantagenet, was created Earl of Warwick, the title borne by 
his grandfather. When Henry VII. ascended the throne, this youthful 
Earl had only reached his 15th year; and he had been for some time a 
prisoner in the castle of Sheriff Hutton, in which place he had been confined 
by Richard m., who feared that he might one day become a dangerous com­
petitor for the crown. One of the first acts of the new King was to transfer 
the young Prince, from his prison in Yorkshire, to a place of greater seeu· 
rity-the Tower, he too viewing him with peculiar jealousy; and thus was 
this innocent child made a victim to satisfy the ambition of others. 

One Richard Simons, a young priest of Oxford, landed in Dublin with a 
boy about fifteen years of age, and presented him to the Earl of Kildare, the 
Lord Deputy, and the chief of the Y orkists in Ireland, under the name of 
the unfortunate Earl of Warwick, and implored the protection of that noble· 
man for a young and innocent Prince, who, by escaping from the Tower, had 
avoided the fate similar to that of his unfortunate cousins, the sons of 
Edward IV. The boy was in reality Lambert Simnel, the son of a baker at 
Oxford, a youth of handsome exterior, good address, and endowments of the 
mind above his years ; and he had been well instructed in the part which be 
had to perform, as be could relate, with apparent accuracy, his adventures 
at Sheriff Hutton, in the Tower, and during his escape. 

The Earl of Lincoln, who had been declared by Richard ill., heir pre· 
sumptive to the crown, and whose hopes were blighted by the accession of 
Henry, was one of the first that openly espoused the cause of the impostor. 
The Earl embarked for Flanders to concert with his aunt, Margaret of York, 
Duchtiss of Burgundy, the means of dethroning Henry, and to solicit her 
support in the undertaking. The Duchess, who was sister to the two late 

• Rot. Pari. vi., 390. 
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Kings, and a mortal ememy to the house of Lancaster, immediately agreed 
to furnish the Earl with 2,000 Burgundian soldiers. The boy Simnel was 

introduced under his assumed name, to the citizens of Dublin and the 
nobility of Ireland, by Lord Thomas Fitzgerald, the Chancellor, brother to 
the Lord Deputy, With the exception of the Butlers, the Bishops of 
Cashel, Clogher, Tuam, and Ossory, and the citizens of Waterford, the 
rest of the population, relying on the authority of the Earl of Kildare, 
admitted the title of the new Plantagenet without doubt or investigation ; 
and having been joined by the Earl of Lincoln and his Burgundians, as well 
as by Lord Lovel and others, he was proclaimed in Dublin by the style of 
Edward VI., King of England and France, and Lord of Ireland.* The 
ceremony of coronation was performed by the Bishop of Meath, with a 
diadem taken from a statue of the Madona ; writs were even issued in his 
name ; a Parliament was convoked ; and legal penalties were enacted against 
his principal opponents in Ireland. When the intelligence reached Henry, 
he conducted the real Earl of Warwick from the Tower to St. Paul's, that 
he might be publicly recognized by the citizens ; and took him with him to 
the palace of Sbene, where he conversed daily with the noblemen and others 
who visited the court. This prudent measure satisfied the people of England. 
They laughed at the imposture in Ireland, whilst the Irish maintained that 
theirs was the real, and that the boy at Shena was the pretended Plantagenet. 

The rebels now resolved to make an attempt on England, and the Earl of 
Lincoln being appointed commander in chief, landed with an army of 8,000 
German and Irish troops, at the Pile of Foudray, in Lancashire. At Swart­
more, near Ulverstone, the rebels were joined by the tenantry of Sir Thomas 
Broughton, and here the impostor was again proclaimed. The Earl expected 
that the people of the north would rise and join him as he marched along, 
but in this he was disappointed, but not dismayed, for be resolved to march 
directly towards the King and give him battle. They now commenced their 
march towards York, after sending a letter addressed to the Lord Mayor and 
Corporation of that city, commanding that lodgings, victuals, &c., should be 
provided for them. This was immediately communicated to Henry, who 
without delay proceeded to York, where an attempt was made to seize his 
person whilst he was solemnizing the festival of St. George, and it certainly 
would have been succell8ful had not the Earl of Northumberland rescued him. 
This rebellion was not repressed until an obstinate contest took place at 
the village of Stoke, within a few miles of Newark, on the 6th of June, l.S7. 

• Bacon, 1" 16. Polydor, 668. 
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During tbe space of three hours the 'ictory was doubtful, but at length the 
rebels were entirely routed with a loss of half their number; and the Earl of 
Lincoln, Sir Thomas Broughton, and most of the other leaders, were ala.in 
on the field of battle.* Several of the principal insurgents were afterwards 
banged upon a gibbet at York.t Simons and his pupil surrendered to one of 
the King's esquires. The priest was made to confess the imposture, and then 
thrown into prison, in which he perished; but the pretended Edward VI. 
obtained his pardon, was made a scullion in the royal kitchen, and after· 
warda, in reward of his good conduct, was raised to the office of falconer. 

The real object of this most serio-comic proceeding must for ever remain a 
mystery. There is no doubt of its having been a deeply laid plot to annoy 
if not to dethrone the King, on the part of the adherents of the house of 
York. But why personate a prince who was still living, and who might any 
day be confronted with the impostor? The Earl of Lincoln had seen and 
convened with the real Earl of Warwick at Shane ; and the Earl of Kildare 
and many others were doubtless in the secret. Several reasons have been 
assigned for these strange proceedings, but "the least improbable is," writes 
Dr. Lingard, " that which supposes that the framers of the plot designed, if 
it succeeded, tn place the real W a.rwick on the throne; but that, sensible how 
much they should endanger his life, if they were to proclaim him while he 
was in the Tower, they set up a counterfeit Warwick, and by this contrivance 
made it the interest of Henry to preserve the true one. "t 

In the Parliament held in the fourth year of this reign, the King was 
granted a subsidy for carrying on the war in Bretagne. This land tax was 
found so heavy in this part of the kingdom, that the people of Yorkshire and 
Durham refused to pay it. The Earl of Northumberland, then Lord Lieu­
tenant, wrote tD inform tlae King of the discontent, and praying an abate­
ment, but that avaricious monaroh would not abate a penny. The message 
being delivered by the Est-1 with too little caution, to the inflammable popu­
J.ce, who bad assembled in a tumultuous manner around his bouse, at Cook 
Lodge, near Tbirak, to complain of the grievance ; the incensed rabble, 
auppoai.og hitn to be one of the chief advisers of that measure, immediately 
broke into the house, a.ad murdered the unfortunate Earl with many of his 
eervante.i This sad cat&Btrophe ooo'OJ'I'ed on the feast of St. Vitalis the 
Martyr, April gstll, 1489. Thus perished Hemy Peroy, the fourtll Earl of 

• Bapin, 'nil i., pp. 808, 66Q. Hall, fol. 9. BlooD, 1188, 687. Bollinsbed, p. U81, &e. 

t Hist. CrorL coUL 
: His\. ED!J., vol. v., p. 1186, fop. 8vo. 1 ])asUle'e Barollll8e. 
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Northumberland, a most exemplary nobleman, and one who enjoyed a high 
degree of popular favour. How truly has a witty writer said lately, that 
"popularity is a popular error.'' The murdered Earl was buried at Beverley 
Minster, with great pomp and ceremony. But the matter ended not here; 
for being inflamed by one John a Chambre, a man of mean extraction, but 
who was much esteemed by the common people, they chose for their leader 
Sir John Egremont, and openly erected the standard of rebellion, declaring 
their intention of marching against Henry himself. His Majesty hearing of 
this insurrection, sent Thomas, Earl of Surrey, with a competent force, to 
repress the rebels. The Earl defeated them, and John a Chambre, and 
several of his adherents, were executed at York, with great solemnity; the 
former on a gallows of extraordinary height, and the others were suspended 
around him. The rest of the malcontents dispersed, while Sir John Egre­
mont was fortunate enough to escape into Flanders, where he obtained 
protection from Margaret, Duchess of Burgundy. Henry, on this occasion, 
visited York, in order to pacify that city and county ; he appointed the Earl 
of Surrey, President of the North, and Sir Richard Tunstal, his chief com­
missioner, to levy the tax without any abatement. The firm conduct of the 
King so damped the spirits of the northern malcontents, that, in all the 
future rebellions during his reign, they approved themselves faithful and 
loyal subjects. 

One would have imagined that from the ill success of Simnel's imposture 
few would be willing to embark in another of a similar kind ; but this was 
indeed a reign of plots, treasons, insurrections, impostures, and executions, 
though no prince ever loYed peace more than Henry did. The old Duchess 
of Burgundy, the fomenter and promoter of the King Simnel enterprise, 
procured a report to be spread that the young Duke of York, said to have 
been murdered in the Tower by command of Richard m., was still living. 
'fhis rumour being greedily received-the English being ever ready to give 
credit to absurdities-a young man about twenty years of age, of handsome 
features, graceful air, easy manners, courtly address, and elegant conversation, 
was landed at the Cove of Cork, from a merchant trading vessel from Lisbon. 
It was soon whispered about that the mysterious stranger was, Richard 
Duke of York, the second son of Edward IV. The English settlers in Ire­
land were warmly attached to the house of York, and hence has that country 
been selected as the theatre upon which was to be performed the first act in 
the exploits of this pretender, as well as the opening scene of the Simnel 
farce. After the Earl of Desmond and the citizens of Cork had declared in 
his favour, he accepted an invitation from the minister& of Charles m. to 
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visit France, and place himself under the protection of that monarch. For 
some time he was treated by Charles as the real Duke of York, and heir to 
the English throne; and for his greater security, a guard of honour was 
allotted to him. 

Leaving France, we find him under the protection of the Duchess of 
Burgundy, who received him with joy, appointed him a guard of thirty hal· 
berdiers, and gave him the surname of " The White Rose of England." Her 
conduct alarmed Henry, and revived the hopes of his enemies. Could the 
aunt, it was asked, be deceived as to the identity of her nephew, or could she 
countenance au impostor? Henry spared neither pains nor expense to 
unravel the mystery; and the Yorkists were equally active. The royal 
emi888ries reported that the impostor was the son of a converted Jew, who 
had been over to England in the reign of Edward IV.; that he was a native 
of the city of Tournay, and that his real name was Perkin Warbeck. Sir 
Robert Clifford, the secret agent of the Yorkists, had seen "the white rose," 
and bad beard from himself, and from his aunt, the history of his adventures ; 
and be assured his employers in England, that the claim of the new Duke of 
York was indisputable. The spies of Henry discovered the English partisans 
of the pretender, and in one day Lord Fitzwalter, Sir Simon Montford, Sir 
Thomas Thwaites, several clergymen, and others, were apprehended on the 
charge of high treason. Their correspondence with the friends of the pre­
tender in Flanders was considered a sufficient proof of their guilt; and all 
received judgment of death. Some of them suffered immediately, and the 
rest were pardoned. Sir William Stanley too, Henry's Lord Chamberlain, 
was convicted of the same crime, and decapitated. 

Three years had now elapsed since the pretender first set forth his claim ; 
and yet he had never made any attempt to establish it by legal proof, or to 
enforce it by an appeal to the sword. At length be sailed from the coast of 
Flanders, with a few hundreds of adventurers attached to his fortunes, and 
made an unsuccessful descent in the neighbourhood of Deal. The inhabitants 
attaeked the invaders, made 169 prisoners, and drove the remainder into their 
boats. All the captives were banged, by order of Henry. Warbeck then 
sailed to Ireland, and with the aid of the Earl of Desmond, laid siege to 
Waterford. Here again he failed, and then returned to Flanders. Soon 
alter be sailed to Cork, but the natives of that " beautiful city " refused to 
venture their lives in his service. From Cork he passed to Scotland, and 
was received with great cordiality by James IV., the King of that country, 
who was seduced to believe the story of his birth ; and be carried his con­
fidence 110 far as to give him in marriage his near relation, Lady Catherine 
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Gordon, daughter of the Earl of Huntley. But not content with these 
instances of favour, James resolved to attempt settling him on the throne of 
England. Warbeck had mustered under his standard 1,400 men, outlaws 
from all nations; to these James added all the forces it was in his power to 
raise; and the combined army crossed the border. They were preceded by 
a proclamation, in which the pretender was styled " Ricliard, by the grace of 
God, King of England and France, Lord of Ireland, and Prince of Wales." 
But the proclamation had no effect. It was expected that the country would 
rise, when called upon ; but the adventurer's pretensions were now become 
stale-the novelty of the thing had worn away-and not a sword was un· 
sheathed iu favour of the white rose. The Scots, to repay themselves, pillaged 
the country without mercy, and returned, laden with spoils, to their homes. 
We soon after find this restless ad,·enturer, under the title of Richard IV., 
at the head of 6,000 of the men of Cornwall, before tlie gates of Exeter, 
where failure marked his progress. At Taunton he perceived the approach 
of the royol army, coUHllanded by the Lord Chamberlain and Lord Brooke; 
and at midnight, leaving his followers to their fate, he rode away witl1 a guard 
of sixty men to the sanctuary of Beaulieu, in Hampshire. In the morning 
the insurgents submitted to the royal mercy, and the ringleaders were hanged. 
Upon receiving a promise that his life should be spared, Warbeck surrendered 
himself to the King, who ordered him to be confined within the precincts of 
the palace. 

Having grown weary of confinement in the palace, he, at the end of six 
months, attempted to escape, but failed; and for this he was placed in the 
stocks at Westminster and Cheapside, and then committed to the Tower. 
The real Earl of Warwick, and the pretended Duke of York, were now fellow· 
prisoners in the Tower. They soon contracted a mutual friendship for each 
other. Warbeck and he entered into a conspiracy, with four of the warders, 
to murder the governor, effect their escape, and make another attempt to seize 
the crown. This plot being discovered, they were both brought to trial, con· 
demned, and executed. Whilst W arbeck and Warwick were plotting in the 
Tower, a person of the name of Ralph Wulford attempted to personate the 
young Prince, but he was soon apprehended, and he paid with his life the 
forfeit of his temerity. 

The Princess Margaret, Henry's eldest daughter, a beautiful girl in her 
18th year, when on a journey into Scotland, in order to consummate her 
marriage with James IV., visited York, on the 14th July, 1508, accompanied 
by a train of 500 lords and ladies. On this occasion the citizens testified 
their loyalty to Henry by paying her the most marked attention. The 
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Sheriff, attended by about 100 lords, ladies, and gentlemen, on horseback, 
met her at Tadcaster Bridge, and the cavalcade proceeded till it anived 
within a mile of the city. "So great were the preparations within the walls 
of the northern metropolis," writes Miss Strickland, in her Lit·es of tlte 
Qtuem of England, "that she found it necessary to change her dress; for 
which purpose she retired to her litter, where, assisted by her tirewomen, she 
performed her toilette by the wayside. All her ladies and maidens likewise 
refreshed their habiliments, and when they considered themseh·es sufficiently 
brightened and cleansed from the dust and stains of travel, York gates were 
opened, and a grand procession of civil magnates and gallant Yorkshire 
cavaliers poured forth to meet and welcome the royal train. The citizens 
were headed by ihe Lord Mayor of York and the chivalry of the Earl of 
Northumberland. In fair order did Queen Margaret enter York, her min· 
strels singing, her trumpets and sackbuts playing, and the high woods 
resounding, banners and bandroles waving ; coats of arms unrolled to tl1e 
light of the sun setting; rich maces in hand, and brave horsemen curvetting 
and bounding. York was crowded with the gentry from the East and West 
Ridings. My Lord of Northumberland and my Lord Mayor did their best 
to make Queen Margaret's reception expensive and splendid, but as they did 
not produce any striking variation in their pageantry, it need not be dwelt 
upon. The young Queen was received in the palace of the Archbishop of 
York, after her fatiguing day was done. In the morning, that prelate led 
her to high mass in York Minster. Margaret was gloriously attired in cloth 
of gold on this occasion, her gown being belted with a precious girdle studded 
with coloured gems} the ends of her belt hung down to the ground ; her 
necklace was very splendid, full of orient stones. As she went from the 
palace to the Minster, the Countess of Surrey bore her train, and after them 
fOllowed her ladies, all very richly attired, in goodly gowns tied with great 
gold chains or girdle belts, with the ends hanging down to the earth. When 
mass was done, Queen Margaret gave reception in the great ante-room of the 
Archbishop's Palace, holding a drawing-room, as it would be called in modern 
phraseology. Here, my lady, the Countess of Northumberland was pre­
sented to her, being well accompanied with knights and gentlemen. The 
young Queen of Scotland kissed her for tl1e welcoming she gave her." Mar· 
ga.ret remained at York from Saturday till Monday, and was presented with 
a silver cup ornamented with gold. Upon taking leave of the Corporation, 
when she reached Clifton, on her journey northward, she made the following 
courteous but laconic speech; "My Lord Mayor, your brethren, and all the 
whole city of York, I shall evermore endeavour to love you, and this city, as 
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long as life itself." York was the second of the ten ataple towns which 
Henry VII. established in England, with a view to the promotion of trade. 
These ten towns were endowed with peculiar commercial privileges, as marts 
where foreigners might find the commodities of the country in abundance. 
During the remainder of the reign of this monarch the annals of York 
contain no important transaction. 

In 1509, Henry VIII., then only sixteen years of age, succeeded to the 
throne on the death of his father. In the course of this year, or, according 
to some authorities, in 1507, Hugo Bois, or Goes, the son of an ingenious 
printer at Antwerp, established a printing press at York, being shortly after 
the invention of printing, and contemporaneous with Wynkyn de Worde. 
According to some, Dois had his press in the Minster yard, in or near St. 
William's College, on the same site upon which the royal printing presses 
were erected in 164:l, whilst Charles I. was at York; but other accounts 
state that Bois's press stood in Stonegate, in the house known as Mulberry 
or Mowbray Hall. 

William Caxton, a London merchant, who had attached himself to the 
service of Margaret, Countess of Richmond, mother of King Henry VII., and 
had travelled much on the continent of Europe, first introduced the art of 
printing into England, about the year 14 i 4.* By the desire of his illustrious 
patroness, Caxton contrived to make himself acquainted with the mechanism 
of the art in Germany; from which country he returned to England, pro· 
'ided with types, presses, &c., which he erected in one of the chapels within 
Westminster Abbey (encouraged by Thomas Milling, the then Abbot), sup· 
posed by some to be the almonry, and there he produced the first specimen 
of English typography. The" Game and Play of Chesse" was printed in 
that year, and was the first book ever printed in these kingdoms. In a few 
years after, the "mystery of printing," as it was then called, was introdu~ed 
into Oxford and St. Albans. The first specimen of Oxford workmanship is 
dated 1478, and the first book printed at St. Albans is dated 1480. York, 
as we have seen, procured itself the advantage of the press in 1507 or 1509; 
Cambridge in 1521; 'l'avistock in 1525; and Canterbury and other towns, 
at periods considerably later. The press made very little progress in England 
during the latter end of the 15th and nearly the whole of the 16th century. 
The first complete version of the Bible was published on the 4th of October, 
1535. 

• Caxton died in 1491, and was buried in St. Margaret's ehlll'Ch, WestmiDeter. 
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York and the Ainsty contributed 500 men to the army that fought against 
the Scots, under the Earl of Surrey, and gained the memorable victory of 
Flodden Field, on the 9th of September, 1518. In this battle James IV., 
King of Scotland, Henry's brother-in-law, was slain. His body was conveyed 
to York, and there exposed to public view, till Henry's return from France, 
when it was presented to him at Richmond, in Surrey. 

In 1581 the city of York obtained an Act of Parliament "for amending 
the rivers Ouse and Humber, and for pulling down and avoiding of fish· 
garths, piles, stakes, and other things set in the said rivers." Pre,ious to 
this year there were fish-garths in these rivers, which were so injurious to 
the trade of York, by preventing the free passage of ships to that city, that 
the Lord .Mayor and commonalty petitioned Parliament for this Act, for the 
removal of the obstructions. 

In the 24th of this reign (1583), the price of pl'lnisions was fixed, as fol­
lows :-beef and pork, at a halfpenny a pound ; veal and mutton, at a half­
penny and half a farthing; hens, a penny each ; geese, two-pence each ; 
butter, sixpence a stone; and cheese, eighteen-pence a stone ; with all other 
articles in proportion. The shilling of that day was worth about five times 
that sum in our present money. 

The suppression of the monasteries, which commenced in 1535, excited a 
great sensation in Yorkshire, and all throughout the northern counties. 
Before this period, the King was a disputant on tenets of religion, with 
Martin Luther, having written a book of controversy, still extant, entitled 
"A Defence of the Seven Sacraments, by King Henry VIII. ;" for the merit 
of which the Pope and Sacred College granted him the distinguished title of 
King Dejeruler of the Faith,-" Rex Fidei Defensor." Thus it is clear that 
Henry was originally a strenuous advocate of the Catholic church ; but the 
Pope's refusal to grant him a divorce from his lawful '\\iCe, Catherine, excited 
his ire to such a pitch, that he resolved to try whether Acts of Parliament 
did not possess the talismanic power of deputing or constituting himself head 
of the church, instead of the Pope. Accordingly, in 1582, an Act was passed 
for extinguishing the payment of Annates, or first-fruits to the see of Rome, 
and was followed by another statute, prohibiting the Pope from interfering 
in the nomination of Bishops; and the Parliament, which met in 1534, 
ratified and established the King's claim of Suprem8 Head of the Church. 
Acts were also passed for taking away the benefit of sanctuary; for giving 
the first-fruits to the King, and for making a provision for suffragan Bishops. 
Having now proved the flexibility of his Parliament, and being either aware 
that his revenues were not adequate to gratify his insatiable propensity for 
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diversions, feasting, gaming, and public shows; or, prompted by inordinate 
avarice, he next turned his thoughts to the religious and charitable institu­
tions of the country, and first obtained an Act for the suppression of the 
smaller monasteries.* He afterwards ordered Articlu of Alurationa in JU. 
ligioru Doctrines to be exhibited, and they were signed by 18 Bishops, 4.0 
Abbots and Priors, 7 Deans, 17 Proctors, and 1 Master of a College. Most 
of the larger monasteries were dissolved in 1540, and surrendered to the 
King ; and thus the foundations, made by the piety and wisdom of our fore­
fathers, for the benefit of religion, learning, and the relief of the poor, lost 
the stability of their settlements, and were laid at the mercy of a cruel, disso­
lute, and licentious monarch; the "only Prince in modem times who carried 
judicial murder into his bed, and imbrued his hands in the blood of those he 
caressed."+ No one surely can suppose that in Henry's newly-acquired taste 
for sacrilege and church •plunder, he had any regard for religion or God's 
honour:: for, as Bishop Fisher truly said, "it is not so much the good as 
the goods of the church, that he looked after." And although the confiscation 
was a deserved vengeance, if the gifts of the pious founders were being 
abused, yet it "was an increase of guilt in the King and Parliament, who, 
by not preventing the abuse, had made themselves partakers.in the sin." 

In the reign of Henry V., York contained, besides the Cathedral, forty-one 
parish churches, seventeen chapels, sixteen hospitals, and nine monasteries, 
or convents, consequently the suppression of the religious houses infticted a 
terrible blow on the grandeur of that city. "It canll(,t be denied," ob­
serves Drake, " that after the dissolution of the monasteries by King Henry 
VITI., with the chantries, chapels, hospitals, and other houses, for the 

• Bishop Tanner, Notit., p. 23, says, that the Act for the suppression of the lesser 
monBSteries was passed about March, 1:135. Spelman, in his History of Sacrilege, p. 
183, tells us, that the bill stuck long in the House of Commons, and would not pass, till 
the King sent for the members of that house, and told them he would have the bill 
pass, or have some of their heads. 

t Mc'lntosh's History of England. 

t " Men gave their lands, liS they declared in the deed of gift, • for the glory of God,' 
and they charged what they so gave with the maintenance of masses; if reformation had 
been desired, this condition would have been repealed; but this would not have gorged 
that fatal co,·etousness, which, by confiscating the endowments, ran headlong into the 
guilt of sacrilege. But again, was all the confiscated property of the nature above 
described? Oar own experience can answer. Were the tithes (now impropriated) of 
much more than half the parishes of England, given to superstitioua uses? Were the 
glebe lands, and glebe houses, of our poor vicarages (now in the hands of laymen), 
superstitious and unholy things? This part at least of the spoil was taken strict.ly from 
the clergy."-JYilM'forct. 
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sustenance of the poor, that this famous, and then flourishing city received a 
terrible shock, by the tearing up of those foundations. No sooner was this 
mandate given here, but down fell the monasteries, the hospitals, chapels, 
and priories in this city, and with them, for company I suppose, eighteen 
parish churches, the materials and revenues of all being converted to secular 
uses.''* 

" The dissolution of the religious houses in England is one of the most 
important e\"ents recorded in our national history," writes Mr. G. S. Phillips,+ 
in his Guide to PeterborOU{Ih Cathedral. "It changed the whole aspect of civil 
and ecclesiastical affairs, and produced an entire revolution in the scheme of 
legislation. Those institutions, which had prospered in our island for cen­
turies, were all rooted up and destroyed, and that too b.v the imperious fiat of 
a monster,-second to none in infamy, cruelty, and crime. With a heart 
brutalized by sensuality,-with feelings unacquainted with the common 
sympathies of our nature,-and with passions unaccustomed to controul,­
Benry VIII. ascended the throne of England, a fit instrument for the perse­
cutions and horrors which be accomplished. He was brought up a Catholic, 
and originally destined for the Roman church. When he ascended the 
throne, be marrijl(} Catherine of Arragon, who was the reputed widow of his 
brother Arthur. This event was hailed with joy by the people, and was 
sanctioned by the papal authority. The reader will bear in mind the fact of 
this marriage, as it was one of the chief causes of the revolutions which 
we have just mentioned. The person whom Henry appointed his Prime 
Minister was Wolsey, a man of low origin, but possessed of extraordinary 
talent, which gave him immense influence with his Sovereign. It was he 
who directed the movements of the whole machinery of the state; and being 
made a Cardinal by the Pope, exercised little less than absolute authority 
over the reli~n of the country. The pomp and splendour of his retinue was 
equal, if not superior, to that of the King. He held in his hands the des· 
tinies of all the nobles by whom he was surrounded ;-his word was fate ;­
his will, law. It cannot be surprising, then, that a Catholic, possessed of 
such Yast influence, should have been the stay and bulwark of his religion; 
and it is very probable that if Wolsey had never lived, Catholicism would 
have bad a shorter duration than it obtained in the reign of Henry; for men's 
actions are always obedient to the circumstances in which they are placed, 
as the conduct of Henry will sufficiently testify. 

• Eboracum, p. 286. . 
t Author of the Lf,/1 of Wordfworlla, &c., and at present Lecturer to the Yorkshire 

Union ot Mechaniea' lnetitutes. 
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Hitherto then we perceive that Henry and Catholicism were at peace. He 
was not yet placed in that situation which afterwards made him declare war 
against it. The continental Refonners only excited his destructiveness, and 
Luther's writings, which were making their way into England with an 
astonishing rapidity, caused him to write a book against the new doctrines 
which Luther taught and promulgated. All these circumstances then were 
working in favour of the Catholic religion: but the time was soon to 
come, when more powerful infiuences were to operate upon the King, and 
stronger motives were to direct his movements. Queen Catherine, who had 
been married to Henry a great number of years, at length displeased him ; 
and he affected to have, at this remote period, such strong compunctions 
about his marriage with her, on account of her being his brother's widow, 
that nothing but a divorce could make him happy. The secret cause, how· 
ever, of this sudden change, was discovered in his affection for Anne Boleyn. 
In order to obtain the divorce, he applied to the Pope, who refusing to grant 
it, Henry appealed to the Universities as a last resource, and they declared 
his marriage with Catherine illegal. During this debate about the legality 
of the marriage, sprung up Cranmer, the most weak, cruel, and bigoted of 
Henry's accomplices. It was he who divorced the Queen, and for this ser­
vice he was soon after appointed arbiter of civil and religious affairs. Wolsey 
fell from power with the Queen; for not daring to offend the Pope, and 
relying on his influence with his Sovereign, he overreached himself, by 
tampering with the King too long,-and ultimately fell a victim to his own 
subtilty. Thus the principal support of the Catholic religion was lopped 
away, and the King having been excommunicated by the Pope, set his 
threats at defiance,-made a new creed for his subjects, and ordered Cranmer 
to bum and destroy all who did not immediately become converts to it. He 
finally threw off all submission to the Pope, and resolving to abow how little 
he regarded his authority, he broke up all the monastic institutions of the 
country ,-robbed them of their wealth,-and put most of the monks to 
death." 

The Rev. John Tickell, in his Hutory of Kingston-upon-Hull,* says, "The 
Monks were historians, tho Abbots excellen.t landlords; and in general they 
were remarkable for an universal hospitality. In order, however, that the 
suppression of the monasteries might be received with less concem, Henry 
made use of an artifice. He caused a report to be spread,t that the kingdom 
was going to be invaded by several Princes, at the instigation of t~e Pope 

• pp. 180, 181. t Stowe, p. 676 • 
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and Cardinal Pole; and be confirmed this report, by going in person to visit 
the coasts, and commanding forts and redoubts to be erected in several places. 
He likewise gave strict orders to fit out a strong fleet, and keep the troops in 
readiness to march upon the first notice.* The King's intent, in all these 
proceedings, was to convince the people that the Parliament would be obliged 
to levy heavy taxes to resist the pretended invasion ; but that he, acquhing 
a large revenue by the suppression of the monasteries, would have no occasion 
for such subsidies. "t 

The supporters of the confiscation painted, in most attractive colours, the 
advantages of the bill, which vested in the crown" all the property, moveable 
and immoveable, of the monastic establishments which either had already 
been, or should hereafter be, suppressed, abolished, or surrendered." The 
social condition of England was to undergo a vast transformation-pauperism 
and taxation were to terminate-future wars \Vould be waged without any 
additional burthens on the nation, and all apprehensions of danger from 
foreign hostility or internal discontent were to cease. How the future re­
alized the hopes of the royal parasites, except in enriching them at the 
expense of the monasteries, history can tell. Pauperism soon flooded the 
country ; and the King, as we shall see, instead of diminishing the national 
burthens, demanded compensation for the expenses he incmTed in the re­
formation of religion ! Within twelve months after the religious houses were 
despoiled he wrested two subsidies from Parliament. How the property of 
the monasteries was spent we have accounts in the chroniclers of the day. 
According to Bale, an ardent Reformer, "a great part of this treasure was 
turned to the upholding of dice playing, masking, and banqueting-yea," he 
continues, "I would I could not by just occasion speak i~bribing, wh--, 
and swearing." 

The annual rents of the 380 lesser establishments, which were dissolved 
in 1585, amounted to £32,000. ; and the goods, lands, plate, &c., belonging to 
these houses, were valued at £100,000., but are said to have been worth three 
times that sum. By the suppression of the greater monasteries, in 1540, the 
King gained a revenue of more than £100,000. a year, besides large sums in 
plate and jewels. The annual revenue of all the suppressed houses amounted 
to £14~,914. Hls. \l}d., about one-and-twentieth part of the whole rental of 
the kingdom, if Hume be correct in taking that rental at three millions, as 
the rents were then valued. Burnet says that they were at least ten times 
as much in real value ; for the Abbots and Priors having some presentiment 

• Burnet. Lord Herbert. t Stevens' History of Taxes, p. 216. 
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of the impending storm, had fixed the yearly rents very low, and raised the 
fines very high, that they might have something to subsist on when ther 
should be expelled their houses. Besides the rents of the lands belonging to 
the monasteries, Henry received a considerable sum arising from the church 
ornaments, plate, goods, lead, bells, and other materials, which he thought it 
uot proper to have valued at all . 

. Lord. Herbert, in his history of this rapacious monarch, tells us that manr 
of the visitors appointed to examine into the state of the monasteries, 
petitioned the King that some few of them might be suffered to remain 
for the benefit of the country at large ; the poor receiving from them ~t 
relief, and the rich good education for their children ; and Bishop Latimer 
also earnestly entreated that, at least, two or three might be left standing 
in every county, to be nurseries for charity, learning, preaching, study, and 
prayer. But Cromwell, by the King's directions, invaded all, nor could he 
be prevailed upon to leave one of them standing. Notwithstanding the 
immense riches which Henry had obtained from the suppressed Abbeys, 
Friaries, Nunneries, and Monasteries, and which he pretended was not to be 
converted to private uses, but to fill his exchequer and relieve his subjects, 
who were led to believe that they should never hereafter be charged with 
subsidies, fifteenths, loans, or other aids ; yet his illgotten wealth was very 
soon lavished away, and the exchequer being reduced, he demanded subsidies 
both of the clergy and laity, Accordingly, the Parliament, which sat in 
November, 1545,* granted him a subsidy of two shillings in the pound. 
and the convocation of the province of Canterbury, granted him a continu­
ation of a former subsidy of six shillings in the pound. Besides there were 
yet in the kingdom several Colleges, Free Chapels, Chantries, Hospitals, 
and Fraternities; and as Henry bad demanded a subsidy, this obsequious 
Parliament, apprehensive that further demands might be made, very liberally 
and generously gave them all to him ; with all their sites, buildings, riches, 
lands, possessions, &c., amounting to many thousand pounds a year. After 
his compliant Parliament .had granted all this, Henry came to the House 
and thanked his faithful Commons for what they had done, telling them 
"that never King was more blessed than he was; and at the same time 
he assured them that he should take proper care for the supplying of the 
ministers, for encouraging learning, and relieving the poor. "t The Uni­
versities, however, it seems, rather suspected him ; for they now made 
application to him, that the7 might not be included in the Act of diuolution 

• BIU'Ilet t Ibid. 
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ol Colleges and Fraternities; and Dr. Cox, tutor to the Prince of Wales, 
wrote to secretary Paget, requesting him to represent to the King the great 
'W&D.t of schools, preachers, and houses for orphans ; " that there were 
ravenous wolves about his MeJesty, which would devour Universities, Cathe· 
drals, and Chantries,* and a thousand times as much, so that posterity 
would wonder at such things; he therefore desired that the Universities, at 
least, might be secured from their spoils. "t These solicitations produced 
the desired effect; for Henry, by confirming the ancient rights of the 
Universities, dispelled their fears, and assured them that their revenues 
should remain untouched. By way of atonement for the havoc made in the 
religious houses, in coujunetion with other motives, partaking more of policy 
than retribution, Henry erected six Bishops' Sees, on the ruin of as many of 
the most opulent monasteries, and appropriated a part of their revenues to the 
maintenance of the new prelates. But even these were at first so scantily 
endowed, that the new prelates for some years eujoyed little more than a 
nominal income.: 

To soften the odium of these measures, much has been said of the immo· 
rality praetiaed, or supposed to be practised, within the monasteries. "It is 
not in human nature," writes Dr. Lingard, " that in numerous societies of 
men, all should be equally virtuous. The monks of different descriptions 
amoonted to many thousands; and in such a multitude there must have 
existed individuals, whose conduct was a disgrace to their profession. But 
when this has been conceded on the one hand, it ought to be admitted on the 
other, that the charges against them are entitled to very little credit. They 
were ex parte statemeuts, to which the accused had no opportunity of replying, 
and were made to silence enquiry, and sanctify injustice. Of the com· 

• It was the Cllltom, in ancient times, for Lords ol manors, and persons of wealth 
and importance, to build small chapels or side aisles to their parish churches, dedicated 
iD honour of eome laTourite saint, and these were endowed with lands sufficient for the 
maintenance or one or more ohantors or priests, who were to sing masses at the altar 
erected therein. lor the soul ol the rounder and those ol his ancestors and posterity; 
theae chantry chapels sened also as a burial placo for the founder and his family. 
There were trequently many chan tries in one church, and they were generally separated 
6-om the rest ol the church by a screen. Fuller asya, " Chantries were .ddjective1, not 
able to stand by themselves, and therefore united, lbr their better support, to some pa. 
rochill, collegiate. or cathedral church." Before the Reformation, much of the property 
olthe Universities was held on the condition olthe performance of chantry senices. 

Fru CADpell, though endowed for the same use and senice as chantries, were inde. 
peDden' of any church or other eooleaiastical edifice. " They had more room for 
priests," says Fuller, "and more priests Cor that room." 

+ Bumet. t JODI'IIale, 112. Strype, I. Bee., 276. Rymer, xiv., 709, 716, cfzc. 
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missioners, some were not very immaculate characters themselves; all were 
stimulated to invent and exaggerate, both by the known rapacity or the King .. 
and by their own prospects of personal interest."* 

Mr. Thorn, in a small work called Ramblu by Riven, says, "There can 
be little question that at the ReCormation the monks had become more open 
to censure than at any previous period. It is impossible to read the notices 
of them that occur in writers of all descriptions without feeling this. Nor 
can it perhaps be said that there was not need for some great change at the 
time of the dissolution of monasteries. But in palliation of that measure 
nothing can be said. It is the largest, coarsest, and most unprovoked robbery 
that monarch ever committed on his subjects. Every reason put forward to 
justify it was a plain untruth. From the beginning to the end, every step 
taken was equally vile. Sometimes the detestable evidence, accumulated by 
Henry's commissioners, is adduced in his favour; but those commissioners 
were the greatest scoundrels in this country, excepting their master." 

The suppression of the religious institutions, and the appropriation of the 
property of the church and the patrimony of the poor to "the King's 
Majesty's use;" the turning out of so many priests, monks, nuns, sick and 
aged people, to starve, or beg their bread, so exasperated the people of the 
northern counties, who retained a strong attachment to the ancient doctrines, 
that in 1536 a large multitude rose in open rebellion, and demanded the 
redress of these grievances ; that is, the re-establishment of the Catholic 
religion, and the monastic institutions. The first who appeared in arms 
were the men of Lincolnshire, under the guidance of Dr. Makerel, Prior of 
Burlings, who had assumed the name of Captain Cobler; and so formidable 
was their Coree, that the Duke o£ Suffolk, the royal commander, deemed it 
more prudent to negociate than to fight. In the five other counties, the 
insurrection had assumed a more Cormidable appearance. From the borders 
of Scotland to the Humber, the inhabitants had generally bound themselves 
l,~. oath to stand by each other. 

Nor 'vas the insurrection long confined to the common people. RapiD and 
others wll us that the nobility and gentry, the Cormer patrons of the dis· 
soh·e(l houses, had joined the standard of revolt.+ The Archbishop of York, 
the Lords Neville, D'Arcy, Lumley, and Latimer; Sir Robert Constable, Sir 
John Bulmer, Sir Stephen Hamilton, Sir Thomas Percy, brother of the Earl 
of Northumberland, and many other Knights and gentlemen of the north, 
were amongst the insurgents. The real leaders seem not to have been 

• Hist. Eng., vol vi., p. 266, fcp. 8\·o. t Rapin, ,.ol.. i., 1'· 1'115. 
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known, but the rebels, amounting in number to upwards of 40,000 men, 
were under the nominal command of Richard or Robert Aske, of Aughton, a 
gentleman of considerable fortune and influence in Yorkshire ; and the enter· 
prise was quaintly termed the Pilgrimage of Grace. The oath taken by the 
" Pilgrims " was, " that they should enter into this pilgrimage for the love 
which they bore to Almighty God, his faith, the holy church, and the main­
tenance thereof; the preservation of the King·s person and issue; the 
purifying of the nobility, and expulsion of villein blood and evil counsellors 
from his grace and privy council; not for any private profit, nor to do die­
pleasure to any private person, nor to slay or murder through envy, but to 
put away all fears, and to take afore them the Cross of Christ, his faith, and 
the restitution of the church, and the suppression of heretics and their 
opinions. ·• On their banners were painted the Crucifixion of our Saviour, 
and the chalice and hosi, the emblems of their belief. A number of ecclesi­
astics marched at the head of the. army, in the habits of their order, carrying 
crosses in their hands, and wearing on their eleeves an emblem of the five 
wounds of Christ, with the name of Jesus wrought in the middle. Wherever 
the pilgrims appeared, the ejected monks were placed in their monasteries, 
and the inhabitants were compelled to take the oath, and to join the army. 
Henry immediately issued commissions to several Lords to levy troops, but 
from the backwardne88 of the people, the army was not sufficiently strong to 
oppose the insurgents. Aske, in the meantime, did not remain inactive. He 
divided his army into separate divisions--one of which took possession of 
Pontefract Castle, whilst another division made themselves masters of the 
city of York; and a third, under the command of one Hallam, took Hull by 
surprise. The strong castles of Skipton and Scarborough were preserved 
by the courage and loyalty of the garrisons. The King issued a proclamation, 
in which he told the rebels that they ought no more to pretend to give judg­
ment with regard to government, than a blind man with regard to colours: 
-"And we," he added," with our whole council, think it right strange that 
ye, who are but brutes, and inexpert folks, do take upon you to appoint us, 
who be meet or not for our council." 

Aske, at the head of 80,000 men, then hastened to obtain possession of 
Doncaster. The Earl of Shrewsbury, though without any commission, 
armed his tenantry, and threw himself into the town; he was soon joined by 
the Duke of Norfolk, the King's lieutenant, with a small army of 6,000 men, 
and a battery of cannon was erected · to protect the bridge. The Duke en­
camped near Doncaster, and entered into a negotiation with the rebels, who 
had taken their stand at Scawsby Leas. On the ~Oth of October, 1686, the 
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Duke sent a herald with a proclamation to the insurgents ; Aske, sitting in 
state, with the Archbishop of York on the one hand, and Lord D'Arcy on the 
other, gave the herald an audience, but on hearing the contents of the pro­
clamation, he refused to allow it to be published to the army. Henry, who 
was now greatly alarmed, issued a proclamation, commanding all the nobility 
to meet him at Northampton. Meanwhile the insurgents advanced towards 
the detachment commanded by the Duke of Norfolk, which was stationed to 
defend the bridge which formed the pass between the two armies.• A most 
fortunate circumstance for the King occurred at this juncture, the river Don, 
which was fordable in several places, was now so swollen by a heavy rain 
that it was impossible to effect a passage over it: had it been otherwise, the 
royal army must have been defeated : though, under the circumstances, it is 
impossible to say what might have been the con~uence, for the Duke, 
though entrusted with the command of the forces of the King, was averse to 
the alterations made in religion, and it could not, therefore, be agreeable to 
him to oppose men who were defending a cause which he secretly approved. 

During these protracted negotiations, the King was enabled to strengthen 
his army, which so alarmed many of the rebels, that they, suspecting 
they were betrayed by their leaders, withdrew themselves from the cause. 
Wearied at length by the delays in the negotiation, the main body of the 
rebels, which still remained in their camp, resolved to renew hostilities, and 
to attack the royal army at Doncaster : but this, however, was prevented by 
another violent rain, which rendered the river impassable. 

Henry now sent a general pardon for the insurgents who should lay down 
their arms, excepting only ten persons, six of whom were named, and four 
not named. This offer was rejected, and after many delays and tedious 
negotiations, the King propoBEid that the rebels should send deputies to treat 
for peace. This proposal was accepted, and at a conference held at Don· 
easter, on the 6th of December, the deputies made the following demands:-

1st.-That a general pardon should be granted without any exeeption. 
~nd.-That a Parliament should be held at York. 
Srd.-That a Court of Justice should be erected there, so that the inhabi­

tants: of the north em counties should not be brought to London on any 
lawsuit. 

4th.-That some Acts of the late Parliament, which were too grievous to 
the people, should be repealed. 

ISth.-That the Princess Mary should be declared legitimate. 

• Bapin, Yol. i., p. 816. Hall, 289. Stowe, 67L 
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8th.-That the Papal authority should be re-established on its former 
footing. 

7th.-That the suppressed monasteries should be restored to their former 
state. 

Sth.-That the Lutherans, and all innovators in religion, should be 
severely punished. 

9th.-Th&t Thomas, Lord Cromwell; Audley, the Lord Chancellor; and 
Rich, the Attorney General ; should be removed from the Council, and 
excluded from the next Parliament. 

10th.-That Lee and Leighton, visitors of the monasteries, should be 
imprisoned, and brought to account for their briberies and extortions.* 

This conference broke up without producing any effect, but the Duke of 
Norfolk advised the King to comply with, at least, some of their demands. 
Henry therefore promised that their grievances should be patiently discussed 
at the next Parliament, which, he agreed, was to be held 1lt York; and he 
also offered a general pardon to the rebels. Aske and th& other leaders 
accepted the King's offer, and the treaty being concluded, the inswgents 
immediately dispersed. But Henry, freed from his apprehensions, neglected 
to redeem his promise, and in leBB than two months the " Pilgrims " were 
again in arms; but the Duke of Norfolk, with a more numerous force over· 
powered them, after they had failed in two successive attempts to surprise 
Hull and Carlisle. Lord D'Arcy, Robert Aske, and many other leaders 
were taken, sent to London, and executed.t The Abbots of Fountains, 
Jervaux, and Rivaulx, the Prior of Bridlington, and others, were executed at 
Tyburn; Sir Robert Constable was hanged in chains, over Beverley gate, at 
Hull; Aske was suspended from a tower, probably Clifford's, at York; 
D'.Moy was beheaded at Tower Hill, in London; and seventy-four of the 
officers were hung on the walls of Carlisle. The several rebellions which 
occurred in the north having subsided, and the King's anger being satiated 
with the blood of the chief rebels, he iBBued out a general pardon to all the 
northern counties, excepting, however, twenty-two persons, most of whom 
were taken, and actually suffered in one place or another. 

In the month of August, 1641, Henry, in order to quiet the minds of the 
people, receive their submission, and reconcile them to his government, made 
a progress to the north, accompanied by the Queen. Another motive for this 
journey was, that he proposed to have a conferenCe at York, with his nephew, 

• ~,mi.,~sio. 
t LiDprd'l Eqlmd, m 'ri., p. ~7. Fcp. 8TO. 
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James V., King of Scotland, in order to settle, if possible, a lasting peace.* 
" On his entrance into Yorkshire, he was met with 200 gentlemen of the 
same shire, in coats of Yelvet, and 4,000 tall yeomen and serving men, well 
horsed, which, on their knees, made submission to him by the mouth of Sir 
Robert Bowes, and gave to the King £900. On Barnsdale, the Archbishop 
of York, with more than 300 priests, met the King, and, making a like sub­
mission, gave to him £600. The like submission was made by the Mayors 
of York, Newcastle, and Hull, and each of them gave the King £100."t 

The Scottish nobility and ecclesiastics doubting the sincerity of Henry, 
prevailed upon James to forego the proposed meeting; and thus disappointed, 
the English monarch, after a sojourn of twelve days, left York abruptly on 
the 29th of September. During his stay at York, he established a President 
and Council in the city, under the great seal of Oyer and Terminer, which 
continued till the reign of Charles I. The first President was Thomas, Duke 
of Norfolk. The power of this court was to hear and determine all causes on 
the north side of the Trent. In the same year, Sir John Neville, knt., and 
ten other persons, were taken in rebellion, and executed at York. 

Soon after the King abolished the papal authority in England, the clergy 
were divided into two opposite factions, denominated the men of the old and 
the new learning. Gardiner, Bishop of Winchester, and Lee, Archbishop of 
York, with the Bishops of London, Durham, and Bath and Wells, were at 
the head of the former; and the leaders of the latter were Cranmer, Arch· 
bishop of Canterbury; Latimer, Bishop of Worcester;' and Shaxton and Fox, 
Bishops of Sarum and Hereford. And during the whole of the time, from 
the commencement of the revolt, until the death of the King, the creed of the 
church of England depended on the theological caprice of its supreme bead. 
Henry's infallibility continually oscillated between the two parties in the 
church. His hostility to the court of Rome led him at times to incline to the 
men of the new learning ; but his attachment to the ancient faith-which is 
most manifest throughout the work~uickly brought him back. The leaders 
of both parties, warmly as they might be attached to their own opinions, did 
not aspire to the crown of martyrdom ; they were always ready to suppress, 
or even to abjure, their real sentiments at the command of their wayward and 
imperious 'master. Both parties carefully studied the inclinations of the 
King, and sought by the most servile submission to win his confidence. In 
1586, the head of the church, with the aid of his theologians, compiled certain 
" Articles," which were ordered to be read to the people in the churches 

• Hume, vol, iv., p. 183. t Hollinsbed Chron., 1682. 
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without any comment. The book of Articles may be divided into three parts. 
The first declares that the belief in the three Creeds-the Apostles', the 
Nicene, and the Athanasian-is necessary for salvation ; the second explains 
the three great sacraments of Baptism, Penance, and the Holy Eucharist, 
and pronounces them the ordinary means of justification ; and the third 
teaches that, though the use of images, the intercession of saints, and the 
U8U&l ceremonies in the service, have not in themselves the power to remit 
sin, or justify the soul, yet they are highly profitable, and ought to be 
retained. Henry having, by these Articles, fixed the landmarks of English 
orthodoxy, now ordered the convocation "to set forth a plain and sincere 
tmposition of doctrine " for the better information of his subjects. This task 
was accomplished by the publication of a book, entitled, " The godly and 
pious Institution of a Christian Man, "-a work which was subscribed by all 
the Bishops and dignitaries of the church, and pronounced by them to accord 
"in all things with the true meaning of Scripture." It explains the Creeds, 
the seven Sacraments, which it divides into three of a higher, and four of a 
lower order, the ten Commandments, the Paternoster and Ave Maria, Justi· 
fication, and Purgatory. It dt:nies the supremacy of the Pope, and inculcates 
paasi ve obedienoe to the King ; and that Sovereigns are accountl\.ble to God 
Jalone; and it is chiefly remarkable for the earnestness with which it refuses 
salvation to all persons out of the pale of the Catholic church. By way of 
concession to the men of the new learning, as well as to replenish his coffers, 
the King ordered a number of holidays to be abolished, shrines to be de­
molished, and superstitious relics to be burnt. There is one proceeding in 
connection with this order, which on account of its singularity and absurdity, 
deserves attention. 

In the reign of Henry II., Thomas a Becket, Archbishop of Canterbury, 
sometime Lord High Chancellor of England, and a great champion of the 
rights of the church, had been murdered in his own Cathedral by four gentle· 
men in the King's service, who mistook for a command a rash expression of 
their master.* The prelate was afterwards canonized by the Pope, and the 

• The Archbishop having frequently given offence to the King, by opposing his designs 
upon the rights and property of the church, the King, one day in a transport ot Cury, 
eried out, and repeated several times, that "he cursed all those whom he had honoured 
with his triendahip, and enriched by hie bounty, seeing none ot them had the connge 
&o rid him of one Bishop, who gave him more trouble than all the rest of his subjects." 
Hearing these words, Sir William Tracy, Sir Hugh Morville, Sir Richard Briton, and 
Sir Reginald Fitz-Orson, "who," says Butler, "bad no other religion than to ftatter their 
Prince;• conspired privately to murder the Arch \».shop, and perpetrated the eacrilegious 
act on the 29th of December. 11 '10. 
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anniversary of his martyrdom was consecrated to God in honour of the saint. 
It was now suggested to Henry VIII., that so long as the name of St. Thomas 
of Canterbury should remain in <the calendar, men would be stimulated by 
his example to brave the ecclesiastical authority of their Sovereign. The 
King's attorney was therefore instructed to exhibit an information against 
"Thomas Becket, sometime Archbishop of Canterbury;" and that individual 
was formally cited to appear in court, and answer to the charge. The saint 
having neglected to quit the tomb, in which be had reposed for more than 
three centuries and a half, would have been decided against for default, had 
not the King, by his special grace, assigned him a counsel. The court sat 
at Westminster; the Attorney-General and the advocate of the accused were 
beard ; and sentence was finally pronounced that Becket bad been guilty of 
rebellion, contumacy, and treason ; that his bones should be publicly burnt, 
and that the offerings which bad been made at his shrine should be forfeited 
to the crown.* The sentence was executed in due form; and the gold, silver, 
and jewels, the spoils obtained by the demolition of the shrine, were conveyed 
in two ponderous coffers to the royal treasury. A proclamation was after­
wards published, stating that forasmuch as it now clearly appeared that 
Thomas Becket had been killed in a riot excited by his own obstinacy, and 
had been canonized by the Bishop of Rome, the King's Majesty thought it 
expedient to declare that he was no saint, but rather a rebel and traitor to 
his Prince, and therefore commanded that be should not be esteemed or called 
a saint ; thai all images and pictures of him should be destroyed ; the fes­
tivals in his honour be abolished, and his name and remembrance be erased 
out of all books, under pain of imprisonment.t Henry, like all other Re­
formers, made his own judgment the standard of orthodoxy; and he executed 
the laws against those who differed from him, with equal rigour, both before 
and after his quarrel with the court of Rome. Before that event the teachers 
of Lollardism e.."tcited his ire ; and after it he was not less eager to light the 
faggot for the punishment of heresy. A number of German Anabaptists 
landed in England in 1585 ; they were instantly apprehended, and fourteen 
of them, who refused to recant, were condemned to the flames. In 1588 
more missionaries of the same sect followed, and a similar fate was awarded 
to them. Even Henry's own relations and friends were sacrificed on the plea 
of high treason or heresy. Even Cromwell, his Vicar-General and factotum, 
who, by cunning and servility, had raised himself from the shop of a fuller 
to the Earldom of Essex, and the highest seat in the House of Lords, died 
on the ecaffold. 

• Wilk. CoD., iii, 886.&. t Ibid, 81.1. 
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In 154.1 the King published six articles of belief, in the form of an Act of 
Parliament. The 1st article declared that in the Blessed Eucharist is really 
present the natural body of Christ, under the forms and without the substance 
of bread and wine. 2nd. That communion under both kinds is not necessary 
lid &alutem. Srd. That priests may not marry by the law of God. 4th. That 
vows of chastity are to observed. 5th. That private masses ought to be 
retained. And 6th. That the use of auricular confession is expedient and 
necessary. This statute declares that if any person preach, write, or dispute 
against the first article, be shall not be allowed to abjure, but shall suffer 
death as a heretic ; or if be preach, write, or speak openly against any of the 
other five, be shall incur the usual penalties of felony. Thus it appears that 
Henry was still opposed to the Lutheran doctrines of Justification by Faith 
alone, &c. By law the Catholic and Protestant were now placed on an equal 
footing, in respect to capital punishment. If to admit the papal supremacy 
was treason, to reject the papal creed was heresy. The one could be expiated 
only by the halter and the knife ; the other led the offender to the stake and 
the faggot. On one occasion Powel, Abel, and Featherstone had been at­
tainted for denying the supremacy of the King ; Barnes, Garret, and Jerome, 
for maintaining heterodox opinions-they were now coupled, Catholic and 
Protestant, on the same butdles ; drawn together from the Tower to Smith­
field, and while the former were banged and quartered as traitors, the latter 
were consumed in the flames as heretics. 

The King bad formerly sanctioned the publication of an English version 
of the Bible, and granted permission to all his subjects to peruse it ; but in 
154.8, be had discovered that the indiscriminate reading of the holy volumes 
had not only generated a race of teachers who promulgated doctrines the 
most strange and contradictory, but bad taught ignorant men to discuss the 
meaning of the inspired writings in alehouses and taverns, till, heated with 
controversy and liquor, they burst into injurious language and provoked eacn 
other to breaches of the peace. And in his last speech to the Parliament, 
be complained bitterly of the religious dissensions which pervaded every 
parish in the realm. After observing that it was partly the fault of the 
clergy, some of whom were 11 so stiff in their old mumpsimus, and others so 
busy in their new sumpsimus," instead of preaching the word of God, they 
were employed in railing at each other; and partly the fault of the laity, who 
delighted in censuring the proceedings of the clergy, be said: 11 If you know 
that any preach perverse doctrine, come and declare it to some of our council, 
or to us, to whom is committed by God the authority to reform and order 
such causes and behaviours; and be not judges yourselves of your own 
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fantastical opinions and vain expositions ; and although you be permitted to 
rea.d holy scripture, and to have the word of God in your mother tongue, you 
must understand it is licensed you so to do, only to inform your conscience., 
and inform your children and families, and not to dispute, and to make 
scripture a railing and taunting stock against priests and preachers. I am 
very sorry to know and hear," he added, "how irreverently that precious 
jewel, the word of God, is disputed, rhymed, sung, and jingled, in every ale­
house and tavern, contrary to the true meaning and doctrine of the same; 
and yet I am as much sorry, that the rea.ders of the same follow it in doing 

\ 

so faintly and coldly. For of this I am sure, that charity was never so faint 
among you, and virtuous and godly living was never less used, nor God 
himself among you never less served.''* 

Tyndal's and Coverdale's versions of the Bible were this year (1543) ordered 
to be disused altogether, as "crafty, false, and untrue;" and permission 
to rea.d the authorised translation, without note or comment, was confined 
to persons of the rank of lords or gentlemen. A new work was published in 
the same year, with the title of "A necessary Doctrine and Erudition for 
any christned Man," or the "King's Book." This book, the composition of 
which occupied two committees of prelates and theologians for three years, 
contains a more full exposition of the doctrines to be taught, than that given 
in a previously published book, called " The Institution," with the addition 
of Transubstantiation, and the sufficiency of communion under one kind. 
The doctrines contained in this book were approved of by both houses of con­
vocation ; and the Archbishop ordered them to be studied and followed by 
every preacher. 

Towards the latter end of his reign, Henry became more arbitrary, both 
in spirituals and temporals. The Archbishops of Canterbury and York, 
the Bishop of London, and several other prelates, were obliged to make 
conveyances in his favour, of many manors belonging to their different 
dioceses, upon very slight considerations, and these deeds were confirmed by 
Parliament. t 

The King, who had long indulged, without restraint, in the pleasures of 
the table, at last became so enormously corpulent, that he could neither,sup­
port the weight of his own body, nor remove without the aid of machinery 
into the different apartments of his palace. Even the fatigue of subscribing 
his name to the writings which required his signature, was more than he 
could bear; and three commissioners were appointed to perform that duty. 

• Hall, p. 160. + Vide the Act 27th Henry Vill., t!. 16. 
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An inveterate ulcer in the thigh, which bad more than once threatened his 
life, and which now seemed to batHe all the skill of his surgeons, added to 
the irascibility of his temper ; and in the latter part of the year 1546, his 
health was rapidly declining. In his last illness, according to one account, 
he was constantly attended by his confessor, the Bishop of Rochester, heard 
mass daily in his chamber, and received the communion under one kind ; 
another account states that he died in the anguish of despair ; and a third 
represents him refusing spiritual aid till he could only reply to the exhortation 
of the Archbishop by a squeeze of the band. As the awful hour of his disso­
lution approached, we are told by Burnet, that he became more froward, 
imperious, and untractable, than ever. His courtiers durst not remind him 
of the change he was shortly to undergo, or desire him to prepare himself for it. 
At length, Burnet says, Sir Anthony Denny bad the courage and honesty to 
disclose it to him ; the King expressed his sorrow for the sins of his past life, 
and said be trusted in the mercies of Christ, which were greater than his 
sins. He died at Westminster, on Friday, the 28th of January, 1547, in the 
IS6tb year of his age, and 88th of his reign, leaving behind him the terrible 
character, that throughout his long reign he neither spared man in his anger, 
nor woman in his lust. By his will he pro'rided for the interment of his 
body, the celebration of masses, and the distribution of alms for the benefit 
of his soul.* This will is now deposited in the Chapter House, Westminster. 

Henry VIII. was succeeded on the throne by his only son Edward VI., 
(by Jane Seymour, his third Queen), being then just nine years old. His 
coronation was solemnized on the 20th of the following month (February), a 
new form having been drawn up for it, by his uncle, the Duke of Somerset, 
now ealled the Lord Protector, and the ceremony was concluded with a 
solemn high mass sung by Archbishop Cranmer.t Somerset, and the other 
guardians of the youthful monarch, were favourable to the new doctrines, 
and to ibe professors of the new learning, though they deemed it prudent to 

• The body of Henry lay in state in the chapel of Whitehall, which was hung with 
black cloth; eighty large wax tapers were kept constantly burning; twelve lords mourners 
sat around within a rail; and every day masses and a dirge were performed. At the 
commencement of the semce, Norroy, King-at-arms, called aloud: "Of your charity, 
pray for the soul of the high and mighty Prince, our late Sovereign Lord, Henry 'VIII." 
On the 14th of February the body was removed to Sion House, on the 16th to Windsor, 
and the next day was interred in the midst of the choir, near the body of Jane Seymour. 
Gardiner, Bishop of Winchester, preached the sermon, and read the funeral semce, 
which concluded with the Psalm " De profundis." See Sandford, 492; Strype, 2; Bee. 
ili., 17 ; HaJWard, 276. 

Digitized by Goog le 



198 GENERAL ffiSTORY OF YORKSHIRE, 

conceal such predilection during the life time of Henry; and now that they 
were freed from restraint, they openly professed themselves the patrons of 
the new Gospel. They now undertook to establish a different religious creed ; 
with that view they entrusted the education of Edward to the most zealous 
though secret partisans of the reformed doctrines ; and in a short time the 
royal pupil believed that the worship so rigorously enforced by his father 
was idolatrous. The diffusion of the " new learning " was now aided by all 
the influences of the crown. The zeal of the King's guardians was the more 
active, as it was stimulated by ·the prospect of reward ; for though they were 
the depositories of the sovereign authority, they had yet to make their 
private fortunes; and the church, notwithstanding the havoc which had 
been made in its possessions during the last reign, had yet some gleanings 
left. Accordingly, Edward's first Parliament, held in the first year of his 
reign, caused a su"ey and inquisition to be made and taken, of all the lands 
designed for the maintenance of Chantries, Free Chapels, and Colleges, which 
had not been fully effected in the reign of his father, and all the revenues 
given for obits, anniversaries, lights in churches, together with all the lands 
belonging to Guilds or Fraternities, on the same account.* This Act did not 
pass without great difficulty ; Cranmer and others of the Reformers opposed 
it, knowing well, that when once these revenues were in the Sovereign ·a 
hands, the church would be deprived of them for ever; and they (the Re­
formers) hoped for some favourable opportunity to convert them to uses 
beneficial to the reformed religion. The people, too, in general continued to 
murmur at these proceedings. Many towns petitioned against them. We 
have not met with the record of a petition from the city of York, on the 
subject; but the people of Hull petitioned and complained, " That the 
church was ruined, the clergy beggared, all learning despised, and that the 
people began to grow barbarous, atheistical, and rude. t 

• For Chantries and Free Chapels, Su nou at foot of page 187. The Obit was the 
anniversary of any person's death; and to observe such a day, with prayer, alms, or other 
commemorations, was called tho keeping of the obit. .Anniver1arie• were similar to the 
obits, inasmuch as they were the yearly returns of the death of persons, which the 
religious registered in their obitual or martyrology, and annually observed in gratitude 
to their founders and benefactors. Guild si.gniftes a fraternity or society, many of which 
existed formerly for religious or charitable purposes. The name is derived from the 
Saxon, Gildan, to pay, because every member paid something towards the expenses of 
the society. 

t Recorda of Hull. It must be ever lamented that the destroyers of the religious 
houses did not spare the learning of the nation, collected through so manJ centuries, 
aDd deposited m the libraries ol these inttitut.iont. No-ell was IIIICI'ificed during the 
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Finding that they wore likely to be disappointed in their expectations, the 
rapacious courtiers induced the young King, either to give to them, or other­
wise to sell greatly below their real value, most of these forfeited houses, and 
to pt.y the said endowments out of the Crown's revenues, as is done, in part at 
least, even to this day. There was a clause in the Act, importing that these 
revenues should be converted to the erecting and maintenance of Grammar 
Schools, and to the better provision for preachers, curates, and readers ; and 
this seems, in part, to have been put in practice, for many schools in dif. 
ferent parts of the kingdom were founded at that period, and mostly endowed 
out of the Chantry lands, disposed of as they had been at so much below 
their value. By this Act 90 Colleses, llO Hospitals, and 2,734 Chantries 
and Free Chapels, were destroyed. 

In the beginning of this year (1648) the council made great alterations in 
church offices. By an order, dated January the 28th, carrying candles on 
Candlemas day ; making the sign of the cross on the forehead with ashes on 
Ash Wednesday; and bearing palms on Palm Sunday, were forbidden; as 
also were the rites used on Good Friday and Easter Sunday. Confession 
was left optional, and it was ordered that all images and pictures should be 
removed from churches. In the Parliament which met on the 24th of 
November, in the same year, a bill was introduced for the purpose of autho­
rizing the uses of a new liturgy, or a book of common prayer, in the English 
language, which had been compiled by Cranmer and Holgate, Archbishops 
of Canterbury and York, and upwards of twenty other commissioners. This 
bill, which imposed very serious penalties upon any minister who should 
refuse to use it, or who should preach or speak in derogation of it, passed 
through the lower house without much difficulty; but in the higher bouse it 
met with a warm opposition. It was carried however by a maJority of 31 to 
11. The non-contents were the Earl of Derby, the Bishops of London, 
Durham, Norwich, Carlisle, Hereford, Woreester, Westminster, and Chi­
chester, and the Lords Dacres and Wyndsor.* 

Though the new liturgy was compiled chiefly from the Roman Missals and 

exterminating period, which put an end to the existence of the Catholic church as a 
national estl!blishment. Manuscripts, which can never be renewed, were consigned to 
profane~; whole ahip loads were transported to the continent; history, topography, 
biography, recorda, were alike bartered for a base equivalent, and petty tradesmen were 
furnished with paper for common purposes, which was worth its weight in gold.-CoU. 
Eccl. Hut., vol. ii. Bale asserts, that he knew a merchant, who received as many manu. 
scripta from monastic libraries for .OS. as woald sene him for all the purpo- of hia 
baaineu for twenty yean. 

• The KiDg'a .JollJ'DIJ, 8. Joamals, 881. Strype, ii., p. 8'-
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Breviaries ~such parts being omitted as were deemed objectionable, and nu­
merous additions and corrections introduced, to meet the wishes of the new 
teachers, without shocking the belief or the prejudices of their opponents), 
yet such was the attachment of the people to the ancient service, that in 
many counties they rose in open rebellion against it. Insurrections broke 
out almost at the same time in the counties of Wilts, Sussex, Surrey, Bucks, 
Hants, Berks, Kent, Gloucester, Somerset, Devon, Oxford, Norfolk, Essex, 
Suffolk, Hertford, Leicester, Rutland, Worcester, and other counties. These 
rebellious risings, some of which were very formidable, were finally suppressed 
with the aid of the foreign troops-the bands of adventurers that had been 
raised on the continent to serve in the war against Scotland. In connection 
with these risings was an insurrection at Seamer, near Scarborough, in the 
second year of this reign. It was promoted by William Dale, the parish 
clerk; William Ambler, or Ombler, of East Haslerton, yeoman; and John 
Stevenson, of Beamer. They set fire to the beacon at Staxton in the night, 
and thereby assembled a rude mob, to the number of 8,000, whose avowed 
object was the restoration of the ancient faith. 

This rabble, before they were suppressed, committed several outrages; a 
party of them went at night to the house of a person named White, and 
seizing him and all who were in the house, carried them to the wolds near 
Beamer, where they stripped and murdered them. Many apprehensions 
were at that time entertained that their numbers might swell to a formidable 
body, for discontent was pretty general among the people; but the Lord 
President of the North sent a. detachment from York against them, and the 
King issued a proclamation, offering a general pardon to all who would sub­
mit; on which the greater number of them immediately dispersed, but the 
leaders were apprehended and executed a.t York. 

Among the other changes in the forms and ceremonies of religion, in 15,8, 
was the total abolition of Sanctuaries. In 155~ altars were ordered to be re­
moved from churches, and tables substituted; and in the same year the 
marriage of priests was declared good and valid. 

In 1551 the city of York suffered considerably from a severe nondescript 
epideinic, called the Sweating Siclrn888, which extraordinary disease was then 
prevalent in England. This frightful plague made its first appearance at 
Shrewsbury on the 15th of April, in this year, and spreading towards the 
north, continued till the month of October following. People in perfect 
health were the most liable to be seized with it, and, in the beginning of the 
distemper, it was almost certain death in a few hours. Stowe instances its 
awful fatality, by seven householders, who all supped cheerfully together over-
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night, but before eight o'clock the next morning, six of them were dead. So 
great was the fear generally excited by this alarming disorder, that great 
numbers fled out of the kingdom, hoping to escape the contagion ; but, how­
ever incredible it may appear, the most veritable historians positively assure 
us, that the evil followed them, and \Vas peculiar to the English ; for, in 
various parts of the continent, though breathing a purer air, amongst men of 
different nations, the infection seized them, and them only. It first mani­
fested itself in a sudden chilliness, immediately followed by violent perspiration, 
which brought on sleep, and terminated in death. Few escaped who were 
attacked with full stomachs. How many died · in York of this singular dis­
temper is not known, but it appears in Mr. Hildyard's collections that the 
mortality was great.* This disease, says Hollinshed, made the nation begin 
to repent, and give alms, and remember God, from whom that plague might 
well seem to be sent, as a scourge for the sins of the people ; but the im­
pression, it seems, very soon wore out; for as the contagion in time ceased, 
so, continues he, our devotion decayed. 

In the beginning of the year 1558, the King was seized with an illness, 
which ended in a consumption, of which he died on the 6th of July following, 
in the 16th year of his age, and 7th of his reign. During his illness, the 
rapacious courtiers not yet content with the spoils of the church which they 
had received, prevailed upon him to sign an order for visiting the churches, 
to examine what riches, plate, or jewels, belonged to them in general; and 
to seize all the superfluous plate, ornaments, and linen, for the alleged 
purpose of providing for the poor. " Calling in these superfluous orna­
ments," says the Rev. J. Tiekell, "which lay in the churches more for pomp 
than use, and converting them into money to be given to the poor, deserved 
no blame; but the misfortune was, the poor had by much the least share of 
it, the greater part being appropriated to other uses. "t 

When Mary, the daughter of Henry VID. and Catherine of Arragon, and 
a Catholic, ascendM the throne, in 1568, things were in great confusion, as 
might be expected, in consequence of the sacrilegious robberies and spoliations 
committed by her licentious father and his harpies ; and in the endeavour to 
restore the plundered property, as well as the ancient faith, many cruelties 
were perpetrated in her reign. She certainly had great difficulties to en­
counter, considering the task which she had taken upon herself to perform ; 
for although her ministers professed deep sorrow for what had been done, and 
implored forgiveness, yet, such as were in posseBSion of the spoils of the 

• Drab's Eboracum, p. 128. + History of Hull, p. 217. 
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monasteries, held them with an iron grasp ; they liked not that paying back 
again-it was double trouble. 

In the first Parliament of this reign (held soon after the accession of the 
Queen) all the statutes with regard to religion, which had been passed during 
the reigns of her father and brother, were repealed, so that the national 

. religion was again placed on the same footing on which it stood at the death 
of Henry Vill. Intrigues were now set afoot., and fomented by the Reformed 
preachers. In the same year a marriage was projected between the Queen 
and Philip, Prince of Spain, and son of the celebrated Emperor Charles V. 
An insurrection ensued, headed by Sir Thomas Wyat, the object of which 
was to force Mary to marry Courtenay, the young Earl of Devon (whom she 
had recently liberated from the Tower, to which he had been confined from 
his infancy by the jealousy of hie father and brother); and failing in that, 
the conspirators resolved that he, in defiance of the Queen's authority, should 
marry the Princess Elizabeth, and repair with her to Devonshire and Com­
wall, where the inhabitants were devoted to his family; and where he would 
find the Duke of Suffolk, the Earl of Pembroke, and many other Lords ready 
to join his standard. These and other plans were suggested and discussed, 
but Courtenay, though ambitious, was timid and cautious, and all their 
attempts failed. Of the participation in the treason of the insurgents of the 
Princess Elizabeth, there could hardly exist a doubt ; and for several weeks 
Renard, the Spanish ambassador, endeavoured to extort the Queen's consent 
that the Princess should be condemned, and sent to the scaffold. She was a 
competitor for the crown, he argued; she had accepted the offer of the rebels, 
and ought to suffer the penalty of her treason. However, that Queen, to 
whom we are accustomed to apply the opprobrious epithet of "bloody," die­
regarded these and other well-founded arguments, and contented herself by 
proposing to her council that some one of her Lords should take charge of 
the Princess in a private house in the country; but no man being found 
willing to incur the responsibility, she was sent to the Tower, and afterwards 
to Woodstock. Some of the leaders of this rebellion, including Wyat, were 
condemned and executed ; others obtained pardon, and out of 400 taken in 
the act of rebellion, but sixty suffered the penalty of their crime. A learned 
and impartial historian justly observes, that if on this occasion sixty of the 
insurgents were sacrificed to the justice and resentment of Mary, we shall 
find in the next reign, that after a rebellion of a less formidable aspect, 
some hundreds of victims were required to appease the offended MeJesty of 
her sister. And if we look at the conduct of government after the rebellions 
of 1715 and 17 45, we shall not find that the praise of superior lenity is due 
to more modem times. 
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During the insurrection referred to (which was chiefly confined to the 
county of Kent) a party of the insurgents attempted, by stratagem, to take 
the castle of Scarborough, which at the time was but slightly garrisoned. 
Mr. Thomas Stafford, second son of Lord Stafford, collected some fugitives 
in France, which he disguised in the habits of peasants and countrymen, and 
took with him to Scarborough on a market day, under the most unsuspicious . 
appearances. He, with about thirty of his little troop, strolled into the 
castle, at intervals, with a careless air, apparently to gratify their curiosity. 
Embracing a favourable opportunity, they, at the same moment, secured the 
different sentinels, took possession of the gate, and admitted their remaining 
companions, who, under the exterior garb of countrymen, had concealed 
arms. They retained possession of the castle, however, but for three days, 
for the Earl of Westmorland, with a considerable force, recovered it without 
loss. Mr. Stafford was, on -account of his quality, beheaded; and three 
other of the leaders, Strelle.v, Bradford, and Proctor, were hanged and quar­
tered ; hence the origin of "A Scarborough warning; a word and a blow, 
and the blow comes first." 

On the festival of St. James, in A. D. 1554, the marriage of Philip and 
Mary was celebrated, in the Cathedral Church of Winchester, before crowds 
of the nobility of every part of Christendom, and with a magnificence which 
has seldom been surpassed.* And in the Parliament which assembled in 
the same year the Papal supremacy was restored, and the Church of England 
was re-united with that of Rome. The motion for the re-union was carried 
almost by acclamation. The dissolution of this Parliament was followed by 
an unexpected act of grace. The Lord Chancellor and several members of 
the council proceeded to the Tower, and, in the name of the King and Queen, 
released the state prisoners still confined on account of the insurrection of 
Northumberland and Wyat. 

From the sufferings of the Reformers, or the men of the "new learning,'' 
in the reign of Henry VITI., it might perhaps have been expected that they 
would have learned to respect the rights of conscience ; but experience 
proved the contrary. They had no sooner obtained the· ascendancy during 
the short reign of Edward, than they displayed the same persecuting spirit 
which they had formerly condemned. 

Unhappily this was an age of religious intolerance, when to punish the 
professors of erroneous doctrine was inculcated as a duty, no less by those 
who rejected than by those who asserted the Papal authority ; and this is 

• See a full description of the ceremony, in Rosso, p. 61. 
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equally true of foreign religionists.'' Archbishop Cranmer had compiled a 
code of ecclesiastical discipline for the government of the Refonned church, by 
which it was declared to be heresy to believe in Transubstantiation, to admit 
the Papal supremacy, or to deny Justification by Faith only; and it was or­
dained that individuals accused of holding such heretical opinions should be 
arraigned before the spiritual courts, should be excommunicated on conviction, 
and after a respite of sixteen days, should, if they continued obstinate, be 
delivered to the civil magistrate, to suffer the punishment provided by law. 
Fortunately for the professors of the ancient faith, Edward died before the 
new canon law obtained the sanction of the legislature. 

By the accession of Mat-y the sword pnssed into the h11.nds of the men of 
the "old learning," and Cranmer and his associates perished in the flames 
which they had prepared for the destruction of their opponents. After the 
passing of the Act for reuniting the churches, the Reformed preachers acted 
in numerous instances with great imprudence, and really provoked chastise­
ment by the intemperance of their zeal. Fanaticism became rampant, and 
a new conspiracy was organized in the counties of Cambridge, Suffolk, and 
Norfolk, and· then the storm burst on their heads ; and if anything could be 
urged in extenuation of the cruelties which they afterwards suffered, it is the 
provocation given by themselves. They heaped on the Queen, her Bishops, 
and her religion, evet-y indecent and irritating epithet which language could 
supply. Her clergy could not exercise their functions without danger to 
their lives. A dagger was thrown at one priest in the pulpit; a gun was 
discharged at another; and severnl wounds were inflicted on a third, while 
he administered the communion in his church. Some congregations prayed 
for the death of the Queen ; and tracts of the most libellous and abusive 
character were transmitted from the exiles in Germany; and successive in· 
surrections were planned by the fugitives in France. "For the better pre­
servation of the peace of the realm," severnl of the preachers, with the most 
zealous of theil· disciples, were tried and executed for heresy; and amongst 
them, Cranmer, Ridley, and Latimer, each of whom had been concerned in 
the rebellion of W yat. Many of the Reformed clergy sought an asylum in 
foreign climes; but the Lutheran Protestants refused to receive them, styling 
them heretics, because they rE;jected the corporeal presence of Christ in the 
Eucharist. They, however, met a cordial reception froin the disciples of 
Calvin and Zuinglius, and obtained permission to open churches in Stras­
burg, Frankfort, Geneva, Zurich, Basle, and Arnu. 

• See Colvin, de supplicio Serveti; Beza, de Hreriticu~ n civili mngistratn punicndis; 
and 1\Ielancthon, in locis Com., c. xxxii., de Ecclesin. 
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The Reformed writers have described in glowing colours the sufferings, and 
sought to multiply the number of the victims of persecution in this reign; 
while the Catholics have maintained that the reader should distrust the 
exaggerations of men heated with enthusiasm, and exasperated by oppression. 
The most impartial writers state that, after expunging from the catalogue of 
the martyrs the names of all who were condemned as felons or traitors, or 
who died peaceably in their beds, or who survived the publication of their 
martyrdom, or who would for their heterodoxy have been sent to the stake by 
Reformed prelates themselves, had they been in possession of the power, the 
number of persons that suffered for religious opinion in the space of four 
years, was nearly 200. And yet these deductions and allowances take but 
little from the infamy of the measure. The persecution continued at intervals 
till the death of Mary, which occurred in 1558. Her successor on the throne 
was the Princess Elizabeth, another daughter of Henry VIII., by his second 
wife, Anne Bulleyn, or Boleyn. 

In this reign the Protestant religion was re-established, and the Catholics 
again became an object of persecution. Those who denied the supremacy of 
the Queen suffered for it. 

Mr. Phillips, in his little work on Peterborough Cathedral, already quoted, 
says, "We must now say a few words about this • Good Queen Bess,' as her 
fraudulent historians call her. Indeed we cannot let this opportunity pass 
of shewing Elizabeth in her true colours. It is a duty which every writer 
owes to the public. Be it known then, that during the reign of her sister 
Mary, Elizabeth professed to be a most zealous Catholic. She attended 
mass, and could count her beads with the rapidity and devotion of a saint. 
Yet, notwithstanding these outward appearances, Queen Mary knew the 
treachery and deception of her sister's heart, and was never confident of her 
actions. She long suspected her sister's conduct, and when dying, requested 
that Elizabeth would no longer deceive her as to her real character. With a 
great oath, Elizabeth said, she hopt:d • the earth would open and swallow her 
up, if she were not in heart and soul a Catholic.' No sooner, however, was 
Elizabeth, Queen, than she declared herself a Protestant, and began her reign 
by dismissing from office all those who were not after her way of thinking. 
It would require too much space to write out a fair statement of Elizabeth's 
character in this work; if, however, the blackest peJjury-the most base and 
open licentiousness*-the most horrid sacrifices to the Protestant faith-the . . 

• There i' a law yet unrepealed in the statute book, which Elizabeth caused to be 
passed in her reign, which enacts, that all her natural children should be heirs to the 
throne, by whomsoc~er begotten. 
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cruelest hatred and persecution of a young and lovely Queen, who threw 
herself upon Elizabeth for protection-if imprisoning her for upwards of 
eighteen years for an alleged crime, of which she had no right to be an 
arbiter, and the final murder of that Queen, are sufficient virtues to make 
Elizabeth worthy the commendation of posterity-we will leave her to their 
homage, and smother the indignation which the black catalogue of her crimes 
arouses within us." 

In the second session of Parliament in this reign, the obligation of taking 
the oath of supremacy (the administration of which bad hitherto been eon· 
fined to persons seeking preferment in the church, or accepting office under 
the crown) was extended to others; and the first refusal was made an offence 
punishable by premunire, and the second by death, as in eases of treason. 
This measure, which evidently aimed at the total extinction of the ancient 
creed, met with considerable opposition from many Protestants, who ques­
tioned both its justice and its policy; but after a long struggle it was carried 
by the efforts of the ministers ; and bad its provisions been strictly carried 
into execution, the scaffolds in every part of the kingdom would have been 
drenched with the blood of the sufferers. The convocation, which had as· 
sembled, according to ancient custom, at the same time with the Parliament, 
now drew up a new creed, chiefly founded upon that formerly published by 
the authority of Edward VI. This important work, called the Thirty-ninB 
Article8, as they now exist, received the subscriptions of the two houses of 
convocation in 1562. But what a strange and inconsistent being is man! 
The framers of the Thirty-nine Articles could not have forgotten the perse­
cution of the last reign-many of them having suffered imprisonment or exile 
for their dissent from the established church ; and yet, as if they had suc­
ceeded to the infallibility which they condemned, they refused to others the 
liberty of religious choice which they had arrogated to themselves. Instead 
of considering the newly drawn up articles, as merely the distinguishing 
doctrines of the church, recently established by law, they laboured to force 
them upon the consciences of others, by making it a crime, subject to the 
penalties of heresy, to question their truth. But the attempt was opposed by 
the council, as being unnecessary as far as regarded Catholics, since they 
could at any moment be brought to the scaffold under the Act of Supremacy. 
The cruel penal laws enacted in this reign for the extirpation of the Catholic 
religion, a\varded the punishment of death in its most hideous form to ordain 
a Catholic priest within the kingdom; death to a Catholic priest to enter the 
kingdom from abroad ; death to barbour such a priest ; death to confess to 
such a priest ; death for a priest to celebrate mass ; death for a Catholic to 
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attend at mass; and death, as before stated, to deny that the Queen was head 
of the church. Challoner's list of persons put to death for the Catholic 
faith, between the years 1577 and 1681, contains the names of thirty-three 
priests and eighteen of the laity, who suffered in York. 

But in addition to the Catholics, the Puritans (who derived their origin 
from some of the exiled ministers, who, during the reign of Mary, had im­
bibed the opinions of Cahin) were a perpetual cause of disquietude to the 
Queen. They approved of much that had been done, and. urged her to a 
further reformation. They objected to the superiority of the Bishops, and 
the jurisdiction of the episcopal courts; to the repetition of the Lord's Prayer, 
to the responses of the people, to the sign of the cross in the administration 
of baptism, to the ring and the words of the contract in that of marriage, to 
the obsenance of festivals, the chant of the psalms, the use of musical 
instruments in churches, and to the habits, "the very livery of the beast," 
wom by the ministers during the celebration of divine sernce.* The Queen, 
who had a rooted antipathy against the doctrines of the Puritans, and an 
insuperable jealousy of all their proceedings, erected a tribunal, called the 
High Commission Court, for the purpose of enquiring, on the oath of the 
person accused, and on the oaths of witnesses, of all heretical, erroneous, and 
dangerous opinions, &c. Catholics and Puritans alike felt the vengeance of 
this tribunal; many of the Puritan clergy being imprisoned and suspended. 
In 1571, not fewer than seven bills for a further reformation, were introduced 
into the House of Commons. To the Queen such conduct appeared an act 
of high treason against her supremacy ; and on the dissolution of the Parlia­
ment the Lord Keeper, by her command, informed the Puritans, that she 
"did utterly disallow and condemn their folly, in meddling with things not 
appertaining to them, nor within the capacity of their understandings. "t 

A slight glance at the events of this reign reveals to us, that the subjects 
of the Queen were required to submit to the superior judgment of their 
Sovereign, and to practice that religious worship which she practised. Every 
other form of service, whether it were that of Geneva, in its evangelical 
purity, or the mass, with its supposed idolatry, was strictly forbidden, and 
both the Catholic and the Puritan were made liable to the severest penalties 
if they presumed to worship God according to the dictates of their con­
sciences. But the experience of ages has shown that religious opinions are 
not to be eradicated by severities. 

In 1569, the Catholics made a fruitless attempt in the north to restore 

• Neal'e Puritans, o. 4, 6. t D'Ewee'a1ournal, 161, 177. 
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their religion by assembling, to the number of 1,600 horse and 4,000 foot, 
under the command of Thomas Percy, Earl of Northumberland, and Charles 
Neville, Earl of Westmorland. The first object of the insurgents was to 
release the Queen of Scots from Tetbury, and endeavour to extort from 
Elizabeth a declaration that she (.Mary) was next heir to the throne. The 
proclamations which they published, stated that they did not intend to attempt 
anything against the Queen, to whom they avowed unshaken allegiance. Her 
:Majesty is surrounded, says one of these documents, "by divers newe set-upp 
nobles, who not onlie go aboute to overthrow and put down the ancient ' 
nobilitie of the realme, but also have misused the Quene's Majistie's owne 
personne, and also have by the space of twelve yeares nowe past set upp and 
mayntayned a new-found religion and heresie, contrary to God's word." 
Wherefore they called upon all true Englishmen to join with them in their 
attempt to restore the crown, the nobility, and the worship of God, to their 
former estate. " They saw around them examples of successful insurrection 
in the cause of religious liberty," writes Dr. Lingard. "The Calvinists of 
Scotland had established their own creed in defiance of all opposition ; the 
Calvinists of France had thrice waged war against their own Sovereign ; both 
had been aided with men and money by the Queen of England. If this were 
lawful to other religionists, why might not they also draw the sword, and 
claim the rights of conscience."* 
, The first meetings of the chief insurgents were held at the seat of the 
Earl of Northumberland, near Topcliffe; and they there entered into a cor­
respondence with the Duke of Alva, Governor of the Low Countries, and 
obtained his promise of a reinforcement of troops, and a supply of arms and 
ammunition. Rumours of the intended insurrection having gone abroad, 
the two Earls were summoned to appear at court to answer for their conduct. 
This order from the Queen precipitated the rising before they were fully pre­
pared; for the leaders bad already proceeded so far in their designs, that they 
dare not trust themselves in the Queen's hands. They determined to begin 
the insurrection without delay ; and their first demonstration was made at 
Durham, where they had a mass celebrated in the Cathedral before several 
thousand people, and where they threw down the communion table, and tore 
the English prayer books into pieces. Thence they marched forward to 
Staindrop, Darlington, Richmond, and Ripon, restoring the ancient service 
in each place. At the latter town they assembled round the market cross on 
the 18th o(November, and after putting Sir William Ingilby, who had op-

• History of England, vol. viii., p. 46, fep. Svo. 
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posed them, to flight, they proceeded to Knaresborougb and Wetherby, and 
thence to Clifford Moor. They then marched towards York, but bearing that 
the Earl of Essex, then Lord President of the North, was there with 5,000 
effective men, they retired and laid siege to Barnard Castle. That fortress 
was under the command of Sir George Bowes and his brother, who, after a 
gallant defence of eleven days, capitulated on condition that the garrison 
should be allowed to march, with their arms and ammunition, to York ; which 
they accordingly did. The Earl of Sussex, the Earl of Rutland, Lord 
Hunsdon, William, Lord Evers, and Sir Ralph Sadler, with their forces, to 
the number of 7,000, now marched from York, against the rebels. On their 
approach, the leaders, through fear, fled into Scotland; the insurgents dis­
persed, but most of them were killed or captured in their Bight. The failure 
of this enterprise involved many of the conspirators in ruin ; and on Good 
Friday, the 27th of March, 1570, Simon Digby, of Aiskew, and John Ful· 
thorpe, of Iselbeck, Esqre; also R()bert Pennyman, of Stokesley, and Thomas 
Bishop, Jun., of Pocklington, gentlemen (all of whom were taken, and im· 
prisoned in York Castle), were drawn to Knavesmire, and there "hanged, 
headed, and quartered," and their heads, with four of their quarters, were 
placed on the four principal gates of the city, and the other quarters were set 
up in different other parts of the country. The Earl of Westmorland found 

·means to escape from Scotland to Flanders; but the Earl of Northumberland 
was betrayed and given up by the Earl of Moreton, Viceroy of Scotland, and 
Lord Hunsdon, Governor of Berwick. He was conducted a prisoner to 
York, and beheaded on a scaffold erected for that purpose, in Pavement in 
that city, opposite the church of St. Crux, on the 22nd of August, 1572, and 
his head was set upon a high pole over Micklegate Bar, where it remained 
about two years. His head appears not, however, to have been taken down 
by official authority; for, from a curious old MSS., written about that period, 
Allen quotes the following memorandum, "In the year 1574, the head of the 
Earl of Northumberland was stolen in the night, from Micklegate Bar, by 
persons unknown."* The Earl died avowing the Pope's supremacy, denying 
that of the Queen, and affirming the land w be in a state of schism, and her 
adherents no better than heretics.t His body was buried in the church of 
St. Crux, without any memorial, attended only by two of his men-servants, 
and three women. This was .the last open attempt made to restore the 

• In the same manuacript it is stated that during this year a very considerable earth. 
quake 'II'U experienced at York. It farther states that about the same time a prison 'II'U 

erected on Ouae bridge, in the same city. 

t Speed. 
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Catholic religion in this kingdom. Hume says great severity was exercised 
against such as had taken part in these rash enterprises; no less than sixty­
six of them were hanged in Durham;* and about 800 persons are said, in 
the whole, to have suffered by the hands of the executioner. Between New­
castle and Wetherby, a distance of sixty miles in length by forty in breadth, 
there was not a town or village in which some of the inhabitants did not 
expire on the gibbet. In this last attempt to re-establish the ancient creed, 
some of the leaders are supposed to have entertained the design of placing 
on the throne Mary, the Scottish Queen, then a prisoner in England. 

During the progress of this rebellion, the city of York was in daily ex­
pectation of a siege, as is abundantly proved by many curious entries in the 
Corporation records. For example, on the 18th of November, it is ordered, 
" that the wardens do bring into the citie all sties and ladders that may lie 
in the suburbs thereof, and the inhabitants do make the!r abode in the citie 
thys troblesome time." On the 21st, it is directed," that whensoever any 
alarm shal hapen within this citie, no manner of men, women, ne children 
shall make any showteyng, crying, nor noyse, but to kepe silens."t A city 
guard of 100 men is also spoken of. 

The many warm contests, with respect to trade and commerce, which took 
place between the city of York and the town of Kingston-upon-Hull,-being 
for many years rivals in this respect-were amicably terminated by an agree­
ment made and entered into on the 28th of June, 1577. On that day articles 
were agreed on between Hugh Greaves, the then Lord Mayor of York, and 
tho citizens of the said city, on the one part; and John Thornton, Mayor of 
Kingston-upon-Hull, and the burgesses of the same, on the other part; by 
the mediation and before the Bon. Henry, Earl of Huntingdon, Lord Presi­
dent of the North. By this agreement all differences and disputes between 
the two parties finally terminated. 

In the year 1568 an imestigation into the charges made against the unfor­
tunate :Mary, Queen of Scotland, was held at York, before commissioners 
appointed by Queen Elizabeth. These commissioners were the Duke of 
Norfolk, the Earl of Sussex, and• Sir Ralph Sadler. Mary was represented 
by Lesley, Bishop of Ross ; the Lords Livingstone, Boyd, and Berries, and 
three others. During these conferences, which continued for several days, 
the city of York was the scene of active and intricate negotiation; but at 
length the proceedings were transferred to London. In 1585 many of the 

• Dr. Lingard says that no less than 300 suffered in the county of Durham. 

t Memorials of the Rebellion of 1:169, Svo., London, 1840, p. 711. 
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churches of York were united. In 1600 the city was again ,.iMitcu with 11 

very serious earthquake, which greatly alanned the inhabitants. On Thurs­
day,* the 24th of March, 1608, Queen Elizabeth finished her long, prospcrou~. 
but rigorous and imperious reign. She died at her Manor of Richmond, in 
Surrey, in the 70th year of her age, and 45th of her reign, and was buried in 
Westminster, in the chapel of Henry VII., where a stately monument is 
erected to her memory.t 

Mary and her sister Elizabeth-two zealous promoters of rival creeds­
are dead; and here we pause to ask, are the religions which these two Queens 
professed, to be charged with the excesses perpetrated in their reigns? By 
no means! far from it. This would be calumny of the blackest dye. If we 
attribute the persecutions in Mary's reign to the spirit of Catholicism, must 
we not, by the same rule, attribute the rigorous and protracted persecutions 
in the reign of Elizabeth, and all the diabolical penal laws, to the spirit of 
Protestantism? Assuredly we must. But both the Catholic and Protestant 
church equally deplore those direful persecutions, and most emphatically and 
unequivocally condemn the laws which countenanced them. To what then 
are these persecutions to be attributed? To the impiety of the age, the 
eruelty of individuals, and not to the religion of our forefathers, or the spirit 
of the reformed creed. And perhaps the cause may be discovered in the 
fact, that the extirpation of erroneous doctrine was inculcated as a duty, 
by the leaders of every religious party. Mary is called "bloody," but im­
partial writers tell us, that she only practised what the Reformers taught ; 
and that it was her misfortune, rather then her fault, that she was not more 
enlightened than the wisest of her contemporaries. 

The successor of Elizabeth was James VI. of Scotland (son of Mary, 
Queen of Scots), who became James I. of England. That monarch visited 
York in 1603, on his way from Scotland to London, to take possession of 
the crown of England, and was received by the Lord Mayor and citizens 
with great magnificence, and splendid demonstrations of loyalty. The fol· 
lowing quaint account of this monarch's reception at York, is from the pen 
of Mr. Edward Howes, the continuator of Stowe's Annals. 

• Stowe observes that this day of the week was fatal to King Henry Vill., and !ill his 
posterity; himself, his son Edward. and his daughters Mary and Elizabeth, ha\ing died 
on that day. 

t The reign of Elizabeth was long and prosperous ; and was somewhat conspicuous, 
too, for what Pennant calls its "romantic fooleries." Tilts and tournaments were the 
delight of "good Queen Bess." "At these, in her 6tlth year," says that author, "with 
wrinkled fnce, rod perriwig, little eyes, hooked nose, skinny lips, and black teeth, she 
could snek in the gross flatteries of her favoured courtien." 
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"On the 15th of April, 1608, his Majestic set forwards from Durham 
towards Yorke, his train still increasing by the numbers of gentlemen from 
the south parts, that came to offer him fealty; whose love, although be greatly 
tendered, yet did their multitudes so oppress the country, and made pro­
visions so dear, that he was fain to publish an inhibition against the inordinate 
and daily access of the people coming, that many were stopped in their way. 

" The High Sheriffe of Yorkshire, very well accompanied, attended his 
Majestic to Master Inglebyes, beside Topclift'e, being about sixteen milt:S 
from Walworth, where the King bad lain the night before, who with all joy 
and humility received his Ml\iestie, and he rested there that night. 

"The Lord Mayor and Aldermen of Yorke, upon certayne knowledge of the 
King's journey into England, with all diligence consulted what was fittest to 
be done, for the receiving and entertayning so mighty and gracious a Sove· 
raygne, as well within the cittie, as at the outmost bounds thereof; as also 
what further service, or duteous respect, they ought to show his Majestic 
uppon so good and memorable an occasion as now was offered unto them ; 
and thereupon they sent Robert Askwith, Alderman, unto Newcastle, and 
there in the behalfe of the Lord Mayor and citizens of Yorke, to make tender 
of their zealous love and dutie, for the which his Majestic gave them heartie 
thankes. 

"And uppon Saturday, the 16th of April, John Robinson and George 
Bucke, Sheriffes of Yorke, with their white roddes, being accompanied with 
an hundred citizens, and threescore other esquires, gentlemen, and others, 
the most substantial persons, being all well mounted, they received the King 
at the east end of Skip bridge, which was the utmost boundes of the libertyes 
of the cittie of Yorke; and there kneeling, the Sheriffes deli~ered their white 
roddes unto the King, with acknowledgment of their lo~e and allegiiUlce unto 
his Majestic, for the which the King, with cheerfull countenance, thanked 
them, and gave them their roddes agayne ; the which they carried all the 
way upright in their handes, ryding all the way next before the sergeant 
at annes. 

" And before the King came to the cittie, his Majestic had sent Syr Thomas 
Challenor to the Lord Mayor and Aldermen, to knowe who formerlye had 
borne the sworde before the Kinges of England at their coming to Yorke ; 
and to whom of right that office for that tyme appertayned, because it bad 
been anciently performed by the Earls of Cumberland, as hereditary to that 
house, but was now challenged by the Lord President of the North, for the 
tyme being, as proper to his place. But upon due search and examination, 
it was agreed, that the honour to bear the sworde before the King in Yorke, 
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belonged unto George, Earle of Cumberland, who all the while the King was 
in Yorke, bare the sworde, for so the King willed, and for that purpose sent 
Syr Thomas Challenor agayne to the Lord Mayor, and the Lord Mayor bare 
the great mace of the cittie, going always on the left hand of the Earle. 

"And when the King came to the cittie, which was well prepared to give his 
Highness and his royal traine entertaynment, then the Lord Mayor, with the 
twelve Aldermen in their scarlet robes, and the foure-and-twentye in crimson 
gownea, accompanied with many others of the gravest menue, met the King 
at .Micklegate Bar, his Majestie going betweene the Duke of Lennox and 
Lord Hume; and when the King came near to the scaffold where the Lord 
.Mayor, with the Recorder, the twelve Aldermen, and the foure-and-twentye, 
were all kneeling, the Lord Mayor said, • Most high and mightie Prince, I 
and my brethren do most heartilie wellcome your Ml\iestie to your Highness' 
cittie, and, in token of our duties, I deliver unto your Majestie all my au­
thoritie of this your Highness' cittie,' and then rose uppe and kissed the 
sworde, and delivered it into the King's hand, and the King gave it to the 
Duke of Lennox, who, according to the King's appointment, delivered it 
unto the Earle of Cumberland, to bear before his Majestie. 

"The Lord Mayor also delivered up the keyes of the cittie, which the 
Lord Hume received and carried them to the manor. And when the Re­
corder had ended his grave oration on behalfe of the cittie, then the Lord 
.Mayor, as the King commanded, took horse, and bare the cittie mace, ryding 
on the left hande of the Earle of Cumberland, who bore the sword of the cittie, 
and so attended his Majestie to St. Peter's church, and was there royally 
received by the Deans, Prebends, and the whole quyer of singing menne of 
that Cathedral church in their richest copes. At the entrance into the 
church, the Dean made a learned oration in Latin, which ended, the King 
ascended the quyer. The canapa was supported by six Lordes, and was 
placed in a throne prepared for his Majestie, and during divine senice there 
came three sergeants at armes with their maces, pressing to stand by the 
throne, but the Earle of Cumberland put them down, saying, that place, for 
that tyme, belonged to hym and the Lord Mayor, and not to them. 

" Divine service being ended, the King returned in the same royal manner 
he came; the canapa being carried over him into the manor of St. M&.ryes, 
where the Lord Burleigh and council gave their attendance, and received his 
Majestie, where Dr. Bennet having ended his eloquent oration, the King 
went into his chamber, the sworde and mace being there borne by the Earle 
and Lord Mayor, who left the sworde and mace there that night; and when 
the Lord Mayor was to depart, the Lord Hume delivered him agayne the 
keyes of the cittie. 
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"The n~xt day, being Sundai, the 17th of April, the Lord Mayor, with 
the Recorder, the Aldermen and Sheriffes, and the twentye-foure, with all 
their chief officers, and the Preacher of the cittie, and Town Clerk, in very 
comely order, went unto the manor, of whome, as soone as the King had 
knowledge of their comming, willed that so many of them as the roome would 
permit should come into the privy chamber, where the Lord Mayor presented 
his Majestie with a fayre cuppe, with a cover of silver and gilt, weighing 
seven tie and three ounces, and in the same two hundred anjels of gold ; and 
the Lord Mayor sayde, 'Most high and mightie Prince, I and my brethren, 
and all the whole commonaltie of this your Highnesse cittie, present unto 
your most excellent MaJestic this cuppe and golde, in token of the dutifull 
affection wee bear your Highnesse in our hearts, most humbly beseeching 
your Highnesse favourable acceptance thereof, and your most graciou11 favour 
to this your Highnesse cittie of York;' the which his Majestic graciously 
accepted, and sayde unto them, ' God will bless you the better for your good 
will towards your King.' The Lord Mayor humbly besought the King to 
dine with him the next Tuesdai; the King answered, he should ride thence 
before that time, but he would break his fast with him in the next morning. 

"This Sundai the King went to the Minster, and heard a sermon, made 
by the Dean,':' who was Bishop of Limerick, in Ireland. The Lord Mayor, 
Aldermen, and Sheriffes, and foure and twentye attended upon the King, the 
Earle still bearing the sworde, the Lord Mayor the mace, and the Sheriffes 
bearing up their roddes, as well within the church as in the streets, marching 
before the King unto the manor. The next day being Mondai, at nine 
o'clock, the Lord .L\fayor came to the manor, being accompanied and attended 
by the Recorder, Aldermen, and foure and twentye, and others, and attended 
there ; and at ten of the clock, the King, with his royal traine, went to the 
Lord l\fayor's house, and there dined; after dinner the King walked to the 
Dean's house, and was there entertayned with a banquette, at the deaneric; 
the King took horse, and passed through the cittie forth at Micklegate towards 
Grimstone, the house of Sir Edward Stanhope, the Earle of Cumberland and 
the Lord Mayor bearing the swordc and mace before the King, until they 
came to the house of St. Kathren, at which place the Earle said, ' Is it your 
MaJestic's pleasure that I deliver the sworde agayne unto my Lord Mayor, 
for he is now at the utmost partes of the liberties of this cittie ?' Then the 
King willed the Ea-rle to deliver the Mayor his sworde agayne. Then the 
Mayor alighted from his horse, and kneeling, took his leave of the King, and 

• Dr. Thornborough. 
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the King pulling off his glove, took the Mayor by the hande, and gave him 
thankes, and so rode towards Grimstone, being attended by the Sheriffes to 
the middle of Tadcaster bridge, being the utmost bounds of their liberties. 
The next day the Lord Mayor, according as be was commanded by a noble­
man, came the next morning unto the court at Grimstone, accompanied by 
the Recorder, and foure of his brethren, viz.-William Robinson, James 
Birkbie, William Greenburie, and Robert Askwith, and certain chief officers 
of the cittie; and when his l\1(\jestie understood of their coming, be willed 
that the Mayor, and Master Robinson, and Master Birkbie should be brought 
up into his bed-chamber; and the King saide, 'My Lord Mayor, our mean­
ing was to have bestowed upon you a knighthood in your own house, but the 
companie being so great, we rather thought it good to have you here;' and 
then his Majestie knighted the Lord Mayor,~' for which honour the Lord 
Mayor gave his MeJestie most bumble and heartie thankes, and returned.·· 

Hildyard, in his Antiquities of York, tells us that the King was much 
pleased with the loyalty and affection paid him by the Lord Mayor and 
citizens, and that at dinner with them, he expressed himself much in favour 
of the city, and promised that he, himself; would come and be a burgess 
among them ; and that their river, which was in a bad condition, should be 
made navigable. From another source we learn that before the King left 
York, be ordered all prisoners in the city to be set at liberty, "wilful mur­
derers, traitors, and papists being excepted." 

In the June following, his Queen, and th.eir two eldest children, Prince 
Henry, and Lady Elizabeth, visited York on their road from Edinburgh to 
London, and met with a reception equally cordial. The royal party arrived 
in York on the Whitsun Eve, and on the following Wednesday departed for 
Grimston, &c. On this occasion the Lord Mayor and citizens presented to 
the Queen a large silver cup, with a cover double gilt, weighing forty-eight 
ounces, with eighty gold angels in it; to the Prince, a silver cup, with a 
cover double gilt, weighing twenty ounces, and £20. in gold; and to the 
Princess, a purse of twenty angels of gold. The King visited Pontefract in 
the same year, when be granted that honour and castle to the Queen, as part 
of her jointure. 

In the second year of this reign (1604), the plague, which the preceding 
year had carried off 80,578 persons in London, raged to an alarming extent 
at York, no less than 8,512 of the inhabitants falling victims to it, though 
by the precautions used, it was not of long duration. To prevent the conta-

• Sir Robert Watter. 
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gion from spreading into the country, stone crosses were erected in various 
parts of the vicinity of York, where the country people, without coming into 
the city, met the citizens, and sold them their commodities. Several of these 
crosses are yet remaining. The infected were sent to Hob Moor, and Horse 
Fair, where wooden booths were erected for them ; and the Minster and 
Minster-yard were close shut up. The Lord President's courts were ad· 
joumed to Ripon and Durham, and many of the inhabitants removed from 
the city. 

The year 1607 was remarkable for a severe frost, by which the river Ouse 
became almost a solid body of ice. Various sports were practised on it; and 
Drake says that a horse race was run on it from the tower at Marygate end, 
under the great arch of the bridge, to the cran13 at Skeldergate postern. 
Seven years afterwards, there was so heavy a fall of snow in the month of 
January, during a frost of about eleven weeks, that when it was dissolved 
by a thaw, the Ouse overflowed its banks, and covered North Street and 
Skeldergate, so that the inhabitants were obliged to leave their houses. This 
inundation lasted ten days, and destroyed many bridges. It being the assize 
week, four boats were employed at the end of Ouse bridge to carry passengers 
across the river; and the same number were engaged in Walmgate to ferry 
over the Foss. A drought succeeded, which continued till August following, 
and caused a great scarcity of hay, beans, and barley. 

In 1617 (August lOth), King James, with his nobles and Knights, both 
English and Scotch, visited York, on his progress to Scotland. The Sheriffs 
of the city, clad in their scarlet gowns, and attended by 100 young citizens 
on horseback, met his MaJesty on Tadcaster bridge, and escorted him to 
Micklegate Bar, where be was received and welcomed by the Lord Mayor, 
Aldermen, and commonalty, with the usual formalities; and a silver cup, 
value £86. 5s. 7d., was presented to him, and an elegant purse, of the value 
of £8., containing 100 double sovereigns. The Recorder delivered a long 
oration, and on Ouse bridge another speech was made to the King, by one 
Sands Percvine, a London poet, respecting the cutting of the river, and 
making it navigable. His Majesty then rode to the Minster, where he beard 
divine service, and thence retired to the Manor Palace, where be kept his 
court.* 

The next day be dined at Sir George Young's house, in the Minster-yard, 
with Lord Sheffield, the Lord President, and after dinner, he created eight 
Knights, and examined the Cathedral and Chapter House, which he much 

• Nichol's Progreeees or 1amee I., vol. iii., p. ~71 . 
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admired. The following day his Majesty rode through the city, with all his 
train, to the Archiepiscopal Palace at Bishopthorpe, where he dined with 
Tobia.CJ Matthew, the Archbishop. After attending divine service in the 
Cathedral on Sunday, which was the 18th, " this sagacioos Prince, the Solo­
mon of the North, totu;/l«l about seventy persons affiicted with the King's 
Evil." That day he, and his whole court, dined with the L<.rd Mayor, and 
after dinner he knighted the Mayor,* and SeJjeant Hutton, the Recorder. 
Next day the King rode to Sheriff Hutton Park, and there knighted several 
gentlemen. On Tuesday, the 16th of August, Dr. Hodgeson, Chancellor of 
the Church, and Chaplain to his Majesty, preached before him at the Manor 
Palace; and after sermon the King departed for Ripon, where he was pre­
sented with a gilt bowl, and a pair of Ripon spurs, which cost five pounds. 
On the 16th of April he slept at Aske Hall, the seat ofT. Bower, Esq., whom 
he subsequently knighted at Durham. In March, 1625, James was seized 
with illness ; his indisposition was at first conside~ a tertian ague ; after­
wards the gout in the stomach ; but whatever was its real nature, under his 
obstinacy in refusing medicine, and the hesitation or ignorance of his physi­
ciaDs, it proved fatal, for he died on the 27th of the same month, in the 59th 
year of his age; after a reign of twenty-two years over England, and over 
Scotland almost the whole of his life. Of his seven children, two only sur­
vived him ; Charles, his successor on the throne, and Elizabeth, the titular 
Queen of Bohemia. 

"James," writes Dr. Lingard," though an able man, was a weak monarch. 
His quickness of apprehension, and soundness of judgment, were marred by 
his credulity and partialities, his childish fears, and habit of vaccillation. 
Eminently qualified to advise as a counsellor, he wanted the spirit and reso­
lution to act as a Sovereign. His discourse teemed with maxims of political 
wisdom, his conduct frequently bore the impress of political imbecility. If, 
in the langoage of his flatterers, he was the British Solomon; in the opinion 
of less interested observers, he merited the appellation given to him by the 
Duke of Sully, that of tlw wisatfool in Europe."t 

Charles I. ascended the throne when he was in his ~5th year, and his 
disastrous reign will, through all time, occupy a distinguished place in the 
annals of England. Every part of the kingdom was agitated by that mighty 
C<ilision which arose between the monarchial and democratic branches of the 
legislature ; but in the county of York the shock was felt with greater violence 
than in any other county in Great Britain. Y orksbire was indeed shook to 

• Sir Bobert Askwith. t History ot England, vol. ix., p. 232, Fep. 8vo. 
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its centre by the contests which took place during this eventful reign, between 
the prerogatives of the Crown and the privileges of the Parliament. 

No county in England has witnessed more of the civil wars, to which the 
kingdom, in former ages, was exposed, than this; and it is not a little re­
markable that Yorkshire, which afforded the scene of action for the battle 
which decided the fate of the house of Lancaster, on the field of Towton, 
should have witnessed the overthrow of the house of Stewart on the field of 
Marston. Indeed, the military history of Yorkshire, from the earliest times 
to the end of the great civil war, which ended with the restoration of Charles 
II., is a study in itself well deserving of attention. 

A recent writer, in referring to the county of York as being the scene of 
numerous military encounters from the earliest ages, says, "It was in York· 
shire where the most powerful nation of the aboriginal Britons dwelt; where 
the Romans displayed their grandeur, and had their favourite station; where 
the Saxons first exhibited their valour against the Picts and Scots; where 
the roving Danes first ·gained a permanent establishment; and where the 
northmen sustained their greatest reverse, at Stamford Bridge. The Scot· 
tish invaders never sustained a more complete defeat than at Standard Hill. 
A more bloody battle never took place in England than that of Towton Field. 
Yet all these sink into insignificance, in their causes and consequences, com­
pared with that of Marston Moor."* 

Entering upon the stage of action inexperienced and impolitic, at a period 
too in many respects highly unfavourable, Charles had difficulties of no 
ordinary character to encounter; yet, on the other hand, few monarchs 
ever came to the crown of England with a greater variety of favourable 
circumstances, in some respects, than he did. He saw himself in posses­
sion of a flourishing kingdom-his right to that kingdom undisputed­
and strengthened by the alliance of the French King, whose sister he 
had recently married. But these circumstances were of little avail in the 
present critical posture of affairs. The supply granted by Parliament to 
his father, had not covered the moiety of the charges for which it had 
been voted, and James bequeathed to him debts amounting to .£700,000. 
The accession, and marriage too, of the new King, had involved him in 
extraordinary expenses. It was, however, with cheerfulness and confidence 
that he threw himself on the bounty of his subjects. His first Parliament 
met on the 18th of June, and in this assembly he demanded the necessary 

• Battle Fields oC Yorbhire. 
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supplies for carrying on the war of the Palatinate ; but hi~> request was 
answered with a petition for an enquiry into the grievances of the nation ; 
and instead of granting the sums required, they employed their time in dis· 
putations and disagreeable complaints. To Charles those objections did not 
apply, which had always been opposed to the pecuniary demands of the late 
monarch. It could not be said of him that he had wantonly plunged himself 
into debt, or that he had squandered among his minions the revenues of the 
crown. The money which he solicited was required to carry into execution 
the vote of the last Parliament; and those who advised the war, could not 
reasonably refuse the funds necessary for the maintenance of that war. In 
the House of Peers many of the Lords, though not formally opposed to the 
court, looked with an evil eye on the ascendancy of George Villiers, Duke of 
Buckingham, and they were ready to vote for any measure, which, by em· 
barrassing the government, might precipitate the fall of the favourite. In 
the Commons the Puritans formed a most powerful phalanx. Austere to 
themselves, intolerant to others, they sought to reform both church and state, 
according to their peculiar notions of scriptural doctrine and scriptural prac· 
tice. The spirit of liberty, too, had been diffusing itself widely amongst the 
people, who, by consequence, were determined to oppose the ancient, and, in 
many instances, exorbitant claims of their monarchs ; and the principles of 
freedom, which they had been imbibing, wonld no longer allow them to be 
governed by precedents that had their origin in the times of ignorance and 
slavery. Such was the state and temper of the public mind when Charles 
met his first Parliament; which assembly he thought proper to dissolve as 
soon as he discovered their intention of refusing his just demands. 

He then issued a commission to raise money by borrowing of such per­
sons as were able to lend ; and pri'"Y seals were issued out to all persons 
of substance. The Commissioners (who were noblemen) appointed to collect 
the loan, visited the various towns in the kingdom, and at the town halls, or 
other public buildings of each place, called the opulent inhabitants before 
them, and read the commission to them, setting forth the reasons which the 
King alleged for requiring the loan. The Commissioners then took the 
names of the parties, with the amount of their subscription, or sum imposed 
upon them, together with the names of those who exhibited a disposition to 
excuse the payment of the sums imposed. In many places the loan was 
reluctantly complied with, and occasioned considerable disgust, for tltough 
the proceeding was authorized by many precedents, it was not less a grievance. 
At that period the payment of all fees and salaries was suspended ; and to 
such a state of destitution was the royal household reduced, that, to procure 
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provisions for his table, the King was obliged to borrow £3000. of the Cor· 
porations of Salisbury and Southampton, on the joint security of the Lord 
Treasurer and of the Chancellor of the Exchequer.* 

The second Parliament met, and was dissolved by the King, without 
granting the necessary supplies to carry on a war which was entered into by 
the advice, and at the request, of those very members who now refused to 
contribute to its proper support. The King was therefore again obliged to 
have recourse to loans; and a commission was granted to the Archbishop of 
York, and othe1'8, to compound with the Catholics, and agree to dispense 
with the penal laws enacted against them, for stipulated sums of money.t 
At that time the Corporations of the maritime towns received orders to pro­
vide a certain number of armed vessels, in order to equip a fleet. Many of 
the seaports complied with this request with great reluctance; and the fleet 
thus collected, and which consisted of about 100 ships, ha\ing on board 
7000 soldiers, sailed from Portsmouth on the 7th of June, 1627. But instead 
of being sent against the King of Spain, to the surprise of almost all his 
subjects, the King now resolvipg with a rupture with France, sent the fleet, 
w1der the command of the Duke of Buckingham, on a fruitless expedition 
for the relief of La Rochelle, a maritime town in that kingdom. 

In tho third year of this reign, the Lord Lieutenants of all the counties of 
England had orders to put each province and district into a posture of 
defence; also to bo careful that the trained bands (a species of militia) were 
perfectly instructed in the usc of arms; and to see that all able men, from 
sixteen to sixty years of age, were enrolled, that on any sudden occasion, such 
levies might be made of them as should be required. They were likewise to 
take special care that every county provided its share of powder, ball, match, 
lead, &c., and to put them into magazines for the use of their respective 
counties and Corporations to be ready whenever they were called for. 

Soon after this the King and the Lol'ds of his Privy Council received in­
telligence that the French were fitting out a great fleet, with which to invade 
England, and that the Dunkirkers were like\\ise making extraordinary pl'e· 
parntions. Orden; wrre now sent to the inhabitants of tlte different town!! 
in the couub-y, to put them into a proper state of defence, with all possible 
dispatch. The Duke of Buckingham, who had all along ruled the King's 
councils, was about thi,; time ;;tabbed at Portsmouth, by .lolm Felton, a lieu­
tenant in the army, who imm<'fliatcly declared himself the murderer, and 

• Rusbworth, vol. i., pp. 196, 191. U),ner, :n-iii., p. ltll. Syclney Papers, iii. 363. 

+ Whitdock, p. 7. 
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averred that he considered the Duke an enemy to his country, and, as such, 
deserving to suffer. 

A tax, called tonnage and poundage, was now levied by the King, on all 
merchant ships and goods, without the consent of Parliament, as a right 
belonging to the Crown. In London, where the spirit of resistance had 
already risen to a considerable height, many of the merchants refused to pay 
this tax, alleging that it could only be granted by the Parliament. For per­
sisting in this refusal, some ml!rchants had their goods seized by the officers 
of the King's customs, and were themselves thrown into prison. The contest 
between privilege and prerogative was now carried on with great acrimony. 
The Parliament, on its being assembled, warmly remonstrated against the 
King's proceedings, and voted the following protestation :-That whosoever 
should bring in innovation of religion, popery, or arminianism, and any that 
should advise the taking of tonnage and poundage, not granted by Parliament, 
or that should pay the same, shall be accounted enemies to the kingdom. 
This protestation was made on the last day of their sitting, and whilst it. 
was being voted the door of the House of. Commons was locked, and the 
Speaker was forcibly held in his chair. During this extraordinary pro­
ceeding the King had come to the upper house. He sent for the serjeant­
at-arms, who was not permitted to obey ; he then ordered the usher of the 
black rod to deliver a message from his own mouth ; and that officer having 
been refused permission to enter the House of Commons, was commanded by 
the King to break open the door; but at that very moment the Commons 
adjourned to the lOth of March. The King, incensed at these proceedings, 
ordered the arrest of several of the most Yiolent of the opposition members, 
and dissolved the Parliament without sending for the Commons. The 
opponents of the King now charged him, his ministers, and judges, with a 
design to trample under foot the liberties of the people; and Charles was 
firmly convinced that they had conspired to despoil him of the rightful 
prerogatiYes of the Crown. The Parliament had disobeyed, thwarted, and 
insulted him repeatedly, so he resolved to goYern for the future without the 
intervention of the Parliament. And this intention he announced by pro­
clamation. " We have showed," he said, "by our frequent meeting our 
people, our love to the use of Parliaments; yet the late abuse having for the 
present driven us unwillingly out of that course, we shall account it pre-
81lmption for any to prescribe any time unto us for Parliaments, the calling, 
continuing, and dissolving of which is always in our power, and shall be 
more inclinable to meet in Parliament again, when our people shall see more 
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clearly into our interests and actions."* This measure served only to aggra· 
vate the discontents of the people, who justly considered many of his actions 
as tlie exertions of arbitrary power. 

In 1630 the King sent forth a proclamation against vile insinuations, and 
lying, treasonable and rebellious reports, industriously spread to render his 
government odious to his people ; and some time after he sent orders to the 
towns that tlie inhabitants should have a watchful eye over all factious per· 
sons, and take care of the safety of tlieir towns. Both Charles and Laud, 
his adviser, had been accused by tlie Puritans of harbouring a secret design 
to restore the ancient creed and worship ; but the charge was groundless. 
Those who made it, in their intolerant zeal, mistook moderation for apostacy. 
But Charles conceived it expedient to silence tlie murmurs of his enemies ; 
so be carefully excluded all English Catholics from :tlie Queen's chapel at 
Somerset House; be offered in successive proclamations a reward of .£100. 
for the apprehension of Dr. Smith, the Catholic Bishop; and be repeatedly 
ordered tlie Magistrates, Judges, and Bishops to enforce the penal laws 
against tlie priests and jesuits .• 

In the early part of tlie year 1633, Charles, in imitation of his father, 
resolved to visit his native country; more especially as some of his Scotch 
subjects bad intimated tliat he thought their Crown not wortli a journey; and 
as he had some reason to be apprehensive of secret designs amongst them. 
He was accompanied by a gallant train of English noblemen ; and in his 
progress to the north he visited York, and there received a loyal and cordial 
welcome. He was met on the 24th of May on Tadcaster bridge by tlie 
Sheriffs, with 120 attendants, who conducted him to the city. At Micklegate 
Bar the Lord Mayor, Recorder, and Aldermen, standing on a scaffold, erected 
for that purpose, saluted him at his entrance, and the Lord Mayor, on his 
knees, at the same time delivered up tlie keys of tlie city, together with tlie 
sword and mace. These, however, were immediately returned, and the Lord 
Mayor, mounted on horseback, carried the mace before his Majesty ; the 
Aldermen, richly dressed, and well mounted, made up tlie cavalcade, riding 
before the King to the Manor House, or Palace. The next day the King 
dined with the Lord .Mayor, at his house in tlie Pavement, and knighted him,t 
and the Recorder.: The following day he dined with the Archbishop, and 
knighted his son ; and on the fourth day he departed for Scotland. During 
his stay o.t York, a large sil¥er cup and cover, and a purse, containing .£100., 

• Rymer, xix., p. 62. + Sir William Allenson. · t Sir William Belt. 
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were presented to him. At Edinburgh he was solemnly crowned, with every 
appearance of affection and duty; and in a Parliament then held, though the 
Scotch strenuously defended the liberties of the kirk, yet they voted a supply 
to Charles, who, after a stay of five weeks in Scotland, returned to the Queen, 
who then resided at Greenwich. During this tour Charles visited Pontefract, 
where he created Sir John Saville, knt., High Steward of the honour of Pon­
tefract; and by letters patent elevated him to the peerage, by the title of 
Baron Saville, of Pontefract. His son was created Earl of Sussex, but the 
family became extinct in his grandson James.* 

During the six years which followed his return from Scotland, England. 
appeared to el\ioy a calm. Charles governed without a Parliament; and not 
only took no pains to allay, but he rather inflamed that feverish irritation 
which the illegality of his past conduct had excited in the minds of his sub­
jects. Nor was he ignorant of their dissatisfaction; no, he saw it, and 
despised it; and believing firmly in the divine right of Kings, he doubted 
not that he would be able to bear down the force of public opinion by the 
mere weight of the royal prerogative. . 

About the year 1635, the coasts of England were very much infested by 
pirates from different parts, including the Dunkirkers, and some even from 
Sallee and Algiers, who, every summer, committed great depredations, seizing 
ships, carrying off prisoners, and il\iuring the trade of the nation. The 
Dutch and French mariners, too, had assumed a right to fish on our coasts, 
a proceeding which occasioned much controversy. Charles determined to fit 
out a fleet, and end the dispute by force, and for this purpose, and acting on 
the advice of his Attorney-General Noy, be imposed a tax upon his subjects, 
under the denomination of Ship-money. Though all the judges declared this 
tax to be customary and legal, yet the nation murmured at it, and paid it 
with reluctance, considering it illegal, because it bad not the sanction of 
Parliament. This was the tax that first ronsed the whole kingdom, and 
determined numbers to fix the bounds, both of the King's prerogative, and 
their own freedom; and in reality was one of the chief causes of the King's 
ruin. Aided with this tax, however, Charles fitted out a fleet of forty sail of 
ships, under the command of the Earl of Lindsey, and a squadron of twenty 
ships, under the Earl of Essex. This fleet very effectually scoured the 
narrow seas, and protected the trade of England ; and the merchants, whose 
commercial interests bad of late so greatly suffered, submitted to pay the tax 
which they disliked. . 

• Boothroyd's History of Pontet'ract, p. 147. 
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In 1639 the Scotch were in arms against their Sovereign. They had in 
that kingdom long embraced the Presbyterian form of chnrch government, 
and though Bishops were still continued, yet they were treated with very 
little respect or attention. James I. had used his utmost endeavours to im­
pose Bishops upon the Scots, but died before he could carry that design into 
actual execution ; and Charles, in an unfortunate hour, resolved to complete 
what his father had begun. Whitlocke tells us, that this illjudged attempt 
to force the rites and liturgy of the Church of England upon that people, 
" was the fountain from whence our ensuing troubles sprung." The Scots 
now entered into their celebrated League and Covenant, the great object of 
~hich wns to suppress episcopacy, and, if necessary, to resist the King's au­
thority in imposing it. Charles, looking upon this procedure as an open 
declaration of war, immediately levied an army of 22,000 men, and marched 
on an expedition against the insurgents. He left London on the 27th, and 
arrived at York on the 30th of March, 1639, and there he was received with 
every demonstration of loyalty. He was met at Tadcaster bridge by the 
Sheriffs, who conducted him to Micklegate Bar, where the trained bands of 
the city and Ainsty, clothed in buff coats, scarlet breeches, laced with silver, 
russet boots, black caps and feathers, and amounting to about 600 in number, 
were drawn up, and fired a volley at his entrance into the city. Here he was 
received by the Lord Mayor and Aldermen with the usual solemnity, and the 
Recorder, on his knees, having delivered one of those fulsome, flattering ora­
tions so peculiar to that age, his M!!Jesty was conducted with great pomp 
through the city to the Palace of the Manor. On the following day (Sunday) 
the train bands formed a lane, rank and file, for the King to pass through as 
he went to the Cathedral ; and their appearance and conduct so gratified 
him, that he distributed a sum of money amongst them, and also returned 
them his thanks in person.* 

York and its vicinity being the principal rendezvous for the royal army, 
the King spent nearly a month in that city. "He went to York," says 
Guizot, in his Hiatory of tlu EnglW& Rerolu.tion, " surrounded with extraor­
dinary pomp, still infatuated with the irresistible ascendancy of royal m!!Jesty, 
and flattering himself that to display it would suffice to make the rebels 
return to their duty. The Lords, and a crowd of gentlemen, flocked to York 
ns to a festival. The town and camp presented the appearance of a court 
and tournament, not at all that of an enemy and of war. Charles's vanity 
'vas delighted with such display." 

• Drake's Eboracum, c. v., p. 187. 
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During thi~; visit the King kept the festival, called l\Iau~day Thursday (the 
Thursday before Easter), in the Cathedral, when the Bishop of Ely washed 
the right feet of thirty-nine poor aged men in warm water, and dried then1 
with a linen cloth. Afterwards the Bishop of Winchester washed them over 
again in white wine, wiped, and kissed them. This part of the ceremony 
was performed il! the south aisle of the l\Iinst~r. His l\Injesty then gave to 
each of the poor men several articles of wearing apparel, including shoes and 
stockings, a wooden scale full of claret wine, a jole of salt fish, a jole of . 
salmon, and a sixpenny loaf of bread. He also ga¥e them a leathern purse, 
each containing 20s. in money, and in another thirty-nine silver pennies, 
being the number of his own years. On the following day (Good Friday), 
Drake tells us, that he touched for the King's evil no fewer than 200 persons 
in the Minster; and " during the tyme the King touched those that had the 
disease called the evill," writes that historian, " were read these words, • They 
shall lay their hands upon the sick, and they shall recover;' and during the 
tyme the King put about every one of their necks an angel of gold, with a 
white ribbon, were read these words, • That light was the true light which 
lighteneth every man which cometh into the world.' "* On Easter .Monday 
the King ordered .£i0. to be given to each of the four wards of the city, to bo 
distributed amongst poor widows; and on the two following days he touched 
each day 100 persons for the evil, but with what success the historian very 
discreetly chooses not to disclose. During his stay at York he paid a visit 
to Hull, where he was received with great pomp and ceremony ;t and before 
he left York his Majesty and his whole court dined with the Lord Mayor, on 
whom, together with the Recorder, he conferred the honour of knighthood. 
Having spent nearly a montl1 in York, Charles, and his nobles, at tl1e bead 
of the am1y, proceeded against the Scots. Had the King, at this juncture, 
exerted himself with vigour and decision against the malcontents, his army 
being superior to tl1eirs, it is probable that he might have prevented many of 
his succeeding misfortunes; but instead of fighting, he unwisely entered on 
a treaty at Berwick; and terms were agreed on, which neither side cared 
much to preserve. The Covenanters swore obedience to him, but the very 
next year, when the King had disbanded his forces, they raised the standard 
of rebellion, entered England under the command of General Leslie (created 
afterwards Earl of Leven) and the Marquis of Montrose, and proceeding 
to the borders of Yorkshire, they levied a weekly contribution of .£5,600. upon 
the inhabitants of the northern counties, and threatened soon to occupy the 
city of York. 

• Drake's Eboracum, c. v., p. 187. t See the History of Hull at subsequent pages. 
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. 
To arrest the progress of the invaders, the King came in three days from 

London to York, where he was again received with the usual gifts, speeches, 
and ceremonies, and on the 7th of September (1640), he issued out writs to 
summon all the peers of the realm to a great council to be held at York. 
The royal army, commanded by Sir Jacob Astley, and consisting of about 
12,000 foot and 3,000 horse, arrived on the same day that the writs were 
issued ; and being divided into divisions, one body was encamped in Clifton 
Fields and the other in Bishop Fields on each side of the Ouse, and a bridge 
of boats was thrown over the river. About 50 pieces of cannon, with 132 
waggons loaded with powder and ball, together with several carriages filled 
with pick axes, spades, shovels, &c., were brought at the same time from the 
magazines at Hull. This proceeding naturally spre.'l.d an alarm through the 
country, that the King intended to lay aside one of the three estates of 
the realm, and to govern the nation without a House of Commons. The 
King's position at this juncture was exceedingly unpleasant and critical. 
Twice had the commons refused to grant him supplies to carry out his wars. 
Twice had he abruptly dissolved that assembly, measures which greatly in­
creased the discontent of the people. Ship money and some other arbitrary 
taxes had been exacted with se'"erity, and many of his subjects made large 
advances to him from their private fortunes, and amongst this number was 
the celebrated Earl of Strafford, Lord Lieutenant of the North, who gave his 
M&Jesty £20,000 ; but these resources were still insufficient to carry on the 
war against the presumptuous Scots. Such was the distressed condition in 
which Charles found himself when he returned to York and called a general 
council of his nobles; the nation W8.8 discontented, the army discouraged, 
the treasury exhausted, and every expedient for supply tried to the uttermost. 
On the lOth of September the King assembled the gentlemen of Yorkshire, 
and proposed their paying the trained bands for two months, to which they 
assented. Petitions now poured in upon his Majesty, beseeching him to 
summon a Parliament, and the gentry of this county pressed the measure 
upon him as the only means of restoring and ensuring a continuance of 
tranquillity. On the 24th of the same month, the great 8.8sembly of peers 
met at the Deanery in York, the hall of which "was richly hung with 
tapestry for the purpose, and the King's chair of state was placed upon the 
half pace of the stairs at the upper end of the hall."* In the opening speech 
the King announced his intention to call a Parliament in the course of the 
present year, and he asked council at the same time of the peers, in what 

• Drake'e Eboi'IICUDI, p. UO. 
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way to treat a petition for a redress of grievances which he had received from 
the Scotch invaders, and bow his army should be kept on foot and main­
tained until the supplies from Parliament might be had for that purpose. 
During the sitting of the council at York, which continued till the 18th of 
October, a negotiation was entered into with the Scots, and Ripon was 
appointed as the place of conference. 

This negotiation was conducted by sixteen English peers and eight com­
missioners appointed by the Covenanters. Under the pretence that this 
conference would prevent them from seeking more abundant quarters, the 
Scots boldly demanded a monthly subsidy of £40,000. The English com· 
missioners, seeing that the King must ultimately yield, concluded separate 
bargains-one with the gentlemen of the north, who, on the faith of a solemn 
promise that they should be reimbursed out of the first supply granted by 
Parliament, consented to raise the weekly sum of £5,600. by county rates on 
the inhabitants of the four northern counties; and another with the Scots, 
who engaged, as long as that subsidy were paid, to abstain from all acts of 
hostility, and from every species of compulsory ·demand. The treaty was 
immediately transferred to London, and the King and the peers also hastened 
thither, that they might arrive in time for the opening of Parliament. 

At this juncture, when the accumulated evils of thirty years of misgovern· 
ment brought the kingdom to the verge of a great revolution, Charles, on the 
Srd of November, 1640, met that memorable assembly, which is called in 
history the Long Parliament, and which was speedily to contend with him 
for the sovereign authority. Its first acts were to oppose the King in the 
election of the Speaker; to vote down the Council Court at York; and to 
present articles of impeachment against the President of that court-the 
famous Wentworth, Earl of Strafford, and Archbishop Laud, the King's chief 
advisers; and to pronounce the commissions for the levy of ship-money, and 
all the proceedings consequent on those commissions, to be illegal. The 
Scottish commissioners were received by the opponents of the King as friends 
and deliverers; and most of the demands of the Covenanters were granted ; 
and while the patriots in the House of Commons engaged to support the 
Scottish army during its sta;t", aud to supply it with a handsome gratuity on 
its departure, the Covenanters stipulated to prolong the treaty, and to detain 
their forces in England till the reforms in church and state, projected by the 
Puritans, should be fully accomplished. It soon appeared that the Scottish 
commissioners acted not only in a political, but also in a religious character; 
and while they openly negotiated with the IGng, they were secretly but 
actively intriguing with the Puritans, to procure in England the abolition of 
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the episcopal, and the substitution of the Presbyterian form of church 
government. 

The House of Commons not only refused to supply the King's necessities 
for the repression of the insolence of his Scotch subjects, but it actually ap­
proved of the conduct of the rebels, and voted two sums, one of .£125,000., 
for the charges of the Scottish army during five months, and another of 
.£300,000., under the denomination of" a friendly relief for the losses and 
necessities of their brethren in Scotland."* 

"The government, which, in the hands of Charles, had assumed the 
character of an absolute monarchy, soon became democratical to a degree 
incompatible with the spirit of the constitution. Lieutenants and Deputy 
Lieutenants of counties, who had exercised powers for the national defence, 
not authorized by statute, were declared deli11quents. Sheriffs who bad been 
employed to assess ship money, and the jurors and officers of the customs, 
who bud been employed in levying tonnage and poundage, as well as the 
holders of monopolies by patents, were brought under the same vague charge, 
nnd the latter were expelled from Parliament, The judges who had given 
their votes against Hampden, in the trial of ship-money, were accused before 
the peers, and in a few weeks such a revolution was produced in the govern­
ment, by the House of Commons, seconded by the peers, that the kingly 
power, which had been almost. omnipotent, was in danger of being reduced 
to insignificance. These measures naturally placed the Parliament at issue 
with the King, and the differences between the conflicting authorities con­
tinued to increase dming the years 1640 and 1641, till an open rupture 
became unavoidable. "t 

In the year 1641 the King, accompanied by the Prince of Wales, after­
wards Charles II. ; the Palsgrnve of the Rhine ; the Duke of Lennox ; the 
Marquis of Hamilton; and several other noblemen, visited York on his way 
to Scotland, where he had summoned a Parliament on the 15th of ,July, in 
order to ascertain their dispositions towards him. On the day after his 
arrival at York, he dined with the Lord Mayor,; and knighted both him and 
the Recorder.§ Conceiving that his person was in danger, the King de­
manded a guard from the freeholders of Yorkshire, for his protection, which 
was readily granted. 

The Commons had already stripped him of many of thosC~ prerogatives 
which he had oppressi,·cly exercised; and the royal authority was so reduced, 

• Baillie, i. , p. 2-10. + Daines's Gnzette!'r of Yorkshire. 
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that its total abolition seemed inevitable. The King was even deprived of 
the power of appointing governors, generals, and, in short, whatever related 
to the army ; and that they might deprive him even of the shadow of his 
former authority, they demanded that the power of raising the militia, and 
the nomination of its officers, might be vested in them. To this last de­
mand Charles gave a peremptory denial, and both parties from: this time 
prepared for war. 

Amongst the extraordinary events which excited the public mind at this 
period, was the commitment of twelve Bishops. The populace having be­
come infuriated against the bench of Bishops, frequently aRsailed them with 
abuse and menaces on their way to the ho•1Se. On one occasion the cries of 
vengeance in the palace yard were so loud and alarming, that the prelates 
remained after the other lords, till the darkness of the night enabled them to 
steal away to their homes, The next day, Williams, Archbishop of York, 
prevailed on eleven other prelates to join with him in a declaration, which 
was read in the upper house. It stated that the Bishops could no longer, 
without danger to their lives, attend to their duty in Parliament, and that 
they therefore protested against the validity of any proceedings which might 
be passed during their absence. This protest was beard with surprise and 
indignation To retire or remain was at their option, but to c1aim the power 
of suspending by their absence the proceedings of Parliament, was deemed an 
assumption of sovereign authority. The lower house ridiculously impeached 
the twelve prelates with high treason, Williams boldly professed his readiness 
~ meet the charge, but the others, intimidated by the violence of the times, 
apologised for their conduct. Ten were committed from the house to the 
Tower, two, the Bishops of Durham and Lichfield, on account of their age 
and infirmity, to the usher of the black rod.* 

In the early part of the year 1642, the King gradually withdrew himself 
from the vicinity of the metropolis, first to Newmarket, then into the more 
northern counties, and on the 18th of March in the same year, he, with his 
son Prince Charles, his nephew the Prince Elector, and several noblemen, 
not without considerable risk, arri\·ed in York, where most of the nobility and 
gentry of the north of England, and many from London and the southern 
parts of the kingdom, came to testify their loyalty, and offer him their 
services. During this stay, CharieR ordered his state printing presses to be 
erected in the house of Sir H. Jenkins, formerly St. William's College, in the 
yard near the Minster. Notwithstanding the loss of the Courts of Presi-

• Rusbworth, iv., p. 466. Clarendon, i., p. 860. 
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dency, which the Parliament had lately abolished, York was now the resort 
of nobility and gentry, and it derived no small degree of its lustre from being 
the asylum of the legitimate Sovereign. 

One of the principal objects of the King's journey to York was to secure 
the vast magazines of the fortress of Hull, which consisted of all the arms 
and ammunition of the forces levied against the Scots. With this view he 
sent the Earl of Newcastle to Hull to take possession of the town in his 
MeJesty's name, but the authorities declined to receive the Earl. On the 
28rd of April, in the same year, his MeJesty, attended by his son, and a long 
train of attendants, set out from York for Hull, but Sir John Hotham, the 
governor, perceiving that matters were drawing to a crisis, shut the gates, 
and refused to admit him, though he requested leave to enter with twenty 
persons only.* This was the first open act of hostility preluding that great 
civil war, which, for the space of four years, desolated England, and brought 
her monarch to the block. The House of Commons then wrote letters to 
many of the corporate towns, directing that tl1ey should be put in the best 
posture of defence, in order to defend themselves against those whom they 
styled papists, recusants, and disaffected persons. These letters, in which 
the King wa:;; represented in a very unfavourable light, as though his inten­
tion was to subject the nation to a foreign power, threw the country into the 
utmost consternation. The Parliament then pretended that they had re­
ceived several inforn1ations from abroad, concerning a design to invade 
England, and tllat tlle Earl of Digby had got together about 40,000 men at 
Elsinore, in Denmark, and a fleet of ships reaC:y to convey them to Hull. 
Civil war now seemed inevitable. 

The two houses voted a levy of 16,000 men in opposition to the King; 
the trained bands of London, under General Shippon, professed the strongest 
attachment to the cause ; the arms at Hull were removed to tlle Tower of 
London; a· forced loan, to beo.r interest at eight per cent., and paid in money 
or plate, replenished the treasury, and large sums were employed in the 
purchase of stores. The armies which had been raised for tlle purpose of 
suppressing the rebellion in Ireland, were openly enlisted by the Parliament, 
for their own purposes, and the command of them was given to the Earl of 
Essex, who was appointed Lord General ;t and the Earl of Warwick took 
the command of the flcot. 

• See the History of Kingston-upon-Hull at subsequent pnges of this yolume. 
t The pay of the soldiers at that time wns Is. 6d. per day for the infantry; 2s. 6d. for 

the cavalry, liz.-ls. 4d. for the keep of the horse, the rest for the man; the Lord 
General reoeived £10., the General of the horae, £6., per~-
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On the other hand, the King, who remained at York, employed himself 
with great activity in rousing his adherents to arms. Numbers of the 
nobility gentry, and clergy, with the members of both Universities, lent him 
money ; and the Queen departed the kingdom, and sold the crown jewels in 
Holland to purchase a cargo of ammunition. The whole kingdom was now 
thrown into confusion. In every shire, almost in every township, were per­
sons raising men at the same time for the opposite parties. In the southern 
counties the interest of the Parliament was generally predominant; but the 
King, however, mustered an army of about 4,000 troops, of which about 8,000 
were foot, and 1,000 horse. Negotiations still proceeded. There were many 
at York, and in the Parliament, who still laboured hard to effect an accom­
modati6n-for though the King's unhappy predilection for arbitrary power, 
had raised him a host of enemies ; his moral virtues had procured him a 
great body of zealous supporters. The Parliament, in answer to the King's 
demand for a reply to certain proposals, which he had made at the com­
mencement of the year, presented for his acceptance nineteen articles, in 
which the privileges of the Parliament so far outweighed the prerogatives of 
the crown, that they were deemed wholly inadmissible :-Should I grant 
these demands, said the King, in reply, I may be waited on bare-headed; 
I may baTe my hand kissed; the title of Majesty may be continued to me; 
and the King's authority signified by both Houses, may still be the style of 
your commands; I may have swords and maces carried before me; and 
please myself with the signs of a crown and a sceptre ; but as to true and 
real power, I should remain but the outside, but the picture, but the sign 
of a King.• 

Shortly after Charles took up his residence at York, the Parliament 
appointed a commission to reside in that city, to strengthen their party and 
to watch the movements of the King ; and on their passing an ordinance for 
embodying the militia, the King ordered his friends to meet him at York, 
whither he directed the several courts to be in future adjourned. The Lord­
Keeper Littleton being ordered by the Parliament not to issue the writs, 
made his escape to York, and bringing with him that important mark of sove­
reignty, the great seal, he joined the royal party, for which be was afterwards 
proclaimed by the Parliament a traitor and a felon. On the g7th of May, 
1642, Charles issued a proclamation, dated from his court at York, appointing 
a public meeting of the nobility and gentry of the neighbourhood, to be held 
on Heworth Moor, on the 8rd of June. At this meeting, at which 70,000 

• Ruehwort.h, iv., pp. 722, 786. ClareJldon, i., 6U, 8'7. 
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persons were present (40,000 according to Guizot), the King, who was accom· 
panied by his son Prince Charles, and 150 Knights in complete armour, 
and attended with a guard of 800 soldiers, was received with the loudest 
acclamations of loyalty and respect. In a short address he thanked the 
meeting for the assurances of loyalty and attachment which he had received, 
and explained the particulars of the situation in which he was placed. He 
then returned to the city, where, after keeping his court for more than five 
months, during which time every attempt at negotiation had failed, he re­
solved to support his authority by arms. His towns, his ships, his arms, his 
money, were taken from him, but there still remained to him a good cause, 
and the hearts of his loyal subjects, which, with God's blessing, he doubted 
not would recover all the rest. Having constituted Sir Thomas Glemham 
Governor of York, and appointed the Earl of Cumberland supreme com­
mander of his forces, the King removed his court to Beverley, with a ,·iew of 
preparing for an attack upon the fortress of Hull. But after an abortive 
attempt to get possession of that place, he returned to York.* 

Hostilities soon after commenced with the siege of Portsmouth. Colonel 
Goring, the Governor of that place, an officer of distinguished merit, having 
refused to act on the side of the Parliament, a strong force, under the com­
mand of the Parliamentary General, the Earl of Essex, appeared before the 
town and besieged it. The King immediately proclaimed that general and 
the officers under him traitors, unless they should return to their duty within 
the space of six days; the Parliament on their part declared the royal pro­
clamation a libellous and scandalous paper, and retorted the crime of treason 
on all those by whom it had been advised, and by whom it should he after­
wards countenanced.+ In these circumstances Charles resolved on hostile 
measures. He summoned all his loving subjects north of the Trent, and 
within twenty miles to the south of that river, to meet him in arms at Not­
tingham, on the 22nd, or, according to some, the 25th of August (1642), as 
he then and there intended to set up his standard. 

Accordingly, on that day the royal standard was erected, and on it was 
painted a hand pointing to a crown, with this motto, " Give to Cresar his 
due." It was carried by a guard of 600 foot, from the castle into a large 
field; the King followed with a retinue of 2,000 men; and the people 
crowded around to hear the proclamation read by the herald-at-arms. This 
ceremony, called the raising of the standard, was deemed equivalent to a 

• See the history of Kingston-upon-Hull at a subsequent page of this volume. 

t Bushworth, vi., pp. 761, 778. Clarendon, i., 711, 716. 
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declaration of hostilities. At Nottingham the King could muster no more 
than 600 men, but be was shortly after at the head of three times that 
number. From that place he despatched to the Parliament the Earl of 
Southampton, Sir John Colepepper, and Sir William Uvedale, with some 
fresh propositions to incline them to a treaty, but in Yain; and after a few 
more messages and answers, all hopes of peace entirely vanished, and the 
nation saw itself involved in all the horrors of intestine war, the most direful 
of national calamities. 

The reader of English history is aware that at this stage of the contro· 
versy between the King and his opponents, the real liberties of the people 
could no longer be regarded as the cause of quarrel. These liberties had 
already been established by successive acts of the legislature. The dispute 
was now confined to certain concessions, which the Parliament demanded as 
essential to the preservation of those liberties, and which the King refused as 
subversive of the royal authority. The Parliament now possessed the con· 
trol of the public money, the power of impeachment, and the right of meeting 
every third year ; and these powers, it was contended by some, formed a 
sufficient barrier against the encroachments on the part of the Sovereign ; 
but others insisted that the command of the army, and the appointment of 
the officers of state, the councillors, and the judges, ought also to be trans­
ferred, for a time at least, to the two houses. Who then were the authors of 
the civil war? is a question that is often asked. That learned and impartial 
historian, Dr. Lingard, says, in reply to this question, " The answer seems 
to depend on the solution of this other question-were additional securities 
necessary for the preservation of the national rights? If they were, the 
blame will belong to Charles; if not, it must rest with his adversaries."* 

That there were faults on both sides seems unquestionable; and it is to be 
especially lamented that the good sense of the monarch bad not taught him 
to go along with the general feelings of his people ; but Princes in all ages, 
as Dr. Lingard truly remarks, have been slow to learn the important lesson, 
that the influence of authority must ultimately bend to the influence of 
opinion. "In most of the conflicts which have divided nations against them· 
aelves," says a distinguished writer, "one side or other has been so wicked, 
or both so worthless, or the points at i88ue so personal and valueless, that the 
recital of their progress and resnlta, merely amuses by variety of incident, or 
disgusts by sameness of depravity ; but in the principles and fortunes of the 
Cavalien and Roundheade, we still experience a real and vital coneerD. The 

• Unprd'e 11iMor7 of Bqland, 1'01. x., p. 70, fop. 8vo. 
~ R 
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warmth of passions, though abated, is not extinguished ; we feel as if our 
own liberty, our own allegiance, our own honour and religion were involved 
in the dispute. "• 

The long and fruitless altercations being at an end, and war being inevi­
table, the Parliament placed the command of the militia, and authority to 
raise forces in every county, in such hands as they esteemed trustworthy. 
Each army in its composition resembled the other. The command of the 
Royalists was entrusted to the Earl of Lindsey ; and that of the Parliamen· 
tary forces, as we have seen, to the Earl of Essex. In the meantime, Sir 
William Waller had reduced Portsmouth, while Essex concentrated his force, 
amounting to 15,000 men, in the vicinity of Northampton. The first pitched 
battle between the adherents of the IGng and Parliament, was fought on the 
plain of Kineton, near Edge-hill, in Warwickshire, on Sunday, the 28rd of 
October, 1642, when both armies claimed the honour, but neither reaped the 
benefit, of victory. Among the distinguished persons who took part in tl1is 
bloody conflict, were the King, Prince Rupert, Earl of Lindsey, the Earl of 
Essex, Lords Saye, Digby, Roberts, Carnarvon, Brooks, Byron, Wharton, 
Wilmot, Mandeville, Fielding, Willoughby, Goring, &c.; Sirs W. Fairfax, 
John Meldrum, Philip Stapleton, James Ramsay, W. Balfore, Jacob Astley, 
Edward Verney, George Lisle, William Constable, &c. ; Hampden, Holles, 
Ballard, Grantham, and, according to some writers, Oliver Cromwell. The 
Earl of Lindsey was slain, fighting on foot at the head of his men. This 
brave old General's prayer, before the advance to the conflict, is said to have 
been as follows :-" 0 Lord, thou knowest how busy I must be this day ; if 
I forget thee, do not thou forget me. March on boys!" 

Essex withdrew to Warwick, and thence to Coventry ; and Charles, having 
compelled the garrison of Banbury to surrender, marched onwards to the city 
of Oxford. The limits of tlris work will not admit of even a passing notice 
of tl!e battles which took place in several of the soutl!ern counties; we must 
therefore confine our remarks to the proceedings which occurred in the dis­
trict to which this volume is devoted. Alas! that the fair plains of this fine 
county should be again the scene of bloody strife between Englishmen only; 
that her fertile fields should be once more deluged with the blood of thou­
sands of its best nobles and hardiest sons. 

The maJority of tl!e northern nobles were attached to the King's party, 
and probably Ferdinando, Lord Fairfax, was the most powerful adherent of 
the Parliament in those parts. Accordingly, be received their commission 

• Hartley Coleridge's Biograpbia Borealis. 
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(stilll'Wliling in the King's name) to be General of the forces in the north, 
and his eon, Sir Thomas, was appointed General of horse under him. Sir 
ThoJUas Fairfax, who appears to have been endowed with a never-tiring zeal 
for the cause in which he was engaged, performed his first exploit in the 
autumn of 1642, by driving a small detachment of Royalists from Bradford 
to Leeds, whither, in conjunction with Captain Hotham, he marched a few 
days after, and compelled the enemy to retire upon York. The great strength 
of the Parliamentarians lay in the large manufacturing towns of the West 
Riding, and the chief supplies of their army were drawn from that district; 
and that army having increased, 1,000 men were marched to Tadcaster 
and Wetherby to guard the passes of the Wharfe, and thus protect the friendly 
districts of the west. . 

The Earl of Newcastle, who had raised a considerable force in the north, 
for the protection of the northern counties, now marched to the assistance of 
the loyal party, and on the 80th of November he arrived at York with 6,000 
men and ten p~es of artillery. The Earl of Cumberland then resigned hi11 
commission to Newcastle, who, after having stayed only three days in York 
to refresh his troops, marched out with 4,000 men and seven pieces of cannon, 
to attack the enemy at Tadcaster, where Lord Fairfax was posted with 700 
troops.* At the same time the Earl sent his Lieutenant-General, the Earl 
of Newport, with 2,000 men, to attack Wetherby. At Tadcaster the battle 
was contested. with equal obstinacy, but with much less bloodshed, than the 
memorable one fought near the same place, between the fierce adherents of 
the rival houses of York and Lancaster. (See page 156.) The action took 
place on the Srd of December, 1642. The town being untenable, the Par. 
liamentarians resolved to draw out, and select a post of more advantage; but 
before they could do so, the King's forces attacked a position above the bridge, 
in which was a small body of foot to cover the retreat, in so brisk a manner, 
that the whole force drew back to maintain that ground. The Earl began 
his attack about eleven o'clock in the forenoon, and the fighting continued 
till dusk without intermission, during which time 40,000 musket shots were 
discharged, besides the fire from ~e artillery ; but the slaughter bore no 
proportion to the shot expended ; as the number killed on both sides did not 
exceed 800. The disparity of numbers caused Lord Fairfax to draw off his 
forces to Selby and Cawood in the night, and the following morning the 
Royalists marched into Tadcaster without opposition. The only person of 
note who fell in this battle was Captain Lister, who was shot by a bullet in 

• Memoirs of Sir Thomas Fairfax. 
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the bead.* He was a valuable officer, and a great 1088 to his party. The 
garrison of Wetherby consisted of 800 foot and 40 horse, commanded by 
Sir Thomas Fairfax ; and this small force was surprised early one mQming 
by a body of 800 men, under Sir Thomas Glemham. Under the cover of 
darkness and the woods around, the Royalists arrived close to the town 
without giving any alarm, until they were ready to enter. The guards were 
found sleeping at their post, "for," says Sir Thomas, "at the beginning of 
the war men were as impatient of duty as they were ignorant of it." The 
General however was awake, and, with the assistance of a few men, held the 
enemy at bay till more of the guards were got to arms. A smart engage­
ment then ensued, in which the assailants were repulsed. The attack was 
soon renewed, but in the midst of the conflict Fairfax's magazine was blown 
up, and produced so tremendous an explosion, that the Royalists believing 
that the enemy had cannon, began to retreat, and retired towards York, and 
were pursued by Sir Thomas with his small body of horse, who took some 
prisoners. Sir Thomas Glemham returned to his garrison at York. In this 
engagement Major Carr of the Royalists, and Captain Atkinson and a few 
of the Parliamentarians were slain. Seven men were blown up by the pow· 
der explosion. The Earl of Newport, on arriving at Wetherby, found no 
enemy to contend with, Sir Thomas Fairfax having previously joine4 his 
father at Tadcaster. 

In the beginning of the year 1643, Leeds, Wakefield, Halifax, Skipton, 
Knaresborough, and several other towns and garrisons against the King, 
were reduced to his Majesty's subjection, by the valorous conduct of the Lord 
General (the Earl of Newcastle). Bradford stood two vigorous sieges, but 
surrendered when the ammunition of the fortress was exhausted. Then, but 
not till then, did Sir Thomas Fairfax, who conducted the defence, offer to 
capitulate; but Newcastle having refused to grant the conditions, Sir Thomas, 
with fifty mounted troopers, cut his way through the lines of the Royalists, 
and made his retreat, but his wife and most of the soldiers were taken pri· 
soners.t By tlte various chances of war, several of those towns were lost and 

• Thoresby mentions the following instance of filial affection relating to the death of 
tl1is gentleman :-Some years after tho battle, the Captain's son wns passing through 
Tadca.qter, and finding the sexton dig!,ring in the choir, enquired wl1ere his father, Cap­
tain Lister, was buried. To which the sexton replied by showing him a scull just dug 
up, which he averred was the head of the Captain. On examining the scull, a bullet 
was found lodged in it, and this testimony to the truth of the gravedigger's words, so 
struck the young man, that he sickened at t.he sight, and died soon after. 

t Lady Fairfax was shortly after sent back to her husband, by the Marquis ot New· 
castle, in hill own coach, 
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won again, sometimes by one party, sometimes by another, so that in spite of 
every precaution, 'Y:orkshire was for some years a scene of bloodshed and 
misery. 

It was chiefly owing to the indefatigable exertions of the Queen (Henrietta 
Maria, daughter of Henry IV. of France) that Charles had been enabled to 
meet his opponents in the field. It has already been observed that her 
MaJesty departed for Holland in the spring of 1642, where she pledged her 
own and the crown jewels for the purpose of procuring arms and ammunition 
for her husband's adherents. During her residence in Holland she had 
repeatedly sent the King supplies of military stores, and, what he equally 
wanted, of veteran officers to train and discipline his forces. The Queen 
having embarked at Schuiling, near the Hague, under convoy of seven Dutch 
ships of war, commanded by Admiral Van Tromp, arrived at Bridlington 
Bay on the 20th of February, 1648, and after remaining at anchor three 
days, the squadron entered the harbour. Her MaJesty brought with her 
thirty pieces of brass and two of iron ordnance, with small arms for the 
equipment of 10,000 men; and though four of the Parliament's ships had 
been cruizing, with a view to intercept her, yet she was so fortunate as to 
effect a landing whilst the enemy's ships were riding at anchor off Newcastle. 
Batten, the Parliament's Vice-Admiral, having notice of her Majesty's arri­
val, immediately weighed anchor, but did not gain the bay until the night 
after the Dutch vessels had entered the port. Chagrined at his disap­
pointment, he drew his vessels directly opposite to the quay, and, on the 
morning of the 24th, commenced a heavy cannonade, in hope of firing the 
ammunition vessels, and the bouse in which the Queen was lodged. Some 
of the balls actually penetrated the room in which her Majesty reposed, and 
compelled her, with the Duchess of Richmond, aud the other ladies of her 
retinue, to leave their beds, and, according to some authorities, "barefoot 
and bareleg," seek for safety beneath the precipitous bank of the stream now 
known as Bessingby Beck, which empties itself into the harbour. 

The Queen herself has transmitted to posterity an interesting detail "of the 
whole event, in the following letter to the King. It is taken from a volume 
in the British Museum, marked 7379, in the Harleian Catalogue. 

"Burlington, 2llth February, 1643. 
" My dear heart, 

"Aa eoon as I landed, I dispatched Progress to you; but having 
learnt to-day that he was taken by the enemy, I send this bearer to give yon an 
aecount of my arrival, which baa been very sacceufal, thank God; for aa roagh as the 
let. W1lll when I ftrst crossed it, it waa now as calm, till I came within a few leagues of 
Newoutle; md on the cout the wiDd chaaged to N.W., and obliged us to make Cor 
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Burlington Bay, where, after two days lying in the road, our cavalry arriTed. I imme. 
diately landed, IUld the next morning the rest of the troops came in. God, who protected 
me at sea, has also done it at land; for this night four of the P«rliament ships came in 
without our knowledge, and at four o'clock in the morning we had the alarm, IUld sent 
to the harbour to secure our boats of ammunition; but about an hour after these four 
ships began so furious a cannonading, that they made us get out of our beds, and quU 
the village to them; at least us women, for the soldiers behoved very resolutely in pro­
tecting the ammunition. I must now ploy the Captain Bessus, IUld speak a little of 
myself. One of these ships did me the favour to flank my house, which fronted the 
pier, and before I was out of bed, the balls whistled over me, and you may imagine I 
did not like the music. Every boddy forced me out, the ballo beating down our hoU868; 
so, dr68Sed as I could, I went on foot some distance from the village, and got shelter in 
a ditch, like those we have seen about Newmarket; but bofore I could reach it the ballo 
sung merrily over our heads, and a serjeant was killed twenty paces from me. Under 
this shelter we remained two hours, the bullets flying over us IUld sometimes covering 
us with earth. At lost the Dutch Admiral sent to tell them, that if they did not give 
over he would treat them as enemies. This was rather of the latest, but he excused 
himself on account of a fog. Upon this the Parliament ships went oft', and, besides, the 
tide ebbed and they would have been in shoal water. As soon as they were withdrawn 
I returnt>d to my house, not being willing that they should boast of having driven me 
away. About noon I flet out for the town of Burlington, and all this day we have been 
landing our ammunition. It is said, that one of the Parliament Captains went before to 
reconnoitre my lodgings, and I as.~ure you he had marked it exactly, for he always fired 
at it. I can say with truth, that by land and sea, I have been in some danger, but God 
has preserved me; and I confide in his goodness that he will not desert me in other 
things. I protest to you, in this confidence, I would face cannon, but I know we must 
not tempt Ood. I must now go and eat a morsel, for I have taken nothing to day but 
three eggs, and slept very little." 

" No action of the war," says Dr. Lingard, "was more bitterly condemned 
by the gallantry of the Cavaliers, than this unmanly attack on a defenceless 
woman, the wife of the Sovereign." In order to secure the Queen from any 
further attack, Lieut.-Gen. King erected a battery on each side of the port, 
but the danger and insult not having been repeated, the utility of the works 
were happily never proved. In expectation of the Queen's arrival, the EarL 
of Newcastle had drawn a part of his army in that direction, in order to pro­
tect her from the attacks of her enemies ; and immediately upon her arrival, 
she was waited upon by the Marquis of Montrose, and Lord Ogilby with two 
troops of horse, Sir Marmaduke Langdale, Sir John Ramsden, and others of 
the King's friends. 

After remaining at Bridlington for about nine days, the Queen was safely 
conducted to York. She slept at North Burton on the first night, at Malton 
the second night, and arrived in York on the 8th of March, with three 
coaches, and an escort of eight troops of herse and fifteen companies of foot. 
The military stores were conveyed from Bridlington en rout~ to York in a 
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long train of ISOO carts and 1000 horses. For his attention to the Queen on 
this occasion as well as for his devotion to the cause of the King, the Lord 
General, as the Earl of Newcastle was called, was created a Marquis. When 
~be Queen arrived at York, the King was staying at Oxford, and to pursue 
her journey thither at that time, would be to throw herself into the hands of 
her opponents. She accordingly remained in Yorkshire, winning the hearts 
of the inhabitants by her affability, and quickening th11ir loyalty by her words 
and example.* She afterwards marched without opposition to Oxford, 
bringing to her husband, who met her at Edge-bill, a powerful reinforcement 
of men, artillery, and stores. 

In Y orksbire several important military events took place in the course of 
the year 1648. The Earl, now Marquis of Newcastle, made a kind of tri· 
umphal march through the county. He took Bradford and retook Wakefield 
for the King. Rotherham was in possession of the enemy, and refusing to 
yield, be commenced an attack upon it, and took it by storm. Sheffield too, 
which bad previously been taken possession of for the Parliament, by Sir 
John Gell, was re-captured by him, and be defeated Lord Fairfax at Atherton 
or Adderton Moor. He then recovered Gainsborough, in Lincolnshire, from 
the army under Cromwell ; and intended to proceed southward, but, we are 
told by Lingard, his followers refused to accompany him any further in 
that direction. They had, he says, been embodied for the defence of the 
northern counties, and could not be induced to extend the limits of that ser­
vice for which they had been originally enrolled. Had they advanced and 
joined the King's army in the south, in all probability an end would have 
been put at once to the war, by the reduction of London ; but in consequence 
of their refusal to march southward, the King- was deprived of one half of 
his expected force, and was compelled to adopt a new plan of operations. 

In the north, success and defeat appeared to alternate between the con­
tending parties, and no decisive advantage had as yet been gained by either; 
yet on the whole, the balance of victory seemed to incline in the King's 
favour.''t 

From the commencement of the difference between the King and the Par­
liament, a thorough understanding existed between the chief of the Scottish 
Covenanters, and the•principal of the English Reformers. Their views were 
similar, their object the same. The Scots had indeed fought and won, but 

• Clarendon, ii., p. US. 

t For an account ot the Siege of Hull, which took place about this time, see the his. 
tory of &.ba~ ~WD at subeequent pages of this volume. 
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they held the fruit of their victory by a doubtful tenure, as long as the fate 
of their "English brethren " depended on the uncertain chances of war. 
Both policy and religion prompted them to interfere ; the triumph of the 
Parliament would secure their liberties. The Parliamentarians first invited 
them to interpose their mediation, which they knew would be so little favour­
able to the King; then commissioners were sent to Edinburgh with ample 
powers to treat of a union and confederacy with the Scottish nation ; and a 
league and covenant was framed, in which the subscribers engaged mutually 
to defend each other against all opponents. 

This formidable union struck alarm into the breasts of the Royalists. 
They had found it difficult to maintain their ground against the Parliament 
alone; they felt unequal to the contest with a new and powerful enemy. By 
means of .£100,000., which they received from England, the Scottish levies 
were soon completed; and in the early part of the year 1644, an army of 
~0,000 men, under the command of their old General, the Earl of Leven, 
crossed the Tweed at Berwick, and attempted to surprise the town of New· 
castle before it could be put in a posture of defence. But in this they were 
disappointed, for the Lord General bad arrived at that fortress the day before 
it was summoned by Leven ; and the Scots, leaving six regiments before the 
place, crossed the Tyne, and entered Sunderland on the 4th of March. The 
Royalists, to the number of 14,000, hovered upon their march.• 

Yorkshire being left with but 8,000 or 4,000 men for ita protection, the 
Parliament ordered Sir Thomas Fairfax, with Lord Fairfax, his father, to 
attack this small force, which was commanded by Colonel Bellasis, the son 
of Lord Falconberg. The two parties encounted each other at Selby on the 
11th of April, and in the action the Royalists were entirely defeated. The 
Parliamentarians bad their army in three divisions ; the first wa'3 led by Lord 
Fairfax, the second by Sir John Meldrum, and the third by Colonel Bright. 
The cavalry was commanded by Sir Thomas Fairfax. After some hard 
fighting, the Royalists (who had possession of the town) were beaten from 
their defences, and Sir Thomas, having forced open a barricade, obtained an 
entrance between the houses and the river, where he met with a body of the 
enemy's horse, which he charged and routed, when they fled across the river 
by a bridge of boats towards York. Another body of horse quickly charged 
Sir Thomas's party, and after a desparate struggle, the Royalists were beaten 
back, and Colonel Bellasis taken prisoner. The main body of Parliament­
arians now entered the town, and the greatest part of the Kina's forces were 

• Ruehwonh, l'Ol. T., p. 808. 
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either slain or taken prisoners. This victory made the Parliament masters 
of the midland parts of Yorkshire. The inhabitants of York, bearing of the 
capture of Selby, were in great fear and consternation, and implored the 
Marquis of Newcastle, who bad been keeping the Scots at bay, to march 
speedily to their assistance, or their important city would be lost to the 
royal canse. The Marquis at once fell back to its relief; and the Scots 
having joined the forces of Lord Fairfax at Wetherby, the united army 
marched to York, and commenced the siege or blockade of that city, on the 
19th of April, 1644. 

The combined forces of the Parliament and the Scottish General being 
quite inadequate for the siege of this well-fortified and strongly-manned city, 
a deputation, composed of the Earls of Crawford and Lindsey, and Sir 
Thomas Fairfax, was sent to the Earl of Manchester, desiring his co-opera· 
tion, to which he willingly consented. Previous to the arrival of .Manchester 
the besiegers numbered 16,000 foot and 4,000 horse-a force not sufficiently 
numerous to invest the city; but that General brought with him an army of 
6,000 foot and 8,000 horse, of which last the famous Oliver Cromwell was 
Lieutenant-General ; and three sides of the city were completely invested, 
the north side remaining open. Manchester's division, with twelve pieces of 
cannon, took a position near Bgotbam Bar, towards Clifton. The besieging 
force had now three Generals, Manchester, Leven, and Fairfax, who occupied 
different positions around the walls ; and the siege was soon vigorously prose­
cuted. Several batteries were opened against the city ; and especial mention 
may be made of those on the rising grounds called Garrow and Lamel Mill 
Hi/J., out of Walmgate Bar, where four pieces of cannon played almost inces· 
santly on the tower, castle, and town; while the garrison and armed citizens, 
from their different platforms, kept up a heavy fire on the works of the 
besiegers. There were also batteries on the Dootham side. The Earl of 
Manchester made an attack near W almgate Bar, and took possession of the 
church of St. Nicholas, but was soon obliged to retire; the Scots seized, near 
Micklegate Dar, a convoy of cattle, which was about to enter the city ; and 
many smart skirmishes took place, through the exertions of the besiegers to 
preserve the houses in the suburbs for their own convenience (the inhabitants 
having withdrawn to the city), which the besieged set fire to. 

For some time the work of destruction was carried on "with great gallantry 
and spirit," and with varied success. Charles, who was at that time in the 
south, at the head of an inferior force, endeavouring, by some skilful rna· 
nreuvres, to escape from the two divisions of the Parliamentarian army, under 
Essex and Waller, saw with dismay the danger which threatened him in the 

2 I 
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north. The fall of York would most certainly depri,·e him of the northern 
counties, and the subsequent junction of the besieging army with his oppo­
nents in the south, would constitute a force against which it would he useless 
to struggle. His only resource was in the courage and activity of his nephew, 
Prince Rupert,* who bad recently driven the Parliamentarians from before 
Newark, and reduced Stockport, Bolton, and Liverpool. He ordered that 
commander to collect all the force in his power, to hasten into Yorkshire to 
fight the enemy, and to keep in mind that two things were necessary for the 
preservation of the crown, both the relief of the city of York, and the defeat of 
the combined army. On the receipt of the royal command, Rupert took with 
him a portion of his own men, some regiments lately arrived from Ireland, 
and reinforcements joined him on his march. Newcastle, who was in daily 
expectation of the arrival of Rupert, had recourse to a roM to gain time. 
That wily General endeayoured, by a pretended treaty with the besiegers, to 
direct their attention from further attacks. A cessation was agreed upon, 
commissioners met, and after a week's deliberation, hostilities recommenced 
on the 15th of May. The besiegers renewed their assaults on the city with 
redoubled vigour. The Earl of Manchester's forces undennined St. Mary's 
Tower at the north-east corner of the Manor; and Colonel Crawford, a 
Scotchman, sprung the mine, which demolished the Tower, and buried a 
great many persons in the ruins. He then with his cannon made a breach 
in the wall lower down in Marygatc, and having entered, many of the soldiel'8 
sealed two or three walls, and took possession of the Manor. 

This occurred on Trinity Sunday, when most of the officers were at the 
Cathedral ; bnt the alarm given by the explosion of the mine, caused them 
to run from the church to their posts. A party of the garrison, too, issued 
out by a private sally-port, entered the Manor House, and cut off the retreat 
of the enemy. A smart conflict ensued, in which about fifty of the Parlia­
mentarians were killed, and 250 made prisoners. Sir Philip Byron, Colonel 
Huddlestone, and Mr. Samuel Breary, were slain on the side of the garrison. 
The latter gentleman was Captain of a company of volunteer citizens, and 
son of one of the Aldermen. On the 24th of June, a party of the garrison, 
consisting of about 600 men, sallied out from Monk Bar, and furiously as­
saulted the Earl of Manchester's quarters; but they were soon driven back 
with considerable- loss.t The siege still continued with all possible vigour, 
an almost incessant fire was continued day and night, both by the besiegers 

• Prince Rupert was a younger son of Frederick, Prince Palatine of the Rhine, by 
the Princess Elizabeth, sister of King Charles I. of England. 

t Ex. MS. 
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and the besieged ; and so loyal were the people of York to their Sovereign, 
we are told by Drake, that the women assumed a masculine courage, and, 
despising fatigue and danger, contributed much to the defence of the city. 
The supply of fresh provisions having been cut off by a line of circumvalla­
tion drawn round the city, the prices were excessively high before the end of 
the siege. Mutton sold for 16s. a quarter; beef, at 4s. per stone; pork, at 
7s.; bacon, at 4s.; eggs, at 3d. each; fresh butter, at 2s. 8d. per pound; 
and oatmeal, 2s. 8d. per peck. But the magazine was well stored with salt 
provisions, grain, and liquors. 

On the evening of the 80th of June, the besiegers to their surprise and 
consternation, received intelligence that Prince Rupert, 'vith an army of 
20,000 men* was advancing to the relief of the city, and would quarter that 
night at Knaresborough and Boroughbridge, within eightoen miles of York. 
Conscious of their inability to contend with him in that situation, the Par­
liament's leaders held a council of war, at which it was resolved to raise the 
siege. Accordingly, on the 1st of July they drew off from their entrench­
ments before the city, and marched to Hessay Moor, about seven miles west 
of York, and there the army was drawn up in order of battle, expecting the 
Prince would make that his way to the city. But his Highness, aware of 
the movement, avoided the conflict by an exertion of great military skill. 
He caused only a party of horse to face the enemy at Skip-bridge, where they 
might secure their retreat over the Ouse at Nun·Monkton; and interposed 
the Ouse between the enemy and the main body of his army. The latter 
spent that night on the north side of the river, in the Forest of Galtres, near 
Poppleton ferry; whilst the Prince, with about 200 horse, rode on to York, 
where his arrival produced the greatest demonstrations of joy. A council of 
war was immediately held-and here we would pause to remark-that had 
the Prince not been too precipitate, he might not only have relieved the city, 
but he might have established the royal cause on a basis too strong for re­
bellion to shake. In the council the Marquis of Newcastle gave it as his 
decided opinion, that it was inexpedient at that moment to hazard an en­
gagement with the enemy; especially as in two days he expected Colonel 
Clavering, with a reinforcement of 8,000 men from the north, and 2,000 
drawn out of several garrisons. Besides, be added, that he had certain in­
telligence that dissension prevailed amongst the Parliamentarian Generals, 
and that they were about to separato.t 

• Rushwortb, vol. v., p. 631. 

t Mem. Sir T. Fairfax. Newccutle's Life, by the Duchess. 
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The Marquis proved correct in his remarks, but the daring and impetuous 
Prince, whose subsequent rashness was the cause of so many misfortunes to 
the monarch, and whose martial ardour was not sufficiently tempered with 
prudence, stated that he had received positive orders from the King, then at 
Oxford, to bring the enemy to immediate action.* Accordingly, Rupert, 
with his forces, marched out of York on the following day, the 2nd of July, 
and his van came up with the enemy just as they had broken up with the 
intention of proceeding to Tadcaster.t Rupert is said by some to have passed 
a part of his army over the Ouse at Poppleton, by means of a bridge of boats 
made by the Scots;! and to ha"\"e entered ";th his whole army into Hessay 
Moor, which the Parliamentarians had hardly quitted. He, however, pur­
sued them with such rapidity, that his vanguard almost overtook their rear 
near the village of Long Marston. Both parties soon began to draw up 
in order of battle; the Prince possessing himself of the principal part of 
the Moor, the Parliamentarians were obliged to range their forces in a large 
field of rye, at the end of the village of Marston, fronting the Moor. This 
being a rising ground, Hupcrt sent a party to dislodge them, but the H.oyalists 
were driven back, and that corn-field remained in the possession of the 
enemy. Both armies, in accordance with the military tactics of the age, 
were drawn up in line, the infantry in three divisions, with strong bodies of 

• The following extract from the letter of the King, and which Rupert would seem to 
ha\'e regarded as containing an imperatiYe command te fight the enemy at York, cer. 
tau1ly exculpntes the latter from the charge usually brought against him, of fighting 
without orders:-" Dut now I must give you the tnte state of my affairs, which, if their 
condition be such ns enforces me to give you more peremptory commands than I would 
willingly do, you must not take it ill. If York be lost, I shall esteem my cro11-n little 
else, unless unsupported by your sudden march te me, and a miraculous conquest in the 
south, before the effect-s of the northern power be found here; but if York be relie,·ed, 
an(! you beat the rebels• armies of both kingdom~. which are before it, then, but other. 
wise not, I may possibly make a shift upon the defensive to spin ont time, until you 
come to assist me. Wherefore I command and conjure you, by the duty and affection 
which I know you bear me, that, all new <'Dtcrpriscs laid aside, yon immediately march, 
according to your first intcntiou, with all your force to the relief of York ; but if that be 
either lost, or hnve freed themselves from the besiegers, or that for want of powder, you 
cannot undertake that work, that you immediately march with your whole strength to 
Worcester, to assist me and my army, without which, or your having relieYed York, by 
beating the Scots, all the sncc•Jsses you cnn afterwards have, most infallibly will be USC· 

less unte mc."-Et•dyn's Memoirs, vol. v., Octat·o tdition, p. 121. 

t Sir Thomns Fairfax gays, " we were dh-itled in our opinions what te do; thE' English 
were for fighting, the Scots for retreating, to gain, as they alleged, both time and place 
of more advantage; this b<'ing resolved upon, \\·e marched away towards Tadcaster." 

: Others assert that the army crossed the ferry, which at the time was fordable. 
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cavalry on each flank. The King's forces amounted to 14,000 foot, 9,000 
horse, and 25 pieces of ordnance ; and the number on the other side is vari· 
ously estimated. Some writers state that it was nearly equal in number to 
the Royalist army. Sir Thomas Fairfax says that its number was somewhat 
greater than that of the King's forces ; whilst others state that it reckoned 
40,000 soldiers. There was this peculiarity in the arrangement of the Par· 
liamentarians, that in each division the English and the Scots were inter­
mixed, to preclude all occasion of jealousy or dispute. The right wing of the 
Parliament's army was placed near Marston town end, having the village on 
their right, fronting the east; and as their horse and foot came up, they formed 
their battalia and left wing, endeavouring to gain as much to the left as they 
could ; so that at last their lines extended from Marston to Tockwith, and, 
as we have said, fronted the Moor. The position chosen by the Parliament­
arians was an advantageous one. On the right. the village of Marston secured 
them against being outflanked on that side; extending westward, the array 
passed across Marston field, a large enclosure cultivated in common, where 
many of the farmers held pieces of land, at that time bearing a crop of rye, 
which would then be nearly ready for the harvest. This ground is con· 
sidembly elevated above the Moor, to which it slopes gently down, but so 
easily, that a horseman might gallop up or down without any inconvenience. 
Close to the village of Marston, a place is shown where it is said that the 
hedges were cut down to make a way for the Parliamentarian army to pass, 
and this spot is now called" Cromwell's Gap." 

A little further west from Marston, where the land has its highest eleva­
tion, is the spot where tradition points out the position held by Cromwell; a 
clump of trees stood there some time since, now all felled but one, which has 
been left (though dead) to point out the station of the grim Ironsides. The 
position more tO the left, towards the village of Tockwith, being nearly level, 
presented fewer points of advantage, and this latter place secured the left 
flank from being turned. The troops, standing with their backs to the south, 
would have an exteusive view of the country to the north and east, over the 
level plain and rural villages of the Ainsty, to the towers and walls of York. 
The right wing of the Parliamentarian army, extending to and resting on 
the village of Marston, consisted of the Yorkshire horse (but newly raised), 
commanded by Sir Thomas Fairfax, a man of known valour and resolution ; 
three regiments of Scottish horse, commanded by the Earl of Dalhousie, the 
Earl of Eglinton, and Lord Balgony, forming his reserve. Next to them 
was a body of infantry consisting of Lord Fairfax's foot. and two brigades of 
the Scottish horse for a reserve. The main body, consisting chiefly of mus-
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keteers and pikemen, was commanded by the three generals Lord Fairfax, 
the Earl of Manchester, and the Earl of Leven. The left wing was com· 
posed of the whole of l\Ianchester·s cavalry, under the command of Lieut. 
Gen. Cromwell, among whom were his tried and trusty Iromid& (a name 
first bestowed upon them in this battle) with three regiments of Scottish 
horse, commanded by 1\If\ior Gt:n. Lesley ; and upon their left, near a erose 
ditch where the Royalists had a regiment of foot were the Berwickshire 
dragoons under Colonel Frizell. This wing extended to the village of Tock­
with, and the whole army was drawn up in large bodies well supported by 
artillery. The field word of the Parliamentarian troops was "God with 
us." Previous to the attack they were heard singing psalms. 

The King's army was drawn up in a line opposite, on the open moor, 
partly protected by broken ground, ditches, and fur..:e bushes. The left wing, 
fronting the position of Sir Thomas Fairfax, was led by Prince Rupert in 
person.* The right, opposed to Cromwell, was led by Sir Charles Lucas and 
Col. Hurry; the main body by the Generals Goring, Porter, and Tilliard. 
It is not certain what particular charge the Marquis of Newcastle had this 
day, though it is certain he was engaged very valiantly in the battle Some 
writers state that he had no command, but acted merely as a volunteer, with 
many more gentlemen equally disgusted with Rupert's haughty conduct. 
The field word of the Royalists was " God and the King." 

" When both armies were completely drawn up, it was after five in the 
evening, and nearly another hour and a half passed with little more than a 
few cannon shots. Newcastle considered all was over for that day, and had 
retired to his carriage to prepare himself for rest for whatever might betide 
on the morrow. Even Rupert and Cromwell are believed to have expected 
that their armies would pass the night on the field. It was a bright summer 
evening, and the calm beauty of the heavens above left ligh~enough still for 
the work of destruction to proceed, and that mighty host, 46,000 men, children 
of one race, subjects of one King, to mingle in bloody strife, and lay thou­
sands at rest, • to sleep the sleep that knows no waking,' that lovely night of 
June, on Long Marston Moor. It bas been surmised, with considerable 
probability, that a stray cannon shot, which proved fatal to young Walton, 
Oliver Cromwell's nephew, by rousing in him every slumbering feeling of 
wrath and indignation, mainly contributed to bring on the general engage­
ment. Certain it is, that he was the first to lead his men on to the attack. 

• Some writers assert that the left. wing was led by the Marquis of Newcastle, whilst 
the right wing was commanded by Prince Rupert. 
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It was within a quarter to seven on that calm evening, when the vast array 
that spread along the wide area of Marston Moor began to be stirred by 
rapid movements to the front. Along a considerable part of the ground that 
lay immediately between the advanced posts of the Parliamentary forces and 
the Royalist army, there ran a broad and deep ditch, which served to protect 
either party from sudden surprise. Towards this, a body of Cromwell's 
cavalry was see~ to move rapidly from the rear, followed by e: part of the 
infantry. Prince Rupert met this promptly by bringing up a body of mus­
keteers, who opened upon them a murderous fire as they formed in front of 
the ditch, which protected Rupert's musketeers from the cavalry, while a 
range of batteries, advantageously planted on a height to the rear, kept up 
an incessant cannonading on the whole line."* 

" Suddenly the left wing of the Parliamentarians was stirred by a rapid 
movement;" says a recent writer, "had the eagle eye of Cromwell seen the 
moment of advantage? or, was it the death of his nephew, struck down by a 
cannon shot, that awakened his slumbering wrath, roused the lion spirit 
within him. and now hurried him to the combat, and with him the whole 
army, for a single charge must inevitably bring on a general engagement. 
His heavy armed curassiers were already chanting their vengeful psalm of 
battle, while their eyes were lighted up with martial joy. Not one of them 
but carried a bible, as well as a carbine, pistols, and a heavy broad sword. "t 
The small ditch, which lay between the contending armies, had an embank­
ment on one side of it; and though they had drawn up within musket shot 
of one another, yet it must incommode the party that passed it, and lay them 
more open to their enemy. In the ditch the Royalist leader placed four 
brigades of their best musketeers, which at the first were gallantly assaolted 
by the enemy, and forced to give ground. The front divisions of horse mu­
tually charged, the respective opposite right and left wings meeting. Crom­
well, with his trusty Ironsides, dashed off rapidly to the right, and clearing 
the ditch beyond the enemy's flank, be swept down upon their right wing 
with such irresistible force, that the cavalry, who were then under the com­
mand of General Goring, were completely broken soon after the first onset. 
For a short time the fighting here was tzuly terrific. Some of the King's 
bravest men attacked Cromwell's troopers in front and flank, and every inch 
was disputed at the sword's point. For a while all was close and deadly 
conflict; the cannon's roar, the clashing of arms, the ringing of pistol shots, 
the sound of trumpets, mingled with the yells, shouts, and cheers of the 

!fJ W"U1011'1 Cf'OMIHU lind the P1'ouetQrau, p. 96. + BauJe Fields of Yorkshire. 
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troops, making up a dreadful battle chorus. The Royalists fought bravely, 
rallying when broken, and again rushing to the charge. Goring and New· 
castle exerted themselves like tried and trusty soldiers; what generalship 
and personal courage could do, was done, and done in vain. The whole right 
wing of the King's army was dispersed ; and such of them as escaped the 
swords of Cromwell's Ironsides, wheeled about, and fled to join the ca1'8lry, 
under Prince Rupert's own command. The guns were silenced, and the 
artillerymen fled, or were sabred at their posts; while Cromwell, recalling 
his men from the pursuit, led them back in perfeot order towards their first 
point of attack. 

But a different scene had been enacted meanwhile on the left wing. 
Prince Rupert, who commanded there in person, poured a tremendous fire 
into the right wing of the enemy, led by Sir Thomas Fairfax, and dashed in 
upon them with his usual impetuosity, and swept through their broken ranks 
with tremendous slaughter. Nevertheless Sir Thomas, with a body of 400 
horsemen, passed the ditch, and charged furiously upon the royal ranks, and 
after a dreadful struggle, cut his way through, despite all their efforts to 
hinder him ; the Royalists flying towards York, closely pursued to prevent 
their rallying. Rupert seeing the disorder of that wing, dashed forward at 
the head of his men, driving, scattering, and destroying all before him. In 
vain the leaders struggled to stem the tide-on sped the Prince over the 
dying and the dead, pursuing the routed squadrons towards Tadcaster and 
Cawood. Instead of pursuing them with his whole strength, had Rupert 
merely ordered a detachment to keep them from rallying after they were 
pushed from the field, and fallen with the rest of his force upon the naked 
flank of the Parliamentarian foot, the victory might have been his own, and 
his rashness in fighting been justified by success. Thus one wing of each 
army was routed, and the main bodies closely engaged in an even balanced 
and desperate struggle, when Cromwell, with his troopers flushed with vic­
tory, dashed impetuously upon the naked flank of the Royalist infantry, 
overturning all before them. It was at this time that the Marquis of New­
castle's own regiment-called" White Coats," from their clothing, consisting 
of more than a thousand stout N orthumbrians, being deserted by the horse, 
yet scorning either to fly or to ask quarter, were cut to pieces by the enemy, 
all bravely falling in rank and file as they stood. This brigade, which was 
well armed and disciplined, strong and valiant, was commanded by a Scotch­
man named King, the Marquis's Lieutenant, a man of considerable military 
experience. 

The three Generals, Manchester, Leven, and Fairfax, appear to have con· 
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lidered the battle as lost, and were hastening out of the field, when the Tictory 
they despaired of unexpectedly fell into their hands. For General Porter, 
aft.er having forced back part of the Parliamentarian foot, even beyond their 
Grst position ; and after three hours of hard fighting, and when he thought 
the success of the Prince was established, found himself attacked with greater 
fury than eTer, and that unexpectedly in the rear. Here the order of the 
b&We wu completely ravened, each party occupying the ground held by the 
other at the beginning of the tight. Cromwell haTing rallied his men, ad­
ftDced towards the centre of the action juat as Rupert returned from his 
headlong and mad pursuit, at the bead of his exulting cavalry, confident that 
the field was already won. But a short time was BUfticient to conTince him 
that his enemies were the Tieton ; for though the second battle was equally 
furious and desperate with the first, yet, after the utmost efforts of courage 
by both parties, Tictory wholly turned on the side of the Parliament ; for, 
hemmed in on nearly all sides, on difficult and broken ground, without hope 
of aucconr, and almost without means of retreat, Porter and his brave band 
81I1'Mldered themselves prisoners. Rupert's whole train of artillery was 
taken, and those Royalists who had surTiTed, and were not taken prisoners, 
were pnrsu.ed to wiUriD a mile of the walls of York, by their relentless ene­
mies, Rupert himself only escaping by the fleetness of his horse. Thus 
ended this sanguinary conflict between the most numerous armies that ever 
were engaged doriDg the course of these UDDatnral wars. About ten o'clock 
the Royalists had pursued the main part of the enemy from the field ; but 
before midnight the best and bravest of the friends of royalty were lying dead 
CID the field, or prisoners in the hands of the foe, or helpless and despairing 
fugitives on the roads to York and other places, pursued with great slaughter. 
The victory was complete. What a contrast between the going out and the 
reta.rD of the Royalist army. The number of the slain on both sides is said 
to be about 8,000, though authors vary much in this as in other particulara 
of the battle ; but the villagers, who were commanded to bury the dead, as­
eerted that they interred only (,llSO bodies, two-thirds of whom appear to 
bave been men of rank; and their graves are yet to be seen near WU.strop 
Wood, at the end of a long green lane, on the western side of the moor. 
This is euppoeed to be the place where Cromwell beat the Royalist right 
wing, and afterwards mowed down Newcastle's valiant regiment, for they 
woald probably bury them "where the battle's wreck lay thickest." 

Among the Royalists who fell were Sir William Wentworth; Sir Francis 
Dacres; Sir William Lambton; Sir Charles Slingsby, Knight, who was in­
terred in the Cathedral; Colonel John Fenwick, whose remains could not be 
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identified among the heaps of dead ; Sir Marmaduke Lnddon ; Sir Thomas 
Metham; Sir Thomas Gledhill; Sir Richard Graham ; and more than 4,000 
others. Upwards of 1,500 were taken prisoners on that dreadful day, 
amongst whom were General Sir Charles Lucas, General Porter, General 
Tilliard, Lord Goring's son, and many more field officers. The Prince like­
wise lost besides his ~5 pieces of artillery, 130 barrels of gunpowder, 10,000 
stand of arms, 4 7 colours, ~ waggons loaded with carbines and pistols, and 
all his bag and baggage. 

The principal persons slain among the Parliamentarians were ChaTles, 
brother of Sir Thomas Fairfax, who was buried at Marston ; MeJor Fairfax, 
Captain Micklethwaite, and Captain Pugh. From the circumstance of the 
llattle being at one time so much against them, they must undoubtedly have 
lost a number of adherents nearly equal to the vanquished; but they them· 
selves would not acknowledge the loss of more than 300 subalterns and 
privates.* 

Prince Rupert, to whose want of sufficient coolness and prudence, the dis­
asters of this day were attributed, has been accused by some of wanting 
courage, a charge which by others is believed to be completely unfounded. 
Cromwell, too, is taxed with cowardice by Hollis, who says that he withdrew 
very soon from the fight, for a slight wound in the neck; but he is, however, 
by most writers considered the main instrument in gaining this important 
victory. It was late in the evening when the Royalists arrived at Micklegate 
Bar, and as none but tho garrisOn were suffered to enter, many of the 
wounded, fainting under fatigue and anxiety, filled the air with sounds of 
distress, and the scene -of confusion and misery that ensued, was beyond 
description.+ 

This disastrous battle extinguished the power of the Royalists in the 
northern counties, and opened an immediate way to Cromwell's assumption 
of the vacant throne, when Charles fell a sacrifice to violence and political 
rancour. Among the many battle fields of Yorkshire, at Marston Moor only 
was there any great principle depending on the issue. In the other battles 
the object had been to repel, perhaps a provoked invasion ; to crush a rebel· 
lion of ambitious and discontented nobility; or oftener for a mere change of 
rulers. The people shed their blood for men from whom they could receive 
no benefit, and for objects in which they had no interest; but at Marston 
Moor only the spirit of civil and religious freedom was manifested. There it. 

• For this battle see Rushworth, v., 632. Clarendon, iv., 1103. Thurloe, i., 39. 
Whitelock, 89. 

t Hargrove's Histol')' otYork, vol. i., pp. 169, 178. 
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was that King and people contended; the one for power unlimited and absolute; 
the other for justice and liberty-man's birthright. Liberty and privilege 
on the one side, and prerogative and despotic power on the other, were on the 
field of Marston brought into open conflict, and the sequel is well known. 

The day after the battle the brave Marquis of Newcastle, and several of 
his friends, either despairing of the royal cause, or disgusted with the arro­
gant conduct of Prince Rupert, resolved to quit the country, and immediately 
went to Scarborough, and thence embarked to Hamburgh. Rupert himself 
drew his army from the city of York, aud hastily retreated into Lancashire; 
and thus were the affairs of the unfortunate Charles irretrievably ruined by 
the imperious and injudicious conduct of his froward kinsman. Had he left 
a sufficient garrison in the city, it might be held out against the Parliament­
arians, as great dissensions prevailed among the leaders ; but encouraged by 
the intelligence of the departure of the two royal commanders, and knowing 
that Sir Thomas Glemham, the Governor, was left with only a very small 
garrison, and in a great measure defenceless, in consequence of the loss of 
artillery at the late battle, the Parliament's Generals appeared before the 
walls, and renewed the siege. The Governor was summoned to surrender 
unconditionally-to which a negative answer was returned. However, thir­
teen days after the battle of Marston, and after a siege of nearly thirteen 
weeks, during which time the garrison had repulsed twenty-two attempts to 
carry the city by storm, and four countermines; and between 4,000 and 5,000 
of the enemy had perished before its walls, the Governor was reduced to the 
painful necessity of surrendering the city, on the following conditions,* 
which, owing to the existence of considerable dissensions amongst the forces 
of the Parliament, were extremely favourable. 

1. That Sir Thomas Glemham, as Governor of the city of York, shall sur­
render and deliver up the same, with the forts, tower, cannon, ammunition, 
and furniture of war belonging thereto, on the 16th of Jnly, 1644, at eleven 
o'clock in the forenoon, to the three Generals, or to whom they shall appoint, 
for the use of the King and Parliament, in the maimer, and upon the con­
ditions following:-

2. That all the officers shall march out of the city, with their arms, drums 
beating, colours flying, match lighted, bullet in mouth, bag and baggage. 

S. That they shall haYe a convoy, that no injury be done them in their 
march to Skipton. 

4. That sick and maimed soldiers shall not be hindered from going, after 
their recoveries. 

• Ex. MS. 
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5. That soldiers' wives and children may have liberty to go to their hus­
bands and fathers, to their own homes and estates, and to enjoy them 
peaceably, under contribution. 

6. That no soldier be enticed away. 
7. That the citizeu and inhabitants may enJoy all their privileges, which 

formerly they did at the beginning of these troubles, and may have freedom 
of trade, both by sea and land, paying such duties and customs as all other 
cities under obedience of Parliament. 

8. That if any garrison be placed in the city, two parts in tJuoee shall be 
Yorkshiremen; no free quarter shall be put upon any without his own COD· 

sent, and the armies shall not enter the city before the GoTernor and Lord 
.Mayor be acquainted. 

9. That in all charges the citizens, resi.deots, and inhabitants, shall bear 
only such part with the county at large, as was formerly in all other &88e88-

ments. 
10. That all citizens, gentlemen, residents, sojourners, and every other 

person within the city, shall, if they please, have free liberty to remove them· 
selves, family, and goods, and to dispose thereof, and their estates, at their 
pleasure, according to the law of the land, either to live at their own homes 
or elsewhere ; and to enjoy their goods and estates without molestation, and 
to have protection and safeguard for that purpose, so that they may ftllt 
quietly at their abodes, and travel safely and freely about their oecaaions ; 
and for their better removal, may have letters of safe conduct, and be fur­
nished with horses and carriages at reasonable rates. 

11. That all gentlemen, and others, that have goods within the city, and 
are absent themselves, may have free liberty to take, carry away, and dispose 
of them, as in the foregoing articles. 

12. That neither chorohes nor other buildings shall be delaced, nor any 
plunderings, nor taking of any man's person, nor any part of his estate, • 
suffered; and that justice shall be administered within the city, by the 
magistrates, according to law, who shall be assisted therein, if need require, 
by the garrison. 

18. That all persons whose dwellings are in the city, though now absent, 
may enjoy the benefit of these articles, as if they were present. 

Sigrud, 
FERDINAND FAIRFAX, 
MANCHESTER, 
ADAM HEPBORNE, 
LORD HUMBEE, 
WILLIAM CONSTABLE. 

}
TBOKAS GIJDfBAV, 

GO'nmlfQB. 
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The forces of the King, amounting to more than one thousand, besides 
sick and wounded, aooordingly evaeuated the city on the following day, 
through Micklegate Bar, marching through the victorious army (which hacl 
been previoualy drawn up on each side, without the Bar, and Conned into a line 
of about a mile in exteot), with arms in their lumds, drums beating, colours 
flying, &c., towards Skipton. On their departure, the three eucoeasful Gene­
rals, the Earle of Leven and Manchester, and Lord Fairfax. with their forces, 
entered the city in solemn prooeesion, and went directly to the Cathedral, 
where they returned thanks to the Almighty for their euccess-prayer being 
oftiered up by the Earl of Leven's chaplai.D, a Presbyterian; and the following 
Tlumday was appointed a day of general tha.nkagiving.* 

York suffered severely from this calamitous siege. Its walls were sadly 
ahatt.ered; eeveral houses were in ruins, and the suburbs completely destroyed. 

Lord Ferdinando Fairfax was now made Governor of York, and that city 
became the seat of a standing committee, whereby the affairs of the whole 
eounty were conducted with almost absolute power. Lord Fairfax and his 
aon, Sir Thomas. now SIU'Il&med the Hsro of tM Commonwealth, received 
commissions from the Parliament to reduce all the garrisons that still held 
out Cor the King in this county ; and Sir Thomas was soon after appointed 
Commander-in-Chief of all the forces of the Parliament. The city walls were 
put in a state of repe.ir, and no time was lost in attempting to subdue the 
apirit of loyalty, which still existed in many of the fortresses of the county. 
Detachments of troops were sent to besiege them. The siege of Pontefract 
Castle commenced on Christmas day, Sir Thomas Fairfax having taken pos­
eession of the town in the beginning of Deoomber.t On the 19th of January, 
1646, after an ineesaant cannonade against the ramparts of the Castle, the Pix 
Tower gave way, and by its fall carried part of the walls along with it. The 
siege continued till the garrison was reduced to great distress Cor want of 
provisions. At this period, Sir .Marmaduke Langdale, one of the Royalist 
Generals, making a rapid march, at the head of 2,000 horse, arrived at Pon­
tefract ; attacked the besiegers, who were commanded by Colonels Lambert 
and Forbes; and after an obstinate engagement, the Parliamentarians retired 
in disorder to Ferrybridge, and from thence towards Sherburn and Tadcaster, 
closely pursued by the Royalists. 

On General Langdale's departure, the Parliamentarian tzoops collected, 
and on the 21st of March, 1645, they took possession of the town, and again 
laid ~ to the Castle. For four months the besieged gallantly withstood 

• Hargrove's Hilt. York, vol. i., p. 187. t Whitelook, p. 102. 
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the incessant cannonades, attacks, and sorties of the enemy ; but at length 
reduced to a state of famine, the garrison surrendered the Castle, by an 
honourable capitulation, on the 20th of July. Sir Thomas Fairfax was 
appointed Governor ; but as he was subsequently employed in the field, he 
placed Cotterell in the Castle as his substitute. In 1648, when the war waa 
drawing near to a conclusion, the royal party being nearly subdued, and the 
garrison of Pontefract consisted of only 100 men, the King's friends regained 
possession of this important fortress by stratagem. On the 6th of July, in 
that year, the Governor having given orders for bringing some beds and pro­
visions out of the country, Colonel Morrice, accompanied by nine others of 
the King's officers, disguised like peasants, having concealed arms, appeared 
at the Castle gate with carts laden with beds, provisions, &c. These things 
being delivered to the main guard, money was given to some of the soldiers 
to fetch ale; but scarcely bad these departed, when Morrice and his party 
attacked and mastered the main guard, made way for their confederates to 
enter, took the deputy-Governor prisoner, and made themselves masters of 
the Castle. Sir John Digby was then made Governor, and a part of the 
King's scattered troops, 30 horse and 500 foot, formed the garrison. The 
third siege of Pontefract Castle commenced the following October, under the 
command of Oliver Cromwell, who, after endeavouring in vain for a month 
to make an impreBBion on its massy walls, retired and joined the grand army 
under Fairfax. On the 4th of December General .Lambert took charge of 
the forces before the Castle, and pushed the siege with the greatest vigour ; 
and when the news of the execution of the King, in the following January, 
reached the place, the garrison, still besieged, proclaimed his son, Charles 
IT., and made a vigorous sally against their enemies. On the 25th of March, 
1649, the garrison being reduced to 100 men, and some of these unfit for 
duty, surrendered by capitulation. The walls of the Castle being much shat;. 
tered, the Parliament ordered its demolition, and within two months after its 
reduction, the buildings were unroofed, and all the valuable materials sold. 
Thus was this princely fortress reduced to a heap of ruins. 

Soon after the battle of Marston Moor, Major Beaumont, Governor of 
Sheffield Castle, was summoned to surrender that fortress to the Parliament. 
arians, but the demand was answered by a volley of shot, and a. reply that 
the garrison" would hold no parley." The besiegers then erected two bat;. 
teries, and kept their caunon playing upon the fortress for twenty-four hours 
without any visible effects. MeJor-General Crawford, who conducted the 
siege, finding that it was likely to be protracted, sent to Lord Fairfax for 
the" Queen'~ pocket pistol," and a whole culverin, which, being brought to 
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the spot, played with such fatal effect, that the garrison was obliged to capi· 
tulate, and the Castle was surrendered on the 11th of August. On the 80th 
of April, 1646, the House of Commons directed that the Castle of Sheffield 
should be rendered untenable; and on the 18th of July, in the following 
year, the same assembly passed a resolution for the "sleighting and de­
molishing" that ancient structure. On the 28rd of April, 1648, the work of 
demolition had begun, and so completely have the ruins themselves been 
obliterated, that the site of this once noble stronghold of feudal times-in 
which the unfortunate Mary Queen of Scots was for some time detained 
a prisoner-is only distinguished by the name of Castle Hill. 

In 1644, Leeds and Ripon having previously fallen into the hands of the 
Parliamentarians, that party besieged the Castle of Scarborough. On the 
18th of February the town, with the church of St. Mary, was taken by as­
sault, and Sir Hugh Cholmley, the Governor, retired into the Castle. Sir 
John Meldrum then made a lodgment in the church, and opened a battery 
on the Castle from the east window. The garrison, at the same time, kept 
an incessant fire on the church, by which the choir was demolished. On the 
17th of May, 1645, the besiegers made a general assault on the Castle, but 
were repulsed with great loss. In this assault, Sir John Meldrum received 
a mortal wound, of which he died on the 8rd of June. Sir Matthew Boynton 
was then appointed by the Parliament to the command of the forces before 
Scarborough Castle, and after a siege of more than twelve months, the forti­
fications being ruined by incessant battering, the stores nearly exhausted, and 
the garrison worn out by excessive fatigue, the brave Governor surrendered 
the fortress upon honourable terms. During this memorable siege, square­
shaped silver coins, of the value of tis., and 2s. 6d. each, were issued. One 
side bore a representation of the Castle, with the inscription, " Oblidium 
Scarborough, 1645," and the reverse the nominal value of the piece.* 

In the latter part of 1645 Skipton Castle surrendered to the Parliament­
arians, after sustaining a siege of three years. Its defenders were permitted 
to retain their arms, and retire either to Newark, Oxford, or Hereford. The 
Castle was partly: demolished in 1649, by an order of Parliament, but the 
Cowttess of Pem\roke, the great restorer of ruined edifices, repaired, and 
rendered it habitable, though not perhaps tenable as a fortress. 

" Cromwell began now to entertain in his own breast those ambitious 
views which subsequently placed him on the throne," writes the Rev. Geo. 
Oliver, "and he hid them from the world under the cloak of religion. He 

• HiDderwell'a BistoJy of Scarborough, p. 86. 
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was a professed I~; a sect which pervaded alike the city, the 
COQDtry, and the camp. All ranks of society were full of its professors. 
Soon, in every town and village, the spirit of fanaticism waa prevalent, aod 
superseded the chaste and sober practice of genuine religion; and when the 
Independents perceived the superiority they had acquired over the minds of 
Ule people, they threw oft' the mask, and adhered in practice no longer to 
Ule principles they had formerly professed in theory. The flame, long sup­
pressed, now burst forth with an irresistible violence that carried all before 
it. They openly challenged the superiority, says Hume, and even menaced 
the church with that persecution which they afterwards exercised against 
her with such severity. They had a m~rity iD the house, and voted the 
liturgy an abomination to the godly, and even prohibited the use of it under 
heavy penalties. They were not respecters of persons ; and it was one of 
Cromwell's eayinge, that if be met the King in battle, he would fire a pistol 
in his face as readily as against any other mao.• Slaughter and spoliation 
were preceded by long prayers; and murder, as Holles expresses it, was no 
sin to the visible saints. Even the subversion of the altar and the mu:rder 
of Ule King were esteemed acts of piety and devotion to God, and were ac­
eompanied by the outward forms of religion. With the bible in their hands, 
the impiot18 regicides brought a virtuous monarch to the blook ; with a text 
of scripture in their mouths, they overthrew the altar and the throne. "t 

In 1646 the liturgy of the Church of England being abolished, the 
fanatical soldiers, qua.rtered in the dift'erent towns, robbed the churches of 
the Books of Common Prayer, and amidst the loudest and most S&Tage accla­
mations of joy-drams beating, and trumpets aotmding--committed them to 
the flames. 

In 1846, after a aeries of defeats, the royal army was disbanded; and the 
unfortunate Monarch, despairing of a reconciliation with his enemies, and 
finding his personal saCety insecure, voluntarily placed himself under the 
protection of the 8oottiah forces, then at Newark-upon-Trent. The Lords 
and Commons immediately joined in a vote, unprecedented in hiselory, "That 
the person of the King shall be disposed of, a& both Hol.\fJM of Pa.rli&ment 
should think fit." 

By the more moderate party the war was ttO'\'t considered to be 'rirtaalJy at 
an end ; they expected that the King would agree to the original proposals 
of the Parliament, and be eontent to hold the crown as his predecessors held 
lt ; but the moderate party bad entirely lost its iDfluence in Parliament, and 

• Hume's Euglaud, l'OL 'riiL, p. 22L t Biatory ofBelerley, p. ~7. 

Digitized by Goog le 



GENERAL HISTORY OF YORKSHIRE. 25i 

a new party had arisen in the state, which became an instrument in the 
hands of the bold and ambitious Cromwell. This latter party was equo.lly 
foimidable to Royalists, Presbyterians, and Independents. Its founders were 
a few fanatics in the army, who enjoyed the reputation of superior godliness. 
They co.lled themselves Rationalists, but this name was soon exchanged for 
the more expressive appellation of LeveUers. In religion they rejected o.ll 
coercive authority ; men might establish a public worship at their pleasure, 
but if it were compulsory, it became unlawful and sinful; and these fanatics 
pretended to have discovered in the Bible that the government of Kings was 
odious in the sight of God, and contended that in fact Charles had now no 
claim to the sceptre. 

The Scots having delivered up the person of the King, he was detained as 
a captive, successively at Holdenby, or Holmby House, near Northampton; 
Hampton Court, neo.r London; and in the castles of Carisbrook and Hurst, 
in the Isle of Wight. But to return to the annals of York. 

In January, 1646, the great convoy, under the conduct of Major-General 
Skippon, arrived at York with the sum of £200,000., which was paid to the 
Scottish receiver at the Guild-Hall; it being the first payment for the arrears 
of the Scottish army. · 

In 1647, when the whole country became under the subjection of the Par­
liament, York was dismantled of its garrison, with the exception of Clifford's 
Tower, of which the Lord Mayor was appointed Governor, and his successors 
continued to hold that commission for several years. 

On the 13th of March, 1648, Lord Ferdinando Fairfax died at York, and 
was succeeded in his title and estates by his son, Sir Thomas. Guizot, in 
writing of the latter personage, says that " while the civil war was at its 
height, he afforded a most useful protection to literature and literary institu­
tions. By his care;• be adds, "the libraries of York and Oxford were 
partially at least preserved from pillage."* 

At the Lent Assizes in 1648, held in the city of York, a woman was tried 
and condemned for crucifying her mother; and it is added, that after perpe­
trating the horrid deed, she had offered a calf and a cock for a burnt sacrifice. 
Her husband also was hanged for being an accomplice; and at the same time 
twenty-one men and women were executed here for various crimes. Judge 
Thorpe, in his charge tO the jury at these Assizes, endeavoured to vindicate 
the Parliament in all their proceedings, and to justify the execution of the 
lUng, which was probably then in contemplation. 

• Guizot•a Monk'l ConU'tRp()l'aritl. 

2 L 
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The Levellers, now a powerful faction, were spreading their pernicious 
doctrines through all ranks in the army. The King, they said, had bound 
himself, at his accession, by oath to protect the liberties of his subjects; and 
as they maintained that he had violated that oath, they argued that they 
were released from their allegiance to him. For the decision of the question 
he had appealed to the God of battles, who, by the result, had decided against 
his pretensions. He therefore, they maintained, was answerable for the 
blood which had been shed ; and it was the duty of the representatives of the 
nation to call him to justice for the crime, and in order to prevent the recur­
rence of similar mischiefs; as well as to provide for the liberties of all by 
founding an equnl commonwealth on the general consent. The fanatics went 
still further. They had read in the book of Numbers that "blood defileth 
the land, and the land cannot be cleansed of the blood that is shed therein, 
but by the blood of him that shed it;" and hence they inferred that it was a 
duty imposed on them by the God who had given them the victory, to call 
the King to a strict account for all the blood which had been shed during the 
civil war. 

It was now some time since the King had begun to fear for his safety. 
He saw that the violence of the Levellers had daily increased; and that the 
government of the kingdom had now devolved in reality on the army. There 
were two military councils, one consisting of the principal commanders, the 
other of the inferior officers, most of them men of levelling principles ; and 
when any measure had received the approbation of the general council of the 
army, the House of Commons scarcely dare refuse to impart to it the sanction 
of their authority. Indeed no man could be ignorant that the Parliament, 
nominally the supreme authority, was under the control of the council of 
officers. It had long been the conviction of the officers that the life of the 
King was incompatible with their safety; and that if he were restored, they 
would become the objects of royal vengeance. In this state of things we are 
not surprised to find the House of Commons declaring by vote, that it was 
high treason for the King of England to levy war against the Parliament and 
kingdom of England ; and granting an ordinance for the erection of a high 
court of justice to try the question of fact, whether Charles Stuart, K"mg of 
England, had or bad not been guilty of the treason described in the preceding 
vote. The Lords, seeing the approaching min of their own order in the fall 
of the Sovereign, rejected both the vote and the ordinance without a dis9en­
tient voice; whereupon the Commons voted that the people, or rather they, 
as the representatives of the people, are the origin of all just power; and on 
the 20th of January, 164{), the King of England, Scotland, and Ireland, was 
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arraigned in Westminster Hall, before sixty-six commissioners, and charged 
with being a "tyrant, traitor, murderer, and a public and implacable enemy 
to the commonwealth of England." The sequel is well known; on the 30th 
of January-ten days after his arraignment-he was beheaded. Thus fell 
this unfortunate King, who, with all his faults, was worthy of a better fate, 
and after his death the monarchy of England was temporally abolished. 
Charles was by nature a man of peace, and his bitterest enemies could not 
pronounce him a tyrant from a vicious disposition, or from depraved habits. 
It was an error in his education, that he had, unhappily, imbibed false ideas 
of the royal prerogative, which he endeavoured to stretch to its utmost limit; 
and to this source may be traced all the calamities which deformed his reign. 
They were purely the fault of his education, and not of his principles. 

Henriette Marie de Bourbon, his Queen, who was, after the death of 
Charles, privately married to Jermyn, Earl of St. Albans, lived to see the 
restoration of her son to the English throne. She died in the month of 
August, 1669, at the Castle of Colombe, near Paris, her last years being 
chiefly spent in acts of charity and exercises of devotion. 

York has little share in the annals of the Commonwealth, or Cromwellian 
protectorate. The Lord General does not appear to have ever been in that 
city, except at the time of its capture after the battle of Marston Moor, and 
another time, being on a progress to Scotland. "On the 4th of July, 1650," 
writes Whitelock, "Cromwell came to York, on his expedition into Scotland, 
at which time all the artillery of the Tower were discharged; the next day 
he dined with the Lord Mayor, and on the following day set forward to Scot· 
land. To compliment his Excellency, and to show their zeal for the cause, 
the magistrates then thought fit to take down the King's Arms at Micklcgate 
and Bootham Bars, through both of which he must needs pass in his journey, 
and put up the States' Arms in their stead." 

On the 3rd of September, 1658 (a day of all others he esteemed the most 
fortunate), Cromwell died of a tertian ague at Whitehall,* and was succeeded 
by his son Richard, who was proclaimed " the rightful Protector of the Com­
monwealth of England, Scotland, and Ireland, and the dominions and terri­
tories thereunto belonging." Adulatory addresses, too, were presented from 
most of the boroughs in England, filled with high-sounding panegyrics of 

• Cromwell was buried in Westminster Abbey, with regal pomp, but Charles IT. had 
his remoins disinterred and thrown into a hole under Tyburn. A tradition has been 
preserved that some ofthe friends of the Protector secretly removed the body, and in. 
terred it in a spot in the neighbourhood of the present Red Lion SquarE", London. 
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Richard's wisdom, greatness of mind, and many other qualities which were 
entirely foreign to his moderate unambitious character. 

During the Commonwealth, two of the Assizes at York were rendered re­
markable by the attendance of that wonderful instance of human longevity, 
Henry Jenkins. In the first trial, which was heard in 1655, Jenkins was 
brought forward as a witness to prove an ancient road to a mill 120 years 
before. The positive terms in which this venerable man spoke, and the 
apparent improbability of his memory being able to take such a distinct retro­
spect, struck the judge in so unfavourable a light, that he severely repri­
manded him. But the veteran boldly maintained his assertion, stating, in 
further proof of his depositions, that he was then butler to Lord Conyers, of 
Hornby Castle, and that his name might be found in an old register of the 
menial servants of that nobleman. It is not a little remarkable, that there 
were on the same trial, engaged as witnesses on the opposite side, four men, 
each about one hundred years old; who, on the judge objecting to the evi­
dence of Jenkins, positively declared that he bad been called Old Jenkins as 
long as they could remember. 

In two years after (1657) the same venerable personage was again at York 
Assizes, as o. witness on a trial between the Vicar of Catterick and William 
and Peter :Mawbank. Jenkins deposed to the tithes of wool, lambs, &c., 
having been paid, to his knowledge, more than 120 years before.* 

On the night of the 8th of December, 1659, there was a remarkably high 

• Henry Jenkins was born at Ellerton-opon-Swale, in the North-Riding of Yorkshire, 
five miles E .S.E. of Richmond, and lived to the amazing age of 169 years. He was hom 
before parish registers were in use, but Dishop Lyttleton communicated to the Society 
of Antiqnarinns, on the 11th of December, 1700, 8 pnper copied from an old household 
book of Sir Richard Graham, Bart., of Norton Conyers, the writing of which says, that 
upon his going to live at Bolton, Jenkins was Sllid to be about 100 years old, that 
be had often exnrnined him in his sister's kitchen, where he came to beg alms, and 
found facts aud chronicles agree in his account. He was then 102 or 10;) years old. 
He remembered the dissolution of the monasteries, and said that great lamentation was 
mnde on that ocr.as:ion; and he was often at Fountain's Abbey during the residence of 
the last Abbot, who he said frequently visited his master, Lord Conyers. He said 
that he went to Northallerton with a horse load of arrows for the battle of Flodden 
Field, with which 8 bigger boy went forward to the army under the Earl of Surrey, 
King Henry being at that time at Tournay, and he believed himself tl1en eleven or 
twehe years old. He clicd on the 8th of December, 10i0, at the place of his birth, where 
a monument was erected to his memory, in 1743, the epitaph of which was composed by 
Dr. Tbom~~~:~ Chapman, Master of Magdalen College, Cambridge. 

Jenkins was contemporary witl1 Thomas Parr, of whom it is recorded that he was 
born in 1483, and lived in the reign of fAln monarchs of England. At the age of 180 he 
is said to have been able to do husbandry work ; and at the age of 106, it is stated in 
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wind, such as had never before been experienced in the country. The 
Cathedral and many of the dwelling houses at York were seriously injured. 

When the plan for the restoration of the monarchy was nearly complete 
Cor execution, the county of York was well disposed to promote it. Lord 
Fairfax was become a convert to the cause of monarchy; to him the numerous 
Royalists in Yorkshire looked up as a leader; and he, on the solemn assu­
rance of General Monk, afterwards Duke of Albemarle (who had been chiefly 
instrumental in the re-establishment of kingly government) that he would 
join him in twelve days, or perish in the attempt, undertook to call together 
his friends, and to surprise the city of York. On the 1st of January, 1660, 
each performed his promise. The gates of York were thrown open to Fairfax 
by the Cavaliers confined within its walls; and Monk, who had been with 
his army in Scotland, crossed the Tweed, and marched against the advanced 
posts of the enemy, then commanded by General Lambert. Thus the flame 
of civil war was again kindled in the north; but within two days it was again 
extinguished. Lambert's army was ordered by the Parliament to retire, and 
Monk continued his march to York, where he spent five days in consultation 
with Fairfax. On the arrival of an invitation to Westminster, Monk resumed 
his march, and Fairfax having received the thanks of the Parliament, dis­
banded his insurrectionary force. 

Charles II. was proclaimed in London on the 8th, and at York, with the 
greatest solemnity, on the 11th of May, 1660. "On that day the Lord 
Mayor, Aldermen, &c. on horseback, in their richest habits, preceded the 
ca!alcade ; next followed the Chamberlains and Common Councilmen on 
foot, in their gowns ; these were attended by more than a thousand citizens 
under arms; and lastly, came a troop of country gentlemen, near three hun­
dred, with Lord Fairfax at their bead, who all rode with their swords drawn, 
and hats upon the points of them. When the proclamation was read at the 
usual places, the bells rung, the cannon roared from the tower, and the 
soldiers fired several volleys; and at night were bonfires, illuminations, &c., 
with every other demonstration of joy."* 

His Majesty made his public entrance into London on the 29th of the 
same month, it being his birthday; and on that occasion the inhabitants of 
York expressed their loyalty by suspending upon a gallows, erected in the 

Oldy's MS. notes on Fuller's Worthies, that he did penaoce in Alderbury Church, for 
lying with Katherine Milton aod getting her with child. He died in 1636, aged 162 
yean and 9 months, and it is aaid that his remains rest among the eminent dead in 
Weetmins&er Abbey. 

• Allen's History of Yorkshire, p.l76. 
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Pavement for that purpose, the effigies of Cromwell, clothed in pink satin, 
and Judge Bradshaw, habited in a Judge's robe, and then burning them in 
tar barrels ; together with the arms of the Commonwealth and the Scotch 
covenant. Never perhaps did any event in the history of this nation produce 
such general and exuberant joy as the return of Charles to the throne of his 
fathers. The people attributed to the abolition of monarchy, all the evils 
which they had suffered; and from its restoration they predicted the revival 
of peace and prosperity. 

Three years after the Restoration a number of fanatics, headed by conven· 
ticle preachers, and old Parliamentarian soldiers, attempted to revive the old 
party feeling, which had then gradually subsided. The objects of this rem­
nant of the Parliamentary faction, as expressed in their printed declarations, 
were to establish a gospel magistracy and ministry ; to restore the long Par­
liament; and to reform all ranks and degrees of men, especially the lawyers 
and clergy. They assembled in arms in great numbers, at Farnley Wood, 
in Yorkshire, but the time and place of their rendezvous being known, a 
body of regular troops, with some of the cowtty militia, was sent against 
them, and several of them were seized and further mischief thereby prevented. 

The principal leaders were shortly after tried by a special commission at 
York, and twenty·one of them were condemned and executed; two of them 
were also quartered, and their mutilated bodies placed over the several gates 
of the city. The heads of four of them were placed over Micklegate Bar; 
three over Bootham Bar; one upon W almgate Bar ; and three over the 
gates of the Castle. At the trial of these insurgents, one of them, named 
Peregrine Corney, had the boldness to tRll the j•1dge that he valued his life 
no more than his handkerchief. 

In the year 1665, during the time that the plague raged violently in 
London,* James, Duke of York (afterwards James II.), and his Duchess 
spent nearly two months in the city of York. They were met, on their 

• This dreadful epidemic made its appearance in London in the month of Jone,l66:1, 
and continued till the beginning of the year following, during which time more than 
100,000 pel"80ns are said to have died of it. The houses of infected families were ordered 
to be shut up for a month, and a flaming red cross, one foot in length, was painted on 
the doors of such houses, with the words," Lord have mercy on us," placed above it; 
and the wretched inmates were doomed to remain under the same roof communicating 
death one to the other. The pest-cart went round at night to receive the victims of the 
last twenty.four hours. No coffins were prepared; no funeral service was read; no 
mourners were permitted to follow the remains of their relatives or friends. The cart 
proceeded to the nearest cemetery, and shot its burden into the common grave, a deep 
and spacious pit, capable of holding some scores of bodies. 
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arrival at Tadcaster bridge, by the Sheriffs, and at Micklegate Bar by the 
Lord Mayor and Corporation, and conveyed through the city with every 
demonstration of loyalty and affection. At their departure the Duke and 
Duchess expressed the highest satisfaction at the honour and attention paid 
them. Three years afterwards, the Duke, who had hitherto been an obedient 
and zealous son of the Church of England, had his religious credulity shaken, 
we are told, by reading Dr. Hey lin's History of the Reformation ; and the 
result of an enquiry which followed, was a conviction that it became his duty 
to reconcile himself with the Church of Rome. In 1679, when the Bill of 
Exclusion was brought forward in Parliament, the Duke, judging it expedient 
to retire from court, went to Edinburgh, and in passing through York he 
was received with much less cordiality than on the occasion of his former 
visit. Although the Sheriffs met him at Tadcaster, the Lord Mayor and 
Aldermen did not receive him at the gate of the city ; and this defect of cere­
mony drew on the magistrates the resentment of the King, and the offending 
parties received a reprimand signed by the Secretary of State. 

It having been discovered that several boroughs, by the exercise of those 
exclusive privileges which had been conferred on them by ancient grants 
from the crown, had grown into asylums of public malefactors, and on that 
account were presented as nuisances by the grand jurors at the county 
Assizes. Writs of quo tt~arranto were issued, and the old were repla.ced by 
new charters, which, while they preserved to the inhabitants the most useful 
of their former liberties, cut off the great source of the evil, by giving to the 
county magistrates a concurrent jurisdiction with those of the borough. 

In January, 1684, a quo tt~arranto was granted against the Corporation of 
York. In this instrument the members of that body were commanded to 
show bow they came to " usurp " to themselves several liberties which they 
enjoyed; and their charter, which was demanded for perusal, was suspended. 
Some of the historians of York pretend that this proceeding on the part of 
the King towards the Corporation, was intended as a punishment on the 
citizens for the coolness which they exhibited towards the Duke of York in 
1679; but we cannot understand how this opinion can be entertained, seeing 
that the Corporations of several other boroughs were treated in a similar 
manner. The year in which the charter was demanded, the notorious Jef. 
freys attended at York as one of the Judges of Assize, and being interrogated 
by the Lord Mayor and Aldermen concerning the King's intentions relative 
to the city, he remarked that his MaJesty expected to have the govcrment of 
the city at his own disposal ; hence it is thought that the city was COD· 

sidered disaffected. The Judge however recommended that an address or 
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petition should be prepared by the Corporation, which he would get presented 
to the King. This advice was complied with, and in reply Charles ordered 
Jeffreys to communicate to them his intention of granting them a new 
charter, in which he should reserve to himself only "the nomination and 
approbation of the magistrates, and persons in office therein." The death of 
the King, in February, 1685, however prevented the fulfilment of his promise. 

James, Duke of York, now succeeded to the throne, under the title of 
James IT., and on the day of his accession, in a speech to the Privy Council, 
he promised to preserve the government, both in church and state, as it was 
then by law established ; and to take care to defend and support the prin­
ciples of the Church of England, knowing, as he did, that its members have 
shown themselves good and loyal subjects. On the petition of the citizens 
of York, the new Monarch restored or renewed their charter. In 1687, 
according to an ancient record, "begun lamps to be hung up in the chief 
streets of the city ; viz., at the Minster gates, the west end of Ouse bridge, 
in the Pavement, &c.;" but it is on record that in the reign of Charles IT. 
the city was lighted by twenty-four large lanterns hung at the comers of the 
principal streets. The shock of an earthquake was experienced in Fease­
gate, in this city, on the 12th of February, in the same year. At Gate­
Fulford, about a mile and a half from York, it was more seriously felt; and 
a subterraneous noise was heard on. the occasion, similar to the roaring of a 
cannon. 

In 1688, it appears that James, not approving of all the members of the 
Corporation, and in virtue of a power which he had reserved to himself, in the 
last charter, of regulating that body, despatched a messenger to displace the 
Lord Mayor, Thomas Raynes, and several of the Aldermen, and others; and 
on the 5th of October he appointed in their place men professing the Catholic 
religion, but who were not even freemen of the city. The latter circum­
stance afforded the Lord Mayor a pretext for not delivering up the sword and 
mace; but the office, nevertheless, was declared vacant till the 24th of the 
same month, when James thought it expedient to adopt a different course. 
Sir John Reresby, the Governor of York, in his memoirs, tells us of the very 
peculiar situation in which the city at that time was placed. "It was," he 
says, " an archbishopric without an archbishop ; a city without a mayor; 
and a garrison without a soldier." "But," he adds," these defects were soon 
supplied-the old charter was restored, and the old Lord Mayor therewith­
the Bishop of Exeter, who fled from that city upon the Prince of Orange's 
landing, was made Archbishop of York-and I had one company of foot sent 
to continue with me." 
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Yod' was connected with several of the proceedings which led to the revo­
lution towards the close of thls year. It was now fully believed that his zeal 
for the religious tenets he professed, was leading the King into measures 
subversive of the English constitution. He had attempted to introduce the 
Catholic religion into this city, and for this purpose had converted one of the 
large rooms of the Manor House into a chapel, in which the services of that 
creed were celebrated. This attempt, together with some arbitrary proceed­
ings on the part of the court, gave great offence to the people ; still James 
had many enthusiastic admirers and loyal subjects in the city and county of 
York. Rumours were being daily spread that William, Prince of Orange, 
nephew and aon-in-law of the King, was preparing to land in this country 
with a considerable force, as the decided champion of the Protestant religion. 
The ten deputy-Lieutenants of this county then resided at York, and after a 
consultation, a meeting of the gentry and freeholders of the county was ap­
pointed to take place at York on Thursday, the 19th of November, for the 
purpose of voting a loyal address to the King in this season of danger ; as 
well as for considering the best means to pursue for the preservation of the 
peace. 

At this juncture, the clerk of the West Riding received a new commission, 
in which the names of about thirty gentlemen in tho neighbourhood, who had 
previously acted as magistrates, were omitted. This circmnstance greatly 
exasperated these magistrates, and none, perhaps, felt it more keenly than 
Sir Henry Goodrick, the proposer of the above-mentioned meeting. It was 
DOW resolved to add to their address a petition to the King, for a free Parlia­
ment, aud redress of grievances. The Duke of Newcastle, Lord Lieutenant 
of the county, arrived in tho city to preside at the county meeting, but find­
ing that several of the deputy-Lieutenants had joined with the citizens and 
dismissed magistrates in their petition, left the city in disgust. The meeting 
took place in the Guild-Hall, on the 22nd of November, 1688, and the Gover­
nor, in his Memoirs before quoted, informs us that in the midst of about 
100 gentlemen who met, Sir Henry Goodrick delivered himself to this effect, 
.. That there having been great endeavours made by government of late years 
to bring popery into the kingdom, and by many devices, to set at nought the 
laws of the land, there could be no proper redress of the many grievances we 
labouJed under, but by a free Parliament; that now was the only iliDe to 
prefer a petition of that sort ; and that they could not imitate a better pattem 
than had been set before them by several Lords, spiritual and temporal. " 

During the proceedings a false rumour was raised " that the Papists were 
risen; and that they had actually fired upon the Militia troops." Alarmed 

2 )( 
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at this, the party rushed from the hall, and Lord Danby, Lord Lumley, Lord 
Horton, Lord Willoughby, and others, who, together with their servants, 
being mounted, formed a body of horse consisting of about 100 in number, 
rode up to the troops of Militia, at that time on parade, crying out, " A free 
Parliament, the Protestant religion, and no popery." The Captains of the 
four troops of Militia were Lord Fairfax, Sir Thomas Gower, Mr. Robinson, 
and Captain Tankard, and being in the secret of the false alarm, immediately 
cried out the same, and led their troops to join them. They then made pri­
soners of the Governor and his inferior officers, took possession of the guard 
house, placed guards at the several entrances leading into the town ; none 
were sllffered to enter or leave the city, and every person was secured who 
displayed any disapprobation of their proceedings.* On the following day 
they summoned a public meeting, passed resolutions, and issued a declara­
tion explanatory of their proceedings. On the 29th of the same month, a 
mob assembled in the city, and attacked, plundered, and destroyed the houses 
0f the principal Catholics, and committed great outrages in their chapels. 
lfhey threw down the altars, destroyed all the pictures and statues, and 
burnt the books and vestments of the priests, in Coney Street and the Pave­
ment. The Lord Mayor and commonalty of York now followed the example 
of the rest of the kingdom, by openly recognising the Prince of Orange as 
Sovereign of England, under the title of William ill., and offered him their 
cordial and grateful acknowledgments in an address of congratulation, dated 
December 14th, 1688. 

WilliaiD, together with Mary, his Princess, were proclaimed King and 
Queen of England, France, and Ireland, in this city, on the 17th of Feb­
ruary, 1689, in the presence of many thousands of spectators. In the month 
of October following, the river Ouse so much overflowed its banks, that 
during three successive days the use of boats was necessary at the west end 
of the bridge. 

A number of Danish soldiers, amounting to 5,000 foot and 1,000 horse, 
commanded by the Duke of Wirtemburg, were quartered in York and its 
neighbourhood during the winter of this year, and they took their departure 
for Ireland in the following spring. 

Nearly thirty houses were consumed by fire in High Ousegate, on the 
night of Monday, the 2nd of April, 1604. The fire broke out on the premises 
of Mr. Charles Hall, a flax dresser, and in a short time it raged with such 
violence, that the houses on both sides of the way were enveloped in one 

• Sir John Reresby's Memoirs. 
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tremendous conflagration. The loss was computed at £20,000. In 1696, 
one of the King's mints was erected in the Manor House, at York, and 
bullion and plate was there coined to the amount of £380,621. 

In the month of May, 1722, a great flood happened at Ripponden, in the 
parish of Halifax. Between the hours of three and five in the afternoon, the 
water rose twenty-one feet perpendicular, and bore down in its course many 
bridges, mills, and houses, and several lives were lost. Part of the church­
yard was washed away, the graves were laid open, and o. coffin floated down 
the stream a considerable distance. The church was so much damaged, that 
a new chapel was built soon after the flood. 

The sommer of the following year was remarkable for a great and general 
drought. At York, the river to the base of the middle arch of Ouse Bridge 
was completely dry for several yards round. 

No public transaction of material consequence occurred in the city or 
county of ~ork, from the period of the accession of William and Mary till 
the memorable rebellion of 17 45. In the annals of England there have been 
many struggles for the crown, sometimes terminating favourably on one -side, 
sometimes on the other; that which took place between the Pretender, the 
lineal descendant of our Scottish Kings, and the House of Hanover, is one of 
the most memorable, and is the last that we have had in England in the 
shape of civil war and bloodshed. Many of the most powerful of the 
Scottish chieftain~renowned for the antiquity of their fllmilies, their ex­
tensive domains, and the affection born them by their dependents--were 
arrayed on the side of the Pretender. The attachment of the highland clans 
to their chieftains, and which is undying, is transmitted from generation to 
generation, and to this time it remains in nearly all its patriarchal purity. 
Relying upon the ancient affection which subsisted between his family and 
these hardy mountaineers, the Chevalier, Prince Charles Edward Stuart, 
eldest son of the Pretender-and, as he is generally called, the " young Pre­
tender"-resolved to try his fortune amongst them, and regain for his family 
that role which had formerly resided with his progenitors. For this purpose, 
alter escaping the vigilance of the English cruisers, which, from information 
received by the English government, had been sent out to intercept him, be 
landed on the coast of Scotland, on the 25th of July, 17 45. 

The first account of his landing was scarcely credited ; and when the news 
had become fully established, all Europe was astonished at the daring enter­
prise. Upon promulgating his intentions, the brave clans assembled around 
him, hoisted their banners, and early in November he marched southward, 
and entered England with the Duke of Perth, the Marquis of Tullibardine, 
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the Earl of Kilmarnock, and an army of about 8000 or 9000 men. On the 
9th of that month they laid siege to Carlisle, which was feebly garrisoned; 
and on the 15th, the gates were thrown open to the rebel army, and 
Charles Edward was proclaimed King of England at the cross in the Mar· 
ket-place. The Corporation attended the ceremony in their robes, with the 
mace and sword carried before them, and on their knees they presented the 
keys of the city to the Prince. From Carlisle the Scots marched southward 
as far as Derby, at which point divisions arose amongst them; they hesitated, 
retreated, and arrived at Carlisle on the 1Uth of December, in great con­
fusion, the Duke of Cumberland's horse pressing upon their rear. Next day 
the Prince moved northward, leaving 400 men in the garrison of Carlisle. 
The Duke reached the latter city on the 21st, at the head of his army, and 
commenced the siege. The rebel garrison, animated with great courage and 
fidelity to their Prince, made a gallant but unavailing defence, for on tho 30th 
of December the Castle was surrendered to the King's troops, and the 
garrison was made prisoners of. 

Of the Manchester regiment who surrendered themselves prisoners, there 
were Colonel Townley, 6 Captains, 6 Lieutenants, 7 Ensigns, 1 Adjutant, 
and US non-commissioned officers; and in addition to the Governor and s~ 
geon, there were 16 officers and 256 non-commissioned officers and private 
men of the Scotch, making a total number of 396 prisoners, including Cop­
pock, commonly called the" Mock Bi81wp." Many of the officers, including 
Townley, Governor of the city, and Hamilton, Governor of the Castle, were 
executed in London, with all "the revolting and disgusting details observed in 
cases of high treason ; and their beads were exhibited on Temple Bar, Lon­
don Bridge, and in public situations in Carlisle, Manchester, and other places. 
Many others who were concerned afterwards died on the block, including the 
Earl of Derwentwater; about 50 were executed as deserters in different parts 
of Scotland; and 81 suffered as traitors after the decisive battle of Culloden, 
which was fought in the month of April following, and which sealed the fate 
of Charles Edward, who now became a fugitive, and at length escaped to 
France, after the failure of the sccond attempt of the expelled bouse of Stuart 
to restore themselves to the throne of their ancestors. 

During this rebellion, the city as well as the county of York gave the most 
unequivocal proofs of loyalty to the reigning dynasty. The Archbishop pro­
jected an association, consisting of more than 800 of the principal nobility, 
gentry, and clergy, of the county, which was formed at the Castle of York, 
on the 24th day of September, 17 -Hi. A subscription was immediately 
entered into, and tl1e sum of .1:31,420. was raised for the support of the 
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Government and the defence of the oounty. John Raper, the Lord Mayor, 
convened a meeting of the inhabitants for the same purpose, when the sub­
scription in the city amounted to £2,420., and to £220. in the Ainsty. 
With these sums four companies of infantry, of seventy men each, exclusive 
of sergeants, corporals, and drummers, were raised, and designated the 
"Yorkshire Blues." They remained embodied about four months, the su­
perior officers serving without pay, and the sergeants receiving 14s., the 
clnunmers, lOs., and the privates, 7s. per week. Another military body, 
called the" Independents," was formed, for the defence of the city, by the 
gentlemen and other principal inhabitants. Their uniform and accoutre­
ments were purchased at their own expence, and the corps remained under 
arms ten months. 

On the 29th of May, 1746, the Prince of Hesse passed one night in York, 
on his way from Scotland to London. On the 23rd of July, in the same 
year, his Royal Highness the Duke of Cumberland, on his return to London 
from the defeat of the rebels at the battle of Culloden, visited York, and was 
received with all the honours due to his illustrious rank and eminent services. 
On this occasion the Lord Mayor, Aldermen, and Sheriffs, presented him 
with the freedom of the city in a gold box. A number of the rebels were 
tried and convicted at York, and of these twenty-two were executed. The 
heads of two of them, William Conolly and James Mayne, were fixed upon 
poles over Micklegate Bar, from whence they were stolen in the night of the 
~8th of January, 1754, by a tailor of York, named William Arundell, assisted 
by his journeyman. Arundell was tried and convicted for the offence at the 
Spring Assizes following, and sentenced to pay a fine a fine of £5., and to be 
imprisoned two years. 

In 1767 the new regulations for levying the Militia, which obliged the 
poor to contribute equally with the rich, produced a spirit of insubordination 
in the North and East Ridings of Yorkshire, and on the loth of September, 
a large body of the country people, from more than thirty parishes, assembled 
at York, with intent to prevent the constables from presenting the lists of 
men subject to the ballot. Armed with clubs and other unlawful weapons, 
they proceeded to the Cockpit-bouse, without Bootham Bar, where the deputy 
Lieutenants and chief constables were to have assembled ; and not meeting 
with the first named officers as they expected, they forced the lists from such 
constables as were in attendance, and after drinking all the liquors, they 
demolished the house. They then plundered and destroyed the house of Mr. 
Bowes, on the opposite side of tlie street, and threatened to pull down the 
houses of other per:eons whom they considered as promoters or favourers of 
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the Militia Act. At length the rioters were preva.iled upon to disperse, by 
the Lord Mayor and High Sheriff; and at the ensuing Assizes several of 
them were tried and acquitted. Only one, named George Thurloe, received 
sentence of death, but his punishment was afterwards commuted to trans­
portation for life. A man of the name of Cole was condemned and executed 
for being the leader of a riot, on the same occasion, in the East Riding. 

On the 18th of July, 1761, Edward, Duke of York, passed through this 
city on his way to Scarborough, whither he was going for the benefit of his 
health. During his sojourn at the latter place, the Lord Mayor (Thomas 
Bowes, Esq.), the Recorder (Peter Johnson, Esq.), and two senior Aldermen, 
waited upon his Royal Highness, to request that he would honour York, on 
his return, by spending some time in the city. The Duke was pleased to ac­
cept the invitation, the Manor House was offered for his accommodation, and 
on the 19th of August be arrived at York. He alighted at the Minster, sur­
veyed that splendid edifice, and then proceeded to the Mansion House, the 
streets being lined with Colonel Thornton's Militia. At the Mansion House 
the royal visitor was received by the Lord Mayor, Recorder, Aldermen, and 
Sheriffs; and the freedom of the city was presented to him, in a gold box of 
the value of 100 guineas. The Duke dined with the Lord Mayor, the Earl 
of Gainsborough, and a great number of the gentry, at the Mansion House; 
and in the evening be opened a ball at the Assembly Rooms, .with the sister 
of Sir John Lister Kaye, Bart., then High Sheriff of the county. He lodged 
that night at the Mansion House, and on the following morning repaired to 
the race-ground, where be reviewed Colonel Thornton's Militia. He break­
fasted at the grand stand, and after communicating the usual compliments of 
satisfaction, &c., proceeded to London.* 

The King of Denmark, attended by many of his nobles and a numerous 
retinue, favoured York with a short visit on the Slst of August in the same 
year. His Majesty was pleased to receive the formalities of the Corporation; 
and the following day be left York, after viewing the Cathedral and the 
Assembly Rooms ; and he returned by way of Leeds and Manchester to 
London. 

On the 8th of January, 1762, war was formally declared in York against 
the King of Spain ; and on the following day a similar declaration was read 
at the Castle, by the under Sheriff, in the presence of the High Sheriff of the 
county, attended by two regiments of Militia and several gentlemen. 

In the same year a violent hurricane was experienced at York. It com-

• Hargrove's History of York, Yol. i., p. 236. 
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menced at nine o'clock on the evening of Saturday, the 1st of December, and 
continued till eight the next morning. Part of the battlement at the west 
end of the Minster was blown down, and many houses in the city were very 
much damaged. 

Edward, the royal Duke, who derived his title from this ancient metro­
polis, again visited York on the 18th of August, 1766; and on that occasion 
he patronized the national sport, by honouring with his presence the races 
on Knavesmire. Never was a more brilliant race meeting at York than this. 
On Sunday, his Royal Highness attended divine service at the Cathedral, at 
the west door of which he was received by the residentary Canons and choir, 
as well as by the Lord Mayor, Recorder, and Aldermen, and conducted to the 
archiepiscopal throne. On Monday be set out for Mr. Cbolmley's seat, at 
Housham, on his way to Scarborough; and on the 6th of September he left 
Scarborough, and passed through York, en route to the Earl of Mexborough's 
seat at Metbley, from whence be proceeded to London. 

Count de Guigues, the French Ambassador, being on a tour to the north, 
passed through York on the 22nd of October, 1772. He was honoured 
with a guard of General Mordaunt's dragoons; but not approving of the for· 
mality, he gave the men twelve guineas, and dismissed them. In the month 
of September, 1777, a slight shock of an t:arthquake was experienced at York; 
but it was felt more violently at the same time at Leeds and Manchester. 

In the year 1779 the inhabitants of the Yorkshire coast were frequently 
thrown into a state of alarm by that intrepid Anglo-American buccaneer, 
Paul Jones. "This man had formerly been in the service of the Earl of 
Selkirk, whence be was expelled with disgrace," writes Allen,* "and having 
repaired to America, be volunteered to make a descent on the British coast. 
Being at first entrusted with the command of a privateer, he landed on the 
coast of Scotland, and, in resentment, plundered the mansion of his former 
master; be also burnt several vessels at Whitehaven, and performed a num­
ber of other daring exploits. These services insured his promotion, and 
procured him the command of a small squadron, consisting of the Bon Homme 
Richard, and the Alliance, each of forty guns; the Pallas, of thirty-two guns; 
and the Vengeance, armed brig. With this force he made many valuable 
captures, insulted the coast of Ireland, and even threatened the city of Edin­
burgh. On Monday, the 20th of September, 1779, an express arrived at 
Bridlington, from the bailiffs of Scarborough, with intelligence that an enemy 
was cruising oft' the coast. The same night the hostile squadron was des-

• History of Yorkshire, pp. 10., 10~. 
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cried off Flam borough, and it was soon discovered that Paul Jones was the 
commander. In the night of Tuesday, a large fleet of British coasting vessels 
sailed into the bay of Bridlington, and the harbour became 80 completely 
crowded, that a great number could only find security in being chained to 
each other on the outside of the piers. Two companies of the Northumber· 
land Mi.l.itia, then quartered in the town, were called to arms by beat of drum 
after midnight, and the inhabitants, armed with such weapons as could be 
most readily procured, proceeded to muster at the Quay, while a number of 
the more opulent were making preparations for sending their families into 
the interior. Business was now completely at a stand, and the attention of 
all was directed to the expected invasion. On Thursday a valuable fleet of 
British merchantmen, from the Baltic, under the convoy of the Serapis, 
Captain Pearson, of forty·four guns; and the Countess of Scarborough, Cap­
tain Piercey, of twenty-two guns, hove in sight, and were chased by the 
enemy. Tho first care of Captain Pearson was to place himself between the 
enemy and his convoy; by which manreuvre he enabled the whole of the 
merchantmen to escape in safety into the port of Scarborough. Night had 
now come on, but the moon shone with unusual brightness. About half·past 
seven o'clock the thWlder of the cannon announced that the engagement bad 
commenced, and the inhabitants of the coast, on hastening to the clift's, were 
presented with the sublime spectacle of a naTal engagement by moonlight. 
The battle raged with unabated fury for two hours, when at length Captain 
Pea.rson, who was engaged by the two largest of the enemy's frigates, waa 
compelled to surrender. Captain Piercey made also a long and gallant de­
fence against a superior force, but he was in the end obliged to strike to the 
Pallas. The enemy purchased the "rictory at a prodigious price, not less than 
three hundred men being killed or wounded in the Bon Homme Richard 
alone, which vcesel received 80 much injury, that she sunk the next day with 
many of the wounded on board." 

In 178~ orders were iBSUed by GoTernment for a general 8880Ciation, to 
enable tlte inba.bitallta of Britain to resist an invasioo. said to have been in· 
tended by the Monarchs of France and Spain, assisted by the Dutch. In 
answer to this order, a corps of gentlemen voluntoors were embodied at York, 
who provided their own arms and accoutrements, bat were under no other 
control than that of the civil magistrates; and four companies of men in 
bumbler life were embodied, supported, and paid out of a general subscription 
raised for the purpose, and to which the Corporation geoerously voted the sum 
of £600.* The latter corps, however, were under military law, and were 

• Hargrove's History of York, vol. i., p. 2:>7. 

Digitized by Goog le 



GENERAl, HISTORY OF YORKSHIRE. 273 

liable to be marched out to any part of the kingdom, in rase of nrtunl in· 
vasion or rebellion. 

On the 20th of July, 1782, that celebrated statesman, the Marquis of 
Rockingham, Lord Lieutenant of the county, was buried in the Cathedral 
with much ceremony and solemnity. Several members of a political society 
formed in York, under the patronage of this distinguished nobleman, and in 
honour of him called the "Rockingham Club," assembled in the Minster 
Yard, and thence proceeded in a body to Dringhouses, about one mile and 
a half from the city. At this place they met the corpse, attended by 
a numerous cavalcade, which they joined ; and the procession, which con· 
sisted of about 200 citizens on horseback, two and two ; several gentlemen 
bearing banners, bannerols, &c., attended by pages; the hearse, bearing 
escutcheons, and containing the body, in a coffin covered with crimson velvet 
superbly ornamented ; six mourning coaches with six horses each ; and 
twenty carriages with the principal gentlemen of the county and city ; moved 
with slow and solemn pace to the Cathedral. The body was placed in the 
choir during evening prayers, and then deposited in the vault with great 
solemnity. 

In the winter of 1784, which was exceedingly severe all over Europe, the 
river Ouse was firmly frozen during eight successive weeks. The labouring 
classes of society Sl,lffered much, but a subscription was raised, and bread and 
coals were distributed gratis to upwards of 6,000 indigent individuals. The 
price of coals was so enhanced with the carriage by land, that they were 
sold at 80s. per chaldron. The effects of the thaw were very unpleasant. 
The Ouse rose so high that the houses in many parts were inundated, and 
the inhabitants were obliged to move about in carts. 

On Monday, the 81st of August, 1789, the Prince of Wales, afterwards 
King George IV., accompanied by his royal brother, the Duke of York, 
visited the races of this city. Their Royal Highnesses arrived in their car­
riage, and alighted at some distance from the Grand Stand, where they rode 
about on horseback, to gratify public curiosity with a sight of their persons. 
At the conclusion of the day's sport they entered the carriage of the Earl 
Fitzwilliam, and proceeded towards the city. At Micklegate Bar the popu· 
lace took the horses from the carriage, and drew them through the streets 
amidst loud congratulations. The following day the Corporation presented 
the Heir-apparent with the freedom of the city, in an elegant gold box; and 
on Thursday in the same week, his Royal Highness dined with the Lord 
Mayor, at the Mansion House, in company with the Dukes of Norfolk, Bed· 
ford, and Queensberry; the Earls of Derby, Kinnoul, and Fauconberg; the 
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Lords Clermont, Downe, Loughborough, Henry Fitzgerald, Rawden, Grey, 
Fitzroy, Fielding, and George Henry Cavendish; Sir William Milner, Sir 
Thoroa.q Dundas, Sir James Sinclair, Sir George Armitage, &c. On the 
following Saturday these two royal personages proceeded to Castle Howard, 
the seat of the Earl of Carlisle, having previously ordered Lieutenant Colonel 
St. Leger to pay into the hands of Walter Fawkes, Esq., High Sheriff of the 
county, 200 guineas for the relief of debtors in the Castle. They also gave 
twenty guineas for the purpose of clothing some female convicts, who bad 
been ordered for transportation; and, in addition to these benevolent dona­
tions, the Prince of Wales discharged the debts of three prisoners in Ouse­
Bridge Gaol, and performed several other acts of charity. 

That eminent statesman, Charles James Fox, visited York on Monday in 
the August race week, li91, and whilst approaching the city, seated in a 
carriage with the Earl Fitzwilliam, the populace took the horses from the 
carriage, and drew it through the principal streets to the Deanery. A grand 
dinner was given to biro, and many noblemen and gentlemen, at the Mansion 
House, and he was presented with the freedom of the city, .in a gold box 
of the value of fifty guineas. 

On the 18th of January, 1792, a singular meteoric appearance-an aerial 
army-was observed near the village of Stockton-in-the-Forest, about four 
miles from York, by many persons of credit and respectability. This strange 
atmospherical phenomenon resembled a large army, in separate divisions, 
some in black and others in white uniforms; one of these divisions formed a 
line that seemed nearly a mile in extent, and in the midst of which appeared 
a number of fir trees, which moved along with the line. These aerial troopers 
moved with great rapidity and in different directions.* 

In the month of June, 17\H, the country at large being in a very unsettled 
state, the respectable inhabitants of York enrolled themselves in different 
corps of infantry, and provided themselves with uniforms, arms, &c.; but the 

• On the 23rd of June, 1744, about seven o'clock in the evening, troops of horsemen 
were seen riding along the side of Souterfell (Cumberland) in pretty close ranks, and 
at a brisk paoe. Opposite Blake hill11 they passed over the mountain, after describing a 
kind of curvilineol path. They continued to be seen fur upwards of two hou1'8, the 
approach of darkness alone preventing them from being visible. Many troops were seen 
in succession, and &equently the last but one in a troop quittod his position, galloped 
to the front, and took up the same pace with the rest. About twenty-six pel'80ns in 
perfect health saw these aerial troopera.-Clarke'• S..rvty of tlw Lalcu. Similar phe­
nomena were seen at Harrogate, on the 28th of June, 1812; and near St. Neots, in 
Huntingdonshire, in 1820. Aerial phenomena of a like nature are recorded by Livy, 
Jo~~ephus, and Suetonius; and a passage in Sacred History seems to refer to a like cir­
cumstanoe. (See Judge&, ix., 36). Philoeophers aooount for these appearanees on the 

Digitized by Goog le 



GENERAL HISTORY OF YORKSHIRE. 275 

non-commissioned officers were regularly paid, by a general subscription 
raised for that purpose, towards which the Corporation contributed .£500. 
This loyal body of infantry assembled on Knavesmire, on the 28th of De­
cember following, when they were preseated with colours by the Lady 
Mayoress, in the name of the ladies of York. 

In November, 1795, Prince William Frederick of Gloucester visited 
Scarborough, and, on his return to the south, spent some time in York, and 
was presented with the freedom of the city in a gold box, with the usual 
formalities. He left York on the 12th of January, 1796. 

In 1805, the Right Hon. John, Earl of St. Vincent, the great naval com­
mander, honoured this city with a visit, and received its freedom in a box of 
" Heart of Oak." 

At the Assizes held at York, in March, 1809, Mary Bateman, a celebrated 
"Yorkshire Witch," was tried and condemned for murder. This wretched 
creature had previously lived in York as a servant, but left it in disgrace, 
being charged with a petty theft, and retired to Leeds, where she married. 
For a long period she practised the art and mystery of fortune telling at 
Leeds, deluding multitudes, defrauding them of their property under the false 
pretence of giving them a "peep into futurity." To enable her to accomplish 
her villany, and in order to prevent detection of the fraud, there is reason to 
believe that, with the aid of the poisonous cop, she closed the mouths of 
many for ever, For one of these murders she was committed to York Castle, 
tried, found guilty, and on Monday, the 20th of March, she was executed, at 
the new drop behind the Castle, in the presence of an immense concourse of 
people ; and such was the stupid infatuation of the crowd, that many are said 
to have entertained the idea, that at the last moment she would evade the 
punishment, about to be inflicted, by her supernatural powers. And to view 
her lifeless remains-perhaps with a view of proving that she was of a verity 
dead~rowds of people assembled at Leeds, though the hearse did not arrive 

principle of atmospberical refraction. Many in this country considered them as ominous 
of the great waste of blood spilt by Britain in her wars with America and France. 
Shakespeare says, in the tragedy of Julius Crcsar,-

•• There il one within, 
Recoomta moel horrid Yialo11a _, to-ni11ht : 
Pierce llery warrion foal!hl UJIOD Ule clouda, 
Which driuled blood upon the Capilol ; 
Tho coi1e ofba&de bUllied In the air, 
Aoclshoata did ohrlck and pbber In tho otreeta. 

• • • • 
Wbeo theoe JIIOdlll• do oo conjoiDIIy med, 
Lel no JD&D aa7 tbe7 are oatural ; (or I heline 
The7 are pertealouo IIIIDp ulo the cllmate thol Uley poiDt upoa." 
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there till near midnight, and each paid threepence for a sight 'of the body ; 
by which .£30. accrued to the benefit of the General Infirmary. 

On the occasion of his MaJesty George ill. having entered the 50th year 
of his reign, the anniversary, October 25th (1800), was celebrated throughout 
the country as a day of jubilee. At York, several hundred pounds were 
collected at a public meeting, and expended-not in wasteful and unmeaning 
illuminations-but in feeding the hungry, and in relieving the indigent. 
Public breakfasts, ward dinners, private treats, and balls were "the order of 
the day." The Archbishop treated sixty·four debtors in the Castle with beef, 
bread, ale, and coals; and even the felons shared in the festivity. There was 
a partial illumination in the city ; and the soldiers in the barracks fired a 
feu de joie, and illuminated their apartments. 

On the 26th of August, 1822, the city of York was honoured with a visit 
from his Royal Highness the Duke of Sussex, brother to the reigning mo­
narch of that day, George IV. The Royal Duke partook of the hospitalities 
of the Corporation at the Mansion House, where a public dinner was given 
to him. The freedom of the city was presented to him in a gs.ld box, accom· 
panied by an address expressive of the admiration of that " splendid career 
of useful beneficence and spirited patriotism which gave a brilliant lustre to 
his exalted birth." The Duke was on this occasion the guest of Robert 
Chaloner, Esq., M.P. for the city. In the year 1841 the same noble Duke 
paid a second visit to York, for the purpose of holding a grand masonic lodge. 
He then sojourned at the York Tavern (now Harker's Royal Hotel), which 
for a time was called the Royal Sussex Hotel. 

Since the reign of Charles I., York, which was, as we have seen, in former 
times the residence of Emperors and Kings, bas not been visited by any 
English Sovereign (though it has often been honoured with the presence of 
different branches of the Royal family) down to the time of our present Queen. 
In September, 1835, her MaJesty, then the Princess Victoria, and her mother, 
the Duchess of Kent, 'isited York, and were received with the most un· 
bounded loyalty. The royal party attended the Musical Festival at the 
Minster on each of the four days upon which it was held, and during their 
stay at York, they were the guests of the Archbishop at Bishopthorpe 
Palace. For this attention to these illustrious visitors, the Lord l\Iayor 
(the late Sir John Simpson) received the honour of knighthood from his late 
Majesty, William IV., in 1836. 

On the 21st of July, HH6, the Archeological Institute of Great Britain 
and Ireland held their annual meeting here, under the presidency of Earl 
Fitzwilliam. The members visited the different objects of interest in the 
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city and neighbourhood, and an exhibition of British antiquities was held 
in St. Peter's schoolroom in the Minster Yard. 

In July, 1848, his Royal Highness the late Duke of Cambridge, accom­
panied by his son George, the present Duke, and other illustrious personages, 
attended the annual show of the Royal Agricultural Society at York, and 
dined with the company in the large pavilion erected for that purpose on 
St. George's Close. 

On the 28th of September, 1849, the Queen, the Prince Consort, and the 
royal children, stopped at York on their return from Balmoral (their Highland 
residence) to London, on which occasion the royal party partook of luncheon 
at the Station Hotel; a loyal address was presented by the Lord Mayor, and 
great rejoicings were made on the occasion, 

On Friday, the 25th of October, 1850, York was the scene of a magnifi· 
cent festival, which must be remembered as one of the most interesting events 
in civic history; whether regarded for the splendour of the assembly, or in 
connection with the great event which it was mainly designed to propitiate ; 
namely, the great Industrial Exhibition of the products of all nations in the 
Crystal Palace, erected in Hyde Park, London, in 1851. 

The Lord Mayor of London having given a grand entertainment with the 
same patriotic object; and at which his Royal Highness Prince Albert and 
the Mayo"' and chief magistrates of the principal towns of the kingdom were 
present; it was thought but natural that this example should be followed by 
the great Corporations of the country. It was, accordingly, agreed at a 
meeting of the Mayors and other civic authorities held at Derby, to carry out 
the proposition of the Lord Mayor of York, the Right Hon. George H. Sey· 
mour, to give a return banquet in this city. A subscription was entered into 
for the pnrpose of enabling the Lord Mayor of York, in conjunction with the 
municipalities of the united kingdom, to receive the Prince Consort and the 
Lord Mayor of London on a scale of becoming magnificence. The prepara­
tions for this banquet were on the most splendid scale, and, as was well 
remarked by the leading journal of the day, "York, the home of the Roman 
Emperors, when London was comparatively neglected by the masters of the 
ancient world, made a display worthy of the far-famed city, that gave a grave 
to Severns and to Constantine Chlorus, and afforded a rallying cry to the 
haughty factions which fought for the English throne." 

The Gnild-Hall was fitted up for the occasion in most superb style; and 
invitations were issued for 248 guests, the full extent of the accommodation 
afforded by that splendid room. Prince Albert arrived by railway from 
London, and was received at the York station by the Lord Mayor of York, 
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attended by a guard of honour, and was conducted to Lord Wenlock's car­
riage, which was in waiting, and in which the Prince drove to the Mansion 
House, attended by an escort. His Royal Highness was received at the 
Mansion House by a guard of honour of the 2nd, or Queen's Dragoon Guards, 
under the command of Col. Campbell, the band of the regiment playing the 
National Anthem. The Prince was conducted to the state room of the 
building, where several persons were presented to him. At the Reception, 
the Lord Mayor of York appeared in a crimson silk robe, lined with shot-pink 
satin ; this being, according to Dugdale, the peculiar robe of the privileged 
chief magistrate of this ancient city when appearing before royalty. 

Amongst the distinguished company at the banquet were his Royal High­
ness Prince Albert, the Right Hon. the Lord Mayor of London, the Right 
Hon. the Lord Mayor of York, the Lord Provost of Edinburgh, the Arch­
bishop of York, Lord John Russell, the l\Iarquisses of Clanricarde and Aber­
corn, the Earl of Carlisle, the Earls Granville, Fitzwilliam, and Minto, Lords 
Beaumont, Feversham, and Overstone, Sir George Grey, Bart., Sir Charles 
Wood, Bart., the Hon. Bielby R. Lawley, the High Sheriff of Yorkshire, Sir 
C. Tempest, Bart., Hon. 0 . Duncombe, General Sir W. Warre, Sir J. V. B. 
Johnstone, Bart., the Members of Parliament for the city, the Recorder, the 
Sheriff of York, Richard Cobden, Esq., and nearly one hundred Mayors and 
heads of boroughs. The general appearance of the fine old Gothic hall was 
elegant in the extreme. The great west window was covered with crimson 
cloth, in order to secure a better effect to a magnificent ornamental design of 
M. Boyer's, erected in front of the window, and immediately behind the great 
circular table, at which sat the chief guests. It consisted of a large embl~ 
matic vase, twenty feet in height, painted and modelled by Mr. Alfred Adams. 
Around the vase was Britannia receiving specimens of industry from the four 
quarters of the globe. Round a palm tree, which sprnng from the centre, 
were tho arms of London and York. Medallian portraits of the Queen and 
Prince Albert, surrounded by the shields of the principal cities and towns in 
the United Kingdom, formed the body of the vase. Two figures of Ireland 
and Scotland formed the handles; the Prince of Wales's emblem, the neck; 
and tho Royal Arms, the apex. Appended were graceful wreaths of flowers, 
in which predominated the symbols of the houses of York and Lancaster, the 
red and white rose ; and when a brilliant flood of gas-light, aided by power­
ful reflectors, was thrown upon this splendid decoration, the effect was very 
beautiful. Tho whole of this part of the hall was profusely and elegantly 
adorned with crimson dl'!-pery, vases of flowers, evergreens, banners, &c. 

In front of the principal table, on a raised platform, covered with purple 
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cloth, was a collection of maces, state swords, and valuable civic insignia, 
belonging to the various Corporate bodies; and these ancient maces, which 
bad been wielded by generations of Mayors, with the velvet sheaths and 
gaudy mountings of the gigantic swords of state, formed a picturesque group. 
The walls of the ball were hung with crimson cloth to the height of about ten 
feet, as were also the oak pillars. Above were suspended several of the Cull 
length portraits from the Mansion House. The banners of the several 
Mayors, suspended from the roof arcades, the gallery, &c., were characteristi· 
cally splendid; they bore the arms of the several cities and boroughs whence 
they were sent; the banner of York, worked by the Lady Mayoress, was con­
spicuous to the right of the chair, and the banner of London to the left. At 
the east end of the ball was erected a handsome gallery, for an orchestra and 
a limited number of ladies to witness the banquet. It was ornamented with 
crimson drapery, oil paintings, banners, evergreens, flowers, &c. Besides the 
ordinarily pendant gas-lights between the pillars of the arcade on each side, 
there were in the body of the ball eight variegated Gothic lanterns; three 
suspended from the roof in the north aisle ; thlee in the south aisle ; one at 
either end of the middle aisle, in the centre of which there was a chandelier, 
its pendant stem entwined with the figure of a serpent formed in gas. The 
two pillars of the ball nearest to the royal table were wreathed with ever­
greens and flowers, and serpentine gas-lights, and the gallery was lit with 
pillars of gas and Gothic lanterns. The tables shone with epergnes, 
plateaux, centre pieces heaped up with pines, grapes, and the richest fruit, 
with silver plate beneath innumerable lights. Among the embellishments 
were various productions in patent glass silvering, prepared expressly for the 
occasions, as being peculiarly appropriate to a festival to celebrate the ap­
proaching congress of the artistic industry of all nations. These specimens 
consisted of gilt., silvered, and bronzed figures, bearing large globes of silvered 
glass. There were also thlee drinking·cups, one for the Prince, and one for 
the Lord Mayol'B of London and York ; the fil'Bt in ruby glass, portions of 
the rim and base intemally checkered with silver, and on the sides bearing 
suaken medallions of her MeJesty and his Royal Highness Prince Albert, and 
the Royal Arms of England. The other two cups were of the same size and 
shape, but instead of being ruby and silver, the coloU1'8 were emerald and 
silver; and on the sides were the private arms of each of the Lord Mayors, 
together with the usual heraldic emblazonments of the cities of London and 
York respectively. The uncertainty of the Lord Mayor of Dublin's arrival 
prevented a cup being prepared for him. 

After grace had been pronounced at the close, as at the beginning of the 
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banquet, " the loving cup " was passed round after the customary welcome was 
delivered in the name of the Lord Mayor to all his guests, in the usual civic 
fashion, by Mr. Harker, the London toast master, and a flourish of trumpets. 

The banquet was prepared under the superintendence of M. Soyer; and 
one dish alone on the royal table cost the immense sum of one hundred 
guineas. The chief items in this Apician group were turtle and ortolans. 
The wines for the royal table were ordered at an unlimited price from Messrs. 
Chillingworth and Son, of London, wine merchants to the Queen. 

There was a grand concert and ball in the Assembly Room during the 
evening, and the whole city was brilliantly illuminated. Prince Albert, who 
was the guest of the Lord Mayor of York on the night of the banquet, retired 
from the company at midnight, and left the Mansion House at eight o'clock 
on the following morning. He was accompanied to the Railway Station by 
the Lord Mayor, the Marquis of Abercom, Colonel Grey, Colonel Seymour, 
and others ; and upon his departure for London he thanked the Lord Mayor 
in the most flattering terms for the very satisfactory arrangements which had 
been made for his comfort and accommodation. 

On Thursday, the 14th of September, 1854, her MaJesty the Queen, ac· 
companied by the Prince Consort, and five of the youthful Princes and 
Princesses (including the Prince of Wales), and the ladies and gentlemen of 
the royal household, stopped at York en routs for Balmoral, and partook of 
luncheon at the Station Hotel. The whole of the Railway Station was 
entirely cleared of carriages, and the ground between the rails being re-laid 
with gravel, gave it a neat and clean appearance. The arrival platform, for 
nearly its entire length, was covered with a beautiful tapestry carpet of 
splendid colours and design. On this platform were placed tables covered 
with suitable drapery, and upon them stood elegant vases of flowers. The 
platform entrance of the Hotel was decorated with flowers and evergreens, 
and immediately in front of it, in the pit of the Station, stood the band 
of the 7th Hussars, while a detachment of the same regiment took up a 
position along the southern side of the pit. Lower down, and on both plat­
forms, were stationed 800 of the 2nd West York Light Infantry, under the 
command of Colonel Smyth, M.P. ; the band of that regiment occupying a 
position at its head. About one o'clock the royal train entered the Station, 
and the royal party were received by the Lord Mayor (George Leeman, Esq.), 
the Archbishop of York, the Earl of Carlisle, and the railway directors. The 
excitement of the hundreds who thronged the opposite platform attained its 
highest pitch when they caught a glimpse of the royal party. The heads of 
the gentlemen were uncovered, the soldiers presented the royal salute, while 
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from the whole mass there rose one general, thrilling" huzza," which, ming· 
ling with the National Anthem, struck up at first by the Militia band, and 
caught up afterwards by that of the 7th Hussars, formed one grand and 
enthusiastic oblation to Royalty, amid which the Queen, leaning on the arm 
of her royal consort, followed by five of her children in a ro?{, and her suite, 
walked along the carpeted path to the hotel, on her way repeatedly acknow­
ledging the loyal plaudits of her subjects. The Lord Mayor walked along 
with the royal couple to the hotel, where they were conducted into a hand­
aomely furnished room set apart for the purpose of refreshment, and from 
which a good view of the Minster, the Museum, St. Mary's Abbey, &c., is 
obtained. 

The room was decorated at one end by a device, consisting of the initials 
"V. R." and" P. A.," formed of white artificial flowers, arranged on a crim­
son ground, the whole being s•UTOunded with flowers and evergreens; and over 
the door was placed a representation of the Prince of Wales' feathers, also 
encircled with dahlias and evergreens, and bearing the motto, " Ich dien." 
The table was provided by Mr. Holliday, the proprietor of the hotel, with the 
most sumptuous viands, wines, grapes, pines, &c. Two or three of the royal 
suite partook of refreshments with her Majesty, while the remainder were 
accommodated, in-suitable style, in an adjoining apartment. The decorations 
in the interior and exterior of the hotel presented a very tasteful appearance. 

The intenal of half an hour, during which the royal visitors remained in 
the hotel, was enlivened by the performance of the two bands. The royal 
party then re-appeared on the platform in the same order as that which cha­
racterised their arrival, and proceeded towards the train, which consisted of 
nine carriages, the one occupied by her Majesty being in the centre. The bands 
struck np once more "God save the Queen"-the spectators cheered their 
Joudest-the soldiers again gave the royal salute-and after a few words with 
the Archbishop and the Earl of Carlisle, her Majesty, the Prince, and the 
royal family, entered the train. The Lord Mayor and several others of the 
North-Eastern board of directors then took their places in one of the carriages, 
and the train proceeded towards the north amidst the loud plaudits of an 
immense number of human beings who had assembled on the city walls, 
Tanner-row, Toft..green, and the entire district abutting on the line. The 
train was accompanied by electrical telegraph apparatus, so that in case of an 
accident, a communication could be made immediately for aid. 

Amongst those who accompanied the royal family were Sir George Grey, 
Bart., the Secretary for the Colonies; Major-General the Ron. C. Grey; the 
Duchess of Wellington and the Hon. Miss Stanley, maids of honour; Sir 
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James Clarke, her Majesty's physician; the Ron. Col. Phipps, equerry to 
his Royal Highness; and Miss Hildyard, governess to the royal children. 

Prior to the Queen's departure, Mr. Baines, of the Museum, bad the 
honour, through the Lord Mayor, of presenting to her Ml\iesty a fine flower 
of the Victoria &gia, which was then in full bloom in the grounds of the 
Yorkshire Philosophical Society. 

The Minster bells, and those of other churches, rung a merry peal in 
honour of the royal visit. On her return from Scotland, on the 18th of the 
following month, her Majesty m suite visited the towns of Kingston-upon­
Hull and Great Grimsby. The royal party arrived in the former town on 
the evening of that day-slept .at the Station Hotel-went in procession 
through the principal streets on the following morning, and departed in the 
royal yacht, the Fairy, about eleven o'clock on the same day for Grimsby. 
Thence the illustrious visitors proceeded by railway to London, and arrived 
at Windsor on the same evening. 

CIVIL GOVERNMENT, TITLES, &c.-The civil government of 
Yorkshire was anciently lodged in the Earl or Count to whom it was com­
mitted by the King; and in time it was intrusted to a person duly qualified, 
who was called Shire-reve, i.e., Sheriff or Governor of a shire or county. 
Before the 9th Edward IT. (1816), this officer was elected by the freeholders; 
but since that time, the appointment has been made by the Sovereign. His 
office is to execute the King's writs, return juries, and keep the peace; and 
his jurisdiction is called a Bailiwick, because he is the Bailiff of the Crown. 
York has had its own High Sheriff from the Srd of William the Conqueror, 
1069. 

The office of Lord L~nt appears to have been introduced early in the 
reign of Henry 'VIII. The statutes of Philip and Mary speak of them as 
officers well known at that time, though Camden mentions them in the 
time of Queen Elizabeth, as extraordinary magistrates, constituted only in 
times of difficulty and danger.* The Lord Lieutenant is nomina~ by the 
Lord Chancellor, and is always a justice of the quorum, and to him the 
nomination of tlJe Clerk of the Peace belongs. There are three of these 
officers for the county of York ; one for each of the three Ridings. 

The office of Cu1to1 Rotulorum, or Keeper of tho rolls and records of the 
session of peace, is of considerable antiquity, but has been of late years an­
nexed to that of Lord Lieutenant. 

• Manning and Bray's Surrey, vol. i., p. uv. int.roduotioo. 
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Before the Conquest the Comites, or Earls of Northumberland, were also 
Governors of the city and county of York. Morcar was the last Earl of 
Northumberland before the Conquest, and he remained so till in the year 
1069 be revolted, and William gave this Earldom to Robert Copsi, or 
Comins; and be being slain, the Conqueror then bestowed it on Cospatric, 
who being deprived of it in 1072, he lastly gave the Earldom of Northum­
berland to W altheof, the son of Siward. Some authors doubt whether the city 
and county of York were included in this grant; and seem rather to consider 
that it was only the present county of Northumberland and the bishopric of 
Durham over which he presided. From this era Yorkshire was wholly dis­
charged from ·the government of these Earls, and was placed under the 
jnrisdiction of the vice-comites (anciently substitutes to the Earls), or High 
Sheriffs of the county. 

William le Gros, Earl of Albemarle, a great commander, was, by King 
Stephen, after the victory over the Scots at the famous Battle of the Stan­
dard, in 1188, made Earl of York3hir~, or according to some, Earl of York. 
This is the first and only mention that we find in history of a titular Earl of 
Yorkshire. The first and only Earl of York was Otho, Duke of Saxony, son 
of Henry Leon, Dnke of Bavaria, by Maud, the daughter of Henry II., King 
of England. This title was conferred upon Otbo by his uncle, Richard I., 
during his sojourn in England in 1190. Whereupon some performed ho­
mage and fealty to him, but others refusing, the King gave him as an 
exchange, the county of Poictiers. 

In the 9th of Richard II. (1886), amongst several other creations, Edmund 
of Langley, fifth son of Edward ill. and Queen Philippa, was made the first 
DuM of York. This Prince died at his manor of Langley, and was interred 
in the Priory there. Edward Plantagenet, Dnke of Albemarle, his eldest 
son, after the death of his father succeeded to the Dukedom of York in 1406. 
He was slain at the famous battle of Agincourt, in 1416, and left no issue. 
The third Dnke of York was the illustrious Richard Plantagenet, nephew of 
the second Duke, and son of Richard, Earl of Cambridge, who was executed 
for treason against Henry V. This nobleman having been restored to his 
paternal honours by Henry VI., and allowed to succeed to his uncle's inheri­
tance, was one of the moat powerful subjects in the kingdom. Being a 
descendant of King Edward ill., be claimed the crown of England, and 
levied war against the King, which lasted for thirty years, and deluged the 
land with blood. (See page 151.) He was killed at the battle of Wakefield, 
and Margaret caused his head to be cut off and fixed over Micklegate Bar, 
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York.* Richard was a brave man, but deficient in political courage, and 
was worthy of a better fate. Edward Plantagenet, the fourth Duke of York, 
the eldest son of the last Duke, prosecuted his father's pretensions, and after 
the battle of Towton, he was proclaimed King of England, under the title of 
Edward IV., and thus the Dukedom of York became merged in the royal 
dignity. This monarch was remarkable for beauty of person, bravery, affa­
bility, and every popular quality, but in the end he defiled his fame and 
power by effeminacy and cruelty. 

Richard Plantagenet., of Shrewsbury, fifth Duke of York, second son of 
Edward IV., was created by his father when very young, on May 28th, 
14 7 4. This unfortunate Prince is supposed to have been murdered in the 
Tower of London, with his elder brother, Edward V., by order of their uncle, 
the Duk~ of Gloucester, afterwards Richard ill., in 1483. 

The sixth was Henry Tudor, the second son of King Henry VII., who 
was created Duke of York on the 1st of November, 1491; and Prince of 
Wales, on the death of his brother Arthur, February 18th, 1503; and on 
the death of his royal father he succeeded to the throne, under the well 
known name of Henry VIII., and this dignity again became merged in 
the Crown. From this period it has been customary to confer the Dukedom 
of York on the second son of the Sovereign. 

The next was Charles Stuart, second son of James I., who, when a 
child not full four years old, was created Duke of York. He was afterwards 
King of Great Britain, and the title again merged in the Crown. 

The eighth Duke was James Stuart, the second son of King Charles L, 
who was declared Duke of York at his birth, by his royal father, and so 
entitled, but not so created till January 27, 1643, by letters patent, bearing 
date at Oxford. Afterwards he ascended the throne of Great Britain, and 
the title merged in the Crown for the fourth time. 

On the 29th of June, 1716, the 2nd of George I ., that monarch created 
his brother Earnest Augustus, Duke of Brunswick and Lunemburgh, Bishop 
of Osnaburgh (a nominal prelacy, to which the Elector of Hanover has the 
power of influencing the election alternately with another European power) 
Earl of Ulster in Ireland, and Duke of York and Albany in Great Britain; 
the honours to descend to the heirs male of his body, but he died withou' 
issue. 

Edward Augustus, second son of Frederick Prince of Wales, born in 
.March, 1788-9, was the tenth Duke of York, his Royal Highness having 

• "So York may overlook the town of York."-Shakuptart. 
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been raised to that dignity by his Majesty G~rge IT., on the 1st of April, 
1760. On the 31st of March, 17 61, he was appointed Rear Admiral of the 
Blne; and in the course of a tour through Europe, be visited Monaco, capital 
of the principality of that name, in the territories of Genoa, in Upper Italy, 
where be was seized. with a malignant fever, of which be died on the 7th of 
September, 1767. 

Frederick, the eleventh and last Duke of York, was brother of his Majesty 
King George IV., and second son of King George Ill., by whom be was ad­
vanced to the dignities of Duke of the Kingdom of Great Britain, and Earl 
of the Kingdom of Ireland, by the titles of Duke of York and of Albany in 
Great Britain, and Earl of Ulster in Ireland. His Highness was born on the 
16th of August, 1768; and on the 27th of the following February he was elected 
Bishop of Osnaburgb. From his earliest age be was destined for the mili­
tary profession, the study of which formed an essential part of his education. 
His first commission in the army was that of Colonel, w hicb was dated N ovem­
ber 1st, 1780 ; he was appointed to the command of the 2nd regiment of 
Horse-Grenadier Guards on the 28rd of March, 1782 ; Major-General on the 
20th of November following ; and Colonel o~ the Coldstream Guards, with the 
rank of Lieutenant-General, on the 27th of October, 1784. On the 27th of 
the following month be was created Duke of York, &c., after these titles bad 
been extinct for seventeen years-from the period of the death of his uncle 
Edward, in 1767. On the 29th of September, 1791, be was married at Berlin 
to Frederica Cbarlotta Ulrica Catharine, only child of King Frederick William 
of Prussia, by his first consort, Elizabeth Ulrica Christiana, Princess of 
Brunswick-Wolfenbuttel. The royal pair were, on their arrival in England, 
re-married at the Queen's bouse on the 28rd of November following. On the 
occasion of his marriage the Duke bad voted him by Parliament the sum of 
.£18,000. per annum; and the King settled on him .£7 ,000. for his Irish 
revenues, which, in addition to tlte .£12,000. per annum be before enjoyed, 
constituted a yearly income of £87,000. At the same time the sum of 
£8,000. per annum was voted to the Duchess, in case she should survive. 

In 1798 the Duke was called into active military service by being ap­
point.OO to the command of an army ordered for Flanders, to form part of the 
grand army under the Prince of Saxe Coburg. After the campaign, which 
lasted for several months, the Duke proceeded to England to concert with 
the British government the plans and measures for the ensuing campaign. 
His Royal Highness returned in the month of February, 1794, from England 
to Courtrai-tbe British bead-quarters, and in a few days the new campaign 
had begun. It is not within the scope or province of this history t? follow 
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the Duke through his numerous engagements, suffice it to say that after a 
series of successes, and a succession of disappointments, the allies were at 
length no longer able to oppose the enemy, and on the 14th of April, 1795, 
the different British brigades embarked for England. 

In February, 1795, the Duke of York was appointed to the important post of 
Commander-in-Chief of the army. In 1799 the Duke again appeared in the 
field. He landed at Holland on the 18th of September, and the force under 
his codunand, including 1,000 Russians, amounted to nearly 85,000 men. 
An engagement with the French took place on the 8th of October, in which 
the enemy was entirely defeated, with a loss exceeding 4,000 killed, and 8,000 
taken prisoners. The British lost about 1,500 men. In another engage­
ment, which followed soon after, the Duke was again master of the field of 
battle, though the loss amounted to 1,200 British and 700 Russians. On 
the 17th of October a suspension of arms was agreed on, and it was stipulated 
that the English and Russians should be allowed to evacuate Holland, on 
condition that 8,000 seamen, either Batavian or French, prisoners in Eng­
land, should be given up to the French. 

In July, 1814, and again at the same period in the following year, both 
houses of Parliament passed a vote of thanks to the Duke of York for the 
benefits he had bestowed on the nation as Commander-in-Chief in the wars 
then concluded. His Royal Highness died on the 5th of January, 1827, and 
his remains lay in state in St. James's PalRCe for several days, and were de­
posited in the royal vault at Windsor on the 20th of the same month. On 
the decease of the Duke the title of York became extinct; but it is probable 
that Prince Alfred, the second son of our present Queen, will be created the 
next Duke of York. 

The following is a list of such places in Yorkshire as have been the capital 
residences of Barons by tenure, or by writ of summons ; or have given title 
to Peers created such by letters patent:--* 

Aske-D Sir Thomas Dundas, second Baronet by patent, August 13, 1704.. Baron 
Dundas, of Aske. 

Beverley-M James Douglas, second Duke of Queensbury, in Scotland, by patent, May 
26, 1708. Extinct on the decease of his son, 1778. 

2 E Algernon Percy, second Baron Louvaine of Alnwick, by patent, November 2, 1790. 
Bingley-D Robert Benson, by patent, July 21, 1713. Extinct on his deoease in 1730. 
Bolton-D Thomas Orde, by patent, October 20, 1707. 
Burlington-E Richard Boyle, second Earl of Cork, by patent, March 20, 1064.. Extinct 

in 1736. 

• B otanda for Baron 1 Y, for V~t 1 D, for Duke or Duchea ; II, for UarqW.; and 1!, for Eorl. 
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Cal'leton-B John de Bella Aqua, by writ of summons, June 8, twenty.eeoond of Edward 
• I., 1294. 

2 B Henry Boyle, by patent, October 20, 1714. Died in 1726, when the title became 
extinct. 

3 B Richard Boyle, second Earl of Shannon, by patent, August 6, 1786. 
Cleveland-E ThoiD88 Wentworth, fourth Baron Wentworth, by patent, February 6, 

1626. Extinct on his death, 1667. 
2 D Barbara Villiers, mistress of Charles II., by patent, August 8, 1670. Extinct 

1774. 
Cowick-B John Christopher Burton Downay, fif'l.h Viscount Downe, by patent, Kay 28, 

1796. Baron Downay, in England. 
CraYen-E Viscount Craven, of Ulllngton, Berks., by patent, March 16, 1663. 
Dan by-E Henry Danvers, first Lord Danvers, by patent, February 6, 1626. Extinct 

on his death, 1643. 
2 E Thomas Osborne, first Viscount Latimer, by patent, June 27, 1674. 

Doneaster-Y Jame11 Hay, first Baron Hay, by patent, July 6, 1618. Extinct 1660. 
2 E James Fitz Roy (assumed the name of Soot), natural BOD of Charlea n., bf 

patent, February 14, 1663. Beheaded 1686, when the title became forfeited. 
8 E Francis Soot, third Earl of Dalkeith, and heir to the last-mentioned Earl. Re. 

stored by Act of Parliament, March 23, 1743. 
Duncombe Park-B Charles Duncombe, by patent, July 14, 1826. Baron FeYersham, 

of Dunoombe Park. 
Eserick-B Thomas Knyvet, by writ of summons, July 4, 1607. Extinct at his death. 

2 B Edward Howard, younger BOD of the Earl of Su.ffolk, by patent, April 29, 1628. 
Baron Howard, of Eserick. Extinct 1714. 

Gisbume Park-B ThoiD88 Lister, by patent, October 26, 1797. Baron Bibblesdale, of 
Gisbume Park. 

llalifax-Y Sir George Savile, Bart., by patent, Janwu:r 13, 1668. E July 16, 1679. 
M August 22, 1682. Extinct 1700. 

2 B Charles Montague, by patent, December •• 1700. E October 14, 1714. Extinct 
1772. 

Harewood-B Edwin Ulseelles, by patent, July9, 1790. Extinct on his death in 1796. 
2 B Edward Laseelles, by patent, June 18, 1796. E September 7, 1812. 

Holdemess-2 E Odo, Earl of Champagne. Temp. William I. 
2 E John Ramsay, first Viscount Haddington, by patent, January 22, 1621. Extinct 

on his death, 1626. 
3 E Rupert, Count Palatine, of the Rhine, by patent, January 24, 1644. Extinct on 

his death, 1682. 
4 E Conyers D'Arcy, second Baron D'Arcy, by patent, December 6, 1682. Extinct 

1778. 
Holme-in-Spalding.Moor--B Marmaduke Langdale, by patent, February 4,1668. Ex­

tinct 1777. 
Kingston-upon-Bull-E Robert Pierrepont, first Viscount Newark, by patent, Jul3 26, 

1628. Extinct 1773. 
Kiveton-B Sir Thomas Osborne, by patent, August 16, 1673. 
Leeds-D ThoiD88 Osborne, first Marquis of Cumarthen, by patent, May •• 161Ht. 
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l&nesborough-B Richard Boyle, second Earl of Cork, by patent, November 4., 16M. 
Baron Clifford, of lanes borough. Extinct 1736. 

Leppington-B Robert Carey, by patent, February 6, 1662. Baron Carey, of Lepping. 
ton. Extinct 1661. 

Long Loftus-B Charles Tottenham Loftus, ftrst Marquis of Ely, in Ireland, by patent, 
January 19, 1801. 

Malton-B Thomas Wentworth, by patent, May 28, 1728. E by patent, November 19, 
1734. Extinct 1782. 

Markentleld-D Fletcher Norton, by patent, April 9, 1782. 
Middleham-B Ribald, brother to Alan, second Earl of Brittany, by tenure. Temp. 

William I. 
Mulgrave-B Constantine John Phipps, second Baron Mulgrave in Ireland, by patent, 

June 16, 1700. His brother created E by patent, September 7, 1812. 
Normanby-V Henry Phipps, third Baron Mulgrave, by patent, September 7, 1812. 
Northallerton-V George Augustus, Prince Electoral of Hanover, afterwards George II., 

by patent, November 9, 1700. Merged in the Crown on his accession. 
Pontefraet-B Dbert de Ulcy, by tenure. Temp. William I. 

2 B John Savile, by patent, July U, 108~. Baron Savile, of Pontetraet. Extinct 
1671. 

3 B George FitzRoy, natural son of Charlea II., by patent, October 1,1674. Extinct 
on his death, 1716. 

4. E Thomas Fermor, seoond Baron Lempster, by patent, December 27, 1721. 
Bavensworth-B Bardolph, Baron Fitzhugh, by tenure. Temp. William I. 
Bawdon-B Honourable Francis Rawdon, by patent, March II, 1783. E by patent, De. 

oember 7, 1816. 
Richmond-E Alan Fergaunt, Earl of Brittany, created by William I. for his servioes at 

the battle of Hastings. Extinct 1636. 
2 D Ludavick Stuart, second Duke of Lennox, by patent, May 17, 1623. Extinct on 

his death, 1624. 
3D James Stuart, second Earl or March, by patent, August 8, 1Ml. Extinct 1672. 
4. D Charles Lennox, natural son of Charles n., by patent, August 9, 1676. 

Ripon-B James Douglas, second Duke of Queensbury, in Scotland, by patent, May 26, 
1708. Extinot 1778. 

Roas-B Peter de Roos, by tenure. Temp. Henry I. 
Rother6eld-B Robert de Grey, younger son of Henry I ., by tenure. 
Sandbeck-V James Saunderson, ftrst Baron Saunderson, by patent, 1716. E 1720. 

Extinct on his decease, 1723. 
Searborough-E Richard Lumley, ftrst Viscount Lumley, by patent, April16, 1690. 
Setrington-D Charles Lennox, natural son of Charles II., by patent, August 9, 1670. 
Sheffield-B John Baker Holroyd, ftrst Baron Sheffield, by patent, July 29, 1802. 
Stittenham-B Sir John Leveson Gower, ftfth Baronet, by patent, March 16, 1703. 

Baron Gower, of Stittenham. 
Skelton-B Robert Bruce, second Earl of Elgin, in Scotland, by patent, March 18, 166L 

Extinct at his death. 
Tadcaster-V Henry O"Bryen, Earl of Thomond, in Ireland, by patent, Ootober 19, 

1714. Extinct on his death, in 174.1. 
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2 B William O'Bryen, by patent, July 3, 1826. 
Towron-B Sir Edward Hawke, by patent, May 20, 1776, Baron Hawke, of Towron. 
Waith-B Thomas Wentworth, by patent, November 19, 1734. Extinct 1782. 
Wakefteld-E Robert Ker, son of John, first Duke of Roxburgh, in Scotland, by patent, 

May :U, 1772. Extinct 1804. 
Wentworth Wood HouS&-B Sir Thomas Wentworth, second Baronet by patent, July 

22, 1628. V by patent, December 10, 1628. Extinct 1696. 
Wbarncllife--B James Archibald Stuart Wortley Mnckenzie, by patent, July 12, 1826. 
Wborlron-B Thomas Bruce, first Earl of Elgin, in Scotland, by patent, August l, 16·!1. 
Wortley-B Mary, daughter of Edward Wortley Montague, by patent, April 3, 17'61. 

Barone11s Mount Stuart, of Wortley. 
Yarum-B Sir Thomas Bellnsyse, ~oond Baronet, by patent, May 26, 1627. Baron 

Fauconberg, of Yarum. Extinct 1816. 

THE origin of the fine old city of Eboracum, or York-in point of dignity 
the second city in the empire--tUld the etymology of its name, are equally 
involved in the obscurity of upwards of twelve centuries. In Nennius' cata· 
Iogue it is called CMr,* or Kaer Ebrauc, or the City of Ebraucus, and is the 
first of that list of cities. Geoffrey of Monmouth, Bishop of St. Asaph, a 
chronicler of the 12th century, tells us that it was founded by Ebraucus, the 
son of Mempricius, a British King, the third from Brute, in the year of the 
world 2988, about the time when David reigned in Judea, and G~, Natha.Jl, 
and Asaph prophesied in Israel. It is also affirmed, chiefly on the same au· 
thority, that Ebraucus also built Aclud, supposed by some to be Aldborough, 
and by others Carlisle, as well as Mount Agnea, the capital of Scotla.Jld; that 
he reigned sixty years, and had twenty wives, by whom be had twenty sons 
and thirty daughters ; and that he died at York, and was buried in a temple 
dedicated to the goddess Diana, which he had erected on the spot where now 
stands the ancient church of St. Helen, in St. Helen's Square.t 

Though this story of King Ebraucus, his cities, his children, and his wives, 
has been repeated by several antiquarians, yet the whole account is little re· 
garded at the present day, and is generally believed to have long since passed 

• Nennius, Abbot of Bangor, wrote a Hisrory of the Britons in A.D. 620, which was 
published ~y Gale. Caer or Kaer is a British word, signifYing seat or city. 

t Gent says that tradition sasures us that the Minster was built on the site of this 
temple. 

2 p 

• 
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into the long catalogue of exploded errors, to which the ignorance or the 
credulity of every age makes some addition. According to Humphrey Llwyd, 
the learned Welsh antiquary, York is identified with the city termed by the 
Britons Caer-E.ffroc; and among the towns of the Brigantes mentioned by 
Ptolemy with the Eboracum of the Romans. Another writer conjectures 
that a colony of Gauls, which were driven by the Romans from Spain and 
Portugal, had seated themselves here in Mid-England, and made their chief 
station at York, to which they gave the name of Eboracum, from Ebora, a 
town in Portugal, or Eburn, in Andalusia.* The plain fact appears to have 
been, that the locality where York now stands, was called by the ancient 
Britons Kaer, and that in nil probability it was as thickly inhabited as any 
other part of the island. And with respect to its general appearance, we 
suppose that it resembled the other fortresses or stations of the numerous 
tribes that inhabited the country. Cresar tells us in his Commentaries, that 
when he came to Britain. the builders knew nothing of building with stone, 
but called that a town which had a thick entangled wood, defended with a 
ditch and bank about it. 

The Romans called this city Eboraet~.m or Eburacum, but its present ap­
pellation, York, has giYcn rise to much discussion, and a variety of conjecture 
prevails upon the subject. Leland and Camden are of opinion that the river 
Ouse was anciently called Ure, Eure, or Youre (but this point is not clearly 
established), and that the Sa.'tons added the termination tric. According 
to the author of " Hestitution of Decayed Intelligence in Antiquities,''t 
the city of York was called Caer-Efroc by the ancient Britons, but its 
appellation was changed by the Saxons to Ever-wyk, from the words ever or 
eber a wild boar, and ll'yc a place of refuge or retreat. Its present name, he 
says, is obviously derived from Everwic, which by vulgar abbreviation became 
Voric and lastly York. If it could be proYed that the river had formerly 
retained the name of Eure as low as the city, it would appear almost un­
questionable that the name was derived from Eurewic, a place of retreat or 
strength on the Eure; and the same might in popular pronunciation be 
readily corrupted to that of York~ Worsae, the learned author of "The 
Danes and Northmen in Britain," gives the following derivation of the name 
York:-" The Briton called York, Caer Eabhroig or Eabhroic; the Anglo­
Saxons, Eoforwic; and the Danes, Jorvik; whence it is plain that the form 
York now in use is derived." 

In Domesday Book this city is called, Civitcu Eborum, and Eurwic. 

• Sir Thomas Widdrington's MSS. 

• 
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Alcium, a celebrated scholar in his time, and a native of York, writing near 
a thousand years ago, says, that the city was built by the Romans; and he 
has left his testinony in Latin verse, of which the following is a translation; 

This city, first, by Roman hand waa form'd, 
With lofty towers and high built wo.lls adom'd; 
It gave their leaders a secure repose, 
Honour to th' empire, terror to their foes. 

Drake is of opinion that York was founded by the Romans. "It is probable 
to me," writes he," that this city was first planned and fortified by Agricola, 
about A.D. 80, whose conquests in the island stretched beyond York; and 
that that General built here a fortress to guard the frontiers after his retnrn." 
The early importance of the city must unquestionably be attributed to the 
Romans, who made it the metropolis of their empire in Britain. The builders 
of the city were probably the Roman soldiers themselves, who were accom­
plished masons, being trained to usc the pick-axe, spade, and trowel, as well 
as military arms. They called this city Civitas Brigantium, (the title of 
civital applied to Rome itself), as well as Eboracum or Eburacum. 

The resemblance which York bore to the form of ancient Rome is rather 
remarkable. Fabius's plan of Rome represents it in the form of a bow, of 
which the Tiber was the string, as the Ouse may be said to be the bow-string 
of York. Like Rome, Eboracum, although entirely a military colony, seems 
to have been governed both by military and municipal laws, for the Em­
perors themselves sometimes sat in person in the Pnetorium, and from this 
chief tribunal gave laws to the whole empire. York, therefore, may be re­
garded as the picture of Rome in miniature, and as possessing a just claim to 
the titles of "Brittanici Orbis, Roma Altern, Palatium Curie, and Pnetorium 
Cesaris," with which it is dignified by Alcuin.* 

"From the circumstance of the Ebor, now called the Ouse, running directly 
through the city," says Allen," York was more capable of augmenting its 
commercial concerns than Isurium, which was situated ncar the river Ure; 
and also of furnishing the Romans, who were peculiarly partial to their hot 
and cold baths, with an ample supply of water. Here then, doubtless, was 
the cause of preference; and hence it might receive a name indicative of its 
situation ; for although U rica and York are not exactly the same, if we recol­
lect the Romans were succeeded by the Saxons, the difference may be purely 
dialectic. "t 

When the Emperor Hadrian came into this island in A.D. 124, he took up 

• Alcuin Ap. Leland Coil. 6. t Hilt. Yorks., Book iii., p. '-
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his station at York. The Emperor Severus lived and held his court in the 
Pnetorium Palace of this city for more than three years, while his son was 
in the north superintending the completion of the great wall ; and be died 
here on the 5th of February, 211. (See page 57.) A rescript of law is still 
preserved in the Roman code, issued by this Emperor from Eboracum, on 
the 3rd of the Nones of May, in the Consulate of Fustinus and Rufus, cor­
responding to the year 211, relating to the recovery of the-right of possession 
of servants or slaves. 

Drake tells us that at that period this city shone forth with meridian 
splendour; and that the concourse of tributary Kings, of foreign ambassa­
dors, and Roman nobles, which crowded the courts of the Sovereigns of the 
world when the Roman empire was in its prime, elevated Eboracum to the 
height of sublunary grandeur. 

There was a temple dedicated to Bellona, the goddess. of war, erected at 
York before the time of Severus ; and after that monarch returned from his 
northern conquest, and sought a temple to sacrifice to the Gods who had 
crowned him with success, he was led by an ignorant soothsayer to it, and 
tlus was looked upon as a presage to his death. This temple is supposed 
to have stood without Bootham Bar, near the ruins of St. Mary's Abbey. 
Before the temple stood a small column, called the martial pillar, whence 
a spear was thrown when war was declared against an enemy. It may 
here be observed that temples dedicated to Bellona, who was the sister of 
Mars, were not allowed to be erected, except in Rome or in the principal 
cities of the Empire. 

In the next century Carausius caused himself to be proclaimed Emperor 
at York. Constantius or Constantine Chlorus, another Roman Emperor, 
held his court for some time in the imperial palace at York, and died 
there in July, A.D. 306. His son and successor, Constantine the Great, 
has been erroneously believed by many writers to have been born at York. 
The precise place of the birth of Constantine is described by an ancient 
writer to be "Paterna in Eboracensi civitate." Hence probably the tra­
dition that the first Christian Emperor was a native of this city. However 
that may have been, it is quite certain that he received the commands 
of his dying father at York, and that immediately ai'tkr the death of Con­
stantius, he was proclaimed Emperor by the army, and his inauguration 
took place there. (See page 60.) This ancient residence of the " Lords of 
the U Diverse " began to decline after the departure of Constantine, and 
in the reign of Theodosius the Youn1er, Rome and York both declined 
together. 
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RoMAN RE'MA!Ns.-Of the splendour of the city during its occupation by 
the Romans, many vestiges have been discovered, and various remains of 
Roman architecture have been found ; though, considering the long residence 
of that people here, these antiquities are less numerous than might have been 
supposed, if we did not, as Baines says, " take into consideration that fire, 
sword, ignorance, and superstition, have all contributed their assistance to 
the devouring band of time, to erase the monuments which the imperial 
power had served to erect." "It may seem st~ge," continues the same 
writer, in his Gazetteer of Yorkshire, published in 1823, "that we have not 
to show any temples, amphitheatres, or palaces, whose edifices must once 
have made Eboracwn shine with distinguished lustre ; but the wonder will 
cease when in the following pages we trace such horrid destruction of every­
thing both sacred and profane. To our Christian ancestors we owe much of 
this destruction; their holy zeal rendered them anxious to eradicate every 
vestige of paganism; and the Roman altars and votive monuments were 
naturally enough consigned to destruction under their Gothic hands." 

Mr. Drake, in the appendix to his Eboracum, gives a catalogue of the coins, 
as well as many other Roman antiquities, found in York. Dr. Langwith 
sent Drake a catalogue of Roman coins from Augustus down to Gratianus, 
124 different sorts, all found in York. They lU'6 chiefly of the Lcnter Em­
pire; and amongst them Gets's are the most common of any. A great 
quantity of signets, fibulre, urns, and sarcophagi have been dug up and re­
covered here through a period of fifteen centuries. Camden, Burton, Drake, 
Thoresby, and other antiquaries, have described some of the most remarkable 
of them. 

Almost all the memorials of the Romans, which have presented themselves 
in this city, have been found by digging; few of them have been discovered 
above ground; so that it may be justly said that modem York stands upon 
ancient Eboracum. 

A part o( a tower and wall are yet standing in York, which are undoubt­
edly of Roman erection. This building is now known as the Multangular 
Tower, and the wall which leads from it towards Bootham Bar. This tower 
and wall will be fully described at a subsequent page of this volume. 

When digging in the north aisle of the church of St. Cuthbert, and also 
on the north side of the churchyard, there have often been found Roman tiles 
and several fragments of sepulchral antiquities. In some parts ha,·e also 
been discovered, at the depth of five feet, quantities of ashes and charcoal, 
intermixed with human bones and broken urns, patene, &c. On the sepul­
chral tiles, which have been dug up here, was stamped LEG IX. HIBP. The 
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foundations of a very strong wall have likewise been traced in this churchyard, 
in the direction from S.S.E. to N.N.W. This wall appears to be remains of 
a Roman or some very ancient building. 

Nearly two centuries ago a theca or repository for urns of a Roman family 
was dug up here, but it was so little regarded at York, that in time it founcl 
its way to Hull, where it served as a trough for watering horses at a public 
inn! The inscription was partly obliterated, but it amounted to this-That 
Marcus Verecundus Diogenes, a native of Berri, in Gascoigny, and a sevir 
or magistrate of the Roman colony at York, died there; who, while living, 
made this monument for himself. The size of the sepulchral monument was 
very large, being six feet long and three feet deep, and the stone was of a mill­
stone grit. In digging the foundation of a house on Bishop-hill the Elder, in 
1638, a small but elegant altar, with figures in ba88o relievo of sacrificing 
instruments, &c., on the side, was found, which was presented to Charles I., 
when at York, by Sir Ferdinanda Fairfax. The altar bears a heathen in­
scription, which may be thus translated.-" To the great and mighty Jupiter, 
and to all gods and goddesses, household and peculiar, Publitu Aeliw }far­
cianus, prefect of cohurt, for the preservation of his own health and that of 
his family, dedicated this altar to the great preserver." The King ordered 
this interesting relic to be conveyed to the Manor House, where it remained 
some time ; but Sir Thomas Widdrington, who resided at Lendal, after­
wards had it in his possession ; and it was lastly seen at the house of 
Lord Thomas Fairfax, in York, where it remained till the desertion of the 
house by hill son-in-law, the Duke of Buckingham, since which time no 
trace of it can be discovered. This is the earliest recorded discovery of a 
Roman altar at York. 

In 1688 a very curious sepulchral monument was dug up in Trinity· 
Gardens, near Micklegate. The stone, which is almost six feet high and two 
feet broad and angular in form at the top, has carved upon it the figure of a 
Roman Signifer or Standard-bearer, standing in an arched recess, having in 
his right hand the Signum or Standard of a cohort, and in his left, probably, 
the vessel used in measuring the com, which was a part of Roman soldiers' 
pay. Near the bottom is the following inscription:....:.... 

L'DVCCIVS 

L 'VOLTFRVFFI 

NVS'VIEN 

SIGNIF' LEG'VIIII 

AN'XXllX 

H'S' E 
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which Horsley reads thus: Lucius Duccius Lucii Voltinia (Tribu) filius 
Ruffinus Viennensis signifer Legionis nonre annorum viginti octo, hie situs 
est. i. e. Lucius Duccius Ruffinus, son of Lucius, of the Voltinian tribe, of 
Vienna, standard-bearer of the Ninth Legion, aged twenty-eight, is placed 
(buried) here. 

This remarkable relic was saved by Bryan Fairfax, Esq., from demolition 
by the workmen who bad broken it in the Iniddle, and were about to make 
use of it in a stone-wall which they were erecting. It was afterwards re­

moved to Ribstone Hall, near Wetherby, by Sir Henry Goodrick, who first 
placed it in his own garden, and subsequently removed it to a more appro­
priate situation in the chapel yard. It is now in the Museum of the York• 
shire Philosophical Society, having been presented by J. Dent, Esq., of 
Ribstone. 

We are told by Mr. Drake that on the removal of a bouse in Friars' Gar­
dens, near Tot\ Green, in the month of August, 1770, part of the foundation 
of a temple of Roman brick-work was found about two feet beneath the 
surface of the earth. It was so firmly cemented by the mortar peculiar to 
Roman edifices, as to resist the stroke of a pick-axe, and its form was semi­
circular ; the other part being, as be supposed, under an adjoining dwelling. 
Upon or near to this foundation was discovered a dedicatory tablet of grit 
stone, three feet long, two feet one inch broad, and seven inches thick, bearing 
the following inscription, and some curious emblematic carved work in very 
fine presen-ation :-

DEO'SANCTO 

SERAPI 

TEJIPL Vll' A80 

LO'FECIT 

CL'HIERONY 

:MlANVS'LEG 

LEG'Vl'VIC, 

This inscription denotes that " Claudius Hieronymianus, Legate or Lieu­
tenant of the Sixth Legion Victorious, had erected from the foundations a 
temple to the Holy God Serapis.* There is no doubt that this tablet had 
been fixed in the front of that temple, and it was long supposed that the 

• Serapis was a great Egyptian deity, known by the three names of Osiris, Apis, and 
Serapis. Memphis, Alexandria, Canopus, and Athens, had each a magnificent temple 
dedicated to this idol, and his worship was introduced also at Rome, by the Emperor 
Antoninus Pius, A.D. U6.; thence no doubt it had been brought into this country by 
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temple itself stood on the spot where the foundations and the tablet were 
found-namely, the end of Tanner-row, near the spot now occupied by the 
entrance to the North Eastern Railway Station. Nothing more was dis­
covered to further develope the site of the Temple of Serapis till the year 
1887, when the excavations were commenced for the York and North Mid­
land Railway (now called the North Eastern) Station. At the beginning 
of these excavations Mr. Hargrove, the author of the Hisrory of York, feeling 
anxious to watch and keep an account of every discovery of the remains of 
other times, attended near the workmen early and late, and after having 
secured many valuable Roman relics, had the satisfaction to find and pre­
sene a beautiful teaulated pavement, in the centre of which was the repre­
sentation of a singular figure, the fore part of which pourtrayed the head, 
body, and forelegs of an ox, the bind part representing the twisted tail of a 
large fish.* This interesting discovery at onee removed every doubt respecting 
the temple of Serapis. The blending of the worship of tw.o gods in one 
temple was no uncommon occurrence amongst the idolatrous nations, and 
here was evidently a blending of two heathen deities-Serapis, the God of 
Agriculture, and NeptuM, the God of the Sea-the inference being exhibited 
in the position of each representation. 

The remains of foundations of an oblong room, in which this pavement 
was found, were evident; the breadth of which was twelve feet, but the length 
could not be so clearly ascertained. At the north end was a large raised 
stone, forming a sort of table or altar, which was presened. A passage at 
the south-west side of the room evidently led to the public baths behind. 
In an account of similar temples at Thebes, and other places, it is stated that 
there is always obsenable a small oblong room, wbjch was the adytum or 
~anctuary, i. e., the apartment which contained the figure of the deity, and 
in which the priests performed those sacrifices and other rites, which were 
not meant for the public gaze. Its dimensions were very insignificant, but 
it was always surrounded by stupendous erections of various kinds, col­
onnades, courts, &c., with apartments for the abode of the priests. 

The room and pavement of the temple of Serapis were found opposite 

the Romans, and thus had occasioned the erection of a temple sacred to it in the then 
splendid city of Eboracum. Mr. Pegge refers the inscription on this tablet to the time 
of Hadrian or earlier; and adds that several coins of Nerva, Trajan, and Hadrian, were 
found along with it. This curious memorial of Roman idolatry, is now in the Yorkshire 
Museum. 

• A plate of this curious pavement, from a drawing by Mr. Wm. Wallace Hargrove, 
has been published. 

Digitized by Goog le 



IUSTOBY OJ' THE CITY OJ' YORK. 297 

to Barker Lane, which is some distance up the street of Tanner Row, and 
nearly opposite to Trinity Church ; and the remains of Roman foundations 
which Mr. Hargrove afterwards discovered and measured, as well as sub­
sequent discoveries nearer to Micklegate Bar, prove beyond a doubt that the 
temple had been very extensive ; occupying the higher part of the ground 
where Tanner Row had been built in subsequent times, and ranging with its 
outbuildings from the bar to the place where the pavement above-described 
was found. It is possible that the fragment found in 1770 may have been a 
part of the temple of Serapis, but it was a very trifling portion comparatively 
speaking. 

In 1814 a :&man tesselated pavement was found close to the rampart 
near Micklegate Bar, and another elegant floor of this beautiful Mosaic work 
was found in 1858, towards the upper part of Tanner :&w.• Mr. Hargrove 
thinks it highly probable that these pavements had been connected with the 
temple or its appendages, for the remains of the public baths which were 
afterwards found were between the temple and the Bar walls.t 

In excavating for a cellar in Ousegate, not far from what Mr. W ellbeloved 
supposes to be the south-east angle of the wall of ancient Eboracum, a frag· 
ment of a dedicatory :&man tablet was found, and is now in the Museum. 
The edifice to which it was affixed appears to have been dedicated to the 
deities of Augustus, and to a goddess whose name or title is lost. Of the 
name of the penon who erected the temple, the termination SIVS only 
remains. 

NVIUNIB AVG ET DEAE IOV .. , 

SIVS AEDEM PRO PARTE D ... 

At the same time, and in the same place, was discovered a fragment of a 
tablet, which recorded the restoration of a temple, dedicated to Hercules, 
probably by one Titus Perpetuua. The remains of the inscription are-

HERCVL •••• 

T'PERPET ••• 

AETER .. 

EBVB .. 

BBS. 

In the year 1716 a curious antique bust, five inches high by four in 

• These two pavemenlll will be deaori.bed at a aubtiequent pase. 

+ The p&Tement l'eiiC1led by Mr. Hal'grov-.nd to whose lrlndnea we are indebted 
lor the tongoiDg deeoriptioD of it-tosether with the other utique remains with whieh 
his labour and attention to the above-mentioned excavations have been re}llid; u weD 

2 Q 
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breadth, representing the head of a beautiful female, was found in digging a 
cellar near the ruins of St. Mary's Abbey. Gale, the antiquary, finding it 
bore the marks of Roman origin, and knowing that the Romans had not any 
goddess in their system of theology, supposed it had been designed to represent· 
the head of Lucretia, the Roman matron, whose wrongs expelled the Tarquins. 

In Clifton fields, without Bootham Bar, several sarcophagi, or stone tombs, 
and a great quantity of urns of different colours and sizes, have been found. 
Amongst them were two coffins, dug up in March, 1813, each containing a 
skeleton entire, with the teeth-the most imperishable part of man when 
dead, and the most liable to decay when living~mpletely perfect. These 
two last-mentioned tombs or coffins, which are unusually large, measuring 
seven feet four inches in length, two feet three inches in breadth, and one foot 
ten inches in depth, and of thick light-coloured grit, are now in the north 
aisle of the choir of the Cathedral. Each coffin is covered with a lid, curl· 
ously made in the form of the roof of a modem dwelling house.* The field 
in which they were discovered is nearly opposite to Burton Stone, at Clifton, 
in which neighbourhood the principal burial-place of the Romans, who for· 
merly inhabited this city, was situated. Campus Martus, anciently, without 
the city of Rome, was the place where the funeral piles were lighted to con· 
sume the deceased Romans, and the presumption is that Clifton fields formed 
the Campus Martus of Eboracum. In Drake's Antiquities, Bootham Bar is 
mentioned as being the gate which led to some grand depository of their dead 
near Clifton village. 

The various lepUlchral remains have principally been found near Mickle­
gate and Bootham Bars, in the neighbourhood of which respectively ran the 

as a large collection of other objects of interest which he had during twenty preceding 
years collected in York, have been transferred to the Museum of the Yorkshire Philo­
sophical Society, of which he is a member. A minute description of his whole oollection 
by himself would be interesting. 

• Sepulchral chests made of atone are much more rare in Roman burial-plaoea than 
those fOrmed of tiles. They are generally very massive, formed out of a solid atone, and 
covered with a roof-shaped or fiat lid. Massive chests or aarcophagi of this description 
appear, from their forms and inscriptions, to have stood above ground, and they present 
a very peculiar mode of sepulture. After the body had been laid, apparently in lull 
dress, on ita back at the bottom of the sarcophagus, liquid lime was poured in until the 
whole of the body was covered, except the face. This becoming bani baa preserved to 
a certain degree an impression of the form of the body, of which the skeleton is often 
found entire. Several tine e:r.amples of this mode of sepulture may be seen in the 
grounds and Museum of the Yorkshire Philosophical Society. It is remarkable that &he 
Boman tombs with interments of this description found at York, generall,y contained the 
remains of ladies. 
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old Roman roads to Calcarea (Tadcaster) and lsurinm (Aldborough). "These 
were probably therefore the principal cemeteries of Eboracum," writes the 
editor of York and iu Vicinity, "the Romans·invariably choosing the way­
side of the principal thoroughfares, beyond the walls of their cities, for the 
burial of their dead." 

About the year 1784. a small figure of a penal~, or household god (Saturn), 
was found by a person digging for a cellar in W almgate ; the composition of 
which the image is formed is a mixture of metal, and the workmanship elt· 
hibits all the elegance of a Roman mould. 

About the year 17 4.0 two very curious Roman urns were dug up near the 
Mount without Micklegate Bar. One of them was made of glass, and being 
by accident broken in pieces, the inside of it was found to be coated with a 
silver-coloured substance, termed by philosophers, the ~kctmm of the ancients. 
The other urn was of lead, and was sold by the workmen to an ignorant 
plumber, who immediately beat it together and melted it down. A pedestal 
of grit was also found in the same year, at no grest distance from Micklegate 
Bar. It measured two feet high by ten inches in breadth, and bore the fol­
lowing Roman inscription :-

BRITANNLE 

SAN CT..£ 

PSIKOKEDES 

AUOO. N. N. 

LlBERTOS. 

A Roman sepulchre of singular form was found in 1768, by some labourers 
who were preparing a piece of ground for a garden, near the city walls, west 
of the same bar. It was formed of Roman tiles, built up in the form of a 
roof, and making a triangle with the ground below. On the top was a 
covering of semicircular tiles, of small diameter, so close as to prevent the 
least particle of earth from falling into the cavity, and each end of the 
dormitory was closed with a tile, on which was inscribed LEo. IX. His., being 
doubtless the burying-place of a soldier of the LegU> nona Hilpanica. 

A sculptured tablet, representing the sacrifice and mysteries of Mitlmu, 
was found in 17 4. 7, in digging for a cellar in a bouse in Micklegate, opposite 
St. Martin's Church. Mithras is the Greek form of the Persian word signi· 
fying the Sun, the chief object of worship among the Persians and other 
ancient eastern nations. This relic of idolatry is now in the entrance hall 
of the Mueeum. 
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In 1770, as some workmen were digging a drain from the north east comer 
of Davygate, to the comer of Lendal, they discovered the foundation of three 
walls or buttresses, about sev.en feet below the surface of the ground. They 
were from nine feet and a half to eleven feet and a half broad, about three 
feet distant from each other, and were composed of pebbles strongly cemented, 
the open space between the walls being securely filled with clay. Gough 
says, they were supposed to have been built by the Romans, to prevent the 
Ouse from overflowing the city. 

In the same year were found in a gravel pit on the banks of the Ouse, about 
one Jnile and a half east of the city, a number of ancient remains, consisting 
of fragments of Roman earthenware and patene (goblets), and within the com­
pass of about fifty yards were likewise discovered a perfect nm with its cover, 
and many more pieces of patene and urns, some very large vessels, part of an 
nrn of crystal, an iron flesh fork, &c. At the same time and place a strange 
discovery was made, of which Mr. Gough gives us the particulars. A stratum 

. of oyster shells appeared to have been laid about two feet, in some parts 
three feet, and in others nearly five feet, below the surface, and above them 
was a sort of rich black earth, like soot mixed with oil, among which were 
found pieces of burnt wood. Upon this singular substance were scattered 
great numbers of bones of cattle, chiefly heads and ribs. Many heads of 
beasts were laid together in one part ; and in several other parts were bones 
mixed with earth and fragments of earthen vessels. Near to these, about 
three feet below the present surface, the earth was discoloured and greasy, 
as though it had been soaked with blood to the depth of two feet. In the 
following year, 1771, a similar discovery was made in another gravel pit not 
far from the former, and the particulars of which are also given by Mr. 
Gough. " Within this pit, between layers of earth and gravel," writes he, 
"was another of black earth intermixed with burnt wood, and under it a 
layer of oyster shells. In the middle of the pit was a hillock of the same 
strata, mixed with fragments of nrns, some inscribed Ojroni, Oaiva, &c. 
Some of the larger ones and of the paterre were adorned with vine and ivy 
branches, &c." In this pit were also found a number of antique remains, 
amongst which were a flesh fork, a brass needle, various fragments of nms, 
a large iron bolt, a whole patera with ears, some others broken, and a small 
urn of coarse red clay with a cover of blueish clay. These remains favour 
the opinion that a Roman temple had stood in that locality, and that these 
were the remains of the sacrifices offered in the dark ages of pagan idolatry. 

Drake mentions a Roman tablet which was discovered in digging a oellar 
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in " Conyng Street,'' in the line of the Roman wall. It is now in the 
Museum, and is inscribed:-

GENIO LOCI 

FELICITER 

that is, "To the Genius of the place, happily," or "prosperously." The 
Genius was the protecting spirit of a person or a place. The place in this 
instance was most probably that occupied by Eboracum; and the inscription 
is a short wish or prayer that the genius would be propitious to Eboracum. 
Mr. Tboresby, the Leeds antiquary, was living when this monument was 
found, and in an account of it which he sent to the Royal Society he saye­
after describing it and its inscription, "If the name (of the genius) had been 
added, it would have gratified the curiosity of some of our 1UCteric antiquaries. 
But they must yet acquiesce, for aught I know, in their old Dvi, who is said 
to be the tutelar deity of the city of the Brigantes. The author of this 
votive monument," he continues, " seems to have had the same superstitious 
veneration for the gmi.m of York, as those at Rome had for theirs, whose 
name they were prohibited to mention or enquire after. Hence it is that 
upon their coins the name of this deity is never expressed but in a mere 
popular manner, by Geniw P.R., or Pop. Rom." 

A massive brass flagon was also turned up by the plough, in a field near 
York, weighing seventeen pounds four and a half ounces, and calculated to 
contain five modem pints. This vessel stood on three legs, and the top of 
the lid exhibited a head or face, apparently connected with the heathen 
mythology. 

A small Roman votive altar of stone, six inches high, and six inches in 
breadth at the base, bearing a Roman inscription, somewhat impaired by 
time, but from which it appears that this relic was dedicated by a soldier of 
the Sixth Legion to the mother of the Emperor Antonius Pius, was found in 
Jdicklegate by the workmen, while digging a drain in the middle of the street. 
Several other Roman remains were discovered with this altar, about eight or 
ten feet below the surface ; and the workmen met with two or three firm pave­
ments of pebbles, one below another, beneath which were several fragments 
of beautiful red glazed paterm, adorned with figures of gods, birds, and vines, 
and one of them inscribed iant~f; there were also several small altars and an 
earthen lamp, with some Roman coins of Constantine the Great. 

The following remains have been found in the present century, and for 
ages yet to come the inexhaustible mines of antiquarian wealth on which the 
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city of York stands, will doubtless yield their contributions to the cabinets of 
the curious. In June, 1802, the workmen, while digging for the foundations 
of the new gaol, near the site of the Old Baile Hill, found about 100 silver 
pennies of William the Devastator, in good preservation, though it is probable 
that they had lain in the ground nearly eight centuries. According to Leland, 
a Castle anciently stood on this site. The most venerable sepulchral remains 
which have been presented to the antiquary for many years, were discovered 
in September, 1804, by the workmen while digging a large drain in the Min­
ster Yard, from south to west of the Cathedral. After passing through a 
stratum of human bones, under which were two coffins, hollowed out of the 
solid stone, the workmen came to eleven or twelve coffins, each formed of 
stone (apparently from the quarries of Malton), loosely placed together, with­
out cement or fastening. Each of these coffins was covered with a rough 
ftag, four inches thick, under which skeletons were found laid on the bare 
earth, the coffins being without bottoms. The situation being wet, some of 
the coffins contained a quantity of clear water, through which the skeletons 
appeared entire, but when the water was removed, and the bodies were ex­
posed to the air, they crumbled into dust. The singular form of these 
coffins; the rough manner in which they were constructed; and their depth 
in the earth, prove their great antiquity, and confirm the belief that they are 
vestiges not merely of Roman or Saxon times, but that they contain remains 
of our aboriginal ancestors. 

On Monday, the 17th of August, 1807, while the workmen were preparing 
the foundation for a building near the Mount, in the suburbs of York, a 
Roman sepulchral vault or chamber was discovered about four feet from the 
surface, which was eight feet long, by five feet wide, and six feet high, built 
of stone, and arched over with Roman brick. A coffin of rag·stone grit, 
about seven feet long, occupies nearly the whole of the vault, and in the 
coffin is a human skeleton entire, with the teeth complete, supposed to be 
the remains of a Roman lady, consigned to the mansion of the dead from 
fourteen to seventeen centuries ago. Near the scull, which is remarkably 
small, was found a small phial or lachrimatory, in which vessels the ancients 
deposited the tears they shed for their departed friends. The workmen also 
found at the same time, not far from the vault, a large red coloured urn in 
which were ashes, and the partially burnt bones of a human body. This 
ancient sepulchre, together with the skeleton, is still preserved in its original 
state, for the inspection of the curious, and the house which contains it is 
now in the occupation of Mr. George Flower. 
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About the beginning of the present century several Roman fragmentary 
remains were found at the Mount, near York; amongst them was part of a 
coffin bearing the following incription :-

ME •••• AL·THEODORI 

ANI" .OJlEN•VJXJT•ANN 

xxx.v·y·vr EMI.THEO 

D • • A· MATER•E•c 

We learn from this inscription, though it contains some difficulties to an 
interpreter, that it was designed to preserve the memory of Theodorianus, of 
Nomentum (probably), who lived thirty·four years and six months, by his 
mother Theodora. Also a fragment of a monumental tablet, containing the 
following portion of the original inscription;-

••••• o·c·FIL 
• •• o·vARIA 

•••••• X.HisP•HERE 

•••• "PATRONO 

•••• ENTI"FBCER~T 

A grateful tribute, it is probable, paid to a patron by some person who had 
received from him their freedom. 

In 1818 two stone coffins, seven feet in length, three feet wide, and six 
inches thick, were dug up in a gravel pit near Fulford Church, in each of 
which was a human skeleton, and a small quantity of a white substance re­
sembling lime saturated with grease. These coffins are each cut out of a 
solid block of stone. 

In excavating for the York and North Midland Railway, near the bridge 
in Holdgate Lane, a Roman altar was found. It has no inscription, but as 
it bears the figures of three females, it is supposed to have been dedicated to 
the Dee Matres, or Matronm, female deities, three in number, supposed to 
have been introduced into Britain by the German auxiliaries. These three 
figures are represented on the front of the altar, sitting in a recess ; on the 
right side of the altar is a single male figure, and on the left two male figures. 
These are thought to have been designed to represent the Emperor Septimus 
Severus, and his sons Caracalla and Geta. The fourth side, which is much 
defaced, seems to have been the representation of an altar, and an animal 
standing before it. This antique relic of pagan Eboracum is now deposited 
in the Museum. In the excavations at the same place a coffin was found, 
bearing the following inscription :-
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D'II'SJlfPLIClAB'FLORENTINE 

ANUU: INNOCENTI881liE 

QVE VIXIT JfENSES DECEll 

FELICIVS'SIMPLEX'PATER'FECIT 

L"E'G'VI"V 

"To the Gods, the Manes.* To Simplicia Florentina, a most innocent being, 
Felicius Simplex, her father, of the Sixth Legion Victorious, dedicated this." 
No mother'ri};it~ appears, says Mr. Wellbeloved, "a circumstance which 
suggests the prob~y of the birth of this darling child having been marked 
by a lamentable even\ that gives still greater interest to this tribute of pater· 
nal affection." Thisl8.1tar, together with the whole of the following antiqui· 
ties, forms part of tlil valuable collection in the Museum at York. In the 
excavation for the same railway, part of a sepulchral monument was turned 
up. The letter Malone, denoting" Manibus," remains. 

An altar was recently discovered in the rubble foundation under one of the 
pillars of the church of St. Dennis, Walmgate, York, inscribed:-

DEO. 

ARCIACON 

ET N' AVOSI 

MAT' VIT ALIS 

ORD V' S' LM. 

Which may be read thus, DEO Arciacon et N umini Augusti Simatius Vitalis 
Ordovix Votum solvit libens merito, i. e. "To the God Arciacon and to the 
Divinity of Augustus, Simatius Vitalis, one of the Ordovices, discharges his 
vow willingly, deservedly,"-namely, by dedicating this altar. There is 
nothing in the inscription to indicate its date. 

An altar was found in the Roman baths, discovered in excavating the site 
of the Railway Station. The inscription ~ 

DEAE 

FO.BTVNAB 
SOSIA 

IVNOINA 

Q'ANTONI 

ISAVIUCI 

LEG' AVG' 

• The word MaftU denotes the souls of the departed, "but as it is a natural tendency 
to consider the souls of dep&rted friends as bleaaed spirits, they were called by the Bo· 
mana Dii Manes, and were worshipped with divine honours. n 
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Rendered thus-" To the Goddess Fortune, by Socia Juncina, the daughter 
of Quintus Antonius Isauricus, of the Legion Augusta." This altar must 
have been erected here during the first half of the second century of the 
Christian era, as the Legion Augusta, which came into Britain with Claudius, 
took up its head-quarters at Cat:rlon, in South Wales, after it had been in 
the north with Hadrian and Antoninus Pius. 

In 1885 two coffins were found in the Castle yard, York, one of which 
bears this inscription :-

D'M 

AVR' SVPERO' CENT . 

l.EO' VI' QVn'IXITANIS 

XXX\'ITI' MUll' DXIII' AVRE 

LU' CENSORINA' COIVNX 

:&IEMORIAM' POSSVIT 

"To the Gods, the .Manes. To the memory of Aurelius Superus, a Cen· 
turion of the Sixth Legion, who livei xxxviii years, iv months, xiii days, 
Aurelia Censoria his wife set up this." 

In 1810 several fragmentary remains of the Roman period were found 
below one of the piers at the south end of the old bridge over the Ouse, in 
York. A very singular and remarkable Roman tomb was discovered in 1848, 
not far from the entrance through the city wall to the Railway Station. It 
was composed of ten large slabs of grit stone, and contained the remains of a 
body, which had been placed in a coffin of wood, and covered witb lime. The 
coffin had almost entirely perished, but the lime remained, exhibiting a cast 
of the body, over which it had been poured. This cast is deposited in the 
Museum, and the tomb is in the ruins of the chapel of St. Leonard's 
Hospital. 

In 1888 a tomb was discovered near Dringhouses, on the road to Tad· 
caster, formed of roof tiles and ridge tiles, which bear the impress of the 
Sixth Legion ; erected, it is probable, over the ashes of a soldier of that Le­
gion. It contained nothing but a layer of the remains of a funeral pile, 
consisting of charcoal and bones, with several iron nails. A tomb of the 
same kind, but of smaller dimensions, was found not far from the city walls, 
near the entrance to the Railway Station. It was probably the tomb of a 
soldier of the Ninth Legion, the tiles being stamped LEo IX. 

In 1831 a Roman tomb or coffin was discovered in Heslington field, about 
a mile from York. It contained some few remains of the body of a female, 
which had been covered with lime in a liquid state. This lime, which ex· 

2 R 
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hibits a cast of the body, tog«?ther with some trinkets imbedded in it, may be 
sren in the :Museum.' The coffin is deposited in the Multangular .Tower. 

A plain altar was found in a garden in Lord Mayor's Walk, some years 
ngo; and another small plain altar was discovered in 1851, by a person digging 
for sand, in a lane on the south side of Dunnington Common, near York. 

Amongst the many relics of the Roman period which were discoven>d 
during the excavations for the Railway, are the remains of Roman baths, 
which presented themselves whilst clearing the site of the Station. There 
is a curious model of these remains in the Museum. In 1841 the relics of 
a human body, which had been deposited in lime in a liquid state, was found 
in a stone coffin near the entrance through the rampart to the Railway Sta· 
tion. The remains of another body of the leaden coffin, in which it had been 
buried, wercalso found near the terminus of the Railway. Three smaller 
coffins of lead, containing the bones of children, and the whole were de­
posited in the ~useum. In 18.!9 some burnt wheat was found in Jubbergate 
at the depth of sixteen feet below the surface, on the site, it is supposed, of a 
Roman granary which had been destroyed by fire. 

In July, 1851, a Roman coffin was found about three feet below the sur· 
face, near Skeldergate Postern, by the side of the road leading to Bishop­
thorpe. It contained a cast of the bodies of a female and a child, now 
deposited in the Museum. The body of the child appears to have been 
placed, as the impression of the lime represents it, between the legs of the 
woman, who was probably its mother. The garments in which they were 
buried appear to have been ornamented with crimson or purple stripes, of a 
texture something like velvet or plush; portions of the coloured fibre being 
found adhering to the lime. On the site of the office of the Yorkshire In· 
surance Company, amongst the foundations of buildings, was found, some 
years ago, part of a drain, which is interesting as a specimen of Roman 
sewerage; aud as being illustrative of the Roman method of constructing 
walls of alternate courses of brick and stone. 

At Aldborougb, the site of the ancient Ism"ium, numerous specimens of 
tesselated pavements have often been found, but it was not till the year 1814 
that any remains of this kind were discovered in York.* In the month of 

• At Aldborough, about half a mile east of Borough bridge, the site of the Roman city 
of Irurium, tesselated pavements, some of them extensive and of the most beautiful 
description, have been discovered, especially in the ycl\rS 1832, 1846, and 1848. Many 
other interesting remains of the ancient Isurium, including a hypocaust, the supposed 
foundations of the basilica, tho sites of baths aud other public buildings, have been re­
cently laid bare, and many of the tesselated floors and other antiquities dise{)vered here, 
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April in that year a beautiful specimen of this l\Iosnic work wo.t; laid bart>, 
adjoining the rampart, in Bar Lane, near :Micklegatc Bar. It appeared to 
have been four yards square, and for some years it was enclosed and pre· 
served on the spot upon which it was discovered, and exhibited to the curious. 
This being the first Roman tesselated pavement found in this ancient Roman 
city, a beautiful coloured engraving of it was published by Mr. Fowler, of 
Winterton, and well it was that be did so, for the Corporation (having pur· 
chased the property upon which it stood) presented it to the Yorkshire Philo· 
sophical Society, and it was broken into fragments in its removal to the 
Museum, and but very little of it was preserved. The spot upon which it 
was laid is now the soil pit of the Jolly Bacchus public house. Mr. Har· 
grove, as we have already observed, thinks that this and the next pavement 
to be noticed had been connected with the great Roman Temple of Serapis. 

In Toft Green, not far from the site of the last-mentioned ancient flooring, 
another beautiful Roman tesselated pavement was discovered, fourteen feet 
below the present surfo.cc, in 1853. It is nearly perfect, and measures four· 
teen feet three inches square. When perfect, the pattern was chiefly com· 
posed of the common labyrinthine fret, and five heads ; one in the centre 

• representing Medusa, and four in the corners personifying the four seasons 
of the year-Spring, with its feathered songster; Summer, with its flowers 
and fruit; Autumn, with its hay rake ; and Winter, with its dry and leafleSII 
branch. Immediately beneath it were found an empty urn, covered with a 
square tile; a coin, first brass of Hadrian, and a thil·d-brass coin of Claudius 
Gothicus, with tae legend DIVO. CLAVDIO on the obverse; proving that 
this pavement was not laid down before A. D. 2i0, the year in which Claudius 
died. About twelve or fourteen inches below this pavement, a floor, com· 
posed of cement, was found, on which were scattered many tessellm, finished 
and unfinished, and o. piece of iron, conjectured to be a tool used in shaping 
them. 

are preserved on the spot. The walls too of this once splendid Roman city have been 
recently traced, and as defined by them, the city formed an oblong rectangular parallel. 
ogram, of which the longest sides were upwards of 2,100 feet in length, and the shortest 
somewhat more than 1,300 feet, making a circuit of rather more than one mile and a 
half, and enclosing an area of 60 acres. The thickness of the wall varies from ten to 
sixteen feet; it appears to have been faced with carefully squared stones, without tho 
usual bondings of brick, at least no traces of them haYo been found. Outside the walls 
sepulchral urns, graves, deposits of burnt bones, and places which seemed to have been 
nsed for the purpose of cremation, have been discovered at diJferent times. The most 
remarkable sepulchral remains have been found at a spot without the walls, on the 
south aide, knowu by the name of Red Hills. 
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So partial were the Romans to tesselated pavements, that it was customary 
with them, when on a march, to be accompanied with a man, who was styled 
tesserarim, or chequerman, from carrying a sack with tesserre, or chequered 
dies of coloured stones, with which he paved or inlaid the platform where 
the commanding officer thought fit to pitch his tent. 

Near the line of the York and Newcastle Railway, on the site of the house 
erected for the residence of the secretary, was fou~d, in the year 1840, up· 
wards of 200 Roman silver coins, which, with the vessel in which they were 
deposited, are now in the Yorkshire Museum. Five of them are of the Con· 
sular or Family series, much worn, and illegible ; eighteen are denarii of some 
of the early Emperors; the rest range from Septimius Severns to M. Jul. 
Philippus. Many belonging to the later Emperors appear to have been cast 
in moulds, and not to have been in circulation. 

In the month of September, 1854, the workmen employed in sinking a 
shaft for constructing a deep drain in Church Street, cut through what was 
considered to be a Roman Wall, and in the centre discovered a leaden pipe 
six feet long, about four inches and a half diameter inside, made of very thick 
lead, in a peculiar manner, with a socket on the outside to join to the pipe. 
A few days afterwards whilst excavating for a branch drain in the same street, 
the workmen laid bare the remainder of the supposed Roman Wall, when it 
was found to be a mass of concrete, about four feet thick, extending round 
the leaden pipe, in all probability to keep the pipe from settling unevenly 
and to protect it from injury. Abont nine feet more of the lead piping was 
obtained. It has no doubt been used to convey water. Near it some Roman 
draining tiles were also found, which were very probably to take away the 
waste water from some bath. The pipe and tiles, together with the above­
mentioned specimen of Roman drainage, may be seen at the Museum. 

In a few days after the discovery of this leaden pipe, the workmen em­
ployed in digging o. large and deep drain from Monk Bar to the river Ouse, 
discovered, at the junction of Goodramgatc and Petergnte, at the depth of 
twenty-three feet below the surface, o. slab of grey limestone, measuri11g 
in its present state three feet nine inches square, bearing the following 
inscription :-

P"CAESAI 

ERVAE • FIL " NI 

NVS" AVO • GER 

NTIFEX " MAXI.MV 

TESTATIS • XII • IKP. V 

PER"LEG " VIlli • HI 
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The Rev. C. Wellbeloved, in a communication to the Yorkshire Philoso· 
phical Society, pronounced the inscription, when perfect, to have been-

IMP • CAESAR 

NERV AE ' FIL ' NER ' TRA 

JANUS ' AVO • GERM 

PONTIFEX ' MAXIMVS ' TR 

POTESTA TIS • XII • IMP ' VI 

PER • LEG • VIIIl • HISP 

and he translates it thus:-" The Emperor Cresar, son of Nerva, Nerra 
Trajanus Augustus Germanicus, High Priest, invested for the sixth time 
with the Tribunitian power, saluted for the sixth time Imperator, erected 
(this building) by the Ninth Legion, called Hispanica (Spanish)." "The 
investment of Tn~;jan with these honours," he adds, "synchronizes with A.D. 

109, 110. At that time then, as we learn from this tablet, the Ninth Legion, 
which came into Britain with Claudius in the year 43, and formed part of 
the forces of Agricola when he subdued the Brigantes in the year 79, was at 
Eboracum employed by Trajan, who never was in Britain, in the erection of 
public buildings." 

In the Pictorial Bible, at page 469 of vol. iv., is a representation of the 
triumphal arch of Trajan, at Benevento, on which is a very similar in· 
scription. It runs thus :-

IMP CAESAR ' DlVINERVAE ' EILIO 

NERV AP.! ' TR.UANO ' OPTI:\10 • A VC 

GERMANICO ' DACICO ' PONT ' MAX ' TRffi 

POTEST ' XVIII ' I:IIP ' VII ' CONS ' Vll ' PP. 

FORTISSIMO ' PRI"NCIPI ' SENATVS ' P ' 0 ' R 

To what public building the stone found at York was affixed, cannot now 
be ascertained. Mr. Wellbeloved thinks that it may have been that gate of 
the ancient Roman station which is supposed to have stood ver.v near the 
spot in which it was found. And this suggests an important question-Was 
the ancient Eboracum, or Eburacum, as Mr. Wellbeloved has it, fortified 
with a wall at that early period? The place in which this tablet was dis­
covered is the one which tradition has assigned as part of the site of the 
Roman Prretorium or Palace at York. The precise spot at which it was found 
was formerly called King's Court, and still more anciently, Konyng Garth 
(the word Konyng signifying royal or kingly) ; and at this point was probably 
in the time of Tr&;j&n the grand entrance to the Imperial Palace. The 
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period of the erection of the tablet is fixed by the inscription itself at the year 
of our Lord 110, or thereabouts, and shews indisputably that the Emperor 
Trajan was then acknowledged as Emperor at York. It is deserving of re­
mark that the letters on the first line of the inscription are six inches long, 
and that they have been cut by a first-rate artist, and the grandeur and im· 
portance of the bullding, to which the tablet was once attached, may be 
judged of from the care and skill which have obviously been devoted to the 
inscription. Trajan was one of the best, and most just and lenient of the 
Roman Emperors. May we not then, with some show of reason, suppose 
that this elegant tablet once graced or surmounted the entrance to the court 
yard of the palace? The inscription is not dissimilar to that which adorns 
the famous " Trajan column " at Rome; and it has been well remarked by 
one of the local journals, that time and the effects of atmospheric variations 
have contributed to tarnish the original perfection of the inscription at Rome, 
whilst the lettering of what remains to us at York, upon the newly discovered 
tablet, is as clear, and as fresh, and as perfect, as it was on the day when, 
upwards of seventeen hundred years ago, it left the hand of the talented en· 
graver, and was put up at York by the gallant Ninth Legion of imperial Rome. 
This tablet is the most ancient, as well as the most authentic, of the records 
which have ever yet been discovered of the Roman occupation of this city. It 
is a valuRble discovery, inasmuch as it fixes a precise period when the Legio 
Nono Hispanica (Ninth Spanish Legion) was in York. But little is known 
of that corps. In the reign of Nero it was nearly destroyed at Camuldunwn 
(Colchester), by the Briti9h forces under the celebrated Queen Boadicea. 
Tacitus informs us that it was afterwards recruited from Germany, but it 
again suffered severely in the fierce attack of the Caledonians, at the time 
when Julius Agricola was Proprretor and Legate at York. The inscription 
upon the recently discovered tablet shows pretty plainly that this legion was 
stationed at York in the time of the Emperor Trajan, and that the tablet 
itself was raised by that legion. This corps being weak in number at the 
time of the arrival in York of the Sixth Conquering Legion, it is supposed 
to have been incorporated with that legion. 

In the course of the excavations near the place where the above-mentioned 
tablet was found, the workmen turned up many Roman tiles, some of which 
bear the stamp of the Ninth Legion. The tablet and tiles are deposited in 
the Museum. In the month of March in the present year(1855), the work· 
men employed in draining operations found two stone coffins in Monkgate, 
near the bottom of Lord Mayor's Walk. 

Besides the relics of the Roman period already noticed, a great many 
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f'ragments of monumental and other tablets, urns, pillars, sculptured stones, 
domestic ware and other utensils, pottery, bricks, tiles, &c. have been found 
in York from time to time ; and a goodly collection of them may be seen in 
the Yorkshire Museum. 

" Although the Saxons had possession of York during more than three 
hundred years," writes the Rev. Curator, in his Descriptive Account of the 
Antiquities in the Museum," and undoubtedly added greatly to the extent of 
the Roman-British city, yet few remains of Saxon York have been discovered. 
Their domestic buildings may have been generally constructed of timber, but 
their public, an·d especially their ecclesiastical edifices were built of more 
durable materials. The first Christian church indeed, hastily erected by 
Edwin, in the beginning of the sixth century, was of wood; but it very soon 
gave place to one of stone ; and about the end of the eighth century this was 
rebuilt and enlarged by Archbishop Albert, of whose magnificent structure, 
portions, as it is supposed by some, may be seen in the crypt beneath the 
choir of the present Minster. It appears from Domesday, that at the time 
of the Norman Conquest there were in York no fewer than nine parochial 
churches; but in these, as they exist at present, no traces of Saxon work· 
manship are left. The tower of another church (St. Mary, Bishophill Junior), 
not mentioned in Domesday, has been referred to the Saxon era; but it has 
most probably been constructed by later hands, of Saxon and even of Roman 
materials. A recent breach in the city rampart, near the Railway Station, 
brought to light a portion of the fortifications of Eoferwic; the searching eye 
of an antiquary may detect tomb-stones, capitals, and other fragments of 
Saxon work built into the walls of our medireval churches; and an excavator 
may occasionally turn up a relic of Saxon times, yet the memorials of their 
long occupation of our ancient city, left by the Saxons, are far less numerous 
and important than might have been expected. 

A portion of a Saxon cross or pillar, with several rude wooden coffins, and 
some other Saxon remains, were found in excavating for the New Market or 
Parliament Street; a curiously ornamented fragment of a stone cross was 
discovered in the excavations, preparatory to the building of St. Leonard's 
Place; and several Saxon coffin lids have been found in other parts of York. 

This city partook largely of the vicissitudes to which the country was ex· 
posed during the period between the evacuation of Britain by the Romans, 
and the conquest of this island by the Normans. The Picts and the Scots, 
the Saxons and the Danes, each in succession erected their standards before 
its gates, and obtained possession of it, as we have shewn in the preceding 
pages of this work. Though shorn of that splendour which imperial Rome 
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conferred, still York maintained, after the departure of that people, a dis· 
tinguished rank as a metropolitan city, and as the centre of commercial 
attraction. When Arthur, the most celebrated of the British monarchs be· 
fore the Conquest, had expelled the Saxons almost from the island in the 
year 521, the city of York was delivered up to him, and from it he proceeded 
on his expedition into Scotland, with a determination to destroy that ancient 
seat of emnity from one end to another. But from this purpose he was dis· 
suaded by his spiritual guides, and having abandoned his purpose, he returned 
to York, and there with his clergy, nobility, and soldiers, celebrated the fes· 
tival of Christmas in feasting, mirth, and rejoicings. Tllis was the first 
festival of the kind ever celebrated in Britain, and from which all those ever 
since held have taken their model. "The latter end of December," says 
Buchanan, "was spent in nlirth, jollity, drinking, and the vices that are too 
often the consequences, so that the representations of the old heathenish 
feasts, dedicated to Saturn, were here again revived. Gifts were sent mutu­
ally from one to another, frequent invitations passed between friends, and 
domestic offenders were not punished. All this was to celebrate the Nativity 
of Christ, then, as they say, hom." 

Edwin, King of Northumbria, made York the metropolis of his kingdom, 
and upon his conversion to Christianity, erected it into an Archiepiscopal 
See, of which he appointed Paulinus, Ethelburga his Queen's confessor, Pri· 
mate. On the death of Edwin, who was killed in battle in 638, while 
resisting an attack of the Britons, under Cadwallon, assisted by Penda, King 
of Mercia, the city suffered severely from the ravages of the confederated 
armies, who devastated it with fire and sword, and massacred the inhabitants. 
Ethelburga and Paulinus fled into Kent, and the scarcely-finished church, 
which Edwin had erected, lay neglected for some time, till it was restored by 
Oswald, Edwin's successor. When the kingdom of Northumbria was divided 
into two kingdoms-Deira and Bernicia-York was the capital of the former. 

Upon the union of the several kingdoms of the Heptarchy, in the reign of 
Egbert, York again became a place of importance. At this period (the 9th 
century) it was the seat, not only of commerce, but of literature, as far as 
they then prevailed in the country ; and the library collected by Archbishop 
Egbert, and placed in the Cathedral, ranked amongst the first in Christen· 
dom. The Malmsbury historian, speaking of tills library, says, "it is the 
noblest repository, and cabinet of arts and sciences, in the whole world;" and 
Alcuin, the celebrated instructor of Charlemagne, in one of his letters to his 
royal pupil, requests that scholars may be sent from France to copy the works 
deposited here, "that the garden of letters may not be shut up in York, but 
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that some of its fruits may be placed in the paradise of Tours."* .Many 
copies of some of the most valuable works in this library were obtained by 
Alcuin, even after he took up his residence in the court of Charlemagne ; and 
these were afterwards copied again, and dispersed through the various monas­
teries in the dominions of that monarch. Thus is France in part indebted 
for her literature to the ancient city of York; and to a certain extent also is 
Germany, for several of the books belonging to her first Apostle, Boniface, 
were sent to him in that country by Archbishop Egbert. 

York suffered much during the 9th and lOth centuries from the incursions 
of the Danes, who spread destruction everywhere, spoiling the city, and burn­
ing and wasting the country around it for miles. During this period many 
of the Danish chieftains found, near York, a grave, among whom was the 
brave Earl Siward. 

When the Danes fitted up a mighty fleet, and entered the Humber, in 
867, under the command of Hinguar and Hubba, their first operation was 
against York, where a sanguinary battle was fought, partly in the midst of 
the city; when the two Saxon Kings of Northumbria, Osbert and Ella, were 
slain, and the city was reduced to a heap of ruins by the enraged barbarians, 
"who spared neither palace nor cottage, nge or sex." (See page 01.) 
Having been rebuilt, it was for ages the centre, and frequently the sccn_e, of 
the struggles which were maintained between the Saxons and the Danes ; 
and when Sweyne, the Danish King, defeated Ethelred, the King of England, 
in a bloody and well-contested battle, near York, and the latter fled to Nor­
mandy, leaving his crown and kingdom to the conqueror, it became one of 
the principal settlements of those rapacious invaders. Whilst the throne of 
England was filled by Danish Kings, their Viceroys, or Comites Northumbrim, 
took up their residence at York; whilst the Sovereigns themselves not 
unfrequently made this city the royal residence. 

Sweyne died in 1014, and was succeeded by his son Canute, the most 
powerful monarch of his time. The Willl-known reproof given by this latter 
King to his fawDing courtiers is so just and impressive, that its memory has 
survived through eight centuries. Some of those flatterers breaking out into 
expressions of admiration of his power and grandeur, exclaimed, that in him 
everything was possible. Upon which Canute ordered his chair to be placed 
upon the sea-shore while the tide was rising. As the waters o.pproachod, he 
commanded them with a voice of authority to retire, and to obey the lord of 
the ocean. For some time he feigned to sit in expectation of their sub-

• Lel. eon., i, P· 399. 
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mission, but the sea still advanced towards him, and began to wash him with 
its billows; on which he turned to his courtiers, and said " Behold how feeble 
and impotent is man. Power resideth in one being alone, in whose hands 
are the elements of nature, and who alone can say to the ocean-TAUI far 
thou shalt go and no further, and who can level with his nod the most 
towering piles of pride and ambition." The chroniclers fix the locality of 
this great moralleSIJOn at Southampton. 

When the Norwegian armada landed their forces at Riccal, they took York 
by storm, after a desperate battle fought at Fulford. On the approach of 
Harold, the last Anglo-Saxon Monarch of England, at the head of a powerful 
army, the invaders quitted the city, and took up a strong position to the east 
of York, whither they were followed by Harold, and the battle of Stamford 
Bridge ensued. (See page 104.) In the intervals of peace which the citizena 
experienced, the city gradually recovered, and continued to flourish till the 
Conquest. 

From the Domesday Survey we learn that at the period succeeding the 
Norman Conquest, York was of considerable size, and worthy the rank of 
being the principal city of the north. From that valuable record, as tran&­

lated by the Rev. W. Bawd wen, we extract the following:-
"In Eboraco civitate (city of York) in the time of King Edward (the Con­

fessor), besides the ward of the Archbishop, there were 6 wards: one of these 
was destroyed when the Castles were built. In 5 wards there were 1418 
inhabited mansions. The Archbishop has yet a third part of one of these 
wards. In these no one, but as a burgess, was entitled to any customary 
payments, except Merlesuain, in one house, which is below the Castle; and 
except the Canons wherever they reside, and except 4 Magistrates, to whom 
the King granted this privilege by his writ, and that for their lives; but the 
Archbishop was entitled to all customary payments in his ward. Of all the 
above-mentioned mansions, there are now in the King's possession 391 in­
habited, great and small, paying custom; and 400 uninhabited,* which do 
not yield customary services, but some only one penny rent,' and others less; 
and 540 mansions so uninhabitable, that they pay nothing at all; and 
foreigners t hold 145 houses. 

"St. Cuthbert has one mansion, which be always had, as many say, quit 
of all custom; but the burgesses say that it had not been quit in the time of 

• These were such as had no constant inhabitant tied to residence, but such as went 
and came as they pleased. 

t Francigenee, or perhaps, non rtdenkl cOfii!UtudiMm. 
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King Edward, unless as one of the burgesses, or for this reason, he had his 
own toll,* and that of the Canons. Besides this the Bishop of Durham has, 
of the King's gift, the church of All Saints, and what belonged to it; and all 
the land of Uctred, and the land of Emuin, which Hugo the Sheriff quit­
claimed to Walcherus, Bishop of Durham, by the King's writ; and the 
burgesses who rent it say that they hold it under ~e King. The Earl of 
Morton has there fourteen mansions, and two stalls in the butchery, and the 
church of St. Crux ; Osbem, the son of Boso, had these, and whatever be· 
longed to them, granted to him. They had been the mansions of Sonulfus, 
the priest (one), Morulfus (one), Sterrus (one), Esnarrus (one), Gamel with 
four drenches (one), Archil (five), Levingus the priest (two), Turfin (one), 
Ligilfus (one). Nigel de Monnevile has one house of a certain Monier. 
Nigel Fossart has two houses of Modera, and holds them under the King.t 
Waldin usurped two houses of Ketel the priest for one house of Sterre. 
Hamelin has one house in the city ditch; and W aldin one house of Einulfus, 
and another of Alwin. Richard de Surdeval two houses of Turchi! and 
Ravechil. Nigil Fossart usurped two houses; but it is said he restored them 
to the Bishop of Constance.: William de Percy has fourteen mansions of 
Bemulfus, Gamelbar, Sort, Egbert, Selecolf, Algrim, Norman, Dunstan, 
Adolfas, Weleret, Ulchel, Godolent, Soneva, Osbert, and the church of St. 
Mary. Of Earl Hugo the same William has two mansions of two bailiffs of 
Earl Harold ; but the burgesses say one of them had not been the Earl's, 
but the other had been forfeited to him. The church of St. Cuthbert the 
same William also claims of Earl Hugo, and seven small houses containing 
fifty feet in width, besides one house of a certain person named Uctred. The 
burgesses declare that William de Percy included one house within the Castle, 
after he had returned from Scotland. But William himself denies that he 
had had the land of this Uctred; but he affirms_that the house was laid to 
the Castle by Hugo, the Sheriff, the first year after its destruction.§ Hugo, 
eon of Baldric, has four houses of Adulphus, Hedned, Turchil, and Gospatric, 
and twenty-nine small mansionsll at a rent, and the church of St. Andrew's, 
which he bought. Robert Malet has nine houses of these men; (ru.) Tume, 
Grim, Grimchetel, Emuin, Elsi, and another Emuin, Glunier, Halden, Ra· 
venchel. Emeis de Burun has four houses of Grim, Alwin, Gospatric, and 

• For thin1111 bought and sold in the market. t Probably in capi~. and therefore quit. 

f Chief Justiciary ot England. He waa po§sessed of 280 manors. 

t Anno 1070. 

II Therefore ~· might be large inns or dwelling plaees, perhaps fltUIIMJgi4. 
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the church of St. Martin ; two of these mansions pay fourteen shillings. 
Gilbert l\laminot has three houses of Meurdock. Berenger de Todeni bas 
two houses of Gamelcarle and Alwin, and eight houses at rent. A moiety of 
these is in the city ditch. Osbeme de Archis has two houses of Brun the 
priest and his mother, and twelve houses at a rent, and two houses of the 
Bishop of Constance. Odo Balistarius has three houses of Fome and Orme, 
and one of Elaf at a rent, and one church. • Richard, son of Erfast, three 
houses of Alchemont, and Gospatric and Bemulf, and the church of Holy 
Trinity. Hubert de l\lontcanisi, one house of Bundus. Landric, the car· 
penter, has ten houses and a half, which the Sheriff made over to him. 

" In the time of King Edward the value* of the city to the King was 
fifty-three pounds; now one hundred pounds by weight.t In the time of 
King Edward there were in the Archbishop's ward: 189 inhabited houses at 
a rent. At present there are 100 inhabited, great and small, besides the 
Archbishop'R palace and the Canons' houses. The Archbishop hath as much 
in his ward as the King in his wards. 

"Within the geld of the city there are fourscore and four carucates of land, 
and every one of them taxed as one house in the city, and they with the 
citizens did the three works for the King.§ Of these the Archbishop has 
six carucatcs, which three ploughs may till. These compose the farm 
belonging to his palace. This was not improved and let at a rent in the 
time of King Edward, but here and there cultivated by the burgesses; it is 
the same now. Of the land described, the King's pool destroyed two new 
mills of the value of twenty shillings, and overflowed one carucate of arable, 
meadow, and garden ground. Value in King Edward's time sixteen shillings, 
now three. In Osboldeuuic (Osboldwick) there are six carucates of land be­
longing to the Canons, where there may be three ploughs. The Canons 
have now there two ploughs and a half, and six villanes and three borda.rs 
having two ploughs and a half. Likewise in Mortun (Morton) the Canons 
have four carucates of land, where they may be two ploughs; but it is wBBte. 
These two villages are one mile in breadth, and one in length. In Stocthun 
(Stockton) there are six carucates, where they may be three ploughs. They 

• This is to be untlel'Stood of the annual value. 
t The ancient way of paying money by weight, opposed to the payment of the same 

de nuJMro, imJ>orting twenty shillings. 

f If the ward, shire, or district, meant only the close of the Cathedral, it is plain there 
were more houses in it before the Conquest than there are now, or indeed well could 
stand in the COlllJlllSS. 

§ Bu1·gLote, Drigbote, and Expeditio, called trinoda ntculittu. 
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are waste ; of these, three belong to the Canons, and three to Earl Alan. 
These are half a mile in length, and half a mile in breadth. In Sabura 
(Sauburn) there are three carucates, where they may be one plough and a 
half. Waste. Ralph Paganel holds it. The Canons say that they them­
selves had it in the time of King Edward. In Heuuarde (Haworth) Orme 
had one manor of six carucates of land, where they may be three ploughs. 
Hugo, son of Baldric, has now one vassal and one plough ; value in King 
Edward's time ten shillings, DOW five shillings. In the same village Walter 
had one manor of three carucates of land ; Richard now bas it of the Earl of 
Morton ; value in King Edward's time ten shillings, now ten shillings and 
eightpence. This village is one mile long, and half a mile broad. In Fule­
ford (Fulford) Morcar had one manor of ten carucates of land. Earl Alan 
now has it; there may be five ploughs. There are now in the demesne two 
ploughs, and six villanes have two ploughs there. It is in length one mile, 
and in breadth half a mile. Value in King Edward's time twenty shillings, 
now sixteen. In the circuit of the city Torfin has one carucate of land, and 
Torcbil two carucates; these two ploughs may till. In Cliftune (Clifton) 
there are eighteen carucates of land subject to the tax geld or gelt ; these 
nine ploughs may till; it is now waste . . Value in King Edward's time twenty 
shillings. Of these Morcar had nine carucates of land, and one half to be 
taxed, which five ploughs may till. Earl Alan has now there two ploughs, 
and two villanes and four bordars with one plough. In it are fifty acres of 
meadow; of these twenty-nine belong to St. Peter, and the other to the Earl. 
Besides these the Archbishop has eight acres of meadow. This manor is 
one mile long, and one broad. Value in King Edward's time twenty shillings; 
the same now. The Canons have eight carucatcs and a half; they are waste. 
In Roudcliffe (Rawcliff) there are three carucates of land to be taxed, which 
two ploughs may till; of these Saxford, the Deacon, had two carucates, with 
a hall (now St. Peter), and the value ten shillings. And Turber had (now 
the King) one carucate with a ball; and the value five shillings; now both 
are waste. There are three acres of meadow there. In the whole, half a 
mile long, and as much broad. In Ouerton (Overton) there are to be taxed 
five carucates of land, which two ploughs and a half may till; Morcar had a 
hall there. Earl Alan has now there one plongh and five villanes, and three 
bordars with three ploughs, and thirty acres of meadow, and wood pasture 
one mile long, and two quarentens broad. In the whole, one mile in length, 
and half a mile in breadth; value in King Edward's time, and now, twenty 
shillings. In Sceltun (Skelton) there are nine carucates of land to be taxed, 
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which four ploughs may till; of these St. Peter bad, and has, three earucates 
in King Edward's time; and the value six shilliDgs; it is now waste. Tor­
ber held two carucates of this land, with a hall, and six oxgangs. Now one 
farmer ( unm cm.orim) has it under the King ; and there are two ploughs 
and six villanes; value in King Edward's time six shillings, now eight. Two 
carucates and six oxgangs of the same land belonging to Overton. Earl 
Alan has there one vassal with one plough. In the whole, half a mile in 
length, and half in breadth. In Mortun (Morton) there are to be taxed three 
carucates of land, which one plough may till. Archil held this land, and the 
value was ten shillings; it is now waste. In Wichistun (Wigginton) there 
is to be taxed one carucate of land, which one plough may till. Saxford, the 
Deacon, held it. Now St. Peter has it. It was and is waste. There ie 
coppice wood there. The whole length, half a mile, and the breadth half. 

" These had Soke, Sac, Toll, Thaim, and all customs, in the time of King 
Edward ; Earl Harrold, Merelesuen, Ulffenisc, Torgod Lageman, Tochi (son 
of Otra), Edwin and Morcar, upon the land of Ingold only. 

"Gamel, son of Osbert, upon Cottingham only, Copsi upon Coxwold only, 
and Cnut. Of those which he forfeited he made satisfaction to no one but 
to the King and the Earl. The Earl has no right whatever in the church 
manors ; neither the King in the manors of the Earl, excepting what relates 
to spiritualities which belong to the Archbishop, in all the land of St. Peter 
at York, and St. John, and St. Wilfrid, and St. Cuthbert, and the Holy 
Trinity. The King likewise bath not had any custom there, neither the 
Earl, nor any other. The King has three ways by land, and a fourth by 
water. In these all forfeitures belong to the King and the Earl, whichsoever 
way they go, either through the land of the King, or of the Archbishop, or 
of the Earl. 

" The King's peace given under his hand or seal, if it shall have been 
broken, satisfaction is to be made to the King only by twelve hundreds; 
every hundred eight pounds. Peace given by an Earl by whomsoever bro­
ken, satisfaction is to be made by six hundreds ; every hundred eight pounds. 
If any one shall have been exiled according to law, no one but the King shall 
pardon him. But if an Earl or Sheriff shall have exiled any one from the 
country, they themselves may recall him, and pardon him if they will. Those 
Thanes who shall have had more than six manors pay relief of lands to the 
King only. The relief is eight pounds. But if he shall have had only six 
manors or fewer, three marks of silver shall be paid to the Sheriff for the 
relief. But the burgesses, citizens of York, do not pay relief." 
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The chief entries respecting the city of York are thus summed up by Sir 
Henry Ellis,*-" In the time of Edward the Confessor, there were six shires 
in York besides the shire of the Archbishop. One of these shires at the time 
of the Survey, had been demolished to make room for the Castles. In the 
other five shires there were 1,418 • mansionee hospitatle.' In the shire of the 
Archbishop there were, in the time of King Edward, 189 • maneiones hospi· 
tatle,' eo that the full number of those mansions was 1,697, besides the shire 
sacrificed to the Castles. The whole number may be presumed to have been 
1800, or thereabouts; the Curia of the Archbishop and the houses of the 
Canons not included in this estimate. The whole number of • Domus Hoe­
pitatle,' at the time of the Survey, may be reckoned at 1,036." 

Drake supposes that in all there were ll,OOO inhabited houses in York in 
the reign of the Confessor, containing a population of 10,000; and allowing 
th.e suburbs to be as extensive as Leland represents, he says, "we may rea· 
sonably suppose above as many more inhabtants to have resided in them. "t 
Sir H. Ellis, taking his figures from Domesday itself, makes the population of 
th.e 111/wU county 8,056 persons. If this contrast be correct, the devastation in 
Yorkshire caused by the Conquest must indeed have been terrific. As has 
been shown at page 122, York, long the" Athens of the North," was, at the 
period of the Conquest, as fair and beautiful as the city of Rome, and ita 
buildings were as magnificent. But its splendours are doomed. The citi­
zens unfortunately refused to yield obedience to the Conqueror, and after a 
siege of six months they surrendered, and their city was razed to the ground. 
It never entirely recovered this shock. 

In 1137 York was again burnt accidentally, including the Cathedral, St. 
Mary's Abbey, St. Leonard's Hospital, and forty parish Churches. From 
being the metropolis of an empire, and the chief residence of the Northum­
brian Kings, York had now gradually reduced to the capital and seat of an 
Earldom ; the limits of the district under this term being for a long time 
eo-extensive with the boundaries of the kingdom of Northumbria. 

"One of the first Parliaments mentioned in history," says Drake," was 
held at. York about the year 1160, in the reign of Henry II.'' The same 
Monarch held another Parliament here in 1171, at which William, King of 
Scotland, did homage for his kingdom. 

In the beginning of the reign of Richard I., a great massacre of the Jewa 
took place here, the details of which are of the most shocking character. 
(See page 126.) In 1230 King Henry ill. with Alexander, King of Scotland, 

• Sil' H. Ellia'a DomeedaJ, vol ii., p. 6011. • t Eboncum, p. 2M. 
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and an immense number of the nobility and gentry of IJoth kingdoms, kept 
Christmas at York; and again in 1251 the city was honoured by the same 
illustrious personages, to celebrate the marriage of the Princess Margaret, 
daughter of Henry III., and the Scottish King. In 1291 Edward I. visited 
York, on his way to Scotland; and in 1208 the same monarch held a Par· 
liament here, to which he summoned the King of Scotland. This was the 
beginning of the wars between the two kingdoms, which raged during that 
and the following reign. Several Parliaments were held at York during the 
reigns of the first three Princes of the house of Plantagenet. In 1880 the 
unfortunate Richard III. was at York, and conferred the title of Lord Mayor 
on William de Selby, who then filled that high municipal office. During the 
Wars of the Roses York experienced many calamities. Richard ill. soon 
after his accession visited York, where, according to Drake, be caused him· 
self to be crowned a second time, his first coronation having taken place 
previously in London. But though the ceremonials connected with Richard's 
visit were exceedingly gorgeous, yet Mr. Davies, in his recent work on the 
City Records, has adduced evidence which goes a great way to prove that 
his own coronation was certainly not one of them. (See page 170.) In 1641 
Henry VIII. established the Great Council of the North, at York, and directed 
its sittings to be held at the Manor House, then newly erected out of the 
ruins of St. Mary's Abbey, which, with the rest of the monastic institutions 
of the realm, had been previously suppressed. In 1608 York was visited by 
James I. In 1604 the plague raged here to an alarming extent. (See page 
lUIS.) In the reign of Charles I. that monarch retired to York at the com· 
mencement of the commotions between him and his Parliament. In April, 
1644, the city was besieged by nearly 40,000 men of the Parliament's forces* 
under Sir Thomas Fairfax and the Earls of Manchester and Leven. During 
this siege was fought the battle of Marston Moor, on tho 2nd of July, and 
the city was surrendered on honorable terms on the 11th of the same month. 
At the Restoration, Charles II. was proclaimed here amid great rejoicings. 
During the period preceding the Revolution in 1688, this city was noted for 
its opposition to the King: and in the very year of the Revolution James II. 
took away its charter, and declared the office of Mayor to be vacant. Imme­
diately after the Revolution the charter was restored, and the civic offices of the 
city were re-established. From this period the most noticeable occurrences 
have been the visits of illustrious personages. Towards the end of the last 
century his Royal Highness, the Prince of Wales (afterwards George IV.), and 

• For liD aocount of this lietre see p~~e ~1 of this Hiatory. 
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his royal brother, the Duke of York, visited York; and Charles James Fox, 
the Earl St. Vincent, Prince Leopold, the Duke of Sussex, and the great 
Duke of Wellington, have also been here. An account of the visits of her 
present Majesty, her royal consort, and the juvenile members of the royal 
family, in the years 1885, 1848, 1849, 1850, and 1854, will be found at 
page 276 to 281 of this volume. 

ToPOGRAPHY.-In proceeding to describe York "as it is to day," the con· 
trast between it and York of the " olden time " forces itself strongly upon the 
mind, and serves to exhibit the vicissitudes to which the affairs of places as 
well as of persons are subject. But though York-imperial York-once the 
capital of Britain-the residence of Emperors and of Kings--has been shorn 
of some of its brightest beams; though in remote periods it has been three 
times razed to the ground, by the Saxons, the Danes, and the Normans; 
and though in modem times it has been deprived of its commerce by Hull, 
and of its manufactures by Leeds and other towns in the West-Riding, it is 
still an interesting and venerable city, and the See of an Archbishop. Con­
trasting modem York with its ancient imperial dignity, Sir Thomas Wid­
drington has written :-

York's not so great as old York was of yore, 
Yet York it is though wasted to the core; 
It's not that York which Ebrank built of old, 
Nor yet that York which was of Roman mould; 
York was the third time burnt, and what you see 
Are York's small ashes of antiquity. 

The City of York, the county town of Yorkshire, is situated near the centre 
of Great Britain, in one of the richest and most extensive plains or valleys 
in England, at the confluence of the riYers Ouse and Foss, and at the junc­
tion of the York and North Midland and the Great North of England 
Railways, as well as at the point where the three Ridings or districts of the 
county meet, though the city is independent of either of them. It is distant 
by the York and North Midland (now called the North Eastern) Railway 220 
miles; and by the Great Northern Railway 191 miles, N. N. W. of London. 
The distance from York to the following places (by Railway) is as follows:­
to Newcastle-upon-Tyne, 84 miles; to Leeds, 82; to Scarborough, 42t; to 
Whitby, 57; to Malton, 22; to Hull, 58; to Selby, 28; to Low Harrogate, 
29; to Market Weighton, 23; to Normanton, 24t; to Derby, 88; to Bir­
mingham, 129; to Manchester, 75; to Berwick-upon-Tweed, 151; and to 
Edinburgh, 208 miles. 

2 T 
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WALLS, GATES, &c.-The ancient City of York, which is about three 
miles in circumference, is almost surrounded with walls or rampartB; but 
there are no existing records to show when these walls were first erected, 
though there is a strong series of historical evidence to prove that York was 
fortified both during the Saxon and Danish periods, as well as under the 
Roman power. There is no doubt that under the Roman Prretors the ancient 
Eboracum was well fortified, and there appears to be little doubt that the 
form and direction of three of these Roman walls has at different times been 
discovered. Combining the evidence furnished by the position of the por· 
tions of the three ancient walls which have been found, the Rev. C. Well· 
beloved, of York, one of the best living authorities on the subject, thinks we 
are warranted in concluding that the ·Roman city was of a rectangular form, 
of about 650 yards by about 550, enclosed by a wall, and rampart mound of 
earth on the inner side of the wall, and perhaps a fosse without. According 
to his ideas, the four angles of the Roman wall were at the present M ultan· 
gular Tower in the Gardens of the Museum; near the end of Jubbergate 
(now called Market Street), where it adjoins Coney Street;* near the bottom 
of Aldwark; and somewhere in the vicinity of the present angle of tl1e city 
walls on Lord Mayor's Walk. There is however no dispute as to the Roman 
origin of the Multangular Tower and the wall adjoining. From its long 
defence against the Norman Conqueror it is certain, that according to the 
military science of the time, York was a formidable station, and must have 
been completely defended by walls and ditches. Henry III. granted 11 pntent 
to the Lord Mayor to levy certain tolls in specie on certain goods entering 
York, which was to be applied to the maintenance of the fortifications of the 
city; and Drake, in his EborMum, copies at length three writs of matulamtU 
issued to the Dean and Chapter, the better to enforce the ta."t. 

It is generally supposed that these rampartB were rebuilt in the reign of 
Edward I., with a view to rendering the city better able to resist the inroads 
of the Scots, whose invasions he had but too much reason to expect. In the 
reign of his son and successor Edward II., the Scots made such inroads into 
the country as to penetrate even to the very gates of York, but without 
daring to undertake the siege. (See page 187.) In the Fredera of Rymer 
we find the following mandate from Edward ill. to the" Mayor and Bailiffs 
of the City of York," directing them to repair the fortifications, and provide 

• In 1832 the foundations of an angular tower were discovered while making exca. 
,·ations in Market Street (late Jubbergate.) 
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ammunition for the defence of the place; and the method of defraying the 
expense is characteristic of the lawlessness of the times. 

"Since the Scotch, our enemies and rebels, have thought fit to enter our 
kingdom in an hostile manner near Carlisle, with all their power, as we are 
certainly informed," says the mandate, "and kill, bum, destroy, and act other 
mischiefs as far as they are able, we have drawn down our army in order, by 
God's assistance, to restrain their malice, and to that end tum our steps 
towards that country and those enemies. 

"We, considering our aforesaid city of York, especially whilst Isabel, 
Queen of England, our most_ dear mother, our brother and sisters,* abide in 
the same, to be more safely kept and guarded ; least any sudden danger from 
our enemies' approach should happen to the said city; or fear affright our 
mother, brother, and sisters, which God avert, for want of sufficient ammu­
nition and guard ; we strictly command and charge you, upon your faiths 
and allegiance, and on the forfeiture of everything you can forfeit to us, im­
mediately at sight of these presents, without excuse or delay, to inspect and 
overlook all your walls, ditches and towers, and ammunition, proper for the 
defence of the said city ; taking with you such of our faithful servants as will 
be chosen for this purpose ; and to take such order for its defence that no 
danger can happen to the city by neglect of such safeguards. 

"And we, by these presents, give you full power and authority to distrain 
and compel all and singular owners of houses or rents in the said city, or 
merchants, or strangers, inhabiting the same, by the seizure of their bodies 
or goods, to be aiding towards the security of the walls, bulwarks, or towers, 
as you in your own discretion shall think fit to ordain for the making other 
useful and necessary works about it; punishing all those that are found to 
contradict or rebel against this order, by imprisonment, or what other methods 
you think fit. Study therefore to use such diligence in the execution of the 
premises, that we may find it in the effect of your works; and that we may 
have no occasion from your negligence, should danger happen, to take severe 
notice of you. Dated at Durham, July 15. A. 1327. 

"BY THE KING." 

In 1538 Leland commenced his ItiMrary by command· of Henry VITI., 
and in that ancient record is the following account of the state of the fortifi­
cations of York at that period:-" The towne of Yorke standeth by west and 
est of Ouse river running through it, but that part that lyeth by est is twice 

• Prince John of Eltham, and the Princesses Joan and Elinor. 
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as grete in building as the other. Thus goeth the waul from the ripe (or 
bank) of Ouse of the est part of the cite of York. Fyrst, a grete towre with 
a chaine of yron to cast over the Ouse, than another towre and soe to Bow­
damgate ; from Bowdamgate or bar to Goodramgate or bar x towres ; thens 
four towres to Laythorpe a postern gate, and soe by a space of two Bite 
shottes, the blind and deep water of Fosse coming out of the forest of Galtres, 
defended this part of the cite without waules; then to Waumgate three 
towres and thens to Fishergate, stoppid up sins the communes humid it yn 
the tyme of King Henry the seventh. Theus to the ripe of Fosse have three 
towres, and in the three a postern ; and thens over Fosse by a bridge to the 
castelle. The west part of the cite is thus ynclosed; first a turrit, and soe 
the waul runneth over the side of the dungeon of the castelle on t\e west side 
of Ouse, right agayne the castelle on the est ripe. The plotte of this castelle 
is now called Ould Baile, and the area and ditches of it doe manifestly ap­
peare. Betwixt the beginninge of the first part of this west waulle and 
Micklegate be ix towres; and betwixt it and the ripe agayne of Ouse be xi 
towres ; and at this xi towres be a postern gate, and the towre of it is right 
agayne the est towre, to draw over the chain on Ouse betwixt them." 

The siege of York in 1644 damaged ·the walls very considerably; and the 
three following years were employed in repairing them. Walmgate Bar and 
the walls around it had suffered more than any of the rest, on account of the 
batteries on Lamel Mill Hill. The Bar was moreover undermined and much 
shaken by the explosion. The date of the completion of the repairs of this 
part (1648) stands above the arch of the outer Barbican. The walls between 
Monk Bar and Layerthorpe Postern were restored in 1666; and in 1669, 
those near Bootham Bar were repaired at the cost of the city. In 1673 the 
walls from Walmgate Bar to their termination at the Red Tower, on the 
banks of the Foss, were repaired, but they are now in a state of dilapidation. 
About the year 1700 the whole circuit of the walls was paved with brick, 
and thrown open to the public as a promenade. It appears that soon after 
this date they began to fall into decay, and as no means were taken to pre­
vent the dilapidation, the time did not appear far off when they would be 
entirely destroyed. But in the year 1831 the Corporation granted a donation 
of £100. towards their restoration, and a considerable sum was raised by 
subscription for the same purpose. The length of the wall between North 
Street Postern and Micklegate Bar was restored at a cost of .£1,067. 17s. 6d.; 
and from that Bar to Skeldergate Postern, for £1,725. 1s. 6d. The walls 
also from Fishergate Postern, on the opposite side of the river, a little beyond 
Fishergate Bar, were likewise restored. W almgate Bar and Barbican, and 
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the remainder of the wall between that point and Fishergate, were restored 
with the sum of £500. (increased by several subscriptions) which the Corpo· 
ration received from the Great North of England Railway Company, for per· 
mission to erect the gateway to their coal depot near North Street Postern.* 
Nearly the whole circle of the ancient fortifications is now open to the public, 
and forms a most delightful promenade, at once commanding the advantages 
of the purest air and most pleasing prospects; embracing-within the walls 
-the noble Cathedral in some of its finest points of view; the picturesque 
ruins of St. Mary's Abbey; the Roman Multangular Tower; the classical 
building (the Museum) and elegant grounds of the Yorkshire Philosophical 
Society; the venerable Guild-Hall, rising from the water's edge; and the 
Castle and Clifford's Tower, its ancient keep. And beyond the walls the 
views are eitensive and delightful, embracing the beautiful Ouse, Severns's 
Hill, and other interesting objects. The walls completely encompass that 
part of the city which is situated on the western side of the river Ouse. 
Commencing near the river, at Skeldergate Postern, the promenade is perfect, 
and the walk delightful-passing Micklegate Bar and the Railway Station­
till we reach again the bank of the river at North Street Postern. Here the 
wall terminates with a picturesque old tower, from which a chain was for­
merly attached across the river to Lendal Tower on the opposite side. From 
the latter tower the wall may be traced in the Museum gardens, running 
towards the entrance lodge; and from St. Leonard's Hospital (adjacent to 
the lodge) to the Multangular Tower from whence it takes an easterly direc­
tion past the Manor House or School for the Blind. From hence there is 
an interruption, till we arrive at Bootham Bar, from whence it extends in a 

·south-easterly direction to Monk Bar. This part of the wall is in good 
repair, but has no public walk upon it; a good view of it may be obtained 
from Lord Mayor's Walk. From Monk Bar the wall sweeps in a southern 
direction to Layerthorpe, and is in good preservation, and open to the 
public. From Layerthorpe Postern to the Red Tower, the river Foss and 
the marshy ground adjoining it sufficiently protected the city, and rendered 
a wall unnecessary As has been already observed, the wall from the Red 

"Probably it is not generally known," says Mr. Wellbeloved, in one of his notes to the 
anthor of York and iu Vicinity, "that the last reparation of the walls originated with 
a few persons anxious to walk in the ' old ways,' who formed an Association called • The 
Foot-path Association.' At a meeting of the associstors, one member proposed that the 
walk on the walls shonld be considered ns a common foot.path. A resolution to that 
etl'ect brought the state of the walls under the notice of the A.ssociation, and successful 
meuures were &&ken, terminating in a general and complete repair." 
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Tower to Walmgate Bar is much decayed; but from the latter place to its 
teTmination at Fisbergate Postern, it is in good repair, and the promenade 
is open. 

The dilapidated walls from Walmgate Bar to the Red Tower, a distance 
of nearly 350 yards, are about to be restored, and when this is effected, the 
whole of the walls of the city will be in a state of perfect repair. Though 
this latter portion of the ramparts is particularly interesting, owing to its 
being the oldest part of the time-honoured walls of this ancient city, and to 
its having peculiarities which no other portion })()Ssesses-being built on a 
series of rude and irregular arches, on account of the unsound nature of the 
soil-an attempt to destroy it bas been lately made. The Local Board of 
Health Committee, at the instigation, it is said, of an interested individual, 
recently recommended that this portion of the walls should be p~ed down; 
and the chief reason given by the despoilers for the proposed act of Vandal· 
ism, was that their removal would improve the health of the locality (a sheer 
fallacy), and that the site of the walls being made available for building pur­
poses, might be sold for from £2,000. to £3,000. 

Such a recommendation, and coming from such a quarter, very naturally 
aroused the feelings of the citizens, who are justly proud of the antiquities 
they possess, and anxious carefully to preserve them. The Yorkshire Anti­
quarian Club, and the Yorkshire Architectural Society, and others interested 
in the protection of the ancient remains of this city, lost no time in memori­
alizing the Council. The memorial of the latter society was signed by the 
Archbishop of York, and no less than eight peers of the realm, besides a 
great number of influential gentlemen connected with the city and county. 
At the Quarterly Meeting of the City Council, on Monday, February 12th, 
1855--a day to be held memorable by the local antiquarian-these memo­
rials were read, and the whole subject of the proposed act of desecration was 
ably discussed. Honour to those members of the Council who supported the 
resolution, that the minutes of the Board of Health Committee, recommending 
the removal of the walls, be not confirmed, but that the walls be repaired and 
retained, provided their restoration can be effected by public subscription. 
Honour to Mr. Alderman Leeman, and the other gentlemen who ably pointed 
out the great value of these relics of antiquity, and justly contended that if 
they were allowed to be removed, the demolition of the other portions of the 
walls might soon follow. 

To the delight of all the lovers of antiquities in the city and county, that 
spirit of Vandalism, which at former periods sanctioned the destruction of the 
beautiful ruins of the Abbey of St. Mary, even by allowing its elegantly 
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carved stone-work to be burnt into lime; that same spirit which had con­
templated the removal of Clifford's Tower, and the cutting down of the 
magnificent trees on the New Walk; and which would no\v sweep away these 
venerated ramparts, was suppressed at the above-mentioned meeting by a 
majority of twenty-two. Those who voted for the retention of the walls were 
Mr. Ald. Leeman, Mr. Ald. Meek, Mr. Ald. Wood, Mr. Ald. Evers, Mr. Ald. 
Richardson, the Sheriff, Messrs. Parkinson, Woollons, E. R Anderson, G. 
Steward, Clark, Bell, Craven, Shilleto, Hunt, Watkinson, Hands, E. Calvert, 
Wilkinson, Husband, E. Allen, Douglas, Smith, Scholefield, Clarke, John 
Meek, Lambert, Yallow, and J . Allen. And the parties in favour of the 
demolition of the walls were Mr. Ald. Seymour, Mr. Ald. Rowntree, Messrs. 
F. Calvert, )Vilberforce, Thompson, Scott, and Mann. It was then agreed 
that a subscription should be at once entered into, in order that the vote 
which had been come to might be carried out, and the walls repaired. 

The circumference of the ramparts of York, according to Drake, from a 
survey made in August, 1665, is two miles, three furlongs, and ninety-six 
yards (an extent little inferior to that of the old walls of London, which 
was only three miles), made up of the following distances between the prin· 
cipal entrances:-

PERCHES, 

Red Tower to Walmgnte Bar...... 60 
Thence to Fishergate Postern . • • • 99 
Thence to Cast.legate Postern • • • • 68 
Thence to Skeldergate Postern • • 34 
Thence to Micklegate Bar. . . . . . . • 136 
Thence to North Street Postern . • 140 
Thence to Bootham Bar . . . . . . . . 86 

PERCHES. 

Brought forward • • • • 613 
Bootham Bar to Monk Bar • • • • • • 116 
Thence to l.ayerthorpe Bridge • • • • 66 
Thence to the Red Tower • • • • • • • • 80 

TOTAL ........ . 876 

The fortified walls round York, and those at Chester, are the only remains 
of this kind of military architecture on so extensive a scale in the kingdom. 
The Corporation of York are invested with an annual income for the main­
tenance of the ramparts, and at Chester a specific duty on certain merchandise 
is levied for a similar purpose. Professor Phillips, in speaking of York and 
its ramparts, says, "Innumerable battle plains surround her Roman camp; 
and from her walls we may see three decisive fields-where Hardrada fell at 
Stamford Bridge, and Clifford died at Towton Dale, and Rupert fted from 
Marston Moor-si:tteen centuries of historical renown dignify the winding 
streets and narrow pavements by which we reach the feudal walls, the Bene· 
dictine Abbey, the N orthumbrian Church, the camp of the victorious Legion."* 

• Phillip's Rivers and Mountains of Yorkshire. 
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The entrances into the city of York are by four principal Gates or Bars, 
Tiz., Micklegate Bar on the south-west, Bootham Bar on the north-west, 
Monk Bar on the north-east, and Walmgate Dar on the south-east. There 
are also three smaller entrances thus distinguished-Fisbergate Bar, Victoria 
Bar, and Fishergate Postern. There were formerly posterns at Skeldergate, 
Castlegate, North Street, and Layerthorpe. 

MicklegaU Bar the principal gate and chief entrance of the city from the 
south is the most magnificent, and previous to the destruction of the Bar­
bican or out work, in 1826, must have made a very imposing and venerable 
appearance. It is a square tower with a fine circular arch, and embattled 
turrets at the angles. Each of these turrets are adorned with a stone figure 
in a menacing attitude. Drake conceived that the centre arch was Roman, 
and strenuously maintained his opinion, in which he was supported by the 
Earl of Burlington; but James Essex, the Architect, contradicted this opi· 
nion; and Sir Henry C. Englefield in a paper read before the Society of 
Antiquaries, in 1780, satisfactorily points out the identity between the style 
of architecture displayed in this Bar, and that of se\·eral undisputed Saxon 
and Norman edifices; so that it is now generally agreed, that so far from the 
arch being a Roman erection, it is most likely a Norman work. The lower 
parts of the structure are built of a grey stone of very coarse grit, whilst the 
upper walls and turrets are constructed of a fine white limestone, and the 
difference of style, as well as of materials, shows that the work is of two dif. 
ferent periods. Above the gate is a shield of arms, suspended from a garter 
of Sir John Lister Kaye, who was Lord Mayor in 1787, and beneath is the 
inscription, now nearly defaced, "Renovata A.D. vnccxxxvu." Higher up 
on the building are the royal arms of Old France and England, quarterly, 
between those of the city of York, all emblazoned in colours. Over each 

. shield is a small Gothic canopy, and above the royal arms is a helmet crested 
with a lion pauant gudant, the whole gilt. These arms and crest were 
painted and gild anew in 1827, and are now much in want of similar treat­
ment. On the city side are the arms of France and England quarterly.* 
The two small doors which opened from the lateral turrets upon the battle­
ments of the Barbican, are still visible, and sinee the alterations in 1826, 
they have bad a very singular appearance. Drake, writing in 1786, says of 
this entrance, " The Bar is strengthened by an outer gate, which bad a massy 
iron chain that went across, then a portcullis, and lastly a mighty strong 
double wooden gate, which closed in every night at the usual hour. It has 

• Anlhelosia, vol. vi., p. 1~. 
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the character altogether, as to ancient fortification, to he as noble anc.l nugust 
a port as most in Europe." Since Drake's time various alterations and mu· 
tilations have occurred in this venerable pile. The outer gate, the massy 
chain, and the portcullis, which was a large wooden grate, with iron spikes 
at the bottom, have all disappeared. Sir Wll.lter Scott is reported to have 
said that if walking from Edinburgh to York would induce the Corporation 
to preserve the barbican, he would gladly undertake the journey. 

"It appears by a record in the Pipe Office," writes Mr. Drake, " that one 
Benedict Fitz-Engelram gave half a mark for license to build a certain house 
upon this bar, and sixpence annual rent for having it hereditary, the 8th of 
Richard I. {1197 .) But this does not ascertain the age of the present struc­
ture. Yet I observe the .fteura de lil in the royal arms are not confined to the 
number of three, which puts it out of doubt that they were placed there 
before the time of Henry V.; who was the first that gave that particular 
number in his bearing." ·The apartments in the tower of this, as well as 
those of Monk Bar and Walmgate Bar, are now inhabited by some of the 
police of the city, and their families. The tower of Bootham Dar is un­
occupied. 

In 1754 the gate on the west side of this bar was erected for the greater 
safety of foot passengers. The gateway on the east side of it was part of the 
alteration of 18~6. The top of this tower is covered with lead, and commands 
a most interesting prospect of the surrounding country. The ascent to the 
tower, and to the walls adjoining it, is by a double flight of stone steps on 
both sides of the street. This was the bar upon which it was customary to 
place the heads of state criminals after execution. 

Bootham Bar, the entrance from the north, is an ancient structure, chiefly 
built of the grit stone generally used by the Romans, and has a circular arch 
similar to Micklegate Bar. "The structure of this port," says Drake, "is 
very ancient, being almost wholly built of grit, but wanting that symmetry 
so very conspicuous in Micklegate Bar. It is certainly Gothic, though built 
of Roman materials. The inside was rebuilt with free stone in 1719." The 
Barbican was removed in 1831, and the whole structure narrowly escaped 
removal; the interference of the citizens, in public meeting assembled on the 
16th of February, 1832, alone preserved the venerable relic. A sum of £800. 
was raised by subscription (the Corporation gave £100., provided the inhabi­
tants would raise £200.), and the exterior and interior was substantially 
repaired. At the same time the street at the west side of the bar was 
widened, and a. new and excellent approach to the city formed, called St. Leo­
nard's Place. The barbican had embattled turrets at the angles. On the 

~ u 
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top of the outer front of the tower are the remains of three stone figures, 
similar to those on Micklegate Bar. Previously to the reparations in 1831, 
there was in the inner front, facing the city, a large niche over the arch, 
''hich contained a stone figure of a King, much mutilated. By some it was 
"upposed to represent Ebrauc, the presumed founder of the city ; but it was 
t'\·idently of more modem costume, and was most probably a statue of King 
James I. There are arches on each side of the gate for foot passengers, 
and the portcullis still retains its ancient position over the outer arch. 

ltlonk Bar, which forms the approach from Scarborough, Malton, and the 
(•ast, is a stately gate, with a circular arch. The foundation is of grit stone, 
1.111d on the exterior of the tower front are the arms of Old France quartered 
with those of England; which circumstance bespeaks its antiquity. Above 
the shield is a mutilated helmet beneath a Gothic canopy; and on the battle­
ments of the turrets are stone figures in a menacing posture. The doors and 
barbican were removed in 1815, but the ancient portcullis is still remaining. 
Mr. Britton considers this gate as probably the most curious and perfect 
specimen of this sort of architecture in the kingdom; and therefore very in· 
teresting to the antiquary and architect.* Monk Bar is the loftiest of the 
four, and is a beautiful specimen of the castellated architecture which pre­
,·ailcd in the fourteenth century. This bar, we are told by Drake, was for· 
merly made use of as a prison for freemen of the city; and the two storitlS 
of vaulted chambers in the tower were formerly used for that purpose. The 
gateway roof is groined, and the city front displays several windows with 
mullions and plain arched heads. There is a thoroughfare for foot pas· 
sengers on each side of the bar, of modem erection. The prospect of the 
surrounding country from the top of the tower is truly delightful. 

JV almgate Bar, situated at the end of W almgate, is the entrance into York 
from Beverley, Hull, &c., and is supposed to derive its name, by corrupt pro­
nunciation, from the great Roman road, called Watling Street. This bar 
still retains its barbican and portcullis, as well as a great portion of the old 
oak door and wicket of the main gateway, and is now a faithful representa­
tion of the defences placed near the principal entrances of a fortified town in 
the middle ages. It is built in the same manner as the others, being square, 
with embattled turrets at the angles. Towards the foundation are some large 
blocks of grit; but the arches, &c., are modem, having undergone a thorough 
repair in 1648, after this gate had been almost demolished by the Parliament­
arian army during the civil war of that period. 

• York Cathedral, p. 37. 
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The main building of the bar belongs to the time of Edward I.; and thl' 
barbican, which has a pointed arch, to the time of Ed,vard III. Over the 
outer gateway are the llflDS of Henry V., and an inscription denoting that 
the bar and barbican was restored by the Corporation of York, A.D. 1840, 
Sir William Stephenson Clark, knight, being Lord Mayor; and over the 
gate of the barbican are the City Arms, and the date" 16,8," shewing the 
time of its repair after the siege of 1644. The cost of the restoration 
was .£500. Attached to the city front is an extraneous erection of wood 
and plaster of two stories. The lower story is supported by two Tuscan 
columns; the front of the first story is also adorned with two columns of 
the same order ; and the second has Ionic pillars, withan' architrave and 
cornice. 

Filkergate Bar, which stands at the end of St. George Street, was walled 
up from the time of Henry VII. to the month of October, 1827, when, in 
consequence of the formation of the new market for cattle on the outside of 
this part of the walls, it was again opened. It consists of a plain centre arch, 
with two narrow arches for foot passengers. There is no tower over the 
gate, and the arch is in a great measure new. Leland tells us that this bar 
was burnt in the time of Henry VII. by the peasantry of Yorkshire, who took 
the city, and would have beheaded Sir Richard Yorke, then Lord Mayor, 
and that it was then blocked up. 

Over this gateway on each side are sculptures and inscriptions. On the 
exterior of the bar is one representing Sir William Todd, merchant, who was 
a great benefactor to the reparation of the walls, on which is the following 
inscription: "A. Dm. COCCo. LXXXVII. Sr. Willm. Tod, knyght & mair 
jou-ates some tyme was schyriffe did this cost himself." Over this in· 
.scription was formerly a piece of rude sculpture, representing a senator in 
his robes, and a female kneeling by him. The other inscription is on the 
city side, and placed under the arms of the city. It is as follows: "A0 • 

DOMINE M. CCCC. LXXXVII. Sir William Tod knight L ..... mayre 
this wal was mayde in his dayes IX yerdys." 

Filhergate Postern, the only one of the old posterns now remaining, is 
situated at the termination of the walls in Fishergate, and is a solid square 
stone building with a tiled roof. It was erected at the beginning of the 16th 
century, and is singular for its beauty and exactness of symmetry, as well as 
an admirable specimen of the species of defence placed near small gates and 
sally ports. The only openings in the walls towards the exterior are two 
narrow windows immediately beneath the roof, which is made as far as pos· 
sible to defend them. From these elevated windows boiling oil, pitch, stones, 
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aml every description of deadly missile, were showered down upon the be­
siegers ncar the gate. It has a low pointed arched footway, and was so 
rontrived with a view to prevent ingress except in a stooping attitude, which 
would, of course, give the defenders an advantage. Adjoining to this gate­
way arc some remains of Homan masonry, principally arches of grit stone. 

Skeltleryare P01tern formerly stood on the opposite side of tJ1e river, but 
the building was removed in 1808. This postern has been in some measure 
replaced by a new circular arch over the road leading to the city gaol, erected 
in 1831. There is a ferry boat kept near the site of this postern, which 
opens a communication with the New Walk. This ferry is rented from the 
Corporation by a person whosc duty it is to be constantly in attendance 
during the day. 

North Street Postern, at the termination of the walls at Nortl1 Street, has 
been replaced by a new and handsome nrch for carriages, and two side arches 
for foot passengers, erected in 1840, by the Great North of England Railway 
Company. For permission to build this entrance and obtain a road into 
North Street, the Railway company paid the Corpomtion £500., which sum 
has been expended in restoring W almgate Bar and barbican. The tower of 
North Street Postern, which is still in existence, was the connecting link 
between the west and east lines of fortification. Its form is circular, and it 
was used for the double purpose of a postern and a watch tower for tho 1iver. 
There is a ferry at this postern, which communicates with the opposite bank 
of the river, and the person who rents it from the Corporation resides in the 
ancient tower. 

Lendal Tou:er stands on the opposite side of the river, and as has been 
shewn by the quotation from Leland at a preceding page, when the fortifications 
of the city were complete, a stroug iron chain passed across the river from 
each of these towers.* In the directions issued by the Corporation in 1560, 
when they expected a siege by the rebel Earls, "all boats, pinks, and lighters, ·• 
are ordered to range themselves within this chain. Sir Thomas Widdrington 
mentions a postern at Lendal, hut no remnins of any such building are now 
to be seen. 

• Lendal Tower wns fot·merly converted ink> a warohousc, and in lOt:!:.! it was 
thoroughly repaired, and an engine wa.• placet! in it for the purpose of supplying th~ 
inhabitants with wnt~r. In I R~ll the <•ngine wa.~ plneed in n new <'ngin<' bouse; nml in 
ltl!(l thP Wllt<>rworkR wer~> altop;ether removed to Acomh Landing. Tllis tower was 
rnis<>tl hy the late Waterwork6 Company. and is considerably higher than that on tht> 
oppo~it<' "idt•, bl'ing a hove fifty -eight feC't abo\·e the lo•vel of the grountl. It iR still in 
tht' pn~scssion of the pre<ent Wnterwork< C•,mpnny, hnt is at present ot·cupiNl 116 an 
orgnn manufllctory. 
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The ancient Castle or Keep on Baile Hill, was intended to serve a some· 
what similar purpose as a corresponding station to Clifford's Tower, on the 
west bank of the river. 

J"ictoria Bar is the name given to the arch through the walls from Bishop­
hill to Clementhorpe, which was erected by subscription in 1838. On 
opening the wall a small gateway was found to have been anciently in the 
same place. 

Ctlltlegate Postern, which stood very near the ruins of Clifford's Tower, and 
in the direct road to the village of Fulford, possessed no peculiar feature. It 
was taken down in May, 1826, on commencing the new works at the gaol. 
Mr. Davies, in one of his interesting lectures at the York Institute, told us, 
that in the garden of some cottages close to this postern " there once was 
kept that instrument of punishment-the ducking stool-which was brought 
into requisition for the purpose of punishing females who might be called com­
mon scolds, this being effected by placing them in the stool, and plunging 
them three times overhead in the river. This custom was not disused until 
about 100 years ago; but now we live in more gallant times," he continued, 
" when any one might indulge their loquacity with impunity."* 

Lagert/wrpe Pomrn. was situated at the end of Layerthorpe Bridge, with 
the river Foss running in front. It was defended by a portcullis, and when 
the city was in a fortified state, was an important and well guarded post. It 
was removed when the present bridge over the Foss at this point was erected 
in 1829, in the place of the old and inconvenient arches, which previously 
stood here. 

The extensive and beautiful Tudor arch, through which the railway enters 

• The punishment of the Cuclrifl{l or DKClrifl{l Stool, or TumbreU, was anciently in. 
flicted upon peraons for minor transgressions. The culprit was placed in a stool or chair, 
and emerged overhead and ears, in 1tercore, in some muddy or stinking pond. The 
Burrow la•;s consign men to the pillory, and women to the cucking stool or tumbreU. 
These laws particularly refer to the frauds committed by brewers and bakers, and orders 
julll.ice to be done upon them by subjecting them to the discipline of the eucking stool 
for their third offence. In the "Actes Marie" it is expressly provided "that the women 
pertnrbatouris for skatrie of money or vtherwyse, salbe takin and put vpone the cukstules 
of eurie burgh or towne." In the Saxon iongue cuck, or guck, signifies to scold or brawl, 
taken from the bird cuckoo, or guckoo ; and ing in that language signifies water. In 
the north of England the oommon people pronounoe it duclrifi{I·ICool, which perhaps may 
have sprung from the Belgic or Teutonic ducker!, to dive under water. This machine, 
which has also been called the trebucket or trap.door, was exhibited in terrorem to keep 
that unruly member, the female tongue, in due subjection, but many instances occur of 
hardy females, who have undauntedly braved the punishment rather than surrender the 
invaluable privilep wbieh a woman holds most dear. 
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the city, was erected in 1840, and from the walls near this arch may be seen, 
on the outside, the original depth of the scarp and counter scarp, in other 
words, of the ditch which defended the base of the wall. This is the only 
place where these features of the circumvallation are presened entire. 

Besides these bars and posterns, there were at different distances in the 
walls seYeral small rooms or cells, and numerous towers, a few of which yet 
remain. The most remarkable of these is called the !ftdtangular Towr, in 
the gardens of the Museum. This interesting relic of the Roman era con· 
sists of a portion of the wall of a large tower, having ten sides of a nearly 
regular thirteen sided figure, forming nine obtuse angles, whence it derives 
ita name. Antiquarians nearly all agree that this tower and the wall ad­
joining it, is a portion of the fortifications of the Roman station of Ebor· 
acum ; and though built probably about the middle of the thifd century 
of the Christian era, they are in a remarkably good state of presenation, 
considering the danger to which they have been exposed amidst the various 
vicissitudes which the city of York has experienced during the long and 
often much troubled period that has elapsed since Britain was abandoned 
by the Romans. 

Dr. Lister, in describing these remains to the Royal Society, says, "Care­
fully viewing the antiquities of York, the dwelling of at least two of the 
Roman Emperors-Severus and Constantius-I found part of a wall yet 
standing, which is undoubtedly of that time. It is the south wall of the Mint 
Yard, and consists of a multangular tower, which did lead to Bootham Bar, 
and part of a wall which ran the length of Coning Street, as be who sba11 
attentively view it on both sides may discern. The outside to the river is 
faced with a very small sa.rum quadratum of about four inches thick, and laid 
in levels like our modem brickwork. The length of the stones is not ob­
sened, but they are as they fell out, in hewing. From the foundation twenty 
courses of these small squared stones are laid, and over them five courses of 
Roman bricks. These b1;cks are placed some lengthways, some endways in 
the walls, and were called lateres diatoni; after these five courses of brick, 
other twenty-two courses of small square stones, as before described, are laid, 
which raise the wall some feet higher, and then five more courses of the same 
Roman bricks; beyond which the wall is imperfect, and capped with modem 
building. In all this height there is not any casement or loop-hole, but one 
entire and uniform wall ; from which we may infer that this wall was built 
some courses higher, after the same order. The bricks were to be as 
thoroughs, or as it were so many new foundations, to that which was to be 
superstructed, and to bind the two sides firmly together; for the wall itself 
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is only faced with small square stone, and the middle thereof filled with 
mortar and pebble."* 

The exterior of the tower exhibits the rude repairs it has received in later 
times, and the portion may be plainly discerned, which was raised upon it 
when it was made part of the wall of York in the middle ages. The masonry 
of the interior of the tower is remarkably "fresh and perfect, owing to its 
haYing been concealed for many ages by an accumulation of soil, which has 
only recently been removed. A small portion of a wall is remaining, which 
appears to have divided the tower into two equal portions. The diameter of 
the whole interior at the base or floor, is about SSt feet. The lower com­
partments bad a mortar floor laid upon sand, and having no light but from the 
entrance, Mr. W ellbeloved thinks that they may have been used as depositories 
of stores or arms. There seems to have been a timber floor at the height of 
about five feet above this, and a third floor about nine feet higher up. These 
upper apartments bad each a narrow window or aperture, so placed as to 
enable those withiu to observe what was passing without on the line of each 
wall ; and this circumstances leads to the supposition that they had been 
used as guard rooms. The opening of these apertures externally was not 
more than six inches in width, but within it expanded to about five feet. 
The Roman wall directs its course from the angle tower in a north easterly 
direction, and baa been traced as far as Bootham Bar, where the foundations 
and · some interesting fragments of the old Roman gate were discovered. 
Between the Multangular Tower and the ancient gate, remains of two wall 
towers and one entire small chamber have been found buried with the modem 
wall of the city. These towers; and the wall connected with them, were 
removed when the new entrance into the city through St. Leonard's Place 
was formed. The other Roman wall ran from the angle tower in the direction 
of Lendal and Coney Street. 

"The Multangular Tower with the wall adjoining it," writes Mr. Well­
beloved, " is the only portion of the fortifications of Eburacum or Roman 
York, existing above ground. But in excavating for sewers and other pur· 
poses, various portions of the foundations of such fortifications have been 
found ; by means of which the exact extent of one side, and the direction of 
two other sides of the Roman Station have been satisfactorily ascertained. 
No distinct traces of a fourth side have yet been found, or if found, noticed 
by any antiquary. It can only be conjectured that it nearly coincided with 

• Dr. Langwith, who tells us that this method of building with brick and stone wu 
originally African, obsenes that as Severns was an African by birth, it is highly probable 
that it was introduced here by that Emperor. 
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the rampart and wall connected with Monk Bar and Layerthorpe Bridge. 
If this conjecture, justified by what is certainly known of the three other 
walls of the Roman station, be adopted, it appears that Roman York occupied 
comparatively a small portion of the site of modern York, and that it was 
entirely on the north side of the river Ouse: the south side being occupied, 
as recent discoveries have clearly shown, by extensive baths, temples, villas, 
and places of burial; on the road leading from Eburacum to Calcaria (Tad· 
caster), the next station towards the south. 

The same learned antiquary places the Roman bridge over the Ouse higher 
up the river than the present one. He thinks that it was thrown across from 
about St. Helen's Square to Tanner Row. 

For ages the Roman Multangular Tower remained in a neglected state, 
until it came into the hands of the Yorkshire Philosophical Society in 1826; 
and when the accumulation of rubbish, which had been collected for cen~ 
turies, was cleared away, several English coins of various dates were dis­
covered near the surface, while many Roman coins were found in the bottom. 
And if any doubt existed of its Roman origin, it has been entirely removed 
by the discovery of Roman legionary inscriptions on some stones in the lower 
courses of the interior. Sir H. C. Englefield is the only person who has 
disputed the Roman origin of this tower, but he has not been so successful in 
establishing his opinion in this case as in that of the arch of Micklegate Bar. 

T/UJ &tl Tower, so called from having been chiefly built of red brick, is an 
erection of great antiquity. It is situated on the south bank of the river, 
and there is no doubt of its having originally been a portion of the fortifica­
tions of the city, for it is connected with Walmgate Bar by a continuation of 
the bar walls up to it. This tower, in the time of the Romans, commanded 
a grand bay, the basin or dock of which was more than a mile in circum­
ference, and thus completed the protection of the city on that side. It, 
however, has undergone so many alterations, and been devoted to such a 
variety of uses, that its original features are gone. Still the foundations are 
of the same stone as the bar walls, and stone loopholes the same as those in 
the bar walls are remaining. The brick work is composed of bricks of various 
ages and manufactur&-the oldest being broader and thinner than any of the 
others, and not unlike those which appear mixed with the stone work of the 
Roman Multangular Tower. The present appearance of this ancient struc­
ture conveys but a very imperfect idea of the once stately square tower, 
through the loopholes of which the engines of war were pointed to protect 
the navy of the port of York from hostile attack. In modem times the Red 
Tower was used as a manufactory of brimstone (from which circumstance 
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it is sometimes called the Brimstone House), and that has aggravated the 
dilapidation& of time. Where the brick walls are perfect they are about four 
feet thick. The port-boles are now mostly filled up, and the building is at 
present used as a· pig-stye. 

Lendal Tower has been already noticed. Besides the towers of the city 
ramparts, there are the remains of two other towers which belonged to the 
walls of St. Mary's Abbey. One of these, called St. Mary's Tower, is situated 
in Bootham at the end of the street called Marygate, and was blown up by a 
mine during the siege of York (See page 242) ; and the other stands at the 
lower end of Marygate on the bank of the river. Of the small rooms or 
cells in the ramparts mentioned above, there are several still remaining. 

In the south-east corner of the city, and just within the walls, is a large 
mound, the origin of which is not known. In ancient deeds it is called 
V~w BaUium, or Old Bayle, signifying a place of security; and probably 
forms the platform, as Leland and Camden suppose, of an ancient ruined 
Castle. The mound, which is now called Old Baik Hill, is ornamented 
with a small plantation of trees, and from its summit is a fine view of York, 
and of the rich country by which it is surrounded. 

The general opinion of historians is that there was a Castle on this arti­
ficial tumulus in the time of the Saxons, and that William the Conqueror 
erected upon it a tower to serve as the chief garrison for that part of the city 
not lying on the same side as the Castle. It is known to ha..e been, at a 
subsequent period, a prison belonging to the Archbishops, \vbo possessed the 
jurisdiction of the places now called BuhophiU, but the time of the origin 
and cessation of their authority in this part of the city is not known. The 
incorporation of their peculiar here with the rest of the city must have been 
later than 1826, for in that year a cause was tried before Queen Isabel, 
between the Archbishop, William de Melton, and the citizens, to settle a dis­
pute whether the Archbishop, as Lord of the Manor, was not bound to 
preserve the fortifications hereabouts. The verdict affirmed his liability. 
All traces of the Castle upon this hill have long since disappeared. Imme­
diately opposite the Old Baile Hill on the other side of the Ouse is a similar 
mound, upon which stands the ruins of Clifford's Tower, of which more anon. 

THE CASTLE.-According to Drake, the historian of York, there was a 
Castle in this city long before the Conquest, and its supposed site is the Old 
Baik Hill; but that fortress bas now disappeared, and the present Castle was, 
as our author conjectures, built on a Roman foundation. It was erected by 
the Conqueror, near tl1e eonftuence of the Foss and the Ouse, and made of 
great strength, so as to serve for the chief Norman garrison in Nortbumbria, 

2 X 
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and to keep the people in awe of their tyrant. It continued in the hands of 
the Crown for many subsequent reigns, and was used as the official residence 
of the High Sheriffs of Yorkshire in succession, as the Mansion House i:J 
uow the residence of each successiYe Lord Mayor. It was also used as a 
store house for the rewnues and munitions of the Crown in the northern 
counties, and there was a Constable of the Castle whose duty it was solely to 
attend to this department. This fortress was entirely surrounded by a deep 
moat, the course of which mny yet be clearly traced, the buildings being thus 
rendered inaccessible except by two draw-bridges. The principal gate or 
entrance from the county, down to the early part of the \ast century, was on 
the cast side, near the Castle Mills; and the city entrance was on the north 
side. A small arch under the walls in front of the latter gate, where the 
arms of the city were placed, shewed the spot where the ancient draw-bridge 
was erected; whil<>t the bridge, gate, towers, and sally port, on the eastern side, 
have all been cleared away. The remains of the towers and sally port were 
removed about the bC'ginning of this century ; at which time the moat on 
that side of the Castle, which had formerly been supplied with water from tht> 
river Foss, was filled up, and A wall built, surmounted with iron palisades, in 
lieu of it. About the time of Richard ill. the fortress had fallen very much 
into decay, and was then very extensively repaired. Leland, however, in the 
reign of Henry VIII., found it in a very ruinous condition, and says of it, 
" The area of this Castle is. no very great quantitie-ther be five ruinous 
to\\·ers in it." These towers, however, presented a very interesting and pic­
tUl'esque appearance. 

Sir Thomas Widdrington, in his MSS., says, "That part of the Castlt.> 
which remains of the old foundation appears to be only the gate-house to the 
old building, by the proportion of the gates yet showing themselves in the 
east side, towards Fishergnte Postern, where the great door is walled up, and 
where the main building of the Castle was, as is manifest by the foundations 
of walls all over the said place, if it be tried witli the spade or hack." Aftor 
it ceased to be a military post, it was converted into a County Prison; and 
in liOl, being in a very dilapidated condition, the part now called the Old 
Buildill!JS was erected chiefly with stone brought from the ruins of St. Mary's 
Abbey. Other ndditions were at the same time made, in pursuance of an 
Act of Parliament, which leTied a tax of threepence in the pound on the 
cotmty to defray the expenses. 

Within the walls of the Castle stands the beautiful ruin called Clifford's 
TQIJ!er, which is considered one of the most graceful specimens of medi.eval 
ltl"chitecture in the city. It stands on a lofty mound of earth, which, at some 
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remote period, bas been thrown up by immense labour. This tumulus and 
ruin exactly correspond with Old Baile Hill on the opposite side of the river. 
Drake supposes that the mound was cast up by the Romans, and that a 
tower was standing on it during their residence in this city. The present 
tower was erected by William the Conqueror when he built the Castle, and 
was intended for the " Donjon Keep," that is, the central and strongest part 
of the fortress. Dr. King, in his Munimenta Antiqua, thinks that it was 
originally built by the Conqueror, and that it is one of the Castles mentioned 
in Stowe's Annals as built in 1068; "For," says be," Norman Castles were 
built on high artificial mounds, and nearly covered the whole of the summit. 
The Castles built by the Saxons," be continues, " were on high mounds, or 
ancient barrows, and had a great plain or area surrounding them." 

There is no record of this tower being rebuilt, but the architecture bears 
evident marks of a date much later than the reign of the Norman Conqueror. 
The present structure is certainly not older than the time ofEdward I ., and 
Mr. Britton thinks it was probably erected in the reign of his warlike suc· 
cessor Edward Ill.* Though this was the keep of the Castle, it was totally 
distinct from it, and was completely separated from it by a moat, which sur· 
rounded it. The entrance to the tower, however, was from the Castle by 
means of a drawbridge, and a flight of steps up the side of the mount; but 
these steps were removed some years ago to repair the wall near the spot. 

This fortress derives its name from the circumstance of a member of tl1e 
noble and once powerful family of Clifford having been appointed its first 
governor by the Conqueror. Sir Thomas Widdrington remarks, that the 
Lords Clifford were very anciently called casteleyns, wardens, or keepers of 
the tower. Though the Lord Mayor certainly cannot have any superior in 
dignity to him within the walls of the city, except the King himself or the 
presumptive heir to the English crown, yet the Clifford family have repeat· 
edly claimed a right of carrying the city's sword before the King when be 
visited York. When Leland was at York, the tower, drawbridge, &c., were 
in mine. "The Arx (or Keep) is all in ruine," be says, "and the roote of 
the billa that it standeth on is environed with an arme derived out of 
Fosse-Water." In the reign of Queen Elizabeth, the Corporation of York 
addressed two petitions to the Lord Treasurer Burleigh, and to Clifford, 
Earl of Northumberland, praying that measures might be taken for pre­
venting the keeper of the Castle from injuring the tower and .converting it.'> 
stone into lime, inasmuch as they deemed it to be of surpassing beauty and 

• Picturesque Antiquities of English Cities, p. 6. 
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imparting more ornament to the city than anything else beside, save the 
Minster. These petitions had their due effect, and the work of demolition 
was stopped; but it remained in an untenable state until the commencement 
of the war between Charles I. o.nd the Parliament, when Drake says, " By 
the direction of Henry, then Earl of Cumberland, Lord Lieutenant of the 
northern parts, and Governor of York, this tower was repaired; a considerable 
additional square building put to it, on that side next the Castle, on which, 
over the gate, in stone work, are placed the Royal Arms and those of the 
Cliffords, viz. chequee, a fess, ensigned with an Earl's coronet, supported by 
two wiverns, and this motto-Desormai&." These arms, &c., may still be 
soon over the gate. 

After being thoroughly repaired, a platform was constructed on the top, 
on which were mounted two demiculverins o.nd o. raker, and a garrison was 
appointed to defend it. During the siege of the city in 1644, this garrison 
was under the command of Sir Francis Cobb, who succeeded to the office 
of Governor of the city at the death of Henry, the last Earl of Cumberland. 
When the city came into the hands of the Parliamentarians, the Castle was 
entirely dismantled, with the exception of this tower, in which, according to 
a resolution in the House of Commons, dated 26th of February, 1646, a de­
tachment of sixty infantry soldiers were stationed, "Resolved that Clifford's 
Tower (York) be kept a ganison ";tb three score foot in it." The command 
was then given to the Lord Mayor of York, in whose hands it continued till 
1683, when Sir John Reresby was made keeper by Charles II. It was bow­
ever blown up the following year by the ignition of the magazine, and reduced 
to its present condition. The circumstance is thus related in an old MSS. 
diary of those times:-" About ten o'clock on the night of St. George's day, 
April 23rd, 168.1, happened a most dreadful fire within the tower called Clif· 
ford's Tower, which consumed to ashes all the interior thereof, leaving 
standing only the outshell of the walls of the tower, without other harm to 
the city, save one man slain by the fall of a piece of timber, blown up by the 
force of the flames, or rather by some powder therein. It was generally 
thought a wilful act, the soldiers not suffering the citizens to enter till it was 
too late ; and what made it more suspicious was, the gunner had got out all 
his goods befo1•e it was discovered." "Whether this was done accidentally 
or on purpose, •· says Drake, "is disputable; it was observed that the officers 
and soldiers of the garri8on had removed all their best things before ; and it 
was a common toast in the city to drink to the Demcli8hi119 of th4 Minud 
Pye." The ruin and adjacent grounds then passed into private hands, and 
in 1825 they were purchased by the county magistrates, with other property 
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in the immediate neighbourhood, to enlarge the County Gaol, for £8,800.; 
of which sum £300. was the price of the ruins. 

At that time it was proposed by some Vandals or Gotlu to destroy the ruin, 
and level the mound with the surrounding ground, but the good taste of the 
majority of the magistracy of the county rejected such an act, and instead of 
so doing, they, much to their credit, erected around it a strong stone wall, 
sloping with the declivity of the mound, which binds the base of the entire 
tumulus, and will protect it for some centuries. One of the county magis­
tracy, G. Strickland, Esq., of Hildenby, in a pamphlet published at that time, 
called &awn8jor not puUing down Clifford's T01cer, &c., very truly observed, 
" that many persons are too apt to despise or to pass over in neglect those 
objects which are habitually presented to them, and hold in veneration such 
only as are distant, and with which they are comparatively little acquainted. 
Upon this principle we must account for the fact of so many of our country­
men travelling to distant regions, and returning home, expressing wonder, 
astonishment, and delight, at the ruins, mountains, and valleys, which they 
have seen, while they remain ignorant of the merits of their own country, 
insensible to its beauties, and affecting to despise its remains of antiquity. 

" Such persons can see a thousand charms in every broken arch, and in 
every ruin near the Tiber, however small the remnant-while they can find 
nothing to admire upon the banks of the Thames, or of the Ous~while they 
load with epithets of reproach and execration, the names of Alaric, the leader 
of the Goths, and of Genseric, the King of the Vandals, and call their myriads 
of followers barbarians-because the one overran Greece, and plundered and 
destroyed the public buildings and works of art at Athens, and Corinth, and 
Sparta; and the other, after taking Rome, laid waste the city, and reduced 
to ruins its temples and it.~ bridges-in England, with unsparing hand, would 
level to the ground our best remains of ancient buildings ; which have re­
sisted the destructive efforts of time, and for ages been held up to the 
admiration of all persons of education and taste, to make a foundation for a 
gaol or a manufactory. 

"That Clifford's Tower is an object not unworthy of some share of respect 
and of care, may perhaps be made evident by a comparison between it and 
some of those remains of similar form, which, because they arc in Italy, are 
held aacred, and arc preserved from destruction. Of this kind is the Castle 
of St. Angelo, in Rome (anciently the Mausoleum of Adrian.) Of a similar 
form is the sepulchre of the Plautian family, upon the banks of the Tiverone 
and the far-famed tomb of Cecilia Metella. Excepting the first, each of 
these is greatly inferior in size to Clifford's Tower, and all inferior in eleva· 
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tion of site and picturesque beauty." Thus we have seen that this ancient 
tower has had many escapes, having been burnt and exposed to the attacks 
of war, "but still it stood," says Mr. Davies, "its walls bidding defiance to 
age, nor upon them • Time writes no wrinkle ' with his antique hand." 

The plan of this beautiful specimen of feudal grandeur consists of four seg­
ments of circles joined together ; the largest diameter, from periphery to 
periphery, being sixty-four feet, and the shortest, from intersection to inter­
section, being forty-five feet. The walls are between nine and ten feet thick.* 
The mound is mounted by a flight of steps, and the ruin is entered through 
the modern square tower mentioned before, over which are the arms of the 
Clifford family. On the left of the entrance are the remains of a winding 
staircase, beyond which was the original entrance ; of the latter the remains 
of o. ruined archway may still be seen, and near it may be traced the grooves 
of a portcullis, and other requisites for offence and defence. 

In the interior of the ruin is a draw-well of excellent water, about sixty 
feet deep, which in Drake's time was choked up, but is now open and well 
preserved. The area of the ground floor has a singular but venerable aspect. 
In the centre is a large walnut tree and a few small shrubs, which being 
surrow1ded with the massy but desolate looking walls of the ruins, have a 
curious but picturesque appearance. Proceeding round the interior of the 
ground floor several recesses will be observed in the walls, which have been 
designed for various purposes at present unknown. The walls may be safely 
ascended by a flight of stone steps, passing a small roo.m in the square modern 
tower, which was formerly used as a chapel, and at the top of the tower the 
wall is sufficiently broad to walk upon all round. From this eminence 
an extensive and interesting view of the neighbouring district is obtained. 
There is a neat and broad grass lawn round the base of the tower, and the 
sides of the mount on which the building stands are planted with trees and 
shrubs. The moat which formerly surrounded it is now filled up, so that 
the entire space forms a garden, which is tastefully laid out and kept in ex­
cellent order. The whole property is held, with other holds near the city, 
by grants from James 1., to Babington and Duffield; and the words of the 
grant are, "Totaro illam peciam terrre nostram scituat. Jacent, et existent. 
in civit. nost. Ebor. vocat. Clifford's Tower." 

The whole area of York Castle, including this tower, the old anQ. new 
gaols, the county hall, &c., is now enclosed by a very fine lofty stone wall, 
with an embattled parapet, and the great gate of entrance is flanked by two 

• Archrelogia, vol. vi., p. 269. 
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massy circular towers.* The modern buildings designated York Castle, and 
used as the County Gaol, will be described at a subsequent page. 

ANciENT MANSIONS, HALLS, &c.-The site of the Prretorium Palace--the 
ancient residence of the " Lords of the Universe "-during the occupation of 
the Romans, is placed by Burton, Drake, and W ellbeloved, on the space of 
ground extending from Christ Church, Colliergate, through the houses and 
gardens on the east side of Goodramgate and St. Andrewgate, through the 
Bedern to Aldwark. The royal baths would, in all probability, occupy a 
considerable part of the extent. After the departure of the Romans, the 
imperial Palace was made the residence of the Saxon and Danish Kings of 
Northumberland, and then of the Earls till the Conquest; for Tosti, Earl of 
Northumberland, had his Palace at York plundered and burnt by the enraged 
populace. After the Conquest it became the possession of our English Kings; 
and in ancient records the King's House at York is called Manerium ruum 
ck Toft; and Atda &flU. From the Kings it probably came to the Dukes of 
York, as there was formerly a house in the neighbourhood of Christ Church 
called Duke Guildhall. Christ Church in ancient writings is generally 
termed Eccluia S. Trinitatis i,. aula, vel curia, regis, or in old English, Sainct 
Trinitye1, in Conyng-gartk; "which title," observes Drake, "plainly de­
notes that the old courts of the imperial or regal Palace at York reached 
to this place." 

THE MANOR PALAcE, now called the Manor HOtue, which is situated on 
the south side of Bootham, just without the bar, and within the walls of St . 
.Mary's Abbey, is the principal private mansion connected with the early his­
tory of the city now standing. At the dissolution of the Abbey, in the 31st 
of Henry Vlll., that Monarch ordered it to be dismantled, and a house to be 
built out of the materials, to be called the King'• Manor; and as King 
Henry, for the purpose of keeping the northern counties quiet, found it 
necessary to establish what was called the Great Council of the North, he 
appropriated the Manor for the residence of the Lord Presidents of that 
Council. During the twelve days which Henry spent at York in 1541, 
he probably resided at this mansion. When James I., on his journey to 
London to take possession of the crown, after the death of Queen Elizabeth, 
arrived at York, he resided at the Manor, and was entertained with great 
splendour by the Lord Mayor and Corporation. (See page 211.) He then, 
we are told by some, ordered the Manor to be repaired and enlarged, and 

• The number of Castles ot which there are known to be existing remains is, in 
England, 4(11, Wales, 107, Scotland, 1M, Ireland, 1~0; total, MS. 
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converted into a Royal Palace, for his own accommodation upon his journeys 
between London and Scotland; but the Rev. C. Wellbeloved is of opinion 
that instead of repairing or enlarging the old building, he must have ordered 
the erection of a new one, as the residence of the Lord Presidents stood on 
the site now occupied by the Museum, and the large cellars of that building 
may now be seen at the rear of the present Manor House ; whilst the present 
mansion occupies the site of the house of the Abbot of St. Mary's, which 
stood north of the spot upon which the mansion of Henry VIII. was built. 
There can be no doubt that the building which now stands was erected by 
King James; and it is an interesting specimen of the style of architecture 
which prevailed in that Monarch's time. Besides, there are many testimo­
nials of his design in arms and other decorations about the several portals of 
the building. The monastic buildings on the spot are said to have furnished 
abundant materials for this mansion, as well as for that which preceded it. 
As this building continued to be the residence of the Lord President of the 
North as long as that office was continued, the original mansion was probably 
demolished, or suffered to go to ruin. 

The celebrated but unfortunate Thomas Wentworth, Earl of Strafford, the 
last Lord President, inhabited this Palace, and one of the articles of his im­
peachment, drawn up by John Pym, was that "he had the arrogance to put 
up his own arms in one of the King's Palaces." These arms still remain 
over one of the doorways in the inner court. In the reign of Charles I. 
several Parliaments and Councils were held in this mansion. During the 
siege of York in 1644, the Manor was materially damaged by the forces of 
the Parliament, under the command of the Earl of Manchester. After 
undermining and blowing up St. Mary's Tower, they made a breach in the 
wall lower down in Marygate, and took possession of the Palace, whilst 
the Royalist commanders were attending divine service at the Cathedral, it 
being Trinity Sunday; the Republicans "deeming that the Lord's day," says 
Allen, "was the best time for doing what they denominated the Lord's work." 

When Charles II., in consequence of the continual bickerings between the 
Court and the Corporation, appointed a military governor of the city, the 
Manor Palace was his official residence. Lord Fretchville, Baron of Stavely, 
was the first Governor, and after his desth Sir John Reresby succeeded him. 
He was the last Governor of York, and the Manor does not seem to have 
borne any public character since that period. James II. granted it to the 
Catholics as a seminary, under the care of Bishop Smith, and a large room 
in it was fitted up and used as a Catholic chapel, where mass was celebrated 
openly ; but this consecrated room was in 1688 attacked and dismantled by 
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a violent mob, who at that period entertained great fears lest the ancient 
faith should be re-introduced into this country. In 1696-7 the Manor was 
converted into a Royal Mint, and the gold and silver coin struck here was 
marked with the letter Y under the King's head. After this period the 
King's Manor appears to have been used by private individuals. Soon after 
the Revolution the Abbey or Manor was leased from the Crown for thirty-<~ne 
years to Robert Waller1 Esq., who was Lord Mayor of the city, and one of 
its representatives in Parliament. It was subsequently leased to Tancred 
Robinson, Esq., second son of Sir William Robinson, Bart., and ancestor of 
the Grantham family, in which it long continued. Part of the building was 
converted into an Assembly Room, and used for the public balls, &c.; until 
the present suite of rooms for these purposes were erected. Time and depre· 
dation have reduced even the walls of this venerable fabric within naiTOw 
limits; part of the enclosure is in the possession of the Philosophical Society, 
the rest is leased for gardens, and the greater part of what remains of this 
once regal dwelling has been since 1834 in the possession of the trustees of 
the Wilberforce School for the Blind. 

The entrance to the outer court is through an old archway, once the en· 
trance to St. Mary's Abbey from Bootham. On the right is a stone wall, 
probably built prior to the abdication of James II.; having in it recesses 
enriched with arabesque work, apparently designed for images. The man· 
sion is built in the quadrangular form, usual at the period of its erection. 
ThEl front has two entrances, one of which-formerly the principal one-­
displays over the doorway, carved in stone, the Royal Arms, supported by 
carved columns, bearing devices, with the initials J. R. near the bottom, and 
surmounted with a crown. This was formerly the entrance to the inner 
quadrangle or court yard; but as this end of the building is now let out as a 
private dwelling, the court yard is entered by another doorway, near the centre 
of the building. This latter doorway is now ornamented with carved figures 
of Justice, and other emblematical devices, which formerly adorned the inner 
doorway of the original passage to the quadrangle. From the inner court 
yard are two ancient grand entrances into the Palace. The one on the east 
side, which was reached by a large flight of stone steps, and which has over 
it the Royal Arms, with the initials C. R., led to an apartment, eighty-one 
feet long and twenty-seven broad, which is by some supposed to have been 
the Banqueting Room, but in which tradition states several of the Parliaments 
held at York had assembled. In the centre of this room (which is now used 
as a National School) is a large ventilator. The other principal doorway is 
on the south side of the quadrangle, and over it still remains the arms and 

2 y 
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several quarterings of the Earl of Strafford, finely carved in stone. This 
outer doorway conducts into a hall or vestibule, from which a second door 
leads to a broad and handsome flight of stone steps, which conduct& to a 
spacious, lofty, and comfortable apartment, by some deemed the Council 
Chamber. The doorway already mentioned, from the vestibule to the stone 
staircase, has a circular arch ornamented with curiously carved stone-work, 
above which is a massy stone frieze, supported by three singular brackets. 

There was fonnerly a communication between the Council Chamber and 
the banqueting room, by a long gallery. Adjoining the large room at the top 
of the great staircase already mentioned, is a suite of apartments, in one of 
which is a large fire place with a curiously carved mantel piece, and this, as 
well as some of the other rooms, exhibits a caned moulding along the walls 
near the ceiling, in which is represented the bear and rugged staff and other 
grotesque figures. The large room, supposed by some to have been that used 
as a Catholic Chapel* by King James, has a panelled ceiling, and it, as well 
as the apartment with the curious fire place, is now used as bed rooms for 
the boys of the school for the blind. The supposed Council Chamber is now 
a school room for the same pupils, and beneath the reputed banquet hall 
seems to have been a spacious kitchen, as an immense fire place and chimney 
yet remain. There is a large room beneath the supposed chapel (now the 
sale room for the articles manufactured by the blind pupils) which is said to 
have been the royal library. The ceiling is empanelled with massy oak 
mouldings. At the rear of the buildings is a space now used as a play 
ground for the pupils of the school for the blind, which has on its lfouth side 
the ruins of the kitchen and out offices of the original residence of the Lord 
Presidents, aud beneath which are two large vaults. 'Fhe ascent to each of 
these cellars is by a Bight of stoue steps. 

An account of the Wilberforce School for the Dlind, and the Manor 
Central National School, now held in the Manot· buildings, will be found at 
subsequent pages. 

On the north side of Walmgate, opposite the Church of St. Dennis, Dear 
the old Iron Foundry, formerly stood Percy's Inn, the Palace of the Earl of 
Northumberland, who fell, fighting for the House of Lancaster, in the me· 

• Some Rnppose the large room with the paDcllod ceiling, over the &ale room for the 
articles manufactured by the blind pupils of tho Wilberforce Memorial School, to have 
been the one used as a Catholic Chapel; but others arc of opinion that it wBS in the 
large room now occupied BS a National School-the reputed Banqueting Room-and 
for some time the Aaeembly Room, t.hat the services of the Church of Rome were 
oelebrated. 
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morable battle .of Towton Field. In an account of the property of Henry, 
Earl of Northumberland (father of the above mentioned Earl), who was slain 
at the battle of St. Albans, in the 88rd of Henry VI. (1454), a certain man· 
sion in Walmgate, in the parish of St. Dyonis in York, called Percy's Inn, 
is included. Dugdale, in alluding to this house, says that on the ground 
where it stood, there was found by a labourer, several years before, one ann 
of a gold cup, so heavy as to be sold for the sum of £50. Percy's Inn seems 
to have been occupied by other families after the Earls of Northumberland 
forsook it. The Rev. Marmaduke Fothergill was born there in 1652. 

The A.rchupiscopal Palau stood on the north side of the Cathedral. 
Having fallen into decay it was demolished, and the materials used in the 
construction of the choir of that church, the first stone of which was laid 
on the 19th of July, 1861. 

Within Layerthorpe Postern formerly stood a spacious residence belonging 
to the ancient family of Bigod, of Settrington, which is mentioned by J.eland, 
and near it was a hospital founded by them ; but that author remarks, that 
Sir Francis Bigod suffered both the hospital and the mansion to go to ruin, 
and there is not now a vestige of either to be seen. 

On the left of tliC lane leading to the church of St. Mary, Bishophill the 
Elder, is a small croft, known by the name of the Duke's Hall, which is the 
site of a large mansion built by Thomas, Lord Fairfax, and inherited by his 
daughter, who married the unfortunate George Villiers, second duke of 
Buckingham of that name. 

Datty, or Larditu~r Hall, an ancient building which stood in Davygate, was 
part of the possessions held by grand serjeanty of the King, in capite, by 
David le Lardiner. Leland says that" Davy's Haul" in York was assigned 
as a place of punishment for offenders in the Forest of Galtres. Sir Thomas 
Widdrington drew out a genealogical table of this family, and the pedigree is 
published in Drake's Eboracum, page 826. From this it appears that the 
family came to England with the Norman Conqueror, and enjoyed many 
privileges in York by royal grant during many successive generations. In 
enumerating the privileges of the Lardiner family, Sir Thomas gives the fol­
lowing particulars:-" In the pleas of assize in the county of York, the 
morrow after the feast of St. Michael, before Silveater, Bishop of Carlisle, 
Roger de Thurklcby, and their companions, Justices itinerant in the 85th 
and the beginning of the 36th year of Henry II., the King gave command 
to those Justices to inquire, by jury, what liberty the ancestors of David le 
Lardiner had used in the city of York ; and how and what liberties the said 
David claimeth by the charters of any of the King's predecessors. Thereupon 
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David came in, and said that it did belong to the serjeanty which he holds 
in York, to receive, &c.; as enumerated in the following reply:-

" And the jurors found that the ancestors of David le Lardiner, had really 
used the following liberties :-To make the larder of the King-To keep the 
prisoners of the forest-To have the measure of the King for com; and to 
sell the King's corn. That they had daily, out of the King's purse, fivepence; 
and for theso his ancestors had charters. Sometimes they used this liberty, 
to take, every Saturday, from every window of the bakers where bread was 
set to sale, a loaf or an halfpenny-Of every brewer of ale, a gallon of ale or 
an halfpenny-Of every butcher's window, a pennyworth of flesh or a penny 
-Of every cartload of fish sold at Foss Dridge, four pennyworth of fish as 
they were bought at the sea side; and of every horseload of fish, a penny­
worth or a penny. That they used to make distresses of the King's debts, 
and to take fourpence for every distress ; and that they were aldermen of 
minstrells. The ancestors of David lc Lardiner have used these liberties in 
the time of King Henry, grandfather to the E:ing which now is, and in the 
time of King Richard, till they were hindred ; and they used all these liberties 
in the name of the serjeanty which they held of the King. The reoord was 
sent to the King." 

These extraordinary privileges, which were extremely unpleasant and op­
pressive to the citizens of York, continued till the Sith of Henry ill. (1253), 
"when," says Drake, " a fine was levied at Westminster, before the King's 
Justices, between David de Lardiner, plaintiff, and John de Selby, Mayor, 
and the citizens of York, deforciant&; by which the said David did remit and 
release to the Mayor and citizens all his right in the above articles, except 
the keeper of the King's jail and larder, for the sum of twenty marks, paid 
him by the said Mayor and citizens. •· After the death of David Lardiner, 
the hall passed by marriage to the families of Leke, Thornton, Thwaites, and 
Fairfax ; and was in time transferred to George Villiers, Duke of Bucking­
ham, who married Mary, only daughter of Thomas, Lord Fairfax, to whom 
Sir Thomas Widdrington was related. As neither the Mayor or Sheriffs could 
arrest or taken fines, nor disturb any person, though not a freeman, from 
carrying on his business on these premises, the Corporation purchased the 
hall with all its privileges, by which it became subject to their jurisdiction ; 
and the building being greatly out of repair, it was taken down in 1744., the 
materials sold, and the ground let on building leases to Mr. Charles Mitley, 
sculpwr, reserving a street or row from Davygate intD Coney Street, now 
called New Street. 

Mr. William Carr, brother-in-law w Mr. Mitley, took down the old ball, 

• 
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and built a row of six good houses, which being roofed in July, 17 46, on the 
very day when William, Duke of Cumberland, visited York after the battle 
of Culloden, were, through respect to him, called Cumberland Row. These 
six houses, with one built by the late Mr. Peckett, more immediately in 
Davygate·, are all extra-parochial. The title of Cumberland Row is now 
nearly lost, and the houses form part of New Street. 

Near Coffee Yard, in Stonegate, was anciently a large house called Mul­
bwry HaU, supposed by Mr. Hargrove to be a corruption of the words 
Mowbray Hall ; as in several early records the former name is often written 
Mulbrai Hall. Mr. Hargrove supposes that it was formerly a bouse be­
longing to the powerful family of the Mowbrays. The bouse in Stonegate, 
now in the occupation of Mr. Sunter, Bookseller, is said to be the hall, or 
a portion of the hall, in question. According to some, Hugo Bois, or Goes, 
set up his printing press here in 1507. (See page 180.) 

In a yard nearly opposite St. Martin's Church is a very ancient brick 
building, with stone quoins and dressings, which has apparently been used 
as a Bagnio, the remains of one bath being yet visible. The building bas, 
however, being devoted to such a variety of purposes of late years, that its 
original use cannot be ascertained with certainty. It is now converted into 
dwellings. 

The old building in Newgate, and the ancient pile, called St. William's 
College, will be noticed at subsequent pages. 

The Caatk Milh, near the bridge which takes its name from them, are of 
very ancient origin ; they were the property of the Castle, but alienated in the 
time of Queen Elizabeth. An old document states that in the 4th of Edward 
I. (1276), the Knights Templars had a mill near the Castle of York, which 
afterwards belonged to the Kings of England. During the reign of Edward 
IT. they were rented by lease for forty marks per annum; by which we may 
judge of their extent at that time; and as the situation is exactly described in 
the register of Fountains Abbey, there is no doubt as to their identity. From 
the Crown they passed to Sir Thomas Hesketh, of Heslington, near York, 
for the support of an Hospital, which he founded in that village. The Foss 
Navigation Company afterwards requiring the water which worked the ma­
chinery, agreed with the trustees of the said Hospital ·to take the premises 
into their own hands, subject to an annual payment of £50. to the Hospital. 
These Mills are now the property of the Corporation of York. 

The extensive improvements, which of late years have been effected, are 
last sweeping away those numerous specimens of ancient domestic architec­
ture for which this city was so very remarkable. Every year diminishea 
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those curious exteriors, and it is probable that another generation will possess 
only drawings and elevations of the buildings now common. The etchings 
of Halfpenny and Cave, made towards the close of the last century, show 
many interesting objects which have now altogether disappeared. 

Britton, in his Architectural Antiqltities,* gives the following quotation from 
Mr. Strutt, which explains very clearly the style of the kind of buildings 

• most common in the old houses in the streets of York:-" From the reign of 
Edward I. to that of Henry VII., the common run of houses, especially 
among the middling sort of people, were built with wood. They generally 
made large porches before the principal entrances, with great halls and 
large parlours. The frame-work was constructed with beams of timber of 
such enormous size that the materials of one house, as they built anciently, 
would make scvernl of equal size according to the present mode of building. 
The common method of making walls was to nail laths to the timber frame, 
and strike them over with rough plaster, which was afterwards whitened and 
ornamented with fine mortar, and this last was often beautified with fignres 
and other curious devices. The houses in the cities and towns were built 
each story jetting over the former story, so that when the streets were not 
wide, the people at the top from opposite houses might not only talk and con­
verse with each other, but even shake hands together. The houses were 
covered with tiles, shingles, slates, or lead, except in tl1e city of London, 
where shingles were prohibited with a view to prevent fires." 

Before the present Ouse Bridge was built in 1810, and the approaches to 
it called Low Ousegate and Bridge Street widened, the houses answered so 
closely to this description, that the people in the top stories could in some 
cases converse, and almost shake hands together. The streets which still 
retain the greatest number of these houses are the Water Lanes leading from 
Castlegate to the banks of the river, and the Shambles. There are also some 
curious specimens in Petergate, Stonegate, and Fossgate. The houses out 
of Bootham Bar, with the curiously-designed brick-work, are not older than 
the 17th century. 

NAMES oF STREETs, &c.-In the names of several of the streets of York, 
the termination gate is used to describe a street or lane, as Marygate, Peter­
gate, Micklegate, Ouscgate, &c., whilst the greater gates or entrances to the 
city are denominated Bars, as Micklegate Bar, Bootham Bar, &c.; the lesser 
ones Post.erm, as Co.stlegate Postern, Fishergate Postern, &c. The word gate 
is probably derived from the Danish "gata," a street, as many of the nan1es 

• Vol. ii., page 79. 
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of the suburbs are of Danish-Norwegian origin, as Clementhorpe, Bishop­
thorpe, Middlethorpe, Layerthorpe, &c., the termination thorpe being derived 
from " dorp," a village. Several of the streets still retain the names they 
bore in medireval times. 

Mickkgate, formerly called :Micklelyth, which extends from St. John's 
Church near Ouse Bridge, to the bar to which- it gives name, merely implies 
a large, great, or spacious street; Mickle in the Anglo-Saxon language signi­
fying great, anc.l Lrjtlt, a port or gate. This name also is derived from the 
Danish" Mykill," great, and "gata," street. Micklegate was the widest and 
most elegant street in York a few years ago, and is now surpassed only by 
Parliament Street. 

MonkgiUe leads from Monk Bar to Monk Bridge, and is supposed to be 
indebted for its name to a Monastery of Crouched Friars, which tradition 
informs us formerly stood in it at the comer of Barker Hill. 

Beyond Monk Bridge lie the village and moor of Heworth; and towards 
the north forming a boundary of the lands of Uphus, is a lane which was 
anciently termed Goyse Lane. From a perambulation, made in the 28th of 
Edward ill. (1355), it appears that the Forest of Galtres reached up to the 
walls on this side of the city.* 

W almgate, leading from Foss Bridge to W almgate Bar, is supposed by Mr. 
Drake and others to be a corruption of the ancient Roman name W atlingate, 
which the street immediately without the bar bore even in modem times. 
This latter street (now called Lawrence Street) is supposed to have been the 
commencement of the Roman roads which led to the Humber, and to some 
of the ports on the German Ocean, and to have derived its former appellation 
from the great Roman road, Watling Street. It is now the direct road to 
Hull, Bridlington, &c. Some imagine that Walmgate merely implied Tripe 
Street. Mr. Hargrove considers the name but a corruption of Vallumgate­
V allum being the Latin name for a wall or bulwark for security, as this street 
not only leads to the present Walmgate Bar, but also to Fishergate Bu and 
the Red ·rower. 

Bootham is a fine, wide, open, airy street beyond the north gate of the city, 
communicating with the village of Clifton. The Romans having interred 

• The district formerly known as the Fore1t of Galtrtl is the most interesting portion 
of the Vale of York. It was a royal demesne, and was preserved as a place of amuse­
ment for the British as well as the Saxon Kings. Some parts of it were thick and 
woody, but in general it was open like a park so that the hunters might pnrsue their 
game in it. The forest originally comprised about sixty townships, and contained 
within its demesne 100,000 acres of land, or nearl)o the whole of the Wapentake of 
Bulmer. 
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their dead out o( Bootham Bar, as also without Micklegate Bar, Dean Gale 
supposes that the name Bootham was derived from the British word IKmh, to 
burn. TJle monks of St. Mary's Abbey held a fair* in free bnrgage out of 
this bar, on which occasion a hamlet of booths were regularly erected ; and 
hence, according to some, the word Bootham. Mr. Drake tells us that 
Bootham was "the King's Street, and extended from Bootham Bar to a 
wooden gate, at the farther end of it, which anciently was called Galmhaw­
lith ; where the officers of the city used to stand to take and receive the toll 
and customs." The Dean and Chapter, we are told by Allen, claim jurisdic­
tion on the north side of Bootham, as part of the territories, "De terra Ulphi ;" 
but on the south side from the Abbey gate to St. Mary's To\ver, the houses 
are in the county, being built where the ditch of the Abbey \vall fonnerly 
was. At the end of Bootham, near the village of Clifton, is the basement of 
an ancient cross or boundary stone, now designated Burton Stone, and near 
it is Burton Lane, which led out of the suburbs into the ancient Forest of 
Galtres. The place probably derives its name from a family named Burton, 
who were possessed of property in the neighbourhood. llurton Lane was 
formerly called Chapel Lane, from the Hospital and Chapel of St. Mary Mag­
dalene, which stood near it, but of which no remains are now visible. The 
mill in the lane existed in the time of Richard II. Near Burton Stone, in 
the time of the Plantagenets, the city troops and trained bands assembled 
when called out to check the incursions of the Scots, and here they received 
their last inspection by the Mayor and citizens.t The legal boundary of the 
city extends to Burton Stone, on the north side; but on the south side the 
city jurisdiction only commenced at Bootham Bar. In the field nearly 
opposite the Burton Stone, some stone coffins were found in 1813. 

GiUygate, leading from Bootham to the north end of Lord Mayor's Walk, 
derives its name from the ancient church of St. Giles, which, according to 

• In the reigns of Henry m . and Edward I., the great fairs were the scenes where 
the principal part of the traffic of the kingdom was transacted, as they were frequented 
not only by people of all the surrounding country, but by foreign as well as English 
merchants. They were held by prescription, and under the authority of royal charters, 
and yielded a considerable profit to the lords or owners who had jurisdiction in all 
matters of dispute, and administration of justice at courts of jM poudre which were 
appurtenant, a.~ a matter of common right to every fair. (Stat. 17 Edw. I. c. 2.) The 
fair of the Abbot of St. Mary's, at Bootham, caused many serious disputes between the 
Abbots and the citizens, till Archbishop Thoresby, in 13:13, effected an agreement 
between the parties respecting the bounds of each jurisdiction. 

t "An Antiquarian Ramble through York;·- lecture delivered by Robert Danes, 
Eeq., F.S.A., at the York Institute, on the 14th FebrW~ey, 1864. 
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Mr. Hargrove, stood about half way down the street on the west side. 
Lord Mayor'8 Walk was once called Newbegin, and is described in an old 

document as " N ewbegin, alias Gillygate." 
Penley Grove, commonly called The Groves-the district north of Lord 

Mayor's Walk-ie a corruption of Payneley Crofts, and probably derives its 
name from a gentleman of the name of Payneley, who first enclosed the land 
in this locality from the ancient Forest of Galtres, to which it previously 
belonged. 

Horae Fair was the name given to a piece of ground (now enclosed) at the 
north end of Lowther Street, Groves, it being the place where many of the 
York fairs were formerly held. At these fairs booths were erected for the 
purpose of trade, as was done. at the Abbot of St. Mary's fair already men­
tioned. In ancient writings the district extending from the place foPIDerly 
called the Horse Fair to Bootham is called Le Horae Ayre. 

Marygate, which moe southward from Bootham to the river, clearly implies 
that the street leads to the site of St. Mary's Abbey, the remains of the 
principal entrance to the Abbey being in this street. Marygate was an­
ciently called Earlsburgh, from Earl Alan, who founded the Abbey, or 
probably from the Danish Earl Siward, who resided here. At the entrance 
to this street formerly stood an unshapely building known as the Cockpit&, 
where in days of yore cockfighting was carried on as a favourite amusement 
of the gentry of the county. In 17 48 Sir J. Lister Kaye fought twenty-eight 
battles with game cocks, and won eighteen. Now, however, the barbarous 
amusement has fallen into desuetude, and it must be regarded as an amelio­
ration of manners that there is no gentleman who now breeds birds for the 
purpose of fighting. 

Almrygarth, a field near Marygate, in which the Abbots of St. Mary kept 
their cattle that were ready for killing. Here were also the Abbots' fish-ponds. 

Coney Street, anciently" Conyng Strete," leads from St. Helen's Square to 
Spurriergate. This street has for some time been considered the principal 
street of the city for business. It is mentioned in Domesday Book. Coney 
is a corruption of the Saxon word Conyng, signifying King. 

Spurriergate, a continuation of Coney Street, is so called becauae it was 
anciently the residence of the makers and dealers in spurs, when that ap­
pendage of the person was a much larger and more costly article than at 
present. Formerly it was usual for the members of one trade to live in the 
same street, and the derivation of Spurriergate, Colliergate, Fiehergate, and 
Girdlergate is to be ascribed to this circumstance. In the reign of King 
Edward III., the church of St. Michael, Spurriergate, is described as being 

2 z 
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iu Cuny11g Street; and it appears by the churchwardens' books of St. Michael's 
parish, that more than 200 years ago, Spurriergate was called Little Coney 
Street; hence it is obvious that Spurriergate is a name given at a later date 
to that part of Conyng or Coney Street. Before the year 1769, Spurriergate 
wust have been a narrow dirty lane, for we find that in that year half of the 
houses ncar the entrance from Ousegat.e were taken down and rebuilt 80 far 
back a'3 to make the street t\\ice its original width. The expense of this 
improvement was defrayed by a general subscription, to which the directors 
of the Assembly Rooms contributed £370. Unti11841 this street, although 
one of the most frequented in the city, was one of the narrowest and most 
inconvenient. In that year one side was taken down and rebuilt, and the 
street widened. 

St. lleum·s Square is so denominated from the neighbouring church of St. 
Helen. 

Blake Street is probably derived from the naval hero of the Com~onwealth. 
:\Ir. Drake supposes it to have been originally Blcake Street, from its ex· 
posure to the north winds ; but Allen thinks that this derivation seems 
incompatible with every principle of etymology, "for on such an explanation,•· 
says he, "every town and city in the kingdom would have its Bleake Streets." 

Little Blake Street was formerly called Loup or Lop IAN, most probably 
from St. Lupus, Bishop of Troyes, who came over to England with the con­
currence of Pope Celestine, in company with St. Germains, Bishop of 
Auxerre, in 4Q9, to resist the Pelagian heresy, then infesting the country. 
It is also conjectured that its original name was derived from the Belgic word 
Loop, signifying a range of bars joined together; this being closely con­
tiguous to Bootham Bar, the Minster gates, and Lendal Postern. This 
stl·eet, though still narrow, was much more 80 till the year 1785, when it 
WII.S widened and paved on each side by subscription. 

Lendal, the street leading from the Mansion House to the Musoom gates, 
was anciently called Old Conyng, or Old King Street. It appears that this 
part of the city, down to the river, was formerly called Lendall, which term, 
Drake supposed to imply Land-all; having originated from there bei1lg a 
staith or landing place there, but adds thllt be imagines the name arGse frorn 
the hill near St. Leonard's Hospital, and wss a;n abbreviation of Leonard's 
Hill. Mr. Allen thinks that as a declivity was aociently termed, both in 
EDgland and Scotland, a dell, or, in the Datcb language, dal; and as there 
is a strong declivity here, particularly helow St. Leonard's Hospital, Leonard 
might for brevity be easily cormpted to Lend; and by adding to it the pre­
ceding word, the name would appear complete. 
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The landing place at Lendal Ferry was formerly known as St. Leonard's 
lAnding, for here we find, in the reign of Henry V., when Lord Scrope was 
attainted for treason, the Lord Mayor, in his capacity of escheator, seized 
certain ships belonging to his lordship, lying "at St. Leonard's Landing. in 
the river Ouse." 

The street at the end of Lendal, and extending from the end of St. Leo· 
nard's Place to the river, was very recently called Lendal Street, or Back 
Lendal, now it is denominated Museum Street. That portion of it between 
the end of Lendal and the Royal Hotel was once called Finkle, or Fincl.·l, 
Street, which appellation is derived, according to Mr. Hargrove, from the 
Danish word Vincle, which means an angle or comer. This was known aR 
Finkle Street in the reign of James I. In 1782 a row of houses on the north 
west side was erected, which rendered it very narrow, but in 1846 these wert> 
taken down through the liberality and good taste of the Corporation, and 
thus the ruins of St. Leonard's Hospital were brought to public view. 

A narrow street, leading from the comer of St. Sampson's Square into 
Swinegate, is now called FitlkU Street. It was till lately also cnlled .Muckey 
Pegg lAne, probably from some notorious character who resided in it. The 
space between St. Leonard's Cloisters and St. Leonard's Place was formerly 
called Mint Yard, from the fact of a royal mint having been established in 
its vicinity. 

Davygate is a narrow street leading from St. Helen's Square to St. Samp· 
son's Square, In ancient writings it is called Davygate Lardiner, from Davy 
or Lardiner's Hall, which formerly occupied the site of Cumberland Row, or 
the first six houses in New Street. (See page 347.) 

St. Samp100'1 Square, or TlmT~day Market, is a large open area in the vi· 
cinity of the church of St. Sampson, in which formerly was held the principal 
market in the city, and in which is still held the Butcher's Market. Tht> 
brutal and degrading practice of bull baiting u8ed often to be exhibited here : 
and near the centre of the Market Place was formerly a large bull·ring, which 
constituted a privilege to every freem~n who was a householder, and residt>d 
within sight of it, to right of stray over Knavcsmire, and the other common 
land belonging to Micklegate Ward. A few years ago extensive improvements 
were effected in this locality. The square was enlarged and thrown into 
Parliament Street, and a new outlet formed from it through St. Sampson'~; 
Churchyard, called Church Street. The bull ring was removed, but the 
privileges of the freemen still remain. 

Parliament Street, or ths New Market, between St. Sampson's Square and 
Pavement, is a very wide and handsome street erected between the years 
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1884 and 1886. To effect the alteration in this locality a large mass of old 
and decayed tenements were removed. Parliament Street is certainly the 
best street in York. At elections for the city, hustings are erected in it. 

Juhbergate, or Jeu:bergate, recently called Market Street, leads from Par­
liament Street to Spurriergate, and has lately been widened so as to afford 
additional facilities for traffic. The learned Dr. Langwith derived the name 
of Jubbergate from Bretgate or Jowbretgate, the names given to this locality 
in some ancient deeds. By the term Bretgate, be understood British Street, 
and considered that here was a street inhabited by the native Britons before 
the ancient Roman city was founded by Agricola. In process of time, he 
thinks, it became the residence of the Jews, or that part of the city where 
they were permitted to settle (for in every city where they were tolerated they 
bad a certain locality assigned them for their residence, which was separated 
from the rest by walls, gattes, and bars, and hence styled Jews-burg), and was 
consequently Jew-bret-gate, which in succeeding ages might be written Jou­
bretgate and J ubbergate. One half of this street-tlte part north of the 
intersection of Feasegate and Peter Lane-was formerly called High J ubber­
gate, and the other end Low J ubbergate. It is now pretty well established 
that the piece of ground on the banks of the Foss, long known by the 
name of Jeu:bry or Jeu:bury was the place of interment of the Jewish popu­
lation of the city, where, says Mr. Davies, "the Isaacs and Rebeccas of York 
have reposed for five or six centuries." Hoveden informs us that King 
Henry II., in 1177, granted to the Jews the privilege of having a burial 
place witltout the walls of every city in England; prior to which they were 
obliged to convey their dead to London for interment. The Jews were a 
rich and numerous body in York dnring the 12th century. They had for­
merly a Synagogue in Walmgate.* 

Feasegate extends from the south east corner of St. Sampson's Square to 
Market Street, and has also been very much improved. Dr. Langwith 
imagined that an image dedicated to St. Faith had formerly stood in this 
street, which in old French is writte~ S. Fe; and hence remarks tb_at the 
name should be Feesgate. Drake supposes that Feasegate took its name 
from the old English/ease or Jeag jlagellare, to beat with rods, and is thereby 
led to conjecture that offenders were whipped through this street and round 
the market. Allen thinks it probable that it was originally Feastgate, from 

• It is stated that the whole number of Jews now in England is only 30,000, 20,000 
of whom are locateu in London. Russin contnins li millions. Constantinople, 80,000, 
and India, 17,000 Jews. It is also stated that out of the 20,000 in London, 2,000 Are 
baptised Christians. 
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its proximity to J ubbergate ; and considering the peculiar religious customs 
of the people who resided there, he concludes that the Jews from the neigh­
bouring towns and villages, might, at their periodical feasts held in York, 
have been accommodated in this Street. 

Previous to the alterations effected a few years ago on the west side of St. 
Sampson's Church, the street now called Church Street, but formerly Gird­
lergate, extended only from Petcrgate to Swinegate, or near to the east end 
of St. Sampson's Church. By the late alterations . this street is continued 
through the churchyard into St. Sampson's Square., which is a great im­
provement. Girdlergate was so called from having been the general place of 
residence for persons of that trade ; for though there are not any girdlers 
now in York, they were formerly so numerous as to form themselves into a 
company, which was governed by a master and other officers, who were 
annually chosen, and which held its periodical meetings at their common hall. 

SwiMgate and Patrick's Pool in this neighbourhood are very low places. 
In Swinegate stood the ancient church of St. Benedict, and on its site a 
number of houses-were erected, which were known by the name of Bennet's­
rents; but these houses have given way to recent improvements. Patrick's 
Pool is met with in documents as early as 1235. 

The Shambles are so called from being chiefly inhabited by butchers. The 
ancient name of this street was High Mangergate, variously supposed to be 
derived from the French word Manger, to eat, and from the Saxon word 
Mangere, implying trade. 

Newgate is a narrow street in this locality, so named from a prison in it, 
part of which is yet remaining. It is named in the 14th century, and has 
been an object of interest to Archreologists. It appears that the Vicars 
Choral possessed a house near the yard of St. Sampson's Church, where they 
lived together and had a common hall, and it is supposed that this was the 
building. In later times it was probably converted into a prison for offenders 
within the precincts of the court, a royal residence having been in the neigh­
bourhood. It is a large ancient looking stone building in bad condition . 
The windows are square headed, with labels, and the strncture still retains 
the appearance of a place of confinement. In 1754 it was licensed as a place 
of worship for Protestant Dissenters. It is now occupied by a lime seller 
and a rag and bone dealer. 

Petergate, a long street extending from Bootham Dar to King's Square, 
takes its name from its vicinity to the Cathedral. The south entrance of 
this street has been very much widened and beautified. 

King's Square, formerly called the Hay Mar~t, received its name doubt-
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less from its proximity to the site of the ancient palace of the Su:on and 
Danish Kings of Northumbria. In 1768 a part of the church and a house 
were pulled down to improve the thoroughfare, making the open space which 
now exists. 

Goodramgau or Gotherhamgate, leading from King's Square to Monk Bar, 
is a long narrow street, supposed to have derived its name from the circum­
stance of its having once contained the residence of a Danish General named 
Godram, Gotheram, or Guthrum, who was deputy governor of York. 

Uggleforth or Ogleforth is a small street leading from Goodramgate to the 
east end of the Cathedral. Dr. Langwith conceives the derivation of this 
name to be from the British word Uebel, denoting High, and Poth, now 
written and pronounced forth, a gate, together meaning Highgate: and hence 
we may suppose that a principal gate entrance to the Close of the Cathedral 
formerly stood hereabouts. l\I r. Well beloved says, "The remains of a rather 
large gateway to the Close of the Minster was found a few years ago about 
the middle of Ogleforth." 

College Street, leading from the east end of the Minster to Goodramgate, 
is so named from the ancient College of St. William being situated in it. In 
an old house near the Goodramgate end, Mr. George Hudson, for some time 
called the" Railway King," at one time kept a linen draper'!! shop. 

Colliergate is a continuation of Petergate and King's Square. This name 
was given to it from its having being the residence of several persons engaged 
in the coal trade. 

Fossgate is a continuation of Colliergate to the Foss, and hence its name. 
St. Saviottrgate, which runs from the church of St. Crux to Spen Lane, is 

so called from St. Saviour's Church standing here. It appears that the upper 
part of this street was formerly known by the name of Ketmangergate, "pro­
bably," says a learned writer, "because it may have been the market for 
horses' flesh, for that is called ket, and used to be eaten about the time of the 
Conquest, particularly the flesh of young foals." Mr. Hargrove tells us that 
it is generally supposed that a Roman temple formerly stood in or near this 
street, as in digging same foundations on the north side of it many years ago, 
large quantities of the horns of several kinds of beasts were discovered. Its 
proximity to the imperial Palace increases the probability.* Previous to the 
alterations and improvements in the neighbourhood of the church of St. Crux, 
about fifteen years ago, there was an ancient stone in the wall of a house 
at the entrance to this street, which is now in the Museum, and on which 

• History ol York, vol. ii., page 330. 
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is inscribed-" Here stood the image of• Yorke, and r6'T1U!Md in the year of 
our LQTd God A. H. vc. 1. unto the Comm<m HaU in the time of the ?Miralty of 
John Stockd.ak." 

King Ebrauc, the presumed founder of the city, is believed to be what is 
here meant by the image of York; and it is supposed that the first stone was 
laid under his direction not far from the site of this inscription. The image 
is thought to have been of wood ; and in the records of the city is the fol· 
lowing curious entry relative to it:-" On January 15th, and the 17th of 
Henry VII., the image of Ebrauke, which stood at the west end of St. Sa· 
viourgate, was taken down, new made, and transported from thence, and set 
up at the east end of the chapel at the common hall." 

St. Andrewgate, leading from King's Square to Aldwark, received its name 
from the desecrated church of St. Andrew, which stands in it. 

At the east end of the church of St. Crux was formerly a short, narrow 
street, named Whipmau:hopmagate, formed by a row of houses, which ran on 
a line with the west side of Colliergate to the centre of Pavement; and on 
the south side of the church was another row of houses, which formed a nar­
row and inconvenient lane, generally inhabited by hosiers, and consequently 
called Holier Lane. The removal of these two lanes has very much improved 
this locality, by widening the east end of Pavement, and the north end of 
Fossgate, as well as by exhibiting to view the ancient church of St. Crux, 
which bad been completely surrounded. Mr. Hargrove imagines that as the 
House of Correction was anciently on Peasholme Green in this vicinity, 
Whipmawhopmagate may have been a boundary for the public whipping of 
delinquents. It was at one period the market for boots and shoes, but 
before its removal it was principally used as a basket market on Saturdays. 

Pat~tmem is a well built and pleasant street, extending from Fossgate to 
the north end of High Ousegate. "Whence it derived the name is doubtful, 
but we may with some degree of certainty consider it a token of the ancient 
and original superiority of this street over others of the city; for to designate 
one street ' The Pavement,' must naturally imply that the others were not 
paved at the time this name was given ; and we do not find that it has borne 
any other from time immemorial."~' Previous to the removal of the row of 
houses whieh formed Hosier Lane, the Pavement extended only to the west 
end of St. Crax's Church. 

High Owlegate, and its oontinuati.on, Low Ousegate, lead in a direct line 
south from Pavement a.Dd the east of Parliament Street to Ouse Bridge. 

• Hargrove, vol. ii. page 26e. 
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These are now well built and respectable streets, but previous to the building 
of the present bridge across the Ouse in 1810, they were so narrow, that two 
persons on opposite sides of the way could shake hands from the top stories 
of the houses. In High Ousegate is an antique looking house, in which 
Charles I. dined with the Lord Mayor, Sir Christopher Croft, November 21st, 
1641, who was knighted on the occasion. 

Hungate, which runs from St. Saviour's Church to the river Foss, was in 
former times of considerable importance, being the place of residence for many 
of the most opulent merchants. Drake attempts to transform Hungate into 
Hungrygate; Hargrove considers it probable that as Hungate extends to the 
very edge of the Foss, it may have been so called from the word Unda, im· 
plying water; and that, alluding to the situation, it may have been Undagate; 
and thence have become Hundagate, or Hungate, a street leading to the water. 

PeCUJ!wlme Green leads to Layertborpe Bridge. The name of this street 
plainly enough explains its derivation; Holme being an Anglo-Saxon word 
for a small island, or for any watery situation. Peasholme Green has been 
first gained from the river Foss for gardens, and next for buildings. In the 
centre of this green was the church of All Saints, of which there are no 
remains. Crossing the river Foss at the end of Peasholme Green, we arrive 
in a long street called Layerthorye, formerly ciilled the village of LayrethQ~. 
This ancient entrance to the Forest of Galtres bears in its name some 
allusion to circumstances connected with a forest; Leer, or Layre, being in 
old English a bunting term for the resting place of a beast of the chase. 
There are now no vestiges to be seen of the ancient parish church of 
Layerthorpe. 

Barker HiU, which conducts from Jewbury to Monkgate, was anciently 
termed Harwt Hill. Drake observes that " probably it bad not its name for 
nothing, Love Lane being contiguous to it." 

Aldwark is a mean street running from Goodramgate to Peasbolme Green. 
The word Ald implies old, and wark a building. When we call to mind that 
the Roman Imperial Palace extended from Christ Church to this street, we 
shall not be surprised that our Saxon ancestors gave it this name. 

Stonegate, anciently called Staynegate, extending from St. Helen's Square 
to Petergate, derives its name from the great quantity of stone formerly 
carried through, and no doubt strewed in it, during the various erections of 
the Minster. Stonegate contains the most antique houses of any principal 
street in the city. The best specimen of them is that occupied by Mr. 
Sunter, supposed to be Mulberry Hall. (See page 889.) 

An open passage or thoroughfare near the top of Stonegate is called Ooffu 
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Yard. Drake supposes that in this yard formerly stood the first colft-e house 
established in this city.* 

Fishergat8 is the name home by the street, once considerable, immediately 
without Fishergate Bar. This ancient street, which had suffered much at 
various times previously, was almost wholly destroyed during the civil wars 
in the reign of Charles I. Three churches anciently stood in Fishergate. 

St. ~rge'• Strut now leads from Walmgate to Fishergate Bar. The 
north end of tl1is street was formerly very narrow, and called Neutgau lAne; 
but a few years since several old houses were pulled down, the street was 
widened, and the whole street received its present appellation, owing to itR 
having been the street in which stood the ancient parish Church of St. 
George. St. George's Catholic Church now stands in it. Neutgau IAn~ 
was probably indebted for its name to the N6Wt, a small lizard often found in 
low marshy places; this lane was certainly very low and wet. St. George's 
Street was formerly one of the principal entrances to the city, and must at 
some time have been very populous, for we find the sites of three churches 
very near together, viz :-St. George's, St. Andrew's, and St. Peter in the 
Willows ; besides the churches of All Saints and St. Helen, which stood 
without Fishergate Bar. 

Ca81Ugau, a name which explains itself, leads from the castle to the city. 
A wind mill once stood in Castlegate Lane. Neugat8 is a continuation of 
Castlegate. It derives its name from the Saxon word Neu, implying a 
projecting or an exalted situation. It was formerly so very narrow that 
two carriages could not pass each Qther in it, but in 1767 all the houses 
on the north east side were taken down, and . rebuilt several feet further 
back, by which the street was rendered open and convenient. The expense 
of this alteration was defrayed by subscription. The three narrow streets 
leading from Castlegate to the river, and now generally known as the 
Water Lanea, were formerly called severally Carrgate, Thrush Lane, and 
Outergate. The first of these streets-formerly Carrga~was subsequently 
ealled First Water Lane until the year 1851, when it was in great part 
rebuilt, and received the name of King Street, probably because it leads to 
the King'• Staith. Thrush Lane, afterwards known as Second Water Lane, 
is now called Water lAM; and Outergate, afterwards Far Water Lane, 
bas been latterly called Friargau. These lanes and the &(ljoining Friar's 
Walls were the site of the old monastery of the Franciscan Friars. 

• Coft'ee was first intzoduced into England by Nathaniel Canopus, a Cretan, in 1641. 
The first eoft'ee bouse in England was kept by one Jacobs, a Jew, at Oxford, in 16110. 

3 A 
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Fetter La11e is a corruption of Felter Lane, the lane in which felt makers 
resided. · 

Long Close Lane is so called from its being on the site of a field formerly 
cfllled the Long Close, extending from Fishergate Bar to Walmgate Bar. In 
this field cattle used to be exposed for sale during the fairs. 

St. George's Field, or St. George's Close, adjoining the entrance to the New 
Walk, is the site of an ancient religious house, and the property of the 
citizens, in which, by some old charters, they are authorized to hold pageants, 
games, dry linen, shoot with bows and arrows, &:c. So early as the year 
1596 this close is mentioned as being devoted to these purposes. 

Skeldergate is a long street on the south side of the Ouse, running parallel 
with that river. This street \vas formerly occupied by merchants for the 
purposes of trade, and derived its name from the old Dutch word KeUar or 
Keldar, signifying a cellar or warehouse, such places being numerous here 
when York was a more commercial city than at present. 

Beedham's Court, Skeldergate, was formerly called Hagworm's Nest. 
Bi$haphill is so named from its having been specially under the jurisdiction 

of the Archbishop of York. 
Barker Lane, which leads from Micklegate to Tanner Row, was formerly 

called Gregory Lane, the parish church of St. Gregory having stood near the 
south-east angle of it. 

Tanner Row derives its appellation from the tan-pits which formerly were 
situated between this street and the city walls. 

Toft Green, or Toft Field, from Les Toftes, or Les Kinges toftes, was so 
called from the number of houses destroyed here by William the Conqueror. 

The Narth-Emtem. Railway Statiml occupies the sites of Toft Green, Friar's 
Gardens, &:c. A new street, running from Micklegate to the Railway Sta­
tion, was named Hudsan's Street, in honour of Mr. George Hudson, late 
chairman of the Railway directors, a former Lord Mayor of York, and some 
time known as the" Railway King;" but when Mr. Hudson fell from power 
in the Railway world, the name of this street was changed to Railway Street. 

Old BaiU Hill is called in ancient deeds Yetus Ballium, signifying a place 
of security. This place is doubtless the site of an anCient castle or place of 
strength. 

The property called Trinity Gardens near Micklcgate Bar (the site of the 
ancient Priory of Holy Trinity), bas lately been purchased by Mr. J. Craw­
shaw, the eminent contractor of this city, for building purposes, and with the 
view of forming a new street, to connect Micklegate with Bishophill. This 
new thoroughfare will unite with Micklegate at the point where the old arch­
way or entrance to the Priory lately stood. 

Digitized by Goog le 



HISTORY OF THE CITY OF YORK. 863 

Nunnery Lane, without Micklegate Dar, is so called from its proximity to 
the Nunnery. It was anciently called Beggargate Lane, from the practice of 
distributing alms to the poor from a side-door of St. Thomas's Hospital in 
this lane. 

Clement/to-rye.-This suburb is situated without the walls towards the 
south-east angle of the city, and it derives its name from the patron saint 
of its ancient church and nunnery. There are now no remains of these 
buildings. A '\umber of small streets have been erected in this neighbour· 
hood within the last few years. 

Th4 Mount is probably so named from its comparative elevation. It is 
thought by Drake to have been a Roman work, but Mr. Wellbeloved says 
that " it is not artificial, but natural, and is a portion of the ridge, if such it 
may be called, to which Severus' Hills belong." In the Civil Wars it was 
used as an outwork to command the road leading to Tadcaster. 

The New Walk, on the north bank of the Ouse, extends from the end of 
Friar's Walls (where there is a ferry across the river), to nearly a mile in 
length, beneath the shade of lofty elms, which at the lower end form a double 
row. This pleasing promenade was formed at the expense of the city in 
1733 and 1734, as far as the junction of the ri\·ers Foss and Ouse. In 
1768 the walk was continued on the other side of the Foss; a swing bridge 
called the Blzu Bridge connects the two portions. Prior to the forming of 
the Foss navigation the small rivulet which divided the walk, was called 
Browney Dyke; and over it was a draw bridge, which in 1736 was removed, 
and a handsome stone bridge substituted, to the great ornament of the walk, 
but this bridge being too low for vessels to pass, it was removed, and the 
present wooden swing bridge erected in its stead. Part of the Church of St. 
Crux having been taken down, the useless materials were removed here in 
1782, and with them the walk was much improved. On the further division 
of the walk there is an excellent well of clear water, over which is an erection, 
built at the expense of the city in 1756, in imitation of a ruin. The late 
Dr. White, in a small tract which he published respecting the many fine 
springs in this neighbourhood, observes that they are generally saturated 
with silenites; but that" the Lady Well upon the New Walk" is entirely free 
from that property, but equally soft with the river water, and remarkably 
good. Mr. Hargrove tells us, that in March and April, 1816, an advertise­
ment appeared for the sale of forty-one of the largest elm trees growing on 
this walk, which excited considerable emotion in the city ; whereupon a large 
number of the respectable citizens presented a memorial to the Lord Mayor, 
representing those trees to form the principal beauty of the walk, and re-
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questing that they ·might remain undisturbed, and the result was that the 
we was postponed, and the trees still continue to the credit of the city.* 

Tke EsplAnade, another very beautiful walk, and agreeable resort for the 
citizens, has been formed a few years ago along the north bank of the Ouse, 
from Lendal Tower to Clifton Scalp, a distance of about a mile. 

Tke Suburb1 of York were extensive at an early period, but from a variety 
of causes were considerably reduced in population, and in the space they 
occupied. " Passing over the splendid or sanguinary scenes which the his­
tory of York presents, in connexion with the times of the Romans, Saxons, 
Danes, and even the Norman Conqueror, till we arrive at the reign of Edward 
m., when a great part of his army of 60,000 men was quartered in the 
suburbs," says Allen, "this alone will suffice to corroborate the statements 
of their having contained many noble buildings, and having extended to 
several villages, now more than a mile distant. All those fair edifices were 
consumed by fire in 164-1, except a few houses out of Micklegate Bar, which 
were preserved by the royal fort."* The ruined suburbs are however rising 
rapidly, for there are now many good streets, and several handsome buildings 
and public institutions beyond the walls of the city. 

BRIDGEs.-The bridges of York are si.:t in number, one of which, the prin­
cipal one, crosses the Ouse near the centre of the city, and the remaining five 
span the Foss. It is unknown at what date the original bridge across the 
Ouse was erected, but in 1154 the wooden bridge then standing gave way 
under the weight of a large multitude, who had collected to witness the entry 
of Archbishop William.* In 1235 Archbishop Walter de Grey granted a 
brief for the rebuilding of Ottse Bridge; and in 1268 there was an affray be­
tween the citizens and the retainers of John Comyn, a Scottish nobleman, on 
Ouse Bridge, which ended in the slaughter of several of the Scotchmen. The 
citizens would appear to have been unjust aggressors, for shortly afterwards 
they agreed to pay £300., and build a chapel on the bridge, in which two 
priests should pray for the souls of the slain "for ever." In 1564 an im­
mense flood, caused by a sudden thaw, carried off two arches of Ouse Bridge, 
an!l twf'lve houses which stood on them were overwhelmed in t.he ruin, and 
several lives were lost. The bridgfl remained in this ruinous state for nearly 
two years, when the late \·enerable structure was erected on its site. The 
last old bridge consisted of five arches, and was termed by Camden a very 
noble erection. The centre arch was one of the largest in Europe. It 

• Hargrove's History of York, vol. ii., p. '•2'•· t Allen's Yorks., book iii., p. 312. 

• Bridges of stone were not built in England till after the Norman Con'lucst. 
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measures eighty-one feet span, and seventeen feet above the summer level ; 
its width on the top between the walls was eighteen feet, including the cause­
ways, which were very narrow. In addition to the carriage way and footpaths 
just described, were several buildings on the west side of the bridge; the 
principal of which was St. WiUiam's Chapel, an interesting specimen of the 
early English architecture, as may be seen by the plates of it in Halfpenny's 
Fragmenta Vetusta, and Cave's Antiquities of York. This chapel, which 
contained several chantries, the original grants of which are still amongst 
the records of the city, is supposed to be the one already mentioned as having 
been originally built in 1268. After the Reformation the chapel was con· 
verted into an Exchange for the Society of Hamburg Merchants of York, 
and subsequently into a Council Chamber for the Corporation, and a Record 
Room ; and it was finally removed on the erection of the present bridge in 
1810. On the opposite side of the bridge stood the old gaol for debtors, 
which was built in the 16th century, at which time another arch was added 
to the bridge in order to strengthen Ulis new erection. In consequence of 
the high pitch of the central arch, the ascent and descent on each side were 
dangerously steep, and houses and shops encumbered it until within a few 
years of its removal. Amongst the contributors to this bridge was Lady Jane 
Hall, relict of Robert Hall, an Alderman, who gave by will the sum of .£100. 
Her liberality was commemorated by the following curious distich, engraved 
on a brass plate on the north side of the arch :-

Willirun Watson, lord mayor, An. Dom. 1:1:'10. 

Lady Jane Hall, lo! here the works of faith doth shew, 
By givjng a hundred pounds this Bridge for to renew. 

The precarious state of the old bridge induced the Corporation, in the autumn 
of 1808, to build a new one. Accordingly an Act of Parliament was passed 
in that year for the erection of the present bridge; Mr. Peter Atkinson was 
chosen as the architect; and on Monday, the lOth of December, 1810, the 
foundation·stone of the structure was laid '!ith much ceremony by the Lord 
Mayor. On the occasion there was a grand procession of the Corporation, 
the Provincial Grand Lodge of Freemasons, &c. A glass vessel was placed 
in the stone, containing the different and latest coins of that reign, with a 
handsome medal, struck in commemoration of his MoJesty having entered 
the 51st year of his reign. The vessel was covered by a brass plate, inscribed : 

" The fin;t stone of this bridge was laid December lOth, in the year IIDcccx., and in the 
fifty.first year of the reign of George ill., hy the Rt. Bon. George Peacock, Lord Mayor. 
Peter Atkinson, architect." 
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The Act of Parliament specified that .£30,000. should be paid to the com· 
missioners by the Justices of the Peace for the three Ridings of the county, 
out of the county rates, by five equal yearly instalments of .£6,000.; the 
West Riding paying .£2,787. lOs.; the North Riding, .£1,862. lOs.; and 
the East Riding, .£1,350.; being the usual proportions of all their county, 
contributions. In addition, the Lord Mayor and commonalty of the city were 
obliged to contribute for the same period, the annual sum of .£400. There 
was also a bridge toll, which had been peculiarly obnoxious, .and indeed in· 
jurious to the city, which was finally abolished on the 18th of June, 1829, 
when there was a grand procession to celebrate the event. The new bridge 
was completed in March, 1820 ; and, by a singular coincidence, during the 
second mayoralty of Mr. Alderman Peacock, who laid the first stone. 

The bridge is a handsome structure, consisting of three elliptical arches 
with a battlement on each side, of a plain parapet wall, breast high. The 
span of the centre arch is forty-three feet, and the roadway is forty feet 
within the battlements. The flagged footways arc each five and a half feet 
broad, leaving a carriage way of twenty feet. At each end of the bridge on 
th:e south-east side a handsome series of stone steps leads down to the staiths 
or wharfs for lading and unlading of goods, &c. That on the north side of 
the Ouse is called the King's Staith, and the Qluen's Staith is on the opposite 
side. The word Stailh was derived from a purely Saxon term signifying a 
bank or shoal. It is a provincial term applied to a wharf or landing place. 
The King's Staith was mentioned in the days of Richard IT., in connection 
with the fresh water fishers. It was raised and new paved in 1774. 

Fo88 Bridge, at the end of Fossgate, dividing that street from Walmgate, 
was erected in 1811, on the site of a very ancient stone bridge of three 
arches, built in the reign of Henry IV. It appears by an old charter that 
Richard IT. granted a license to the Mayor and c!ommonalty of York, to pur· 
chase lauds of the yearly value of .£100., for the support of the bridges Ouse 
and Foss; but the latter having been rebuilt, the Mayor and citizens were 
empowered, in the 4th of Henry IV. (1403), to collect a toll upon it during 
five successive years, to defray the expenses incurred. A chapel was erected 
on the north side of the bridge, dedicated to St. Anne, though it was some· 
times called the chapel of St. Agnes. It was licensed on the 14th of 
November, 1424, for the celebration of divine service. Several of the piles 
which supported this chapel, were drawn up so late as the year 1734. In 
Camden's time Foss Bridge was so crowded with houses as to render it 
difficult for a stranger to know when he was passing over it-the line of street 
extending completely over it. The houses were however soon after taken 
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down, though we find that in 1728 several fish stalls were again erected on 
the south side, a market for salt water fish being then held there every 
Wednesday and Friday. 

The present bridge is a neat structure, consisting of one elliptical arch, 
with a balustrade. The foundation stone was laid on the 4th of June, 1811; 
and a brass plate was inserted in the stone, bearing the following inscription : 

"The first stone of this bridge was laid by the Right Hon. Lawrence Dundas,• Lord 
Mayor, on the 4th of June, 'MDCCCXI. , in the fifty.ftrst year of the reign of George m., 
and on the day on which his Majesty completed the seventy.third year of his age. Pe£er 
Atlrinson, Architect." 

Castle MilU Bridge, over the Foss, is so called from its proximity to certain 
mills anciently belonging to the Castle. There was abridge here at a very 
early period, and as it was in some sort an outwork of the Castle, was well 
defended. The roadway was widcnea and the bridge much improved a few 
years since. 

lAyertlwrpe Bridge, which connects Peasholme Green and Layerthorpe, 
was formerly remarkable for its extreme narrowness, and for the postern that 
guarded it at one end. The present structure was erected in 1829. 

Monk Bridge, which is a modern erection, forms an approach to York from 
Malton, Scarborough, &c. The span of its arch is wide enough to admit of 
the free passage of vessels of seventy tons burden. 

The Scarborough Railway Bridge, a neat cas& iron structure, erected in 
1845, crosses the Ouse a little above Marygate, and affords communication 
for foot passengers between the two lines of rails. 

The Improvements and Alterations of late years have almost changed the 
appearance of the city. Streets have been widened, new streets formed, and 
many handsome buildings erected. At the Assizes of 1852, Lord Chief 
Justice Campbell, in his charge to the city grand jury, complimented the 
inhabitants on the great improvements that had taken place in York within 
the last few years, and especially noticed the beautiful grounds attached to 
the Museum, and which he thought were not surpassed by any on the con· 
tinent of Europe. 

Mortality.-In former years York does not appear to have been so healthy 
a place of residence as many others, owing to defective drainage, and to the 
narrowness and irregularity of the streets. As we have shown in the pre­
ceding pages, York was often grievously devastated by epidemics during the 
middle ages. In 1849, the "black death;" and in the years 1890, 1550, 

• Afterwvda Earl of Zetland. 
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and 1604, grievous plagues or pestilences numbered their victims by thou· 
sands. Mr. Davies tells us, in his work on the Municipal Recl}rda of the 
City of York, that during the pestilence of 1550, it was ordered by the Cor­
poration that all infected houses should have a red cross on their doors, and 
that all persons going abroad from such houses should carry a white rod. 

But the Asiatic Cholera appears to have been less fatal here than in many 
other places. It made its first appearance in Beedham·s Court, Skeldergate 
-remarkable for being the place in which the plague first broke out which 
devastated the city in 1604-on Sunday, the 3rd of June, 1832, and by the 
22nd of October the disease had entirely disappeared. In the beginning of 
July the malady bad attained its height, when forty persons died in one 
week. The total number of cases in York was 450, and the total of deaths 
was 185. The malignity of the disease was, no doubt, considerably neutra­
lized by the admirable sanitary arrangements of the Board of Health, and 
the unwearied exertions of the medical profession of York :-upwards of 
£1,300., raised by subscription, having been expended by the board, in bread 
and beef for the relief of the poor. 

In 1840 the visitation was less severe, and in 1854 there was not more 
than one or two real cases (if any) of Cholera in York. Dr. Laycock, in his 
Report to the Commissioners for enquiring into the sanitary condition of 
large towns, in 1854, says that" the average or mean age of all dying in York 
is six years and a half less than those dying in the country, and the deaths 
from epidemics are more numerous." The average rate of mortality appears 
to be the greatest in the low lying districts of the city. The population of 
York is now upwards of 36,000, and the average number of deaths in York 
is about 1,200 per annum. 

Sanitary Measures.-The sanitary condition of York has undergone con­
siderable improvement of late years, and a system of thorough drainage is 
now being carried out, under the direction of the .Local Board of Health. 

One main sewer has lately been made through the heart of the city ; be­
ginning at Monk Bar, and passing through Goodramgate, Church Street, St. 
Sampson's Square, Feascgate, and Market Street, and crossing Coney Street 
it enters the Ouse at Waterloo Place. This great sewer varies in depth from 
fifteen to thirty feet. Several sewers of a similar character are being made 
in other parts of the city. They are all egg-shaped, and built with radiating 
bricks, made expressly for this work. This extensive drainage of the city 
will cost the city several thousand pounds, but it will be a great boon to 
generations yet unborn. 

TM Drainag~ of the Fou, which bas recently been decided upon, is another 
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excellent sanitary measure. Hitherto this river has been a great elongated 
cess-pool for a great part of the city, and ita immediate neighbourhood was in 
consequence rendered very unwholesome. In 1858 the river was purchased 
for .£4,000. by the Corporation, for the purpose of making sewers for taking 
the drainage of that part of the city which flowed into it, and conveying it 
into the Ouse. An Act of Parliament was obtained for this purpose, as well 
as for empowering the Corporation to drain the marshy land on the banks of 
the river, called the F011 lalandl. According to the terms of the Act, the 
river Foss most be kept open, so that ita navigation will not be interrupted. 
Several plans for the drainage of the river were submitted, examined, and 
rejected by the Corporation, till at length at the meeting of that body on the 
12th of February, in the present year (1855), they adopted the recommend­
ation of Mr. Wicksteed, an eminent surveyor, that a line of intercepting 
sewers be constructed on the land for the drainage of the Foss district, com· 
mencing at the extreme boundary of the city near the Union Workhouse, 
passing Monk and Layerthorpe bridges, thence across Walmgate and George 
Street, to Fishergate, and thence to the Bluo bridge on the New Walk, the 
sewage matter to be conveyed into the centre of the river Ouse, by means of 
an iron pipe; also, to construct a sewer, commencing in Fossgate, crossing 
the Foss Islands, and proceeding to St. George's Terrace, where it will join 
the drain alluded to above. The estimated cost of the intercepting sewer is 
about .£8,600., and should a drain be formed, in addition, for the Foss Islands, 
a further sum of .£8,500. will be required. These plans, which are to be 
carried out without delay, appear well calculated to promote the sanitary 
improvement of the city. 

Another great sanitary measure lately carried into effect is the abolition of 
intramural interment in the city. All the burial grounds and vaults, in 
connection with the churches and chapels in York, have been closed, except 
the place of interment of the Society of Friends and the new part of the 
church yard of St. Lawrence ; the former is to be closed from and after the 
1st of August, 1856, and the latter is allowed to continue as a burial place, 
in consequence of a piece of ground having been but lately added to the 
church yard. It is however ordered that this new ground " be properly 
drained, and no more than one body is to be buried in each grave, nor with 
a covering of less than four and a half feet of earth, measuring from the 
upper surface of the coffin to the level of the ground." 

This great change has been made by order of the Secretary of State, 
in 'rirtue of the powers given to him by a recent Act of Parliament. The 
Order in Council directs that from and after the ~8rd of December, 18154, 

3 B 
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"no new burial ground shall be opened in the city of Yorlt, or within two 
miles of its boundary, without the previous approval of one of her Majesty's 
principal Secretaries of State; and that burials in the said city be discon­
tinued " from the above date, with the modifications already stated. 

The greatest necessity appears to ha,·c existed in York for the closing of 
the burial grounds. Dr. Laycock, a very competent judge in the matter, 
plainly shews, in his Report to the Health of Towns' Commissioners, the 
e,;l consequences of the practice of intramural burial in the city. "The 
state of the parochial burying grounds of York," he says, " must have a 
considerable and noxious influence on the atmosphere within the churches, 
and on that of the city generally, and on the water. The greater number of 
these grounds are of extreme antiquity, and must have been buried·over very 
oft,.,n . In fact, many of them are raised above the street level from the accu· 
mnlat.~il rPulain:< of generations. The analysis of the water from wells near St. 
()uthbert's and St. :::;ampson's cl~t~rch yards, shows that the wells are tainted 
by the dmiuage from these burying grounds, and there can be no doubt that 
the air is also polluted, nnt only hy the direct emanations, but as well from 
the drainage from the bodies in the public sewers." 

Is ecclesiastical affairs the County of York is in the province of York, 
and until a few years ago was partly in the diocese of Chester, and partly 
in that of York. The former part consisted of the deaneries of Richmond, 
Cattcrick, and Boroughbridge, with part of Kirby Lonsdale, all in the arch­
deaconry of Hichmond; and the latter of the deaneries of Cleveland, Ridalt>, 
Bulmer, Ripon, and Ripon with l\Jasham (a peculiar jurisdiction), all in 
the archdeaconry of Cleveland ; all the deaneries of Dickering, Buckrose, 
Harthill and Hull, and Holdemess, all in the archdeaconry of the East 
Riding; and the deaneries of Craven, York, Ainsty, York city, Pontefract, 
and Doncaster, all in the archdeaconry of York, or West Riding. By order 
in Council, of date 5th of October, 1836, those parts of the county previously 
in the diocese of Chester, together with the deaneries of Ripon, Ripon ,,;th 
Masham, Craven, and parts of York, Ainsty, and of Pontefract, have, with 
the consent of the Archbishop of York and the Bishop of Chester, been trans­
ferred from their respective dioceses, in order to form the new diocese of 
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Ripon. The Province of York now com1wises the bishoprics of Carlislc, 
Chester, Durham, Sodor and Man, Ripon, and .Manchester. It formerly 
included the whole of Scotland, but Pope Sixtus IV., at the end of the 15th 
century, granted the Primacy of Scotls.nd to the Bishop of St. Andrews. The 
diocese of York extends over the county of York, except such parts as have 
been included in the diocese of Ripon. 

Under the Archbishop, ecclesiastical matters are conducted by Archdeacong, 
an officer first introduced into this diocese by Thomas the Nonno.n in 1070. 
Before the Conquest the Saxon prelates sat in the courts for the administra­
tion of justice with the Earls and Sheriffs; but the Conqueror separated th11 
ecclesiastical from the civil jurisdiction, by enacting "that no Bishop or 
Archdeacon should in future hold ecclesiastical pleas in the Hundred Co1,1rt, 
nor suffer any cause of a spiritual nature to come under the cognizance of 
secular persons~ ·• Dr. Heylin tell us that the an;_hbishopric of York is the 
most s.ncient metropolits.n See in England, having been so constituted in the 
reign of King Lucius, in the year 180. But it is certain that Christianity 
was not practised, if even known, in the north of England in the beginning 
of the seventh century. \Vhen Edwin, the Saxon King of Northumbria, 
embraced the Christian religion, and in some measure introduced it into the 
northern parts of Dritain, he was baptized by Paulinus at York, in a small 
wooden oratory erected for the occasion, there being no place of Christian 
worship in this city at that time. This monarch afterwards established, or 
according to some, re-established the archbishopric, and Paulinus was made 
Archbishop. The Archbishop of York is Primate and Metropolitan of Eng­
ls.nd, s.nd to him attaches the honour of crowning the Queens of England, 
and of preaching the coronation sennon. Warm and repeated contentions 
existed for many centuries for ecclesiastical supremacy between the Arch­
bishops of York s.nd Canterbury. In Sir Frs.ncis Palgravc"s "Truths and 
Fictions of the .Middle Ages-The 1\Ierchant and the Friar," there is a 
curious account of tho predicaments in which my Lord of Canterbury used 
to place my Lord of York, when the latter went to LonJon; anJ of the re­
taliation made by my LorJ of York, when his spiritual brother came into 
the north, The dispute on this point was however settled in the reign of 
Edward ill., by the Archbishop of Canterbury being styleJ "Primate of 
All England;" anJ the Archbishop of York, "Primate of England, .. which, 
though it seems "a distinction without a difference," really gave tho su­
premacy to his Groce of Canterbury. The Archbishop of York, who is also 
Lord High Almoner to the Queen, takes prece1lency of all Dukes who arc 
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not of the blood royal, and of all the chief officers of state, the Lord High 
Chancellor alone ~cepted. 

The total number of benefices returned in the diocese of York, in 1838, was 
690; the incumbents in 276 of which were non-resident. According to the 
Clergyman's Almanack for the past year, the number of benefices in the 
diocese is 878, of which number 844 had glebe houses. 

The yearly tenths of the archbishopric of York, as returned in the survey 
made by the commissioners appointed by the Crown in the reign of Henry 
VIII., on the eve of the Reformation, were valued at ~161.; and the value 
of the living, as stlted in the King's Boob of the same date, was ~1,610. 
The average gross yearly income of the Archiepiscopal See in 1881, was 
£13,798.; net yearly income, £12,629.* By order in Council, of date 21st 
of June, 1887, the income of the fvt!U'e Archbishops of York is limited to 
£10,000. per annum. 

The ecclesiastical establishment in connection with the Cathedral, consists 
of au Archbishop, Dean, Chancellor, Precentor, Sub-Dean, Succentor, 3 Arch­
deacons, 4 Canons Residentiary, 24 Prebendaries or non·resident Canons, a 
Chancellor of the Diocese, a Sub-Chanter, 4 Vicars Choral, 7 Lay Clerks, 
6 Choristers, an Organist, and other officers. 

The Deanery of York was instit11ted by Archbishop Thomas, in 1090. The 
Dean, who is next to the Archbishop in rank, is elected by the Chapter, 
invested with a gold ring, and installed by the Precentor. The next in 
diguity in the Precentor, or Chanter, nn office which also was founded in 
1090. The duty of this dignitary is to superintend the choir, and install 
every person presented to any dignity in the church. The next in order is 
the Chancel~r of the Church. He has the custody of the seal of citations, 
r.ollates to grammar schools, &c. His office was founded a short time before 
the deanery. The College of the Vicars-Ciwral was foun<led by Archbishop 

• The following iJ; the substance of the schemes and decrees to which the Ecckrial­
tical Commi#i011tr1 nf England obtained the sanction of the King in 1836 :-That all 
parishes which are loeally situated in one diocese, and under the jurisdiction of another, 
be made subject to that See, 11rithin which they are locally situated; that certain new 
dioceses l'hould be created, and t.hat such appointment or exchange of ecclesiastical pa­
tronage should be made amon1:1 thf' ArchbishopR and Bisbopa, so as to leave an avcrag11 
yearly income of £15,000. to t.be Archbishop of Canterbury ; £10,000. to the Archbishop 
ot York; £10,000. to the Bi!!hop of I.ondon ; £8,000. to the Bishop of Durhnm ; £7,000. 
to the Bishop of Winchester; £5.000. to the Bishops of Ely, Wo~ester, and Bath and 
Wells, respectively; .£5,200. to tho Bishop of St.. Amph IUld Bangor; and th11t out or the 
funds arising in the said dioceses, over and aho,·e the Mid incomes, the commissionel'fl 
should grant sneh stipends to the other Bighops, AA should make tht>ir an•rage annual 
incomes not lc88 thm £4,000., nor mot·e than £:1,000. 
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Walter de Grey, in 1252, and at present consists of five members, who per­
form the musical part of the daily services of the choir. 

The Clulpter, which is composed of the Dean, and the four Residentaries, 
under the title of the" Dean and Chapter of York," is the ruling body of the 
Cathedral establishment. The Archbishop has the power of holding visi­
tations of their affairs. The Archbishop has the patronage of the Archdea­
conries, the Chancellorships, Precentorships, the Non-Residentiary Canonries, 
and fifty-three benefices. The Dean has the patronage of eleven benefices, 
and a revenue of £1,250. The Dean and Chapter have the patronage of the 
Residentiary and Minor Canons, with twenty-three benefices, and possess a 
revenue of £1,650., divided into six shares, of which one is reserved for 
minor salaries. The Residentiaries must be chosen out of the Prebendaries. 

At the Reformation the yearly tenths of the deanery were valued at £30. 
17s. Otd. and the living, which is in the gift of the Crown, at £807. lOs. 7 !d. 
The deanery has the rectories of Pocklington, Pickering, and Kilham, of 
which the Dean is patron and ordinary.* He likewise presents to Thornton, 
Ebberston, Ellerburne, Bamby Moor, and Hayton vicarages. 

The Sub-Chanter and four Minor Canons form a corporate body, with a 
revenue of £569., which is equally divided amongst them. The Treasurer­
ship, erected in the year 1090, was dissolved and made a lay fee by King 
Edward VI., as were also the prebends of Wilton and Newthorpe, annexed 
thereto. It is understood that about £3,000. is applicable yearly to the 
repairs of the Cathedral and maintenance of its services. 

The .&rm~ of York Cathedral were anciently, azure, a staff in pale or, sur­
mounted by a pall argent fringed as the second, charged with fh·e crosses 
pattee fitched Babls, in chief another such a cross or. These arms are im­
paled in some of the windows of the church, with the arms of Archbishops 
Bowett, Rotheram, and Savage; but they have since been changed for this 
bearing, Gules, two keys in saltire argent, in chief a crown imperial OR, with 
the mitre. The crown was added to the shield on account of York having 
once been an imperial city. 

ORIGIN or TITBEs.-Festus informs us that the ancients offered to tlleir 
gods the titlles of all things, and tllis seems to have been the means by 
which religion was supported by all nations of antiquity. Parishes are 
supposed to have been first formed by Archbishop Honorius, who flourished 

• " By an ancient custom of this church, the Dean of it was obliged for ever to feed 
or relieve, at his deanery, ten poor people daily.-This was for the soul of good Qneen 
Maud; and for which purpose he had the churches of Kilham, Pickering, and Pock. 
lington, annexed to his deanery.'"-DriiU. 
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about 630,* as a necessary appropriation of ecclesiastical duties to certain 
responsible pastors, and to prevent those irregularities which might and did 
arise from the interference that frequently occurred by the intrusive visits 
of strangers on the scene of othet· men's labours, to the manifest injury of 
religion. In 673, Theodore, Archbishop of Canterbury, convened. a synod, 
at which, amongst other regulations, this was agreed on :-Nullus Epiuo· 
porum alterirts i11vadat. In the first ages of Christianity, every man was at 
liberty to contribute his tithes to what parish or church soever he pleased. ;t 
but this privilege served. as au existing means whereby any pique against 
the priest might be gratified by the alienation of his income. Tins incon­
venience therefore was obviated ; first, by the censures of the Council of 
Calcuith; then by the famous charter of Ethelfwulf; and most effectually 
by tlw laws of Edgar, which provided, that all tithes should be paid in the 
parish where they arise. About the year tl\10, Ina, King of the West Saxons, 
made a code of laws, the fourth section of which is as to the following pur­
port, " The first fruits of seeds or church due, arising front the product of 
coru, &c., arc to be paid at the feast of St. l\Iartin; and let him that fails iu 
the payment forfeit 40s.," as Lambeth reads it; or, according to Sir Henry 
Spelman, 60s.; and besides, pay the dues twelve times over. In the 62nd 
section, "Church dues are to be paid where the persons owing them dwell in 
the midst of winter." These laws appear to be the first on recvrd respecting 
such maintenance for the church, and on this account are mentioned here. 
The gifts and oblations which the primitive Ch1istiaus, in their devotedness 
and zeal for religion, made as acts of piety, were transformed by usage and 
custom, into a right, o.nd are now advanced into the firmer title of ordinance. 
Hence modem lawyers say, tltat tithes are due of common right, as having 
exit>ted since the first establishment of churches, and made regular from the 
division of parochial limits. In 1828, by Act of Parliament, certain tithe 
commissioners were appointed to commute the tithes of England and Wales, 
for a rent charge on the land, to vary nr.cording to the average priec of com. 

QuEEN ANNE's Dou:sTY.-From a very early petiod, every Bishop and 
clergyman has been required to pay the amount of his first years incumbency 
into a fund, called from thence First Fruits, and every succeeding year as 
long as he is in possession of the living, he has been required to pay one· 
tenth part of his income into n. fund, hence called The Tenths. In 1290, a 
a valuation for this purpose was made of all the ecclesiastical livings in 
England; and the book containing that record is preserved in the Remem· 

• Stow Chron., p. 77. t Dl.ackstDne•e Comment., vol. i., p. 112. 
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l..rancer"s office, under the title of "Valor of Pope Nicholas IV." At the 
time of the Reformation there was a law passed, that the first fruits and 
tenths should he applied to the use of the state, and that any Bishop or 
clergyman neglecting to pay those imposts into the public treasury, should 
he declared an intruder into his living, and should forfeit double the amount; 
and, in order to ascertain the full amount, an accurate and full valuation was 
made of all the ecclesiastical livings in England and Wales. Except during 
a short period in the reign of Philip and Mary, the first fruits and te~ths 
continued to he paid into the public exchequer, till the reign of Queen Anne, 
when that monarch, deploring the wretched condition of many of the poor 
clergy, owing to the insufficiency of their livings, determined that the first 
fruits and tenths of the livings of all the Bishops and clergy should he paid 
into a fw1d, to be called Queen A1me"s Bounty, and that tl1e amount should 
be appropriated to the augmentation of the livings of the poor clergy. As 
there was no fresh valuation instituted in the time of Queen Anne, the first 
fruits and tenths continue to be paid according to that made by Henry VITI. 
in 1535, and which was registered in what is called tlJe King's Books (Liber 
Regis), to which, as well as to the augmentation from Queen Anne's Bounty, 
we shall frequently refer in the accounts of church livings in this volume. 
That this payment might not operate oppressively, the first year's income 
was to be paid by four annual instalments, and all livings of small value were 
entirely exempt, and hen(!e called Discharged litings. The increase which 
has taken place in the value of church livings since 1535 is enormous. 

SANCTUARY.*-York Cathedral was one of the churches that possessed the 
great privilege of Sanctuary from a very early period. This privilege was 

• This privilege was introduced into the Christian Church about the time of Con­
stAntine. It hnd its origin in the laws of Moses, who, nt the divine command, ap­
pointed six cities of refuge, as n protection to the involuntary homicide ngainst tho 
summnry wngeance of his incensed pursuers.-Numb. c. 3:1. It was used also in pagan 
times. Some particular trees in the Druidical grove were sanctuaries; and the altars 
of idolatry W('re decorated with horns, which were always reputed a sanctuary for crime; 
so that oven murderers, fleeing for safety to the horns of the altar, esteemed themselves 
perfectly secure from the danger of apprehension until their crimes were legally inyes­
tigatcd. This privilege ha\-:ing become quite a nui'lllnce, through the number of the 
\-:ilest malefactors, who remained in the temples of the gods with impunity, and set at 
defiance the operation of the laws; Tiberius Cresnr abolished the protection afforded by 
these sanctuaries, and confined it to the two wmples of Juno and Esculapius. By the 
laws of the Saxon King Ina, A.D. 003, any person guilty of a capital crime, taking refuge 
in a church, his lifo was spared, on condition t.hat he made recompense to the friends 
of tl1e deceased, according to justice and equity; and if one who had merely incurred 
the punishment of stripes took such refuge, his punishment was suspended. 
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possessed by many of the churches, and when kept under proper restraint 
was a public benefit, and modemted the rigour of the common law. It al­
lowed time for criminals to make restitution, and for the falsely accused to 
prove their innocence, whilst without this respite they might have suffered 
immediate punishment or death. The Leuga, or privileged circuit, was com­
prehended within the circumference of a circle, of which the church was the 
centre, and its limits were marked by stone crosses on the principal roads 
leading to each of these "cities of refuge.*" The refugee, or gritl&man, 
generally 1llrived at the entmnce to the church under the cloak of night, and 
was admitted by the porter of the church or monastery into the porch or 
Galilu.t In the morning a chapter was assembled to hear and record the 
details of the case. The Sanctuary oath was then administered, and having 
paid the customary fee for registering the circumstances of his crime, he was 
seated in the fridatol, and permitted to remain within the precincts until he 
·was favoured with an opportunity of compromising with his adversary; or in 
case of murder with the surviving relations and friends of the unhappy suf­
ferer. "If a malefactor, flying for refuge, was taken or apprehended within 
the crosses, the party that took or had hold of them there did forfeit ttro 

hundrdh; ! if he took him within the town he forfeited four hundrt~tla; if 
within the walls of the churchyard, then liz hundreth; if within the church, 
then tw11lw hundreth; if within the doors of the quire, then eighttlen hundreth, 
besides penance as in case of sacrilege ; but if he· presumed to take him out 
of the stone chair near the altar, called Fridatol, or from among the holy 
relics behind the altar, the offence was not redeemable with any sum; but 

• "The King's peace extended three mila, three furlong, three mcera breda!, nine fote, 
nine scefta munda, nine bere corna."-Wilk. Leg. Ang. Sax., p. 68. The remains or 
three of these Sanctuary c1'08118s may yet be seen in the neighbourhood or Beverley. 

t Some of our Cathedrals and great churches possess an appendage called th11 Gallke, 
or Galike porch, probably considered as a part of the edifice less sacred than the rest, 
where preliminaries to admission, as in baptism, the churching or women, .tc., were 
performed; and where great sinners doing public penance were exposed before being 
received back into communion with the church. In conventual churches this appendage 
was "a amall gallery or balcony open towards the nave of the church, trom which 
visitors, or the lamily of the Abbot, with whose residence it communicated, might view 
procession&. Here also the female relatives of the monks were permitted to have inter­
views with them. From this last circumstance, Dr. Milner explains the origin and 
derivation of the appellation. On a woman's applying for leave to see a monk, her 
relation, abe was answered in the words of scripture, " he goeth before you into Galilee, 
there you ahall see him."-Britton's Archit. Ant., vol. v., Appendix :rlii. 

t Mr. Staveley, on the authority of Richard, Prior of Hagulstad, says thM the llua­
drtth contained tif'ht pollftdl. 
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was then become ,i1u emendatione boula, and nothing but the utmost se­
verity of the offended church was to be expected, by a dreadful excommuni­
cation, besides what the secular power would impose for the presumptuous 
misdemeanor."* The Fridatol, that is.freed ,tool, was a chair of refuge and 
safety from the immediate infliction of punishment for any crime whatsoever.+ 

By a statute enacted in the Qth of Edward II. (1816), it W&li provided that 
"so long as the criminals be in the church, they shall be supplied with the 
necessaries of life." Whilst the nature and circumstances of his crime were 
being investigated, the church continued its protection, and the culprit re­
mained in perfect safety within the limits of the Sanctuary; and in all cases 
the life of the criminal was safe, for having taken the oath of fealty to the 
head of the religious establishment, and being placed in the chair of peace, 
he could compel his adversary to accept of a pecuniary compensation. 

The places of Sanctuary in process of time became much abused, and 
diverted from their original purpose; and in the reign of Henry VIII. they 
were entirely abolished. 

A Chronol,ogical List of the Archbishop, of York, from the establishment of 
the See in the year 625, to the present time:-

ANGLO-SAXON DYNASTY . 

No, ARCHBISHOPS. CoDNCTated. 
Died Contemporaneous Kinp. 

or Trall.llated. 

1 St. Paulinus . . . . . . . . . . 626 031 Edwin. -

Su tiacant 84 year,. 
·!2 Ceadda, or Chad ....••.. 666 669 Oswyn. 

St. Wilfrid . . . . . . . . . . . . 669 678 Alcfrid. .,0 

• Bosa ...•••.•••..••••.. 678 686 Egfrid. 
St. Wilfrid (restored) 686 601 Alcfrid. -:I 
Bosa (restored) ....••.• 601 706 Alcfrid. 

6 St. John of Beverley .••. 70(1 718 Osred. z 
... 

6 Wilfrid II. . . . . . . . . . . . .. 718 731 Osric. 0 

7 Egbert ..••..•..•..••.. 731 766 Crelwulph. � 
8 Coena Albert •••.••..•. 767 781 Ethelwuld. � 9 Eu.nbauld •..•.•.•••.... 780 706 Edelrid. 

10 Eanbauld II. . . . . . . . . . . 707 832 Alred. 

• Pegge. in Archlllol., vol. viii, p. 44. 

t The Fruutcl, or chair of peace, occurs in the laws of Edgar, ca. 16. There were 
formerly several of them in the northern parts of· Britain; one of them _occurs in the 
charter of immunities renewed by King Henry VII. to St. Peter's, York, where it is in­
terpreted catludra quutudini., tiel paci8.-Wilk. Leg. Anglo-Sax. Gloss., p. 403. The 
fridstol was generally a stone chair or seat near the high altar, as an emblem of pro­
tect.ion to the refugee.-Dugdale's Monast., vol. ii., p. 128. The ucient fridstol or 
Beverley Sanctuary is still preserved in the Minster of that place. 

3 C 
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----
No. ARCHBISHOPS. Cooaecrated. Died Contempoi'UleOIIA Kinp. 

or Tranalaliell. 
-

11 Wulsius .. .... ... .. ... 832 832 Egbert. 
12 Wimund .............. 832 854 Egbert-Ethel,~ulph. 
13 Wilfere .............. 8M 89~ Ethel bald-Alfred. 
14 Ethel bald ......... ... 89~ 020 Alfred. 
~~ Redward ... .. . . ..... . . 921 040 Edward the Elder. 
16 Wulstan .............. 941 9~6 Athelstan-Edred. 
17 Oscytell ······ ·· ·· ···· 95~ 971 Edwy-Edgar. 
18 Atbelwald ······· ····· 071 971 Edgar. 
19 Oswald .... ....... . . . 974 993 Edward the Martyr. 
20 Adulfe ... .. .•.•••. .. .. 903 100'l Ethelred II. 
21 Wulstan II ......... .. .. 1003 1023 Ethelred II.-Sweyn. 
22 Alfrio Pu ttoc .......... 1023 1060 Canute-Harold I.-Ed 

the Confessor. 
23 Kim;ius .. ... . .. .. .... 10~0 1060 Edward the Confessor. 
.24 Aldred .. ............ .. 1061 1069 Edward the Confesso r-

Harold 11.-Willm. I 

ANGLO-NORMAN DYNASTY. 

26 Thomas ..... .. ... .... 1070 1100 1 William I. and IT. 
26 Gerard .......•........ 1100 1108 ; Henry I. 
27 Thomas II . .......... .. ll09 111-1 Henry I. 
28 Thurstan ...... . ... . .. . 1119 1189 Henry-Stephen . 
29 St. William (deprived in 

1147) .............. 11(4 1147 Stephen. • 30 Henry Murdac 1148 11M Stephen. 
St. William (restored) .. 11::13 11~4 Stephen. 

SAXON UNE (RESTORED.) 

31 Roger ······ ········· · 116, 1181 Henry II. 
See vacant 10 ytar1. Henry II. 

32 Geoffry Plantagenet • •• . 1191 1212 
Set vacant 4 yean. Henry II.-Rioh. I-John 

33 Walter de Grey ••.•.... 1216 1266 John-Henry III. 
M Sewal de Dovil 12lJ6 12~8 Henry III. 
35 Godfrey de Kcynton ...• 1258 1264 Henry Ill. 
36 Walter Giffard 1266 1279 Henry 111.-Edward I . 
37 William Wickwano ..... . 12i9 1286 Edward I . 
88 John le Bomayne ...... 1280 1296 Edward I. 
39 Henry de Newark ..... . 1296 1299 Edward I . 
40 Thomas de Corbrigge 1299 1303 Edward I. 
41 William de Grenfeld .... 1306 1316 Edward I. and II. 
42 William de Melton .. . . . . 1317 1340 Edward II. and m. 

LANCASTRIAN UNE. 

43 William de la Zouehe 1842 1862 Edward :fll. 

" John de Thoresby ...... 13()4 1373 Edward III. 
'I) Ale:u.nder Nevile •.• .• . 1374 1888 Edward 111.-Richard II. 
4.6 Thomas A.rundell ••...• lliSfJ 1396 RichQI'd II. 
'7 Robert Waldby 1397 1398 Richard 11. 
4.8 Richard Scroope • . ... ... 139~ 1406 Richard II.-Henry IV. 
49 Henry Bowet •. . .. . .... 1405 U23 Henry IV. and V. 
liO John ~empe .......... 1~ 1.01 BtD"Y V. ucl VI. 
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HOUSE OF YORK. 

No. ARCHBISHOPS. Ccmoec:nted. Died Coa...,po...,eou Kinp. 
or Tranalatecl. 

Cl1 William Boothe . ....... 1453 1464 Henry Vl.-Edward IV. 
6~ George Neville 1466 1476 Edward IV. 
68 Lawrence Boothe 1476 1480 Edward IV. 
64 Thomas Scot de Rother-

bam .... .. ..... ... 1480 1500 Edward IV. & V.-Ri.chd. 
III.-Henry VII. 

BOUSE OF TUDOR. 

65 Thomas Savage 1501 1607 Henry VII. 
Cl6 Christopher Bayn brigge •. 1508 11114 Henry VII. and VIII. 
67 Cardinal Thomas Wolsey 1:'>14 1:'>30 Henry VIII. 
68 Edward Lee ... ..... .. 1531 1644 Henry VIII. 
61l Robert Holgate . . • ..... 1644 1:'>53 Henry VIII.-Edw. VI.-

Mary. 
80 Nicholas Heath ........ 1M5 1558 Mary-Elizabeth. 

Protutant .Archbilhop•. 
61 TbomiiS Young HS60 1568 Elizabeth. 
62 Edmund Grindall . ... .. 1670 1676 Elizabeth. 
63 Edwin Sandys . ... . ..... 1677 11)88 Elizabeth. 
64 John Piers •... . .. . .... 1688 1594 Elizabeth. 
65 Matthew Hutton 1594 1606 Eliznbeth-James I. 

HOUSE OF STUART. 

66 To billS Matthew ........ 1606 1628 James 1.-Cbarlea I . 
67 George Montaigne . . .... 1628 1628 Charles I. 
68 Samuel Harsnett 1629 1631 Charles I . 
69 Richard Neill .... .... .. 1632 1640 CbiU'les I. 
70 John Williams ........ 1642 16:'>0 Charles I. 

Stt vacant 10 ytar•. The Commonwealth. 
71 Accepted Frewen ••... . 1660 1664 Charles II. 
72 Richard Sterne ........ 1664 1683 Charles II. 
73 John Dolben .......... 1683 1686 Charles II.-Jamea II. 
74 Thomas Lamplugb 1688 1691 William III. 
~ John Sharp . ...• . .... .. 1691 1713 William ill.-Anne. 

HOUSE OF BRUNSWICK. 

76 Sir William Dawes .. . .. . 1714 1724 George I. 
77 l.&ncelot Blackburn .. .. 1724 1743 Geor~e I. and II. 
78 Tbomea Herring 1743 1747 George II. 
79 Matthew Hutton . .... . .. 1747 1757 George 11. 
80 John Gilbert ... ....... 1757 1761 George II. and m. 
81 Robert Hay Drummond .. 1761 1776 George III. 
82 William Markham ...... 1777 1807 George III. 
83 Edward V. V. Harcourt •• 1808 1847 George III. & IV.-Wm. 
M Thomas Musgrave .• . .. . 1847 IV.-ViDtoria. 

Victoria. 
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A list of the Deam of York, with the year of their respective creation:-

No. 

:! 
:J 
4. 
II 
6 
7 
8 
0 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
1:1 

16 
17 
IB 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
2.t 
\!~ 

\!ll 
'J.7 
28 
20 
:10 
~I 
:l:l 
rl!l 
:u 
:Hi 
:llj 
:H 
:JH 
:to 
40 
41 
12 
.j.;j 

.M 

45 

DEANS. 

Hu~;o ...... ... .... ..... . .. . 
William de t. Barbara ..... . 
Robert de Gant ............. . 
Robert BotevillW .. ....... . . . 
Huoort Walter . ............ . 
H enry Mar hnll ........... . 

imon de Apulia ........... . 
Hamo . ... .. .... . ..... . . ... . 
Roger de Insula ........... . 
Oeoffry de orwych . .. ... ... . 
Fulk Bassett ............... . 
\VilliD.m .. .... .........•.. . . 
Walter de Kyrkham ....... . . . 

ewal de Bo'-i.l ............. . 
Godfrey de Ludl.111m (or Ke) u . 

ton) .. . ........... .. ... . 
Rog r de llold,' rne s 
William de lAnguet~n ....... . 
Robert de Scnrdeburgh . . .. . . 
Henry de Newark . . .. . ..... . . 
William de Hamelton• ..... . 
Reginald de Gote. Cardinalis .. 
William de Pykering ....... . 
Robert de Pykerings, P.C.L. 
William de Colby ..... .. . ... . 
William de Ia Zouch ....... . 
Philip de Weston . ... .. .... . . 
Tailerond Bp. of Albanen . .. . 
.T oh n Anglicus, Cardinalis ... . 
Adam Easton, Cardinrilih ... . 
Edrml. do trafford, L.L.D. 
Hogor Walden ............. . 
Richard Clifford, Bac. ug . .. . . 
Thomas lAngleyt ...... .. ... . 
.John Prophete ............. . 
ThomRs Polton ............. . 
Williflm Grey, L.Ln. 
Rolwrt Gilbert, S.T. P .. ... ... . 
Willimu Felter, D<'C. 1 lr ...... . 
Riehnr•r l Andrew~. L.L.O. . .. . 
Robert Both.,. L.L.D ........ . 
l' )ll;stophlc'r l ' rsw) k. Doc. Dr .. 
WiUimn Sheffield, ON•. Dr ... . 
'eoffrPy Hlythl', .. T.R ..... . 

Christ. Bayn briggr•, T.. I.. D .... . 

Jnmt>' Hurdn~ton 

AppoinUd. Died or Remond. 

Temp. Will . II. 
Temp. K. tep. Bishop of Durham ...... 1142 

1144 

11 0 
110 
1101 
1214 
12-
1:!3(; 
1210 
1244 
124-
125-

12:16 
1258 
126-
l :l71l 
1:l00 
1:l08 
13011 
1310 
1312 
13:J2 
133:1 
1347 
] :J."l-
1:360 
131H 
J:lA:I 
1:10-
180 
14.01 
1407 
141U 
1421 
14'20 
14.17 
14[>-t 
Hi7 
lJ 
U04 
14911 
1:iO:J 

11>07 

Died .. ............... . 11 6 
Bishop of alisbury ...... 11 9 
Bishop of Exeter ........ 1191 
Bishop of Exeter .... .... 1214 

Bishop of London ........ 1244 

Archbishop of York ... . .. 12:10 

Archbi.:.hop of York ...... 12:1 

Died ............ ...... 1279 
Died . . .. .. . ..... ... ... 1290 
Archbishop . . ...... . . .. 1296 
Died ... .. . . .. ........ . 131-4 
Died ...... ............ 1310 
Died . ....... ...... .. . . 1312 

Archbi hop ............ 13-10 

Died ............ ... .. . 
Deprived ..... . . . ..... . 
Deprived . . ... . .... .. . . 

Arrhbi hop of Canterbury 139 
Bishop of Worcester .... 1-Wl 
Bishop of Durham ...... 1406 
DieJ .. . . . ..... .. .. . .. . 

Bi,hop of London ...... 1-!20 
Bishop of London . . .... U37 
Die<1 . . ...... ...• ... .. . 
Res~ed ..... . .... ... . 1477 
Died ................. . 
Resigned .............. HOt 
Died . . .............. .. 
Bishop of Lichfleld .... .. 1110:1 

{ Bishop of Durham .... 1607 
Archbishop of York .•.. 1:108 

Died . .. ........ .. .. ... 1~12 

• Jan. 10, 1306, 92nd Edw. 1., tbu William de Bomelton had the great oea1 deli•ered to bun aa Lord 
Chancellor of England.-Torre, p. 556. 

t In the ,.r t•oa be wu conatitnted Lord Hi11b Cba11~Uor of EDgl1111d.-Drake, p. lit. 
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No. DEAI'IS. 

--~-------------------
46 Thomas Wolsey .•. . •..... . • 

47 John Young •..•••••.•• • .••. 
.S Brian Higden, LLD .•.•..•.. 
49 Richard Layton, LL.D. • •.... 
M Nicholas Wotton, LLD .• ••••• 
M Matthew Hutton ..•.••••.... 

62 John Thornburgh, S.T.P. . ... 
M George Meriton, S.T.P .•..••. 
M John Scott, S.T.P .••.......•• 
66 Richard Marsh ..••.•.. •• .. • . 
116 William Sancroft. ••••••••• ••• 
l)7 Robert Hitch, S.T.P. . •...... 
68 Tobias Wickham .•..• • .•.••• 
69 Thomas Gale, S.T.P •••• ••..• . 
60 Henry Finch, A.M. • .•••••••• 
61 Richard Osbaldeston, S.T.P •.. 
62 John Fountayne ••••••••••.• 
63 George Markham ...•.•.....• 
M W. Cockburn, .•.••..•.•...• 

I Appointed. 

1M2 

16U 
1516 
ll)39 
1M4 
1667 

1089 
1617 
1624 
1660 
1663 
166-! 
1676 
1697 
1702 
1728 
17., 
1802 
1822 

{ Bishop of Lincoln •.••.. 1M3 
Archbishop of York •••. 1l)l4 

Died ••..••••.•••••.••. 1616 
Died . . •.•.•.•.•.•. .• .. 1l)39 
Died .• • • • ..•.. •• .• • ..• 1M4 
Died ••••.•..•..•••••.• 1l)67 

{Bishop of Durham ••.. 1089 
Arch bishop of York .•.. 1l)94 

Bishop of Worcester .... 1617 
Died •.•.••.......••.•. 1624 
Died •. . •••• .. • .... . ... 1644 
Died • .•.•..••...•.••.• 166:1 
Dean of St. Pauh, London 1664 
Died ...... •.••••• .• • . • 1676 
Died ••.•.•.•.•....••.• 1697 
Died .•........•..••••. 1702 
Died .......•...•.•.•.. 1728 
CarliRle ...•..•....• •. •. 1747 
Died ••...•....•...•.•. 1802 
Died ....•.........•... 1822 

ANNALS OF THE ARCHBISHOPS.-Gent, on the authority of Dr. 
Hey lin, tells us that King Lucius made this ancient See" a metropolitan," that 
its first Bishop was Sampwn, and its last British Bishop TadiaetU. " Two 
others," he continues, "are mentioned, as Taurinus and Pyrannlts; the last 
of whom is said to have been chaplain to the renowned King Arthur."* In 
his preface to his History of York, the same authority tells us that the name 
of another British Bishop of York was Exuperiw, if, as he says, we may 
credit a late account, in 1729, " That a man at Stanton, in N orthamptonshire, 
threw up with his plough a large piece of plate, weighing seven pounds, 
four square, with a large cup in the middle of it, having the following very 
ancient inscription, ExuPERIUS Epucopus Eccle8k£ EBoJIENSE dedit." Gent 
does not give us the name of his author, nor can we find any place named 
Stanton in the county of Northampton. Eborius is the first Bishop of York 
of whom we have what would appear to be authentic information. According 
to some writers that prelate attended the Council of Aries, in A.D. 814 ; but 
as we have seen at page 65, the authenticity of this statement is somewhat 
doubtful. Of Eborius, the Centurists of Madgeburg give this' testimony, 
that be was a man, considering the age wherein he lived, many ways learned, 
and most modest in his conversation ; that he wrote among other things, 
one book to his own countrymen, touching this Council of Aries, and several 

• Gent's Hilst. York, pp. 68, 69. 
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epistles to Hilary, Bishop of Poictiers, and that he was famous in the year 
of grace 850.* 

However, the first Archbuhop of York appears to have been St. Paulinru, 
who was celebrated in the Roman Martyrology as the Apostle of the largest 
and at that time the most powerful of the seYen kingdoms of the English 
Saxons. But before we proceed to give a few particulars of the several 
Archbishops that filled this See, we would remark with Mr. Camden that 
many of them were renowned for their learning, piety, and virtue. Dr. 
Heylin says, that from the See of York proceeded 8 canonized Saints, 8 Car­
dinals, 12 Lord Chancellors, 2 Lord Treasurers, and 8 or 4 Lord Presidents 
of the great Council of the North. 

In 601 Pope Gregory the Great sent Paulinus, with 1\felitius, Justus, 
and others, to assist Augustine (who had been some time in England) 
in preaching the truths of Christianity to the Saxons. Alban Butler tells 
us that Gregory also sent " sacred vessels, altar cloths, and other orna­
ments for churches, vestments for priests, relics of the Apostles and Martyrs, 
and many books, decreeing by letters, that when the northern countries 
should receive the faith, York should be appointed a 1\fetropolitical See, in 
like manner with Canterbury." After labouring for some time in Kent with 
grent zeal and piety, Paulinus was consecrated Bishop by St. Justus, Arch­
bishop of Canterbury, on the 25th of July, 625. Edwin, the powerful King 
of Northumberland, demanded the Princess Ethelburgha, or Ethelburge, of 
Kent, but was answered by her brother King Eadhald, or Ethel bald, " that 
a Christian maid could not lawfully marry an Idolator, lest the faith and its 
mysteries should he profaned by the company of one who was a stranger to 
the worship of the true God." Whereupon Edwin promised entire liberty 
and protection with regard to her religion, and expressed his own favourable 
disposition to the same. 

The Princess proceeded to the north, accompanied by her confessor, Paul­
inus, who undertook to preach the gospel to the people of Northumbria, and 
as we have seen at page 85, the King, his son Osfrid, whom he had by a for­
mer wife, his niece Hilda, his whole court, and a multitude of the common 
people, were baptised at York by Paulinus on the 12th of April, 627, being 
Easter Day. Bede observes that churches and baptistries not being yet built 
spacious enough for the crowds that flocked to receive baptism, St. Paulinus 
baptised great numbers in the river Swale near Catterick, where the King's 
palace stood, and which was anciently a great city, as appears from Ptolemy 

• Mlfdeb. Cent. iv., c. 10. 
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and others, though it is now only a small village, with a bridge, called Cat­
terick Bridge. 

After preaching and baptising for some time in the ancient kingdom of 
Northumbria, our zealous Bishop crossed the Humber, and preached the 
faith to the inhabitants of Lindsey, in the kingdom of Mercia, and baptised 
Bleeca, the Saxon Prince or Governor of Lincoln. At Lincoln be built a 
church of stone, in which, after the death of St. Justus, he consecrated St. 
Honorius Archbishop of Canterbury. Pope Honorius sent a pallium* to St. 
Paulinus, as the northern metropolitan in Britain ; and in his letter of con­
gratulation with King Edwin upon his conversion, be decreed as follows :­
"As to what you desire concerning the ordination of your Bishops, we wil­
lingly agree to it; and we send palliums to your metropolitans, Honorius and 
Paulin us, that whenever it shall please God to called either of them, the other 
may ordain a successor for him by virtue of this letter. "t St. Paulin us, 
aaai&ted by his Deacon, James, baptised a great multitude in the Trent, near 
Tiouulfingacaester, which Camden and Smith take to have been Southwell, in 
Nottingbamshire. The East-Angles also received the faith by the zeal of 
St. Paulin us and King Edwin. This good King being slain in battle in 638, 
with his son Osfrid, St. Paulinus conducted the Queen Ethelburgha into 
Kent by aea, and at Liming she founded a nunnery, and took the veil. 
Paulinus not being permitted to quit his royal charge, or return to York, and 
the See of Rhofi, now Rochester, being then vacant, King Eadbald entreated 
Archbishop Honorius to appoint him (Paulinus) Bishop thereof. James, 
whom our Bishop left behind, took care of the distressed church of York, and 

• The PaU, PaUia, or PaUivm, which the Pope sends to Archbishops, ia an ornament 
worn upon their shoulders, with a label hanging down the breast and back. It is made 
of white lamb's wool, and spotted with purple crosses," and is worn;· says theRe'<". Alban 
Butler, " aa a token of the spiritual jurisdiction of metropolitans over the churches of 
their whole province. It is regarded," continues the same authority, "as an emblem of 
humility, charity, and innocence, and serves to put the prelate in mind that he is bound 
to seek out and carry home on his shoulders the strayed sheep, in imitation of Christ, 
the Good Shepherd, and the Prince of Pastors." Cardinal Bona says the white lambs 
are blened on the festival of St. Agnes in her Convent at Rome, and from that time kept 
iD some nunnery till they are shorn ; and of the wool are the pallium& made, which are 
laid over the tomb ol St. Peter the whole night of the vigil before the feast of that 
Apostle. Archbishops only wear them in the churoh during the divine oi!loe. Spelman, 
in hie Gloi8U')', Thomassin, &o., show that a pallium was a mantle worn by the Bom.­
Emperors, and that the tlrst Christian Emperors gave t.hi.e imperial ornament to eminent 
Bilhopa, to wear as an emblem of the royalty of the Christian priesthood. It was after. 
warda appropriated to Archbishops to ehow their dignity, and to command greater Nlpeot.. 
M God ~bed eneral ornamental to be worn by the Jewish hifh prieat. 

t Bede, 1, 2, e. 1'1. 
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baptised many living near Catterick-on-the-Swale, at a village which after­
wards took his name, says Bede, where he died at a very advanced age. 

St. Paulinus died at Rochester (where he was buried) on the lOth of 
October, 644, having occupied the Archiepiscopal throne of York, from 625 
to 688, and been Bishop of Rochester eleven years.* After the death of 
King Edwin, the Northumbrians relapsed into idolatry; but, as we have seen 
at page 87, St. Oswald obtained St. Aidan, an Irish monk of Hij, for Bishop, 
and by him the faith was planted again in that kingdom. The See of York 
was vacant for about 84 years, during 17 years of which St. Aidan governed 
all the churches of Nortbumbria. He arrived in the kingdom in 685, and 
received the Isle of Lindisfarne, where he fixed the episcopal chair, and 
erected a monastery. From this institution all the churches of Bernicia, or 
the northern part of the kingdom of the Nortbumbers, from the Tyne to the 
Frith of Forth, bad their beginning; as had some also of those of the Deira, 
who inhabited the southern part of the same kingdom, from the Tyne to the 
Humber. St. Aidan died in 651. Finan and Colman, his countrymen, 
succeeded him, and had all the kingdom of Northumberland for their diocese. 

St. Ceadda, or Chad, was the second Archbishop of York. He was brother 
to St. Cedd, Bishop of London, or of the East Saxons, and was educated in 
the monastery of Lindisfarne, under St. Aidan. For his greater improvement 
in sacred letters he passed into Ireland, and spent a considerable time in the 
company of St. Egbert, till be was called back by his brother St. Cedd, to 
assist him in settling the monastery of Lastingham, which he had founded in 
the mountains of the Deira, that is, the Wolds of Yorkshire; and when St. 
Cedd was made Bishop of the East Saxons, St. Chad succeeded him as Abbot 
of Lastingbam. Alfred, or Alcfrid, King of Deira, or the southern part of 
the kingdom of the Nortbumbers, sent St. Wilfrid into France, that he 
might be consecrated to the Bishopric of his kingdom, or of York; but he 
stayed so long abroad, that Oswy, the father of Alfred, and King of Ber­
nicia, nominated St. Chad to that dignity, and he was ordained by Wini, 

• King Edwin, and his Queen Ethelburge, as well as Paulinus, have been canonized 
by the churoh, and are consequently styled Saintl. St. Edwin is honoured with the 
title of Martyr in the Martyrology of Florus, and in all our English calendars. Speed, 
in his catalogue, mentions an old churoh in London, and another at Breve, in Somer. 
setshire, of both which St. Edwin was the titular patron. William of Malmsbury and 
Alford has inserted, ad. ann. 682, the letter of Pope Honorius to this sainted King, 
which is also extant together with his letter to Honorius, Archbishop, of Canterbury, in 
Bede, and Cone., t. vi. For further particulars respecting SS. Paulinus and Edwin, see 
page 84 of this history. The relics of St. Ethelburge were honoured with those of SL 
Edburg at Liming Monastery. Lei. Collect., t. i. 
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Bishop of Winchester, assisted by two British prelates, in 666. Bede as· 
sures us that he zealously devoted himself to all the laborious functions of 
his charge, visiting his diocese on foot, preaching the gospel, and seeking 
out the poorest and most abandoned persons to instruct and comfort in the 
meanest cottages, and in the fields. Jaruman, the fourth Bishop of the 
Mercians, dying, St. Chad was called upon to take upon him the charge of 
that most extensive diocese. He fixed the Sec of Mercia at Lichfield, so 
called from a great number of martyrs slain and buried there under Maxi­
mianus Herculcus ; the name signifying the Field of Carcases: and hence 
this city bears for its arms a landscape, covered with the bodies of martyrs. 
St. Chad governed his diocese of Lichfield for two years and a half, and died 
in the great pestilence, on the 2nd of March, 678. 

St. Wilfrid, the next prelate, was born in the kingdom of Northumberland 
towards the year 634. At the age of 14 he was sent to the monastery of 
Lindisfarne, that he might be trained up in the study of the sacred sciences. 
A desire of greater improvement than he could attain at this house caused 
him to travel through France and Italy, visiting the most famous monasteries 
in his way, the better to instruct himself in the rules of Christian perfection. 
At Rome he contracted a friendship with Boniface, the Archdeacon, who 
was a very pious and a very learned man; as well as secretary to St. Martin, 
the then reigning Pontiff. The Archdeacon took much delight in instructing 
young Wilfrid, and at length he presented him to the Pope. On his return 
from Rome he stayed three years at Lyons, and received the ecclesiastical 
tonsure from the Archbishop, St. Delphinius, who desired to make him his 
heir; but the good prelate was put to death at Challons-upon-the-Saone by 
the order of Ebroin, in 658. Alchfrid, the King of Deira, being informed 
that Wilfrid, who had just returned from his tour, had been instructed in the 
discipline of the Roman Church, sent for him, and finding him well versed 
in the several customs of that church, 1ie conjured him to continue with him, 
to instruct him and his people in ecclesiastical discipline. This Wilfrid con­
sented to, and the Prine~ entered into an intimate friendship with him, and 
gave him land at Ripon to found a monastery upon, which the Saint after­
wards governed. At the request of Alchfrid, be was ordained priest by 
Agilberct, Bishop of the West Saxons, in 663, in the monastery of Ripon. 
This Bishop having stated that a person of such merit as Wilfrid ought to be 
promoted to a bishopric, and Alchfrid being anxious that Wilfrid should be 
placed in the episcopal See of York, sent him some time after to France to 
be consecrated at the hands of Agilbcrct, who returned to France, which was 
his native country, and where the bishopric of Paris was given him. Wilfrid 
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being absent a long time on this joun1ey, Oswy caused St. Ccadua or Chad, 
Abbot of Lastingham, a disciple of St. Aidan, to be ordained Bishop. Agil­
berct joyfully received Wilfrid, and with twelve other Bishops consecrated 
him with great solemnity at Compeigne in 664 ; be being then in the 30th 
year of his age. At his return into England he would not dispute the elec­
tion of St. Chad, but retired to Ripon, which monastery he made his residence 
for three years. St. Theodorus, Archbishop of Canterbury, in his visitation, 
found the election of St. Chad to have been irregular, and removed him; but 
charmed with his lmmility and virtue, placed him in the See of Lichfield. 
At the same time he put St. Wilfrid in possession of the See of York in 699. 
Being a man of most persuasive oratory and strict virtue, he promoted every 
where religion and piety with incredible success. The monastic state was a 
principal object of his care, and this he settled among the midland and 
northern English, as St. Augustine had established it in Kent. But Wilfrid's 
day of trial and persecution is at hand; court envy, jealousy, and resent­
ment are the secret springs which are about to put in motion the engines that 
were employed against him, through the simplicity or ignorance of many, the 
malice of some, and the complaisance and condescension of others. Being the 
best skilled in sacred learning, and in the canons of the church in all Britain, 
as St. Theodorus, on his death-bed, acknowledged him to be, he was too great 
a disciplinarian for some at court. King Egfrid and his Queen Ennenburga 
took a dislike to him ; and the latter employed every base means to ruin him 
in the opinion of her husband. In order to undennine him, a project was 
set on foot for dividing his bishopric, after the good prelate had spent ten 
years in settling Christianity in it. Theodorus, the Archbishop of Canter­
bury, and Metropolitan of all England, was gained by specious pretences, and 
he parcelled this great diocese into three portions, and consecrated Bo1a to 
the See of York, for the Deira, in 678; Eata to that of Lindisfarne, for Ber­
nicia ; and Eadhed to the church of Lindiswaras, a great part of Lincoln­
~:;hire, which Egfrid had won from Mercia.* Wilfrid, for opposing this 
partition, was rejected ; but being well versed in the canons, he saw the 
irregularity and nullity of many steps that had been taken against him ; and 
he appealed to the Pope, and embarked for Rome without raising any clamour, 
lest a disturbance or a schism might arise. Being driven by contrary winds 
at sea upon the coast of Friesland, he was moved to compassion upon seeing 
the spiritual blindness and idolatry of the inhabitants, and he preached 
among them during that winter and the following spring; and converted and 

• Johnson's Collect. of English Canons, an. 679, pret. 
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baptised many thousands, with several lords of the country. Wilfred is 
honoured to this day as the Apostle of that. country. 

Next summer Wilfrid leaving his new converts under the direction of proper 
pastors, he travelled through Austrasia, where King Dagobert II. entreated 
him to fill the bishopric of Strasburg, which happened then to be vacant. 
This honour he refused, and he arrived in Rome late in the year 67D, as the 
Pope was preparing to hold a great Council against the l\I onothelites. In the 
meantime, to discuss this cause of St. Wilfrid's, the Pope assembled a Synod 
in October, 67D, in the .Lateran Basilica, or Church of Our Saviour, con· 
sisting of above fifty Bishops and Priests, chiefly of the Suburl;licarian 
Churches. The causes of the dissension in the British Church having been 
weighed, it was decreed that there should be in it one Archbishop honoured 
with the pall, who should canonically ordain the Bishops of the other Sees ; 
but that none of the Bishops should presume to meddle with the rights of 
any other prelate, but all should study to instruct and convert the people. 
After this St. Wilfrid was admitted to the Council, and having presented his 
petition in person, it was definitely decreed that he should be restored to his 
bishopric. St. Wilfrid stayed about four months at Home, and assisted at 
the great Lateran Council of 125 Bishops, in which he, with the rest, con· 
demned the Monothelite heresy. 

When he arrived in England, and showed to the King the sealed decrees 
of the Pope, that Prince declared that they had been obtained by bribery, and 
commanded a certain steward of the church for secular affairs to commit 
Wilfrid to prison, where he was detained for nine months. On being released 
from prison, he repaired to the kingdom of the South Saxons, which had not 
yet received the light of faith, and there by his preaching converted the whole 
nation. King Egfrid was slain in battle by the Picts in 685 ; St. Wilfrid 
was called back to Northumberland towards the end of the year 686; and 
the monasteries of Hexham and Ripon, and the episcopal See of York, were 
restored to him; Bosa of York, and St. John of Beverley, at Hexham, re­
linquishing their Sees to him. Theodorus had first parcelled the bishopric 
of York into three, and afterwards into five bishoprics; and St. Wilfrid, after 
his restoration, reduced Hexham and Ripon to their original condition of 
mere monasteries. But a new storm arose against him. King Alcfrid, the 
successor of Egfrid, would have a new bishopric erected at Ripon. St. Wil­
frid opposed the project, and was obliged once more to fly, in 6Dl, five years 
after he bad been restored. He retired to Ethelred, King of the Mercians, 
who received him most graciously, and entreated him to take upon himself 
the See of Lichfield, which was then vacant. Our Saint founded many 
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monasteries and churches in .Mercia; but finding his enemies in Northum­
berland had gained Brithwald, Archbishop of Canterbury, and were soliciting 
a sentence of deposition against him, he appealed a second time to Rome, and 
took another journey thither in 708. His accusers appeared there against 
him, but Pope John VI. honourably acquitted him. His very enemies had 
n.lways acknowledged his life to be irreproachable; and a Bishop cannot be 
deposed unle&s a canonical fault be proved against him in a Synod. St. 
Wilfrid met at Rome with that protection and applause which were due to 
his heroic virtue. Pope John, in 704, sent letters by au express messenger 
to the Kings of Mercia and Northumberland in favour of the persecuted 
Bishop, charging Archbishop Brithwald to call a Synod, which should do 
him justice; and in default of which, he ordered the parties to make their 
personal appearance at Rome. St. Wilfrid returned to England, and took 
possession of the diocese of Hexham, but chiefly resided in his monastery of 
Ripon, leaving York to St. John of Beverley. He governed the monasteries 
in Mercia, of which he had been the founder, and which were afterwards de­
stroyed by the Danes. He died at one of these at U ndalum, now called 
Oundle, in Nortl1amptonshire, on the 24th of April, 709, and his body was 
buried in his church of St. Peter at Ripon. That monastery having been 
destroyed by the wars, the greater part of his remains was translated to Can­
terbury. St. Wilfrid's modesty is remarkable in never soliciting the metro­
political jurisdiction, which St. Gregory had ordained should be settled at 
York, and which had been granted to St. Paulinus. It had failed in the 
Bishops who resided at Lindisfarne; but was recovered, in 784, by Egbert, 
brother to Eadbright or Eadbert, King of Northumbria. 

Bosa, who was, according to Bede, a man of great sanctity and humility, 
occupied the See of York from 678 to 685, and from 608 to his death, which 
occurred iu 705. He was the first prelate buried in the Cathedral of York. 

St. John of Bet·erley.-This illustrious prelate was born of a noble Saxon 
family, at Harpham on the Wolds, near Driffield, in or about the year 
li~O. His father contributed much to prevent the utter ruin of Christi­
>tnity in the places where lay his territorial possessions. It is recorded by 
Ht•t!P, that an earnest desire to quali(y himself for the service of God drew 
him into Kent, where he was a pupil in the famous school of St. Theo­
•lorns. or Tlwodore, the .\rchbishop of Cant..·rhury, who was a native of 
thP GrPeian city of Tarsus.* "At a period when learning was in its in­
fant•y," ;;nys thP l,.nmt'd nuthor of Het·erhrc,t "the arrival of Theodore with 

• BPdc's Et•rles. H ist., lib. v., e. 2. t p. 2~. 
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his companion Adrian, on the shores of England, was a most auspicious 
event. Both these men were eminently qualified for tutors, from their 
thorough knowledge of sacred and profane literature, as well as of the Latin 
and Greek languages. Theodore's visit to the Northumbrian court of Egfrid, 
which occasioned the division of the former extensive diocese of York, pro­
bably led to John's proceeding to Kent. The spirit of emulation excited 
among the Saxon youth, had drawn a crowd of pupils to the school of Can­
terbury, and John was distinguished as one of Theodore's most eminent 
pupils." St. John afterwards returned to his own country, and entered the 
monastery of men, under St. Hilda, at Streaneshalch, now Whitby, where 
he exercised himself in studying the Holy Scriptures, and in the practice of 
other works of religious piety. During the absence of St. Wilfrid, and the 
convulsions which agitated the episcopal church of Northumbria, John suc­
ceeded Eata, as Bishop of Hagulstad, now Hexham ; and there his splendid 
talents had full scope for their exercise. Bede, the venerable historian of 
the Anglo-Saxon church, the pupil and biographer of this prelate, and f1·om 
whom he (Bede) received the holy orders of deacon and priest, gives ample 
testimony of his sanctity, learning, and zeal. As an instructor of youth he 
was far famed, and many of his pupils afterwards attained to great eminence. 
As he advanced in life be dedicated himself more exclusively to his clerical 
duties, and travelling about as a missionary. instructed the rude and ignorant 
multitude in the duties and doctrines of the gospel. The state of the church 
was at that time widely different from what it is now. There was then no 
division into parishes, no resident ministry. The clergy of each diocese 
resided with his Bishop, in what was called the episcopal monastery ad­
joining the Cathedral, and were sent out by him to the different churches of 
his diocese, as he had opportunity, and as the necessities of the people re­
quired. In this toilsome but useful occupation, John laboured with distin­
guished zeal and diligence, as well as eminent successs. At a subsequent 
period he betook himself to a life of solitude, and lived for some time as a 
hermit in the neighbourhood of Hexham. At the death of Bosa, Archbishop 
of York, John was selected by the Synod to supply his place, and he was 
solemnly installed by his friend and former tutor St. Theodore, in 687. He 
now held the Archiepiscopal See of York, and the Bishopric of Hexham, and 
this distinguished position speaks loudly of the estimation in which his virtues 
were held. He employed his time in personally visiting the churches, and 
with most laudable and indefatigable attention, he conciliated the affections 
of his pagan opposers, and brought many of them into the fold of Christianity. 

Digitized by Goog le 



390 HISTORY OF THE ARCHDIOCESE OF YORK. 

Miracles innumerable, too, were attributed to his holy agency. He was 
neither luxurious nor ambitious, and he took no part in the disputes which 
at that period agitated the Christian church, but on the contrary, he was 
bumble in his deportment and manner of life, and unassuming in his general 
conduct. Soon after St. Jobn'a advancement to the See of York, Wilfrid 
returned from Rome in triumph to his diocese, and John, with a spirit of 
Christian meekness tendered his resignation, which Wilfrid was not per· 
mitted to accept. But on the reconciliation of the latter with the Bishops in 
705, be resigned to him the Bishopric of Hexham. 

The zeal of our good prelate now expanded itself, and Christianity began 
to assume a more flourishing appearance in the north, under his benign 
auspices. He extended his visitations to every part and corner of the pro­
vince, and superintended the building and reparation of churches, and the 
foundation of monasteries. In one of his visitations he came to a spot now 
called Beverley, and finding it suitable for the holy offices of prayer and 
meditation, be resolved to erect there a religious establishment. He accor­
dingly erected a monastery at Beverley for black monks, and an oratory for 
nuns. In 718, being much worn out with age and fatigues, St. John re­
signed his Bishopric to his chaplain Wilfrid the younger, and having conse­
crated him Bishop of York, be retired to Beverley, where he spent the 
remaining four years of his life in the punctual performance of all monastic 
d•1ties, and where be died, on the 7th of May, 721, full of years, and with 
his memory overshadowed by the benedictions of mankind. His body was 
buried in the porch (porticus) of the church of Beverley. His relics were 
translated into the church, by Alfric, Archbishop of York, in 1037 ; and a 
feast in honour of his translation was kept at York on the 25th of October. 
On the 13th of September, 1664, the sexton, in digging a grave . in the 
cburcb of Beverley, discovered a vault of freestone, in which was a box of 
lead yielding a sweet smell, with inscriptions by which it appeared that these 
were the mortal remains of St. John of Beverley.* These relics bad been 
hid in the beginning of the reign of King Edward VI. Dugdale and Stevens 
testify that they were all re-interred in the nave of the same church. King 
Henry V. attributed to the intercession of this Saint, the glorious victory of 
Agincourt, on which occasion a Synod, in 1416, ordered his festival to be 
solemnly kept over all England.t Henschenius, the Bolandist, has published 

• Dugdalt~'s History of the Collegiate Church of Beverle~·, p. :17. 

t See Lynwoode, Provinoiale, 104,. 

Digitized by Goog le 



HISTORY OF THE ARCHDIOCESE OF YORK. 391 

four books of the miracles wrought at the relics of St. John of Beverley, 
written by an eye witness.* 

Wilfrid II. governed this diocese fifteen years, "and was a great lover of 
the beauty of God's house." This prelate began the contention for prece· 
dency between York and Canterbury, which for many subsequent years 
continued to disturb the church. He died or was translated in 731. 

Egbert, 731.-He was brother to Eadbert, King of Northumbria, and 
the tutor and friend of Alcuin, a learned monk of York, and author of several 
works, including a poem on the saints of the diocese. Egbert, according to 
Bede, was still more eminent for his superiority in knowledge than for his 
high birth. As has been already observed, the metropolitical jurisdiction of 
the See of York wa3 recovered by this prelate in 734. He died on the 13th 
of November, 766, and was buried in the church porch of the Cathedral, 
near his brother King Eadbert. 

Albert, Elbert, or Adelbert, the next Archbishop, was a native of York, and 
was consecrated in 767. Archbishops Egbert and Albert taught a great 
school in the city of York, till they were successively placed in the Archie­
piscopal chair. When Albert succeeded Egbert in that dignity, he committed 
to Alcuin the c~re of the school, and of the great library belonging to the 
Cathedral. Albert died or was translated in 781, and was buried at Chester. 

Eanbald, his nephew, was his successor. He sent Alcuin to Rome to 
bring over his pall, in 780. Eanbald died in 796, and was buried at York. 

The next Archbishop was Eanbald II., and he was succeeded by Wtdlim, 
who died in 832. Wimund, or Wimundus, his successor, died in 854. 

Wilfere, Wiljerm, or Wulfer, 854.-In the year 878 this prelate was ex· 
pelled his diocese, together ·with King Egbert, by a tumult of the Northum­
hers, and they were forced to fly to Burrhed, King of Mercia, by whom they 
were kindly entertained. Egbert dying the following year, his successor 
recalled Wilfere to his See, and he died in the year 895. During the greatest 
part of his time the Danes so horribly wasted his province with fire and 
sword, that for many years together the Archbishop reaped little benefit from 
it; and the successors of Wilfere not having any means with which to sustain 
themselves, obtained the administration of the diocese of Worcester, which 
for a long time . they held in oommendum. The next two Archbishops of 
York were EtMlbald, 895; and .Rtdwardtu, 9lU. 

Wuatan, 941.-This prelate espoused the cause of Anlaff, the Danish 
King of Northumbria, against Edred, the King of England, He was com· 

• Second Tome ot May, p. 178. 
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mitted to prison by the latter, but was soon released, and restored to office. 
He died on the 26th of December, 955, and was buried at Oundle. 

Oskitell, or OscyuU, his successor, was translated to York from Dorchester, 
and died in 971 ; and Athelwald, who was immediately consecrated, resigned 
his prelacy the same year, and died in retirement. 

St. Oswald, the next prelate, was nephew to St. Odo, Archbishop of Can­
terbury, and to Oskitell, his own immediate predecessor in the See of York. 
He was educated by St. Odo, and made Dean of Winchester, but passing 
into France, he took the monastic habit at Fleury. Being recalled he suc­
ceeded St. Dunstan in the See of Worcester, about the year 959. He es­
tablished a monastery of monks at Westberry, a village in his diocese ; and 
he was employed by Duke Aylwin, cousin to King Edgar, in superintending 
his foundation of the great abbey of Ramsey, in an island formed bymarshes 
and the river Ouse, in Huntingdonshire, in 972. St. Oswald was made 
Archbishop of York in 97 4, and he shone as a bright star in this dignity. 
He was almost always occupied in visiting his diocese, preaching without 
intermission, and reforming abuses. He was a great encourager of learning 
and learned men. St. Dunstan, who had been raised to the Metropolitan 
See of Canterbury, obliged him to retain the See of Worcester with that of 
York. Whatever intermission his functions allowed him, he spent it at St. 
Mary's, a church and monastery of Benedictines which he had built at Wor­
cester, where he joined with the monks in their monastic exercises. This 
church from that time became the Cathedral. After having sat thirty-three 
years, he expired at St. Mary's in Worcester, on the 29th of February, 998. 
His body was taken up ten years after, and enshrined by Adulph, his suc­
cessor. It was afterwards translated to York on the 15th of October, which 
day was appointed his principal festival. 

Aldulje, 9!!8.-A pious and worthy prelate; he also held the See of Wor­
cester, in commendum. He died on the 6th of May, 1002, and was buried 
at Worcester. 

Wulstan II., 1002.-He also held the See of Worcester; died in York, 
May 28th, 1028, and was buried in the Cathedral of Ely, "because on a 
certain time," says an old writer, " having in devotion gone thither, at a 
procession leaning on his episcopal crozier, the staff entered almost half way 
into the pavement ; whereat being astonished, he sayd in a prophetical 
manner, ' This is the place of my rest for ever, here will I dwell.' " 

Alfric, surnamed Putta, or Puttoc, Prior of Winchester, was appointed to 
this See in 1028; he died in 1050, and was buried in Peterborough Abbey. 

Kimiu.~, 1050.-This was a prelate of great austerity, mostly walking 
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barefoot in his parochial visitation!!. He died on the ~2nd of December, 
1060, and was buried at Peterborough. 

Aldred, the last Archbishop of the Saxon race, was trsnslated from Wor­
cester in 1060. This prelate crowned the Conqueror in 1060. He died ou 
the 11th of September, 1060, and was buried at York. 

T/wmatJ, the first Norman prelate, a Canon of Bayeaux, in N9rmandy, and 
chaplain and treasurer to William the Conqueror, was appointed to this See 
in lOiO. This 'Prelate found the affairs of the church in great disorder, in 
consequence of the dreadful havoc which the Danes bad made in the sur­
rounding country. He founded the offices of Dean, Treasurer, and Chanter, 
in the Cathedral ; and he divided the church lands into Prebends, and gave 
a particular portion to each Canon; for before his time the Canons lived· 
upon the common revenues of the church all at one table. Archbishop 
Thomas died at Ripon on the 18th of November, llOO, and was buried in 
his own Cathedral at York. 

Gerard, his successor, was translated from Hereford in the same year. He, 
as well as his predecessor, refused obedience to Canterbury, but at length 
submitted by command of the Pope. His death occurred on the 21st of .M:ay, 
ll08, and be was buried at York. ' 

Thomas II., nephew to Thomas, the first Norman Archbishop, was Pro­
vost of Beverley. He was Bishop elect of London, but before consecration 
was removed to the See of York. He was consecrated in June, llO\l, died 
·February 19th, 1ll4, and was buried at York. 

Thttrstan, a learned and excellent prelate, had been chaplain to King 
Henry I., a Canon of St. Paul's, and Provost of Beverley. He was elected 
to the See of York on the 15th of August, 1ll4, but presuming upon his 
interest at court, he revived the old dispute between the Metropolitan Sees 
of York and Canterbury; and owing to the altercations which arose out of 
his refusal to make any profession of canonical obedience to the See of Can­
terbury, he was not consecrated till October, 1110. He received the pallium 
at Rbeims. Archbishop Thurstan was Lord Lieutenant of the North, and 
organised the troops that fought the famous llnttle of the Standard. (See 
page 123.) After having occupied his See for twenty-one years, he retired to 
the Cluniac monastery at Pontefract, to prepare himself for his death, which 
occurred the year following (ll40), on the 5th of February. 

St. WiUiam, the next prelate, was the son of Earl Herbert and Emma, 
sister to King Stephen ; and before his election he was treasurer of the Ca­
thedral. He was consecrated at Winchester in September, ll44. But 
Osbert, the Archdeacon, a turbulent man, procured Henry Murdach, a Cis-
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tercian monk of the Abbey of Fountains, who was a man of great learning, 
and a zealous preacher, to be preferred at Rome, whither William went to 
demand his pallium. The most unwarrantable means were used with the 
Pope (Eugenius III.) to the prejudice of William; and his enemies suc­
ceeded in their efforts to have him deprived in 1147. William, who, amongst 
his many virtues, was possessed of the deepest humility, showed no enmity, 
and sought no revenge against his most inveterate enemies, who had prepos­
sessed the Pope against him by the blackest calumnies. • He returned to 
England, went privately to Winchester, to his uncle, Henry, Bishop of that 
See, and in a retired house belonging to the Bishop, he spent seven years in 
silence, solitude, prayer, and penitential austerities. Archbishop Henry was 
never permitted to enter the city, having quarrelled with King Stephen, whose 
part the Canons and citizens warmly espoused. He lived at Beverley, and 
died there, October 14th, 1153; and be was interred in the Cathedral of his 
diocese, though he had never been permitted to enter it whilst he lived. At 
his death, St. William, to satisfy the importunities of others, by whom he 
was again elected, undertook a second journey to Rome, and received the 
pallium from Pope Anastatius IV., who succeeded Pope Eugenius ill. On 
his return to York he was received with incredible joy by the people. The 
great numbers who assembled on that occasion to see and welcome him, broke 
down the wooden bridge over the Ouse in the city, and a great many persons 
fell in the river. Seeing this terrible accident, the prelate addressed himself 
to God with many tears, and to his sanctity and prayers bas been ascribed 
the miraculous preservation of the whole multitude, especially of the children, 
who all escaped out of the water without hurt.* A few days after his instal­
lation he was t>Cized with a fever, of which be died on the 8th of June, 1154. 
He was buried in his Cathedral, and about the year 1280 he was canonized 
by Pope Nicholas III., who granted an indulgence of 140 days to all persons 
visiting the Saint's tomb on the day of his festival, or any day during the 
octave ; and so great was the fame of the reported miracles of St. William, 
that numbers resorted thither, and made large offerings for rebuilding the 
Cathedral.* The Saint's tomb was situated in the nave, but in 1284 his 
relics were put into a very rich shrine, and deposited in the choir by Arch-

• Polydore Virgil pretends that this happened on the river Aire at Pontefract; but 
Brompton and Stubbs expressly say thnt it was in the city of York, on the river Ouse, 
where stood a chapel till the Reformation, as Mr. Drake testi1ies. Pontefract could not 
deri,·e its name from this accident, a~ Polydore imagined; for we find it so called long 
before; and the name was originally written Pomfrete, or Pontfrete, from a very di1ferent 
Norman etymology. 
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bishop Wickwane. This shrine was portable, so that the Saint's Lones could 
be home in procession. This removal or Tran1lation of the relics was per· 
formed with much ceremony, King Edward I., Queen Eleanor, and the whole 
court, with eleven Bishops, being present. Large offerings were made on 
this occasion, which helped greatly to swell the funds for building the Min· 
ster. Drake says that a table, containing a list of thirty-six miracles, with 
a copy of the above-mentioned indulgence, is still to be seen in the vestry, 
but no longer legible.t The shrine, with its rich plate and jewels, was 
plundered at the Reformation; but the Saint's bones were deposited in a box 
within a coffin, and buried in the nave under a large spotted marble stone. 
Drake bad the curiosity to see the ground opened, and found them with their 
box and coffin in 1782. He laid them again in the same place, with a mark. 
A chapel was erected to his memory on t!Ie old Ouse Bridge. 

Archbillwp Roger succeeded St. William in 1154, and he died at Sherbum 
on the 22nd of November, 1181, and was buried at York. After his death 
the See of York was vacant for ten years. 

Geoffrey Plantagenet, Provost of Beverley, and Archdeacon of Lincoln, was 
consecrated August 18th, 1191. He was the second illegitimate son of King 
Henry II. and his renowned mistress, " Fair Rosamond," daughter of Walter, 
Lord Clifford, of Clifford Castle, in Herefordshire. He filled the high office 
of Lord Chancellor of England for eight years, and he was High Sheriff of 
the county of York in 1195. (See page 1.29.) He is highly spoken of as 
fulfilling his various duties, lay and clerical, in a judicious and disinterested 
manner; but crossing the King's purposes, by opposing in his See the col­
lection of the obnoxious taxes laid on land by that monarch, "for his niece's 
great dowry, and his own martial uses," he was obliged to vacate his See in 
1207 ; and after undergoing many difficulties, he died in exile at Grosmont, 
in Normandy, on the 18th of Docember, 1212. 

Walter tk Grey, the next Archbishop-a man of sound judgment, strict 
morality, and great experience-was translated from Worcester on the 18th 
of November, 1215. This prelate amassed great wealth, and expended it in 
a munificent manner. On the occasion of the marriage of Henry the Third's 
daughter, Margaret, to Alexander, King of Scotland, in this city, in 1251, 
be entertained the two monarchs and their retinues. (See page 181.) He 
built the present north transept of the Minster, expending on it a vast sum. 
He also purchased the manor of Thorpe, or St. Andrew Thorpe, now called 
Bishopthorpe, and bequeathed it to his successors ; and he bought a house 

• Drake's Eboracum, p. 419. t Ibid. 
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in Westminster, of the Friars Preachers, which was thence called York 
Place; and \vhich continued to be the town residence of the Archbishops of 
York till Henry the Eighth's time, when it was presented to that monarch 
by Wolsey. He died in London on the 1st of :May, 1255, and was buried in 
a splendid tomb in his own Cathedral, which still remains. 

Sewal de Bvvil, 1206.-He \Vas excommunicated for opposing the prefer· 
ment of foreigners to ecclesiastical dignities, especially an Italian, whom the 
Pope had constituted Dean of York. He was reconciled to the church on his 
death-bed, and he died May lOth, 1258. 

GodfretJ de Kinton, or Keyntor~, elected September ~3rd, 1258.-He appro­
priated Mexborough to his church, and it has been since that period annexed 
to the deanery of York. He died on the 12th of January, 1264, and was 
buried in the Cathedral. 

Walter Gifford was translated from Bath and Wells in 1265. He was 
Lord Chancellor of England, and died April25, 12i0, and was buried at York. 

lViUiam Wickrmnc, S<'ptember 1 llth, 12i9; died August the 26th, 1285; 
and was buried at Poutimac. 

John le Romny11e, February lOth, 1286.-He died at Burton, n<>ar lleverley, 
March 11th, 1296, and was buried in his Cathedral. 

Henry cle Neu·ark, J unc 24th, 12{18; died August 15th, 1299; and was 
interred at York. 

TlumuUI de Corbridge, or Corbrigge, Februlll'Y 28th, 1209.-He died at 
Langham, in ~ottinghamshire, on the 22nd of September, 1308, and wa!l 
buried at Southwell, in the same county. 

William tle (frenjeld, .January 30th, 1305.-This prelate was obliged to 
travel to Home for the approbation of the Pope, and waited two years before 
he could obtain it. He died on the 16th of December, 131.j , and was buried 
at York. H e had be('n Lord Chancellor of England. 

William de J/rltou, September 25th, 13li. This RCti\·e prelate filled sue· 
cessively the high offici'~'< of Lord Chancellor and Treasurer of England, and 
he signalised himself by raising an undisciplined army, and attacking thf' 
Scots at Myton, near Boroughbritlge, in 1320. (Sec page 137.) He died ou 
the 5th of April, 1340, Rll<l was buried at York. 

William tle Ia ?.oru·hr, .I nly lith. 13 t·~ .-lle is famous for his conruge anti 
valour at the battle of );.,,·il'll Cros;,, ncar Durham, in l~Ui . {St'(' pRge 
143.) He died .July lOth, lll.'\2, nnrl was buried at. York . 

John de ThQ1'e&by, L .L .D., wall translated from the See of Worcester on tht! 
8th of September, 1354. HI' was of an ancieut fnmil.v n<>ar Middleham, and 
was esteemed the most leam{'d man of his da~·· In his time the Archbishop 
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of York was made by the Pope Primate of England, and the Archbishop of 
Canterbury Primate of AU England ; and thus was settled the dir;putes for 
precedence which had previously existed between the two Sees. He was 
made a Cardinal by the title of St. Peter ad Vincula, and before receiving this 
archbishopric, he had been some time Keeper of. the Great Seal, and Lord 
Chancellor of England. He died on the 6th of November, 1373, and was 
buried at York. 

Ale:eander Nevil8, December 18th, 137 4.-This prelate, who was a favorite 
of the unfortunate monarch, Richard II., was translated to St. Andrews in 
1388. He was obliged to leave his country, and ultimately became a parish 
priest and schoolmaster at Louvain, where he died in May, 1392. 

1'/wmaa A.rutukl, second son of Richanl, Earl of Arundel, and Archdeacon 
of Taunton, was translated from Ely, March 25th, 1389. Being Lonl 
Vhancellor as well as Archbishop of York, he removed the Seals and all the 
King's courts from London to York for six months, in order to humble the 
Londoners, who had offended the King, After he had filled this See for six 
years, he was removed to Canterbury in 1396, which is the first instance of 
a translation from York to that See. 

Robm Waldby, a native of York and a friar of the monastery of St. 
Augustine in that city, was the next Archbishop. He was a pious and 
eloquent man, and a great proficient in all kinds of literature. He was 
translated from Chichester, January 13, 1307; died May 29, 1398; and 
was buried at Westminster. 

Riclwrd Scrope, or Scroope, was translated from Lichfield, .T uly tJ, 139H. 
This prelate was beheaded for high treason, in a field between Dishopthorpc 
and York, on the 8th of June, 1405 (See page 148), and was buried in his 
own Cathedral. He was so much beloved by the people, that immediately 
after his death his grave was visited by numbers, and so many miracles were 
said to be performed there, that Henry IV. ordered that it should be con· 
cealed by great logs of wood. His present monument in the Lady Chapel 
was subsequently erected. Scrope's rebellion forms one of the principal 
scenes in Shakespeare's play of Henry IV. 

Hmry Bowet, a very liberal and hospitable prelate, was translated from 
Bath and Wells, December 9, 1405; died at Cawood, October 20, 1423; and 
was buried in the Cathedral. 

John Kempt, a man of humble parentage in Kent, was translated from 
London, April, 1426; made Archbishop of Canterbury, and became Lord 
High Chaucellor of England, and a Canlinal of the See of Rome. He built 
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the gate bouse of the old palace at Cawood, died in 1451, and was buried at 
Canterbury. 

William BootM was translated from Lichfield on the 4th of September, 
1453, died, September 20, 146,, and was buried where be died at Southwell. 

O«WgB NeuiU6, the next t~relate, was brother to Richard, the famous king­
making Earl of Warwick, and was translated from Exeter, in 1465.'1' On 
the death of the Earl, at the battle of Barnet, our prelate was accused of 
treason, imprisoned four years, and died of a broken heart soon after his 
liberation, June 8, 1476, and was buried at York. He had been Lord 
Chancellor of England. 

Lawrence Boothe, Provost of Beverley, Chancellor of the University of 
Cambridge, and Lord Chancellor of England, was translated from Durham, 
September 1, 1476. He purchased the manor of Battersea, in Surrey, and 
settled it on the Church of York. He died on the 19th of May, 1480, and 
his remains were interred at Southwell, in which place he had died. 

Tlumuu Scot ck &therkam, a native of Rotherbam in this county, was 
translated from Lincoln, September 3, 1480. He was a Cardinal of the 
Roman Church, and was also for many years Lord High Chancellor of 
England to Edward IV., who left the cares of government very much to him. 
On the death of that King, he continued faithful to the Queen, for which 
cause he was imprisoned for some time by Richard III. This 2relate, who 
was also the second founder of Lincoln College, Oxford, died of the plague, 
at Cawood, on the 2\lth of May, 1500, and was interred in his Cathedral in 
a monument erected by himself. 

TlwmaB SavagB was translated from London, Aprill2, 1501. He is said 

• On the day on which this prelate was enthroned, January 16th, 14.66, he gave the 
largest entertainment ever made by a subject. In Hearne's additions to Lelmul'l Col­
Zecta.nea, the bill of fare is a.'i follows:-" In wheat, 300 quarters; ale, 300 tuns; wine, 
100 tuns; ipocrass, 1 pipe; wild bulls, 6; muttons, 1,000; veales, 304; porkers, 304; 
swanns, 400; geese, 2,000; capons, 1,000; pygges, 2,000; plovers, 400; qnales, 100 
dozen ; fowles called rees, 200 dozen ; peaooeks, 104 ; mallardes and teals, 4,000; 
kyddes, 204; chickens, 2,000; pigeons, 4,000; eonyes, 4,000; bittors, 204; heron­
shawes, 400; fessantes, 200; partridges, 600; woodcocks, 400; curleins, 100; egretts, 
1,000; staggs, bucks, and roes, 600 and mo.; pastes of venison colde, 4,000; parted 
dyshes of jelly, 1,000; playne dyshes of jelly, 8,000; cold tart.es baked, 3,000; hot 
pasties of venison, 1,600; pykes and breames, 604; porposes and seales, 12; spicae, 
sugard delicates, and wafers, plenty." Amongst the officers of the feast the Earl of 
Warwick was steward; the Earl of Bedford, and the Lord Hastings, comptrollers; with 
many other noble officers. The number of officers and servants of officers was 1,000; 
of cooks in the kitchen, 62; and of "other men servants, with broehe turners, 116. ~ 
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to have been more of a courtier and a sportsman than an ecclesiastic. He 
died at Cawood, September 2, 1507, and was buried at York. On the 28rd 
of June, 1831, the workmen employed at the Minster, discovered in the north­
east aisle, a leaden coffin in which was the body of this prelate embalmed. 

ChristopMr Baynbridge, or Baynbrigge, translated from Durham, Sep­
tember 12, 1508. He was Henry the Eighth's Ambassador to the court of 
Rome, where he was raised to the dignity of a Cardinal. He died and was 
buried at Rome, in July, 1514. 

The next Archbishop of York was the celebrated Cardinal Wolsey, well 
known in English history. Thomas Wolsey was born at Ipswich, in Suffolk, 
in March, 1471. His parents were in humble circumstances, and he is 
generally reviled as "the butcher's son." Of the occupation of his father 
nothing is known which can be depended upon as certain, but he could 
scarcely be considered as moving in the lowest sphere, since, in his will, he 
devised to his wife all his" lands and tenements," in one parish, and his 
"free and bond lands," in another. He must therefore have been a person 
of good property. After receiving the rudiments of his education at a 
country grammar school, Wolsey entered Magdalen College, Oxford, in 1485, 
and at the early age of fifteen he was admitted to the degree of B.A., which 
gaine_d him the appellation of "the boy bachelor." He soon obtained his 
degree of M.A., and was afterwards elected a Fellow of the College, and 
appointed Master of Magdalen School. In the year 1500 Wolsey left the 
University, having been presented to the Rectory of Lynington, in Somer­
setshire, by the Marquis of Dorset, whose three sons were under his tuition 
whilst he was Master of Magdalen School. His patron, the Marquis, died 
in 1501, and Wolsey was soon after appointed domestic chaplain to Dean, 
Archbishop of Canterbury. Upon the death of that prelate in 1503, he 
(Wolsey) became chaplain to Sir John Nauphant, or Naufan, Treasurer of 
Calais, who took him in his retinue to that place; and upon his return to 
England, strongly recommended him to King Henry VII., who appointed 
him one of his chaplains, and sent him as ambassador to the court of 
Germany. In 1505 he was presented to the rectory of Redgrave; in 1508 
he was made Dean of Lincoln, and in the year following Prebendary of 
Walton Brinold, and Prebendary of Stow, in the same Cathedral. Soon 
after the accession of Henry VIII., Wolsey, \vho had been that monarch's 
sponsor, was taken into the royal service, and was by degrees entrusted with 
the highest offices of state. Riches and dignities were now heaped upon 
him in great profusion. From 1511 to 1514 he was made Canon of Windsor, 
first Prebendary, then Dean of York; Dean of Hereford; Precentor of St. 
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Paul's, and Bishop of Toumay, in Flanders. In loU he became Bishop of 
Lincoln; and on the 5th of August in the same year, Archbishop of York. 
In LH5 he was created a Cardinal; and in 1516 he was made Lord High 
Chancellor of England. The splendour of his domestic establishments, and 
the dignified pageantry with which he uniformly appeared in public, raised 
the envy of his contemporaries. His extraordinary talent gave him such 
immense influence with his Sovereign, that it was he who might be said, 
directed the movement and the whole machinery of the state; and during 
some years he WI\!! not only the richest, but likewise the most powerful sub­
ject in Europe. The princely liberality with which he encouraged the art.'l, 
and inculcatctl a love of lPtt.ers at a period when learning was struggling 
against disrepute, has procured for him the admiration of posterity. 

That magnificent establishment, Christ Church College, Oxford, was ori· 
ginally founded by him, and though he lost the favour of the King before its 
completion, it is still a lasting monument of his greatness and love of learning. 

During the debate about the legality of the King·s marriage with Catherine 
of Arragon, Wolsey espoused the cause of the injured Queen, and thereby 
incurred the displeasure of his Sovereign. With the Queen he fell from 
power; and his immense influence and wealth exciting the jealousy of the 
King, he was attainted of high treason in 1520, and despoiled of all his 
dignities, and all his lands and goods were confiscated. However, on the 
12th of Febmary of the year following, the King granted him a remarkably 
full and complete pardon, and restored part of his plate and furniture, and 
also the revenues of his Archbishopric, with a command that he should 
henceforth reside in his diocese of York. In the spring of the same year he 
retired to his palace at Cawood, and though he spent the following summer 
in great hospitality, yet the six months he passed there were probably among 
the best spent in his life. He visited the little country churches, reforming 
abuses, and frequently preaching and administering the sacrament, and such 
of the edifices as were in a ruinous condition, he ordered to be restored; by 
these means he became very popular in his diocese. As he had never been 
formally enthroned, and it is said, had never even visited his own Cathedral, 
he therefore fixed Nov. 7th, in the same year, for the ceremony to take place. 
Great preparations were made for it, and also for the banquet which was to 
be giwn at the Mansion House, and for which large presents of venison and 
game were made by the surrounding nobility. However, in the latter end of 
October, the Cardinal was suddenly and unexpectedly arrested on a charge of 
treason, by the Earl of Northumberland, and on his way to London, whither 
he was being conveyed as a prisoner, he was seized with dysentery, and died 
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at the Abbey of Leicester, where he had taken shelter, on the 20th of ~o­
vember, 1530, in the 50th year of his age. His body was buried in St. 
l\Iary's Chapel, within the precincts of the Abbey Church, and neither tomb, 
nor stone, nor mound, marks his last resting place. A black marble sar­
cophagus made by his order, and probably designed as the depository of 
his own remains, surmounts the tomb of Nelson, in the crypt of St. Paul's 
Cathedral, London. 

Ed1card Lee, December lOth, 1531.-This prelate, who was Lord President 
of the North, was seized by the insurgents concerned in the Pilgrimage of 
Grace, and obliged to take an oath of fidelity to them ; but he was afterwards 
pardoned for this offence. He died on the 18th of September, 1544, and 
was buried in York. 

Robert IlolfJale was translated from Llandaff, January 16th, 1544. HP­
was a monk favourable to the Reformation, and consequently was patronised 
by Henry; but in the reign of Mary be was committed to the Tower, and he 
died in obscurity at Hemswortlt, near Pontefract, in 1558. He had been 
some time Lord President of the North; and he founded the Grammar 
School in Ogleforth, York, called by his name. 

Nicholas Heatlt was translated from Worcester, February lOth, 1555. He 
was a learned prelate, to whose exertions the See of York is indebted for the 
recovery of a great part of its pt·esent revenues. Being a Catholic, he was 
patronised by Queen Mary, but was deprived of his dignity by Elizabeth, in 
1558; who, however, allowed him to retire to his estate at Cobham, in 
Surrey, where he died, and was buried. He bad been Lord Chancellor of 
England. 

Tlwmas Young, the first Protestant Archbishop of York, was Lord Presi­
dent of the North, and was translated from St. Davids on the 25th of 
February, 1561. "A disgraceful character," writes Allen, "who took down 
the great hall in tlte palace at York, for the sake of the lead which covered 
it." He died at Sheffield, June 26th, 1568, and was buried at Y01-k. 

Edmu"d Grindall, the next prelate, was a native of Hensingham, near 
Whitehaven. He was translated from London, June Oth, 1570, and admnced 
to Canterbury in 1576. He founded and endowed a Grammar School at St. 
Bees, Cumberland, in 1583 ; and he died on the 6th of July in the same 
year, and was buried in the chancel of Croydon Church. 

Edlrin Sandys, or Sands, was a native of St. Bees, and probably educated 
at the Grammar School just noticed. He was author of Europa: Syecttlum, 
and founder of Hawkshead School. He was translated froin London, Jan­
uary 25th, 1577; died, August 8th, 1588, and was buried at Southwell. 

3 F 
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Archbishop Sandys had been imprisoned for preaching in defence of Lady 
Jane Grey's title to the throne. 

John Piers was translated from Salisbury, February 27th, 1558. He died 
at 13ishopthorpe on the 28th of September, 1594, and was buried at York. 

Matthew Hutton, a man of humble origin, but of great merit, was trans­
lated from Durham, March 24th, 1594. He died January loth, 1606, and 
was interred at York. 

Tobia8 Matthew was translated from Durham, March 24th, 1594. He 
died January 15th, 1628, allll was interred at York. This prelate was one 
of the most eloquent preachers of his day, and being a great wit, was a 
favourite at the court of both Elizabeth and James I. He kept an account 
of all the sermons he preached, by which it appears that while Dean of Dur­
ham, he preached 721 sermons; when Bishop of Durham, 550; and when 
Archbishop of York, 721; in all, no less than 1,992 sermons after he had 
become a dignitary of the church. 

George .Mo11taigne, or 1\fountai11, was the son of a small farmer at Cawood, 
who rose to be successi,·ely Bishop of London, and Durham, and Archbishop 
of York; to the latter See he was elected June 6th, 1628, and enthroned 
October 4th. "But," says Fuller, "he was scarce warm in his church, than 
cold in his coffin," for he died Kovember 6th, of the same year, at Cawood, 
the place of his nativity, and was buried there.* 

Samuel Hanmett was translated from Norwich, April 28rd, 1629; died 
May 18th, 1681; and was interred at Chigwell, in Essex, where he had died. 

Richard Neill, a prelate of humble origin, was translated from Winchester, 
April 16th, 1682. He died on the 31st of October, 1640, and was buried 
at York . 

• John Williams was translated from Lincoln, June 27th, 1642. Whilst he 
filled the latter See he wrote a book called "The Holy Table," which gave so 
much offence to Archbishop Laud, that he (Laud) commenced a prosecution 
against him, and he was sentenced to a term of imprisonment in the Tower, 

• It is related that when the See of York became vacant, Charles I. had many claimants 
for it, but was undivided re~pectiug its disposal, B!ld sought the advice of Mountain (then 
Bishop of Durham) in his difficulty. The Bishop modestly B!lswered that if his Mf\iesty 
bad faith like a grain of mustard seed, be would say to this Mountain, be thou remon.>d 
into yonder Sea, and it would obey. Tho King replied that miracles had ceased, and 
asked what had faith to do in this point? To oonv:ince your Mf\iesty to the oontrary, 
s11id the Bishop, be only pleased to say to this Mountain (pointing to himself), be thou 
mo,·Nl into yon<l<'r See (alluding to the See of York), B!ld I nm sure your Mf\iesty will 
forthwith be obE>yNl. The King, smiling, took the hint, and said, then Mount.ain I will 
remove thee; and be Accordingly S('Dt him down Lord Archbishop. 
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and to pay a fine of £10,000. He was liberated in 1640, and after receiving 
the archbishopric of York, he was again imprisoned in the Tower, along with 
nine other prela.tes, by order of the Long Parliament, for a cause which is 
already stated at page 229 of this volume. From being a strenuous Royalist, 
he became a zealous Parliamentarian, and commanded at the siege of Aber· 
gavenny, in South Wales, and reduced that fortress to the obedience of Par­
liament. "He will always be memorable in English history," says Lord 
Campbell, " as the last of a long line of eminent ecclesiastics, who, with rare 
intervals, held for many centuries the highest judicial office in the kingdom, 
and exercised a powerful influence over the destinies of the nation."* Arch­
bishop Williams died on the anniversary of his birth, the 25th of March, 
1650, aged 68, and was buried at Lla.ndegay, about two miles from Bangor. 

For ten years during the Commonwealth this See was vacant, but in a few 
months after the Restoration of Charles IT. (October 11th, 1660), Acctpted 
Frewen was translated from Coventry and Lichfield. This prelate seems to 
have been somewhat eccentric; for he lived in a state of celibacy, and his 
horror of the "fair sex" was so great that be would not even have a female 
se"ant in his bouse. He died on the 28th of March, 1664, and was buried 
at York. 

Monarchy and episcopacy were again raised to great splendour after the 
Restoration. All authority was acknowledged to be vested in the King; and 
the Bishops were allowed to resume their seats in the House of Peers. In 
1661 an Act of Unifurmity was passed, which required every clergyman who 
had not received episcopal ordination, to be ordained, and to declare his as­
sent to everything contained in the Book of Common Praytr, and to take the 
canonical oath of obedience ; and such as refused to conform to the precepts 
of this act, were ip3o facto deprived. 

Ridutrd Sterne was translated from the See of Carlisle, June lOth, 1664. 
He was born at Mansfield, in N ottinghamshirc, and was a noted Royalist. 
He had been chaplain to Archbishop Laud, whom he attended at the fatal 
scaffold; and he was himself a prisoner in the Tower for his adherence to 
the royal cause. He was the author of a Treatise on Logic, and was one of 
the translators of the Polyglot Bible, and he has been suspected of being the 
author of" The Whole Duty of Man." He died June 18th, 1688, and was 
buried at York. 

John Dolben, the next Archbishop, had been a soldier in l1is early days, 
and sCTVed as an ensign at the battle of Marston Moor, where he was dan-

• Lord Campbell's Lives of the Lord Chancellors, vol. ii., p. 604. 
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gcrously wounded by a musket hall. He died at York, where he was bwiro, 
on the lith of Apt·il, 16Htl. The Sc·e then remaim'd vacant for more tb11n 
two year:-. 

Thom,as Lmnplugh, a staunch supporter of the doctrines of the Church of 
England, and a liberal henef~tctor to the Cnthedra1, was translaW from 
F:xeter, December lllth, llii"\H; died 1\fay 5th, lli!ll; and his remains wt>rc 
interred at York. 

Johu Sharp, lfi\11.-This prdtltc distinguished himself by his strong oppo· 
sition to the Homan Catholic predilections of James II., whereby he became 
very unpopular at court. He was the father of Granville Sharp. He died 
February 2nd, 1 i I :l, ancl was the last Archbishop interred in the Cathedrnl 
of York. 

Sir William Dall'i'.,, a most ex.Pmplary prelate, was translated from the fil'c 
nf Ch(·stf·•·, March Q lth, 1 ill: tJj..,,J April 30th, li:H; aml was interrt't! at 
<:nthCiinc Hall, Cnml,tidge. 

Lrlllcrlot Rluckb11m was translatetl from F.x<'ter, December lOth, 1 i2·1: 
died 1 i t:l; all< I was buried in St. Margaret's Church, Westminster. 

Tlunua.~ Harin!f, o11c of the most note.! prelates of his time, was translatA:~I 
from the Sec of Bangor, April 2Rth, 1743. At tite breaking ont of the rc· 
hellion in 1 i l ;i, be took a11 neti\'e part in arousing the cowttry against th•• 
claims of the Pretender, and by his eloquent appeals the sum of .£.!0,000. wns 
soon misl'<l for this purpose. For these services he was advanced to the 
archbishopric of CtmtA.•rbnry in 174i. He rlic•ll\Iarch 13th, 175i, and WllS 

buried at Croy•lon. 
Afatt/t,,. /Juffo11 was likewis•• translatA.·d from llangor, Decl:'mbcr !lllth. 

LiH, aml ndvnn.:<'ll to Canterbury in 1757. He died Murch 1\Jth, 17Sil, 
and was buried at Lambeth . 

.fohn Oilhcrt was tran~lnt•••l from S11lisbnr_r, .May 2kth, 1757; aurl die.l iu 
1 iii I. 

Rolu•rt /lay Dntmmmul wns tmnslat<•tl from Snlisbury, November lith. 
1 i Gl : di<'<l D•'Ct•mhPI' I lith , 1 i i fi, alii I was buried at Bishopthorpe. 

William .lfttrklwm, tl~t .• next prdutt•, was a tmtht> of Ireland, and was ct!u· 
l ';lk•l at \\'Pstminstl'r s.·hool, of which :-\chon! lw WI\.'! afterwards Hca•l 
:\laster. In li.}!l l11' \\'>lS appointe•! Pr .. bendary of Durham; in liM,Delll1 

of Hochest('r; in 17117, D•'an of Christ Church; in 1 iil lw was consecrated 
Bishop of ( :hc,.;ll'r, and was n)sn nppoint•••l Pn'c,•ptor to tlw Prine£' of Wales. 
nfterwar<h (;,•org.., IY. : n11d in Iii i he was trnngJnted to the See of York. 
He dietl on thn :ir•l of Xov.~mhP.r, Hlili, aged HH, aft••r filling tl1is Sec for 
thirty yea1·s, and wn;; huril'•l in Westmiu l> ter Ahbey. 
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Tlte H011. Edu:ard Vmables Vemon Harcourt, L.L.D., the late prelate, and 
sixth son of George, Lord Vernon, was hom on the lOth of October, 1757; 
educated at Westminster School, and afterwards removed to Christ Church, 
Oxford. He was subsequently Fellow of All Souls' College, Chaplain to the 
King, Prebendary of Gloucester, and Canon of Christ Church. In 17111 he 
was appointed to the bishopric of Carlisle, and was translated to the See of 
York in January, 1808. He died at his palace, Bishopthorpe, on the 5th of 
November, 1847, in the 9lst year of his age, and his body was buried at 
~uneham Courtney, near Oxford, the family seat of his ancestors. ' 

Tlwmas Jlus[Jrare, D.D., the present distinguished Archbishop of York, is 
sou of Mr. W. Peete Musgrave, a woollen draper, &c., in Cambridge. He 
was born in Cambridge, in 1788; became a student of Trinity College, Cam· 
btidge, in 1806 ; graduated 14th wrangler, in 1810; and was elected Fellow 
of his College, which he held till 1837. He proceeded M.A., in 11:!13; 
became Lord Almoner's Professor of Arabic in 1821 ; was senior Proctor in 
1831; was Incumbent of St. Mary the Great, in Cambridge, and has also 
been bursar of his College. He was consecrated Bishop of Hereford in 
1837; was translated to York in 1847, and was enthroned in the Cathedral 
of that city, on the 13th January, 1848. His Grace is visitor of Queen's 
College, Oxford, Go>emor of the Charter House, and of Queen's Colh•ge, 
London, and Elector of St. Augustine's College, Canterbury. 

Seat-Bishopthorpe Palace, near York. Tou·11 Residellce-41, Belgra\'e 
Square. 

THE CARDINAL OF YoRK.-Tite last of the Stuarts.-This exalted digni­
tary was Henry Benedict Sltutrt, brother of the Pretender, Charles Edward 
Stuart. After the battle of Culloden he retired to Italy, and obtaining pre· 
ferment in the Catholic Church, he was eventually appointed Cardiual of 
York. He lived in tranquillity at Rome for nearly fifty years, but in 1798, 
when French bayonets drove Pope Pius VI. from the Pontifical chair, Henry 
Stuart fled from his splendid residences at Rome aud Frascati. His days 
were days of want, his only means of subsistence beiug the produce of a few 
articles of sih-er plate, which he snatched away from the ruin of his property. 
When George ill. was informed of the Cardinal Duke's poverty and pitiable 
situatiou, be ordered Lord Milton to make a remittance of £2,000., with an 
intimation that the Cardinal might draw for £2,000. more in the following 
July. It was also made kno'm to the Cardinal that an annuity of £-t,oon 
was at his service, so long as circumstances required it. He was spared 
seven years to enjoy this munificent pension, and died at Rome, in 1807, in 
the 83rd year of his age. 
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WE have already shown that Christianity was re-introduced into North­
umbria, by Paulinus, a Roman Missionary, about the year 625 ; that Edwin 
the Saxon monarch of that ancient kingdom, was converted by him, and that 
he and his wliole court were baptised by him at York, in A.D. 627. The 
chief residence of this King was at York, but at so low an ebb was the 
Christian religion, that there was not found a temple within his metropolis 
suitable for the performance of the ceremony of public baptism. A small 
wooden chapel or oratory was erected for the occasion, on the site of the 
presel}t glorious fane, which was dedicated to God under the invocation of 
St. Peter, and in this primitive erection the solemn ceremony was performed.* 
The ceremony over, the prelate, we are told by Bede, took care to acquaint his 
royal convert, that since he had become a Christian he ought to build a house 
of prayer more suitable to the divinity he now adored; and by the Bishop·s 
direction he began to build a suitable fabric of stone, in the midst of which 
was enclosed the oratory already erected.* But Edwin was not permitted 
to see the completion of the edifice which he had thus piously begun; for 
scarcely were the walls raised when he was slain in battle at Hatfield, near 
Doncaster, in 633, and Paulinus retired to the south. (See pages 86 and 
383.) Eanfrid, the son of Edwin's predecessor, then returned from exile, 
and on succeeding to the throne of Bernicia, was necessarily involved in the 
war against Cadwallon, by whom he was basely slain at York, when, with 
only twelve followers, he visited the British King at that city to sue for 
peace. Oswald, a zealous Christian King, the brother of Eanfrid, having 
slain Cadwallon, and established his own authority, undertook to complete 
the building of the church at York, which he had no sooner finished in 642, 
then he was killed by Penda, the pagan King of Mercia, and the newly­
erected edifice was soon after severely injured by the invasions of neighbouring 
savage tribes. Drake says, that Oswald recommenced the building about 
632, but this date is evidently too early, as Edwin was killed in 633, and 
Oswald did not commence his actual reign till a year afterwards. Eddins, 
who wrote about the year 720, tells us that at that date the building was in 
ruins; that the timbers of the roof were rotten, the walls decayed, the 
windows destitute of glass, or other material, whereby the interior was ex-

• Gent says, that this oratory was erected on the site of a pagan temple dedicated to 
Bellona or Diana. 

t Bade's Hist. Eccl., lib. ii., ch. 14. 
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posed to the iqjuries of the weather, and that the birds were the undisturbed 
inhabitants of the ruined structure. In this desolate condition it was found 
by Archbishop Wilfrid, who, about the year 67 4, restored it to its former 
grandeur. He strengthened the walls, renewed the wood work of the roof, 
covered it with lead, and glazed thE: windows.* This eminent prelate and 
architect founded and built the churches of Hexham and Ripon, and from 
their magnitude and decoration, naturally excited the admiration and praises 
of contemporary writers. 

Bede informs us that the Cathedral of York was a square stone structure 
dedicated to St. Peter, the feast of which dedication was long held here 
annually, with great solemnity, on the first day of October, and the seven 
following days ; but Torre tells us that " the order for making this a doublet 
festival was not issued till the year 1642." The Cathedral stood and 
flourished with little alteration for many ycarR, in the course of which the 
valuable library of Archbishop Egb£>rt was bestowed upon it. In 7 41 the 
church was almost if not completely destroyed by fire, and a new fabric was 
immediately begun by Archbishop Egbert, who was assisted by the advice 

• This is one of the first instances recorded of glass windows in this country. The 
windows had prenously derived their light from transparency of linen, or of bonrds 
pierced \\ith m4lly boles. Wilfrid borrowed the custom of filling the windows with 
glass from the churches of Rome, which be bad &e\·eral times visited. 

t A Double is a festival upon which the Antiphons nre repented entire, both before 
aud af\er the psalms in the divine office. 

Origin of Chriltian FtiCivali.-In the first ages of Christianity the Apostles aud their 
succeasors were obliged to destroy paganism to the last stone, and build all things from 
the very foundation. The heathens had their calendnr; the name of some deity, some 
feast, seasons of rejoicing or mourning, occupiE~d its yenr; 4lld the heathens were de. 
lighted with their festivals. It was no !.rifting work to begin by blotting out the calendar 
of civilized nations, without being prepared to tlll it with other memorials equally inter. 
eating. The Jews too had their calendnr, but this for the greater part was abolished, for 
of what importauce IWY longer to the ebureb were the feast of tabernacles, of puriJication, 
and others, occurring every month. A blank volume was in the Apostle's bands, and the 
dnty of the early church was to tlll it up, that the Christian world might have by de. 
grees, the whole year tllled with suggestions useful to the Christian soul. They begun 
immediately to tlll up the blank calendar with subjects dear to every Christian heart. 
These were the great festivals of Our Lord-his Birth, Crucifixion, Resurrection, As· 
l·ension, and t.ke coming of the Holy Ghost. These were coeval with Chrilltianity. 
After the Apostles bad passeJ from earth, certain days were set apart to praise God for 
their triumphs, and to honour them in various ways, as well as to implore their inter. 
cession; aud age after age festivals were ~t.ppointed in honour of Christian Martyrs and 
Collfeasors, and holy personages. Thus was our calendar formed. After the Befor. 
mation, the vacancies in the calendnr of the Church of Eoglaud were tllled up by 
political or social occurrences. 
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of the cdebrated Alcuin. Archbishop Albert, assisted by Eanbald, who suc­
ceeded him, completed the work in the most magnificent Sa.'{On style. The 
latter prelate did not li"fe long to enjoy th<' beautiful structure he had finished, 
for he died in November, 781, in ten days after its consecration. Alcuin 
describes the fabric as of considerable height, supported by columns and 
arches, covered by a vaulted roof, and provided with large windows. It had 
also porticoes and galleries, and thirty altars, the latter of which were adorned 
with various ornaments.* 

It may appear surprising that these Archbishops were well skilled in 
architecture, but this surprise will vanish when we reflect that it was cus­
tomary for the monks and ecclesiastics in those days to build their own 
Abbeys and Cathedrals. ' 

In the year lOG!}, as has been already seen at page 120, the native inhab­
itants, aided by the Danes, in their attempt to throw off the yoke of the Con­
queror, set fire to the suburbs, which spreading to the city, communicated to 
the Cathedral, and involved them all in one common ruin.t William, who 
on entering the city, found the church in ntins, seized its revenues, and ex­
pelled the Canons from their stalls. He, however, soon afterwards made 
Thomas, his chaplain and treasurer, Archbishop of the Province, and restored 
the revenues, &c., to the church. By this prelate the Cathedral was soon 
restored; and he afterwards rebuilt it on a larger scale, in the ~ ormnn· style, 
about the year 1080. llut its prosperity was of short duration, for it shared 
a similar fate to his predecessor, and was partly bumt down by an accidental 
fire in 1137. Efforts were soon after made to further the restoration of the 
ruined Cathedral, and Joceline, Bishop of Sarum, granted an Indulgence of 
forty days, or a remission of forty days canonical penance, to prnitcnts who 
contributed towards it.! Still but little appears to have been effected for 

• Britton's York Cathec.lral, p. :l8. 
t Simon Dunelm, Hist. Angl., Scri}Jtores x. col. 178. 

t An Indulgence, according to the definition of the Catholic Church (and we must allow 
~he ought to bo the best judge of her own doctrine), u not tM pardon of any sin, much 
less is it a licence to commit sin; it is merely a rela.'lntion of the temporal punishment 
that is due to Rin, after the guilt of sin and the etUTWl punishment due to that guilt is 
remitted by sincere repentance nnd humble confession. In other words, it is n free 
release from the external satisfactory works of penance, in consideration of the penitent's 
intcn1al fervour. The ancient discipline of the church obliged great sinnE'rs, when 
they repenred, to perform ('ertain pen1mces for certain lengths of time, according to tht~ 
nature and number of their transgressions; some were obliged to fast one meal each day, 
or recite certain prayers, or p<>rform some other good works, for a number of days, 
months, or years, and some grent public sinners were obliged to perform such works 
<luring the tenu of their natural lives. Now an indulgence of forty days, or one hundred 
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more than forty years, when Archbishop Roger rebuilt the choir about 1171, 
in the Norman style, to correspond to the rest of the building. · 

We now come to the commencement of the erection of the Cathedral as it 
at present stands. In 1215 the munificent Archbishop Walter de Grey 
came to the archiepiscopal throne, and finding his church inferior in mag· 
nificence to many of the ecclesiastical edifices of his day, he determined to 
rebuild it on a larger and grander scale, and commenced accordingly with 
the present South Transept, which appears to have been completed during 
his life time. He prosecuted his design with much energy, giving largely 
from his own funds towards it, granting indulgences to penitents, and urging 
the faithful to aid him in his efforts to beautify the structure. 

In 1260 John le Romayne, treasurer of the Cathedral, completed the 
erection of the Ntmh Tramept. He also raised a handsome bell tower in the 
place now occupied by the great lantern tower. The old Norman nave, not 
now corresponding with the beautiful early English transepts, it was deter­
mined that it should be pulled down; and Archbishop Romayne, son of the 
above-named treasurer, personally laid the foundation of the present Nave, 
with great solemnity, on the 7th of April, 1291. The materials for building 
the nave (and for the whole of the church, according to some authorities) were 
contributed by Robert de Vavasour, from St. Peter's quarry, on his estate 
near Tadcast.er ;* and by William de Percy, of Bolton, from his woods at 

days, or of a year, or of seven years, is a free release or remission of as much of the 
temporal punishment due to sin, as would be satisfied by the performance of the ancient 
canonical penances for either of those periods. In a word, it is a commutation of the 
canonical penances for prayers, alms deeds, or other good works-a substitntion of one 
aatisfaction for another-of a longer penance for a shorter, and hence it is styled an 
indulgence or favour done to the penitent. Thus an indulgence has nothing to do with 
the pardon of sin, nor with the eternal punishments due to sin, but only with that debt 
of temporal penance which the church maintains the sinner has to discharge after the 
eternal gnilt of his sin is forgiven. Indulgences are of two kinds---1iartial and pknary 
- partial indulgence is explained above; and a plenary indulgence is a remission of 
the IDiwk of the debt of temporal punishment due to the sin of the penitent. 

• There appears to be no doubt that the stone was taken from the quarries of Hazle. 
wood, "in proof whereof, and there is good evidence of it in tho hands of VaYasore, out 
of a little quarry within the manor of Hasslewood hath been taken the Cathedral Church 
of York, the Minsters of Howden, Selby, Beverley, &:c."-Apptndiz to Leland, t~ol. iii., 
Hearm'• ~dit., p. 103. Camden says, that "near Hesslewood, within twelve miles of 
York, lieth a most famous quarry of atone, called Peter's Post, for that with the stones 
hewed out of it, by the liberal grant of the Vavasors, that stately and sumptuous church 
of St. Peter's at York was re-edify'd." 

It appears by an old deed that Robert k Vat~IJIOUT granted to God, St. Peter, and the 
church of York, for the health of his own soul, and the souls of his wife Julian, and his 

3 G 
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that place. The memory of the beneficence of each is preserved by statues 
erected at the eastern and western ends of the building, and in other me­
morials in the interior of the church. 

Archbishop William de Melton, was the next founder. In 1888 he com· 
pleted the West Front. For this purpose he granted an indulgence of forty 
days, "to all such well disposed people as pleased to extend their charitable 
contributions towards the building of the late prostrate fabric, whereby he 
might be the better enabled to finish so noble a structure then newly began." 
Besides the large contributions which he was certain to receive by means of 
this indulgence, it is said that he expended a large sum out of his own money, 
and the other prelates also contributed largely out of their own private fortunes. 
But the great benefactor of the Cathedral was Archbishop Thoresby. That 
prelate seeing that the Norman choir built by Archbishop Roger did not 
harmonize with the other parts of the church, and considering that there was 
no place in the church " where our Lady's mass, the glorious mother of God, 
could decently be celebrated," determined to re-build the east end, or choir; 
and thereby finishing the whole fabric in the same style of architecture as 
well as magnificence. Accordingly all the machinery for raising public 
contributions by the church was put in motion, and 'tis said that the Arch­
bishop himself devoted of his own income about £2,400., or £200. annually­
a large sum in those days-in pursuance of the work. He also p1illed down 
the archiepiscopal mansion of Sherburn Hall, and supplied the materials 
for the use of the Minster. Torre says, that letters mandatory, dated Festo. 
S. Mich . Anno. 1355, were likewise issued from the chapter of York, directed 
to all rectOrs, vicars, and parochial chaplains, within the respective prebends, 
dignity, and the community of the church, enjoining them by virtue of their 
canonical obedience, and under pain of the greater excommunication, to suffer 
their collectors in their chapelries and parishes to ask and gather the 
charitable alms of the people, for the use of the fabric of this church. 

Accordingly the first stone of the NN Choir was laid by the Archbishop 
at the east end, on the 19th of July, 1861. The great liberality of Thoresby 
did not surpass the generosity of the public ; the donations continued to in· 
crease, till the Archbishop found himself enabled not only to rebuild the 

.ancestors, full and free use of his quarry near T<UlctUU!" in TMtltdak, with liberty to 
take and carry thence a sufficient quantity of stone for the fabric of this church, as of\ 
as they had need to repair, re.edify, or enlarge the same. Likewise Robert tk Percv, 
Lord of Boulton, granted to John, Archbishop of York, tree liberty for the mariners or 
carters to carry the fabric stone from Tadcaster, either by land or water, through his 
grounds lying along the river Quarfc (JJ'harfe), or up that river to York; and also his 
wood at Boulton, for roofing the new building. 
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choir, but also to take down the central steeple erected by John le Romayne, 
which was likewise thought inferior to the rest of the edifice, and to erect in 
its place the present elegant lantern tower. Walter Skirlaw, Prebendary of 
Fenton, Archdeacon of the East Riding, and afterwards Bishop of Durham,* 
gave a very munificent donation for the latter purpose. The old steeple was 
accordingly taken down in 1870, and the erection of the present Central 
T&Wer was begun ; but nearly eight years elapsed before it was finally 
completed.t 

According to Drake the present towers at the west end appear to have been 
raised by John de Birmingham, treasurer of the church, about the year 1402.: 
The rest of the structure was finished between 1405, when Archbishop 
Bowett (whose arms appear in the sculpture, and on the window) was ap­
pointed to the See, and 1426, when the Dean and Chapter granted, out of 
their revenues, a full tenth to the use of the fabric then newly built.§ In 
addition to the means already mentioned for raising the supplies from. time 
to time, for erecting the Cathedral, bulls apostolical, granting indulgences, 
were issued by Popes Innocent VI. and Urban V. and VI., and on one of 
these occasions a kind of income tax, of five per cent., was imposed on eccle· 
siastical benefices, for three years, for the necessary repairs and re-edifications. 

The building used as a vestry was anciently a chapel, founded by Arch· 
bishop de Ia Zouche about the year 1850,11 who intended it for the place of 
his interment, but he died before it was finished. The original building was 
demolished at the time of the new erection of the choir, and the present one 

• From Anthony A' Wood's History of the Unversity of Oxford we learn the following 
particulars of this prelate :-He was the son of a sieve-maker, at Skirlaw, in Holderness, 
Yorkshire. At an early age be ran away from his father's bouse, and came to Oxford, 
where he partook of William of Durham's benefaction in University College, and distin. 
guisbed himself so much by his learning, that be rose to be made successively Bishop of 
Licbfteld and Coventry, Wells, and Durham. It is added that his parents were ignorant 
of his fate till he was settled at Durham, when he sent his steward to Skirlaw to bring 
them to him, if they were alive, and then made a provision for them. He appears, 
continues Wood, to have been an eminent architect, as the centre tower of York Minster 
is said to have been built under his superintendence, when he was Archdeacon of the 
East Riding. He died in 1406, and was buried in the Cathedral of Durham. 

+ The wages of workmen about this time were 3d. a day to a master mason or car. 
penter, and lid. to their" knaves," as their journeymen were then called. A pound's 
worth of silver then was a pound weight, which is equal to .£4. of our present money, 
and one peany then would purchase as much com as 20d. now, bringing the artizan'K 
wages to the rate of 2s. 6d. a day. 

: Drake's Ebor., p. 48~. 1 Torre's MSS., p. 7. 

11 Stubbs' Chron. Pontif. Ebor. in vita Gul. Zouch. 
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was raised in its stead by the executors of Zouche, and endowed as a chantry 
for prayers for the soul of that prelate. 

Of all the different parts of this magnificent structure, the elegant Chapter 
House is the only one which the date is totally unknown. No records 
extant give any account of the time of its erection, but from the style of 
architecture, Drake and others conjecture that it is to be ascribed to Walter 
de Grey ; and as a figure in the window over the entrance corresponds with 
the representation of that prelate on his tomb, and the arms of several of 
his contemporaries are painted in some of the other windows. But Mr. 
Allen thinks that this part of the church, with its vestibule, is more probably 
of the reign of Edward ill. 

The following is the chronological order of the dates of the erection of the 
several parts of the present fabric, on the authority of Mr. John Britton=*­
South Tran&ept, begun by Archbishop Walter de Grey, in the reign of Henry 
ill., A.D. 1227; Narth Trmwpt, by John le Romayne, 1260; Chapter H~, 
about the same time ; Nave, by Archbishop le Romayne, in the reign of Ed­
ward 1., 12\H; Choir, by Archbishop Thoresby, in the reign of Edward ill., 
1852; Great Central Tower, about the same time; and the T'WO Wut Tot£erl, 
built about 1402. The whole fabric was finished about the year 1426. 

Thus within the space of 200 years this superb Cathedral was completed 
in the form and dimensions in which it appears at this day. The styles of 
architecture of the various parts of the building are as follows :-The Crypt, 
chiefly Norman; North and South Transept, Early English; Nave and West 
Front of Nave, Decorated; Choir, Lady Chapel, Central Tower, and the 
Towers at the west end, Perpendicular; Chapter House, Decorated.t 

The following contracts are entered in the books of the church, and they 
are also noticed in Torre's MSS. :-"On Monday next, after the feast of St. 
Agatha the Virgin, celebrated February 5th, 1888 {12th Edward ill.), it was 

• Britton's Antiquities of York Cathedral, p. 33. 

t According to Browne·~ Hiltorv of YOt'k Jlifi.IUT, the dates of its erection are as 
under. For tho names of tho ArchbishoPs in whose time the several parts were built, 
as well as of the contemporaneous Kings, seo the table commencing at page 377 of this 
history. The Original Church of stone commenced A.D. 627; restored, 670; injured 
by fire, 7-11; rebuilt, 1080; injured by fire, ll37; and rebuilt or repaired in 1170. 

The Prumt Catludral.-The South Transept was erectod about the year 1220; North 
Transept erected from 12!10 to 1270; Chapter llouse, from 1280 to 1340; Vestibule to 
Chapter House, from 1336 to 1360; Nave, 1291 to 1360; Eastern portion of the Choir, 
1361 to U16; Western portion of the Choir, 1411) to 1472; South. west Bell Tower, 
1433 to 1460; Nortb.wcst Bell Tower, 1-i:iO to J.17-i ; the Great Tower, 1460 to 14.72; 
and the Organ Sert>en, from 1476 to 1618. 

Digitized by Goog le 



HISTORY OF THE CATHEDRAL OF YOBX. 413 

covenanted by indenture, that Thos. de Boreston, vicar choral, should at his 
own proper costs glaze two windows in the Cathedral church, viz., on each 
side one (west end of nave), find all the glass for the same, and pay the work· 
men their wages for the finishing thereof. Thos. de Ludham, custos of the 
fabric, became bound to pay him twenty·two marks sterling, viz., eleven 
marks for each window." Likewise in 1338 another indenture was made 
between one Robert, a glazier, on the one part, and Thos. de Boreston, custos 
of the fabric, on the other, for the making of a window at the west gable of 
this Cathedral church, and to find all sorts of glass for the same, and for 
doing the work the said Thomas was to pay him sixpence per foot for white, 
and twelve pence per foot for coloured glass. 

The substance of a singular contract for glazing and painting the great 
eastern window is also preserved in Torre's MSS. The indenture, which is 
dated lOth of August, 1405, is between John Thornton, of Coventry, glazier, 
and the Dean and Chapter. The painting was to be executed with his own 
hands ; and the work to be finished in three years ; and his pay was 4s. per 
week, and £5. at the end of each of the three years; and if he performed the 
work to the satisfaction of his employers, he was to receive the further 
sum of £10. 

There does not seem to have been much alteration in the Minster from the 
time of its completion, till we come to the period of the Reformation, when 
several of the chantries and altars, together with the shrine of St. William, 
were removed.* Some of these were however restored in Mary's reign; but 
all were cleared away in the reign of Elizabeth. 

The pavement of the Cathedral is of recent date; anciently it consisted 
(chiefly) of the gravestones of the Bishops and other ecclesiastics. "At 
the period of the Reformation," says Mr. Britton, "the furious zeal which 
demolished so many beautiful monuments of antiquity, did not spare York 
Cathedral; nor did the fanatics of Cromwell's time omit here their pious 
practices of destroying the figures and epitaphs on the tombs, and stealing 
the brasses. The numerous gravestones stripped of their ornaments, and 
otherwise injured, disfigured the church ; the old pavement was therefore 
taken up, and the present one laid down in 1736, according to a plan by Mr. 
Kent, under the direction of Lord Burlington. The stone for the purpose 
was the donation of Sir Edward Gascoigne, of Farlington, from his quarry at 

• There were more than forty chantries, and about thirty altars dispersed in several 
places of this Cathedral, but it is as difficult in this day to assign the respective situations 
ot a great miUiy of them, as it is to find out the lands the chantries were originally en­
dowed with. 
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Huddleston, in Yorkshire; and even some of the old marble gravestones were 
cut up and appropriated to this work. The expenses amounting to £2,500. 
were defrayed by a subscription among the noblemen and gentlemen of York­
shire. It is however to be regretted that the noble amateur did not adapt 
the design of his pavement to the style and character of the edifice; instead 
of disposing of it in a sort of Roman pattern." 

During the re-paving of the church, some curious rings of rnby and sap­
phire, set in gold, belonging to those whose mortal remains had mixed with 
their parent dust, were discovered, and are now shown in the vestry. 

Since the period of the Commonwealth to the beginning of the year 1829, 
there is nothing particularly worth recording in the history of the Minster. 
But on the 2nd of February in that year the magnificent choir was destroyed 
by fire, kindled by the hand of an incendiary. On Sunday afternoon, Feb­
ruary 1st, the usual service was performed in the choir at four o'clock, and 
in the evening (it being Candlemas-eve) the ringers were in the church till 
about hall-past six. About four o'clock on Monday morning a man passing 
through the Minster Yard saw a light in the building, but supposing that it 
might arise from workmen in the edifice, it excited no suspicion in his mind. 
About seven o'clock a fire was discovered in the choir, in a rather singular 
manner. A young chorister of the name of Swinbank, in passing through 
the Minster Y o.rd, slipped upon the ice and fell on his back. Whilst in this 
position he saw a quantity of smoke issue from the roof of the Minster. He 
immediately gave the alarm to the key keeper, and upon the door being 
opened the whole building was found to be filled with a dense smoke, and 
the curious and interesting wood work of the choir was extensively on fire. 
The flames rapidly spread over the whole of that beautiful collection of carved 
oak pews and tracery, which had till then exhibited the taste and wealth of 
our forefathers. In a short time the workmen and others assembled, and all 
the engines in the city were on the spot. Several individuals succeeded in 
carrying out cushions and books from the north side of the choir, and tho 
curious old chair which stood with the rails of the altar. The brass eagle 
was removed with great difficulty owing to its weight, and the suffocating 
effects of the smoke. The communion table was removed in time to save it, 
but the plate, which was kept in a secret place in the choir, was found to 
have been melted into shapeless masses. When the organ caught fire, an 
appalling noise, occasioned by the action of the air in the pipes upon the 
flames, reverberated through the building, and struck with awe all who heard 
it This noble organ, which was said to be unequalled for tone and power 
by any instrument in the world, was totally consumed, with a valuable col-
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lection of music which was deposited in the organ loft, and much of which 
being in manuscript cannot be replaced. By nine o'clock the entire choir 
was on fire, and the roof began to fall in large masses, with horrid and 
deafening crashes, the melted lead pouring down in torrents. The engines 
were scarcely able to check the flames, until they were partly stifled by the 
falling of the heavy materials of the roof and ceiling. At eleven o'clock the 
whole roof had come down, and then the fire began rapidly to be got under; 
and by two o'clock all danger of further mischief from the flames was at an 
end. By extraordinary efforts the beautiful screen, which divides the nave 
from the choir, was saved from destruction. During the afternoon the Ca­
thedral and its precincts presented a melancholy spectacle. The floor of the 
nave was strewed with fragments of the roof which had been brought from 
the choir; and against one of the pillars laid the remains of the organ, con­
sisting of some fragments of the gilt pipes, and a portion of the iron work. 
The Minster Yard was thickly strewed with the fragments of the roof, black­
ened in the fire, and reduced to the consistency of charcoal. 

By this great fire the roof of the choir was entirely destroyed, as well as 
the organ, tabernacle work, and several of the monuments were either totally 
destroyed, or very much injured. The roofs of the side aisles of the choir being 
groined with stone, did not take fire, and the great east window was scarcely 
touched. The fine screen between the choir and Lady Chapel was very much 
injured ; and the clustered columns, arches, &c., were slightly injured. 

Many reports obtained circulation relative to the origin of the fire ; but a 
committee of enquiry having been formed, it was ascertained that the rope 
was cut from the bell which ia rung for prayers; and it had the appearance 
of having been cut with a stone, the end being very much chafed. A knotted 
rope was then found attached to the far window of the North Transept, and 
it was ascertained that the window was opened from the interior. A bunch 
of matches, burnt at both ends, was found under the rubbish of the burnt 
organ; and a pair of shoemaker's pincers on the stool of the window, out of 
which the knotted rope was suspended. It was now quite evident that the 
destruction of the noble edifice was the work of an incendiary. A shoemaker, 
who resided at Aldwark (a street in the city), owned the pincers as his, and 
this discovery, connected with other circumstances, formed a chain of evidence 
of such a conclusive nature, as left no doubt that a man named Jonathan 
Martin, a native of Hexham, was the incendiary. He had lodged for a month 
with this shoemaker, and on Tuesday, the 27th of January, he left his 
lodgings, stating that he was going to reside at Leeds. On the following 
Saturday evening, about eight o'clock, he returned to his old lodgings, giving 
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as a reason for so doing, that having twenty of his books to sell at Tadcaster, 
he thought he would come as far as York. Convenien~ was made for him 
to sleep that night in the shoemaker's workshop, and the next morning, 
Sunday, he went out about half-past ten, and returned no more. On Mon­
day, thl:l 8th of February, he was taken near Hexham, and on his examination 
before a bench of magistrates, he stated that in consequence of having had 
two remarkable dreams, he thought he was to set fire to the Minster. 

On the 31st of March he was tried at York Castle before the late Baron 
Hullock, and found not guilty, on the ground of insanity; so he was ordered 
to be detained during his Majesty's pleasure. In his defence, in which he 
displayed much subtlety and cunning, he gave a minute detail of his pro­
ceedings, and the different expedients resorted to in order to complete his 
"pious work," as he called it. He sU:.ted that he attended the evening ser­
vice, and was " very much vexed at hearing them sing the prayers, and 
amens; he thought the prayer of the heart came from the heart; and that 
they had no call for prayer books. The organ then made such a buzzing 
noise," he observed, "Thou shalt buzz no mo~l 11 have thee down to 
night." He then relat£d how he left the choir with the congregation at the 
close of the service, concealed himself behind Bishop Granville's tomb till all 
went out, and remained concealed till the bell-ringers left the building ; how 
he arose and prayed, and called upon the Lord for help; how the Spirit told 
him to strike a light, how be completed the work of destruction, and escaped 
through the window, looking back with pleasure on the "merry blaze which 
began to shoot up." The miserable fanatic was confined in New Bethlehem 
Hospital, London, where he died on the Srd of June, 1838. 

Mr. Smirke, afterwards Sir Robert Smirke, the eminent architect, drew up 
a report of the state of the building, and an estimate for its restoration. He 
recommended that similar materials should be employed for its renovation as 
had been originally used ; that the ornamental work should be finished in 
the same manner, and in strict oonformity, as before; the roof to be of oak, 
and to be covered with lead ; and the carved ribs in the roof, the prebendal 
stalls, and other parts appertaining, to be oak. The restoration of the edifice 
was effected under his direction, at a cost of .£65,000., which was raised by 
national subscription. The Government gave .£5,000. worth of teak timber 
from the dock yards; and Sir E. M. Vavasour, Bart., of Hazlewood Castle, 
nobly imitating the example of his ancestors, gave the stone. His Grace the 
Archbishop presented the communion plate, and a subscription of .£2,000 ; 
and one of the Prebendaries, the Ron. and Rev. J. L. Saville (afterwards 
Earl of Scarborough), gave the organ. On the 6th of May, 1832, the choir 
was again opened for divine service. 
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• \uothct' disastrous fire took place in the Cathedral, on Wednesday, the 
20th of .:\lay, l~Jo, in conSC4JUence of the carelessness of a workman em­
ployed to olean the clock, in the south-west tower. The flames had acquired 
great power before any efficient check could be brought to bear upon them. 
The first alarm was given about half-past seven in the e\'ening, and by nine 
o'clock the peal of bells had fallen,* and the fire raged through th~ roof of 
the tower, and along the roof of the centre aisle of the nave. By midnight 
the tower and nave had been reduced to mere shells, and by the greatest 
exertion the most imminent danger was then over. This damage was wholly 
repaired in the following year, at a cost of about £23,000., the whole of which, 
\nth the exception of a few thousand pounds, was raised by public sub­
scription. The restomtion was admirably effected under the superintendence 
of Mr. Sidney Smirke. The Cathedml is now in excellent repair; men are 
kept constantly employed on the building to restore all tlte decayed parts, 
with strict attention to original forms and details. It is believed that this 
edifice could not be entirely rebuilt in its present style for less than .£2,000,000. 

Four (}mud Jfusical Festimls have been held in this Cathedral, for the 
benefit of the York County Hospital, and the Infirmaries of Leeds, Hull, and 
Sheffield. The first was held on the 23r<l of September, 1823, and the three 
following days. The whole of the three aisles of the spacious naYe were fitted 
up in a most splendid manner. The floor was boarded oYer, and an immense 
gallery constructed at the west end, projecting eighty-three feet eastward to 
the third pillar of the nave. The front seat was elevated four and a half feet 
above the pavement, and the back seat was on a level with the base of the 
window, at the height of twenty-eight feet. The orchestra was erected under 
the great lantern tower. The band was composed of 285 vocal, and 180 instru­
mental performers. The music consisted of selections from the compositions 
of Handel, Haydn, Mozart, &c. The number of persons who attended the 
four days· performances was 17,000; and the gross amount of the receipts 
(including the e-rening concerts at the Assembly Rooms) was .£1G,l7 4. 16s. 
Rtl. ; the gross surplus, which was equally shared among the charities abo,·o 
mentioned, was .£7,200. 

The Second Festival commenced on the 13th of September, 1825. Total 
number of persons present at the four performances, 20,8i3. The band con­
sisted of 615 persons, vocal and instrumental. Gross receipts, £20,876. lOs. 

The Third Fmival took place on the 23rd of September, 1828, and three 

• This was on excellent peal of ten bells, the whole of which were destroyed during 
that calamity, the metal being melted by the intense beat. The tenor weighed :13 cwt. 
~:Jib., having a diameter of!) feet Cl inches. 

3 II 

Digitized by Goog le 



UlsTuH\" OF THto: C.\TUEDR.\L OF YuRK. 

following days, autl was attended by all the rank and fashion in the north of 
England. On this occasion additional galleries were erected in the side aisles. 
The orchestra consisted of 350 vocal performers, exclusive of thirteen prin­
cipal singers; and 200 instrumentalists. The receipts were .£Hi,i69. lls. 4d. 
The aggregate attendance was ~4,525 persons. 

The Fow·th Festiml (which was the last) was held on the 7th of September, 
1~35, and three succeeding days. This Festival was patronised, in person, 
by Her 1\If\iesty (then tho Princess Victoria) and the Duchl•ss of Kent. The 
Royal party attended the Cathedral on each of tho four days. The orchestra 
-consisted of about 600 vocal and instrumental performers. The gross receipts 
were £16,GG2. 3s. 9d.; tho gross expenditure, £13,(!73. 15s.; and the sur­
plus of £3,58~. 8s. 9d. was divided in the proportions of .£1,7!)4. 4s. 5d. to 
the restoration fund for the fire of 182U, and £448. Us. 1d. each to the 
charitable institutions aboYe mentioned. 

The late Or. Beckwith, of York, who died in December, 1843, left a sum 
of .£2,000. for the purchase of a new peal of bells for the Cathedral; and a 
further sum of .£3,000. to be applied to the restoration of the Chapter House. 
The new and beautiful peal of twelve bells, provided out of the above-named 
munificent bequest, were rung for the first time on the .Uh of July, 1844, 
the day on which the restoration committee closed their arduous labours. 
The bells, which are placed in the south tower, vary in height from 2! to 5t 
feet, and in weight from 7 t to 53! cwt.* 

The large clock bell, named Great Peter of York, is worthy of a special 
notice. It cost £2,000., which was raised by public subscription among the 

• The history of bells, as used in collecting the pt>oplo for religious worship, is in­
Yohcd in some ohscurity. The inYention of bells is by some attributed to the Egyptians, 
nnd it is certain that thf'y were ahmys used to nnnounM the festh·als in honour of Osiris. 
Among the Hebrews, the high priests, in grand ooremonies, wore a kiml of tunic, oma. 
mcnted with small golden bells. Bells were also known among the Persians, the Greeks, 
an<l the Romans. It is snid that Panlinus, Bishop of Nola, a city of Campania. in Italy, 
introduced bells into the chun·h to summon the people to dhiue worship; but it does 
not appear that large bells were used before the suth century. Their first adaptation 
to the usc of the Anglo-Sn:oo:on Church is not clearly to be ascertained from written testi. 
mony. Some say they were introduced there by Pope Leo I.; and others by Paulinus. 
According to Malmsbnry, small bells, no!«, were used in Britain in the flf\h century; 
nnd it is clear from Dc<le, that large bt'lls, canlpand', such as sounded in the air, and 
called a numerous congregation to divine service, were employed in England in the year 
6110. It appears however that the towers of churches were not constructed solely for the 
use of bells, but partly to direct the weary nnd benighted traveller to a place of human 
habitation; for which benevolent purpose lights were frequently burnt in them during 
tho darkest nights. Dr. Lingard thinks that the early towers were distinct from the 
church. 
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citizens; the Dean and Chapter agreeing to expend a similar sum in putting 
the north-western tower in a state of repair suitable for its reception. This 
monster bell was cast by Messrs. Mears, of London (who also were the 
founders of the new peal of tweh·e), and it was hung in its present position 
in the above-mentioned tower in 1845. It is the largest bell in the United 
Kingdom, its weight being llt tons. Its diameter at the mouth is 8ft. 4in. ; 
its height, 7ft. 2in. ; a.nd its thickness at the sounding curve is 7 inches. 
The weight of the clapper is 4ewt. 1 qr. 5 lb. This ponderous clapper is of 
wrought iron of Yorkshire manufacture, and is a beautiful specimen of work­
manship. The bell is heavier by 4 tons than Great Tom of Oxford (hitherto 
the largest in England), by 6 tons than the celebrated Tom of Lincoln, and 
by nearly 8 tons than the large bell at St. Paul's. The ornaments of the 
bell are suitable, and of a character and style similar to the details of the 
principal parts of the Cathedral. The arms of the city and church are placed 
on each side of it. The oaken stock on which the bell is fixed weighs, with 
the bolts, 3 tons. There were 17 tons of metal prepared for this bell. It 
was run in 7 t minutes; took 14 days in cooling before it could be uncovered; 
and is one of the most perfect specimens of gigantic casting known. Round 
the top is the following inscription in Lombardic characters:-

" In snncl.!e et reternre Trini til tis honorem 
Pecunia sponte collata, Ebomcenses 
Faciendum com,·erunt in usum 
Eeclesire metrop. B. Petri, Ebor." 

And round the rim-

"Anno Salutis MDCCCXLV. Victorire Regina VIIL, 
Edwardi Archiepi XXXVIII. 
C. et G. Mears, Londini, Fecerunt." 

This magnificent bell is in the key of F, and is at present rung by means of 
a hammer and two wheels, one on each side of the axle, 14 feet in diameter, 
by which imperfect mode however its powers are never fully developed. 

DESCRIPTION.-E.rterior.-The Cathedral of York, usually called York 
Minster,* is one of the most magnificent fanes of the Christian religion in 

• The word Mimter in the Anglo-Saxon is },fymter; in the old Fmnco.Gaulick, Mon. 
•tier; but all from the Latin MOfllUterium, a Cathedral Church and Monastery being 
formerly synonimous terms. " In ancient times scarce any illustrious churches were 
built without a congregation of monks to attend divine service there; a mark whereof 
remains to this day, for our Cathedral Churches are vulgarly called ?olinsters, or Monas­
teries. And this was according to the advice given to St. Augustine by Pope Gregory, to 
institute in his chur~hcs a body flf religious persons like that in the rrimitin• church of 
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existence, aut! is decidedly the most splendid monument in Great llt;tain of 
the piety of former times'; as well as one of the most interesting combinations 
of Gothic n.rchitecture in the world. Stupendous castles, splendid monas· 
teries, and massy towers, reared through many ages subsequent to the erec· 
tion of this superb pile, hn.ve long since mouldered away, and their site cease<l 
to be known ; but the withering finger of timo has failed to devastate this 
elaborate erection. This sumptuous church, where Kings have knelt down 
to worship Him, who is the King of Kings, and warriors laid n.side the pn.· 
noply of human warfare to sue for peace with heaven, is a very conspicuous 
object for miles on n.ll sitles of the city. 

Its ground plan is a Latin cross, in which a peculiar symmetry is observable, 
owing to the uniform regularity of its construction; n. feature which few Ca­
thedrals possess, on account of the many subordinate chapels which interfere 
with their general ammgcment. The parts of the building are a nave, with 
side aisles; o. transept, situate at about the middle of its length, also con­
sisting of nave and aisles; a choir and side aisles, and a "Lndye Chapel" in 
continuation, eastward of the altar screen. A small transept is situated about 
mid,vay between the great transept and the east end of the church. Attached 
to the south side of the choir, east of the south transept, are three small 
chapels, anti these are all the extraneous chapels which ever belonged to this 
magnificent structure. A fine lantern tower rises from the intersection of 
the nave and transept, and the west end is adomed with two splendid towers. 
Adjoining to the north end of the eastern aisle of the great transept is the 
elegant octagonal-shaped Chapter House, with its interesting vestibule. 

To describe minutely all the transcendent beauties which are constellated 
in this distinguished edifice, with all the technicality of architectural pre­
cision, 'lfoulcl be tedious to the genernl reader; yet a brief outline may be 
equn.lly acceptable and useful. We will conduct the stranger therefore rotmd 
the :Minster before we pass the sacred threshold to survey the beauties of 
the interior. 

Tho J'Vestem or Principal Front, with its two grnccful towers, has a truly 
noble appearance. Human skill could scnredy have produced anything more 
complete in this Rtyle of architecture. This front is divided into three com­
partments by the buttrcss(•S which support the towers. These buttresses are 
richly enchascd with niches and canopies in relief, from their base to the very 

Jentsnlem, in which none necountetl tbosn things which be posscs..etl his own, but All 
things were common o.mon~ them."-Crnsy·B Hi~tnrr; of the Sa:roo ChurciJ. The tE'nn 
Mi118ler is still rcto.inl'll loy n few rhnrrht'S of l'lllinc·nct> for th<>ir splen~lid I>JlJlCRrtmrc 
nnd antiquity. 
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swnmit, where they terminate in angular heads under the comice of the 
towers, and are broken in height into four stories, gradually diminishing in 
breadth and projection as they rise. 

At this front there are three entrances, the central one of which is of 
elegant workmanship and curious design. It is divided by a pillar, composed 
of threo clu!ltered columns, with foliated capitals, into two doorways, crowned 
with pointed arches; the points of these arches bear a circular window, the 
tracery of which is formed of six trefoils in triangles ; and the whole is 
enclosed within a splendid recessed arch, composed of various mouldings 
relieved by hollows ; the mouldings being occupied by the most delicate 
sculptures of flowers, niche work, &c. In one of the mouldings of the arch 
are sixteen delicate and elegantly executed niches, ench containing a sculP' 
tured scene from the history of Adam and Eve. Ove1· the top of the great 
door, in a sitting posture, is a statue of Archbishop de Melton, the principal 
founder of this part of the church, who is represented with a model of the 
building in his hand; and in niches on each side of the tympanum are figures 
of Robert de Vavasour, holding a piece of rough unhewn stone in his hand; 
and William de Percy, holding the similitude of a piece of wrought timber, 
to commemorate their respective gifts of stone and timber for tl1e choir of the 
church. Above this doorway is a grand window of elegant design-an un· 
rivalled specimen of the leafy tracery which marks the style of the middle of 
the 14th century. It is divided by mullions into eight light.!!, and the head 
of the arch is filled with a beautiful arrangement of trefoils and other orna­
ments. Like the doorway tills window is covered with a pediment, and 
accompanied with niches. A cornice and pierced battlement then succeed, 
over which the elevation finishes in a low pediment, the raking cornice of 
which is ornamented ·with a graduated battlement, and on ilie apex is a 
handsome pinnacle. The whole of this front has niches, with pedestals for 
statuary, but whatever might have been ilie intention of the architects, it 
appears that they have never been occupied. In the front of one of tlle 
buttresses of the north tower, is a very large niche, on tlw pedestal of which 
are the remains of a person seated upon a horse or mule, wiili another figure 
minus the head and shoulders, standing a little behind. The upper part of 
the mounted figure is gone, but when perfect, the whole was probably a 
representation of the Flight into Egypt. On the corresponding buttress 

. of the south tower is a niche of the same size, having on its pedestal the 
remains of a man on horseback, with figures beneath the horse's feet. The 
whole of the upper part of the IUounted figure is also gone. Gent says that 
the subject in this niche, when perfect, was a representation of n knight 
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trampling envy, &c., under foot. There are similar niches in the other two 
buttresses of this front, but the niches are vacant. 

The towers, which are uniform, and of graceful elevation, and in ten 
several contractions, all cloistered for imagery, are four stories in height. 
The upper stories are more modem than the rest of the front, they having 
been built by John de Bermingham, who was treasurer of the church about 
the year 1432. The ground floors of the towers contain entrances to the 
church, and the three succeeding stories have windows, the general style of 
decoration assimilating with the central portion. The finish of the elevation 
of each tower is a pierced parapet, embattled and surmounted by eight 
crocketed pinnacles, four at the angles, and one situated in the centre of each 
side. The entrance to the church in the lower story of the towers, though of 
a subordinate character to the centre doorway, are still very fine, each having 
a handsome deeply recessed arch, supported by columns similar to the centre 
door. Two of the windows of each tower on every side are glazed, but the 
windows of the upper stories are filled with weather boarding. On the west 
side of the south tower, a little higher up than the leads, is an inscription 
having the appearance of Old English characters, representing the word, 
BER·MI:SG·HAM. At each end of the word, and between its divisions, are 
figures of chained eagles and bears. This is the memorial of tllC abov~ 
named treasurer, who rebuilt or finished this as well as the north tower. 

The dilapidations which time and fanatical zeal had inflicted on the 
statuary and the ornamental work of the west front were well restored by Mr. 
Taylor, sculptor, of York, in 1808, and the steps which grace the tlnee 
entrances were discovered and laid bare in 1828, whilst levelling the ground 
in front of the building. The stone of which the lower part of this front of the 
Cathedral is constructed, was brought from tlie quarries near Tadcaster; but 
that of the two towers was probably obtained from the quarries of Stapleton, 
near Pontefract; for among the archives of tlie Duchy of Lancaster, is a 
grant dated lith of July, 1400, to the Dean and Chapter toLe exempt from 
the payment of tolls and other customs on the river Aire, for stone to be 
carried to York Cathedral, for the new work&. 

Tlte Nave, which was commenced by Archbishop le Romayne, in 1291, is 
divided into seven parts by buttresses, and consists, as usual, of two stories, 
that is the centre has a clerestory, or a story rising above the side aisles. 
In every division of the aisle is a fine window of three lights, made by mul­
lions.* The clerestory has a window of the lights in each division, with 

• Mullions are th<' sCIIid 8pecies of masonry whi<'h dhirl<' the ~JlB<'e of 11 window into 
compartmentF. 
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generally a circle or wheel in the head of the arch, filled with quatrefoil 
tracery. The finish is an open battlement over a leaved cornice. The North 
side is finished in a plain style, and has no pinnacles over the buttresses. It 
was formerly blocked up by the Archbishop's palace, and tliis probably ac­
counts for the absence of elaborate ornament. The flying buttresses towards 
the clerestory were removed at au early period. The South side resembles 
the opposite side in its general character and decorations ; the buttresses are 
surmounted by lofty and elegant pinnacles, instead of the dwarf caps on the 
other side. In each is a niche, and in them are statues of Our Saviour, 
Archbishop St. William, and the four Evangelists. These pinnacles have 
been completely restored within the last twenty-five years. The whole of 
tl!e portions of the church already described, are, with trifling exceptions, in 
tl1e richest style of the 14th century. 

The South Tra,UJept is, with the exception of the crypt, the oldest portion of 
the church. The early date of this transept is evinced by the acutely-pointed 
arches, and slender pillars, with plain or slightly ornamented capitals, and 
its angular pediments. The chasteness of its ornamenti forms a strong con­
trast with the sumptuous grandeur of tlie nave. The whole front is divided 
by buttresses into three parts, corresponding with tl!e three internal aisles. 
These buttresses are ornamented by pointed arches of the lancet form, and 
surmounted by four octagonal turrets, of a later style of architecture. In the 
the central division is the principal porch or South Entrance of the Cathedral, 
approached by two spacious flights of steps, an unusual appendage to an 
ancient building. After the Reformation, we are told by Cooke, " some 
avaricious Dean leased out the ground for some space on each side of tl1ese 
steps, for building houses and shops on." These buildings, which " were of 
great discredit, as well as an annoyance to the fabric" continued, he tells us, 
"till tl!e worthy Dean Gale, amongst other particular benefactions, suffered 
tl!e leases to run out, pulled down tl!e houses, and cleaned this part of the 
church from tl!e scurf it had contracted by tl1e smoke proceeding from these 
dwellings."* 

The arch of entrance is pointed, and was altered about forty years ago; 
and an ancient clock, which stood over it, with two wooden statues in armour 
of the time of Henry VII., tl!at struck the quarters on two small bells, was 
removed at the same time, and the present handsome dial substituted. The 
second story has lancet windows; and tl!e third, which is crowned witl! a 
pediment, has a beautiful circular rose or wheel window, one of tl!e most 

• Cooke's Topographical Description of Yorkshire. 
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splendid of tho kind in England. It is sometimes called the marigold v.in­
dow, from its resemblance to that flower. It consists of three concentric 
circles, the smallest occupied with six sweeps; the second has twelve columns, 
sw1nounted by trefoil arches, disposed in the manner of the spokes of a wheel: 
and the third has twenty-four similar arches disposed in the same manner. 

Above this is a triangular window, and the apex is sunnounted by a small 
spire, commonly called the Fiddlcr"s turret, from a small effigy of a fiddler 
which crowns it. This effigy was removed from some other part of the build­
ing, and placed here. The aisles have lancet windows, and the general style 
of the decorations correspond with the centre. The west side of the south 
entrance is disfigured by a plain irregular building of two stories, now used 
as the Will O.flice of the diocese. The low buildings on the east of the same 
entrance are vestries and out offices of the church. They were formerly 
chantries, and one of them was known as Archbishop de la Zouche's Chapel, 
already noticed. It is much to be regretted in the many improvements which 
of late years have been made iu the immediate neighbourhood of the Minster, 
that these excrescences, which are of a different style of architecture, and at 
variance with the scope and design of the noble edifice, and which consequently 
deform it, have been allowed to continue. \Yere it not for these erections, 
the spectator would be presented with a clear and unbroken coup d'reil of the 
Cathedral, incomparable in magnificence and extent. 

The North Transept exhibits the finished neatness and plainness of the 
first period of the pointed style. The walls both of the aisle and doorway 
are finished with a block cornice, with enriched mouldings and plain parapet. 
The windows are narrow and acutely pointed, and buttresses are attached to 
the piers, having angular pedimental caps. The turrets at the angles seem 
unfinished as they are left without spires or pinnacles, and the point of the 
gable ends abruptly, without any decoration. The north front commences 
with a low blank arcade, or a series of arches with trefoil heads. Above the 
arcade is a fine window of five long single lancet lights; and higher up still 
is another of a like number of lights; both of unequal height. The west 
aisle has a double lancet window, which is finished with a raking cornice. 
The end of the eastern aisle is built against by the vestibule of the Chapter 
House. Some years ago this front was partially restored, and portions of it 
were considerably altered. 

The Choir is in the same style as the nave, though of a later period. On 
each side, about midway, is a projection above the side aisles, called the 
Little Transept, with a lofty window rising from the middle of the aisle to 
nearly the top of the choir, and also with windows oyer the side aisles. This 
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transept projects no further than the walls of the aisle. This transept has 
somewhat the appearance of a square tower, though not carried higher than 
the walls of the na'"e. At the angles are double buttresses, ending in pin· 
nacles, and in the flank walls above the aisles are windows to correspond 
with the others. The space between the great and little transept is in three 
divisions, with windows filled with tracery of an elegant but more regular 
design than the nave ; the buttresses are crowned with pinnacles, and the 
finish to the walls is similar to the nave. The four divisions eastward of 
this transept are uniform with those before described, except that the cleres­
tory windows are fronted with open screens of beautiful stone work, which 
gives them the appearance of unglazed windows. This feature is peculiar to 
this Cathedral in England, but it occurs in some of the continental churches. 
The great east window has a similar screen·work before it, towards the in­
terior. The cornice under the battlements is more perfect towards the 
eastern part, and exhibits beautiful foliage. The spouts are sculptured with 
bold projecting figures, through which the water is conveyed from the roofs. 

The Eastern Front, which is extremely beautiful, is divided by buttresses 
into three portions, answering to the nave and aisles. The buttresses are 
adorned with niches, pedestals, and canopies, formerly filled with statues, 
but, excepting three of them, now empty. The north and south buttresses 
are octagonal, and contain staircases. The great east window in the centre 
is of the most magnificent proportions, and unrivalled workmanship. Pugin 
considered it the finest window in the world. It is divided in breadth 
by mullions into nine divisions, which are made by transoms into three 
tiers of lights, and the head is occupied by three sub-arches, and a number 
of minute compartments. Over the lofty arch is a fine sweeping ogee 
moulding, with foliage canopy, remarkable for its fine curve and lofty 
termination. Above the canopy is some highly elaborate and beautiful 
tabernacle work, and in the centre is a square turret, with a crocketed finial. 
The aisles have windows of three lights of a corresponding character, and 
similar in finish to the centre. The statue in the niche, immediately over 
the point of the window, is supposed to represent Archbishop Thoresby, the 
builder of this part of the fabric. The figure, which is robed and seated, 
holds in its left hand the model of a church, and points to the window with 
its right. In the niches in the extreme angular buttresses, are statues of 
Vavasour and Percy, who bestowed the stone and timber for the building. 
The seventeen heads at the base of the great window represent Our Saviour 
(the centre one), the Twelve Apostles, and some of the ancient fathers of the 
church. The north and south aisles of the choir pretty much correspond, 

8 I 
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except that the ft·ont of the latter is disfigured by the aJJition of the before 
mentioned vestries. The south side of this choir is now being restored. 

The (heat Central or Lantem TQWer, rises from the intersection of the 
nave and transept, and surmounts the whole Cathedral- "This magnificent 
erection," writes Britton, "bears evident marks of the Tudor style. On 
each of its four sides are two large windows, with two tiers of mullions 
bounded on each side by compartmented buttresses. The battlements are 
richly perforated." Drake says that "tradition assures us it was meant 
to be carried much higher, by a spire of wood, covered with lead on the top 
of it; but the foundation was found too weak for such a superstructure," 
and recent discoveries have tended to strengthen this opinion. Great 
fault has been found with this tower, because it is not surmounted by 
pinnacles, as are the other parts of the Cathedral ; but this defect is in some 
sort compensated for by the massive appearance which the absence of pin­
nacles give it. The top is reached by a spiral staircase of 273 steps, and the 
labour of ascending is well repaid by the view that it affords of the country 
for many miles round. The highest point of this tower is 213 feet from the 
ground. It is 65 feet in breadth, and is said to be the most massive tower 
in England. In the year 161Hl, by order of the Duke of Buckingham, a 
turret of wood \Vas erected, covered with lead and glazed, on the top of this 
steeple. This was to put lights into upon occasion, to serve as a beacon to 
alarm the country, in case the Hollanders or French, with both which powers 
\Te were then at war, should attempt to land on our coasts. 

lNTERIOn.-On entering the Cathedral from the west end,* the vastness 
of its dimensions, the justness of its proportions, and the chasre simplicity 
and beauty of the arrangement, produce an intense impression of grandeur. 
Architecture perhaps never produced, nor can imagination easily concciYe a 
vista of greater sublimity and magnificence than that which is seen from this 
entrance. The spectator has before him a perspective of upwards of 500 feet, 
the continuity of the vaulting broken in a pleasing manner about the centre 
of the lantern tower. In contemplating this spacious nave, with its beautiful 
columns, and ceiling groined and ribbed, the beholder may fancy himself 
within a superb avenue of lofty trees, whose upper branches are elegantly in­
tertwined in an endless variety of complicated combinations. He views the 
grand design with increa9ing attention, and soon becomes imbued with other 
sentiments than those of mere admiration of the building, as a superb speci-

• The principal entrance to tho Cathedml is at the west front, but it is now used only 
at funemls, or the reception of an Archbishop, in solemn procession for enthronization; 
or in cases of visit.'! from royal or very distinguished personages. 
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men of the almost unlimited extent to which the exertions of human science 
may be carried. Wordly considerations are rapidly swept away to make room 
for ideas of greater solemnity. Another fine point of observation is beneath 
the central tower. Here may at once be seen the lengthened aisles and lofty 
columns; the statuary screen, which divides the nave and choir, and the 
several painted windows. To describe the effect which this grand scene must 
produce on the mind of the spectator, must unavoidably be to do it injustice. 
It must be experienced to be felt and understood, for he is now within the 
sacrad walls of one of those grand churches, which, as Wharton observes, are 
of wonderful mechanism, constructed on principles of inexplicable architecture, 
and posse118ing a tendency to impress the soul with sensations of awe and 
religious veneration. 

The elevation of the nave is in three heights or stories, as is usual in most 
Cathedrals. It is separated from the side aisles by long ranges of finely clus­
tered columns, of which the central shafts rise to the roof, and the others 
support a series of graceful arches in the Early Pointed style, chastely and 
appropriately enriched. The capitals are ornamented with leaves, and the 
mouldings of the arches, which form the first story of the elevation, and the 
other architectural details, though rather plain, have a most pleasing effect. 
The Triforium, or second story, consists of five lofty narrow trefoiled arches, 
with acute angular canopies, and an open screen runs in front of it. This 
division of the height of the nave is in a manner united with the third or 
clerestory. The latter contains a noble range of windows, divided by slender 
mullions into five lights, having in the crown of the arch a circular light, 
filled with quatrefoil tracery. Nearly every one of the clerestory windows 
have a considerable quantity of stained glass, principally shields of arms, &c. 
In the spandrils of the principal arches are shields, carved with various coats 
of arms in relief. Those on the Narth Side are the arms of the families of 
Vavasour, Th>os, Percy, Greystock, Latimer, Vere Earls of Oxford, Beau­
champ Earls of Warwick, Bohun Earls of Hereford, Aymer de Valence Earl 
of Pembroke, Cobham, Ulphus, and Ferrers. On the Sauth Side, Vavasour 
and Percy, \Varren Earls of Surrey, \Vake, Devereux, Reresby, De Mawley 
Lords of Doncaster, Clare Earls of Gloucester, Bek of Ercsby, Royal Arms 
of England, and those of a Prince of Wales. Each of the centre compart­
ments of every division of the second story formerly contained a statue, of 
which only five now remain. The most perfect is in the fifth division from 
the west, on the south side, which represents St. George; and on the opposite 
side is a large wooden dragon, which scrn'<l as a lever to lift the cover of 
the olrl font. 
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The vaulted ceiling is of wood, plainly groined; the bosses being carved 
with incidents in scriptural history, or device in relief. The present roof was 
erected in 1841, the whole of the previous one having been burnt in the dis­
astrous fire of 1840. Formerly the groins and knots were enriched with 
paints and gold. 

The Aisles are ornamented in a style equally splendid with the nave. 
They are lighted by an elegant range of windows, each of three lights, with 
quatrefoiled circles and tracery. Below t-.ach window are several upright 
compartments, divided by buttresses, ending in pinnacles. A triple cluster of 
columns, uniform with those of the main pillars, is attached to the piers 
between the windows, and these in part sustain the vaults, which are of stone, 
groincd with arches and cross springers. An arched doorway in the north aisle 
formerly led into the chapel of the Holy Sepulchre, or of St. Sepulchre, as 
it is commonly called, built by Archbishop Roger, and long since destroyed. 
Over this doorway are two shields, charged with the arms of Old France and 
England, and between these, on the point of the arch, is a mutilated statue 
of the Blessed Virgin and Divine Child, standing on a pedestal, but the upper 
part of the figures are now gone; and near this are two angels in alto relievo, 
the heads of which have disappeared. A little beyond this doorway is an 
altar tomb, which is attributed, but without foundation, to Archbishop Roger. 
The large doors of the central entrance are separated by a slender pier, 
adorned with a beautiful small niche and canopy ; over which is a circular 
compartment glazed and ornamented with tracery ; and on each side is an 
escutcheon of arms, one assigned to Edward II., and the other to the Saxon 
Prince Ulphus. On each side of this door are two series of niches resembling 
the stall work in the aisles, which, with the doorway, entirely fill up the 
cespa beneath the great west window. 

Two series of niches, with pedestals for statues and angular canopies, oc­
cupy the jambs of the window, and the rest of the wall below the vault is 
ornamented with upright panels ; so that every portion of the wall from the 
pavement to the ceiling is tastefully covered with ornament, and the side 
divisions which occupy the towers, partake of the same kind of sculptured 
work. Above tlle arches of the doorways are reliefs representing, on the 
north side, the subject of a fox chase ; and on the south, a combat between a 
knight and an uncouth looking animal. The relief in one of the quatrefoil 
panels on the latter door, represents Sampson tearing open the jaws of a lion, 
whilst the faithless Delilah behind him is cutting off his hair. The relief 
which accompanies it, as well o.s the reliefs in the quatrefoils of tlle north 
(loor, are unintelligible. The towers are cut off from view hy plain floors of 
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wood. The Pavement is a mosaic pattern on the grandest scale, but as has 
already been observed, it is utterly at variance with the architecture of the 
church. The old pavement, which was removed in 1736, was marked with 
circles supposed to point out the stations of the dignitaries of the church in 
the ancient processions. 

Th4 Tramept, which is also in the early pointed style of architecture, con­
sists of three aisles; the nave or largest aisle, in common with the rest of 
the church, shows three stories in elevation. The first consists of large 
pointed arches, springing from piers set about with numerous clustered 
columns. The second story shows a large circular arch, divided into two 
others, which in like manner are subdivided into smaller ones; and the 
clerestory consists of an arcade of acutely pointed arches of equal height, 
three in each division being pierced to admit light. The south transept is 
three lays or arches in length from the centre tower, and it is remarkable 
that the columns and arches exhibit different styles of proportion and orna­
ment. The two bays nearest the tower are filled up with masonry, as a 
support to the piers of that massive structure. The present vaulted and 
groined ceiling is of wood, and is ornamented with a greater profusion of in­
tersections and bosses than the nave. The ceiling was originally much 
lower, but when the arch which supports the great tower. was erected, it was 
necessary to raise the ceiling of the transepts to a corresponding height. 
The aisles have lancet windows without tracery, in pairs, the dados being 
ornamented with trefoil arches in blank. The vaulted roof of stone resembles 
that in the aisles of the great nave. The interior of the south front is pecu­
liarly grand. The large circular window at the top, and the three middle 
windows are very fine. The north arm of the transept is more regular and 
well finished than the south. Its principal feature is the elevation of the 
north end, which contains the window of five lancet lights called the Five 
Sisters, from a tradition that the patterns of the several divisions were wrought 
in tapestry by five sister nuns, and presented to the church. When viewed 
from the south end the effect of this window is only inferior to that of the great 
east window. One of the plain windows at the end of the west aisle was 
that through which the fanatic lunatic Jonathan Martin made his escape, 
after firing the choir in 1829. The door through the eastern wall, at present 
opening into the yard, is supposed to have formerly communicated with a 
Chapter House older than the present one. The east aisle of this transept 
was formerly a chapel dedicated to St. Nicholas, founded by Richard de 
Chester, Canon of the Church in 1346. The baptismal font stands at the 
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end of the westem aisle of the south arm of the transept. It is a large circular 
basin of dark shell marble, not remarkable for any curious workmanship. 

The Central Tower is supported by four massive piers, surmounted by 
smaller columns. }'rom these piers spring four elegantly pointed arches, 
nearly 100 feet high, above which is a gallery in design closely resembling 
the stall work in the aisles of the nave; and this is surmounted by eight 
lofty windows, two in each wall, measuring 45 feet in length. The groined 
ceiling of wood, which is 180 feet from the ground, assimilates with the nave. 
the centro boss containing small statues of St. Peter and St. Paul, with a 
church between them; and on four knots round about arc cherubims with their 
wings, as mentioned in one of Ezekiel's visions, having on them the face of a 
man, a lion, an ox, and an eagle. In the spandrils of the beautiful arches of 
this tower are shields, charged as follo\VB :-On the cast the Pallium, the papal 
insignia of Archiepiscopal authority, and the arms of St. Wilfrid; on the north 
the arms assigned to the Saxon Kings Bdwin and Edmund the Martyr; on 
tl1e south the peculiar arms of the Sec, and those of Walter Skirlo:w, the 
great benefactor of this part of the building; and on the west those of Edward 
the Confessor, with the arms of England emblazoned in such a manner as 
to prove that the tower was not completed till the reign of Henry V. or 
Henry VI., who were the first that altered the old French bearing. Nothing 
finer than the. interior of the lantern can be imagined ; the ·windows are of a 
size sufficient to fill the whole interior with a brilliant light, and, it may be 
added, that the immense height of the vaulting fills the mind with a feeling 
of vastness not easily forgotten. The tower forms a magnificent vestibule 
to the choir. 

The StotuJ Organ Screen, which stands between the two easternmost piers 
of the tower, and divides the nave from the choir, is a curious and elaborate 
piece of workmanship, the history of which is not precisely known. The 
doorway in the screen, which is the entrance to the choir, and which is not 
exactly in the centre, is a pointed arch, the jambs having attached columns 
with leaved capitals, with an ogee canopy terminated with a crocketed finial. 
In this doorway is an iron gate of curious design. There are also corres­
ponding gates at the entrances to the side aisles of the choir. These gates 
were formerly of wood. The westcm face, or exterior of the screen, is com­
posed of fifteen compartments, containing a series of richly canopied niches, 
in which are placed on elegant pedestals the statues of the Kings of England, 
ranged in chronological order, from William tho Conqueror to Henry VI., in 
their ancient regal costume. The name of each statue is inscrikd ou its 
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pedestu.l in Lat.W. Above the niches are narrow shrines richly canopied, and 
containing two rows of small but elegant full length winged figures, repre­
senting the angelic choir ; and above the rich tabernacle work is a row of 
demi-angels. This screen is gorgeous in the extreme, the bands of delicate 
tracery with which it is adorned are most elaborately sculptured. It would 
seem that the artist was determined to charge every part with ornament, 
and to exert the fullest latitude of fancy in giving variety and intricacy to 
its complicated members. 

The statues of the Kings are nearly of the natural size. There are seven 
figures on the north side and eight on the south side, viz. :-North Side­
William 1., William II., Henry I., Stephen, Henry II., Richard 1., and 
John. South Side-Henry III., Edward 1., Edward II., Edward III., 
Richard II., Henry IV., Heury V., and Henry VI. The niche filled by the 
statue of Henry VI. was long occupied by one of James I. Tradition reports 
that this niche was originally filled by a statue of " that weak, but reputedly 
pious monarch," Henry 'VI., and that it was taken down to "prevent the 
stupid adoration of the lower ranks of the people," who commiserated the 
misfortunes of that ill-fated King to a very great extent. " But it is more 
probable,". writes Mr. Baines, "that it was his successor Edward IV., who, 
being the sun of the political firmament, became the object of adorati<m, a.nd 
that to him the homage of courtly devotion was offered by removing the 
statue of his rival. For some ages,'' the same writer continues, "the place 
remained unoccupied, but on the visit of James I. to York, be was compli­
mented by being placed in the empty cell."* Dr. Milner conjectures that 
this screen was taken from the church of St. Mary's Abbey in this city; that 
it lay at the Manor Palace for many years, that King James I. presented it 
to the Cathedral, and that in compliment to him the Dean and Chapter 
placed his statue in the vacant niche. The statue of James has been trans­
ferred to Ripon Minster, and the present well executed figure of Henry VI. 
the work of Mr. Michael Taylor, a native artist, was set up during the 
present century. From the statue of this monarch having been the last of 
the series, it has been inferred that the screen was executed towards the end 
of his reign. Many of the smaller parts of the screen have been restored by 
Bernasconi. Above this screen, and occupying the site of the ancient rood, 
is the organ. After the fire in 1820, it was proposed to place the organ and 
screen further eastward, so as to bring· more into sight the magnificent pillars 
that support the central tower, but so much opposition was made to it, that 
the plan was abandoned. 

• Onzctteer of Yorkshire, vol. ii., p. :39. 
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TM Clwir.-It would be difficult to imagine anything more solemn, beau­
tiful, or gorgeous than this division of the church, with its immense east 
window, elegant altar screen, pulpit throne, and tabernacle carvings over the 
stalls, when viewed from the archway under the organ. The architecture of 
the choir is more ornamental in its character than that of the nave, although 
the general style of the decoration is similar. The roof, which is wood, is 
loftier, and more intricately groined, and the bosses are more numerous, than 
the nave, and an elegant kind of festoon work descends from the capitals of 
the pillars, from which the vaulting springs. The side elevation of the great 
or central aisle of this portion, like the other parts of the edifice, is made into 
three stories. The principal arcade differs but little from the nave ; and the 
intervals between the arches are embellished with shields of armorial bearings. 
The openings of the triforium, or gallery story, consists of a series of five 
cinquefoiled arches, with canopies and crocketed finials, divided in the centre 
by horizontal transoms; and a stone rail in front forms a protection to the 
persons who may be stationed there. In the clerestory is a beautiful range 
of windows of five lights, with cinquefoiled heads, having the crown of the 
arch enriched with elegant tracery. The walls of the aisles of the choir are 
panelled, and are enriched with tracery corresponding with the character 
of the windows. The windows of the aisles have three lights, with per­
pendicular divisions in the heads of the arches, but the design is far less 
elegant than the nave. The same simple stone roof, which covers the aisles 
of the nave, is used in these aisles. The introduction of the smaller transept 
does not break the continuity of the great arcade, but the only part in which 
it enters into the design, is at the clerestory; the window, with its gallery, 
being omitted, and a panelled breast-work placed on the cornice over the 
point of the arch, thus allowing a view of the lofty window and handsome 
groined ceiling of this singular appendage to be obtained from the choir. 
The effect of this transept, when viewed from near the pulpit, is remarkably 
beautiful. The shields of arms in the choir are as follows :-South Silk, 
Cross of St. George, Edward the Confessor, the Saxon monarchs Edwin and 
Oswald, Mortimer, Ulphus, Percy; the same quartering Lucy, Scrope, Skir­
law, Roos, Neville Earls of Westmorland, City of York, Montague Earls of 
Salisbury, Beauchamp Earls of Warwick, Lacy, Royal Arms of England, 
anterior to Henry V. North Side, Vavasour, Neville, Danby or Fitzhugh, 
St. William, badges of the See of St. Wilfrid, Emblems of the Passion of our 
Lord, Greystock, Latimer, Clifford Earls of Cumberland, Bohun Earls of 
Hereford, Royal Arms of England, a Prince of Wales, Longespee Earls of 
Salisbury. Little Transept, South, Dacre, Beauchamp, Percy, and Vava­
sour; North, Clifford, Latimer, Danby, Pollington, Neville, and Scrope. 
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Behind the present nltar or communion table, to which is an ascent of 
fifteen steps, is a beautiful stone screen, of Gothic architecture, divided into 
eight uniform compartments by slender panelled buttresses, terminated with 
crocketed pinnacles. Each compartment contains in the lower division a 
triple shrine of niches, and in the upper an open arch, separated by slender 
mullions into three divisions, surmounted by a square head, of which the 
spandrils are pierced in quatrefoil circles ; and above these is a delicate open 
embattled parapet. The intervals of this exquisitely wrought screen have 
been filled with plate glass, affording a view of the eastern portion of the 
choir, and of the superb east window. This screen, which is forty-nine feet 
in length, and twenty-eight feet high, is one of the most beautiful specimens 
of pierced stone work in England. Before the Reformation the high altar 
stood one arch further westward, and immediately behind it was a large 
wooden screen, handsomely painted and gilded, which obscured the present 
stone erection, and obstructed the view of a great part of the fine east window 
from the choir. At each end of this screen was a door, which opened into a 
small room behind the altar, called the sanctum sanctorum, in which, anciently, 
the Archbishop used to robe at the time of his enthronization, and from 
thence proceed to the high nltar, where he was invested with the pallium ; 
and above it was a gallery, with desks in the form of battlements, for the 
musicians required in the celebration of the gorgeous services of the Catholic 
Church. In 1726 this wooden screen was pulled down; the altar carried 
back to where it now stands; and in 1760 a piece of tapestry was removed 
which hung before the present screen. By these alterations a view of one 
of the noblest lights in the world has been opened, and this magnificent 
stone screen--esteemed by the curious one of the greatest beauties of the 
church-brought into view. The nltar railing is also of cut stone. 

The space between the altar screen and the eastern end of the church was 
formerly a chapel, dedicated to God, in honour of the Blessed Virgin, and 
commonly called the Ladye ChapeUe. This was the most remarkable of the 
many chapels which were in this church. It was founded by Archbishop 
Thoresby, who, according to Stubbs, "as a true respecter of the Virgin 
Mother of God, adorned it with wonderful sculpture and painting." At the 
Reformation the works of art in this chapel were torn to pieces and destroyed. 
Mr. Ralph Thoresby, the northern antiquary, had a large piece of carved 
work, which, in his Duct~tus Leodiemis, he tells us, was discovered in the 
beginning of the last century, "between two walls, in a private house, in the 
neighbourhood of the Minster, and sold by parcels to statuaries and others 
for common use." Thorcsby, SUI)posing that piece of statuary work to have 

3 K 
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belonged to the Ladye Chapel, preserved it as a great curiosity, and ns a tribute 
of respect to the memory of the Archbishop, his ancestor; and his regret for 
the destruction of this curious chapel, makes him break out in the words of 
the Psalmist, "A man was famous as he had lifted up axes upon the thick 
tree, but now they break down the carved work thereof with axes and ham­
mers." In 1835 were found buried on the premises of the late :Mr. Swineard, 
surgeon, in Precentor's Court, near the western front of the Cathedral, a 
beautiful piece of carved stone work, which is now in the Yorkshire .Museum, 
and which the learned Curator of Antiquities says, is most probably another 
portion of the carved work of which Mr. Thoresby speaks. "But the style 
and character of these remains," he adds, " are clearly of a later age thQll 
that of Archbishop Thoresby. They appear to have belonged to a magnifi­
cent shrine ; and such a shrine may have been erected behind the high altar 
in what is usually denominated the Lady Chapel; and it may have been one 
of those which Henry VIII., during his visit to York in the year 1541, 
ordered to be taken down.* Wherever it may have been placed, and when­
ever removed, large portions of it appear to have been collected, and carefully 
concealed in his private residence by some one, who hoped the time would 
come when it might be set up again in its original beauty in its proper place."t 

Another portion of one of the niches of this shrine, which had been long 
affixed to the north-east side of the exterior of Clifford's Tower, hn.s been re­
cently removed to the Museum; as well as a part of the ornamental work of 
the same shrine, which had b{,>ell placed several years ago in the garden of 
the late Robert Driffield, Esq., on the Mount without Micklegate Bar; and 
smaller fragments of this beautiful work may be seen inserted as ornaments 
in the walls of several houses in York. 

The Lady Chapel is now chiefly remarkable for the number of monuments 
it contains. The north side of it was formerly another chapel, dedicated in 
honour of St. Stephen ; and on its south side was the chapel of AU Saints. 
In Dodsworth's Collections, printed in Stephen's additional volumes to the 
~[ouasticon; and in Torre's Manuscripts will be found a catalogue of the nu­
merous chantries of this church, with the names of their founders, original 
endowments, annual value, &c. 

The elaborate design of the great East Window is strengthened internally 
by a series of mullions placed at a short distance from, and exactly agreeing 
with those which contain the glazing. Tlus is peculiar to the present 

• Sec Mr. Hunter's "Account of King Henry the Eighth's Progress in Yorkshire.• 
Published in Memoirs illustrative of the Antiq. of York by the ArehlllOl. Institute. 

t Descriptive Account of the Antiquities in the Grounds of the Museum. 
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church. Upon the second transom runs a gallery, fronted by a parapet, 
pierced with upright cinquefoil divisions, and from which an excellent view 
of the whole interior of the church may be obtained. The dados of this win­
dow, as well as of those at the extremities of the aisles are richly panelled, 
and the jambs ornamented with niches. The pavement of the choir, in­
cluding the Lady Chapel, is beautifully relaid in mosaic. 

The furniture of the choir is of the most magnificent description. The 
design of the oak pews and ornaments is very nearly a counterpart of those 
destroyed in 1829. The prebendal stalls, which range on both sides as far 
as the throne and the pulpit, are twenty in number, and there are sL-< on each 
side of the entrance under the organ. These stalls arc of oak, richly carved, 
and surmounted with canopies of tabernacle work. The names of many of 
the prebends to which they belong, are placed over them in carved oak letters. 
The seats or misereres are curiously carved. The Dean occupies the first stall 
on the right, the Precentor the first on the left. The desks below the stalls 
for the vicars choral and choristers, are panelled in unison with the upper 
works. At the east end of the stalls are the Cathedra, or Archbishop's 
throne, and the pulpit, opposite to each other, both elaborately ornamented. 
In the middle of the choir is a reading desk, inclosed with tabernacle work ; 
and on the north side is a brazen eagle, from which the lessons are read. 
This eagle, which was presented by Dr. Cracroft in 1686, was saved with 
some difficulty from the fire in 1829. 

The Organ is a conspicuous object on the top of the stone screen in nearly 
the centre of the Cathedral. In 1632 King Charles I. levied a fine of £1,000. 
upon Edward Paylor, Esq. (for some offence committed by that gentleman), 
and granted it to the Dean and Chapter for various purposes, one of which 
was the procuring of a new organ. A contract was accordingly entered into 
with Robert Dallam, of London, "Blacksmith," for a complete organ, which 
cost £610. By the King's desire, this organ was placed on the north side 
of the choir, nearly opposite the Archbishop's throne, so that it may not im­
pede the full view of the entire Cathedral ; but it was afterwards placed over 
the stone screen by Archbishop Lamplugh, at the expense of the Earl of 
Strafford. This instrument was destroyed by the fire in 1829. 

The present magnificent organ, which is unquestionably the largest anti 
most powerful instrument of the kind in the world, as we have already said, 
was presented by the Right Ron. and Rev. J. L. Saville, Earl of Scarborough. 
Its specification was composed by Dr. Camidge, of York, the present or­
ganist, and it was built by Messrs. Elliott and Hill, of London, in 1837, and. 
has since been considerably enlarged. 
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The exterior of the former instrument was different in form from the 
present, and was decorated with gilded pipes and figures. The pipes of the 
present organ arc bronzed, and the case is of oal\, simply carved. Some of 
the large pipes stand at the rntrance to the south aisle of the choir. During 
the restoration of the great nave of the church, after the llrr of HUO, a wall 
of brick was erected between the three aisles of the nave and the rest of the 
church; and by this contrivance the noise made by the workmen did not at 
all interft•re with the usual service in the choir. 

Beneath the altar is an ancient mult or C111Pf, belonging to the old choir 
built by Archbishop Hoger. Its original extent cannot be ascertained, as 
the present portion of it is bounded hy the comparatively modem work of the 
choir, and the sweep of the arches eastward is cut off by the solid work of 
the foundation of the altar screen. It is nearly square, and is divided into 
four aisles from east to west, each consisting of three arches, supported by 
six cylindrical columns :Jt feet in length. Although the general character 
of this portion of the crypt is Xorman, yet it is so strangdy minglrd with 
architecture of a more modern unit', that, taken as a wholr, it may perhaps 
be viewed as the workmanship of the 11th or 12th century. The columns 
which support the groined arches appear to have been preserved from an 
older buihling, and put together with little care, as the bases al'' too large 
for the shafts, and in one instance n reversed capital is applied ns a base. 
Some suppose that these columns formed a portion of the church built in the 
8th century, by St. \:Vilfrid, nnd were thus confusedly applied in the rc· 
building the etlificc after its destruction in lOU\1. The capitals of the pillars 
nrc nll octagonal, five of them being of !<ingnlar beauty of dcsir,rn. Professor 
Willis declares the crypt to be n mere piece of patch work, made during the 
fitting up of the choir in the l -Ith century, out of the old materials, to sup· 
port a platform for the altar, and provide chapels and altar room beneath it. 
The pavement is composed of glazed tiles, coloured altemately blue and yel· 
low, and of very ancient date. It is rccor,lcd that before the lleformation 
there were seven altars o1· chantrics in this crypt, and the remains of thn'<· 
of them arc still visible. One of the,:;e was designated the chantry at the 
alta1· of St. :'\Iary in crypti.~. In the crypt is a lnmtory like that at Lincoln, 
but its base is quite plain; it has a hole in the centre for a pipe, and the 
drain is covered Ly a figure like a monkey crouching owr its cub. Iu ou,, 
of the western arches near the lavatory is a deep draw \vdl. 

\Vhilst tho workmen \H're ungage.l in taking up the. broken floor of the 
choir after tho di~astrous fire of lR~~I, tlwy came in contnet with tho top of 
a massi,·r pillar. This kd tn a fnrllH'r inv• · '-t i ~ntion, anrl n st'areh w11s m11dc 
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the whole length of the choir, when the remains of the Saxon edifice built 
by Edwin or Oswald, and the Korman choirs erected by Archbishops Thomas 
and Hoger, were discovered. This excavation extc-lllls from the western wall 
of the crypt, under the choir, as far as the two great columns which sup­
ported the lnntem tower, and the interesting remains of the ancient church 
have been arched over, and are open to the inspection of the curious. On 
entering the series. of vaults which lead westward from the crypt, nrc seen 
six beautiful pillars of the Norman church (three on each side) 7 feet long 
and 6 feet in diameter. The capitals of some of these pillars nrc curiously 
sculptured, and from them spring the mouldings of a groined multing. In 
the intermediate space between each pair of these columns arc the bases of 
two smaller ones ; and on the north side is an aisle, at the west end of 
which is a very beautiful twisted column, of delicate workmanship. The 
outer part of the church may still be soon, the buttresses and walls being in 
a state of beautiful preservation. Amongst these ruins of tho Norman 
church is an ancient tomb covered with a huge slab. An ascent on the 
westward leads into the Saxon edifice, where we have a fine specimen of the 
architecture of that period, considered equal to auy in England. It consists 
of a portion of the walls of the church. These walls, which arc composed of 
limestone and sandstone, are nearly six feet in thicknes:;, and the stones nrc 
laid in the herring bone manner, forming course~ eight inches thick. 

The three extraneous chapels already referred to are entered from the 
south aisle of the choir. These buildings, originally built for chantry chapels, 
were begun by Archbishop de la Zouch, to whom a licence was grnnteLl for 
that purpose, by the Dc•an and Chapter, on the Uth of June, 1352. One of 
these chapels is now used as a Vestry; another, since the year 18.10, has 
been used as the Record O.tfice of the Dean mal Chapter; nnd the third is 
the room in which the Eccl{•siastical Court is held. In the one usecl as the 
Record Office is a well, called St. Peter's Wdl, and clwmists attribute the 
excellence of the water to the small portions of lime~ tone, washed into it by 
the rain, from the walls of the edifice. 

One of these chapel:; was formerly used as a Treasury, and in it were kept 
all the rent.'!, reYenues, grants, aud charters, with the common seal belonging 
to the church; and a particular olficer was appointed to inspect and take 
care of them. In the large inventory •:: of the riches belonging to this 

• Thi~ inventory is b-iven in Dugdale's .llona.~ticon, nnd from it wo learn thnt nmongst 
the costly furniture, plate, &c., were mnny choliccs of gold, and of sihcr, gilt nod pluin; 
soveml cups, boxes, consorn, crewit~. stilts, pnxcq, ampules, pcctor~us, crucifixc,, ehris. 
mn((>Tics, can<Uestick~, ~c., nf gnltl tu1d ~ih!'r. Copr' nf ~loth of ~nl•l uml Ych·Pt, somr 
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Cathedral, taken in the reign of Edward VI., is an account of the money 
then in St. Peter's Chest, which was soon after seized upon, and the trea­
surer's office dissolved; for a very good reason, says Mr. Willis, "when all 
the treasure was swept away, the office of treasurer ceased of course." 

Relics.-In the vestry several antique relics are deposited, the most curious 
and remarkable of which is the Horn of Ulphus, given with all his property 
to the Church of St. Peter of York. Ulphus, son of TQ.r&.ldus, was a Saxon 
Prince of Deira, who bequeathed to the Cathedral all his property, to be 
held by the evidence of this hom. Camden states the occasion and form of 
the bequest, as an instance of a singular mode of endowment formerly used; 
and Dugdale relates respecting it, that " Ulphe, son of Thorald, who ruled 
in the west of Deira, by reason of the difference which was likely to rise 
between his sons, about the sharing of his lands and lordships after his 
death, resolved to make them all alike, and thereupon coming to York 
with that hom which he used to drink, filled it with wine, and before the 
altar of God and Saint Peter, Prince of the Apostles, kneeling, devoutly 
drank the wine, and by that ceremony enfeoffed this church with all his 
lands and revenues," Several lands, part of this donation, and situated 
on the east side of York, are still held by the church, and are called de 
Terra Ulphi.* As a relic of Sa.~on art this hom is very valuable; it is 
made of an elephant's tusk, is 20 inches in length, curiously carved and 
polished, and was originally ornamented with gold and mounting. It is 
said that after the surrender of York to the Parliamentarian army, in 1644, 
the hom was taken from the Minster and denuded of its golden appen­
dages, but it was probably stolen from the church at the period of the 
Reformation. It is evident from Camden's remarks, that the hom was not 
there when be wrote in 1607. "I was informed," says be, "that this great 
curiosity was kept in the church till the last age." It somehow came into 
the possession of Thomas Lord Fairfax, and his successor Henry Lord 
Fairfax restored it to the Cathedral. The Dean and Chapter redecorated it 

embroidered, others set with pearl. Several mitres, the best of which contained 62 
pointed diamonds, ul snpphires, and 32 great pearls. Among the relics are specified 
some bones of St. Peter; part of the hair of St. William; the arm of St. Wilfrid; two 
thorns of the crown of Our Saviour; a tooth of St. Appollonia; part of the bmin of St. 
Stephen; and a cloth stained with the blood of Archbishop Scrope. 

• In ancient times there are several instances of estates that were pnssed without any 
writings at all, by the lord's delivery of such pledges os a sword, a helmet, a hom, a cup, 
a bow or arrow. Ingulphus tells us that such grants were made "merely by word of 
mouth, without any writing or paper, only by the lord's dE>Ih·ery of a sword, helmet 
or horn.'' 
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with brass instead of gold, and caused a Latin inscription to be P-ngraved 
upon it, which may be thus translated :-" This horn, Ulphus, Prince of the 
Western parts of Deira, originally gave to the Church of St. Peter, together 
with all his lands and revenues. Henry Lord Fairfax at last restored it, 
when it had been lost or conveyed away. The Dean and Chapter decorated 
it anew, A.D. 1675." A sculptured bass relief of this interesting hom may 
be seen above the arches of the choir and nave, in a line with various shields 
commemorative of the different benefactors of the Cathedral. 

A curious cup or bowl is also in the vestry, called Archbislt,Qp Scrope's 
Indulgence Cup. This elegant cup stands on three feet, and is ornamented 
inside with the arms of the Cordwainer's Company; the rim, which is edged 
round with silver gilt, has the following inscription :-

"Rieharde arche beschope Serope grant unto all tho that drinkis of 
this cope XLti dayes to pardon. 

Robert Gobson besehope mesm grant in same form aforesaid XLti 
dayes to pardon. Robert Strensall. 

"Popular tradition has usually stated," says the editor of York and ita 
Enmrom, "thl\t this cup was presented by Scrope to the Cordwainers' 
Company, but recent investigation has proved this to be erroneous, and it is 
now pretty much proved to have been originally given to the York guild of 
Corpus Christi; a Corporation which distinguished itself for the sumptuous 
manner in which the incorporated trades and crafts of the city celebrated the 
religious festival of Corpus Christi, by the exhibition of pageants and miracle 
plays, which every year attracted many persons of rank and importance to 
witness their representation. Mter the dissolution of the guild, this cup 
passed into other hands, but when it came into the possession of the Cord­
wainers' Company is unknown. On the dissolution of this company in 
1808, it was presented by Mr. Hornby (the last master of the company) 
to the Cathedral." 

A large silver crosier, or pastoral staff, is also kept in the vestry, and ex­
hibited to visitors. This crosier was given by Catherine of Portugal, Queen 
Dowager of Charles II. of England, to Cardinal Smith, her Confessor, 
when he was nominated to the See of York, by James II., in 1687. It is 
recorded that as Smith was going to the Cathedral, in procession from the 
Catholic chapel established by James in the Manor Palace, Lord Danby 
(afterwards Duke of Leeds) wrested the crosier from him, and afterwards 
presented it to the Dean and Chapter. It is 6i feet in length, weighs 13lbs., 
and under the bend of the crook are figures of the Blessed Virgin and In-
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fnnt Saviour, as well as the anus of Portugal on mw sitlt·, und those of Smith, 
with a mitre and crosier sunnouuted by a Cardinal's hat, on the other. 

Whilst taking up the old pavement in 1736, the pastoral ring of Arch­
bishop Sewel, who died in 125t;, was found, consisting of a plain ruby set in 
gold ; Archbishop Grernlirld's, who dit·cl in 13Hi, a ruby set in gold; and 
also that of Archbishop Bowet, who died in U23. The latter is a com· 
position set in gold, bearing the motto, "Honor ct .Joy." These rings, 
together with three silver chalices, also found in the graves of these pre· 
latcs, arc deposited in the vestry, as well as an antique wooden head, found 
on opening th<' grave of Archbishop Hothcrh:.un, who died of the plague in 
1ii00. As the body of this prelate was immcdiatdy interred without cere­
mony, it is probable that Rt his funeral, which took place when the pestilence 
was abated, a wooden effigy, of which this hend is a part, was substituted for 
the real corpse. There is also preserved the old copy of the Bible with its 
ehnin, that was fonncrly attached to a low desk near the door in the south 
aisle of the choir, opcuing iuto the Minster Yard. 

An anti•1ue chair, said to be coeval with the Cathedral, and in which 
several of the Saxon Kiugs were crowned, and which was used at the corona· 
tion of Edwanl IV. null James 1., is now placed within the communion rails. 

THE WI~Dows of the Cathedral arc richly adorned with the representa· 
tiona of scriptural history, saints, kings, legends, shields, &c., in painted 
glass.* .About one hundred of them are embellished with ancient devices, 
whilst only six are of modem date. It is rather remarkable that though the 
choir was so neRr being consumed in the fire of 182\l, none of the painted 
glass Wii.S materially impaired ; and with the exception of the damage to the 
windows at the extreme west end of the aisles of the nave, the same rerotll'k 
may be applied to that part of the building with reference to the fire of 1840. 

The magnificent East Wind{)rr•, the greatest light in the Minster, and 
which for masonry and ancient glazing is unequalled, consists of nine lights, 
and occupies almost the whole of the east end of the choir. The height of 
this great window is 75 feet; it is 32 feet in breadth; and is embellished 
with nearly 200 subjects from sacred history. "This window," says Drake. 
"may be justly called the wonder of the world, both for masonry and glazing. 
It is near the breadth and height of the middle choir. The upper part is an 
admirable piece of tracery, below which are 117 partitions, representin~ 50 

much of Holy Writ, that it almost takes in the whole history of the B1ble. 
This window was begun to be glazed at the charge of the Dean and Chapter 

• Glass windowg were not usc<l in England before the yciU' 675. The frames wlll'l 

usually fllle(l with lattice work or fino linen cloth.-Turn. Ang. Sax., vol. ii., P· 416. 
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in 1405, who had contracted with John Thornton, of Coventry, glazier, to 
execute it." (Sec page 418.) "We may suppose this man," he continues, 
' 1 to have been the best artist in his time for this kind of work, by their 
sending so far for him ; and indeed the window shews it." 

"The east window surpasses all that the pen can describe, or pencil pour· 
tray," writes Allen, "if we consider it in the whole, as to extent, ingenuity 
of design, or richness of execution." Each pane of glass is about a yard 
square ; the figures in general are about 2ft. 2in. to 2ft. 4in. high, and the 
heads are most beautifully drawn. The following is a detailed description of 
this window:-

The top contains a representation of Our Saviour in Heavenly Glory sur· 
rounded by angels, prophets, patriarchs, apostles, confessors, and martyrs. 
Between this and the gallery are three partitions, with designs from the Old 
Testament, as follows:-

Fint Partitioft.-The 1st compartment in this partition represents God creating the 
world, with the fallen angels beneath. 2.-The spirit or God dividing tho waters. 3.­
The herbs or the field. 4.-Light aDd darkness. ( Thu and the precednat ptlfM 1etm to 
1lcaH burl trarupo~etl.) 6.-Birds and fishes. 6.-Beaats and creeping things, with 
the creation or man. 7.-God with his race like the lltUl in glory, sitting in the middle 
of his Creation, seeing every thing was good. 8.-Adam and Eve eating the forbidden 
tiuit in Paradise ; the serpent represented with its head like a beautiful woman. D.­
An angel driving them out of Paradise. 

&corul Pamticm.-1.--cain killing his brother Abel. 2.-Noah in his Ark. 3.­
Noe.h drunk, aDd his three eons. 4.-Building of Babel. 6.-Melohizedek blessing 
Abram. 6.-Isaac blessing Jaoob. 7.-Meeting of Jaoob and Esau. 8.-Moses aDd 
Aaron joining hand in hand. D.-Jacob's sons shewing him Joseph's bloody coat. 

Third Partitioft.-1.-Moses found by Pharoah·s daughter. 2.-0od out of the bush 
calling Moses. 3.-Moees and Aaron before Pharoah ; the Rod turned into a serpent. 
4.--Pharoah and his host drowned in the Red Sea. 6.-Moses receiving the law on 
Mount Sinai. 6.-Moaes rearing up the brazllll serpent in the wildemeas. 7.-Sampaon 
pulling down the house of Dagon on himself aDd the Philistines. 8.-David killing 
Goliah with a sling. 9.--Joab killing Absalom hanging on the tree. 

Of the ten partitions below the gallery, nine contain the principal subjects 
in the Book of Revelations, and the last one is occupied with representations 
of different ecclesiastics, kings, &c., whose names are connected with the early 
history of the church in this part of Britain. They are as follows :-

Fim Partitioft.-1, 2, and 3.-St. John in the caldron of oil, banished by the Em­
peror Domitian, and sailing to the island of Patmos. 4.-An angel coming unto St. 
John, as at his devotion. 6.-The Son of Man amidst the seven candlesticks. 6.-The 
Seven Churches of Asia. 7, 8, and 9.-The Elders worshipping God on the throne. 

Second Partitioft.-1.-Angel sounding a trumpet. 2.-The Lion of the Tribe of 
Judah. 3.-The Lamb, the Four Beasts, and Elders. 4.-A Multitude following tho 

3 L 
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Lamb. 6.-The Lamb opening flrst seal, the white horse and its rider with a bow. 6.­
Lamb opening the second seal, the red horse and its rider. 7.-The fourth seal opened. 
the pale horse and death. 8.-The sixth seal opened, sun, moon, &e. 9.-The third 
seal opened; the black horse, its rider, having a balance. (But thue, aueveral otherl, 
luJve been milplaced Iince the reatoration of the toindotc1 by General Fairfu.) 

Third Partition.-I.-Angels holding the four winds, and another ascending. 1, 2, 3, 
4, 6, 6.-Angels and Elders about the throne. 7.-0pening the seventh seal. 8.--
0iving the seven angels trumpets. 9.-The 1lf\h seal, souls under the altar. 

Fourth Partition.-!, 2, 3..---Angels sounding. 4.-Locusts like men 6.--0ur Sa­
viour with a Lamb, the four Evangelists, and a book sealed v.ith seven seals. 6.­
Armies of horse. 7.-The angel opening the book. 8.-John eating the book. 0.­
The temple from whence the voice came. 

Fifth Partition.-!, 2, 3.-Two witneases slain in the city, and ascending up. 4.­
Elders worshipping. 6.-Ark of the testament. The woman clothed with the sun in 
travail, and the dragon appearing to devour her child. 7.-Michael warring againn 
the drogon. 8.-The woman flying into the wilderness, and the dragon casting out a 
flood of waters to overwhelm her. 0.-Another beast risen trom the earth. 

Sizth Partition.-1.-Dragon sceptered, giving power to the beast with seven heads 
and ten horns. 2.-The world worshipping the monster. 3.-An angel pouring out a 
vial on the afllicted people. 4.-People worshipping the beast. 6.-The third angel 
pouring his vial on the rivers. 6.-Another angel with the gospel. 7.-The angel OTer 

Babylon pronouncing the fall thereof. 8.-Christ with a sickle, &c. 9.-Angel treading 
the wine-press to the horses' bridles. 

Seventh Pamtion.-1.-Elders with their harps on a sea of glass. 2.--0ne of the 
four beasts giving the angels the seven vials of wrath. 8.-Beasts warring with the 
saints. 4.-Angel pouring a vial on the sea. 6.-Victory of the Lamb. 6.-Fourth 
angel pouring a vial on sun, &c. 7.-Tbe ftttb angel pouring a vial on the seat of the 
beast. 8.-Unclean spirits, &o., going to battle. 9.-Angel pouring a vial on the river 
Euphrates, which runs by Babylon. (Note, the precedent two panu are II!Uplaced.) 

Eighth Pamtion .• -1.-The whore sitting upon the beast. 2.-Babylon's fall. 3.­
God praised in Heaven. 4.-St. John falling at the angel's feet. 6.-Heaven opened; 
one on a white horse, armies, &o. 6.-Angel crying to the fowls. 7.-Beast, kings, and 
armies. 8.-Beast taken. 9.-Angel casting him into the bottomless pit. 

Ninth Partition.-1.-Saints on thrones. 2.-Satan loosed out of prison. 3, 4, 6, 
and 6.-The sea, death, and bell, delivering up their dead, who stand before Christ u 
in judgment (attended by angelic powers holding the instruments of his passion, while 
the books are opened by other angels), on his right hand are the blessed, and on the left 
the wicked. 7.-New heaven and new earth. 8.-New Jerusalem, over which is 
Christ enthroned, an angel with a vial and golden reed, St. John beholding, "cm4 tM 
pure river of water of life, clear a1 cryetal, yrocttdifl!l out of the throne of God cmd of tM 
Lamb." 9.--0ur Saviour appearing with a book opened, on which is written, Ego, 
Alpha, and Omega, and St. John writing the wonderful things he had seen. 

Tenth Partition.-1.-Pope Gregory VTI., and Archbishop Thomas I. 2, 3, and '­
are nine Kings, viz., Ethelbert, Lucius, Ceolwulpb, Edwin, Oswald, Oswin, Edward 
the Confessor, Harold, and William the Conqueror. Archbishop Aldred at prayers. 
!I.-Archbishop le Zouch, with St. Augustine and St. Honoriua, ArchbishoJ18 of Canter-
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bury. 7.-8t. Paulinus, Pope Eleutherius, and St. Wilfrid. 8.-8t. John of Beverley; 
SL Calixtus Bishop of Rome, and St. Egbert, King Ebianos between two Flamines or 
Heathen priests; one of these high priests being dignified with the tit.le of Proto.fiam 
or first 8am, the other with Arch-flam only. 

The windows of the little transepts in the choir, which are remarkably 
high and elegant, are divided into 108 compartments, filled with extremely 
fine paintings, illustrative of some passage of Holy Writ, or of ceremop.ies 
connected with the church. 

The great window over the west entrance to the church, though of con­
siderable size, is inferior to the eastern light. The tracery of the upper part 
of the window is rich and intricate, and the mellowed rays of light, as they 
come upon the eye through the stained glass of the lower divisions, is pecu­
liarly fine. The figures in the upper row represent the Religious at their 
devotions. Those in the middle row are the Apostles, &c., as St. Peter, St. 
Paul, St. John, &c. Then follow the largest effigies, which are the eight 
Saints of the See, viz., Paulinus, Bosa, John of Beverley, Wilfrid I., Egbertus, 
Oswaldus, Gulielmus, and Servallus. 

Tlte west window of the north aisle of the nave bas representations of St. 
Catherine, St. Peter, St. Paul, and Christ in Judgment. The first window 
from the west is plain; the second contains the Annunciation, the Wise 
Men's Offering, the Salutation of St. Elizabeth, and the Arms of the Ingrams 
and Grevilles; the third bas the Crucifixion of St. Peter, and Confession, 
Penance, and Absolution ; the fourth, the Crucifixion of our Lord, Christ 
before Pilate, and the Arms of the Strongbows per paled with the Mow brays; 
the fifth, the Crucifixion, and other subjects; the sixth is very curions, and is 
supposed to have been given to the Cathedral by the bell founders; and the 
seventh, and last in this aisle, represents St. Catherine, St. Alban, and 
several curious legends. In the lower part of the window are the Royal 
Arms of England, and those of the Queens Eleanor of Castile, Eleanor of 
Provence, and Isabella of France. The window at the west end of the south 
aisle contains the Crucifixion, with the Blessed Virgin and St. John the 
Evangelist on either side. The first window from the west is plain ; the 
second bas St. Peter, St. Christopher, and St. Lawrence; and the remaining 
windows of this aisle have been made up of various subjects, principally saints 
and legends. The third bas the date 1789, and the sixth and seventh that 
of 1782. In the latter window is a very old representation of the Crucifixion. 

The beautiful lancet window of five lights, in the north front of the north 
transept, is one of the chief ornaments of the church. The chaste but severe 
simplicity of these lights strike the eye of the beholder immediately on en· 
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tering the Cathedral. No finer examples of Early English windows can be 
found in this country. The lights, which are each 54 feet in height and 6! 
feet in breadth, are filled with mosaic work, of an extremely rich and varied 
pattern, and their effect is beautiful. This is sometimes called the Jeu:iah 
Window, probably from the resemblance it bears to the embroidery or needle­
work which was used in adorning the ancient Jewish tabernacles. As has 
~y been observed, this window has been traditionally named the Fiw 
SiaterB, from its having been presented to the Cathedral by five sister's (nuns), 
who wrought with their own bands the patterns for the stained glass devices. 
The small rim of clear glass round the edges is a modem addition, and gives 
it a very pleasing effect. In the south transept the upper or marigold win­
dow has a fine effect from the brilliancy of its coloured glass resembling that 
flower. The first window in the second tier of this front of the transept bas 
a full-length figure of St. William ; the second, which is of two lights, has 
effigies of St. Peter and St. Paul, each with his proper insignia beneath him; 
and in the next window is the effigy of St. Wilfrid. The windows of the 
lowermost tier are of modem workmanship, having been executed by Mr. 
William Peckitt, of York, a self-taught artist, who died in 1795. They con­
tain very elegant full-length figures of Abram, representing Faith; Solomon, 
representing Truth: Moses, RighteOU8tU!U: and St. Peter. The window 
representing St. Peter was set up in 1768, and the others in 1796. The 
former was presented to the Cathedral by the artist in his lifetime, and the 
others were bequeathed at his death. In the east aisle of this transept is 
some of the oldest glass in the church, representing full-lengths of St. Michael, 
St. George, the Blessed Virgin, and Archbishop St. William. 

The glass in the choir is very fine and curious. In the first window from 
the west in the north aisle are representations of St. Peter and St. Paul, the 
Blessed Virgin, and Archbishop Howett, at an altar. The seoond bas 
full-length figures of St. John of Beverley, Archbishop Scrope, and St. 
William, with several curious legends; the third contains several full-length 
effigies of Bishops with legends; the fourth is the small tmusept window; 
the fifth has figures of the Blessed Virgin and Infant Saviour, St. Anne 
and St. Elizabeth, with the infant Baptist; and round the window are 
the Arms of Archbishop Scrope; the sixth exhibits St. Thomas, St. John, 
St. Edward the Confessor, and St. John the Baptist; the seventh window is 
blank; and the end window of the aisle bas the Crucifixion, St. James, the 
Blessed Virgin, &c. 

In the first window from tho west, in the south aisle of the choir, are full· 
length figures of David and the Prophets Nehemiah and Malacby, with 
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legends; the second is filled with legends, principally from the life of Christ; 
the third has several saints within borders of pomegranate branches and 
leaves ; the fourth is the little transept window ; the fifth is filled with 
legends, much confused; the sixth has King Edwin, St. John, St. James, 
&c.; and the seventh, in the upper portion, bas full-lengths of Joseph of 
Arimathea and the Saxon King, Ina, the founder of Glastonbury Monastery. 
The lower part of this window, conspicuous for its vivid colours, was presented 
by the Earl of Carlisle, in 1804. It is supposed to have been copied from a 
design of Sebastian del Piombo, the great favorite of Pope Clement Vill., 
and was brought from the church of St. Nicholas, in Rouen, in Normandy. 
The figures, which are as large as life, represent the meeting of the Blessed 
Virgin and St. Elizabeth ; and the armorial bearings of the family of the 
noble donor occupy the compartments. 

The interior dimensions* of the Cathedral are as follows :-
liEET. 

Length from E. toW. .. .. .. .. .. 11241 
Breadth of the east end. • . . • • . • • • 10:1 
Breadth of the west end. . ...... . . 100 
Length or C1'088 aisles from N. to 8. 222 
Height of central tower . . • • • . • • • • 213 
Height of the nave.. .. .. .. .. .. .. 99 
Breadth of body and side aisles . • 100 
Height of the side arches N. to S. • 42 
From west door to the choir. . . . . • 261 
Length or the choir .. .. .. .. .. .. 167l 
Breadth of the choir • • . . • • • • . • • • 46l 

FEET, 

From the choir to east end. • • • . • . . 222 
From altar screen to east end.. . . .. 26 
Height of the east window • . . . • . • • 76 
Breadth of the east window . . . . . . 32 
Height of ceiling of' chapter house. • 67 
Diameter from glass to glass • • . . • • 63 
Length of the libmry .. .. .. .. .. .. 66 
Breadth of the libmry .. • .. • .. .. .. 22 
Height of the cornice· . • • . • . . . . . • . 22 
Height of the organ screen .. .. • . . . 24 
Breadth of the organ screen • • . . • . 60 

• Table of comparative dimcnaions of the principal Cathedrals in England, in feet. 

Jl l! 0 .; fi 0 I! i~ 
'ali -s -s 

'15 .: '15' i~ 
.. ! 

~~ 1.! '15~ 'Su ... 

I! -sS ;;.S ;;.S fj tt ! of'S ! of'S =~ !z = = (,) 

1-----
York .... .... .... 642 222 100 261 90 167 00 196 213 
Canterbury • .•.• . 614 140 74 214 80 1:10 80 130 236 
Dorham ... .... . 420 176 80 2-W 70 117 71 143 212 
Ely .... .... .. .. 617 178 73 327 70 101 70 270 113 
Gloucester 420 144 84 174 67 130 86 - 261 
Lincoln .... .. .. .. 498 227 83 262 83 1:18 - 270 288 
St. Paul's .. ... .. . 600 248 107 306 88 lO!'i 88 221 366 
Salisbury .... .... ~2 210 76 246 84 140 84 - 400 
Westminster •• •••• 489 189 96 130 101 162 101 - -
Winchester •• •••• 664 208 86 247 78 138 78 133 133 
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MoNUMENTs.-The mortal remains of a very considerable number of per· 
sons of rank and distinction are deposited in this ancient temple. The head 
of Edwin, the first Christian King of Northumberland, who died in 668, was 
interred here, and his body in the Abbey of Whitby. History also records, 
amongst the distinguished persons buried here, the names of Eadbert and 

· Eanbald, Kings of Northumberland; Swayne, King of Denmark; Tosti, 
Earl of Northumberland, brother of Harold; William de Hatfield, second 
son of Edward ill.; and a very large proportion of the Archbishops who have 
presided over the See, from the introduction of Christianity into this province 
to the present day. The principal tombs and monuments occupy the aisles 
on each side of the choir, and the Lady Chapel behind the altar screen; but 
there are a few tombs and inscriptions in the other parts of the Cathedral. 

On entering the church at the usual door in the south front, the first monu­
ment that attracts the stranger's attention is situated in the eastern aisle of 
the south transept, and is the tomb of ArchbUhop W alt8r tk Gr~, the founder 
of this part of the Cathedral, who died in 1255 ; the founders of Cathedrals 
being usually buried in tho portion in which they themselves built. The 
design of this monument, which is one of the most interesting in the church, 
is particularly elegant. It is a beautiful relic of the 18th century, consisting 
of two stories, or tiers of trefoil arches, supported by eight slender columns, 
with capitals of luxuriant foliage, sustaining a canopy divided into eight 
niches, with angular pediments, decorated with elaborate finials. These are 
enriched with figures of birds, foliage, &c. ; and the sweep of the pediment 
has several crockets running up its exterior moulding. On a flat tomb, under 
the canopy, is an effigy of the Archbishop in his pontifical robes. This 
monument is inclosed by a bronzed iron railing, of rich and elaborate work­
manship, erected by the late Archbishop Markham. The pillars supporting 
the canopy are of black marble, eight feet in height. This is one of the 
earliest examples of canopied tombs remaining in this country. By the side 
of this monument is another of a flat tabular form, supposed to contain the 
remains of Archbi&lwp Godfrey tk Ludham, otherwise Kiruton, who died in 
1264. In the western si~ of the north transept is a flat tomb of black 
marble, supported by iron trellis, 2t feet high, to the memory of John Hazily, 
treasurer of the Cathedral, who died in 1424. Within the grating is a 
dilapidated stone fignre, representing a wasted corpse in a winding sheet. 
According to stipulations in certain ancient deeds, payments of the Cathedral 
revenues should be, and, we believe, sometimes are made on this tomb. In 
the eastern aisle of the north transept is a very beautiful monument erected 
over the grave of Archbulwp Grmjeld, who died in 1815. It consists of an 
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altar tomb, the dado enriched with panelling of pointed arches. From the 
ends rise four dwarf columns, supporting a pedimental canopy, ornamented 
with crockets, which terminate in a superb finial, behind which, on a column, 
is a small statue of the Archbishop, in the act of giving the benediction. On 
the tomb is the full-length effigy of the prelate engraved in brass, babited in 
pontijicalibie. The whole is an interesting specimen of the time of Henry 
VI. It was behind this monument that the incendiary Martin concealed 
himself, after attending service in the choir, before setting the Minster on 
fire in 1820 ; and it was through the window in the end of the west aisle 
in this transept that be made his escape after the building was in flames. 

Opposite to the entrance to the Chapter House is a fine altar tomb, to the 
memory of St8phen Beckwith, M.D., who died December 28rd, 1848. On 
the top is a beautiful marble effigy of the deceased, while in niches on the 
sides of the tomb are recorded his munificent bequests to the different chari­
ties in this city, which are as follows:-

£. 
The Museum of the Yorkshire Philosophical Society •••••.•••••• 10,000 
The Minster Bells and Chapter House • • . . • • • • . • • • • • . • . . . • • • • • 11,000 
Wilberforce School for the Blind .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. 5,000 
The Female Penitentiary. . • • • • . • . • . • • • . • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • . • . • 11,000 
Blue Coat Boys' School . . .. • . . • • • • . . • .. • . . .. • .. .. . • .. .. .. .. 8,1100 
Grey Coat Girls' School . • • • • • • • . • . . • • • • • • . . . • • • • • • . . • • • • • • • 3,1100 
The Dispensary, .. • .. . . .. . .. • .. .. • • .. .. • . . . • . .. .. • • .. . . . . .. 3,1100 
The Church or England School .............. : .. • .. .. .. .. .. .. 2,500 
The Inl'ant School, Skeldergate .. . .. .. .. .. • .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. 2,1100 
St. Thomas' Hospital . . .. .. .. .. .. . • .. . • .. .. . . .. .. .. .. .. • . • • 8,1100 
Lady Middleton's Hospital • . • • • • • • • . • • • • • • • • • . • • • • • • • • • • • • • • 2,000 
The Poor of St. M¥Un's Parish and two Parishes of Bishophill • • 1100 

On a pillar in the sonth aisle of the nave is a brass plate, with the half 
. length effigy of a woman in the costume of the period, with an inscription 
showing that there lies buried the body of Elizabeth Eyma, one of the gentle­
women of Queen Elizabeth, and daughter of Sir Edward Neville, who died 
in 1588. On the opposite side in the same aisle, on a brass plate, is a Latin 
inscription, with a half length effigy, in a fur gown, of Jamu Cotrtl, Eaq., a 
native of Dublin, who resided some time at York, and died in 1505. 

In the wall of the north aisle of the nave is a low altar tomb, the dado 
ornamented with pierced quatrefoils, through which the coffin within it may 
be seen, and covered with a low pointed arch. This tomb is supposed to 
enclose the remains of Archbishop Roger, who filled the See of York, from 
1154 to 1181. These are all the monuments or inscriptions now remaining 
in the body of the church, though there were formerly many more. 

Digitized byGoogle 



HISTORY OF THE CATHEDRAL OF YoRK. 

Entering the south aisle of the choir the monuments, in the order in which 
they occur, are as follows :-A white marble monument to Chn.topher E. T. 
Oldfield, a distinguished officer in the Indian army, who died at Nakodah, 
in the East Indies, in 1850, aged 45 years. The design is of the Italian 
school, and the workmanship is very beautiful. The base is of vein marble, 
having in the centre a Roman shield and helmet, with cross swords enclosed 
by a wreath. The tablet and upper portion of the monument are composed 
of pure statuary, being surmounted by a very elaborately executed combination 
of military trophies, and the whole is placed on a ground of Galway black 
marble. It was erected in 1852, at the expence of the officers of the fifth 
regiment of Bengal Light Infantry, of which regiment the deceased was 
.Major. A small tablet to William Palmer, who died in 1605. A neat 
marble tablet, with two Doric columns supporting a pediment, to the memory 
of the Rt. Hon. Wm. Wickham, formerly of Cottingley in this county, who 
died in 1840, aged 79. A tablet to JaM Hod&on, who died in 1636, in 
giving birth to her 24th child, herself being only in her 38th year. She was 
the wife of Phineas Hodson, Professor of Theology, and the Chancellor of the 
Cathedral. It is a small compartment with two Corinthian columns, and a 
plain entablature with a pediment upon which a.re two weeping boys, coats 
of arms, an urn, and a long Latin inscription. The tomb of Sir Wm. ~. 
of Bishop Burton, in this county, Knt., a Privy Councillor to James I., who 
died in 1611. On the tomb are effigies of himself, his two wives, and six 
children, all in the attitude of prayer. A small oval tablet containing a 
short inscription to the memory of Henry Witham, an officer in the Craven 
Legion, who was accidentally drowned in the river Ouse, whilst stationed at 
York, in 1809. It was erected by his brother officers, as a mark of respect 
to his memory. An antique monument to Archbislwp Hutton, who died in 
1601S. The recumbent figure of the prelate is represented under an arch, 
which is supported by two Corinthian columns. The entablature is sur­
mounted by coats of arms ; and in front of the altar tomb, forming the 
basement of the monument, are three recessed arches, containing kneeling 
figures of the Archbishop's children. A marble monument, consisting of a 
large urn placed between two busts, one of which represents Hmry FiftCie, 
Dean of York, who died in 1728, and the other the Hon. and Rev. Edtrord 
Fine/a, Canon Ruidmtiary, who died in 1737. Above is a small pediment, 
and the family arms with an inscription. 

The monument of Nicholtu Wanton, E~q., of London, is a neat piece of 
architecture, with a figure in the attitude of prayer between Corinthian pi· 
lasters. The inscription states that he died in 1617, and that his brother 
William is also interred near the same place. 
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A.rchbuhop Lamplll{Jh's monument is enclosed within iron palisades, and 
exhibits on a pedestal a statue of the mitred prelate in his episcopal robes, 
with the crosier in his hand. Two pilasters support a semicircular pediment, 
with an urn on the top. The Archbishop died in 161H, in his 76th year. 
This is one of the earliest instances of monumental effigies the size of life 
presented in an erect position. 

A small antique monument, with the bust of a female in a niche, to Mr1. 
AM6 Bmnet, who died in 1601. 

A pyramidal monument of white marble, to the memory of Tlwmas Lam­
plug/a, Rector of Bolton Percy, and Canon Residentiary of this Cathedral. He 
was grandson to the Archbishop of the same name, and died in 17 4 7, aged 60. 

Near the entrance to the crypt is a marble altar tomb to Archbi81wp Dolben, 
who died in 1686, in the 6~nd year of his age. On the table reclines a 
handsome robed and mitred figure of the prelate. On the south wall is a 
beautiful marble slab, on which is represented a sarcophagus, with arms and 
an inscription to the memory of the Lady Mary Hor~, who died at York on 
her way to Scarborough in 1798, aged ~~ years. 

The monument to the Rev. George WiUiam Anderson, who died in 1785, 
in his 25th year, consists of a compartment, with an oval inscription tablet, 
and a serpent in a circle being the emblem of eternity. A variegated marble 
table, on which is represented a sarcophagus in white marble, stands against 
the wall, in memory of Mr. Franci8 Croft, who died in 1837, aged 31. 

In this locality is an elegant classical monument of white marble, by 
Wutmacou, to the memory of Dr. WiUiam Burgh, author of a treatise" On 
the Holy Trinity." The doctor was a native of Ireland, and died in York in 
1808, aged 87. The monument exhibits a full length emblematical figure 
of Religion, with a dove on her head, and bearing a cross in her hand. On 
the base or pedestal is a long poetical inscription, written by J. B. S. Morritt, 
Esq., of Rokeby Park, the early friend of Sir Walter Scott. 

Towards the east end of this aisle is an elegant veined marble monument 
of the Corinthian order, to WiUiam W mtworth, Earl of Strafford, son of the 
unfortunate Earl who was beheaded. In a double niche, between beautiful 
fluted columns, are whole length figures of the Earl and his Countess, with 
an urn between them, and the coronet laid at their feet. On each column 
stands a handaome vase or urn ; upon the pedestal, beside each figure, a 
weeping cherub; and over the niche, within a circular pediment, are the 
Wentworth Arms. Beneath is 8 long inscription, descriptive of his illus­
trious family connexions. The Earl died in 1695. 

Nest to Lord Strafford's is 8 large white marble tablet to the Rt. Hon. 
8 M 
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Lora Bu,.ton Dau•nay, Viscountess Dou·ne, who died in 181;;!, aged 78. In 
this neighbourhood is a neat marble tablet to the memory of the late &t'. 

John Eyre, Archdeacon of Nottingham, and Canon Residentiary of York 
Cathedral, who died in 1830. Also a neat monument with various devices, 
to Edu·ard Tip]Jirtg, Esq., of Bellurgan Park, county of Louth, Ireland, who 
died in 1781), aged 35. 

A new Gothic monument in stone to George Hoare, Esq., and Frances his 
wife. The former died in 1813, and the latter in 1811. The monument con· 
sists of a tablet under a beautiful canopy, adorned with finials, crockets, &:c. 

Over a small door in the south east comer of this aisle, is the mural 
monument of Arcllbi&lwp Piers, who died in 1594, aged 71. It is a small 
square compartment, with two Corinthian columns supporting an entablature 
decorated with shields of arms, &c. 

Those in the Lady Chapel are-under the great east window, a superb 
monument in memory of the Hon. Thomas Watson Wentworth, third son of 
Edward Lord Rockingham, who died in 1723, aged 1>8; also to Thomal Watson 
TVentu·orth, 'Marquis of Rockingham, who died in 1750, and was interred in 
his uncle's, the Earl of Stafford's, vault; and likewise to Charles Wal~n 
Wentworth, the last Marquis of Rockingham, who died in 1782, aged 52, and 
was buried in the same vault, with great honours, as already described at 
page 273. This beautiful piece of sculpture, which was executed by J . B. 
Guelfi Romanus, consists of au elegant basement of veined marble, on which 
is a circular pedestal, whereon stands a full length figure of the first named 
deceased, in a Roman habit, leaning with his left arm upon an urn. A fine 
female figure is represented sitting on the other side, reclining her head upon 
her right hand, with her elbow upon another pedestal ; the back ground of 
the monument forming a pyramid is surmounted by a coat of arms. This is 
the best piece of sculpture in the church. 

Archbishop Henry Bowett's monument is of exquisite taste and elegance. 
It is nearly 30 feet high, and is decorated with light and lofty pinnacles, 
statues, &c. The altar tomb is placed beneath an elliptical arch, covered 
with tracery, and surmounted by pinnacles. The arch is pointed, and the 
roof beautifully groined. The whole is a very fine specimen of the archi· 
tecture of the 15th century. The prelate died in 1428. 

Under the east window is a sumptuous marble monument to ArclabiUwp 
Sharpe, who died at Bath in 1718, aged 60. It is of the Corinthian order, 
with pilasters; upon the pedestal is a mitred figure of the prelate in a re­
clining posture, being about half raised on the right arm, which rests on a 
cushion, with a book in the left hand. The whole is decorated with figures 
of winged cherubs, urns, drapery, &c. 
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ArchbUiwp Matthew'• monument formerly stood against the wall beneath 
the great east window, but it was destroyed by the fire of 1!:i29. His effigy, 
though broken into three parts, is still preserved here. A descendant of that 
prelate erected another handsome monument to his memory, on the south 
side of the Lady Chapel, in 1844. It consists of a Gothic altar tomb of 
Yorkshire stone, with a beautiful black marble slab. The sides of the tomb 
are each in five compartments, in which are shields of arms. This prelate 
died in 1628, aged 82. 

On the north side of this chapel is another recently erected altar tomb, to 
the memory of ArchbUhop Markham, who died in 1807. It is similar in 
design to the last mentioned monument, and round its base is a beautiful 
pavement of encaustic tiles. 

In a niche in a wall under the east window is a monument to Frances 
Matthew, relict of Archbishop Matthew, who died in 162!}, aged 78. It ex­
hibits a female figure kneeling at a desk between two columns, with two 
other figures standing near the columns in a devout posture. The whole is 
decorated with angels, &c. Mrs. l\fatthew was daughter of Barlow, Bishop 
of Chichester; her first husband was son of Parker, Archbishop of Canter­
bury ; her second husband was Archbishop of York ; and her four sisters 
each married a Bishop. 

Archbuhop Frewen'• monument is 20 feet high and 10 broad, and consists 
of two Corinthian columns, with an arched pediment, between which is a full 
length effigy of the prelate in gown and cap, the whole being decorated with 
books, coats of arms, &c., and surmounted by figures of Faith, Hope, and 
Charity. He died in 1664, in his 76th year. 

Archbishop Scrope'a monument is about 3 feet high and 8 feet long. The 
sides are ornamented with sculptured shields in quatrefoil compartments. 
This Archbishop was beheaded for high treason in 1405. The tomb is not 
inscribed. 

ArchbUhop de Rother'Mm'a monument is a solid Gothic altar tomb, restored 
at the expense of Lincoln College, Oxford, in 1832, the deceased prelate 
having been the second founder of that College. The original monument, 
which was erected by the Archbishop himself, and under which be was 
buried, was partially destroyed at the conflagration in 1829. He died in 1500. 

Archbishop Sewall'• (removed from the south transept) is a table monu­
ment, with a cross flory sculptured on the top. Over it was a marble slab, 
supported by twelve pillars, but this was destroyed by the fire in 1829. 

The monument of the Rt. Hon. Frances Cecil, Cmmteu of Cumberland, is 
a table tomb, supported by four vases. This lady was the da•1ghter of the 
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Earl of Salisbury, and wife of Henry, Lord Clifford, Bromfieet, Vetrepon, 
and Vessey, Earl of Cumberland, and Lord Lieutenant of the county of York. 
She died in 1643, in her 50th year. 

Against the wall at the north side is a beautiful tablet to the memory of 
Mrs. Mary Thornhill, who died at Fixby, in this county, in 1727, aged 71 
years; and likewise to the memory of her two daughters. On the top is an 
urn in white marble; and on the right side of an inscription is a branch of 
laurel, interwoven with cypress ; whilst on the left are cypress and palms. 

There is a fine marble monument to Archbislwp Surne, who died in 1688, 
aged 87, beneath the east window of the north aisle of the choir. Upon the 
pedestal is a mitred effigy reclining ; over the figure is an architrave, frieze 
and cornice adorned with drapery and festoons, and surmounted by a semi­
circular pediment and coat of arms. Nearly adjoining is a neat tablet to R. 
Sten~e, Esq., of Elvington, who died in 1791, aged 51. 

A square compartment, with small Corinthian columns, in the north aisle, 
contains an inscription to the memory of Lionel Ingram, infant son of Arthur 
Iugrant, Kut. 

Here are neat oval compartments inscribed to the memory of Mr1. P~r~elope 
Gibson, and j\Jrs. Jolumn$ Gibson, both ofWelboume, in this county. The 
former died in 1715, and the latter in 177.8. There is likewise in this lo­
cality a small marble tablet to Charles Layton, Esq., who died in 1675. 

Samuel Breary, D. D., Prebendary of Strensall, and Rector of :Middleton 
and South Dalton, has a neat monument of grey marble, surmounted by a 
pediment, erected here to his memory. He died in 1735, aged 65. 

Mrs. :Mary Pulleyn's is a pyramidal monument, surmounted with an ele­
gant urn, on the pedestal of which are placed the arms, decorated on each 
side with cypress. She died in 1786, aged 82. 

A neat modern monument against the wall is inscribed to the IUv. Sa•uel 
'l'errick, Rector of Wheldrake. He died in 1719, in the 51st year of his age. 

In this aisle is the splendid monument, erected by a general subscription 
in the county of York, as a tribute of public love and esteem for the memory 
of the respected statesman, Sir Georgs Saville, Bart. It is a beautiful white 
marble statue, placed on an elegant enriched marble pedestal, six feet ltigh, 
with scrolls at the angles, and on the frieze of which are introduced the em­
blems of Wisdom, Fortitude, and Eternity. Sir George is represented leaning 
upon a pillar, holding in his right hand a scroll, on which is written, "The 
Petition of the Freeholders of the County of York. •· The whole height of 
the monument is sixteen feci, and on the front of the pedestal is an inscrip­
tion commemorative of his public 11nd priYate virtues. Sir George repre-

Digitized by Goog le 



HISTORY OF THE CATHEDRAL OF YORK. • 458 

sented this county in five successive Parliaments, and departed this life on 
the Uth of January, 1784, in the 58th year of his age. 

There is a white marble monument against the wall, to the memory of the 
Rn. Jolt.n Richardson, Canon Residentiary of this church, who died in 1785. 

The neat statuary marble monument to John Dealtry, M.D., who died in 
1778, aged 65, consists of a figure of Health in alto reli~, with her usual 
insignia, bending over an urn, and dropping a chaplet. 

Sir Tlwmas Davenport's is a highly finished pyramidal monument. Sir 
Thomas was one of his Majesty's Sergeants·at-Law; and having opened the 
commission of Assize in York, on Saturday, March. 11th, 1786, and attended 
the Minster on the following day, he was seized with a fever, and died on the 
25th, aged 52. 

The Hon. Mrs. Langky'a monument, which is of pointed architecture, is 
exceedingly beautiful. The upper part is a canopy, composed of several 
arches, with numerous pinnacles, &c. This lady, who was the daughter of 
Henry, Lord Middleton, and relict of R. Langley, Esq., of Wykeham Abbey, 
died in 1824, aged 65. 

The neat marble monument to Admiral Meauy bas a fine bust, with arms, 
curious devices of naval instruments, ships, &c. The Admiral was born at 
Grimston Garth, became Vice· Admiral of the Blue, and Commander·in·Chief 
in the Mediterranean, and died at Savona in 17 4 7. 

There is a neat plain monument against the wall, to the memory of WiUiam 
Peanon, L.L.D., Chancellor of the diocese of York, who died in 1715, aged 
58; and beneath is a small monument to Mrs. Raynes, who died in 1689. 

The monument to Charles Haward, Earl of Carlisle, Privy Councillor to 
Charles II., is a marble structure, composed of two pilasters, and a circular 
pediment, adorned with a bust of the Earl, several urns, cherubs, coats of 
arms, &c. On one column is an inscription to the memory of the deceased 
nobleman, who died in 1684, aged 56; and on another column of the same 
monument is an inscription to the memory of Sir John Fenu:icke, Bart., of 
Fenwicke Castle, Northumberland, who died in 1696, aged 52, and was 
buried in London. In the centre of the monument is au inscription to Lady 
Mary Fenwicke, daughter of the above-named Earl, and relict of the said Sir 
John Fenwicke, who died in 1780, aged 50. 

Sir William Ingram's is an antique monument, decorated with figures of 
himself and his wife, ooats of arms, &c. He was a doctor of laws, a master 
in chancery, and sole deputy commissary of the prerogative court of York, 
and was knighted by King James. He died in 1625. 

There is a small monument, decorated with coats of arms, containing an 
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inscription to Mr1. AnMbella Wickham, wife of Henry Wickham, D.D., 
Archdeacon of York. She died in 1625. 

Dr. Swinburne·, monument, which is partly modem, is decorated with coats 
of arms, small figures, and angels, and a large figure kneeling under an arch. 
There is a short inscription, but no date. 

Against the wall is a variegated marble monument, with a white oval 
centre, inscribed to Captain Pewnt &eves, of Aborfield, Berks., who fell in 
battle at Toulon, on the 80th of November, 1798, in the 29th year of his age. 

Adjoining the preceding is a handsome white marble monument to the 
memory of the Rev. Rd. Tlwmp1on, Prebendary of York, and Rector of Kirk­
Deighton, who died in 1795 ; also to the memory of Anne his wife, who 
died in 1791. It is supported by two flat pillars, one of which is crowned 
with an um, and the other with a representation of books piled up. A large 
urn is placed on the top, and the whole is ornamented with emblematic devices. 

The handsome monument of Corinthian architecture, erected to Sir Henry 
BelUuil, is decorated with coats of arms, and three small figures in the atti­
tude of prayer. In the upper part, beneath arches, arc figures of the knight 
and his lady ; the latter was a daughter of the famous Sir Thomas Fairfax. 

A small plain tablet against the wall is inscribed to John Farr Abbot, E1q., 
of London, who died at York in 1794, aged 38 years. Beneath this is a 
small tablet to Elizabeth Challenor, who died in 1798, aged 52. 

Over the grave of Ricltard Wharton, Esq., of Carlton, in this county, is a 
very neat white marble monument on a black marble ground. On the top 
is an elegant sarcophagus with the family arms in front. Mr. Wharton died 
in 1794, aged 64 years. 

The monument of Archbilhop Savage, on the opposite side of the aisle, was 
erected about A.D. 1500, and restored in 1813. It may be regarded as one of 
the latest examples of the elegant English style, which, towards the end of 
the lOth century, was corrupted and debased by the intermixture of Grecian 
and R{)man architecture. On an altar tomb lies the effigy of the prelate, 
arrayed in full pontificals ; and above is a pointed arch in panels. 

Near this tomb are two very large stone coffins, found some years ago 
without Bootham Bar; and near them are placed two stone effigies, removed 
from another part of the church-one of them, which is attired in chain 
armour, with a shield, &c., is supposed to represent one of the family of 
Mauley; and the other, we are told by Allen, was formerly supposed to be 
Roman, but has lately been considered as a Saxon layman of high rank. 
Here are also two very large ancient triangular chests, adorned with curious 
iron scroll work. These formerly held the copes and other splendid vest­
ments of the Cathedral dignitaries. 
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In this aisle, near the entrance from the transept, are two old monuments, 
the brass inscriptions of which are gone. One is suppoRed to be that of 
Bryan Higden, Dean of York in 1589, and the other is unknown. 

Against the wall on the opposite side, near the western end of this aisle, 
is the handsome monument of Prince William de Hatfield,* second son of 
King Edward III., who died in 1844, at the early age of 8 years. Under a 
beautiful canopy the royal youth is represented in alabaster, babited in a 
doublet with long sleeves, a mantle, plain bose, and shoes, richly ornamented. 
The bead of the Prince was formerly supported by two angels, now destroyed, 
and his feet rest against a lion couchant. A large quantity of wax tapers 
appear to have been burnt round the tomb soon after the Prince's burial, as 
in the Wardrobe Book of Edward III. we find an entry of a sum of money 
paid for "193 lbs. of wax burnt around the Prince's corpse, at Hatfield, 
Pomfret, and York, where be was buried." 

Of many of those monuments, especially the most sumptuous of them, Mr. 
Britton says, "Notwithstanding the labour and expense profusely lavished in 
erecting them, they display examples of every fault which should be avoided 
in monumental sculpture and architecture." 

CHAPTER HousE. Exterior.-This magnificent structure-the most ele­
gant one of the kind in England, or perhaps in the world-is situated on the 
north side of the Cathedral, and is approached by a vestibule, which branches 
off from the north transept of the latter edifice. There is some difficulty in 
ascertaining the date of its erection, as the records of the church afford no 
account thereof. Stubbs, who is very particular in the memoirs of the rest 
of the buildings, entirely omits this. Some ascribe it to the time of Arch· 
bishop de Grey, the style of architecture according with the south transept, 
commenced by that prelate in 1220; while others attribute it to a later 
period, about 1300, which would make it correspond with the time of the 
erection of the nave. Good authorities fix the date of its erection during the 
reign of Edward I. Mr. Cooke says "If we may be allowed to guess at the 
founder, that eminent prelate (Walter de Grey) stands the fairest of any in 
the succession for it. The pillars which surround the dome," be continues, 
are of the same kind of marble as those which support his tomb. But what 

• Thi~ Prince was born at Hatfield, near Doncaster, whence be took his surname. 
Queen Philippe, his mother, on the occasion of his birth, gave five marks per annum to 
the neighbouring Abbey of Roche, and five nobles to the monks there. When the Prince 
died these sums were transferred to the church of York, where be was buried, and to 
the present time they are paid by the Dean and Chapter out of the impropristion of the 
Rectory of Hatfield, as appears by the rolls. 
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seems to put the matter out of dispute is the picture of an Archbishop, 
betwixt those of a King and Queen, over the entrance, which, by having a 
serpent under his feet, into the mouth of which his crozier enters, exactly cor· 
responds with the like representation of Walter de Grey on his monument."* 

Mr. Brown, in his valuable work on the history of York Cathedral, says 
that "from a comparison of separate parts and ornaments of the Chapter 
House, with similar parts and ornaments in other portions of the church, be 
ie induced to imagine that the Chapter House and its vestibule were de­
signed about the year 1280 ; and as King Edward I. and his Queen 
Eleanor were in York, in the year 1284, assisting at the ceremony of the 
relics of St. William, it is highly probable that the foundation stone was then 
laid. But it is also probable that the subsequent progress of the erection of 
the nave, which was begun in the year 12!!1, the labour required by the rich 
and delicate work of the carved portions of the Chapter House, and the dis­
quietude of the time, retarded the progress of the building, so that it may 
not have been completed till about the year 1340." 

The V utibuh of tl!e edifice is very interesting in its architecture and 
sculpture. Its plan is in the form of a right angle, the first portion being 
44 feet long, and the second 46t feet. The Chapter House itself is a 
regular octagon, witp a projecting buttress attached to every angle. The 
architecture of the whole structure is Pointed, and is a very noble specimen 
of that style. 

Interior.-The entrance to the vestibule is situated in tl!e eastern aisle of 
the north transept, and is of more modem workmanship than the transept. 
It is not unlike the great western entrance to the Cathedral, and consists of 
two arches filled in with richly panelled doorways, on the points of which is 
a circle filled with tracery, and the whole is comprehended in an acute pedi· 
mental canopy. The two doors are of beautiful Gothic open "'ood work, and 
made of English oak. The interior of the vestibule is very beautiful, the 
sides being apparently all \vindows, and the walls below are richly adorned. 
The ceiling is of stone, and is richly groined. At the other end of this 
splendid vestibule is tl!e entrance to the Chapter House, which greatly re­
sembles the first doorway, but is of a richer character. It consists of two 
pointed arches, each enclosing in the head three sweeps, which portion is 

• Cooke's Topographical Description of Yorkshire. Those supposed pictures of .ArclJ. 
bishop de Grey and Henry ill. and his Queen, formerly adorned the blank side of the 
octagon, immediately over tbtl entrance to the Chapter House, but this, with all the re. 
mains of the original painting and gilding in the edifice, has been removed. and the 
stone restored to its natural colour. 
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glazed, the lower part being occupied by oak doorways almost covered with rich 
scroll work in iron. The upper part of the octangular pier, which divides these 
arches, is pierced with a canopied niche, on the pedestal of which i~ a statue 
of the Blessed Virgin, with her Divine Son in her atms, trampling on the 
serpent. The image, with the drapery, is somewhat elegant, and has been 
all richly gilt, but, as Mr. Cooke expresses it, " it bears a mark of those 
times which made even stone statues feel their malice "-it is defaced. Upon 
the points of these arches is a circle enriched with a quatrefoil, and the whole 
is comprehended in one large pointed arch richly moulded, and springing 
from small columns attached to the jambs. The interior of this magnificent 
structure produces a very solemn and impressive effect. It is 63 feet in 
diameter, and 67 feet 10 inches high, and this vast space is not interrupted 
by a single pillar, the roof being wholly supported by a single pin, geometri­
cally placed in the centre. The richly groined ceiling of oak was formerly 
painted and gilded with representations of saints and sacred subjects, all of 
which were tastelessly obliterated about the year 1760. The blank space 
over the entrance was also decorated with paintings of Saints, Kings, Bishops, 
&~. The thirteen niches over the door were formerly filled with statues of 
Our Saviour, the Blessed Virgin (in the centre), and the Twelve Apostles. 
Tradition says that these images were of solid silver, double gilt, the Apostles 
being about a foot high, and the central figure twice tl1e height. "It is 
generally believed," writes Allen, "that Henry VIII. stole them from the 
Cathedral, or had them presented to him by Archbishop Holdgate, to prevent 
him from committing the theft." The whole circumference below the win­
dows, except at the entrance, is occupied by jorty1our canopied stone stalls 
for the Canons who composed the Chapter of the Cathedral. The canopies 
of these stalls are profusely decorated with grotesque sculptures, ending in 
finials. The columns of the stalls are of Petwortb marble. 

Above the canopies, and on the sills of the windows, runs a gallery, which 
is continued round the entire room, and through the solids of the piers; the 
carving of this passage i11 exquisite. The windows of the vestibule and 
Chapter House are equally splendid, both in design and colouring, with those 
of the Cathedral. All are of ancient date, except the one opposite the en­
trance to the octagon, which is a restoration by Barnet, of York. The subjects 
of the latter window are taken from the life of Christ; the glass in the upper 
compartments of all the other windows exhibit the arms of founders and 
benefactors, and the subjects of the lower divisions are chiefly saints, with 
beautiful canopies above them, very richly and elaborately coloured. Pre­
vious to 1845 the whole interior bad a very dilapidated appearance, when, by 

3 N 
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means of the bequest of the late Da·. Beckwith of .£8,000., fua· the purpose of 
its repair, it underwent a thorough restoration. The roof was then redeco­
rated after the old style, by Willement, of London; the marble pillars of the 
stalls were polished, and the stone work was cleaned; the old pavement was 
taken up and replaced by a costly and elaborately tessellated one by Minton, 
of Stoke-upon-Trent; and the above-named window restored. The whole 
Chapter House now forms a highly finished and chastely decorated specimen 
of architectural ornament. We must not here omit an encomium beswwed 
upon this edifice by a great traveller, in an old monkish Latin couplet, which 
is inscribed in Saxon characters, near the entrance door:-

" •t ~sa .ll.os .ll.omm, 
~ic .est !J.omus ista !Jomorum."* 

The learned Dr. Whitaker was of opinion that this Chapter House, taken 
as a whole, is the most perfect specimen now remaining of the Early Florid 
Gothic style of architecture, introduced in the reign of Henry ill. In refer­
ence to York Cathedral, and particularly to the Chapter House, there is a 
remarkable passage in the life of .iEneus Silvius, afterwards Pope Pius IT. 
This distinguished individual, who passed through England on his way to 
Scotland, as legate, about the year 1448, "went down to York, a great and 
populous city, where there is a church, celebrated over all the world for its 
workmanship and magnitude ; but especially for a very fine lightsome chapel, 
whose shining walls of glass are held together between columns very slender 
in the midst." 

Gent has a story that Cromwell granted permission to a person w pull 
down the Chapter House, and build a stable with the materials ; but the 
statement is probably without foundation, though that arch-dismantler is said 
to have violated the sanctity of other structures not less sacred.t 

• This is the chief of Houses, as the Rose is the chief of F1owers. 

t In the mad fanaticism which raged throughout England in the time of the Com. 
monwealth, Bloxom Sllys, "Our sacred edifices were polluted IUid profaned in t.he most 
irreverent and disgraceful manner; and with the exception of the destruction whi<".b 
took place on the dissolution of the monastic establishments in the previous century, 
more devastation was OCCRSioned at this time by the party hostile to the established 
church, than had ever before been committed since the ravages of the Danish invaders." 
And Bishop Nicholson, speaking of the Cathedral of Carlisle, writes, " our su1ferings in 
the days of rapine and rebellion equalled, or exceeded those of any other Cathedral in 
England. • • • • Our Chapter House and Treasury had been turned into a 
IIlllgiWne for the garrison, and our very Charter sold to make tailors' measures." 
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,l.lignitarits, &c., of* «at~tbntl of it. fdtr, at §ork, ire 181111. 

(The figures denote the value of the incomes; and the date, when each dignitary was 
inducted.) 

ABcHBISBOP.-Right Hon. and Most Rev. Thomas Musgrave, D.D ...• .£10,0)() ••.. 1847. 
DE.U.-Very Rev. Sir William Cockburn, D.D., Bart. •••. .£1,250 ••.• 1822. 

CANONS RESIDENTIARY. 
William Vemon.Hareourt, M.A. ••••.•••••••• . Norlh Nev~bal4 .....••.••••• , • . 1823. 
Charles Hawkins, B.C.L ....................... • Barnby . ...... , .......... , .1830. 
Charles V. B. Johnstone, M.A ...... : .••.•••••.•• Wetwang ....... , ••.•••.••.• . JS«. 
John Baillie, M.A ............................. Wutow .......... .......... 18M. 

CHANCELLOR otthe CIIUBCB.-L. Vemon Harcourt, M.A., .. Laughtofl •• l827. 
PRECJ:NTOR.-Hon. and Rev. Edward Rice, D.D., Dean of Gloucester . . Drifold • . 1802. 

SUB.DEAN.-Hon. and Rev. Stephen W. Lawley, M.A ..•.. 1862. 
Succ.ERTOB.-Hon. and Rev. H. E. J. Howard, D.D., Dean ot Lichfield • . Holme • . 1822. 

AJlCBDEACONS. 
York.-Venerable Stephen Creyke, M.A .••••.•.•...••....••••••••••• 1846. 
EtUt-Riding.-Venerable Charles Maitland Long, M.A •...••.••••.••.•. 18M. 
Ckt>e!and.-Venerable Edward Churton, M.A ...•......•.••.....•..•. 1846. 

PllEBENDAJUES, NoN-RESIDENT, AND THEm PREBENDS. 

Wm. Preston, M. A., Bilton .•••.... 1812 William Gooch, M.A., StruuaU ••. .•• 1843 
John Bull, D.D., Fenton . ...•••..•.. 1826 Samuel Coates, M.A., ~ mpl<!forth .••• 184.3 

(VACANT.) Fridaytlwrpe. Chas. A. Thurlow, M.A., Hwthwaite 184.6 
T. Hutton Croft, M.A., Stillington .. 1831 George Dixon, M.A., Bugtlwrpe .••. 1846 
H. C. Musgrave, D.D., Git1endak • ••• 1833 George Trevor, M.A., ~petlwrpe •••• 184.7 
Hon. A. Duncombe, M.A., Bok . ••••. 18!1 George Wray, M.A., Dunnington •••• 1847 
John Sharpe, D.D., Grindall •••• ••.• 18!1 E. J. Randolph, M.A., Warthill ••• ••• 1847 
Edwd. Churton, M.A., Knare•borough 1841 H. W. Yeoman, M.A., Thocktrington 1861 
S. Creyke, M.A., South Newbal4 .... 1841 John Blackburn, M.A., RiccaU ... •• . 181H 
Hobert B. Cooke, M.A., Ulluktlf ••.• 1842 J. D. Jeft'erson, M.A., 01baldwick • ••• 1862 
Charles Hotham, M.A., Langtoft •.•. 1842 William Hey, M.A., Weighton •.•••• 18M 
A. B. Wrightson, M.A., Botetlant .... 1843 

MINoa CANoNs. (A Corporation under the title of " Tho Sub-Chanter and Vicars 
Choral of York Cathedral.") 

Sun-CHANTER.-Edward John Raines, B.D .•. 1838. 
William H. Oldfield, M.A •..•....... 184.61 B. E. Metcalfe, M.A. .. ............ 1863 
Thomas Bayley, M.A •......• . ...... 1861 Arthur Howard Ashworth .....••... 1863 

ARcHBISHOP'S CHAPI.AINS. 
Ven. Archdeacon Musgrave, D.D. Joseph Homily, M.A. 
Thomas Robinson, D.D. Hon. Thomas Cavendish, M.A. 
John Croft, M.A. 

ElLUIINUio CHAPUDI.-W. P. Musgrave, M.A. 
REoumua.-Egerton Vemon.Harcourt, Esq. DEPUTY REoxsTRA.Rs.-MesSl'l!. Buckle 

and Hudson. 
CBAPTBB CLEB.E and REolSTRAR of the DEANERY of YoBK.-Charlcs A. Thiselton, Esq. 
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SEclll'!TARIES to the ABcHliiSHOP.--Jobn Burder, Esq., London; and Charles A. 
Thiselton, Esq., York. 

OaoA.lllsr.--John Camidge. 
1\IAsTEn of Sr. PETER's GllAlDL\R ScnooL.-William Hey, M.A. 

MASTER of AnclUIISHOP HoLGATE'S Ga.unuR ScHoo:t..-Robert Daniels, M.A. 

The religious .services performed in the Cathedral are-On Sundays* and 
holidays, in the forenoon at half-past ten o'clock, when a sermon is preached; 
and in the afternoon at four, when an anthem is sung. On the week-days 
at ten o'clock in the forenoon, when an anthem is sung, unless there be a 
litany; and in the afternoon at four o'clock, when an anthem is performed. 
On Wednesdays and Fridays in Lent and Advent, and during the whole of 
Holy Week, commonly called Passion Week, the choral service and singing 
are intermitted both mornini and evening. During the winter months the 
choir is lighted with gas for the evening service. 

CATHEDRAL PRECINCTs, commonly called the MINSTER YARD or CLOSE.­
This district, the circumference of which is about three quarters of a mile, 
was in former times detached from the city by walls, and four pair of large 
gates. One gate was placed at Petergatc, facing Little Blake Street; another 
opened into Petergate, opposite Stonega to; a third stood at the end of College 
Street, opposite the Bedern; and a fourth in Uggleforth. And when in its 
meridian glory, this small space contained three parish churches, and formed 
a little ecclesiastical world of its own. The three churches were those of St. 
Michael le Belfrey, St. Martin ad Valvn.s, and St. John Baptist-del-Pyke; 
but of these the first mentioned now only remains. 

The Sec of York had formerly appended to it several palaces in different 
parts of the country, but that at Bishopthorpe is now the only one that re­
mains. The finest of the old palaces stood on the north side of the Cathedral. 
It was erected by Thomas, the first Norman Archbishop,t but its great hall 

• By the difierent nations every day in the week is set apart for public worship, viz.­
Sunday by the Christians, Monday by the Grecians, Tuesday by tho Persians, Wed­
nesday by the Assyrians, Thnrsday by the Egyptians, Friday by the Tnrk.c;, and 
Saturday by tho Jews. 

The following is the comparative capacity for accommodation of the mos' cclebmted 
churches in Europe :-St. Petu's, Rome, M,OOO persons; Milan Cathedral, 37,000; St. 
Paul's, Homo, 32,000; St. Paul's, London, 211,000; St. Petronia, Bologna, 24,000; St.. 
Sophia's, Constantinople, 23,000; Florence Cathedral, 24,300; Antwerp Cathedral, 
24,000; St. John Lateran, Rome, 22,000; Notre Dame, Paris, 21,000; Pisa Cathedral, 
13,000; St. Stephen's, Vienna, 12,400; Cathedral of Vienna, 11,100; St. Peter's, Bo· 
logna, 11,400; St. Dominic's, Dologna, ll,OOO; St. Mark's, Venice, 7000. 

+ Some authoriti<'s ~tate that thi~ palnce was erected hy Arehbishop Roger, who was 
consecrated in 1154. 
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was dismantled by Thomas Young, the first Protestant Archbishop, whose 
cupidity was tempted to make this spoliation by the lead which covered its 
roof. Since that period other parts of this Anglo-Saxon edifice have been 
leased out from the See, and for a long time a part of its ancient site was a 
receptacle for a mass of rubbish and filth. The site of the mansion is now 
converted into the Deanery gardens. During the alterations consequent on 
the change to its present state, part of the cloisters of the old palace were 
discovered, forming, when found, the wall of a stable; and from the style of 
architecture, it is evident that this is the work of the early part of the 12th 
century. It consists of seven semicircular arches, with plain mouldings 
springing from three columns, with square capitals. A similar column in 
the centre of each division divides them into two trefoil-headed niches. This 
interesting and picturesque fragment is now placed ncar the centre of the 
north side of the :Minster Close, and from it an excellent view of the Cathe­
dral and Chapter House may be obtained. 

The Minster Yard was formerly choked up with mean buildings,* but in 
1825 an Act was passed enabling the Dean and Chapter to take steps towards 
their removal, and to enlarge and improve the ground surrounding the Cathe­
dral. The old houses soon began to give away, and in a few years fine walks 
and shrubberies, and beautiful buildings appeared in their stead. The road 
on the south side of the Minster to the east end was formed in 1839. It 
formerly ran close to the walls of that church, and houses were built as near 
upon it as the traffic of the street would permit. The iron palisades which 
runs round the west end, and along the south side and transept, were also 
erected when the new road was made. At the same time the Hall of Pleas, 
for the Liberty of St. Peter, which stood near tile west end, was taken away, 
and a number of houses, extending from the church of St. Michaelle Belfrey 

, to the top of Little Blake Street, were pulled down. These great changes in 
the general appearance of the Minster Close are principally due to the taste 
of the present Dean, Dr. Cockburn. 

Mimter LibranJ.-The Chapel of the above mentioned Archiepiscopal 
Palace is now used as the library of the Cathedral. In stands on the north 
side of the Minster Close, and is an interesting specimen of the Earliest 
Pointed style of architecture. For many years this chapel was in a very di-

• There were at this time no less than three public houses in the Cathedral Close, called 
the Minlttr Coffee HOtue; the Hole in tht WaU; and the Sycamore Tree. The flrst 
mentioned stood opposite the west front of the Cathedral; the second a little further 
northward; and the latter at the east end of the church near the old Residentiary. 
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lapidated state, but in 1808 it was restored, under the judicious direction of 
the Dean and Chapter, and the library, which till then had been kept in a 
small building attached to the Minster, was removed to it. It stands on a 
line with the buildings of the new Deanery, and is a great ornament to the 
Minster precincts. Its west front is divided into two stories by a string 
course; the lower has a doorway, consisting of a pointed arch springing from 
two dwarf columns, with circular capitals simply ornamented with a flower 
moulding. In the second story is a lancet-headed window of five lights, each 
divided by a capital similar to those in the lower story; the whole are 
bounded by a semicircular arch, which rises on each side of the window. 
The angles of the building are guarded by buttresses, with angular caps, and 
the roof rakes to a point with the small flower moulding, common to works 
of the period. The south side of the building is made into four divisions by 
buttresses ; and in the upper story are pointed arched windows. This side 
of the edifice is finished by a string course and plain parapet; and the north 
side is built against. The ground floor is now used as a lumber room, but 
the upper apartment, which is approached by a flight of stone steps from an 
adjoining building, is neatly fitted up as the library. The windows on the 
south side are filled with ground glass, and the one in the west end is filled 
with beautiful stained glass, representing the armorial bearings of the mem· 
hers of the church, at the period of its erection ; in the centre of which is a 
shield bearing the arms of the Duke of Clarence, who visited the Cathedral 
on the 29th of September, 1806. The date of this building is about the 
same period as the relic of the episcopal palace above mentioned. Adjoining 
the library on the north side is a small ancient edifice of two stories, the 
lower containing a doorway, with three narrow windows, and the upper, three 
windows of two lights each, made by a dwarf column in the centre. The 
whole is finished by a plain parapet. This building evidently formed a cor­
ridor to the ancient chapel, as the door of entrance to the upper room (formerly 
the part used for divine service) is in the upper story of it; and this door, 
which is very handsome, seems to be of the same age as the building. 

It has already been observed that the Mimter Library was originally 
founded by Archbishop Egbert, in the 8th century, and extensive additions 
were o.ftcrwards made to it by his successor Archbishop Albert. So choice 
was the collection in this library, that William, the librarian of Malmsbury, 
calls it the "noblest repository and cabinet of arts and sciences then in the 
whole world; " and the celebrated Alcuin, the preceptor of the Emperor 
Charles the Great, at his return into Britain, wrote his royal pupil a letter, 
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iu which the highest encomiums are bestowed on this library.* (See page 
312.) But great was the loss of the learned world, when in 1069, the 
library, along with the building which Archbishop Albert bad erected for it, 
was destroyed by fire. In the reign of William I., Archbishop Thomas 
founded another library, which was esteemed a valuable one, but which un­
fortunately shared the same fate with the former one, by the calamitous fire 
which broke out in the year 1137. Leland laments the loss ofthe library of 
York Minster, when be was sent by Henry Vill. with a commission to search 
every library in the kingdom. " There is now scarce one book left in the 
library of St. Peter," says that learned antiquary, "which Flaccus Albinus, 
otherwise called Alcuinus, bas so often and so greatly extolled for its great 
number of books, as well Latin as Greek; for the barbarity of the Danes 
and the ravaging of William Nothus have exhausted this treasure, as well as 
many others." In the early part of the 17th century the library was founded 
for the third time, by Mrs. Matthews, relict of the Archbishop of that name, 
who presented to the church her husband's private collection of books, 
amounting to upwards of 3,000 volumes.t 

The library has since been augmented at different times, and amongst the 
chief contributors was Dean Finch, who died in 1728, and bequeathed the 
Fadera A.nglica11a in seventeen tomes. The Rev. Marmaduke Fothergill, the 
non~uring Rector of Skipwith, left a small but select collection of books to his 
native city, on condition that a room was built for its reception; and in the 
mllantime be directed that the collection should be placed in the library of the 
Dean and Chapter. No room having been built, the books have been incor­
porated with the Minster Library.! To the above have been added several 

• Alcuin himself was the tlrst librarian of the Minster, the care of the collection 
having been committed to him by Archbishop Egbert; and in his time students came 
from afar to avail themselves of its treasures. Alcuin has sung its praises in a Latin 
poem recounting its numerous volumes. For a farther account of the library of this 
period, see Sharon Turner's History of the Anglo-Saxons, and Alcnini Opera, tom. i. 

t Archbishop Matthews disinherited his son, Sir Toby Matthews, and this was pro­
bably the reason that the mother bestowed her husband's books on the church. 

t The learned Marmaduke Fothergill was born in Ptrcy'• Inn, in Walmgate, York, 
the nncient town residence of the Earl of Northumberland, in 1662, and was the eldest 
son of an opulent citizen, who had acquired a fortune by trade. He was educated at 
Cambridge, and possessed the living of Skipwith, in this county; but the Revolution 
altered his views respecting the church, and being determined never more to take any 
oath of allegiance, he retired from it, and lived on the income of his paternal estate. He 
was a great friend and admirer of literary characters; hence he often visited the Uni­
versity; and though he performed all the exercises required for the degree of D.D., he 
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late purchases, gilts, and bequests, which Conn together a valuaLle library (con­
sidering its size) of theological and general literature, of nearly 8,000 volumes 
and manuscripts; and amongst the most rare and valuable works which it 
contains, are a beautiful copy of the second edition of Erasmus' :New Testa­
ment, in Greek and Latin, 2 vols., folio, printed on vellum, by Frobenius, at 
Basle; a MS. copy of Wickliffe's New TestanJent, on vellum, supposed to 
have belonged to Queen Elizabeth ; three MS. copies of the Vulgate, on 
vellum, of the date of Henry ill. or Edward I.; a MS. copy of Bract.fm M 
Legibus Anglia, on vellum; a translation of Cicero de SensctuU, printed by 
Caxton in 1481; and several other books, printed by Caxton, Wynkin de 
Worde, and Pynson, which are some of the best specimens of early English 
typography extant. We may also class amongst the rare and valuable in 
this library, Torre's inestimable manuscripts, containing collections from the 
original records of all the ecclesiastical affairs relating to this church and 
diocese; the original register of St. Mary's Abbey, at York; and a Tully M 
Invmtione, ad Herrenium, very perfect. The Rev. Edward John Raines, 
B.D., is the present librarian. The library is open to the public on Tuesdays 
and Thursdays, from twelve to one o'clock, when the librarian is in atten­
dance. Books are not lent out without an order from the Chapter. In the 
library are portraits of Archbishop Matthews and the Rev. M. Fothergill; and 
a curious old print of the funeral procession of the great Duke of Marlborough, 
the hero of Blenheim, as it passed from his house at St. James's, to West­
minster Abbey, on Thursday, August 9, 1722. In the ante room is a curious 
specimen of Saxon sculpture, in a fine state of preservation. It was dis­
covered in the dungeon of an old building, since removed which, stood on the 
north side of the Minster, and which from its appearance had evidently been 
used for a prison. The stone is supposed to have been originally the base of 
the archway over the entrance of the dungeon, and the sculpture represents 
n man in the last agonies of death, surrounded by demons or evil spirits, who 
are tormenting his body, and seizing the departing spirit as it issues from it. 

When we consider the great lustre which the name of Alcuin once shed 
upon the ancient church and city of York-tho place too of his nativity-it 
appears not a little remarkable that his name is not connected in any way 
whatever with an institution, a. street, or a spot of ground, in any part of the 
city or its neighbourhood. Can it be possible, the reader might well enquire, 

would not even there comply with the government oaths, and therefore could neTer as­
sume the title. He had a large collection of manuscripts on the subject of eoclesiastic.I 
antiquity, which be once designed to have published, and would have done so, had not 
extreme modesty prevented him. He died at_ Westminster, September 7th, 1731, aged 79. 
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that the name of him whose fame attracted students to York from u.ll parts 
of England and the Continent; of him who sung the praises of" Old Ebor," 
and the saints of its diocese, in classic verse, above a thousand years ago : of 
him to whose care was committed that priceless collection of rare and match­
less works, which rendered York the envy of the learned world; of him who 
was the preceptor of Charlemagne, and the most learned man of his age ; 
can it be possible that this venerable name, of which the people of York 
ought to be so proud, is not commemorated in connection with a literary 
society or an institution, or even with a street or lane, in the city? Yes, in­
deed, it is so! And shall it so continue? Good taste forbid it. That 
portion of the Minster Yard, in which the Cathedral Library, the DeanenJ, 
and the Ruidentiary, are situated, being now separated from the other parts 
of the precincts of the :Minster, by iron palisades, may be said to be without 
any specific name; and a gentleman of York, who entertains deep feelings 
upon the above subject, asks us if ALCUIN PLAcE would not be an appropriate 
appellation for it? We reply that it would, and we hope to see the excellent 
and tasteful suggestion realized. 

On the north side of the Cathedral, and near the befor~mentioned Archie­
piscopal Palace, stood formerly the Chapel of the Holy Sepulchre, or of St. 
Sepulchre, as it is usually called, which has a door still remaining, opening 
into the north aisle of the nave. The foundation of this chapel being very 
ancient and extraordinary, we shall present the reader with full particulars 
of it, according to Dugdale:-" Roger, Archbishop of York, having built 
against the great church a chapel, he dedicated it to the name of the Blessed 
and Immaculate Virgin Mary and Holy Angels, for the celebration of divine 
services, to the eternal honour of God, glory of his successors, and a re­
mission of his own sins. He ordained the same to be a perpetual habitation 
for thirteen clerks of different orders, viz., four priests, four deacons, four 
subdeacons, and one sacrist ; all these to be subservient to the will of the 
Archbishop, especially the sacrist, who shall be constituted procurator of the 
rents and revenues belonging to it, paying each of the priests ten marks per 
ann., for his own salary, besides the revenue of the rents that remain over, 
BDd besides what will complete the sum of all the portions of the priests, 
deacons, and subdeacons. Also he willed that the said sacrist of his own 
cost expend ten shillings on Maunday, as well in veiles, wine, ale, vessels, 
and water for washing the feet of the canons, and other poor clerks, to the 
use of these poor clerks; and also to contribute sitxteen shillings to the diet 
of the said poor clerks, that in all things the fraternity and unity of the 
church may be preserved. 

8 0 
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" And for their necessary sustenation, he of his own bounty gave them the 
churches of Everton, Sutton with Scroby chapel, Heyton, Berdesey, Otteley, 
one medety; and procured of the liberality of other faithful persons the church 
of Cahedey, ex dono Willielmi de Sooty; the church of Hoton, ez dono Wil­
lielmi Paganel; the ch•1rch of Harwood, e.x dono Avacie de Ruminilly; the 
church of Thorpe, u: dono Ade de Bruys et Ivette de Arches UZ01U B1UZ. To 
this chapel also did belong the churches of Collingham, Clareburg, and Ret­
ford. Roger provided also that the churches which were not of donation 
should be free from synodals, and all other things due to the Archbishop, his 
successors, and their officials ; and ordered that they should as quietly and 
freely hold and enjoy these churches, which are of his donation, as others 
have before them. Lastly, he ordained, for the more diligent serving of the 
chapel, that none of the said clerks should dwell out of the city, which if they 
presumed to do, they should be displaced by the Archbishop, and another of 
the same order be by him appointed.·· . 

The revenues of these churches having very much increased, Archbishop 
Sewal appointed Vicars to be established in them, and made several rules for 
the better government of the ministers, whom from thenceforth he caused to 
be called Canons. 

In the 37th of Henry Vill. it was certified in the court of augmentations, 
that the revenues of the Chapel of St. Sepulchre were of the yearly value of 
£192. 16s. 6d. The chapel was then suppressed, and its revenues seized by 
the King. In the 4th of Elizabeth (Hi53) tile tithes belonging to this chapel, 
and the chapel itself, were sold to a person of the name of Webster. In 
course of time the chapel was converted into a public house, which from an 
opening at the end of a dungeon with which the chapel was provided, was 
facetiously named" The Hole in the Wall." Having become ruinous, the 
building was taken down in 1816, and on removing the materials the work­
men came to a subtcrrancous prison or dungeon, some feet below the surface 
of the earth. The approach was by a flight of stone steps, at the bottom of 
which were two massy oak entrance doors, one against the other, each 5 feet 
7 inches high, by 2 feet 7 inches broad, and 5 inches thick. The vault was 
32 feet 5 inches in length, 0 feet 4 inches broad, and about 9t feet in height; 
the walls being 4 feet 10 inches thick. On one side were three aloping 
windows guarded with iron, and attached to the walls were the remains of 
several staples. Thill dungeon was probably used for immuring ecclesiastical 
delinquents. In the following year wns found in it the rude piece of Saxon 
sculpture already mentioned as being deposited in the ante-room of the 
Minster Library. 
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The HaU of Pua~, and prison for the Libt,.ty of St . Pete,., which stood 
nearly opposite the west end of the .Minster, was pulled down, as has already 
been observed, during the alterations about seventeen years ago. As we have 
also before remarked, there was a large arched gateway immediately facing 
Little Blake Street, which led into the :Minster Yard; and on the ground 
between the east side of that gateway, and the church of St. Michael le 
Belfrey, extended a row of low old·fashioned houses. On the west side of 
the same gateway, abtltting on the street, stood the HaU of Pua~, and what 
was called the Peter Prilon. The lower part of the building was used as the 
prison and residence of the gaoler; and in the upper story, which was reached 
by a Aight of stone steps from the Minster Yard, was a court room where 
causes in common law, arising within the jurisdiction of the liberty of St. 
Peter, were tried. The jurisdiction of this liberty was separate and exclusive, 
and bad its own magistrates, steward, clerk of the peace, bailiff, coroner, and 
constables. Four general quarter sessions used to be held in the Hall of 
Pleas, every year, "to enquire into all manner of felonies, poisoningR, iu· 
chantments, sorceries, arts magic, trespasses, &c. ; " and a court was held 
in the hall every three weeks, where pleas in actions of debt, trespass, re­
plevin, &c., to any amount whatever, arising within the liberty, were held. 

By virtue of an Act, 6 and 6 William IV., cap. 76, the Liberty of St. Peter 
of York has been abolished for all civil purposes, although its ecclesiastical 
jurisdiction continues the same. The liberty comprehends all those parts of 
the city and county of York which belong to the Cathedral or Church of St. 
Peter, viz.-in the city of York-the Minster Yard and Bedem. In the 
Ean Riding-FaxAeet, North Newbald, and South Newbald, in Hunsley 
Beacon division ; Barmby on the Moor, in Wilton Beacon division, and 
Dunnington, Heslington, and Langwith, in Ouse and Derwent Wapentake. 
In the North Riding-Carleton and Husthwaite, in Birdforth Wapentake; 
Clifton, Haxby, Gate Hemsley, Helperby, Murton, Osbaldwick, Skelton, 
Stillington, Strensall, and Warthill, in Bulmer Wapentake; Brawby, Salton, 
and Nawton, with Wambleton, in Ryedale Wapentake. In the Wut Riditl{J 
-Dringhouses, in the Ainsty; Brotherton and Ulleskelf, in Barkston Ash 
W apentake; and Knaresborough in Claro Wapentake. Besides these 27 
places and parts of places, there are within the liberty 97 detached parcels 
scattered in most of the Wapcntakes of the county. Amongst its privileges 
the inhabitants and tenants of this liberty were exempt from the payment of 
tolls throughout England, Ireland, and Wales. 

The D6MJ8TY is a spacious, commOdious, cut stone mansion, on the north 
side of the Minster Yard, between the Chapter House and the Cathedral 
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Library, erectctl in 1827, from a design of Messrs. Pritchett & Sons, of York. 
It is a pleasing architectuml object, nearly square, and is according to the 
style of the Tudor period, The west and principal front consists of four 
stories, the front bdng made into three divisions by buttresses and octagonal 
turrets at the angles, In the first story are three windows, with arched 
heads; in the middle division of the second story is an oriel window, whieb 
is continued in the third story ; the intermediate space between the two 
windows being filled with quatrefoil, panelling, roses,· &c. The other di\i· 
sions contain a square headed window on each story. A continued band 
with grotesque heads, roses, portcullis, &c., extends round the entire building, 
and the top of the edifice is battlemented. The north side is similar to the 
one just described, with th(l exception of having a noble porch instead of the 
oriel window ; and on the south side 1\ low range of buildings, containing a 
private passage to the Minster Library, connects it with the latter building. 
The whole has n very chaste and elegant appearance. 

Th~ Old Deanery HouM, which was first erected in 1090, stood on the 
south east side of the Minster Yard, on the site now occupied by the School 
of Design. 

Tl.e Rr.siM1ttiary, or Canon's residence, is situated on the north west side 
of the .Minster Precincts. It was erected in 1825-6, and is similar in size 
and form with the Deanery, but the style of architecture is later. The front 
eonsists of throo stories. In the centre of the first is an arched doorway, and 
in the centre of the second is a bow window. The third story has three 
gables, and in each is a square headed window. The east front bas in the 
ground floor and in the upper story, square projecting windows of five lights 
each, divided by buttresses; nntl some square headed windows of two lights 
each. The other sides are not visible from the Close, but are of similar 
architecture. Attached to this building is a handsome garden, which, 
together with the garden of the Deanery, is divided from the Close by a light 
railing of iron, and the portion of the cloisters of the ancient palace befon' 
noticed. The n>sidrnt canons occupy the Residentiary· alternately thrre 
months each year. 

Tile ()[d ResidMtiary is a l.trg" gloomy looking house, opposite the south 
east angle of tbr )linstm·. 

The Wills, tic. ()_{lice for the province of York, is attached to the west side 
of the south transept of the Cnlhcdml, Rnd i!! one of those extraneous 
buildings which grt>ntly .lisHgure that edifice. Prtwious to the yc.ar 188~. 

the Will Office was in a small old building which stood at the east end of I .c 
Belfry Church, but in that year the present lmilding was enlarged, and the 
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documents were moved thither. The office now consists of four rooms, one 
of which is used for searching for and examining wills or administrations. 
There is an Indez kept of the names of the testators and intestates, to whose 
representatives letters of probate or administration have been granted since 
1731. There are, however, copies of wills in it as far back as 1389. The 
fee for searching this book is one shilling. The average aumber of wills, &c., 
passing through the office in the course of a year, is about 1,600 wills, and 
650 administrations. The records of the Prerogative and Exchequer Courts 
of the diocese are also kept here. During the fires of 1829 and 1840, the 
wills were carefully removed under the protection of a detachment of soldiers. 
They were afterwards safely replaced, and no damage was sustained on either 
occasion. The building is now entirely fire proof. 

The records belonging to the courts of the Dean and Chapter are pre­
served in part of the buildings called Archbishop de Ia Zouche's Chapel. 

St. William's Colkge-considerable remains of which stand in the opening 
of College Street, right opposite the large east window of the Cathedral-ap­
pears by records to have been founded by King Henry VI. to the honour of 
St. William, Archbishop of York," for the parsons and chantry priests of the 
Cathedral to reside in ; whereas before they lived promiscuously in houses of 
laymen and women, contrary to the honour and decency of the said church, 
and their spiritual orders." The letters patent directed that this building 
should be erected "in the Close of York." It does not appear that this grant 
was put into execution ; probably the civil dissensions of the time prevented 
it. But King Edward IV., in the first year of his reign, granted other letters 
patent of the same tenor, to George Neville, Bishop of Exeter, and his 
brother Richard, Earl of Warwick, and their heirs, to found and sustain this 
college, without reciting any of the former grant, and to have the nomination 
of the provost of it for ever. This patent, which is large and full, and con­
tains all the rules and statutes to be observed by the members of the college, 
is dated at York, May 11th, 1461. The members of this college consisted 
of a provost and twenty-three chantry priests. The archway forming the 
entrance, which is a good piece of Perpendicular work, is very ancient, and 
has above it, in a niche, a dilapidated statue of St. William, between his own 
arms and those of the See; and higher up arc carved wood figures of the 
Virgin and Child, and St. Christopher. The gate to this edifice is very old, 
and contains a wicket evidently coeval with the building. The structure 
itself is chiefly Jacobean in style, forms a quadrangle, enclosing a small court 
yard ; round which are the remains of many curious wooden figures. The 
principal entrance to the interior from the court yard, is opposite the outer 
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entrance, and is by a large doorway, the ascent to which is by four stone 
steps ; and opposite the door a staircase, about eight feet wide, leads to the 
upper rooms. Several of the apartments are spacious and curious. The 
college is now let off in residences for several poor families. In 1642, during 
the residence of Charles I. at York, the royal printing presses are said to 
have been set up in one of the apartments of this college, and here were 
printed several of the political and controversial pamphlets which created so 
much sensation in that day. "From the royal printing office," says Drake, 
" were issued paper bullets, soon to be changed into more fatal weapons." 

The Bedem.-This is the name of a small street leading from Goodramgate 
to St. Andrewgate, in which was formerly a Coll8ge of Vicars Clwral, be­
longing to the Cathedral. Though this locality was not within the Minster 
Close, yet it is always classed with that district, on account of its connection. 

From an inquisition taken in the 4th of Edward L {1276), the site of the 
Bedem appears to have been given "to God, St. Peter, and the Vicars 
serving God, in pure and perpetual alms," by one William de Lunam, Canon 
of the Cathedral. There were originally thirty-six of those vicars choral, ac­
cording to the number of the prebendal stalls, each Canon having his own 
peculiar vicar to attend and officiate for him; receiving for their services the 
annual sum of 40s. each. The duty of the vicars choral, besides attending 
the daily service, was formerly to perform the offices for the dead in the dif­
ferent chapels and chantries of the Cathedral both day and night. It was 
therefore convenient to have a place near it, in which to reside. The chan­
tries and obits, from which the vicars choral derived their support, being 
dissolved, their number is now reduced to five. The whole college and site 
of the Bedem was sold in the 2nd of Edward VI. to Thomas Goulding and 
others, for £1,{}24. lOs. ld., but this sale was disannulled, and it was given 
to the Dean and Chapter of the Cathedral. 

The Bedern Cluipel, which is still standing, was founded in 1348, and 
dedicated to the Holy Trinity, the Blessed Virgin, and St. Katherine; but it 
is no longer used for the general services of tbe church, but is confined to 
the baptism of children and churching of women ; though up to about four 
years ago divine service was performed in it every Wednesday. The exterior 
of the edifice is very plain. The aide abutting on the street has a pointed 
doorway, and three square-headed windows, with a plain vacant niche; the 
other side of the building bas four square-headed windows; and on the roof 
is a small wooden bell turret. The interior still Jetains its ancient furniture, 
though in a dilapidated state. The altar piece is curious; consisting of panel­
ling of pointed architecture in wood, with crockets, pinnacles, &c. ; and 

Digitized by Go ogle 



ANCIENT RELIGIOUS HOUSES OF YORK. 471 

there are some ancient wooden stalls, and an old octagonal stone font on o. 
circular pedestal. 

The old Collegiate Hall, where the 'icars usually dined in common, is now 
converted into dwellings, and po.rts of the ancient outer walls of the edifice, 
with the evident remains oF Gothic windows, and other vestiges of former 
days, may yet be traced on the south side of the buildings behind the houses 
that abut on the street a little beyond the chapel. 

The Bedem clearly owes its name to the circumstance of its being the 
residence of the vicars choral. Bede was formerly used for the verb to pray, 
and Erne implies a solitary place or detached dwelling; so that Bedern evi­
dently signifies a cloister set apart for one or more religious to dwell in. 

The Bedem is the presumed site of a part of the Roman imperial palace, 
or of the baths connected with the palace. When the Bedem was in its 
prosperity, there were gates to enclose the whole opening into Goodramgate ; 
and a porter's lodge stood on one side. Up to the year 1852 the Bedem had 
the appearance of a long narrow court or yard, having no outlet but at one 
end-in Goodramgat&-but recent improvements have formed it into a 
street, which connects Goodramgate with St. Andrewgate. 

In the vicissitudes of human events this once splendid seat of Roman 
grandeur and imperial honour, and subsequently of ecclesiastical splendour, 
is now the sad receptacle of poverty and wretchedness-the poorest of the 
Irish emigrants being its chief inhabitants. During the progress of the im­
provements here in 1852, a number of coins were found concealed in an old 
flower-pot and coffee-pot. They were principally of the reigns of Elizabeth, 
James I., and Charles I. ' 

~ntitnf ~tligious JJousts, &c. 
·sT. LEONARD's HosPITAL.-This Hospital, which was the most ancient 

religious institution in York, and one of the noblest foundations of the kind 
in Britain, was founded by the Anglo-Saxon King, Athelstan, in A.D. 936, 
under the following circumstances :-In an expedition to Scotland, that 
monarch visited three religious places-Beverley, Durham, and York-where 
he solicited the benefit of their devout prayers on his behalf, promising that 
if be succeeded well therein he would abundantly recompense them for the 
same. Having obtained a decisive victory over Constantine, the Scottish 
King, Athelstan returned to York, where he offered his hearty thanks to God 

• 
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in the Cathedral. He there obse"ed certain religious men then called 
Cokdei, who relieved many poor people out of their slender means; and to 
enable these people better to sustain the poor, as well as to fulfil his royal 
promise, he granted to God, St. Peter, and the said Coledei, and their suc­
cessors for ever, certain emoluments accruing to the Crown in the bishopric 
of York. This grant consisted of" one thrave of corn out of every carucate 
of land, or every plough going, within the bishopric of York, and which to 
this day is called Peter corn." This com rent, which was then given to the 
Coledei, had been originally granted to the Crown for the encouragement of 
persons who employed themselves in destroying the wolves, which were then 
so numerous that they overran the country and devoured the cattle of the 
villages. Possessed of this income, and a piece of waste ground which also the 
King gave them, the Coledei founded for themselves an Hospital in the city of 
York. William the Conqueror, and his successor Wmiam Rufus, confirmed 
and enlarged the endowment. The lattt.r monarch removed the site of the 
Hospital to the place where the ruins now stand. He likewise built them a 
small church, which was dedicated, as the Hospital bad been, to St. Peter. 
Henry I granted to them the close extending from their house to the river 
Ouse; confirmed to the Hospital certain other lands; freed them from gelds 
and customs ; and granted to them the liberties of sac, soc, tol, theme, and 
infangtbeof. And as a more particular mark of his favour, Henry also took 
to himself the name of a brother and warden of this hospital ; " Frater enim 
et custos ejusdem domus Dei sum." When the Hospital was burnt down in 
1137, King Stephen rebuilt it in a more magnificent manner, and caused it 
to be dedicated to God in honour of St. Leonard, and it was ever after called 
HospitaliB 8. Leo11ardi. This King caused Nigel, Mayor of York, to deliver 
up a certain place near the west walls of the city, to receive the poor and 
lame; and he confirmed the thraves, which then were "all the oats which 
hnd been used to be gathered betwixt the river of Trent and Scotland, for 
finding the King's hounds, which was twenty fair sheaves of com of each 
plow-land by the year, and appointed the Dean and Canons of the Cathedral 
church to gather them for the relief of the said Hospital." 

The privileges and possessions of this Hospital were confirmed by Henry 
II., King .John, and several succeeding monarchs, and much enlarged by the 
munificence and piety of several noblemen and others. King John ratified 
its possessions by charter, and also granted to the brethren timber for their 
buildings, wood for fuel, and pasturage for their cattle, through his whole 
forest of Yorkshire. In the 27th of Edward I . (1299) that monarch granted 
to the "Master and Brethren of St. Leonard's Hospital," liberty to take down 
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the wall of the said Hospital, which extended from Blake Street to Bootham 
Bar, and to set up a new wall for enlarging the court of it. In the 2nd of 
Henry VI. (1424) all the confirmations, privileges, charters, &c. of this Hos­
pital--&nd they were unusually numerous--were sanctioned by Act of Par­
liament. Though this Hospital was in the collation of the Dean and Chapter 
of York, they were not subject to any visitor but the King or his deputies. 
The number of i~ inmates, according to Drake, was QO ; viz.-a master or 
warden, 18 brethren, 4 secular priests, 8 sisters, 30 choristers, 2 school­
masters, 26 headmen, and 6 servitors. Thomas Magnus was the Master at 
the dissolution, when the revenues were valued at £862. Us. lid., equal, it 
is probable, to nearly £2,000. at the present time. The advowson was 
granted by the King, in 1554, to Sir Arthur Darcy and Sir Thomas Clifford, 
knights, and John Bolles, gent., their executors and assigns. The coucher 
book belonging to the Hospital has been deposited in the Cottonian library. 
The site of the house bas passed through numerous hands. It was early 
devoted by the Archbishops of York to the erection of their mint, and from 
this circumstance the area bad long been called the Mint Yard. Mter 
passing through various hands, the whole property devolved to George, Lord 
Saville, Viscount Halifax ; and being extra-parochial, an attempt was made 
in 1687 to establish a mart there, which was prevented by the city by a writ 
of atl quod damnum. Fearful that the attempt to establish a mart might be 
renewed, the Corporation purchased the whole premises. buildings, and privi­
leges, connected therewith, in 1675, for the sum of £800.; and the premises 
were divided and let out on lease. Since then the Theatre, the handsome 
crescent called St. Leonard's Place, and several commodious houses, stables, 
&c., haTe been erected. 

The chief exi.tning remains of this interesting establishment stand imme· 
diately within the entrance to the gardena of the Yorkshire Philosophical 
Society's Museum. They consist of what in all probability were the ambu­
latory and chapel of the infirmary of the Hospital, and are commonly called 
the Cloiaters of St. Leona:rd.'s Hospital. The portion of this cloister standing 
is in a pretty perfect state, and is well deserving the notice of the antiquarian. 
The style of architecture is Early Norman, and it is the finest specimen of 
that fashion of building in the city. It now consists of three aisles, divided 
by octagonal pillars, with a small abacus or capital, from which spring the 
ribs that support the groined roof. Against the wall, at the north end of the 
cloister, is a large but ancient stone statue, supposed to represent St. Leo­
nard. The figure is seated in a chair, having drapery over its shoulders, and 
the head exhibiting the tonsure of a monk. It was formerly placed over the 

3 p 
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old gateway of the Hospital. A great part of the old walls of the Hospital 
·were taken down in March, 1782, for the purpose of admitting carriages to 
the theatre in the Mint Yard; and again in 1882, when St. Leonard's Place 
was formed. When these alterations were made, several beautiful old arches 
belonging to the Hospital were exhibited to view, and were consequently 
doomed to give place to the modem improvements. 

In his remarks on the remains of St. Leonard's Hospital, Mr. Wellbelol"ed 
aays, "the covered cloister, or ambulatory, appears to have consisted of five 
or perhaps six aisles, in two of which was a large fire-place; for the benefit, 
no doubt, of the infirm and sickly, for whose use the ambulatory was de­
signed. The exterior aisle, on the side towards the Multangular Tower, was 
most probably enclosed by a wall. Above the ambulatory were the chambers 
or wards of the infirmary, adjoining to which is the beautiful small chapel, 
opening to the chamber, so that the sick persons who were confined to their 
beds might have the comfort of witnessing the celebration of the divine 
offices. The eastern end of the chapel indicates the period of its erection, 
the style of the architecture being that of the early part of the 18th century.* 
The ambulatory belongs to rather an earlier age. How access was obtained 
to the chamber and the chapel does not clearly appear, there being no remains 
of a staircase. A<ljoining the ambulatory is the ancient entrance into the 
Hospital from the river, oil the bank of which was a staith, or wharf, appro­
priated to the Hospital, called St. Leonard's Landing; and adjoining to this 
entrance, on the site of the present street, there was another aisle, the use of 
which is not known. The staircase leading to the infirmary and the chapel, 
of which there are no traces remaining, may have been at the northern eod 
of it. Of the use to which the room under the chapel, unconnected with 
any other, was applied, no satisfactory account can be given."t At the 
northern end of the cloisters are the remains of two rows of pillars, ranged 
parallel to the Roman wall, which here rune from the cloisters to the Mul­
tangular Tower. Mr. W ellbeloved cannot give a satisfactory account of this 
portion of the ruin, but be thinks it highly probable that there are the re­
mains of corresponding pillars, by which an aisle bad been formed in the 
adjacent ground, which is not in the possession of the Philosophical Society. 

For agee were the beautiful ruins of this religious establishment completely 

• This chapel appears to have been solely for the accommodation of the sick, and it 
is very probable that there also was a church belonging to the hospital. All arch foODd 
in the excavations for St. Leonard's Place, and which is now deposited in the Mneeum, 
is supposed, by the Rev. Curator of Antiquities, to have belonged to that church. 

t Descriptive Account of the Antiquities in the Grounds of the Museum. 
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en-veloped in old buildings, and no idea had been entertained of their ex­
istence. When Allen wrote, in 18~9, the cloisters were occupied as wine 
"V&ulta; they now form one of the most interesting relics in the city, of 
times that were ; and affords another e-vidence of the great anxiety of the 
Philoeophical Society to preser-ve the antiquities of this ancient city, for 
it wu they that cleared these cloisters from the buildings with which they 
were surrounded, and by annexing them to their already spacious grounds, 
protected them from further injury. 

ST. MuY's ABBEY.:_Thif\ once noble and magnificent Abbey, which for 
nearly fi-ve centuries maintained so high a rank among the religious estab­
liehmenta of this country, was situated on the north side of the city, on a 
fine spot of ground nearly square, which sloped gently from without Bootham 
Bar to the ri-ver Ouse. Ita early history is in-volved in much obscurity, and 
it is difticult to reconcile the scattered notices of it found in some of the 
oldest and most respectable of our ecclesiastical historians, with the inter­
eating narrative of ita origin by the first Abbot, Stephen de Whitby, happily 
preaerved by one of his successors, Simon de Warwick. According to Ingul­
phua there was a monastery here before the Conquest, founded by Siward, a 
noble Dane and Earl of Northumberland, and in which he was interred in 
1056; and Hoveden, noticing the burial of Siward a year earlier, calls the 
monastery Galmanho. Ingulphus, in another page of his history, speaking 
of the "comprofeesi " who came from other monasteries for the hospitalities 
of Croyland, in 1076, names six monks of "S. Maria! Eboracum." Bishop 
Tanner observes that it no where else appears that there were then any 
religious of that denomination in the city ; and Burton makes a similar 
assertion ; but notwithstanding the opinion of these two' learned authori­
ties, it seems certain that the Abbey was founded and built in the reign 
of the Conqueror, and his successor William Rufus, on a site "which some 
religious bad before occupied." The Rev. C. Wellbeloved, of York, in an 
interesting account of the Abbey, addressed to the Society of Antiquarians 
of London,* says, "The monastery of St. Mary, and the monastery of Gal· 
manho were the same; the former appellation denoting the patron saint to 
whom it wu dedicated, the latter the place in which it was situated. And 
further, the monastery of which Hoveden and Ingulphus write, and which 
Elfwin restAlred, was undoubtedly the same as that which was founded anew 
by William Rufus ; for Hoveden has not only told us of the restoration of an 
Abbey at York, dedicated to St. Mary, by Elfwin, but he has preser-ved the 

• Printed b7 the Society, with numerous "rieWI iD the Vetul& Monument&, vol. "· 
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names of the four first Abbots-Stephen, Richard, Gaufrid, and Severinus; 
during the goven1ment of the last of whom he himself flourished: and these 
wore the Abbots who presided over the monastery which claims William ll. 
as its most distinguished, if not its earliest benefactor. Leland enables us to 
account for the appellation Galmanbo; for, speaking of the last establishment, 
he describes it as being built without the walls of York, at or near the place 
where the dirt of the city was deposited, and criminals execured. Now the 
common instrument of execution, the gallows, was in Saxon called galga : 
and thence, as Lye has shown, Galman and ~manho were derived."* 

Drake, in his Eboracum, says " there is great reason and authority for 
supposing that there was a monastery standing at or near the site of this 
Abbey in the time of the Danes and Saxons : that it was built by Siward, 
the vo.liant Earl of Nortbumbria. and that be was buried in it. The monas­
tery was at that time dedicated to St. 014t7e, the Danish King and martyr; 
and, indeed, it retained that name even after William the Conqueror had re­
founded it, till, by William II., it was changed to that of St. Mary:· 

To sum up the several accounts of the origin of this Abbey, it seems very 
probable that about the year 1050, Earl Siward, who was as famous for his 
goodness and piety as he was for his valour, began to eroot a monastery here; 
but that be proceeded no further than the building of the church of the 
establishment, which he dedicated to St. Olave, and in which be is said to 
have been buried. But the monastery itself appears not to have been begun, 
or if begun, not so far advanced at the death of Siward as to be occupied by 
any religious persons. 

" The premature decease of the founder, and the state of anarchy and COD· 

fusion into which the province that he bad governed, with almost ~ 
authority, immediately fell,·· says Mr. Wellbeloved, "appear to have prevent.ed 
the completion of the work, and it remained in its unfinished condition till 
the arrival of the Norman Conqueror. Six years after the Conquest three 
zealous monks, Aldwin<', Elfwine, and Reinfrid, from the Abbey at Evesham, 
came into the North with the view of reviving the monastic life there, almost. 
extinct through the long continn('d violence of the Danish invaders. Having 
been very successful in their misRion on the banks of the Tyne, Reinfrid 
came south\VardR to Strean..,shalh fWhith~·), where still remained the ruins 
of a Saxon convent, founrlcrl h)· :-it. HildA . Hew he was allowed by Earl 
Perci, to whom this fee bclon~ro . to build a Priory (aftc•rwat·ds the Abbey of 
Whitby), and was soon joinerl hy Rev-:>rnl who hRrl rlrvotcd themseh·es to a 

• Lye, Diet. Sax. in n•rb. 01\lmtmho. 
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monastic life. Among these was one named Stephen, to whom the govern­
ment of the Priory was committed."* 

This Stephen was the first Abbot, as well as the historian of St. Mary's; 
and he appears to justify the assertion of Burton and Tanner, for he takes 
no notice of any prior establishment, excepting the church of St. Olave. 
From his narrative we learn that be, Stephen, had been Prior of the convent 
of Whitby; but that he and some of his monks having given some offence to 
Earl Perci, were forcibly expelled from that place, and took refuge at Lasting· 
bam, in the eastern moors, where a religious bouse bad been established in 
the Saxon times. From the latUir place they were also driven by the same 
powerful Baron. In this affiicting state their condition was commiserated 
by Alan, Earl of Richmond and of Bretagne, who in 1078 gave them the 
church of St. Olave, founded by Siward, near the city of York, and four acres 
of land !Uijoining, to build suitable offices upon. He also obtained for them 
the licence and aid of the King to found a religious establishment, and to 
complete what Siward had left unfinished. 

Thomas, the Norman Archbishop, for some cause or other, conceived a 
violent dislike towards this new monastic fraternity, and forthwith com­
menced a suit against Earl Alan for appropriating the four acres of land, 
which he alleged were his property; whereupon William the Conqueror, to 
compose the difference, promised the Archbishop other lands in lieu of them, 
and so the affair ceased for a time. This hostile relation between these two 
branches of the church does not appear to have at all rotarded the prosperity 
of the new establishment, for in 1088 William II., being at York, visited the 
monastery," and seeing that the building was too strait and narrow, he pro­
jected a larger, and with his own hand first opened the ground for laying 
the foundation of the church of the monastery."+ An ancient parchment, 
formerly presened in St. Mary's Tower, daUis the foundation in 1089, when 
the dedication of the church was changed from St. Olave to St. Mary. The 
monastery erected, the royal founder endowed it with several lands " free 
from all legal exaction for ever;" Earl Alan having previously given the 
monks the hamlet of Marygate, then called Earlsborough (doubtless frotn the 
rank of its owner), upon the same conditions ; "and not long after our good 
friend Alan dying,'' says the annalist, "the King, for the sake of his souJ, 

• Descriptive Account of the Antiquities in the Grounds of the Museum. 
' 

t " There ia evidence in what remains of the entrance to the Chapter House, and in 
many of the carved fragments that have been recently diainterred, that the buildings of 
the monastery were not completed prior to the reign of Stephen; perl1aps not so early." 
-Rtv. C. Wellhlowd. 
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gave us the towns of Clifton and Overton, which were of his demesne." At 
the foundation of William II., as has already been ob&erved, the monastery 
received the title of the " Abbey of St. Mary at York; " and in that moo­
arch's charter, various lands are enumerated which had been bestowed upon 
the monks by the Conqueror, his predecessor. From this time the mwilli­
cence and piety of princes and nobles enriched the Abbey so that it soon 
became opulent. 

Archbishop Thomas, subsequent to the increased endowment of the monu­
tery, renewed his claim for the four acres of land; whereupon Stephen, the 
Abbot, appealed to the King in a full council of the nation, held at Gloucester, 
and the suit was finally settled. The immunities and privileges granted to 
this Abbey by William and his successors, Kings of England, were very 
great. By King William's charter, the lands of the Abbey were exempt from 
all regal exactions ; and in case the sheriff or his officers had any complaint 
against the tenants o( St. Mary's, they were first to acquaint the Abbot 
therewith, and at an appointed time to come to the gates of the Abbey, and 
there receive justice and right; and moreover, the " homines sancte Marie " 
were exempt from attendance on juries, or at the county courts, as well as at 
the meetings of the Ridings, Wapentakes, and Hundreds. 

It is recorded that the Minster and Abbey were consumed by fire in the 
reign of King Stephen, in 1187, when the greater part of the city was burnt 
down ; but Mr. W ellbeloved, who has had good opportunities of judging, saya, 
" if either of these buildings suffered from the fire at the time, the injury, it 
is probable, was of no great extent." 

According to Dugdale, Abbot Simon de Warwick undertook the erection of 
a new and enlarged church in 1270. Sitting in his chair, with trowel in hia 
hand, the whole convent standing about him, be laid the first stone, and 
lived to see the work completed. The rebuilding of the other parts of the 
Abbey doubtless followed, but there is no record of the works extant. Simon 
de Warwick is said also to have built the walls and towers surrounding the 
close of the Abbey. 

King Henry IT., by his charter, confirmed the privileges granted to the 
Abbey by William II., adding to them certain liberties and customs which 
had before been peculiar to the churches of St. Peter at York and St. John 
of Beverley ; ordaining also that when the men of the county were summoned 
to serve in the King's army, the Abbot of this monastery should find a man 
to carry the banner or standard of St. Mary, in the same manner as other 
great churches sent their banners. 

The immunities granted by the charters of William IT. and Henry D. 
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were confirmed by nearly every succeeding Sovereign to the time of Henry 
vm., and even that monarch, in the first yt:ar of his reign, by a large 
charter, confirmed all the liberties of the convent. In consequence of the 
extensive and extravagant powers and privileges which the Abbey possessed, 
considerable animosity long existed between the citizens and the monks or their 
tenants or dependants, and acts of violence sometimes ensued. In 1262 the 
citizens slew several of their men, and burned a number of their houses out 
of Bootham Bar; and a reconciliation was not effected till Simon, the Abbot, 
p6id £100. as a peace offering to the enraged party; and be was so terrified, 
that be left his monastery for more than a year. Soon after this the Abbot 
obtained permission of the King to build a wall on each unprotected side of 
the Abbey, the rampart of earth by which it had been previously enclosed not 
being sufficient to protect it from the hostile attacks of the citizens, as well 
as for a better defence against the incursions of the Scots ; hence arose the 
high wall adjoining to Bootbam and Marygate. The annals of the convent 
thus partieularises these walls, which were constructed with battlements, 
towers, and a wooden gallery within, and completed in 1266. From Bootham 
Bar to Marygate Tower,* 194 yards; from Marygate Tower to Lendal 
Tower abutting upon the river Ouse, 420 yards; from the West Tower to the 
tower on the south, 246 yards; and from thence by the rampart of the city 
to Bootham Bar, 420 yards. The whole circumference of the enclosed area 
was nearly three quarters of a mile. 

The religious of this Abbey were Black Monks of the Order of St. Bene­
diet, and had a paalter compiled for the especial use of their convent. It 
was agreed upon and published in 1390, and the original volume is now in 
the library of Jesus College, Cambridge. The superior was a mitred Abbot, 
and as such bad a seat in parliament, which entitled him to the dignified 
appellation of "my lord." The Abbot of Selby and himself were the only 
two in the north of England who enjoyed this distinction. The Archbishop 

• The circular tower at the north-eut angle of the Abbey walls, at the eorner of 
Marygate, in Bootham, ia called St. JIIJf'Y'' TotHr. In it were pJaoed, after the Be­
formation, the ancient recorda of all the religious houaee north of the Trent, under the 
charge of the Lord President of the North. It was likewise the deposit for some of the 
royal recorda of chancery, until the siege of York in 1M4, when the tower was blown 
ap, and many valuable document& were partly destroyed, and partly buried in the rains. 
The date of this building ie uncertain, though it ia probably the work of the Abbot, 
Simon de Warwick. Mr. Dodsworth, in hie preparations for the original edition of the 
Jl-ticoft, before he was joined by Dugdale, had made numerous transcript& from the 
recorda preserved in this tower, which were &ftenrarde presented to the Bodleian Li­
bi'U)', Oxford, by Thomu Lord Fairtu. 
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of York, for the time being, had power, once a year, to visit St. Mary's Abbey 
for the purpose of correcting or reforming, by the council of the brethren, 
and by some of his canons, any abuses that might be introduced. 

The Lord Abbot possessed several splendid country houses, the principal 
of which were at Deighton and Overton villages, about three miles distant; 
and his town residence was near St. Paul's Wharf, London. He had also 
a spacious park at Benningbrough, which was always well stocked with 
game ; and whenever he travelled abroad in his ecclesiastical character, his 
retinue was nearly as sumptuous as that of the Archbishop, to whom he was 
very little inferior in other respects. Thus did all go well with this famous 
Benedictine Abbey till the reign of Henry VITI., when alas! all its beauty, 
splendour, riches, and power, could not save it from its impending doom. 
The commissioners were despatched to take an inventory of its effects, and 
that enormous spoliation, that is veiled under the soft word diuolutil:m, 
soon followed. 

In 1540, when it was surrendered to the King, the establishment consisted 
of fifty monks, including the Abbot, Prior, and Sub· Prior, and probably about 
150 servants. The last Abbot, William Thornton, or William Dent, ob­
tained a pension of 400 marks per annum, for the readiness with which he 
obeyed the King's commands. The value of the revenues, according to Dug­
dale, amounted to £1,550. 7s. 9d. per annum. Speed says £2,085. Is. 5fd., 
"which," observes Drake," considering that these computations were then 
usually made by those that had a mind to be purchasers, and the difference 
of money then and now, the bare rents of the lands would amount to an in­
conceivable value at this day." In the Valor of the 26th of Henry VITI. 
(1585), however, the total clear yearly income of the monastery was rated at 
£2,091. 4s. 7td.; and the clear annual value at £1,650. Os. 7td.-an enor­
mous sum in those days. 

This Abbey had six cells or branch establishments, viz.-the Priory of St. 
Bees, or Bega, in Cumberland, valued at the dissolution at £148. 17s. 2}d.; 
the Priory of St. Constantine, at Wetherall, in the same county, valued at 

£117. lls. 10fd.; St. Martin's, near Richmond, valued at £43. 16s. 8d.; 
the Priory of R{)mburch, in Cambridgeshire, no valuation ; the Priory of 
Sandtoft, in Lincolnshire, no valuation ; and the cell of St. Mary Magdalt1n, 
near the city of Lincoln. 

T1ts Anns of St. Mary's Abbey are, az. on a cross gu., a bezant charged with 
the demi-figure of o. King, crowned, and holding; a key in the first quarter. 
In the procession roll to Parliament in 1512, the key is wanting. 

In the Eboracum Drake has given an engraving of a very ancient and rude 
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seal of this Abbey, appendant to a deed of the time of Edward IV. The 
figure of the Blessed Virgin and Infant Saviour in her lap forms the device. 
In the office of the Duchy of Lancaster is a seal of Abbot &bert, to a deed 
without a date, but apparently of the 13th century. It represents an abbot 
at full length; in his right hand a crozier, in his left a book ; legend, Sr­
OILLVll &BERTI ABBATIS BEATE MARIE EBoR. In the Augmentation 
office is a deed made by Abbot William of York, dated 5th of Edward IV. 
(1466), which has appended to it the official seal of the Abbot. The subject 
is two female figures in two compartments, with two Gothic canopies ; and 
all that remains of the legend is SIGILLVlf PBIVATUlf. There is another 
seal of this Abbey in the Chapter House of Westminster, appendant to an 
instrument of the 21st of Henry VIII. (1530.) It is a large oval seal of the 
then Abbot, mitred, but without a crozier, standing between two shields of 
arms, under a rich Gothic canopy. At the feet, between two tassels, is 
another shield of arms, and underneath is a fish placed horizontally. Le· 
gend, 8. Dni. Edmundi. Whalley. Abbati.. Ecck.BU. Beate. Marie. Ju:eta._Eixw. 

ABBOTS OF ST. MARY'S , YORK. 

DIED A.D. 

1.-St.lphen de Whitby . •• .. • . • • •• • 1112 
2.-Richard ... .. ... .. .. ... . . ... 1131 
3.-Godtrid ••• ••• •• . • •. .. . ..• . •. . 1132 
•.-savaricus •• • • •• ••••••. • .•.. . • 1161 
6.-Clement • • .•.••• •• ••. • • •• •.• 1184 
6.-Robert de Harpham •... .. .. .• 1189 
7 .-Robert de Longo Campo .. . .. • 1239 
8.-William de Rondela •.. • .. ••. . 1244 
!).-Thomas de Warthill ...•... . . . 1268 

10.-Simon de Warwick . • .•.••• • ••• 1296 
H.-Benedict de Malton .•.• . . •• . • 1303 
12.--John de Gylling .... •• . • ... ••• 1313 
13.-Allan de Nesse • .••..•. ••.. • • •• 1331 
U .-Thomas de Multon •• . •••• • • •• • 1:169 
16.-William Marreys or Mareys ..•• 1382 

DIED A.D. 

16.-William Brydford, D.D . ... . ... . 1389 
17.-Thomas Stayngreve . .. .. . .... 1398 
18.-Thomas Pigot . . . . ....... . .. .. 1406 
19.-Thomas de Spoft'orth • . •. • .. .. 
20.-William Dalton •. •. ... • . ••.• . 1423 
21.-William Wellyst . •• • ..... .• . • . 
22.-Roger Kirkeby ..• .. .....• .•• .. 1438 
23.--John Cottingham . • .. .•••. . •. 1464 
24.-Thomas Bothe .• • .. .••• ... . • 1486 
26.-William Severf • .•. .• .. •• .. •• 
26.-Robert Warhop or Wanhop .. • . 1607 
27.-Edmund Thornton ••.••.... • • • 1621 
28.-Edmund Walley or Whalley . •• • 1630 
29.-William Thornton (or Dent) con. 

tinned till the dissolution. 

To account for the rapid destruction of the many splendid monastic edifices 
in this country, which though shorn of their ancient glories, are still "Great 
in· ruin, and noble in decay," it must be borne in mind that at their dissolu· 
tion the large establishments were for the most P&:rt granted by the:King to 

• In 1422 he was translated to the See of Hereford. 
+ In 1436 he was consecrated Bishop of Rochester. 

: In 1602 he was translated to the See of Durham. 
3 Q 
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noble or wealthy families, in consideration of service, or of payment of a sum 
of money ; and that it was not unnatural for the new owners, under the ap­
prehensions excited by the unsettled state of the &formation, to hasten and 
complete the work of demolition, which religious zeal had begun. The Abbey 
of St . .Mary was retained by the Crown, yet it shared in the fate which 
befel the greater part of the religious house8 in England at that period. 
Soon after the monks vacated it, an order for its destruction was issued, with 
directions to erect on its site out of the ruins, a residence for the Lord Presi­
dents of the ~ortb, to be called the King's Manor, in order" that the very 
name and memory of the Abbey might be lost for ever." The site chosen 
for this edifice was that of the south transept of the church, and the buildings 
of the Abbey, which extended from the transept to nearly the wall of the 
Abbey close, including the Chapter House, with its vestibule; also the 
library, the scriptorium, and several other rooms, the use of which is not 
known. In fact it stood on the ground now occupied by the Yorkshire Mu­
seum, but it extended over a greater space; and in the lower apartments of 
the Museum may now be seen a portion of the foundations of the front wall 
of this mansion, with the fire-place of the room of the Abbey, through which 
the wall was carried. The two fine vaults at the end of the play-ground of 
the School for the Blind likewise belonged to this residence. These cellars, 
which are arched with stone, and measure 129 feet long by 28 feet wide, and 
11 feet high, and in each of which is a well of excellent water, stand beneath 
the ruins of the kitchen and other domestic offices of that mansion, and are 
erroneously stated by some to have been the cellars of St. Mary's Abbey. 
(See page 843.) 

In 1701 such of the buildings of the Abbey as still remained were grantai 
by William III. to the magistrates of the county, to be employed in the erec­
tion of the county gaol, or what are called the "Old Buildings" of York 
Castle. In 1705 the neighbouring church of St. Olave was extensh·ely 
repaired from the same quarter; and in 1717 the Corporation of BeYerley 
was allowed to carry away, during the space of three years, as much stone as 
was required for the restoration of Beverley Minster. In the supply of mate­
rials for these and some minor \vorks, the decayed part of the Manor Palace, 
the wall by the river, with those buildings of the monastery which bad ~ot 
before been destroyed, almost totally disappeared. Large quantities of the 
hallowed stone of the conventual church were even burnt into lime upon the 
spot, and conveyed to different parts of the country. 

"That after such repeated and extensive spoliations one stone should bt> 
left standing upon another, to mark the spot on which this once splendid 
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establishment flourished, is a matter of pleasing astonishment," writes 1\fr. 
Allen, "that no more remains must ever be deeply regretted by all who are 
capable of forming any just conception, from the little that violence and time 
have spared, of the exquisite taste and unrivalled elegance that distinguished 
the original structure. Unaided by those circumstances which usually RC· 

company, and throw an indescribable charm around the mouldering monu· 
ments of ancient piety, the ruins of the conventual church of St. Mary have 
afforded a favourite subject for the pencil of the artist, and gratified even the 
most fastidious lover of the picturesque. • No one ever visited York with any 
curiosity to behold the relics of its former greatness and splendour, and con· 
templated without admiration a scene which familiarity deprives not of the 
power to interest and delight. No lover of ancient ecclesiastical architecture 
ever walked over that part of the close of the monastery of St. Mary acces· 
sible to the visitant, without thinking of the once magnificent refectory, the 
retired cloister, the splendid Chapter House, on the site of which he was 
treading, without feeling an earnest wish that the research, which had been 
attended with so much success at Whalley and at Jervaulx, might here also 
be undertaken ; or, without indulging the confident hope that it would be as 
amply rewarded by curious and valuable discoveries. A fortunate concur­
rence of circumstances has at length realized such wishes, justified such a 
hope, and added to our meo.ns of investigating the economy of monastic 
establishments:"* 

Mr. Allen here alludes to the grant from the Crown which the Yorkshire 
Philosophical Society received in 1827, of nearly three acres of ground within 
the ancient precincts of the Abbey, including the remains of the Abbey 
church, with the exception of the choir; and to the subsequent excavations 
canied on by that body, by which the ground plan of the monastic buildings, 
intersected by the massive foundations of the Manor Palace, were discovered 
and laid bare. This Society selected as the site of tlte building for their 
Museum, &c., the !(pot upon which the front part of the Lord President's 
mansion had formerly stood, and which at an earlier period had been occupied 
by the range of the buildings and apartments of the Abbey. Upon removing 
the rubbish, and opening the ground, considerable portions of the walls of 
the monastery, of spacious and elegant doorways, of columns of varied forms, 
rising to the height of five or six feet, standing as they did before the Abbey 
was dismantled, were brought to light. In the intervening spaces were scat­
tered numberless fragments of capitals, mouldings, and rich tracery work. 

• History of Yorkshire, Book iii., page !liO. 
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Of similar materials the foundation walls of the palace, upon being broken 
up, were found t.o consist. "Not an hour passed," says Allen, "without 
bringing to light some long-buried beautiful specimens of the art and fancy 
of the monastic sculptor, some memorial of departed splendour, to gratify the 
eye, to exercise the imagination, to send back the thoughts to times and per· 
sons, and manners, long passed away." 

The Rev. C. Wellbeloved, the late E. Strickland, Esq., and a few lovers 
of antiquarian research, raised a subscription for the purpose of extending 
the excavations beyond what was necessary for the foundations of the M u­
seum, and when this sum was exhausted the Council of the society undertook 
the completion of the work so happily begun ; and thus was discovered the 
situation and extent of the chief buildings that composed this splendid 
monastic establishment. 

The church of the Abbey was Sil feet in length, and 60 feet in breadth. 
It was cruciform in shape, with a central tower. That picturesque ruin, 
which consists of a part of the north wall of the nave, containing the spaces 
of eight windows, and portions of the clustered columns at each end of the 
nave, is all the remains of that splendid edifice. The tracery, and in some 
of the windows the mullions, have entirely disappeared. The nave and choir 
had two side aisles, the transepts had only one aisle, on the eastern aide. 
There waa only one entrance to the nave at the western end, on the northern 
side was another doorway, and on the southern side, near the transept, was an 
entrance from the quadrangle, and probably there was another from the western 
end near the dormitory. The remains of the western front of the church 
must have been, in its perfect state, exceedingly beautiful. It was divided 
into three divisions by buttresses, crowned with turrets or spires and crocketro 
pinnacles. The ornaments about the doorway have been singularly elegan'­
chaste, and graceful. In the deep hollow moulding between every column 
is figured the shoot of a vine, rising from the bottom and forming at the top 
a foliated capital. At the eastern end of the nave are the remains of the four 
piers that supported the central tower. The extent of the transepts is also 
shewn by the remaining bases of the pillars. Of the choir (which was of 
unusual length) nothing is left but the bases of the pillars and walls. This 
portion of the ruin is in the grounds of the School for the Blind, which 
adjoin the Museum gardens. The general style of the ruin is Deoorated, 
and it certaiuly forms a very interesting specimen of tho time of Henry ill. 
This church, when perfect, must have almost rivalled the Minster in beauty. 
Sufficient yet remains of the ruins of the Abbey to carry the mind back to 
other times, and to indicate the labours and the resting place of the first 
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Abbot, Stephen de Whitby, who died in 1112, and whose supposed tombstone, 
thus inscribed, is seen in a small court east of the ruins of the church; Hw 
JAcET: STEPANS AB. B. JsPN. This stone, which measures 6 feet 2! inches 
long, by 2 feet lt inches wide, and 7 inches thick, is much mutilated, and 
the inscription is scarcely legible. The great quadrangle, in its usual situ­
ation on the south side of the nave, was probably furnished with a pent­
house cloister on every side. 

In the western cloister the school of the monastery was usually kept; and 
near this side fragments of painted tiles were found, having on them the letters 
of the alphabet jn characters of the 14th century, which were read from right 
to left. 

There are no remains of the Chapter House of the Abbey, but the lowest 
portion of the foundations, built of grit stone, and therefore probably be­
longing to the structure of Stephen. All above the foundation seems to have 
been removed to make room for the spacious cellars of the Lord President's 
residence, the walls of which evidently contain many of the finely-sculptured 
stones that adorned this once magnificent apartment. The approach to the 
Chapter House from the quadrangle was through a beautiful vestibule, sup­
ported by two rows of pillars. 

A range of four arches formed the entrance to the vestibule and tlte ad­
joining passage from the cloister. There is nothing equal or similar to this 
grand vestibule to be traced in any of the great Abbeys, excepting, perhaps, 
Kirkstall. The preservation of so much of this part of tlte monastery, and 
of the whole range of apartments south of the transept, is owing to the archi­
tects of the Lord President's palace having chosen tllis to be the site of the 
front of that bWlding, and to their having also taken the level of the transept 
for that of their ground floor. All below that level they left standing, filling 
the space not occupied by the foundation walls of the palace with the frag­
ments of the Abbey. Amongst the numerous apartments discovered is the 
refectory, 82 feet long and 87 wide, corresponding in its dimensions with the 
magnitude of the establishment. It was longitudinally divided into three 
parts by two rows of octangular pillars, five in each row. Adjoining tht>-. 
refectory was an apartment, which, if the finely-worked bosses or ceiling 
knots found buried in it had originally adorned its roof, as they most probably 
did, must have possessed exquisite beauty. This room was dividrd longitu­
dinally and transversely into three equal parts by elegant mouldrd piJlan;, 
resting on a cluster of regular octangular basr~'<, from whil'h , without capitalr<, 
sprang ribs for the support of the vaulting. It had a larg4~ omamt'ntcd fire­
place, backed with tiles, finiAhed in front with grit l'ltonP, and guarded by a 
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stone fender. The foundation of the front of the Lord President's palace 
passed through this room between the fire-place and the nearest row of pil­
lars, and to this circumstance we owe the preservation of the fire-place, which 
is still standing, as we have already observed, in one of the lower apartments 
of the Museum. 

This latter apartment is supposed to have been the parlour, or perhaps the 
"common house," which is described "as having a fire constantly by day 
in winter for the use of the monks, who were allowed no other fire."* It 
was furnished with a stone seat on every side. Two other apartments, one 
75 feet long and 30 feet wide, divided transversely into six parts by five oc­
tagonal piers; and the other divided transversely into three parts by octagonal 
piers, without capitals, from which the vaulting sprang; are supposed to haTe 
been the guest room, or the refectory of the noYices; and the library, or the 
scriptorium,t or both. 

Portions of the site of tho Abbot's residence are still remaining in the 
buildings on the same site selected by James I. for a royal palace, and now 
occupied by the Wilberforce School for the Blind. 

At the lower end of the Abbey close--towards the river-stands a large 
building which is now called the Ho8pitium of the monastery. "There is no 
documentary or traditionary evidence respecting either the age of the building 
or of the uses to which it was applied," says Mr. Wellbeloved, in the little 
work already referred to, " It did not come within the limits of the portion of 
the Abbey close, granted by the Crown to the Yorkshire Philosophical So­
ciety ; " continues that gentleman, "and being at that time partly occupied 

• See Fosbrooke's British Monaebison, p. 69. 

+ The Scriptorium 11·as the apartment for transcribing books, especially the Bible, in 
the monastic cloister. In tho early and middle ages of Christianity the pen was the 
engine for doing the work of our machinery ; and that the labour of the monks ia 
transcribing and illuminating was prodigious, is amply attested by the list of works they 
produced. "Books were then so beautifully painted and embellished with emblems and 
miniatures," says Gerbert, "that the whole seemed to be the produce not of human but of 
angelic hands." In the ACriptorium the toiling monk-that pioneer of biblieallit.enliuft 
-plied his weary task-tracing letter after letter on the page of vellum-for many a year 
before one single copy of tho bible was produced. Leomine, in his typographical an­
tiquities quoted by Home, says "Fifty years were sometimes employed to produce a 
single volume, an evidence of which occurred at the sale of the late Sir William Burrel's 
books, in 1796. Among these was a MS. Bible, beautifully written on vellum and illu­
minated, which had taken the writer half a century to execute. The writer, Guido ~ 
Jars, began it in his 40th year, and did not finish it till he had aecomplished his 90th, 
A.D. 1294, in the reign of Philip the Fair, as appeared b1 tbe writer's own nutogrn.ph in 
the front of the book." 
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by two or three families, and partly by stalls for their horses and cattle, the 
internal character of the building could not possibly be ascertained. It was 
then supposed that it might have been the Grange of the Abbey. But that 
notion was at once abandoned when, having come into the possession of the 
Society, it was cleared of all the nuisances by which it had been long encum­
bered and defiled. It was then conjectured that it had been erected for the en­
tertainment of those strangers who were not admitted to the principal apart­
ments of the monastery; the lower room having been the refectory, and the 
upper, originally of the same extent, the dormitory. The position of this 
building, near one of the entrances to the monastery, and the correspondence 
of the plan of the lower room with that of the refectory for the monks, tend 
to confirm that conjecture. The portion of the lower apartment on the left 
of the doorway, lighted by five narrow windows, was originally separated by 
a cross wall from the other portion, forming perhaps a store room or buttery. 

If this building was originally such as it now is, constructed partly of 
stone and partly of timber and plaster, it must have been one of the later 
structures belonging to the monastery. Yet it cannot have been the latest, 
for the manner in which the acljoining archway is attached to it, indicates 
that this was subsequently erected. And this is evidently of the same age 
as the building adjoining the ancient Abbey gate. This archway appears to 
have been the entrance into the interior of the Abbey close from the river, 
and may be termed the Water-gate. Between it and the river were two 
walls, built by Abbot Thomas de Malton in 1584 ; the one proceeding from 
the tower at the end of the Abbey wall, in Marygate, along the margin of the 
river, till it met the Abbey wall from near Bootham Bar; and the other 
parallel to it, near the Water-gate. The apartments attached to this gateway 
may have been the residence not only of the gate-keeper, but also of those 
whose duty it was to attend to the strangers who were received into the Hos­
pitium." This building now contains a fine collection of Egyptian, Roman, 
Saxon, and Medireval antiquities-being part of the Yorkshire Museum. 

In levelling the ground of the south aisle of the nave of the Abbey church 
the workmen discovered, at the depth of eight feet, seven statues, lying with 
the faces downward ; four of them were nearly perfect, but the three others 
were much mutilated. All of them had been painted and gilded, but the 
coloW'S rapidly faded on being exposed to the light and air. The form of the 
drapery is different in each, but elegant in all, though the workmanship is 
somewhat rude. At the back of each of these statues is part of the shaft of 
a pillar, about seven inches in diameter, which determines their situation in 
the church to have been against the columns that supported the groinings of 
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the roof; and since there were seven pillars in the nave, we may conclude 
that there were originally at least fourteen statues, and that the above-named 
seven had been placed on the side near which they were buried. It is now 
considered beyond doubt that the two statues, long known in York as curious 
relics of antiquity, and the figures of which may be seen in Plate 8 of Drake's 
Eboracum, belonged to this set, as they correspond in every important re­
spect with those found in the ruins of the Abbey. Dr. Gale supposed these 
two statues represented a Roman senator and his lady, but Drake justly 
objects to this on account of the form of the beard. The latter writer thus 
alludes to them:-" On the churchyard wall of St. Lawrence, extra Walm· 
gate, lie two very ancient statues prostrate; but whether Roman or Saxon, 
Pagan or Christian, since better antiquaries than myself have been puzzled, 
I shall not determine." 

Both Allen and W ellbeloved say that one of them is evidently a figure of 
St. John the Baptist, bearing his proper emblem-a lamb on his left arm; and 
that it closely resembles a statue of the Baptist on the porch of the chapel 
of Magdalen College, Oxford, as drawn by Carter. "Supposing these two to 
have belonged to the church of St. Mary's Abbey," continues the former, "it 
may be safely conjectured that the fourteen statues, which probably adorned 
the nave of that church, or c.t least some of them, were emblematical repre­
sentations of • the Old and New Law;' agreeable to the explanation which 
William of Worcester bas given of some of the numerous figures that graced 
the western front of the Cathedral of Wells."* If these obse"o.tions be just, 
the statues must be coeval with the nave of the Abbey Church, which was 
built at the end of the 18th or the beginning of the 14th century. 

The seven first named statues are now deposited in the Yorkshire Museum, 
and the two which had long se"ed as coping stones to the wall of the church 
yard of St. Lawrence, are now to be seen fixed against the wall of that church 
(the churchyard wall having been removed), one on each side of the north 
doorway. Mr. Wellbeloved tells us that one of this series of statues having 
long formed part of the arch of the bridge at Clifton, bas recently been re­
moved and. restored, in a sadly weatherworn state, to its fellows in the 
Museum. 

Since the venerable remains of the Abbey came into the possession of the 
Philosophical Society, every means have been taken to prese"e and beautify 
them. Several of the remains, laid bare by the extensive excavation already 
mentioned, are still exposed to view near the ruins. 

• Allen·s Hist. of Yorks., on the authority of Carter's Specimens of Ancient Sculptun'. 
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In the entrance ball of the Yorkshire Museum is a very interesting relic 
of the Abbey of St. Mary. It is the MQrtar of the infirmary of the estab­
li~;hment-a beautiful specimen of l\ledireval art-of bell metal, weighing 
itl lbs., and bearing the following inscription in Old English characters. 

On the upper rim:-+ ~Imariu. Sci. Jollis. Ewangel. De. Ijirmaria. Bg. 
3-Iarie. Ebor. The lower:- + Fr. Wills. De. Toutlwrp. Me. Fecit. A.D. 
JICCCVIII. 

For nearly two centuries after the dissolution of the Abbey, nothing is 
known of this ancient mortar. The earliest notice we have of it occurs in au 
anonymous letter to Gent, published by hiJn in his History of Hull, and 
dated 1734. The writer of the letter states that after having been long in 
the possession of the Fairfax family it had passed into the hands of Mr. 
Smith, a bell-founder in York, by whom it had been sold to a Mr. Addington, 
whose son Joseph Addington, confectioner, in the Minster Yard, had pos­
session of it at the date of the letter. Gough, in his edition of Camden's 
Britannia, published in 1780, says, "It was lately in the hands of an apo­
thecary at Selby, after whose death all traces of it were lost." In 1811, Mr. 
Rudder, a bell founder at Birmingham, discovered it in his metal warehouse 
amidst a large quantity of old metal which he had purchased, and unwilling 
to commit so interesting and beautiful a relic to the furnace, he put it aside 
~·ear after year, and at length removed it to his private residence ; and finally 
presented it to his antiquarian friend Mr. Blount, an eminent surgeon in 
Birmingham. After his death it was sold by auction, in the year 1835, with 
the rest of his collection, and purchased at a considerable price by Mr. Samuel 
Kenrick, of West Bromwich, for the generous and laudable purpose of re­
storing it to its proper place among the remains of the religious establishment 
to which it originally belonged. 

The wall which surrounded the Abbey Close, and which is supposed to 
have been built by Abbot Simon, enclosed about fifteen acres. A great part 
of this wall still remains behind the houses on the south side of Bootham, 
and in Marygate. Besides the close, properly so called, the Abbey possessed 
a spacious piece of rich ground to the north of Marygate, running down to 
the river, which was called Almry, or Almonry-garth. The Abbey had two 
principal gates (besides the one which Mr. Wellbeloved calls the Watergate), 
one to the east, opening into Bootham, near Bootham Bar {the present en­
trance to the Manor or School for the Blind); and the second, or principal 
entrance, opening into Marygato, and now forming the entrance to the Mu­
seum Gardens from that street. The remains of the latter entrance consist 
of a fine old arch and arcade of the Norman period, having attached to them 
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n part of the gate-house, the residence of the porter, which is cviJcntly of a 
later date; the portion above the archway and on the other side of it being 
dt>stroyro. The lower story of the part of tlw gate-house still standing ap­
pears to have been the prison of the Abbey, in which debtors to the Abbot, 
in the extensive liberties of St. Mary, and perhaps others subject to his 
power, were eontincd. The upper part, Mr. Wellbeloved says, was probably 
the room in which the ,\bbot held his courts; but Mr. Hargrove states that 
the court of the said liberties was held by the Steward of the Abbot in a large 
room over the gateway, which was ascended hy a flight of stone steps, and 
the floor of which was neatly axecuted in chequcred marble."' The present 
building, and that which com:spondcd to it on the other side of the gateway, 
is supposed to have been added to the ancient gate in the latter half of the 
15th century. This part of the gate-house, after being for several years a 
public-houst', was restored nbout sixteen ycnrs ago, and has since been the 
residence of Professor Phillips. The style of the exterior of the old building 
was studiously preserved. Trnditiou has placed ll}lOD the site of St. )fary's 
Abbey the pagan Temple of Bellona. Near Enrslt•y Bridge, on the Foss, 
formerly stood the mills of the Abbot of St. Mary's Abbey, but they have 
long since di5appc'ared. 

Pmonv oF THE HoLY TmNrn, ~Iicklegntc.-Thcrc was a religious estab­
lishment or a church here endowed for Canons in very early times. It is 
twice mentioned in the Domesday Survey, where, in one entry, an allusion 
to its privileges occurs, though these nrc not stated at large ; nor is there 
any notice of the predial rents with which it was endowed. Soon after the 
Conquest the house became decayed, and the Canons were brought to ruin; 
and the site of the former became a part of the fee of Ralph de Paganell, or 
Paynell, one of the Conqueror's followers. Halph Paganell refounded the 
monastery, nnd renewed the endowment, not for Canons, but for Benedictine 
monks, in 108ft, and gave it ns a cell to the Abbey of St. Martin Marmon­
stier, at Tours, in France. The endowment of the new foundntion consisted 
of the adjoining church of the Holy Trinity, with three crofts appertaining to 
it; the church of St. Helen, in York, with the toft a~jaccnt; also the churches 
of All Saints, in North Street, and St. Bridget, in l\Iicklegate, and the chapd 
of St. James, without the walls. The founder likewise gave the monks 
various churches, and the tithes of several halls, in Yorkshire and Lincoln­
shire, including the churches of Leeds, Barton-in-Ryedale, Hoton-in-llilabam, 
::\-Ioncton, Ardington, and Stratton, with several lands, fisheries, &c. 

• Hargrove's History of York, vol. ii., page 591. 
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The temporalities of this Priory in 1202 were rated at no less than £60. 
lOs. 5d. per annum. In the 34th of Edward I. (1305), by au inquisition 
taken at York, it was found that the heirs of the founder bad no right in these 
temporalities on the death of any Prior; and that the Abbot of :Marmonstier 
bad the sole appointment of a successor. In the 30th of Edward ill. (1357), 
that monarch confirmed all the privileges and possessions of the Priory. Upon 
the suppression of the alien monasteries, this Priory was suffered to remain ; 
and according to Cotton's abridgement, it was made denizen by consent of Par­
liament in the '1th of Henry VI. (1-!26.) In consequence of the exclusive 
patronage of the Abbot of Marmonstier, the Priors of this monastery were 
neither admitted nor confirmed by the Archbishops of the proYince ; we have 
therefore no regular catalogue of them. Stephen was admitted Prior in 1231; 
Oliver de Gages, Prior of this monastery in 1307, was excommunicated by the 
Archbishop of the diocese; John de Chesiaco was Prior in 1357; and John 
Burn iu 1453. Hichard Speyte, the last Prior, sun-endered the house in the 
26th of Henry Vill. (1535), when the amount of its revenues was .£106. 17s. 
2d.; the clear receipts being £160. 9s. lOd. per annum. In 1543 the site and 
the demesne lands were gmnted to Leonard lleckwith. In 1736 the property 
belonged to the Goodrick family of Hibston. "The circuit of ground be­
longing to the site of this Priory," says Drake, "was of great extent, being 
bounded by the street on one side, a lane called Trinity Lane on. the cast, 
the city walls on the west, and its own walls on the south." The site long 
calleJ Trinity Gardens, and long occupied as a garden ground, has, as we 
have shown at page 350, been recently purchased with the view of making 
a new thoroughfare from Micklegate to llishophill. Tho only portion re­
maining of this once splendid Priory is the nave of the church (now the 
parish church of Holy Trinity). An old gateway, fronting into Micklegate, 
which formerly was the portal of the monastery, has just been remowd, and 
the new street is to unite with l\licklcgate at the point where it stood. That 
venerable portal consisted of a beautiful spacious arch, which sprung from 
dwarf piers; above which was a square window of three lights, with sculp­
tured blocks supporting the cornice. The roof terminated in n plain gable. 
An imperfect copy of the seal of the Priory is given by Dmke, in his Ap­
pendix, p. ci. It is of an oval form, having in the area the first person of 
the Blessed Trinity, holding in front a figure of our Divine Redeemer on the 
Cross. The inscription, when perfect, seems to hnve been SIGIJ.LU. PRI­
ORATvs. SANCTE. Tm:siTATIS. Enon. 

THE :i\IoNASTERY OF DoMI:SICAN FIUARS, o1· Friars P1·eachers, was cstaL­
lished in York cnrly in the reign of Hc·nry III., hy the bounty of Brynn 
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Stapleton, Esq. The monastery is supposed to have stood near the cud of 
the platforms of the Railway Station, on part of the ground called u.s Tojtes. 
Previous to the excavations for the railway, the site of this monastery was 
also called Friars Gardens. In the 82nd of Henry VIII. (15H), the building, 
&c., were granted to William Blytheman. When Allen wrote, in 1820, the 
only remains of the institution was a curious old draw-well, situated in the 
gardens ; but the gardens and draw-well have since disappeared, and the 
whole of the site of the monastery is swallowed up in the Railway Station. 

THE MoNASTERY OF TilE ORDER oF ST. FRANCis, commonly called Gr"y 
Fl'iar&, or Fri.ar& Mi1Wr&, was situnted on the north side of the Ouse, near 
the Castle. Of this extensive and celebrated house, the scene of many im· 
portant events, Drake writes as follows :-"We are informed by historians 
that the monastery of the Friars Minors was usually the residence of our 
former English Kings, when they came to York; and that it was noble and 
spncious, we are assured by Froissart, who tells us that Edward III. and his 
mother both lodged in it, when the fray happened betwixt the English soldiers 
and strangers." 

We find by this historian that the building was so convenient, that e.ach 
of these royal guests, though attended with a numerous suite of quality, kert 
court apart in it; which must argue it a stntcture of very great extent and 
magnificence. By a patent of Richard II., the fact of its being made use of 
as a regal palace is confirmed. That King strictly prohibited any person 
from carrying of filth, or laying of dunghills, &c., in the lanes or passages 
leading to the monastery ; where, as the patent expresses, he himself, as well 
as his grandfather, used to inhabit. Also butchers and other persons are by 
the same order prohibited from cnsting into, or washing in the rh·er Ouse 
any entrails of beasts, or any other na8tinesses, to the prejudice or nuisance 
of this monastery. 

This establishment was founded in the time of Henry ill., as it is said by 
the King himself; and Henry Lacy, Earl of Lincoln, was one of its gn:>.atest 
benefactors. It had a conventual church dedicated to the Blessed Virgin, 
and the order of Friars Minors is said to have been di\'ided into seven cus· 
to!lics or wardships, of which this establishment \Vas a principal one. Hence 
it had under its juri&liction the Friaries of Beverley, Doncaster, and Scar­
borough; also Boston, Grimsby, and Lincoln. The last Warden, William 
Vnmsour, with fifteen friars and fh·e novices, surrendert~d this house in the 
30th of Henry VIII. ; nnd four years afterwards the site was granted to 
IJeonanl Beckwith. 

A part of the outer walls of this monastery are standing at the present day 
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on the north side of the Ouse, a little beyond the King's staith or wharf, and 
one of its boundary walls may be traced from towards the river, through th~ 
premises and into the house now in the occupation of Mr. George HopE>, 
Bookseller, Castlegate. Those on the bank of the Ouse are still called Friars 
Wails, and that part of the site which they enclose, and which is not oecu· 
pied by buildings, is called Friars Gardens. Several lots of this garden-land 
have recently been built upon. In front of the walls on the river bank arc 
the evident remains of a staith originally belonging to the monastery. 

THE AusTIN FRIARS, or Friars Hermiu of the Order of St. Auguati11e, are 
supposed to have settled in York as early as 12713, and their convent is said 
to have been founded by Lord Scrope. Leland mentions that the Augustine 
Friary was situated on the banks of the Ouse near Ouse Bridge, so that it 
seems clear there were two monastic establishments on the north side of thr 
river. "In one of the testamentary burials of Mr. Torre," says Drake," Jonn 
Trollop, anno 1441, leaves her body to be buried in the conventual church of 
the Friars Eremite of St. Augustine, in York. The term of Eremites to 
this order is what I have not before met with ; the Friars Minors were 
styled Earmitre, i. e. Eremi in cohe. The Eremites, or Hermits in the north, 
were corruptly called Cremitts, and there is an annual rent paid out of some 
houses in Stonegate, called Cremitt money, at this day, which undoubtedly 
helonged to a religious house of these orders; for some of the poorer sort of 
monks being called hermits, an hermitage and an hospital had one and the 
same signification." The Augustinians were originally hermits, whom PopP 
Alexander IV. first congregated into one body under General Lanfranc in 
1256. They observed the rule of St. Augustine, the great doctor of thr 
church, and were clothed in black. 

Robert Davies, Esq., F.S.A., delivered an interesting lecture at the York 
Institute, in the month of December, 1854, entitled "An Antiquarian Walk 
through some of the streets of York;" and iu reference to the old timber 
house of the Elizabethan period, next to the Post-Office, in Lendal, he stated 
that he had lately discovered that this house stood on the site of the house of 
the Augustine Friars. "Leland in the reign of Henry VIII.,'' continued 
the learned lecturer,* "stated that each of the four religious orders called 
)lendicant Friars-the Carmelite, the Franciscan, the Dominican, and thr 
Augustine-had religious houses in York, and describes the establishment 
of the latter as lying between ' Ouse Bridge and the tower.' Drake, sup­
posing that the tower here mentioned was Clifford's Tower, fixed the abndr 

• As reported in the York Herald newRpaper. 
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of the Augustine Friars between the Friars' Walls and Castlegate Postern. 
He (Mr. Davies), howe,·er, was of opinion that that was the house of the 
Franciscans, and that the tower of which Leland spoke was the tower of 
Lendal Ferry. They must therefore look for the Augustine Friars in that 
direction, and a document he had lately seen placed the house and church of 
the Augustines in Conyng Street, precisely on the spot laid down by Leland, 
:Mr. Davies read some extracts from the document to which he referred, from 
which it appeared the Augustine Friars purchased a strip of land in Conyng 
Street in 13!.12, and gave permission to the Mayor to place the buttresses of 
the Guild-Hall on their property, and to allow the common gutter to run 
along the west side of that hall. Although the Augustine Friars were 
known as mendicants and eremites, or hermits, yet they were not debam.'li 
from exercising hospitality, for in Ut\2, when Hichard Duke of Gloucester, 
afterwardt> Richard III., visited York, they found the Friars of Augustine 
presenting him with several gallons of wine of various kinds, and other good 
things." Thus it appears that the site of the Augustine Friary \Vas between 
Lendal Tower and the Guild-Hall. 

'l'HE FIUARs ot· TilE OttoEn oF Mou:n CAH:IIEI., commonly called Can11e· 
/ius or White Friars, had a powerful monastic establishment at York, which 
was of such extent as to occupy nearly all the ground from Stainbow or 
Stoncbow Lane to the river Foss. A portion of the Friary wall still re­
mains at the cast end of Stouebow Laue. The Order of the Friars Car­
melites was, as has been observed, one of the four o1·ders of mendicants or 
begging Friars. It took both its name and origin from Carmel, a mountain 
in Syria, formerly iuhnbitod by the pro1)hets Elijah and Elisha, and by tl1c 
children of the prophets ; and from them these monks profess to derive their 
origin, in an uninterrupted succes:siou. 

" The site of their monastery in York,·· writes Drake, " is particul&rly 
expressed in a charte1· of confirmation, granted to them by King Edward I., 
anno 13110, dated at York. It appears here, by inspeximus, that William 
de V escy gave them the first piece of ground to build on, and bestowc<l upon 
them all his land, messuages, and tenements, that he had in a street or lane 
called lc Stainbogh." From tile same authority we learn, that, in the reign 
of Edward II, (1314), that King, then at York, bestowed a messuage and 
yards, upon the prior and brethren of this order, situate iu the street of 
l\fersluJ (a name no longer known at York), which he had of the gift of Galfred 
do Saint Quintin, contiguous to their house, for the enlargement of it; that 
tho same l{jng, by nuothcr grant dated a few days after the former, gave 
permission to those Friars to build a •1uny or wharf on his Yimry of the Foss, 
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in their own land and within their close, and to have a boat on his said vivary 
to fetch stone, wood, or other necessaries, as well under Foss Bridge as from 
auy other place on the said \ivary, or fish pool, to their quay; that the same 
King soon after granted to these Friars, by two deeds dated at York and 
Lincoln, nil those houses with their appurtenances in Fossgatc, which he bad 
of the gift of Thomns the son of William lc .\quiler, of York, and Cicily his 
wife; ulso ull thnt lnnd with nppurtcnnnccs in the same city, which he had 
by gift from Abel de llichnle, of York, for the enlargement of their monastery; 
and that in the reign of Hichanl II., Henry de Percy, Lord of Spofford, 
granted to these Friars a piece of ground to the west, contiguous to their 
house, for the enlargement of their m6nastery. On the 27th of November, 
1539, the last prior, S. Clarkson, nine brothers, and three novices, sur­
rendered up their house into the King's hands, and in 15 l! the site was 
granted to one Ambroso Beckwith. 

The principal entrance to the Priory was in Fossgate, · near its junction 
with Pavement, and nt a very early period divine scnice was celebrated in an 
oratory on the gateway. The Convent, which was styled the Prior and 
Brethren of the Ortlcr St. Mary de :Monte Carmeli, bad ulso a church dedi­
cated in honour "of our Lady St. Mary." About fifty years ago Mr. Rushy 
purchased a part of the site of this religious house, then occupied as a garden, 
and erected several buildings thereon. In digging up an old foundation about 
that time his workmen came to an ancient arch, in which were two distinct 
and separate parts of a tombstone ; and in another place they found a flag 
gravestone, with the representation of a crosier at each comer. The former 
he carefully joined, and placed as a flag in front of his house in Hungate,* 
and it may be still seen before the same house, which was lately in the 
occupation of Mr. Joseph Matthews. Ncar the edge is a Latin inscription, 
now nearly effaced, which may thus be translated:-" Pray for Sir Simon de 
Wintringham, a priest, formerly vicar of St. Martin the Great, London, to 
whose sonl may God be merciful." The middle of the stone is curiously 
carved, the letters of the inscription are of the Old Anglo-Saxon character, 
and it is remarkable that there is not any date.t 

The Priory of the Fratres de Munte Carmeli, in York, is not noticed in the 
Monasticon, or in Speed's Catalogue of the Religi~us Houses. "An ancient 
record in Mr. Hargrove's possession," writes Allen, "states that' a Maison 

• Hargrove's York, vol. ii., p. 320. 

t This stone is engraved in Oent. 1\-fag., 1707, pt. ii., p. 031. Sir Simon de Wintring. 
ham died in 1420. He wot8 a Canon of Lincoln, Prebendary of Ledyngton, and Provost 
of the Chantry of Cottcrstock, Northamptonsbire. 
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Dieu was founded in White Friars' Lane, Layerthorpe, temp. Edward IV; · 
whence it is natural to infer that there must anciently have been a monastery 
of White Friars also, from which the name has arisen ; but on this subject 
we can only conjecture, as there are no remains of either building, and even 
the name itself is now no longer retained." 

CnoucHED on CauTCHED FnrARs.-Bishop Tanner, in his Notitia Mo1UU· 
tica, states that there was a monastery of this order at York, though he has 
uot attempted to describe its situation. They began to settle in this city in 
the beginning of the reign of Ellward II., but were discountenanced by the 
.\rchbishop. In the ~1st of Edward III. (1338), Thomas, Lord Wake, ga,·e 
them one toft and ten acres of land on the moor of lllakeshame, in Famdale, 
for building an om tory Rnd habitation. The site of the monastery of Crouched 
Ft·iars Rt York is 1\Ssigned by tmdition to the comer of Barker Hill, facing 
:\Ionkgate; and from this institution the latter street is supposed to deri\"d 
its name. 1\f t•. W ellbdoved says that it is probable that the house of these 
ft·iars stood nel\r Monk Bar, 1\S there are indications of some ancient buildings 
having been there . 

. \t Clementborpe was a Btmedictine Nurmny dedicated to St. Clement, to 
which the p~trish church of that village WI\S attached. In the year 1145, 
Thurstan, Archbishop of York, gmntcd "to God, St. Clement, and to the nuns 
there serving God, in pure and perpetual alms, the place wherein this mo­
nastery, \\;th other buildings of the said nuns, was erected; together with 
two carucatcs of land in the suburbs of York, ~Os. annual rent, issuing out 
of his fair in York, &c., which was confirmed by the Dean and Chapter:· In 
1~8-l, Nicholas, son of Adam Poteman, of Clementhorpe, granted to Agnes, 
the Prioress, ~tnd the nuns of St. Clement"s, two messuages in Clementhorpe, 
with a toft, a croft, Rnd half an acre of land. These and several other grants 
to the nuns were confirmed by King Edward III. at York, in 1327. 

In 1Hl2, Geoffrey Plantagenet, Archbishop of York, gave this com·ent, 
contmry to the wishes of the nuns, to the nunnery of Godstow ; and Alicia, 
then Prioress, refusing to obey the order, went to Rome to appeal to the Pope. 
~otwithstanding this appeal, the Archbishop excommunicated the whole 
sisterhood. At the dissolution, Isabel Ward, the 11\St Prioress, surrendered 
this nunnery to Henry VIII., and had a pension allowed her of £6. lSs. -ld. 
per annum.* The church, however, continued parochial till 1585, when, 

• The first instance 91\id to be mentioned in history of a nunnery is in the life of St. 
Antony, Abbot, written by the great St. Athanasius. That sainted biographer totlls u~ 
that St. Antony. who was born in Upper Egypt, in the year 261, placed his sister in a 
house of virgins about the y<'ar 272. He afterwards founded a monastery at Phaium, in 
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along with the parish of Middlcthorpe, it was united to St. }Jury's, Bishop· 
hill the Elder. 

ST. ANDREW's PRIORY stood in a field now termed Stoue Wall Close, be­
tween Blue-bridge Lane and the Glass Works. It was founded iu 1202 by 
Hugh Murdac, Archbishop of York, who " granted to God and to the twelve 
Canons of the Order of Sempringham, or St. Gilbert, serving God at St. 
Andrews, in Fishergate, Ebor. the church of the same place with lands o.dja· 
cent." This Priory had also several other lands, rents, &c., granted to it at 
various times. On the 28th of November, 1538, it was surrendered by the 
Prior and three monks, at which time its annual income, according to Dug­
dale, was £47. 14s. 3d.; but Speed states it at £57. 5s. Qd. The site was 
granted in 1545 to John Bellow and John Broxholme. Leland tells us that 
this Priory stood exactly opposite the nunnery of St. Clement ; and hence a 
tradition long existed amongst the ignorant that there was a subterrancous 
passage from one to the other, though the river Ouse runs between them. 
There are no remains now visible of St. Andrew's Priory, except some small 
portions of the Priory walls, which may still be seen in Blue-bridge Lane. 

For the CoUege of St. WiUiam and the Bedern, see pages 469 and 4i0. 
HosPJTALs.-In former times Hospitals, or Spitale, were usually erected 

outlide the town, and were intended as places of entertainment for poor pil· 
grims who could not afford to pay for their lodgings in the town. All the 
Hospitals observed the rule of St. Austin. 

For St. Lronard's Hospital, see page HI of this history. 
Hospital of St. Nicholas.-Stood in W atlingate, now Lawrence Street, 

without Walmgate Bar, ncar Plantation House and the Tan Yard. The 
Hospital was situated behind the church of St. Nicholal1, and in ancient 
writings the church and it are classed together as one religious house, and 
termed the P7Wry of St. Nicholas. This Hospital, which was for a select 
number of both sexes, was of royal foundation, and established under the 
patronage of the Kings of England. According to the Monasticon, William 
de Grenfeld, Lord High Chancellor of England, in a royal visitation, July 
4th, 1808, ordained certain statutes for its government. In the 8rd of 
Edward I. (1275), a carucate of land was granted them by the Empress 
Maud, upon condition that the brethren of the said Priory or Hospital should 
find all lepers, who might visit them on the vigils of the Apostles St. Peter 

Upper Egypt, about the year 306. The first mention said to bo in history of the 
foundation of a nunnery, is that founded in 360, near Poictiers, by the aister of St. 
MP..rtin. King Ealbad established the first institution of the kind in England, at Folk. 
stone, in 630. 

8 s 
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and St. Paul, with a certain portion of food. At the dissolution the Priory 
was valued at £20. 1s. 4d. The church rt:mained parochial till the sieg; of 
York in 16-U, when it fell a sacrifice to the ravages of war. 

The Hospital of St. Mary Magdalen-commonly called the "Hospital of 
Ht. Mary in Bootham "-was founded in that part of the city called Le Hone 
<~yre-afterwards denominated the Horae Fair-( the district extending north 
of Bootham) in 1330, by Robert de Pykering, Dean of York, and confirmed 
by Archbishop William de Melton, under the following regulations:-" That 
there be therein one perpetual chaplain for the master, whose presentation 
shall belong to the said Robert de Pykering, for his life, and to his heirs 
after his decease. That the said master and his successors being assisted 
with two more chaplains, shall daily celebrate divine service therein, for the 
souls of Walter, late Archbishop, the said Robert de Pykering, and William 
his brother ; o.nd shall competently sustain those two chaplains with victuals 
ami clothing, o.nd pay to each twenty shillings per annum ; and also sustain 
with meat, drink, and clothing, other six old lame priests, not able to minis­
ter, allowing to every one twelve pence a week." 

At the same time the church of Stillingfleet was appropriated for the sup­
port of the chaplain, the master, and the charity for ever. There was, how­
ever, a sum reserved for the vicar of the church, who was to be appointed by 
the master and brethren of the Hospital. At the dissolution, this Ho!!pital, 
which was valued at £37. per annum in the gross, and at £11. 6s. Bd. clear, 
was annexed to the Dean and Chapter of York. In 1557 that body granted 
unto Thomas Luither, a priest, and a brother of the dissolved Hospital, an 
annual payment of £4. 13s. 4d., on condition that he should resign all claim 
to the said institution. By a grant from Philip and Mary, the King and 
Queen of England, the lands of the Hospital were devoted to the establish­
ment and maintenance of a free grammar school ; and agreeably to the tenor 
of that royal ordinance, the Dean and Chapter founded the one which was 
formerly held in the desecrated church of St. Andrew, afterwards in the 
building now used as a School of Design, but finally removed to the edifice 
now known as St. Peter's School, Bootham. 

Besides the great Hospital of Bootham, here was another dedicated to St. 
Mary, and founded by John Gyseburgh, precentor of York, for two chaplains, 
before the year 1481. This was valued at its suppression in 1535, at £9. 
6s. Sd. per annum. 

The Spittal, or Hospital of St. Anthony, anciently stood at the end of Gilly­
gate, next to Horse Fair. It wac; founded about the year 1440, but its 
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history is little known. In Hargrove's History of York,* is nn engraving of 
a large and very curious mutilated piece of sculpture, which was taken out 
of the wall of a field near the site of this old Hospital, aboul forty years ago. 
It is supposed to represent the ceremonials of a religious sacrifice or vow, 
there being an altar, a priest in flowing drapery, and a man leading out of a 
stable a large animal, looking less like an ox than a horse. It is of Roman 
origin, and of high antiquity. 

Dr. Tanner, in his Notitia Monastica, says that a Hospital stood " in 
Markgate in suburb Ebor;" but of which we have not found any further 
particulars; and there was a Hospital at an early period within Layerthorpe 
Postern, which was founded by Sir Francis Bigod, who had a fine mansion 
at the saine place. There are now no remains of the house or Hospital. 
Mr. Wellbeloved thinks the site of Bigod's Hospital is clearly indicated by 
the stone wall opposite to the church of St. Cuthbert. 

St. Anthony's Hospital is stated by Leland to have been founded for the 
brethren of St. Anthony by Sir John Langton, knt., who served the office of 
)fayor of York nine times, the last of which was in 1363. After the disso­
lution of the religious houses, it fell into the hands of a frateruity called the 
Guild of St. Anthony, consisting of a :Master and eight keepers, who gave a 
feast every third year, probably out of the remaining revenues of the old 
Hospital; but in 1625 the feast was discontinued, and the fellowship dis­
solved. The brethren of this mendicant Hospital of St. Anthony used to 
solicit alms in the city and neighbourhood, and as they were held in much 
esteem they were generally well rewarded. For a long time it was a custom 
with the citizens when a sow pigged, to have one set apart and well fatted 
for the brethren of St. Anthony ; and hence came the proverb " As fat as an 
Anthony pig." In later times, the fraternity that succeeded the original 
brotherhood was commonly denominated "Tantony pigs." The legendary 
story of St. Anthony, of Padua, and his pig, says Drake, is represented in 
one of the windows of the church of St. Saviour. 

The building occupied by the brethren of St. Anthony, and afterwards by 
the above-mentioned fraternity, is called St. Anthony's HaU, and is situated 
in Peasholme Green. This ancient structure is mentioned under the same 
name in a beautiful manuscript terrier, in the possession of the Rev. J . 
Crofts, Rector of the neighbouring church of St. Saviour, as forming a 
boundary of the parish so early as 1362 ; and from this it may be inferred 
that if Sir John Langton was the founder of the Hospital, he must have 

• Vol. ii., p. :J7-t . 

• 
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foundetl it some years before be filled the civic chair of York for the nil&th 
time, viz., in 1363, as the hall was, in the preceding year, sufficiently well 
known to be mentioned as the boundary of two or three parishes. In 1646 
the whole of the building was repaired and re-ed.ified. It is a large venerable 
looking pile, the lower part being of stone, and the upper of brick. Each 
P.nd of the hall presents three gables, with large Venetian windows at each 
end. The building is a mixture of two styles of architecture-the Pointed 
and pseudo. Roman-and has a very curious appearance. The entrance door 
faces Pensholmo Green, and over it is a circular window. After the building 
was repaired in 16·16, one part of it was converted to the purposes of a House 
of Correction for lesser criminals; and it so continued until a building for 
that purpose was erccteJ on Toft Green, which in its turn gaye way to the 
prison ncar Baile Hill. St. Anthony'H Hall is now oocupied by the scholars 
of a charitable in:;titution called the Blue Coat boys' school. On the left of 
the entrance hall are the apartments of the master. A wide staircase leads 
til the upper !itnry, where the different tradesmen's companies of York used 
to hold their general meetings. The seveml arms of each of them yet !'{'­

main, but the rooms arc now occupied by the Blue Coat boys. 
The other ancient Hospitals of the city of York, of which little is known, 

are the Ho.,pi!(u '?f St. Catherine, Micklcgate, ncar to St. Nicholas's church, 
now dcstt-oyed ; the Hospitdl of St. Joh·n. a11~l Our La(ly, at Foss Bridge; the 
Spital of St. l..oy, at the east end of Monk Bridge; Fi&hergate Spit11l o1· 

HnRpital, near the church of St. Helen, now destroyed; and three Jfailon 
Dieu's, otHl on the old Ouse Bridge, another near Fishergate Postern, n.nd th(' 
thirrl, which belonged to the shoemakers, in Walmgate. 

f:iir Hiduu·d de York founded an Hospital in Micklegate, but it was never 
finished. Thf' Hospitals still standing, which have been conYerted int11 
t'('gnlar AlmshoiMe.,, will be noticed at subsequent pages. 

t 1un.ns.-Torre mentions that a guild or fraternity of St. Mary and St . 

.lfartin ''"' Om!frsso1· wafl established on Pcaseholme Green, in the parish of 
~t. Cuthhert; and sayR that the hrcthren and sisters were authorized to 
rausn divine sf'rvi•!e to be celebrated in the parish chw'Ch by one chaplain . 
. ~,thmi&sa l'ort'. nn the ~Rth of .l anunry, 1452, a commission was issued to 
.John, Bishop of Philippi, til conRccmte the chapel of the said fraternity, anti 
the principRlaltat· of the snme erected within the church of St. Cuthbert. 

In the y~trrl of th0 Ornr.qr bm, Conny Street, may be traced the remains 
of strong stonP wall!<, whif'h tradition informs us were part of the religion~ 
bouse of the ancient OuiU r!f St. Oem·rJr, in York. This fratentity was after­
wards united to the Guild of St. Christ"phrr . 

• 
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.St. George't~ Close, adjoining the entrance to the New Walk, is the site 
of a religious bouse called St. Gecrge's Chapel. Here was anciently a guild 
or fraternity established, termed TM Fellowship of St. George, which was sup­
pressed at the general dissolution. A small arched stone doorway facing 
the high road still remains, surmounted with a shield charged with the cross 
of St. George. 

There was an ancient fraternity, called the Guild of Corpw Chri11ti, in 
connexion with the Hospital of St. Thomas, the particulars of which will 
be found in the account of that institution at a subsequent page. 

The Guild of St. Christopher possessed the site now occupied by the Guild 
Hall and Mansion House. The chapel of the Guild stood next the street, 
and was not pulled down until the present Mansion House was commenced 
in 1725. In 1682 it was occupied by Henry Giles, an eminent artist., who 
painted the great west window of the Minster, and another in University 
College, Oxford, in 1687. It afterwards became the Cross Keys Inn, and is 
now superseded by the Mansion House. 

~c.dtsiastintl ~hifirts. 
PREVIOUs to the Reformation, when the population of York and its suburbs 

could not be more than 20,000, there were as many more places of worship 
there as at present exists, with its population of 40,000. At that time, ac­
cording to Drake, there were forty-two pari:sh churches, three or four famous 
monasteries, two priories, a nunnery, and a religious college, besides seven­
teen private chapels and eighteen hospitals, "all of which had reigned in 
plenty and abundance for several ages." These together make a total of 
seventy-five religious edifices. "Everybody must allow," says the same 
writer, "that this city was as remarkable for churches and houses of religion 
as most in the kingdom." Eighteen parish churches, all the chapels (with 
one exception) and religious houses have been destroyed, so that only twenty­
three of the churches and one chapel now remain ; besides two churches 
recently erected. The sudden suppression of the religious houses caused a 
terrible re-action throughout the kingdom, and perhaps the change was felt 
as severely in York as in any other part of England. Soon after the begin­
ning of the Reformation several of the churches of York were deemed super­
fluous, and an Act was accordingly granted in the first year of the reign of 
Edward VI. (1547) for pulling them down, and uniting the parishes to which 
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they belonged to other parishes in the city. The preamble of the Act recites 
that "Whereas in the city of York and suburbs thereof, are many parish 
churches which heretofore the same being well inhabited and replenished with 
people, were good and honest livings for learned incumbents, by reason of the 
privy tithes of the rich merchants, and of the offerings of a great multitude, 
which livings be now so much decayed by the ruin and decay of the said city, 
and of the trade and merchandize there, that the revenues and profits of 
divers of the said benefices are at this present not above the clear yearly 
value of £1. 6s. Sd." 

In pursuance of this Act, several of the churches were pulled down, but it 
was not put in full force till the 28th year of Elizabeth (1585), when the 
parishes were united in tht:ir present order. 

The following table shows the number of parishes in the city, together 
with the value of each living in the King's Books,* as well as the present net 
value. For the population of the respective parishes see a subsequent page. 

PARISHES. 

All Saints, North Street .... .. .. .... .. .. 
All Saints, Pavement, with •. .. } 'ted { 
St. Peter the Little . . . . • . . . . • . • UDl 
St. Crux .. .•.. . .. .. •.. . . . •• • . .... .... . 
St. Cuthbert with .... . . .... . . } 
St. Helen on the Walls, and . . . . united 
All Saints, in Pcasholme .... . . 
St. Dennis, in Walmgate, with • · l united 
St. George and Nab urn ... • .. .. . } 
St. O!ave, with .. .. .. .. . . . .. . .. united 
St. Giles ...... ........ .. .. .. 
St. Helen, St. Helen's Square . . ... . .. . .. . 
St. John, 1\licklegate .... .. . ... . . . .. .. . . . 
St. Lawrence, with ....... .. . .. } united l 
St. Nicholas . ... . .. . . .. ••. ... . 
St. Margaret, Walmgate, with • . } united 
St. Peter-le-Willows . . ... . . .. . 
St. Martin, Coney Street .. .. .. . . .. .... .. 
St. Martin, Micklegate, with . ... } united { 
St. Gregory ... . ............. . 
St. Mary, Bishophill Senior . .. . • .. . .. .. . . 

Discharged Rectory .. 
Do., do. } 

Disch. Vicarage . . 
Discharged Rectory . . 

Do. do. 
Do. do. 
Do. do. 
De. do. 
Do. do. } 

Perpetual Curacy .. . • 

Discharged Vicarage 
Perpetual Curacy •.. • 
Discharged Vicarage 

Discharged Rectory} 
Do. do. 
De. do. 
Do. do. } 
Do. do. 
De. do. 

Valueill P-1 
lbe Nel 

KIDJ'o Boob. IDeome 

£ . •. d. ---r--
4. 7 11 107 

I) 16 lOf 100 

6 16 6 
:1 10 10} 
4. 0 10 100 

l:l8 

103 
209 

6 ~0} 8:t 

4. 9 91 l!U 

4. 0 0 97 

6 16 3 24.;} 

:1 0 10 226 

• In the 26th of Henry vm. ( 1635) au Act was passed conferring on the Crown the 
first fruits of all benefices, and also one yearly rent or pension amounting to the ,·aJue 
of the tenth part of the profit of every benefice. Pursuant to this Act, Commissioners 
were appointed, and the celebrated Valor Eccullia~tietu, or Libtr Regil, (King's Books ) , 
is the return made by them on the matters mentioned in the statute. 
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Value ill Preoent 
PARISHES. Livillp. tho Net 

KiDs'• Boob. Income 

£. '· d. -r-
St. Mary, Bishophill Junior, with} { Discharged Vicarage 10 

0 0} Upper Poppleton, and .. ........ united Perpetual Curacy .. . . 144 
Copmanthorpe ....•........... Chapel of Ease ...... 
St. Mary, Castlegate ........... .. ....... Discharged Rectory . . 2 8 6i 120 
~t. 1\I~ch~I.le-Belfrey, with .. .. } united { Perpetual Curacy .... 

2 OIO} 150 St. Wilfrid . ... .• .. . . ........ Discharged Rectory .. 
St. ?.Iichacl, Spurriergate .... . ... .. .. ... . Do. do. 8 12 1 91 
St. Sampson ....... . .. . ........ . ...•.. Perpetual Curacy .... -- 109 
St. Saviour, with .•............ } united { Discharged Rectory .. :> 6 8 173 St. Andrew ...•.......•.•.• . . 
Holy Trinity, King's Sq., or Christ Church Discharged Vicarage 8 0 0 87 
Holy Trinity, Micklegate .. . ... . . .•... • .. Do. do. -- 93 
Holy Trinity, Goodramgate, with} { Do. do. 

12 4 9.} 
St. John del Pike, and . • . • . . • • united Do. do. 1:18 
St. Maurice, without Monk Bar .. Do. do. 

New I>Utrict Churchu :-
St. Paul, Holdgnte Rond ••• • • . • ••.••.••• Perpetual Curacy .... -- -
St. Thomas, Lowther Street, Groves ...... Do. do. -- -

We now proceed to describe the churches of the city in the order in which 
they are laid down in the foregoing table. The ages of the ancient edifices 
are unknown, but the majority appear to have been built between the 12th 
and 16th centuries. 

ALL SAI~Ts CHURCH, North Street.-This is an ancient Discharged Rec­
tory, formerly belonging to the Priory of Holy Trinity, Micklegate, to which 
it was given by Ralph de Paganel, and the grant was confirmed by William 
the Conqueror, and by the bull of Pope Alexander II. There were formerly 
many chantries and obits in this church, several original grants of which are 
still preserved among the records of the city. The benefice is now in the 
patronage of the Crown, and incumbency of the Rev. Robert Wbytehead. 

The Edifice consists of three spacious aisles, with a tower and spire in­
cluded in the plan at the west end. The tower contains three bells, and the 
height of the spire is 120 feet. Parts of the church and the south doorway 
are Early English, some of the windows are Decorated, and the roofs and 
spire, and most of the windows, are Perpendicular. The walls are in a great 
measure composed of grit, Roman bricks, and pebbles. In the west end of 
the church are three pointed arched windows of three lights each. The 
tower, which appears to be of an earlier date than the body of the church, is 
of three stories, .finished with a pierced battlement, and pinnacles at the 
angles. The buttresS(>S of the to\'\'er end with grotesque gargoyles, and the 
whole is surmounted with an elegant octagonal spire. In the north side of 
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the church, which presents four unequal divisions, made by strong buttresses, 
are square-headed windows, with cinquefoil heads. The east end exhibits 
three windows of the latter part of the Uth century, each of three lights. 
The gables of the nave and aisles rake to an apex. In the south side, which 
is similar to the north, there is a porch of brick, apparently of the latter part 
of the 17th century. The interior is interesting;* the nave is much nar­
rower than the aisles, and is divided from the latter by pointed arches 
springing from small circular columns, with square capit&ls. The chancel 
or sanctuary is formed out of the nave. The altar piece is of oak, with pi­
lasters of the Ionic order, and gilt capitals. There is an old misericord and 
a piscina in the sanctuary. About one half of the ceiling of the church (that 
towards the east) is in panels, and is particularly interesting to the antiquary 
from a fine series of sculptures, with which the corbels and bosses are adomro. 
These carvings represent angels playing on musical instruments, grotesque 
heads, &c. The roofs of the western half of the edifice is in plain plaster, 
but waggon-headed. The pulpit of carved oak is sexagonal, with a full-length 
figure painted ou each side, and it bears the date of 1675. On the floor are 
several crosses flory, and in the south wall are the mutilated remains of a 
Roman sepulchral monument. The font is an ancient octagonal basin. The 
ancient stained glass in the windows is particularly interesting. Drake says 
that in his time the painted glass here was in a better state of preservation 
than in any other church in the city. The three windows at the east end 
have been repaired by Wailes, of Newcastle-upon-Tyne. The one above the 
communion table has in the centre light a representation of St. Anne teaching 
the Blessed Virgin to read ; and in the other lights, St. John the Baptist and 
St. Christopher carrying Our Saviour. These three subjects are all sur­
mounted by similar canopies, But the most interesting windows in the 
church are the two easternmost in the north aisle. The subjects of one of 
them are the corporal works of mercy-feeding and giving drink to the 
hungry and thirsty, clothing the naked, visiting the sick, &c.; and the other 
window, which is very curious indeed, though much mutilated, seems to de­
scribe the fifteen days of the Last Judgment, as Venerable Bede has written 
of them. 

• PreYious to tho Reformation there were no pews in parish churches, the chief 
Ca.rnilies having moYeable seats, as is still the custom in continental churches. During 
the reign of Elizabeth and her successors, when long sermons were considered ne­
cessary, the laity began to feel the inconYenience of having no fixed sitting places; and 
as architectural display and taste had now disappeared, utilitarianism found an easy 
admittance. The nobility, gentry, and freeholders, appear to have erected pews at their 
own private expense for the use of themselves, their heirs, and assigns for ever. 
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1.-The first subject is the extraordinary inw1datiou of the S(•a. The 
legend is all but gone. 

2.-Thc corresponding ebb of the sea. The legcud is 

Ye seconde day ye see sall be 
So lawe, as all men sall yt sec. 

3.-The following day reduces it to its original level. 

Y e iij day yt sal.l be plain, 
And stand as yt was, again. . 

4.-Thc Jay after wo have the fishes and sea monsters leaving their 
native element, and coming forth upon the earth; but the lines are gone. 

5.-The sea is represented on fire. 

Y c v day ye see sail bryn, 
AnJ all the watrys that may bin. 

6.-0n the sixth day the trees are on fire, and their fruit is dropping ; but 
the legend is unintelligible. 

7.-0n the seventh day a gene~ earthquake. 

Ye seventh day houses moo fall, 
Castles And towers and ilka wall. 

8-0n the eighth day the rocks are consumed. 

Y e \iij day roches and stanes, 
Sail bryn togeder all at anes. 

9.-The events of the ninth day are entirely effaced. 

10.-0n the tenth day nothing is to be seen but earth and sky ; 
legend is 

The tende day for heaven, 
Erthe sail be plain and even. 

Meaning the mountains shall be levelled and tho valleys filled up. 

11.-Two men and two women with a priest in an attitude of prayer. 

Y e xi day sail men come out 
Of their graves, and wende abowte. 

12.-Three sarcophagi or coffins full of bones coming together. 

Yc xij day banes dede sail, 
Togeder at anes ryse all. 

13.-0n the thirteenth day great stars fall from heaven. 

The xiij day sitthe sal.l, 
Sterres and the Heaven fall. 

3 T 

the 
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l·t.-A tomb, with a man and woman side by side on its summit, three 
mourners bending over them, and death with his dart at the foot. 

The xiv day all that lives than, 
Sail die, bathe ehilde, man, and woman. 

15.-And then follows the final ct;~nsummation of all things. 

The xv day this sall betyde, 
The world sall bryn on every side. 

In the tracery of this window are demons conveying the souls of the wicked 
to punishment, and angels carrying the faithful into Abraham's bosom.* 

A singular custom still prevails in this parish, on Ascension Day, the time 
of the annual perambulation of the boundaries. The lads of the parish pro­
vide themselves with bundles of sedge, and while the clerk is inscribing the 
boundary at the specified places, they strike his legs below the knee with 
their bundles. The place nearest the clerk, or that which gives the best 
chance of exercising this popular. prerogative, is eagerly contended for. 

Ar.r. SAINTs Cuuncu, Pavement.-This church, which is commonly called 
All Hallou:s, stands partly in High Oua@gate, but chiefly in the Pavement. 
It is an ancient Discharged Rectory, and before the Conquest, according to 
Domesday, it belonged to the Prior and Convent of Durham. By an old 
grant to Fountains Abbey, the Rector of this church is styled "Rector ec­
clesire omnium sanctorum in U segata." At the Reformation it reverted to 
the Crown, and the Rev. George Trevor, M.A., is the present incumbent. 

The Fabric is handsome, and, according to Drake, its north side was almost 
wholly built out of the ruins of Eboracum; but the whole structure under­
went a complete restoration in 1835 ; and in 1837 the tower was rebuilt after 
the same design as before. The edifice is in the Perpendicular style of archi­
tecture, and is chiefly remarkable for its exquisite octagonal lantern steeple, 
which is a beautiful piece of architecture, and forms a very picturesque object 
when seen at a little distance from the city. Tradition says that when the 
Forest of Galtres extended northward of the city as far as Easingwold, it was a 
nightly custom to suspend a large lamp in the centre of the steeple, as a 
guide to travellers on that then difficult road. In Drake's time the hook or 
pulley on which the lamp or lantern hung was still preserved. In 1694 this 
church narrowly escaped destruction by fire; most of the buildings near it in 

• See the HierowgtU, or the Church Tourists, by Rev. J. M. Neale. Ezplanatiou of 
the old •tvk of tptUing. Ye means the ; Sall, •hall; Lawe, ww; Yt, it ; Bryn, '*"'; 
Moo, mull; Dka, everv; Roches, rocb; Stanes, IIOfiU; Anes, OfiC'; Wende, 1t'Gll ; 
Banes, bone•; Dede, dead; Than, then ; Betyde, 1aappt11. 
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Ousegate were burnt down, which, observes Drake, was the occasion when so 
many handsome houses were erected in that street. Part of the present 
burial ground was formerly used as n herb and fish market; but in 17 82 the 
church-yard was enlarged, and the chancel being much out of repair, was 
taken down, and the ground on which it stood was applied to enlarge the 
market-place; in consequence of which the Corporation contributed £100. 
towards rebuilding the east wall. The parts of the church are a nave and 
side aisles, with a square tower, in which arc three bells at the west end. 
The tower is three stories in height, and is finished with a cornice and pa· 
rapet. In the west face of the lower story, between two buttresses of four 
gradations, is a large window of five lights; the second story is Llank, and 
the third has a depressed arched window of three lights in each side. Each 
of the eight sides of the lantern steeple has a window almost the breadth 
and nearly the height of the structure ; at every angle is a buttress of four 
gradations, terminating in a gargoyle and crocketed pinnacle; and the top 
is finished by an open battlement and pinnacles. The whole structure 
has a most airy and elegant appearance. The west euds of the aisles have 
windows of three lights, and the roofs of both rake up to the church with 
a plain coping. Each of the aisle windows are of three lights; and in each 
aisle is a pointed arched doorway. In the clerestory are four square-headed 
windows, of three lights. The aisles are finished with a plain, and the nave 
terminates in an embattled parapet, with five crocketed pinnacles on each 
side. The cast end of the church is made into three divisions by buttresses; 
in the centre is a pointed window of three lights, and in each aisle is a similar 
window of two lights. The interior is very neat; the body of the church is 
divided from the aisles by five pointed arches, resting on octagonal columns. 
The lower story of the towe1· opens into the nave, shewing the western win­
dow. The pulpit, which is octagonal, is ornamented with much excellent 
carving and gilding; and the sounding board bears the date of 168,&. The 
church was neatly re-pcwed a few years ago, partly by subscription. At the 
west end are very neat stalls for the churchwardens of the united parishes, 
having a glazed frame-work attached, to protect these officials from draughts 
of wind between the two doors. 

The lessons arc read from a handsomely carved and gilded wooden eagle. 
The organ was first erected in 1701; and the new and elegant octagonal font 
is the gift of the Rev. Mr. Hunt, a late curate of this parish. The minister 
and churchwardens possess property worth about £800. a year for the main­
tenance of tho edifice. The monuments are not very numerous; amongst 
them is a neat sarcophagus, inscribed to James Saunders, Esq., Alderman 
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and Lord Mayor of York, 1818, who died in 1825, aged 55 years; and a 
neat tablet to Tate Wilkinson, Esq., original pawntoo, and thirty-four years 
manager of the Theatre Royal, York. The inscription states that he died 
in 1803, in his 63rd year, and that his body lies buried in the north aisle of 
this church. There is a neat sarcophagus to the memory of Samuel Wood­
head, who died in 1R34, aged 53; and also tablets commemorative of Captain 
Thomas Prickett, William Sowerby, and deceased members of the famili('!; 
of Etty, Frobisher, and Wyvill. 

THt: CuuncH OF ST. PETER, and for the sake of distinction called "Ercle­
·'ia Petri Parvi, or St. Peter the Little, stood on the east side of Peter Lane, 
a little west of High Ousegate. It was an ancient Rectory, under the 
patronage of the monks of Durham ; but having fallen a sacrifice to the de!'­
tructive events which at various times haTe laid waste this city, the chun:h, 
together with the parish, was united to All Hallows in 1585. 

TuE CHuncn o~· ST. Cnux, or Holy Crou, vulgarly called Crou Clturclt, 
~tands at the north end of the Pavement, and waR originally built in the time 
of Edward the Confessor. At the time of the Domesday Survey, it and two 
stalls in the Butchery or Shambles belonged to the Earl of Moroon ; and the 
church was afterwardM given hy Nigell Fossard, Lord of Doncaster, to the 
Abbey of Rt. Mary at York. It appears to have been rebuilt in 1424, as a 
f'ommis8ion, datc1l September 6th, in that year, wns directed to William, 
Bishop of Dromot·c, commtmding him to consecrate the building. In 1840 
this church was greatly improved externally by the removal of projections, 
1\nd the l'rl'l'tion of iron palisades. The living is a Discharged Rectory, and 
1\t tht> dissolution of religious houses, the patronage came to the Crown. 
The prt'sent Rcctot· is til<' Hev .• Tos<'ph Crosby. There were formerly fh·e 
chantries in this church. The Fabril' is composed of three aisles, with a 
tower at the !lOuth·Wt'!'<t angll' of the W<'st l'nd; its general styl<' is Perpen­
dicular, the pillarR, howcvl'r, t\fl' Dl'comtl'd, and thl' tower is Italian. The 
ll\tter appendage contains two hl'lls, atul i~ an elegant briek Mtructure, with 
stone dressings, the foundation ~totw of which was laid on the 1st of April, 
160i. The lower part is of sOOtH': in thl' two upper stories nrc Venetian 
windows, and at the anglE's are square buttrcssc~. with Tuscan l'apital!<. At 
the top are vases at the angles, nnd tho whole is encompassed with t\ nC'at 
railing, within which is a hemispherical dome, finished with a eros~ and 
weathercock. This towC'r, which is ninety feet higl1, declines considerably 
from the perpendicular towat·ds the west, which gives it an awkward appe-At· 
ance. The west end of the church, which does not range with the tower from 
a oortuosity in the street, is of brick, nnd has n large\' <'nctian window, with 
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stone dressings. Tho south side of the church, bounding the Pavoment, is 
made into six divisions by buttresses, containing a pointed doorway, and five 
large pointed windows of three lights, with cinquefoil heads and Perpen· 
dicular tracery. The clerestory of the nave and chancel, which rises above 
the aisles, has six depressed arched-headed windows of four lights. The 
<'88t end of the church, abutting on Fossgate, is made into three divi­
sions by buttref<ses. In the centre is a large window of six lights, with a 
transom ; and on each side is one of three lights. 

The north side is similar to the south, except that it is only in four divi­
!'lions. The interior is spacious and elegant. The nave and chancel, which 
arc united, arc divided from the aisles by seven arches, vanishing into square 
piers, the mouldiugfil or hollows of the arches being continued to the bases, 
which arc octagonal ; and each arch has an outer moulding, which rests on 
corbals, representing beads of men and women. The clerestory is plain, and 
tho roofs of the nave and aisles are flat, and panelled with bosses at the 
intersections. The altar piece is of oak, with Corinthian pilasters. The 
pulpit and sounding board are octagonal, as is also the font, which is very 
large. The monuments in the church are numerous. Sir Thomas Herbert, 
the celebrated traveller, is buried here; also the body of the Earl of Northum· 
berland, who was beheaded in 1572. (See page 20\J.) On the south side or 
the communion table is an altar tomb, with a large recess behind, over the 
graves of Sir Robert Watter, Knt., Alderman, thrice Lord Mayor of this city, 
founder of the Hospital for poor women, in St. George Street, and a benefactor 
to this church, who died in 1612 ; and of his wife Margaret, who died in 
1608. The interior of the recess is filled with fancy work, with statues of • 
Faith and Prudence, and in the centre is an inscription. On the table 
beneath lie full length effigies of the Knight, dressed in a scarlet robe, red 
cap, and ruff, and his lady in a full gown and ruff. Near this monument is 
an ancient lectern, enriched with niches, &c., and chained to it is a book 
entitled, "A replie vnto M. Hardinge's ansvveare, Imprynted at London, in 
Ftcctc streatc, Henry Wykes, 1566." Beneath is written 1588, which is 
supposed to be the date of purchasing it. In the north aisle is a handsome 
sarcophagus, with a medallion bust of the deceased, to Sir Tancred Robinson, 
twice Lord Mayor of York, who died in 1754, aged 68; and in the south 
aisle is a neat sarcophagus toT. Bowes, apothecary, who served the office of 
Lord Mayor in 1761, and died in 1777, in his second mayoralty. Here is 
tdso a neat pyramidal tablet, with a basso relievo profile, to H. Waite, Esq., 
who died in 1780. On the south side of the church formerly was part of 
the parish burying ground, extenlfing to a row of houaes the whole length of 
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the church, and forming a very narrow lane called Hosier Lane. In 1771 
the Corporation purchased one side of this lane to improve the street. 
The houses were accordingly taken down, the cellars filled up, and the 
ground on which they stood, together with the church-yard on that side, 
was flagged and added t.o the street. This broad causeway was long used as a 
poultry market, and known by the name of Goou Flag•. The burying ground 
on the north side was parcelled out to those who had houses adjoining, 
and a sum of money was raised by that means with which the parishioners 
purchased a piece of ground in Hungate, as a place of interment. There 
was formerly another narrow lane at the east end of this church, called 
Whipmawhopmagate. (See page 859.) 

ST. CuTHBERT's CHURCH, PeaM/wlme Grem.-AD. ancient Discharged Rec­
tory, it being a parish church, under tho patronage of William de Percy at 
tho time of the Conquest. It afterwards belonged to the Prior and Convent 
of tho Holy Trinity in this city ; and at the dissolution tho patronage became 
vested in .the Crown. In 1585 it had the parish churches of St. Helen-on· 
the-Wulls; St. Mary extra Layerthorpe; and All Saints on Peaseholme 
Green, united to it. The present Rector is the Rev. Thomas Henry Yorke. 
The site of this church is particularly remarkable for the discovery o( Roman 
antiquities. (See page 298.) The Structure of the church, which is neat, 
and has a much fresher appearance than most of the churches in York, is in 
the later Perpendicular sty}(', and consists of a body without aisles, and a well 
proportioned square tower of three stories at the west end. Tho latter appen· 
dage contains two bells, and is finished with gargoyles and battlements . 

. The south side of the ch~h is made into five divisions by neat buttresses, 
and exhibits a brick porch and four square-headed windows. The north side 
is in three divisions. and has a pointed doorway and square-headed windows. 

The east end is blank, except on the north side, where is a pointed window 
of three lights; the place of the other windows being occupied by two large 
buttresses of brick. On the north side is a small brick vestry. The interior 
is of one space, with a waggon-head ceiling, adorned with grotesque bosses, 
and supported on similar corbals at the sides. The altar piece consists of 
four Corinthian pilasters, supporting a broken angular pediment, in which 
are the Royal Arms of Queen Anne, with the date of 1702, probably the date 
of the last repair of the church. The pulpit is hexagonal, and the font, which 
is octagonal, is new. In the windows aro some remains of stained glass, 
particularly the Royal Arms of Edward ill. There arc no monuments 
worthy of notice. Near the entrance is au inscription in memory of Willian1 
Bowes, Lord Mayor, A.D. 1416. There was anciently an altar in this church 
belonging to the Guild of St. Mary and St. Martin the Confessor. 
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Near the walls of the city, in the neighbourhood of Aldwark, a little to 
the north west of Merchant Tailor's Hall, is supposed to have stood tlte 
Church of St. Helen on the Walls,* which was anciently a Rectory of medi· 
eties, under the patronage of the families of Graunt or Grant, Salvaine, and 
Langton, to the latter of whom in process of time fell the sole presentation. 
It was Wlited to the church of St. Cuthbert, as above mentioned, and no 
remains of the buildings arc now visible. The ancient parish Church of 
lAyerthorpe, dedicated to St. Mary, was a Rectory, and was tulited to St. 
Cuthbert's. The remains of this building, which stood without the Postern, 
on the hill on the right hand, have also disappeared in toto. 

The Church of AU Saint&, or AU Halloo:s, of which there are now no re· 
mains, stood in the centre of Peasholme Green. Its foundations were dis· 
covered in erecting the weighing machine. It was a Rectory in the gift of 
the families that claimed the patronage of St. Helen's Church, and was 
united with St. Cuthbert's, as before stated, in 1585. 

CHURCH oF ST. DE:o~NJS, or DYoNIS, Walmgate.-Tradition represents this 
church to have been originally a Jewish Synagogue, or Tabernacle, but there 
seems to be no ground for the opinion. It is an ancient Discharged Rectory, 
and before the Reformation it formed part of the possessions of the Hospital 
of St. Leonard in tltis city. At the dissolution it came to the Crown, and 
since the year 1685, when the church of St. George was Wlited to it, the 
patronage has been alternately in the Crown, and the family of Palmes, of 
Nahum. St. Dennis's was anciently the parish church of the Percys, Earls 
of Nortltumberland, whose residence in the city stood opposite to it, and was 
called Percy's Inn. (See page 846.) This church was formerly a spacious 
handsome structure, with a neat and lofty spire in the midst of it. At the 
siege of 1644 this spire was perforated by a cannon ball from the Parliament­
arian batteries: about sixty years after that accident it was greatly damaged 
by lightning, and in 1778 it suffered seven•ly from a high wind. The 

• Camden mentions that the ashes of the Roman Emperor Constantius Chlorus, who 
died in York about the year 306, were certainly deposited in this city, and that the place 
of their interment (a vaulted tomb, within a little chapel) was found soon after the 
RA!fonnation. The sepulchre thus spoken of by this learned antiquary, is said to have 
been when the church of St. Helen stood in Aldwark; and it is highly probable that Con­
stantine the Great, who became a convert to Christianity, caused a Christian church to be 
built over the place where his father's ashes were deposited. This idea is sb'engthened 
by the name of his mother being connected with the church, and by the vicinity of this 
building to the imperial palace. Camden adds a marvellous story of a lamp having been 
found burning in the tomb, which was soon extinguished by the communication of the 
air, and this too on the authority of several intelligent inhabitants of the city. 
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church wa.'> much reduced, by taking down the west end, in 1798, in con­
sequence of the foundation being injured by a large and deep drain passllig 
too ncar it, which was intcndod to draw the water from the Foss Islands. 
At the same time the spire was taken down, and a square tower substituted. 
The reduction which the church underwent at that time rendered what was 
originally the length of the church shorter than its breadth ; and hence the 
edifice has a novel and singular appearance. In 18-17 the tower was rebuilt, 
the church repewed, and the whole fabric substantially repaired. The pre­
sent Rector is the Rev. James Sabben. The Edifice, which is dedicated to 
St. Dennis, a French Saint, consists only of the ancient chanC{'l and it.; 
aisles, with a west tower. The latter is three stories high, embattled, and 
contains two bells, The south side of the church is made into three divisions, 
by buttresses ; in the first from the west of which is a beautiful arched door­
way of five enriched mouldings, resting on piers. This doorway was formerly 
approached by an elegant Anglo-Saxon porch, which stood prior to the re­
duction of the church, and which was in some degree similar to the much­
admired one at St. Margaret's Church. In the remaining divisions, as well 
as on the north side, are pointed windows of three lights. The east end of 
the chancel rises considerably above the aisles, but each of the roofli rises to 
an apex. The east end is made into separate divisions, by buttresses; in 
the centre division is a depressed headed window of five lights, above which 
is a clock placed there in 1818; and in the aisles are pointed windows, one 
of four and the other of five lights. The interior has an equally strange 
appearance with the exterior, but it is neatly fitted up. The lower story of the 
tower is used as a vestry, and on the second story there is a small gallery. 
The aisles are separated from the nave by two large pointed arches. The 
roof of the nave is flat and panelled, the intersections being marked by 
grotesque figures, shields, &c. The pulpit is neatly carved, and the font 
is octagonal. The windows of this church were once filled with stained 
glass. The east window at present exhibits figures of the Crucifixion, the 
Blessed Virgin, St. John, St. Dennis, and an Archbishop. In the south 
aisle window are the beads of two female Saints, very beautiful and perfect. 
The body of Henry Earl of Northumberland, killed at the battle at Towton, 
is buried under a large slab of blue marble (the family vault) in the north 
aisle. On the walls on each side of the communion table are monuments-­
one to the memory of Mrs. Dorothy Hughes, ani the other toR. W. Hotbam, 
Esq., Sheriff of York, in 1801, who died in 1806, aged .t8. The forme£ 
monument, which bas no date, has an antique female figure kneeling, in the 
costume of the latter part of the 17th century; aad the latter, which is of 
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elegant marble, exhibits at the top a dove descending towards a weeping 
figure leaning upon an urn. In the west end of the south aisle is a large 
tablet, with a Corinthian pillar on each side, to the memory of Dorothy Wil­
son, spinster, who died in 1717, aged 72, and left a considerable number of 
legacies for charitable purposes. There was formerly several ancient inscrip­
tions in this church, including one to the memory of Vice-Admiral Holmes, 
a native of York, who died in 1558. 

THE" CHURCH OF ST. GEORGE, Filh4rgate," which for ecclesiastical pur­
poses is united with the church of St. Dennis, stood in the burial ground in 
St. George's Street. It was a Rectory, originally in the patronage of the 
family of Palmes, of Naburn, many of whom are interred here; that village 
being partly in the parish of St. George. It was afterwards in the gift of 
the Malbyes, of Acaster, and in the reign of Richard II. it was appropriated 
to the Nunnery of Monkton. The church-yard is an elevated situation, and 
in the wall next to Fishergate Postern, is yet remaining a curious mutilated 
piece of sculpture, that in all probability is a sepulchral remnant of a lady of 
the early ag43a. Mr. Hargrove tells us that part of the west end of the church 
was standing a few years ago, but there are no remains of it now visible. 
There was one chantry founded in this church, at the altar of St. Mary, for 
the soul of Nicholas, son of Hugh de Sutton. This church-yard, which is 
now the place of interment for the united parishes of St. Dennis, St. !Jcorge, 
and, until lately, for Naburn, is remarkable as having been the place where 
was interred the body of Richard Turpin, the notorious highwayman, who 
was tried and convicted for horse stealing, at York Assizes, and executed on 
the 7th of April, 1789. "Tradition asserts," says Allen, "that early on the 
morning after the interment, the body was stolen for the purpose of dissec­
tion ; but a mob having assembled on the occasion, it was traced by them to 
a garden, whence it was borne in triumph through the streets on four men's 
shoulders, replaced in the same grave, and a quantity of slacked lime de­
posited round the body. On the coffin," he continues, "was inscribed R. T., 
28 ; but he is said to have informed the executioner that he was 88 years of 
age." This yard was used as a place of burial for persons dying of the 
cholera in 1882. The church or parochial chapel of N aburn is situate 
about four miles south of York, on the eastern bank of the river Ouse. The 
living is annexed to the Rectory of St. Dennis. 

ST. OLAVE's Csuncs, Marygate.-This church, which, according to Drake, 
is the oldest ecclesiastical foundation in York, except the Cathedral, appears 
to have been built by Siward, Earl of Northumbria, and dedicated to St. · 
Olave, the Danish King and Martyr. It is recorded in the Saxon Chronicle 

3 u 
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that Earl Siward died in 1055, and was buried "within the Minster at Gal­
mauho,* which lJC had ordered to be built and consecrated in the name of 
God and St. Olnve, to the honour of God and all his saints." In the time of 
WilliiUn n. it WllS an ancient Hcctory in the possession of Alan, Earl of 
ilretflgne, to whom it was given by the Conqueror.t Alan gaYe it with the 
four acres of land, on which St. Mary's Abbey afterwards stood, to Stephen 
and his monks, who had Hcd fi'Om Whitby, in order that they might S<:'ttle 
here; and for some time it was used as the conventual church. After 
the Abbey church was erected, St. Olave's was accounted as a chapel de­
pendent on the monks; and it is probably on this account that no valuation 
is put upon the living in the King's llooks. During the siege of York in 
ltl U, the old edifice was much shattered in consequence of a battery of guns 
having been planted upon its roof-some of the hottest firing having taken 
place in this quarter. It \\'US however repaired in the reign of Charles n., 
and afterward:> nearly rebuilt in li:l'.!-3, the stone for the ex.terior being 
chiefly from the ruins of the Abbey of St. Mary, which it adjoins. "One 
may easily imagine thi:> church to have been built out of St. Mary's Abbey,·· 
says Gent, " it is indeed a handsome one, but with little or no marks of an­
tiquity." The same observation is still applicable. It exhibits a mixture of 
ancient materials and modern workmanship so combined, as to be wortlty the 
attention of the cUI·ious. In this church was formerly a seat for the use of 
the Lords President of the North, who usually attended divine sen·ice here. 
The benefice, to which the ancient one of St. Giles is united, is a Perpetual 
Curacy, iu the patronage of Earl de Grey, probably as lessee w1der the 
Crown; and the present incumbent is the Hev. William Henry Strong. 

The Fabric, which is in the late Perpendicular style, consists of a naw•, 
side aisles, and west tower. The latter appendage contains six bells, and is 
surmounted by a parapet and eight sleight pinnacles. The north side of the 
church is made into si.\: divisions Ly buttresses, with gargoyles ending in 
crocketed pinnacles. This side of the church has some good windows and a 
pointed doorway, over which is a large niche without a statue. The south 
side is much plainer. The east window is of four lights, with cinquefoil 
heads. The interior is vt>ry neat, having been entirely re-furnished a few 
years ago, at o.n expense of about C300., mised by snbsctiption. The seat.-., 
which are single with doors, are of Korway oak; and the pulpit, re~tding-dt'~k. 
altar piece, &c., are all very neat. The east window is filled with stained 
glass, and there is n gallery at the west end. The font is mod<>m, and w~ry 

• GalmiUlho waH the aneient nRme of l\IarygatE'. t Archbishop Sharp's MS. 
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good. Against the east end of the north aisle is a handsome mal'blc tahl('t 
to Frances Worsley, daughter of Thomas Worsley, Esq., of Hovingham Hull, 
who died in 1837, in her 70th year; another handsome tablet to Anthony 
Thorpe, Esq., who died in 1830, aged 72, and Susanna, hi~ widow, who died 
in 1837, aged 65; and another to David Russell, Esq., who died in Sep· 
tember, 1840, aged 67. In tho same aisle are the following :-a splendid 
marble monument to the Eyre family; a tablet to the Rev. Thomas Ctipp~. 
Rector of Cheadle, in Cheshire, who died in 17!:14, aged 51}; a plain tablet to 
William Cattell, and his widow Sarah, who died-the former in 1830, aged 
56, and the latter in 18-12, aged 71 ; and a very ueat snreophagus to com­
memorate Davi1l Poole, Esq., who departed this life in 1830, aged 80, 1md 
other members of his family. In the east end of the south ai~lc is an ele­
gantly-carved tablet to William Thornton, architect, who died in 1i:ll, agP.d 
51 years; and a neat marble tablet to John Dyson (who died in 18~i, aged 
72), and his two wives. Against the wall of tltis aisle are handsome tablets 
to l\Ir. George Hutchinson, of Rceth, in this county, who died in 177 ii, agetl 
22, and his mother, Elizabeth Hutchinson, who died in.l ii 4; to Charles 
Christopher Richard, third sou of Francis Beyntou Ho.cket, Esq., of Moor 
Hall, Warwickshire, who died in his 26th year, in lfH!l; to Alathea, wife of 
.John Jordon, Esq., Colonel of the Otb Dragoons, who died in 1741, and was 
buried here; and to John Hoper, Esq., and Sarah, his wife, the former died 
in 1826, aged 011, and the latter in 1835, in her 6lst yeat·. 

The parish of St . (files, or St. Eyidius the Abbot, was united to that of St. 
Olave in 1585 ; the ancient church of that parish, we arc told by lieut, stood 
"in St. Giles's Gate, vulgarly calletl Gillygate." Its exact site is suid to be 
near the middle of that street, on the north-west side. The parish of St. 
Olave is without tlte walls of the city, in the North Riding of the county, and 
Wapentake of Bulmer, and contains the hamlet of Marygate, part of the 
township of Clifton, one-third of Heworth, and one-third of Rawcliffe. 

ST. HELE~'tl CmiRt:H, St. Heleu's Squal'e, was anciently a Rectory appro­
priated to the Nunnery of :Molcsby, in Lincolnshire; and in the reign of 
Henry V. a Vicarage was obtained in it. At the Reformation the patronage 
came to the crown. The present Vicar is the Rev. William Hey. It appears 
that tltere were formerly four churches in York and its suburbs dedicated in 
honour of St. Helen, or Helena, the mother of Constantine the Great; and 
tradition states that the one we are now describing stands on the site of a 
heathen temple dedicated to the goddess Diana, whose statues usually were 
placed where three ways met. This will appear the more probable when we 
recollect that in 1770, some Roman foundations were disco,·cred near it. 
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From its awkward situation at the junction of three streets, in the Act passed 
in the 1st of Edward VI. (1547), St. Helen's, commonly termed in Stonegate, 
was suppressed and defaced," because it seemed much to deform the city, 
being a great delay to some streets moo&ing and winding at it." The in· 
habitants, however, in the 1st of Queen Mary (1558), procured an Act of 
Parliament to enable them to re-edify the church, and restore the ehnreh-yard 
that extended from it so far as to occupy a great part of the area, in front of 
soveral old cottages, which then stood where the York Tawrn (now Harker's 
Royal Hotel) was erected in 1770. The ground of the church-yard hamg 
risen to an enormous height by successive interments, it was approached 
from the street by an ascent of stone steps, and the entrance into the ehurth 
was by a descent of a similar kind. This rendered the passage for carriages 
to the Assembly Rooms extremely unpleasant; and in 17 48, the Corporation 
gave the parish a plot of ground in Davygate for a place of interment, and 
levelled and apppropriated the church yard to the public usc ; and by some 
anomaly of taste or language called it SL Helen's Square, notwithstaoding 
its triangular shape. Prior to these alterations the area bore the opprobrious 
name of Cuckold's comer. There were three ehantries in this church, one 
founded by William de Grantham, merchant, in 1871 ; another by Ralph de 
Homby, merchant, in 1878; and the third by John de Nassington, the 
period of which is uncertain. The edifice abuts on the space ealled a lf'IIIN, 
to which it gives name, and consists of a nave, chancel, and side aisles. As 
we have seen the whole structure was partly rebuilt, and entirely restored in 
the beginning of the reign of Queen Mary ; its general style is Decorated. 

The roof of the nave (at the west end) riscs to an apex, on which is a small 
octangular lantern, or bell turret, erected about forty years ago, when the old 
octagonal steeple was taken down. Each face of this lantern appendage bas 
a pointed window, and it is finished with a neat pierced battlement. The 
west front bas buttresses terminating in croeketed pinnacles, and a recessed 
pointed arch, beneath which is a very handsome window of four lights. 
Unier this window is a pointed doorway, the \Veather cornice resting on 
shields. The west end of the south aisle is made into two divisions by bot· 
tresscs, which gives the church a very singnlar appearance. In them arc 
pointed windows of three lights, and the battlement, which is continued on 
the aisles, is pierced in a very tasteful manner. The west end of the nonh 
aisle is partly built against, and the remainder of the church is totally eon­
cealed from view. In the interior the centre is divided from the aisles by 
four pointed arches resting on octagonal columns without bases or c-apitals. 
The east window has some stained glass left, representing full length figures 
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of a King and Queen, Bishops, and several saints ; and in the windows of 
the aisles, are some shields of arms of the fam.iliea of Beauchamp, Fitzhugh, 
Percy, Lucy, and Skirlaw. The roof of the church is celled and plain; in 
the west end is a small gallery, on which stands a small organ. The pulpit 
is octagonal, and the altar piece is neat. The old Saxon font, lined with 
lead, and ornamented with antique sculpture, is the most curious in the city. 

There is here a small marble tablet to the memory of two maiden sisters, 
Barbara and Elizabeth Davyee, who died in 1766 and 1767, each 98 years 
of age. They lived in the reign of Charles II., and the five successive 
monarchs. This tablet was erected by their nephew " to perpetuate their 
memory, and the singular instance of their longevity and departure in the 
same year of their age." 

CHURCH oF ST. JoaN THE EvANGELIST, Micldegal8, formerly called St. 
Jolan'•, Oms Bridge End.-This is a Perpetual Curacy, appertaining to the 
Dean and Chapter of York, and though mentioned in the Liber Regis, has 
no value affixed to the living. The present incumbent is the Rev. Edwin 
Fox. The Bviltling consists of a nave and aide aisles, the south side and 
east end abutting upon Micklegate and North Street. In 11SIS1 the lofty 
steeple of this church was blown down, and has never been rebuilt, but its 
place is supplied by an ugly brick turret, very much resembling a pigeon 
cote, which greatly disfigures the church. In this excrescence hangs a 
peal of six bells, three of which were brought from the ancient church of St. 
Nicholas, out of Walmgate, and hung up here in 161S8. There was formerly 
a burial ground, surrounded by a wall, in front of this church ; but at the time 
of the improvements about Ouse Bridge, the wall was removed and a portion 
of the churchyard. was taken into the street. In 1850 the east end was 
pulled down, re-built, and straightened, to widen the street, the north side 
was restored with Whitby stone, and the whole church was thoroughly re­
paired. At the same time the church was re-furnished-single seats being 
substituted for the old-fashioned high pews. The cost of the restoration, re­
parations, &c., was about £900., raised by voluntary contribution, aided by a 
grant from the Church Building Society. The architect was Mr. George 
Fowler Jones, of York. The edifice is partly in the Decorated and partly in 
the Perpendicular styles; its south aide is in five divisions, made by but­
tresses of three gradations. In the first from the west is a small but very 
neat porch, and a small square-headed window of two lights ; in each of the 
three succeeding divisions is a depressed arched window of three lights, and 
in the easternmost division is a similar window of two lights. The finish of 
this facade is a string course and battlement, and the buttresses are finished 
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with gargoyles and pinnacles. At the east end the roofH of the three aisles 
rake to an apex, and are without ornament. There are three large windows in 
this end. The west front is built against, and the north side of the church is 
partly concealed from view. The interior is very neat, three large pointed 
arches, springing front octagonal pillars, divide the aisles from the na,·e. 
The east cud of the latter is used as a chancel. The ceiling is fiat and 
panelled, and the roofs of the aisles, which have a slight rising, are panelled 
with bosses of arms, &c. The aisles evidently had formerly a groined roof, 
as there are remains of several corbals. The altar piece is plain, the pulpit 
sexagonal, and the font is new and good. A portion of the west end of 
the north aisle is used as a vestry, but the building of a vestry on the north 
side of the church is in contemplation. In the vestry are two curious pewter 
flagons, one of which is li inches high and 5 inches in diameter, with scroll 
work engraved. It is of seven sides, each adorned with a full length figure, 
habited in the costume of the middle of the lith century. The windows 
still retain some painted glass, represeuting the Crucifixion, the Interment, 
&c., of our Lord, and the arms of York, ~eville, and other families. There 
were anciently four chantries in this church. Here lie interred the remains 
of Sir Richard Yorke, of York, Knight, who represented this city in si:t 
diflerent Parliaments, and died in 1508. He was Mayor of the Staple at 
Calais, and Lord .Mt\yor of this city in 1469 and 1482. On the north side 
of the communion table is an altar monument lately inscribed to his memory, 
though it is not certain that it was erected for him. "North of the altar," 
says Gent, "i:; a tomb without any inscription, nor could I learn who was 
interred therein ; neither guess, unless of Sir Richard Yorke, depicted in tht' 
windows above it." The modern monuments are not n~merous, nor worthy 
of particular notice. 

Cuuneu OF ST. LAWI:IE:SCE, out of TVt:dmgate Bar, in the street to which it 
gives name.-This WllS anciently a Rectory belonging to the Dean and 
Chapter of York; it was one of the great f1u10s of that body, and usually 
demised to one of the Canons Residentiary, at an annual rent of £9. 13s . .td. 
It is now a peculiar Vicarage in their gift, and in the incumbency of th(' 
Rev. John Robinson. A chantry was founded here in 1846, by Nicholas 
Wartyr. In 1365 the church of St. Michael was united to this church, sub­
ject to a pension of 13s. 'td. per annum, to the Priory and Convent of 
Kirkham; and in 1585 Archbishop Sandys, with the Mayor and Corporation, 
united to it the churches of St. Helen and All Saints, in Fishergate. At the 
siege of York in 1644, the church of St. Lawrence was nearly destroyed, and 
it remained in ruins till1669, when it was repaired partially, but in the year 
1817 it was thoroughly restored and enlarged. 
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The Edifice, which is of mixed styles, consists only of a nave or body, and 
a chancel, with a small western tower of three stories. In the west front of 
the lower story of the tower is a rude sculpture, representing St. Lawrence 
ancl the gridiron. The windows of the church are small, and of different 
shapes, some having pointed arches, others circular, and some square·headed. 
On the north side is a beautiful Norman doorway, somewhat resembling those 
belonging to the churches of St. Margaret and St. Dennis. The circular 
head of this doorway is of four mouldings, the interior one being plain, and 
the rest of a scroll or flower pattern. The two outer mouldings rest on 
columns ; on the capital of one is sculptured n sagittarius, and on the other 
one the Holy Lamb opposed by a dragon. The interior of the church is 
plain. The tower is open to it by a low pointed arch ; the arch between 
the nave and chancel is pointed; the ceilings of both the nave and the 
chancel are flat, and at the west end is a small gallery sustained by two 
Tuscan pillars. The font, which is of Purbeck marble, is very curious. 
It consists of an octagonal basin, ornamented with bosses of heads, leafage, 
and grotesque figures, standing on a pedestal of the same form. In the 
tracery of the cast window are the family arms of Hesketh-arg. on a 
bend sab. three garbs or; crest, a garb, or, banded a:.-with this motto, 
"C'EsT LA SEVL VERTYE QVI Do~:-;E LA "XoBLEssE" ('Tis virtue only that 
confers nobility). In the chancel are several neat marble monuments, iu­

. scribed to the memory of different branches of the Yarburgh family, of 
Heslington, a neighbouring village, who have a vault in this church. Drake 
mentions "two antique statues, which lie on the church·yard wall (of St. 
Lawrence's), to the street, in priests' habits, but whether Christian or 
pagan, is a doubt." There is no longer a doubt on this point, for it seems 
very certain that they have been a portion of a series of statues which once 
adorned the church of St. lfary's Abbey, and eight of which are now in the 
Yorkshire Museum. The wall upon which they stood in Drake's time has 
been superseded by a neat iron palisade, and the two effigies now stand 
against the north wall of the church-one on each side of the Norman door­
way. "It is much to be regretted," says the Rev. C. Wellbeloved, "that the 
statues, now in the church·yard of St. Lawrence, should be separated from 
the other remains of the series of which they were originally a part, and 
placed on the sides of a Norman portal, with which they have no proper con· 
ncction, where they have no meaning, excite no particular interest, are seen 
by few, and are exposed to still further injury from the weather.·· 

Against the same wall of this church is fixed a large grit stone, supposed 
by some historians to have been a Roman altar, and by others a portion of a 
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cross o( memorial. It is without any inscription. In the course of the past 
year (1854), the Archbishop of York consecrated an acre of land as an 
enlargement of the burial ground of this church. The cost, about £800. 
bas been liberally contributed to by N. E . Yarburgb, Esq., the late, and 
Yarburgh Yarburgh, Esq., the present, owner of the Heslington estate. In 
consequence of the enlargement, this burial ground was suffered to remain 
open, subject to the conditions noticed at page 396, whilst all the other 
church-yards in York were closed during the past year. Against the west 
wall of the church-yard is a large monument, to the memory of six children 
of the late Mr. Rigg, of this parish, and another person, who were drowned 
in the Ouse, ncar Acomb landing, by their pleasure-boat being run down by 
a vessel in full sail, on the 19th of August, 1830. The epitaph is by James 
Montgomery. A stone coffin serves the purpose of a trough to a pump in 
the front of this church-yard. 

The ancient Church of St. Michael was situated near Walmgate Bar. 
It was a Rectory, appropriated to the Prior and Convent of Kirkham. In 
1366 it was united by the Archbishop of York to the adjoining church and 
parish of St. Lawrenoe, the Vicars paying to the convent of Kirkham out of 
the tithes the annual sum of 13s. 4d. There are no traces of the edifice 
to be seen, and its exact site is unknown ; but the Rev. C. Wellbeloved 
says "I am inclined to think, from some information I received from one 
of the Ordnance S!l"eyors, that it was ncar the Bar, on the east side of the 
road to Fulford." 

The ancient Church of St. Nicholas stood in Watlingate (now Lawrence 
Street), on the ground adjoining Plantation House and the Tan-yard. It 
was originally connected with the Hospital of St. Nicholas; and a.ft.er the 
dissolution of religious houses, it remained parochial until the siege of York 
in 1644, when it was destroyed by the Parliamentarians. We learn from 
tradition that the soldiers seized the bells, intending to cast them into can· 
non; but being rescued from them by Lord Fairfax, they were, in 1653, 
placed in St. John's Church, Micklegate. The magnificent old porch in front 
o( St. Margaret's Church, Walmgate, was brought from this building; and 
the other parts of the ruins were successively removed to repair the roads, 
&c., till the whole completely disappeared. Upon the same road, a little fur­
ther towards Heslington, at the comer of Edward Street, and opposite 
Lame} Hill, formerly stood the Church of St. Edward, which was a Rectory, 
under the Archbishops of York, and thus continued till 1585, when it was 
united to the church of St. Nicholas. Time bas destroyed every vestige of 
this ancient structure. 
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1'/w Clturc, rif St. Helen, in Fisl}ergate, was situated ou the rorttl to Ful· 
ford, but its site cannot be exactly ascertained. 

Tile Church of All Saints is supposed to have stood on a part of the present 
cattle market, without Fisl1ergate Bar. Drake observes that he could not 
ll.SCertain where All Saints' was erected, but the many relics of mortality 
which were exposed in 1826, on opening the ground for the new market, 
leaves little doubt that it was the site of the above church. All Saints' was 
a very ancient Rectory, given by King William II. to tho Abbey of Whitby, 
on condition that tho monks there should pmy for him and his heirs. There 
was also another church in Fishcrgate, dedicated to St. Andrew, which was 
a Rectory, given to the Priory of Newburgh, by Lord Mowbmy. 

ST. MARGARET's CnuncH, Walmoate.-Walter Fo.genulf gave this church 
and that of St. Mary, which were conjoined into one Rectory, and which also 
stood in this street, to the Hospital of St. Peter or St. Leonard, York, in the 
reign of Henry I . At the time of tho dissolution the patronage came to tho 
Crown, where it still remains. Tho Rev. George Coopland is the present 
Rector. In 1672 the steeple of this church fell down, and seriously injured 
the roof of the building, which, owing to inability, or Wlwillingness of the 
parish at that period, was not repaired till1684, when the parishioners were 
assisted by a subscription for the work. The roof was then covered with red 
tiles, and the square tower was chiefly built with bricks. In 1839 the church 
underwent a considerable restoration; but in 1851-2 tho structure, except tho 
tower, was enlarged and nearly rebuilt. The Edifice is situated in the church­
yard behind the houses on the north side of the street, and the approach from 
the street is through a neat pair of iron gates. Its parts are a nave, the east 
end of which is used o.s a chancel, a north aisle, ~ small chapel on the south 
side, now used as a vestry, and a brick tower at the west end. This tower, 
which contains three good bells, has stone quoins, and a battlement, with de· 
caycd pinnacles at the angles. In one of the three divisions of the south side 
of the church, is a beautiful and very celebrated porch, which was brought 
here from the church or hospital of St. Nicholas, which formerly stood with· 
out Walmgate Bar. This particularly curious doorway, of very early work· 
manship, is undoubtedly the most extraordinary specimen of Norman or even 
Saxon sculpture and architecture this country can exhibit. It consists of 
four united semicircular arches, below and within each other. The top or 
outer arch exhibits the twelve signs of the zodiac, with a thirteenth zodiacal 
sign, according to the Anglo-Saxon calendar, which continued in use for somo 
time after the Norman Conquest, each sign being followed by a bieroglyphical 
representation of the corresponding month. Beneath the zodiacal signs is a 
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carved tlowor mouhling. The second arch comprises twenty-two grotesque 
masks; the third, l'ighken hieroglyphical figures; and the fourth, fifteen 
llgurcs simila1· to thosf! ou the preceding one. The outer arch is supported 
by curiously carred pillars, and the three inner ones rest upon round columns. 
Within the porch is a small recess on each side; and over the door of the 
church is a carved arch, also supported by round columns. The roof of the 
porch rises to an apex, which is surmounted by a small stone image of the 
crucifixion ; and the whole, which is singularly pleasing, is an admirable dis­
play of the taste which prevailed a short time previous to the abandonment 
of the Saxon style. This splendid piece of ancient art has excited much 
controversary amongst an~iquarians, some contending that it belongs to the 
lOt.h or 11th century, and others again that it is a Roman work. But what­
ever may be the date of its e1-cction, n1l have agreed to pronounce it a most 
mre and exquisite piece of carving in stone. The recent enlargement and 
restomtion of this dmrch cost about £1,240., raised by subscription. The 
width of the north aisle was increased by six feet; the walls and all the 
tracery of the windows were restored, and the latter was glazed with Cathe­
dral glass, with a coloured margin. The church was new roofed, and covered, 
together with the splendid porch, with slate, instead of the old red tiles ; the 
vestry was new roofed, and a new window inserted in it. The interior was 
re-furnished, and the gallery at the west end was enlarged and elel"atro. 
This gallery was erected in 1839, at a cost of 500 guineas, of which sum the 
present Rector contributed .£200. Previous to the alterations, the c\mrc\1 
accommodated 400 persons, but provisiou is now made for 540, the additional 
sittings being free. The interior of the building has an exceedingly chaste 
and elegant appearance, and not the least improvement is the substitution of 
neat open seats for the old high pews. The roofs arr open, and of stained 
pine, and the benches are stained and l"amished. The reading desk and 
altar rails are new, and in keeping with the other fittings, but the pulpit, 
which is sexagonal, is old. The tower is open to the church, and the aisle 
is divided from the body of the church by four pointed arches, resting on ~.._ 
tagonal columns, \nthout capitals. The elegant new font is from the cl\is(-1 
of 1\'fr. William Jackson, of this city, sculptor, and is the gift of Mrs. L. ~­
Townsend. It is of Caen stone, and has eight sunk panels, with sacred mo­
nograms and foliage carved therein. A ne\V organ has just been purchased 
for this church ; the cost. about £70., being raised by subscription. At tb.• 
chancel end of the nave is a neat tablet to the memory of T. Wilson, Esq., 
an eminent bookscllrr in this city, who served the office of Sheriff in 1767, 
and died in 1780, agecl 59; and another to S. Wormold, Esq., Lord Mayor 
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of York in 1809, who died in 1814, aged 5!1 years. There are sen·r11l large 
trees in the church-yard, which, being in a state of decay, were removed about 
seven years ago, and young trees planted instead of them. The ancient 
Church of St. Peter in the WiUows, which at the time of the union of the 
churches in York was united to St. Margaret's, was situ11tcd at the west cud 
of Long Close Lane, near its junction with Walmgate. It was an ancient 
Rectory, in the gift of the monastery of Kirkham, and in it was a perpetual 
chantry, founded at the altar of St. Mary, but the founder's name is unknown. 

CHURCH oF ST. MARTIN THE BisHOP, Coney Street.-This is sometimes 
denominated the church of St. Martin-le-Grand, but for which title there is 
not the slightest authority. It was a parochial church prior to the Norman 
Conquest, for in the Domesday Survey it is noticed that " Gospntrick has the 
church of St. Martin, in Conyng Streete." Since that time it was numbered 
amongst the great farms of the Dean and Chapter of York; and in 1331 that 
body appointed William de Langtoft, Vicar of the Perpetual Vicarage thereof, 
and gave him an adjoining house to dwell in, with other privileges, including 
the fruits and obventions of the churches of St. Andrew, St. Stephen, and 
St. John, in Hungate, and the mediety of St. Helen, in Werkdyke; and, a:; 
dependent on St. Martin's, the churches of St. Michael de Berefride, St. John 
ad Pontem Use, and St. Mary, in Layerthorpe. There were two chantJies 
here also, for the support of which certain houses were erected in the church­
yard, and their rents paid to the officiating priests. The living is still a 
Vicarage, in the patronage of the Dean and Chapter, and incumbency of 
the Rev. William Henry Oldfield. 

The Fabric, which is a good specimen of late Perpendicular work, is com· 
posed of a nave (the east end of which is used as a chancel) and side aisles, 
and a handsome square tower at the south west angle. This tower is in 
three stories, and bas several good windows, with weather cornices resting on 
human heads, &c., and is finished with a handsome battlement pierced with 
quatrefoil and trefoil panels; and at each angle are double buttresses, which 
rise to nearly the height of the building, where they are finished by square 
shafts terminating in crocketed pinnacles, and secured to the structure by 
gargoyles of the most grotesque description. In the tower is a peal of eight 
bells, presented by William Thompson, Esq., in 1729. Each bell has a 
quaint motto; for example, the sixth bell gives this piece of excellent advice : 

"All you who henr my mournful sound, 
Repent before yon lie in ground." 

The west end of the nave, which rises to an apex, is of considerable height, 
and contains a fine window of five lights, and the same end of the north 
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nislc has n similar window of three lights. The south side of the church is 
made into five divisions by small buttresses of two gradations, from which 
rise shafts with gargoyles. The entrance to the church is in the first divi­
sion f1·om the west, and consists of 8 small porch with 8 pointed arch, and 
pilasters of the Ionic order. This porch appears to be the work of the middle 
of the last century. The oth<'r divisions on this side <'ontain each a pointed 
window of three light", and tho clerestory of the nave and chancel contains 
five depressed nrch<:'d windows of four lights. Both aisle and clerestory 
finish with n cornice nnd plnin pampct. The cast end abuts on Con!'y 
~troot, nnd is rcntlcretl rcmnrl<nblc by n large circulnr clock, which was 
Prcctcd by the pnrio;;h in Hlli14, and pr~jccts into the str<'ct. Cpon this clock 
is the figure of n man holding n quadrant, ns if in the net of taking a solar 
obs01·vntion.':' This quadrant form<'rly nlwnys pointed to the sun. The cast 
window, which is hnn,Isom<', is similnr to that in tho west <'nd of the nav<'; 
ani! the cast md of the nisles have each n pointed window of three light!'. 
flcneath the north aisle window is a square heruled doorway, and between 
the cmtml and north windows of this end of the church is a small squart' 
nichf', which, before t.hc recent restomtion, contnin<'d a mutilated statue of the 
Virgin awl Child. The north side of the church being built against has no 
windows. In the year lf-153 three of the clerestory windmvs, on the south 
side towards the west, were restored, Mr. Aspinall being the builder; and in 
11451 the remaining two clerestory windows, together with the whole of the 
soutlt side of the church, including the windows and the wnll of the cast 
front, were restored b~· :\h. Halpb Weatherly, of York, builder, the Mes;q-s . 
• \tkinson of the same city being the architects. The above mentioned statue 
was restored and plne<'d in the niche in the month of January in the present 
year, but hnving been considered by some to be "a most offensive addi· 
tion to a Protestant place of worship," it was quickly rcmo,·ed by order of 

the .\rchbishop of York. The cost of the rcstomtion of this church, about 
Cl,lfiO., was mised pnrtly by subscription, nnd partly by mortgaging the 
funds belonging to the pnrish, The Dean nnd Chapter contributed towards 
the rcstomtion of the chancel end of the <'difice. The porch too is about to 
be rebuilt. StMartin's church is now one of the handsomest in the city, 
aml its nppeamnce from the ri,·cr is beautiful. :\lien tells us that pre,·ious 
to the year lii8, th(•rc was n considerable quantity of Gothic work on tb<' 
buttresses, but thnt "it being thought dcsimblc to improve the appearance 

• The wn:::s of the dty sny thai tJ.i~ mnn 'tPps down from his f'I•'YnleJ situation e\.N'Y 
liw•: Itt· l!t"ard lhl' Ph•ck 'trilit·. 
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of that part of the church, it was all tom away by tho ruthless band of un-
feeling ignorance." Tho interior of the church is handsome. The body is 
divided from the aisles by six pointed arches, supported by octagonal columns. 
The roofs are flat, and panelled with bosses of angels, pomegranates, &c., 
enriched with foliage. The church was re-pewed some eighteen years ago. 
Tho altar piece is neat, and the balusters round tho communion table arc 
very elegantly car,·ed. The pulpit is modem. There was formerly sus­
pended before the pulpit an ancient and curious piece of embroidery, highly 
ornamented, consisting of a piece of puce coloured velvet with stars of gold, 
having in the centre a representation of the Holy Trinity, and on the sides 
and end full length effigies of the Apostles, all in good preservation. This 
interesting relic, which doubtless at a former period formed a splendid cope 
for the ministers of the ancient faith, was presented to the Yorkshire Museum 
in 18-10. Mr. Allen has no doubt that at the time of the Reformation "many 
scores of equally curious and elegant specimens of the taste and ingenuity of 
our forefathers had been burnt to ashes in the streets of York." The font 
is octagonal, plain and massy, on a similar stand, with an elegantly can·cd 
cover, having the date of 1717, and the names of the churchwardens of that 
year carved round its rim. The organ stands at the west end of tho north 
aisle. This church was formerly very rich in stained glass. In 1722 the 
glass from the great east window, which contained " the history of St. 
Athanasius and his Creed," was, according to Gent, removed to the Minster 
by order of the Dean. The large west window, which is called St. Martin's 
window, exhibits a full length effigy of that saint, with several legends con­
coming him; five of the six clerestory windows on one side arc also filled 
with stained glass, and there are some remains of that beautiful article in 
the windows of the aisle. These contain figures of the Blessed Virgin, St. 
George, St. John of Beverley, St. William, St. Dennis, the four Evangelists, 
St. Catherine, &c. The monuments are pretty numerous. In the wall at 
the east end of the south aisle is a curious black marble slab to commemorate 
Thomas Colthurst, Esq., of York, who died in June, 158R; at the comers of 
it are shields in which his crest is repeated. At tl1e east end of the church 
is a tablet to the memory of Peter Johnson, Esq., Recorder of this city, who 
died in 1706, aged 76. In the nave is a neat slab to Frances Howard, 
daughter of F. Howard, Esq., of Corby Castle, Cumberland, who died in 
1710, aged 81; a tablet to William Dobson, Esq., Lord Mayor of York in 
1720, and Elizabeth his wife, the former died in 174.0, and the latter in 
1708; a handsome Gothic monument to John Kendall, Esq., and his wife, 
who died, the former in 1~23, nged 76, and the latter in 1883, aged 79; a 
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neat marble tablet, surmounted by an uni, to .Uexander Gerrard, Esq., bar· 
rister-at-law, who died in this city during the Assizes, in March, 1791, aged 
51; a tablet to John Girdler, Esq., who died in 1793, aged 82; two neat 
tablets to the Radcliffe family; and a neat marble tablet to William Oldfield, 
Esq., Lord Mayor in the years 1825 and 1832, who died in 1846, aged 65. 
This likewise commemorates his widow, Ann Tamar, who died in 1853, aged 
62. At the east end of the north aisle is a handsome monument to Sir 
William Sheffield, Knt., who died in 1633, aged 58. It exhibits busts of Sir 
William and his wife, and female figures on each side. Above is a pediment 
with a shield of arms, and reclining on each side are representations of Faith 
and Hope, with Charity in the centre. On the floor at the end of this aisle is 
a brass plate, bearing the inscription, "In memory of Mary Ann Campbell, 
who died in 1806, aged 39 years, R.I. P." In the south aisle is a slab to 
E. J. Challoner, Esq., who died in 1830, aged 30 ; and near it is one to the 
memory of Mrs. Porteus, mother of the learned Deilby Porteus, Bishop of 
London, who was born in York, and was the youngest of nineteen children. 
Also tablets to Thos. Burr, and members of his family ; Ann Townsend ; 
George Peacock, Esq., his wife, &c. ; Elizabeth Sayer; Sarah Stephenson ; 
and a large handsome one to Robert Horsfield, Esq. On the floor at the 
west end is a half length figure in brass of C. Harrington, goldsmith, 
who died in 1614. 

ST. MARTIN's CHURCH, Micklegate.-An ancient Discharged Rectory, for­
merly belonging to the Barons Trusbutt, then to the Priory of W artre or 
Worter, then to the .Lords Scroope, of Masham, and now in the hands of 
trustees for the benefit of the parish. The present Rector is the Rev. John 
Montagn Wynyard. There was one chantry in this church before the &­
formation . The Edifice, which is of mixed styles, comprises the usual parts 
of a parish church. The tower was rebuilt of brick in 1677, and is the most 
modern part of the church. Its west front bas a pointed window of three 
lights, o.nd its finish is o. balustrade. In 1565 John Bean, Lord Mayor, gave 
£100. to buy a set of "tuneable bells;" there are now three bells in the 
tower. In 1680 a clock and dial were erected, at the cost of the widow of 
Alderman Bawtry. In 1585 the church of St. Gregory was united to this 
church, and hence it is called St. Martin-cum-Gregory. In the west end of 
the north aisle is a window of three lights, with trefoil heads; the end of the 
south aisle is plain. The north side of the church, which faces the street, is 
in two divisions, marked by the style of architecture. The western end. 
which appears to be of tlie early part of the 14th century, has two windows 
similar to the one in the west end, and a small projecting porch, with an an-
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gular roof. The east end is made into four divisions by buttresses of three 
gradations, finished with grotesque gargoyles. In each division is a pointed 
window of three lights. Above the whole is a parapet supported by sculp­
tured blocks. This portion is a good specimen of the style pre,•alent in the 
early part of the 15th century. The east end of the church is almost built 
against. On the apex of the roof is a foliated cross. The entire length of 
the south side is made into seven divisions by buttresses, finished with gar- , 
goyles, much mutilated. The windows are similar to those in the chancel 
end in the north aisle, but the parapet is without the sculptured blocks. In 
the interior the nave and chancel are divided from the aisles by three coh1mns, 
the two westernmost ones being circular; from the capitals spring pointed 
arches of the 13th century. The chancel is separated from the nave by a 
plain arch. The altar piece is of the Ionic order, with a circular pediment. 
The pulpit is of wainscot oak, of sexagonal form, and richly carved. The 
font is a plain octagon, on a pedestal of the same form. The ceiling of the 
chancel rakes to about two-thirds of the chancel arch, where it becomes flat. 
The roof of the nave, which springs from the clerestory windows, is panelled, 
with ~ulptured bosses at the intersections. The ceiling of the north aisle is 
plain, and the south aisle is like unto it, except that the chancel portion of it 
is ceiled like the nave, though the bosses are gone. An organ was erected in 
the tower, which opens to the nave, in 1836. There is a considerable quan­
tity of stained glass in the windows, but generally in sad condition. The 
remains of Mr. W. Peckitt, glass painter and stainer, of this city, who died 
in 1795, aged 64, are buried in the chancel of this church, and there is in 
one of the windows of the north aisle a neat piece of modem stained glass to 
his memory; and a figure of Religion (between St. Catherine and St. John), 
by the same artist, to the memory of Anne, his wife, who died in 1765. In 
the windows of this aisle are also representations of Adam and Eve, and the 
Baptism of Christ; and in the windows of the south aisle are St. George and 
some other saints, much mutilated. Amongst the monuments is one in the 
south aisle toT. Carter, Esq., Alderman and Lord Mayor of York, who died 
in 1686, aged 52; one to J. Strickland, Esq., of Siserge, in Westmorland, 
who died in 1791, aged 88; and one in the nave to J. Dawson, Esq., who 
died in 1731. The Register book of this p&.rish contains many curious entries 
relative to the siege of York during the civil war in the reign of Charles I. 

The ancient Ckurch of St. Gregory stood in Barker Lane, formerly called 
Gregory Lane. This laue leads from Micklegate to Tanner Row. 

CuuRcu OF Sr. MARY, Bi$hophiU Senior, or the Elder.-This was an­
ciently a Rectory of medieties, one of which belonged to Ute Abbot and 
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Convent of Hcalaugh Park, to whom it was given uy B.oucrt de Pluruptou. 
It afterward~ came to the Crown, and the families of Percy, Va\·aaour, and 
Scropc; and in 1515 the whole of the patronage came to the Crown. In 
1585 the parish Church of St. Clement, without Skeldergate Postern, was 
united to this church. The llcv. Henry William Beckwith is the present 
Hector. There were formerly two clumtrics here. The Stnu:ture is small 
and ancient, and having a double row of trees in the church-yard, it pos· 
scsses a very rural and pleasing ap)X'.arance. It consists of a na\'1!, chancel, 
north aisle, and a square tower at the north west angle. According to Drake 
there is a great quantity of millstone grit wrought in the walls. The tower, 
which was built in 1650, and in which is a peal of six good bells, is princi· 
pnlly of brick, with stone quoins, dressings, and battlements. The nave and 
chancel have roofs rising to gables, and of red tiles. In the south side is a 
brick porch, and several pointed windows placed without any order, and in 
tho walls is a curious carved stone, apparently a portion of a sepulchral 
memorial, having a cross with rich scroll work. The east end of the church 
is finished with a plain buttress. Tho large cast window in the chancel is 
of lho lights, with Perpendicular tracery. The chancel is in the style of the 
1-tth century. A modern erection of brick, attached to the east end of tho 
chancel aisle, serves as a vestry. The north side of the nave is in three 
divisions (including the tower) made by buttresses of four gradations; and in 
each division is a pointed arched window of two lights, with trefoil beads, 
the sweeps containing a circle in which is a cinquefoil. Tho weather cornice 
tcrminatos in heads much mutilated, The chancel is in two divisions, the 
centre buttress having a finial. The interior is neatly fitted up. Tbl"eC 
semicircular arches springing from circular columns, with square capitals, and 
one pointed arch which rises from an octagonal pillar and capital, divides the 
north aisle from the nave. The chancel is divided from the aisle by thl"eC 
arches similar to the last described. The ceiling of the whole is fiat. On 
the south side of the communion table is a cinquefoil locker. The font is 
octagonal, and rests on a similar base. Though much altered, the interior 
of this church displays the architecture of the 12th and 13th centuries. 

Amongst tho monuments, which arc numerous, are but a few particularly 
worthy of notice. In the chancel is a cenotaph, ornamented with cherubs 
and drapery, to Elias Pawson, Esq., Alderman, and Lord Mayor 1704, who 
died in 1715, aged 4.1; and one to G. Dawson, Esq., of York, who died in 
1812, aged 79. There is also there a neat monument to l\lr. Thomas Rod· 
well, who died in 1 i87, aged H ; and u Gothic tablet to Mrs. Sarah Atkinson, 
who died iu 1825, aged 30. The church-yard is extensive, and abounds \\it.b 
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tomb stones. Near the tower is a handsome monument, surmounted by a 
sarcophagus, on lions' feet, to the memory of Mr. Peter Atkinson, of this 
city, architect, who died in 1805, aged 70. For some particulars of the 
church of St. Clement, see page 406. The out townships of Dringhouses 
and Middlethorpe belong to this parish. 

CaoRCH OF ST. MARY, BishophiU Jtmior, or the Younger.-This is a Dis­
charged Vicarage, and one of the great farms of the Dean and Chapter of 
York. The present incumbent is the Rev. Arthur Howard Ashworth. The 
Edifice, which is of great antiquity, was till latterly supposed to be a Saxon 
structure; but Mr. Wellbeloved and other antiquarians consider that it was 
rebuilt in the latter part of the 12th, or the early part of the 13th, century, 
of Saxon and even of Roman materials. Much of the masonry has a genuine 
Saxon appearance, especially in the heavy square tower at the west end, 
which is equal to the breadth of the nave. In the lower portions of the 
latter appendage are small loop-holes or windows, and the stones and bricks 
are disposed in herring-bone masonry, which is quite of the Saxon cha­
racter. According to Drake, this is the largest tower of any parish church 
in the city, and the same authority informs us that the north side of 
the church is almost wholly built of large stones of grit, on which several 
regular architectural mouldings can be traced. The plan of the church em­
braces a nave and side aisles, with a chancel and north aisle. The tower 
contains three bells, and is finished with a battlement, and eight small 
crocketed pinnacles. The roof of the nave rises to a gable. The chancel, 
which is the most ancient part of the structure except the tower, has a 
pointed window of three lights in the east end; and there is a pointed win­
dow in the same end of the south aisle. The windows in the south side of 
the church are of mixed styles, and the north side is built against. In the 
interior the nave is divided from the aisles by a cylindrical column, from 
which spring on the north side two semicircular arches, which rest against 
the piers ; those on the south side are heavy and pointed. The chancel arch 
is pointed; the tower arch is semicircular, resting on piers of strong masonry; 
and the chancel is divided from the aisle by two pointed arches, resting on an 
octagonal column. The roof of the nave is divided into panels, but the bosses 
which ornamented the angles are gone. The font is a circular basin, on an 
octangular pillar. There are some remains of stained glass in the windows, 
but much mutilated. There are no monuments worthy of notice. 

The out townships, or Chapelriu of Copmanthorpe and Upper Poppleton, 
situated in the Ainsty, belong to this parish ; the churches will be des­
cribed in the account of those places at subsequent pages. 
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ST. rt!Aav's Cm:ncu, CastlegtJie.-'l'his church, which is called in ancient 
writings, Ecclesia Sa11ct6 MariA! ad portam Caatri, is an ancient Rectory of 
medicties, formerly held by the Percy family, Earls of Northumberland, and 
the Priory of Kirkham. It was consolidated into one Rectory in the year 
1400, under the patronage of the Percys alone; and at the Refol'IDJI.tion the 
advowson reverted to the Crown. The present Rector is the Rev. Joseph 
Salvin. The EdijictJ consists of a nave and side aisles, chancel and western 
tower, and spire. All the angles arc finished with buttresses of three grada­
tions, and at the north-west angle is an octagonal staircase. The west front 
of the tower has a large pointed window of five lights, and a transom. Above 
this window is a niche, and on each side is a sculptured block and canopy, 
for statues, but by the decay of the limestone, all the work that formerly 
adorned this front, and indeed the whole exterior of the church, is completely 
destroyed. The lower story of the tower is finished with a battlement. The 
second story of the tower is octagonal, of elegant proportions; in four of the 
faces of which are pointed windows (nearly the height of the struc~) of 
three lights, with ornamented transoms in the middle ; and in the four re­
maining faces is a slight buttress of three gradations, finished with gargoyles 
of heads of animals, &c. These windows are now partly filled up with brick, 
which gives them a very unsightly appearance. This tower is ornamented 
with the highest and most perfect spire in the city. It too is octagonal, and 
its height from the ground is 154 feet. The west front of the aisles con~o 
each a window of throe lights, and each is finished with a string course and 
battlement, gradually rising to the tower. The south side of the church is 
in six divisions, divided by buttresses, finished with angular caps orocketed, 
with gargoyles beneath. In the first of these divisions, from the west, is a 
pointed arched window of three lights; in the second, a porch, and the other 
divisions have square-headed windows with transoms. The SO&tb aisle is 
finished with a cornice and battlement. The north side of the ohUJCh very 
closely resembles the sou~h side. When in a perfect state the exterior o( 

this church must have been very handsome, and would exhibit a gnod speci· 
men of tho ecclesiastical architecture of the 16th century. The interior. 
which is of an earlier date, probably of the la~ter part of the 12th ceotmy, 
is spacious. The tower, wlW:h contains three bells, opens into the aave aod 
aisles by pointed arches. The nave is divided from the aisles by three 
pointed arches rising from columns, some of which arc circular and some 
octangular, with capitals of the Norman form, but of di.ft'erent designs. The 
westernmost arch of the north aisle is pointed, and is double the span of the 
others, and the corresponding arch of the south o.isles is the same span, but 
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circular in form. The arch which divides the chancel from the nave is 
pointed. The chancel is separated from the side aisles (the east ends of 
which appear to have formerly been chapels) by two unequal arches on the 
sooth side, and three on the north, the narrowest one on each side being 
built up, apparently for the purpose of receiving monuments, and by which 
this portion of the church is much disfigured. The top of the east window 
of the chancel is filled with ancient stained glass, and there is some of the 
same beautiful material in the window at the east end of the south aisle. In 
the chancel is an ancient seat, with a sculptured monk on the miaerioord, 
and there are in the church two other similar seats, one of which bas the 
caned miaericord. On the south side of the communion table is a carving 
in wood of a female, probably the Blessed Virgin, with two angels on each 
side. The roofs of the nave and chancel have a slight riae, and are panelled 
without ornaments, as is also the roof of the south aisle ; the ceiling of the 
north aisle, which is modem, is flat and plastered. The church is furnished 
with the old high pews ; the font reaemblee a large vaae. There are several 
old monumental inscriptions, some of them as old as the 14th and 16th 
centuries. Many of these ancient gravestones are in the floor of the church, 
especially in the chancel and side chapels. In the floor in front of the 
altar is a slab to the memory of Sir Henry Thompson, of Middlethorpe, and 
his lady, bearing the arms of that nobleman. In the chancel are tablets to 
the Rev. R. Coulton, Rector of this church, who died in 1713, aged 76; 
and W. Mushett, M.D., who died in 1792, aged 77; also a large marble 
tablet to William Mason, Presbyter, son of Valentine, once Vicar of Elloughton, 
who died in 1708, aged 78, and Jane his wife; and a monument to Lewis 
West, Esq., and his wife-he died in 1718, aged 63, and she died in 1732, 
aged 77. At the east end of the south aisle are two corbals of angels holding 
shields charged with the arms of William Gray, who had a chantry founded 
for him in this church. In the church-yard is the gravestone of Eliza Kirk­
ham Mathews, widow of the late Charles Mathews, the celebrated comedian, 
who died in 1802 ; the age is defaced. Thoresby, in the Appendix to his 
Ducatm IAodimfts, tells us that he had in his possession a copper plate, found 
in making a grave in this church, which "had been covertly conveyed and 
fastened on the inside of the coffin of a priest, who was executed for the plot 
of 1680." The plate bore the following inscription:-

"R. D. Thomas Thweng do Howorth, oollegii Anglo Duaceni sacerdos, post 1:! annos 
in Anglicana missione tmnsactos Eboroci condcmnatus, martyrio nffectus est Oct. die 
23, anno Dom. 11180. Duobus falsis testibas ob crimen conspirationis tunc temporis 
catholieis malitiose impositam:• 
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York Castle, though extra parochial, is in some measure connected with 
this parish, as the prisoners who died a natural death in the prison were 
usually interrl'd in this church yard, for which one guinea was charged on 
each occasion. 

ST. MicHAEL·LE·BELFRY CHURCH, Pet"gate.-Tbis church, which is a 
sort of adjunct to the Cathedral, is the largest and the very best and most 
elegant parochial church in York. It is supposed to derive its appellation of 

Le Belfry, which distinguishes it from St. Michael's, Ousegate, from standing 
near the turri3 campanifera, or belfry of the Minster; others think that it 
was partly used as a belfry to the Cathedral. This church is part of the 
ancient possessions of the Dean and Chapter of York, to whom it was COD· 

firmed by Pope Celestine III., in 114\l. The benefice is a Perpetual Curacy, 
of which the Dean and Chapter are the patrons and impropriators, and the 
Rev. Charles Rose the present Incumbent. The origiAUJl Stnteture, which 
appears to have been erected soon after the Normim Conquest, was taken 
down in 1535, and the present Fabric was completed ten years afterwards. 

During the time that the choir of the Minster was being restored after the 
fire of 1829, this church was used for the daily service of the Cathedral­
the gallery being fitted up for the choir-and during the year 1853, the 
interior was re-floored, re·pewed, and otherwise restored, at a cost of about 
.£1,250., raised by subscription. These restorations were effected from designs 
by Mr. George Fowler Jones, architect, of this city. It was re-opened for 
divine service on the 23rd December, 1853, on which occasion the sennon 
wa.<J preached by his Grace the Archbishop of the province, when a liberal 
collection was realized in aid of the restoration fund. This handsome uni· 
form edifice, which is a good specimen of the late Perpendicular style, con­
sists of three aisles, the east end of the centre one, or nave, being used as a 
chancel. Formerly houses were built against the west end of the south aisle, 
but all these, from hence to the top of Little Blake Street, have, within tlle 
last few years, been removed. (See page 461.) The exterior west end is 
made into three divisions by buttresses, the two centre ones being of un­
common size and in four gradations. In the lower story of the centre division 
is an arched doorway no\v filled up ; above this rises a handsome pointed 
window of five lights, and this window is bounded by another arch of larger 
dimensions, the soffit being filled with plain but bold mouldings, which 
vanish in the buttresses. Above this is a cornice, and tho apex is crowned 
with a small but neat bell turret, rebuilt a few years ago. The sill of this 
window forms a weather cornice to the doorway beneath it. The west end 
of the north aisle exhibits a depressed pointed arch of four lights, and the 
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window of the same end of the south aisle is filled up. It is to be regretted 
that the opening of the ancient western entrance and the restoration of the 
last mentioned window did not form part of the recent improvements; the 
houses by which this end of the church was disfigured having been removed, 
there seems no reason why the church itself should retain its present un· 
sightly appearance. The south side of the structure, abutting on the street, 
has a very handsome appearance. It consists of six divisions made by slight 
buttresses of three gradations, which do not rise to above two thirds of the 
height of the aisle, and are finished in tall square shafts, which terminate 
above the battlement in pinnacles ornamented with crocketing, and end in a 
finial. Attached to the first step of each buttress is a band, which is con­
tinued round the church ; and the top is finished by a plain band and patapet, 
and over each buttress is a gargoyle. In each of the six divisions is a de· 
pressed pointed arched window of four lights ; the dado is enriched with 
square panels, enclosing quatrefoils, with shields bearing the arms of St. 
William, Archbishop Zouch, St. Peter, and the Sees of York and London. 
At the south west angle is a turret staircase, and in the first division from 
the west is an arched doorway. The north side is similar in form to the 
south, except that the dado is plain. The clerestory windows, twelve in 
number, which are barely observable in the street, are square headed, and of 
three lights each. The gargoyles, which are composed of monsters, human 
beings as well as birds, serve to attach the shafts of the buttresses to the 
walls of the aisles. The east end is similar to the west, if we except the 
absence of massy buttresses, the bounding arch of the centre window, and 
the turret and door. The interior is exceedingly elegant and affords a good 
specimen of the architecture of the 16th century. The nave and chancel are 
divided from the aisles by six depressed pointed arches, resting on clusters of 
four columns, unitt.d by octagonal capitals; in the spandrils a quatrefoil in 
a circle between two trefoils, and beneath, an angel holding shields charged 
alternately with two swords and keys in saltire. The ceilings are flat, 
panelled, without bosses. The altar piece, erected in 1714, is of oak, con­
sisting of four Corinthian pillars, with the entablature, Royal Arms, &c. The 
neat oaken pews-single seats-exhibit. some chaste carving, executed by 
Mr. James Jones, of this city. Th& pulpit and reading desk are new and 
elegant, the former was presented by John Roper, Esq., and the latter is the 
gift of John Clough, Esq., both of Clifton near York. In the gallery, which 
is at the west end of the church, is a handsome organ. Drake tells us that 
the organ of this church in his time, the only one belonging to any parish 
church in this city, was removed here from the Catholic chapel of the Manor 
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House; "but was first bad from the church of Durham, as the anne upon 
it doth shew." The east window of the centre aisle, and that of the north 
aisle, arc filled with stained glass ; and there are considerable remains oC 
that article in the windows of the south aisle. They exhibit full length 
figures of SS. Peter, Paul, John, Christopher, William the Archbishop. 
Michael, &c. Among the monuments the following are the most worthy of 
notice. A large one at the east end of the south aisle to R. Squire, Esq., 
who died in 1709, and Priscilla his wife, who died in 1711. This monument 
consists of two costumic effigies resting their arms on ums, and over them 
two cherubs supporting a celestial crown, all within an arched recess sop­
ported by two Corinthian pilasters. In the same aisle are tablets to R. 
Farrer, Esq., Lord Mayor in 1766 and 1769, who died in 1780, aged 75; 
and to A. Hunter, M.D., who died in 1809, aged 79. A neat tablet at the 
east end of tho north aisle to the Rev. Wm. Richardson, for more than fifty 
years minister of this church, who died in 18~1, aged 76. This clergyman 
was also sub-chanter of the Cathedral, and the compiler of the hymn book 
used in most of the York churches, called the "York Psalm and Hymn 
Book." Near to the latter is a tablet to the Rev. W. Knight, of Banbury, 
Oxon., sub-chanter of the Cathedral, who died in 1789, aged 55. In this 
church lie the remains of Gent, the historian, and his infant son. There 
was a chantry founded in 147~, by Sir Ralph Bulmer, Knt., to pray for his 
soul at the altar of" Our Ladye" in this church. Its yearly value was 49s. 

Part of the townships of Clifton and Rawclift'e are within this parish. 
The ancient Church of St. Wilfrid stood on the north side of Lendal, on 

or near the site occupied by the bouse now known as the Judges' Lodgings. 
St. Wilfrid's is mentioned in the Domesday Survey, as an ancient Rec-tory 
prior to the Conquest; but the fabric of the church must have been ruinous 
at an early date, for in Queen Mary's time (1566) the church-yard was sold 
to Richard Goldthorpe, who was Lord Mayor, for £10. At the union of 
churches iu York, in 1585, this parish was united to the church of St. 
Michael-le-Belfry, but with the peculiar clause, that, "if ever the parishioners 
think ftt to rebuild their church, the parish shall remain as before." A few 
years ago when the floor of the Assembly Rooms, adjoining the site of this 
church, was re-laid, several portions oC an ancient porch, which, from ~ 
remains, must have been nearly as fine as that of St. Margaret's, were found 
near the base of some of the columns which decorate the interior. This 
porch had doubtless belonged to the church of St. Wilfrid. 

ST. MICHAEL's CHURCH, LoaD Otuegate, commonly called St. Michael's, 
Bpurriergate, is an ancient Rectory, now in the patronage of the Crown, and 
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incumbency of the Rev. Robert Sutton. This church, the original foundation 
of which is very ancient, was given by William the Conqueror, or, as Arch­
bishop Sharp was of opinion, by William Rufus, to the Abbey of St. Mary, at 
York. It contained one chantry. The Edifice, which forms nearly a square, 
with a western tower, is in the Perpendicular style. According to Drake, 
the west end was almost entiroly built of grit stone, and contains some blocks 
of an extraordinary size. In 1822, during the improvements consequent 
upon the erection of the new bridge acroBB the Ouse, and in order to widen 
tho approaches to it, several houses, which hid the south side of this church 
from view, were removed, and that side of the edifice, as well as the end abut­
ting on Spurriergate, were taken down and rebuilt further back. The exterior 
of the church consequently presents a modern appearance. The west end is 
approached by a small passage, called St. Michael's Lane, leading from Low 
Ousegate, half round the church to Spurriergate, and from the great number 
of bones dug up here at various times, tha houses in this lane seem to have 
been built on pari of the ancient church-yard. Two buttresses divide the 
west end of the church into three divisions. The tower, which contains a 
peal of six bells, is four stories in height, in the lower of which is a doorway, 
having the weather cornice finished with two grotesque heads. Above it is 
a pointed window of four lights; there are smaller windows in the upper 
stories, and the top is finished with a string course and battlement. The 
south side of the tower exhibits a clock dial. which is illuminated during the 
winter months. The south and east sides of the church have a plain and neat 
appearance, and contain very good windows; and the north side is partly 
built against. The interior, which is very neatly fitted up, is divided into 
three aisles by four pointed arches and a half, which spring from columns 
formed of four cylinders, coqjoined with leaved capitals. The half arch, 
which is at the east end, was occasioned by yieldiDg se•en feet of ~e bmer 
church · to Spurriergate, to widen the street, as already mentioned. At that 
Qme the whole of the interior was ornamented, the floor was raised, aud the 
pews formed anew. The ceiling is flat, and in large panels. The altar piece 
is of oak, in three compartments, made by four composite pilasten, the 
centre companment being finished with an arch, on which is a small figure 
of St. Michael. The pulpit is sexagonal, the font is •ery mean, and a small 
gallery at the west end contains an organ. The windows contain some 
stained glass, much mutilated, representing the history of St. John. The 
monumeDts are not numerous; on the floor is a brass to the memory of 
William Hancock, of this city, who died in 1481S ; and on the south side is a 
neat tablet to J. Wood, Esq., Lord Mayor, who died in 1704. At six o'clock 
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every morning (Sundays excepted) a bell is rung in the tower of this chureh, 
and after this bell has chimed, another is rung as many times as will corres­
pond to the day of the month. The custom of ringing the first-mentioned 
bell is said to derive its origin from the circumstance of a traveller having 
lost his way in the forest that formerly surrounded York. After wandering 
about all night, be was rejoiced to hear the clock of St. Michael strike six, 
which at once told him where he was. To commemorate his deliverance from 
the perils of the night, be left a sum of money that the bell might thencetor.. 
ward be rung at six every morning. The Curfew Bell, too, still continues to 
be tolled here at eight o'clock in the evening. 

ST. SAKPSo:."s CHURCH, Church Street.-An ancient Rectory, formerly in 
the patronage of the Archdeacons of Cleveland until the reign of Edward 
ill., when it came to the Crown. In 1898 Richard II. granted the advow­
son to the Vicars Choral of the Cathedral, to be appropriated to their Collegt-, 
in return for their having undertaken to celebrate in this church an anni­
veraary obit for the King and Queen Anne, and to use other devotional 
exercises for the eternal repose of their souls. There were formerly three 
cbantries of this church. From some unknown cause this living is not men­
tioned in the King's Books, but it is now a Perpetual Curacy, in the gift of 
the Sub-Chanter and Vicars Choral, and incumbency of the Rev. Thomas 
Bayley. The alterations consequent upon the formation of the new market, 
in 1884, brought this church more prominently into sight. Prior to these 
improvements, it stood almost completely hid at the confluence of Swinegate 
and a street called Girdlergate ; but the latter street was then lengthened, by 
being carried through the church-yard into the Market Place, and Girdlergate 
and its continuation were together called Church Street. With the exception 
of the tower, the entire edifice bas been recently restored, at a cost of about 
£2,000., raised by subscription, and it is now a neat commodious church. 
The restoration was finished in 1848. The Fabric, the style of which is a 
mixture of the Decorated and the Perpendicular, consists of a nave ~of which 
the east end forms the chancel), and side aisles, with a large square tower of 
stone at the west end. This tower contains two bells, and exhibits many 
marks of age and violence. Like other steeples in York, it suffered from the 
cannon balls of the Parliamentarians, at the siege of York in 1644, and the 
perforation of one is still visible. The tower was originally three stories in 
height, but the upper story being in danger of falling, was taken down when 
the church was restored. The angles of the tower are guarded by buttresses, 
and the west front bas in the lower story a large pointed window of four 
lights. In the next story is a niche, with a pedestal and statue in pontifical 
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attire, much decayed.* When the tower was perfect it was finished with a 
battlement. In the west end of each aisle is a pointed window of three 
lights. The north and south sides of the church are alike, being made into 
six divisions by buttresses of three gradations. In the westernmost division 
is a pointed doorway, and in each of the other divisions is a square-headed 
window of two lights. The east end of the church is in three divisions, the 
roof of each rising to an apex ; in each division is a pointed window of three 
lights, the centre one being the largest. The interior is fitted up with open 
seats. The nave is separated from the aisles by six arches, supported by oc· 
tangular columns, with similar capitals; the tower opens into the nave; the 
roofs are open, but plainly boarded over and stained. The old roof of the 
nave was- very rich and beautiful. The altar piece has fluted pilasters of the 
Ionic order, the pulpit and reading desk are new and very neat, the former 
being of very elegantly carved oak, and the organ is good. At the side of 
the south door is a large holy water basin. · Drake mentions several coats ol 
arms which were in the windows, but all the painted glass has been long re­
moved. There are now no monuments particularly worthy of notice. 

ST. SA~IOuR's CHuRcH, St. SaviourgaU, was anciently styled the Church 
of St. Saviour, in Marisco (in the marsh, in allusion to its site having once 
been marshy ground.) It was founded before the Norman invasion, for we 
find that William I. gave it to the Abbey of St. Mary. At the Reformation 
the advowson came to the Crown. The living is a Rectory, and the present 
Rector is the Rev. Josiah Crofts. There were formerly seven chantries in 
this church, all of which were of considerable value ; likewise a guild or fra· 
ternity of St. Martin, founded by letters patent from Henry VI. 

In 1586 the parishes of St. John, in Hungate, and St. Andrew, in St. 
Andrewgate (both mentioned in Domesday Book), were united to this church 
and parish. The church of St. Saviour, which is said to have been re­
built out of the remains of a neighbouring Carmelite convent (See page 494), 
was restored, heightened, and improved in 1848, at an expense of nearly 
.£1,700., raised by subscription. It comprises a nave, side aisles, and west 
tower, which contains two bells. In the west front of the tower is a fine tall 
pointed window of three lights, with a transom, and there are small windows 

• According to Alban Butler, author of the Live• of IM SainU, St. Sampson, the 
patron of this church, was born in Glo.morganshire, about the year 496, and was con­
eearated Bishop in 620 by St. Dubritius, without being fixed in any particular 1!8e. The 
uame is sometimes written Sallxo, md tradition informs us that there was a Bishop of 
York of that uame in the time of the Britons, and that a stone statue, which may yet 
be observed on the west side of the tower, is of him. This is the only church in Eng. 
land dedicated to St. Sampson. 
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in the upper srories. The rower is supported at the angles by double but­
tresses, and the rop is finished with a battlement, within which rises an 
angular roof, which is surmounted by a wooden cross, terminating in a 
weathercock, The west front of the aisles have each a pointed arched win­
dow of three lights. The north side of the church, which faces the street to 
which the church gives name, is made inro three divisions by buttresses; in the 
first from the west is a pointed doorway, and in each of the others two pointed 
windows. The south side is similar ro the north; and the aisles are furnished 
with a parapet. There are three windows at the east end ; the centre ono 
consisting of five, and those on each side, of four lights. Attached to this 
end of the church is a vestry of modem erection, covered with campo, which 
is quite an excrescence. The interior of the church is neatly furnished with 
single seats. The centre is divided from each of the side aisles by five 
pointed arches, supported by octagonal columns with ·capitalA ; there are gal· 
leries extending nearly round three sides of the building; and in one of them 
is a good organ. The rower is open ro the nave, and the fine window which 
it contains, with its coloured bordering, is seen ro great advantage. The 
roof, which is new, is waggon-headed, empanelled, and exhibits gilded mould­
ings and massy beams. The east end of the nave is fitted up as a chancel 
or sanctuary. The altar piece consists of four small fluted Ionic pilasters sop­
porting a frieze ; the pulpit is neat ; the font is a large massy octangular 
basin, over which is a ponderous carved cover with a cross and dove. The 
churchwardens' seats at the west end of the church (for the united parishes). 
consist of two ancient carved stalls with moveable seats, and two modem 
stalls made after the same pattern. In the centre window at the east end is 
a mass of stained glass, arranged in beautiful disorder in 1801, and said to 

represent the legend of St. Anthony; and there are some brilliant remains of 
the same article in the other windows at the same end. Within the rails of 
the communion table is a slab inscribed ro the memory of Sir John and Lady 
Bewley, whose names have become so well known in connection with a cha­
ritable institution in this cit.y, and a long pending case arising out of it, before 
the Court of Chancery. Sir John died in 1697, aged 78, and "Dame Sarah 
Bewley his wife," died in 1710. In the south aisle is a neat tablet ro Thomu 
Withers, M.D., who died in 1809, aged 59; also a handsome white marble 
tablet ro Andrew Perrott, M.D., who died in 1762, aged 49; and two mural 
tablets ro the Wilkinson family. In the north aisle is a tablet ro Col. Roger 
Morris (and family), of the 47th regiment, who died in 1794, aged 68; one 
ro Edward Smith, Esq., who died in 1799, in his 88th year; and anQther to 
Thomas Atkinson and family. 
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Near Hungate on the east, on a spot long known as St. John's Green, but 
now covered with buildings, stood the ancient Church of St. John tla~ Baptilt. 
It was one of the great farms of the Dean and Chapter of York, and was 
valued at £6. per annum. 

The ancient Church of St. Andrew is still partly in existence in the street 
to which it gives name. It too was one of the great farms of the Dean and 
Chapter, and an annual rent of two shillings for it was formerly appropriated 
to the revenues of that body. The building is of small dimensions, and bas 
undergone strange mutations, and been horribly desecrated ; " it has been 
now a bouse of prayer, and thm a den of thieves," writes Baines ; and Allen, 
who wrote in 1829, after telling us that it had been at one time a common 
brothel, says " one part of it is now used as a stable, and the other as a free 
grammar school." The riave or body of the church is at present used as a 
girls' national school, and upon the site of a chancel the cottage bas bren 
erected, in which the schoolmistress resides. The chancel arch is entirely 
blocked up, except a space for a small door for the accommodation of the 
teacher. The church-yard is partly built upon, and the remainder is used as 
a play-ground for the children. 

HoLY TRINITY CHuRcH, King'• Square, commonly called CM·ist Chut:ch, 
CoUwgau, was anciently styled " Eccluia S. Trinitatis in aula Vt~l curia 
rfgis," and in Old English, "Sainct Trinitye in Conyng garthe." Drake infers 
from the former title that the old courts of the imperial palace of the Em­
perors which existed in Roman York, reached to this place. It was a Rec­
tory at one time, in the patronage of the family of Basyes, or Basey, and in 
time it came to the Nevilles, and was given in 1414, by Ralph Neville, Earl 
of Westmorland, to a Hospital he bad founded at Wells, the master of which 
is the present patron. The original endowment was very trifling. Aceording 
to Torre, the Vicar was formerly discharged of all burdens, ordinary and ex­
traordinary, except the charge of finding" straw in winter, and green rushes 
in summer, for the strewing of the church, according to the common use of 
churches." The living is now a Discharged Vicarage, and the Incumbent is 
the Rev. Richard Inman. In the time of Archbishop Sharp the minilter had 
no income, and a Vicar bad not been appointed since the Reformation. The 
church formerly contained four chantries. In Drake's time a ditch on one 
side of the church was visible, and still retained the name of the King's 
Ditch. In 1768 the edifice was considerably reduced on the north side for 
the extension of the area required for a bay market; and in 1880 it was cur­
tailed on the east side, in order to widen Colliergate. The total removal of 
this church wonld add much to the public convenience, whilst there would 
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be no loss of architectural beauty. The remains of the church-yard, on the 
south side, has been so much raised through interments, as to cause a descent 
~ the church. The Building now consists of three aisles, with a low tower, 
containing a peal of six bells. In the west front of the tower is a spacious 
window of five lights, and the top is finished with a battlement. The win­
dows of the church are of various periods. All the three roofs rise to plain 
gables. There were formerly some houses and a large brick porch against 
the sooth side of the church, but they were removed a few years ago. The 
interior was re-pewed in 1880. The tower is open ~ the nave by a lofty 
pointed arch, resting on octagonal piers. The north aisle is separated from the 
nave by two pointed arches, supported by octagonal pillars without capitals; 
and by two and a half arches on the south, with similar pillars. The ceil­
ings of the na'l"e and north aisle are panelled, but the south aisle bas a 
common open roof. The sanctuary is plain, the pulpit is hexagonal, and the 
font is octagonal. A blue slab in the body of the church bears an inscription 
to F. Alcock, Lord Mayor, who died in 1680, aged 61S ; and near it is a brass 
tablet to H. Tiveman, Lord Mayor, who died in 1672, aged 68. 

HoLY TRINITY CHURCH, Micklegate.-There was a church here, in con­
nexion with a religious house, from a very early period, and having from some 
unknown cause come to ruin about the period of the Conquest, Ralph de 
Paganell restored its service, renewed the endowment, and gave it to cer­
tain monks, who thence took the title of the Prior and Convent of the 
Holy Triuity. (See page 490.) At the dissolution the patronage came to 
the Crown. The living is a Discharged Vicarage, not mentioned in the 
King's Books. The parish of St. Nicholas was united to this, according to 
the statute, in 1585. The Rev. John Baines Graham, of Felkirk, near Wake­
field, is the present Vicar, but the Rev. Godfrey P. Cordeux, the officiating 
Curate, receives all the emoluments, except the rents of a gallery in the chureb, 
which was erected at the cost of the present Vicar. "This church is now of 
small compass,'' says Drake, " but has been abundantly larger, as appears 
by the building. The steeple of it, being extremely ruinous, was blown 
down ~ 1651, and rebuilt at the charges of the parish."* 

The Fabric now consists of the nave only of the conventual church, and a 
small modern south aisle, with a square tower at the north west angle. The 
tower, which contains two bells, is strengthened with buttresses; in the 
middle of the north front is a small window, and in three sides of the upper 

• It must have been either a tnrrot or a portion of the tower that was thftl blOWI\ 
down, as the st1·ucturc is decidedly of an eerlier <law. 
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story is a circular headed window, within a circular arch supported by two 
dwarf columns, with square capitals and bases. The top is finished with a 
cornice and battlement, and the vane of the weathercock bears the date of 
1781. The south side of the tower presents a highly curious and uncommon 
appearance. The lower story has a large arch, now filled up, and above it 
are the remains of an arcade of acutely pointed arches, springing from cir· 
eular columns. It is thought probable that the front of this church exhibited 
an extensive facade, some remains of which exist attached to the tower; and 
the ornaments just noticed are supposed by some to have belonged to the 
interior of the edifice; if so, the tower must have been considerably higher 
than at present. The north side of the church faces the street, from which 
it is separated by a church-yard, well filled with tombstones. This side 
exhibits a row of four arches, now filled up, which formerly divided the 
nave from the north aisle. In the westernmost arch is a porch, which for· 
merly had a groined roof. The doorway is pointed, and the archivault of 
the arch has the flower moulding. The other divisions formed by these 
arches contain each a pointed window of three lights. At the north east 
angle of the building are the piers, upon which the arch was turned to the 
transept; and adjoining and forming the easternmost angle of the church 
are five lofty pillars united, which originally supported the grand arches 
between the choir, nave, and transepts. This side of the church is finished 
with a cornice and battlement. The roof of the east end rises to a gable, 
and the east window, of three lights and simple interlacing arches, is modern. 
At the south eastern angle tlte pillars again occur, and the south side ex­
hibits a plain modem aisle. This church was restored and furnished with 
open seats in 1850, and the interior now presents a very neat appearance. 
The pillars which divide the nave from the aisle are octagonal, with plain 
capitals, from which rise bold but graceful arches. Above each capital is 
a triple column, which formerly supported the groined ceiling or trusses of 
the roof. There is a small gallery at the west end, erected several years ago. 
The chancel is formed out of the east end of the nave, and at the same end 
of the church, against the north wall, is the pulpit and a small orgarl. The 
large wiDdow over the communion table was filled with elegantly stained 
glass, execnted by Barnett, late of York, and it, as well as the window in the 
easternmost division of the north side of the church, and that iD the east end 
of the south aisle, were presented by the Mias Cromptons, of Micklegate, 
formerly of Esholt Hall; who also gave the munificent sum of £100. towards 
the rest.olation fund. Indeed the parishioners are much iDdebted to these 
ladies for the present excellent condition of their p6l'ish church, for they, we 
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are credibly informed, were chiefly instrumental in promoting its restoration 
and re-decoration. The ehaoeel window, which was erected as a tribute to 
the memory of the Miss Cromptons' parents, is of a geometrical pattern, and 
bears the following inscription:- + In. Sanda. Trinitati&. Honorem. PM'tlft­
tum. Mnnoru. Dedicat1ei'Unt. Filia. Supw1titft. E. I. H. M. M. S. et. C. R. 
Crompton . .Anno. Dom. MDCCCL. The Messrs. Atkinson, of York, were the 
architects for the restorations ; and the haodsome cover of the communion 
table was worked and presented by Miss Atkinson, sister to those gentlemen. 
The font is octagonal, on a similar base, and has an ancient carved cover 
surmounted by a dove, suspended over it. There are several mural tablets, 
but the one most particularly worthy of notice is that to the memory of John 
Burton, M.D., :F.A.S. (author of the Mona~ticon Eboraame, and the Eccl&­
siastical History of Yorkshire, folio, 1758), and Mary, his wife, the former 
died in January, 1771, aged 62, and the latter in October in the same year, 
aged 58. It represents a scroll of parchment, suspended from two books, 
bearing an iDscription. Above the scroll is a vase entwined by a serpent, 
and suspended from it is a seal with the arms of the deceased author. The 
Miss Cromptons erected a neat tablet in memory of the Rev. Frederick Pope, 
late minister of this church, who died in 1852, aged 58. The church-yard 
was tastefully planted with shrubs, &e., by the Miss Cromptons, and by per· 
mission of the Archdeacon of York and Churchwardens, these ladies keep the 
yard in excellent repair. The Vicarage HOU86, a good brick building erected 
in 1639, stands in the burial ground, near the east end of the church. 

The ancient Church of St. Nicholtu stood not far from Micklegate Bar, 
near a pioce of ground called Toft Field, now swallowed up in the spacious 
Railway Station. 

CHURCH oF THE HoLY TRINITY, Good·ramgau.-An ancient Rectory, 
formerly consisting of two medieties, the respective properties of the Priory 
of Durham, and the Archbishop of York ; but in the reign of Henry III. 
they both became vested in the Archbishops, who still hold the patronage, 
In 1585 the churches of St. Maurice, in Monkgate, and St. John del Pyke, 
in Uggleforth, were united to this church and parish. The living is a Dis­
charged Rectory, of which the Rev. Edward John Raines is the preaent 
Incumbent. There were formerly three ehantries in this church. Drake 
says, " This church bears on its outside many marks of great antiquity, stone 
of grit being wrought into the walls, some of which does but too plainlJ 
shew the extreme heat of the general conflagration in York," in 1137. 

The Fabric has an antique appearance, and consists of a n&ve and aisles, 
with a square western tower (containing four bells), and an attached chapel on 
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the south side. . A few years ago the west end of the south aisle was restored, 
the west window in the tower (which is of five lights) renewed, and the south 
porch re-built. The east and west end windows, and those of the south aisle, 
have pointed arches; those of the side chapel and north side of the church are 
square headed. The north side was entirely rebuilt about thirty years ago. 

Judging from the style of architecture, this church has been built at dif­
ferent periods; the body apparently is of the 14th century, while the south 
aisle is certainly no later than 1216, as appears by the Royal Arms of Henry 
ill. and Eleanor of Provence. The chantry chapel may perhaps belong to 
the reign of Uichard II., and the tower is of the style prevalent in the middle 
of the 16th century. The interior is plain but neat. The tower is open to 
the nave by a lofty pointed arch, supported by octagonal piers. The nave is 
divided from the aisles by four pointed arches, resting on low octagonal 
colnmns, and the east end of the nave is used as a chancel. The ceiling of 
the body of the church is Bat and panelled. The altar piece is plain, the 
pulpit is octagonal, and the font is an octagonal basin. The chapel is sepa­
rated from the south aisle by a spacious arch ; at each side are suspended 
shields of arms, viz. :--a chevron between three chaplets, and a merchant's 
mark, with R. R. The fine window over the communion table, which is very 
ancient, is filled with curiously stained glass in a very perfect state, and is 
much admired. It contains full length figures of Our Saviour, St. John, St. 
Christopher, St. George, and St. Anastasia, as well as several shields of arms, 
and scriptural subjects. The east windows of the aisles are also filled with 
stained glass. The windows of the south aisle contain three shields of arms, 
viz. :-the arms of Henry ill., paley of six gu. and or. for Eleanor of Pro­
vence; and gu. a cross moline or. In the windows of the chapel are the 
arms of the families of Percy, Rosse, Mowbray, and V ere. The fine state of 
preservation in which the stained glass remains, may be attributed to the 
circumstance of this church standing out of the highway, and having no 
passage through the church·yard. There are some very old monumental 
inscriptions in the church, one so far back as 1867. There are two neat 
tablets to the memory of some members of the Friar family, and one erected 
by the parishioners to the late Rector, the Rev. J. Dallin, who died in 1838. 

CHURCH OF ST. MAURICE, witl&out Monk Bar.-This was a Rectory of me­
dieties belonging to the two Prebends of Fridaythorpe and Fenton, until 
united in 1240 by Archbishop Walter de Grey. It was united with Holy 
Trinity, Goodramgate, agreeably to the statute in 1586, but the church was 
retained, and divine service is still performed in it by the Incumbent of Holy 
Trinity. The living was a Discharged Vicarage; it is now a peculiar Curacy. 
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The Edifice, which is small, is very ancient and dilapidated, but the 
interior has been modE>rnised within the last few years. It consists of two 
aisles, or a nave and south aisle; and varies in style of architecture from tbe 
Norman to the Perpendicular. The west end, which rises to an apex, con· 
tains a double circular window, divided by a small column, and on the ridge 
of the roof is a small turret of wood, containing two hE'lls. In the west end of 
the south aisle is a square window of four lights. The south porch is of 
brick, cemented, and within it a pointed doorway, the weather moulding 
resting on two beads. The east end exhibits two gables, and in each is a 
pointed window of three lights. The south side of the church presents, be­
sides the porch, two square-headed windows of two lights, and beneath the 
westernmost one in the wall are two sepulchral slabs, with foliated crosses on 
them. The north side of the church has two square windows of three lights. 
apparently of modem workmanship. The interior is neatly fitted up; tbe 
aisles are divided by two large pointed arches, and one smaller at the east 
end, all resting on octangular columns, without bases or capitals. The monu­
ments are rather numerous. In the chancel are handsome tablets to John 
Clapham, Esq., who died in 1765, aged 52; and G. Lutton, Esq., wbo died 
in 1828, aged 53 years. 

The ancient churches of St. John del Pik8 and St. Mary ad V alras were 
situated within the Close of the Cathedral. The latter was taken down in 
1365, when the Rectory was united to the neighbouring church of St. John 
del Pike. 

ST. PAUL's DisTRICT CHURCH, HoUlgau Road, was erected in 181H, at a cost 
of about .£3,000., raised entirely by subscription. It was built to supply ac­
commodation to the populous district which surrounds it, and which has 
sprung up since the opening of the railway. It is locally situated in tbe 
parish of St. Mary, Bishophill the Younger. The living is a Perpetual 
Curacy, in the patronage of certain Trustees, and Incumbency of the Rev. 
William Ashforth Cartledge. It is entirely supported by voluntary means. 

The Fabric, which is of stone, consists chiefly of three aisles rising to apexes 
at the east and west ends; and is in the Early English style of architecture. 
The western entrance-a neatly moulded arched doorway, supported by ~ 
cular pillars, and on each side of which is a blank arcade of acutely pointed 
arches-is approached by a flight of steps; and above is a handsome circular 
window. This end of the nave has a projection, supported by buttresses u. 
the angles, which terminate in pinnacles, and the apex is surmounted by a 
bell turret, crowned by a beautifully executed cross. The sides of the church 
are made into si.'t divisions by buttreBSeB, in each of which, with the exception 
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of the easternmost ones, is a tall pointed window of two lights ; and in the 
excepted divisions are moulded doorways. The east end of the nave or 
chancel presents a tall window of three lights. The chancel is finished with 
two pinnacles, and the apex is crowned by a handsome cross. The interior 
has a light and elegant appearance. The nave is divided from the aisles by 
five pointed arches on each side ; these arches, which are neatly moulded, 
and are exceedingly graceful, spring from light clustered pillars. The chancel 
is small, and is marked by a fine pointed arch. The seats are single, and 
will accommodate about 700 persons; and at the west end is a small gallery, 
in which is a good organ. The architects of this elegant little church were 
the Messrs. Atkinson, of York. 

ST. THoMAs's DISTRICT CHURCH, Lowther Street, was erected for the con­
venience of parties residing in the Groves and the adjoining district. The 
foundation stone was laiil on the 8th of September, 1853; the erection was 
completed in eleven months ; and it was consecrated and opened on Tuesday, 
the 22nd of August, 1854, by the Archbishop of York. The estimated cost 
of the building, including the site, was £2,370. By means of a Bazaar of 
fancy articles, held in York in the months of October and January (during 
the erection of the edifice), when nearly £800. was raised, and by the liberal 
donations of some individuals, a sum of £1,000. bas been set apart towards 
an endowment of the church. One half of the seats are free, and the others 
are let, and the proceeds arising therefrom are applied towards the stipend of 
the officiating clergyman. The district assigned to this church was formed 
out of the parishes of St. Maurice and St. Olave. The living is a Perpetual 
Curacy, in the patronage of the Archbishop, and Incumbency of the Rev. 
Richard Wilton. The Structure is cruciform in plan, haYing nave, transept, 
and chancel-the latter raised three steps above the body of the church, and 
separated from it by a moulded and corbelled arch, 18 feet wide, and 23 feet 
high. The transepts are 27 feet wide, and in each is a gallery to accom­
modate 50 worshippers; and on the floor, 400 sittings are obtained in open 
seats. The pulpit and reading desk are placed on each side of the chancel 
arch ; and the font is near the west entrance. The roofs are open and high 
pitched, being 89! feet from the floor to the apex, and 19! feet to the top of 
the wall. The principals have arched and laminated braces, resting on 
moulded and foliated stone corbels. Externally the church is plain, with 
single windows, trefoil-headed in the nave and west end ; double lights in the 
transepts and over the west door; circular foliated windows in the tran­
sept gables ; and a three-light window at the east end, enclosed with three 
pointed quatre(oils, under a moulded and labelled arch. The west end is 
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finished with a projecting bell gable, pierced for two bells ; the additional 
thickness of the wall allowing for a deep-recessed porch doorway, being the 
principal entrance from Lowther Street. The bell gable is surmounted by a 
cross, 63 feet from the ground. The buttresses are plain and massive, to 
suit the style of stone work, which is merely rough hammered work, with 
tooled dressings. The stone is from the Collingham quarries, and the walls 
are lined with brick. The roofs are covered with Welsh slate. The wood­
work is deal, stained and varnished ; and the windows glazed with Cathedral 
glass. Mr. George Fowler Jones, of York, was the architect. 

The other places of worship in connection with the Established Church 
are the Chapel in the Bedem, which is described at page 4 70, and the new 
church or chapel ou Lord Mayor's Walk, belonging to the Diocesan Training 
School, which will be noticed at a subsequent page of this volume. 

PROTESTANT DISSENT),;BS.-'fhe places of worship unconnected with the 
Church of England in the city and county of York are numerous, and many 
of them are large, commodious, and handsome edifices. In the city of York 
there are chapels belonging to the principal denominations, except the Bap­
tists, and to most of them school rooms are attached. 

INDEPENDENT CHAPEL, .IAndal.-This is a large brick building, opened 
for Divine Service on the 7th of November, 1816, previously to which the 
Independents occupied a little chapel in Jubbergate, which was built in 
1797 ; but ov.ing to the smallness of that chapel, together with the un­
pleasant situation in which it was built, as well as other circumstances, that 
body of Christians made little progress in York. However, in 1814 a pl.a.u 
was devised for the erection of a more commodious chapel. Lendal was fixed 
upon as an eligible situation ; tho old chapel was sold to the lJ nitarian 
Baptists; and Lendal Chapel, measuring 56 feet by 54 feet, was erected ai 

the expense of more than .£3,000., for the accommodation of 950 people. In 
a few years, under the pastoral care of the Rev. James Parsons, it was found 
necessary to enlarge it, so that it can now accommodate about 1,300 persons. 
In consequence of the still increasing number of the attenders, it was re­
solved to build Salem Chapel, to which, on its completion, part of the con­
gregation, with the Rev. James Parsons, removed. The present minister of 
Lendal Chapel is the Rev. Stephen St. Neotts Dobson. 

SALEM CHAPEL, (Indepmdent.J-This edifice, which is of brick, and i& 
situated in Spen Lane, facing St. Saviourgate, was erected in 1888-9. The 
front, which is approached by a flight of seven steps, has an Ionic portico or 
Logia supporting an attic, after the temple of Ilisseus at Athens ; and this 
portico, which exhibits two massy stone pillars, together with the two pro-
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jeeting wings, which complete the design of this front of the building, is dono 
over with compo. The interior measures 81 feet in length, and 56 feet in 
breadth, and bas very spacious and well-arranged galleries. There is accom­
modation for nearly 1700 persons, and beneath the chapel is a large school 
room well lighted and ventilated. The total cost of the erection, including 
the site, was £5,000 Messrs. Pritchett and Sons, of York, were the archi­
tects. The congregation continues under the pastoral care of Rev. James 
Parsons. 

WEsLEYAN METHODIST CHAPEl., New Strut.-This, the oldest chapel in 
the city belonging to the Wesleya11 body, is a large red brick building with 
stone mouldings, the foundation stone of which was laid on the 1st of January, 
1805. The Methodists of York had a place of worship in the parish of St. 
Sampson prior to the year 1755; they afterwards assembled in a house in 
Peaseholme Green, and subsequently in Grape Lane Chapel, till the present 
building was erected. The edifice, which is of the Doric order, is of a semi­
octangular form, the centre terminating with a pediment, and the whole 
exterior presents a good appearance. The interior is very neatly fitted up, 
and is calculated to contain about 2,000 people. In the gallery is a good 
organ. Adjoining the chapel are two good houses for the ministers be­
longing to this society.* 

WESLEYAN CHAPEL, Skeldergate, commonly called Albion Chapel.-This 
place of worship was built in 1816. It is a plain but commodious brick 
erection, and contains seats for about 800 persons. Here is a good organ. 

CENTENARY CHAPEL, St. Sm-iourgate.-This, the largest and finest Chapel 
in the city, was erected to commemorate the Centenary of Wesleyan Metho­
dism, and was opened on the 18th of July, 1840. The building is of brick, 
but the front presents a fine bold stone pediment, supported by four massy 
stone pillars, with capitals of the Doric order. The entrances beneath this 
portico are approached by a flight of six steps. The interior is elegantly 
furnished, and it will accommodate about 2,000 people. The organ cost 
£500. Mr. James Simpson, of Leeds, was the architect. In the interior of 
the chapel is a handsome marble tablet to the memory of Joseph Agar, Esq., 
Sheriff of York in 1812, who died January 18, 1847, aged 64 years. 

ST. GEORGE's CHAPEL, Walmgate.-Tbis small chapel was erected in 1826 
to meet the increasing wants of the Wesleyan body, but since the erection of 
the Centenary Chapel it bas been converted into a school. 

• The Rev. John Wesley, the founder of tho Methodist Society, died in 1701, and is 
supposed in the oourse of his itinerancy to have travelled nearly 300,000 miles, and to 
have preached 40,000 sermons. 
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The foundation stone of a new edifice, to be called Wesley Chap4l, was laid 
on Easter Tuesday in the present year (1855.) The site of the proposed 
structure is on the ground called Trinity Gardens (near Micklegate Bar), the 
entrance to which has hitherto been through an ancient gateway, which baa 
just been removed. Trinity Gardens, the site of the ancient Priory of the 
Holy Trinity, has lately been purchased for tb.e purpose of forming a new 
street, to connect Micklegate and Bishophill; and on the east side of the 
new street, facing the city walls, and adjoining the church of Holy Trinity, 
the new chapel is being erected. This building, which will contain about 
1,600 sittings, of which 350 will be free for the poor, is intended to supersede 
the one now occupied in Skeldergate, which is too small for the Wesleyan 
body on ~at side of the water, and the old one will probably be con~erted 
into schools or sold. The cost of building the new chapel will be about 
£6,000., including the ground. Mr. J. Simpson, of Leeds, is the architect. 

THE REFORMED WESLEYA~ METHODISTS.-This numerous congregation 
separated from the old Methodist body in 1850, and since then its members 
regularly meet for religious worship in the Festival Concert Room, and in 
the Lecture Hall, St. Saviourgate. 

PRIMITIVE METHODIST CHAPEL, Little StoMgate.-This edifice, called 
Ebenezer Chapel, is a large brick building, with a basement story of stone 
and stone dressings, erected in 1851. The interior is fitted up in the usual 
style of Dissenting Chapels, and will accommodate nearly 2,000 persons. 
Messrs. Pritchett and Sons were the architects. Prior to the erection of this 
chapel, the Primitive Methodists worshipped in a small building in Grape 
Lane, which had previously served as a meeting-house for the Baptists, 
the Countess of Huntingdon's Connexion, and the Wesleyan New Coo.· 
nexion successively. This latter building is now no longer used for the 
purposes of religion. 

1VEsLEY.AN AssociATION CHAPEL, in Lady Peckitt's Yard, Fougate.-This 
place of worship, which will seat about 500, was erected in 1829. Prior to 
that time the Association Methodists assembled in a house in St. Andrewgate. 

EsoLJsH PRESBYTERI.A:-i CHAPEL, St. Saviourgate.-Lady Hewley, who 
founded an almshouse in York, is said to have contributed very liberally to 

the erection of this chapel in 1692. The first regular society of Noncon· 
formists in York, of which we have any record, met at the house of Mr. 
Andrew Taylor, in Micklegate, an opulent merchant. The Rev. Ralph Ward. 
chaplain to Sir John Hew ley, was one of the ministers ejected by the Act of 
Uniformity, and he preached to this congregation for nearly thirty years. 
He died in 1692, and his son-in-law, Dr. Thomas Coulton, succeeded to the 
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pastorate of the Presbyterian congregation at St. Saviourgate Chapel, and so 
contiuued for a period of nearly forty years. In 1775 the Rev. Newcome 
Cappe, a pupil at the academy of Dr. Doddridge, at Northampton, was chosen 
co-pastor with Mr. Hotham, and on the death of the latter ~n 1756, he be-
4l8me sole pastor. ·In 1792 the age of Mr. Cappe rendered it necessary that 
he should have assistance, and in that year the Rev. Charles Wellbeloved 
settled in York, as assistant minister, and became pastor in 1800, when Mr. 
Cappe died. Like his predecessor, Mr. W ellbeloved's increasing years obliged 
him to procure the assistance of the Rev. Henry Vaughan Palmer, who is 
:now the officiating clergyman, though Mr. W ellbeloved is the pastor of the 
congregation. The ecclesiastical affairs of this congregation are conducted on 
the Presbyterian plan, but since the latter end of the last century, the doc­
trines preached to, and held by the persons attending the chapel, are those 
of Unitarianism, and the place of worship is commonly called the Unitarian 
Chapel: yet the present ministers of the chapel inform us that it is not correct 
~ call it by that title, though they allow that the doctrines which they teach 
are Unitarian. In a communication which we have received from the Rev. 
C. W ellbeloved, he says, "My religious principles are those commonly called 
Unitarian; but I do not call myself a Unitarian Minister, because I do not 
consider it to be correct. I am a Dissenting Minister, and belong to the 
" English Presbyterians," as distinguished from the two bodies of Old Dis­
senters--Baptists and Independents." The chapel, which is of red brick, is 
cruciform in shape, with a slightly raised centre. The interior is neat and 
well lighted. The organ was presented by the late Miss Rawden, of York; 
and it may be here noticed that this was the first Dissenting Chapel in York 
into which an organ was introduced. There are several mural tablets in this 
chapel, amongst which is one to the memory of the Rev. Newcome Cappe. 

FRIENDs' MEETING HousE, Friargate.-Prior to the year 1673 the Society 
of Friends, commonly called Quaker•,* held their meetings at the house of 
Edward Nightingale, an eminent grocer of that persuasion in High Ousegate; 
but in that year a small meeting house was erected on the spot upon which 
now stand the very commodious premises of the Society. The body having 
considerably increased, the old erection was enlarged nearly one-third, between 

• The "Society of Friends" oJi8inated about the year 1649, through the religious 
teachings of George Fox, a native of Drayton, in Leicestershire. 'l'heir popular deaig­
nation of" Quakers" is said to have arisen from the circumstance of Fox having told a 
magistrate, before whom he was brought, "to tremble at the word of the Lord," as pro. 
pounded by him. The Quakers believe in the Unity and Trinity of God, but they abjure 
all external rites, especially the Sacraments of Baptism, and the Lord's Supper. 
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fifty and sixty years ago ; and adjoining to that another building was erected 
in 1718, intended cbiefty for the use of the quarterly meetings then held at 
York. This erection being found inconvenient, was nearly all taken down in 
1816, when an enlarged and more commodious erection was commenced, 
which is capable of containing about 1,000 people. On the premises is a 
small library, containing a collection of books, written both in favour and 
against the principles of this peculiar sect of Christians. The premises, 
which consist of two red brick buildings, contiguous to each other, are devoid 
of ornament, but the interior is neat and well arranged. The principal en· 
trance to the meeting house is in Castlegate. The society have a burial 
ground in Carr's Lane, Bishophill. In it are interred the remains of Lindley 
Murray, the grammarain, and John Woolman, who first roused public atten­
tion in America to the crying evil of slavery. 

Besides the chapel in Grape Lane, already mentioned, as having been 
from time to time in the possession of several district bodies or sects ; there 
is a small building at the bottom of the same lane, which was formerly the 
place of meeting of a sect called Sandemania11s. This building is now con­
verted into a dwelling bouse; but the second story of it is used as a chapel 
by the Latter Day Saints. 

The Swedenborgians meet for public worship in a large room in Good­
ramgate. 

CATHOLics.-Catholicism has made rapid strides in this city and county, 
and indeed all through the kingdom, of late years; and its churches and 
chapels (some of them truly magnificent edifices) are now to be found in 
almost every town of consequence. Dr. Thomas Watson, of Lincoln, who 
was the last Catholic Bishop ordained in England previous to the reign of 
Queen Elizabeth, died in prison, in 1584, when the Catholic church in this 
country was reduced to the state of a foreign mission under the Holy See, 
which placed the secular clergy under an archpriest (the Rev. G. Blackwell) 
with episcopal authority, which continued till 1628, when Dr. Bishop was 
consecrated Bishop of Chalcedon, and placed at the head of the English 
Catholics. He was succeeded in 1625 by Dr. Richard Smith, President of 
the English College at Rome, who died in 1655. The Roman Chapter ex­
ercised episcopal jurisdiction in England from this period till 1685, when 
Dr. John Leybourn was appointed Vicar Apostolic; and in the following 
year England was divided into four districts, viz.-London, Western, Mid­
land, and Northern, and Vicars Apostolic, Bishops in partibtu placed over 
them. In 1840 it was found necessary, from the great increase of Catholics 
in all parts of the kingdom, to subdivide it into eight districts, viz.-London, 
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Eask!rn, Wesrem, Central, Lancashire, Yorkshire, Wales, and Northern. 
Thus it continued till the year 1850, when the present Pope (Pius IX.) ab­
rogated and annulled all previous arrangements, and for Vicars Apostolic 
appointed by himself and removable at his pleasure, substituted an ordinary 
hierarchy of Bishops, to be eleck!d by the clergy of the respective dioceses. 
By the same rescript the former eight districts were subdivided into thirteen 
dioceses ; the titles of the bishops were changed from sees in Asia now ex­
tinct, to new sees in this country ; and the Catholic Church in England was 
formed into an ecclesiastical province, composed of an Archbishop, or Metro­
politan, and of twelve Bishops, his suffragans, who take their titles from the 
following places:-Westminsrer, Beverley, Birmingham, Clifton, Hexham, 
Liverpool, Newport, Northampton, Nottingham, Plymouth, Salford, Shrews­
bury, and Southwark. W estminsrer was constituted the Archiepiscopal See, 
and Dr. Nicholas Wiseman, Bishop of Melipotamus, and Vicar Apostolic of 
the London District, was raised to the dignity of a Cardinal, and appointed 
first Archbishop of W estminsrer, thus becoming Primaoo and Metropolitan of 
the Catholic Church in England. 

Dr. Briggs, the Bishop of Trachis, and Vicar Apostolic of the Yorkshire 
district, was translated from Trachis, to the new See of Beverley, by the same 
papal brief or rescript, on the 29th of Seprember, 1850. The revival of the 
Catholic hierarchy was deemed, by a meJority of the people of England, an 
insult to the Queen's Majesty, and a great" Papal Aggression;" and in conse­
quence of it the kingdom was, for some months, in a stare of great exciooment. 
Much has been said and writren in defence as well as in condemnation of this 
proceeding on the part of the Pope and the Catholic body, but with the merits 
or demerits of the measure, we, as simple chroniclers, have no concern beyond 
that of placing the circumstance on record in connexion with the Catholic 
ecclesiasticrJ establishments of York. The Parliament expressed their oppo­
sition to the measure by introducing and passing a bill, entitled " The Eccle­
siastical Titles Assumption Act," which declared that the titles conferred " or 
prerended to be conferred " by any " briefs, rescripts, or letoors apostolical, 
and all and every the jurisdiction, authority, pre-eminence," thereby granted 
by the Pope, "are, and shall be deemed, unlawful and void." However this 
Act does not seem to have effected the new prelates in any way, for since the 
bill became law they have not been inoorfered with by any party, though we 
believe they have since publicly performed the duties of Bishops of their 
respective Sees, as well as held synods, ordinations, &c. ; and their spiritual 
subjects do not hold them in less reverence, or their office in less respect, 
because an Act of Parliament has declared their titles unlawful and void. 
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As has been before intimated, the Right Rev. John Briggs, D.D., under 
the prohibited title of the" Bishop of Beverley," has the spiritual charge of 
the Catholics of Yorkshire, from whom he invariably receives the title of" my 
Lord ;" and be is assisted in the government of his "diocese" by a Pro1'0St. 
and a Chapter consisting of ten Canons. The church which we now pro­
ceed to describe, is used as a temporary Cathedral. 

CATHOLIC CHURCH OF ST. GEORGE, St. George Street.-The chapel in 
Little Blake Street having become inadequate to the requirements of the 
Catholics of York, in consequence of their increasing numbers, the present 
building was erected, and opened for Divine worship in the year 1850. It 
is a handsome structure, covering an area of 105 feet by 55 feet, exclusive of 
porch and sacristies, and is in the Early Decorated style of architecture. 
Externally it presents three gabled roofs, covering the nave and aisles re­
spectively, that of the nave being much higher than the aisles. There is also 
a chancel and south porch. The west front is in three divisions, which are 
marked by buttresses. In the centre division (being the west end of the 
nave) is a pointed doorway, with a deeply-moulded arch springing from four 
small circular pillars, with Bower-worked capitals; the weathercornicerestiog 
on a mitred head on one side, and a female coronetted head on ihe other. 
Above this doorway is a pointed window of three lights. In the west end of 
each of the aisles is a window of two lights, and the three gables of this front 
of the building are finished with a plain moulding, and crowned with neatly 
executed crosses. The south aide is made into six divisions by bu~ 
one of which contains a very neat porch, with a fine moulded doorway, the 
apex being surmounted with a cross ; and in the other divisions are good 
windows of two lights, except the easternmost one, which is of three lights. 
In the second buttress from the east end is a niche containing a spiri~ 
figure of the patron, St. George, clothed in armour, with the point of his 
sword piercing the dragon's head. The east end of the edifice presents two 
gables only, the vestries being at that end of the north aisle. The east or 
chancel window, which is large and handsome, consists of four lights, Slid 
the window in the east end of the south aisle is of three lights. The apese! 
of the roof at the east end are crowned with crosses ; and over the junctioa 
of the nave and chancel is a double belfry, consisting of double·moulded 
arches, with a quatrefoil opening over them, surmounted by a high pitched 
gable, and richly floriated cross, representing the Crucifixion of Our Lotd. 
The top of this cross is sixty-five feet from the ground, and the belfry contains 
two good bells. The whole of the windows in the east, west, and south sides 
have weather mouldings, resting on elegantly carved heads of bishops, nOD'. 
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saints, &c. ; but those on the north side--each of which are of two lights­
have not this ornament. The entire building is finished with a plain mould­
ing. The interior is plainly but neatly furnished with open seats, &c. The 
nave is divided from the aisles by five graceful arches on each side, springing 
from octangular columns, with moulded capitals. The roof is high pitched 
and open; and there is a small gallery at the west end of the nave; in which 
is the organ. The chancel is divided from the nave by an archway, with 
hood moulds and carved heads, supported upon triple clustered pillars; and 
in this arch is a carved open rood screen of wood, on the top of which is 
a large and well executed representation of the Crucifixion of Our Redeemer 
(a piece of ancient sculpture brought from the continent), with carved figures 
of the Blessed Virgin and St. John the Ev_angelist on either side. The 
chancel is very elegantly and chastely adorned. The altar is of Caen stone, 
highly enriched with carving and gilding. It is made into three divisions 
by shields-on the centre one of which is a carved representation of the 
Crucifixion; and the subjects of the others are Christ carrying the Cross, 
and his Entombment. The tabernacle and the reredos, or screen behind the 
altar, are extremely rich in decoration. The chancel ceiling is arched in 
wood, and divided into seventy-two panels by wood mouldings; the whole is 
enriched by painting and gilding. The lamp and candelabra are handsome ; 
on the right side of the altar is a piscina, and on the left a locker. The east 
window is filled with stained glass by Hardman, of Birmingham, and con­
tains figures of Our Saviour, the Blessed Virgin, St. Mary Magdalen, St. 
George slaying the Dragon, Christ raising Lazarus to Life, &c. At the east 
end of the south aisle, and divided from the chancel by an arch, in which is 
an open screen, is the Chapel of the Blessed Virgin, generally called the 
Lady Chapel. This presents an appearance similar to the chancel just de­
scribed. It is divided from the aisle by a stone screen, of Gothic design, 
which is extremely beautiful; and in the upper part of which is a highly­
wrought niche, with most elaborate tabernacle work, containing a statuette 
of the Blessed Virgin and Divine Child. The Caen stone altar and reredos 
are splendidly sculptured. The former is in four parts, divided by highly­
polished marble pillars, and contains representations of the Blessed Virgin 
and Infant Saviour, and St. Joseph, with angels bearing scrolls; and in the 
latter are niches containing sculptures of the Annunciation, with vases and 
lilies. The stained glass window over this altar is by Messrs. Barnett, late 
of York, and amongst the subjects represented on it, are the Crucifixion and 
the Virgin and Child. The other window in this chapel is also filled with 
stained glass by the same artists, and contains several subjects from the life 

4 B 
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of Our Lord. The silver lamp, which is suspended before the altar, is very 
elegaut; aud the piscina is in the usual place. The west window of the 
south aisle is also adorned with stained glass (this and the last noticed one 
being memorial windows), but all the other windows are glazed with Cathe­
dral glass, having coloured borders. The pulpit, which is small, is of 8Woe, 
and the font is octn.gonal-four of the sides having symbolical CIU'Yings. The 
original cost of tho shell of the building was .£2,300., and that of the site was 
.£1,250. ; but several large sums have since been expended upon it from time 
to time. Messrs. Joseph and Charles Hansom were the architects of the 
building, and Mr. IWph Weatherley, of York, was the builder. The d~ 
of the screen, altai', and reredos of the Lady Chapel (being a more Mlllll 

work), is from the pencil of Mr. Charles Hansom. Adjoining the church are 
large schools, which will be noticed at a subsequent page. 

CHAPF:L OF ST. WILFRID, Little Blake Strut.-This chapel, which .-as 
built in lfl02, is i 4 feet long by 44 feet wide, and 30 feet high, and willec· 
commodate about iOO people. There is nothing particularly worthy of notice. 
except the full·length frescoes in and about the sanctuary. Those witbiu the 
altar rails represent the Crucifixion, with the figures of the Blessed Virgin. 
St. John, and St. Mary Magdalen (in the centre), and the four Evangelist> 
on the sides. Over the vestry doors are full·lengths of St. Peter and 8L. 
Paul, and some allegorical subjects. The ceiling of the sanctuary is ric.bly 
decorated. There is a commodious gallery at the west eQd, and in the 11011\h 

side is a small gallery or loft for the organ and choir. Annexed to th~ 
chapel is the presbytery, or residence of tho priests ; and at the rear of ' 
house nearly opposite to the latter, is a large room, which had been used a; 

a place of worship by the Catholics, previous to the erection of the preseot 
chapel. Tradition points to an upper room in that house as a plate w~ 
the rites of the Catholic Church were celebrated at a period in history ,ben 
Catholicity in this country lay trodden to the grotmd ; when its profeBSOII 
skulked from the public gaze like timorous slaves, and for the practice ol , 

their religion assembled in back lanes, in garrets, and seoret chambers. Ye;. 
this is one of the last of the garret rooms which earry us back to the tiJDC> 

when our fathers were driven by persecution to sene God in seorooy andftj! 
York is the place of residence of the spiritual obief of the Catholics of Yot\· 
shire-Dr. Briggs-and the Catholic clergy of the city are tho Very&!· 
Joseph Render, V.G., the Rev. William Fishe.r, and the Rev. Joseph Gtlar1·' 

• It may be observed that before the Reformation, and for some time after, prilfl' 
enjoyed the knightly title of" Sir." 
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In connexion with the Catholics of York Bnd its vicinity, a branch of the 
charitable fraternity called the Society of St. Vincent de Paul was established 
in the beginning of the year 1852, and united with the parent society in 
Paris, under the presidency of Edwd. Widdrington Riddell, Esq., of Bootham 
House, York. The following items, taken from the second annual report of 
the York Crmfernu:e of t"M Society, will explain its objects. During the year 
1868, the brethren visited 10~ families-some of them twice Bnd some three 
times a week-the whole number of visits amounting to 18,104. Of the 
children belonging to these poor families, 120 boys and 80 girls hava been 
kept from begging. The gross number attending the poor school was 168, 
of which number 88 were boys and 70 girls, and included in this number 
were IS orphans, who were fed, clothed, and lodged, by the conference, and 
who will be sent out to service according as suitable situations offer. In 
addition to these orphans, 89 others received one substantial meal each day, 
and the whole number attending the schools were provided with a meal every 
Sunday. The total number of meals given during that year was 21,824 ; 
besides which large quantities of bread and soup had, from time to time, been 
distributed to deserving objects, and a large quantity of clothing was pro­
vided and distributed among the poor. The girls on the orphan list had 
been instructed to make their own bread, and do other household business, 
in the kitchen attached to the schools, in order to make them good and 
useful servants; and have been instructed in the necessary departments of 
needlework by the ladies of the Convent of St. Mary, York. The weekly 
consumption of bread in the Charity School, for the year, was about sixteen 
stones. The society derives its support from the donations and subscrip. 
tions of its members and friends. Mr. John Keller is the secretary. 

There is also a branch of another brotherhood in connexion with the 
Catholic body of York, called the Young Men'1 Society, which was established 
here, on the 6th of August 1854, by the founder of the fraternity, the Rev. 
Dr. O'Brien, of All Hallows Missionary College, Dublin, aided by the clergy 
of the city. From the published rules we learn that the object of this society 
is, "to put down sin and falsehood, and to extend virtue, intelligence, truth, 
and brotherly love," by means of prayer, good example, lectures, spiritual 
reading, a regular observance of the sacraments, the practise of all Christian 
virtues, particularly that of charity, by discountenancing sin of all kinds, and 
by labouring for the extension of the society. The greater part of this 
society have been formed into a Temperance Guild. Mr. Keller is also 
secretary to this fraternity. 
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NuNNERY OR CoNVENT Ol' ST. 1\IARY.-This establishment is situated 
without Micklegate Bar, and is a large handsome red brick structure, at the 
rear of which are extensive gardens. A building near the site of the preseot 
appears to have been purchased in 1686, for the establishment of a boarding 
school for young ladies of the Catholic religion. Since that time various 
alterations and additions have b~n made, both to the buildings and the 
discipline observed within them. To it was subsequently united a convent 
of nuns, or a community of religious, called the In1titute of Religiom lAJilt ; 
who, having quitted the world, devote themselves entirely to the instruc· 
tion of youth. The daughters of the Catholic nobility, gentry, and respet· 
table classes are educated within these walls. For some years past the 
number of boarders has not exceeded fifty, but in former years it was upwards 
of eighty. In 1844 a large addition was made to the size of the establish· 
ment, by the erection of an extensive building containing spacious school 
rooms. Previous to the opening of the schools attached to St. George's 
Church, a number of poor girls were here taught by the nuns gratuitously; 
but their place has since been supplied by a school for externs of the middle 
class, and a poor school for infants. The female schools adjoining the just 
mentionro church are still conducted by the sisters of this community. 

The buildings of the convent, schools, &c., comprise a square, in the 
centre of which is a small court yard. The internal arrangement of the 
building is admirable, and the school rooms are perhaps unequalled in the 
kingdom for size, ventilation, &c. 

The Chapel, which is cruciform in shape, is splendidly furnished and deco­
rated, and the intersection is surmounted by an elegant dome, supported by 
eight fluted columns. The altar, tabernacle, &c., are rich in the extreme, and 
there are several excellent paintings. In the screen work is some very 611!' 
carving ; the stalls for the nuns range on both sides of the chapel; the siher 
lamp of the sanctuary is of the most chaste design ; and the organ stands ou 
a small gallery at the west end. One of the transepts is elegantly fitted up 
as the Lady Chapel, and over the altar is a beautiful statuette of the Blessed 
Virgin, whilst in the corresponding transept is a very elegant image of SL 
Joseph. The gardens are arranged with much taste, and the play ground i; 
extensive. Adjoining the gardens is the burial place of the sisterhood, and 
in it is a neat oratory. Mrs. Browne is the present superioress of the Con· 
vent, or, as she is usually styled by the members of her community, and 
indeed, by the Catholics in general, the" Reverend Motlter." The present 
chaplain is the Rev. Francis Callebert. 

The Catholic Schools of York will be noticed at subSt'quent pages. 
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PUBLIC SCHOOLS.-St. P6ter's FWyal Grammar Schoot-A.s we have 
seen at page 498, the site and lands of the dissolved Hospital of St. Mary Mag· 
dalen, in Bootham, were, by a grant from Philip and Mary, appropriated to the 
maintenance of a free grammar school, under the government of the Dean and 
Chapter of the Cathedral of York; and the rectorial tithes of Stillingfteet 
were subsequently given for the same purpose. In addition to this endow· 
ment, Robert Dallison, Chanter of the Cathedral Church of Lincoln, granted 
to the Dean and Chapter of York an annuity of four pounds, issuing out of 
the manor of Hartesholm, in the county of Lincoln, which was appropriated 
to this school. The Dean and Chapter being the trustees, always appoint 
the master, and the school is frequently called the Cathedral Grammar School. 
The income of the master has been considerably augmented by purchasing 
property, with the fines paid on the renewal of certain lands devoted to the 
purpose. In 1828 the school was placed under the exiltting regulations. 
The number of free scholars was formerly about twenty-three, but of late 
years the number has been considerably reduced. There are now eight 
foundotVm. scholars, who receive board, lodging, and education, free of expense 
for four years; and there are also eight free scholars, who are educated free for 
the same period. The foundation scholars and the free boys are chosen at 
an examination, held in June in each year, for their proficiency in certain 
studies; and an exhibition or annual stipend of £50. for three years is annu· 
ally awarded to the best qualified pupil, provided be becomes a student in 
either of the Uuiversities of Oxford, Cambridge, Durham, or Dublin. The 
yearly examination is conducted by a graduate of one of the Universities, ap­
pointed by the Dean and Chapter; every boy who has been in the school one 
year, and is under 15 years of age, is eligible for the scholarships and the 
exhibition, which are awarded solely on the ground of merit. This school 
possesses likewise the privilege of sending a boy every five years to Aberford, 
to contend for Lady Betty Hastings's exhibition, which is worth about £100. 
a year for five years. The boys not on the foundation pay a tuition fee of 
£10., and £45. in addition is the charge for board and lodging. The building 
will accommodate 80 boarders, and about 200 scholars altogether; and the 
present number is abo11t 150. The head-master is the Rev. William Hey, 
M.A., late Fellow of St. John's College, Cambridge, and a Canon of the 
Cathedral of York. 

This school was formerly held in the desecrated church of St. Andrew, 
from which it was removed to the building in the Minster Yard, now used as 
a School of Design, and finally, in 1844, the Proprietary or Collegiate Schoo), 
which was the property of a Joint Stock Company, was purchased by the 
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Dean and Chapter for St. Peter's School, and the two schools were united in 
the Midsummer of that year. 

The Sclwol PrmtiMI are well situated in Bootham, and the building, which 
was erected in 1837-8, is a handsome structure in the Tudor style; the front 
being of cut stone, from the quarries of Bramham Moor, and the remaiuder 
of brick, with cut stone dressings. The design of the building is very ele­
gant, and its external appearance has a very pleasing effect. It comprises a 
central hall, class rooms, library, and boarding house. The centre bas a 
deeply-moulded doorway, over which is a balustrade or screen of perforated 
quatrefoils, above which is a fine bay window, surmounted by a perforated 
balustrade. At each Bide of the door and window, or rather the angles ol 
this central portion of the design, rise two elegant pillars, ornamented with 
carved heads, shields, niches, and pedestals, terminating in tnrrets, betwceo 
which the front rakes up to a gable. On each Bide of this centre is a moge 
of buildings, and at the left side is a large wing, and to carry out the desigD 
of tho architect, a corresponding wing will probably be built on the right side 
at a future day. There is a fine bay window at the back of the centre por· 
tion of the building. The grounds extend over four acres. 

Hol{/at6'tJ FreB Grammar Sclool, Ogleforth.-This school was erected aDd 
endowed within the Close of the Cathedral, by Robert Holgate, D.D., Arab· 
bishop of York, by letters patent granted by King Henry Vlll., on the ~Uth 
of October, 1546; and tho master was bound to attend daily, "to teach 
grammar and godly learning, freely, without taking any stipend or wages." 
At the time the commissioners made their report on this charity, the property 
of the school was valued at upwards of £360. per annum ; and there were 
only seventeen boys on the foundation. This, together with the other cha· 
rities of Archbishop Holgate, having been shamefully mismanaged and neg­
lected, are now undergoing enquiry in the Court of Chancery. The school 
is held in a commodious room in a yard in the above-named street. The 
Rev. Robert Daniel, B.D., is the present master. 

The York Diocuan School Society was established for the promotion of a 
system of religious and useful education throughout the Diocese of York, in 
the principles of the Church of England, and in union with the National So­
ciety in London. The Society consists of members of the Church of Engi.and. 
paying an annual subscription to the objects of the Society, and of donors of 
.£10. and upwards. The Lord Archbishop of the Diocese is ex-officio Preei· 
dent, and the three Archdeacons of the Diocese are ex-officio Vice-PresideniS 
of the Society. Tho list of Vice-PrcFJidents includes the names of the chief 
nobilit.y and gentry of the county. 
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The York atul Ripon DiocuatJ Trai1Jing Imtihltion, having for its object 
the training of schoolmasters and schoolmistresses for the National Schools, 
and also the Yorkshire Yeoman School, were established in furtherance of 
the objects of the Diocesan School Society. The training school for masters 
is under the direction of a Principal, a Vice-Principal, and under masters. 
Pupils are either ordinary, being such as in order to become national school 
masters, desire to submit themselves to the appointed course of training ; or 
extra-ordinary, being such as already having charge, or being engaged to take 
charge of a school in union with the Diocesan Society, desire to avail them­
selves of the advantages which the institution affords for their improvement. 
Except in cases where it may be otherwise determined by the committee of 
management, no one is to commence residence in the training school before 
the age of 17, or after the 25th year of his age. The full course of training 
extends over three years, but suitable schools, according to the qualifications 
of each, will be sought for students whose circumstances do not permit them 
to complete the full course. Ordinary pupils are all resident in the training 
school, and the terms are very moderate, being £25. per annum, including 
board and lodging, medical attendance, books, and stationery. Extra-ordi­
nary pupils, if resident within the institution, pay for their board, &c., 13s. 
per week; if non-resident, 6s. per week. There is accommodation for fifty­
five pupils. Attached to this institution is a Day School for boys over seven 
years of age, the terms for which are one guinea per quarter, payable in ad­
vance. Latin and modem languages, if required, to be paid for as extras. 
The present Principal of the institution for schoolmasters is the Rev. Hugh 
G. Robinson, M.A.; and the Rev. G. Rowe is the Vice-Principal. The age 
of admission to the female training institution is seventeen ; the terms of 
admission, including board and lodging, are £18. per annum, paid quarterly 
in advance. Pupils extra-ordinary, if resident within the institution, are 
charged lOs. 6d. per week; if non-resident, 48. per week. There is accom­
modation for thirty pupils. Attached to the institution is a middle school 
and a day school for girls, the latter of which serves as a practising school 
for the pupils of the training school. The Superintendent is Miss Cruse. 

The York Yeoman School, which is under the same superintendence as the 
Training School, owes its establishment to a suggestion made by the present 
Earl of Carlisle in 1845, and in the following year the school was founded, 
for the purpose of affording a good education on moderate terms, to the sons 
of the middle or yeoman class. The terms, including board, lodging, and 
medical attendance, are twenty-one guineas per annum ; and pupils are ad­
missible at the age of seven years; and there is accommodation for seventy-
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five pupils. The committee of management of the schools includes the Arch· 
bishop of York, the Bishop of Ripon, the Deans and Archdeacons of the two 
dioceses, the Earl of Carlisle, Lord Feversham, Lord Wenlock, Sir J . V. B. 
Johnstone, Bart., the Hon. P. Dawnay, and several distinguished clergymen. 

The edifice of the Training School for males forms an extensive pile, 
on Lord Mayor's Walk, erected in 1846, by public subscription, at a cost 
of about £16,000. The style of architecture is late or domestic Gothic. 
Exteriorly it presents a centre and two wings, and it consists of a honse 
for the Principal, rooms for the Vice-Principal and five masters, hall, class 
rooms, library, &c. The whole pile is constructed of brick, withcut stone 
dressings. The front or centre is supported by four half pillars, termina­
ting in pinnacles; and over the entrance is a bay or oriel window. The Yeo­
man School occupies a separate building, on a line with and at the nortb.-wesi 
end of the training institution. It was erected also in 1846, in the same 
style as the training school; and is a range of buildings, both ends of which 
project and exhibit gables. The Chapel is built of hammer-dressed stones, 
with cut stone facings, and the style of the architecture is the Decorated. 
The sides are made into five divisions by buttresses, in each of which (except 
those containing the doorways) is a window of two lights. The chancel win­
dow is of five lights, and the window at the west end is of three lights. The 
interior is very neatly and appropriately furnished with open seats. 'fhe roof 
is open, the spandrils resting on corbels, on which are carved angels holding 
musical instruments. The floor of the chancel is tesselated, and there are 
two stone seats, or sedilia, in the wall, with Gothic canopies. The Principal 
and Vice-Principal, masters and mistresses, pupils from the male and female 
training schools, and scholars, attend divine service here daily. The Prin­
cipal is also Chaplain to the institution. The site of the buildings, gardens, 
and recreation ground occupies five and a half acres. 

The Training Institution for Sclwolmiltr~~UB is a large house in Monkgate, 
formerly used as a College for Dissenters, but that establishment was removed 
to Manchester in 1840. 

G01Jt!'T'nment School of Duign, Minster Yard.-This excellent institution, 
which is a branch of the department of practical art, Marlborough House, 
London, was established in September, 1842, by means of a grant of money 
from government, obtained chiefly by the active exertions of Mr. Etty, R.A., 
the celebrated painter, who died in this his native city, in 1860. A con­
siderable sum was also raised by subscription, and the school is now sup­
ported by a government grant, by local subscriptions, and the fees paid by 
the students ; the latter are almost nominal. The object of the institute is 
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"to convey instruction in the arts of drawing and design, and the principles 
of the fine arts generally, to persons of the humbler classes, with a view to 
the fostering of British skill in those departments of manufacture which de­
pend for their excellence on the artistic abilities of the designer." The school 
possesses a good collection of casts of ornaments and figures from the antique, 
and a small collection of illustrated works on ornament. There are morning, 
afternoon, and evening classes held daily ; that in the afternoon is for female 
students exclusively ; and the course of study includes a great variety of sub­
jects. Mr. Archibald Cole is the master appointed by government. 

The school is held in a neat cut stone building (formerly St. Peter's School), 
near the east end of the Minster. The structure consists of a centre and two 
wings ; the centre bas an arcade of three arches, above which are three 
square-headed windows ; and the ends of the wings have each a fine pointed 
arched window of five lights. The angles of the wings are supported by oc­
tangular pillars or turrets, and the top of the whole front is embattled. 

Yorklhir6 School for tM Blind, Bootham.-This school was instituted in 
1884, as a memorial of William Wilberforce, the philanthropist-the im­
mortal opponent of negro slavery-who represented Yorkshire in six succes­
sive Parliaments. On the 3rd of October, 1888, a meeting was held in the 
Festival Concert Room, York, attended by the Archbishop, Lord Brougham 
(then Lord Chancellor), and a large number of the nobility, clergy, and 
gentry of Yorkshire, to consider the best means of testifying the sense enter­
tained by the county of the merit and services of Mr. Wilberforce; and with 
good judgment and taste they resolved to found an institution for the education 
of indigent children of both sexes, who, by birth or accident, had been de­
prived of sight; such a memorial being considered more appropriate to one 
whose life was devoted to works of benevolence and utility, than any monument, 
however splendid, in brass or marble. The establishment of this institution, 
as a Wilbwjorce M6mot'ial, was the result of this meeting, and in the follow­
ing year application was made to Government for a lease of the Manor House, 
and the grounds attached to it, which were at once granted for ninety-nine 
years, at a rent of £115. per annum, and since that time the School for the 
Blind has been in active operation. The rules of this excel).ent charity have 
been in a measure recommended to the Belgian Government, by a commission 
appointed to report on the best means of educating the blind ; and in France 
they have been published, and received some attention. Under its excellent 
mode of management, the school at York has become one of the most efficient 
establishments of the kind in Europe. All the pupils receive such instruction 
in some useful branch of handicraft, as may enable them to obtain a liveli-
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hood, attention being at the same time paid to their moral and rcligious edu· 
cation; and those who are susceptible of a musical education, are instruc!OO 
in that science; several of them ha\·e made sufficient prog1'688 to qualify them 
to act as organists in different churches. The principal oC the mechanical 
arts taught are the making of baskets and mats, knitted and netted work of 
all kinds, and ornamental hair-work. A variety of these articles is always 
kept on ho.nd for public sale. The studies in which the pupils have made 
the most progress, have been reading, arithmetic, geography, scripture Jll&. 
tory, &c. An apparatus for printing in raised letters bas lately been obtaiool 
for tho institution, and a :\1 useum for objects, that will admit of being 
handled, is in course of formation. The pupils are allowed to attend at the 
places oC religious worship which their parents may desire; or which, if 
adults, they may themselves prefer. 

A weekly practice of music is usually held in a large room in the institu· 
tiou, in which there is a good organ, on Thursdays, at two o'clock, at whicll 
the public are admitted on the payment of sixpence each; and so high a stAte 

of proficiency have the pupils attained, that in the summer time the com· 
mittee occasionally take a selection of them te the neighbouring towns, where 
they give public concerts. The school is supported principally by means of 
subscription. Every pupil pays towards his maintenance and clothing a sum 
fixed by the committee ; and the children of wealthier parents are admitled 
to receive tuition on such terms as may be beneficial to the institutioll· 
The number of pupils that can be accommodated in the school is siJty-fiye. 
In 1848 the very handsome bequest of £5,000. was left te this charity by the 
late Dr. Beckwith, of York. The Rt. Hon. the Earl Fitzwilliam is the pre­
sident of the institution, and amongst the vice-presidents and trustees are the 
Duke of Sutherland, the Earl of Carlisle, and Lord Wenlock. 

The Building occupied by this School was formerly called the King's 
Manor, it having been originally erected by Henry VITI. (See page 343.) 

Blue Coat Boys· School, Peasebolme Green.-This institution, which is oae 
of the noblest of the York charities, was established in 1705, by the Lord 
Mayor and Corporation of the city, for educating, clothing, feeding, aod 
apprenticing forty boys; tho Corporation provided the outfit for the estab­
lishment, and a fund for defraying the annual expenses was formed 111 • 
voluntary and general subscription amongst the inhabitants, which amounted, 
at the first opening of the school, to £100. per annum ; but it is now ~y 
augmented, and in consequence of the ample funds of the charity the numb« 
of boys has been increased te seventy, and another similar instituuoo for tbt 
other sex, called the Grey Coat Girls' School, bas been united to it. There 
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are forty-four children in the latter school. The boys are admitted at the 
age of nine years, and at the age of fourteen they are bound apprentices to 
suitable trades. The annual subscriptions to the charity are considerable, 
and the real estates belonging to it valuable. About the year 1820, Thomas 
Wilkinson, Esq., of Highthorne, late an Alderman of York, bequeathed to the 
institution the munificent legacy of £4,000. The present master and matron 
are Mr. and Mrs. Etches. The building in which the boys' school is held 
is known as St. Anthony's HaU, and a description of it will be found at page 
499 of this history. 
Gr~ Coat Giru' School, Monkgate.-This school is supported by the same 

funds, and is under the same rules and regulations, as that of the school just 
noticed. The children are educated, fed, lodged, and clothed, as well as 
trained up for domestic servants ; and are afterwards placed out to household 
service. It appears that the girls' school was held in a building in Mary­
gate till 1784, when the site of the present edifice was purchased, and n. 
school house erected thereon, It is a large commodious brick building, with 
a spacious area or court in front. 

Spinning School, St. Andrewgate.-Two benevolent ladies of York-Mrs. 
Cappe and Mrs. Gray-founded this establishment about the year 1782. 
There was then in York a hemp manufactory, in which several children \vere 
employed, and the object of the foundresses of this school, was to have those 
children taught to read and sew after the business of the manufactory was 
over. This plan was adopted, but the evil examples of the day destroyed all 
the good impressions of evening instruction ; and it was found necessary to 
remove them entirely from such a nursery of vice. With this view several 
other ladies joined the original foundresses, and a school for spinning worsted 
was soon established, in which each girl received the wages of her labours. 
In 1786 a knitting school was added, and in 1797 a second subscription was 
proposed to supply the girls with milk and breakfast. The school is still 
supported by donations and annual subscriptions ; but though the original 
name is retained, spinning is no longer attended to, the children being at the 
present chiefly employed in sewing and knitting. The school is held in two 
good rooms. The number of girls taught is sixty, ono half being taught to 
read and knit in the junior school on the ground floor, and the other half 
taught to read, write, and sew, in the upper room. All the children are in­
structed gratuitously, receive their breakfasts daily, except on Sundays, and 
are partially clothed. The charity is managed by a committee of ladies, and 
the schools are conducted by two schoolmistresses. 

The York Female Friendly Society, which is in connexion with the Spin-
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ning School, and the York Grey Coat Girls' School, was instituted chiefly 
for the benefit of the poor girls educated in these schools, in the year 1788. 
It consists of honorary members and general members, the former being 
those who contribute six shillings or upwards per annum, but receive no 
benefit or advantage from thence; and the latter, those who contributa Ill 
the funds, and are entitled to its benefits in cases of sickness, &:c. Tbere is 
also a private fund formed by the contributions of the ladies for the fur. 
ther relief of the benefitted members of the society; and an annuity fund for 
alfonling annuities of forty shillings a year for life to such benefitted or general 
members as have attained the age of 55 years. The latter fund consisla of 
£1000., three per cent. consolidated bank annuities, which has been pur· 
chased by means of the subscriptions and donations of honorary members, 
without any aid from the general members. The affairs of the society are 
managed by some of the benevolent ladies of the city. Mrs. SaJmand, 
.Minster Yard, is the Treasurer. 

Wiuon's Charity Sclwou.-These schools were instituted in connexion with 
an hospital or almshouse for poor women, which wo.s founded and endowed 
by Mrs. Uorothy Wilson, a maiden lady, in the year 1717. The boys' school 
is held in the hospital in Walmgate, adjoining Foss Bridge, and the girls' 
school in the Merchants' Hall, Fossgate. The number of boys is 50, the 
number of girls 20, and both boys and girls are educated and clothed P 
tuitously. There are schools also at ~un-Monkton and Skipwith, supporred 
out of the funds of this charity. 

Inclustri.al Ragged Scliool.-'fhis excellent institution occupies a portion rl 
the Old Workhouse in Marygate, and has for its object to provide food, 
clothing, and a sound Christian education, with industrial employment, for 

· the mendicant and destitute children of the city of York. It was established 
in October, 1847, by some benevolent individuals, whose efforts have been 
crowned with considerable success. It was for some time held in confint!d 
apartments in the Dedern. The present building was purchased in 1850, 
for the sum of £565. About eighty children, of both sexes, on an a\"engt 
in winter, and about half that number in summer, attend, and are taught 
reading, writing, and arithmetic, as well u.s some industrial handicraft. All 
the children receive three meals daily, and a few of them reside in the scboal. 
The children go out to work when required, and the pence which they ellll 

are placed in a savings' bank, in tht:ir own names, and with additions madt 
to these sums, clothes are purchased for them. The government of the in­
stitution is vested in the committee of directors, board of trustees, and 1 

la<lies' committee. The pr£'sident of the institution is thl' Earl of Carlisle. 
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Dodsworth'• School&.-John Dodsworth, fonnerly an ironmonger, founded 
and endowed three schools for boys in York, and one at Nether Poppleton, 
about the year 1798. Those in the city are situated on Bishophill, near the 
Friar's Walls, on the north bank of the Ouse, and in Lawrence Street. The 
buildings are arranged so as to afford rooms for the teachers to reside in, and 
the present annual value of the endowment is £34. 2s. 6d. This sum is di­
vided into five parts-£6. 16s. 6d. is paid to each of the four schoolmasters, 
and a like sum is retained as a reparation fund. 

Haughton'• Charity School, in Colliergate, near the Church of St. Crux, 
was founded and endowed in 1778, by William Haughton, who at one time 
had been a dancing master in the city, for the gratuitous education of twenty 
poor boys of the parish of St. Crux. The endowment consisted of £1,800. 
the interest of which, together with certain annuities, "as to be applied to 
the instruction of the aforesaid number of poor children, and the Lord Mayor 
and Recorder, in conjunction with the minister, churchwardens, and over­
seers of the parish of St. Crux, were appointed trustees. Up to the year 
1888 the boys were taught simply to read, but in that year the parishioners 
and other friends of education in the city made an active effd'rt, and the 
school was thrown open to a larger number of sc'bolars, and a good commer­
cial education was secured for them. There are now forty boys enjoying the 
advantages of this charity, and the schoolmaster's salary is £180. per annum. 

NATIONAL Scuoox.s.-These schools were first established in 1812, and 
are under the management of a sub-committee of the York Diocesan Board 
of Education. 

The Manor Central National School, for boys and infants, occupies part of 
the old Manor Palace, a description of which is given at page 343 of this 
history. The large school room is the reputed Banqueting Hall of the 
Palace, and the room used as a Catholic Chapel in the time of James IT. It 
was subsequently converted into an Assembly Room. 

The Aldwark National School, for girls and infants, is held in the Merchant 
Tailors' Hall, Aldwark. A description of this building will be found at a 
subsequent page. 

The Walmgau National School, for boys, girls, and infants, is held in a 
large commodious brick building, erected about twelve years ago, in Specula­
tion Street, W almgate. 

The Micklegau National School, for boys, in Queen Street without Mickle­
gate Bar, is a large airy brick erection. 

The MickktJau National School, for girls and infants, is a very neat 
Elizabethan structure in red brick, with cut stone dressings, situated imme-
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diately outside Micklegate Bar. It was erected by subscription in 1852, and 
as far as regards the structure, fitting up, &c., is regarded as a model school 
The Miss Cromptons, of Micklegate, were amongst the originators of tbe 
school, and were the chief contributors to the building fund. The Messrs. 
Atkinson, of York, were the architects. The front presents a centre and two 
gables, and the interior consists of two fine rooms, with open roofs, and a 
class room. This school, and that for boys in Queen Street, are district 
schools for all the parishes in the city on the south side of the Ouse. About 
1,600 children attends the National Schools of the city. 

BRITISH ScaooLS.-The Hope Street Boys' School, which is conducted OD 

the British and Foreign School system, is open to children of all religious 
denominations, and is under the management of a committee, chiefly com­
posed of members of the Society of Friends. The school is partly supportid 
by subscription, and about 230 boys receive the elements of a useful EngliBh 
education. The school is well supplied with apparatus, such as a fine globe, 
a magic lantern, air pumps, &c. The working of the electric telegraph is 
taught here ; the Electric Telegraph Company supply the school with instru· 
mente, and the school supplies that company with clerks. The school room, 
which was thoroughly repaired and re-arranged in 1852, is very spacious. 
well lighted and ventilated, and forms one of the best public school rooms in 
York. There is an excellent class room, and there is a good play-ground in 
front of the building. 

The Britilh Sclwol, for girls, is in Jail Lane, Bishophill, and is conducted 
on the same plan as the Hope Street School. 

The Bilron Street School, for boys, was founded in April, 1832, by the ReT. 
Jocelyn Willy, by whom it is chiefly supported. It is intended for the 
children of the district of Layerthorpe, and is conducted on the British 
School system. About 160 children attend. The school room measures 60 
feet by 30 feet ; is fine and airy ; and there is a good class room. 

The Church of Etl{lland Sclwoll in Bishopgate Street were erected in 1838, 
and are partly supported by subscription. · They are day schools for ~ 
only, but on Sunday both sexes attend. The average number of children 111 

daily attendance is about 200. The school premises are very commodious. 
and consist of two fine school rooms, and four class rooms. 

There is a neat C/,urch of E71{1laruJ Surulay School in Layerthorpe, whirl 
was erected in 1848; and there are schools for girls and infants in Cole 
Street, Groves; and an Infant School in Speculation Street, WalmgafAl. 

An Infatlt &lwol, in Friargate, is endowed with .£2. per annum from 
" Baker's Gift," for which some six poor girls are taught free. 
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One of the principal Infant &lwols in the city is held in the o.ncient 
church of St. Andrew, at which about eighty children attend. 

WEsLEYAN ScHooLs.-These schools, which are partly supported by sub­
scriptions, are large and well attended, and their management is conducted 
by a committee of the Wesleyan society. 

The Album Street &lwol, for boys, is situated at the rear of the Albion 
Chapel, in Skeldergate. About seventy boys attend daily, and a Sunday 
school for girls is held in the upper room of the same building, at which 
about sixty girls attend. The Wesleyans have a Surulay &hool in Wesley 
Place, near Fossgate; it is a large brick building two stories high. 

A W uleyan &lwol for boys, girls, and infants, is held in the building com­
monly called St. George's Chapel, near Walmgate, which was erected in 
1826, but which bas been used as a school room since the erection of the 
Centenary Chapel, in St. Saviourgate. This school is conducted on the 
Glasgow training system, and the average number of children in attendance 
is about 150. 

The Primitive MetJ.odist Sunday &lwol is held on the ground floor of their 
spacious chapel in Little Stonegate. About 100 children attend. 

The BQys' &lwol in connexion with the Independenu, is held in St. 
Saviourgate, at which the average number of children in atttendance is about 
140 ; and the Day and Sunday &lwol jQT Girls is held on the ground floor 
of the Salem Chapel, at which about 100 children attend daily. 

CATHOLIC ScHooLS.-&. GeQTge's &lwols, for both sexes, are situated at 
the east end of the Catholic church of St. George, in George Street. They 
occupy a handsome red brick building, with cut stone dressings, in the Tudor 
style of architecture, erected a few years ago at a cost of about £2,000. 

Over 400 children are educated in these schools, which consist of a school 
for boys and girls, supported by voluntary subscriptions, collections in the 
church, and the children's penoe; and a Charity &hool, for both sexes, in 
which the children are taught free. About 160 children attend the latter 
school, most of whom are partly fed, and some are clothed, by the Society of 
St. Vincent de Paul. (See page 556.) The school rooms for the boys and 
girls are each 70 feet loog, 25 feet wide, and 1St feet high, but the lower or 
charity school room is a few feet shorter, a portion of it being occupied by a 
kitchen for cooking food for the charity children. The boys are under the 
superintendence of a head master-Mr. John Keller-aided by an assistant, 
and some pupil teachers ; and the female department is conducted by the reli­
gious ladies of St. Mary's Convent, York, who, in conformity to their vocation, 
devote their time and talents to the instruction of the poor and ignorant. 
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The Convent &kooll consist of a school for girls of the middle class, and a 
poor school for infants, and both are well attended. The schools a4join the 
convent, without Mick.legate Bar, and the children are taught by the nuns. 
The building of the schools is in the Italian style, the front exhibits four 
large pilasters supporting a pediment, which is surmounted by a plain cross. 

The schools in York under Government inspection, and receiving Govern· 
ment aid, are the York and Ripon Training Schools for Schoolmasters and 
Schoolmistresses, the Yeo man School, all the National Schools, the Hope 
Street and Bilton Street Schools, St. George's Catholic Schools, the Church 
of England Schools, Bishophill, and the Wesleyan Day Schools. 

According to the Government Report of the Census for 1851, there were 
then in the city of York 94 day schools {41 public, and 53 private), in which 
5,784 children, viz., 2,956 males, and 2,828 females, were being educated. 
The number of pupils attending the 41 public day schools was 4,415, viz., 
2,402 males, and 2,013 females; and the number in the 53 private day 
schools was 1,369, viz., 554 males, and 815 females. The population of the 
city within the municipal limits being at the same time 36,303, it will be 
seen that about one·sixth of the population of York were then receiving a 
school education-a proportion which is larger than that of most other towns 
in the kingdom. 
su~DAY ScHOOLS.-In 1786, and shortly after Raikes had established his 

Sunday Schools at Gloucester, the Yock Sunday School Society \Vas formed, 
and these valuable institutions do not appear to have existed here previous 
to that period. 

The Church of England Sunday &hooll, for boys, are held in the Mer­
chants' Hall, Fossgate; Willey's School, Bilton Street; Bishopgate Street; 
and at the National School, Queen Street; and those for girll at Bishopgate 
Street, Layerthorpe, St. Andrewgate, Cole Street, and at the National School, 
Mick.legate Bar. The Church of England School Committee has a Library 
and Reading Room for the use of the teachers. 

The Society of Friends bold their Sunday School iu the Hope Street SchooL 
The Sunday Schools belonging to the other denominations are held in 

the day schools in connexion with them, or in the school rooms attached to 
their respective chapels. 

From the Report of the Census for 1851, we learn that the number of 
Sunday Schools in York at that period were ~6, and the number of children 
attending them was 3,972, viz., 2,043 mares, and 1,929 females. Of these 
26 schools, fifteen were supported by the Church of England, and the num· 
ber attending them was 1,603; two by the Independents, and the number in 
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attendance was 73.!; three by the Wesleyan Methodists, and the number 
was 802; one by the Wesleyan Reformers, the number of children being 310: 
one by the Wesleyan Association, containing 75; one by the Primitive Me­
thodists, with 27 children; one by the Society of Friends, with 125 children ; 
and two by the Catholics, containing 296 children.* 

In Drake's Eboracum is the copy of a petition, which was presented to 
Parliament in 1652, from the gentry residing in the northern counties, for 
the establishment of a University at York, but no record has come down to 
us respecting the reception it met with. 

HOSPITALS OR ALMSHOUSES.-Agar's or St. Maurice's Hospital, 
Monkgate, was founded by Alderman Thomas Agar, by will dated May 7th, 
1631, for six poor widows, each of whom receives £3. 15s. 4d., per annum, 
from the endowment. The building consists of two stnall cottages, contain­
ing six tenements, which are occupied by the poor recipients of the charity. 

Bantow's Hospital, Blossom Street.-It is not known that there are any 
writings relating to these almshouses, but there is a tradition that two maiden 
sisters of the name of Barstow, who resided in York, founded them. They 
consist of two ricketty old cottages, which are inhabited by six poor aged 
persons, each of whom receives a sum never exceeding £3. per annum, but 
often much less, and sometimes nothing. This money is chiefly derived 
from the rents of some other buildings belonging to the charity. 

St. CatMri:ru's Hospital, Holdgate Lane, for four poor widows. This alms· 
house was founded previous to the Reformation, on the road side ncar the 
Mount, as a bouse of entertainment for poor travellers or pilgrims who could 
not pay for lodgings in the city. In Drake's time the edifice was kept up 
and repaired at the city's expense. The income of the charity was augmente4 
by Mrs. Frances Nicholson, a widow of York, who, by deeds dated the 7th 
and 8th of June, 1709, bequeathed to certain trustees the rent of a piece of 
land in Beggargate Lane (now Nunnery Lane), for the support of four ancient 
widows in St. Catherine's Hospital. It was likewise increased by the dona­
tions of the late Mr. Luntley, a glover in Blake Street; Mr. Hartley, a glover 
in Micklegate; and Mr. Yates, a linen draper in High Ousegate. In ad­
dition, the late Countess of Conyngham bequeathed £10. per annum to the 
four agro women here. The present annual income of each inmate of the 

• The following are the proportions in which the Gove!'llment Education Grant ot 
last year was distributed :-Choreh of England Schools, .£1611,824..; British and Foreign 
Society Schools, .£23,679. ; Wesleyan Schools, .£11 ,286.; Roman Oatholio Schools, 
.£9,789.; Workhouse Schools, .£9,~07. In ScoUand-Established Church Schoola1 

£13,848.; Free Church Schools, .£14,000,; Episcopal Church Schools, .£64&, ' 
4 l) 
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hospit.til is uLout .£15. The oltl house on the Mount was sold a few years 
ngo, and the present neat and comfortable building erected, in which each 
poor woman has two small rooms. A similar Spittal (a contraction for 
hospital) to this, dedicated to St. Loy, was built in Catholic times, on the 
cast side of Monk Bridge, but not a vestige of it now remains. 

Colton'• Ho•pit.al, Rougier Street, Tanner Row, was founded by Thomas 
Colton, by deed dated February 11, 1717, and augmented by his will dated 
1729, for eight poor women, who each receive about £5. per annum. Tbe 
buildings consist of cottages containing eight mean tenements. 

Harrison'• Ho~pitol, Penley Grove Street, is a neat stone building, in the 
Tudor style, with a chapel in the centre, erected in 1845·6. It was founded 
by Mr. Harrison, for eight poor women of reduced circumstances, each of 
whom receives £20. per annum. 

Heu·ley'• Hottpital, St. Saviourgate, was founded and endowed by Lady 
Hew ley, relict of Sir John Howley, of the city of York, Knt., in the year 1700, 
for ten poor persons. The trustoeship of the hospital having, in time, fallen 
iuto tho hands of persons professing Unitarian doctrines, who sought for 
objects of the charity amongst the poor of their own sect, the orthodox party 
threw it into Chancery, where it continued for twenty years, aud was at 
length decided by Lord Cottenham, that the charity belonged exclusively to 
the Independents, Baptists, and English Presbyterians, and under the decree, 
which is datod January, 18,10, the cllarity was placed in the hWlds of trustees 
belonging to these denominations. The original hospital was a brick building 
situated in Tannet· Row, but its site having been sold to the Railway Com­
pany, the present handsome row of ten cottages and a small chapel, all of eut 
stone, was erected in 1840, under the order of the court of Chancery, on &he 
site of the residence of the foundress, and within a few feet of her grave in 
the chancel of the church of St. Saviour. In front of the building, facing tbc 
street, are the arms of the donor, with an inscription, carved in stone. Origi· 
nally the annual stipend was only £6. per ann., but the property with which 
tho charity is endowed having increased in value, each of the ten poor inmates 
now receive 80s. per month, besides a cottage containing two rooms and a 
kitchen. Prayers are read in the chapel every morning by a layman. 

Besides founding the hospital, Lady Hcwley* paid into the Exchequer, in 

• Lody Bewley, or" Dame Sarah Hewley," as she is styled, whoee maiden name wu 
Wolridge, when a spinster WM a ward in chancery, and it is said that. she eloped wilh 
Mr., afterwards Sir John, Hewlcy npon a matrimonial expedition, she riding before aod 
be behind, on the same horse, thinking thereby to protect him from th~ censure of the 
Lord Chancellor, by alleging that she ran away with him, and not be with her. 
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1788, the sum of £1,000. the profits arising therefrom to be applied to the 
purpose of teaching the children of the poor to read and write. 

Ingram'• Horpital, Bootham.-Sir Arthur Ingram, Knt., a senior Alder­
man of York,* founded and endowed this hospital in 1640, for ten poor 
women. Drake says, that by his will " he appointed lands of the yearly 
value of fifty pounds to be insured to the hospital which he had lately built 
for the maintenance of ten poor widows." The buildings comprise ten cot­
tages of two rooms each, built of brick with stone dressings, having in the 
centre a square tower of antique appearance, containing the chapel and 
apartments for the master or reader. The entrance to this tower is a curious 
stone Norman arched doorway, apparently some part of a ehurcb or monastic 
foundation, which was probably removed here when the hospital was founded. 
Each of the poor inmates of this hospital receive £5. per ann., and clothing 
materials once in two years, of the value of £1. 5s. The endowment also pro­
vides twenty nobles for" an honest able man to read prayers in the chapel," 
payable out of certain lands at Sheriff Hutton ; in pursuance of which £6. 
ISs. 4d. per ann. is paid to tlle master, who reads the prayers three times 
a week. The crest of the family of the founder is a cock, one of which, 
of silver gilt, is the badge of the poor women and is transferred to every 
successive inmate. 

Ma10n's Hospital, Colliergate, was founded by Margaret Mason (widow of 
Mr. Thomas Mason, who served the office of Sheriff of York in 1701), for 
six poor women. Mrs. Mason's will is dated June 5th, 1732, and the ori­
ginal endowment was 20s. per annum to each of the poor inmates to be paid 
out of the rental of certain property in Fossgate. The poor widows receive 
that sum, as well as £2. lOs. per annum from the Countess of Conyngham's 
charity. The almshouse is small, but each inmate has one room. 

MaiMm DUu, OT Houu of God, Walmgate.-The foundation of this alms­
bouse is ascribed to the Company of Cordwainers, but much uncertainty exists 
respecting the period of its erection. The Cordwainers certainly maintained 
it till the dissolution of the fraternity in 1808, when its entire patronage, 
with its writings, &c., were transferred to Mr. Hornby, one of the principal 
members ; who, finding the building in a very ruinous state, took the whole 
down, and generously rebuilt it, in 1811, at his own expense; and it is now 
in the patronage of the Rev. W. Hornby, son of that gentleman. The 
buildings consist of five cottages, yet occupied by aged and decayed shoe-

• Sir Arthur Ingram resided in a fino house in Petergatc, ncar the Minster, which Willi 

occupied by Charles I. during his stay in York in 16!2. 
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makers, who pay a few pence per annum as an acknowledged grant to the 
patron. On the top of the building is a cupola, with a bell, which, before 
the company was dissolved, was always tolled on the death of any of its 
members. Divine se"ice was also performed in the almshouse occasionally, 
at which the members were obliged to attend ; and from this soon:e may be 
traced the origin of its name. There is no endowment. 

Middleton'• H01pilal, Skeldergate.-This is a monument of the piety and 
benevolence of Dame Ann Middleton, who, by will dated August 24th, 1655, 
left £2,000. for building and endowing it for twenty widows of poor freemen 
of the city of York. The widows now receive each £8. per annum, .£3. of 
which is from the original endowment; £2. from the Countess of Conyngham's 
charity; and £3. from the late Dr. Beckwith's charity. The hospital, which 
was rebuilt by the trustees (the Corporation of York), in 1829, is a neat brick 
erection, two stories high, in which each inmate has one good room. Over 
the entrance is a niche containing a full-length statue of the foundress. 

Mln'chant TaiUm' Hospital, Aldwark.-There was an ancient guild or 
almshouse near the Merchant Tailors' Hall, instituted "for the honour of 
God and St. John Baptist," by a patent, bearing date the 31st of Heury VI. 
(1452), for poor members of the tailors' fraternity, which was rebuilt in mo. 
This hospital consists of five small cottages, which are still occupied by poor 
brothers of the fraternity, or their widows, who receive each £10. per annum. 

Old Maida' Ho1pital, Bootham.-Tbe institution, which, as Mr. Bain~ 
facetiously remarks, " few ladies in the early part of life would claim as their 
inheritance," was founded by Mrs. Mary Wandesford, of the city of York, 
spinster, who by will, dated the 4th of November, 1725, bequeathed an estaW 
at Brompton·upon·Swale, near Richmond, with a mortgage of £1,200. aDd 
£1,200. South Sea Stock, in trust, for the purchase and endowment of a con· 
venient habitation, "for the use and benefit of ten poor gentlewomen, who 
were never married,., members of the Established Church, who shall retire 
from the hurry and noise of the world into "a religious bouse, or protestaDL 
retirement," with £10. per annum to a reader. Lord Castlecomer, the heir 
at law to the foundress of this hospital, being a minor at the time of her 
death, the Duke of Newcastle, his guardian, opposed the will; but it 1110 

ultimately confirmed in 1739 by a decree in Chancery. Immediately on this 
decision, a piece of ground, containing about an acre, was purchased, and the 
present neat brick building was soon erected, and was opened for the recet 
tion of the inmates at the commencement of 17 48. The maiden testalll1 

docs not in her will fix at what time of life ladies might become candidal£5 
for this charity, but the decree of the Court of Chnnc<'ry, just mentioned, ba; 
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fixed the age at fifty years. The hospital, which is two stories high, has in 
front of it a grass plot, bounded by a brick wall ; and behind is a good sized 
garden. In the centre of the building, which rises to a pediment, is a vacant 
niche, probably intended for a statue of the foundress. Each inmate bas two 
rooms, and there is a small chapel on the second floor, ag!Unst the walls of 
which are hung an oil painting of the foundress, taken when she was young, 
and tables of benefactions since the foundation of the hospital. Prayers are 
read in the chapel, by the chaplain of the hospital, on Wednesdays and Fri­
days. The Archbishop for the time being and four other persons are trustees. 
Each inmate receives a stipend of about £22. per annum. 

St. Tlwma&'& Hospital, without Micklegate Bar.-This is an ancient stone 
building, which before the Reformation belonged to the York Guild of Corpus 
Christi, and was devoted to the relief of poor and weary pilgrims visiting the 
city. The fraternity of Corpus Christi,* which was incorporated by letters 
patent in the 37th of Henry VI. (1459), was instituted for a master and six 
priests, who were termed the keepers of the guild, and who were appointed 
annually by the brotherhood. An old record in the Bodleian Library says, 
"they were bound to keep a solemn procession, the sacrament being in a 
shrine, borne in the same through the city of York yearly, the Friday after 
Corpus Christi day, and the day after to have a solemn mass and dirge, to 
pray for the prosperity of the brothers and sisters living, and the eternal re­
pose of the souls departed ; and to keep yearly ten poor folks, having every 
of them towards their living yearly £3. 6s. 8d. And further, they do find 
eight beds for poor people, being strangers, and one poor woman, to keep tho 
said beds by the year, 13s. 4d." This guild was supported chiefly by the 
annual contribution collected as the above-mentioned procession passed along. 

From the middle of the 13th century, down to the period of the Reforma­
tion, certain plays or pageants were exhibited in York, and in most of tho 
towns in the kingdom, during the octave of the festival of Corpus Christi­
the Thursday after Trinity Sunday-and thence were called Corpw Cluuti 
Plays. Dramatic poetry in this and most other nations of Europe owes its 
origin, or at least its revival, to the shows which were usually exhibited on 
the more solemn festivals. "At these times," according to Dr. Percy," they 
were wont to represent in the churches the lives and miracles of the saints, 
or some of the more important stories of scripture ; and as the most myste­
rious subjects were frequently chosen, such as the Incarnation, Passion, and 
Resurrection, of Christ, &c., these exhibitions acquired the general name of 

• A notice of this fraternity occurs in l!llll, in the Rt>gistcr of Fountains' Ahbt>y. 
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Mysteries."* The "Mysteries" were chiefly performed on temporary scaf. 
folds, ornamented with tapestry, and erected in the church-yards:t but the 
Corpus Christi Plays were exhibited on portable stages for the several scenes. 
placed on wheels, and drawn to the principal parts of the town for the better 
ac<'.ommodation of the spectators. The several trading companies in the cities 
and towns appear not only to have contributed towards the production of these 
pageants, but the subjects for representation were distributed amongst them, 
and each company was compelled to furnish a stage, together with actors, 
scenery, dresses, &c., for the exhibition of the same. Thus, for example, the 
Tylers were obliged to represent " the fallinge of Lucifer ; " the Saddlm, "the 
makeing of the worlde ; " the Ropers, " the brekinge of the commandments 
of God ; " the Shoemakers, " the Childer of Y sraell ; " the Smiths, "the As­
cension ;" the Wrights, "the Resurrection;" the Priests, "the Coronation 
of Our Lady;" the Merchants, "Domeaday ;" &c.t 

The Corpus Christi plays at York were first performed in front of the chapel 
of the guild ; then near the great gates of the Priory of the Holy Trinity, in 
Micklegate; thence they proceeded to the Cathedral, in the yard of which 
they probably exhibited; they then passed on to St. Leonard's Hospital. Mr. 
Robert Davies tells us that such was the interest then felt in the dramatic 
art at York, that the whole of a midsummer day," from mom till dewy eve," 
did the citizens continue to witness the representations of the actors. The 
same excellent authority tells us that only one of these plays bas been pub­
lished, viz.," The Mystery of the Incredulity of St. Thomas." The original 
MS. volume of the sacred dramas enacted at York, he says, is is existence, 
but no one knows where; once it was in the possession of the Fairfax family, 
then in that of Dr. Thoresby; afterwards it was purchased by Horace Wal­
pole, who gave £255. for it. At his sale it was bought by a Mr. Bright, a.nd 
at the disposal of his effects, it was purchased for an unknown gentleman, for 
£305., the bid on the part of the British Museum being £300. Mr. Davies 
inspected the MS. shortly before its sale, when it was in good condition, a.nd 
contained about fifty mysteries. We most heartily unite with Mr. Davies in 
hoping that the wealthy unknown may publish the work, that the citizens of 
modem York may sec the dramatic writings which delighted their ancestors.§ 

• Relq. of Ant. Eng. Poetry, vol. i., p. 126. 
t Sacred Plays, representing the miracles and sufferings of Christ, appear to baro 

been no novelty in the reign of Henry II. 

t Landsdown's 1\fSS. 
§ "An Antiquarian walk through York "-a lecture delhcrcd nt the York Institulioa. 

in t.he mont.h of Dccombt'r, 181H, hy Robert DnYies, Esq., F.S.A. 
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In the third of Edward VI., the Lord Mayor of York for the time being 
was appointed Master of the Hospital of St. Thomas, under tho express con· 
dition that " the poor folks and beds \Vere to bo maintained, found, and used, 
in the hospital as before-time." Accordingly, September 29th, 1583, an 
Order of Council was made, authorizing the Recorder, two Aldermen, and 
proper officers, to proceed to Stainforth Bridge and Buttercrambt to "tako 
possession of the lands there belonging to St. Thomas's Hospital, and parcel 
of the late Guild of Corpus Christi." At that period the buildings of the 
hospital comprised at the first entrance a chapel, on each side of which 
was a spacious hall, containing several fire-places and requisite furniture for 
the brethren, who there assembled in common. AbovEl were dormitories for 
twenty-four poor people, and behind the hospital other requisite conveniences. 
The roof of the building was covered with lead, and over it hung a prayer 
bell. This hospital gradually declined in importance, till in 1683 we find it 
inhabited by ten poor widows, who were allowed to solicit alms four days in 
the year. In 1787 it underwent considerable alterations; the back part of 
the building was completely taken down, tho chapel was removed, and the 
house reduced to six apartments on the ground floor, and six more over them, 
each room being occupied by one aged poor woman, appointed by the Lord 
Mayor; and thus was the inmates increased from ten to twelve, which is the 
number at the present time. The expenses of the alterations were defrayed 
by the money arising from the sale of the prayer bell, the lead which covered 
the old hospital, &c. The system of mendicity was continued till January, 
1791, when Mr. Luntley, a glover in Blake Street, dying, bequeathed, 
amongst other charitable donations, the sum of £1,000., the interest of which 
was to be regularly paid to the poor of this hospital ; and begging was then 
discontinued. Lady Conyngham augmented the income of the hospital by 
leaving £25. per annum, to be equally divided amongst the poor inmates. 
The poor women now receive altogether £10. per annum. 

Tlwmp10n'• HoBpital, Castlegate.-Founded by Sir Henry Thompson, of 
Middlethorpe, "sometimes Lord Mayor of this city, and Dame Anne, his 
wife, for the relief for six poor men," in the year 1700. The hospital is a 
neat building, and each of the six inmates now receive £12. lOs. per annum. 
In selecting deserving objects for this charity, preference is given to the in­
habitants of the parish of St. Mary, Castlegate. 

Trinity HoBpital, Merchants' Hall, Fossgate.-John de Rowcliff, or Raw­
clitfe, founded an hospital here in 1373, which was dedicated to our Divine 
Lord and the Blessed Virgin, and was commonly termed Trinity Hospital. 
The founder had letters patent from Richard IT., dated ut supra, to purchase 
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lands worth £10. per ann. for the support of a priest or master, and for the 
brethren and sisters of the same. The priest was to pray for the said King, 
the founder, and all Christian souls ; also to pay weekly to each of the thirteen 
poor people, and two poor scholars, constantly residing in the hospital, four· 
pence of &ilver. The founder purchased only one house and 26s. rent, and 
no other person having augmented the chnrity, "the governors of the myswry 
of merchants of the city of York incorporated July 12th, the eighth of Henry 
VI., and authorized by the said incorporation to purchase lands of the value 
of ten pounds per nnnum, and to find a priest out of the profits of the same, 
did enter into the said lands given to the said hospital, and of the profits aDd 
and other lands, did give yearly to a priest to sing, continually in the said 
hospital, over and besides all charges, six pounds.'' Such was the original 
establishment of this hospital, but it was dissolved in the reign of Edward 
VI., and the stipend of the priest, as also the lands granted for maintaining 
of obits, lamps, &c., was by Act of Parliament given to the King. The 
Merchants' Company have, however, perpetuated the oharity, and by means 
of various donations presented to it by seveml of its members, five poor meo 
and five poor women are allowed about £5. each per ann., and rooms be­
neath the buildings of the company 's hall. The apartments of the hOIJliW 
being below the surrounding surface are exceedingly gloomy, and probably 
unhealthy, as the walls are of great thickness and retain the damp; but we 
rejoice to learn that it is in contemplation to build a new hospital. 

Watter's Hospital, Chapel Row, George Street.-This hospital was foond~ 
by Sir Robert Watter, Knt., twice Lord .Mayor of York, who by will, pror~ 
June 15, 1612, appointed that an hospital should be erected out of his houses 
in Neutgate lane, which should be for the perpetual maintenance of teo 

persons, to consist of a master, governor, or reader, who shall have £8. per 
ann. for his stipend, and of certain brethren and sisters, each of whom Wei\' 

to receive 40s. per ann.; the said £24. per ann. to issue out of the lordship 
of Cundale. The old almshouses in Neutgate Lane were pulled down wbt'D 
that lane was thrown into George Street, and the present neat building of 
two stories in height was erected in 1844. The number of poor women now 
in the hospital is seven, and there are three out-pensioners, each of whom 
receives £2. per ann. The inmates of the hospital have two rooms each. 

Willcm's Hospital, Foss Bridge.-In the year 1717, Mrs. Dorothy Wilson, 
a maiden lady who resided here, bequeathed her own dwelling house to be 
converted into an hospital for ten poor women, each of them to have a room 
to herself ; and for their maintenance she also left certain lands at Skipwith 
and Nun-Monkton, from which each of the said poor women ,,.as to receive 
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£6. lOs. per anu. The property, which has increased considerably, is vested 
in the hands of seven trustees ; and in tho settlement is a very extraordinary 
clause, purporting that if any one of the trustees be· made an Alderman of 
the city, he shall cease to be a trustee. The original building stood till 
1765, when it was taken down and re-erected; but when the bridge across 
the Foss was re·built, it was found requisite to take the hospital down a 
second time, and it was then handsomely built with brick, as it now appears, 
in 1812. The number of alms-women has been increased to sixteen, whose 
stipend is £20. each per annum, and there are also eight blind pensioners who 
each receive £8. per aun. In conncxion with this charity are schools for 50 
boys and 20 girls, who are eMbed and educated free ; and also schools at 
Skipwith and Nun·Monkton supported out of its funds. 

WinUnkelf'' Holpital, Walmgate.-Pcrceval Winterskelf, who had served 
the office of Sheriff of York in 1705, gave to the parish of St. Margaret 
certain buildings on each side of a square court, part of which be directed 
should be occupied as the residence of six poor people ; and he ordered that 
the amount of the rents of the remainder should be entirely devoted to tho 
maintenance of these six poor inmates. 'The conditions of the bequest are 
carried into effect, and the poor alms-people receive about .£14. per annum. 

PoPuLATION, &c., OF YoRK.-Whilst the city was occupied by the Romans 
no just estimate of tho population has boon recorded, but it must have been 
considerable. In the reign of Edward the Confessor the number of inhabited 
houses was computed at 1,898, and about the same number in the suburbs. 
After the Norman Conquest, as we leam from Domesday Book, there were 
only 654 inhabited houses in York. In 1186 it was considered as bearing a 
half proportion to London. In the subsidy roll of the 51st of Edward ill., 
the population of York is stated at 10,800. In the reign of Henry V., the 
number of houses was 2,000, and the inhabitants, 10,000. 

The population of the city at the six decennial periods of tho present cen-
tury has been-

1801 ••••••••.•••..••••.• 16,14611831 .................... 26,3110 
1811 ................ . ... 18,217 1~1 ................ .. .. 28.~ 
1821 •••. ••• ••••.•••.•••• 20,787 1861 •••.••••.••••••.•••• 36,302 

or the 86,802 persons which formed the population within the municipal 
boundary of York in 1851, there were 16,962 males and 19,820 females; 
beyond that boundary the population of York exceeds 40,000. 

Previously to the year 1885 the city of York was divided into four districts 
or wards, which took their names from the four gates of the city; but it is 
now divided into six wards, and the following table shows the various parishes 

4 E 
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t'omp1·iseJ will•iu them, together with the number of inhabited houses in each 
parish, according to the Census of lfl51, as well as the Rateable Value of 
each parish in 1854.-

PARISHES, &e. h\laabiteol POPVU'f'IOII, 'l'olal. 
...... 

H...._. MU.. ,._.., v.-. 
Bootlulm Ward. l 

St. Micho.el.le.Belfry ....... .. .... . H<l ~74. 64.1 11111 34W-2 
Minster Yard with Heden1 ...... .... WI 4.86 622 1108 2671 
St. Wilfrid ..................... : .. 4;1 7:S 171 !U6 111111 
Mint Yard Liberty .................. 12 29 " 73 
St. Giles . . .............. . ... . . .. .. :17:! 933 1126 2009 

Monk Ward. 
All Saints, Peasholme .. ... ......... oo 218 208 ~6 

}46-1:! St. Cuthbert ........ ...... ........ 3tl:! 760 807 1666 
St. Helen on the Walls .............. HO 11J4. 2(K 896 
St. Antlrow ............. . .. ... . ... . 04 177 188 366 744 
Holy Trinity, Gootlramgnte .......... 01 2U 282 620 121~ 

St. John Del Pyke .................. 70 187 199 386 186 
St. Maurice ................ ... ..... 6Ui 130:1 16211 20'2!1 7:ull 
St. Saviour . ..... ....... .... . ..... . 124:! 1203 2:!38 u··• 502 .. 

Walmgau Ward. 
2801 St. Crux .......................... lQO ~:!3 407 920 

St. Dennis ························ 30:i 737 742 1479 ~ 
St. George ····· ················· ·· 420 1033 1002 2011~ ~ 
St. Lawrence . .. . . ..... .. . . ..... ... 32-1 644 7<\6 1380 • 3173 
St. Margaret ····· ·· ····· ·········· 340 818 777 1606 1978 
St. Nicholas ············ ·· ··· ··· ·· as 91 126 217 1078 
St. Peter-le. Willow6 ........... , ... . 119 297 201 688 035 

Micklt'gaU Ward. 
4973 Holy Trinity, Micklegate ............ 272 M4 061 16011 

St. Mary, Bishophill Junior ..... . . . .. 747 16M 1862 3626 121!l0 
St. Mary, Hishophill Senior .... . .. ... 246 608 029 1227 :Uil 
St. Martin.cum.Oregory ···· ········ llO 278 Ml 619 ~ 

Guild HaU Ward. 
2893 St. Helen, St. Helen's Square . ....... 102 262 289 661 

Holy Trinity, or Christ's Parish, King's 
720 260~ Square .. ........ ......... ... 133 332 388 

St. Martin .Jc.Grand .......... . .... . 81> 2211 322 M7 3788 
St. Poter.the.Little ..... ... ........ 116 14.1 1:13 29' )71i 
St. Sampson ...... ... .. ... ... ..... 137 301 807 768 27~ 

CcutkgaU Ward. 
1308 2841 All Saints, North Street ..... .. ..... 264. 637 671 

All Saints, Pavement ................ 63 206 217 423 3Wl 
St. John, Micklegnte ................ 182 4.82 4.83 9111 2S'U 
St. Mary, CasUegate .. . .. . .....•.... 146 4.76 668 1001 ~ 
St. Michael, Spurriergate . .....•..•.. 116 264. 320 118' 2978 
York Castle. (Extra Parochial) ...... I 186 38 174 -

St. Giles and St. Olave parishes are partly in Bulmer Wapentake, North 
Riding. The population of the latter parish, which is immediately with: 
the north wall of the city, and which includes the hamlet of Marygate 
parts of St. Giles, Clifton, and Rawcliffe, is not included in the above tablt· 
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Several of the parishes in the city have out-townships in the county, the 
population and other retl)ms of which will be found in the account of these 
places at subsequent pages. 

York Castle, being the County Prison, belongs to the county at large, and 
is not within the jurisdiction of the city liberties. 

The area of'the city, according to the parliamentary return, is 2, 720 acres. 
The amount of AIUIUCl Prope'rly in it in 1815 was £44,869.; and in 1824 
it was £53,668. The RateabUI Value of the city in 1854, as shown by the 
foregoing table, is £96,6154-to which might be added the rateable value of 
Davy Hall, or Cumberland Row, an extra-parochial district in Guildhall 
Ward, £170.; that of the hamlet of Marygate, in the parish of St. Olave, 
which amounts to £2,161.; and that of the township of Holdgate, which was 
£962. ; making a total of nearly £100,000. 

CoJnmBCE, TRADE, &e.-York must have been a place of considerable 
trade during the Roman period ; and from Alcuin we learn that its commerce 
was of much importance in the middle of the eighth century. The Maims­
bury historian tells us that before the Conquest York was a great city, and 
that "ships trading from Germany and Ireland lay in the heart of it." The 
Ouse at that period was the only navigable river in the county, and the tide 
flowed up to the walls of York; consequently the city was favourably situated 
for commerce. After it had recovered from the effects of the Norman inva­
sion, the trade and commerce of York appear gradually to have increased ; 
and from that time to about the middle of the last century it was very con­
siderable. During the greater part of that period the Ouse would admit the 
passage, up to the bridge, of the largest vessels employed in the merchant 
service. In the early part of the 18th century a charter was granted by 
King John (who visited York no less than sixteen times during his short 
reign), confirming the Mercatorial Guild, with all its privileges; and during 
the 12th and 18th centuries, the weavers of York paid a considerable yearly 
sum for their immunities. At this period the merchants, artificers, and 
tradesmen of York consisted of several companies or guilds, all of whom wore 
obliged to take part in the pageants of the famous Corpus Christi festival. 
(See page 1574.) In 1298 the port of York furnished one vessel to the fleet 
of Edward I. In 1354 (27th Edward ill.) York obtained the staple for wool, 
and many of the merchants of the city were subsequently members of the 
"Corporation of the Staple at Calais," as well as of other guilds in France 
and in the Low Countries. The "Company of Merchant Adventurers," and 
the "Company of Merchant Tailors," are the only two surviving guilds 01· 

fraternities of traders, once so numerous in this city; but these associations 
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have now ceased to exercise any inOuenoo over the trade of York. Of the 
ten staplo towns established by Henry VII., York i~ mentioned as the second 
in rank, and like the rest of these towns, had peculiar commercial privileges 
granted to it. The Woollen Manufacture, which appears to have been early 
established at York, abundantly flourished there so late as the reign of Henry 
VIII. In the 34th of that reign (1533) an Act was passed, the preamble of 
which says, "Whereas, the city of York being one of the ancientest and 
greatest cities within the realm of England, before this time hath been 
maintained and upholden by divers and sundry handicrafts there used, and 
principe.lly by making and weaving coverlets and coverings for beds,'' and 
the manufacture having spread into other parts, being thereby "debased and 
discredited;" the act proceeds to enact that henceforth "none shall make 
coverlets in Yorkshire, but inhabitants of the city of York." The manofat· 
tures continued to flourish in the city until the commencement of the 181h 
century, when its trade in woollens completely left it, and removed to the 
West Hiding. The increase of the size oftrading vessels, the remoteoeee of 
the city from the sea, and other causes, led to the gradual decline ofYorh~ 
a place of trade. In the early part of the reign of Charles I ., we find Sir 
Robert Barwick thus addressing the King on his entrance to the city, "Thai 
this city was formerly eminent with trade, and far greater and more populoos 
than it now is; yet of later times trading here decreased, and that principallY 
by reason of some hindrance in the river, and the greatness of the ships now 
in use. Yet, nevertheless, this river, by your royal assistance, might be 
made serviceable, and until that be done, there is no hope that this city 
will attain its former splendour and greatness." Little appears to hafe been 
done to improve the navigation of the Ouse till the 13th of George I. (17~n 
when an Act of Parliament was obtained for the purpose, and a lock and 
dam erected at Naburn, at an expense of about .£10,000. By these means 
the water in the city was raised five feet, and vessels of 140 tons burden can 
now sail up to it. The navigation was further improved in 1836, by the 
application of a powerful steam dredger, and by the channel being made suf· 
ficiently deep and regular to allow steam vessels to ply upon it in all states 
of the tide. Notwithstanding these improvements, however, York has oef(!l' 
been able to regain its former impon:tnce as a place of trade; and it would 
probably have declined still f•;rther during tht last century, bad it not beell, 
that as the metropolis of thrJ north, it was often the residence of many of tbe 
county nobility and gentry. "Whereas the city of York is the capital city 
of the northern parts of England," recites the preamble of the first city im· 
provcmcnt net in 1163, "nnd is n place of great resort, and much frequenll'd 
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by persons of distinction and fortune, whose residence there is of great benefit 
and advantage to the citizens of the said city, &c." The rapid growth of 
many of the manufacturing towns of the West Riding, and the port of Hull, 
has affected the relative position of York, both in tl'ade and population ; and 
the city might have continued to recede had it not been for the introduction 
of railways. 

The trade of York now principally arises from~ supply of the inhabitants 
and the numerous opulent families in the neighbourhood. The chief branches 
of manufacture carried on here are glass, planes and edge tools, soap, combs, 
iron-wire, confectionery, and drugs; and there are also some extensive iron 
foundries. The growth of chicory has of late years been largely cultivated 
in the neighbourhood of York. The manufacture of glass was introduced in 
1797; the glass works, which are situated in Fishergate, were considerably 
enlarged in 1852 ; and that business is now continued on a considerable 
scale. The chief articles manufactured are flint glass vessels and common 
vials. A Linen Manufactory was established in 1824, outside Walmgate 
Bar, at which huckabacks, &c., are manufactured. 

Although the number of vessels plying on the river Ouse is affected by 
competition with the railways, yet still there is a considerable trade carried 
on between Hull, Selby, and Goole, to and from which towns there is a 
steamer every day, except Sunday. Great quantities of coal are brought 
hither in barges; and from the junction of the Foss with the Ouse is a navi­
gable communication to the parish of Sheriff-Hutton, in the North Riding. 

Several Joint Stock Trading Companies have been formed in York 
during the last thirty years. The most important are the several Banking 
Companies, the Y orklhire Imuranu Company, and the York Gal and York 
W at4Norkl Companw. There are several other companies for minor objects. 
Many efforts have been made to obtain for York the privileges of an Inland 
Bonded Port, but hitherto without success. 

Great facilities have been opened for the increase of the trade of York by 
the introduction of Railway• ; and in consequence of them the old city has 
become au important place for the transit both of passengers and goods. An 
account of the several lines of railway which converge here will be found at 
a subsequent page of this volume. 

Market~.-In this city there are nominally three market days, viz. :­
Tuesday, Thursday, and Saturday, but the Tuesday market has fallen into 
desuetude. Drake, writing in 1786, says of the York market, "it is abun­
dantly furnished with all sorts of grain, and a vast variety of edibles, of which 
wild fowl is not the least. 

Digitized by Goog le 



582 TOPOGRAPHY OF YORK. 

The Gmural W uldy Mark8t for the sale of poultry, eggs, butter, fruit, 
vegetables, and all kinde of produce, &c., is held every Saturday in Parlia· 
ment Street. Previous to the opening of this street, the market was held 
in the Pavement and High Oueegate, which were very inconvenient and 
confined places for that purpose, and many accidents were caused by the 
narrowness of these streets, notwithstanding that portions of the church yuds 
of All Saints and St. Crux had been thrown into them. 

In the front of St. Martin's church yard, in Micklegate, was formerlJ 
situated the ButUr Stand. Great quantities of this article was brought to 
York, and after being weighed here by officers appointed for the purpose, 
was purchased by contractors and shipped to London. Sixty yean ago 
80,000 firkins of butter were annually received at this office. The building, 
which succeeded a very ruinous one that was blown down the preceding 
year, was erected in 1778, for the purpose of weighing and marking butttr, 
and it too having become ruinous, was taken down in December, 1828. 

After the trade in wool in this city had been discontinued for some ages, 
a Wool Marhet was established by the Lord Mayor and Corporation, on 
Thursday, the 6th of May, 1708. St. Anthony's Hall being tbe plati 
appointed for exposing this article for sale, several poor widows, who resided 
there, were removed to the hospital of St. Thomas, and there was a woodeu 
cross erected opposite the hall for weighing the wool. This market is still 
continued on Pcaseholme Green (St Anthony's Hall being now occupied as 
a Blue Coat School) every Thursday, from the latter end of May to the lall.er 
end of August; and for about three months after, viz. :-September, OcfAiber. 
and November, it is held on every alternate Thursday. 

The Cattk Marhet is held in the new and spacious Market Place, without 
Fishergate Bar, every alternate Thursday. It was formerly held in Walm· 
gate, much to the inconvenience of the inhabitants of that neigbbonr!Jood, 
but in 1826 the Corporation purchased the present piece of ground, for the 
purpose of a Cattle Market, at a cost of £10,000. The stalls and pens will 
hold over 600 cattle, and about 11,000 sheep. The tolls produce about £350. 
a year. The large inn in the centre was built contemporaneously with the 
market. The Pig Mark8t is held near Foss Bridge every Saturday. 

Fairs arc held as follows :-Candlemas fair on the Thursday before Feb­
ruary 14th; Palmsun fair, Thursday before Palm Sunday ; Whit Monday: 
Peterday fair, July lOth; Lammas fair, August 12th ; Soulmas fair, Nrt 
vember 14th; Martinmas fair, November 28, for horses and horned cattlt 

A HQ1'38 Fair, commonly called the Clariltmas Slaow, takes place withOU1 

Micklegate Bar, the last whole week before Christmas. 
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A Leatlw Fair, established in 1816, used to be held quarterly on Pease­
holme Green, but for the last few years it bas been discontinued. The leather 
fairs are now held at Leeds. 

In the session of Parliament of 1883, the Corporation obtained an Act for 
improving and enlarging the market-places in the city, and rendering the 
approaches thereto more commodious ; and for regulating and maintaining 
the several markets and fairs held within the city. and its suburbs. Under 
the provisions of this Act, the new and spacious street, called Parliament 
Street-now used as the Market-Place--was formed, ana opened for the first 
time in 1886. Besides the great weekly market on Saturday, there is 
another, but a lesser market, every Thursday. There has not been, and it 
is no small matter of surprise that there is not yet, an enclosed general 
market-place in York. In 1671 Mr. Marmaduke Rawden, a merchant of 
London, but a native of York, amongst other benefactions, devoted £400. to 
the erection of a Market Cross at the end of All Saints' Church, for the ac­
commodation of the public. It was a small square building, with a dome, 
supported by twelve Ionic pillars. The following year the cross was raised 
higher, and a turret and vane placed on the top of it by the Corporation, at 
a cost of £100. Thus it stood till the month of January, 1813, when, being 
considered useless, it was taken down, and the materials sold by auction. 

The Com Market is still held in the open air at the east end of All Saints' 
Church, Pavement, on and near the site of the above-mentioned cross, on 
Saturdays, between the hours of twelve and one. Being situated in the midst 
of an extensive district, the com and cattle markets are very important. 

The Butcher's Mar~t is held in St. Sampson's Square, commonly called 
Thursday Market, from the fact of the principal market of the city having at 
one time been held on Thursday. There was formerly in the middle of the 
Square a stone Market Cross, with an ascent of five steps on each side, round 
which was a shed or penthouse, supported by eight wooden pillars, on one of 
which was fixed an iron yard-wand, as the standard of the market. This 
old structure was taken down in 1704, and a new Cross was erected instead 
of it on the west side of the Square, on the site of the ancient Tolbooth, by 
Elizabeth Smith and George Atkinson, who then farmed the market of the 
Corporation ; and in consideration of the expense which they incurred in 
erecting the Cross, they had their lease renewed for a term of twenty-one 
years, at a rent of £22. per annum. This building in time became not only 
useless, but a nuisance, as it was a harbour for idle and dissolute persons, 
and a source of continued disturbance in the neighbourhood. A number of 
the inhabitants of that part of the city raised, by subscription, £100., in order 

• 
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w purchase from the Corporation their market right in the CroBS, and to take 
it down. It was consequently removed in July, 1815. The statue of George 
IT., which is placed over the entrance of the Guild-Hall, formerly decora~ 
the Cross in Thursday Market, and was removed w its present situation in 
1786. Drake tells us that a market used to be held in tho Thursday Mar· 
ket-Place every Friday, for the sale of linen cloth and linen yarn; hence the 
use of the yard-wand mentioned above. 

The Filh Marbt is a covered building at the west end of St. S&mpson's 
Church. Before its erection the salt-water fish market was held in Fossgatt, 
and previously it was held on Foss bridge, and in Walmgate. The fresh· 
water fish market was formerly held at n place called Salt.er-hole-gresses, or 
Grecian steps, at the east end of the old Ouse bridge. Supplies of fish from 
Scarborough, Bridlington, and the eastern coast, arrive daily. 

The Hay Marbt was formerly held in King's Square, but in 18~7 it was 
removed to Peaseholme Green, where it continues w bo held every Tb11J'911ay. 
The present weighing machine was erected by the Corporation. 

CIVIL GoVERNMENT OF THE CITY.-Respecting the mode of government 
adopted by the Britons in their cities little is known. Under the Roman 
government in Britain, York was governed in all respects like Rome ibltlf. 
During the Saxon period the Kings of Northumbria had their residence in 
this city ; but when Edwin became monarch of England, he changed the 
government from a kingdom to an earldom. York is at present a city and 
county in itself, having exclusive jurisdiction, and is the second city in rank 
in the kingdom, though it is now surpassed in wealth and population by many 
of the more modem trading towns in the county. The city of York claim5 
to be a Corporation by prescription. The first charter bestowed upon tht 
inhabitants, or at least the earliest charter extant, or on record, is one fi 
Helll'Y IT., without date, in which a charter, granted by Henry I., is refenel 
to. Richard I., in the first year of his reign (1189), granted the citizens of 

1 

York an exemption from toll and all customs in England and Normandy ; 
and King John, in tho first of his reign (1199), gave them a charter, ratifying 
all former privileges, and conferring the city on tho inhabitants, subject to • 
fee farm rent of £160. Confirmatory charters were also granted by HeDJJ 
m., Edward IT., Edward m., and Richard IT.; confirmations, or new gran~s 
of charter rights, were obtained from almost every subsequent monarch to 
Charles IT. In the 9th of Henry VITI. (1518), by letters patent, a Comti!Ol 
Council was established as part of the Corporation ; and a charter, 7th of 

Charles I. (1688), first introduced the election of eighteen members of this 
council from each of the four wards, into which the city was then divided-
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The governing charters previous to 1885 were the 16th of Charles II. 
(1663); and another, lOth of George IV. (1829), in consequence of circum­
stances arising, which prevented the fulfilment of the charter of Charles 
II. Before the passing of the Municipal Act, the Corporation was styled 
" The Mayor and Commonalty of the City of York," and it consisted of 
the Lord Mayor, 12 Aldermen, 2 Sheriffs, 32 ex-Sheriffs, who were com­
monly called the" Twenty-four," 72 Comm"on Councilmen, a Recorder, 2 City 
Council, a Town Clerk, 2 Coroners, and some inferior officers. The Lord 
Mayor, Aldermen, Sheriffs, and the "Twenty-four," constituted what was 
designated the Upper House ; and the Common Councilmen sat in a chamber 
by themselves, and formed the Lower House. The Lord Mayor and Sheriffs 
were elected annually ; the Aldermen and Common Councilmen were elected 
for life. Tho Lord Mayor, by virtue of various grants and Acts of Parlia­
ment, was invested with important and extensive powers, and had an allow­
ance for meeting the necessary expenses of his station. Prior to the time 
of Edward ill., this allowance was £50. ; in 1735 it was £350. ; in 1771, 
£600.; and in 1812 it was £800. After that period it was reduced to 50 
guineas; and the allowance is now altogether discontinued. In very early 
times the Mayors of York held their office for several years successively. In 
the reign of Edward ill., Nicholas Langton was Mayor for thirteen years, 
and his son, Sir John Langton, for eight years. No less than twenty of the 
chief magistrates of York have received the honour of knighthood. 

There was formerly an indefinite number of Freemen, or persons who were 
free of the Corporation of the city. This freedom was acquired by birth, ap­
prenticeship, or purchase ; and the liberty of opening shops in the city was 
confined exclusively to these persons. The fine in ordinary cases was £25 . 
The average annual income of the Corporation, derived from rents of real 
property, fines, &c., was about £4,600. When its functions were transferred 
to the newly elected council, there was a debt of £10,500., chiefly contracted 
for public improvements. 

The new Municipal Reform Act came into operation on the 24th of De­
cember, 1835. By this Act, as we have already shown, the city was divided 
into six wards; previously it was divided into four; each ward elects six 
Councillors, who retain their office for three years only, but are eligible for 
re-election, and two of whom retire in rotation annually. The Councillors 
elect twelve Aldermen, who serve for six years; so that the corporate body 
now consists of a Lord Mayor, twelve Aldermen, and thirty-six Councillors, 
under the usual corporate style. The Aldermen were formerly chosen out of 
the wealthier classes of citizens, and were u:-of!icU1 Justices of the Peace ; 

4 F 
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but they are now only members of the Council, possessing no po\ver or au­
thority above the Councillors. The right of voting for the Councillors is 
vested in the male ratepayers of the city. The qualification of the Aldermen 
and Councillors consists in the clear possession of property to the amount of 
£500., or being rated to the relief of the poor upon the annual value of £15. 

As we have just obsened, un4er the old system, the Mayor, Aldermen, 
Sheriffs, and "Twenty-four,'' met in a chamber separate from the Council­
men; hence the two divisions wero called the Upper and Lower House. 
Under the Municipal Act, the entire body me-et in one place. The Corpo­
ration are charged with the management and protection of the city to the 
fullest extent; though under a local Act, 6th George IV., cap. 15, a Board 
of Commissioners was appointed to superintend the lighting, paving, and 
cleansing of the streets, the recent Health of Towns' Act abolished the Board 
of Commissioners, and their duties now devolve upon the Corporation, who 
are constituted by the said Act, the Local Board of Health, and whose 
rowers are now greatly extended. 

Under the Municipal Act, the borough is included in schedule A, amongst 
those to have a commission of the peace, which has acccordingly been granted; 
and in section B of that schedule, amongst those, the municipal boundapes 
of which were to be taken till altered by Parliament. The boundary of the 
old borough, municipal and parliamentary, differs little either from that of 
the new parliamentary borough, or from that laid down on the map of the 
municipal boundaries' report; the two latter being only somewhat extended 
further on the north and the south-east sides of the city. 

At what time the title of l\Iayor was conferred on the chief magistrate of 
the city, cannot now be ascertained. By ancient prescription he assumes the 
title of My Lord in all writings, or in speaking to him, the same as the Mayor 
of London ; which peculiar honour, as we have already seen at page 146 of 
this history, was conferred on the chief magistrate by King Richard II., 
whilst on a visit to York in 1389, when he took his sword from his side, and 
presented it to be borne before William de Selby, the Mayor of that day, and 
his successors in office for ever, with the point erect, except in the presence 
of the King. The Mayors of York and London are the only chief magistrates 
in England who have received the title of Lord, and it is worthy of notice 
that this civic honour was conferred on this city previous to London. 

In 1393 the same monarch (Richard IT.) presented Robert Savage, the 
then Lord Mayor, with a large gilt mace, to be borne before him, and a eap 
of maintenance to the sword-bearer. The Lord Mayor was formerly chosen 
annually from the Aldermen, on the 15th of January, and entered on his 
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office on the Srd of February ; now he is chosen from the body of the Council, 
and his election takes place on the 9th of November. This office is of great 
trust and importance. Within his own jurisdiction he is surpassed by none 
in rank and power exet'pt the Queen and the presumptive heir to the Crown ; 
and the Commission of Assize for the city is granted conjointly to the Lord 
Mayor and Judge. The Lord Mayor resides in the Mansion House during 
his year of office, and if he be married, his wife is dignified with the title of 
the Lady Mayoress, and in addressing her, the term " My Lady" is applied. 
In Drake's time, though the husband parted with both honour and title at 
the time he was divested of office; yet by the courtesy of the citizens of 
York her ladyship still enjoyed her title, by no other right, perhaps, but that 
of an old rhyming proverb, which we find in Dugdale:-

"The Lord Mayor is a Lord for a year and a day, 
But the Lady Mayoress is a Lady for ever and aye." 

This courtesy towards the Lady Mayoress has, however, now ceased; and at 
the expiration of her husband's year of office, the term My Lady is dropped, 
unless she is previously entitled to it by birth or marriage. 

The Lord Mayor, on all public occasions, appears habited in a scarlet robe, 
with a massy gold chain hung round his neck. Formerly at the Sessions of 
the Peace be was supreme, but now the Recorder is sole Judge of that court. 
Under the old regime no law could pass the Corporation without the concur­
rence and approval of the chief magistrate; but he is now deprived of that 
authority, and instead of being, as formerly, a Justice of the Peace for life, 
he can only act in a magisterial capacity during his mayoralty and the year 
following. The Lady Mayoress also possesses a chain of offiu, with which 
she is duly and formally invested by the Sheriff upon inauguration ; for which 
office he, by custom, claims, and receives too, a salute from her ladyship. 

Mr. Aldermen Richard Town, who, according to Mr. Davies, occupied the 
antique-looking house at the comer of Lendal, in 1716, gave a staff of honour, 
made of Indian wood, tipped with silver, which had been taken in battle from 
some Eastern potentate to the Corporation, their previous staff having be­
come very much worn. This staff is a symbol also presented annually to the 
Lady MayoreSB by the Sheriff. 

The Aldermen, too, appear on all public occasions in scarlet robes ; and 
the Sheriff in a black robe. And that historic relic, the Cap of Maintenanu, 
given by Richard II., as we have seen at page 146, is worn by the sword­
bearer on all occasions of ceremony. 

The &cortkr is appointed by the Crown, and is the particular guardian of 
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the privileges of the citizens, and the preserver of the &ucient records and 
charters. He is ez·o.fficio a Justice of the Peace; bas precedence next after 
the Lord Mayor; is sole Judge at the Quarter Sessions of the Peace; and 
presides as Assessor at the Sheriff's Conrt. He is the public orator of the 
corporate body, and in the Council Chamber he sits on the right of the Lord 
Mayor, to render his counsel and advice when required. 

Previously to the passing of the M unioipal Act there were ttro 8/uri.ffi of the 
city of York, but since that period there has been but one, who is annually 
chosen on the 9th of November by the City Council. The Sheriff has charge 
of the prisoners of the county of the city, and he is the returning officer at 
the parliamentary elections. The office was originally instituted by King 
Richard II., who, in 1396, constituted the city a county of itself, and gave 
authority to elect two Sheriffs (in lieu of the three Bailiffs formerly appointE'd~ 
who, with the Mayor, should have cognizance in all pleas and actions within 
the limits of the city. From the time of the institution of the office till the 
year 1886, a period of 440 years, the two Shf!riffs had a double function to 
exercise, ministerial and judicial, as they exocuted and made returns of all 
processes and precepts of the courts of law, and had authority to hold several 
courts of a distinct nature. They had also the care of all debtors and felons 
confined in the county of the city; and after they had served the office, they 
continued, as before observed, members of the "Upper House," onder the 
title of the " Twenty-four," though they generally exceeded that number. 
The Sheriff of the city, under the existing law, takes no part in the delibera· 
tions of the city Council. 

The Town Ckrk is appointed by the Council, and attends its meetings tD 

record the proceedings ; he has also a great variety of other onerous and im· 
portant business to transact. Formerly it was necessary for the appointment 
of a town clerk to be approved by the Crown, but that is no longer esaential 

The 0oronllf" is chosen by the city Council; but that appointment was 
formerly in the freeholders of the county of the city. 

The City Treaaurer, and several inferior officers, are elected by the Council, 
and the appointment of Auditors and .A.uessors is vested in the citizens. 

There was formerly an officer called the Lord High SU!Mrtl of tAe City, 
who was considered the city's advocate with the King. Among those who 
have filled this office were George Villiers, Duke of Buckingham, appointed 
in 1673, and the Earl of Derby, appointed in HISS. With this noblemaD 
the office became extinct. 

The .4rm8 of tlte City are argent, on a CJ'OBS gules-St. George's C1'088-

five lions, passant-quondant, Or. The five lions with which the cross is 
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charged, it is said were added by William the Conqueror, in honour of five 
heroic magistrates, viz. :-Sir Robert Clifford, Ho\tngate, Talbot, Lassels, 
and Erringham, who so valiantly defended the city against his arms in 1070, 
till famine obliged them to surrender, that he determined thus to honour 
them for their courage and bravery. But however poetic this tradition may 
appear, it must vanish before the fact that armorial bearings have not been 
used till after the reign of William I. 

The Seal of the Corporation is of a circular form. The obverse baa St. 
Peter, with his keys, between two angels holding candles. Legend, S' B­
J. Petri. Principia Apo1tolor. The reverse represents a fortified town, with 
a legend, SigiUvm. CIVIVM. Eboraci. 

The following are the chief officers of the Corporation for 1866. 
The Right Honorable George Wilson, Lord Mayor. 

Charles Heneage Elsley, Esq., &cortkr. C. P. Bainbridge, Esq., SMri.§. 
Henry Richardson, Esq., T011m Cllrk Gild Cllrlc of tlu Peace. 

Aldermen.-George Leeman, James Meek, William Hudson, Joseph Rown­
tree, James Meek, Jun., William Richardson, George H. Seymour, John 
Wood, Richard Evers, and James Chadwick, Esquires. 

The City Magiltr4tel are the Lord Mayor for the time being, James Bar­
ber, Thomaa Barstow, James Meek, Leonard Simpson, Thomaa W. Wilson, 
John Swann, John Robert Mills, Thomas Price, and Richard Evers, Esquires. 
Additional Magistrates are about to be appointed. Mr. Joseph Munby is 
their Clerk. The Magistrates are Justices of the Peace, and act under a 
commission from the Crown. They are a distinct body from the Aldermen. 

The I~ of the Corporatiun. for the year ending August 81, 1864, was 
£7,961, arising chiefly from rents and market tolls. 

FRANCBISE.-York retums two members to Parliament. The franchise 
was conferred at a very early period, though the precise time is uncertain; 
but Civita• Eborom occurs at an early date in the Parliamentary rolls. Since 
the 49th of Henry m. (1266) it baa regularly returned two members to 
Parliament. Under the old Corporation the right of voting for members of 
Parliament for the city was confined to the freemen. In 1784 there was a 
severe contest at York, at which about 2,000 persons voted. In 1886, ac­
cording to the Corporation Commissioners' report, there were 2,400 resident 
freemen, and 1,800 non-residtmt, making a total of 8,700. The Reform Act 
of 1882 reserved the rights of resident freemen to a certain extent, and the 
right of election was extended to the £10. householders. The present con­
stituency nnmbers about 4,800. Under the old Corporation York was always 
accounted a whig borough, but the opposite party was generally strong enough 
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to obtain a share in the repreaeotation. The present members for the city 
are John George Smyth, Esq., and Sir William Mordauot Edward Milner, 
Bart. York is the principal polling place, and the place of election for the 
members of Parliament for the North Riding; the nomination is held in 
the Castle Yard. 

8TRA Ys.-The freemen of York still possess the exclusive right of pasturing 
their cattle free on the different strays belonging to the four ancient wards of 
the city, and those whose means will not allow them to possess stock, hne 
the privilege of disposing of this privilege to non-freemen. The strays. 
which are large tracts of laud on each side of the suburbs, are as follows :-

Mickkgate Stray, situated without Micklegate Bar, on the London road, 
consists of the commons called Knavesmire, Scarcroft, and Hob :Moor, con· 
taining together about 440 acres. The York races are held on Knavesmire : 
and the ancient place of execution, formerly called the York Tybulll, and 
more recently Gallmr• Hill, is included in this common. Though the risiDg 
ground upon which the gallows used to be erected has been levelled, itB site 
on the road side, near the boundary of the city, is well known. The crimi· 
nals were conveyed in a cart from York, surrounded and followed by immense 
multitudes; and this barbarous custom, with its brutal concomitants, dis­
gusting to tho feeling mind, was continued till August, 1802, when th.e new 
drop was erected behind the Castle. . 

The piece of ground called Hob Moor lies on the opposite side of the road 
to Knavesmire. On it is a stone figure of a Knight Templar, of the family 
of Ross, as appears by his shield. This image was formerly recumbent, 
perhaps in some of the churches of York, but it is now erect, and exhibits on 
the back the following inscription, partly defaced :-

" This image long Bob's name has bore, 
Who was a Knight in time of yore, 
And g&\'e this Common to the Poor." 

Underneath are the names of the pasture masters who erected it, in 1717; 
also, the later date of 1757. In speaking of this figure Mr. Gough ays, 
"It was probably removed from the ruins of Kirkstall or Rievaulx Monat­
tery (where the Rosses were buried till the middle of the fifteenth century); 
it is placed," he continues, " on a pedestal, on a piece of ground without the 
city of York, called Hob Moor, and is said to have been given to the city by 
one Hob, who perhaps was Robert 1., lineal ancestor of John, and a gret1 
benefactor to the Knights Templars." When the plague raged in York in 
the sixteenth century, a number of infected persons were sent ont of the city 
to Hob Moor, where tents were erected for their accommodation. 
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Bootlaam Stray is on the north side of the city, on the Helmsley road, and 
contains about 176 acres. It is crossed twice by the railway. 

Monk Ward Stray consists of about 132 acres on Heworth Moor, on the 
Malton road. 

Walmgau Stray is situated on Low Moor, without Walmgate Bar, on the 
Heslington road, and consists of about 75 acres. These strays are managed 
by pasture masters, (four for each ward) elected annually by the freemen. 

CouRTS OF JusTICE.-The Courts of Assize for the city and county of the 
city, are opened by the Judges on the Northern Circuit, under a separate 
commission, on the same day as the Assizes for the county. The city As­
sizes are held at the Guild HaU, on which occasions the Lord Mayor sits on 
the bench on the Judges' right hand. The Assizes for the county take place 
in the County HaU, in the Castle yard. The York city and county Assizes 
are generally held in the months of March and July; and there is a general 
gaol delivery, usually called the Winter Assizes, in the month of December. 
The present Clerk of Arraigns, or Assize, is Sir John Bailey, Bart., and his 
deputy is C. J. Newstead, Esq. 

Quarter Seuicns for the city are held in the Guild-Hall, before Charles 
Heneage Elsley, Esq., the Recorder, in the months of January, April, July, 
and October. All offences, not capital, may be disposed of by this court. 

Petty Se&&ions for the county are held every fortnight, in the Clerk of 
Assize's room, over the entrance to the Castle. The county Magistrates 
preside at this court. The Lord Mayor and one of the Justices hold P~tty 
Sessions in the Magistrates' room, at the Guild-Hall, on Mondays, Thursdays, 
and Saturdays; and the city Magistrates sit daily in the same place, for the 
dispatch of police business. 

The York City Court of Record is held in the Guild-Hall, at intervals of 
not less than t\VO months. This court takes cognizance of actions of every 
description, and damages may be recovered to any amount. The Recorder 
of the city is Judge, and he appoints a deputy. 

The County Court of Yor.bhir~ is held at the Guild-Hall once a month. 
The jurisdiction of this court extends to the recovery of debts, damages, or 
demands, when the amount sought to be recovered does not exceed £50. ; 
and actions may be brought in it to recover debts of every description, not 
exceeding that sum. The Judge is Alfred Septimus Dowling, Esq., Ser­
jeant-at-law ; and there are several deputy Judges. 

The ln$0lvent D~btor•' Court is held monthly in the Niri Priw Court, 
York Castle, before the Judge or deputy Judge of the County Court. 

The Eccluialtical Coum of the Archbishop of York have extensive juris-
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diction ; they are held in one of the vestries of the Cathedral, aud the records 
are very carious and valuable. 

To the Corporation beloogs the ooa.aemmcy of the riveN Aire, Derwent, 
Don, Ouse, Wharfe, and some parts of the Humber; and a court is occa· 
sionally held for the arrangement of matteN coDD8Ctled with these rivers. 

PUBLIC ~STITUTIONS, BUILDINGS, &c.-Guild HaU.-This 
fine old Gothic building, which stands behind the Mansion House, in Coney 
Street, was erected in the middle of the 15th century, by the Mayor and 
Commonalty of the city, in concert with the master and brethren of the Guild 
of St. Christopher. This Guild was founded by the authority of letters patent 
from Richard II., granted to Robert Dalbey and other citizens at York, 
Martii 12, anno regni 19. The chapel of the guild formerly stood where the 
present Mausion House has been erected. In the year 1445 we find the 
Guild of St. Christopher agreed to build a new hall, with pantry, buttery, 
and other appurtenances, and in the year following the building was com· 
menced. The interior of the building was not finished in 1496, for Thomas 
Chapman, rather than be master of the guild, agreed to pay a fine of £10., 
and gave one hundred wainscots for the roof, and forty more were given by 
two other worthies, for the same purpose. Another brotherhood, called the 
Guild of St. George, was afterwards added to the fraternity of St. Christopher, 
and by letters patent, from Henry VI., dated at Westminster, in the 25th 
year of his reign (1446), and addressed to William Craven and other citizens, 
the said guilds were possessed of power to purchase lands and tenements to 
a certain amount, and to make and adopt rules and regulations relative to 
the disposal of their revenues, for the support of their common hall, for re­
pairing and maintaining certain bridges and highways in and near the city, 
and for the relief of the poor. In less than a century after the foundation oC 
the hall was laid-the 8rd of Edward VI.-the united guild was dissolved, 
and their messuage&, tenements, &c., in York and other places, were granUle~ 
to the Mayor and Commonalty of the city of York, and to their successors; 
and the common hall of those ancient religious guilds was then converted into 
the Guild· Hall of the legislators of the city. 

The entrance to the building is by fGlding doors at the east end-the west 
end fronts the river Ouse. Over the doors is a large pointed window of fin 
lights, in the centre of which is a statue of George II., which formerly deco­
rated the cross in Thursday Market, and was removed to its present situation 
in 1796. The interior of the hall is very imposing-indeed it is one of the 
finest Gothic rooms in the kingdom. It measures 96 feet in length, 4.3 in 
width, aud to the centre of the roof, 29 feet 6 inches in height. 
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The roof, which is composed of oak, and decorated with numerous grotesque 
figures, carved in bosses, is supported by ten octagon oak pillars, on stone 
bases ; each pillar 21 feet 9 inches high, by 5 feet 9 inches in circumference, 
though severally cut out of one Bingle tree; and from their capitals spring 
the arches of the roof. These pillars divide the apartment into three aisles. 
The ball is lighted by several good plain Perpendicular windows ; that at the 
west end, which is of five lights, being filled with beautifully stained glass, 
representing the Royal Arms in the centre, and the figures of Juatice and 
Mercy-the former with the motto" Cuique suum," and the latter" Miseris 
succurro." In the lower compartment are exhibited the arms of the city, the 
sword and mace, &c., with the date 1682. The whole was executed by 
Edmund Gyles, a citizen of York. There are also a few good specimens of 
stained glass in some of the other windows. At the east end of the ball is a 
very large and valuable picture of St. Paul pleading before King Agrippa, 
painted by R. Marsden, and presented to the Corporation of York in 1852, by 
the Rev. T. H. L. Fox," from a feeling of attachment to, and in memory of, 
the former connection of his family with this city." 

The west end of the hall is fitted up as a court, in which are held the As­
sizes and Quarter Sessions for the city. The hall is likewise used for 
meetings of the citizens on all matters of public business, and formerly tho 
nomination and polling for Members of Parliament took place in it. Here 
also was given the grand banquet to Prince Albert and the Lord Mayor of 
London, in aid of the Great Industrial Exhibition of 1851. (See page 277.) 
At the back or west end of the ball, and overlooking the river Ouse, is the 
Juttice Room, or Petty 8681ihn& Court, where the Lord Mayor and City Magis­
trates Bit to adjudicate cases brought before them by the police. This room 
was neatly wainscotted with oak in 1679, at the expense of Sir John Hewley, 
one of the representatives of this city in Parliament, and there is yet an in­
scription over the fire-place to that purport. The roof is in panels, with 
coloured bosses bearing shields. The back of the Lord Mayor's chair bears 
a carved oak shield, which is charged with the arms of the city, and sur­
mounted by a carving in wood of the ancient Cap of Maintenance. Indeed 
the room is entirely in the antique style, and it is perhaps the most strikingly 
fitted up room of the kind in the kingdom. 

In one of the windows is a piece of painted glass, exhibiting a beautiful 
representation of Justice drawn in a triumphal car, the gift of the artist, the 
late Mr. Peckitt of York. It was placed in its present position in 1754, 
when the Corporation presented the talented artist with the freedom of the 
city. Here are deposited the musketry of the city, calculated to equip four 
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companies of fj(mmty men each, first raiSEd by the city in const'quenoe of the 
rebellion in 1745. (See page 269.) A part of St. William's Chapel on Ouse 
Bridge was formerly occupied as the Council Chan&ber, and when that building 
was taken down in 1810, a new wing was added to the Guild Hall, in order 
to supply the deficiency thus occasioned. This wing contains the apartments 
used for the meetings of the Corporation, a Recon:l Room, and other offices. 
all of which overlook the Ouse ; and the elevation of that side, as seen from 
the river on its opposite bank, is very beautiful. The lower room of this 
wing is a spacious apartment, formerly the place of meeting of the Common 
Council of the city, when the Corporation consisted of an "upper" and • 
"lower" house, resembling the houses of Lords and Commons, and when the 
Lord .Mayor stood towards these assemblies in a similar relation to that of 
the Sovereign towards the more august assemblies at Westminster. At the 
upper end of it is an official chair, formerly used by the chairman, with a long 
oak table and scats for the members of each ward. It is lighted by liTe 
windows, which fnce the river, and display the royal and city arms in 
painted glass. This is now used as the City Grand Jury Room. A broad 
flight of stone steps leads to the chamber immediately over the one jost des­
cribed, which was tho assembly room of the Lord Mayor, Recorder, City 
Council, Aldermen, Sheriffs, and Gentlemen of the" Twenty-four" or" Upper 
House;" but which is now the Council Chamber of the city. It is equally 
spacious with the one below, and has been very neatly fitted up, having • 
state chair for the use of the Lord Mayor, and also a seat on each side for 
the Recorder, and the City Council or senior Alderman. These chairs arefi 
Gothic design, surmounted by some elegantly carved spiral work. A table 
runs down the centre, as in the room beneath, over which are suspended, from 
a groined ceiling, two neat chandeliers. The windows, which are six ill 
number, overlook the Ouse, and are enriched with much beautifully s&aioed 
glass, representing the armorial bearings of the city, and of many members 
of the Corporation. Against the wall, at the lower end of the clwnber, is a 
fino piece of plate glass, painted, gilded, and elegantly framed, and bearing 
the following inscription :-

.. This tablet was emblazoned with the Royal Arms, on the ()(l(.'88ion or her Majes!Y 
Queen Victoria's visit to York, Friday, the 28th of September, 1849, and was aftetWIIds 
presented to the City Council, by James Meek, Esq., Lord Hayor." 

Mamion House.-This stately edifice, the official residence of the Lord 
Mayors of the city during their term of office, stands at the north end oi 
Coney Street, and was erected from a design of that celebrated amateur 
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artist, R. Boyle, Earl of Burlington, a nobleman who has been immortalized 
by Pope, in the well known line-

"Who plants like Bathurst., and who builds like Boyle." 

The site of the present erection was formerly occupied by two old buildings, 
one of which had been the chapel of the Guild of St. Christopher, and was 
afterwards used as a dwelling house and as an inn. Between thase two old 
houses were gates leading to the Guild Hall; but in 1725 the gates were 
removed aud the houses taken down, in order to build the present structure, 
which was completed the following year at the expense of the Corporation. 

The front of the Mansion House has a rusticated basement, which supports 
four Ionic pilasters, with an angular pediment, in which are placed the arms 
of the city, properly emblazoned. The upper part of the building is of brick. 
In front of the house are iron palisades, with sunk areas to give light to the 
basement story; and a flight of steps leads up to the entrance, which is by 
folding doors. On the left of the entrance hall is the dining room, not very 
spacious, but lofty ; and behind is a small drawing room, divided from the 
other by a temporary wooden partition, which can be removed at pleasure, 
and the two rooms may thus be thrown into one. From the hall a good 
staircase leads to the state room, which apartment is 41} feet 6 inches long, 
and 27 feet 9 inches wide, and occupies the entire length of the front, the 
ceiling being above the third story of the windows. The entrance is by 
folding doors, above which there is an orchestra, supported by two large fluted 
columns. The interior of the room is neatly wainscotted, and its general 
aspect is good. It is well lighted from the front, by two tiers of windows, 
containing five each; and in it are also three large brass chandeliers. There 
are two fireplaces in it, one at each end, enriched with variegated marble chim­
ney pieces; and above that, at the upper end, are the Royal Arms, beautifully 
carved and gilt; whilst at the lower end are displayed the arms of the city, 
adorned with the insignia of office. 

The Paitating• on the walls are as follows :-In the entrance bali-a 
full length of the Duke of Richmond, who, with several other noblemen, left 
his seat in Parliament, and came to York to pay his duty to Charles I.; in 
the dining room-a half-length portrait of Alderman Carr, who was a con­
siderable contributor to the stock of plate belonging to the Mansion House ; 
also, two good pictures of York, one having the old, and the other the present 
Ouse Bridge in the foreground; and in the little drawing room is an excel­
lent full-length painting of George Hudson, Esq., in his robes as Lord Mayor 
of the city, by Francis Grant, presented to the Corporation by the citizens. 
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Over the chimney piece is a portrait of Mr. Drake, the historian ; and 
several charters, which have been grantal to the Corporation, are united in 
one frame, which hangs against the wall in this room. In the state room 
are the following full·length portraits, all in elegant frames, and nearly equal 
in size, each being about \l feet high, and 5 feet 8 inches wide :-G10rge II., 
presented by the Marquis of Rockingham to the Rockingham Club, at York, 
in 1757, and, with their approbation, placed in this room in 1783; Willioa 
III., also presented by the Marquis of Rockingham, and suspended in this 
room at the same time; Sir John Lifter Kaye, who sened the office of 
.Lord Mayor in 1737; Lord Binguy, who was Lord Mayor in 1707 ; the M"ar­
quu of Rockingham, presented to the Corporation, by Earl Fitzwilliam, in 
1783; Lord Dundas (Lord Mayor), painted by John Jackson, Esq., R.A., in 
1822; Sir W. M. Milnsr, Bart. (Lord Mayor), painted by Hoppner, at the 
expense of the Corporation; and George Prince of Wala (afterwards George 
IV.), habited in the robes of the Garter, and accompanied with his black 
valet. This latter picture, which is by Hoppner, was presented by his Royal 
Highness, to the Lord Mayor and Commonalty, in 1811. The plate of the 
Corporation is most valuable and elegant; the greater part of the collection 
bas been presented at various times, by members of the corporate body. 

The Oit:ic Regalia consists of two fine swords and tho mace, the gold chains 
worn by the Lord Mayor and Lady Mayoress, the staff of honour, mentioned 
at page 587, and the ancient Cap of Maintenance, noticed at page 146. The 
sword ordinarily used is set in rubies, and is mounted with a large crystal, 
set transparent. The state sword, only borne before the Sovereign by the 
Lord Mayor, is double handled, and of great weight, and has a crimson 
velvet sheath, with gold mountings of griffins; and the mace is of silver gilt. 
The gold chain wom by the Lord Mayor weighs 15 oz., and the weight of 
that wom by the Lady Mayoress is 13 oz. 

There being now no salary allowed to the Lord Mayor, the hospitalities of 
the Mansion House are maintained at his own expense; and the festivities 
take place in the above-mentioned state room. Part of the open space in 
front of this mansion was formerly occupied by several old and high houses, 
which were purchased and taken down in 1782. 

The Judgu' Howe, Lendal.-This building was erected by Dr. Wintring· 
bam, an eminent physician of York, who died in 1748, on the site of the 
ancient church, or part of the church-yard, of St. Wilfrid's parish. In digging 
the foundations of the house seYeral cart-loads of human bones were dis­
covered and removed. After the death of Dr. Wintringham, this residence 
was occupied by another celebrated physician, Dr. Dealtry, or Dawtry, who 
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died in 1778. Part of the kitchen floor originally consisted of sculptured 
tomb-stones, the remains of the ancient grave yard. The place of residence 
for the Judges of Assize was formerly in a court in Coney Street, opposite 
the George Inn, which being very inconvenient for the purpose, the county 
magistrates purchased this building in 1806, out of the county rates, and 
appropriated it to the use of the Judges. The present residence is a large 
brick mansion, with a double flight of stone steps in front, and before it a 
neat court, with trees and shrubs. The exterior has a pleasing effect, al­
though without any pretension to architectural display. 

Auembly Rooms, Blake Street.-This magnificent structure was designed 
by the Earl of Burlington, the architect of the Mansion House, and the 
foundation stone of the building was laid by the Lord Mayor on the 1st of 
March, 1730. The cost of the site and building (about .£5,000.) was raised 
by subscription shares of .£25. each, or double shares of .£50. each; consc· 
quently the property belongs to a select number of shareholders, and the 
rooms are only used for the concerts and balls of the nobility and gentry of 
the city and county. The front entrance was originally by an ascent of a 
few steps, under a portico resting upon light stone columns, and surmounted 
by balustrades; but in 1828 a new and elegant facade was erected, from the 
designs of Messrs. Pritchett and Sons, of York. It consists of a centre and 
wings, slightly marked ; the former is wholly occupied by a handsome por­
tico of four Ionic columns, with a pediment. Under this portico is a spacious 
doorway with a lintelled head. The wings are recessed with a half Ionic 
column on each side of a window, and this portion of the building is finished 
with a balustrade. The vestibule or grand entrance is 82 feet by 21, and 21 
feet high; on each side of it is another vestibule, and behind are rooms and 
offices used for domestic purposes. Behind the right vestibule is a circular 
apartment, 21 feet in diameter, with a cupola, 45 feet in height. 

The Egyptian Hall, or grand Assembly Room, is a magnificent apartment, 
112 feet long, 40 feet wide, and 40 feet high. This room is from a design 
of the celebrated Palladio ; the lower part is of the Corinthian order; and 
the wall above is supported by forty·four elegant columns and capitals (six· 
teen on each side of the room, and six at each end), ornamented with a 
beautiful cornice. The upper part of the building is of the Composite order, 
adorned with festoons of oak leaves and acorns. The room is lighted by 
forty·four windows, which project inward from the lower side walls, and are 
supported by the same number of pilasters. Behind the colwnns a passage 
runs round the room, and in the walls of it are forty-five recesses. Dr. 
Smollett, in the second volume of his "Expedition of Humphrey Clinker," 
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pays this room the following compliment:-" The Assembly Room seems to 
me to have been built upon a design of Palladio, and might be converted into 
an elegant place of worship; but it is indifferently contrived for that sort of 
idolatry which is performed in it at present; the grandeur of the fane gives 
a diminutive effect to the little painted divinities that are adored in it; and 
the company, on a ball night, must look like an assembly of fantastic fairies 
revelling by moonlight among the columns of a Grecian temple." 

A<ijoining this is the lesser assembly room, 66 feet by 22, and 22 feet high, 
and which is always used on occasions when the larger one is not required. 
It is fitted up with requisite accommodations for the purpose, and at the end 
of it is a small organ, which, however, is never used. The ceiling is orna­
mented in stucco. For upwards of a century these rooms were lighted wi\h 
wax candles, fixed in large glass chandeliers, which were suspended from the 
top of the rooms. The great facilities afforded of late years by the railways to 
parties desirous of attending the large balls, annually given by the Yorkshire 
Hunt Club and the Yeomanry Cavalry, &c., have caused the directors to 
give their attention to the more efficient lighting and ventilating the rooms. 
Within the last few years the glass chandeliers have been removed from 
the large room, and a continued series of gas lights arranged above the 
cornice, as also a row of projecting gas lights, with glass globes, round the 
lower part of the room. This extremely brilliant illuminating power gives to 
the room an amount of light far beyond conception, and renders it a most 
beautiful spectacle. Three large ventilators have also been placed in the roof 
of the room, the effect of which is to render it comparatively cool when con­
taining from eight to nine hundred persons. The building stands near the 
site of the ancient parish church of St. Wilfrid. A few years ago, when the 
floor of the large room was relaid, several portions of an ancient porch, whi<:h 
from the remains must have been nearly as fine as that of St. Margaret's 
Church, York, were found near the base of some of the coluiDDS which d~ 
rate the room; and which, in all probability, belonged to that church. A 
large circular stone well, supposed to be of Saxon construction, was al8o 
discovered in the centre of the same room, and from it the building is 
supplied with very fine water. 

The assemblies at these rooms are now very well attended, though they 
were much exceeded by those of the close of tl1e last century, when York wu 
the metropolis of the north, and the centre of attraction. 

Futival Concert Room, Museum Street.-The Assembly Rooms not being 
sufficiently large for the great audiences that usually attended the grand 
evening concerts of the Yorkshire Musical Festivals, it was resolved to erect 
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a new concert room, so that the public may be well accommodated, and those 
charities, to whose benefit the funds of the festivals were appropriated, might 
not continue to suffer loss. The foundation stone of the building was laid 
on the 28th of July, 1824, by the Rt. Hon. William Dunelay, Lord Mayor, 
and the cost of the erection was defrayed chiefly out of the proceeds of the 
festival of the preceding year. The structure is spacious and elegant, and 
stands behind the Assembly Room, with which it is connected by a pair of 
folding doors, which are thrown open on extraordinary occasions. The in­
ternal dimensions of the room are 95 feet in length, 60 feet in breadth, and 
45 feet in height, exclusive of the orchestra, which occupies a semi-circular 
recess at one end, and will accommodate 144 performers. A gallery 20 feet 
deep fills the other end of the room. When filled the room will hold about 
!.1,000 persons, without the orchestra. The walls are coloured a pale straw 
tint, and at intervals occur Ionic pilasters, which support a superb frieze, 
modelled after the antique, by Rossi. The ceiling is designed in panels, and 
has a tasteful appearance. A cast of the Apollo stands upon the landing of 
the gallery steps. Since the discontinuance of the musical festivals, this 
room has chiefly been used for concerts, balls, and public meetings. The 
entire property of the room is vested in the hands of trustees for the benefit of 
the York County Hospital, and the Infirmaries of Leeds, Hull, and Sheffield. 

The York 0/wral SOt:Uty, an association of amateurs, are tenants of the 
room for a specified number of evenings in the year, when their concerts 
take place. The musical performaneee of this society have for several years 
been amongst the most delightful amusements connected with the city. 

The society was instituted in 1888, and its eole object is the performance 
of vocal and instrumental music. Meetings for practice take place once a 
week, and four public concerts are given in each year. Every member sub­
scribing ISs. per ann., receives two tickets for each concert; and subscribers 
of lOs. per ann. have four tickets for each concert. Performing members do 
not pay anything, and they receive two tickets each for every concert. The 
concerts are of a mixed character-one part being sacred RDd the other 
miecellaneoue-and professional talent, vocal and instrumental, is engaged 
according to cireumstaneee. The society numbers about 800 members, 
amongst whom are the A.rehbishop of York, the Bon. Lady Mnsgrave, 
Lord Wenlock, the Dowager Lady W enloek, the Dean of York, the Hon. 
and Rev. S. W. Lawley, Rector of Escrick., and most of the gentry of the 
city and neighbourhood. 

TMatre Royal.-The present Theatre. which is a curious looking brick 
building, was first opened in the month of January, 1766, by Mr. Baker, 
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the predecessor, and afterwards the partner, of Mr. Tate Wilkinson. It was 
erected on the site of a more ancient building, in which theatrical represent&· 
tion were exhibited. Mr. Wilkinson afterwards procured a Royal Patent for 
it, and conducted the establishment with much credit to himself, till his 
death, in 1805. During his life this theatre was second only to the great 
national theatre in Drury Lane, London, and a great many of the best actors, 

who at different times have adorned the London stage, were reared on the 
York " boards." The late celebrated Charles Matthews was one of the most 
illustrious of these, and one of the most interesting parts of the memoir of 
that great artiste, published by his widow, relates to the period when be was 
a member of Mr. Wilkinson's Company. 

The present front towards St. Leonard's Place (the entrance to the boxes~ 
with its arcade, was erected on the formation of that beautiful crescent. Pre­
viously the only entrance was from the top of Blake Street, through the 
present doors which lead to the pit and gallery. That part of the building 
abutting on St. Leonard's Place, stands upon an ancient stone vault, sup­
posed by some to be part of the remains of St. Leonard's Hospital, and by 
others to be one of the crypts of St. Peter's Church, which was destroyed by 
fire in King Stephen's reign, A.D. 1137.* 

The interior of the theatre, which is spacious, has been several times re­
modelled, and for its size is now one of the prettiest play-houses in the 
kingdom. The stage is 37 feet deep by 44 high. The company of the York 
Theatrical Circuit, which includes Leeds and Hull, usually commences their 
" season " here in March ; but the theatre is also open in the race and other 
public weeks. The house adjoining the old entrance to the theatre was for· 
merly the residence of the manager. 

The large house at the upper end of Blake Street, near the theatre, 1115 

erected by Sir William Robinson, Bart., an ancestor of the present Earl de 
Grey, who was then representative of York in Parliament. In front arelhe 
arms of the city, which were placed there by Sir William, merely on accoODt 
of his holding the ground by lease from the Corporation. 

Y orklhire Club Houu.-The " Yorkshire Club," for the nobility and gently 
of the county, was established in 1888, and the Club House, which is • 
handsome building, is in the centre of the crescent called St. Leonard's 
Place. The Club numbers about 240 members; the entrance fee of esck 
member is ten guineas, and the annual subscription is £5. 

• These vaults, which are very perfect, and supported by short massy pillart. are~ 
used aa porter lltores. 
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De Grey Rooms.- This building is also in St. Leonard's Place, and iK the 
property of a Joint Stock Company, with a capital of £5,000., in £25. shares. 
The company wl18 formed in 1841, and the building commenced forthwith. 
It is chiefly intended for the accommodation of the mess of the officers of the 
Yorkshire Hussars, during the annual visit of that regiment to York, and 
the barristers' ordinary at the Assizes, but it is often used for concerts, balls, 
public entertainments, and meetings. A large number of the shares are held 
by the officers of the regiment, and the gentlemen of the northern circuit. 

The exterior of the house is handsome, the principal story having seven 
tall circular-headed windows, in front of which a parapet and iron balustrade 
runs the whole length of tho building. The principal room is a very fine 
apartment, partly lighted from tho top. There is au orchestra at the end of 
it, and from the wall hangs a fine whole length painting of Earl de Grey, in 
full costume, as Colonel of the Yorkshire Hussars. 

The County Gaol, commonly called York Ca~tle, occupies, as we have 
shown at page 837, the site of an ancient fortress, which was converted into 
a county prison a.ft.er it ceased to be a military post. Previous to the altera­
tions, which commenced in 1826, the entrance to the C118tle was by folding 
doors, and a porter's lodge, from Castlegate, on the north side of Clifford's 
Tower, and a stone, with the City Arms carved thereon, might have been 
seen within twenty yards of the gates, to mark the boundary of the city ; and 
on the opening of the Assizes, the Sheriffs of York waited here to receive the 
Judge, and accompany him to the Guild-Hall. The present entrance is from 
Tower Street, at the south side of Clifford's Tower. The great gate of 
entrance, which is pointed, hl18 now a very imposing appearance, being 
flanked by two massy circular towers, with embattled parapets, loopholes, &c. 
Over the doorway, in a small panel, are the Royal Arms of George IV., 
carved in imitation of those of the period of Edward IV. From the top of 
this structure rises a subordinate square building, with small turrets at the 
angles, and the whole has a very bold but yet chaste appearance. The gate­
house, which is fire proof, was erected from the designs of the late P. F. 
Robinson, Esq., F.S.A.; the first stone having been laid on the 20th of 
March, 1826, by the Hon. M. Langley, High Sheriff of Yorkshire. The 
interior of the left hand tower, and the building over the archway, are fitted 
up for a record room and offices for the clerk of Assize, &c. ; and the petty 
sessions for the three Ridings are held in the office of the clerk of Assize. 
The right hand tower is the porter's residence, The lofty and splendid walls, 
which circumscribe a large area, enclosing the old gaol, Clifford's Tower, &c., 

, were rebuilt at the same time, in a style uniform with that of the gateway, 
.t H 
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having numerous buttresses at regular inte"als, with an embattltld parapet. 
A broad semicircular avenue round the no."tb side of the base of Clifford's 
Towet, leads to the inner entrance to the Castle yard. The whole of the 
buildings, the area of Clifford's Tower, and the outer walls, cover nearly eight 
acres.* The interior walls of the Castle yard are 1,100 yards in circum· 
ference, enclesing a pleasant aod open area of about one acre, with a large 
grass plot in the ce~ttre, and a gravel walk entirely round it. The county 
meetings for the election of Knights of the ahire and other public business, 
are held in this yard, which will contain about 40,000 people. The buildings 
form three sides ef the square, the fourth side being partly formed by the 
mound upon which stand .the ruins of Clifford's Tower. 

The Old Building•, which occupy, as we have stated, the site of the 
towers · of the ancient castle, were completed in 1705 ; the expense being 
defrayed by a tax of three-pence in the pound on all lands, &c., in the county 
of York, in pursuance of an Act of Parliament. This building consists of a 
centre and two projecting wings, and a handsome turret surmounts the centre 
of the edifioe, with a clock and bell Until the new buildings were opened, 
this edifice was the prison for debtors and felons, and also the governor's 
apartments and the chapel; but since then it is set apart exclusively for the 
confinement of male debtors. 

In 1826 the Magistrates of the couty purchased and enclosed a COD· 

siderable spa.ce north east of Clifford's Tower, and in the following year the 
erection of the new prison and the other alterations commenced. The new 
felons' gaol forms the semi-diameter of a cir~le, with the governor's house in 
the centre, and there is not in England a more handsome or better OOD· 

structed prison. The governor's house is an exoeedingly neat building, 
circular in shape, and so constructed that the whole prison may be inspected 
from it. The prison consists of four radiating double lines of building, with 
eight airing courts. To each prisoner is allotted a distinct cell, but there 
are ceHs in .each ward which will accommodate three prisoners each. The 
buildings are fire proof, and contrived with great ingenuity to prevent the 
escape of the persons confined. The entire cost of the works was £~03,630 .. 
and was discharged by an annual rate of lid. in the pound during the twelve 
years the alterations were in progress. York Castle now affords accomm~ 
dation to about 200 criminal prisoners, and 150 debtors. 

• On the Cutle Hill, before the building of the new walla, were eeveral gentlemen 'I 
houses, one of which was occupied b7 Sir Helll'1 Thompeon, of Eecrick, who repreaeut.ei 
York in Cour Parliaments in the reign oC Charles U. 
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The large and handsome building opposite the county courts contains the 
chapel and the female wards, both criminals and debtors. It was erected in 
1780; and considerably enlarged three years afterwards. The whole length 
of this bnilding is 160 feet, and its front is adorned with an elegant colonnade 
with four Ionic pillars, corresponding to the County Hall. In a small room 
near the governor's house, are preserved the curiosities of the Castle, quaintly 
called tM King'• PU.U, consisting of the deadly weapons with which murders 
have been committed, and the heavy chains of the most notorious malefactors 
wbo have been at different times confined in the Castle, and amongst them 
are the massive irons with which the noted highwayman Dick Turpin was 
bound. There are also casts, in plaster, of several criminals who were exe-
cuted here. Mr. John Noble is the present governor. -

The County HaU stands on the west side of the entrance to the court yard. 
This part of the Castle was built at the expense of the county in 1678, and 
rebuilt by the same means in 1777. It is an elegant structure of the Ionic 
order, 150 feet in length and 45 in breadth. The entrance to it is by a por­
tico of four Ionic columns, 80 feet in height, and attached ante, over which 
is a pediment, surmounted by a statue of Justice and other emblematical 
figures. The front corresponds in style, size, and elegance, with the noble 
building standing opposite to it. The interior is divided into three parts. 
At the south end is the OrotJm Court, for criminal proceedings ; at the north 
end the Nili Priru Court, for civil business. In the middle is a large 
vestibule, into which open several supplementary offices. The courts are 
crowned with a dome, ten feet high, supported by twelve Corinthian columns. 
Behind the Grand Jury room is the place for the execution of criminals, 
where a temporary scaffolding is erected for the purpose. It was fil'llt used 
for the sacrifice of human life to the offended laws, on the 28th of August, 
1802 ; and previous to that date, felons, condemned to die, were executed at 
Tyburn, near the race course. 

In 1805 or 1806, the workmen who were preparing to erect the present 
wall behind the Grand Jury room, discovered the remains of a Roman wall, 
upon which ancient foundation they raised the new wall. A block of free 
stone, inscribed Ci11itati, in Norman characters, was also found at the same 
time, whilst the men were digging a drain, which was supposed to have been 
a boundary stone, placed there in the reigu of the Conqueror. Though the 
Assizes for the three Ridings are held here, the CasUe is not within any of 
them, nor is it in the jurisdiction of the city; it is Extra-Parochial, though 
it is assessed, and bears charges to the pariah of St. Mary, Castlegate. The 
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High Sherill' of Yorkshire for the present year (1855) is James Brown, Esq., 
of ( 'opgron•, near Kuaresborough. 

The City House rif Correction, formerly the City Gool, for the use of the 
city and Ainsty, wos erected near the site of the Skeldergate Postern, and 
close beneath the lJaile HiU, between the years 1802 ond 1807. The gaol 
for the imprisonment and correction of "lesser criminals," was formerly a 
port of St. Anthony's Hnll, on Penseholme Green; but in the year 181-L a 
new House of Correction was completed on Toft Green, at the joint expense 
of the city and Ainsty. After the latter district was added to the county in 
1830, all the committals from that quarter were, of course, made to York 
Castle, and the gaol on Toft Green was afterwards sold to the Railway Com· 
pany, for £5,000., and its site is now included in the Railway Station. 

A contract has been entered into between the Corporation of the city 
and the Magistrates of the county, for the custody of the city criminals, 
and debtors at the Castle, so that the business of the present gaol is now 
confined to the safe keeping and correction of persons convicted of minor 
offences. The executione at this prison, whilst it was used as the city 
gaol, were happily very rare; but when they did occur, the horrid ceremony 
took place on a scaffold erected without the wall, next to the Old Baile Hill, 
and an opening was made in the wall to admit the culprit to pass through. 
The edifice is entirely of stone, surrounded by a high brick wall. The prin· 
cipal building consists of a centre and wings, the former furnished with a 
pediment. On the roof of this building is an octagonal turret, with an 
hemispherical dome and vane. There are cells for the accommodation of 
seventy prisoners. Mr. John Raper is the present governor. 

On the east side of the old Ouse bridge stood a Gool for Debum, which 
was built in the 16th century. In 1724 this gaol, and a small dwelling 
house adjoining, were purchased by the Corporation. They were immedi· 
ntcly taken down, and a more commodious prison erected, but this was 
removed in 1810, when the present bridge across the Ouse was built. Drake 
tells us that the high tower of l\:Ionk Bar was formerly used as a prison for 
the freemen of the city. 

Post Office, Lendal.-This is a plain but commodious brick building, one 
story in height, erected in 1840. The business of the Post Office was pre­
viously attended to, for more than a century, in the first building in Lendal, 
near the Mansion House. Mr. Joshua Oldfield is the postmaster. 

TRADE HALLs.-As has already been observed, there were formerly bm~ 
several trading guilds or fraternities possessing many peculiar privileges, now 
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obselete. Many of these guilds possessed common halls, and two of them 
are yet in existence. 

The Merchants' Hall, or "GWla MercaWnJ.m," York, is situated in Foss­
gate, and is the property of "The Merchant Adventurers' Company," ori· 
ginally established in this city at a very early period. This company being 
free of the five Hanse towns, enjoyed many valuable privileges on the impor· 
tation of goods hence; but it has survived all the fluctuations, and the final 
decline of the foreign commerce of the city. The Reform Bill of 1832 
deprived this and all similar fraternities of the remnant of their privileges ; 
but the funds of this company having been extended by several considerable 
donations, it yet exists, but more in the character of a charitable body than 
that of a society of merchants. The ancient seal of the company is still 
presened. It is of brass, and is in fine preservation. It exhibits two figures 
-one of the Blessed Virgin, and the other a personification of Commerce; 
" thus denoting that the mercantile institution was grafted on one which 
originally had been monastic." The legend or inscription is as follows:­
" SigiUum Cmwbii lw~pitaliter fratrum et wrQl'Um BMta: Maria Virginis Juxta 
Portam Foua Ebor. ;" which is thus translated-" Seal of the Monastery of 
the brethren and sisters of the Blessed Virgin Mary, near Fossgate, York." 
The Hall is of great antiquity, and is stated by tradition to have been built 
out of the remains of a religious house, called Trinity Chapel. A piece of 
garden ground behind the building is supposed to have been used as a place 
of interment; quantities of human bones having been thrown up at various 
periods. Over the entrance gateway are the corroded arms of the Merchants 
of the Staple. A flight of stone steps from the court yard leads to the prin· 
cipal rooms in the hall, which consist of two antique apartments, each 65 
feet long, 25 feet wide, and about 14 feet in height, which originally formed 
one room. The inner room, which is neatly fitted up, and ornamented with 
several good portraits of different Governors of the Company, as well as a full 
length portrait of George 1., is the one in which the Company holds its 
quarterly courts, and breakfast or dine together twice a year; and the other 
large room is used occasionally for public meetings and exhibitions. On the 
ground floor is a small chapel, and a hospital for ten poor people, called 
Trinity Hospital. The chapel was built in 1411, and repaired at various 
periods. Divine senice is performed in it for the Company on the 26th of 
March-called the Charter Day-and on one or two other days in tl1e year. 
The hospital has already been described at page 575 of this history. The 
workmanship of this ancient hall is very massy, the walls arc of great thick­
ness, and the roof is composed of immense planks of fine old English oak, in 
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excellent preservation. There are records in the chest of the Merchants' 
Company of as early a datt' as the reign of King Stephen. Persons serving 
an apprenticeship of eight years to a" Merchant" of the Company, become 
members upon payment of some small fees; and others become " Merchant 
Adventurers," by being elected by ballot, and by paying an entrance fine. 
There are now about forty members in the Company. 

Merchant Tailon' HaU.-This building is situated in a court in Aldwark, 
aud belongs to the ancient Company of Merchant Tailors of York; which 
fraternity now resembles the Merchant Adventurers' Company in every par­
ticular: the privileges of the members are merely nominal. They hold 
meetings in their ball, and on the 20th of June the anniversary of the Com­
pany is celebrated, when they elect officers for the ensuing year, and attend 
a sermon in the church of St. Crux, which is preached on that day by their 
chaplain. The HaU is an ancient red brick building, the principal room of 
which is spacious, and was formerly occupied as a theatre. It is now used 
as a National School for girls. This room had formerly an arched wooden 
roof, now concealed by one of plaster. In the window is a piece of stained 
glass, representing two angels supporting a bust of Queen Anne, and be­
neath are the arms of the Company, with the following inscription:-

"This Company had beene dignified in the yeare 1679 by hauing in their lraternitr 
eight Kings, eleven Dukes, thirty Earles, and forty-four Lords." 

The ancient hospital or almshouses in connection with this fraternity has 
been already noticed at page 572 of this history. 

The Merchant Tailors' Company possess some ancient plate, consisting of 
four pieces of silver, viz., two tankards, a large cup, and a salver. There is 
here, as in some other cities, a Goldsmitlr.&' Company, which is authorized by 
Act of Parliament to elect two Wardens annually, and also to appoint an 
Auay Master. 

The Haberdashers' HaU stood in Walmgate, at the comer of Neutgate 
Lane, now St. George's Street, and was erected by Sir Robert Watter, Knt., 
who served the office of Lord Mayor in the years 1591 and 1603. He was 
a member of the Haberdashers' Company, and he built the hall for his 
brethren of the trade to assemble in. It was a very ancient timber building, 
and after it ceased to be used by the Haberdashers, it was divided and lei 
in small tenements. It was removed a few years ago, when the street was 
improved and widened. Sir R. W atter founded an hospital or almshouse in 
this locality, which is noticed at page 576 of this volume. 

The Company of Cordwainer• was another of the fraternities which were 
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onited at York, for the protection and encouragement of their respective 
wades. A large and handsome bowl, which belong to them, is DOW deposited 
in the vestry of the Minster. (See page 489.) This Company was dissolved 
in 1808. The almshouse, called Mailon Dieu, noticed at 571, was con­
nected with it. 

_MEDICAL INsTITUTIONs.- York Ooo.nty Hospital, Monkgate.-This insti­
tution chiefly owes its foundation to a legacy of £500. left in 17 40, by Lady 
Elizabeth Hastings, "for the relief of the deceased poor of the city and county 
of York." This fund being augmented about the same time by other bene­
volent persons, the hospital \Vas soon after erected. The building, which 
stood in Monkgate, having become inadequate to the requirements of the 
institution-in consequence of the great increase in the population-it was 
taken down in 1850, and the present hospital was erected and opened in 
1851. It stands several yards to the rear of the spot upon which the old 
hospital stood, and is an elegant and extensive range of buildings, four stories 
in height, with a handsome Italian front. The basement story is of stone, 
and the remainder of the building is of red brick, with cut stone dressings. 
The cost of the structure was about £11,000., of which sum £7,000. was 
raised by subscription in the county, and the remainder was taken from the 
fonds of the charity. The Messrs. Atkinson, of York, were the architects. 
The interior is perfect in its arrangements, and will accommodate 120 
patients. Persons suffering from infectious or contagious disorders are not 
admitted as in-patients. The number of patients annually admitted into the 
hospital is about 500. The annual income of the institution, including real 
and personal estates, subscriptions, &c., now amounts to about £8,000. 

Clinical lectures are given by the physicians and surgeons of the hospital, · 
and certificates of attendance on the medical and surgical practice of the 
hospital, conjointly with the dispensary, are received by the Royal College of 
Burgeons, and the Society of Apothecaries, London. The government of the 
hospital is vested in the hands of the trustees and governors, who bold 
quarterly courts in the board room. 

The Medical Library was established in 1810 by the subscriptions and 
donations of eighteen members of the medical profession, resident in York, 
aided by the contributions of several of their fellow citizens, who were friends 
to the diffusion of medical knowledge. In order to secure the perpetuity of 
the institution, as well as to avoid the expense of rent and a librarian's 
salary, it was resolved that the books should be the property of the trustees 
of the County Hospital; the office of librarian being, with the consent of the 
governors of the hospital, annexed to that of house-surgeon. The library is 
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regularly enriched by the best medical publications of the day, and it now 
contains about 1,000 volumes of the most valuable standard medical works, 
and some of the best and most expensive anatomical plates published. It is 
under the exclusive management of its subscribers, who must be medical 
practitioners residing in York. The medical officers of the hospital enjoy 
no privileges distinct from the rest, with regard to the use and management 
of the library. The annual subscription is one guinea. 

The York School of }t{ediciTUJ was established in 1834, the County Hospital 
and the Dispensary being united in its formation. The session is divided 
into two terms, a winter and a summer term; during which period lectures 
are delivered to the students in the lecture room of the County Hospital, by 
several able medical gentlemen resident in the city. The Museum of Ana­
tomy, comprising the collection of the late Mr. James Atkinson, is open to 
the students daily during the session. Attendance on the course of lectures 
also qualifies for examination at the Royal College of Surgeons, and at 
Apothecaries' Hall, London. 

The Medical Society was founded in 1882, for the advancement and dif­
fusion of medical knowledge. Its meetings are held at the Dispensary on the 
evenings of every alternate Saturday, from the beginning of October to the 
end of April. There is a Medical Library in connection with this Society. 

York Di.spen$aTtJ, New Street.-This institution for the relief of the sick 
poor was opened in 1788. It is maintained by subscription, and is one of 
the most efficient and truly useful charities of the city. It was originally 
conducted in a room in the Merchants' Hall, Foss-gate, from whence, in 
1806, it was removed to St. Andrewgate, where it continued till the erection 
of the present building; the foundation stone of which was laid in 182i, by 
the late Mr. Alderman Wilson. The cost of the erection was £1,950., 
including the site, and it was opened in 1828. It is a neat stone edifice, 
with a small Doric portico of four columns. The interior is well 81'1'1Ulged, 
having a large waiting room, with a lantern light, with the various offices 
around it. Some of the principal medical men of the city are connected 
with this dispensary. 

The Inatitutionfor Diucues of tM Ear, Merchant's Hall, Fossgate, which 
is the only one in the north of England devoted exclusiYely to the treatment 
of affections of the organ of hearing, was opened about four years ago, 
chiefly through the instrumentality of James Allen, Esq., of this city, who 
is now the treasurer of the institution. It is supported by voluntary contri­
butions, and gratuitous advice is afforded to the poor every Saturday at 
noon. Mr. Oswald A. Moore is the surgeon. 
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The Imtitvtionjor Diua~t• of tlu Eye, Merchant Tailors' Hall, Aldwark, 
wa.s established in 1881, for the relief of the poor, labouring under diseases 
of the eye. Attendance on Tuesdays and Saturdays at 12 o'clock. A donor 
of .£5., or an annual subscriber of lOs., bas the right of recommending 
patients, and of voting at general meetings. The medical officers are Dr. 
Belcombe, physician, and Messrs. Reed and Paley, surgeons. 

The Homeopathic Di8pemary, Bootham, was founded in 1851, for the cure 
of cases solely on Homeopathic principles. -

A.yl11mjor the [mane, Bootham.-Established in pursuance of resolutions 
passed at a county meeting, held in the Castle of York, on the 27th of 
August, 1772. The original intention was to confine it to pauper lunatics 
only, or to such as belonged to indigent families. The present site was pur­
chased; a plan was prepared for a building calculated to contain 54 patients; 
and on the 20th of September, 1777, the building being nearly completed, 
apartments were opened for ten patients at 8s. per week. At this time there 
were only four similar institutions in the kingdom, namely, two in London, one 
at Manchester, and the other at Newcastle. In August, 1784, it was deter· 
mined that a limited number of opulent patients should be admitted for the 
benefit of the institution, and in 1795 an extensive wing was added to the 
premises. The false principles upon which most of our institutions for the 
treatment of lunatics were formerly conducted, prevailed in this asylum. In 
1818 Mr. S. Tuke published his account of the "Retreat" Lunatic Asylum, 
and a passage in it, recommending a more mild method of treatment for the 
insane, than had been generally adopted, was made the subject of a letter 
from the physician of this asylum (Dr. Best), in one of the York news· 
papers. A public controversy on the subject ensued, which terminated fa· 
tally to the physician, though beneficially to the asylum. An investigation 
into the alleged abuses of the institution was set on foot, and it soon became 
evident that but very defective attention was paid to the comfort, clothing, 
and diet of the inmates, and to the ventilation and cleanliness of the establish· 
ment. Whilst the investigation was pending, and whilst public attention 
was excited towards the asylum, a detached wing of the building was acci· 
dentally destroyed by fire, on the evening of the 28th of December, 1814. 
This dreadful calamity was still more affecting, from the circumstance of 
many of the patients being locked up in their rooms, and from the principal 
part of the servants being from home; the sad consequence being that four 
patients, who had been chained to the walls, perished in the flames. The 
premises were insured in the County Fire Office for the sum of £2,892. A 
further investigation immediately ensued, which led to the exposure of some 
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shameful and even criminal abuses; and the whole terminated in the dis· 
missal of every servant and officer employed in attending on the patients, the 
resignation of the physician, and the complete reorganization of the whole 
estublishment, under the direction of the superintendent of the before-men­
tioned Retreat; and since that period the institution has been in efficient 
and prosperous operation, and the rate of mortality bas materially diminished. 
"The York Lunatic Asylum, in the bestowal of its charity," says the Report 
of the Medical Superintendent for the year ending June 1st, 1853, "is not 
limited to the upper and \Vealthier classes, it extends its benefits o.like to the 
reduced and the comparatively indigent. It receh•es patients suffering under 
every form and in every stage of mental derangement : it shelters alike the 
raving maniac of but a few days, and the hopeless imbecile of a score years." 

The Building is of red brick, and is a handsome structure, 132 feet long, 
52 feet in depth, and three stories high. The ascent to it is by five stone 
steps; the lowest story is rustic, from which four stone columns are carried 
up ~ the entablature, which is finished by a pediment. On the top of the 
building is an elegant cylindrical bell tower, surrounded with small columns, 
and surmounted with a cupola and vane. The ground Boor comprises six 
dny rooms for the patients, with access to fil"e airing co~rts adjoining the 
building; a broad and handsome staircase leads to the two upper stories, in the 
first of which are two sitting rooms and several bed rooms, ranged on each 
side of a long gallery. The other story is constructed in the same way. and 
comprises lodging rooms only. Behind the front building is a small octagon 
erection, containing the kitchen, and a sitting room for females, and near it 
is a building containing a series of apartments for female patients, which was 
erected at a great expense, and opened in 18li. The bouse is surrounded 
by gardens and pleasure grounds, and contains all the modem impro,·ements 
connected with the treatment of lunacy. The non-restraint system is carried 
out t.o a considerable extent; and amongst the usual amusements of the 
patients are chess, drafts, cards, music, cricket, &c. 

At the opening of the Pauper Lunatic Asylum for the North and East 
Ridings, about thirty paupers were removed to it from this institution, and 

. since that time no pauper lunatic has been an inmate here. The chief officers 
of this institution are a physician, Dr. Simpson; medico.l superintendent, Dr. 
Edward Simpson; chaplain, Rev. Thomas Richardson; and secretary, Mr. 
W. H. Howard. The income of the establishment is derived chiefly from 
the charge to patients for board, attendance, &c.; from dividends of certain 
stock in the funds, and from rents. Its management is in the hands of a 
committee of governors. 
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The Retreat Lwlatic Asylum, Heslington Road.-This excellent institution 
was projected by the late Mr. William Tuke, of York, for persons afflicted 
with disorders of the mind, among the Society of Friends, in consequence of 
the unsatisfactory treatment and death of one of that persuasion, at an estab­
lishment for the insane, during the year 1791. Mr. Tuke was aided in his 
exertions to establish this asylum by Lindley Murray, the celebrated gram­
marian, and several other individuals ; and though many objections were 
raised against a proposal so novel, and considerable difficulties had to be 
overcome, yet a subscription was at length opened, and a fund was formed for 
its establishment. In 1794 nearly twenty acres of land were purchased for 
£2,325., but it being afterwards thought too much, eight acres of it were 
disposed of for the sum of £968., and the building was commenced on the 
remaining eleven acres. The asylum was at first designed solely for the 
members of the Society of Friends, but bas since been extended to others 
connected with them. In 1796 the house was opened for the reception of 
patients, and from that time to the present it has uninterruptedly enjoyed 
the care and interests of the descendants of its projector. Before the opening 
of this institution the treatment of the insane, in the various asylums, was 
harsh in the extreme, and it frequently amountE:d to brutal coercion; but 
those who have been the supporters and managers of tl1e Retreat have the 
enviable satisfaction of knowing, that by the gentlest and most amiable 
means, they have accomplished an amount of good, and conferred a degree of 
happiness on thousands, which scarcely can be overstated. The Retreat is 
situated on an eminence, in the purest air, and commanding extensive and 
interesting prospects over the city and the delightful vale of York. 

The Buildings are all of brick, and are very extensive as well as imposing. 
They have recently undergone extensive alterations and improvements; two 
of the old wings, which were originally built for the accommodation of the 
violent patients, have been removed, and replaced by large and handsome 
structures, embracing every modern improvement in the construction of 
dwellin~s for the insane, and calculated to facilitate the carrying out, in a 
still more complete manner, the principles of treatment adopted from the 
foundation of the establishment. A new meeting house too bas been recently 
added. The whole pile of buildings consist chiefly of a centre and four 
wings, presenting imposing fronts facing both north and south. The airing 
grounds, gardens, &c., now extend over thirty acres, and the expense of 
forming the whole establishment has not been less than £30,000. The 
institution embraces all classes of patients " from the labourer to the wealthy 
gentleman, and from the senant to the sensitive and delicate lady." Th~ 
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asylum will now accommodate 120 patients, all of whom, except those of the 
higher classes, must be members or nearly connected with the Society of 
Friends. The general management of the institution is under the care of 
a body of directors and a committee, and the medical officers are Mr. John 
Kitching, superintendent, and Messrs. Caleb Williams and D. H. Tuke.• 

Pauper Lunatic Asylum, Clifton.-The North and East Ridings of York­
shire joined in the erection of this institution, and it was opened for the 
reception of the insane poor of both Ridings in the year 18.t 7. Provision 
was made for 150 patients ; but in three years afterwards such was the 
increase in the number of patients that the buildings were enlarged so as to 
make them capable of receiving 312 patients. The land for the asylum cost 
£10,000.; the fabric, £35,000.; and the fittings, £5,000. The total outlay 
on the establishment, £50,150. or about £167. per head upon the patients 
accommodated there-a sum which falls considerably short of the average of 
the seventeen other asylums of a similar character which have been erected. 
The average cost of the other asylums is at the rate of £HH. per head. It 
is to be deplored that in the two Ridings there appears to be a steadily 
growing increase oflunatic patients. In 18.£7, when the asylum was opened, 
there were 122 inmates; in 1H54 there were 808; and in the last annual 
report of the Medical Superintendent, the a.~ylum was full, and fifiA!en patients 
bad been refused admittance for want of accommodation. In consequence of 
this state of things, and as the law requires the Ridings to provide an asylum 
for their insane paupers, it has been resolved to enlarge the buildings of the 
institution, by the erection of two wings for male and female patients respec· 
tively, tmch wing to accommodate about seventy patients. At the Easter 
Quarter Sessions just passed, the Magistracy of the two Ridings voted the 
sum of £12,000. (the estimated cost of the additional buildings, fittings, &c.), 
of which the proportion for the North Riding will be £7 ,125., and that of 
the East Riding, £4,875. By the llth section of the Lunatic Asylum Act, 
of 1853, the borough of Richmond is now annexed to the North Riding 
for the purposes of the insane poor. The asylum is situated near the nllage 
of Clifton, about one mile and a half from the city of York. 

The Buildings, which form au extensive and handsome pile, in the Eliza­
bethan style of architecture, stand in a garden of thirty acr<'S, attached to 
which is a grazing farm of fifty acres. The grounds are laid down with 
much taste, and the house is approached by a handsome avenue. The 

• For turt.her particulars of this Institution aee the " Description of tbe Bellat. ~ by 
Samuel Tuke, 4to., aDd " Tbe Statisti(lll of the Retrea" • 8't'O. 
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grounds afford healthy and profitable employment for the inmates, upon whom 
the occupations of garden and farm labour, and the various diversions of a 
rural life, are found to be of the most consoling and tranquillizing tendency. 
The old methods of restraint in the treatment of the insane are dispensed 
with in this institution, and everything assumes as lively and cheerful an 
aspect as possible. Besides gardening and farming, the patients are exten· 
aively employed in various handicrafts-the males a.re employed as tailors, 
shoemakers, bricklayers, masons, blacksmiths, carpenters, wheelwrights, &c.; 
and the femllles in sewing, knitting, straw-plaiting, washing, ironing, assisting 
in the kitchen, and general household duties. The system of keeping the 
patients to employments adapted to their capacities has been found to act 
most favourably on their minds, besides the profits of their labours materially 
diminish their cost to the public. 

City I mane Paupers.-V nder the provisions of the Lunatic Asylum Act, 
passed in 1858, it bas become imperative on the city of York either to erect 
a lunatic asylum for the reception of their own pauper lunatics, or to enter 
into an arrangement with some adjoining asylum, for the reception of those 
lunatics. It does not appear to be the intention of the citizens to erect a 
suitable bnilding at present, but to go on paying for their insane paupers in 
the private asylums, at the rate of about lOs. per week. 

LITERARY, &c., lNsTITUTIONs.-YorkBhire Philo1ophical Society.-Towards 
the close of the year 1822, a few gentlemen of the city and its vicinity, to 
whom various branches of natural science, and especially geology, were 
favourite objects of pursuit, conceived the idea of establishing such a society, 
and forthv.ith put the design into execution. The society soon increased in 
numbers and importance; a museum was formed, into which valuable con­
tributions libera.lly flowed ; and it became evident that no premises not 
expressly designed for the purpose would be adequate to the wants, or suitable 
to the views of the society. In 1827 they obtained from the Crown a grant 
of nearly three acres of land-part of the close of the Abbey of St. Mary, 
commonly called the Manor Shore, for the purpose of erecting a building 
suitable for the preservation of their library, museum, &c.; and of establishing 
an English botanical garden ; as well as for preserving from further decay 
the venerable remains of the Abbey, which was rapidly disappearing ; and the 
lo'l"er of the picturesque and beautiful in architecture is indebted to this 
society for rescuing that interesting monument of the piety, tsste, and skill 
of past ages, from the list of architectural beauties by which York was once 
adorned, and of the existence of which no trace is now to be found, except in 
the tablets of the artist, or in the recorda of the topographical historian. 
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Lord Grantham (now Earl de Grey), whose family had long held the whole 
of the manor, or ancient close of the Abbey, under the Crown, very willingly 
consented to relinquish the portion which the society wished to possess. 

A subscription of £i ,000., to defray the cost of a suitable building, having 
been previously raised, the first stone was laid by the Archbishop of York, on 
the 24th of October, 182i, and on the 2nd of February, 1830, the whole 
suite of apartments was opened. This Buildi11g, commonly called the Mll­
uum of the Yorkshire Philosophical Scx:Uty, is partly erected on the offices of 
St. :Mary's Abbey, and is one of the most chaste and elegant structures in 
the county of York. The facade bas a western aspect towards the river, and 
a projecting portico of four fluted Grecian-Doric columns, resting upon & 

basement of three steps, and supporting the proper entablature, with mutulei 
and triglyphs, and a pediment. The entablature is continued along the 
entire front, having attached autre at the angles. In the portions unoccupied 
by the portico are three lintelled windows. The whole exterior is 200 feet 
in length, and of Hackness stone, and bas an air of imposing grandeur; and 
the interior is in equal taste. The Hall is 29 feet by 18 feet, with a ceiling 
of bold panel work, aucl a floor of Scagliola plaster, in imitation of porphyry. 
On one side of the hall is the Library, which is 31 feet by 18, and contains 
the books, maps, drawings, &c., of the society; on the other side is the 
Council Room; and the staircases leading to two rooms above, which are 
filled with a variety of objects of interest. In the centre is the entrance to 
the Theatre, or Lecture P.oo-m, which measures 44 feet by 85. This room is 
square, and is ornamented by six elegant Corinthian columns, which support 
a ceiling richly panelled. The light is derived from windows of ground glass 
inserted in the centre panels, and by a simple contrivance, whenever it is 
desirable, shutters can be drawn over them, so as to render the theatre com­
pletely dark. The seats of the audience descend to the lecturer's table. The 
room on the right is the mineral musrmm, that on the left the geological col­
lection, which is one of the best in the kingdom. The centre apartment 
contains a series of ornithological and zoological specimens, and some others. 

Amongst the varied contents of the several rooms of this building may be 
notice-d the following :-

In the Entrance Hall.-A Roman tablet representing the sacrifice and mysteries of 
Mithras, found in lUi, in digging for a cellar in a house in 1\ficklegate; a east of one 
of the great obelisks at Karnak, the eastern part of Thebes, erected by Amense, sister o( 

Thothrnes II., in the name of her husband Amenentbituot; a cast of a figure of an 
Assyrian King, sculptured on a rock, near Beyrout; some Egyptian sculpture, and the 
ancient mortar formerly belonging to the infirmary of St. Mary's Abbey, York. 

In the Tlltalrt, three pieces of ancient tapestry, representing maps of several of the 
midland counties, executed in 1688; a stem of a large tree fem, from Van Dieman's 
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Land; and specimens of Indian products. In the Room on tM Right, specimens of the 
higher departments of zoology, classed according to the system of Cuvier; also a col­
lection of Dritisb and other shells, skeletons of British birds, and specimens of Foreign 
fish. In the Large Centre Room, specimens of reptiles, fishes, and Dritisb and Foreign 
bir.ts. The collection of DritiHh birds is extensive, and some of the Foreign specimens 
are rare and valuable. The Geological Room contains a most extensive and valuable 
collection of Geological specimens-about 16,000 in number-systematically arranged 
according to the strata to which they belong. The collection in this room includes 
many specimens of minerals and fossil organic remains, from the different strata in 
Yorkshire. In the First Upper Roo11t is a large collection of specimens of ornitho­
logical osteology; a skeleton of the Irish elk, and also that of a young whale which was 
cast upon the York~hire coast a few years since. The Suond Upper Room contains 
specimens of British birds, presented by William Rudston Read, Esq. in 1846. 

In the Cmmcil Room is a collection of coins, consisting chiefly of Roman denarii, con­
sular and imperial ; of Rom.m brass of three sizes; se\'eral Grecian coins, and a few 
Roman dnrei; several rare and interesting examples of British and Saxon coins ; and 
English coins in gold, silver, and copper, of all denominations. Also a series of about 
4,000 Northumbria stycas, found in St. Leonard's Place, York, in 1842; and about 2,000 
of a hoard, which was discovered in 1847 near Bolton Percy. 

The building, in the grounds near the river, called the Hotpitium, contains an ex­
tremely interesting collection of antiquities belonging to the Roman, Anglo-Saxon, 
Anglo-Norman, and 1\Iedirevnl periods, most of which have been found in York, or ita 
neighbourhood. Amongst the collection in the Lower Room of this building (which is 
entirely of ancient sculpture) are nearly the whole of the Roman remains mentioned 
at pages 293 to 311. Many interesting fragments of the Abbey of St. Mary ; and a tablet 
which had been built into the wall of the house which till lately stood at the comer of 
St. Sa,·iourgate and Colliergate, bearing an inscription. (See page MS.) 

The antiquities deposited in the Upper Room of the Hospitium are of a very miscel­
laneous character. The room is fitted up with glass cases, &c., and the collection is 
interesting. We may particularly notice an Egyptian Mummy, and several Roman 
remains of humanity embedded in lime, and now in glass cases. A British canoe dug 
from the bed of the river Calder, at Stanley Ferry, near Wakefield, in 1838. A British 
cinerary urn, found in the centre of a barrow at Bishop Burton, near Beverley; a smaller 
British urn, found in excavating for the York and Scarborough Railroad, near Dootham; 
a cinerary urn, containing fragments of bones and ashes, found near the Mount, without . 
Micklegate Bar; and a great variety of Roman bricks and tiles, bearing the makers' 
names or other inscriptions. A large collection of Samian ware, plain and embossed ; 
and many fragments of funereal, drinking, and other vessels. Amongst the antiquities 
which were discovered in various parta of the country, and are deposited here, are a 
fragment of a large British urn, found at Acklam, near Malton; an urn, a scull, and 
bone pins from British tumuli, at the same place; spear and lance or arrow heads, 
knives, scissors, and other instmments of iron, found in Anglo-Saxon barrows or tumuli 
!lear Driffield; jaws and teeth, several sculls, the umbo of a shield, centre and fonr 
pieces, beads of amber, glass, &c., and aevernl other articles founi in barrows near 
Dri1Beld, and at Danes' Dale. Severnl Anglo-Saxon urns, from tumuli on the Yorkshire 
Wolds; two small stone hammers found at Malton ; and a collection of bronze celta, 
110me chiseb and bronze gougeR, found at Westow nMr Malton. 
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The Mweum Gard8r11 now occupy about one-half of the ancient close of 
the Abbey of St. Mary, with a small portion of the moat of the city wall. 
and of the enclosure within which the Hospital of St. Leonard formerly stood. 
The grounds are tastefully disposed, and ornamented with rare shrubs, trees, 
and plantations, which, togethe1· with the picturesque ruins of the Abbey, the 
cloister and chapel of St. Leonard's Hospital, and the Roman wall and Mul­
tangular Tower, render this ddightful spot one of the principal attractions of 
York. In front of the Museum is a small Obsen·atory, erected in 1833. The 
Hot Ho1ue contains a very rare and valuable collection of Orchideous and 
other plants; together with an Aquarium for that elegant but monstrous 
plant, the JV ater Lily (Victoria P.egia ), which was presented to the Philoso­
phical Society by the Duke of Devonshire. The principal entrance to the 
grounds is from Lendal, by a gateway formed by Doric columns, supporting 
their proper entablature; and a small porter's lodge attached. 

Dr. Beckwith, of York, who died in December, 1843, left to this society 
one of the most munificent bequests of modem times, for the promotion of 
science, By his will he directed the sum of £10,000. to be paid to the 
society for the better promotion of its objects. This intention has been 
carried out, by the gardens being greatly extended, and other improvements 
made conducive to the enjoyments and recreation of the subscribers. 

The Brituh Association for tM Adva11C8ment of Sc~nctJ may be said in soma 
measure to be indebted for its formation to the Yorkshire Philosophical 
Society. It had been for some time a subject of profound regret amongst 
scientific men and philosophers in England, that there appeared to be no 
interest taken in science and scientific pursuits in this country. "Science 
there was," says the talented Editor of the HuU Advmiur, to whose excellent 
articles in that paper, on the occasion of the visit of the Association to HoD 
in 1853, we are indebted for much information respecting this learned body, 
"vital, and quick, and powerful, it is true; but it wanted development. It 
had no opening, but a casual one for its exhibition. It was struggling for 
existence, and in its struggle seemed to have no assistance from any one." 
At length Sir David Brewster, who had seen the working of a scientific con­
gress on the continent, conceived the design of forming such an one in 
England. In 1830 he called public attention to the matter in a powerful 
article in the Quarterly Rev~w. Sir Humphrey Davy, Sir John Herschel, 
and Mr. Babbage, soon becaa1e his coadjutors, and York was selected as the 
place where they should launch their undertaking, for two reasons :-first, 
because it was considered as most central and convenient; and secondly, it 
possessed a very active and influential Philosophical Society. The secretary 
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of that society was Professor Phillips (the present deputy Reader in Geology 
in the University of Oxford), and to him, on the 23rd of January, 1831, Sir 
David Brewster proposed that the society, which be represented, should take 
the initiative in the formation of a body, intended to be designated the British 
Association for the Promotion of Science. The objects of this association he 
proposed should be" to make the cultivators of science acquainted with each 
other-to stimulate one another to new exertions-to bring the objects of 
science before the public ey&--and to take measures for advancing· its in­
terests, and accelerating its progress." 

The suggestion of Sir David Brewster was soon acted upon, and Pro­
fessor Phillips, in conjunction with the committee of the society to which 
he belonged, took such steps as eventuated in the first meeting of the British 
Association being held in York. Not less than 200 of the most eminent 
scientific men in the kingdom attended that meeting ; and the manner in 
which all exerted themselves to promote the objects of the Association, showed 
at once that there was no lack of interest felt in its future prosperity. 

Since then the Association has held its annual meetings in many of the 
principal towns in the three kingdoms, all of which were eminently suc­
cessful; and in every town it bas left behind it marks of its civilizing 
and beneficial influence. Its funds are devoted to a considerable extent to 
promoting investigations in all branches of science; and upwards of .£15,000. 
have been expended by the Association in this manner-" not frittered away," 
says the Editor of the Hull Advertiser, " in useless theories, but, on the con­
trary, spent in investigations, which have, in their results, been of lasting 
benefit to mankind. Indeed it would be difficult to say," continues the same 
writer, "what class of the community has not derived benefits from its 
workings. It has not confined its attention to any one particular object, but, 
with a general benevolence of purpose, bas directed the light of those master 
intellects, which it numbers in its ranks, upon every thing which could by 
poseibility adTBnce us either in knowledge, or power, or influence. And so 
it has gone on growing by its own exertions, and gradually, yet effectually, 
forcing itself upon the attention of the world, on til it bas now overcome all 
opposition, and has come to be regarded among the most honoured and 
influential institutions of our land." 

Yorklhire Uni~n of MeclumiCI' Imtitutu.-Incalculable are the advantages 
which must inevitably flow from these truly excellent institutions. By means 
of them the arcana of learning are thrown open to all classes of the commu­
nity, and we are happy to find that this great blessing seems to be duly 
appreciated by the inhabitants of Yorkshire. There is not a market town in 
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the county that bas not one of these admirable institutions; and doubtless 
the time is not far distant when they will be introduced into most of the 
populous villages, as they have been already into some. Yorkshire contains 
but a twelfth of the population of the United Kingdom, while it possesses more 
than a sixth of the educational institutes, and nearly a sixth of the total 
members of these institutes. Indeed it would be difficult to point out any 
county in Great Britain where they are so numerous, in proportion to the 
population, as in Yorkshire. But a generation ago Mechanics' Institutes 
did not exist. Even so late as fifteen years ago they were very few and 
scarcely known, now this county alone has certainly more than 150 of them. 

The original o~ects of Mechanics' Institutions-the people's college&-wu 
to supply to the working classes inducements to mental cultivation after the 
hours of physical labour, and to give them the means of it; but it is to be 
regretted that they have not been generally found more useful to that class. 
They are more frequented by the middle classes, or by those immediately 
above the labouring population ; and the cause of this departure from the 
original principle, is perhaps to btl found in the system of teaching which is 
usually pursued-a system calculated for those who have been already toler­
ably well educated, and not for those who come from manual labour to learn. 
This defect may be remedied by applying the system of instruction by classes, 
not only to the teaching of foreign languages, singing, design, &c., but to 
the elementary teachings which would be found necessary in the great 
meJority of the cases for which the institution was first established; and this 
need not interfere in the least with the system of lectures for the middle or 
more educated classes in the institute, if it was found to be acceptable to them. 
The Yorkshire Union was founded in 1838, and was confined to the West 
Riding until April, 1841, when the fourth annual meeting was held in the old 
building of the Institute of York, at which it was resolved that the Union be 
extended to the whole county. According to the Report issued in 1841, only 
ten institutions, including an aggregate of 1,560 members, were connected 
with the Union; but from the report read at the eighteenth annual meeting of 
the delegates of the Union, held at York, on the 31st May, 1855, we learn that 
there are 133 institutions associated, embracing upwards of 20,000 members, 
whose subscriptions annually amount to nearly £11,000. The number of 
volumes in their libraries is estimated at 250,000. The Union includes 
amongst its objects the exchange and circulation of lectures and papers among 
the associated institutes, and all institutions are admissible to it. The affairs 
of the Union are managed by a Central Committee, the expenses. of which 
are borne by the associated institutes in the manner following :-Institutes 
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having less than 70 members subsetibe 5s. per ann., those having more than 
70 and less than 150, pay lOs. per ann., and those having 150 members or 
upwards, 20s. per ann. Every year several hundred lectures are delivered, 
the m.aJority of which are gratuitous. York and several other towns continue 
to obtain excellent lists of lectures, provided almost entirely from local talent, 
and these lectures are in most cases not unfit to compare with professional 
lectures, and they attract quite as large an attendance ; besides they spare 
the funds of the institutes, which are thus fi.vailable for other important de· 
partments. "The great value of lectures," says the Report for 1854, "consists 
in the stimulus they give to desire and seek information, rather than in the 
amount of actual information conveyed. The hearer may carry away but few 
facts, but his field of mental vision is enlarged, his reasoning power is 
developed, and he has recourse to books to supply his desire for information." 

An important department of the Union is the Itinerati11!} Yilla.;e Library. 
In order to supply the great deficiency which exists in respect to education, 
and to diffuse light and knowledge, with all their beautiful and beneficent 
influences and results, through the rural districts of this great county, the 
Central Committee of the Union have opened a depot of books in Leeds, and 
organized a plan of operations, whereby those books may be made available 
to the humblest persons at a merely nominal cost. It is applicable to all 
localities, and must prove beneficial to all who are in earnest after self· 
improvement. Wherever twenty-five persons can be found who are willing 
to pay one penny per week for the use of the books, 50 volumes are sent free 
of carriage, and these books are replaced every six months by 50 others ; and 
for every twenty-five additional subscribers 50 additional volumes are sent. 
The advantage of the periodical transfer of the books,from one station to 
another must appear obvious to all, and therefore needs no comment. There 
are now no less than thirty-six of these Itinerating Libraries connected with 
the Union. The attention of her MaJesty's consort, his Royal Highness 
Prince Albert, has lately been called to the plan of this excellent institution, 
and as a mark of his approbation, he bas presented to the Union the hand· 
some donation of 211 volumes of excellent works, all beautifully bound, and 
on the inside of the cover of each volume is a label with this inscription:­
"Presented to the Yorkshire Union of Mechanics' Institutes, by his Royal 
Highness Prince Albert." 

The Catl8 Howard Unit«l Village• Itineratin{J Library, was commenced on 
the let of January, 1858, at the suggestion of the princely owner of Castle 
Howard, and its books are now circulated in thirteen villages round that 
splendid mansion, besides four sections in the town of Malton.~ The Earl of 
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Carlisle is building reading and news rooms in several of the villages of the 
Castle Howard estate. It is in connection with the Union of Mechanics' 
Institutes, but is quite independent of the Union Library. The Union of 
Institutes, and the Libraries, are supported in part by the donations of the 
friends of education in all parts of the county. The president of the Central 
Committee is Edward Baines, Esq., and the agent and lecturer is Mr. George 
S. Phillips. The president of the committee of the Castle Howard Village 
Libraries is the Rev. Thomas Myers, Vicar of Sheriff Hutton, and the 
lecturer is Mr. Ishmael Fish. 

York lmtituu of Popular Science mul Literature, St. Saviou.rgate.-This 
institution was established in 18~7, for the instruction of its members in the 
principles of the useful and ornamental arts, and in the various other depart­
ments of useful knowledge. Its original name was "The York Mechanics' 
Institute," and it is still essentially the same in machinery and design as at 

first. The neat and commodious building, in which the institute is held, was 
erected by the society, and opened in 1846, with a bazaar and exhibition of 
paintings, and other works of art. It consists of a lecture hall, news and 
reading room, class rooms, and library. During the winter lectures are de­
livered weekly, on experimental philosophy, practical mechanics, astronomy, 
chemistry, natural history, literature, &c. ; and classes are formed, under 
competent paid teachers, for instruction in writing, arithmetic, geometry, 
grammar, composition, and drawing, all of which are open to the members 
gratuitously. There is also a class for instruction in French, and a chefl8 
club, for which an extra fee is required. The members of this institute are 
divided into three classes, who respectively pay ~Os., lOs., and 6s., per aDD.; 

the third class being exclusively for youths under 18 years age. Ladies' sub­
scriptions are lOs. According to the last annual Report of the society the 
total number of members was 490; the income of the past year had heeD 
£370., and the expenditure, £330. The reading room is open daily, and &he 
library every evening, Sundays excepted. The lecture room will accomm~ 
date about 400 persons ; the news room is well supplied with the leading 
periodicals and newspapers; and the library contains up to 5,000 ..,·olumes. 
A portrait of Dr. Birbeek, the founder of .Mechanics' Institutes, which had 
for some years been suspended in the reading room, and which had been 
valued at thirty guineas, has lately become the property of the institution, Oil 

very advantageous terms. The institute is in union with the Society of Am, 
London, and at the annual conference of that society, held in London on the 
4th of July, 1854, this institute was represented by the Lord Mayor (G~ 
Leeman, Esq.) The York Institute is also associated with the Yorkshire 
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Union of Mechanics' Institutes. Sir George Cayley, Bart., is the president 
of the York Institute, and amongst the vice-presidents is the Rev. C. Well· 
beloved, a most zealous promoter of its foundation, and one of its most constant 
and generous benefactors. 

Yorbhir~ Architectural Sociay.-This association was instituted in 1841, 
to promote the study of ecclesiastical architecture, antiquities, and design, the 
restoration of mutilated architectural remains, and of churches, or parts of 
churches, within the county of York, which may have been desecrated; and 
to improve, as far as it may be within its province, the character of ecclesias· 
tical edifices to be erected in future. The patrons of the society are the 
Archbishop of York and the Bishop of Ripon; its presidents are the Earls of 
Carlisle and Zetland ; and amongst the vice-presidents are the Duke of 
Northumberland, Earls de Grey, Effingham, Dartmouth, and Mexborough; 
Lords Hotham, Feversham, Downe, and Wharncliffe; Sir Henry Boynton, 
Sir J. H. Lowther, Sir T. Digby Legard, Sir J. V. B. Johnstone, the Rev. 
Sir George Burrard, and the Archdeacons of the diocese. Hon. secretaries, 
Rev. J. Sharp and Mr. W. H. Dykes, architect. The society, which is now 
composed of about 800 members, who pay an annual subscription of lOs. 
each, holds three public meetings in each year-one at York, and two in 
other parts of the county. The MU8eW1t of the Society, which is in the 

· Minster Yard, York, contains a good collection of casts, mbbings of brasses, 
&c. ; and there is in connection with it a small library of Taluabl~ works 
on architecture. 

Yorbkir~ Natura/Mts' Club.-Established in 1849, for the purpose of 
bringing the Naturalists of the county into friendly and more frequent com· 
munication with one another, and for collecting facts, carrying on researches, 
&c., bearing upon the natural history of Yorkshire; and a leading object of 
the club is to provide a fund, to be spent in collecting the natural productions 
of the county, and to distribute the specimens, thus obtained, among the 
public Museums of the county, the Museum of the Philosophical Society at 
York to take precedence in this distribution. Meetings of the club are held 
monthly, for the election of members, the reading and discussion of papers, 
exhibition of specimens, &c. A library of standard works on different 
branches of natural history, is being formed for the 11se of the members. 
The present number of members is about 120 ; and the amount of subscrip­
tion is five shillings per annum. When the number of members is raised 
to 800, it is calculated that, after the payment of the ordinary incidental ex· 
penses, there will be £60. per annum, applicable to the scientific objects for 
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which the club was instituted. Lord Londesborough is president of the club, 
and Mr. North, secretary. 

York3hire Antiquarian Club.-This association was founded in June, 1849, 
by a few gentlemen, interested in antiquarian research, for promoting, first, 
the accurate knowledge, and the careful preservation of the antiquities of the 
county of York; secondly, to make researches by the opening of, and exca­
vations into, barrows and other earth-works; and to watch the progress of 
public works, such as railways, sewers, foundations of buildings, &c. An 
important feature of the club, is, that it consists of a society of working arch· 
eologists, possessing no collection of their own, and one of the fundamental 
rules states, " that all the specimens given to, or discovered by the club, be 
deposited in the Museum of the Yorkshire Philosophical Society." By faith­
fully adhering to this plan of proceeding, it bas been in their power to add 
numerous interesting specimens to that fine collection ; amongst them a 
valuable and rare collection of bronze, bones, and urns, which are now placed 
in separate cases in the Hospitium. Expeditions have been made by the 
members of the club, and tumuli examined at Acklam, Driffield, Skipwith, 
Huggate, Thixendale, Arras, &c., and much curious and important inform&· 
tion have been obtained respecting the ancient inhabitants of that district of 
Yorkshire. Drawings of the localities and objects found, especially the vases, 
with plans of any peculiar distribution of tumuli, are retained in the portfolio · 
of the club. The meetings of the club are held every two months, in Arch­
bishop Holgate's School Room; and its affairs are conducted by a president, 
two vice-presidents, a committee of twelve gentlemen, a treasurer, and secre­
tary. The present number of members of the club is about eighty; and the 
amount of annual subscription is very small. The Rev. Charles Wellbeloved 
is the president, and William Proctor, Esq., the honorary secretary. 

Lecture Iiall.-This spacious apartment was erected in 1845, at a cost 
of about £2,500., by the York Total Abstinence Society, and is situated be­
hind a Temporance Inn, in Goodramgate. It is galleried round three sides, 
and will accommodate about 1,000 persons. Temperance and other public 
meetings are held in it. 

LIBRARIEs.-The York Su.b1cription Library was instituted in 1794, by a 
few intelligent and spirited individuals, viz., Sir William Strickland, S. W. 
Nicholl, Esq., Rev. C. Wellbeloved, Anthony Thorpe, Esq., and others. 
These gentlemen formed themselves into a society, for the purpose of pnr· 
chasing the pamphlets, and other light literary productions of the day. They 
were then deposited at the house of a member of the society, and the collec-
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tion was at certain periods sold, and more modem productions purchased from 
the general fund thus augmented. The number of members increasing, a 
plan was suggested of erecting an edifice by subscription shares, distinct from 
the book society. Accordingly some old houses were purchased in St. Helen's 
Square, at the comer of Lendal, and upon their site a commodious building 
was erected in 1812. Here the library continued until 1886, when it was 
removed to the fine and spacious rooms now occupied by it, in No. 1, St. 
Leonard's Place. The site of the old building is now occupied by the hand­
some edifice, containing the offices of the Yorkshire Insurance Company. 
The library-which now occupies five rooms, fitted up with cases, the 
largest room (a very fine one) having a gallery around it-consists of about 
20,000 volumes, among which are many valuable works, and the best current 
literature of the day ; besides the Transactions of the Philosophical, A~hreo­
logical, Geological, and other scientific societies, which are regularly pur­
chased as soon as published; Hansard's Parliamentary Debates, and the 
Statutes at large. The Public Record Room, which contains a large collection 
of the Records of the nation, presented by the Government, is open to all 
persons in the county, who may have occasion to consult them. The Reading 
Room is well supplied with the principal magazines and reviews-about £60. 
a year being devoted to their purchase-but no newspapers are admitted. 
Indeed this library, considering its extent, is extremely valuable. The society 
now consists of about 850 members; the annual subscription is £1. 6s., but 
each subscriber must be the bolder of a ticket, which has to be purchased. 
The library, &c., is open daily, Sundays excepted. Mr. Jonathan Swinbank 
is the librarian. 

The Sekct Subscription Library, in Blake Street, was established in 1818, 
for the purpose of supplying good reading, at a moderate price, to those whose 
circumstances precluded their subscribing to the more expensive libraries. 
It consists of nearly 2,000 volumes, well selected. The terms of subscription 
are an entrance fee of one guinea, and lOs. a year; such subscription consti­
tuting a proprietorship. Each proprietor has the privilege of recommending 
persons in bumbler circumstances as gratuitous readers. Mrs. Ann Ellison, 
librarian. 

The Cathedral Library, and the M"ical Libraria, are noticed in other 
parts of this history. 

NEWSPAPERS.-There are four Newspapers published in York every 
Saturday:-

The York Herald (with which the" York Courant," established in 1720, 
is now incorporated) was first issued on the 2nd of January, 1790. This 
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paper is liberal in politics, and has a circulation of about 5,000 weekly, ex­
tending over the counties of York, Lincoln, Lancaster, and the other northem 
counties. The proprietors are Mr. William Hargrove, and his two sons, 
Alfred Ely Hargrove and William Wallace Hargrove. 

The Yorkshireman, established in 1884, is a joint stock property, and has 
a pretty fair circulation. Its politics are liberal. 

The Yorkshire Gautu is the property of a company of resident proprietors. 
It was established on the 24th of April, 18HJ, and the " York Chronicle,'' 
established in 1772, was amalgamated with it some years ago. The Gazette 
advocates conservative principles. Mr. James Lancelot Foster, publisher. 

The Farmers' Friend and Freeman's JOUTnal, established in January, 1850, 
is more of an advertising sheet than a newspaper. About 500 copies of it 
are distributed gratis every week. Mr. Henry Fairburn is the publisher 
and sole proprietor. 

There are two subscription Net#J3 Roonu in the city, one at the Royal 
Hotel and the other in Blake Street. 

RAILWAYS.-The formation of railways is closely connected with the 
interests of York, and the ancient city might have lost much of its impor­
tance but for the introduction of these iron highways. The plain of York 
afforded great natural facilities for the construction of railways, whilst the 
geological features of the neighbourhood of Leeds presented as formidable 
obstacles ; and it is owing, in a great measure, to this that York is now the 
centre of a system of railways radiating in every direction. 

The York and North Midland Railway Company was formed for the making 
and maintenance of a railway from York to Normanton, near Wakefield, a 
distance of twenty-four miles. On the 80th of May, 1889, it was opened to 
the Milford Junction, where it joins the Leeds and Selby line ; and in May, 
1840, it was opened to Normanton, where it unites with the Midland Rail· 
way, and forms a direct line to London. The York and North Midland is 
the connecting link between the two extremities of the chain of railways on 
the eastem side of the island, commencing at Dover and extending to Edin­
burgh. The York and North Midland has several branch railways in con­
nexion with the main line, viz. :-from York to the fashionable coast town of 
Scarborough (opened in 1846), through Malton, joining the Whitby and 
Pickering line at the latter place; the branch to Market Weigbton; and 
that from Church Fenton to Harrogate. 

The line to Knaresborongh was opened in 1846, by the East and West 
Yorkshire Railway Company, but in 1862 it was purchased by the York and 
North Midland Company. 
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The great North of England Railway between York and Darlington, was 
opened on the 31st of March, 1841. This line is carried over the Ouse at 
Poppleton, by a viaduct 800 feet long. In 1850 the company to whom this 
line belonged amalgamated with the Darlington and Newcastle, and the 
Newcastle and Berwick, Railway Companies, and the whole line was thence­
forward called the York, NNCaetU, and Berwick Rail'IDtJy. The distance from 
York to Berwick is 150 miles. This line is celebrated for the High Level 
Bridge across the Tyne at Newcastle, a work of immense magnitude, and by 
far the largest of the kind in the kingdom. 

In June, 1854, the York and North Midland, the York, Newcastle, and 
Berwick, and the Leeds Northern lines, were all amalgamated by Act of 
Parliament, and became the property of one body, under the name of the 
Nortl& Eaetlm Railt.oay Company. The length of the three united lines and 
their branches is 682 miles. 

The Great Nortlum Rail~Day, which joins the York and North Midland 
line near Burton Salmon, was opened in 1850. This line affords another 
and a much shorter means of communication with London. By means of 
these lines, there is now a complete railway communication from east to west, 
from Hull to Liverpool; and from south to north, there ia a direct line from 
London to Edinburgh and Glasgow through York. It is now possible to 
accomplish the journey from York to London and back in less than twenty 
hours ! allowing an hour for the transaction of business. 

Rail'IDtJy Btation.-At the opening of the York and North Midland Railway, 
in 1839, a temporary station was constructed without the walls of the city, 
and it so continued until the beginning of 1841, when the present elegant 
and oommodious structure was opened. Since its erection, it has been greatly 
enlarged, and it is now the chief station of the amalgamated companies, 
as well as of the Great Northern Company. It is in the Italian style of 
architecture, and consists of two ranges of buildings, connected at the east 
end by a large and handsome hotel, erected in 1852. The principal front 
of the Station is opposite Tanner Row, with a building corresponding to it, 
fronting the city walls ; and the whole area, including the Station, is covered 
by a cast-iron roof, of ingenious and beautiful design .. 

After proceeding from the Station, the lines of railway pass under the city 
walls, which are perforated by two large Tudor arches, each seventy feet 
wide. Connected with the railway there are numerous large and convenient 
workshops, engine sheds, foundries, &c. Here are manufactured almost 
entirely the engines, carriages, &c., of the North Eastern Railway Company. 
The number of persons employed in the station, workshops, &c., is about 

4 L 
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1,200, who receive in wages £2,700. fortnightly, or £70,000. per annum. 
The chief officers of the North Eastern Company are Mr. W. O'Brien, secre­
tary; Mr. T. E. Harrison, engineer·in-chief; and Mr. A. C. Sheriff, manager 
of traffic. The erection of this Station has transformed a remote and retired 
part of the city into a scene of vivacity and commercial activity. During the 
excavation of the ground necessary for the formation of tht: Station, as well 
as for making the railway betwoon the Station and Holdgate bridge, numer· 
ous Roman remains were found, consisting principally of sepulchral remains; 
and on the site of the Station were discovered portions of a Roman Bath, and 
some tesselated pavements, the whole of which have been deposited in the 
Museum of the city. The space between the Station and the city walls was 
formerly called Friars' Gardens, and is supposed to have been the site of a 
Dominican Friary. The men employed at the railway works have just 
established a Library and Reading Room. 

Ga. Works.-The "York Gas Company" was incorporated by Act of Par­
liament in 1828, and the streets of the city were first lighted with gas on the 
22nd of March, 1824. The works of this company were erected near Monk 
Bridge. In 1886 another body, called the "York Union Gas Company," 
was established, and they had their works near the Foss, in Hungate. Both 
of these bodies amalgamated in 1844, under the style and title of the York 
UniUd Ga. Light Company; ud in 184 7 the works of both were concen­
trated on the ground of the original company. The buildings are of red 
brick ; there are two gasometers, which will contain 800,000 cubic feet of 
gas; the largest one is 80 feet in diameter, and rises 50 feet, and when it 
was erected, in 184 7, it was the largest in the county. At the same time 
the works were considerably enlarged and improved, and a new retort house 
and chimney built. This fine chimney, which is in the form of a Doric 
column, is remarkable for its close resemblance in form, as well as of its being 
about the same general dimensions, as the celebrated TraJan pillar at Rome. 

In ancient times, before the introduction of oil and gas, part of the pn; 
clamation, annually made by the Sheriffs in York, waa as follows :-" Also 
we command that no manner of man walk in the city, or in the suburbs, by 
night, without light before him, i. e. from Pasche (Easter) to Michaelmaa, 
after ten of the clock ; and from Michaelmas to Pasche, after nine of the 
clock." The houses of the nobility and gentry formerly had niches at their 
doors, in which a large extinguisher waa placed, which waa used for the pur­
pose of extinguishing flambeaux, carried by senants at night before their 
masters, aa they went and returned from their nocturnal revels. One of the 
remaining examples of these niches may be seen at the door of the large 
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house at the end of Blake Street, near the Theatre, which was erected 
by Sir William Robinson, Bart. When Edward IV. was in York, one 
hundred torches were lighted on the occasion, the inference being that the 
citizens were at other times left to grope their way as best they could. In 
the time of Charles II., the city was lighted by twenty-four large lanterns 
placed at the comers of the streets.* The Act of 1828 required that the 
newly formed company should light the city better and cheaper with gas than 
could be done with oil. 

York WatenDorki.-Lendal Tower, one of the ancient towers of defence for 
the city, was let by the Corporation to Richard Whistler, a London Mer­
chant, in 1677, for the purpose of erecting Waterworks in it; but it was not 
till the year 1682 that the works were completed. The lease of the tower 
was granted for 500 years, at the annual rent of a Peppercorn. An engine, 
worked by two horses, was then placed in it, and the water was raised from 
the Ouse, and conveyed through the city by means of wooden pipes. The 
works were afterwards purchased by Colonel Thornton, who considerably im­
proved the whole, enlarged the building, introduced a steam engine, and 
added bathing rooms to the tower. From this gentlemen the establishment 
descended to his son, also a Colonel, from whom it was purchased in 1799, 
by the late Waterworks Company, who raised the tower considerably, and 
made other additions; and who, in 1886, erected a new engine house near 
the tower, to which the engine was then removed. 

A new company was established in 1846, with a capital of £60,000., raised 
in shares of £10. each; and they purchased the old works at Lendal Tower, 
for £28,000. ; and in 1849 removed them to Acomb Landing, on the opposite 
bank of the Ouse, about two miles above the city. The new works were de­
signed by Mr. James Simpson, civil en~eer, of London, and consist of two 
subsiding reservoirs, and three filter beds, with two steam engines, each 
capable of working to about sixty horse-power; tanks, wells, conduits, pipes, 
and other apparatus for raising the water from the river, performing the pro­
cess of filtration, and afterwards lifting the water to the high service reser­
voir on Severns Hill, for distribution, through metal pipes, over the city and 
suburbs. This great reservoir, which is nearly a mile from the works, is 
formed in the centre of that celebrated tumuli, which tradition points to as 
the spot upon which the body of the Roman Emperor Severns had been 
reduced to ashes. 

PUBLIC BATHs.-In the above account of the original Waterworks at 

• Mr. R. Davies' Lecture at the York Institute. 
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Lendal, we obse"e that Colonel Thornton added some bathing rooms to 
them. These baths, which are supplied with hot and cold water, still con· 
tinue to be the property of the Waterworks Company. 

The StDimmit&g BathB, in Marygate, were the property of a Joint Stock 
Company, with a capital of £2,600., in £6. shares, but these have been ptll' 
chased by the Council of the Philoaophical Society, upon whose property 
they stand. The Bath Company was formed in 1886, and the baths were 
opened in the following year. The large bath is120 feet by 80. Warm and 
shower baths have since been added. 

Cavalry Barrackl.-These barracks were built on the Fulford Road, a boot 
one mile from the city, in 1796, at an expense of £27,000., and including 
the spacious yard, they occupy twelve acres of ground. The centre building 
will accommodate three field officers, five captains, and nine subaltems, and 
staff; and the wings will quarter 240 non-commissioned officers and privates, 
and horses for the entire force. 

Militia Depot, Lowther Street, Groves.- This building was erected for the 
stores of the 2nd West York Light Infantry Regiment of Militia, and con· 
sists of a guard room, several store rooms, three cells, and houses for the 
adjutant and quarter-master. Col. Smyth, M.P., is the commanding officer. 

BANKs.-Muws. Swann, ClmJgh, tl Co., Coney Street; draw on Sir R. C. 
Glynn & Co., Lombard Street, London. 

Y orklhirs Banking Company, comer of High Ousegate and Parliament 
Street; draw on Messrs. Williams, Deacon, & Co., 20, Birchin Lane. 

York City and County Bank, Parliament Street; draw on Messrs. BameUs, 
Hoare, & Co., 62, Lombard Street. 

York Union Bank, High Ousegate; draw on Messrs. Glynn & Co., Lom­
bard Street. The three latter banks belong to Joint Stock Companies. 

Savings' Bank, comer of Blake Street.-This is a very neat building, 
erected from a design of Messrs. Pritchett & Sons, of York, about twenty-five 
years ago, at a cost of about £5,000. The upper story exhibits five fluted 
pillars, and three square pillars, with Corinthian capitals, supporting a plain 
frieze. The board room over the bank is exceedingly neat, and is lighted by 
seven windows, five of which have circular heads. The ceiling, which is in 
panels, is richly decorated, and the walls are ornamented with pilasters ol 
the Corinthian order. The use of this room is sometimes granted by the 
directors for religious meetings, or meetings for charitable purposes. 

From the general statement of this Savings' Bank, for the year ending 
20th November, 1854, we learn that the sums received of depositors within 
that year was £34,160. And at that date the amount of its deposits was 
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£214.,277., belonging to 6,830 individuals, 96 charitable societies, and 21 
friendly societies. The affairs of the bank are managed by five trustees and 
a committee of twenty-four gentlemen, the Lord Mayor for the time being 
being president. John Swann, Esq., is treasurer, and Mr. Thomas Riley, 
secretary. Deposits of from 1s. up to £30. may be made in one year, and 
the rate of annual interest allowed to depositors is three per cent. 

York Penny Bank, Office, Merchants' Hall, Fossgate.-The object of this 
institution is to create and foster habits of regularity and frugal economy, by 
affording an opportunity for the deposit of the smallest sums of money pay· 
able when required. The office is open twice a week, for receiving deposits 
of any sums of money of not less than one penny, or more than two shillings 
each. Interest, at the rate of £2. 108. per cent. per ann., is allowed on every 
lOs. deposited before December 1st and June 1st in each year, such sum 
remaining in the bank for six months after the said dates. The weekly 
number of depositors is about 600, and the weekly sums deposited from 
£25. to £30. 

York Loan BocUty, Blake Street.-Loans of from 5s. to £15. are granted 
by this Society, to the labouring and other persons of approved character, the 
borrowers giving a householder as security for the repayment thereof, by 
weekly instalments of one shilling in the pound. No interest is required of 
the borrower beyond a charge of threepence in the pound. 

City Polic6 Station, St. Sampson's Square.-The police force of the city 
consists of thirty men. Chief Constable, Mr. Robert Chalk. 

Houu.-There are several very excellent family hotels and commercial 
inns in York. One of these famous hostelries, the George, in Coney Street 
(which has just ceased to be an inn), is remarkable for its antiquity, and has 
been known to exist for 250 years as a hotel. In this house, which has just 
been divided and sold, is a very antique apartment, with carved wainscot­
tings, and a ceiling richly decorated in the style that prevailed during the 
earlier part of the 17th century. But the most remarkable decoration in the 
room is a singularly interesting group of five heraldic achievements, in painted 
glass, executed in the reign of Charles II., and consisting of the armorial 
bearings of that Sovereign, the Earl of Strafford, Earl of Northumberland, 
&c. Mr. Davies, in his lecture at the York Institute, on the antiquities of 
York, observed that if he might conjecture how this memorial of the" Merry 
Monarch " had got there, he would say that it was possible, and even highly 
probable, that he and his gay companions had frequently partaken of the 
good cheer of " mine host " of the George, and had in return pfefJeDted him 
with this mark of their patronage. 
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York Poor ~ Urlion.-This Union, which was declared on the 15th o( 

July, 1887, under the provisions of the Act pa8lled in 1884, comprises a total 
area of 108 square miles, and comprehends 80 parishes and pla.ees, whereof 
82 are in the city, 7 in the West Riding (the Ainsty), 16 in the East Riding, 
and 26 in the North Riding of Yorkshire. 

The Union Workhouu is a large pile of brick building, lately erected near 
Groves· Terrace, on the Huntingdon Road. It formerly occupied the house 
in Marygate, now used as the Ragged School and Model Lodging House. 
The building will accommodate about 860 inmates; the average number in 
the house during the past year is about 166, and the average cost of each per 
week, about 2s. 7td. The master and matron of the workhouse are Mr. and 
Mrs. Wilson, and there are eight medieal officers connected with the Union. 

Penilmtiary, Bishophill.-From the Report for the year ending December 
Slat, 1864, we learn that TM York Ptmitmtiary Soci«y bas completed it& 
thirty-third year, and TM '&.IUIJ6 its tenth. This institution is for the 
reformation of females, who have unhappily strayed from the paths of virtue; 
and many instances are known of characters reclaimed through its instru­
mentality. In 1848 the funds of this charity were increased by the liberal 
bequest of £6,000., made by Dr. Beckwith, who formerly resided in the house 
now occupied as the Refuge of the Society. 

City Miuion.-The York City MiBBion was instituted in 1848, for the dif. 
fusion of moral and religious instruction among the poorer classes of society, 
by means of domiciliary visitation ; as well as to recommend sanitary im­
proTements in the dwellings of the poor. To effect these objects, missionaries 
of approved character and qualification, who give themselves entirely to the 
work, are employed and paid by the institution ; and their duties are to visit 
from house to house in their respective districts, read the scriptures to the 
inmates, engage them in religious conversations, without referring to deno­
minational distinctions, urge those who are living in the neglect of religion 
to observe the sabbath, and to attend public worship, and to see that all per· 
sons posseBB the scriptures. The general business of the society is conducted 
by a committee, consisting of an equal number of members of the Established 
Church, and of Dissenters. The City Mission is supported by donations 
and subscriptions. 

There are also in York branches of the various Missionary, Religious Tract, 
and Bible Societies, several benevolent associations for administering to the 
spiritual and temporal wants of the poor and needy. Amongst them are the 
York Emanuel, the Charitable Society, the Benevolent Society, the Female 
Friendly Society, the Lying-in Charity, and the Society for the Prnentioa 
of Vice and Profaneness. 
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Model Lodging HOU88, Marygate.-This establishment, which occupies 
part of the old Poor Law Union Workhouse, in Marygate, was opened in 
1850, by an association of philanthropic individuals. There is accommo· 
dation for nearly fifty lodgers, each of whom are supplied with a separate 
bed, together with the use of the day room (which is supplied with bibles and 
suitable periodicals!, kitchen, cooking utensils, soap, salt, gas light, &c., at 
the low charge of 3d. per night, or ls. 6d. a week. There are several sleeping 
rooms, all of them fitted up with beds, separated by partitions. The beds 
are of sea weed, and the house, which is remarkable for its cleanliness and 
comfort, must be a great boon to the poor and needy. 

Ce~Mtery.-The York Public Cemetery, on the Fulford Road, is the pro­
perty of a Joint Stock Company, fonaed in 1836, with a capital of £6,000., 
in £10. shares, and was established in consequence of the crowded state of 
the church yards in York. The ground, which consists of eight acres, was 
first opened in September, 1837; and that all denominations may bury their 
dead according to their own form, half the land is consecrated for the use of 
the Established Church, and the other half is appropriated to Dissenters. 
The ministers of each denomination conduct their own funeral services, 
and the mortuary chapel is so situated, that the line separating the two 
divisions of the Cemetery runs through the centre of the building ; conse· 
quently one half of the chapel is used by members of the Established Church, 
and the other half by the Dissonters. 

The ground is very tastefully laid down, and planted with flowers, shrubs, 
and forest trees ; and the chapel, lodge, and entrance gates are very neat. 
The total cost of the land and buildings is £7,719. The Chapel is an 
oblong building, of cut stone, from Roche Abbey, and is an interesting imita­
tion of Grecian architecture. The entrance is in the centre of the north 
side, beneath a pediment supported by four fluted pillars, and two large 
pilasters. Both ends of the building exhibit a frieze, supported by two 
fluted half pillars. The south side is plain. The interior is neat, and each 
end is fitted up with a small pulpit, seats, &c. 

That the poor as well as the rich may have the advantage of the cemetery, 
there is a rule, that for persons dying in holliM)S or tenements under the 
annual value of £5. or £10. rack rent, the charge for a single interment shall 
be much less than to other persons. It is also laid down as an invariable 
rule, that no grave, whether public or private, when filled, shall again be 
opened, so that no human remains may be dug up or disturbed. As the 
church yards of York have been recently closed (See page 369) it .is probable 
that this Cemetery will soon be extended beyond its present limits. Visitors 
have free access to walk in the grounds, except on Sundays. 
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Cho/4ra Burial Ground.-As we have seen at page 868, that terrible 
epidemic, the Asiatic Cholera, first manifested itself in York in the month 
of June, 1882; and on that occasion this piece of ground, which is situated 
just without the city walls, between the Railway and North Street Postern, 
was set apart for the interment of those who died of that malady. The 
second visitation of Cholera, in 184.9, being much less severe than the pre­
vious one, those who died of it were buried in the different grav~yard.s 
indiscriminately; the Cholera burial-ground not being opened at all. 

RECREATIVE AvusEMENTs.-Racu.-A large flat piece of pasture land, 
about a mile south of the city, called Knat~Umir6,* the property of the free. 
men of Micklegate ward, is used as a l.lau Co~WN. This course is one of the 
finest in the kingdom, and York races occupy a place in the first rank upon 
the English turf. The sport of horse racing, though undoubtedly practised 
in this country at "the time of the Roman invasion, does not appear to ha1'8 
made much progress till the accession of James I., who introduced it from 
Scotland, where it came into vogue from the spirit and swiftness of the 
Spanish horses, which had been thrown ashore on the coast of Galloway, 
when the vessels of the Armada were wrecked. In the reign of Henry VIII. 
a bell, adorned with flowers, had been "given to him who shonld run the 
best and farthest on horseback on Shrove Tuesday," at Chester, S~ord, 
and elsewhere. 

Camden, in his Britannia, published in 1590, informs us that horse raciDg 
was practised on the Forest of Galtres, on the east side of the city of York; 
the prize for the winning horse being a small golden or silver bell, which was 
always attached to its head-gear, and the animal was then led about in 
triumph; whence arose the proverb, for success of any kind, "bearing away 
the bell," or " to bear the bell." But racing as a system may be said to date 
from the reign of James I. This monarch was extremely fond of the sport, 
and his favourite courses were at Croydon and Enfield Chase. Charles I. 
followed his example by establishing races in Hyde Park and at Newmarket, 
where James I. had already built a hunting seat. Races were discontinued 
during the Protectorate, but Cromwell was by no means inattentive ~ the 
breeding of good horses. The "Merry Monarch " not only encouraged racing 
by numerous royal plates, but purchased mares and sires (principally Barbe 
and Turks) in the Levant, and also improved the breed by horses brought 
over from Tangiers, as part of the dowry of his Queen, Catherine of Braganza. 

• Kf&4fJ1, the ADglo-Suon term ·ror a man of low condition-end this oommOD is 
called Knavesmire, from being the swampy puture of the poor householders' oattle. 
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Mr. Drake says, " Clifton fields have not been enclosed a century ; and were 
formerly open enough to have been the Campus Martins to Eboracum ;" and 
in another place he speaks more confidently to there having been so. In 
1709 there was a regular race meeting on Clifton Ings, and in 1714 it had 
become so popular that there were 156 carriages upon the course in one day. 
Dnring the great frost in 1607, when the river Ouse was frozen over so hard 
that carts and carriages passed over it in safety, Drake tells us that a horse 
race was run upon it, from the tower at Marygate end, through the great 
arch of Ouse Bridge, to the crane at Skeldergate Postern. In the year 1709 
the citizens made a collection, with which they purchased five plates, which 
were run for over Knavesmire, and from that period to the present, the 
annual meetings have been snpported with much spirit. Since the time of 
Charles n., this great national sport has been sanctioned and encouraged by 
the monarchs of England, who grant "Plates " or " Cups " annually to be 
run for on many race courses in the kingdom. Though these royal gifts are 
still frequently called plates or cups, yet, with the exception of the V aae, 
which is run for at Ascot (and which is still a piece of plate), they consist of 
100 guineas, and hence are sometimes called the King's or Queen's Guineas, 
or the King's or Queen's Hundred. In 1713, four years after the establish­
ment of permanent races at York, the King's gold cup was procured, and has 
ever since been run for at the August meeting. There is another royal plate 
of 100 guineas, now given for mares, to be run for here and at Richmond 
alternately. In 1754 the Grana Statul was built by subscription. The 
building is of red brick, with circular-headed windows in the upper story ; 
the whole finished with a balustrade projection, the front of which is up to 
100 feet in length, and supported by a rustic arcade of HI feet high, from 
which may be enjoyed a fine view of the races and surrounding scenery. 
Near the "Winning Post" is the building called the Routul HOUI8, which 
was erected for the convenience of the Stewards or officials. It is a stone 
rotunda, with attached Doric columns, supporting their proper entablature, 
and surmounted by a dome. Extensive improvements have recently been . 
effected in the neighbourhood of the goal-a neat Stand has been erected for 
the use of the Stewards and their friends, with a portion resened for ladies; 
the enclosure in front of the Stands enlarged, and a telegraphic communica­
tion established between the Grand Stand and the city. The amount of 
add4d money given to be nm for at the race meeting in Angust, 1854, ex­
ceeded £1,600. The Cooru is marked by posts and rails, and has a very 
elegant appearance. The old Two Mile Couru is 1 mile, 7 furlongs, and 86 
yards, in length ; and the ordinary course is 1 mile, 6 furlongs, and about 50 

4 M 
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yttrtb, quite flat, nntl of n circular ,;hnpe. The run in is ;:; furlongs, which 
fomts the T1ro Yt•m· Old Course. Here are three race meetings in the year, 
viz., the Sprin!J Meet iliff, held in April or :May; the A.uyust J[eelil'!l, in that 
mouth; and the Yurkshire Uuion Hu11t Met:ting, in October. The first 
meeting continues for two days, the second for three days, and the third 
occupies but one day. 

York Archery Society.-Established in 1833, and now contains upwards of 
fifty members, who are elected by ballot. The society holds its meetings on 
Knavcsmire. Sir W. l\1. E . l\lilner, Bart., M.P., is the president, and 1\fr. 
W. W. Hargrove, secretary. 

CH.HII'flt::s.-llesides the various hospitals, almshouses, charity schools, 
medical nntl benevolent institutions, which we have described, there are 
several chat·ity tru><ts belonging to the city, the administration of which is 
in the hands of Trustees appointed by the Corporation, who publish au 
annual statement of their receipts and expenditure. This renders it entirely 
unnecessary for us to burden our pages with the particulars of these charities. 
EMI~E~T 1\IEN.-Several of the Worthies who occupy niches in the 

York Temple of Fame, are already mentioned in the Annals of the Bishops 
(See page 381); and amongst the other men of eminence, or persons who 
were famed for their piety, literary attainments, or proficiency in the arts 
anti sciences, and who were natives of York, the following are the most cele­
brated. It may however be observed that, although so many great men have 
at different times resided in York, yet but few appear to have been born there. 

Constantine the Great, as has already been observed at page 60, was sup­
posed to have been a native of York, until Niebuhr published his "Lectures 
on the History of Rome." He, however, resided for a time in York, and 
there assumed the imperial purple on the death of his father Constantius. 

Al.cuin, one of the greatest luminaries of the nge in which he flourished, 
was a native of York or its neighbourhood, as he himself declares in his 
poem on the saints of that diocese, and is supposed to have been born about 
the year 720. Foreigners not being accustomed to pronounce the ~r, he 
omitted it in his name; which he mollified into Albintts, prefixing to it in 
Fmnce tho name of Flaccu.~, from Horace. In his letters he often styles 
himself Flaccus Albinus. He was nobly born, and became a monk at York, 
and was made deacon of that church. He learned Latin and Greek, and the 
clements of the Hebrew language, and went through the sacred studies under 
Egbert and Elbert, who taught a great school in York. (Some writers assert 
that Alcuin received the rudiment.<; of his education from the Venerable Bed e. :1 

When Elbert succeeded Egbert in the archbishopric, in 7(;6, he committed to 
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Alcuiu the cat·e of the school, and of the great library belonging to the church, 
and his reputation attmcted crowds of students from Gaul and Gennany, and 
many of them in after life became distinguished men. He was now esteemed 
the most erudite man of the age. Eanbald, the nephew of Elbert, being 
appointed to the See of York, sent Alcuin to Rome, to bring over his pall, in 
780, and on his return from the" Eternal City," he met, at Parma, Charle­
magne, or Charles the Great, King of France, afterwards Emperor. That 
potentate desirous of adding literary honours to the fame he bad acquired in 
arms, earnestly desired to detain him ; but the canons obliged him to return 
to his own church. However that Prince prevailed with the King of North­
umberland and the Archbishop of York to send him back to France. He 
appointed him to open a great school in his own palace, and generally as­
sisted in person at his lessons with the Princes, his sons-and this example 
was followed by the chief nobility of the country. He also, by his advice, 
instituted an academy in his palace, consisting of many learned men, who 
met on certain days to discourse on points of sacred leaming. 

Alcuin, we are told by Gaillard, weaned Charlemagne from the passion 
for conquests, by discovering to him a new source of true greatness, far 
dearer to humanity; and it is the cultivation of the maxims and lessons of 
that wise tutor that has principally rendered the name of that great Prince 
immortal in the eyes of true judges; for instructed by such a master, the 
royal pupil learned to set a just value on true knowledge; and to place his 
glory in protecting science, in perfecting the administration, and in extending 
in every respect the empire of reason. When in his old age Alcuin retired 
from the distractions of the palace, many followed him to his retreat at the 
Ab'bey of St Martin, at Tours, where he wrote some of his best works, and 
where he continued his favourite occupation of teaching, till his death, which 
occurred on Whit Sunday, the 1!ltb of May, 804. At his death he was 
lamented as the pride of his age and the benefactor of the empire. 

Alcuin's works are numerous, and the best edition of them is by the 
learned Andrew Duchesne, in three tomes, published in 1617. They consist 
principally of poems, elementary introductions to the different sciences, trea­
tises on a variety of theological subjects, the lives of several saints, and an 
interesting correspondence with the most celebrated characters of the age in 
which he lived. The Bible which Alcuin transcribed and pre~nted to 
Charlemagne on the day of his coronation, is now in the British :Museum, 
hal"ing been purchased for it a few years ago for the sum of £750. 

Robert Flower, the hermit of Knaresborough, usually called St. Robert 
(though he has not been canonized), was the son of Took Flower, who was 
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twice Mayor of York. He was born towards the close of the 12th century, 
and became a monk of the Cistercian Order at York. After some ye&I'S he 
removed to Knareaborough, where be resided at a hermitage among the 
rocks. From hence be removed to Spoft'orth, but returned to Knaresboi'Ough, 
where he led a hermit's life, and ended his days. His reputed sanctity led 
many persona to visit him, among whom was King John. The oell in which 
he passed his days still remains, and is known as St. Robert's Cave. It it 
romantically situated among the rocks overhanging the river Nidd, and will 
be familiar to the readers of Bulwer's historical romance called " Eugeoe 
Aram," it being the place in which Aram and his companions in guilt COO· 

cealed the body of their murdered victim, and where the remains lay unm. 
covered for several years. 

John Waldby, and Rohfrt his brother, two eminent scholars who flourished 
in the 14th century, were natives of York; Robert was the 47th Archbishop 
of the province. (See page 897.) 

John Erglwm, another learned friar of the same order, was born in York, 
and flourished about the year 1400. He was an able preacher, and the 
author of many books, most, if not all, of which be dedicated to Edward 
Ste.ft'ord, Earl of Hereford, and the Duke of Buckingham. 

John Bats, a Carmelite friar, a profound expositor of the Holy Scriptures, 
and au author of celebrity in the fifteenth century, was a native of York. 

Thomaa Morton, Buhop of Durham, was born in the Pavement, York, in 
1564. His father, Richard Morton (allied to Cardinal Morton, Archbishop 
of Canterbury), was a mercer, and is said to have been the first of the trade 
that lived here-his aucceaaors in it being hie apprentices. The subject at 
this notice was bred in the school of this city, and thence removed to St. 
John's College, Cambridge, of which he became a Fellow. Afterwards be 
became chaplain to Lord Evers, and was sent as Ambassador to the King of 
Denmark and some German Princes, by King James I., after which be was 
preferred to the deaneries of Gloucester and Wincester first, and t;h(lll to 
the Sees of Cheater, Coventry and Lichfield, and lastly to Durham. He wu 
deprived of the latter bishopric by the Parliament in 1640, and died in 1659, 
aged 95. The writer of this prelate's life says that he was schoolfellow at 
York \vith Guy Fawkes, the Gunpowder Plot conspirator. 

Robert Carr, Earl of Somwaet, was born in this city. His father, Thomas 
Carr, a man of power and wealth in the south of Scotland, being active for 
Mary, the unfortunate Queen of Scots, was forced his country; but coming 
to York, where be was suffered to live quietly, his eon Robert was born there. 
The latter, by having broken his leg at a tilting match in London, came 
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under the cognizance of James I., who, pitying his ill luck, enquired into his 
family and person ; and finding that his faUler had been a sufferer for the 
Queen, his mother, and that he was a dese"ing man, he took him into favour, 
and made him successively a Baronet, Viscount, and Earl of Somerset. He 
was afterwards banished the court, and died in obscurity in 1688. 

Sir Tlwma. Herbert, Bart., son of Mr. Thomas Herbert, merchant and 
alderman of York, was hom in this city in 1606. He was educated at Jesus 
College, Cambridge, and afterwards spent several years abroad in visiting 
Europe and parts of Asia and Africa. He was related to the Earl of Pem­
broke, and was chosen one of the attendants of Charles I. ; and he and 
Bishop Juxton were the only persons who attended that unfortunate monarch 
to the scaffold. Mr. Herbert attended Charles IT. during his captivity, and 
for his fidelity he was made a Baronet at the Restoration. He published a 
folio of his travels, in 1677 ; and an account of the two last years of the reign 
of Charles I. was published in 1702. He was also the author of a poem, 
entitled Threnotlia Carolina. He died in this city in March, 1681, in the 
76th year of his age, and was buried in the church of St. Crux. 

Guy Fawka, of Gunpowder Plot celebrity, was, according to some, hom in 
York, in 1570, in the parish of St. Michael-l~Be1fry; but others assert that 
Bisbopthorpe was the place of his nativity. He appears by birth and edu­
cation to have been a Protestant. His father died when be was young, but 
his mother marrying again, he removed with her to Scotton, a small hamlet 
near Knaresborough, where he became acquainted with some influential 
Catholic families in the neighbourhood, whose religious faith be soon em­
braced. In 1598 he left England, and became a soldier in the Spanish army, 
in the Netherlands, under the Archduke Albert. In 1605 he returned to 
England, and acted a principal part in the projected gunpowder treason, for 
which he suffered execution, January Slat, 1606, at Westminster. 

Mamuuluk4 FotlwrgiU, the Nonconformist Minister of Skipwith, whose 
collection of books and manuscripts are now in the Minster Library, was a 
native of York. (See page 468.) 

Beilby Portetu, BWwp of London, was hom in this city in 1781, and was 
the youngest of nineteen children. From the school at Ripon be went to the 
University of Cambridge. He obtained various preferments, until he became 
Bishop of Chester in 1776. In 1787 he was translated to London, and be 
died in 1809. 

Hm.ry Sfl1iflhtm&8, an eminent D.C.L., was hom at York about the middle 
of the 16th century, and educated at the Free Grammar School of the city. 
As his contemporary and countryman, Gilpin, was called the "Apostle of the 
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North," so Swinburne was styled the "~orthern Advocate "-one being 
famous for his learning in divinity, and the other in the civil law. 

Cltrutopher Cartu·ruJhl, a profound scholar, styled Vir eruditiuimll.s, was 
born at York, and is known to the learned world for his Annotations on 
Genesis and Exodus. 

John Earle was born in York in 1601, and entered Merton College, Ox­
ford, in Hi20. Wood, his biographer, tells us that his younger years were 
adorned with oratory, poetry, and witty fancies, and his elder with quaint 
preaching and subtle disputes. He rose successively from the deanery of 
Westminster to the bishopric of Worcester, and ultimately to that of London. 
He died at Oxford in 1065, and was buried near the high altar in the chapel 
of Merton College, in that city. 

Sir Clifton IVintringham, Bart, physician to King George IV., was l10m 
at York, in the house now known as the Judges' Lodgings, in Lendal, in 
lilO. His father was also an eminent physician in thijl city. Sir Clifton 
published several works, viz., "An Experimental Inquiry into some parts of 
the Animal Structure," in 17 40; "Au Inquiry into the Exility of theY essels 
of the Human Body," in 1743; "De ~Iorquibusdum," two vols., in li82 and 
1701; and an edition of Dr. Mead's ":i\lonita et Prrecepta Medica cum multis 
notis." He tlit•d in London on the lOth of January, 1704, aged 8-1. 

John Flaxm-an, the celebrated sculptor, was born in this city, July 6th, 
17 55, but he settled early with his father in London. His excellence ns a 
sculptor is universally aclmowledgP-d. 

William Etty, R. A., "the poetic painter of the human form," was born in 
this city in 1787, and was apprenticed to a printer at Hull, but after having 
served his time, he adopted the profession of an artist; studied under Sir 
Thomas Lawrence; and then travelled in Italy, and stayed some time at 

Venice. In 1827 he was elected a Fellow of the Royal Academy; and after 
having amassed a considerable fortune, he died at York. in November, 1849, 
in the 63rd year of his age, and his remains were interred in the church-yard 
of St. Olave, Marygate, attended by the Corporation and a numerous body of 
his fellow-citizens. Etty's biography has been just published. 

The late George Todd, Bookseller, of York, published an interesting little 
History of Sheriff Hutton Castle. This much respected person lost his life 
from cold, contracted by his zealous endeavours in assisting in the attempt 
to extinguish the fire at York Minster, in 1829. Before his deatl1 he wrote 
o. short account of that fire, which is given in the second edition of Half­
penny's Gothic Ornaments. 

&bert Dm·ies, E~q., the law learned Town Clerk of York, \Vas born in this 
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city, and now resides at the Mount, without Micklegate Bar. This gentle­
man published, in 1843, a very interesting work entitled "Extracts from the 
l\1unicipal Records of the City of York, in the loth century," one vol. Svo.; 
and in 1850, "The Fawkes's of York in the 16th Century," a small Svo. 
vol., was published from the pen of the same writer. 

George Lau·ton, Esq., a native of this city, and now residing at Nunthorpe, 
near York (a Proctor of the Ecclesiastical Court of York of many years 
standing, and also Registrar of the Archdeaconry of the East Riding of York­
shire), has published the following works:-" The Marriage Act, arranged 
with Notes," 8vo. in 1823-second edition in 1824; A Treatise of Bonn 
Notabilia, together with an account of the Archiepiscopal Courts of Probate 
within the Province of York, and of the peculiar courts of Probate within 
that Province," flvo. , 1825; "A list of :Manorial Courts within the Counties 
of York and Nottingham, which possess the right of proving Wills," 8vo. 
" Collectio Rerum Ecclesinsticnrum de Direcesi Eboracensi, or Collections 
Relative to the Churches and Ch~tpels within the Diocese of York," to which 
are added "Collections Relative to the Diocese of Ripon," two vols., 8vo., 
1840-a second edition of this work in one large vol., 8vo., was published in 
HH2, with an appendix, containing Excerpts from the MS. Repertory of 
Endowments by Dr. Ducnrel, preserved in Lambeth Palace, transcribed by 
permission of the late Archbishop of Canterbury, and" The Religious Houses 
of Yorkshire," 8vo., in 1853. 

lllr. Joltn Bro~ene, of Blake Street, York (a native of this city), has pub­
lished a very voluminous and elaborate "History of the Edifice of the Metro­
politan Church of St. Peter, York." This great work, which was commenced 
in 1827, and completed in 184 7, is in 33 numbers ( 4to Elephant) to corres­
pond with Halfpenny's" Gothic Ornaments ;" or in two vols. It is illustrated 
by extracts from authentic records, by plans, sections, and engravings of 
architectural and sculptural details; and some of the best authorities have 
declared it to be, not only the best HistonJ of the Cathedral, but to be of 
more practical service to the profession of the Architect, than any other work 
published on pointed architecture and its decorations. 

The following eminent and learned individuals though not born there, 
were, or, as in some of the cases have been, so long connected with York, 
as to justify us in classing them amongst the worthies of that venerable city ; 
for most certainly the names of Drake, Gent, Hargrove, Wellbeloved, and 
Phillips, will ever be associated with the literati of York. 

Francis Drake, the historian of York, was the son of the Rev. F . Drake, 
Rector of Hemsworth and Vicar of Pontefract. He was born in 1695, and in 
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ea.rly life took up his residence in York, where he practised as a surgeon of 
good reputation. He married Mary, daughter of John Woodyeare, Eeq., of 
Crookhill, near Doncaster, by whom he had two sons, Rev. Francis Drake, 
D.D., Vicar of St. Mary's, Beverley, and Rector of Winestead, in Holderness; 
and Rev. William Drake, F.A.S., Rector of Isleworth, Middlesex. The 
subject of this notice was an eminent antiquary, and F.R.S. He published 
his valuable work oalled "Eboracum, or the History and Antiquities of 
York," in one vol., folio, with plates, in 1786, which was dedicated to hia 
friend the Earl of Burlington. He also was one of the compilers of tbe 
"Parliamentary History of England to the Restoration," and contributed 
several papers to the Philosophical Transactions, and the Arcluelogi&. He 
died in 1770, aged 76, and was buried in St. Mary's Church, BeTerley, 
where a monument is erected to his memory. His residence in York was 
in Coney Street, near the George Hotel. 

Tlwmaa Gmt, a well known collector and publisher of antiquitiea niati.Te 
to Yorkshire, was born in Dublin, in 1691, and in due time was apprenticed 
to a printer in that city ; but becoming unsettled, he ran away from hi& 
master and went to London, where he soon met with employment. He 
afterwards removed to York, where he worked in the office of Mr. White, in 
Petergate, but soon returned to Ireland to visit his friends ; again came 4ner 

to England and settled in London, from whence he removed to York in 17i4, 
at the invitation of his former master's widow, whom he married not long 
after, and settled in Coffee Yard, behind Stonegate. He was now IJl&8ter of 
one of the few printing offices out of London, for he himself tells us, in his 
autobiography, that at this time there were no printers in Chester, Liverpool, 
Preston, Manchester, Kendal, or Leeds. In 1730 he printed and published 
"The Antient and Modem History of the Famous City of York." In 1736 
he published his History of Hull, which was followed by a History of Ripon, 
and in 176~ his" History of the E&st Window of York Minster" appeared. 
All these works display considerable industry and care, and are highly es­
teemed by the collectors of English topography, perhaps on account of their 
singularity. Gent's closing years were often embittered by the difticulties 
he met with in his business, and he died at his house in Petergat.e, on the 
19th of May, 1778, in his 87th year, and was interred in the church of St. 
Michael-le-Belfry. Many years afterwards his autobiography was publiahed. 
Mr. R. Davies, in his lecture at the York Institute, already quoted, stated 
that in the large house in Petergate, now in the occupation of Dr. Shann,* 

• According to the same authority, the Talbot Hotel, a vef7 old I.Dn, ancientl7 
occupied the site of this house. 
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formerly resided Dr. Alexander Hunter, the author of several works, and 
opposite lived "Tommy Gent," an old well-known printer, whose produc­
tions, though the rudest specimens of typography, sold at a better price than 
some of the bulkier tomes of his neighbour. Gent is thus described by 
Allen :-"In his person as well as his mind eccentricity generally appeared 
predominant. He was low in stature, mostly wore a long cloak fastened 
round him with a belt, suffered his beard to grow a great length, and seemed 
also to affect an extraordinary air of gravity. His circumstances were 
generally indigent, so much so, that he often sold almanacks, &c., for the 
York booksellers." 

William Peckitt, a skilful glass painter and stainer, was born at Husth­
waite, in the North Riding of Yorkshire, in 1731, and commenced practising 
his art in York in 1751, being entirely a self-taught artist. Some stained 
glass windows, executed by him, adorn the south transept of the Minster, as 
we have already obsened; as well as another in the Magistrate's Room, at 
the Guild-Hall. He died at York in 1795, in the 64th year of his age, and 
was buried in the chancel of the church of St. Martin, Micklegate. 

Lindley Murray, the celebrated grammarian, lived for a number of years at 
Holdgate, near York. He was a native of Pennsylvania, in North America, 
and resided for some part of his life at New York, where his father was a 
distinguished merchant. At the age of nineteen be commenced the study of 
the law, and subsequently practised both as a counsel and attorney in all the 
courts of the state of New York. He continued in the profession till the 
troubles in America interrupted all business of this nature, and then he en­
gaged in mercantile pursuits, and soon acquired a handsome independence. 
But his health becoming impaired, he came over to this country in 1784, in 
order to recruit it. Being much pleased with York and its neighbourhood, 
he at length settled there, and purchased the bouse which stands near the 
bridge at Holdgate, where he passed the remainder of his days. His disorder 
increasing, he was rendered incapable of enjoying the usual occupations and 
amusements of life ; and as his mental faculties were unimpaired, he directed 
his attention to the composition of literary works for the rising generation. 
Copies of his first work, "The power of Religion on the Mind," were distri­
buted anonymously among the principal inhabitants of York ; but the author 
did not remain long concealed, for a new edition was soon called for. The 
first edition of his "English Grammar" appeared in 1795, and bad a rapid 
sale. It was quickly followed by the " English Exercises," the " English 
Reader," and the "Introduction" and "Sequel to the Reader," and a "Spel­
ling Book." All of these books were originally printed in York, but the copy-

4 N 

Digitized by Goog le 



IH2 TOPOGII.\I'HY OF YOKK. 

tight was afterwards disposed of to a London publisher. These works were 
received with considerable satisfaction, and still continue scholastic works of 
the first character. Having begun his literary career from disinterested 
Jllotives, be constantly devoted all the profits of his publications to charitable 
and benevol~:nt purposes; and in all his works it was his constant aim to 
promote the cause of religion and virtue. Lindley Murray died at Holdgate 
on the 16th of January, 18Q6, aged 80, and was int~rred in the burial-ground 
belonging to the Society of Friends in this city, of which body he was a dis­
tinguished member. 

William Har!Jrot•e, Esq., was horn at Knaresborougb, October 16th, 1788, 
being t~e youngest son of the historian of that place. In July, 1813, he left 
his nnth·c town, and became a proprietor and the editor of the l'ork Herald 
ftewspaper. In IRI8 he published, in two vols., royal 8vo, a "History aod 
Description of the Ancient City of York;" and the same year he was eJected 
a member of the Common Council of that city. He also, afterwards, sened 
the office of Sheriff of the City, and during several years, was one of the City 
Commissioners, and took an active part in most of the public improvements 
of the city. He is still the editor and proprietor of the Hera«J (in conjunction 
with two of his sons), after forty-one years of extmordinary political excite­
ment. Mr. Hargrove also published two or three excellent Guides to York. 

Mr. Alfred E. Hargrove (son of the above) published an interesting little 
work, entitled" Anecdotes of Archery," which contains ao account of all the 
existing societies, rules, and other matters relating to archery. Tho same 
gentleman published a sort of Tourists' Guide to all the places of public 
interest within twenty-six miles of York. 

Rev. Charles lVeUbelot•ed, pastor of the English Presbyterian Chapel, in St. 
Snviourgate, for more t.hau fifty-five years, having first been assistant to the 
Rev. N. Cappa for eight years. (See page 549.) He began his ministerial 
services at York on the 4th of February, 1792; consequently he has exercist'd 
the functions of the ministry in the above-mentioned chapel for upwards of 
sixty years. Mr. Wellbeloved is the author of a new tmnslation of portions 
of tho Bible, viz., the Pentateuch,* and the poetical and didactic books, from 
Job to Solomon's Song, inclusive, with notes mostly original, in two vols., 
4to, designed for the use of families. In 1842 be published his interesting 
work, called "Eburacum, or York under the Romans," one vol., 4to. For 
some years be bas been the Curator of Antiquities in tlte Museum of the 

• 'l'he Pentateuch, or Five Books of Moses, ia the ohlest writing in the world. These 
books were written !l,300 yeal'll ago, and claim an antiquity higher, by nearly a thollSalld 
yeal'!l, th1m any other authentic history we possc~s. 
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Yorkshire Philosophical Society, and the" Descriptive Account of the Anti­
quities in the Grounds and in the Museum," was composed by him, with the 
exception of the part relating to the Egyptian antiquities, which was drawn 
up by his son-in-law, the Hev. J. Kendrick. Mr. Wellbeloved was born at 
Westminster, in the parish of St. Giles, on the 6th of April, 1769, so that he 
is now eighty-six years of age. He studied at New College, Hackney. 

John Phillips, Esq., F.R.S., the celebrated Professor of Geology, and now 
the deputer " Reader " in that science in the University of Oxford, has bee11. 
connected with the city and county of York for the last quarter of a century. 
Professor Phillips is the author of several works on Natural History, Geology, 
&c.; amongst which are IUwtraticm of tM Geology of York&hire, 4to, with 
plates, vol. i. in 1829; 2nd edition, 1886; vol. ii. in 1886; and the Rivm, 
Mountains, and Sea Coaat, of Yorluhire, 8vo, with plates, 1st edition, 1853.; 
llnd edition, 1855. He is also the author of many papers published in the 
proceedings of the principal scientific societies in the kingdom, and he has 
published a Geological Map of Yorkshire, coloured. 

THE district contiguous to the city of York, on its south-westcn1 side, was 
originally a wapentake or hundred of the West Riding, "under the care of 
the Mayor and Citizens, as Bailiffs," or stewards of it; but by a charter 
in the 27th of the reign of Henry VI. (H48), it was annexed to the city, 
and made a part of the County of the City of York. Hence the inhabi. 
tants of the Ainsty were obliged to resort to the Lord Mayor and Magistrates 
of the city for the adjustment of all civil dissensions, though the freeholders 
of that division were not entitled to any privileges or franchises as citizens 
of York, but remained in other respects as inhabitants of the county at large; 
being allowed to vote at the county elections. Thus the Ainsty continued 
under the jurisdiction of the Lord Mayor and Magistrates of the city until 
the passing of the Municipal Act in 1886, when it was incorporated with 
the West Riding, and of which division of the county it now, as in ancient 
times, forms a wapentake. In several ancient writings the name of this 
district is spelt A11citty; and some have supposed the word to be derived 
from Ancientcy, dEmoting its antiquity. Camden col\iectures that its etymo­
logy may be more plausibly referred to the German word Autossen, implying 
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a boundary or limit.* Drake supposes it to have been derived from the old 
northern word A.11mt, which signifies opposite or contiguous, and says it was 
called the Ainsty long before it was annexed to the city.t The whole district 
was anciently a forest, but it was disforested by the charters of Richard I. 
and his successor John. For the first of these grants the inhabitants paid 
£19. Os. lld., and for the latter, which declared that the men of this wapen· 
take, as the charter expressed it, should be for ever free from forest laws, 
account was made to the King of the sum of 1!JO marks and three palfreys.: 
Sir Thomas Widdrington tells us that the city of York had from a very early 
period laid claim to this jurisdiction, by a charter from King John. In the 
time of Edward I. the Mayor and Bailiffs were summoned to answer the 
King, "quo warranto," they held the Ainsty; and it appears from the pleas 
held before that Monarch, in 1280, that the Mayor produced a charter from 
King John, by which he claimed the hundred of the Ainsty; but the charter 
was, on inspection, found rased in the date in the word " quarto." On 
searching the rolls in the Exchequer, it was found that John did, in the 
year 1214, grant to the citizens of York, the town of York, in fee farm, for 
the rent of £160.; and because the Ainsty was not specified in the charter 
of "anno quarto," and also because the charter was rased, judgment was 
given against the Mayor and citizens, the charter was annulled, and the 
Mayor was committed to prison, but soon after bailed. Sir T. Widdrington 
considered it a matter of doubt whether the citizens of York had any good 
warrant for holding the Ainsty, saving for tho "loot" and some other 
liberties, till it was annexed to the city by the before-mentioned charter or 
patent of Henry VI. 

Till the year 1785 a doubt existed whether the freeholders of the Ainsty 
had a right of suffrage at the elections for Members of Parliament for this 
county, on the ground that it formed part and paroel of a separate county, 
and though their votes were received by the Sheriff, they were ahvays taken 
with a query prefixed to their names : but after the contest between Sir 
Miles Stapleton, Bart., and Sir Rowland Winn, Bart., the matter was brought • to issue before the House of Commons, on the Oth of March, 1785, when 
this House decided '' That the persons whose freeholds lie within that part 
of the city of York which is commonly called the Ainsty, have a right to vote 
for Knights of the Shire of the County of York." 

This district, which constitutes part of the beautiful and extensive Vale of 
York, bas the same natural features. In the western part the surface is 

• Britannire, p. 722. + Eboracum, c. ix., p. 3Rl. 
: Ibid. MRdox Exrh<'q. pp. 2i4 and 2M. 
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diversified with gentle swells, but in the eastern part, adjoining to the Ouse, 
it is a perfect fiat, abounding in excellent pasturage and meadow. 

The Ainsiy is bounded by the rivers Ouse, Wbarfe, and Nidd; it is inter· 
sected by the post road from York to Tadcaster, and the North-Eastern Rail­
way; its area, according to the Parliamentary return, is 49,720 acres; and 
it contains the following parishes and places :-.Aca&ter Malhis, Acaster Selby, 
Acomb, Aikham Bryan, .Aikkam Richard, Bilbrough, Bilton, Billwptlurrp4, 
Bolton Percy, Healaug11., part of Holy Trinity (York), part of Kirk Ham­
f1Utr'ton, Long Ma,.,ton, pam of St. Mary BillwphiU Senior, and St. Mary 
Bilh.ophiU Junior (York), Moor-Monkton, Nsthn-Popputon, Ru.fforth., part 
qf StiUingfteet, part of TADCASTER, Thorp-Arch, Walton, and Wigh.iU. 

AcASTEB MALBJs.-This parish, which is also called Otoer-Acaster, is situ­
ated on the western bank of the river Ouse, and comprises the township of 
Acaster, and the Parochial Chapelry of Nahum; the latter being in the Ouse 
and Derwent wapentake of the East Riding. The parish derives its second 
name from the family of Malby, Malbys, or Malebisse, which flourished 
here for some centuries after the Conquest, until at length a daughter and 
heiress was married to Fairfax of Walton, created Viscount Emley. 

The following notices occur respecting the manor of Acaster Malbis :-In 
the 86th year of the reign of Henry III. (1252), the King granted free 
warren to the Abbot of Selby in all his demesne lands here and in other 
places. In the 21st of Edward III. (1847), Sir William de Malebisse, Knt., 
Lord of Acaster, confirmed to the Canons of Giseburn, in the deanery of 
Cleveland, all the lands, &c., which they held of this fee. In the 28rd of 
Henry VI. (1444), the manors of Acaster Malbis, Walton, &c., were remitted 
and quitclaimed by Bryan Fairfax to his brother William, and John Dantry, 
and Richard Banks.* The Right Hon. Lord Wenlock is the present Lord 
of the Manor of Acaster Malbis, and sole proprietor, except the school and 
premises, which belong to the feoffees of Knowles' charity for the time being. 
According to the Parliamentary Report, the area of this township is 1,780 
acres, but from another source we learn that it is 1,889 acres. The amount 
of assessed property in the township is £2,476.; the rateable value of it is 
£1,886.; and the population in 1851 was 280 souls. 

The Linng is a Perpetual Curacy, though in the Liber Regis, in which 
it is rated at £IS. 6s. 5j-d., it is styled a Discharged Vicarage. It is valued 
in the Parliamentary return of 1810 at £32.; but the net income is now 
about £56. From a very early period the advowson belonged to the Malby 

• Harleian MSS., 79,. 
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family, for we find Sir Richard Maleby, Knt., presented to the church of 
Acaster, 15th February, 1294; and on the 11th of December, 1858, Sir 
Richard :\lalebys, Knt., by the consent of the Archbishop of York, granted 
the church of Acaster to the Abbot and Convent of Newbo, of the Premon­
stratensian Order, of the diocese of Lincoln. On the di880lution of religious 
houses, the advowson fell to the Crown, from which it afterwards passed 
through various hands to the present patron and impropriator. The Rev. 
Robert Ellis is the present incumbent. 

The Church (Holy Trinity), which, from its cruciform shape, is loeally 
called the Synagogue, is an ancient edifice, with a low square wooden tower, 
and a small spire, rising from the centre. All the fronts of the building 
have modem windows of three lights, with trefoil heads, and above each is a 
circle, either enclosing a quatrefoil or a trefoil light. All the roofs rise to 
gables, and are finished with neat foliated crosses. On the north side of the 
nave is a porch, with a pointed arched door of entrance; and the edifice, on 
the whole, is a fair specimen of the architecture of the 13th century. The 
tower contains two bells. The church was repaired, and the interior repewed, 
in 1832. In the chancel is a trefoil-headed piscina, and l.leneath it the mu­
tilated effigy of a Crusader, in hauberk suit. On his left arm is a shield, 
bearing a chevron between three griffins' heads, being the arms of one of the 
Malbis family. Adjoining is a slab, with a cross flory. There is some 
curious stained glass in this church; in the east window is Our Saviour be­
tween two saints, and in the lower part shields of arms; in the north window 
of the chancel are two small figures of St. James and St. Andrew; and in the 
window of the south aisle are two figures, one of which is crowned and 
sceptered; and the other is in chain armour, with a helmet and ecclesiastical 
robe, and in his hand a crosier. The Royal Arms bear the date of 1688. 

The Village is small, and irregularly built, and stands near the river Ouse, 
about St miles S. of York, and 2 miles W. of the North-Eastern Railway. 

Charitie1.--John Knowles gave, by his will, in 1603, the sum of £100. to 
four feoffees and their successors, " to find a sufficient schoolmaster to teach 
the youth of the parish ; and the further sum of .£30. for the use of the poor." 
These sums were afterwards expended in the purchase of a close of land 
without Bootham Bar, near York. John KettkwU, by his will, dated 4th 
of August, 1888, left .£100. to the poor of this township. 

The School is endowed with .£29. 4s. per annum from Knowles' charity, to 
which Lord Wenlock adds a voluntary gift of .£10. 16s., making the total 
.£40. per annum ; and for this sum all the children of the labouring popula· 
tion of the place are taught free. The average number of children that 
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attend the school is about twenty-five. Three old oak seats were removed 
from the church to the school in 1882 ; one of them bears the following date 
and inscription:-" Joseph Daniel's Gift, 1700. Sit and welcome." 

NABURN.-This is a township and parochial chapelry, situated on the 
opposite side of the Ouse in the parishes of Acaster Malbis, St. George 
and St. Dennis, York. The whole of the lands of Nahum belonged to the 
Palmes family from A.D. 1224, down to the year 1775, when the grandfather 
of the Rev. William Lindsay Palmes, Rector of Long Riston, and Vicar of 
Homsea (the present Lord of the Manor), obtained an Act of Parliament for 
the removal of the old entail, and sold half the estate. The Rev. W. L . 

· Palmes and H. M. Baines, Esq., are the chief proprietors of the soil, but 
there are several freeholders who farm their own land. Amount of assessed 
property, £8,414.; rateable value, £8,086.; population in 1851, 481. Area 
of township, 2,466 acres. 

The Old Church, which is a small edifice comprising a nave and chancel, 
stands within the grounds of Naburn Hall, on the banks of the river Ouse, 
but there was no place of burial except for the Palmes' family, the other 
inhabitants were buried in the church-yard of St. George's parish, York. 

The New Church, which is in the early Decorated style, was erected in 
· 1854, at a cost of £2,407 ., raised by subscription. John C. Clifford, Esq., 

contributed the munificent sum of £700., and the Lord of the Manor was a 
large contributor. It occupies a pleasant situation near the village, and 
consists of a nave, chancel, and north aisle, with a tower and spire at the 
north west angle, also a south porch. It is a very neat edifice. The tower 
contains three bells, and the east and west gables are surmounted with hand­
some crosses. The interior is furnished with open seats, which as well as the 
open roof are stained. The .east and west windows are each of three lights; 
the former being filled with stained glass, as a memorial to the late George 
Palmes, Esq. The font is neat, and of Caen stone, with an octagonal oak 
co-rer. The architect of the building was Mr. G. T. Andrews, of York. 

The old church will probably be allowed to remain as long as it will bold 
together, as there is a vault for the Palmes' family under it. It is likely that 
the space will be railed in ultimately, and a portion of the east end repaired 
and left to remain. The BtnUJjice is a Perpetual Curacy, annexed to the 
Rectory of St. Dennis, York. Great tithes, commuted in 1766, for land 
which now produces about .£60. per annum. The small tithes were com­
muted by the Tithe Commissioners, at about .£49., in 1848. The Rev. W. 
L. Palmes is the lay impropriator. There is a burying ground attached to 
the new church. 
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The Village is situated near the river Oose, aci"'88 which there is a retry 
here to Acaster Malbis, about four miles south of York. Here, on the Ouae, 
a lock and dam were erected in 1727, in order to improve the navigation of 
the river. (See page 580.) The tide flows up to Nahum Lock, and pleasure 
excursions, by steam boats, are often made from York to this place in sum­
mer. A fine Maypole, about seventy feet in height, stands in the village. 
There is a small Methodilt Chapel here, erected about thirty-five years ago. 

Nalmrn Hall, the property of the Rev. W. L. Palmes, but now in the 
occupation of Mrs. Lloyd, is an ancient mansion near the Ouse, situa&ed in 
pleasant grounds. It was badly modernized in 1818. 

BeU Hall is the seat and property of H. M. Baines, Esq. ; Dei.g/Wm GnnJe 
is the seat of John C. Clifford, Esq.; and Ungcroft Lodge is also a good 
residence in the occupation of G. J. Lloyd, Esq. 

The School is endowed with tho interest of £200. (Dickinson's and Loft;u.s's 
charity), and the sum of £5. per ann. from Lady Hawley's charity. For 
these sums fifteen children arc taught free. 

A cASTER SELIIY .-This township, which was formerly united to the parish 
of Stillingfleet on the opposite side of the river Ouse, was anciently called 
Netl&er Aulcalter, and was given to the Abbey of Selby by Osbert de Arehes, 
Sheriff of the county in the reign of William the Conqueror; and hence its 
second title. Richard I. confirmed the gift to the Abbey. At an early 
period Robert Stillington founded here a College for a Provost and three 
Fellows, one of whom was to instruct children. It was dedicated to St. 
Andrew, and valued, at the dissolution, at £88. lOs. 4d. gross, and £27.18a. 
4d. per annum nett. In the 2nd of Edward VI. it was granted to John 
Halse and William Pendred. 

The area of this township is 1,528 acres, and is the property of Sir W. M. 
E. Milner, Bart. The amount of assessed property is £2,107.; the rateable 
value is £2,107. ; and the population is 1851 was 184 souls. 

By an Order of Council, of the date of 18th of November, 1860, this town­
ship was formed into an Ecclesiastical District. The Chwela., which is 
dedicated to St. John the Evangelist, and was erected and endowed by the 
late Sir W. M. 8. Milner, was opened for Divine worship on Thursday, July 
18th, 1850; and within five years date it has received the remains of ita 
founder, which now peacefully repose in a spacious new vault at its east end. 
It is a beautiful little Gothic edifice, very picturesquely situated upon the 
banks of the Ouse, commanding a fine prospect of the surrounding neigh· 
bourhood. At the west end are two memorial windows of stained glaaa; one 
to the Rev. George Milner, and the other in memory of David Markham, 
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Esq. The church-yard, which is neatly ornamented with trees aud shrubs, 
is enclosed by a light iron fence, within which is planted a hedge of beautiful 
holly. The Liuing is a Perpetual Curacy, in the gift of Sir W. M. E. Milner, 
and incumbency of the Rev. George Hustler. A Parsunage Houu is about 
to be erected by the patron. 

The Village is pleasantly situated about 7t miles S. W. from York. The 
North-Eastern Railway passes at a short distance from it. 

The Sclwol is aided by an old endowment of £7. per ann. A neat school­
room, and a commodious boose for the teacher, stand near the church. 

Acon.-This parish, which comprises the township of Acomb or Akeham, 
anciently called A~eham, and part of the townships of Dringhouses and Knap­
ton, is situated on the south side of the river Ouse. At the time of the 
Domesday Survey, we find that the church of St. Peter, York, had Acho 
(Acomb) as a manor. It is valued in Edward the Confessor's time at 30s., 
and was then of the same value. The area of the township of Acomb is 
1,440 acres; its rateable value is £3,991.; amount of assessed property, 
.£4,930.; and its population in 1851 was 87 4 souls. The principal land­
owners are F. Barlow, Esq. (Lord of the Manor), Rev. Isaac Spencer, Mr. 
William Ellis, Sen., Mr. William Ellis, Jun., and Mr. John Burton. The 
soil is of a sandy and gravelly nature, and the air is remarkably salubrious. 

The Limng is a Discharged Vicarage, and a peculiar of the Dean and 
Chapter of York, valued in the King's Books at £3. 9s. 2d. ; but now worth 
£109. per ann. The peculiar of Acomb formerly belonged to the Treasurer 
of the Cathedral of York, but was surrendered, with the Rectory, to the 
Crown in 1647; and in 1609 it was granted by James I., to Thomas Newark 
and his heir. The advowson now belongs to the Lord of the Manor, and 
the Rev. Isaac Spencer, who resides at "The Plantation," is the incumbent. 
The tithes of the townships of Acomb and Holdgate were commuted for land 
and a money payment, by an inclosure act in 1774. 

Tho Church (St. Stephen) is a neat structure, the body of which was re­
stored in 1831-2, by subscription, and a grant from the Church Building 
Society; and the chancel in 1863, at the cost of J. E. Baker, Esq., of Acomb 
Park. It is situated on a picturesque eminence, from which there is a fine 
view of the surrounding country, and conaiats of a nave and chancel, with an 
elegant apire at the west end. 

The Villag1 of Acomb, which is large and respectable, is pleasantly situated 
about flt miles west from York, and is much frequented by invalids. The 
N orth-Eastem Railway paasea near it. Several good residences in the village 
and its vicinity are occupied by families o( the first respectability. 

4 0 
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Acomb House is an establitJhmeut for the insane in the higl~er grades of 
society; and there is also here another private Lunatic Asylum. Serenus' 
HiU, an eminence situated about half a mile from the village, is noticed at 
page 58 ; and the W atenoorks, at Acomb Landing, at page 627 of this volume. 

A Wesleyan Cliapel was built here in 1821, capable of seating about 300 
personi. A neat National Scliool bas been recently erected near the church 
by tho liberality of Edmund Barlow, Esq. It is in the Perpendicular style, 
and consists of one room, 40 feet by 20. The old school-house stands on a 
green, now called the cricket ground, at the back of the village. The sum 
of £5. per annum is paid out of Lady Hewley'tJ chanty, for the education of 
eight poor children of this parish. 

Four annuities for the poor, left by William Wharton in 1829, and three 
other donors, produce about .£17. per annum. 

Dm:souousEs.-This chapclry and township is partly in the parish of 
Acomb, and partly in that of Holy Trinity, :Micklegate, and St. Mary, 
Bishophill Senior, York, and was formerly called, variously, Drynhom, 
DnJTlgOOUI, and Drenghouscs. Thoresby says that Drenges were Vauol.i 
Militaru. This township \Vas anciently the lordship and estate of John, 
Lord Grey of H.otherfield, having descended to him from his ancestors, who 
flourished in the reign of Richard I. In the 4th of Edward ill. (1331), be 
obtained a charter of free warren in this and divers other lordships. This, 
and all his other estates, were afterwards carried in marriage from the family 
of Grey to Sir John Deincourt, among whose daughters they were divided. 
Lord Lovel had a mansion here in the reign of Henry Vill. The chief pro­
prietor of the soil at present isM. A. E. Wilkinson, Esq., M.D., who is Lord 
of the Manor, and resides at the Manor House. Area of the township, 751 
acres ; population in 1851, 3-12. " Here is an episcopal chapel, erected 
about fifty years ago," writes Allen, in 1829; "it consists of a nave, chancel, 
and south chapel," as well as a square tower, with an octagonal bell turret. 
"and the whole has a mean appearance." This chapel, which belonged to the 
Barlows, late of Middlethorpe, has given place to a very elegant little C4urcla, 
erected in 1849, at a cost of about £5,000., by Mrs. Leigh (relict of the Rev. 
E. T. Leigh, the late Lord of the Manor), afterwards Mrs. M. A. E. Wilkinson. 
It is in the Decorated style, and consists of a nave and chancel, with a small 
graceful spire. The Lit'ing is a Donative, in the gift of the Lord of the 
Manor, and incumbency of the Rev. Gilbert H. Phillips. The tithes ha\"c 
been commuted for £137. Us., of which sum .£130. are paid to an impropri­
ator; £7. to the Prebendary of Osbaldwick; and 14s. to the Vicar of Acomb. 

The Village, which skirts the road from York to Tadcaster, is small, and 
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stands about 1! mile S. W. from the fonner place. There are some good 
views of the city and Cathedral of York from this place, and the celebrated 
Race Cour~e on Knavesmire is in the immediate vicinity. There are some 
elegant villas in this township ; and the old Tyburn, or place of execution, 
formerly stood in it. (See page 590.) In Bawtry field, in 1812, two stone 
coffins, with skeletons, were dug up ; and in 1833 a Roman tomb, formed of 
tiles, was discovered. (Sec page 305.) There is a place of worship here for 
Wesleyan Methodists. 

Knapton TQW1&8hip is partly in the parish of Acomb, and partly in that of 
the Holy Trinity, Micklegate, York. It contains 833 acres, and 112 inhab· 
itants ; the rateable value of the township is £1,005 ; and the tithes were 
commuted in 1843 for a rent charge of £282. Sir William Eden, Bart., is 
Lord of the Manor, and chief proprietor of the soil. The Manor House, 
situated in the village, is an old thatched brick building, now a farm house. 

The Village consists chiefly of a few farm houses, and stands 3! miles W. 
by N. of York. Here is a place of meeting for the W esleyans. 

AsKHAH BRYAN, or GREAT.- This parish, together with that of Askham 
Richard formed but one lordship in the Saxon era ; and according to Domes­
day, it belonged, in the reign of Edward the Confessor, to Edwin, Eatl of 
Mercia; but he being slain in opposing the Norman settlement, it was for· 
feited to William the Conqueror, with his other great estates in this and 
other countries. In the reign of Edward ill., one moiety of this lordship 
was in the noble family of Grey of Rotherfield, in Oxfordshire, the last heir 
male of which left it to his daughter and heir Joan, who carried it in marriage 
to Sir John Deincourt. The division of the lordships into two parishes is 
supposed to be in consequence of the partition of it into moieties, and to the 
lords building churches for their tenants in their part. When Roger de 
Mowbray was going to the Holy Land, he gave all the manor and town of 
Ask ham, with the advowson of the church, to his friend , William de Tykhill; 
but in the reign of Richard ill., the manor of Askham Bryan was the 
property of Sir John Deveden, Knt. The place is said to derive the second 
part of its name from Bryan Fitz-Alain, who held it of the honour of Rich· 
mond, paying 5s. per annum to the Warden of the Castle of that town. The 
present Lord of the Manor is Henry Croft, Esq., of Stillington Park, who, 
with the Rev. I . D. J. Preston, Miss A. Fawcett, and J . Barstow, Esq., are 
the principal landowners. Askham Bryan contains 1,920 acres ; its rateable 
value is £2,249.; amount of assessed property, £2,307; and its population 
in 1851 was 350 souls. Three-fourths of the parish are arable, and the rest 
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meadow, with some few plantations; the surface is Bat, and the soil com­
posed chiefly of gravel and clay. 

The Be?Ujice is a Perpetual Curacy, in the gift of the Lord of the .Manor, 
and incumbency of the Rev. R. 8. Thompson. It is rated at £8., and is now 
worth about £120. The great and small tithes, the property of the Lord of 
the Manor, the Perpetual Curate, and Vicar, were commuted for land, by an 
inclosure act in 1811. 

The Church (St. Nicholas or St. Michael) appears to have been built in the 
eleventh century, and consists of a nave and chancel, with a small brick 
tower at the west end. On the south side is a porch of modern construction, 
within which is a circular-headed doorway, exhibiting three series of cheTron 
and counter chevron mouldings, which rest on ornamented columns. The 
east end of the church has three narrow circular-headed windows filled up, 
and above the centre one is the vima pi&c611. The interior is neat. 

The VilUJgs of Askham Bryan, or East Askham, stands four miles W.S.W. 
from York. Contiguous to the church p&B8e8 the North Eastern Railway. 
There is a place of worship for Wesleyans, and the school is endowed with 
£6. per ann. Several benefactions for the poor amount to about £20. a year. 

A•kAam Hall, the seat and property of the Rev. I. D. J. Preston, is a 
good mansion pleasantly situated. 

AsKHAM RICHAIW, or LITTLE.-This parish adjoins that of Askham Bryan, 
with which lordship, as wo have stated, it was originally incorporated. In 
the 18th of Edward 1. (1290), the King granted free warren to the Prior of 
Bridlington, in all his demesne lands at his manors of Bridlington, West 
Askham, &c.; and in the 9th of Edward ll. (1816), the Prior of Bridlington 
held this manor. The parish comprises 960 acres; the amount of assessed 
property is £1,685., and the population in 1851 was 229. The surface of 
the parish is generally level, and the soil is of a gravelly and clayey quality. 

The Living is a Discharged Vicarage, valued in the Liber Regis at £!. 
13s. 4d. ; present income about £200. per annum. William de Arches, and 
Ivetta, his wife, gave this church to the Priory of Nun Monkton; and ac­
cording to the Harleian MSS. 704, Pope Celestine appropriated the churches 
of Askham Richard, Thorpe, and Hamerton, to the nuns of .Monkton. 
The tithes were commuted for land in 1818. The Chu-rch (St. Mary) is a 
small edifice, consisting of a nave and chancel, with a very large porch on 
the south side, within which is a plain circular arched doorway resting on 
two columns, with leaved capitals and square bases. The windows are all 
square and modern; at the east end is a Venetian window, and above it 1775, 
probably the date of alteration. The interior of the church is very plain. 
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The ViUag~ of Afkham Riehard, or Wut Alkluml, is small and scattered, 
and is situated about 5i miles S.W. from York, and 8} N.E. from Tadcaster. 
The road from Leeds to York, and the North-Eastern Railway cross each 
other near this place. There is a place of worship for W esleyans ; and the 
School receives four pounds per annum from Lady Bewley's charity. 

Aakham Hall, the property and residence of John Swann, Esq., which is 
pleasantly situated at the west end of the village, is a red brick building, 
with projecting wings, two stories in height, and gable roofs. 

BrLBBOuos.-Tbis parish adjoins Askham Richard on the south. In the 
4th of Henry VI. (1426), it belonged to Elizabeth, the widow of Richard Baly. 
The manors of Bilbrough and Steeton are now the property of Thomas Fair­
fax, Esq., who, together with John Fisher, Esq., the Rev. R. S. Thompson, 
and Mrs. Todd, are the principal landowners. The area of Dilbrough is 
1,889 statute acres; the amount of assessed property is £2,002.; and the 
population in 1861 was 252. 

The Church is a Perpetual Curacy, valued at £46. 6s. 10d. ; gross income ; 
.£189. The advowson belongs to the Lord of the Manor, and the Rev. 
James P. Metcalf is the present incumbent. A chantry was founded here 
by John Norton, Lord of the place, in 1492, who ordained that £4. 6s. 8d., 
in land and inclosure, should be paid to Sir William Dryver, priest, and his 
successors, to pray for the souls of the founder, his wife, and children. The 
tithes of Bilbrough were commuted in 1888, for a rent-charge of £270. 

The Ffllni.c (St. Peter) is small, consisting of a nave, chancel, and south 
chapel, with a lower tower at the west end. The tower was rebuilt, the 
church newly roofed, and other improvements made in the building about 
ten years ago. In 1849 the windows were renewed at the sole expense of 
the Rev. B. Edmonson, the incumbent at that time. There is nothing par­
ticularly worthy of notice in the exterior of the church, The chantry chapel 
appears to have been built in the 16th century. The interior is plain. The 
chapel, which is separated from the chancel by two pointed arches resting on 
octagonal pillars, contains the spacious table monument of Lord Fairfax, the 
celebrated Parliamentary general. On the sides of the monument are shields 
of arms, &e., and on the black marble slab are the family arms and motto, 
"FARE FAc ;"beneath is the following inscription:-

" Here lie the bodyes of the Right Honble. Thomas Lord Foi.rfax, of Denton, Baron 
of Cameron, who died November ye xii., 1671, in the 60th yeare of his age. And of 
Anno his wife, daughter and coheir of Horatio, Lord Vere, Baron of Tilbury. They 
had issue, Mary, Duchess of Buckingham, and Elizabeth. The memory of the just 
ia bleased:• 
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In the easternmost arch is another table monument, on the dado of which 
are two shields, with merchant's marks. The font is a perfect cylinder. 

The Village, which is situated a little off the road between Tadcaster and 
York, about 4! miles from either of these places, is small but stands plea· 
santly on an eminence. There is a Wealeyan Clutpel, which was erected 
in 1888 ; and the School is chiefly supported by a grant of .£4. per ann. from 
Lady Hawley's charity, and a donation of .£10. from the Lord of the Manor. 
Other charities connected with the parish produce about .£9. per ann. 

Bilbrough Grange is the seat and property of John Fisher, Esq. 
BILTON.-The townships of Bilton, Bickerton, and Tockwith, are com· 

prised in this parish. It contains, according to the Parliamentary Returns, 
4,150 statute acres, of which 1,460 acres are in the first-named township: 
the population of the parish in 1851 was 848, and the amount of assessed 
property, .£5,581. The population of the township of Bilton is 221. The 
chief proprietors of the soil are Andrew Montague, Esq. (Lord of the Manor): 
Mr. Thomas Skilbeck, Bilton Grange; Mr. Thomas Skilbeck, Junior: 
Messrs. John Norfolk, Rt. Brogden, and Henry Lumley. The soil is fertile, 
and the lands are well cultivated. 

In this parish are the remains of the Priory of Sinningthwait~. founded 
about the year 1650, by Bertram Haget, for a Prioress and twelve nuns 
of the Cistercian Order. It was dedicated to the Blessed Virgin, and the 
grant was confirmed by Roger de Mowbray, tl1e Lord of the Manor, and 
by Godfrey de Ludham, Archbishop of York. Pope Alexander ill., in 
1172, granted to Christiana, the Prioress, and to the convent, a con· 
firmation of their then possessions, with what might afterwards be- given 
to them ; and ef\joined that none of the professed religious should depart 
without license, exempting them, as usual, from paying tithe for what they 
occupied or tilled at their own costs; which Pope Lucius ill., in 1185, 
confirmed to Agnes, Prioress of Sinningthwaite, prohibiting any one from 
committing theft within their cloisters or granges. Pope Gregory VITI. 
likewiso confirmed the above : and King Henry II. confirmed the founder's 
donation. The Priory possessed considerable lands, rents, &c. in the county, 
and the advowson of the church of Bilton. At the Dissolution its revenues 
were of the clear annual value of .£60. 9s. 2d.; and the site was granted in 
1589 to Sir Thomas Tempest, Knt. The remains of this establishment, now 
a farm house, are moated round, and enclose about eight acres. The house 
is principally built of stone, and in the north front is a. circular arched door· 
way, with chevron and flower mouldings resting on cylindrical columns, with 
leaved capitals. The windows are of more modern workmanship, being 
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square-headed, of four lights. A small close on tho north side, called Chapel 
Garth, is the site of the chapel and burial-ground of this convent. The 
estate was formerly the property of Lord Wharton, who left it in the hands 
of trustees for the support of a Bible charity. 

The Living is a Discharged Vicarage, in the peculiar jurisdiction of the 
Dean and Chapter of York, and in the patronage of the Prebendary of Bilton 
in the Cathedral church of York, valued in the King's Books at £8. 16s., 
and now worth about £180. per ann. Allotments of land were assigned in 
lieu of tithes, for the township of Bilton, in 1776. The advowson was 
granted by Gundreda, the daughter of Bertram Haget, to the above-mentioned 
nunnery founded by her father. In 121}8 the Prioress and Convent submitted 
this church, with all their right to the same, to the ordination and disposition 
of Thomas Romayne, Archbishop of York, who, in the year 1300, founded a 
new prebend in the Cathedral of York, to which this church was annexed. 
The Rev. George Mackereth is the present incumbent. 

The Church (St. Helen) is an ancient edifice, comprising a nave and side 
aisles, a chancel and south aisle, a chantry chapel on the north side, and an 
ancient porch on the south side of the nave. The exterior and interior arches 
of the latter appendage are circular, and rest on columns. The south side of 
the nave has three square-headed windows, and the remainder of the church 
has several windows of various forms. The north side of the chancel bas 
some very curious sculptured blocks, one represents a man carrying a pig, 
and other grotesque heads. The interior is neat; three circular arches, 
resting on cylindrical pillars, with octagonal capitals, separate the aisles from 
the nave. The chancel arch is circular; and the chapel, which is raised 
above the rest of the church, is separated from the chancel by a pointed arch. 
In one of the aisles is a full-length effigy of a lady, supposed to be of the 14th 
century. This figure formerly occupied a different situation. 

The Village is small and straggling, and is situated about five miles E.N .E. 
of Wetherby, and nine miles W. by S. of York-a little off the road between 
these two places. 

The Wealeyan Chapel was built by subscription in 1845, on land given 
by Mr. Thomas Skilbeck. The School, erected by Hall Plumer, Esq., in 
1805, is supported by subscription, and by an annuity of £5. from Lady 
Hewley's charity, for which ten children are taught free. 

Bilwn Hall, the property of Andrew Montague, Esq., and the residence 
of the Rev. T. Jessop, D.D., Vicar of Wighill, stands about a quarter of a 
mile west of the village, and is a fine square built edifice. 

Bickerton Totcmhip formerly belonged to Bryan Rocliffe, a Baron of the 
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Exchequer; it is now the property of Andrew Montague, Esq. Area of the 
township, 1,080 acres; rateable value, £1,155.; amount of assessed property, 
£915.; population in 1851, 121 souls. 

The Village is small, and stands about 8! miles E.N.E. of Wetherby, and 
1! mile N.W. of Bilton. The river Nidd winds ita very devious course at 
a short distance north of it. The Manor Houre, now a farm house, in the 
occupation of Mr. Andrew Webster, is situated at the west side of the village, 
and appears to have been moated in ancient times. There is here a small 
Mt!thoda.t Chapel, which was erected in 1826. 

Tockwith Town~hip extends over an area of 1,610 statute acres, and is chiefly 
the property of A. Montague, Esq. (Lord of the Manor), the trustees of 
Messrs. J. Thackeray and Thos. N. Jackson, Mr. Robert Brogden, Mr. 
Robert Fawcett, Mr. William Wilstrop, Mr. Joseph Fowler, Mr. Hugh 
Wilson, Mr. R. Skilbeck, Mr. William Green, and Mr. Matthew Thomlinson. 
The amount of assessed property in the township is £~,168., and the popula­
tion in 1851 was 506 souls. Before the year 1114, Jeffry Fitz-Pain gave the 
chapel of All Saints, with two oxgangs of land here, to the Priory of Nostell, 
in the Deanery of Pontefract, which grant was confirmed by King Henry 1., 
and some of the Black Canons of that monastery were sent to reside here, and 
form what was called a cell to the northern house. The yearly revenues of 
this cell at the Dissolution in 1585, were valued at but £8. per ann., and the 
site of it was granted in 1541 to Thomas Leigh. 8/tN Kirk, now a farm· 
house occupied by Mr. Henry Tennant, is the site of this religious eetabliab· 
ment. The house, which is delightfully situated on the south bank of tbe 
Nidd, has been rebuilt, but it retains many marks of its antiquity. A lancet 
window bears the date of 1718, and a stone coffin and some ancient caned 
stones are built into a wall on the premises. A sword is preserved here, 
which is said to have been left in this bouse by a knight who slept in it. after 
the battle of Marston Moor, the house and estate being then the property of 
an ancestor of Mr. Tennant. 

The Vil«Jge, which is neat and well built, is situated about a mile south of 
the river Nidd, about 8t miles W. of York, 6! N.E. of Wetherby, and~ N. 
of Bilton. At the famous battle of Marston Moor, the front of the Parlia­
mentarian army extended as far as this village. (See page ~46.) There is 
a very large tree now growing in Tookwith, which measures twenty-seven feet 
in circumference. The Wesleyans have a good-sized chapel here, which was 
erected in 1798, at a cost of about .£600. The tithes were commuted for 
land and money payments at the inclosure in 179~. 

At COifJt/wrpe, or Colt~, in this neighbourhood, at a short dia&anc.e 
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from the church of that place, are the remains of a gigantic tree, called Golf· 
thorpe Oak, and surpassing in size the famous Greendale Oak at W elbeck, 
Notts. Its circumference, close to the ground, is about 60 feet, and its 
principal limit extends 45 feet from the bole. The leading branch was pros· 
trated by a storm in 1718 ; and when entire, its branches are said to have 
overspread an acre of ground. Its trunk is now quite hollow, and 24 persons 
have sat down within it; and there is standing room inside on the ground 
for 40 men. It is considered to be about 1500 years old. " When com· 
pared to this," says a learned writer, "all other trees are but children of the 
forest." Truly this venerable oak is unquestionably, in the words of Miss 
Blakeston, "a patriarch of the ancient forests of this country." 

BISHOPTHORPE.-This parish was formerly called Thorpe-uponrOme, or 
St. Andrew's Thorpe, from the dedication of its church, and obtained its 
present appellation in the reign of Henry ill., when Walter de Grey, Arch­
bishop of York purchased the Manor, erected a mansion upon it, and annexed 
it to the See of York, as an Archiepiscopal residence. The estate continued 
in the possession of the successive Archbishops till the Reformation; when 
both the house and Manor were sold to Walter White, Esq., for £525. 7s. 
6d., and the former remained his seat till the Restoration. The area of the 
parish is 760 acres; the amount of assessed property is £1,110., and the 
population in 1851 was 406 souls. The Archbishop is Lord of the Manor. 

The Church is a Discharged Vicarage, rated in the King's Books at £4., 
but now worth about £134. per annum. The church formerly belonged to 
the Priory of Sl Andrew at York. The Archbishop is the present patron, 
and the Vicar is the Rev. C. I. Smith. Archbishop de Grey founded a 
chantry in this church (or, according to some historians, in the private chapel 
of the palace), for the souls of King John and· himself, and of all the faithful 
deceased; and endowed it with a yearly rent of £6. 14s. out of the manor 
of Bishopthorpe. The Fabric (St. Andrew) was rebuilt in 1768, Archbishop 
Drummond giving the timber for the edifice, and £660. as his contribution 
to the work. He also gave the handsome pointed window of four lights at 
the east end, which was removed from Cawood Castle, a former residence of 
the Archbishops. The church having become dilapidated, it was extensively 
repaired or restored in 1842, solely by the late Archbishop (Harcourt), at an 
expense of about £1,500. It is cruciform in shape, and is in the style desig­
nated Carpenter's Gothic. The interior is very neat, and the windows are 
filled with stained glass. Archbishop Drummond is buried on the north 
side of the communion table, and on the same side is a tablet to the Rev. 
John Dealtry, nearly forty years Vicar of this parish, who died in 1797, 
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aged 89 years. The J'icarage Hou1e wllS considerably enlarged in 1826. 
Near the village is the A·rchiepuropal Palace. At various times there were 

palaces belonging to the See of York at Shirebum-in-Elmet, Cawood, Ripon, 
JJeverley, and Otley, besides that which stood in the Minster Close (Soe 
page -!60), and the one we have now to notice-all in this county; besidC8 
mansions in Southwell, in Nottinghamshire; at Battersea, in Surrey; and 
at Whitehall and York Place, in London. Bilhoptlwrpe Palace is a large 
irregular building, with a rather picturesque appearance from the side of the 
river Ouse.* It was, ll8 we have already observed, built by Archbishop de 
Grey in the 13th century, but it has since undergone so many alten;.tions, 
and so many additions have been made by subsequent prelates, that very 
little of the original structure now remains. Archbishop Dawes considerably 
improved it about the year 1720, and Archbishop Drummond greatly en­
larged it, and built the present front and entrance gateway, in 1768-6, with 
stone brought from the ruins of Cawood Castle; and it was enlarged and 
much improved by the late Archbishop. The Chapel was built by Arch­
bishop do Grey, and is a good specimen of the Early English style. The 
porter's lodge or gateway exhibits the pointed style of architecture, and pre­
sents a very neat appearance. Over the gateway are the Arms of the Sec 
and a clock, and the whole structure, which is embattled, is surmounted with 
n handsome crocketcd turret and pinnncles. Within the gateway is a large 
grass plot, neatly laid out. The front of the venerable edifice is in the sam<' 
style of architecture as the gateway. 'fhe principal entrance is into a 
spacious vestibule, by a handsome flight of stone steps, under a canopy, sup­
ported by light airy columns. The front is finished by an open battlement 
of stone, and each extremity is decorated with the stone figure of an eagle. 
The mansion has some fine apartments, the walls of which are hung with 
portraits, amongst which aro those of the Archbishops who havo filled the 
Seo since tho Reformation. The Chapel, which adjoins the library, is small, 
but extremely neat and appropriate. The floor is of black and white marble, 
and the wooden ceiling is in square compartments. In 1841 the edifice was 
entirely repaired, when the ancient and curiously-carved oak pulpit was res­
tored to its original colour, by removing the white paint; and the old high 
and coloured pews were replaced by oak sittings. Tho windows are long 
and narrow, except the one over the communion table, which is spacious; 
and they are filled with stained glass, executed by the late Mr. Peckitt, oC 

• A custom prevailed formerly with the sailors on board the t.rading brigs to fire t.hroe 
guns every time they passed; a signal which WIIS answered by a certain portion of ale 
being ilistributed amongst them by order of the Archbishop. 
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York·; that at the cast end exhibits the Arms of the Archbishops from the 
Reformation to the Revolution, impaled with those of the See. The pleasure 
grounds, which are partly behind the mansion, and occupy about six acres ou 
the bank of the Ouse, are rather confined, but laid out, and planted with a 
great variety of trees and shrubs, with considerable taste. The trial of 
Archbishop Scrope took place in Bishopthorpe Palace, as already related at 
page 148 of this volume .. 

The Village is small but pleasant, and is situated on the west side of the 
river Ouse, about three miles S. by W. from York The Natwnal School was 
rebuilt, and the schoolmaster's house restored, in 1846, nt the sole cost of 
Archbishop Harcourt, who at his death left the interest of £500. to the poor 
of Bishopthorpe. The notorious Guy Fawkes is said to have been a native 
of this place. (See page 637.) 

BoLTON PERCY.-This parish, which is bounded on the S.W. by the river 
Wharfe, comprises the township to which it gives its name, as well as those 
of Appleton-Roebuck, Colton, and Steeton. The entire parish contains 7,148 
acres, and in 1851 its inhabitants numbered 705. The amount of assessed 
property is £9,887. The area of the township of Bolton Percy is 2,170 
acres ; its population is 27 5 ; and the rateable value £4,053.; assessed pro­
perty, £8,346. The soil is generally a strong clay, with portions of a lighter 
kind, the surface is level, and interspersed with small plantations and woods. 

The manor or township of Bolton Percy, or of Bodoltone as it is termed in 
Domesday, anciently contained eight carucates, and was held by Robert de 
Percy of the heirs of Henry de Percy, Baron of Topcliffe, who held it of the 
King in capite, at the rent of four shillings per annum. King Edward I. 
granted a license to Robert de Percy, to embattle his mansion house at Bolton. 
A great part of a wood in this place was gi;en by one of the Percys to the 
building of York Minster. (See page 400.) The manor aftenvards descended 
to the Lonls of Beaumont. King Edward I. enriched Henry Lord Beau­
mont with many estates, and among other privileges he granted him a 
charter of free warren in all his demesne estates here and elsewhere. Wil­
liam Viscount Beaumont, who had been a Laneastriau, and was taken 
prisoner in Towton Field, in 14tH (See page lo7), and attainted, but res­
tored to his titles and estates in the reign of Henry VIT., and died without 
issue, was lord of this place. The manor of Bolton Percy now belongs to Sir 
W. M. E. Milner, Bart., and the other chief landowners are Lonl Londes­
borough, the Rector of the parish, and Mr. William Green. 

Tho Church is a Rectory, valued in the King's Books, at £39. 15s. 2&d., 
and in the parliamentary returns at £150.; net income £1,540. In the 
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reign of Henry I., Picot de Percy, gave the church of Bolton to the Canons 
of St. Oswald of Nostel, which grant was confirmed to them by Henry I . 
and II. It is now in the gift of the Archbishop of York, and the present 
Rector is the Rev. Wm. Venables Vernon Harcourt, third son of the late 
Archbishop. All tithes commuted in 1797. The present Edifice (All Saints 
or St. Andrew's) was built by the Rector, Thomas Parker, who died in 1428, 
and is the largest and best built church in the Ainsty. It consists of a nave 
and aisles, a chancel and chapel on the north side, and a well-proportioned 
tower at the west end, the whole of cut stone and in the Gothic style. Each 
side of the nave is made into four divisions by handsome buttresses; the 
windows are of three lights, and the finish of the aisles is a parapet with 
grotesque masks at the extremities. On the south side is a porch, chiefly of 
wood, which is covered with ivy. The chancel, which is higher than the 
nave, and apparently of later construction, is made into three divisions by 
buttresses, which finish above the parapet, in pinnacles with crocketed caps 
and finials. The el18t window is of five lights, and the windows of the sides 
of the chancel are large, and of three lights each. On the apex of the roof 
is a cross flory. The interior is spacious and handsome, the nave is divided 
from the aisles by four pointed arches, which rest on octagonal columns, and 
the large chancel arch rests on three cylinders conjoined, with octagonal 
capitals. The roof of the nave and chancel is timber, exhibiting a depressed 
arch resting on plain blocks. The sedilia, on the south side of the commu­
nion table, is in a beautiful state of preservation, and the piscina is perhaps 
the most perfect and elegant in the county. The ancient stone altar was 
used in flooring the church. Tho stained glass in this church is \"ery 
splendid. That beautiful article exhibits in the east window four full-length 
figures of Bishops, and St. Andrew in the centro, with tha Royal Arms of 
Old France and England, Percy, &c. A small organ W118 presented by the 
Misses Milner, in 184 7. The font is circular, with a curious cover of 
wood. The monuments are numerous, and there are several to the families 
of Fairfax and Milner. Amongst those to the former family is a handsome 
one attached to the Cl18t end of the south aisle, consisting of two Corinthian 
columns supporting an arched pediment, and bearing a long Latin inscription 
to the memory of the celebrated Parliamentarian General, Lord Ferdinanda 
Fairfax, who died in 1647, aged 64. Tho chantry chapel, in which is a 
piscina, is now used as a vestry, and the tower contains a clock and three 
good bells. 

The Village is small and scattered, and stands about four miles E. by S. 
of Tatlcastel'. The :North Eastern Haihmy pl\sses through the parish, and 
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has an intermediate station near the village. This station is 7 miles 40 
chains from York. The School near the church was erected in 1790, and is 
chiefly supported by subscription. The poor have the interest of about 
£530. left by several donors. 

Bolton Lodge, the residence of Geo. Hamilton Thompson, Esq., Lieut.-CoJ. 
of the regiment of East York Militia, is a good mansion pleasantly situated. 

Appleton-Roebuck Towmhip comprises an area of 2,780 acres, and a popu­
lation of 638 persons. Its rateable value is £3,593., and the amount of 
assessed property is £3,529. William Lord Latimer, who was summoned to 
Parliament from the 42nd of Edward III. (1869), to the 8rd of Richard II. 
(1400), died possessed of this manor, leaving it, with his other estates, to his 
only daughter and heir, Elizabeth, the wife of John Lord Nevile, of Raby. 
The township now belongs to Sir W. M. E. Milner (Lord of the Manor), 
and a few freeholders. 

The ViUage, which is scattered, lies in the vale of a rivulet nearly two 
miles N.E. of Bolton Percy; nearly eight S.S.W. of York; one W. of the 
North Eastern Railway; six E. from Tadcaster, and about one and a half 
from each of the rivers Ouse and Wharfe. The WeBleyan Chapel in the 
village was erected in 1818, at a cost of £500., and is a neat square brick 
building. The National School was built by subscription in 1817, and is 
chiefly supported by the Rector of the parish ; and the Infant School was 
erected in 1841, by the Misses Milner, by whom it is solely supported, in 
memory of the day on which the present Sir W. Milner attained his majority. 

Nun-Appleton Hall is situated in this township, about one milo and a 
quarter from the village of Appleton. It occupies the site of a Priory for 
nuns of the Cistercian Order, which was founded by Adeliza or Alice de St. 
Quintin, in the latter part of tho reign of King Stephen ; or according to the 
Harleian MSS., by Adeliza and her son Robert, in the 5th of J{ing John 
(1204.) It was endowed with considerable lands, and was dedicated to" God, 
St. Mary, and St. John the Evangelist, in pure and perpetual almes." Tho 
clear annual income of this establishment at its dissolution in tho reign of 
Henry VIII., when it consisted of a prioress and eighteen nuns, was £78. 9s. 
10d. Tanner says the site of this Nunnery was granted in 1542, to Robert 
Darknall; but among the abstracts of rolls called Ori[Jinalia, the homages of 
Guido and Thomas Fairfax are recorded for the house and site. ·Another 
grant of the same is recorded, in the new edition of the Monasticon, to Sir 
William Fayrfax, Knt., and Humphrey Shelley. Upon this site Thomas 
Lord Fairfax built a handsome house (in which he died), which, with the 
estate, was purchased by Mr. Al<lennan Milner, a merchant of LeedR, who, 

Digitized by Goog le 



662 THE AJNSTY WAPENTAKE. 

upon the marriage of his son, Sir William Milner, Bart., created in 1716, 
settled it upon him and his son. It is now the seat of Sir William Mordaunt 
Edward Milner, the 5th Baronet, who succeeded to the title and estates on 
the death of his father, on the 24th of March, 1855. The present Baronet. 
who is now one of the representatives of tho city of York in Parliament. was 
born at Nun-Appleton, on the 20th of June, 1820; married in 1844 the 
third daughter of Frederick Lumley, Esq., of Tick.hill Castle, in this county, 
niece of the fourth Earl of Scarborough. The mansion is a large and hand· 
some edifice, situated in a picturesque spot. and surrounded by an extensive 
and well wooded park. The house, gardens, and pleasure grounds, have 
been considerably improved by tlle late Baronet. The flower garden with 
its beautiful walks, elegant arbours, splendid parterres, and charming lake 
covered with rare aquatic plants, is a great object of interest. The park 
displays much interesting scenery. 

In the same township is an ancient house and farm called W oolas, now in 
the occupation of Mr. William Wilstrop, which appears to hafe been a place 
of consequence at an early period. The moat, with which the building was 
surrounded, may yet be traced. 

Colt<m Township extends over 1,129 acres, the property of Wm. Sawrey 
Merritt, Esq., of Rokeby (Lord of the Manor), and a few freeholders. The 
amount of assessed property is £1,630.; rateable value, £2,282.; and in 18.H 
it contained 1H inhabitants, The Village is small and scattered, and stands 
21 miles N.E. of Bolton Percy, and 6! S.W. of York. The township is 
intersected by the North Eastern Railway. The School was endowed by 
Mr. Merritt with £4. per Mnum. 

Colton Lodge, the residence of Captain '1'. C. Stuart, is a good house near 
the village. 

Steeton Towruhip contains 1,060 acres, and 77 inhabitants; tllc amount 
of assessed property is £1,382. There is no village, but there arc fifteen 
inhabited houses scattered over the township, and tlle place is about 3 miles 
N.W. of Bolton Percy, 7 S.S.W. of York, and 3t E. by N. of Tadcaster. 
This place anciently belonged to the family of De Steeton, and it became 
afterwards the seat of Sir Guy Pairfax, Knt., one of the Judges of the King's 
Bench in the times of Edward IV. and Henry VII., and it has ever since 
continued in the younger branch of that family, The remains of Stset<n~ 
HaU, the once splendid mansion in which the Fairfax family dwelt for ages. 
now consists of the centre of the building, which formerly had wings. and a 
small chapel. The hall is now in the occupation of a farm<'r, and the chapel, 
which is of very early erection, is now used as n granary. "This mansion, 
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until lately," says .Allen, who wmte in 1fl2Q, "contained the sword and 
chair of the great Lord Fairfax, which were removed by Mr. Fairfax to his 
seat" at Newton-Kyme. 

Stre.etlwttses is a hamlet partly in the township of Stccton, and partly in 
tho parish of Bilbrough, 8 miles "X .E. of Tadcaster. This hamlet took its 
name from its vicinity to the Roman road from York to Tadcaster. 

CoPM.\~THORPE.-'fhe chapelry of Copmanthorpc and the township of 
Holdgate, though locnlly situated in the Ainsty W apcntake, are parts and 
parcels of the parish of St. Mary, Bishophill Junior, in the city of York. 
The area of tho township is 1,610 acres; its rateable value is £4,675.; and 
the population in 181H was 816. The North Eastern Railway passes through 
the township, and there is a small station on that line, ncar the hamlet. 
The principal landowners arc F. H. Wood, Esq. (Lord of the Manor), Yar· 
burgh Yarburgh, Esq., Mr. Richard Dean, and Mr. Robert. Lofthouse. 

The ViUaue stands about 4 miles S.S.W. of York, by road, and 8 miles 
ra chains by railway. Adjoining the hamlet is a field cnlled Templ-e Field, 
in which, according to tradition, anciently stood a temple, but of what des­
cription, or to whom dedicated, there is no record; but stones, evidently 
once parts of pillars, and other curiosities, have been found in the field and 
in the fields adjoining ; and similar ones appear also in the walls of some of 
the oldest houses. The township is called Temple Copmanthorpe in old 
documents. The Chapel is a plain oblong stone building, with a bell turret. 
A faculty was granted in 17 50, for inclosing a chapel yard as a place of 
intenncnt. The tithes were commuted a few years ago for .£498. 15s.; of 
which, N80. for the great tithes, are payable to the Dean and Chapter of 
York, and £68. 15s. to the Vicar of tho parish, for the small tithes ; the 
former having also a glebe of 25 acres, and the latter a glebe of one acre. 
The Sclwol is endowed with £4. per annum. 

Hold!Jafe or Holgate Tou·n1hip lies on the western side of tho Ouse, and 
fonns a suburb of the city of York. Its area is 250 acres; rateable value, 
.£1Hl2.; population, 18-i. The York, Newcastle, and Berwick Railway inter­
sects the township. The Hamlet is small, and is situated about one milo 
W. by 8. of York. A bridge was erected over the rivulet here in 1824, and 
in the bouse ncar the bridge long resided, and died in 1826, Lindley Murray, 
the celebrated grammarian. (See page 641.) Between Holgate IUld Acomb 
arc very extensive nursery grounds belonging to Messrs. James Backhouse 
and Son; and about a mile from Holgate is Severns' Hill, long popularly 
considered to have been a mound made by the Romans, in memory of the 
Emperor Severns. (Sec page ISS.) 
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Upper Poppkton, another out township in the parish of St. Mary, Bishop­
hill Junior, will be noticed at o. subsequent page. 

ltfiddletlwrpe is an out township in the parish of St. Mary, Bishophill 
Senior, York, situated on the west bank of the river Ouse, about 2 miles 
S.W. from York. Its area is 607 acres, and the number of its inhabitants 
in 1851 was 88. Middlethorpe HaU, a fine mansion, is now in the occupa­
tion of the Misses Walker; "Middlethorpe Lodge is the residence of James 
Meek, Esq.; and the Manor House is occupied by Henry Tower, Esq. 
Leaden bullets and a steel breast-plate were dug up in this township in 1812. 

HEALAOOH.-The lands of this parish anciently belonged to the Pri.ory of 
Healaugh Park, which was established here at an early period. From the 
first charter of its foundation "it appears that before the year 1203, Bertram 
Haget gave to Gilbert, a monk of Marmonstier, and to his successors, " the 
lands of the hermitage or desert which is in the wood of Healaugl1, viz. :­
that land toward the east where the water is wont to run and passe from the 
bridge called Lairbridge, to the passage anciently called Sangneat," in order 
to found a religious house. A church, dedicated to St. John the Evangelist, 
was then built on the site of the hermitage, and some religious persons were 
fixed here by Jeffery Haget, son of Bertram; and about the year 1218, a 
Priory of regular Black Canons was established and endowed on the same 
foundation, by Jordan de S. Maria, and Alice his wife, who was grand­
daughter to Bertram Haget. Edward IT. granted to the Prior, free warren 
in all his demesne lands in Healaugh, Wighall, &c. The possessions of the 
Priory principally laid in the vicinity of the house. At its suppression, in 
the reign of Henry VIIT., here were fourteen canons, whose revenues 
amounted to £86. 5s. lid., according to Speed. The site of the Priory was 
granted, in 1540, to James Gage, Esq., who had a license in the same year 
to alienate it to Sir Arthur D'Arcy, Knt., and his heirs, and it was afterwards 
the residence of Lord Wharton. The present proprietor of the parish of 
Healaugh is 8. Brooksbank, Esq. Area of the parish, 2,800 acres; popu­
lation in 1851, 223 souls; assessed property, £4,461. 

The Living is a Discharged Vicarage, valued in the King's Books at £6., 
but now worth nearly £100. The advowson was, previous to the Reforma­
tion, in the Prior of Healaugh Park, who presented as early as 1271. The 
patron isS. Brooksbank, Esq., and the Vicar is the Rev. E. H. Brooksbank. 

The Church (St. John the Evangelist) is situated on the highest ground in 
the neighbourhood, and appears to have been originally built about tho period 
of the Norman Conquest, but a great part of it was rebuilt nearly seventy 
years ago. It is a neat edifice, and consists of a nave, chancel, and north 
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aisles, and a square tower at the west end. The latter appendage contains 
three bells, and is surmounted by a modem cross. On the south side of the 
nave is a curious arched. entrance of Saxon workmanship, in fine prese"ation, 
consisting of four mouldings; the inner one is plain, springing from square 
capital and plain jamb ; the second, which rests on a square c~ed capital 
and a circular column, bas a fine series of beaked heads; the third is com· 
posed of human beads, grotesque figures, and masks, resting on a similar 
column ; and the exterior one is a fine chevron moulding, rising from a square 
jamb. The interior of the nave bas all the characteristics of early Norman 
architecture. In the aisle of the chancel is a handsome table monument of 
alabaster, bearing the recumbent effigies of a knight in plain armour, between 
two ladies, representing Thomas, Lord Wharton, who died in 1568, and his 
two wives. The ViUage, which is very neat and picturesque, is situated 
about 3 miles N.N.E. of Tadcaster. Near the church are the square plinth 
and octangular shaft of an ancient stone cross. 

Healaugh HaU, the handsome seat of S. Brooksbank, Esq., is situated on 
elevated ground in a well wooded park, on. the north bank of the Wharfe, 
about 3 miles S. of the village, and one mile W. of Tadcaster. Healaugh 
Manor House, the remains of the above-mentioned Priory, is now a farm 
house, in the occupation of Mr. William J. Jackson. When perfect, this 
bouse must have formed a spacious quadrangle, of which about three quar­
ters of the east side remain perfect. It is of two stories, with an embattled 
parapet, and square-beaded windows, of three lights each. The ancient 
moat· encloses about three acres, and within it is another farm bouse, erected 
about a quarter of a century ago, and occupied by Mr. William Jackson. 
These houses, which are distinguished by the names of the East and West 
Manor House, are situated about one mile S. W. of Healaugh. 

KIRK-H.urMERTON.-Tbis parish contains the townships of Kirk-Ham· 
merton and Wilstrop, which are divided by the river Nidd; the former 
township is situated in the upper division of the Wapentake of Claro, and 
the latter in the Ainsty Wapentake. The whole parish contains 2,018 acres, 
of which about 80 acres are woodland, and of the remainder two-thirds are 
arable, and one-third pasture ; the soil is very rich. Amount of assessed 
property, .£2,190. Population in 18111, 873 souls, The area of Kirk-Ham· 
merton township is 996 acres, the rateable value of which is .£1,272. ; popu· 
lation, 291. The principal landowners are Alexander Christie, Esq., James 
Christie, Esq., Andrew Montague, Esq., and Me88rs. W. Cass, E. Clark, 
John Stephenson, and John Jolitfe, the Lord of the Manor of this township. 

The Lit!ing is a Perpetual Curacy, in the gift of the Rev. Thomas White, 
4 Q 
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the Incumbent ; the income is about .£150., and there is a good glebe house. 
Tithes commuted in 1765. The Church (St. John the Baptist) stands on a 
considerable eminence, and is an ancient edifice, cons_isting of a nave, chancel, 
north aisle, and a square tower. It was enlarged in 1885, at a cost of .£100. 
when eighty-five sittings were added. 

The Villag~. which is small but clean, stands about 9t miles N.W. of 
York, and half a mile distant from the road between York and Borough· 
bridge. The scenery is picturesque, and the views extensive. The railway 
from York to Knaresborough and H&JTOgate is but a short distance N .E. of 
the village. 

Willtrop T0ttm1hip (in the Ainsty) contains 1,0~~ acres and 8ll inhabitants. 
Andrew Montague, Esq., is the proprietor of the soil. Wilatrop, which 
has no village, is situated about 7! miles W. by N. of York. It adjoins 
Marston Moor, the scene of the great battle between the Royalista and the 
Parliament's party, in 1644; and the graves of the slain in that dreedful 
conflict may yet be seen near Wilstrop Wood. (See page 249.) In cutting 
down a part of this wood a few years ago, the workmen found several lead 
bullets embedded in the trees; and bullets, cannon balls, broken swords, and 
horse shoes, have been frequently found in this locality. 

Wil.ttrop HaU, an ancient mansion, which stands about ~ miles E. of the 
parish church, is now a fum house in the occupation of .Mr. John Harrison. 
The moat ID&yyet be traced by which this house was surrounded. 

LoNo MARSTON.-The townships of Long Marston, Angram, and Hutton· 
Wandesley, are comprised in this parish. The area of the entire parish is 
4,281 acres; population in 1851, 609 souls; amount of assessed property, 
£4,468. The township of Marston, of which Andrew Montague, Esq., is 
chief proprietor, contains ~.540 acres, and 421 inhabitants. Ra.We value, 
.£1,824. The surface is generally flat, and the soil is a stiff clay alternated 
with portions of lighter quality. The Church is a Rectory, rated in the 
King's Books at .£24. Ss. 9d., present income about .£866. Patron, Lord 
Wenlock; Rector, Rev. Thomas Daynell. The Rectory House is a good 
building. The tithes were commuted for land in 1766. "In the year 
1400," says Allen," a commission was granted to the parishioners, bee&uae 
their old church was ruinous and far distant from their habitations, to tr'an&­

late the same from tho.t place to another chapel in the parish, and there to 
build themselves a new church, provided that they kept enclosed the ceme­
tery where the old church stood." 

The present Edi.jiu is a plain building, in the Decorated English style, 
comprising a nave, chancel, and north aisle, with a south porch and a square 
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west tower. The latter appendage, which contains three bells, is embattled, 
and has croeketed pinnacles at the angles. Within the porch is a circular 
arched doorway, and in the interior, the north aisle is divided from the body 
by three bold circular arches, resting on circular columns with square capitals. 
The chancel and north aisle are divided by a pointed arch. "The existence 
of the Norman circular arches in this building," writes Mr. Allen," shows 
that the parishioners retained a great portion of the former chapel, and that 
they used their license to build a new church for the purpose of enlarging 
the existing building, and converting it into a parish church." In the 
chancel is a handsome monument, consisting of two recesses, with arabesque 
work, to J. Thwaites, Esq., who died in 1602; and a handsome tablet to 
Sir Percy Dawes, Bart., who died in 1782. 

The ViUag6, which is on the road from York to Wetherby, and which from 
its length, being rather dispersed, is called Long Marston, stands about 7 t 
miles W. from York. The moor near the village is the scene of a most 
sanguinary battle, which occurred on the 2nd of July, 164.4., between the 
army of Charles I. and the Parliament's forces, wherein the former were 
totally defeated. (See page 24.4..) Bullets, cannon balls, and other remains 
of this desperate combat are occasionally tumed up by the plough. · 

The Wuleyan Chop6l was erected in 1850, by subscription, at an expense 
of about £200. The building is of brick and contains about 160 sittings. 
The Sclwol is partly supported by an endowment of £10. per ann., and partly 
by subscription. Other charities in 1826, £108. ISs. per ann., besides a 
share of Christopher's Topham's charity for apprenticing children . 

.A.ngram TOI.DfUkip contains 518 aeres, of the rateable value of £875.; and 
the number of its inhabitants is 67. Lord W enloek is the sole proprietor of 
the soil. The Hamla, which consists chiefly of a few farm houses, stands 
about 2 miles S.E. of Long Marston. 

Hvtton-Wanduley Tm~m~Jkip, which is also the property of Lord Wenlock, 
extends over an area of 1,228 aeres; rateable value, £990. ; population in 
1851, 121 souls. The Hamlet comprises a few houses between Long Marston 
and Angram. Hutton Hall, the seat of the Hon. Captain Robert Neville 
Lawley, is a fine brick mansion, apparently erected in the latter part of the 
17th century. The moat is visible on its north-east side. 

MooR MoNKTON parish includes the townships of Moor Monkton and 
Hessay ; its area is 4,280 aeres, of which number 8,110 form the former 
township; population of the whole parish 421 souls; population of Moor 
Monkton only, 280. Rateable value of the latter plaee, £1,760. Assessed 
property of the whole parish, £8,94.6. The river Nidd, at its confluence here 
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with the Ouse, forms the north-west boundary of the parish. The land is 
chiefly arable; the soil is generally a strong clay, and the surface is leTel. 
This place anciently belonged to the family of U ghtred or Oughtre, but Sir 
Charles Slingsby, Bart., is the present lord of the soil. 

The Living is a Rectory, Yalued in the King's Books at £16. 19s. 7d., and 
in the patronage of the Crown. It is now worth about £700. per ann., and 
the Rector is the Rev. H. W. Yeoman. The tithes were commuted in 1786. 

The Church (All Saints) stands about three quarters of a mile south of the 
village, and is an ancient edifice, having a nave, chancel, and south porch, 
with a square tower of brick at the west end. In the west front of it is a 
curious piece of sepulchral sculpture, representing a lady in a niche, and 
before her a blank shield. The porch has a Norman entrance, and there is 
a Norman window on the north side of the church; the other windows are 
square-headed. The interior of the church is plain, with no arch of separa­
tion between the nave and the chancel. The &ctory Houu is situated about 
a mile S. of the village, and is a neat modem brick building. 

The Village is planted upon the southern bauk of the river Nidd, about 6 
miles N. W. of York. 

Red HOWle, the ancient seat of the Slingsby family, is situated upon the 
banks of the river Ouse, and is now in the occupation of Mr. Hops, farmer. 
The house, of which only the centre remains, was built by Sir H. Slingsby, 
in the reign of Charles I., and the chapel was built by his father. The chapel 
is entire, and paved with Italian marble, and the east window is embellished 
with painted glass. The view from the terrace is extensiTe. Red House 
and Scagglethorpe (in this parish) were purchased about 1562 by F. Slingsby, 
Esq., of R. Ougbtre, Esq., whose ancestors had resided in this neighbourhood 
from tho time of Edward III. The site of the mansion of this family is at a 
small distance from the west front of Red House. 

Hmay Townahip contains 1,120 acres, and a population of 141 souls. 
Amount of assessed property, £1,107. This place was given to the Abbey of 
St. Mary at York, by Osbern de Archie, aud continued in their possession till 
the dissolution. It is now held by various proprietors. The moor was en­
closed in 1880. On the eve of the dreadful battle of Marston Moor, in 1644, 
the forces of the Parliament were drawn up in battle array on Hessay Moor, 
expecting to encounter Prince Rupert and the Royalists on their way to York. 
(See page 248.) 

The Village, which is neat and well-built, stands a little to the S. of the 
road from York to Knaresborough, about 5! miles W. by N. of the former 
place. The School, which is supported by the Rector of the parish, is a brick 
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building erected a few years ago by subscription, aided by a government 
grant. lt is used as a Cha~l of Eau on Sundays and holidays. There 
is a residence for the teacher adjoining the school. The W uleyan Cha~l in 
the village was erected in 1824, and is a small brick building. 

Skiplwidgs is a small hamlet in this parish and that of Nun Monkton, and 
is so called from the bridg~a neat stone structure of three arches-which 
crosses the Nidd at this place. 

PoPPLETON.-The parish of Nether or Water Poppleton lies on the west 
side of the river Ure or Ouse, and contains 1,160 acres, of the rateable value 
of about £1,800. The population in 1861 was 844 souls. Assessed property, 
£1,742. The principal landowners are A. Montague, Esq. (Lord of the 
Manor), Mr. Richd. Wamford, and Mr. Henry Simpson. The soil is various 
but rich, except on the moorland, which is poor, and the scenery is pleasing. 

The Uf!ing is a Perpetual Curacy, in the patronage of the Archbishop of 
York, and incumbency of the Rev. C. J. Camidge. Annual income about 
£155. The Church (All Saints) consists of a nave and chancel, with a bell 
turret, in which are two bells of reverberating sound. It was restored, except 
the chancel, in 1842, at a cost of about £400. Here are some monuments 
to the family of Archbishop Hutton, who resided in this parish in 1620. 
The Parwnags Houu is a neat residence. 

The Village is respectable, and stands near the river Ouse, about 4 miles 
N.W. of York. The railway from York to Newcastle passes east of the 
church, after which it crosses the Ouse on a bridge of three semi-elliptical 
arches, thirty feet above the bed of that river. Prince Rupert, with a part 
of his army, is said to have crossed the river at this place on his way to the 
battle of Marston Moor, in 1644. (See page 244.) The Reform Methodists 
have a place of worship here. The School is endowed with £6. 16s. 6d. from 
Dodsworth's charity (See page 665), and is further supported by voluntary 
subscription. The Manor Houu, built out of the remains of the ancient 
seat of the Huttons, stands near the church, and is the residence of Mr. 
Henry Simpson. 

UPPER or LAND PoPPLETos adjoins the last parish, and is a Chapslry 
chiefty belonging to the parish of St. Mary, Bishophill Jun., York; part of 
the township is in Nether Poppleton. The area of Upper Poppleton is 1,840 
acres ; population, 415; amount of assessed property, £1,6o2. The lands 
here formerly belonged to the Abbey of St. Mary, York, to which they were 
given by Osbem de Archis, almost at its first institution. They now belong 
chiefty to Andrew Montague, Esq. (Lord of the Manor), and Messrs. T. 
Kirk, M. Richmond, J. Kirk, R. Hill, and R. Nelson. 
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The Village contains a few respectable houses, and is situated about 8! 
miles W.N.W. of York. The Chap& (All Saints) is a plain building, having 
a nave and chancel. The Living is a Curacy, annexed to the Vicarage of 
St. Mary, Bishopbill Junior, York. The tithes for the manor of Poppleton 
were commuted for land in 1769. There is a small Msthodilt Chap& here. 
The Manor Hou88 is now a farm house, in the occupation of Mr. W. Fearby. 

RuFFORTH.- The parish of Ruffortb covers an area of ~.4~0 acres, whereof 
about three-fourths are arable, and the rest pasture, with a little woodland ; 
the surface is generally flat, and the soil of various qualities. The rateable 
value is £1,469.; the population, ~99 souls; and the amount of aasessecl 
property, £2,998. The principal landowners are G. Marwood, Esq., the 
Trustees of a Charity, Mrs. Siddall~ the Earl of Harewood, J. N. Clayton, 
Esq. (Lord of the Manor), T. Barstow, Esq., and A. Montague, Esq. 

The Living is a Discharged Vicarage, valued in the Liber Regis at £4. 
13s. 4d., but now worth about £100. per ann.; the patronage and impropri­
tion belong to Mrs. Thompson, and the Rev. - Watson is the incumbent. 
The tithes were commuted in 1794. The Building (All Saints) is small and 
mean, and comprises a nave and chancel, with a small wooden turret at the 
west end, containing two bells. The brick porch on the south side was 
erected in 1798, and within it is a circular headed doorway. The interior is 
plain. The School is endowed with £4. per ann., bequeathed by Dr. Colson. 

TADCASTER. 

BESIDES the town of Tadcaster, the parish comprises the townships of 
Catterton, Oxton, and Stuttoo-with-Hazlewood. The town is divided by the 
river Wharfe, and the parts are called Tadcaster East and Tadcaster West. 
The river Wharfe is the boundary of the Ainsty, and the parts of this parish 
situated in that division of the county, are the townships of Tadcaster 
East, Catterton, and Oxton. The area of the whole parish is 6,010 acres, 
and the population in 1851 was 2,979 souls. The town is comprised in 
the townships of East and West Tadcaster; the area of the former town­
ship is 555 acres, and that of the latter 1,4 70 acres; the population of the 
former is 834, and that of the latter 1,693. Total population of Tadcaster 
town, 2,527 souls, viz. ; 1,237 males, and 1,290 females. The soil of the 
parish is generally fertile, and the substratum abounds with freestone of 
admirable quality. The principal land owners are Colonel Wyndham (Lord 
of the Manor), Mrs. Bosquart, Mrs. Fletcher, Charles Shann, Esq., Mr. W. 
Smith, and Mr. R. A. Bean. Assessed property in the parish, £10,061. 

Tadcaster is supposed to have been the Roman station denominated C.fl4. 
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caria, so named, it is conjectured, from the nature of the soil, which abounds 
with calx or limestone. The Britons, Saxons, and Northern English, after 
the manner of the Latins, call the limestone Calc, and the Theodosian code 
names the burners of lime Calcta1"immi8; so that it is not improbable that this 
town had the name of Calcaria from the circumstance of the lime. There is 
a hill nesr the town, called Kelk-bar, or Keubar, which seems to retain 110me­
thing of the old name. The town stands near the great consular way to the 
chief military station of the Romans, Eboracum (York), and it is said to 
have been considered by that people as one of the outposts or gates of that 
great station. Many Roman coins, urns, and other antiquities, have been 
found here; and Mr. Roach Smith bas pointed out a very fine semi-circular 
arched bridge over the little river Cock, near its entrance into the Wharfe, 
about half a mile below Tadcaster, in the Roman road leading southward 
from that town, which he considered as undoubtedly Roman. The masonry 
of the bridge is massive, and remarkably well preserved, and the stones are 
carefully squared, and sharply cut, and on some of them the mason's mark R 
is distinctly visible. The distance, too, of Tadcaster from York, exactly 
agrees with that which is given by Antoninus, in his Itinerary. But Mr. 
Dodsworth, and some other antiquaries, place the Calcaria of the Romans 
higher up the Wharfe, at Newton Kyme, about 1t mile west of Tadcaster, 
near St. Helen's ford, where Roman coins, and other relics of that people, 
have been discovered. Indeed every argument urged in favour of Tadcaster 
being the station, equally supports the opinion of its being at Newton Kyme. 
Leland, in his Itinerary, says, "Tadcaster standeth on the nether ripe of 
Wharfe river, and is a good thoroughfare. The bridge here over Wharfe 
hath eight fair arches of stone. Sum say that it was last made of part of the 
ruines of the old Castelle of Tadcaster, a mighty great hill; dikes and garth 
of this Castella on Wharfe be yet seen a little above the bridge. It seemeth 
by the plot that it was a right statelie thing. Tadcaater standeth a mile 
from Watling Street, tendeth more to Caer luel, and crosseth over Wbarfe at 
a place called St. Helen's forde, lt mile above Tadcaster, and the other ripe 
is St. Helen's Chapel." 

Gough, in his A.dditionl to Camden, writes, " Tadcaster is the outbound& 
of the Ainsty, and may be said to be the very outport or gate of the city of 
York ; the Ainety reaches no further than the middle of Tadcaater Bridge. 
Here seems to have been an ancient castrum, camp, or castle, in the time of 
the Romans. The Saxons would probably call it EllUl CtJ~Wr, and the more 
modem Anglo-Saxons, T'aud CMter, which is easily changed to Tadcaster; 
and this I take to be the origin of the present name, and that it bath nothing 
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to do with Calcaria. There is near the church great foundations of a Castle, 
and the place is called Castle Hill." When eminent antiquaries differ in 
opinion so widely, it is difficult to speak with any degree of certainty-but 
to sum up the whole, we incline to the opinion that Tadcaster is the site 
of the Roman Station Calcaria. 

Here, or at Newton Kyme, was a convent, founded about the year 665. 
Bede relates that Reina, the first female who assumed the habit of a nun in 
this part of the country, retired to Calt:acaUr, where she built a residence. 
In all the civil wars in England, Tadcaster was regarded as a post of con­
siderable importance, and the possession of it was repeatedly contested. 
During the struggle between Charles I. and his Parliament, in 164~, the 
Earl of Newcastle, with 4,000 men, attacked the Parliamentarians at ·this 
place, which were commanded by Sir Thomas Fairfax. (See page 235.) Of 
the ancient Castle, which stood near the church, and by which the place 
was defended in feudal times, few remains are left ; but from these remains, 
and the appearance of the ground, it seems to have been a very large one, 
and moated round. Some few vestiges of a trench may yet be discovered, 
surrounding a part of the town. 

TADCASTER is a market town, situated, as we have obsened, upon the river 
Wbarfe, about 10 miles S.W. from York, 14 N.E. from Leeds, and 189 
N.N.W. of London. The river is navigable up to the town for boats of about 
100 tons burden. The bridge which crosses the Wbarfe is of nine arches; it 
was rebuilt in the beginning of the 18th century, and is one of the finest in 
the county.* The greater part of Tadcaster is on the south side of the river, 
in the Wapentake of Barkston Ash. 

The Toum is neat, well built, and pleasantly situated ; the streets, leading 
respectively to the York, Ferrybridge, and Leeds roads, are disposed in the 
form of a cross. The principal street is very wide and pleasant, and the 
whole is lighted with gas. The branch of the North-Eastem Railway from 
Church Fenton to Harrogate passes by the west side of the town, where 
there is a neat station, and the Bolton Percy station, on the main line, is 

• The Whade nma very low here in dry eeaaons, which oooaaioned the famous v~ 
of Dr. Eades, afterwards Dean of Winchester, who, passing this ny in the summer 
time, wrote a Latin distich, which, traDalated, runs thus :-

"Oar m-ID~ cu tad DO dleme, 
Ba& a be briAip, aad IIJiderlt 110 ~trea~a.• 

The Dootor, however, returning the same way in the winter, thus commemorate& the 
altered tcene ~ 

'' Tbe- Wore CHI 'hdcuter -jut, 
Bill DOW IN&& 11oocJ1 ft -, Dll cllrt for dall." 
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about three miles east of it. There are flour mills on the banks of the river, 
and several stone quarries in the neighbourhood, but there are no manufac· 
tures carried on in the town, though it is well situated for that purpose. A 
beautiful walk from the west side of the bridge leads to what is called Smaw'• 
WeU, about lt mile from the town. The scenery along this walk, on the 
margin of the stream, is truly delightful. The just-mentioned well was for­
merly much resorted for its medicinal properties, but now it is nearly filled 
up and lost. An ancient farm house, about a quarter of a mile distant from 
the well, is called Smaw's or Small's Farm, and the rising ground upon 
which it stands is called Smaw's Hill. There was formerly a good weekly 
market held here on Wednesdays, but it had fallen into disuse. A couple of 
years ago, a few spirited individuals exerted themselves to revive it, and thus 
promote the general interests of the town. The market day was then 
changed to Monday, and a fortnight fair established, for all sorts of cattle, on 
alternate Mondays. These measures have been attended with considerable 
success. There are also fairs, for cattle and sheep, on the last Wednesdays 
in April, May, and October, and a statute fair for hiring servants, in November. 

Before the fonnation of railways, no fewer than twenty-six- coaches passed 
through this town daily, to and from London, Leeds, Harrogate, York, &c., 
besides a great number of waggons and carts. Three years after the opening 
of the York and North Midland Railway (now the North-Eastern Railway), 
there were only two coaches each way during the day; a year or two later 
they were discontinued altogether. 

The Li.fling is a Discharged Vicarage, formerly belonging to the Abbey of 
Sallay, in Craven, but now in the patronage of Colonel Wyndham, and in­
cumbency of the Rev. Benjamin Maddock. It is valued in the Liber Regis 
at £8. 4s. Dtd., but is now worth about £~40. per ann. 

The Church (St. Mary) is a handsome building, in the later English style, 
apparently erected early in the loth century, and consisting of a nave, side 
aisles, chancel, and a western tower, which contains an excellent peal of six 
bells, and a clock, with dials on three of its sides. In the west side of the 
tower is a deeply-moulded circular-headed doorway, and above it a fine win­
dow of five lights. All the windows of the tower are ornamented with 
curiously carved figures; on its south side are two large niches, and the top 
is embattled and pinnacled. The south side of the church is in eight divi· 
sions, ha'ring square-headed windows of three lights, the buttresses by which 
the divisions are formed, terminating in gargoyles and pinnacles. The 
clerestory has seven square-headed windows of three lights each ; the nave 
is finished with a parapet, and the aisle is embattled. The north side of the 

4 R 
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ehurcb is f'lain. In the interior the navt: is separated from the ai!!les by 
pointed arches, and at the west end of the na,·e is a gallery and an organ. 
Ow~r the communion table is a large painting of the Last Supper of our 
Lord. The church·yard, which had been partially open, was last year 
enlarged, and entirely enclosed with a wall and iron palisades, and a hand­
some entraBce erected. These impro,·emcnts were effected at a cost of about 
£850. raised by subscription. 

'fhe Wesleyan Chapel, High Street, is a large stone erection, built in 1828, 
at a cost of about £8,800. It consists of a centre and two wings, the latter 
being appropriated to the residences of the ministers. The &form Metlw­
di&tl occupy a chapel in Kirkgat.e, which originally belonged to the Primitive 
Methodists, an1l afterwards to the Independents. The Primitive Metlwdi.t 
Chapel is a small plain building in Rosemary Row. The lnghamitu have a 
place of worship in Chapel Lane, erocted in 1814. It is a square brick 
building, and there is a small burial ground attached. 

'fhe Frt!e Grammar School was founded and endowed with lands, and the 
sum of £600., in 1568, by Dr. Owen Oglethorpe, Bishop of Carlisl(',* and 
confirmed by license in the 5th of Philip and Mary. 'fhe annual income is 
about £120., for which as many boys as present themseh-es are taught free, 
not only grammar, but arithmetic, &c. 'fhe Rev. W. C. Bellhouse is the 
present master. The school bouse and residence of the master is a large 
stone building adjacent to the church, and near it are four almshouses 
founded by Dr. Oglethorpe. 

Mrs. Henrietta Dawson bequeathed funds for twenty annuitants, viz. :­
ten widows to receive £15. each, and ten spinsters to receive £10. each, with 
an allowance of about £8. each for the entire number for coals and rent. 
She left also £20. per annum for the instruction of forty poor children, to be 
taught by four of the above-mentioned annuitants; but those persons not 
being competent to perform this condition, the forty children, and about 
twenty others, are taught in the same building as the Grammar School, by 
competent teachers. This is called Mn. Dawllm:• Charity School. 

The National Scltool, Church Street, is held in a commodious brick building, 
erected by subscription in 1788, for a Sunday School in connexion with the 
established Church, and endowed in 1825, with £Hi. per annum, by Miss 
Mary Hill, who died in 1889. This building is reputed to be the first that 
\vas built expressly for a Sunday School. The Mechanic•' ln•tituu, established 

• This prelate, who was a native of Newton Kyme, crowned Queen Elizabeth, the See 
of Canterbury being ,·o.cant, and Dr. Nicholas Heath, Archbishop of York, having re­
fused to do it. He was afterwards deprived of his See for adheriq to his religioo. 
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in 1849, is held in a neat stone building. Lord Londesborough is the 
president, apd Rev. W. C. Bellhouse, treasurer. 

In 1714 Henry O'Bryen, the last Earl of Thomond, in Ireland, was 
created Baron and Viscount Tadcaster, but dying without issue in 17 42, 
the title became extinct. Dr. Charles Hague, a celebrated professor and 
composer of music, was born here in 1769, and died in 1821 at Cambridge, 
of which University he was profes~sor of music. 

Longevity.-John Shephard died here in 1757, aged 109 years; and 
William Hughes, in 1769, aged 127 years. 

Catterton Towmhip lies on the north side of Tadcaster, and contains 712 
acres and 50 inhabitants. It is the sole property of S. Brooksbank, Esq. 
The amount of assessed property is £948. There is neither a place of wor· 
ship or a school in the township. The Hamlet consis~ of a few meanly· 
built houses, situated about 3 miles N .E. of Tadcaster. 

O.mm 'J'own~hip contains 655 acres, and a population of 55 souls. Asses­
sed property, £1,434. The chief proprietors of the soil are Lady Arabella 
Ra.msden and Lord Londesborough. The Hamlet of Oxton is small, and 
sta.nds 1! mile E. of Tadcaster. 

Oxton HaU, the seat of Lady A. Ramsden, is a fine mansion, situated in 
a park on the north bank of the Wharfe, about 1 mile E. of Tadcaster. 

BARKSTON ASH (PART oF) WAPENTAKE. 

THE other township in the parish of Tadcaster (Stutton-with-Hazelwood), 
as well as the greater part of the town of Tadcaster, is, as we have already 
stated, in Barkston Ash Wnpentake, and as there are a few other very in­
teresting places in this neighbourhood, we shall notice them here, though 
they are not situated within the district to which this volume is devoted. 

The area of Stutton-cum-Hazlewood township is 2,610 acres, and its 
population is 847 souls. Amount of assessed property, £2,110. Sir E. 
Vavasour, Bart., is Lord of the Manor and proprietor of the whole. 

Stuttcm Village, which is small, is situated about 2 miles S.W. of Tad­
caster, and near it is a station on the line of railway from Church Fenton to 
Harrogate. Stutton Grove, formerly the residence of Captain Markham, and 
of R. Thomlinson, Esq., is now a Classical and Commercial Academy, con­
ducted by Mr. William Stacey, M.C.P. The house is surrounded by very 
pleasant grounds, from which there are excellent views of the neighbourhood. 

Hazletcood, Hesslewood, or Hasleu:ood.- This manor was held of William 
de Percy, in the reign of William I. In the time of Henry II. it was 
mortgaged to an opulent Jew of York, for the sum of £850. This Jew made 
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a conveyance of his security to the Queen, in discharge of a debt which be 
owed her; and John de Vavasour redeemed it by paying the JQOney. The 
famous family of Vavasour took the name from their office, baring been in 
ancient times the King's Vavasors or Valvasores. In the reign of Edward 
I . William de Vavasour was summoned among the other Barons, to the 
High Court of Parliament ; and in the same reign he obtained a licence of 
the King to make a Castle of his Manor House in Hazlewood. In 1826, 
this estate passed to Edward Marmaduke, second son of the sixteenth Lord 
Stourton, who, having assumed the name and arms of Vavasour, was created 
a Baronet in 1828. 

Sir Edward Vova&Our, the second Baronet, and preaent proprietor of this 
Manor, is son of the first Baronet, by the only daughter of James Lane Fox, 
Esq., of Bramham Park. He was born at Bramham Biggen, in 1815, and 
succeeded his father in 1847. His heir presumptive is his brother William, 
who was born in 1822, and married, in 1846, the second daughter of the 
seventh Lord Clifford. 

"Hessel wood," writes Gent, "was once a wood indeed, iucircling its 
pleasant edifice with the most delightful groves; but now, being almost cut 
down, and miserably destroyed, scarce retains its name. Not far from hence, 
near the spring bead of the river Cock, stands Barwick·in·Elmet, whic4 by 
report, and as the ruins of its walls seem to testify, was the royal seat of the 
Kings of Northumberland."* In this manor is the famous quarry which 
supplied stone for the erection of York Minster, and also materials for its 
repair after the conflagration in 1829. (See pages 409 and 416.) 

Hazelwood Hall, or Ca8tl8, is a splendid old castellated edifice, delightfully 
situated on an eminence, and fumed for the extent and richness of its pros­
pects. An old writer informs us that the Cathedrals of York and Lincoln, 
though distant from each other sixty miles, may thence be discovered.* The 
front of the mansion consists of a centre and two wings, and the entrance 
is approached by a large flight of stone steps. The entrance hall, which 
measures about ISO feet by 30 feet, is a magnificent apartm~nt; all round the 

• Gilnt's History of York, p. 33. 

• Fuller tells us that when King Henry VIII. made his progreRs to York, in IM8, Dr. 
Tunstall, Bishop of Durham, then att<'nding him, affirmed to the King that within ten 
miles of Haeslewood, the seat or the VavBSors, there wero 166 Manor Houses of Lords, 
Knights, and Gilntlemen, of the best quality; 276 several woods, some of which OOD· 

taincd 600 acres; 32 parks, and two chases for deer; 120 rivers and brooks, whereof 
five were navigable; 76 water mills; 2!J coal mines; and 3 forges for making or iron. 
And within the Rame limits as mnch sport and pleasure for hnntin~, hawking, fishing, 
and fowlinl!", as in ony part of Englanii.-Jrorllriro of E11gland. p. 1!1 ~•. 
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walls a beautiful frieze is supported by fine fluted columns, and above the 
frieze are shields emblazoned with the family arms. The ceiling of this and 
those of th~ principal rooms are exceedingly rich in gilding and decoration. 
The Hall is about three miles S.W. of Tadcaeter. 

The Chapel, dedicated to St. Leonard, is a venerable structure, erected by 
Sir William de Vavaeour, in 1286. Sir William, who died twenty-five years 
later, left, by hie will, hie body to be buried in Novo OapeUa 8. Lwnardi de 
Hailwode, after commending hie soul Deo et B. Maria Virgini. The building 
stands on the west side of the mansion, and is made into four divisions by 
buttresses, in three of which at each side are pointed windows of two lights 
each ; the other divisions are occupied by a porch on the south side, and a 
doorway, now blocked up, on the north side; the space for the east window 
is also built up. Over the porch is a statue of St. Leonard. The general 
aspect of the interior is devotional ; the altar is very curiously carved and 
gilded, and on each side are two Corinthian pillars, supporting a frieze and 
pediment. Above the altar is a fine painting of the Crucifixion; and on a 
side altar is a very elegant coloured statuette of the Blessed Virgin and infant 
Saviour. Two of the windows are filled with stained glass. There is an 
organ in the gallery at the west end. There are several ancient monuments, 
and some neat marble tablets, to members of the Vavasour family; also a 
large and handsome brass effigy, under a Gothic canopy, to Sir E. M. 
Vavasour, who died suddenly at Chanceux, in France, March 16th, 1847, in 
hie 61et year. Since the erection of this chapel it has always without inter­
mission been used for the celebration of the services of the Catholic Church. 
The Very Rev. Robert Tate, D.D., is the priest of this mission. In the 
burying ground, adjoining the chapel, is an ancient sepulchral erose, as well 
as some very neat tombstones. 

On an eminence in this township, called Wingate HiU, is a large massy 
stone erose, which was restored a few years ago at the expense of the Lord 
of the Manor. The lower portion of the shaft of the erose is ancient, and 
the upper part modem ; and at the intersection of the shaft and arms are 
carved representations of the crown of thorne, and the nails with which Our 
Saviour was fastened to the erose. On Bramham Moor, near Hazlewood, in 
1408, Sir Thomas Rokeby, Sheriff of Yorkshire, defeated the Earl of North­
umberland (See page 140); and Towton Field, the scene of a dreadful battle 
in 1461, is likewise in this neighbourhood. (See page 156.) 

KIRKBY W BARFE.-This parish comprises the townships of Kirkby Wbarfe, 
Grimeton, and Ulleekelf. The area of the whole parish is 3,130 acres, and 
the> population of it in 1851, was 702 souls. Amount of assessed property, 
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£~,978. The parish is situated in the picturesque valley of Wharfdale, its 
surface is undulated, and the scenery is pleasingly varied, enriched with 
woods, and embraces many interesting features. The soil is extremely fertile. 

Kirby Wkarfe Towmhip includes the hamlet of North Milford, and com­
prises 1,~40 acres, with a population of 102. The rateable value is £1,884. 
Lord Londesborough is the sole proprietor of the soil. 

The Living is a Discharged Vicarage, in the patronage of the Prebendary 
of Wetwang in York Cathedral; and the Rev. John Ashford is the present 
Vicar. It is rated at £8. 16s. Sd., and now worth about £120. per ann. 

The Ch1trch (St. John the Baptist) is an ancient structure, in the early 
Norman style, with a tower of later date. The latter appendage is embattled, 
and has crocketed pinnacles, and contains three bells. The other parts of 
the edifice are a nave, chancel, side aisles, and south porch. The interior is 
neat, and the Lord of the Manor's pew exhibits some very beautiful specimens 
of carved oak. In the same pew is an ancient marble, with a representation 
of the Wise Men's Offering, said to have been brought from Rome by Lord 
Howden ; and on the wall above is a neatly gilded tablet, containing a minute 
description of our Saviour's person, copied from an ancient sculpture dis­
covered in some distant country, and set up here by Lord .Howden. 

The ViUa!Je, which is small, stands on the south side of the Wharfe, about 
2 miles E. of Tadcaster. A fair, formerly held in a field near the village, has 
been removed to Tadcaster. 

Milford, a division of the township of Kirkby Wbarfe, is now divided into 
three farms. Milford Hall, now a farn1 bouse, is an ancient square building. 

Grimsum To11'11&hip contains nearly 850 acres according to local admea­
surement, but only 600 acres according to the parliamentary returns ; and 
115 inhabitants. Rateable value, £1,272.; assessed property, £1,457. 
There is no village in the township, and Lord Londesborough is sole p~ 
prietor of the soil, having purchased it of Lord Howden a few years ago ; 
and the whole is occupied by the park and farm. Albert Denison Denison, 
the first Baron Londesborough (created 1860), and the princely owner of this 
and several other large estates in this county, is the second surviving son of 
the first Marquis Conyngham, by the eldest daughter of Joseph Denison, 
Esq., of Denbies, Surrey. His lordship was hom in London, in 1805; 
married, first in 1838, the fourth daughter of the first Lord Forester (she 
died in 1841); and secondly, in 1847, the eldest daughter of Capt. C. 0 . 
Bridgeman, R.N. He assumed the name of Denison, in lieu of that of 
Conyngham, in 1849, in compliance with the will of his maternal uncle, 
W. J. Denison, Esq. Lord Londesborougb was for a short time Secretary of 
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Legation at Berlin. His lordship's heir is his son, the Hou. William Henry 
Forester, who was born in 183-t. 

Grilmton Park, the beautiful seat of Lord Loodesborough, is situated 
about two miles from Tadcaster. The park comprises about 300 acres; and 
the surface is undulated, and richly wooded. Here indeed the visitor may 
luxuriate amongst the lovely works of nature and of art. On an eminence, 
not far from the Hall, is a high circular tower, erected by Lord Howden, 
which is viJ>ible for miles around. In the grounds is an immense sycamore 
tree, 100 feet high, under which is a tombstone, to the memory of" Sal," a 
favourite retriever belonging to Lord Londesborough, and near it a similar 
tablet to the memory of another member of the canine species, the property 
of Lady Howden. A large pond in the park contains a quantity of gold and 
sih·ei fish. The Emperor's Walk has on either side marble busts of the 
twelve Cresars, and is terminated with a temple, enshrining a large bust of 
Napoleon I . The pleasure grounds display the most extraordinary skill, 
care, and taste. The flower garden is elegantly laid out, and the rosary con­
tains a collection of no less than 500 different varieties of roses. Both are 
adorned with many fine vases and pieces of beautiful statuary, and in the 
rosary is a curious dial, telling the time at ,·arious places in Europe. This 
dial, which stood at Londesborough for nearly a couple of centuries, has been 
lately removed to its present position. The conservatory is filled with the 
choicest exotics; and the aviary contains a number of beautiful plumae-ed 
birds from France. 

The elegant mansion, which was rebuilt in 1841, is in the Grecian style, 
with a beautiful portico of the Corinthian order, surmounted by a triangular 
pediment. Many of the apartments are very handsome, and highly deco­
rated ; the Yellow Drawing Room, a fine apartment, the ceiling of which is 
superbly painted, contains an arm .chair, which once belonged to the Empress 
Josephine; four chairs, a couch, and a table, formed of ivory, presented to 
Warren Hastings, on leaving India, by the native Princess; and a curiously 
carved ivory drinking cup, mounted with gold, once in the possession of 
Martin Luther. The Blue Drawing Room contains, besides several fine 
paintings by old masters, the silver knife, fork, and spoon, of Prince Charles 
Stuart, "the Pretender;" a large quantity of magnificent jewellery, some of 
which had been wom by the Bourbon family ; and a unique collection of 
drinking vessels. But the chief attraction of the house is the costly and 
magnificent collection of ancient armour, and of rare objects of vertu. The 
walls of several of the apartments are thickly studded with swords, rapiers, 
acymitars, Andrea Ferraras, daggers, dirks, guns, pistols, and other imple-
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ments of war. Amongst them may be noticed pistols and bullets from the 
field of Waterloo; gauntlets and a sword which belonged to Henry VIII.; 
helmets of the time of King John and Edward III., and one which belonged 
to Charles I.; Roman helmets and camp kettles; executioners' swords from 
Germany; British arrow beads and celts; the pistols of Marshal Ney; gun· 
powder of the time of Henry VIII. of England, from a cannon lately 
recovered from the sea; and the golden stirrups of the High Constable of 
France of the reign of Henry VIII. of that country. 

In the Asiatic Dining Room is a large and superb collection of Indian 
and Turkish weapons, made of or mounted with gold and silver, and spark· 
ling with diamonds and other precious stones; including the swords of 
Tippoo Saib, and other Indian, Affghan, and Turkish warriors, with their 
fire-arms, chain mail, &c. In this room are the portraits of Lord and Lady 
Londesborough, by Grant, which were shown at the Great Exhibition of 
1851, along with that of the late Mr. Denison, M.P. The greater part of 
the contents of the armoury were collected by the late Lord Howden. 

There is a Charity School at Grimston, supported by Lady Londesborough; 
the children are also partly clothed by her Ladyship. 

Ulleske{f Totvnsllip contains 1,299 acres, of the rateable valuable of £2,450. 
The Lord of the Manor is Lord Londesborough, and the township belongs 
to his lordship and a few freeholders. Population, 485. The common was 
enclosed in 1838, and the soil is generally fertile. The Villag~ stands about 
4 miles S.E. from Tadcaster. The North Eastern Railway, after being 
carried across the Wharfe by a narrow viaduct of nine arches, 27 4 feet in 
length, intersects this township, and has a station near the village, 8 miles 
54 chains from York. 

SAXTON.-The township of Saxton-cum-Scarthingwell and that of Towton 
form the parish of Saxton, the entire area of which is 4,022 acres, and popu· 
lation, 498 persons. Amount of asssessed property, £3,677. The area of 
the former township is 2,66~ acres ; the population, 871 souls; and the 
rateable value, £~,569. The principal landowners are Lady Ashtown and 
Mrs. Gascoigne (daughters and coheiresses of Richd. Oliver Gascoigne, Esq., 
of Farlington); Lord Hawke, ·womcrsley; H. C. Maxwell, Esq.; and Mr. 
Benjamin Bean. The manorial rights belong to Lady Ashtown. The land 
is generally in good cultivation, and there are some quarries of stone for 
building. The Hall or Manor House, formerly the seat of the Hungate 
family (anciently the owners of this parish), was pulled down about fifty yean 
ago, and the present building (now a farm bouse) erected on its site. 

The Benejics is a Perpetual Curacy, in the gift of Lady Ashtown. and 
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incumbency of the Rev. John Carter, D.D. Its value is about .£80. per ann. 
The Fabric of the church (All Saints) is small and ancient, in the Norman 

style, and comprising a nave, chancel, and a neat tower, in which are three 
bells. It contains some monuments to the Hungate and Hawke families. 
As bas been already observed in the account of the battle of Towton at page 
160, the Earl of Westmoreland, according to Leland, was buried in this 
church, where, however, he has no distinguishable memorials, and in the 
church yard were interred many of those slain in that sanguinary conflict. 
The " meane tomb" of Lord Dacre, noticed by Leland, is on the north side 
of the church-yard, and consists of a plain low table monument, the rim of 
which bears the following inscription (according to Drake) in Old English 
letters, now much defaced :-Hie Jacet Ranulphus Ds. de Dacres et miles et 
occi.nu erat in beUo Principe VI. Anno D. MCCCCXLI. xxix. Die Martii 
videlicet dominica die palmarum cujus anima propitietur D~ Amen. 

The Parso-nage l{QU!Je is a handsome building in the Elizabethan style. 
The Villaoe, which is small but neat, is situated about 4 miles S.W. of 

Tadcaster. The Chapel for Methodists was erected in 1887; IWd a Schoo], 
which, with the exception of one penny a week, which the children pay for 
the use of books, &c., is supported by Lady Ashtown and Mrs. Gascoigne. 

ScarthingweU Hall, now the seat of Henry Constable Maxwell, Esq., but 
formerly that of Lord Hawke, the former having purchased this estate of the 
latter in 18,18. The park is well wooded, and consists of 160 acres, walled 
around, and the mansion is pleasantly situated in it, at the distance of about 
4 miles S. of Tadcaster. A short distance from the hall is a fine sheet of 
water, covering sixteen acres, which is well stocked with fish . In the centre 
is a small island, upon which there is a heronry. Adjoining the hall is a 
beautiful Catholic Church, which was erected by Mr. Maxwell, in 1854, at 
an expense of about .£4,000. The edifice, which is of stone, is 98 feet long, 
~4t feet \vide, 87 feet high, and will seat about 250 persons; there is a 
complete intemal access to it from the hall. It is dedicated to God, in 
honour of the Immaculate Conception of the Blessed Virgin, and of St. John 
of Beverley. The style of the building is chiefly of the Byzantine style, but 
much of it has been copied from the Royal Chapelat Munich. The exterior, 
with its neat porch and bell turret, has an elegant but substantial appearance, 
and the interior is very chaste and neatly finished. The altar, reredos, and 
tabernacle, are of Caen stone, very sumptuously carved. The front of the 
altar is in three compartments, the centre one bearing the representations of 
a lamb and cross, in a circle, around which are vine branches, bearing clusters 
of grapes, entwined with ears of wheat. The other divisions have each the 
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Sacred Heart, one of which is surmounted by a cross, and the other pier.::eti 
with a sword, and glowing or buming with love. The angles of the taber­
nacle arc supported by two twisted columns, upon which are placed two full 
length figures of angels, with expanded wings. The reredos exhibits on its 
front, circles containing elegantly carved emblems, monograms, &c. Around 
the apse or semicircle, which forms the sanctuary, are seven single lights, 
filled with stained glass (by Wailes), five of which contain fifteen subjects 
from the life of our Lord and the Blessed Virgin. The roof of the sanctuary 
is groined, and at the meeting of the spandrils is a circle, in which is a carved 
dove with expanded wings. The floor within and in front of the sanctuary, 
as well as the space in the centre between the two lines of open seats, are 
laid with encaustic tiles. The altar balustrade consists of twisted columns 
and circular arches. The roof of the body of the building is semicircular, 
and its mouldings and other decorations arc exceedingly chaste and elegant, 
as are also the decorations of the walls. The organ gallery, and the space 
beneath it at the west end, forms a sort of ante-chapel; this part is laid with 
encaustic tiles. The organ is a very powerful instrument. The vestry is on 
the south side of the church. On the occasion of the opening of this place 
of worship, in the beginning of June, 18.34, there was a grand assembly of 
nearly fifty priests, headed by His Eminence Cardinal Wiseman, and the 
Right Rev. Dr. Btiggs, the Catholic Bishop of Yorkshire, as well ns of the 
elite of the Catholic nobility and gentry of the county. There was solemn 
High Mass sung upon the occasion, and the sermon was preached by Car­
dinal Wiseman. The Rev. Charles A. O'Neill, is the chaplain. 

Towton T01m8hip contains 1,360 acres, and 122 inhabitants. Amount of 
assessed property, £1,037. Lord Hawke is chief proprietor of the soil, and 
Lord of the Manor. The landt~ arc fertile and in good cultivation, and the 
surrounding scenery is of a pleasing character. 

The Vilklye is very small, and stands about 2t miles S. of Tadcastcr. 
This township is memorable as the scene of a .terrible battle fought between 
the houses of York and Lancaster, in 1461. (See page 156.) 

T01rton llaU, an ancient mansion, was repaired and beautified about th(' 
year 17\JO. Lead Hall, formerly called Lcod or Lede, is situated on the 
hank of the small river Cock, and was one of the seats of the ancient family 
of De Tyas, several of whom are buried in the small but antique chapel 
adjoining. 

BRAMHAM.-This parish comprises the townships of Bramham-cum-Ogle­
thorpe and Clifford-cum-Boston, and covers altogether an area of 5,462 acres. 
Assessed property, £5,433.; rateable value, £5,140. Principal landowners. 
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George Lane Fox, Esq., Lady Headley, and Rev. B. Eamonson. Lord of 
the Manor, F. F. Gascoigne, Esq., of Farlington. The acreage of the first 
mentioned township is 3,971, and its population, in 1851, was 1,318 souls. 

Bramham Moor occupies a high plain, rising by a gentle acclivity from 
Bramham, and on it are several vestiges of the Homan way, Watling Street, 
from which consular road came divers via: ricinales, by Thorner and Shad­
well, through Street Lane and Haweaster-rig, to Addle. Leland in his MS. 
Itinerary, tells us, that he never saw in any part of England so manifest a 
token as here, of the large crest of the way of Watling Street. From the 
middle of Bramham Moor is an extensive prospect of a well cultivated district, 
which abounds also with freestone, limestone, and coal.* Some ancient 
brass instruments have been found here. Queen Anne gave a plate of gold 
of horses in Yorkshire. On this common, in 1408, Sir Thomas Rokeby, 
to be run for by horses on this moor, that she might encournge the breed 
Sheriff of Yorkshire, defeated the Earl of Northumberland, thereby helping 
to secure the crown to Henry IV. (See page 140.) A large portion of 
Bramham Moor is still unenclosed. 

The Living is a Discharged Vicarage, valued at £0. is. lid., but now worth 
about £160. per annum. Patrons, the Dean nnd Canons of Christ Church, 
Oxford; Vicar, Rev. John Young Seagrave. The Church (All Saints) is an 
ancient and elegant structm·e, in the Decorated English style, consisting of 
a 11ave and aisles, chancel, south porch, and a square embattled No11nan 
to'\Ver, surmounted by a spire at the west end. The tower contains three 
bells. The church was restored in 1853-4, at a cost of about £1 ,150., raised 
chiefly by subscription. Both sides of the nave are embattled. The cast 

• Tho late John Watson, Esq., of Malton, made the following quaint but true obser­
vation on the \iew from this common, in 1781 :-"Upon the middle of this moor, a man 
may see ten miles around him; within those ten miles there is as much freestone o!l 
would build ten cities, each as large a.<J York; within those ten miles there is as much 
gootl oak timber as would build those wn cities; there is as much limestone, and coals 
to burn it into lime, as the building of those ten cities would require; there is also as 
much clay nnd snnd, and coal~ to burn them into bricks and tiles, as would build those 
ten cities; within those ten miles there are two iron forgeR sufficient to furnish iron for 
the building of those ten cities, and ten thousand tons to spare ; within those ten miles 
there is lead sufficient for the ten cities, and ten thousand fodders to Rpare; within 
those ten miles there is a good conl seiUll sufficient to furnish those ten cities with firing 
for ten thonsond years; within those ten miles there are three novigubln rivers, from 
any of which a man may toke shipping ond sail to any part of the world; within those 
ten miles there are seventy gentlemen"s houses, all keeping coaches, and the least of 
of them an esquire, and ten parks and forests well st.ocked with deer; within those ten 
miles there aue ten mark<'t townH, one of whirh may be ~npposed to return £10,000. 
pf'r wf'ek."' 
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window is of four lights, the apex of the chancel has a beautiful foliated 
cross, the apexes of the nave and porch are surmounted with plain but 
elegant crosses. The interior is neatly furnished with single seats, and the 
stained timber roof is open. The church-yard is extensive. 

The Vicarage Howe is a commodious stone building, repaired, enlarged, 
and altered in 1854, at a cost of nearly £800., defrayed partly by Christ 
Church College. The architects for the restoration were Messrs. Perkins and 
Backhouse, of Leeds, and Mr. John Holmes, of Bramham, was the builder. 

The J'iJJ~' of Bramham, which is large and respectable, stands pleasantly 
in the vale of a small rivulet, on the great north road, about 4 miles S.S.E. 
of Wetherby. The neighbourhood is undulated and abounds with rich and 
beo.utiful scenery. There are chapels for the Wesleyan and Primitive 
Methodists. The School is endowed with £14. per annum, arising from 
land purchased by several bequests. 

A new Lock-up has lately been erected on ground given by the Lord of the 
Manor. This erection cost about £50., paid out of the parish rates. 

JJramham Park, the property, and late the seat of George Lane Fox, Esq., 
is delightfully situated in the midst of a highly cultivated country, about 1t 
mile S.W. of the village. The noble mansion, which had been built in the 
reign of Queen Anne, by Hobert Benson, Esq., afterwards Lord Bingley, was 
destroyed by fire on the 2\lth of July, 1828. It was a magnificent edifice, 
consisting of a large centre and wings, connected by corridors of the Doric 
order. The pleasure grounds are extensive, and very elegant; and the park is 
adorned with temples, &c., as well as by a large obelisk, erected in memory of 
Robert Fox Lane, Esq., grandson and heir to Robert Benson, Lord Bingley, 
who died in 1768. In the chapel adjoining the ruined mansion are some 
marble monuments to the ancestors of the family. 

This estate was a grant from the Crown, in the reign of William and 
Mary, and was the first enclosure on Bramham Moor. 

Bor«l(tfe HaU, the seat of George L. Fox, Esq., is a good mansion in the 
Grecian style, comprising a centre and two wings; the entrance being sur­
mounted by a pediment, supported by six pillars. The grounds are tastefully 
laid out. 

Bramham HOU86, the residence of Captain Preston, is a commodious edi­
fice; Bramham Lodge is the residence of J. H. Whittaker, Esq.; and Hope 
Hall, the sporting seat of Lord Nevile, stands in small, but neatly laid out. 
pleasure grounds. 

Bramham College.-This scholastic institution occupies the mansion a short 
distance from the village, formerly known by the name of Brambam Biggin, 
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which was once the ancestral seat of the noble house of Headley. About the 
year 1844, the Rev. Benjamin Bentley Haigh, who had for several years 
occupied Grimston Lodge, near Tadcaster, as an educational establishment, 
took Bramham Biggin on lease, and transferred his establishment thither. 
Since then Mr. Haigh has expended large sums in enlarging and improving 
the house and grounds, and it is now admirably suited, by reason of its 
internal and external arrangements, for the accommodation of o. large number 
of pupils. The entrance gateway, with its neat rustic lodge, has an air 
of elegance about it; and the view of the College from this point, with its 
glassy dome and other ornamental appendages, and surrounded as it is 
by tastefully arranged gardens and pleasure grounds, and with rich sylvan 
scene:ry, is very imposing and beautifully picturesque. 

The original style of the house was Tudor; the principal front exhibits a 
centre and t\VO wings, 170 feet in length. The new buildings consist of a 
hall, 60 feet long, 30 feet wide, and 24 feet high ; arcaded cloisters, gymna­
sium, &c. The refectory is a magnificent apartment, in the Grecian style, 
60 feet long, 35 feet wide, and 22 feet high. The decorations of this room, 
with its beautiful dome, and fine oriel window, are exceedingly chaste and 
elegant, and the general arrangements of the college appear to be perfect. 
Indeed, the Government Inspector stated that for efficiency, elegance, and 
comfort, there was nothing in the country to equal this establishment. Gas 
works, for lighting the college, have been recently erected, at a cost of £1,300. 
The park, gardens, &c., extend over about 180 acres. The course of in­
struction pursued at this establishment embraces all the modem languages, 
as well as the classics ; also mathematics, and the other branches of a sound 
commercial education. Nor are the accomplishments neglected ;-music, 
drawing, and dancing, being taught to such pupils as are desirous to learn 
them, by the best masters. The mysteries of agriculture, too, are taught to 
those who choose to learn that science. There is an excellent library at­
tached to the college, to which the pupils are allowed aocess. Divine service, 
with a lecture by the Principal (Rev. B. B. Haigh}, is celebrated every Sun­
day evening in the hall of the college. The pupils of this establishment can 
matriculate at the London University. 

The Rev. B. Eamonson, Vicar of Collingham, by deed, in 1852, conveyed 
to T. Fairfax, Esq., and his heirs in trust, a field in this parish, called Sand­
forth Close, the rents to be applied by the incumbent of Clifford, thus :-in 
payment of 18s. on every St. Thomas's Day, to as many poor widows or 
widowers in this township; in payment of 12s. annually towards the educa· 
tion of a child resident in Bramham ; and in the distribution of bibles, prayer 
books, &c., to the poor. 
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Cl!ffurd-cwn-Bostoll T01t·usllip embraces an area of 1,491 acres, and con­
tained 1,834 inhabitants in 1851. Assessed property, £2,616. It is said 
that the neat and interesting ViUage of Clifford, which is situated about 3t 
miles S.E. by S. of Wetherby, derives its name from the circumstance of the 
Lord Clifford, of Skipton, having, on his way to aid Henry of Lancaster 
against Edward of York, drawn up his northern forces before the battle of 
Towton, on the extensive plain now forming this township, which hencefor­
ward took the name of Clifford Moor. Subsequently a small hamlet was 
erected for the convenience of the shepherds who fed their flocks upon the 
moor; this became gradually extended, until a small village was formed, 
which took its name from the moor in which it was situated. A statute fair 
for sheep was annually held here upon the Wednesday after the 12th of 
October; but since the whole of the moor became enclosed, about sixteen 
years ago, this once far-famed fair has dwindled down to a village feast. 

Near the village are extensive flax mills, belonging to Messrs. R. T. 
Grimston and Co. These have been lately enlarged, and the .company now 
possess, in steam and water, equal to 1110 l)orse power. There are two reser­
voirs, and their joint extent is 7! acres. About 400 persons are constantly 
employed in manufacturing shoe threads n.nd shop twines from flax, the su­
periority of which over similar articles has long been recognised. The Messrs. 
Grimston (who reside here) have erected a number of houses in the village 
for the accommodation of their workpeople, and in the construction of them 
every attention has been paid to comfort and cleanliness. 

A District Ch"rch (St. Luke), very eligibly situated, and forming a pro­
minent object to the surrounding neighbourhood, was erected in 1842, at a 
cost of about £1,560., raised by subseription. The site, together with the 
sum of £100., for the erection of a tower, was given by the late G. L. Fox, 
Esq., of Bramham Park. The patronage was vested in George Lane Fox, 
Esq., in consideration of his having given £1,000. to be invested in the fonds 
as an annual income to the incumbent, and £500. (minus the deduction of a 
repair fund for the church) towards the building of a residence; ultimately 
Christ Church College, Oxford, the lay impropriator of the rectorial tithes of 
Bramham, gave £300. towards the Parsonage, and the Rev. W. B. Lewth­
waithe, the first incumbent of the church, made up the remainder of the cost 
of the building. The present incumbent is the Rev. John Barclay Scriven. 
The church is a handsome cruciform structure of stone, in the Early English 
style, with a piuna.cled tower at the west end, and contains about 300 sittings. 

Here is a Catholic Church, dedicated to St. Edward the Confessor, erected 
at a cost of about .£4,000., raised entirely l1y ~;ubscriptions, collected in this 
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country and on the continent, by the pastor, the Rev. Edward L. Clifford. 
The style of this splendid edifice is pure Norman-Gothic; Joseph Hansom, 
Esq., was the architect, and it was opened in 1848. It consists of a nave 
and aisles, two chapels, and a handsome porch. In a nicho in the front of 
the latter appendage, is a neat statuette of the patron saint seated. The 
sides of the church are each made into eight divisions by pilasters. In these 
divisions are good windows, and the clerestory of the nave bas eight double 
lights on ench side. The interior has an unusually impressive appearance. 
Six massy circular pillars and arches separate the nave from the aisles, 
behind the high altar, and at the sides of the sanctuary, run a line of arcade 
work, and behind the altar screen, and separated from the sanctuary by three 
arches, is the Lady Chapel, \Vbich, together with the Chapel of the messed 
Sacrament, are most sumptuously decorated. In the Lady Chapel is a very 
beautiful statue of the Blessed Virgin, executed in Carrara marble, by 
Hoffrnan, and pronounced by Overbeck to be one of the best works of Chris­
tian art in the world. Hoffman is now the first Christian sculptor of the 
day, and his conversion to Catholicity took place whilst he was executing 
this statue. The front of the high altar presents a line of pillars and arches 
elegantly carved and gilded, and the space within them represents a tomb, 
in which is to be deposited the relics of a saint. Several of the windows 
are filled with stained glass, and the roof is open. The body of the church 
is without pews or scats, except a number of small light chairs (similar to 
those seen in the continental churches), which serve both for sitting and 
kneeling. There is a mortuary shapel in the crypt. A bell, weighing 13 
cwt., is suspended in a temporary erection of wood at the west end, but a 
massive Norman tower is about to be! built, in which will be placed a peal 
of six bells. In the church-yard is a handsome sepulchral cross, and ad­
jacent to the church is the presbytery. 

The Boys' School, a little distance from the church, is a neat building, 
above the porch of which, in a niche, is a statuette of the Madonna. About 
100 children attend the day school, but a much larger number attend the 
Sunday school. 

The Cont•ent and Girls' School is a very neat Gothic building, situated at 
the top of the village, near the Protestant Church. This edifice was erected 
in 1849, for a Protestant Nunnery, by the Rev. W. H. Lewthwaite, lato 
incumbent of St. Luke's Church (now a priest of the Catholic Church), and 
dedicated with religious processions, &c., under the title of " The Oratory 
and Hostill of St. Stephen and St. John." But on his becoming a Catholic, 
in 1851, Mr. Lewthwaite conveyed it to the trusteeship of the Right Rev. 
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Dr. Briggs (Catholic Bishop), the Rev. E. L. Clifford, and the ReT. J. C. 
Fisher, to be maintained as a Conventual School. The inmates of the 
bnilding arc nuns of the Order of Providence, from Loughborongh, whose 
sole business is to educate the poor and instruct the ignorant. The school 
for girls is well attended. Opposite the Convent gate is a deep draw well, 
over which Mr. Lewthwaite erected an ornamental building of Gothic design, 
under a sense of the high dignity to which the element of water is raised in 
the Sacrament of Baptism. 

There was a Metlwdi$t Chapel close to the Catholic Church, which was 
purchased and pulled down, and a small but neat chapel was erected on 
another site during the past year. The National School was enlarged in 
1851, by G. L. Fox, Esq., by whom it is chiefly supported. There is a 
handsome Metlwdut School in the village, built in 1852, at a cost of about 
£400. The site was given by Mr. J. Diggle, of Clifford. 

In 1608 Richard Dawson, of Collingham, left an estate to the poor of 
Clifford, and two other places. The property now lets for £70. per annum, 
about £20. of which is distributed yearly to the poor of this township. 

B01ton Spa is a large and flourishing village, situated in a romantic and 
beautiful vale through \vhich the river Wbarfe runs with a rapid current. 
Its exact position is the south bank of the Wha.rfe, on the road leading from 
Wetherby to Ta.dca.ster, about 8 miles S.S.E. of the former town. It is 
connected with the village of Thorpe Arch by a. very fine bridge, across the 
river, of four arches. The former name of the place was Boston, but it 
was called Boston Spa, a few years ago, by the Postmaster General, to dis­
tinguish it from Boston in Lincolnshire. The village is of recent growth, 
and has a.risen in consequence of tile accidental discovery, in 1744, of a 
chalybeate spring*, by John Shires, a labourer, while cutting brush-wood on 
the banks of the river. Little appears to have been known of the medi-

• The following is an analysis, from one wine gallon of this water, b7 Dr. Adam 
Hunter, of Leeds, and Mr. West:-

onm.. 
Muriate of Soda .................................... 662.00 

of Lime • • • . • . • . . . . . • • . • • • . • . . . . • • . • . • • • . . . . 12.26 
., of Magnesia . . . . . . . • • • • • • • • . . . . . • . . • . • . . . . . . 7.26 

Carbonate of Iron . . . • . • . . . . . . . . . . • . . . . . • . . . . . • • • • . • 1.76 
Silica .. • • . . . . . . • • • . . • • . • . . • . • . . • . • . . • • . . • . . . . • • • • • 0.76 

684.00 
Ota~tOUI COfttenU :-

Cubic lnd&a. 
Carbonic Acid ...•....•.•...• ..••• ... .. .. • ........•. 10.66 
AzoUo Oas .. • • • • . • . • • • . • . . . . . . . • . . • • • • . • • . . • • • • . . . . 8.00 
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cinal propenies of this water till the year 1784, when it was submitted to a 
series of experiments by an eminent physieian and chemist. For some time 
Uris spring had been called Thorpe Arch Spa, on account of the village of 
that name in the vicinity affording the nearest accommodation for visitors, 
before the building of the village of Boston. The water is of a saline taste, 
and of a slightly sulphureous smell, aud is possessed of purgative and diuretic 
qualities. It is taken in larger quantities than the Harrogate water, and 
is efficacious in oases of general relaxation, bilious and dyspeptic complaints, 
and glandular oblltructions. 

The soil consists of sand, clay, and magnesian limestone. The rocks arc 
chiefly calcareous, and supposed to be impregnated with different minerals. 
According to the census of 1851, this rising village contained about 250 
houses, and a population of 1,049 souls-though it is said that the first house 
was built here in the bare open field in 1753, by the late Mr. Joseph Tate. 
Now it has its handsome church, good chapels, excellent and commodious 
hotels, well supplied shops, genteel villa residences, and a variety of respect· 
able lodging houses, suited to ~e taate and convenience of every class of 
-.isitA>rs. Most of the houses are elegant, and are built of Clifford Moor stone. 
The scenery is picturesque in the extreme, and the walks on the banks of 
the river are very romantic. " The situation of Boston Spa. is such as 
will always command the att.eotion of the invalid, and the admiration of the 
traveller," writes a local authoress. "The Creator has scattered innumerable 
beauties over our globe, ou the frame-work of the hills, and the valleys they 
enclose,-on crsg and stream, sky and earth, He has drawn the lines of 
beauty and grandeur, with a pencil that never errs; and amongst these 
lovely ornaments of earth, may justly· be ranked this • Gem of the Yorkshire 
Valleys.'"* 

The original miners! spring belongs to the Lord of the Manor, and is let 
at an annual rent; the Old Spa House, or pump room, was built over it 
in 1834. Previous to its erection, the well was open, and two old women, 
who had for their shelter an excavation in the rock, attended daily, and 
sold the water. The river was crossed near this place by a rude wooden 
bridge. But to this state of things a great contrsst is formed by the present 
accommodation provided for the visitors to this place of fashionable resort. 
The pump room alluded to has its hot and cold baths; and all the ad van· 
tages of the pump room, baths, hot and cold, upon the newest principle, 

• TIM Gc• of CM Yorbhire ValUys, etc., by Miss Sarah Blakcston, of Boston Spa. 
We would refer our readers to tb.w interealing little w!lrk, for a concise n01l well written 
description of this enchanting neighbourhood. 

4 T 
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splendid assembly or promenade room, and elegantly laid out pleasure 
grounds, may be enjoyed at the new baths at the Victoria and Albert Hotel.* 
The other large, commodious, and well conducted Hotel is called, from its 
proprietor (Mr. Thomas R. Dalby), Dalby's Hotel. 

The Church (St. Mary) is a beautiful Gothic structure, erected in 1814 (on 
land given by Mr. Samuel Tate, said to have been the first person bom at 
Boston Spa), and enlarged and improved in 1861. It has lately been made 
parochial for ecclesiastical purposes. Its parts are a nave, north aisle, 
chancel, porch, and tower. The living is a Perpetual Curacy, of the net 
value of £146. per ann., in the gift of the Vicar of Bramham, and incumbency 
of the Rev. W. S. Homer, who resides in the Parsonage House. 

The Presbyterians and W ul8yans have each a chapel here ; and there is a 
Natimud School, which is well conducted and attended. 

Mr. Thomas Nichols, bookseller, has a small but select subscription library. 
About three miles from Boston Spa, in the parish of Collingham, the 

remains of a Roman Villa were recently discovered in a field, known by the 
name of Dalton Parlours, belonging to the farm at Compton, in the occupa­
tion of Mr. Joseph Dalby. The site was formerly called Abbey Field, from 
the remains of walls then existing, and which were removed about the year 
1806 ; and before the enclosure it formed part of Clifford Moor. The field 
is now tilled, and at various periods coins, tiles, and other fragmentary re­
mains of Roman occupation, have been ploughed up. Numerous skeletons 

• This beautiful Hotel was erected by a company of shareholders, at a cost of about 
.£3,000., and in 1801 the property was purchased by Mr. John Newbill, the present pro­
?rietor, who has since made extensive improvements in the house and grounds. To 
·)btain the mineral spring at this point, the solid rock has been bored to the depth of 
•tpwards of eighty yards; and the water now flows to the surface through copper and 
:utta percha pipes. This important and interesting spring was analysed in 1849, by 
IV. West, Esq., F.R.S., and the following is the result:-

Per ou. Per Plat. 
Sulphate of Magnesia . . ... .... ...... . grains. . ...... 6.0 . . . .. . 0.7:'1 
Chloride of Magnesium . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . .. 20.-i .. .. .. 2.:111 

of Sodium. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ., .. . . ... . 406.6 . . . ... :'10.82 
., of Calcium . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ., . . . . . . . . 24.07 • . . . • . 3.01 

Carbonate of Lime . . . • . . . . . . . . . • . . . . ., . . . • . ... 29.01 ... .• . 3.60 
Silica • • . • • . • . • • • . . . . . . • . • . . . • • • . • . . ., . • . • . . • . 1.01 . . • . . • 0.14 
Carbonate of Iron . . .. . . .. . . .. .. .. .. ., • • . . .. .. 0.01>. . . . . . 0.006 
Iodine .. .. ... ... .. . . . . ..... . .... . . . ........... .. A trace .... .. .. .. 
Bromine •... .... .. . .. . : . .. . .. ... . . .. . . . . . . . •... . A traoe . . . ..• .. • . 

Auo of Ga1t1 :-
Per Gal. hr Piat. 

Carbonic Acid Gas .. .. . ... ..... .. cubic inches .. . .. . 10.06 .. ... .. . 1.32 
Nitrogen... . .. . . . . . . . . . .. .. .. .. . • •• •• • 9.03 • • •.•• •• 1.18 
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have also been found here, and, in one case, interment under tiles seems to 
have been adopted. In the beginning of the year 1864, some gentlemen in 
the neighbourhood decided to examine the site, and the result of their exca­
vation was the discovery of a portion of a Roman residence, consisting of 
some rooms, with the remains of hypocausts, and a fine tesselated pavement. 
Nearly the whole of the pillars, &c., of one hypocaust, and the greater part 
of the pavement, have been removed to the Museum at York. "From the 
general character of the remains, and nature of the objects found on the site," 
says W. Proctor, Esq., of York, in an admirable account of the excavations 
at this place, which he presented to the Yorkshire Antiquarian Club, " there 
can, I suppose, be no hesitation in looking upon the foundations at Dalton 
Parlours as the remains of a villa, in which some wealthy Roman citizen, 
exchanging the ' fumum et opes strepitumque Romm ' for the delights of a 
rural residence, had furnished himself with his usual luxuries and means of 
enjoyment. Independently of the absence of the mention of any station in 
this locality, by the writers of any authority in these matters, the place itself 
gives no indication which would lead to the formation of such an opinion." 

THE AINSTY WAPENTAKE CONTINUED. 

THORP Aaos.-This parish is situated in the beautiful vale of the river 
Wharfe, and is supposed to derive the distinctive affix to its name from the 
family of De Arcubus, or D'Arches, who came in with William the Conqueror, 
and obtained large possessions in this part of the country. The area of the 
parish is 1,607 acres; population, 315 ; rateable value, £2,620.; and amount 
of assessed property, £2,029. The Lord of the Manor, and chief proprietor 
of the soil, is R. W. W. Hatfield, Esq., who resides at the Hall near the 
villag&-a fine mansion, situated in a well wooded park. The soil is fertile. 
The Roman road to Boroughbridge, called Rudgate, passes by the eastern 
boundary of the parish. On the site of this road, but in an adjoining parish, 
is St. H~tm·a w~u. connected with which was a chapel, long since destroyed, 
and near it a cross, which has lately been removed. 

The Living, which was ordained a Vicarage by Archbishop Sewall, in 1268, 
is valued in the King's Books at £3. los. 6d., but in the early part of the 
last century it was only of the yearly value of £24., till by the liberality of 
the Rev. Mr. Robinson, of Leeds, and Lady E . Hastings, added to a donation 
from Queen Anne's fund, and a contribution from the then Vicar, the recto­
rial tithes were purchased as an augmentation to the living. These tithes 
were commuted for £387. 9s. 2d. The present patron is the Rev. C. Wheeler, 
and the incumbent is the Rev. F . H. S. Menteath. 
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The Church (All Saints) stands a considerable distance from the village, 
and is an ancient structure (with the exception of tbe tower, in the west front 
of which is a highly enriched Norman doorway), rebuilt in li56, in the la.ts 
English style. The chancel was partially restored in 1848. The tower is 
embattled, and finished with crockekld pinnacles at the angles. In the mte­
rior the nave is divided from the north (the only) aisle, by four equilateral 
arches, resting on octagonal columns. In the chancel is a bl'B88 tablet, with 
an extract from the will of Lady Elizabeth Hastings. Near this brass is a 
tablet to the Rev. R. Remington, forty·five years Vicar of Ulis parish, who 
died in 1820, aged 70. In making a vault for his family in the same year, 
a stone coffin was disco-vered, which is now deposited in the church-yard. 
The Vicarage /f()t(u is situated on the banks of the Wharfe. 

The Villnge is extre~y picturesque, and is separated from Boston Spa, 
as has been already observed, by a beautiful bridge, from winch there is a 
very pleasing and diversified view. It is about 2t miles S.E. by E. from 
Wetherby, and 19 miles from York by railway. There is a station here on 
the line leading from Church Fenton to Harrogate. 

The School was founded in 1788, by Lady E. Hastings, who endowed it 
with £15. per annum, and ten acres of land; but the money endowment has 
since been considerably augmented. The present building, which is of stone, 
and is neat and commodious, was erected in 1886. There is likewise a good 
residence for the schoolmaster. There is a Mutual Improvement As&Ociation 
held in this school, and there is in conuexion with it a library of 200 vols. 

WALTON.-This parish measures 1,670 statute acres, mostly the property 
of G. L. Fox, Esq., who is Lord of the Manor. The population of the pariah 
in 1851, was 245 souls; the rateable value is £2,010.; and the am0011t of 
assessed property is £1,816. The old Roman road-Watling Street-passes 
through this parish. The LifJing is a Perpetual Curacy, in the plltronage of 
the impropriators. Its value was certified at £7. ISs. 4d., retarDed at £60., 
but now worth about £90. per annum. 

The Church (St. Pew) is an ancient structare, consisting of a nave, 
chancel, 'tower, and porch, and is situated on an eminence. The tower con­
tains three bells, and is embattled antl pinnacled. The interior is plain. In 
the chancel is an ancient monument, consisting of a recess with a crocheted 
pediment, beneath which is the effigy of a Knight in full armour, with a 
gorget, hood, and tippet, of chain or mail armour. The style of the armour 
seems to be of the reign of Edward Ill. Near this is a tablet to Nicholas 
son of Lord Fairfax, of GilliDg Castle, who died in 1702, aged ••· 

The Village is small, and stands on rising ground, about 2i miles E. by S. 
of Wetherby. 
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WcUon HaU, which is pleasantly situated on the south side of the village, 
occupies ·'he ilite of the noble m8Dflion, oBCe the residence of the Fairfax 
family, to wlD.oa the greater part of this parish formerly belonged. The 
present house waa erected out of the ruins of the former, more than a century 
ago, and is now oonve~ into a boardiag academy, ocmiuoted by the Misses 
Treadwell. 

The PariM Schoot, which is condiiOt.ed on t1te National system, is sup­
ported by M n. Yorke, of Wig hill Park. Tbe present building was erected in 
1847, by the Lord of the Maoor, and .is a neat stone erection. 

WIG·liiLL.-The family of Stapleton possessed thi1 atate, and were seated 
here for upwards of 500 years. Sir Robert Stapleton, who was Sherift' of 
this county in the 2Srd of Elizabeth (1581), met the Judges with sev-en score 
men in suitable liveries. He was descended from Sir Miles Stapleton, Sheriff 
of Yorkshire in the reign of Edward ill., and one of thenrst founders of tbe 
noble Order of the Garter. This manor and estate was sold, oe&rly forty 
years ago, to R. F. WilSOD, Esq., M.P., and the proprietors of the perish at 
present are Andrew Montague, Esq. (Lord of the Manor), Edward Yorke, 
Esq., Mr. Matthew Thomlinson, and a few others. Area of the parish, 2,588 
acres; population, 296; rateable value, £4,416. ; assessed property, £8,410. 
The surface is undulated, and the scenery is rich and agreeably diversified. 

The Church is a Discharged Vicarage, endowed with a portion of the rec­
torial tithes, and valued in the King's Books at £5. 3s. 6td.; now worth 
£120. per ann. The advowson was given to the Prior of Healaugh Park in 
1291; the present patron is the Lord of the Manor. The Fabric stands on 
the summit of a bill, from which is a most extensive and beautiful prospect. 
Its parts are a nave and north aisle, chancel and north chapel, a low em­
battled and pinnacled tower at the west end, and a south porch. The entrance 
is a curious Norman structure, much dilapidated. The eastern part of the 
chancel has been fully repaired, and a convenient vestry built a few years 
ago, at a cost of £333., by the Vicar, the Rev. Thomas Jessop, D.D. The 
western portion of the chancel was completely repaired in 1842, at the cost 
of R. F . Wilson, Esq. And to these improvements the Archbishop of York 
contributed a handsome antique pulpit, and the reading-desk has been pre­
sented by Mr. Yorke. The south side of the church has square-headed win­
dows ; the east window is pointed, and of three lights. In the interior the 
aisle is separated from the body by four circular arches, resting on columns, 
formed by a union of four massy cylinders, with octagonal capitals. The 
tower is open to the nave by a pointed arch, and the roof is waggon-headed. 
In the side chapel are several slabs, to the memory of the Stapleton family 
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during the 14th and 15th centuries, and a handsome altar tomb of alabaster, 
containing o. full-length effigy, in plate armour, and o. long Latin inscription, 
to Robert Stapylton, Esq., Lord of Wighill, who died in 1648. It was 
erected by Catherine, daughter of Lord Fairfax, to his memory. 

The Vill4g~ is small but neat, and stands about 8 miles N. by W. of 
Tadcaster. There is a Wesleyan Methodist Chapel here, erected in 1828. 

WighiU Park is the seat of Edward Yorke, Esq. This mansion is plea­
santly situated on rising ground, and in the midst of an extensive and well 
laid out park. The old hall, the seat of the Stapletons, stood on the north 
side of the village, and some vestiges of it may be traced in the building 
which succeeded it. 

About lt mile S.W. of the village is a small moated residence, called 
Moat House, the origin of which is not known. The moat encloses an area 
of about half an acre. A School in the village, for girls, is supported by 
Mrs. Yorke. The school house was erected about three years ago, by A. 
Montague, Esq. There is also a neat residence for the schoolmistress. 

END OF VOL. I . 

BEVEJU.EY: PlUNTBD BY IOH!( GUBl'l, IIUKBT·PLACE. 
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